Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update

From Epistemology to Clinical Psychiatry – Vol. IV Pascual Ángel Gargiulo Humberto Luis Mesones Arroyo

Humberto Luis Mesones Arroy Editors



Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update

Pascual Ángel Gargiulo Humberto Luis Mesones Arroyo Editors

Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update

From Epistemology to Clinical Psychiatry – Vol. IV



Editors Pascual Ángel Gargiulo Laboratory of Neurosciences and Experimental Psychology Latin American Technological Corporation Foundation (FUCOTEL) Cathedra of Psychopathology Catholic University of Argentina Area of Pharmacology Department of Pathology, National University of Cuyo CONICET Guaymallén Mendoza Argentina

Humberto Luis Mesones Arroyo Laboratory of Neurosciences and Experimental Psychology Latin American Technological Corporation Foundation (FUCOTEL) Cathedra of Psychopathology Catholic University of Argentina Area of Pharmacology Department of Pathology, National University of Cuyo CONICET Guaymallén Mendoza Argentina

National Academy of Medicine Buenos Aires Argentina

ISBN 978-3-030-61720-2 ISBN 978-3-030-61721-9 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

In Memoriam

† Prof. Dr. José Ricardo Báez

† Prof. Dr. Armando Bermejo Moroni

† Prof. Dr. Abelardo Pithod

† Prof. Dr. Dorian Gorena Urízar

Commemorative volume for the 25th Anniversary of the Laboratory of Neurosciences and Experimental Psychology

Foreword

Sisyphus

The king of Corinth was the most cunning man of his time. But his tricks and cheating defied the gods until he was punished with eternal hard labor, pushing uphill a great rock only to see it fall just before reaching the top.

Myths remind men of their fate. Most human endeavors are an endless search for truth or happiness. If the goal is an ideal, by definition it isn't possible to succeed; death will find the hero still in the path. It seems that human science can't reach complete knowledge and has to keep endlessly toiling. But classical Greeks considered euthanasia the heroic death in battle. And the best life is that spent seeking beauty and truth for love.

When Springer asked us to update studies bridging the gap between Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update, an enthusiastic group of experts volunteered. Hard work and many hours of reading and selecting valuable papers laid the foundations for state-of-the-art conclusions.

The volume had a good acceptance and the next year Volume II covered a *Translational Approach*. When Springer asked for another *update* we thought that maybe every five years could be reasonable. But the concern was that five years are too full of changes.

Learning and leading with technology is the new tool needed for teaching and working in investigation. But more demanding and an ethical obligation is continuous medical education. *E-portfolio* is the name we have to include with our familiar books and instruments. Technology has made simulators a new teaching facility unavoidable in many medical specialties. Videos and Gesell cameras help psychology and psychiatry.

Biotechnology is defying ethical boundaries and post humanism is proposing superhumans in the near future. Microchips implanted in the brain enhance abilities present or lost. The temptation to be like gods forgets the spiritual dimension of human personality.

In spite of the evident difficulties and complexity of the task, this foreword is repeating our commitment to humbly keep up our efforts in aid of excellence in knowledge and practice of medicine. Let me underline the unending and untiring work of Pascual Gargiulo who is the soul and engine of these updates. My prognosis is that he will have to accept Sisyphus's fate.

Buenos Aires, Argentina

Humberto Luis Mesones Arroyo

Preface

Preserving the tradition assumed in the previous volumes, the included chapters are written by researchers fully dedicated to their subjects. The Part I is about epistemological considerations regarding the study of normal and abnormal human behaviors. It includes fourteen chapters.

In Chap. 1, Prof. Juan Ernesto Calderón considers that psychiatric clinical results should be considered behind the Popperian demarcation criterion. The author prefers the other method. He proposes that it is the case of the Inference to the Best Explanation (IBE), suggesting that this method has enough epistemic strength. By this way, he proposes an overcoming of Popperian falsacionism. Furthermore, this method is proposed as a tool which helps explain research and clinical practice, and enquire into Evidence-Based Medicine (EBM). This chapter constitutes a rigorous and interesting approach in the field of epistemology of science.

Chapter 2, written by Prof. Miriam Dolly Arancibia de Calmels, starts with some critical considerations about the notions extracted, most of the times decontextualized, from Kant. Recently, multiple disciplines, such as pedagogy and neuroscience, give new life to the old philosophical question regarding freedom or determinism. In this context, this chapter tries to find new anthropological approaches to resolve problems of today's teachers in the classroom. The studies of empathy according to Edith Stein is considered and analyzed in a bright form.

In Chap. 3 Prof. Ricardo Aranovich speculates in a valid way the links of happiness, agreeing with oneself, the life project, and the possibility and meaning of falling in love. The imperative of fitting with the personal self, with myself, and the condition of happiness is highlighted. The notion of happiness as the unrenounceable goal of life searching for unity with itself, and overcoming difficulties of its circumstance as means of realization of the life project is discussed in an interesting and profound way.

The Chap. 4, written by Gargiulo and Crespo, is dedicated to a differentiation between causal explanations and freedom. In this chapter, the role of nature is compared with psychological or psychoreactive influences. Ontological naturalism is described as a prevalent belief today in the world, inducing a naturalistic worldview in the narrow sense. It implies the reduction of the objects of knowledge to nature, to physical and biological things and processes. Some objections of philosophical origin are proposed, delimiting a level of "understanding" independent of naturalistic explanations. In Chap. 5, Dr. Osvaldo Agamenonni describes in a very interesting writing the evidences in favor of self-organized mechanisms in the brain. This schedule may be applied to conditioning. He starts from Perceptual Control Theory (PCT), presented in the 1970s, aiming to try a causal explanatory approach to some behaviors. Special attention is given to feedback control and to self-organizing theories, starting from the cognitive cycle, also designed as an action-perception loop. This author highlights the importance of the brain's adaptive mechanisms.

In Chap. 6, Dr. María Teresa Gargiulo analyzes the concept of *dynamis* in the Treaty on Ancient Medicine, a part of the Corpus Hippocraticum. The complementation between philosophy and medicine is considered as an interesting paradigm. The author considers this concept of *dynamis* a core concept on which a particular epistemological view is built. Additionally, she considers that a very relevant hermeneutical tradition is presented in this writing as the birth of a scientific medicine. The author considers this concept as the origin of an integration of a new model of scientific explanation.

Prof. Dr. Rocco Genaro proposes, in Chap. 7, a rigorous analysis of consciousness, higher-order thought (HOT) theory, somatoparaphrenia, and inserted thoughts in schizophrenia. Various psychopathologies of selfawareness, such as somatoparaphrenia and thought insertion, might seem to threaten the viability of the higher-order thought (HOT) theory of consciousness since it requires a HOT about *one's own* mental state to accompany every conscious state. Somatoparaphrenia is a "depersonalization disorder" characterized by the sense of alienation from parts of one's body. Thought insertion is the delusion that some thoughts are not "one's own" in some sense or are somehow being inserted into one's mind by someone else. Gennaro argues that HOT theory has nothing to fear from thought insertion and can consistently explain what happens in this admittedly unusual case.

In Chap. 8, Prof. Francisco Rego establishes neatly a relationship between body and soul, following traditional concepts, and giving to this chapter a bright condition. This author sustains that the soul does not have to be considered a nonexistent or mythological reality. It is considered that it must not be understood as a sensitive reality. In the opposite way, it may be considered as a real order that links to the body as substantial formal essential principle. It determines the body in the order of being and its way of being. In other words, the soul makes man to be and to be what he is. At the same time, while enlivening him, the soul founds all his spiritual and organic activities.

Prof. Consuelo Martínez Priego develops, in Chap. 9, an elegant historical exposition of thinking about medical pathology in Spain, starting it in somatological medical criteria and arriving, with the thought of Juan Rof Carballo, at its fullest psychosomatic expression. In this proposal, the key concept is the affective warp. The author analyzes the various sources that make up the psychosomatic perspective. She gives an important emphasis to the role played by neurology, but also to "the constitutive process" of man. This study is mainly centered in an historical perspective. The intention is an attempt to shed light on the present, fundamentally in the neuroscientific advances but also in the humanization of medicine, which does not always share the same fate.

Chapter 10 is dedicated by Prof. Dr. Guilherme Messas and Prof. Melissa Tamelini to the basement that phenomenological psychopathology gives to psychiatry. Important attention is paid to the case of schizophrenia and its relation to substance abuse. A detailed phenomenological study is applied to both realities. The notion of dialectic is developed, highlighting the consequences of its use for clinical practice. It is a founding writing in many ways, thought with particular rigor by experienced phenomenologists with wide clinical practice.

In Chap. 11, Prof. Dr. Javier Bernacer and Francisco Güell develops the notion of person in neuroscience. They start from the notion of cognitivism leading later to a comprehensive phenomenology. They stand out clearly that the attribution of the category of person applied to a living being cannot be considered as irrelevant at all. They stand out that a person is entitled to rights, dignity, and duties by law. In this chapter, a very fruitful dialogue is established between classical philosophers and the recent conceptions of theory of mind.

Prof. Dr. Luis Echarte Alonso raises, in Chap. 12, the theme of the relationship between neuroethics and beauty. He analyzes the ideas of the theory of knowledge of Aldous Huxley and its relationship with this topic. Prof. Echarte presents Huxley's ideas about Science and Art relationship in a fluid and interesting manner. This analysis consists in the comparison of two of Huxley's distinctions. He presents, on one hand, knowledge and understanding. On the other hand are emotions and beauty. The author concludes defending Huxley's notions that *understanding* and *beauty* are not fully accessible to Neuroscience, but they orientate Neuroscience in the study of the human decision-making process.

In Chap. 13, Prof. Dr. Javier García Castro proposes solutions to the ontological and epistemological problems of consciousness. He considers that the problem of consciousness has been considered very late in science. This topic implies necessary to face very diverse and complex issues. It may be considered as the main reason of this delay. Some solution attempts are described, analyzed, and discussed. Authors conclude that there is an intrinsic difficulty in objectifying the phenomenon of consciousness. Future maturation of scientific and philosophical knowledge may be necessary to clarify the ontological and epistemological foundations of consciousness.

In Chap. 14, Prof. Dr. Michel Bourin and Prof. Dr. Monique Bourin refer to historical differences in the anxiety perception. A diagnostic consideration about the present condition is drawn remembering that we now have more risk factors in our environment due to stress, urban violence, and the vagaries of employment. In other words, it is attributed to modifications in the environmental conditions. For most of us, they argue, factors such as housing, sanitary conditions, and food have been improved over time. However, anxiety, panic attacks, and fear of old age, illness, and death remain. In this chapter, an historical approach is developed in an interesting and documented way.

In the Part II of the book, bridges between basic neurosciences and the human brain are attempted. The first example of this is Chap. 15. In it, Dr. Luis Felipe Sarmiento Rivera and Prof. Dr. Amauri Gouveia Jr. review the

effects of neurotransmitters and hormones in human decision-making. They take into account the difficulties in approaching this human behavior, considering the perspectives from which these decisions have been studied. It is the case of variables related to the cost and benefits of a decision (economic decisions), involving social bonding (social decisions), social behavior and mating, and moral decisions that relates moral principles. In this chapter, they focus on the specifically induced actions of neurotransmitters (dopamine, Arginine-Vasopressin) and neuro-hormones (oxytocin, testosterone, stress hormones). The psychobiological interaction between such hormones and neurotransmitters and their relations in the decision-making process is detailed and commented in a lucid and interesting manner.

In Chap. 16, Occhiepo and coworkers, directed by Prof. Dr. Claudia Bregonzio, describe in depth the role of glial cells in schizophrenia. The role of Angiotensin II is focused. They begin with the fact that it is well known that schizophrenia illness has been related to a wide pluri-factorial etiopathogenesis (gene factors, neuroinflammation, and the brain microenvironment's alterations, etc.). Glial cells are considered important elements in the brain microenvironment. They have a relevant role in synaptic establishment and function, neuroinflammation, metabolic and ion homeostasis, among others. They are today an important topic of study in numerous researches on schizophrenia etiopathology. The role of Angiotensin II in this context is carefully described. Angiotensin II has been involved in several pathologies, and now its role in schizophrenia is proposed. A special reference to AT₁-R involvement is developed regarding this illness. The chapter is written in a lucid manner.

The workgroup directed by Dr. María Graciela López Ordieres describes, in Chap. 17, the possible role of Somatostatin and Neurotensin systems in schizophrenia. Due to its complexity, it is thought that the pathophysiology of this illness goes beyond dopamine dysfunction, including also glutamate, GABA, serotonin, and acetylcholine systems. These neurotransmitters may be interacting with neuropeptide systems. In schizophrenic patients it has been reported that GABA interneurons, containing parvalbumin and somatostatin, are reduced, suggesting that it may be related to this illness. Neurotensin is closely related to dopamine transmission. After central administration it produces biochemical and behavioral effects that resemble those observed in a systemic administration of antipsychotic agents. Since peptides do not cross the blood-brain barrier properly, new peptide analogues are synthesized, aiming to resist enzymatic degradation, and entering to the brain crossing barriers. The above-mentioned peptides interact with neurotransmitter systems that has been related to pathophysiology of schizophrenia. These facts improve our knowledge of this psychosis and may constitute new alternatives for its treatment.

Prof. Dr. Michel Bourin actualizes, in Chap. 18, our conceptions about the mechanism of action of benzodiacepines. The role of these drugs on GABA and serotonin receptors, the action of serotonin reuptake inhibitors, and glutamine and neuropeptides are described and analyzed. The action of Neuropeptides in anxiety is a matter of extensive review (cholecystokin, corticotropin-releasing hormone, substance P and neurokinins, galanin, oxytocin, atrial natriuretic peptide). Some interactions are studied (glutamate regulating GABA activity, Adenosine interactions with serotonin and GABA). The effect of a high number of neurotransmitters and hormones on anxiety is reviewed, giving an interesting preclinical and clinical relevance to this chapter.

In Chap. 19, the group led by Prof. Dr. Mariela Pérez focuses on the learning processes involved in benzodiacepine dependence. From its prescription to dependence is studied in a rigorous manner. The context-dependent associative learning process underlying BZD tolerance and dependence is analyzed. Authors postulate that long-lasting neuroadaptations are present in the limbic system. Repeated drug exposure is necessary aiming to induce alterations in synaptic plasticity, such as glutamate synaptic modifications in brain structures related to memory formation. These structures are mainly the hippocampus, the reward system, the ventral tegmental area, the nucleus accumbens, and the frontal cortex. The chapter is clear and comprehensive, with scientific and didactic merits.

The group of Prof. Dr. Mariela Pérez contributes again in Chap. 20, describing the molecular mechanisms implied in acute traumatic brain injury (TBI). A description of the effects of neuro-inflammation in higher-order cognitive processes is described. The fact that an important number of patients report chronic disabilities long after the initial injury event is analyzed and explained mentioning mechanisms acting after the early mechanical damage. A secondary brain injury is described as caused by metabolic, synaptic and vascular alterations, neuro-inflammatory processes, and oxidative stress. Behavioral, affective, cognitive, and general psychological changes are clearly detailed by authors. This chapter constitutes an interesting link between neuropathology and altered human behavior.

Prof. Dr. Michel Bourin contributes again with a very interesting chapter starting from the physiology and following with the pharmacology of melatonin. Chapter 21, didactic and detailed, starts with historical considerations about the role of melatonin. Prof. Bourin also describes an important number of pharmacological properties of melatonin, such as antioxidant effects, oncostatic, anti-aging, an agent in the immune system, and, recently, a hypnotic power of melatonin as a "sleep hormone." Its role as a hypnotic in women and the elderly is referred. The role of melatonin in the resynchronization of our biological clock is detailed. Its efficacy has been observed in the treatment of the circadian rhythm desynchronization syndromes. In these cases it must be emphasized that a melatonin intake may be useful in the therapeutic arsenal of the management of insomnia. It may also be interesting promoting a better sleep.

In Chap. 22, Daniel Cardinali and Daniel Vigo postulate a cytoprotective effect exerted by melatonin. They consider the metabolic syndrome (MS) as an example. In this clinical entity, an important number of risk factors for cardiovascular disease are recognized. It is the case of elevated blood pressure, hyperinsulinemia, glucose intolerance, and dyslipidemia. The authors discuss the role chronobiotic/cytoprotective properties of melatonin may have in the prevention and treatment of MS. As a relevant fact, Melatonin levels are consistently reduced in MS. Improvement of sleep efficiency and

antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties that derive partly from its role as a metabolic regulator and mitochondrial protector have been highlighted. The chapter analyzes the actions of melatonin that are relevant for the attenuation of inflammatory responses in MS. It is found that melatonin is effective in curtailing MS in animal models of hyperadiposity and ischemic and nonischemic heart failure.

José Burgos and Juan Galeazzi review, in Chap. 23, a neural-network simulation model of a possible role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning. In this model it is suggested by authors that the hippocampus sends a diffuse discrepancy signal. It would lead to modifications in modulation efficacies, starting from synapses of primary-sensory areas and to exerting effects on polysensory areas. The authors hypothesize that such modulations significantly modify signal Pavlovian conditioning. Additionally, it may be think that Hippocampal lesions have detrimental effects. The study was conducted using two computer simulations. Finally, the authors discuss the limitations and future directions of the model.

In the next four chapters, natural compounds are studied aiming to find psychopharmacological effects. A group of three chapters is dedicated to the search for compounds with biogenic effects. Two chapters were written by members of the Faculty of Agrarian Sciences of the National University of Cuyo, one comes from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University, and a final clinical chapter evaluates the possible application of natural compounds.

The first of these chapters, Chap. 24, is directed by Prof. Alejandra Beatriz Camargo. The team search for neuroprotective compounds in Brassica vegetables. This Brassicaceae family includes several vegetables such as broccoli, cabbage, cauliflower, radish, kale, and rocket, among others. This group has been associated with antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and anticarcinogenic effects. Brassica plants are rich in several neuroprotective compounds like isothiocyanates, phenolic compounds, vitamins, minerals, and carotenoids. The authors present a review of the main compounds and demonstrate the neuroprotective effects of Brassica vegetables. Their mechanism of action is also analyzed. Some considerations on their positive effects in neurological disorders are also given.

The second study in this line is Chap. 25, written by the team directed by Leonor Deis. In this chapter, the biological action of colored compounds present in fruits and vegetables is reviewed. The action of carotenes, lycopene, anthocyanins, flavanols, and lutein is evaluated. The authors mention previous studies in which the intake of plant foods like blueberries decreases the risk of obesity, diabetes, heart disease, and, mainly, overall mortality. The authors recommend the consumption of five portions of fruit and vegetables per day. They conclude that an important number of active biological compounds are present in vegetables, highlighting polyphenols. They mention epidemiological studies and associated meta-analyses strongly suggesting that long-term consumption of diets rich in plant polyphenols offer protection against development of cancers, cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, endothelial dysfunction, osteoporosis, and neurodegenerative diseases. Furthermore, it has been postulated that polyphenols may have relevant effects as antihypertensive, anti-inflammatory, bactericide, antimutagenic, and antitumoral agents. The study constitutes an interesting set of arguments in favor of the consumption of natural products of plant origin as inducers of psychotropic effects.

Chapter 26, directed by Professors Benjamin Yee and William Chi-Sing Tai, gives additional arguments in the same line. They formulated an input from herbal medicines in the gut-brain communication perspective. This chapter is centered on herbal medicine, depression, anxiety, microbiome, and gut-brain axis. Herbal remedies are here proposed in neuropsychiatric diseases. The microbiota transplantation and the possibility of a herbal modifications of the gut microbiota are studied in an interesting and detailed manner, suggesting new treatment ways. Potential benefits of herbal medicines and related supplements are postulated as possible novel therapeutic perspectives.

In Chap. 27, Prof. Dr. Eric Wainwright proposes new treatment possibilities, including natural compounds. He analyzes the role of the Mediterranean diet, omega-3, and nutrigenomics in primary prevention. He recommends physical exercise as a cornerstone in the management of many disorders. It is the case of Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease and stroke. He clearly points out that neurodegenerative disorders are frequently comorbid with depression. He proposes new strategies like modifiable lifestyle factors and psychoeducation. It is postulated here that these variables should improve current treatment results. This chapter constitutes a relevant place for reflection on new therapeutic possibilities.

Prof. Dr. Gustavo Tafet and Dr. Diego Feder review, in Chap. 28, the relationships between environmental and psychoneurobiological factors. This study emphasizes the role of environmental and psychoneurobiological factors in the interface between stress and depression. The relevance of resilience in this situation is highlighted. They remind us that chronic stress is involved in the origin and development of depression. The authors also discuss long-lasting effects of stressful experiences throughout life, and mainly in the early stages of life. Increased activation of the HPA axis, leading to hypercortisolism, plays a role in chronic stress and depressive disorders. This chapter is interesting, and links in a valid manner neurobiological findings and clinical situations.

In Chap. 29 the workgroup of Prof. Dr. Francisco Barrantes gives interesting evidences about the impact of Apolipoprotein E (ApoE) allelic variants on Alzheimer's disease (AD). ApoE is a lipid-transport protein. The main function of ApoE is to deliver lipids to cell-surface receptors. The authors propose that it is involved in the pathogenesis of AD. They propose that carriers of the *APOEe4* isoform of the gene are at higher risk than *APOEe3* carriers developing sporadic AD. ApoE is a lipid-transport protein. Its main function is to deliver lipids to cell-surface receptors. This chapter proposes new possibilities of late-onset variant of AD (LOAD) diagnostic and potential new therapeutics.

The group directed by Prof. Dr. Claudia Hereñú develops, in Chap. 30 an analysis of cognitive and emotional status in Parkinson's disease (PD). They claim that regardless of the well-characterized, well-known motor symptoms, the presence of non-motor symptoms (cognitive dysfunctions and emotional disturbances) are underestimated. The pathophysiology of PD (degeneration of the nigrostriatal dopaminergic pathway) implies affectation of other critical areas, such as basolateral amygdala and hippocampus. Recent studies are addressed. Neuro-circuitries, regulation networks, and possible therapeutic approaches in different Parkinsonism experimental models are discussed. The chapter constitutes an interesting example of correlations between neural pathology and behavior.

In Part III the relationship between neurosciences, teaching, and the role of social environment are considered. In Chap. 31, written by Lucas Rodríguez, José Eduardo Moreno, and Belén Mesurado, relationships in children and adolescents are studied. Authors considere that positive development contributes to mental health problems prevention. Actually, social abilities improve the contact and relation with other persons. They propose, citing concepts of Harry Stack Sullivan, that friendship is an opportunity to learn about conflict and negotiation. In this context, authors sustain that children and adolescents develop perspective taking skills and empathic concern. Using specific tests, the chapter highlights the role of honesty, perspective taking, and empathic concern as predictors of friendship quality. This study contains a relevant set of findings applicable by parents and educators.

Santiago Resett and Belén Mesurado analyzes bullying and cyberbullying in adolescents in Chap. 32. A meta-analysis is done about the effectiveness of interventions. The intention is to critically evaluate the effectiveness of interventions directed to reduce behaviors like bullying, victimization, cyberbullying, and cybervictimization in adolescents. They found that bullying programs were a bit more effective than cyberbullying programs. Additionally, they found that the effect size of the intervention programs on victimization and cybervictimization was similar. The authors finally give some suggestions for future studies. This chapter, like the previous one, is a study of high interest for educators.

In Chap. 33 Celina Korzeniowski, Mirta Ison, and Hilda Difabio propose an interesting summary of the developmental trajectory of executive functions from birth to adulthood. They characterize firstly the concept of executive functions (EF), and its role in cognitive and socio-emotional advance. These authors point out that longitudinal design studies have shown the relevance of adequate EF development during childhood. They consider, according to the mentioned studies, that EF are reliable indexes as predictors of improved health, higher academic achievements, and better employment status. Conversely, these EF may be considered as acceptable indexes of a lower incidence of disruptive social conduct, addictions, behavioral problems and psychopathology in adulthood. The value of a measure of these functions seems a relevant predictive value, and prevention should be influenced by them.

Our group presents, integrated with Prof. Dr. Jesús Escanero Marcén, María Soledd Soria, Manuel Guerra, and Pascual Ángel Gargiulo, in Chap. 34, a review regarding approaches to learning at university, with special reference to learning to learn. According to the Bologna reform, which points out that teaching must be student-centered learning, we study here the competence of "learning to learn." Metacognition is the central topic in this chapter. It begins remembering the contributions of our group in "learning to learn," working with learning styles, and the creation of a new questionnaire (CESEA, acronym in Spanish of the Questionnaire of Escanero and Soria) for exploration. The final purpose is to facilitate efficient learning for students. We mention also here contributions of our group. We worked with questionnaires exploring metacognitive and cognitive strategies. The intention was to provide students with the best means for meaningful learning. Additionally, we recommend some methodologies to teachers. The self-perception approach in students is also considered. Another goal here is improvement in teaching.

In Chap. 35, an interesting study about the labor conditions of state school teachers is realized by Víctor Quiroga Calegari and Carlos A. Bonantini. They present a comparative cohort study of Burnout Syndrome (BS). They assay an approach from psychosociology. In this interesting chapter, they display part of their study based on considering 9 cohorts (2008/2016). These cohorts were tested by a methodological triangulation, including application of Maslach Burnout Inventory (MBI) as a psycho-technical tool, and, simultaneously, the analysis of observations and interviews of the Areas of Work Life Survey (AWS). They conclude with some suggestions for prevention at the institutional level, considering the dimensions of the syndrome.

In Chap. 36, Prof. Dr. Raúl Gagliardi formulates a detailed review about traumatic situations and mental disorders in migrants, refugees, and asylum seekers. He meets here an important number of social problems. He mentions and relates migrants' mental health, mental health problems, traumatic situations, adaptation, cultural consonance, ethnic density, asylum seekers, refugees, children, adolescents, and the socio-cognitive niche. He mentions a number of important mental health problems that may be observed in migrants. The mental issues discussed here are psychosis, depression, stress, anxiety, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), and paranoid-like states. In his reflection, Gagliardi uses different approaches. "Cultural consonance," "ethnic density," and "socio-cognitive niche" are discussed The experience and sharp observations of a scholar in this subject are presented in a very acute way.

In Part IV, an effort to explain human pathological behaviors, tendency bridges from brain disorders to psychopathology is made. Here clinical projection lines are cultured. The first chapter of the part, Chap. 37, is headed by Guillermo Alfonso and directed by Pascual Ángel Gargiulo. It is about the transition to a dimensional system for Personality Disorders. In it, the main advances and limitations are considered. Starting from the debate between categorical and dimensional systems, the authors consider the position of DSM-V. Here we retain the categorical classification of previous editions for Personality Disorders (PD). However, an alternative evaluation system with dimensional bases is proposed. It is considered that this "compromise solution" between the need to preserve the clinical tradition and the imperative of overcoming important diagnostic restrictions opened the doors for a better approach. The authors conclude that dimensional alternatives do not solve all the clinical problems but provide valuable resources tendency to a constant refinement in this discipline.

In Chap. 38, headed by Ángel José Martín Gargiulo and directed by Luciana D'Alessio, a range of the psychiatric comorbidities of epilepsy are revealed. New approaches and perspectives are provided. The coexistence of epilepsy, depression, stress, anxiety, and psychosis is exposed in a detailed and interesting manner. The relevant role of depression is highlighted because it affects patient's quality of life in a significant way. In the second place are anxiety disorders. They often generate severe problems that are sometimes underestimated at the clinical level, despite the abundant evidences supporting their relevance. The problem of psychotic disorders in epilepsy is even today often controversial. A low number of studies on this subject have been realized. Furthermore, the psychopathological mechanisms behind them remain largely unknown. The problem of diagnoses and management of psychogenic nonepileptic seizures is also reviewed. The chapter constitutes a very relevant review of psychiatric comorbidity of epilepsy. Finally, the authors argue that the management of stress and emotions in epileptic patients has a direct impact on their quality of life.

The group directed by Prof. Dr. Svetlozar Haralanov, in Chap. 39, proposes a very novel method in psychiatry. They present an integrative objective quantification of individual locomotor behavior (LMB) during the execution of the stepping test of Unterberger. It is here used in depressive patients. Empirical data from 200 depressive patients compared to 200 matched healthy controls was collected. The results demonstrated two contrasting poles of affective psychoses, overinhibited (hypolocomotion) and overactivated (hyperlocomotion). They propose a new dopamine hypothesis that links hypolocomotion with underlying hypodopaminergia, and hyperlocomotion with underlying hyperdopaminergia. Their findings and conceptual analyses are discussed in the light of their clinical implications. The authors postulate that the present method allows a more personalized treatment selection. The implications for their stratification and personalized treatment monitoring are here discussed.

In Chap. 40, the group headed by Prof. Dr. Antonio Lobo describes the Psychosomatic and Liaison Psychiatry as the contribution from Psychiatry to the general field of Medicine. In this analytical chapter, they postulate that this discipline is based on the traditional humanistic medical view but also on the empirical or evidence-based approach. Using data coming from epidemiological research, they present examples of this approach. It has contributed to document the prevalence and incidence of psychiatric morbidity in medical settings. The authors also mention other benefits of this methodology. They sustain that it contributes to the establishment of outcome, to the actuarial assessment of morbid risk, and to the efficacy of the treatment of psychiatric problems in medical patients. They also postulate that it may contribute to the conceptual construction of diagnosis and classification. The transcendence in this thought should be noted.

Prof. Dr. Michel Bourin contributes, in Chap. 41, to the study of emotions and cognitions in bipolar disorder (BD). The author remarks that organic or functional disturbances of processes of cognitive activities and the control of the emotional experience are likely to induce pathologies clinically characterized. Cognitive functioning and affective driving are commonly disturbed in BD. They imply behavioral disorders, social interactions being one of the main alterations. These alterations may be observed during acute episodes but may also persist during the euthymic period. Emotional disturbances may influence cognitive functioning. He concludes that functional abnormalities of cortico-subcortical neural networks could be at the origin. As a consequence, improving cognitive and emotional processes is an objective of therapeutic management. The chapter opens new and interesting dimensions of therapeutic objectives.

The link between cannabis and psychoses is treated by Prof. Dr. Eduardo Leiderman in Chap. 42. He sustains that, despite initial controversies, a causal relationship may be established between tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) and psychoses. This author alerts about the fact that the concentration of this substance is increasing in confiscated cannabis products. The cause-effect association between cannabis and psychosis is possible due to the strength of evidences. It may be also be outstanding the consistency along the studies, biological gradient, temporality, plausibility, coherence, experimentation, and analogies. It has been observed that cannabis increases symptoms' severity, relapse, and length of hospitalization. Its use also deteriorates the functionality of those individuals already affected by psychotic disorders. Present findings contraindicate the use of cannabis in relatives of patients suffering schizophrenia, and mainly in teenagers, since they are the most vulnerable age group. Effort must be made to discourage the use of cannabis and treat addiction. The important risks related to its use are clearly exposed.

In Chap. 43, the group integrated by Lic. María Andrea Delgado, Lic. Adriana Fochesato, Prof. Dr. Luis Isaías Juncos, and Prof. Dr. Pascual Ángel Gargiulo develops the theme of gut microbiota biomarkers in Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASDs). ASDs are considered here as a complex neurodevelopmental group of disorders characterized by impairments in social and cognitive functions. The etiology is not clear, but it is thought that they are caused by a combination of genetic predisposition and environmental factors. ASD patients present frequently comorbid medical conditions like gastrointestinal (GI) symptoms. Relevant evidences allow to sustain the importance of the "gut-brain axis" in the pathogenesis of ASDs. Interestingly GI disorders are correlated with severity of the brain disorder. Gut microbiota produces metabolic products that may influence brain function and the correlative behavior using diverse humoral mechanisms. The importance of considering these mechanisms and their consequences in the clinical picture is highlighted in this chapter, opening possibilities for the diagnosis and control of these clinical entities.

Following with this thematic of child psychiatry, the group headed by Dr. Nicolás Fayed describes in Chap. 44 the findings of brain magnetic resonance imaging in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). It is characterized by attention deficiency, hyperactivity, and impulsivity. These symptoms are not present in all cases. New genetic findings are suggesting that ADHD may be a hereditary disease in most cases. However, the etiology appears to be multifactorial, but with a neurobiological base. Diverse elements like genes interaction, environmental, perinatal, and psychosocial factors are usually highlighted when considering its origin. In this chapter the authors review a series of MR techniques, including functional MRI and MR spectroscopy. A relevant number of functional MRI studies in ADHD have shown abnormal blood flow or abnormal metabolism within the brain. Findings are not specific. However, the authors postulate that larger series and standardized methodology could delimitate groups and allow comparisons and generalization. An interesting group of complementary examinations are proposed here aiming to reaffirm the clinical diagnostic.

Continuing with the topic of complementary diagnostic methods in psychopathology, Dr. Fayed points in Chap. 45 the interest recently awakened by neuroimaging techniques applied to psychopathology. Among them, Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (MRS) stands out today. It obtains information by applying magnetic waves to living tissues and, particularly, to the central nervous system. The fact that it allows characterizing metabolic or chemical abnormalities in some nosological entities enables an outstanding presence to this complementary method of diagnosis in psychopathology. The authors detail their findings using hydrogen Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy. This method has been used in a number of important disorders, like autism spectrum disorders, delayed psychomotor development, mild cognitive impairment, and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in childhood. In the elderly it has been applied to Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease studies. In the adult it has been used in somatoform disorders and fibromyalgia. The chapter gives additional relevance to the complementary methods in psychiatry.

In Chap. 46, Prof. Dr. Michel Bourin addresses the issue of prescriptions in the elderly. Important modifications in the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic parameters must be considered in the elderly subject. Some of the main modifications are kidney functions. Furthermore, aging can alter the sensitivity of receptors in the central nervous system. It mainly compromises dopaminergic receptors. To address these changes, the author suggests some psychopharmacological strategies in the elderly. Anxiety should be treated with selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), paying special attention to the doses. Hypnotics should be used with special care, due to the risk of falls during night. In the case of depressive disorders, all the tricyclics and tetracyclics can be used. However, it is important to note that they have atropinic effects. The author mentions that SSRIs have not yet demonstrated efficacy in depression in the elderly. Mood stabilizers may be used, but with the same care and limitations as in adults. Antipsychotics may be used in confused or delirious states. Haloperidol must be applied in low doses due to the risk of drug-induced Parkinsonism. The chapter represents the synthesis of an expert in psychopharmacology and clinical psychiatry, on a relevant topic.

Mendoza, Argentina Buenos Aires, Argentina Pascual Ángel Gargiulo Humberto Luis Mesones Arroyo

Contents

	of Normal and Abnormal Human Behaviors	
1	Psychiatry and the Inference to the Best Explanation Juan Ernesto Calderón	3
2	The Notion of Empathy According to Edith Stein	9
3	Coincidence with One's Self.	21
4	Naturalism, Psychology, and Culture: Nature vs. Nurture? Pascual Ángel Gargiulo and Ricardo Crespo	33
5	The Self-Organized Feedback Brain	39
6	Dynamis, the Object of a Philosophical Medicine: AnEpistemological Analysis of the TreatiseOn Ancient MedicineMaría Teresa Gargiulo	53
7	Inserted Thoughts and the Higher-Order Thought Theory of Consciousness Rocco J. Gennaro	61
8	Relationship Between Body and Soul Accordingto Saint Thomas: An Obsolete Issue?Francisco Rego	73
9	The Conception of Psychosomatic Medicine in Spain:From Neurology to the PersonConsuelo Martínez Priego	89
10	From Phenomenological Psychopathology to Phenomenological Psychiatry: The Cases of Schizophrenia and Substance Misuse. Guilherme Messas and Melissa Tamelini	101

Part I Epistemological Considerations About the Study

11	The Notion of Person in Neuroscience: From Cognitivism to a Comprehensive Phenomenology
12	The Neuroethics of Beauty: Insights fromAldous Huxley's Theory of Knowledge
13	Radical Solutions to the Ontological andEpistemological Problems of Consciousness.131Javier Andrés García Castro
14	A Discussion of Anxiety Over the Last Millennium (1000 to 2000)
Par	t II From Basic Neurosciences to Human Brain
15	Neurotransmitters and Hormones in HumanDecision-MakingLuis Felipe Sarmiento Rivera and Amauri Gouveia
16	Glial Cells in the Schizophrenia Puzzle: Angiotensin II Role
17	Somatostatin and Neurotensin Systems in Schizophrenia 183 Andrea Induni, Fernando Gil Zbinden, and María Graciela López Ordieres
18	Mechanisms of Action of Anxiolytics
19	From Benzodiazepine Prescription to Dependence: Learning Processes Involved
20	Beyond Acute Traumatic Brain Injury: MolecularImplications of Associated Neuroinflammation inHigher-Order Cognitive ProcessesAgustín J. Montivero, Marisa S. Ghersi,Johanna Catalán-Figueroa, María Lina Formica,Nahuel Camacho, Antonella F. Culasso, Claudia B. Hereñú,Santiago D. Palma, and Mariela Fernanda Pérez
21	Physiology and Pharmacology of Melatonin

xxii

22	Cytoprotection by Melatonin: The Metabolic Syndrome as an Example
23	Neural Network Simulations of a Possible Role of the Hippocampus in Pavlovian Conditioning
24	Brassica Vegetables: Rich Sources of Neuroprotective Compounds
25	Coloured Compounds in Fruits and Vegetables and Health
26	Prospects of Herbal Remedies in Neuropsychiatric Diseases from the Gut–Brain Communication Perspective 359 Wing-Yan Wong, Brandon Dow Chan, Magnolia Muk-Lan Lee, Benjamin K. Yee, and William Chi-Shing Tai
27	Biological Strategies, Adjunct to the Current Antidepressant Treatment
28	Potential Interactions Between Environmental andPsychoneurobiological Factors in the Interface BetweenStress and Depression: A Road Map to Resilience
29	The Impact of Apolipoprotein E Allelic Variantson Alzheimer's Disease397Ezequiel Serrano, Pablo G. Sanz, and Francisco J. Barrantes
30	Fearing Parkinson's Disease: Relationships BetweenCognition and Emotion.419Macarena Lorena Herrera, Leandro Gabriel Champarini,Andrea Otamendi, and Claudia Beatriz Hereñú
Par	t III Neurosciences, Learning, Teaching and The Role of Social Environment
31	Friendship Relationships in Children and Adolescents:Positive Development and Prevention of MentalHealth ProblemsLucas Marcelo Rodriguez, José Eduardo Moreno, andBelén Mesurado

32	Bullying and Cyberbullying in Adolescents:A Meta-analysis on the Effectiveness of InterventionsSantiago Resett and Belén Mesurado	
33	A Summary of the Developmental Trajectory of Executive Functions from Birth to Adulthood	
34	Approach to Learning in the University: Referenceto Learning to Learn.Jesús Fernando Escanero, María Soledad Soria,Manuel Guerra, and Pascual Ángel Gargiulo	
35	Comparative Cohort Study of Burnout Syndrome in State Schools' Teachers.487Víctor F. Quiroga Calegari and Carlos A. Bonantini	
36	Traumatic Situations and Mental Disorders in Migrants, Refugees and Asylum Seekers	
Part IV Explaining Human Pathological Behaviors. From Brain Disorders to Psychopathology		
37	The Transition to a Dimensional System for Personality Disorders: Main Advances and Limitations 527 Guillermo Alfonso, Bruno César Franco, Mauricio Cervigni, Pablo Martino, María Gabriela Valdez Paolasini, Augusto Pascual Ítalo Gargiulo, Ángel José Martín Gargiulo, and Pascual Ángel Gargiulo	
38	Epilepsy and Psychiatric Comorbidities: New Approaches and Perspectives. 537 Ángel José Martín Gargiulo, Laura Scévola, Mercedes Sarudiansky, Silvia Kochen, and Luciana D'Alessio	
39	Integrative Objective Quantification of Individual Locomotor Behavior in Depressive Patients: Implications for Their Stratification and Personalized Treatment Monitoring	
	Svetlozar Haralanov, Evelina Haralanova, Diana Bogdanova, Roumen Dimitrov, Emil Milushev, and Diana Shkodrova	
40	Stratification and recisionalized Treatment Wontoring.Svetlozar Haralanov, Evelina Haralanova, Diana Bogdanova, Roumen Dimitrov, Emil Milushev, and Diana ShkodrovaEpidemiological Perspectives in Psychosomatic and Liaison Psychiatry.Liaison Psychiatry.575Antonio Lobo, Ricardo Campos, and Elena Lobo	
40 41	Stratification and recisionalized Treatment Wontoring.Svetlozar Haralanov, Evelina Haralanova, Diana Bogdanova, Roumen Dimitrov, Emil Milushev, and Diana ShkodrovaEpidemiological Perspectives in Psychosomatic and Liaison Psychiatry.Liaison Psychiatry.575Antonio Lobo, Ricardo Campos, and Elena LoboEmotions and Cognitions in Bipolar Disorder.589Michel Bourin	

43	Gut Microbiota Biomarkers in Autism Spectrum Disorders 613
	María Andrea Delgado, Adriana Fochesato,
	Luis Isaías Juncos, and Pascual Ángel Gargiulo
44	Brain Magnetic Resonance Imaging in
	Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) 623
	Nicolás Miguel Fayed, Humberto Morales,
	Carlos Torres, Alicia Fayed Coca, and Luisa F. Ángel Ríos
45	Research Contributions of Magnetic Resonance
	Spectroscopy in Psychopathology
	Nicolás Miguel Fayed, Carlos Torres,
	Humberto Morales, Luisa F. Ángel Ríos, and
	Alicia Fayed Coca
46	Prescribed Psychotropic Drugs in the Elderly
	Michel Bourin
Index	

Contributors

Osvaldo Agamennoni, PhD Universidad Nacional del Sur - Depto. de Ingeniería Eléctrica y de Computadoras, Instituto de Investigaciones en Ingeniera Eléctrica. (IIIE - UNS CONICET), Comisión de Investigaciones Científicas de la Provincia de Buenos Aires, Bahía Blanca, Argentina

Guillermo Alfonso, Licensed in Psychology Centro de Investigación en Neurociencias de Rosario – Secretaría de Ciencia y Técnica, Facultad de Psicología, Universidad Nacional de Rosario (CINR-UNR), Rosario, Argentina

Laboratorio de Cognición y Emoción – Secretaría de Ciencia y Técnica, Facultad de Psicología, Universidad Nacional de Rosario (LABce- UNR), Rosario, Argentina

Facultad de Ciencias de la Salud, Universidad Argentina de la Empresa (UADE), Buenos Aires, Argentina

Luisa F. Ángel Ríos, MD Department of Radiology, Quirónsalud Hospital, Zaragoza, Spain

Miriam Dolly Arancibia de Calmels, PhD Universidad Nacional de San Juan, San Juan, Argentina

Ricardo Aranovich, MD Fundación Acta, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Emilce Artur de la Villarmois, PhD IFEC-Departamento de Farmacología, Facultad de Ciencias Químicas, CONICET, Universidad Nacional, Córdoba, Argentina

Francisco J. Barrantes, MD, PhD Laboratory of Molecular Neurobiology, Biomedical Research Institute (BIOMED), UCA–CONICET, and Faculty of Medical Sciences, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Osvaldo Martín Basmadjian, Licensed in Pharmacy and Biochemistry IFEC-CONICET, Departamento de Farmacología, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Córdoba, Argentina

Hebe Vanesa Beretta, PhD Laboratorio de Cromatografía para Agroalimentos, Instituto de Biología Agrícola de Mendoza, Universidad Nacional de Cuyo, CONICET, Mendoza, Argentina **Javier Bernacer, PhD** Mind-Brain Group, Institute for Culture and Society (ICS), University of Navarra, Pamplona, Spain

Diana Bogdanova, PhD student Medical University of Sofia, Department of Psychiatry and Medical Psychology, University Hospital of Neurology and Psychiatry "St. Naum", First Psychiatric Clinic, Sofia, Bulgaria

University Hospital of Neurology and Psychiatry "St. Naum", First Psychiatric Clinic, Sofia, Bulgaria

Carlos A. Bonantini, PhD Faculty of Psychology, National University of Rosario, Rosario, Argentina

Michel Bourin, MD, Pharm.D, PhD Neurobiology of Anxiety and Mood Disorder, Faculty of Medicine, University of Nantes, Nantes, France

Monique Bourin, PhD La Sorbonne University, Paris, France

Claudia Bregonzio, PhD IFEC-CONICET, Departamento de Farmacología, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Córdoba, Argentina

José E. Burgos, PhD University of Guadalajara, Zapopan, Jalisco, Mexico

Juan Ernesto Calderón, PhD Department of Philosophy, Faculty of Philosophy and Letters, Facultad de Filosofía y Letras, Universidad Nacional de Cuyo, Mendoza, Argentina

Nahuel Camacho, Licensed in Pharmacy (Pharm D) UNITEFA-Departamento de Ciencias Farmacéuticas Facultad de Ciencias Químicas, CONICET, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Haya de la Torre y Medina Allende s/n, Ciudad Universitaria, Córdoba, Argentina

Alejandra Beatriz Camargo, PhD Facultad de Ciencias Agrarias, UNCuyo, Mendoza, Argentina

Laboratorio de Cromatografía para Agroalimentos, Instituto de Biología Agrícola de Mendoza, Universidad Nacional de Cuyo, CONICET, Mendoza, Argentina

Ricardo Campos, MD, PhD Departamento de Medicina y Psiquiatría, Universidad de Zaragoza, Zaragoza, Spain

Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Aragón, Zaragoza, Spain

Servicio de Psiquiatría. Hospital Clínico Universitario, Zaragoza, Madrid, Spain

Daniel P. Cardinali, MD, PhD Faculty of Medical Sciences, Pontificia Universidad Católica Argentina, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Johanna Catalán-Figueroa, PhD IFEC-Departamento de Farmacología, Facultad de Ciencias Químicas, CONICET, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Haya de la Torre y Medina Allende s/n, Ciudad Universitaria, Córdoba, Argentina Centro de Nanotecnología Aplicada, Universidad Mayor, Santiago de Chile, Chile

Mauricio Cervigni, PhD Centro de Investigación en Neurociencias de Rosario – Secretaría de Ciencia y Técnica, Facultad de Psicología, Universidad Nacional de Rosario (CINR-UNR), Rosario, Argentina

Laboratorio de Cognición y Emoción – Secretaría de Ciencia y Técnica, Facultad de Psicología, Universidad Nacional de Rosario (LABce- UNR), Rosario, Argentina

Centro Interdisciplinario de Investigaciones en Psicología Matemática y Experimental (CIIPME), Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas (CONICET), Grupo Vinculado (Resol. Directorio del CONICET N^a 0018/10), Buenos Aires, Argentina

Leandro Gabriel Champarini, Lic. in Biology Facultad de Ciencias Exactas, Físicas y Naturales, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Córdoba, Argentina

Brandon Dow Chan, BSc Department of Applied Biology and Chemical Technology, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Kowloon, Hong Kong

María Florencia Constantin, PharmD IFEC-Departamento de Farmacología, Facultad de Ciencias Químicas, CONICET, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Córdoba, Argentina

Ricardo Crespo, PhD Universidad Austral, Buenos Aires, Argentina Universidad Nacional de Cuyo, CONICET, Mendoza, Argentina

Antonella F. Culasso, Licensed in Pharmacy (Pharm D) IFEC-Departamento de Farmacología, Facultad de Ciencias Químicas, CONICET, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Haya de la Torre y Medina Allende s/n, Ciudad Universitaria, Córdoba, Argentina

Luciana D'Alessio, PhD Epilepsy Center of Ramos Mejía and El Cruce Hospital, ENyS-IBCN-CONICET, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Leonor Deis, PhD Cátedra de Fisiología Vegetal, Facultad de Ciencias Agrarias, Universidad Nacional de Cuyo, Mendoza, Argentina

Instituto de Biología Agrícola: IBAM-CONICET-UNCUYO, Mendoza, Argentina

María Andrea Delgado, PhD Fundación J. Robert Cade, Córdoba, Argentina

María Inés De Rosas, PhD Cátedra de Fisiología Vegetal, Facultad de Ciencias Agrarias, Universidad Nacional de Cuyo, Mendoza, Argentina

Hilda Difabio de Anglat, PhD Cuyo Research Center (CIC)–CONICET, Capital, Mendoza, Argentina

Roumen Dimitrov, PhD Medical University of Sofia, Department of Psychiatry and Medical Psychology, University Hospital of Neurology and Psychiatry "St. Naum", First Psychiatric Clinic, Sofia, Bulgaria

Luis Enrique Echarte Alonso, PhD Unit of Medical Education and Bioethics, School of Medicine, University of Navarra, Pamplona, Navarra, Spain

Jesús Fernando Escanero, PhD Departamento de Farmacología y Fisiología, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Zaragoza, Zaragoza, Spain

Nicolás Miguel Fayed, PhD Department of Radiology, Section of Neuroradiology, Quirónsalud Hospital, Zaragoza, Spain

Alicia Fayed Coca, RN Departament of Hematology, Miguel Servet Hospital, Zaragoza, Spain

Diego Javier Feder, MSc, PhD International Foundation for the Development of Neurosciences (FIDN), Department of Psychiatry and Neurosciences Updates– Maimonides University, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Adriana Fochesato, Lic. Biochem Fundación J. Robert Cade, Córdoba, Argentina

María Lina Formica, PhD UNITEFA-Departamento de Ciencias Farmacéuticas, Facultad de Ciencias Químicas, CONICET, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Haya de la Torre y Medina Allende s/n, Ciudad Universitaria, Córdoba, Argentina

Bruno César Franco, Student Fellow Centro de Investigación en Neurociencias de Rosario – Secretaría de Ciencia y Técnica, Facultad de Psicología, Universidad Nacional de Rosario (CINR-UNR), Rosario, Argentina

Laboratorio de Cognición y Emoción – Secretaría de Ciencia y Técnica, Facultad de Psicología, Universidad Nacional de Rosario (LABce- UNR), Rosario, Argentina

Raúl Gagliardi, PhD International Center for Migration, Health and Development, Geneva, Switzerland

Juan M. Galeazzi, PhD University of Oxford, Oxford, UK

Javier Andrés García Castro, PhD Centro Universitario Villanueva (Universidad Complutense de Madrid), Madrid, Spain

Ángel José Martín Gargiulo, MD Epilepsy Center of Ramos Mejía and El Cruce Hospital, ENyS-IBCN-CONICET, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Laboratory of Neurosciences and Experimental Psychology (CONICET), Area of Pharmacology, National University of Cuyo, Mendoza, Argentina Augusto Pascual Italo Gargiulo, MD Laboratory of Neurosciences and Experimental Psychology (CONICET), Area of Pharmacology, National University of Cuyo, Mendoza, Argentina

Residence of Psychiatry, Rivadavia Hospital, Buenos Aires, Argentina

María Teresa Gargiulo, PhD Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas (CONICET), Facultad de Filosofía y Letras, Universidad Nacional de Cuyo, Mendoza, Argentina

Pascual Angel Gargiulo, PhD Laboratory of Neurosciences and Experimental Psychology, Latin American Technological Corporation Foundation (FUCOTEL), Cathedra of Psychopathology, Catholic University of Argentina, Area of Pharmacology Department of Pathology, National University of Cuyo, CONICET, Guaymallén, Mendoza, Argentina

Rocco J. Gennaro, PhD University of Southern Indiana, Evansville, IN, USA

Marisa S. Ghersi, PhD IFEC-Departamento de Farmacología, Facultad de Ciencias Químicas, CONICET, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Haya de la Torre y Medina Allende s/n, Ciudad Universitaria, Córdoba, Argentina

Fernando Gil Zbinden, MD Facultad de Farmacia y Bioquímica, Universidad de Buenos Aires, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Amauri Gouveia, PhD Laboratory of Neuroscience and Behavior, Federal University of Pará (UFPA), Belem, Pará, Brazil

Francisco Güell, PhD Mind-Brain Group, Institute for Culture and Society (ICS), University of Navarra, Pamplona, Spain

Manuel Guerra, PhD Departamento de Farmacología y Fisiología, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Zaragoza, Zaragoza, Spain

Svetlozar Haralanov, PhD Medical University of Sofia, Department of Psychiatry and Medical Psychology, University Hospital of Neurology and Psychiatry "St. Naum", First Psychiatric Clinic, Sofia, Bulgaria

Evelina Haralanova, PhD Medical University of Sofia, Department of Psychiatry and Medical Psychology; University Hospital of Neurology and Psychiatry "St. Naum", First Psychiatric Clinic, Sofia, Bulgaria

Claudia Beatriz Hereñú, PhD Facultad de Ciencias Químicas, Departamento de Farmacología, Instituto de Farmacología Experimental de Córdoba (IFEC-CONICET), Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Córdoba, Argentina

Macarena Lorena Herrera, Lic. in Genetics Facultad de Ciencias Químicas, Departamento de Farmacología, Instituto de Farmacología Experimental de Córdoba (IFEC-CONICET), Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Córdoba, Argentina

Malena Herrera, Student Fellow IFEC-CONICET, Departamento de Farmacología, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Córdoba, Argentina

Andrea Induni, Pharm. Facultad de Farmacia y Bioquímica, Universidad de Buenos Aires, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Mirta Susana Ison, PhD Institute of Human, Social and Environmental Sciences (INCIHUSA-CONICET), Scientific-Technological Center (CCT Mendoza – CONICET) CONICET, Capital, Mendoza, Argentina

Andrea Jaime, Student Fellow IFEC-CONICET, Departamento de Farmacología, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Córdoba, Argentina

Luis Isaías Juncos, PhD Fundación J. Robert Cade, Córdoba, Argentina

Silvia Kochen, PhD Epilepsy Center of Ramos Mejía and El Cruce Hospital, ENyS-IBCN-CONICET, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Buenos Aires University, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Celina Korzeniowski, PhD Institute of Human, Social and Environmental Sciences (INCIHUSA-CONICET), Scientific-Technological Center (CCT Mendoza - CONICET) CONICET, Capital, Mendoza, Argentina

Magnolia Muk-Lan Lee, MSc Department of Applied Biology and Chemical Technology, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Eduardo A. Leiderman, MD, PhD Faculty of Social Sciences, Universidad de Palermo, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Psychiatric Emergencies Hospital "Marcelo T. de Alvear", Buenos Aires, Argentina

Antonio Lobo, MD, PhD Departamento de Medicina y Psiquiatría, Universidad de Zaragoza, Zaragoza, Spain

Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Aragón, Zaragoza, Spain

CIBERSAM, Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red. Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Madrid, Spain

Elena Lobo, MPH, PhD Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Aragón, Zaragoza, Spain

CIBERSAM, Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red. Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Madrid, Spain

Departamento de Medicina Preventiva y Salud Pública, Zaragoza, Spain

María Graciela López Ordieres, PhD Facultad de Farmacia y Bioquímica, Universidad de Buenos Aires, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Natalia Andrea Marchese, PhD IFEC-CONICET, Departamento de Farmacología, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Córdoba, Argentina

Consuelo Martínez Priego, PhD Universidad Villanueva, Madrid, Spain

Pablo Martino, PhD Centro de Investigación en Neurociencias de Rosario – Secretaría de Ciencia y Técnica, Facultad de Psicología, Universidad Nacional de Rosario (CINR-UNR), Rosario, Argentina Laboratorio de Cognición y Emoción – Secretaría de Ciencia y Técnica, Facultad de Psicología. Universidad Nacional de Rosario (LABce- UNR), Rosario, Argentina

Guilherme Messas, MD, PhD Santa Casa de São Paulo School of Medical Sciences, São Paulo, Brazil

Belén Mesurado, PhD Centro Interdisciplinario de Investigaciones en Psicología Matemática y Experimental (CIIPME)- Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones, Científicas y Técnicas (CONICET), Instituo de Filosofía, Universidad Austral, Pilar, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Emil Milushev, MD, PhD Medical University of Sofia, Department of Psychiatry and Medical Psychology, University Hospital of Neurology and Psychiatry "St. Naum", First Psychiatric Clinic, Sofia, Bulgaria

Agustín J. Montivero, MD IFEC-Departamento de Farmacología, Facultad de Ciencias Químicas, CONICET, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Haya de la Torre y Medina Allende s/n, Ciudad Universitaria, Córdoba, Argentina

Humberto Morales, MD Section of Neuroradiology, Department of Radiology, University of Cincinnati Medical Center, Cincinnati, OH, USA

José Eduardo Moreno, PhD Centro de Investigación Interdisciplinar en Valores, Integración y Desarrollo Social, Pontificia Universidad Católica Argentina (UCA), Paraná, Entre Ríos, Argentina

Victoria Belén Occhieppo, Lic. in Biology IFEC-CONICET, Departamento de Farmacología, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Córdoba, Argentina

Andrea Otamendi, Licensed in Psychology Facultad de Ciencias Químicas, Departamento de Farmacología, Instituto de Farmacología Experimental de Córdoba (IFEC-CONICET), Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Córdoba, Argentina

Santiago D. Palma, PhD IFEC-Departamento de Farmacología, Facultad de Ciencias Químicas, CONICET, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Haya de la Torre y Medina Allende s/n, Ciudad Universitaria, Córdoba, Argentina

Mariela Fernanda Pérez, PhD IFEC-Departamento de Farmacología, Facultad de Ciencias Químicas, CONICET, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Haya de la Torre y Medina Allende s/n, Ciudad Universitaria, Córdoba, Argentina

Andrea Mariela Quiroga, PhD Facultad de Ingeniería y Ciencias Agropecuarias, Universidad Nacional de San Luis, San Luis, Argentina

Víctor F. Quiroga Calegari, Mgtr Faculty of Psychology, National University of Rosario, Rosario, Argentina

Daniela Andrea Ramírez, Licensed in Chemistry Laboratorio de Cromatografía para Agroalimentos, Instituto de Biología Agrícola de Mendoza, Universidad Nacional de Cuyo, CONICET, Mendoza, Argentina

Francisco Rego, PhD Universidad Nacional de Cuyo, Mendoza, Argentina

Santiago Resett, PhD Instituto de Filosofía, Universidad Austral - Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas (CONICET) - Universidad Argentina de la Empresa (UADE), Buenos Aires, Argentina

Lucas Marcelo Rodriguez, PhD Centro de Investigación Interdisciplinar en Valores, Integración y Desarrollo Social, Pontificia Universidad Católica Argentina (UCA), Paraná, Entre Ríos, Argentina

Anahí Rodríguez, Student Fellow IFEC-CONICET, Departamento de Farmacología, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Córdoba, Argentina

Pablo G. Sanz, MD, PhD Service of Neurology, Hospital Piñero, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Luis Felipe Sarmiento Rivera, MSc Laboratory of Neuroscience and Behavior, Federal University of Pará (UFPA), Belem, Pará, Brazil

Mercedes Sarudiansky, PhD Epilepsy Center of Ramos Mejía and El Cruce Hospital, ENyS-IBCN-CONICET, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Facultad de Psicología, Universidad de Buenos Aires, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Laura Scévola, PhD Epilepsy Center of Ramos Mejía and El Cruce Hospital, ENyS-IBCN-CONICET, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Ezequiel Serrano, Student Fellow Laboratory of Molecular Neurobiology, Biomedical Research Institute (BIOMED), UCA–CONICET, and Faculty of Medical Sciences, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Diana Shkodrova, MD, PhD Medical University of Sofia, Department of Psychiatry and Medical Psychology, University Hospital of Neurology and Psychiatry "St. Naum", First Psychiatric Clinic, Sofia, Bulgaria

María Soledad Soria, PhD Departamento de Farmacología y Fisiología, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Zaragoza, Zaragoza, Spain

Gustavo Eduardo Tafet, MSc, MD, PhD International Foundation for the Development of Neurosciences (FIDN), Department of Psychiatry and Neurosciences Updates– Maimonides University, Buenos Aires, Argentina

William Chi-Shing Tai, PhD Department of Applied Biology and Chemical Technology, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Melissa Tamelini, MD Hospital das Clínicas, Faculty of Medicine, University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil

Carlos Torres, MD, FRCPC Section of Neuroradiology, Department of Radiology, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada

Carolina Torres-Palazzolo, PhD Laboratorio de Cromatografía para Agroalimentos, Instituto de Biología Agrícola de Mendoza, Universidad Nacional de Cuyo, CONICET, Mendoza, Argentina

María Gabriela Valdez Paolasini, Licensed in Psychology Faculty of Psychology, University of Buenos Aires (UBA), Buenos Aires, Argentina

Daniel Eduardo Vigo, MD, PhD BIOMED-UCA-CONICET, Pontificia Universidad Católica Argentina, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Eric Wainwright, M.D. Department of Psychiatry, Buenos Aires British Hospital, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Braulio Moyano Hospital, Buenos Aires, Argentina

The Catholic University of Argentina, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Maimónides University, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Wing-Yan Wong, PhD Department of Applied Biology and Chemical Technology, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Benjamin K. Yee, DPhil Department of Rehabilitation Sciences, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Part I

Epistemological Considerations About the Study of Normal and Abnormal Human Behaviors

Psychiatry and the Inference to the Best Explanation

Juan Ernesto Calderón

Introduction

One of the most influential currents in the field of the contemporary Philosophy of Science is Karl Popper's critical rationalism. This theory sustains that the best way of evaluating scientific theories is through the hypothetico-deductive method (H-D). According to the H-D, scientific theories are hypotheses which are tested deducing observational consequences from them. The hypotheses cannot be confirmed, but refuted through the H-D. When a hypothesis is falsified, it obliges us to formulate other surpassing hypotheses concerning their explanatory content and precision. A hypothesis is scientific if it can be falsified, in the sense that there exists a group of statements logically possible which can be deduced from the theory and which serve to refute it.

The key of this method lies in the possibility of achieving a refutation. However, the problem is that a hypothesis can never be absolutely refuted. According to the Duhem-Quine thesis, a theory can be made compatible with any evidence through an adequate adjustment of the auxiliary hypothesis. This implies that the H-D does not have the necessary epistemic force to refute the hypotheses, which indicates that the H-D is completely permissive but minimally pro-

J. E. Calderón (🖂)

bative. This problem, which affects any theory, also has an impact on the field of Psychiatry. In this area, the confounding factors are present more than in other types of object of study. This fact has made various authors deny the possibility of approaching the discipline from the categories of the Philosophy of Science. According to this position, concentrating exclusively on the clinical practice is more productive than enquiring into the implicit strategies of the Philosophy of Science which can appear inside these practices. In this same line, serious doubts about the possibility of applying the so-called Evidence-Based Medicine (EBM) are posed.

The objectives of the present contribution are the following: (1) showing that the difficulties presented by Falsacionism can be overcome by the Inference to the Best Explanation (IME); (2) demonstrating that the IBE can serve as a key element for the EBM; and (3) showing that, in the specific case of Psychiatry, the IBE is a tool which allows to complete the EBM and to explain medical practice and research. Upon this base, this paper will deal, in the first place, with the problems of Popper's Falsacionism; and in the second place, with the notion of the IBE as a methodological proposal able to overcome the difficulties presented in the critical rationalism in general and in the epistemological analysis of the Psychiatry in particular will be dealt with. Finally, the solutions given to the EBM by the IBE will be discussed.

Check for updates

Department of Philosophy, Faculty of Philosophy and Letters, Facultad de Filosofía y Letras, Universidad Nacional de Cuyo, Mendoza, Argentina

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_1

The Method in Psychiatry

In the case of Neurosciences, an important distinction between Philosophy of Neuroscience Neurophilosophy be found. and can Neurophilosophy aims at using the tools of Neuroscience to understand traditional philosophical questions as "What is an emotion?" [1], "What is the nature of desire?" [2], "How may social cognition be made possible?" [3], "What is the neural basis of moral cognition?" [1], and "What is the neural basis of happiness?" [4]. Philosophy of Neuroscience, however, deals with the traditional questions of Philosophy of Science: Which kind of investigation and which type of explanation is made in Neurosciences? These enquiries can be answered from a descriptive or from a normative perspective, whether we attempt to explain how Neurosciences proceed in fact or how they should proceed [5].

The Philosophy of Neurosciences has problems when framing its activity in relation to the general framework of sciences and its classification. Taking into account the nature of the object of study of Neurosciences, starting from a normative framework or applying the categories of science and pseudoscience according to falsifiability has not been productive [6]. As Rachel Cooper [7] states, the distinction between falsifiable and unfalsifiable becomes even more confusing since the Duhem-Quine thesis, which demonstrates the impossibility of forcefully falsifying the statements. For this reason, Cooper states that in Psychiatry before debating about the character of science and pseudoscience, we must answer concrete questions about Pathology and possible treatments instead of answering to the traditional rules of science. As John Pickstone [8] and Cooper [7] point out, the methods used in Psychiatry are not always the same in a strict sense but vary historically. For this reason, instead of asking if Psychiatry is a scientific research, we must ask about the method which has been used to study the case in hand.

The impossibility of strictly refuting a theory is seen in any theory analyzed with the hypothetico-deductive method (H-D). This fact can be shown through the so-called "DuhemQuine thesis." According to Elliot Sober [9], the problem posed by the Duhem-Quine thesis can be summarized as follows: when a negative prediction is derived from the conjunction of a hypothesis (H) and auxiliary hypothesis (AH), which one should be rejected: H or AH? This problem affects the capacity of the H-D of evaluating any theory because any possible negative prediction does not bring along the epistemic force to reject H. For this reason, Stathis Psillos [10] (p. 181) affirms that "....H-D is minimally epistemically probative, since it does not have the resources to show how the undercutting defeaters can be removed."

If we depart from the base that the problem is not the theories but the method, the key is looking for another method which offers enough epistemic force and which can be broad-based at the same time. "Any attempt to characterize the abstract structure of scientific method should make the method satisfy two general an intuitively epistemic compelling desiderata: it should be ampliative and epistemically probative" [10] (p. 174). Evidently this ampliative character is essential if we consider science an activity which makes our knowledge expand. However, this growing is merely illusory if we do not have any way of proving this knowledge. To refute a hypothesis, we need to know concretely where the problem resides: if in the H or in the AH. Nevertheless, "All these considerations go a lot beyond the deductive link between hypotheses and data that forms the backbone of H-D and are not incorporated by the logical structure of H-D" [10] (p. 181). Which are the difficulties of making Psychiatry fit into Popper's model? Evidently, a basic problem to place Psychiatry into the Popperian framework departs from the object of study itself. That is to say, how scientists achieve a conclusive refutation when the factors influencing the results overlap with the experiment making it more difficult to accomplish conclusive results. Specifically, the verification of hypotheses is complex due to the great amount of deviation factors (confounding factors), which, according to Jeremy Howick [11] (pp. 35–37), have three characteristics:

- It affects the results. For example, age can be mentioned as a factor that effectively influences the results. If the age of the members of the control group is not considered, the result will certainly be seriously altered.
- 2. If a key element, such as the age, is distributed in an unequal way in the experimental group and the control group, the inequity of the distribution is a deviation factor, that is to say, if the factor is distributed in inequitable way between the experimental and the control group.
- The third characteristic is when a factor unrelated to experimental intervention appears.

As it is seen, "Each confounding factor provides a potential alternative explanation for the results of a clinical trial" [11] (p. 35). This means that each of the factors is perfectly compatible with the idea of the auxiliary hypothesis, which makes a complete and conclusive falsation impossible, as the Duhem-Quine thesis points out against Popper's Falsacionism. Each deviation factor gives an alternative potential explanation for the results of a clinical trial.

Irrefutability of the Scientific Theories and the Inference to the Best Explanation

According to Psillos, the difficulties presented by the H-D can be overcome by the IME. This can be summarized as follows:

D is a collection of data (facts, observations, givens) H explains D (H would, if true, explain D) No other hypothesis can explain D as well as H does. Therefore, H is probably true. [10] (p. 183)

The evaluation made by the IBE implies, in the first place, we never work "in the vacuum." This implication means that the causalnomological connection between the *explanans* and the *explanandum* is relevant because not only data is considered but also the available substantiated knowledge [10] (pp. 183–184). Based on this, why the IBE allows to compare hypotheses is clearly seen. H1 and H2 can be compared according to their verisimilitude degree. Scientists with their activity indicate which hypothesis gives more possibilities of development. Psillos [10] (pp. 184–185) mentions six key points which serve to determine which is the best hypothesis.

- 1. *Consilience*: if there are two hypotheses H_1 and H_2 and the "relevant background knowledge" favors H_1 over H_2 , unless any relevant change appears, H_1 must be considered the best explanation.
- 2. *Completeness*: if there exists an only one explanatory hypothesis H which explains all the data, in spite of other hypotheses which explain in a partial way, H must be considered the best.
- 3. *Importance*: if there are two hypotheses, H₁ and H₂, which do not explain the entire relevant phenomena, but H₁ explain the most salient, H₁ is the best.
- 4. *Parsimony*: if H₁ and H₂ explain all the facts, but H₁ uses less assumptions than H₂, then H₁ is the best.
- 5. *Unification*: if H_1 and H_2 are compound hypotheses, but H_1 has less auxiliary hypotheses than H_2 , H_1 is the best.
- 6. Precision: if H₁ offers a more precise explanation of the phenomenon, "… in particular an explanation that articulates some causal-nomological mechanism by means of which the phenomena are explained," H₁ is better than H₂.

Together with the six points mentioned above, there is another key element of the IME which we should consider: coherence. "In the end, IBE enhances the explanatory coherence of a background corpus of belief by choosing a hypothesis which brings certain pieces of evidence into line with this corpus" [10] (p. 188). When H is affirmed to be the best hypothesis, coherence is implied not only between the corpus of knowledge but also with the data tried to be explained. For this reason, through the IBE, the extending character which the method evaluating theories must have is rescued.
The problem of two competing theories could be posed, H_1 and H_2 , which share up the criteria. Then, H_1 could be superior to H_2 in the three criteria and H_2 in the remaining ones. To solve this problem, the IBE states that the criterion never works "in the vacuum," which points out that the election is related to the state of the situation, where the scientific community decides.

Besides, the existence of several hypotheses is not only healthy from the point of view of scientific knowledge, but it is also a fact. We should also bear in mind that the IBE does consider the theories to be completely true. This interpretation is based on the way the IBE interprets the notion of verisimilitude (truth-likeness). "In our interactions with the world, the exact truth cannot generally be had, especially concerning the unobservable and spatio-temporally remote aspects of the world. A perfect match between theories and the world is almost impossible" [12] (p. 276). This situation is due to different reasons. One of these is that the complexity of the natural phenomena prevents it from being represented by scientific theories unless idealizations and simplifications are introduced. For this reason, "Demanding the exact truth in science would amount to demanding the exclusion of all approximations, simplifications, idealizations, approximate derivations, sources of error in measurements and calculations. Even were this sort of science possible, it would not be the science which we are familiar" [12] (p. 276). We should also state that the idea of verisimilitude implied by the IBE is an intuitive notion which is not realizable and it does not require it because "The conceptual schemes that science uses to study the world are revisable and revised" [10] (p. 32).

Evidence-Based Medicine

The EBM emerged as a new "paradigm." This new paradigm tried to bring more strict canons for medical practice. Specifically, scientists tried to separate medical practice from less rigorous methodologies.

Evidence-Based Medicine de-emphasizes intuition, unsystematic clinical experience, and

pathophysiological rationale as sufficient grounds for clinical decision-making and stresses the examination of evidence from clinical research [13].

As Jeremy Howick [11] (p. 15) points out, there are three terms which need clarification: for "clinical experience," the EBM representatives stem from the fact that clinical experience is not based on the relevant clinical experience available, but it depends on non-systematized personal experiences. Many times, these experiences are transformed into common practices through congresses and publications which are means of dissemination, but which are supposed to have a solid foundation although they have not been subjected to criticism.

For pathophysiology rationale (mechanistic reasoning), the EBM representatives understand the existence of treatments based on explanations which suppose the existence of a causalexplanatory relation between a cause and a determined object. For example, the belief that antiarrhythmic drugs would reduce mortality was based on (supposed) facts about the causes of mortality (arrhythmias) and the mechanism of action of antiarrhythmic drugs [11] (p. 15). This belief proved to be dangerously false. For this reason, the representatives of the EBM contrast mechanistic reasoning to a clinical research or comparative clinical study. The second aims at observing the results through empirical tests where the concrete effects of intervention can be evaluated. The classical example of Cardiac Arrhythmia Suppression Control is an attest designed to measure if the drugs controlling arrhythmia reduce the mortality in patients who have suffered a heart attack. As it is widely known, the result was negative, showing that the use of mechanistic reasoning can generate serious problems. These problems can be detected and overcome using comparative clinical studies. However, the representatives of the EBM do not see all comparative studies in the same way: the randomized trials are better because they give the best evidence to evaluate therapeutic effects (see Figure 1 [11], p. 13).

Some authors consider that it is impossible to apply the EBM categories of analysis to

Psychiatry, and for this reason, they question the attempt to propose an Evidence-Based Psychiatry (EBP). The questioning stem from part of two methodological problems: "...prognostic homogeneity of clinical trial groups and quantification of trial outcomes" [14]. Based on these methodological problems, two basic arguments against the application of the EBM in Psychiatry appear. The first states that the theory of EBM can be accepted, but not its actual practice. In other words, this criticism affirms that the research does not reflect neither the conditions of Psychiatry nor the patients' state sufficiently, so as to be useful in clinical practice. An example of this problem appears in the case of a diagnosis of depression. In this case, as the treatment is presented under the form of a randomized controlled trial (RCT), the fact that the patient has multiple conduct disorders is left aside. On the basis of this, data obtained in patients with a pathology are applied to patients with multiple pathologies harming clinical practice instead of benefiting it.

The second argument aims at the fact that the narrative structure and the meaning of personal experiences are essential components of living with a mental disorder and the psychotherapy treatment of those patients. This situation is hard to study with the tools provided by the EBM with a RCT because these aspects complicate when they do not make it possible a study described in terms of neurological processes. Life experiences cannot be completely explained in biological or quantitative terms. According to Holmes [15], these problems do not imply abandoning research on non-pharmacological treatments, but refining it or the methods.

These criticisms can be overcome with the help of the IBE. In the first case, when we mention that the results obtained cannot be put into practice, the IBE departing from the intrinsic relation between *explanans* and *explanandum* does not allow this to happen. The relation between theory and concrete practice is constantly reformulating and reinventing itself because it is not a static but a dynamic relation. In the specific case of Psychiatry, the patient cannot be left aside by any means. That is to say that the Inference to the Best Explanation acts upon the patient trying to give an answer to the pathology that presents. In this same line, the answer to the second objection must be understood. The IBE always departs from the fact that is tried to be explained, not the agreement between the fact and the theory. Apart from that, the fact that experience is individual and in this sense is narrated and has meaning only for the one who is suffering it does not invalidate the possibility of searching common and natural general elements inside this particular structure. In this sense, the IBE is the one which assures with a greater degree of truth the relation between a particular case and the theory which can help to understand the specific case without forcing it.

Conclusion

The problems posed by the H-D have led various scientists to disbelieve in the possibility of using the categories in the Philosophy of Science. This position tries to give answers to the problems that sprang from a discipline without inquiring the implicit methodology of these answers. These problems appear because the H-D does not take into account the relation between the data and the theory, between the explanans and the explanandum. The IBE does take this relation into account. According to the IBE, theories are never absolutely true, but they are the best possible explanation due to the actual state of knowledge. When it is stated that H is the best hypothesis, coherence is assumed not only between the corpus of knowledge but also between the data that it is intended to explain. For this reason, in the specific case of Psychiatry, the IBE is a tool which allows us to explain investigation and clinical practice, and it also gives to an action a framework of rationality which would be otherwise only a sophisticated variant of common sense. The EBP is an attempt to apply the MBE to the field of Psychiatry. The IBE can serve to solve the two basic queries made to that attempt. On the one hand, rescuing the essential relation between the *explanans* and the explanandum prevents the possibility of thinking that the theories are incompatible with the concrete clinical practice or the lack of awareness of the nature of the object. On the other hand, acknowledging that the theories are approximations to the truth clarifies the fact that it is not a question of rigid structures but of permanently revisable ones. The narrative structures of both the pathology experimented by the patient and the treatment applied are analyzable through the IBE, taking them as explanations feasible of being analyzed through the criteria previously mentioned.

References

- 1. Prinz J. The emotional construction of morals. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2007.
- Schroeder T. Three faces of desire. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2004.
- Goldman A. Simulating minds: the philosophy, phycology, and neuroscience of mindreading. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2006.
- Flanagan O. Neuro-eudaimonics, or Buddhists lead neuroscientists to the seat of happiness. In: Bickle J, editor. The Oxford handbook of philosophy and neuroscience. New York: Oxford University Press; 2009. p. 582–600.

- Roskies A. What's 'Neu' in Neuroethics? In: Bickle J, editor. The Oxford handbook of philosophy and neuroscience. New York: Oxford University Press; 2009. p. 454–72.
- McNally R. Is the pseudoscience concept useful for clinical psychology? Sci Rev Ment Health Pract. 2003;2. https://www.srmhp.org/0202/pseudoscience. html. Accessed 6 Mar 2017
- Cooper R. Is psychiatric research scientific? In: Matthew B, Bortolotti L, editors. Psychiatry as cognitive neuroscience: philosophical perspectives. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2009.
- Pickestone J. Ways of knowing. Manchester: Manchester University Press; 2000.
- Sober E. Likelihood, model selection, and the Duhemquine problem. J Philos. May 2004;CI(5):221–41.
- Psillos S. Knowing the structure of nature: essays on realism and explanation. London: Palgrave Macmillan; 2009.
- Howick J. The philosophy of evidence-based medicine. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2011.
- Psillos S. Scientific realism. How science tracks truth. Routledge/London/New York: Routledge; 1999.
- Evidence Based Medicine Working Group. Evidencebased medicine. A new approach to teaching the practice of medicine. J Am Med Assoc. 1992;114:A 16.
- Gupta G. Does evidence-based medicine apply to psychiatry? Theor Med Bioeth. 2007. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11017-007-9029-x. Ó Springer 2007.
- 15. Holmes J. Narrative in psychiatry and psychotherapy: the evidence? J Med Ethics. 2000;26:92–6.



2

The Notion of Empathy According to Edith Stein

Miriam Dolly Arancibia

Introduction

In her early writing, *On the Empathy* [1], Edith Stein follows the example of her teacher Edmund Husserl. Then, she analyzes the issue of empathy by applying the phenomenological method convinced that phenomenology was the most appropriate approach to the investigation of the structure of the human person.

In 1905, Edmund Husserl introduced the notion of empathy, understanding as such the experience of other consciousness and their experiences, unlike the experience of consciousness of itself. However, the first extensive phenomenological study on this subject is the doctoral thesis of Edith Stein [2].

Although this work was her Ph.D. dissertation, Stein differs from Husserl in some respects. Many years after the completion of this work, Husserl presented his *Cartesian Meditations* emphasizing the possibility of other description of the empathy rather than the phenomenological. Thus, *Cartesian Meditations* [3] is more in contrast with his earlier conceptions than similar to them. Therefore, Stein's work on empathy is in contrast with *Cartesian Meditations* [1].

The main question that Stein investigates is about the experience of the subjects and their experiences. How it is possible that we get to feel the sadness that another person feels? To investigate this phenomenon, Stein begins with a historical review of the different positions on the empathy and the differences in empathy with other similar acts [4, p. 310].

One of the main objectives of the work is criticizing the different theories on the understanding of the minds of others. It focuses on the criticism of the theories of imitation, the theories of association, and the theories of analogy. According to the theories of imitation, we could understand the experiences of others through an imitation of what others have experienced. According to the theories of association, the understanding of other psyches is possible due to connections between different experiences until arriving to a similar experience of the other person. The theories of analogy propose that we are able to understand each other through analogies or parallels with what we have experienced [4, p. 310].

Stein criticizes all these theories for the fact that they deny the immediate experience of other experiences and understanding of others, because all these theories postulate that one gets to the understanding of the minds of others through reasoning, analogies, associations, or imitations. Against these positions, Stein offers a phenomenological version according to which empathy is an act that, as experience, is original and that makes us possible to capture the content of the experience of other person [4].

M. D. Arancibia (⊠) Universidad Nacional de San Juan, San Juan, Argentina

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_2

On the other hand, descriptions of the psychophysical individual and of the spiritual person are necessary in order to show the full implications and applications of the doctrine of empathy. Stein affirms that all controversy over empathy is based on the assumption that foreign subjects and their experience are given to us [1].

Edith Stein notices that the description of empathy within consciousness after the suspension of the existence of empathy must be the basis for any other dealings with the problem by psychologists, sociologists, or biologists. The description must be a description of the pure transcendental phenomenon. This does not mean that Stein tries to develop a set of abstract theorizations without practical derivations. On the contrary, the contributions of phenomenology still enrich psychology.

The phenomenological attitude of Edith Stein reveals an independent position that resembles the fundamental conceptions of the phenomenology of Munich and Göttingen but takes very clear loans of Husserl and suggests certain affinities with procedures of Heidegger [5, p. 726].

According to Stein, the goal of phenomenology is to clarify and thereby to find the ultimate basis of all knowledge. To reach this goal, it considers nothing that could be in any way doubtful, nothing that could be eliminated. In the first place, it does not use any result of science [5, p. 3].

The entire surrounding world, the physical as well as the psychophysical, the bodies, as well as the souls of human being and animals are subject to the exclusion of reduction [1, §1]. We must exclude the positing of existence. However, we cannot exclude our experience of the thing: the perception memory or other kind of comprehension. The full phenomenon of the thing, it means, the object given, as the same in series of diverse perceptions or memories, is not subject of doubt.

On the other hand, Stein affirms that the world in which we live is not only a world of physical bodies but also of experiencing subjects external to us, of whose experiences we know. This knowledge is dubitable. The phenomenon of a psychophysical individual differs from a physical thing. This individual is not given as a physical body, but as a sensitive, living body belonging to an "I" that senses, thinks, feels and wills. The living body of this "I" is the center of orientation of such a phenomenal world [5, p. 5].

All these data of foreign experience point back of the basic nature of acts in which foreign experience is comprehended. Stein designates these acts as empathy. The acts given primordially are outer perception, which have something in common with the empathy: in both cases, the object itself is present here and now. However, empathy does not have the character of outer perception. Moreover, empathy is not ideation. Thus, empathy is a kind of act of perceiving sui generis [5, p. 11].

Let us take the burnout syndrome as an example to illustrate those differences. Burnout is a syndrome of emotional exhaustion, depersonalization and reduced personal accomplishment that can occur among individuals who work with people in some capacity [6]. It is the result of a gradual process of disillusionment. According to Maslach et al. [6], emotional exhaustion is the central quality of burnout, representing feelings of being emotionally overextended and exhausted. Of the three aspects of burnout, exhaustion is the most widely reported and a necessary criterion for burnout [6].

We will apply thoughts of Edith Stein at this example. Perhaps we notice external symptoms: anxiety, depression, anger, pessimism, apathy, isolation and irritability. According to Edith Stein, the outer perception is a term for acts in which spatial-temporal concrete being and occurring come to us in embodied givenness. Nevertheless, those symptoms are not a thing, and they do not appear to us as a thing.

The example shows that there are close relationships between phenomenology and psychology. Stein notices that there is a phenomenon of "foreign experience" and correlatively the "perception of foreign experience." The phenomenon is indubitable; it is the genuine object of protophilosophy. Thus, the first task in this domain is to comprehend the phenomenon in its pure essence, free from all the accidents of appearance. According to Stein, we must know this before we can ask how this perception occurs [1, §22]. The genetic psychological investigation of cause cannot answer this first question. On the other hand, phenomenology and psychology are not complete independents from one another. Phenomenology investigates the essence of empathy, genetic psychology, presupposing the phenomenon of empathy investigates the process of this realization and, when its task is completed, must be back to the phenomenon [1, § 23].

According to Stein, the problem is that the traditional philosophical speech was dedicated to pure "I" and to subject of experience but not necessarily to another. Nevertheless, that is one of the central interests of Stein in dealing with the problem of empathy [7, p. 85].

Consequently, this article focuses on the empathy as comprehension of spiritual persons. Specifically, it pursues to elucidate the conditions of possibility of empathy between people in order to highlight the analyses of human experiences as facilitators to understand the nature of the human person.

Empathy as a Problem of Constitution of Psychophysical Individual

According to Edith Stein, in general, empathy is an act, which is primordial as present experience though non-primordial in content. This content is an experience, which can be carried out in different ways as in memory, in waiting or in fantasy. When it suddenly emerges before me, it faces me as an object, i.e., I realize the expression of sadness in another's face. Then, I try to explain the mood of another; this experience is not an object anymore; I turn not to the content but to the object of it. Thus, I am at the subject of the content in the original subject's place. Only after the clarification, the content faces me again as an object [1, §8].

Therefore, Stein distinguishes three levels of accomplishment:

- 1. The emergence of the experience
- 2. The fulfilling explanation
- 3. The comprehensive objectification of the explained experience

On the first and third levels, the representation corresponds the non-primordial way to the nonprimordial perception, and on the second level, it corresponds the non-primordial way to the accomplishment of experience.

For Stein, empathy announces in the most direct manner possible the actual presence of the other's experience although it does not provide us with first-personal access to it [8, p. 294]. The subject of the empathized experience is not the subject who accomplishes the action of empathy, but another. These two subjects are separated and not joined together. This is different regarding memory, waiting and fantasy. The other subject is primordial although I do not experience it as primordial. In my experience non-primordial, I feel accompanied by a primordial experience, which was not experienced by me and manifests itself in my non-primordial experience. In this way, empathy is a kind of act of perceiving sui generis [1, §10].

Consequently, empathy is not a simple feel with or identification with someone. Empathy is not to accompany someone feeling sympathy or antipathy. Empathy is not to live in the same way that another lives.

First, empathy is recognizing another individual not only as object in the physic world as body between bodies, but as subject living and sensitive, as individual psychophysical. Then, the specific of the empathy emerges in comparison between memory and fantasy. In fact, empathy is not a representation of a mood but from a mood experienced by another [9, p. 7]. Stein defines empathy as a form of intentionality directed at foreign experiences [8, p. 290].

On the other hand, the individual "I" becomes individual in contrast with "you" and "he." This individuality means that it is "itself" and no other. This "selfness" is experienced and is the basis of all that is "mine." The otherness is apparent in the type of givenness [1, §10].

In a second sense, "I" is the unity of flow of consciousness. We begin with the "I" as the subject of an actual experience. However, when we reflect on this experience, we find that it is not isolated [1, §41]. Among our experiences, there is one basic experience given to us, which, together with its persistent attributes, becomes apparent in our experiences: the substantial soul [1, §42].

It means that our experiences show us something that is at the base of them and manifests itself and its constant properties; this is a substantial soul. Some of these psychical properties are, for example, the energy that manifests itself in our acts. Tension or the weakness of our volitional actions manifests the vivacity, strength, or weakness of our will. If they persist, they manifest tenacity and are also shown, for example, in the intensity of our feelings, which can discover either the passion or emotion of our mood.

To better understand empathy, Stein proposes to explain what constitution is.

The constitution is linked to act of synthesis whereby consciousness represents an object from different set of data. "During a recent walk with him (Husserl) by Haslach, in which we have discussed about philosophy, I had a new confidence. Moreover, after that, I had a sudden intuition for which I guess to know, more or less what is constitution, but breaking with Idealism" [10, p. 34]. Stein refers to Ingarden that the presupposition for a constitution of evident nature is a physical nature existing and on the other hand a subjectivity with own structure. Stein is afraid of committing heresy regarding Husserl.

This heresy is not possible regarding the possibility of constitution of objectivity in natural world because is the topic in *Ideas II* [11], neither regarding the distinction of two poles of the constitutive act: consciousness and reality. According to Husserl, it is impossible to understand a reality without consciousness. Stein coincides with Husserl regarding the constitution of ideal realities, but she is questioning about the constitution of natural world [12, p. 47].

Therefore, Stein asks if it is possible to think nature without consciousness, if it is possible a reality not constituted by consciousness. Those questions do not pretend to undermine the absolute nature of consciousness neither questioning the formal cognitive aspect of experience, but it is an original aspect inside phenomenology [12, p. 48]. According to Stein, sensation is the limit between the constitution of natural world and the constitution of our experience, between transcendence and immanence. Sensation does not emerge from pure "I"; it is independent of the activity of conscience. Through sensation, there is a first level of immanence, which the main characteristic is passivity. Consequently, the main aspect of the sensation is the absence of intentionality [12, p. 49].

Meditations about empathy and intentionality reappeared as topics of the later work of Edith Stein, *Philosophy of Psychology and the Humanities*, published in the year 1922, after her doctoral thesis and when she was still assistant of Husserl [13, p. 176].

It is important to understand the notion of constitution proposed by Edith Stein in the analysis of the experience of natural world through sensations. Even in this level, we can appreciate the role of intersubjectivity in the objective constitution of the world and the nexus in the constitution of "I" through empathy [12, p. 43].

The problem of intersubjectivity and empathy interests Husserl from the beginnings of his work. Between 1914 and 1916, Stein was dedicated to the work of the empathy, as Husserl was concentrated to the problem of the constitution, one of whose key points is empathy [12, p. 44]. Stein narrates that in the seminar about Nature and Spirit, Husserl commented that we could know an external objective world only in the manner of intersubjectivity. It means from a majority of individuals who know their mutual cognitive exchange. Thus, the experience from other individuals is presupposed. Husserl called this experience empathy (Einfühlung), but he did not explain what it is. On the contrary, Edith Stein expressed "I just wanted to know what empathy is" [14, p. 246].

The various parts of the living body constituted for me in terms of sensation are various distance from me. In addition, the distance of the parts of our living body from us is incomparable with the distance of foreign physical bodies from us [1, §46]. In fact, the dependence of experiences on somatic influences characterizes to physical bodies. On the other hand, the soul is always in a body. Our own physical body emerges to us in successive appearances only variable within very narrow limits. It is the same tangible nearness and more than other objects. It is always here while other objects are always there [1, §45].

The soul is not the flow of consciousness. We know the soul as a substantial unit consisting of categorical elements as causality and variability. It similarly occurs in the physical thing. The peculiar structure of physic unity depends on the peculiar content of the flow of experience; and, conversely, the content of the flow of experience depends on the structure of the soul [1, §44].

Stein maintains that sensations are spatiallocalized while the "I" is non-spatial. "I" is at the "zero point of the orientation" of the living body. This zero point is at no particular place [1, §46]. The possibility of sensory empathy is guaranteed by the apprehension of my own body as a body and my body as my own body, thanks to the fusion of the external perception and own-body perception [1, §66].

The human body does not delimit the field of my objects of empathy, but rather defines a field within which it is possible to a defined degree of emphatic fulfillment. What I feel like nonoriginating can coincide with the other's original sensation. At the end of the process, empathetic presents a new objectivity, thanks to which we are facing of other as such. The comprehension of foreign experiences – sensations and feelings – involves a modification of consciousness and requires a uniform name. Stein selected the term empathy for those phenomena [1, §68].

This perspective about body and souls appears again in the later work *The Structure of Human Person* (1932–1933). Although the Thomistic influences are obvious, the basis remains. Stein asserts once more time that the living body is inserted in the unity of person. The body is something even without soul, but thanks to the soul, this body is in unity with her. The spiritual soul is the unity of human nature occupying a central place and dominating [15, pp. 146–147].

Empathy as the Understanding of Spiritual Persons

Summarizing, Stein distinguishes the individual "I" as a part of nature, the living body as a physical body among others, and the soul as founded on it. The soul is in causal correlation, suffers, and practices the influences. Moreover, Stein considers all that is psychic as natural occurrence and consciousness as reality.

However, this interpretation has some difficulties because in the constitution of the psychophysical individual, something appeared beyond this field. Consciousness appeared not only as a causally conditioned occurrence but also as an object constituting at the same time. Then, consciousness stepped out of the order of nature and faced it. Consequently, consciousness as a correlate of the objective world is not nature, but spirit [1, §102].

From these difficulties arise new problems, which motivate new meditations from Edith Stein in order to assume position about questions concerning the history of studies about empathy.

First, it is necessary to determine how far the spirit has already entered into the constitution of the psychophysical individual. Since the foreign body is a center of orientation of the spatial world, we assume the "I" as a spiritual subject for we have thus ascribed to the foreign living body an object-constituting consciousness and considered the external world as its correlate. All external perception carries out in spiritual acts. Similarly, in every literal act of empathy (i.e., in every comprehension of an act of feeling), we have already penetrated into the realm of the spirit [1, §102].

Therefore, as in the perceptual acts is constituted the physical nature, so a new object constitutes the feeling, the world of values. In joy, the subject has something joyous facing him; in fright, something frightening; and in fear, something threatening. Even moods have their objective correlate. For who is cheerful, the world bathes in a rosy glow and for who is depressed, bathes in black. All this is given with acts of feeling as belonging to them. The appearances of expression make possible the access to these experiences.

Stein infers that, as we consider all those expressions proceeding from experiences, we have the spirit becoming visible in the living body. This is possible by the psychic reality of acts as experiences of a psychophysical individual and involves an effect on physical nature [1, §102].

This appears still more strikingly in the realm of the will [1, §103]. The act of volition not only faces an objective correlate, but, since volition releases action out of itself, it gives reality to the volition, and it becomes creative. The whole cultural world, all that the hand of man has formed, all utilitarian objects, all works of handicraft, applied science, and art are the reality correlative to the spirit [1, §103].

Natural science (physics, chemistry, and biology as the science of living nature, which also includes empirical psychology) describes natural objects and seeks to explain causally their real genesis. This perspective is present in the later work of Edith Stein: *The Structure of the Human Person*, written in the years 1932–1933 [15]. She refers there the need to search an answer about what man is. It is the topic of anthropology, but it is not only a group of morphological observations. The basis of pedagogy does not come from natural science [15, pp. 54–57].

The ontology of nature seeks to reveal the essence and the categorical structure of these objects. In addition, natural philosophy or the phenomenology of nature indicates how objects of this kind are constituted in the consciousness.

On the other hand, the science of the spirit or the cultural science describes the works of the spirit, pursuing the origins of spiritual works or their birth in the spirit. They do not do by causal explanation, but by a comprehension postexperienced [1, §103]. However, there are some occasions where cultural scientists proceed by causal explanation. Stein considers only permissible this proceeding for elucidating the genetic process of cultural products when processes are a natural event as in physiology of language or in psychology of language. This comment from Edith Stein is very important because she is anticipating one of the topics of the last work of Edmund Husserl, *The Crisis of European Sciences and Transcendental Phenomenology* (1934–1937) [16], where he denounced the positivist vision of the world.

The exclusivity with which, in the second half of the nineteenth century, the total vision of modern humans is left to determine and blind by the positive sciences and the "prosperity" that are debtors meant an indifferent distance from the questions that are decisive for a genuine humanity. Merely fact-minded science makes merely fact-minded people [16, pp. 49–50].

The consequences for epistemology of psychology are significant. Stein refers to Dilthey in order to clarify two aspects: one regarding a nature of psychology and the other regarding introspection. Concerning a nature of psychology, Dilthey pretended to put a descriptive and analytic psychology in the place of the explanatory psychology. Stein considers that "descriptive" is not a proper word because descriptive psychology is also the science of the soul as nature. Only phenomenology makes clear the method of cultural science as well as that of natural science. Therefore, Stein considers Dilthey not completely clear in this point.

Concerning the introspection, Stein agrees that it is a way to get an epistemological basis. In addition, she recognizes too that it allows to sciences of spirit understanding the life of the spirit, comprehending it empathically. However, according to Dilthey, the subject of this understanding is a man as nature or the total life of the psychophysical individual. On the one hand, the descriptive psychology would be a presupposition of the sciences of spirit, and, on the other hand, it would give unity of them. Nevertheless, Stein realizes that it would mean suppressing the distinction between nature and spirit.

On the other hand, exact natural science is also a unity. Each one of these sciences has as object an abstract part of the concrete natural object. The soul and the psychophysical individual are also natural objects. Empathy was necessary for the constitution of these objects. However, spiritual understanding distinguishes from this empathy. If empathy is the perceptual consciousness in which foreign persons come to givenness for us, then it is also the exemplary basis for the eidetic knowledge of nature [1, §106].

In brief, regarding Dilthey, Stein considers ambiguous his expositions, and she learns that there must be an objective basis for the cultural science beside the clarification of method, an ontology of the spirit corresponding to the ontology of nature. As natural things have a structure fixed to eidetic laws (the empirical spatial forms are realizations of ideal geometric forms), there is too an eidetic structure of spirit (and there are ideal types; historical personalities are realizations of these types).

Consequently, Stein takes important inferences for understanding what empathy is. If empathy is the perceptual consciousness in which foreign persons come to givenness for us, it is also the exemplary basis for the eidetic knowledge of nature.

For answering to these questions, Stein continues thinking about what spiritual subject is. Stein finds that the spiritual subject is an "T" whose acts constitute an objective world and which itself creates objects because of its will [1, §107].

According to Stein, the spiritual acts do not stand beside one another without relationship, like a cone of rays with the pure "I" as the point of intersection. On the contrary, one act experientially proceeds from the other. Not every subject sees the world from the same side; everyone has his peculiar "*Weltanschauung*." The "I" passes over from one act to the other in the form of what Stein called "motivation" [1, §107].

Then, this significant nexus of experiences, which is the center of causal physical and psychophysical relationships and which does not have parallels with physical nature, is the spirit.

On the other hand, the motivation is lawfulness of spiritual life. Thus, the nexus of experiences of spiritual subjects is a significant totality experienced (originally or empathically) and understandable as such [1, §107]. This meaningful proceeding distinguishes motivation from the psychic causality as well as the empathic understanding of spiritual nexus from the empathic comprehension of psychic nexus. A feeling by its meaning motivates an expression, and the meaning defines the limits of a range of possible expressions just as the meaning of a part of a sentence prescribes its possible and material complements. It means that spiritual acts are subject to a general rational lawfulness. In consequence, there are also rational laws for feeling and for willing, as well as laws for thinking which find their expression in the science a priori: logic, axiology, ethic and practice [1, §108].

This rational lawfulness is distinguishable from essential lawfulness. A feeling essentially motivates to the will. Therefore, an unmotivated willing is an impossibility, and it is not conceivable that a subject wants something, which does not appear as valuable. Willing by its meaning directed toward what is possible.

At this point, Stein arrives to significant contributions for psychology's researches. Rationally, one can only will the possible. Nevertheless, there are irrational people who do not care whether what they have recognized as valuable is realizable or not. They will it for its value alone, attempting to make the impossible possible. Pathological psychic life indicates that what is contradictory to rational laws is possible for many people. We call this mental derangement. Moreover, psychic lawfulness can here be completely intact [1, §108].

In mental illness, the comprehension is interrupted, but there is a series of pathological cases in which neither the psychic mechanism nor rational lawfulness seems to be interrupted. They are experiential modifications in the field of rational laws, for example, depression following catastrophic events.

Anyway, the conclusion of these considerations is that the spiritual subject is essentially subject to rational laws and their experiences are intelligibly related $[1, \S109]$.

For explaining what the "I" is, Stein refers to traditional distinction made by psychologists between senses and sentiments. She thinks that two designations indicate different kinds of experience, but only different directions of the same experience. Feeling is an experience when it The subject not only perceives, thinks, but also feels. For as it feels it not only experiences objects, but itself. It experiences emotions as coming from the depth of us. The "I" experienced in emotion has levels of various depths. These reveal as emotions arise out of them [1, §110].

According to Stein, the constitution of personality is a unity entirely based in experience and distinguished by its subordination to rational laws. Person and world, more exactly value world, are in correlation. Thus, Stein considers impossible to formulate a doctrine of the person without a value doctrine. The ideal person with all his values in a suitable hierarchy and having adequate feelings would correspond to the entire realm of value levels [1, §121].

Regarding soul, it is important to add that Stein affirms persistent attributes in the soul and the person. The qualities of the soul are constituted for internal perception and for empathy; it is the reason why they have the experiences as object, while the personal qualities are revealed in primordial experience or in empathic projection [1, §122].

Finally, the significance of knowledge of foreign personality is that it carries a "knowledge of self." We not only learn to make us ourselves into objects, but through empathy with related natures (persons of our type), we develop what is sleeping in us. By empathy with differently composed personal structures, we become clear on what we are not, what we are more or less than other. Thus, together with self-knowledge, we also have an important aid to self-evaluation. Since the experience of value is basic to our own value, at the same time as new values are acquired by empathy, our own unfamiliar values become visible. When we empathically run into ranges of value closed to us, we become conscious of our own deficiency or disvalue [1, §130].

Conclusion

This phenomenological foundation is the basis of the structure of the human person according to Edith Stein. In fact, on her youth book *On the Empathy* [1], she is opening a way for searching the Truth, which was her lifelong passion.

This first work revealed a young woman serious and eager to a rigorous philosophical study. A young woman enthusiastic to learn from her contemporary great masters, as Husserl, Max Scheler and Adolf Reinach, among many others. It also discovers a young woman avid of knowledge who enjoyed the vicissitudes of the academic university life.

Her endearing memories of Gottinga and the philosophical encounters with friends as Roman Ingarden, Conrad and Hedwig Martius and Hans Lipps express how much she enjoyed that student period.

The years with Husserl – as his student, disciple and assistant – were not easy. However, neither difficulties nor the moments of solitude in which weighed his indifference diminished the intellectual respect that she professed for her master.

The printed traces in the beginning of the way served as gateways to a higher path. Her thirst for knowledge was not satisfied neither with the responses of the phenomenology nor the idealism. Therefore, his work shows this vital route. From phenomenology, but beyond it. The work *Philosophy of Psychology and the Humanities* [13] was written when she was still assistant of Husserl, but this work shows that she was in the beginning of a break with him, and that deepened after her immersion in the philosophy of Saint Thomas.

So, Finite and Eternal Being: An Attempt at an Ascent to the Meaning of Being [17] is more than a late work and is the fruit of a vital maturity. The book contains deep reflections on the human person, the body as such, and the first entity God. Anthropology, metaphysics and theology all that as a final reflection due to the abrupt end of her life a bleak August 9, 1942.

The elaboration of a so comprehensive and so deep work is not a result of chance. It is the result

of a long road, which began in the youth doctoral thesis.

Therefore, these words of Edith Stein show this maturity and depth: "The human person carries and includes his body and his soul, but it is at the same time taken and included by them. His spiritual life rises from a dark background, rises as a flame of a candle bright but nourished by a material that does not light up. And she shines without being absolutely light" [17, p. 380].

In this book, Stein says that a creature endowed with reason is one that can understand the standard of his own being and remain subject to her for his behavior. To that, we must add understanding – or gift of understanding – and freedom that is the gift of informing the behavior as such. If to have reason belongs to the personal being, then the person as such has also necessarily understanding and freedom [17, p. 378].

The human being is a being that it has a body, a soul and a spirit. As soon as man is spirit according to its essence, he comes out of himself with his spiritual life and enters a world that opens up to him, without losing anything of himself. He exhales not only its essence in a spiritual way expressing itself in an unconscious manner, but it also acts personal and spiritually [17, p. 380].

The human soul as spirit rises in her spiritual life above itself. However, the human spirit is conditioned by what is superior and inferior: it is immersed in a material product that he animates and forms in view of his body shape [17, p. 380].

Stein distinguishes two areas in which the human spirit penetrates his life awakened and aware: the external world and the internal world. We can understand the external world in two senses: First, it is everything that does not belong to "I," the monadic unit of my being. In this case, it would also involve interior worlds of other spirits. Second, it is only accessible to the outside perception, to the world of the body with everything that belongs to him.

The own internal world refers to not only the self-conscious life of the "I," i.e., the unit of the experience (present, past, and future), but also what is not immediately aware and from which arises the conscious life.

The original form of the experience is the starting point for judgments and conclusions and retained in memory, which leads us to gather a solid set of experiences that allow us to know ourselves. According Edith Stein – following Husserl – this form is the interior perception, which is distinct from the consciousness that accompanies inseparably the life of the "I"; it means the life of the pure "I" [17, p. 381].

The interior life is conscious, the "I" awaked, the eye of the spirit looks inward and outward, and he can assume with intelligence everything that is directed to him; equipped with a personal freedom, he can respond in one way or another. The spiritual life is the truest field of liberty; the "I" can really generate a thing from itself [17, pp. 386–387].

The knowledge of itself is also possible by the knowledge of others. For this reason, empathy plays a special role. In addition, it is an important link to the world of values.

Every comprehension of different persons can become the basis of an understanding of value. Since, in the act of preference or disregard, values often come to givenness that remain unnoticed in themselves, we learn to assess ourselves correctly now and then. We learn to see that we experience ourselves as having more or less value in comparison with others [1, §130].

As a final synthesis – the empathy, the knowledge of self and of others, and values – all this is included in the word: encounter. Therefore, as final words, we quote a thought from Józef Tischner: "The key of axiology is an encounter with another. To encounter is to obtain an immediate sense of tragedy permeating all the modes of being of another person. Not until we encounter another can the path to God open before us" [18, pp. 48–49].

References

- Stein E. On the problem of Empathy. 3rd ed. [W. Stein, trans]. Washington: ICS Publications; 1989. The collected works of Edith Stein. Sister Teresa Benedicta of the Cross. Discalced Carmelite vol. 3.
- Stein E. Sobre el problema de la Empatía. [JL. Caballero, Bono trans]. Madrid: Editorial Trotta; 2004.

- Husserl E. Cartesian meditations. 7th ed. [D. Cairns, trans]. Boston: Martinus Nijhoff Publishers; 1982.
- Vendrell I. Simpatía, empatía y otros actos sociales: las raíces olvidadas de la sociología fenomenológica. [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2019 Feb 14] 17(2):303–315. Available from: http://www.redalyc.org/articulo. oa?id=12217206
- Sepp H. La postura de Edith Stein dentro del movimiento fenomenológico. [Internet]. 1998 [cited 2019 Feb 14]. 31:709–729. Available from: http://biblio3. url.edu.gt/Libros/edith_stein/la_postura.pdf
- Maslach C, Schaufeli WB, Leiter MP. Job burnout. [Internet]. 2001 [cited 2019 Feb 14]. 52:397–422. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. psych.52.1.397.
- Muñoz Pérez E. El concepto de empatía (Einfühlung) en Max Scheler y Edith Stein. Sus alcances religiosos y políticos. [Internet]. 2017, Dec [cited 2019 Feb 14]. 38:77–95. Available from: http://www.redalyc.org/ articulo.oa?id=291153712004
- Zahavi D. Empathy, embodiment and interpersonal understanding: from Lipps to Schutz. [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2019 Feb 14]. 53(3):285–306. Available from: https://cfs.ku.dk/staff/zahavi-publications/Empathy_-_Embodiment.PDF. https://doi. org/10.1080/00201741003784663
- Ales Bello A. The study of the soul between psychology and phenomenology at Edith Stein. Cultura. Int J Philosophy Cult Axiol. 2007 Jan;4(2):90–108.
- Stein E. Lettere a Roman Ingarden 1917–1938. [E. Costantini, E. Schulze Costantini, trans]. Città del Vaticano: Librería Editrice Vaticana; 2001.
- Husserl E. Ideas relativas a una fenomenología pura y una filosofía fenomenológica. Libro Segundo: Investigaciones fenomenológicas sobre la constitución. [A. Zirión Q., trans]. México: Fondo de Cultura Económica; 2005.
- Gibu R. La empatía como problema de constitución en la obra filosófica de Edith Stein. [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2019 Feb 14]. 5(8–9):43–56. Available from: https://philpapers.org/rec/GIBLEC
- Stein E. Psicologia e scienze dello spirito. Contributi per una fondazione filosófica. 2nd ed. [A.M. Pezzella, trans]. Roma: Città Nuova Editrice; 1996.
- Stein E. Storia di una familia ebrea. Lineamenti autobiografici: l'infanza e gli anni giovanili. [B. Venturini, trans]. Roma: Città Nuova Editrice; 1992.
- Stein E. La struttura della persona umana. [M. D'Ambra, trans]. Roma: Città Nuova Editrice; 2000.
- Husserl E. La crisis de las ciencias europeas y la fenomenología transcendental. [J. Iribarne, trans]. Buenos Aires: Prometeo libros; 2008.
- Stein E. Ser Finito y Ser Eterno. Ensayo de una ascensión al sentido del ser. [A. Pérez Monroy]. México: Fondo de Cultura Económica; 1996.
- Tischner J. Thinking in values. The Tischner Institute J Philos. 2008;2:47–67.

Bibliography

- Alves VH, Barea R, Werneck VR, Grzibowski S, Rodrigues DP, Silva LA. Ethical care of the other. [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2019 Feb 14] 22(2):1–6. Available from: http://www.scielo.br/pdf/ean/ v22n2/1414-8145-ean-22-02-e20170382.pdf. https:// doi.org/10.1590/2177-9465-EAN-2017-0382.
- Arancibia de Calmels MD. La especificidad del ser humano en la Antropología Filosófica de Edith Stein. San Juan: Universidad Católica de Cuyo; 2005.
- Céspedes Solís P. Fenomenología de la fe y antropología en Edith Stein: En miras de una pedagogía empática. [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2019 Feb 14]. 4:1–31. Available from: http://www.redalyc.org/articulo.oa?id=498050307008
- Crespo M. Aspectos fundamentales del método de Edith Stein. [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2019 Feb 14]. LI(1– 2):59–78. Available from: http://www.redalyc.org/ articulo.oa?id=32216728004
- de la Maza LM. Sobre el espíritu en Hegel y Edith Stein. [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2019 Feb 14].56(2):271–289. Available from: http://www.redalyc.org/articulo. oa?id=32239876006
- Gastaldi F, Pasta T, Longobardi C, Prino L, Quaglia R. Measuring the influence of stress and burnout in teacher-child relationship. European J Edu Psychol. [Internet]. 2014 enero-junio [cited 2019 Feb 12] 7:17– 28. Available from: http://www.redalyc.org/articulo. oa?id=129330657002
- Infante del Rosal F. Ficción en la idea de empatía de Edith Stein. [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2019 Feb 14]. LXII(153):137–155. Available from: http://www. redalyc.org/articulo.oa?id=8092983800
- Lebech M. Study guide to Edith Stein's philosophy of psychology and the humanities. [Internet]. 2004, Jan [cited 2019 Feb 14]. Available from: https://www. researchgate.net/publication/279688366_Study_ Guide_to_Edith_Stein's_Philosophy_of_Psychology_ and_the_Humanities
- McClellan E. Edith Stein: her empathic theology of the human person. [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2019 Feb 14]. 30(1):20–41. Available from: https://journals.sagepub. com/doi/abs/10.1177/1030570X17725919. https:// doi.org/10.1177/1030570X17725919
- Shen B, McCaughtry N, Martin J, Gran A, Kulik N, Fahlman M. The relationship between teacher burnout and student motivation. Br J Educ Psychol. [Internet]. 2015 July [cited 2019 Feb 12]:1–14. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/280111189_The_Relationship_Between_ Teacher_Burnout_and_Student_Motivation
- Stein E. Il problema dell'empatia. [E. Costantini, E. Schulze Costantini]. Roma: Edizioni Studium; 2014.
- Svenaeus F. Edith Stein's phenomenology of sensual and emotional empathy. [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2019

Feb 14]. 17:741–760. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1007/s11097-017-9544-9

- Szalay M. Edith Stein, patron of Europe. Meditation on philosophy as testimony. [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2019 Feb 14]. 5(7):185–211. Available in: http://www. redalyc.org/articulo.oa?id=421639469008
- Tischner J. Thinkin in values. The Tischner Institute. J Philos. 2008;2:47–67.
- Wallenfang D. Soul power: Edith Stein's metaphenomenological construction of the human soul. In: Calcagno A, editor. Edith Stein: women, socialpolitical philosophy, theology, metaphysics and public history. Switzerland: Springer International Publishing; 2016.

Fundación Acta, Buenos Aires, Argentina

R. Aranovich (🖂)

Introduction

Ortega y Gasset's work's proposal as foundation for psychotherapy reaffirms itself in the fact that the thinker has set the phenomena of "human life" at the center of its philosophy. He has declared his way of looking at men as rational vitalism, to differentiate himself both from the irrational vitalism and from the rationalism that does not study life. Life stands above thought, because to think, we must first be alive. We think, therefore, because we were previously given life, and to this previous reality, Ortega y Gasset grants the name of Radical Reality:

Living is the radical way of being: I find all other things and ways of being in my life, within it, as a detail of it and referring to it... The most abstruse equation of math, the most solemn and abstract concept of philosophy, the Universe itself, God himself are things I find within my life, things I experience throughout life, as I live. (3)

And the first fact which the living encounters is that its life develops in a circumstance of unavoidable conditions. There is no human life as we know it without taking place in the world or circumstance:

Our life, human life, is to each the Radical Reality. It is the only thing we have and are. Now, life consists of man finding himself, not knowing exactly how, and having to exist in a determined circumstance. (4)

In the same instant in which we are born, we get thrown into a circumstance. It might be in more or less favorable conditions, from both the physical and care-related conditions, which we may receive from our families. From there onwards, our existence's viability shall depend on the circumstance's conditions, meaning human life is the result of a relationship between the individual who lives and the circumstances in which life develops. This has been expressed by Ortega y Gasset in his known saying "I am myself and my circumstance" where the "I" (as living being) is the product of the relationship between I (as individual) and the circumstance in which I may be immersed. I, as an individual, do not fulfill my life, my existence. My life is as much part "I" as it is part circumstance, in an indissoluble amalgam. We have witnessed that the newborn requires certain conditions from the circumstance to survive. This, in different ways, continues throughout life. That's the reason the human being permanently looks towards its future, because it knows that its survival depends on the alternatives it is granted. This condition, necessary to understand human life, Ortega y Gasset defines as the need of knowing what to expect:

It therefore is, to man, impossible to exist being disoriented regarding the problem which is its life. Precisely because life is always at its root disorientation, perplexity, not knowing what to do, and at the same time effort to orient itself, to know what things are and what man is among things. Because

Ricardo Aranovich

Coincidence with One's Self

3



[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_3

it has to manage those things, it needs to know what to expect regarding them. (5)

The human being finds itself exposed to circumstance, and to face that risk, it creates a life project in opposition to circumstance. In effect, what may mitigate the anxiety of the situation is developing a plan which will allow, as it develops, to ensure a favorable and stable circumstance. The life project is a characteristic of man. Animals do not need to create a life project; its instincts take care, in a better or worse manner, of leading it through its existence. The human being, instead, must make decisions all the time, regarding what to do with its life, and must think, and those thoughts may be adequate, or not. He may be right or wrong:

Life is an operation made moving forward. We originally live thinking about the future, heading towards it. But the future is essentially problematic: we cannot stand in it, it is not fixed, it lacks a defined state. (6)

However, man possesses a resource regarding uncertainty, which is, precisely, the possibility to anticipate the future, to develop a life project. The project is the spontaneous answer to circumstance. We can say that living and projecting oneself are one and the same. But, even if the project has to consider the current and likely conditions of the circumstance, it can also respond to the individual's characteristics. In effect, the project which develops energy in an individual is not the same that excites another, and it is precisely that energy or excitement which is *essential* to deploy the action required for any and all life projects. As a consequence, this condition, which may seem random, of the life project being what it is to each person and not a different one, has the vital value of ensuring the necessary force of action. Ortega y Gasset defines this condition as the necessity of the project to be authentic:

This project in which the I consists is not an idea or plan thought by man and freely chosen. It is previous to all ideas its intelligence may develop, to all decisions taken by its will. Furthermore, we only have but a vague knowledge of it. However, it is our authentic "being", it is our destiny. Our will is free to "fulfill or not" that vital project which we ultimately are, but it cannot change it. We are only that specific character which needs to fulfill itself. (7)

We understand then that the human being has the necessity and the possibility of projecting its life, taking into account the difficulties and possibilities that circumstance offers. But this project is not just a simple adaptation which aims towards simply surviving. It just so happens that the human being, along with wanting to survive from a biological point of view, which requires ensuring the necessary material conditions to that ends, wants to do something else with its life. That "something else" is previous, and it conditions and, sometimes, even puts in danger the material aspects necessary for survival. Let's consider a mountaineer who risks his life to ... reach the top of a mountain, where nothing "useful" awaits him. We could say the same about all dangerous sports. The people who fly with artifacts resembling wings, or those who jump, without it actually being a necessity, with parachutes. Those who set sail to the ocean in small boats or race in different ones. This list can go on and on with many other examples regarding that unique activity we know as sports and to which Ortega y Gasset pays special attention since, precisely, it is the evidence that the human being projects its life towards goals and objectives that transcend biological survival:

The athlete, instead of running away from danger, runs towards it, that's what makes him an athlete. (8)

But this strange and unnatural human condition is not limited to just sports. The different callings may come to put life at risk, the same life which they try to preserve. Besides the clearly dangerous callings, such as being in the military and the police, being a race driver, and other things of the sort, depending on the time and place, it may be dangerous to be a politician, a news reporter, a lawyer, a taxi driver, and in nearly any human activity which, at some point, is involved in a conflict.

In some cases, it could be said that the risk is inherent to any profession which has the objective of "making a living." But in the same way that sport seems to look for danger because of the danger itself, in many cases, people who choose certain activities do it being aware of the risks it may involve. But what is this attitude related to? Biological survival is not enough for human beings. If that were the case, the ideal state would be of imprisonment, being ensured food and shelter. However, that situation is considered far from being idealistic; it is even considered the worst, since it acts as punishment for those who fight against life and coexistence. And the worst part of that condition is, precisely, that it acts as an obstacle to the fulfillment of the life project.

The explanation is that human beings do not just search for biological survival, like animals undoubtedly do, but instead run after a singular state, which we know as happiness. And the human being feels happy when it is completely immersed in an action. When he fits within himself, when he finds unity in himself. These are all one and the same. Let us see what Ortega y Gasset has to say about this.

Happiness

Now, we could evaluate more precisely just how important the life project is. Why does each person have a different one, and why must they respond to that internal impulse which takes the form of a "calling"? Because as the action that takes place throughout his life coincides with this calling, he will achieve the state of "coincidence with itself," and when his actions do not match his calling, he will drift away from his happiness:

Man does not recognize his "I", his singular calling, by anything else other than his liking or disliking of it in any and all situations. Unhappiness tells him when his life accomplishes or not its vital objective, and when he drifts away from it... Only his suffering and his joy teach him about himself... Who is that "himself", that only becomes clear after the clash with what happens to him? Evidently, it is our life project who, in case of suffering, does not match our effective life: man breaks apart into two halves – who he was meant to be and who he ends up being. This breaking manifests itself as pain, as anguish, as anger, as hollowness; unity between these two halves, however, produces that prodigal phenomena we call happiness. (9) A notable characteristic in Ortega y Gasset is the coherence he maintains throughout his extense and multifaceted works. Writings of different times and with different topics converge in a conceptual background through which they reaffirm one another, without this fact being the consequence of rigidity, but exactly the opposite. He reaches coinciding places through different paths, respecting the course of each thought regarding each topic.

We find a clear example of this in the chapter "Theory of Happiness" of an essay regarding literary criticism about Pio Baroja in 1916 (10). Regarding happiness, he there says:

People often make the mistake of believing happiness lies in the fulfillment of our desires, as if our desires were the only thing making up our personality. (11)

Regarding this, Ortega y Gasset points out that there are people who may be in a situation where they can fulfill all their desires, yet feel profound sadness. Regarding this, Ortega y Gasset says possessions and material goods do not ensure happiness. Once more, Ortega y Gasset opposes common thought:

In no way can that be the role material things play out in our joy. It's not that they contribute to our happiness since we own them, or obtained them, but because they are the byproduct of our actions, as matter where we apply our energy, turning from idea into action. (11)

Here, as seen above, it is reaffirmed that life, being project and "action done moving forward," requires a permanent tension that maintains the individual in a proactive state. A distinction is imposed: we live in a constant agitation from which all anxiety disorders, stress-related diseases, and depressions derive. How can we say, then, that this state of tension we call "living projected" is desirable? Here is where we must consider calling/vocation and authenticity. When the human being is developing his calling of coinciding with himself, his efforts and difficulties are not lived as conflicts. Pathologies appear when the individual feels pressured, exposed to a series of never-ending commitments which are imposed unto him by the medium, without choosing them himself, without being free to choose. Freedom! Freedom is a condition so thoroughly

linked to happiness that they are often mistaken for one another. But what do we mean by freedom? Human being is the most conditioned being on Earth we can imagine. He needs oxygen, food, warmth, and shelter, he cannot fight against the law of gravity, and he does not choose when to be born or when to die nor the time, place, loved ones, and family he is given. Where is freedom? Well, human beings feel free when, despite all limitations, they can organize themselves by actions born through their will. We might say that man feels free not when he does what he wants, but wants what he does:

All life is struggle, the effort of being itself. The difficulties I run into to fulfill my life are precisely what awakens and mobilizes my activities, my capacities. If my body did not weigh down on me, I would not be able to walk. If the atmosphere did not oppress me, I would feel my body as a vague, flabby, ghostly thing. (12)

Where do freedom and happiness meet? In actions corresponding to the calling! In that case, action stops being an effort and becomes a necessity that fulfills itself. Someone, when in this favorable situation, said: "yes, I earn money with my work, but I like it so much I'd still do it without getting paid for it":

When we ask existence for an answer to its meaning, we are just demanding to be presented something that may *absorb our activities*... Who could consider himself unhappy when completely absorbed in any activity?... Melancholy, sadness, unpleasantness, are all inconceivable when our being as a whole is at work. (11)

Here Ortega y Gasset repeats that, for the activity to be completely absorbent, it requires the being to be *completely* at work, and for that to happen, it must fit within itself and agree with itself. Of course there may be deviations and exaggerations. One such case would be "workaholics," those addicted to their jobs. But this addiction is far from being a calling. Addictions end up impoverishing the individual spiritually and also affect other aspects of its life. On the other hand, those living through their callings feel more and more happiness, which they share with those around them. Now, what if, for whatever motive, the action stops? Sadness and hollowness appear:

There we find an imbalance between our potential being and our actual being. And that is what we call unhappiness. (13)

It is clear that that state of absorption regarding an activity, where the totality of the being is compromised, is an ideal. Reality is never so helpful towards our desires, and difficulties always come up to discourage even the most determined. In this case, Ortega y Gasset utilizes the war metaphor of when troops must reorganize and the trumpet calls them all to gather around the flag. That capacity of falling back to reorganize and stay as a whole will be further looked into when we discuss "absorption and alteration." Now let us see another pleasant state of absorption which we consider as a part of happiness: falling in love. Ortega y Gasset would not have been able to leave this topic aside, considering his interest regarding human life.

Falling in Love and Love

A situation that presents itself as paradigmatic in our culture of happiness is the state of being or falling in love, and it is precisely the man or woman in love who finds him-/herself unified with the figure of their partner. We must not ignore this state, because in it, happiness and unity converge. It is often confused and related to the idea of love itself, but these are actually two very different states. Ortega y Gasset handles the topic in a series of articles which would later make up a book titled *Studies Regarding Love* (14). To this work, the interest towards falling in love takes origin in the fact that it is an important example of a state of unity. The one in love experiments a state of focus centered in the one who awakens their passion:

Being 'in love', at first is not more than just that: paying an abnormal amount of attention towards someone else... It is not an enrichment of our mental life. Quite the contrary, there is a progressive elimination of things which used to take up our time... However, the one in love feels their life as richer, better... and this gives rise to a false feeling of superlative intensity. (15)

Let us look at the term "passion": it has a passive connotation. The individual is "moved" by passion and has lost control over him. This "happens" to him. In consequence, unity is facilitated, thanks to the presence of an external object which absorbs the subject's whole attention. More than "agreeing with himself," he agrees with someone else, his partner, coming to unity through different means. However, this situation is a clear example of what we call the relationship between unity and what we consider happiness, since the state of being in love has been considered as a paradigm of happiness and has shown up in novels, poetry, theater, and, currently, the cinema and television.

It means, on the one hand, we see how unity and happiness merge, but, on the other, unity is not part of an endogenous process, but the consequence of a very peculiar state brought about by another person. Such an extraordinary phenomenon deserves a certain amount of thought. This process is only considered "natural" because of how often it occurs, but if we look into it, it is actually quite amazing. We have two people who a while back knew nothing about each other, who were not even aware of each other's existence, and who may have run into each other without paying attention to one another. Suddenly, they fall in love and place more importance into their relationship with one another than in all their prior relationships, even the ones involving parents, siblings, and friends, to the extent that they might abandon all these relationships if they agreed in a life project that implied going abroad. Even in the Bible, it is stated that "you shall leave your mother and father and form one body with one another," which gives some back-up to this situation. This process of "forming one body" starts with falling in love, but is also influenced, to some extent, by the previous relationships. However, how does this event which we consider extraordinary affect human life? Well, through this process, these two people, who had been strangers, become primary figures to each other, displacing the previous ones. Without that process, it would be hard, if not impossible, to form a new family, which would be necessary to accompany the growth of new human beings who are born in a defenseless state, prolonged for a long time. But that internalization process of someone who had been a stranger cannot be done without a profound modification of the mind. One must pass through a state of alteration which restructures and reorganizes all relationships where the life of individuals had rested until then. What Ortega y Gasset calls "beliefs." Once more, let us say that were it not for the fact that this is such a common state, it would be considered pathological, to say the least:

When considered subtly, we may say that whoever falls in love wants to fall in love. This distances the act of falling in love, which is a normal phenomenon, from obsession, which is a pathological disorder. Someone who suffers from an obsession does not consider whether he wants to be obsessed or not. (16)

In all these cases, what we find is a state of attention where the fixation on a certain object displaces all other objects. But without this alteration, or disorder, a great part of humanity would not exist.

The state of falling in love, sadly, lasts a fixed amount of time, be it short or long, and past this point, to stay together it is necessary for this "exogenous" unity to become an "endogenous" one, through a stage where falling in love brings about what we commonly call "love." From being an object of passion, meaning a passive attraction, it must become an object to the dedication of what now is the will which unifies each individual with the other. The other individual, which had until then "charmed" with just its mere presence (and even absence), stops producing this effect. This brings about many breakups in relationships which may have been fruitful, but stop because "their love ran out." What came to an end was not their love, but the state of alteration we called falling in love, leaving behind the result of two people who, no longer strangers to each other, are now very meaningful to one another and, as such, are the opportunity for a relationship to grow, a relationship where they shall nurture their individual unity in relationship to the other person's unity, going from symbiosis to the coincidence of two individualities, together in harmony, which in a reciprocal way favor each other's unification process. That is what we call

love, and that is a very important opportunity of fulfilling happiness in this world:

Love... takes care of affirming his subject... Loving one thing is being focused in ensuring that thing's existence... This would be the same as constantly giving it life *intentionally*. Loving is giving life, creating and preserving something we cherish intentionally. (17)

Vitality, Soul, and Spirit

Reality, with its constant demands and attractions, makes this state of unity difficult to achieve. We must pay attention to what each moment requires and offer what we can without being able to ask ourselves if that's what we really want to do. How can we fight back against this tendency? Around which axis can that coherence be rebuilt, over and over? Ortega y Gasset distinguishes three instances within the human being, which he names vitality, soul, and spirit, not as separate entities but as functions we can perceive within the human actions:

Those three names, then, do nothing but name the differences we find in our most intimate events, they are descriptive concepts, not metaphysical hypothesis. (18)

Regarding vitality, he says:

Each of us is, before anything else, a vital energy: big or small, overflowing or deficient, healthy or sick. The rest of our nature will depend on what our vitality is like. (19)

Ortega y Gasset says that if we compare hunger or sexual pleasure with the thought through which a scientist develops an abstract theory or an act of heroism which endangers life, we can clearly see that the corresponding actions depend on the different parts of our intimacy. Some may seem bound to the body, and the need for survival and self-preservation, as well as being reactions of fight or flight, the physical component of sexual attraction, and the pleasure of dancing or sports. This would be the corporeal soul or vitality, upon which the rest of the person rests upon: Vitality is not just a part of human beings but, for example, we can find it in animals, to some extent. With human beings, not only can we perceive the degree of vitality but also the fact that it is "contagious." Some encounters grant us vitality and some take it away, and at different points in time, we may find ourselves with different degrees of vitality. We might say, metaphorically speaking, that life can reach different degrees of intensity depending on the individual and this degree may change from time to time and depending on the case.

Here, Ortega y Gasset analyzes what he calls spirit:

I consider as spirit the union of all intimal acts which each person considers as their own work. They are their authors and protagonists. (20)

While vitality aims to preserve life, human beings bring about the extraordinary situation where they actually decide to endanger their vitality or even sacrifice it because of their feelings, such as a sense of duty or sacrificing oneself to save others, be they family or not. Even though this behavior can be seen occasionally in some animal species (such as the protection of the offspring), in that case, the actions are dictated by instinct, without there actually being a choice, like with men. The spirit also manifests itself in thoughts. Whenever we understand something, be it a chemical reaction, a math problem, or a philosophical reasoning, this understanding originates in the spirit, because at the time when we understand, we also come to understand that whoever finds himself facing the same question or problem will come to the same conclusion as us. Our spirit puts us in touch with universality, with the norm, and makes us see and appreciate values, allowing our lives to follow a path that matches our will:

... The spirit does not rest on itself; it has its roots and foundations in that universal and transubjective orb. (21)

Now, between the vitality, which does not get involved consciously, and the spirit, where the human being is in touch with himself, we find the soul, where feelings, emotions, impulses, and appetites reside. The spirit's function is deciding, through will and its notions of what he considers valuable, but it is not the source of

This carnal soul, this root and foundation of our being, is what we call «vitality»,, because in it is where the psychic and the somatic merge, where the corporeal and spiritual combine, and not only that, but grow as well. (19)

impulses, desires, and emotions, and without them, life would not possess the richness and drama which make it what it is, something singular and different for everyone. The spirit, when regarding a transcendental order, fulfills the role of organizing the emotional world which would otherwise be in chaos, because there may be multiple and contradicting emotions, desires, impulses, and appetites. The will, when defined, is only one. None may have two wills simultaneously:

Volition, despite its delay to develop, is a ray of intimate activity which fulminates its decision. On the other hand, everything belonging to the soul's fauna lasts and extends in time. (20)

Here is where Ortega y Gasset establishes a difference between the manifestations of spirit and those of the soul. Emotions last in time; one may be sad, happy, and excited. However, will and thought are instantaneous:

Understanding that 2+2=4 happens in an instant. (20)

What relationship holds this resemblance regarding coincidence with oneself? Achieving and maintaining that coincidence is the undeniable function of the spirit. "Reality, with its constant demands and attractions, endangers this state of unification" be they dangers, needs, impulses, desires, fantasies or anything else in the varied menu of attractions social life has to offer. That's the reason why spirit must sustain its order enforcing function, along with the purpose of avoiding life's dispersion. Even more so nowadays, when common sense appears to be fun.

Does humanity possess any resource to favor the spirit's intervention in life itself and develop a certain extent of freedom regarding pressures and distractions coming from reality? Luckily yes, and that is what we will now see as "absorption and alterations."

Absorption and Alteration

Since time immemorial, the outside world has presented man with survival challenges, regarding defense or subsistence. And those challenges, or problems, which may be unforeseen yet requiring an urgent solution, forced man into a constant state of alert. As consequence, our species has grown used to responding to the environment and expects both good and bad to come from it. It is because of that that he sometimes forgets about an ability which puts him apart from his less evolved relatives: the ability of withdrawing into oneself and to reflect upon things internally and, through that reflection, modify his conduct to present the best possible answer towards reality's problems:

The world is the complete exteriority, the absolute *outside*, which denies the existence of anything beyond it. The only thing outside that *outside* is, precisely, an *inside*, an interior, man's intimacy, his *self* which is composed mainly by ideas. (22)

And in that *inside* we can:

...suspend actions for a moment, to withdraw into ourselves, and revise our thoughts regarding our circumstance, to forge a strategic plan. (23)

Ortega y Gasset distinguishes two states: the most common one, which is paying attention to the outside world, which he calls "alteration" (from *alter*, the other) and "absorption," meaning to pay attention to what's within us, to *ourselves*. Through absorption, we can withdraw and acquire a degree of freedom regarding our current situation, which will allow us to see alternatives and choose the most appropriate one. But society grants a growing amount of value towards actions, and that's the cause of a great number of disorders, because actions, on their own, do not solve vital situations:

The ability of withdrawing, of falling back into ourselves to think objectively, is in danger of extinction. Only action is considered important. Demagogues harass men to stop them from pondering; they intend to keep them crammed as crowds, so as to stop them from rebuilding their persona in the only place they can do it, in solitude. (24)

Now, Ortega y Gasset does not propose that we get away from the harsh reality and find refuge in our comfortable internal world, alone with our thoughts:

Man's fate is, primarily, action. We do not live so we may think, but the opposite: we think so that we can keep on living. (25)

But:

Action is not just moving around, bumping into the things in our environment, or into other human beings: that's beneath our humanity. THAT is *alteration. Action* is acting being aware of the outline of the material things, and of other men, following a preconceived plan, which was formed during a previous contemplation or thought. (26)

As seen above, man's soul is home to all emotions, which have a certain duration and may even contradict one another. We've also seen that the spirit's function is to order and organize, so that man may achieve a coherence between emotions and actions. Without the spirit acting, human beings would be tumbling around, led blindly by the emotions that may arise as consequence of external stimuli. It would be hard to maintain a course of action which would allow us to fulfill our life project. So far we have seen how absorption acts as a possibility to adapt actions to reality. But that adaptation has a double aspect, because to reach it, man must first find an internal agreement, so that he may agree with the action he will perform. A double agreement is necessary: the action must be fitting with the expected outcome, but must also respond to the performer's preferences and interests. Without these conditions regarding action, how would it be possible for someone to fulfill a harsh duty, instead of choosing a more pleasant situation? This double function regarding absorption, adapting action to reality and to the individual's preferences, makes it all the more important in our current time. Indeed, our current society places action and its outcomes on a pedestal but, in doing so, forgets about the subjective or emotional elements. As a consequence of this mistake, the individual grows further and further apart from himself, meaning it becomes harder and harder to reach coincidence with himself, to enter the state of absorption. And if Ortega y Gasset is right, the individual drifts away from the possibility of happiness and instead moves closer to anxiety, depression, alcoholism, drug addictions and other distractions, in an attempt to fill his internal void, instead of resorting to absorption, through which he would find the serenity that coinciding with one's self grants.

Earlier we were wondering: "Does the human being possess any means to favor the Spirit's intervention in his life, so that he may achieve some degree of freedom regarding life's pressure and distractions?" Ortega y Gasset responds:

There's no other way to be yourself other than through absorption; meaning, before acting, before giving your opinion about something, one needs to stop for a moment and, instead of doing anything or thinking the first thing that comes to mind, rigorously agree with himself, withdraw into himself, and in that state of solitude, decide what action or what opinion among all the possible ones is the one that's truly ours. Absorption is the opposite of living life letting the environment choose what we do, pushing us mechanically towards this or that. (27)

The Man-Mass

Ortega y Gasset considers that this lack of coincidence with one's self, of coming into contact with oneself, of absorption, has caused men to life "adrift" and has become more and more common in our current time because of a change in culture, which he analyzes in his most famous work The Rebellion of the Masses (28), where he analyzes what he calls "man-mass." Man-mass is the result of all the commodities that technology and medicine have brought to our daily lives. Ortega y Gasset published his book in 1930, and since then, the exponential growth of technology and the resources it brings in touch with man made his reasoning more and more current. Even though every person can live his life as a problem, which may be easier or harder to solve, the average individual is not aware of how many problems have disappeared throughout the years, thanks to technological progress. It is true that this development has not brought about the happiness it was expected to bring, but it has given men a feeling of safety bigger than it ever had:

Before, even to the rich and powerful the world was full of poverty, difficulties and danger. (29)

Moreover, when met with a harsh situation, man may actually become indignant, because science, which "solves all trouble," has not yet found a solution to its difficulty: What had previously been considered a benefit of luck, which caused a humble feeling of gratitude towards fate, has become a right which is not thanked, but instead demanded. (30)

Of course there are places in the world where "poverty, harshness and danger" rule, but in those regions, the existence of the man-mass, if present, is not so common as to consider it a consequence of that specific time and place. An aspect of man-mass is its tendency to comfort and lack of commitment. He enjoys all the advantages the environment puts within his reach, without acknowledging the efforts those before him went through to put those advantages in everyone's life. Civilization's advantages are equivalent to the fruits of nature, which exist to be freely utilized by everyone. But nature is stable, it sustains itself, and those living in it are savages, with all due respect. But culture, civilization, does not sustain itself, and if we consider it as stable as nature and take advantage of it without caring about it, we endanger it. We may be standing at the edge of the abyss without even knowing it:

If you want to take advantage of the advantages of civilization without worrying about sustaining civilization... you will lose that civilization. (31)

But man-mass, who has at his disposal, without any efforts whatsoever, resources that allow him to feel master of his life and destiny, does not believe he has to do anything to pay back such privilege:

Since they do not see in the advantages of civilization an invention or construction, brought about and maintained through great efforts, they think that all they are meant to do with it is demand it, as if it were a birth right. (32)

This is the reason man finds it difficult to limit his desires, because he considers himself ruler of his life, not having to account to anyone. To him, there is no hierarchy he should rule his life upon:

This man has learnt to use many of civilization's artifacts... he is characterized by his ability to ignore the very principles of civilization. (33)

A fact we must point out is that these quotes come from a book written in 1930. Nine years before the Second World War! Where "civilization's artifacts" played a huge role in fighting against everything civilization stood for.

The presence of man-mass has, as expected, a manifestation in the political plane. Since he makes up the great majority of the voters, he is capable of handling power and he does so with the same self-sufficiency and lack of auto critic that characterizes the rest of his actions. Politicians, being aware of this, dedicate themselves to flattering and pleasing the man-mass, simplifying topics and creating slogans. As a consequence, it may seem there are no proper rulers in Occident. The different governments in the different countries cannot be the right ones. What occurs is that the man-mass is the voter and the candidate must please him. The populist governments are criticized, but deep down, all governments are like this. Polls are used to know what the voter expects, so that the candidates may adapt to it. The ruler does not "rule," but instead changes his image to fit what is expected of him. But this work's goal is not to make political comments. We use that topic as an example of a spiritual state which expects things from the outside and not the "inside." Instead of trying to agree with oneself, the members of the current society appear to be trying to run away from themselves. They search for success by working constantly and use fun as a replacement or equivalent of happiness.

As a consequence, the man-mass does not question. He accepts as valid the repertoire of ideas that have been passively deposited within him and passively consumes the reasoning that the mass media offers him. Instead of accepting the reasoning of other, more qualified individuals, he imposes his own ideas or accepts those that match the ideas he already had:

Man-mass...is in a vegetative state, suspended in space. This is the reason his life, with no weight and no root.... is dragged by the lightest of currents. This is the time of *currents* and *letting go.* (34)

The importance of this matter is that, like cosmic rays, it goes through all reality without catching anyone's eye. And one of reality's situations is psychotherapy. Psychotherapy requires the patient to dig into himself and perceive emotions, connect memories, and acquire a reflective attitude towards his life, so that he may find a lost state of well-being, if he ever had it. On the other hand, the therapist finds himself with a patient who comes from a situation where living a shallow life and searching for easy immediate results are encouraged. Maybe the greatest difficulty is accomplishing that the patient understands the therapeutic work and becomes interested in following it. What occurs is that the therapeutic situation is immersed in society and cannot avoid its influence. Pondering has succumbed to acting. And instead of seeing this as a serious issue in culture, it is medicalized, meaning medicine is granted the task of "healing" those who cannot integrate with society. In those cases, the therapeutic tasks consist of the patient developing his inner world and acquiring the necessary independence to live following his own personal project:

We live in a time where it feels terrible possible to fulfill goals, but we do not know what goals we should fulfill. Man dominates all things, but does not own himself. He feels lost in his own abundance. With more means, more knowledge, more techniques than ever, it seems the current world is the unhappiest there has ever been: completely adrift. (35)

Internal Coherence in Ortega y Gasset's Work

The texts quoted in this work correspond to volumes and text written in different times and regarding different topics. Despite this, and the fact that it is nearly impossible to find an aspect in human life left out of Ortega y Gasset's philosophical gaze, no contradictions can be found between them. They all converge in an exhortation declaring that the human being must withdraw unto himself and, through that encounter/meeting with himself, define his life project and calling as a way to find plenitude in his life. A shallow life only leads to hollowness, anguish and dissatisfaction:

All life is the fight, the struggle to be itself. (12)

Conclusion

This lifestyle, which only becomes shallower as time goes by, leads to the lack of contact with oneself. The human being finds himself more adrift and living a life that does not match his own will, and does not even know his own will, because its attention is completely poured unto the outside and the immediate. The consequence of this is a growing state of emptiness, of lack of meaning, which derives into anxiety, depression, addictions, violence and the epidemic spread of these and other disorders. Interventions, both psychiatric and psychotherapeutic, must have as goal the recovery of touch with oneself, which would allow the coincidence with oneself to occur. This is the greatest challenge, because in many cases the troubles originated in not accomplishing goals or achieving success, and the patient must earn to accept that reality is not at his service. This does not mean he should give up, but quite the contrary. By recurring to his inside world and utilizing his capacity of introspection, a new space opens up, where he can find balance and peace, which will allow him to think about his life and realize where he lost his path, so that he may return to action with greater energy than before, because he now knows:

By living I have been thrown into my circumstance, into the chaotic and painful mess that are things: I get lost in them... and in them I lose myself. I no longer know what it is that I truly want or not, feel or don't feel, believe or not believe. I get lost in things because I lose myself. The solution, the salvation, is to find oneself, coincide with oneself once again, and keep in mind what my sincere attitude towards everything is... The substantial problem, the original problem, and in that sense, unique problem, is fitting me within myself, to coincide with myself, and to find myself. (1)

References

- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume VI, p. 437.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume VI, p. 439.
- 3. Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume VIII, p. 345.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume VI, p. 469.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume VIII, p. 632.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume VI, p. 443.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume V, p. 124.

- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume II, p. 547.
- 9. Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume V, p. 130–1.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume II, p. 211.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume II, p. 222.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume IV, p. 435.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume II p., 223.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume V, p. 455.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume V, p. 480.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume V, p. 483.
- 17. Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume V, p. 462.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume II, Pp. 578–9.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume II, p. 570.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume II, p. 575.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume II, p. 580.

- 22. Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume V, p. 536.
- 23. Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume V, p. 547.
- 24. Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume V, p. 546.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume V, p. 539.
- 26. Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume V, 5 p. 43.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume VI, p. 424–5.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume IV, p. 349.
- 29. Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume IV, p. 407.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume IV, p. 406.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume IV, p. 428.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume IV, p. 409.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume IV, p. 414.
- Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume IV, p. 439–40.
- 35. Ortega y Gasset, José. Complete Works. Editorial Taurus. Madrid. 2004. Volume IV, p. 398.



Naturalism, Psychology, and Culture: Nature vs. Nurture?

Pascual Ángel Gargiulo and Ricardo Crespo

Introduction

The role of nature and the influences of nurture have been considered a matter of interest. The pertinence of naturalistic methods application is considered as an adequate way to explain human behavior. However, early observed limitations regarding these methods have been historically developed. Last years, some doubts have been drawn concerning the pertinence of this application that may be considered in some cases automatically and blindly used. The role of biological causes and intentional motivation constitutes an axis that cannot be ignored. Some lines, like evolutionary psychology and its possible role explaining the entire human condition, must be critically discussed.

It has been said that "Ideas rule the world." Indeed, throughout the ages, a set of philosophical ideas, a "metaphysical worldview," has greatly influenced our conceptions of life and science. The beliefs that prevail today in the world make up a naturalist worldview, in the restricted sense of the term that ultimately reduces nature to physical or biological stuff and processes. It has been denominated "ontological naturalism." This point of view equates science to natural science upholding that its methods are applicable to the explanation of any reality. It may be considered as a methodological naturalism.

Early perceptions of experimental psychologists found some limitations to naturalistic approaches to human realities. In this way, Wundt, founder of the modern experimental psychology, was owed to recognize that an important number of realities were not possible to be reduced to experimental "naturalistic" approaches. It was the case of language, history,

Universidad Nacional de Cuyo, CONICET, Mendoza, Argentina e-mail: Rcrespo@iae.edu.ar

[[]Study partially submitted in advance: Gargiulo, P.A. Panelist: "Can the person's philosophy provide an interpretive framework for neuroscientific studies?" Thursday, August 3, 2017. Interdisciplinary Research Week "From the brain to the self". Austral University. Pilar. Buenos Aires. July 31 to August 3, 2017.]

http://www.austral.edu.ar/cerebroypersona/es/presentacion/preguntas/autoconocimiento/

P. Á. Gargiulo (🖂)

Laboratory of Neurosciences and Experimental Psychology, Latin American Technological Corporation Foundation (FUCOTEL), Cathedra of Psychopathology, Catholic University of Argentina, Area of Pharmacology Department of Pathology, National University of Cuyo, CONICET, Guaymallén, Mendoza, Argentina

R. Crespo Universidad Austral, Buenos Aires, Argentina

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_4

and literatures, between others. He proposed, coming from experimental naturalistic approaches, a different category of disciplines destined to study human behavior [1-3]. He created by this manner the Peoples' psychology (Völkerpsychologie). This thought tradition was fruitful and decisively influenced by philosophers such as Dilthey and, through him, psychiatrists such as Jaspers and Schneider, relevant authors linked to Central European psychopathology. This implies an outstanding influence in the field of medical-psychiatric praxis and, more generally and comprehensively, in the conception of human behavior. The qualitative difference between naturalistic and the so-called "spiritual" was temporally differentiated. phenomena Natural phenomena were attributed to previous and past "causes" determining behavior. It is the case of a somatologic illness, like intoxication or brain compromise. The so-called "spiritual" phenomena were conditioned for the past, but actually projected to future proposals. Normal healthy human beings play trying this possibility. They build its own destination [1, 2].

Cognitive and evolutionary psychologies are developments naturalist of psychology. Evolutionary psychology is the intersection between the cognitive revolution and evolutionary biology. Evolutionary psychologists Tooby and Cosmides propose a program that involves developing a new social science [4]. They claim that mental phenomena are the expression of a complex functional organization in biological systems. Starting from there, they argue that complex organic functionality is consecutive to natural selection. Consequently, they consider that the sciences of the mind and the brain are "adaptationist" and psychological sciences and in this sense the mechanisms would be computational adaptations [4, p. 10].

Influenced by the naturalist wave, evolutionary psychology provides a fitting theoretical framework for the explanation of human thoughts and behaviors. However, this is not necessarily the true or last explanation of all human reality. The evolutionary psychologist Jerry Coyne [5] states, in a self-critical attitude, that the problem that has happened to evolutionary psychology is that it suffers something like a scientific equivalent of megalomania. Most of his followers would seem to have the belief that all human actions and conditions would be or would be generated by a single, evolutionary key, which would be introduced into our brains by natural selection [5, p. 27]. That is, evolutionary psychology tries to explain all conducts as determined by psychological evolutionary mechanisms, interactions of computational systems, or neurocognitive processes. However, are those the deeper or true drivers of human conduct?

They [4] end their article postulating that a new explanation of the differences between the laity or profane of the economy and the views of economists on a number of economic issues. These authors prefer to consider the views of the popular economy as results of principles-based cognitive systems and not merely as irrational deviations from normative understandings of economic processes. According to them, they appeared in human evolution as an adaptive response to specific challenges. They would be activated automatically when a situation meets your entry criteria. From this point of view, intuitions support deliberate, explicit, and thoughtful thoughts. These thoughts are transmitted culturally through the so-called popular economic beliefs. This implies that "economic rationality" should be considered as a narrow form of rationality that does not consider the entire human condition. This condition would involve the natural feeling of values such as justice and caring for others, derived from the social nature of the human being.

This psychological school is not an isolated case. A progressive modification of the views has been observed over the past two centuries. The crass naturalism underlying evolutionary psychology has long been overcome. In this chapter, we will relate the general lines of recent psychological thinking and its abandonment of naive naturalisms.

Neurosciences and Behavior

The study of neurosciences has experienced explosive growth in recent decades. Its scope has been growing exponentially, showing its influence on numerous physical and mental processes. Paradoxically, it has also found its limits, and this is one of the most valuable points. Neuroscience, reaching maturity, has found what it is and what it is not, thus abandoning an initial oceanic omnipotence, almost adolescent. In historical terms, neuroscience is discovering the algorithms of the Central European psychological schools of the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. Nothing more and nothing less.

The study of the brain is irremissibly related to the study of behavior. No other organ of the economy has such a close connection as the one observed here. The sensory organs provide the information that the brain registers and it is in this that it is processed and it is from this that a behavioral response is specified. These processes, typical of the brain, began to be studied from an experimental perspective.

Physiology and Causality: Physicochemistry and Mathematics Go Through the Soul

The physical sciences began to experience a prodigious expansion, from certain findings that occurred towards the end of the eighteenth century. A notable fact in this regard arises from an area outside of psychology. The fact in question occurs in the field of astronomy. In 1796, the young David Kinnebrook is expelled from the Greenwich Observatory. What was the reason? The real astronomer Nevil Maskelyne warned that the stellar transit observations made by his assistant differed from his own [3, 6]. Regarding his findings, there was a difference of ... half a second!

The problem could have ended there if it had not been because a German astronomer, Bessel, decided to study what happened, returning to the theme around 1816. With insight and very good mind, he decided to find an explanation. He evaluated in a group of prestigious astronomers the differences in the recording of the moment in which a star crosses a certain line in the telescope. There were always small differences. What had astronomer Bessel discovered? An astronomical constant? No. He had discovered reaction times. A psychological variable he called "personal emotion." What did this finding imply? Nothing more and nothing less than the notion of the role that, faced with the physical fact and its correlative perception, the observer plays, supposedly, neutral [3, p. 63].

From this point on, attention is drawn to the processes that mediate the relationship between the physical object and the psychological perception. Special attention is given to the relationships between the eye and the seen thing, between the receiving organism and the perceived object. It describes phenomena such as post-image (Plateau), in which the sensation continues even when the stimulus has already been extinguished. Studies are performed on stereoscopic vision (Brewster and Wheatstone) and on twilight vision and its peculiar properties (Purkinje) [3, p. 63].

Johannes Müller establishes the theory of specificity of nerve energy. He maintains that, beyond any possible stimulus, a nerve reaction that has its own characteristic and shape is activated. The stimulus may differ, but the reaction is characteristic and characteristic of the nerve. This is the case of pressure on the eyeball. What appears is a light sensation. The sensation is not then a phenomenon uniquely determined by the stimulus, but rather a product of the encounter between the organization of the percipient and the inducing stimulus. The idea of univocal determination is still abandoned here, even at the level of the causally determined [3, p. 63].

Müller begins to investigate the psychology of the senses, printing a course to this science that will shape it in a particular way in the following years. Physiology appears studying the conditions of the reactive organism, thus giving rise to a psychology with an experimental expression. The idea arises of studying the observer organism as a previous and necessary step to the study of the universe [3, p. 64]. In order to see the stars, it is necessary to study the characteristics of the eye that sees the stars and the reaction times of the brain of the person who sees the stars.

It is at this time that studies on the touch of Ernst Heinrich Weber appear. He performs studies on the perception of weight and its relationship with muscular perception. It states that this is thinner when the muscles actively intervene, lifting the object whose weight is studied. This gives advantage to the participation of the muscular sense. Secondly, the so-called Weber's law appears, which consists in establishing a "minimum appreciable difference." The perception of a difference, here of weight sensations, does not depend on the absolute magnitude, but on a relationship, expressed as a ratio or proportion between the difference and the standard used. When the muscular sense was used, the ratio was from 1 to 40. It was observed, expanding the experiments, that this "minimum appreciable difference" constituted a constant relationship. Later, Weber tried to generalize these concepts trying to apply them to other visual and auditory experiments. However, this generalization was considered by Weber an empirical rule and not a law [3, p. 65].

All of the above in the empirical plane. But Gustav Theodor Fechner enters the scene. He is a person who is divided between science and mysticism, a person who tries not to abandon either of the two ascriptions. After the statement of Weber's considerations, Fechner considers them located at the center of psychological investigations because of their importance. According to this researcher, when establishing a mathematical relationship between the physical and the psychic, which was revealed as accurate, a bridge was established, a formal relationship between the physical and the psychic. It would seem to have constituted, for him, something like a revelation. From his knowledge, Fechner decided to devote his entire life to the experimental verification of "Weber's law". He sought to establish a universal unity between the physical and the psychic through sensation, in accordance with a mathematical relationship defined between them. The methodology used allowed psychology to be established as a science. Beyond their motivations, the methodology used, quantitative experimentation marked the dawn of a new era. His book *Elements of Psychophysics* constitutes a milestone that cannot be ignored and as relevant as the Leipzig Laboratory. For this reason Fechner is considered, together with Wundt, Helmholtz, and Galton, as one of the Fathers of Modern Psychology. Obviously the nature of motivation could be studied here. It could be a passion and more related to a mystical quest for unity than with coldly empirical precepts [3, pp. 66–70].

The Discovery of the Limits and Their Alternatives

While there are other relevant milestones in this story (Hermann von Helmholtz), it is our intention to point out the role of Wundt and his Experimental Psychology Laboratory at the University of Leipzig. Wundt had begun, like Weber, Fechner and von Helmholtz, in physiology. His work Elements of Physiological *Psychology* is considered the one that initiates, in fullness of formulation, the independence of psychology as an autonomous science. His fundamental thesis is that psychology deals with mental contents and that these are accessible to the methods of introspection and experimentation. Wundt states that the psychological experiment must be of the same type as the physiological experiment. In this, the procedure for the study of the phenomenon remains very close to some essential elements. One is that the stimulus is controllable. The other is that the response is objective and correlated with an introspection, which must have been properly planned and its observation limited and exhaustive. The higher mental processes were not, in Wundt's conviction, liable to study using these procedures. These could only be studied through the Psychology of Peoples (Völkerpsychologie), an extensive work in ten volumes that culminated shortly before dying. There he states that a study of the so-called social products is only accessible to the historical method. This is the case of language, laws, art, institutions and customs [3, pp. 75–80].

This idea of two different and differential methods is developed by Dilthey. This author gives a philosophical expression to the idea that there are two different types of sciences. He talks about "nature sciences" and "spirit sciences" and lay the foundations of two differential methods of approaching to one and another: explanation (*Erklären*) and understanding (*Verstehen*). This difference between understanding and explaining is taken as a central paradigm of phenomenological psychopathology [1, 2, 7, 8].

From this perspective, there are two planes of differentiable phenomena, which are evident in their discrepancy in psychopathology. The first are the anomalies of the psychic way of being [1, 2, 7-11]. These do not constitute diseases in the strict sense. These are anomalies, when not mere findings. They do not have a cause or a physiopathogenesis. At most, we can talk about conditioning, never determination. Successive experiences, with all the elements of significance that the individual interposes with a margin of freedom against the given, are happening and giving rise to a development [8], understandable continuity of the self in time. This development conforms to the temperamental characteristic elements and, finally, the personality. We are in the field of the motivated, the understandable, the biographical. The prospective plays here, making motivation evident as a movement towards future goals. The motivational goes from the present to the future. The psychiatrist's approach in this field necessarily involves understanding, giving here a central place to empathy. We settle here on the level of the sciences of the spirit.

The second type of phenomena constitutes diseases in the strict sense [1, 2, 7–10]. Here the fields of causality and the consequent determination become evident, in a temporary game that goes from the past to the present. The present is explained by a cause that previously worked. Here we are in the field of causality, with all its natural load, imposing a determination and not a conditioning. A head injury causes a loss of consciousness. Several injuries over time give rise to a psycho-organic syndrome. Jaspers calls this "process." The process is a natural event that interrupts development, interrupts continuity of meaning. Intense brain trauma and schizophrenic psychosis are here "processes." Due to the action of a particular cause, the individual is never again the one he was. The approach is here explanatory, with the clinical diagnosis in the strict sense, with the objectification of the natural cause that produced the determination. We are here, strictly, in the "natural sciences" field.

Final Considerations

Thus, two areas are well defined, concordant with Dilthey's approach and updated by Popper when he speaks of "worlds" as tectonics [1, 12]. There is a causal plane, with determinations, explainable phenomena, and a dynamic generated in the past to give a reason for the present. This plane is approachable from the physical-chemicalmathematical, from the natural sciences. And there is another spiritual plane, in which the personal is defined. This plane can be influenced by conditioning, but it is not determined. There are no efficient causes here, physical or chemical elements that determine the personality. There is a continuity of sense of self in time [13], a development, an understandability, a motivational projection towards a future, an intentionality. In this plane, there are no causes, there are reasons, and there is not a teleology. This difference is not always taken into account in recent research and conceptualizations of the brain and behavior, as noted [14]. The notion of personal development allows to limit the speculations of the neurosciences to the corresponding level, without causal excesses and without ignoring a stratigraphy with diverse planes and diverse study methodologies [1, 12].

References

 Gargiulo PA. Popper y la Psicopatología: Algunas posibles implicancias de su pensamiento. In: Gargiulo PA, editor. Sobre la Desesperanza y otros escritos psicológicos. Ensayo: Editorial Académica Española. AV Akademiker Verlag Gmbh & Co. K.G; 2012. Saarbrücken. Alemania. Editado en Alemania y España. ISBN 978-3-659-03550-0. 75 páginas.

- Gargiulo PA. Preface. In: Gargiulo PA, Mesones HL, editors. Psychiatry and Neuroscience Updates. Bridging the Divide. New York: Springer; 2015. p. VII–XVII. ISBN: 978-3-319-17102-9.
- Heidbreder E. Psychologies of the XX century. The beginnings of scientific psychology. (Psicologías del Siglo XX. Los comienzos de la Psicología científica). Buenos Aires: Bibliotecas Psicológicas del Siglo XX. Editorial Paidós.; 1971. p. 61–89.
- Tooby J, Cosmides L. Conceptual foundations of evolutionary psychology. In: Buss DM, editor. The handbook of evolutionary psychology. Hoboken: Wiley; 2005. p. 5–63.
- Coyne JA. The fairy tales of evolutionary psychology. In: Thornhill R, Palmer C, editors. Review of "A natural history of rape: biological bases of sexual coercion". Cambridge: MIT Press; 2000. *The New Republic*, March 4.
- Mollon JD, Perkins AJ. Errors of judgement at Greenwich in 1796. Nature. 1996;380:101–2.
- Schneider K. Patopsicología Clínica. Cuarta edición española. Madrid: Editorial Paz Montalvo; 1975.
- Jaspers K. Psicopatología General. 4th ed. Buenos Aires: Editorial Beta. 1977.

- 9. Gargiulo PA, Mesones HL. In: Gargiulo PA, Mesones HL, editors. Psychiatry and Neuroscience Updates. Bridging the divide. New York: Springer; 2015. ISBN: 978-3-319-17102-9.
- Gargiulo PA, Mesones HL. In: Gargiulo PA, Mesones HL, editors. Psychiatry and Neuroscience Updates. Translational approaches. New York: Springer; 2017. ISBN: 978-3-319-53125-0.
- Anton Mlinar I. Phenomenology as an approach method in the neurosciences. In: Gargiulo PA, Mesones HL, editors. Psychiatry and Neuroscience Updates. Bridging the divide. New York: Springer; 2015. p. 11–22. Chapter 2. ISBN: 978-3-319-17102-9.
- 12. Popper KR, Eccles JC. El Yo y su Cerebro. Barcelona: Labor Universitaria. Monografías; 1980.
- Pereyra CR. Semiología y Psicopatología de los Procesos de la Esfera Intelectual. Buenos Aires: Editorial Salerno; 1973.
- 14. Sanguineti JJ. Trends in philosophy of mind and in philosophy of neuroscience. In: Gargiulo PA, Mesones HL, editors. Psychiatry and Neuroscience Updates. Bridging the divide. New York: Springer; 2015. p. 23–37. Chapter 3. ISBN: 978-3-319-17102-9.



The Self-Organized Feedback Brain

Osvaldo Agamennoni

Introduction

As we know, the brain is a system made up of a complex network of neurons, being responsible for a large number of functions, from homeostasis to our human mental activities encompassed in what we usually understand as cognition. The brain structure is not clearly defined in terms of functionalities. However, we know that the information flows in this network of neurons by means of electric pulses, making our brain the most amazing dynamic system known.

Time is an elusive phenomenon that is difficult to grasp with our senses [1]. This is the reason why it is hard for us to deeply understand the dynamic nature of our being. Our dynamic nature is constantly present in the processing of perceiving what happens and predicting our future actions. Rodolfo Llinas [2], one of the founding fathers of modern brain science, presents an original vision of the evolution and nature of the dynamic predictive functions of the brain. According to Llinas, the brain evolved to allow predictive interactions between mobile creatures and their environment. He illustrates the early evolution of the mind through a primitive animal called ascidia. The mobile larval form of this animal has a brain ganglion that receives sensory information about the surrounding environment. When it reaches adulthood, ascidian adheres to a stationary object and then digests most of its own brain. This suggests that the nervous system of animals evolved to allow their active movement.

Is clear that humans, as well as all biological beings, are continuously interacting with their environment and the *Homo sapiens* have distinguished, from the other species, by significantly increasing the cognitive resources applied to that interaction process. Visual attention is controlled by cognitive top-down factors (knowledge, expectation, belief, current goals, etc.) and bottom-up factors coming from sensory stimulation. Other factors that influence attention, such as novelty and unexpectedness, indicate an interaction between cognitive and sensory information [3]. The dynamic interaction of these factors controls where, how, and to what we pay attention in the visual environment.

This interactive process is clearly depicted with the cognitive cycle of Fig. 5.1. The information coming from the perception of the environment is processed with the stored in the memory, and, as a result, an action is produced. The action modifies the environment, and a new cycle begins. Naturally this is a feedback loop, and its dynamic is clearly affected by the perception, the information processing, and the actions performed as a

O. Agamennoni (⊠)

Universidad Nacional del Sur - Depto. de Ingeniería Eléctrica y de Computadoras, Instituto de Investigaciones en Ingeniera Eléctrica. (IIIE - UNS CONICET), Comisión de Investigaciones Científicas de la Provincia de Buenos Aires, Bahía Blanca, Argentina

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_5



Fig. 5.1 Cognitive cycle: The environment is perceived through the senses. Its resulting information is integrated and processed with the information stored in the memory. A set of possible future action are considered through prediction. An action is carried out which modifies the environment. The modified environment is perceived, and so on

consequence. Most aspects of the cognitive cycle are unconscious; however, each cycle also has moments of conscious processing. An important feature of mental dynamic is the ability to consider alternatives to events in relation to the environment, and this is also possible to be analyzed in the context of the cognitive cycle as a simulated process.

Darwin clearly showed how the natural selection with its feedback loops improved our evolutionary process, shaping our body and brain. This means that our behavior is, to a great extent, a result of the whole historic dynamic process of interaction with the environment. In our environment, there are animate as well as inanimate objects and other people similar to us, but not equal. Then, other's brains are also included in the feedback loops in which our brain is involved. For this reason, many different researchers have found appropriate the use of dynamic system concepts and tools in the behavior analysis and research.

When a goal (reference value) is introduced in the cognitive cycle, it is natural to consider the implicit dynamic in the framework of feedback control loop. Feedback control theory is a wellknown discipline in engineering and in the last century has been applied to diverse areas including to psychology in the 1948 book, *Cybernetics* [4], by Norbert Wiener. Later, PCT [5] has provided one of the most important contributions of the discipline to study the human behavior.

The control theory was initially developed to deal with synthetic systems. Initially in the regulation of steam engines in the eighteenth century up to now with a wide spectrum of applications in all the different technology applications. People from the feedback control theory community claim that it is a hidden technology. The mathematical foundations of the control theory allow the study of the dynamical system, basically the feedback effects on its responses, how to analyze its stability properties, and how to design a proper controller to improve its performance. According to Cowan et al. [6], the control theory provides different tools for understanding systems with regulation via feedback, including biological ones such as regulatory gene networks, cellular metabolic systems, sensorimotor dynamics of moving animals, and even ecological or evolutionary dynamics of organisms and populations.

The feedback control theory approach applied to human behavior follows the simplified block diagrams of Fig. 5.2. The results of the action are perceived and compared with the desired reference value, and a consequent control action is performed over the manipulated variables. Let us assume, as an example, a violin student. In this case, the manipulated variables are its arms and hands that are the responsible to produce a given resulting sound in the instrument. The sound is perceived, compared with the corresponding reference, and the brain performs an action to improve it.

Even though PCT, and other control-based approaches, allow to understand many different aspects of human behavior, the emerging dynamics of a social group are more complex and difficult to analyze under these perspectives. Self-organized system concepts are needed as a base platform in the analysis of interactive dynamic between individuals. A number of researchers have proposed models of psychological systems based on the concepts of nonlinear dynamics, self-organization, and chaos. Some of these former approaches are described in the work of Scott Barton [7] of 1994. By selforganization, it is understood as the evolution of a system, to an organized form by changing their internal structure and their function, in response to changes in its environment without the inter-



Fig. 5.2 A feedback control loop in the context of human behavior. In the case of a violin student example, the manipulated variables are its arms and hands, responsible to produce a given resulting sound in the instrument. The

resulting sound is perceived, compared to the reference, and the brain performs an action in the manipulated variables to improve it

vention of any external action. Self-organization framework allows to evaluate the emergence of stable patterns through autonomous and selfreinforcing dynamics at different levels of complexity. The elements of a self-organized system are able to manipulate or organize other elements of the same system in a way that stabilizes either structure or function of the whole against external circumstances.

Figure 5.3 shows the extension of Fig. 5.1 to depict the interaction with other individual. Basically there exist two types of interactions between the elements of a system in relation to the resources of the environment: competition and cooperation. During competition, the elements of a system are individually striving to maximize the use of the resources, and during cooperation, they are engaged in mutual beneficial activities. Depending on context conditions, the emergent social behavior will be more probably oriented to cooperation or competition. It is possible to favor the appearance of certain behaviors, but not control them. In section "Social Behavior as the Emergent of a Self-Organized System Dynamic," some basic necessary conditions for cooperation will be addressed.

Social structures emerge from cooperative and competitive actions of individual actors, and individual actions are shaped by social structures. This system scheme, shown in Fig. 5.4, was proposed by Wolfgang Hofkirchner [8] in 1988 and has been used in a large number of later works. In the cyclic process that shows this scheme, there



Fig. 5.3 Cognitive cycle with two individuals interacting in the environment. When two or more individuals share an environment, the dynamics are more complex due to the different kinds of iterations that could be generated in relation to the environment, competition and cooperation, and the differences between individual's goals

are two levels. At the micro, lower level, are the elements of the system, that is, the individual agents. The interaction of individual actions design relatively stable relationships between them that achieve a relative independence of the interactions. These structures that arise at a macro level exist in their own right and influence individual agents. On the one hand, they establish conditions (e.g., norms of behavior) that limit the



Fig. 5.4 Outline of the social self-organization proposed by Wolfgang Hofkirchner in 1988. Through their interactions, individual agents promote the emergence of social structures that in turn shape the individual actions of agents

scope of the possibilities of acting, and, on the other hand, by doing so, they offer them options that they would not otherwise have. That is, it provides socialization and inculturation. In this way, one can clearly appreciate the self-organized dynamic nature of a society.

Individual Behavior as a Dynamic Emergent of the Cognitive Cycle Feedback Loop

Behavior is the externally visible part of a process by which a person controls their environment. As disturbances affect the achieved results, behavior allows to control the changes introduced on the available manipulated variables (possibilities of action) to achieve the desired objectives (reference values). Behavior is the emergent of actions produced to cancel the effects of the disturbances on whatever a person is controlling or trying to do it.

In 1990, Carver and Scheier, in an article titled Origins and Functions of Positive and Negative Affect: A Control-Process View [9], addressed the nature of certain aspects of emotion, from a control theory perspective on behavior. They focused on the feedback-based processes through which people self-regulate their actions to minimize discrepancies between actual acts and desired or intended acts. The authors concluded that this view on affect is a useful supplement to other theories and that the concept of emotion is easily assimilated to feedback models of self-regulation. As the authors said: *to put it more simply, when people pay attention to what they are doing, they usually do what they intend to do, relatively accurately and thoroughly.*

Dag Forsell [10], editor of the book Perceptual Control Theory (PCT): An Overview of the Third Grand Theory in Psychology Introductions, Readings, and Resources, affirms that understanding the phenomenon of control provides an explanation for the way living organisms behave, what behavior is, how it works, and what it accomplishes. Control theory helps to explain how organisms control the different activities they are continuously conducting. On the other hand, the lack of control also helps to understand other phenomena. It explains why people deprived of any major part of their ability to control soon become dysfunctional. Fear of losing control is listed as a possible symptom of panic attacks in panic disorder [11].

In the framework of the PCT, a conflict is the state when two control systems attempt to control the same quantity with respect to two different reference values. Internal conflict is an inevitable consequence of learning to adapt to the world, but unresolved excessive conflict is disruptive, distressing, and damaging to the individual [12]. Different theories suggest that compulsive behaviors, characteristic of obsessive-compulsive disorder and addiction, are caused by shared deficits in goal-directed control. However, recent studies have shown that deficient goal-directed control accompanies several disorders, including those without an obvious compulsive element [13].

Feedback control framework explains what a goal is, how goals relate to behavior, how behavior affects perceptions, and how reality emerges from the perception. An example of how distortion in perception affects behavior is the anorexia nervosa. Slade and Russell [14] have shown that patients with anorexia nervosa have a perception of the size of their body (face, chest, waist, and hips) between 25 and 50 percent higher than in the case of healthy people. This problem in perception and its consequences on behavior can only be understood within the context of feedback control. A person with anorexia thinks he/ she is overweight because he/she perceives himself/herself as such, and, consequently, his/her goal in terms of the weight of his/her own body becomes unattainable.

Behavior is not triggered simply by features of the environment, but by the interaction of those features with the properties of the individual [15]. People choose between many possible courses of action within a particular situation. Since Power (1973), many different authors have followed the idea that behavior is organized hierarchically, and later, Carver and Scheier assume a cascading loop structure.

Using brain imaging in humans, Koechlin et al. [16] showed that the lateral prefrontal cortex is organized as a cascade of executive processes from premotor to anterior prefrontal cortex regions that control behavior according to stimuli, the present perceptual context, and the temporal episode in which stimuli occur, respectively. Specifically, they hypothesized that cognitive control involves at least three nested levels of processing, implemented in distinct frontal regions. First, sensory control involved in selecting motor actions in response to stimuli. Second, contextual control involved in selecting stimulusresponse associations according to external consignals textual accompanying stimulus occurrences. Third, episodic control involved in selecting consistent sets of stimulus-response associations according to events that previously occurred or to ongoing internal goals.

Consider, as an example, the learning process of a musical instrument. Music, like all artistic activity, has technical aspects related to the dexterity in the execution of the instrument and others related to the artistic expressiveness itself. However, one of the most important factors in music learning is the virtuosity that the student has as desired objective to be achieved, i.e., the motivation. The behavior of a music student may be expressed following the hierarchical idea, which can be shown as depicted in Fig. 5.5.

The first (inner) control loop is related to the motor control of the body (hands and other parts depending on the instrument) to achieve a desired technical level in the instrument execution. The second loop controls the musical expression, i.e., the art of playing with a personal touch transmitting a feeling. On a practical level, this means making appropriate use of the dynamics, phrasing, timbre, and articulation to give life to music. Finally, the outer loop controls the overall musical learning process, being the over-riding reference value, i.e., the desired level of virtuosity to be achieved in the future. It is important to note that the controller of the outer loop states a reference value for the middle loop and that the controller of the middle loop states the reference value for the inner loop.

It is natural to understand that the over-riding reference value, i.e., the desired level of virtuosity to be achieved, will have an important effect on student behavior. The personal idea of virtuosity will also determine the levels of expressiveness and interpretative technique. The reference values are dynamically increasing with the learning process, and its relative valued with the achieved virtuosity will dominate the overall behavior. If after a given period of time the expected results are not achieved, the student may become frustrated. Depending on the relative values expected in terms of expressiveness or technique, a whole range of different behavior can be expected. It is clear that the over-riding reference value and the perception process of the student will have a determining role in the behavior of the student.

As we have seen, the theory of control allows us to explain an important amount of personal human behavior related to the pursuit of certain objectives. When we focus our attention to the social dynamics, the control theory does not allow us to analyze all the problematics. The different personal objectives may conflict, and the individual control actions may not lead to a stable solution. It is not possible to drive a car with double command if each driver has different objectives. For this reason, when the study is focused to social groups, a self-organization framework is needed. In any case, before analyzing social behavior, we must deepen in how we construct our reality, our particular vision of our environment.


Fig. 5.5 Closed-loop hierarchical control process in the learning a musical instrument example: The first (inner) control loop is related to the motor control of the body (hands and other parts depending on the instrument) to achieve a desired technical level in the instrument execu-

tion. The second loop controls the musical expression, and the outer loop controls the overall musical learning process, being the over-riding reference value, i.e., the desired level of virtuosity to be achieved in the future

Sensitivity, Stability and Resilience

An appreciation that the whole is more than the sum of the parts can be intuitively visualized through the analysis of the dynamic properties of the closed-loop system like sensitivity, stability, and resilience. These dynamic properties, most of the time, are the direct result of the energy exchange in the interactions processes with the environment.

Sensitivity is a measure of the relationship between the cause (stimulus) and the resulting effect. In some cases, it is desirable that the performance of a system be as less sensitive as possible with respect to changes in its elements that compose them. For example, it is desirable that an electronic system does not vary its performance due to variations in the values of its components.

To deeply analyze the meaning of the sensitivity of a system and the effect of the feedback on it, it is necessary to introduce a little of mathematics related with control theory. Figure 5.6 is a simplified version of the feedback loop of Fig. 5.2 to facilitate the analysis. In the case of the violin student's example, A represents all the elements of the loop in the forward path, i.e., brain controller and motor control system, while B represents all the elements in the feedback path, i.e., perception systems.



Fig. 5.6 A simplified feedback control loop: A represents all the elements of the loop in the forward path (brain controller and motor control system), and B all the elements of the feedback path (perception systems)

The relationship from the reference value *R* to the achieved results *Result* is given by the following transfer function:

$$T = \frac{Result}{R} = \frac{A}{1 + AB}$$

which is obtained by solving the equations derived from the block algebra of Fig. 5.6. Remember, in our example of the violin student, R is the desired sound to be obtained and *Result*, the achieved sound. The sensitivity of the *Result* with respect to the feed-forward path elements (A) is given by the relative variation of the transfer function T with respect to the relative variation of the forward elements (A) which is given by:

$$Sens_{A} = \lim_{\Delta A \to 0} \frac{\Delta T / T}{\Delta A / A} = \frac{\partial T}{\partial T} \frac{A}{T} = \frac{1}{1 + AB}$$

where ΔA represents any change in *A* as well as ΔT any change in *T* and $\frac{\partial T}{\partial A}$ is the derivative of *T* with respect to *A*. In the same way, the sensitivity of *Result* with respect to the perception system (*B*) is given by:

$$Sens_{B} = \lim_{\Delta B \to 0} \frac{\Delta T / T}{\Delta B / B} = \frac{\partial T}{\partial T} \frac{B}{T} = \frac{AB}{1 + AB}$$

Without having to understand in depth the mathematical process of calculating sensitivity, it should be considered that the forward path system (A) has higher values that the feedback path system (B), which results that the $Sens_B$ is higher than $Sens_A$. The conclusion is straightforward: variations in the forward motor control path are less relevant in the performance of the closedloop system. The performance of the closed-loop system is much more sensitive to variation in the perception system. If the achieved sound is not accordingly perceived, the student will have no chance to improve the resulting sound. The value of A is directly related to the attitude of the student, in the sense of the predisposition to achieve the desired reference value R. The greater the predisposition, the greater the value of A.

There is a range of values of A within which an appropriate behavior can be expected. Smaller values make it difficult to achieve the objectives; it slows down the feedback system dynamic and is more sensitive to variations (uncertainties) of the motor control system. On the other hand, high values of A can cause oscillations or, if it increases further, make the system unstable. However, it is possible to get a whole range of values of Awithin which the dynamics of the system are appropriate (resilience).

Consider a simple example, the heating system of a house. It is a closed-loop system that has, in the forward path (A), the boiler and radiators. In the feedback path, the thermostat (B) senses the temperature of the room, feeds back the same to compare it with the desired temperature, and sends an ignition signal if the temperature of the room is lower than desired. Otherwise, a shutdown signal is sent. Different boilers and radiators of different sizes can achieve the desired temperature (resilience). Obviously there is a

limit; if it is too small, it will not be able to generate the necessary heat to reach the desired temperature. If it is too large, it will be on and off too often (non-stable oscillatory state). But if the thermostat has a fault and does not feedback the true temperature value of the room, the desired value could never be reached.

Constructing Our Reality

Human beings are an intrinsically social and gregarious species, and practically all our thoughts, desires, feelings, and actions are directed or produced in response to others [17]. People and groups interacting in a social system create, over time, mental representations of their own actions and those of others processing the perceived information. In the dynamics of the individual or social feedback loops, the appreciation of the obtained results is highly relevant. There is a verifiable reality that exists; however, sometimes our perceptions (or beliefs about the reality) do not match reality.

We have evolved in a world in constant change, and, consequently, our nervous system has adapted to detect those changes in our environment. In this constant flow of brain activity, our perception of the activities of others, and the perception that others have of ours, plays a central role in social dynamics. What we perceive as reality is our conception and subjective evaluation of what comes to us through our senses. In the Talmud, the book that compiles rabbinical discussions about Jewish laws, we can read the following sentence: we do not see things as they are, we see the things as we are.

The reasons for such human behavior could be related to the fact that if all the perceptive stimuli are ambiguous, then it is necessary to use the previous accumulated knowledge during the evolutionary and life process to convert the sensory energy into useful information to guide the behavior. It is also known that the expectations, knowledge, and demands of the tasks in execution can shape the perception. The degree to which perception is influenced by factors such as goals, beliefs, desires, and expectations is not known. Anyway, it is known that such influence exists and for this the concept of *cognitive penetrability* has been defined.

Since our experience of other people is conditioned by our perception, it is natural that diverse human behaviors linked to empathy and social cognition are influenced by the way we perceive our fellow human beings. Given that, consciously or unconsciously, we are continually involved in cognitive cycles; the construction of what we call reality is strongly influenced by our perceptions and our predictions. The predictions that guide our actions are then contrasted with our particular perception of the results of that action. As the perception confirms our predictions, we are consolidating the mental models we are developing. Problems in prediction or in perception can alter the normal dynamics of the cognitive cycle, affecting behavior.

It is clear that behavior is strongly influenced by the subjective construction of reality, in the same way that any feedback loop is affected by the estimate (perceived) of the output variable. As we have seen, if the temperature sensor of a heating system is damage, it is not possible to reach the desired temperature level. If a music student cannot adequately perceive the music note achieved from his instrument, he will not be able to improve his performance.

One of the most important brain abilities is to discard and integrate information from different sensory modalities and combine them with memory traces and with information about the current state of the brain and the body with the purpose of predicting and making the necessary decisions for adaptive behavior [18]. We will focus now in such processes where perception and prediction are intrinsically involved, and in that sense, we need to deepen the analysis of them.

Perception

In the book *The Doors of Perception*, Aldous Huxley said: *There are things known and there are things unknown, and in between are the doors of perception*. Perception is the process in which the brain senses the stimuli it receives through the

senses to form a conscious impression of the physical reality of its environment. From a simplified approach, in the personal process of perception, it can be appreciated two stages related to the treatment that our brain carries out with the stimuli that reach our senses:

- 1. Fusion: Process of integration of the different pieces of information coming from the different senses, in order to unify and complete them. The natural environment constantly multimodal information, produces and humans have developed sensory organs optimized to perceive the environment, as well as a brain to represent and reflect the multimodal nature of this information. For this, it has generated an unconscious sensory fusion system that allows it to rapidly represent its environment in working memory. The human being maintains an adequate static and dynamic balance, thanks to the continuous, simultaneous, and congruent fusion of all the information coming from three systems: the vestibular, visual, and proprioceptive systems. Alterations in the fusion of all that information can produce different conditions such as vertigo. It is not possible to arrive at a single and congruent information, crucial for the motor control system.
- 2. **Inference:** Process of evaluation of conclusions based on the information available. At this stage, conscious semantic information has its influence. If we imagine a scene where a clergyman walking through a meadow during the thirteenth century witnesses a flash, it would be natural for him to infer that it was a divine manifestation. If we imagine the same scenario but now Benjamin Franklin (inventor of the lightning rod) a few centuries later, we would conclude that his inference would have been completely different from that of the cleric, even if the fused information of his senses had been exactly the same.

The process of inference allows the generation of new pieces of information that are stored in the memory and are then used in new processes of inference, reinforcing or contradicting the exist-



Fig. 5.7 Perception process. The multimodal sensory signals are fused into pieces of information. These are combined with those in memory through an inference pro-

cess. Thus new pieces of information are generated that are, in turn, stored in memory, and so on

ing mental models. As can be concluded, the perception process also forms a feedback system and can be seen in Fig. 5.7. The importance of the quality of perception in behavior should be noted. It is clear that misperception contributes to the generation and reinforcement of mental models that differ from reality.

Given the dynamic nature of the stimuli that reach our brain, the perception of time is of great importance in human behavior. The ability to perceive time accurately is fundamental to control our movements and behavior. Different neuropsychiatric and neurological disorders such as depression, bipolarity, and schizophrenia show different alterations in the perception of time [19]. We use internal timing processes to measure whether we have enough time to cross the street before a car approaches the intersection or to maintain a regular conversation rhythm when talking to a friend [20]. Like other senses, our perception of time is modulated by changes in the environmental context. Emotions greatly affect the perception of time. We have all experienced that the passage of time is not the same during a pleasant situation as during another highly stressful one. This shows the dynamic nature of social interactions.

Prediction

The theory of the mind is an approach to describe the ability to attribute thoughts and intentions to other people. It is used to designate the ability to attribute mental states to other people and to interpret and predict their behavior. Predictions or expectations drive what we perceive and the way we integrate the perceived aspect of the world around us. The energetic brain efficiency and the adaptive behavior are the results of its predictive nature [21]. We are continuously using knowledge from previous experiences to produce predictions about the future and minimize the cost of the future uncertainty.

An interesting description of the predictive brain function is provided by Giovanni Pezzulo and Paul Cisek [22]. In a given situation, one of the possible options is chosen, which is modulated not only by the predictions of the immediate benefits that could be achieved but also by the predictions of the new possible benefits that could be obtained later. They summarize the same in the following way: *in its interaction with the environment, or because of it, the brain generates a set of desirable actions within the possibilities within the available possibilities* (affordances).

Eliot Brown and Martin Brüne [23] analyze the importance of prediction in terms of individual and social behavior. They analyze a number of studies which demonstrate that bottom-up sensory input and top-down expectancies can be modulated by social information. They affirm that perception is more related to the construction of the environment predictive modeling; and predictive mechanisms are also at the core of the processes of evaluation of the outcomes of others' actions and can be applied to both non-social and social contexts. They suggest that selection pressures operating on predictive mechanisms have made them more malleable by social matters. Individuals who can better predict the behavior of others may have been those whose genes benefited from a greater reproductive success.

The relationship between brain predictive mechanisms and social cognition also has implications in psychopathology. For example, there is good empirical evidence that the capacity to infer one's own and other persons' mental states is specifically impaired in schizophrenia [24]. False perceptions (hallucinations) and bizarre beliefs are characteristic symptoms of schizophrenia and other psychotic illnesses. An important number of results in the literature suggest that patients with schizophrenia are impaired at making predictions [25]. Some of the first studies were in the area of motor control. They suggested that the processes involved in predicting the sensory outcome of an action and comparing it to the real outcome are impaired. Recently it has been proposed that prediction impairments in patients may concern the prediction of time in particular.

Eliot Brown and Martin Brüne [23] conclude that the use of a predictive coding framework provides conceptual scaffolding to bridge different domains of cognition and different research disciplines. In exploring social neuroscience under the guise of prediction, a more integrated and inclusive approach is permitted to understand the brain as a whole and not just a sum of its parts.

Social Behavior as the Emergent of a Self-Organized System Dynamic

It is known that relatively simple self-organized artificial systems can exhibit complex behaviors [26]. Then, in a much larger structurally selforganized system, it is certainly to be expected that their behaviors are of such complexity that it is very difficult to estimate. This is the reason why the possibility of control of such a system is virtually impossible. Self-organization is a process in which the high-level functionality of the system arises only from the numerous interactions between the members that compose it without external intervention. These systems are able to adapt to changing environments and be resistant to faults and damages (resilience). However, in different circumstances, a small change in the environment can result in a big change in systemic behavior (chaos).

The microscopic structure of the circuits of the adult neocortex, considered as the basis of our highest cognitive capacities, is still very little known. Only some structural characteristics of such circuits are known, such as their capacity for self-organization, but it is not known how these characteristics are produced and how they are maintained. It is actually well known that a phenomenon at a given level of organization is a consequence of the mechanisms at a lower level. Self-produced molecular processes arrived at the conformation of simple cells, societies of simple cells produced eukaryotic cells, the societies of these cells emerged to produce multicellular organisms, and the societies of these arose to produce animal societies. Human evolution shows a similar pattern in which societies of increasing scale have gradually emerged from previous ones. In each of these cases, the new entities that arise in each step are formed by entities that previously lived independently and competed with each other.

At this point, it is appropriate to consider what is stated by Francis Heylighen [27] to explain the emergence of organization. We need to take into account that the outcome of interactions is not arbitrary, since they exhibit a preference for certain situations over others. The principle is analogous to natural selection: certain configurations are intrinsically fitter than others and will be preferentially maintained and/or multiplied in the evolution process. When the agents are goaldirected, they will prefer an outcome that brings it closer to its goals, i.e., increase the reward. For example, in a market, a firm will prefer the outcome that brings it more profit. In an ecosystem, an animal will prefer an outcome that brings it more food or that reduces its risk of being attacked by a predator.

In words of Heylighen, it is clear why an individual agent tends to organize itself so as to settle down in its preferred situation. The problem is that what is best for one agent is in general not best for the other agents. For example, more profit for a firm generally means less profit for its competitors, and an animal safe from attack by a predator means a predator that goes hungry. Individuals are independent and interact locally. Besides, they in general do not know exactly what will be the effect of their actions on the other individuals; therefore, the dynamic is unpredictable. They can choose plausible actions or even select it by random and compare which ones bring them closer to their goals. But each individual has its own goals. Even when they appear similar, small differences in a large collection of individuals can generate unpredictable patterns.

Recently, in 2016, John Stewart, in his work The Self-Organizing Society: The Role of Institutions [28], studies the conditions that should be observed so that, even when individuals pursue their own interests, they behave in favor of the interest of society as a whole, regardless of any intention to do so. Not only to go in pursuit the social goal but also to be able to withstand the swings, always present, in a society. From this study, he developed a model to study the evolution of self-organized societies. He begins by sketching a simplified model and then goes on to show how this simple model can be adapted to consider the key characteristics of the emergence of self-organized societies at different levels of organization. Of course, the use of a model is always reductionist, especially when we talk about people and societies. In any case, it should be analyzed if the behaviors obtained through the use of the model are correlated with the observations. That is, if the results are convincing as to transcend to a higher level, from individuals and their relationships to social behavior.

Stewart considers a population of agents that compete against each other to survive and persist. In addition, agents have the ability to develop various adaptation mechanisms. The model shows that the key condition for a society to selforganize is to capture the consequences. In general terms, this means that all agents of society must capture their profitable benefits from those produced by the impact of the actions that are carried out. If this condition is not met, the agents, who invest resources in actions that produce social benefits, tend to be overcome by those who do not. That is, there will be fewer and fewer interested in promoting and doing good deeds. This condition of capture of consequence can be fulfilled when a society is administered by adequate systems that establish certain restrictions to the individual agents and promote pro-social actions. I think the results are convincing enough.

As we have seen in the previous section, in the framework of the PCT, a personal conflict appears when two control loops attempt to manipulate the same variable with two different reference values. There is no possibility to converge to a stable situation. Similarly, in the social level, a conflict is promoted when the initiatives that are carried out do not foster the consequence capture for all the members. Unconstrained or inappropriately constrained self-interest can destroy a society. The conclusion of Stuart is intuitively understandable. The repeated failure of movements that have been directed at building a better world is due largely to their inability to envisage how society can be successfully reorganized so that it henceforth inexorably self-organizes "the good." A key element in behavior, at both the individual and the social levels, are the communicational skills, the ability to describe significant events and concepts in clear and precise messages that enable minimal perceptual errors. This is strongly linked with the concept of emotional granularity introduced by Lisa Feldman Barret [29], i.e., the ability to differentiate between the specificity of the emotional content. An adequate communication at a horizontal level not only facilitates selforganization but also strengthens the system against the negative effects of different perturbing actions. Let's go back for a moment to the cognitive cycle of Fig. 5.3 where two people interact on a given environment. Suppose the case of two people discussing about a given topic. It is clear that small deviations in the messages significances due an imprecise verbal description

or/and small perception errors can induce a growing unexpected dynamics as a result of the feedback loop.

These results of Stewart, obtained through simulation, are confirmed in the real world by Simon Gächter and Jonathan F. Schulz [30]. They present cross-societal experiments from 23 countries around the world, which demonstrate a robust link between the prevalence of rule violations and intrinsic honesty. They developed an index of the Prevalence of Rule Violations (PRV) based on country-level data of corruption, tax evasion, and fraudulent politics. They find individual intrinsic honesty is stronger in the subject pools of low PRV countries than those of high PRV countries. The results show that weak institutions and cultural legacies that generate rule violations not only have direct adverse economic consequences but might also impair individual intrinsic honesty that is crucial for the smooth functioning of society.

Conclusions

We are essentially dynamic beings, perceiving what has already happened and predicting our next actions, most of the time, unconsciously. Let's pay attention to how we move in a given environment. However, the statement is also valid for all kinds of actions. This fact is strongly reflected in our individual and social behavior, which is the result of emerging patterns of neurons' dynamic activity in a huge interactive feedback network system, our brain.

An increasing amount of evidence indicates that behavior and cognition are patterns of self-organized responses based on the adaptive and coordinative activity in a given environment. These patterns show high degree of sensitivity to the physical and social environment. However, the dynamic balance between the coordination of motor and sensory processes regulates the behavior. The dynamic approach of behavior allows to appreciate the effects of perception and prediction in our actions, as well as in various pathologies, that becomes more accessible to understand and address.

It is well known that the congruence between the emotional state of a perceiver and the emotional character of information received about others may play a significant role in how personperception judgments are commonly made [31]. However, prediction was adequately considered later as an important factor in the feedback loop dynamics related *to* behavior [21].

In the case of an individual, there exist many different approaches in the literature to analyze the dynamic nature of behavior. Is clear in the context of the PCT that individual behavior is strongly guided by personal goals (motivations) that act as reference values to be achieved. In the case of social behavior, it is important to look for a wider frame in the context of self-organizing systems, since we need to consider the dynamic of a system with multiple different individual goaldirected control actions. In 1988, Wolfgang Hofkirchner outlined the social self-organization process. Through their interactions, individual agents promote the emergence of social structures that in turn shape the individual actions of agents. Regulations, values, ethics, norms, etc. frame individual and social dynamic and structures. There are numerous scientific works showing the dynamic processes that allow the emergence of activities that seek the "the good." However, we are needing to integrate all existing knowledge related to individual and social behavior and its implications in individual and social dynamics.

The main objective of the present work was to show that the study of both individual and social behavior can be framed in a broad context that allows analyzing its main dynamic characteristics. Within the present study context, it is evident to appreciate that a key element in the behavior, at both an individual and a social level, are the perceptive and predictive systems. Individual and social perception and prediction are modulated by beliefs and judgments. However, perception is a very sensitive aspect in the feedback loop, and this feature should be carefully considered.

As Anzola, Barbrook-Johnson, and Cano [32] affirm, there is a large theoretical-methodological gap between social complexity and mainstream social science. But in my opinion, it also extends to other areas of science. We have a very important amount of knowledge and tools, and we do not use them to their full potential.

Finally, it should be emphasized that the dynamic of a self-organized system is a direct consequence of the communications between their agents. It is important to note that an adequate social communication at a horizontal level not only facilitates self-organization but also strengthens the system against the effects of many negative disturbances.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by the Agencia Nacional de Promoción Científica y Tecnológica from Argentina under grant PICT 2013 0403, by the Universidad Nacional del Sur under grant PGI 24/K062, and by Comisión de Investigaciones Científicas de la Pcia. de Buenos Aires.

References

- Marin D, Pitteri M, Puppa AD, Meneghello F, Biasutti E, Priftis K, et al. Mental time line distortion in right-brain-damaged patients: evidence from a dynamic spatiotemporal task. Neuropsychology. 2016;30(3):338–45.
- Llinas R. I of the vortex: from neurons to self. Cambridge: MIT Press; 2001.
- Corbetta M, Shulman G. Control of goal-directed and stimulus-driven attention in the brain. Nat Rev. 2002;3:201–15.
- Wiener N. Cybernetics or the control and communication in the animal and the machine. Cambridge: MIT Press; 1948.
- Powers WT. Behavior: the control of perception. 1st ed. New York: Aldine de Gruyter; 1973.
- Cowan N, Ankarali M, Dyhr J, Madhav M, Roth E, Sefati S, et al. Feedback control as a framework for understanding Tradeoffs in biology. Integr Comp Biol. 1990;54(2):223–37.
- Barton S. Chaos self organization and psychology. Am Psychol. 1994;49(1):5–14.
- Hofkirchner W. A critical social systems view of the internet. Philos Soc Sci. 2007;37:471–500.
- Carver CS, Scheier MF. Origins and functions of positive and negative affect: a control-process view. Psychol Rev. 1990;97(1):19–35.
- Forsell D, editor. Perceptual control theory: an overview of the third grand theory in psychology introductions, readings, and resources. Hayward: Living Control Systems Publishing; 2016.
- Association AP. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association; 2010.
- Mansell W. Control theory and psychopathology: an integrative approach. Psychol Psychother Theory Res Pract. 2005;78:141–78.

- Gillan CM, Kosinski M, Whelan R, Phelps E, Daw N. Characterizing a psychiatric symptom dimension related to deficits in goal-directed control. eLife. 2016:5.
- Slade PD, Russell GFM. Awareness of body dimensions in anorexia nervosa: cross-sectional and longitudinal studies. Psychol Med. 1973;3(2):188–99.
- Gollwitzer PM, Moskowitz GB. In: Higgins ET, Kruglansky A, editors. Goal effects on action and cognition. New York: Guilford; 1996.
- Koechlin E, Ody C, Kouneiher F. The architecture of cognitive control in the human prefrontal cortex. Science. 2003;302:14.
- Batson CD. How social an animal? The human capacity for caring. Am Psychol. 1990;45(3):336–46.
- Deco G, Tononi MBG, Kringelbach M. Rethinking segregation and integration: contributions of wholebrain modelling. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2015;16:430–9.
- Teixeira S, Machado S, Paes F, Velasques B, Silva JG, San_m L, et al. Time perception distortion in neuropsychiatric and neurological disorders. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets. 2013;12(5):567–82.
- Lake JI, LaBar KS, Meck W. Emotional modulation of interval timing and time perception. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2016;64:403–20.
- Friston K, Kilner J, Harrison L. A free energy principle for the brain. J Physiol. 2006;100:70–87.
- 22. Pezzulo G, Cisek P. Navigating the affordance landscape: feedback control as a process model of behavior and cognition. Trends Cogn Sci. 2016;20(6):414–24.
- Brown E, Brüne M. The role of prediction in social neuroscience. Front Hum Neurosci. 2012;6:147.
- 24. Brüne M. Theory of mind in schizophrenia: a review of the literature. Schizophr Bull. 2005;1:21–42.
- Martin B, Franck N, Cermolacce M, Falco A, Benair A, Etienne E, et al. Fragile temporal prediction in patients with schizophrenia is related to minimal self disorders. Sci Rep. 2017;7:83–113.
- 26. Braitenberg V. Vehicles: experiments in synthetic psychology. Cambridge: MIT Press; 1984.
- Heylighen F. In: Bates MJ, Maack MN, editors. Complexity and self-organization. London: Taylor and Francis; 2008.
- Stewart J. The self-organizing society: the role of institutions. In: Conference of the World Interdisciplinary Network for Institutional Research (WINIR). Boston; 2016.
- Gendron M, Feldman Barret L. Emotion perception as conceptual synchrony. Emot Rev. 2018;10(2):101–10.
- Gächter S, Schulz JF. Intrinsic honesty and the prevalence of rule violations across societies. Nature. 2016;531:496–9.
- Forgas JP, Bowe GH. Mood effects on personperception judgments. J Pers Soc Psychol. 1987;53(1):53–60.
- Anzola D, Barbrook-Johnson P, Cano J. Selforganization and social science. Comput Math Organ Theory. 2016;23:221–57.



6

Dynamis, the Object of a Philosophical Medicine: An Epistemological Analysis of the Treatise *On Ancient Medicine*

María Teresa Gargiulo

Introduction

The International Colloquium on Hippocrates that was held in 2002 at the University of Newcastle and the recent publications that have appeared on his writings testify to the current flowering of studies around the Corpus Hippocraticum. Among the diverse works that compose the act of this colloquium stand out those that are dedicated to study particularly the treatise *On Ancient Medicine*.

One of them is the article by Mark Schiefsky who shows the author of the paper as a defender of an empiricist methodology. He argues that the author assumes the ideal of empirical verifiability and, consequently, he considers all that speculative philosophy absolutely irrelevant to medical practice [1].

Francis Dunn, for his part, identifies this writing with the proposal of an empirical model of medical practice, which certainly excludes any teleological reading of its object [2]. Both studies, in one way or another, put back into effect the hermeneutical line developed in the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. Namely, an empiricist-type hermeneutics that we could exemplify with a study by Dolores Nava where she presents the writing in question as the "attack of a man of science who is literally opposed to the application of philosophical methods in medicine" [3, p. 136, n. 1].

Certainly there are passages in this writing that validate this analysis. The Chap. 20, for example, could be interpreted as a point of inflection with respect to the traditional attitude of unity that the preceding Hippocratic treatises maintained with philosophy. There it is said:

Certain sophists (sophistai) and physicians say that it is not possible for anyone to know medicine who does not know what man is [and how he was made and how constructed], and that whoever would cure men properly, must learn this in the first place. But this saying (lógos) rather appertains to philosophy, as Empedocles and certain others have described what man in his origin is (ex arkhés), and how he first was made and constructed. But I think whatever such has been said or written by sophist or physician concerning nature has less connection with the art of medicine than with the art of painting (graphiké). And I think that one cannot know anything certain respecting nature from any other quarter than from medicine; and that this knowledge is to be attained when one comprehends the whole subject of medicine properly, but not until then; and I say that this history shows what man is, by what causes he was made, and other things accurately. [4, Chap.1, pp. 20–22]

This text seems to be enough to justify the hermeneutic tradition that present the aforementioned ancient text as the birth of a scientific medicine detached from all kinds of philosophical reflection. Since the author of the writing would seem to behave like an empiricist who

M. T. Gargiulo (🖂)

Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas (CONICET), Facultad de Filosofía y Letras, Universidad Nacional de Cuyo, Mendoza, Argentina

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_6

seeks as a doctor to get rid radically of philosophy or, at least, of that ancient medicine that founds his medical practice in the philosophical theory of the elements. Lloyd specifically points out Empedocles and Filolao of Taranto among the interlocutors to which this text objects [5].

This treatise apparently denies that the philosophical explanation of the material origin and development of human nature can lend some utility to medicine. Everything that the philosophers have said about nature, says the author, belongs to the *graphiké*, that is, to the art of writing, and not to medicine.

However, despite the partial success of this hermeneutical tradition, we believe that it runs the risk of offering a fragmentary and incomplete reading of the new epistemological statute that the author seeks to assign to medicine. The characterization of medicine as a non-philosophical science is correct insofar as it only deals with the author's effort to refute some postulates of ancient medicine. But it is incomplete if one realizes that concomitantly with this criticism the author proposes a new way of doing medicine that is not detached, at all, from the philosophical questioning.

The positivist mentality of the nineteenth century was pleased to oppose Galen, with its constant propensity to teleological explanations, the figure and work of the "empirical" and "scientific" Hippocrates, apparently devoid of finalist prejudices. But several years ago, and in opposition to these hermeneutics in an empiricist key, an hermeneutic tradition has been developed that seeks to correct the empiricist key that has been assigned to our text. Jones [6], Diller [7], Kühn [8], Miller [9, 10], and Jaeger [11, pp. 31 y 800], among others, have pointed out that the author of the treatise On Ancient Medicine does not establish a dialectical split between medical practice and philosophy. Our study is inscribed in continuity with this line of interpretation.

Our purpose is to show how all the writing is vertebrate on the concept of *dynamis* and how it supposes the proposal of a teleological model of scientific explanation and the concretion of a new synthesis between medicine and philosophy.

In order to analyze the author's understanding of the medicine-philosophy relationship, we will study two theses that justify the division of the article. Firstly, we will present the dynamis as the new object of medical practice (1). We will argue that this new object supposes the postulation of a teleological model of scientific explanation that involves by itself the philosophical questioning. Secondly, we will analyze the methodological slogan of adhering to the sensations of the body. We will show how, far from being part of an anti-metaphysical restriction (typical of a specific type of empiricism), it represents a causal, metaphysical, and epistemically more perfect question than that proposed by the Ionian philosophers (2).

About the New Object of Medicine

In the first place, it should be clarified that the treaty is not a writing against ancient medicine – as one might think. On the contrary, the author shows that ancient medicine is presented in its beginnings as a scientific practice insofar as it seeks a causal and rational explanation about the order and proportion of the elements of the body through food. Certainly the author points out some errors and further delimits the questions that concern medicine. But this does not imply that he does not recognize that his ancestors were the ones who established this art in virtue of an object.

The purpose of the author of *On Ancient Medicine* is to give a scientific account of medical practice. He defends it against detractors who even deny its existence. The Hippocratic authors were concerned to establish medicine as an art or *techne* against those who held that medicine was only a matter of *tuche*. To prove the scientific status, it was necessary not only to show the success of their therapeutic results but also to show that the results were due to the causal knowledge that was possessed with respect to medical treatment. Hence, the author does not limit himself to justifying medicine according to the practices of his ancestors, but seeks to delimit these practices – as pointed out by Laín Entralgo [12, p. 140] – by virtue of the causal knowledge of an object.

In the first part of the writing, the author describes the object of ancient medicine as the *metron*, the measure, the number, and proportion between elements. The good *kresia*. "In food – writes the author– we have to point to a certain measure" (Chap. 9, p. 146). The doctor must discover the measure of the food according to how it is each type of constitution.

When defining this object, the author manifests his assumption of the philosophical doctrine of the elements that predominated in the Ionian philosophers. Man is understood as part of a kosmos. And, in turn, he constitutes a microcosm. Now, just as those philosophers explain the appearance or corruption of all the beings of the cosmos through the association or dissociation of the first elements, ancient medicine defines the health or illness of man attending precisely to the dynamic balance between the elements that make up his body. Health is only an isomoira, that is, a proportionality between the elements that make up the organism. On the other hand, disorder, apokrisis (disintegration) or dyskrasia (bad mix), absence, or monarchy $(\mu o \nu \alpha \rho \chi i \eta)$ – that is, the predominance of one of the elements over others - behaves as the cause of the disease (Chap. 14, p. 153).

But in Chap. 13, the author opens his critique of this ancient medicine. And, through it, he begins to show the need to reformulate or delimit even more the object of medical practice.

He assumes the doctrine of disequilibrium as the cause of illness, but rejects as an oversimplification the reduction of medical treatment to the search for the opposites. Ancient medicine in order to achieve balance between the elements that make up the patient's body uses the method of allopathy or treatments for the opposites. This type of therapy dictates that opposites are cured by opposites: *contraria contrariïs curantur*. Through the right medium between the opposites, the doctor restores the proper balance of the *physis*.

The author of the *On Ancient Medicine* shares with his opponents the doctrine that medicine should seek good mixing or balance. Nevertheless, he points out its limitation as so as that doctrine does not attend to the active principles or the *dynamis* of the elements. His argument is that the proportion or order of food cannot be determined if its active ingredients are unknown. He describes this situation not without a certain irony:

What, then, shall we say? Whether that, as he suffered from cold, these hot things being applied were of use to him, or the contrary? I should think this question must prove a puzzler to whomsoever it is put. For whether did he who prepared bread out of wheat remove the hot, the cold, the moist, or the dry principle in it?; for the bread is consigned both to fire and to water, and is wrought with many things, each of which has its peculiar property and nature, some of which it loses, and with others it is diluted and mixed. (Chap. 13, p. 151)

The doctor does not cure simply by administering the element contrary to what apparently produced the disease. To heal, and to do so rationally, he must know the *dynamis* proper to each element or the combination or mixture of each of the components he administers to the human organism:

I cannot think in what manner they who advance this doctrine, and transfer Art from the cause I have described to hypothesis, will cure men according to the principle which they have laid down. For, as far as I know, neither the hot nor the cold, nor the dry, nor the moist, has ever been found unmixed with any other quality; but I suppose they use the same articles of meat and drink as all we other men do. But to this substance they give the attribute of being hot, to that cold, to that dry, and to that moist. Since it would be absurd to advise the patient to take something hot, for he would straightway ask what it is? So that he must either play the fool, or have recourse to some one of the well-known substances. (Chap. 15, p. 154).

What damages a man is not the dry, the wet, the hot, or the cold. What makes him sick is "the strength of everything" and "what may be excessive about it" (Chap. 14, p. 152). Then, the remedy that is needed for a disease is not simply to counteract a symptom with its opposite element. "Men do not have a fever simply because of the heat" (Chap. 17, p. 157). The author argues that the hot could heal or become ill depending on the active ingredients of the hot substance. In themselves, hot substances can have "active principles opposite each other" (Chap. 15, p. 155). It may happen that there are ills that are due to cold or heat without these being combined by any other quality.

In this case, they could be cured by the opposite element. But in the rest of the cases, the doctor must look for the cause of the disease in the active principles and in the mutual combination of the same (Chap. 19, pp. 158–159). Even more, he adds that "of all the active ingredients in the body, cold and heat are the least influence." Because "heat is balanced by cold and cold by heat" (Chap. 16, p. 155). The author begins to consider heat and cold as secondary active principles, while the acid, the salty, the sweet, and other humors, not defined in number, will be considered as basic principles.

Through various tests, testimonies, and comparisons, the author argues that ancient medicine is incapable of curing or giving a scientific or causal explanation of the disease. Instead he proposes to rethink the object of the medical art presenting the *dynamis* as the true causal explanation of the disease and health.

The powers of each, too, are great, and the one nowise like the other. Whoever pays no attention to these things, or is paying attention, does not comprehend them; how can he understand the diseases which befall a man? For, by every one of these things, a man is affected and changed this way or that, and the whole of his life is subjected to them, whether in health, convalescence, or disease. Nothing else, then, can be more important or more necessary to know than these things (Chap. 14, p. 152).

Here is the new object of medicine: the *dynamis* that each thing possesses and that is part of man by virtue of his own diet.

The term *dynamis* derives from the verb *dunamai* which means to affect. This verb can be substantiated as a quality, property, power, active principle. We will refer to it in this last sense insofar as it corresponds better to the idea of a simple and real entity, characterized by an activity that causes specific observable effects in the organism. The author recognizes qualities, such as heat or cold, as specific forces or abilities that affect the body. He understands *dynamis* as the characteristic movement of substances. Or conversely, the operational manifestation of these substances is recognized as their *dynamis*.

In Chap. 22, he writes: "By active principle I understand the maximum degree in intensity and strength of each one of the humors." This passage has opened among specialists the discussion about whether the author of our treatise presents the quantity or quality of humors as the new object of medicine. We believe that the notion of dynamis solves this dialectic by itself because it must be recognized as an active quality. Each thing has an operation, a specific behavior that is explained by virtue of its qualities and its morphological properties. Evidently, the greater the quantity of humors, the greater the intensity with which they operate their active principles. But the specific form of behavior or effect of a mood is determined by its qualities and not just by its quantity. The Hippocratic author does not establish a confrontation or dialectic between the quantitative or the qualitative. On the contrary, he establishes a true explanatory complementarity between these accidents.

The doctor must study the dynamics or virtue of the humors or of the disease because only then he will be able to discover the natural structure of the physis of the body which becomes the normative principle of his téchnê iatrikê. His therapeutic treatments consist of intervening respecting the order of nature. He must find out where he can intervene to help the natural process, directing it towards its healing. Hence, the author of our paper insists on presenting the dynamis as the true object of medicine. The doctor's task is not to understand human nature from its material origin but to infer the purpose of its development, that is, to study the dynamic development of the patient in order to achieve a healthy nature.

Now, this transition with respect to the object of medicine does not imply, at all, a prohibition or a renunciation of philosophical inquiry. On the contrary, in this new object, as we will see in the next point, the author seems to assume a causal model of scientific explanation that was later cataloged by philosophy as a more perfect way to interrogate about the world and *physis*. Namely, a model that requires accounting not only for the material constituents of the object but also for its own nature and behavior. The author of the writing not only does not distance himself from philosophy, but in his very criticism of the materialist philosophers, he assumes and incorporates a new philosophical approach.

About the Method or the Teleological Model of Scientific Explanation

Throughout the writing, the author argues that the doctor must study the *dynamis* of three elements, namely, food, the various humoral constitutions, and the structure of internal organs.

In Chap. 3, the author explains that the doctor must know the interaction between the fluids or humors present in different foods and beverages. The foods contain different humors – salty, bitter, acid, etc. – with their respective active ingredients. Well, the good doctor must indicate to his patient a temperate diet where these active principles balance each other. In Chap. 4, he explains that wine and cheese do not affect human beings in the same way. The effect of drinking a lot of wine is different from the effect of eating a lot of cheese. Medicine must know what the respective effects of each one are and how they are caused.

In Chap. 14, the author argues that the same body - like food - contains different fluids, substances, or humors which affect the body in a certain way. These individual differences in the physis are understood as differences in the humoral constitution, that is, as a difference in relation to the quality, strength, and quantity of humors in the body. The author insists on the need to study the *physis* or the *dynamis* of each of the individuals to assimilate the diet. It is due to the individual constitution of each patient, and their peculiar state of health requires special treatment in each case. To illustrate this type of knowledge, in Chaps. 5, 6, and 20, the author appeals to the variation that exists between different individuals. Cheese when eaten in large quantities is not harmful in the same way for everyone. While for some it is beneficial for others, it is harmful - he explains.

The author refers here to the *physis* in its condition of formal cause. He understands it as the principle by which everything is what it is. The universal nature is realized and concrete in each thing according to its own *physis*, determining the specific and individual constitution of each thing, namely, the different notes that make up its morphological peculiarity and its operative properties (*dynamis*). There is a *physis* of man as such – the human *physis* – and within the common or generic nature is that which corresponds to each individual. Human nature is diversified into several types: the male, the female, the child, the old, the bilious, etc.

Finally, in Chap. 22, the author emphasizes the need for the physician to know the dynamis of the internal organs. That is, the doctor must know the capacity of the organs according to their shape, consistency, or texture to affect and be affected by fluids and body air. However, in this chapter, the author is not concerned about the strictly anatomical, such as the structure and consistency of the organs. His attention is once again placed on the dynamis of the organs, that is, on its behaviors or response to the substances of the body. An example of this is that the author does not describe the internal movement of organic liquids as purely mechanical and inanimate movements. On the contrary, he refers to these with the concept of dynamis, meaning that there are biological movements that externalize or manifest the vitality of the physis.

The food, the organism, and the structure of the internal organs possess – to the understanding of the author – their own *dynamis*. All of them are capable of producing a certain physiological reaction in the human organism. The important thing for medicine is not to resolve the question about the material origin of human nature but to know what human nature is in relation to diet, habits, or anything that interferes with it. The doctor must know the qualities and active principles of each element, habit, or diet and the different responses that human nature may have in their individuality to these principles.

Wherefore it appears to me necessary to every physician to be skilled in nature, and strive to know, if he would wish to perform his duties, what man is in relation to the articles of food and drink, and to his other occupations, and what are the effects of each of them to everyone (Chap. 20, p. 162).

The one who possesses the authentic tèkhnê iatrikè focuses on the dynamic relations of interdependence that the part has with the whole. The doctor cannot limit himself to knowing, on the one hand, the dynamis of each of the humors and, on the other, the dynamis proper to human nature in its individuality together with the anatomical constitution of its internal organs. Its object is precisely at the intersection, in the combination and response of these factors (Chap. 24, p. 167). It must investigate not only the relationship that the humors reciprocally hold but also the influence exerted by each one of them in the organism. It must study how each part is ordered to what is convenient for the physis and how various active principles construct together more or less specific operative units with a common purpose that is or is not effective for health.

When replacing the object of medicine, the author is presenting -although perhaps in a tacit or implicit way – a new conception about what scientific explanation should be. It is not simply replacing the doctrine of the elements with the doctrine of humors. What he fundamentally changes is the causal question from which the object of medicine is analyzed. A disease, malaise, or illness must be explained - according to him – not so much by reference to material causes (such as the presence of pure elements in the diet and by the consequent administration of its opposite) but by reference to the proper ends that they determine the course and the effects they have on the organism according to its quality and quantity. The new model of medical explanation must replace the Ionic question about the Arjé (the question about the primordial constitutive elements of the universe) by question about the active principles or dynamis of the humors. In order to heal –says the author in Chap. 20– it is not important to answer the question of how (man) is formed and what is it composed of? but how do the foods and humors of the organism, and the internal organs behave reciprocally in relation to health?" – as it is said in Chap. 20 – but of "how do the foods and humors of the organism and the internal organs behave in a reciprocal way in relation to health?".

If we are allowed to go from a descriptive instance to a hermeneutical level, we can say that the concept of *dynamis* admits the presence of real ends in the *physis*. For if the *dynamis* is the strength of every food, humor, or organ to be able to do something, that something can only be defined in view of an end. Each humor, each organ moves towards an internal end to the very development of its form. Each one has its own mode of transformation by virtue of its form. The end of all *dynamis* is nothing but the actualization of a form. And, in this sense, end and form coincide.

From all this, it is inferred that each element corresponds to its own place, towards which it moves naturally. The *dynamis* proper to fire is to heat and the dynamis of water, to hydrate. The end of each entity is its own form. The movement of substances towards an end comes from the very development of their natures. In this way, nature operates as the internal principle of development and at the same time as the result or end of that movement. The *physis* has a *telos* that determines the path that must follow any natural process of the organism. This teleology is an intrinsic property of the structure of the internal organs and the humors of the body and food.

Certainly in numerous passages of Hippocratic treatises, *physis* is understood as the genetic principle of all natural things. The word *physis* has its root in the verb *phyein* which means to be born, to sprout, or to grow. In this sense, it is understood in its condition of Arjé or efficient and material cause of each of the things. However, since the first half of the fifth century – the time where our writing is historically contextualized – the word *physis* acquires another sense that is complementary to it. *Physis* is also understood as dynamic ordering to an end.

The teleological explanations are explanations about the existence of certain entities by virtue of what they do, that is, in terms of a purpose inherent to their processes and structures. In this sense, we believe that the treatise *On Ancient Medicine* complies with the basic structure of a teleological explanation. Now, this model of teleological explanation is what in our opinion is in contradiction with the empiricist or anti-philosophical hermeneutics that have been tested around this writing.

The doctor does not study an amorphous series of empirical facts, but the dynamic structure of the humors and the organs of the patient insofar as they are ordered or not to the health of the patient. Evidently this dynamis is not discovered from philosophical speculations about abstract and generic postulates (hypothesis). This manifests itself sensibly in the patient's symptoms. Hence, the author insists that the correct method of medical research is in attending to the aisthesis tou somatos, that is, to the sensation of the body. Understand well, the author does not refer with such an expression to the sensitive subjectivity of the doctor or - what would be even worse - to the sensitive subjectivity of the patient. The author refers to the application of the doctor's senses to the knowledge of the reality of the patient. For it is precisely the physician's senses that can perceive through the corporeal signs the patient's own dynamis, by virtue of which he studies the prognosis, the therapy, and the most appropriate medication.

Now, it would be a mistake to decontextualize this methodological slogan interpreting it as an anti-philosophical empiricism and forgetting that it is inserted in a writing that advocates a teleological conception regarding the *dynamis*. The methodology is certainly empirical because the object of medicine is manifested and must be sensibly perceived by the doctor.

However, we believe that this methodological slogan should be interpreted in continuity with the thesis that the author develops throughout his writing. That is, within the framework of his proposal of a teleological model of scientific explanation that involves by itself the philosophical questioning. His empiricism is not at all antimetaphysical. On the contrary, even if the *dynamis* is susceptible of empirical verification, the theoretical understanding of it is still informed by a particular metaphysical and epistemic conception of human physiology.

Conclusion

The treaty is not the claim of an empiricist against philosophy. On the contrary, it states the need for a new type of philosophical and epistemic reflection that seeks to define *physis* not so much because of its material origin but because of its formal or final causality. And this is far from claiming an independence of medicine with respect to philosophy; instead, it presupposes a deepening of the philosophical questioning as an integral part of the scientific discourse of medicine.

It should be noted that our author is not at all interested in creating a dialectic or dichotomy between two models of causal explanation (the teleological model and the explanation of material origin). He simply opens, as a new synthesis, a new explanatory model that deals particularly with the active principles of things. However, this model also assumes in its body of scientific explanation the possibility of also addressing the question about the material origin and the development of human nature. In Chap. 20, the author writes that such knowledge can be achieved over time through the study of medicine. Well, "only through medicine will it be possible to know something sure about nature." In this way, the teleological model of scientific explanation would seem to have a priority and the possibility of subsuming in a higher synthesis the explanations related to the material origin.

Through a new model of scientific explanation the author reinvents a new synthesis or relationship between medicine and philosophy. He presents a philosophical medicine that stops being a set of abstract and theoretical premises to become an empirical and finalist understanding of the same object and practice of medicine.

The novelty of the treatise *On Ancient Medicine* lies – in our understanding – not so much in the method but in the new causal definition that incorporates the scientific discourse of medicine. After all, the reader can only understand the scope of its methodological proposal insofar as he realizes the continuity and concordance that it has regarding the application of a new object and a new explanation model for medicine.

References

- Schiefsky M. On ancient medicine on the nature of human beings. In: van Der Eijk, editor. Hippocrates in context: papers read at the XIth International Hippocrates Colloquium. Brill: University of Newcastle upon Tyne; 2005.
- Dunn F. On ancient medicine and its intellectual context. In: van Der Eijk, editor. Hippocrates in context: papers read at the XIth International Hippocrates Colloquium. Brill: University of Newcastle upon Tyne; 2005.
- Nava L. Introducción al tratado Sobre la Medicina Antigua. In: Tratados Hipocráticos, vol. 1. Madrid: Gredos; 1983.
- Sobre la Medicina Antigua. Tratados Hipocráticos, vol. 1. Madrid: Gredos; 1983.

- Lloyd GER. Who is attacked in on ancient medicine? Phronesis. 1963;8(1):108–26.
- 6. Jones W. Philosophy and medicine in ancient Greece. Baltimore: John Hopkins Press; 1946.
- 7. Diller H. *Hippokratische Medizin* und *attische Philosophie*. Hermes. 1952;80:398–401.
- Kühn JH. System- und Methodenprobleme im Corpus Hippocraticum. Wiesbaden: Hermes Einzelschriften Heft 11; 1956.
- Miller H. On ancient medicine and the origin of medicine. TAPA. 1949;80:187–202.
- Miller H. Dynamis and physis in *on ancient medicine*. TAPA. 1952;83:184–97.
- Jaeger W. La medicina griega considerada como Paideia. In: Paideia. Los ideales de la cultura griega. México: Fondo de Cultura Económica; 1957.
- Laín Entralgo P. La curación por la palabra en la antigüedad clásica. Barcelona: Anthropos editorial; 2005.



Inserted Thoughts and the Higher-Order Thought Theory of Consciousness

Rocco J. Gennaro

Introduction

Various psychopathologies of self-awareness, such as somatoparaphrenia and thought insertion in schizophrenia, might seem to threaten the viability of the higher-order thought (HOT) theory of consciousness since it requires a HOT about one's own mental state to accompany every conscious state. The HOT theory of consciousness says that what makes a mental state a conscious mental state is that there is a HOT to the effect that "I am in mental state M" [1, 2]. In a previous publication, I argued that a HOT theorist can adequately respond to this concern with respect to somatoparaphrenia [3]. Somatoparaphrenia is a "depersonalization disorder" which is characterized by the sense of alienation from parts of one's body. It is a bizarre body delusion where one denies ownership of a limb or an entire side of one's body. My focus in this chapter, however, is on "inserted thoughts" which is a common symptom of schizophrenia, although it will be useful to compare and contrast it with somatoparaphrenia. Schizophrenia is a mental disorder which often manifests itself through auditory hallucinations, paranoid or bizarre delusions, or disorganized speech and thinking. Thought insertion is the delusion that some thoughts are not "one's

R. J. Gennaro (🖂)

University of Southern Indiana, Evansville, IN, USA e-mail: rjgennaro@usi.edu

own" in some sense or are somehow being inserted into one's mind by someone else. Stephens and Graham, for example, have suggested that thought insertion should be understood as alienated self-consciousness or meta-representation [4]. I will argue that HOT theory also has nothing to fear from this phenomenon and can account for what happens in this admittedly unusual case.

Somatoparaphrenia and HOT Theory

Somatoparaphrenia is a pathology of self characterized by the sense of alienation from parts of one's body. It is a very odd body delusion where one denies ownership of a limb or an entire side of one's body. It is thus sometimes called a "depersonalization disorder." Relatedly, anosognosia is a condition in which a person who suffers from a disability seems unaware of the existence of the disability. A person whose limbs are paralyzed will insist that his limbs are moving and will become upset when caregivers say that they are not. Somatoparaphrenia is usually caused by extensive right-hemisphere lesions. Lesions in the temporoparietal junction are common in somatoparaphrenia, but deep cortical regions (e.g., the posterior insula) and subcortical regions (e.g., the basal ganglia) are also sometimes implicated [5]. Anton's syndrome is a form of

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_7

anosognosia in which a person with partial or total blindness denies being visually impaired. The patient engages in rationalization in order to account for the inability to see. Patients with somatoparaphrenia utter some rather stunning statements, such as "parts of my body feel as if they didn't belong to me" and "when a part of my body hurts, I feel so detached from the pain that it feels as if it were somebody else's pain" [6].

There has been some question as to whether or not the higher-order thought (HOT) theory of consciousness can account for the depersonalization psychopathology of somatoparaphrenia. Liang and Lane argue that it cannot [7]. The HOT theory of consciousness says that what makes a mental state a conscious mental state is that it is the target of a HOT to the effect that "I am in mental state M" (see Fig. 7.1). When the HOT itself is unconscious, the conscious state is still outer-directed. When the HOT is conscious, we have *introspection*, and so the conscious thought is directed at the mental state [8].

HOT theory has been critically examined in light of some psychopathologies because the theory says what makes a mental state conscious is a HOT of the form that "*I* am in mental state M." The requirement of an I-reference leads some to think that HOT theory cannot explain some of these "depersonalization" pathologies. There would then seem to be cases where I can have a conscious state but attribute it to someone else. The "I" in the HOT is not only importantly *selfreferential* but essential in tying the conscious state to *oneself* and thus to one's *ownership* of M.

Rosenthal responds that one can be aware of bodily sensations in two ways that, normally at least, go together: (1) aware of a bodily sensation *as one's own* and (2) aware of a bodily sensation *as having some bodily location*, like a hand or foot [9]. Patients with somatoparaphre-



nia still experience the sensation as their own but also as having a mistaken bodily location. Such patients still do have the awareness in (1), which is the main issue at hand, but they also have the strange awareness in sense (2). So somatoparaphrenia leads some people to misidentify the bodily location of a sensation as someone else's even though the awareness of the sensation itself remains one's own. But Lane and Liang are not satisfied and, among other things, counter that Rosenthal has still not explained why the identification of the *bearer* of the pain cannot also go astray [10].

I have replied that we can go further than Rosenthal in defending HOT theory [3, p. 57–8]. First, we must remember that many of these patients often deny feeling anything in the limb in question [11]. As even Liang and Lane point out, patient FB, while blindfolded, feels no tactile sensation when the examiner would in fact touch the dorsal surface of FB's hand. In these cases, it is therefore difficult to see what the problem is for HOT theory at all. Second, when there really is a bodily sensation of some kind, a HOT theorist might also argue that there are really two conscious states that seem to be at odds. There is a conscious feeling in a limb but also the (conscious) attribution of the limb to someone else. It is crucial to emphasize that somatoparaphrenia is often characterized as a *delusion* of *belief* often under the broader category of anosognosia [12, 13]. A delusion is often defined as a false belief that is held based on an incorrect (and probably unconscious) inference about external reality or oneself that is firmly sustained despite what almost everyone else believes and despite what constitutes incontrovertible and obvious proof or evidence to the contrary [14, 15]. Beliefs, generally speaking, are themselves often taken to be intentional states integrated with other beliefs and mental states. They are typically understood as caused by perceptions or experiences which then lead to action or behavior. Thus, somatoparaphrenia is much closer to self-deception and involves frequent confabulation. If this is a reasonable interpretation of the data, then a HOT theorist can argue that the patient has the following two conscious states:

- S1: a conscious *feeling* (i.e., a tactile sensation) in the limb in question, and
- S2: a conscious *belief* that the limb (and thus sensation) belongs to someone else.

Having both S1 and S2, especially if conscious at any given time, is indeed strange and perhaps even self-contradictory in some sense, but the puzzlement has nothing to do with HOT theory.

A similar critique of self-representationalism [16] based on somatoparaphrenia might also be posed to what Billon and Kriegel call "subjectivity theories" which say that "there is something it is like for a subject to have mental state M only if M is characterized by a certain sense of 'mineness' or 'for-me-ness.' Such theories appear to face certain psychopathological counterexamples: patients appear to report conscious experiences that lack this subjective element" [17]. Patients with somatoparaphrenia seem to be cases where one has a conscious state without the "for-me-ness" aspect and thus not experienced as one's own [7, 18]. However, Billon and Kriegel counter that "none of the patients that we know of claim feeling sensations that are not theirs. Rather, they say that they feel touch in someone else's limb. This does not yet imply that they feel sensations that are not their own -- unless it is analytic that one cannot feel one's sensations but in one's own body, which we have phenomenological and empirical reasons to deny" [19]. Again, many disorders, including somatoparaphrenia, involve delusion or self-deception. A delusion is distinct from a belief based on incorrect or incomplete information, poor memory, illusion, or other effects of perception. Selfdeception is a process of denying or rationalizing away the relevance, significance, or importance of opposing evidence and logical argument. Selfdeception involves convincing oneself of a truth (or lack of truth) so that one does not reveal any self-knowledge of the deception. Delusions have certainly received extensive treatment from philosophers in recent years, sometimes in connection with self-deception [20-22].

Liang and Lane tell us that "what seems to be happening is that these tactile sensations are *represented as belonging to someone other than* *self*" [7, p. 664], and that is problematic for HOT theory. But this is at best highly ambiguous because another way to represent sensations as belonging to someone else is via a propositional attitude such as a belief. And there would be no problem for HOT theory, as such, as to whether or not these patients can have the conscious belief in S2. That is, a patient with somatoparaphrenia would still represent that *belief* and report it as her own. Still, Lane is not satisfied with these responses [18].

Thought Insertion and Schizophrenia

Another much discussed depersonalization disorder can be found in those with schizophrenia, which is a mental disorder characterized by disintegration of thought processes and emotional responsiveness. It most commonly manifests itself as auditory hallucinations, paranoid or bizarre delusions, or disorganized speech and thinking, and it is accompanied by significant social dysfunction. Thought insertion, a common symptom of schizophrenia, is the delusion that some thoughts are not one's own and are somehow being inserted into one's mind. In some particularly severe forms of schizophrenia, the patient seems to lose the ability to have an integrated or "unified" experience of her world and self. The person often speaks in an incoherent fashion and is unable to act on simple plans of action.

Stephens and Graham suggest that thought insertion should be understood as alienated selfconsciousness or meta-representation [4]. They think that schizophrenics make introspective inferential mistakes about the source of inserted thoughts based on delusional background beliefs. Some bodily movements can of course be movements of *my* limbs without counting as *actions of mine* or as caused by me. Perhaps someone else is controlling my movements, or perhaps they are entirely involuntary such as the physical tics and vocalizations in Tourette's syndrome. Another relevant disorder is anarchic hand syndrome which is a neurological disorder in which individuals frequently perform seemingly voluntary movements that they do not consciously intend and cannot directly inhibit. But in these cases the bodily movements are still self-attributed to the person with the disorder, so something else must be going on to explain attributions to others in thought insertion. If a song spontaneously runs through my mind, I still think of it as an episode in my mind. But it may not count as my mental activity in the same way as when I am thinking through a math problem or trying to plan a trip. The latter, but not the former, involves intentional thought that expresses my agency. There seems to be something special going on when I consciously engage in some activity which involves mental effort and voluntariness. Stephens and Graham call the feeling of having a mental state the "sense of subjectivity" and the feeling of causing my mental state the "sense of agency." They urge that these two can come apart in unusual cases so that thought insertion involves the sense of subjectivity without the sense of agency, which accounts for the curious "passivity experience" of schizophrenics. So attributing thoughts to someone else under these circumstances does make some sense since the mental state must be caused by something or someone (see also [23–25] for much more on the above line of thought).

Gallagher makes a similar distinction between a "sense of ownership" and a "sense of agency" [26] but, in contrast to Stephens and Graham's "top-down" approach, argues instead that the primary deficit regarding thought insertion is more of a "bottom-up" problem with the first-person experience itself rather than a self-monitoring abnormality. What happens at the introspective level is not erroneous but rather a correct report of what the schizophrenic actually experiences, that is, thoughts that feel different and externally caused. Gallagher also points to some preliminary neurological evidence which indicates abnormalities in the right inferior parietal cortex for delusions of control and ownership.

It is worth mentioning again that in the background is the related issue of whether or not there is "pre-reflective," or implicit, self-consciousness in all conscious states, which is often associated with a so-called sense of ownership or sense of mineness [27-29]. According to selfrepresentationalism, for example, a fundamental aspect of all conscious experiences is that they seem to be *mine*. In being aware of any thought, action, perceptual experience, memory, or bodily experience, I am aware of it as being my own. Perhaps this is one reason why it seems difficult to understand how one could attribute a pain as located in another's body or a thought caused by someone else or even located in another's mind. Perhaps a sense of ownership explains why some mental states seem to be "immune to error through misidentification," that is, impossible to be mistaken about with regard to mental state ownership (more on this below). Perhaps lacking this sense of ownership in abnormal cases can explain the odd and delusional thinking in such rare cases.

But even within the context of an implicit account of self-consciousness in experience (or a "sense of ownership"), there is significant disagreement between robust and deflationary accounts. For example, Zahavi and Kriegel defend a more robust understanding of the sense of ownership as a distinct aspect of the phenomenal character of all conscious states and as a necessary feature of all experience. By contrast, Bermúdez argues in favor of a deflationary account of the sense of ownership over one's own body, according to which it consists in nothing more than the phenomenology of the spatial location of bodily sensations together with our tendency to judge the body in which they occur to be our own [30]. So perhaps there is no "sense" of ownership which accompanies all conscious states.

I have used something like this line of response against Ford and Smith's argument in favor of the so-called "self-representationalist" theory of consciousness, whereby first-order conscious states are always accompanied by an inner-directed peripheral conscious awareness [31]. Ford and Smith contend that cases of depersonalization show that something like Kriegel's view is correct. But again, just because the removal of something – for example, normal proprioception – causes deficits in one's conscious mental states, it surely does not follow that the awareness of that thing is part of normal conscious experience. The relation could be causal instead of constitutive. That is, the typical abilities and awareness in question might merely, in the normal case, causally contribute to the phenomenology of one's conscious mental states without being part of the conscious state itself. There are many ways that normal consciousness can be disturbed or impaired (e.g., being unable to breathe), but surely we shouldn't conclude that every such disturbance shows that the ability in question normally shows up regularly in our phenomenology [2, p. 127–9]. (See [32] for another deflationary account from an Eastern philosophical viewpoint.)

Notice that this fits nicely with HOT theory, which can explain why there is a phenomenological sense of myness when one *introspects*, namely, that the HOT is itself conscious, whereas no such sense is present when one has an unconscious HOT. The concept "I" is part of a conscious thought in the introspective case but part of an unconscious thought in the first-order case. Nonetheless, it is certainly true that when there is a disturbance or abnormality in one's I-concept, such as one's bodily representation, one's consciousness will be altered and result in some odd feelings of body disownership (or thought disownership for that matter). But, like Bermúdez, I do not find it compelling to argue that if a deficit of bodily awareness is manifested in consciousness, then that aspect of bodily awareness is always or even normally part of our consciousness.

Thought Insertion and HOT Theory

The puzzle of thought insertion is thus perhaps somewhat analogous to what we have seen with respect to somatoparaphrenia. For example, just as we might distinguish between experiencing a sensation as one's own as opposed to its *bodily location* in patients with somatoparaphrenia, so we might distinguish between experiencing a thought as one's own as opposed to its *causal origin* in patients with schizophrenia. Those with somatoparaphrenia attribute a limb and/or a sensation to someone else, whereas some schizophrenics attribute thoughts (or at least their causal origin) to someone else. If this analogy is correct, then a HOT theorist might argue that the schizophrenic patient has (at least) the following *two* conscious states:

S1: a conscious *thought* in one's own mind, andS2: a conscious *belief* that the thought has been inserted by someone else.

Having both S1 and S2, especially if both are conscious at any given time, is indeed strange and perhaps even irrational in some sense, but the puzzlement again has nothing to do with HOT theory. In S1, we can suppose that the patient has a HOT about her own thought, i.e., she is aware of the mental state as occurring in her mind. In S2, the patient also has a conscious belief that S1 has been inserted into her mind by someone else. Once again, and analogous to somatoparaphrenia, there is an essentially delusional element involved in schizophrenia and inserted thoughts. Why or how it is that S2 is generated is of course interesting in its own right. For example, as Stephens and Graham believe, perhaps the best explanation is indeed that it is inferred from a lack of sense of agency (or "passivity" experience) or perhaps it is inferred from a perceived lack of causal origin. But none of these explanations cause trouble specifically for HOT theory's ability to explain S1. Just as HOT theory says about all conscious states, when a patient is aware of having a (firstorder) conscious thought, there is a HOT about that thought. Once again, we must also recognize the delusional element involved in S2. There are of course situations where those with thought insertion might even realize that they have come to believe contradictory things based on their abnormal experiences [33].

It would again be highly ambiguous if Liang and Lane were to say that inserted thoughts are "represented as belonging to someone else" as if that is problematic for HOT theory. This is partly because another way to represent such thoughts as belonging to someone else is via a propositional attitude such as a belief. And there would be no problem for HOT theory, as such, as to whether or not these patients have the conscious belief in S2. That is, a schizophrenic patient with thought insertion would still represent *that belief* as her own while still having S1.

In some ways, then, I am somewhat sympathetic with Parrott's account of thought insertion [34]. Parrott first notes that prevailing views in philosophy and cognitive science tend to characterize the experience of thought insertion as missing or lacking some element, such as a "sense of agency," found in ordinary first-person awareness of one's own thoughts. However, in another sense, it might be that rather than lacking something, experiences of thought insertion have an additional feature not present in ordinary conscious experiences of one's own thoughts. So thought insertion consists of two distinct elements: a state of ordinary first-person awareness of a thought and the thought that this state of awareness is highly unusual. The latter leads via delusional thinking and inferential reasoning to the belief noted above in S2. So it is really the additional S2 which creates most of the puzzle.

Smith makes a further distinction and explains that "we might...wish to make a three-way distinction between the sense of *agency* (the sense that one is the *author* of a mental state), the sense of ownership (the sense that one is the owner of a mental state), and what we might call the sense of location (the sense that a mental state is located within one's own mind). The sense of location might be understood as being possessed if one is aware of a mental state in the ordinary way, i.e., introspectively. Crucial, it would seem, for evaluating the significance of thought insertion and related cases...will be determining which, if any, of the senses of agency, ownership, or location remain intact" [35]. Smith notes that it might be argued that what such patients retain is in fact the sense of location, rather than the sense of ownership. That is, it may be possible to take their descriptions at face value when they deny, in thought insertion, for example, that the thoughts are their own (or were thought by them) while still accepting that the inserted thought occurs within the boundary of their own mind. The explicit mention of location is reminiscent of

patients with somatoparaphrenia who arguably still experience the sensation as their own but also as having a mistaken bodily location, as Rosenthal had initially urged.

One difficulty of course is how literally to take reports of patients with schizophrenic inserted thoughts. Should we take them at face value or at least treat them with some skepticism given the delusional aspect in question? Consider, for example, some statements of those suffering from thought insertion. Frith quotes one patient as saying that "thoughts are put into my mind like 'kill God'...They come from this chap, Chris," but then the patient says that "they are his [Chris'] thoughts" [23, p. 66] which is a further stronger claim. So there is also some ambiguity in patient first-person reports. In a standard textbook on the topic, we are told that "in thought alienation [i.e. thought insertion] the patient has the experience that...others are participating in his thinking" [36]. It is difficult to know when to take such patients literally, but it does also seem that they sometimes report that the inserted thoughts themselves are someone else's.

Thus, let us go further and consider the following three statements in this context:

(1) I am having (experiencing) a conscious thought T, but it was inserted into me by someone else.

In (1), we might say that the location is in my mind, the ownership is mine, but the origin is elsewhere.

(2) I am having (experiencing) a conscious thought T, but it is in another's mind.

For (2), we might say that it is my ownership but not my location or origin.

(3) I am having (experiencing), or "aware of" in some sense, someone else's conscious thought T.

In (3), it seems that T is actually someone else's thought and so that even my ownership appears to be in doubt. The thought is "in my mind" in some sense (location), but I also think of it as someone else's, perhaps analogous to having someone else's furniture in my house. The notion of "ownership" might also sometimes be confused with location because there is a sense in which location would normally imply ownership. Is it "my chair" if I am renting a furnished house? Well, yes and no. Is it "my chair" if I have someone else's chair temporarily in my house? Well, yes and no. Grammatically, there can also be some confusion or ambiguity. When I say that I am home sitting in "my chair," it would perhaps be more accurate to say that I am sitting in a chair that is in my house.

Still, with regard to (1)-(3), it would seem that there is still at least a grammatical reference to oneself, and thus at least some sense of ownership, in each case. For one thing, each starts with "I am having (experience)...." This is especially clear with respect to (1) and (2) and clearly reflects the typical content of a HOT, that is, something like "I am in M" or "I am aware of M" or "I am experiencing M," as we have seen. Even in (2), the additional and puzzling belief that T is in another's mind can be the result of delusional reasoning as described above with respect to S2 earlier. Still, there is nothing in (2) itself which automatically rules out my ownership. At most, perhaps the location and perceived origin is different or unusual. It may of course be false or delusional to think so, but that is a different matter and does not threaten HOT theory.

In addition, the more radical notion that "I am having a thought that is in your mind" is perhaps not impossible in some hypothetical or empirical instances. For example, if telepathy is real (or just possible), perhaps person A can cause person B to have certain thoughts, or it is possible for person B to gain access to some of person A's thoughts. Hirstein goes further and describes in some detail how what he calls "mindmelding" might be empirically possible [37]. He argues that it is indeed possible for one person to directly experience the conscious states of another. This would involve making just the right connections between two peoples' brains. He then considers the consequences of the possibility that what appeared to be a wall of privacy can actually be breached. In line with the analogy above, I might also say that I am sitting in "my chair" but in "your house" in a case where I have lent you my chair temporarily.

Relatedly, Langland-Hassan discusses an actual case of craniopagus twins - twins conjoined at the head and brain - where each twin seems to know what the other is seeing or feeling, and perhaps even thinking, in a way others cannot [38]. Interestingly, each twin (Krista and Tatiana Hogan) would seem to know these things through introspection. Perhaps the twins can introspect the same shared mental state, that is, have a kind of mental state co-ownership. If this is granted as a possibility, then mental state ownership need not be understood as an either-or matter. Perhaps the typical underlying assumption that each mental state only has one owner is false in some admittedly rare and bizarre circumstances. These considerations would also help to make sense of (3) above. Perhaps I can experience someone else's thought T, but T is also my thought because we can co-own T (and so T is still in my mind, in some sense). Alternatively, Langland-Hassan considers the more radical possibility that one person may be said to be introspectively aware of only another's mental state.

There are also numerous other very strange and related delusions discussed in the literature, such as Cotard syndrome where people hold a delusional belief that they are dead (either figuratively or literally), do not exist, are putrefying, or have lost their blood or internal organs [39]. But notice that even here the statement that "I think I don't exist" or "I think I'm dead" still at least contains an initial reference to oneself (as a grammatical fact). It seems to me that there must always be some reference to oneself when expressing any kind of thought or belief (even if delusional, irrational, or self-contradictory in some other way). But this is precisely what leads to a contradiction. Imagine: "Who thinks that you don't exist?" Answer: "I do"? "Who is dead?" Answer: "I am"? Again, perhaps this is a misleading way of speaking, but the same might be true of many patient reports.

In all the above cases, there is a conscious thought which can be explained by a HOT theorist in the usual way, but there is *another* belief or thought which contradicts the first one or is delusional in some other way. It is also very important to recognize that HOT theory comes with a wellknown noninferentiality condition, such that a HOT must become aware of its target mental state noninferentially, that is, in an unmediated way. As Rosenthal repeatedly emphasizes, the point of this condition is mainly to rule out certain alleged counterexamples to HOT theory, such as cases where I become aware of my unconscious desire to kill my boss because I have consciously inferred it from a session with my psychiatrist, or where my envy becomes conscious after making inferences based on my own behavior. The characteristic feel of such a conscious desire or envy may be absent in these cases, but since awareness of them arose via conscious inference, the HOT theorist accounts for them by adding this noninferentiality condition. Thus, HOT theory requires that the HOT arises in an unmediated manner. This is also important in this context because if there is any kind of inference to a belief, such as in S2, then the HOT would not arise in the requisite manner. Also, and perhaps more importantly, using inference and reasoning to become aware of a mental state is much more likely to occur via introspection, that is, by consciously thinking about one's own mental states. This, in turn, increases the likelihood that delusional thinking will generate further false beliefs. Another way to think of this is that there is "introspective access" to a mental state M which involves a kind of "ownership" as well. Normally, at least, M is assumed to be mine in the sense that it is the object of my introspection. In cases of thought insertion, however, the patient sometimes seems to be calling that assumption into doubt.

Immunity to Error Through Misidentification (IEM)

I mentioned above the much-discussed "immunity to error through misidentification" (IEM) principle [40]. According to Shoemaker, a certain subset of thoughts about oneself is immune to error through misidentification [41]. As Shoemaker makes clear, one can think about oneself under any number of descriptions. But only some I-thoughts are immune to error through misidentification - namely, those I-thoughts that are directed at one's mind and mental life, as opposed to one's body and corporeal life. Wittgenstein observed that I can see in the mirror a tangle of arms and mistakenly take the nicest one to be mine [42]. I may think to myself, "I have a nice arm." In that case, I may be wrong not only about whether my arm is nice but also about who it is that has a nice arm. Such an I-thought about my body (or body part) is not immune to error through misidentification. In extreme abnormal cases, such as in mirror selfmisidentification, one might even believe that one's own reflection in a mirror is some other person. However, one cannot be mistaken that it is I who is having the experience in question. I cannot be mistaken that I am perceiving the reflection in the mirror. In a sense, then, I can be wrong about what my mental state is directed at (the object) but not about who is having the mental state in the first place (the subject).

Let us return to the above statements (1)-(3):

- I am having (experiencing) a conscious thought T, but it was inserted into me by someone else.
- (2) I am having (experiencing) a conscious thought T, but it is in another's mind.
- (3) I am having (experiencing), or "aware of" in some sense, someone else's conscious thought T.

Recall that HOT theory has been critically examined in light of some psychopathologies because, according to HOT theory, what makes a mental state conscious is a HOT of the form that "I am in mental state M." The requirement of an I-reference leads some to think that HOT theory cannot explain these "depersonalization" pathologies. There would seem to be cases where I can have a conscious state but attribute it to someone else or possibly even introspect another's mental state. Thought insertion seems to threaten HOT theory because it contradicts the notion that the accompanying HOT is "I am in mental state M." Recall that Lane and Liang protest that Rosenthal has still not explained why the identification of the bearer of the pain cannot also go astray in somatoparaphrenia, especially since Rosenthal clearly holds that misrepresentation can occur between a HOT and its target. But whatever one thinks of standard cases of misrepresentation between the first-order and second-order level on HOT theory, it is not clearly relevant here because those abnormal cases involve differences in the *contents* of the two respective states. Although Lane and Liang claim that there should be equally the possibility of a mismatch between the "T" in the HOT and the "T" in the first-order mental state, it is unclear how this could be so.

Notice again that (1), (2), and (3) still all start with what Wittgenstein called the "I-as-subject" and thus there seems to be some kind of minimal sense of "ownership" which remains even in the most extreme cases of thought insertion. This minimal sense can be the extent to which a HOT theorist allows for a HOT that "I am in mental state M" with regard to S1 even if the patient also has another delusional conscious state which runs counter to S2. Wittgenstein usefully distinguished between the "I-as-subject" (e.g., "I have a pain") and the "I-as-object" ("I have a broken arm"). Crucially, however, there is never an I-asobject in the *content* of the *first-order* conscious state, but there is an implicit (and unconscious) I-as-subject at the second-order level as well as an I-as-object in a typical HOT. According to HOT theory, there would only be an I-as-subject concept in a first-order state, whereas the content of the state refers to the outer world. This would be a kind of "raw bearer" of the state, as Rosenthal calls it [43]. After all, if we assume that any mental state must have a bearer, then even first-order states should involve some primitive concept of I. The same is true for the unconscious HOT that accompanies a first-order conscious state, but here there is *also* an I-as-object referenced in the content of the HOT (i.e., "I think that I am in M"). Still, these I-concepts are normally parts of unconscious thoughts, and so there is little reason to suppose that there is any phenomenological sense of "myness" in these cases. However, when one introspects and has a conscious HOT directed at a mental state, there is not only a conscious I-as-subject concept but also a *conscious* I-asobject concept in the content of the HOT that may account for any subjective sense of myness. Further, there would be no mismatch between an I-as-object in the content of a mental state M and its HOT because there isn't an I-as-object concept at all in the *content* of M itself. (Caruso also presents an interesting discussion of thought insertion and IEM in the context of HOT theory. I do agree with him that the overall sense of mental state "ownership," to the extent that there is one, comes more from our ability to *introspect* our mental states [44]).

Seeger also discusses IEM and several psychopathologies including somatoparaphrenia and thought insertion [45]. He is very careful to clarify and define some of the claims at issue. For example, he describes the "Self-Awareness Thesis" as the claim that "if one is introspectively aware of a mental state, then one is necessarily aware of that state as one's own state" but then convincingly argues that the selfawareness thesis is not quite the same as what he calls "The Immunity Thesis" which says that "if one self-ascribes a state of which one is introspectively aware, then that state is one's own state." So it may be that thought insertion is a counterexample to the self-awareness thesis but not to the immunity thesis since, as we saw in the previous section, the schizophrenic patient may indeed assert that an introspected thought is someone else's. Seeger explains that the pathologies show that it is possible to be introspectively aware of a mental state without self-ascribing it. However, when a patient does self-ascribe an introspected thought, the thought must be his own. Self-awareness and self-ascription can come apart in unusual circumstances. In any case, my main concern here is that thought insertion is not a threat to HOT theory as opposed to arguing for a particular preferred definition of IEM.

In any case, I conclude overall that HOT theory can withstand the alleged threat from the phenomenon of thought insertion in a way somewhat analogous to somatoparaphrenia. Indeed, I think that HOT theory can even help to explain what happens in these cases, especially when one is clear about the nature of delusions and is careful about the concepts in question, such as the complex nature of self-awareness and the more subtle details of HOT theories. It is important to recognize the difference between the content of firstorder mental states and the content of HOTs (including introspective states).

References

- Rosenthal D. Consciousness and mind. New York: Oxford University Press; 2005.
- Gennaro R. The consciousness paradox: consciousness, concepts, and higher-order thoughts. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press; 2012.
- Gennaro R. Somatoparaphrenia, anosognosia, and higher-order thoughts. In: Gennaro R, editor. Disturbed consciousness: new essays on psychopathology and theories of consciousness. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press; 2015.
- Stephens G, Graham G. When self-consciousness breaks: alien voices and inserted thoughts. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press; 2000.
- Vallar G, Ronchi R. Somatoparaphrenia: a body delusion: a review of the neuropsychological literature. Exp Brain Res. 2009;192:533–51.
- Sierra M, Berrios G. The Cambridge depersonalisation scale: a new instrument for the measurement of depersonalisation. Psychiatry Res. 2000;93:153–64, p. 160, 163
- Liang L, Lane T. Higher-order thought and pathological self: the case of somatoparaphrenia. Analysis. 2009;69:661–8.
- Rosenthal D. A theory of consciousness. In: Block N, Flanagan O, Güzeldere G, editors. The nature of consciousness. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 1997.
- Rosenthal D. Consciousness, the self and bodily location. Analysis. 2010;70:270–6.
- Lane T, Liang C. Mental ownership and higher-order thought. Analysis. 2010;70:496–501.
- Bottini G, Bisiach E, Sterzi R, Vallar G. Feeling touches in someone else's hand. Neuroreport. 2002;13:249–52.
- Breen N, Caine D, Coltheart M, Hendy J, Roberts C. Towards an understanding of delusions of misidentification: four case studies. Mind Lang. 2000;15:74–110.
- Feinberg T. Neuropathologies of the self: clinical and anatomical features. Conscious Cogn. 2011;20:75–81.
- Bortolotti L. Delusions and other irrational beliefs. New York: Oxford University Press; 2009.
- Radden J. On delusion. Abingdon/New York: Routledge; 2010.
- Kriegel U. Subjective consciousness. New York: Oxford University Press; 2009.

- Billon A, Kriegel U. Jaspers' dilemma: the psychopathological challenge to subjectivity theories of consciousness. In: Gennaro R, editor. Disturbed consciousness: new essays on psychopathology and theories of consciousness. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press; 2015. p. 29.
- Lane T. Self, belonging, and conscious experience: a critique of subjectivity theories of consciousness. In: Gennaro R, editor. Disturbed consciousness: new essays on psychopathology and theories of consciousness. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press; 2015.
- Billon A, Kriegel U. Jaspers' dilemma: the psychopathological challenge to subjectivity theories of consciousness. In: Gennaro R, editor. Disturbed consciousness: new essays on psychopathology and theories of consciousness. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press; 2015. p. 37.
- Hirstein W. Brain fiction: self-deception and the riddle of confabulation. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 2005.
- Bayne T, Fernandez J, editors. Delusion and selfdeception: Psychology Press; 2009.
- 22. Pliushch I, Metzinger T. Self-deception and the dolphin model of cognition. In: Gennaro R, editor. Disturbed consciousness: new essays on psychopathology and theories of consciousness. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press; 2015.
- Frith C. The cognitive neuropsychology of schizophrenia. East Sussex: Psychology Press; 1992.
- Bortolotti L, Broome M. A role for ownership and authorship in the analysis of thought insertion. Phenomenol Cogn Sci. 2009;8:205–24.
- Parnas J, Sass L. Bodily awareness and selfconsciousness. In: Gallagher S, editor. The Oxford handbook of the self. New York: Oxford University Press; 2011.
- 26. Gallagher S. Agency, ownership, and alien control in schizophrenia. In: Zahavi D, Grunbaum T, Parnas J, editors. The structure and development of self-consciousness: interdisciplinary perspectives. Amsterdam and Philadelphia: John Benjamins; 2004.
- 27. de Vignemont F. The mark of bodily ownership. Analysis. 2013;73:643–51.
- Billon A. Does consciousness entail subjectivity? The puzzle of thought insertion. Philos Psychol. 2013;26:291–314.
- 29. Zahavi D, Kriegel U. For-Me-Ness: what it is and what it is not. In: Dahlstrom D, Elpidorou A, Hopp

W, editors. Philosophy of mind and phenomenology. Rowman/Littlefield: Routledge Press; 2015.

- Bermudez J. Bodily awareness and selfconsciousness. In: Gallagher S, editor. Oxford handbook of the self. New York: Oxford University Press; 2011. p. 161–6.
- Ford J, Smith DW. Consciousness, self, and attention. In: Kriegel U, Williford K, editors. Selfrepresentational approaches to consciousness. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 2006.
- Chadha M. No-self and the phenomenology of ownership. Australas J Philos. 2018;96:14–27.
- 33. de Haan S, de Bruin L. Reconstructing the minimal self, or how to make dense of agency and ownership. Phenomenol Cogn Sci. 2010;9:373–96, p. 385.
- Parrott M. Subjective misidentification and thought insertion. Mind and Language. 2017;32:39–64.
- Smith, Joel. "Self-Consciousness". The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy (Fall 2017 Edition), Edward N. Zalta (ed.), https://plato.stanford.edu/ archives/fall2017/entries/self-consciousness/, p. 12.
- Fish F, Hamilton M. Fish's clinical psychopathology. Bristol: John Wright; 1985. p. 49.
- Hirstein W. Mindmelding: consciousness, neuroscience, and the mind's privacy. New York: Oxford University Press; 2012.
- Langland-Hassan P. Introspective misidentification. Philos Stud. 2015;172:1737–58.
- 39. Billon A. Making sense of the Cotard Syndrome: insights from the study of depersonalisation. Mind and Language. 2016;31:356–91.
- Prosser S, Recanati F e. Immunity to error through misidentification: new essays. Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press; 2012.
- Shoemaker S. Self-reference and self-awareness. J Philos. 1968;65:555–67.
- Wittgenstein L. The blue and brown books. 2nd ed. Oxford: Blackwell; 1958/1969.
- Rosenthal D. Awareness and identification of self. In: Liu J, Perry J, editors. Consciousness and the self: new essays. Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press; 2012.
- Caruso G. Free will and consciousness. Rowman/ Littlefield: Lexington Press; 2012, ch. 7.
- Seeger M. Immunity and self-awareness. Philosophers' Imprint. 2015;15(17):1–19, p. 10, 13–14.



Relationship Between Body and Soul According to Saint Thomas: An Obsolete Issue?

Francisco Rego

Position of the problem:

"Professor, what is the soul?", asked a fourth year high school student at the beginning of the class.

"To begin with," I started to answer, "It is about a reality of spiritual order whose existence and nature can be known through its effects..."

"A reality of spiritual order?" interrupted the student in an exultant and sharp manner, "Then, it does not exist!"

As seen in the above dialogue, it seems that, at least nowadays, a time of essentially material urgencies and needs, to speak about a relationship between body and soul, was an open nonsense, only belonging to a mind whose clock, now rusty, stopped beyond repair in the past, because the question now asked is the very existence of one of the terms of the relationship searched for in the present paper. Then, what relationship are we talking about if the soul, truly, does not exist? Then it is clear that under that tight materialistic premise which in advance denies the very existence of the soul, the issue should be reduced to no longer establish the relationship between body and soul in the heart of human nature but between the body and certain phenomena which could be considered, if it were the case, as a mere collateral or residual manifestation of brain processes ruled by laws and principles of purely organic character.

All things considered, a so-called materialistic explanation about a subject that, in spite of its old age, it is still present among the specialists of all times would give way to an urgent question of the following tone: Is it reasonable to suppose that only the reality of that presented under the light of the empirically observable can be admitted? Of course, that is the way the representatives of the scientist and materialistic currents understand it because they depart from assumptions that cannot give way to another conclusion. But if we accept this premise, would we have to deny the realities which are not seen at first sight like life, health, illness, pain, or inner acts like knowing, believing, waiting, or loving? How could the life of living people be explained? It is the case of mental facts like thinking, understanding, loving, being aware, and deciding. Should they be understood like forms derived from processes of purely organic character? And what explanation should there be for experiences such as the conscience of moral responsibility and the search for wellness, truth, and justice? What about acts of self-denial and heroism in extreme situations? If the existence of the soul is denied, what would be left of the human being and under what foundation could his universally admitted dignity be defended?

In spite of the opinion of materialistic thinkers, from ancient times, the soul was understood as the principle of life, and far from restricting its activity to purely vegetative and sentient

F. Rego (🖂)

Universidad Nacional de Cuyo, Mendoza, Argentina

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_8

functions, it was extended to the rational field as well [1]. For better understanding, see what happens to a tree leaf, when at the end of its cycle of life, it falls and changes color from bright green to grey and turns brittle. It happens because it is a leaf deprived of life. And the same thing happens with the human body when it stops having the vital impulse of its own soul, initiating an irreversible corruption process.

This is a point of view that gives way to the reasonableness of the human existence and to the justification of the question because of the relationship that soul and body have between them.

Assuming as admissible the question about the relationship of body and soul, it is considered timely to examine the following points:

- I. Some history.
- II. A reasonable answer: the soul is the formal principle of the body.
- III. How do we get to know the soul?
- IV. The steps to the knowledge of the soul.
- V. Definition of soul.
- VI. Its subsistence and immateriality.
- VII. Its union with the body.
- VIII. Effects of the union.

Some History

Concerning the relationship between soul and body, Beuchot [2] presents the main background.

The clearest initial position was that of Plato, who, in the frame of his doctrine of ideas, understands man as two substances of different attributes [3]. Though, anthropological dualism explicitly appears with René Descartes in his anthropological doctrine of the two substances: res cogitans-res extensa [4]. This dualism later adopts the form supported by Malebranche's occasionalism [5] and Leibniz's preset harmony [6].

A derivation of the Cartesian dualism, according to Beuchot, is present in the parallel and monist doctrines.

Parallelism can adopt the form of substantial monism as it is the case of Baruch Spinoza, who assumes parallelism of extension and thought as modalities of a unique real substance that identifies itself with God. In turn, among the negative currents of substantial order, there appears a psychophysical and a psychophysiological parallelism.

With Haeckel, dualism will assume the form of a materialistic monism that will understand thought as a phenomenon derived from the cerebral activity.

As a reaction, Hegel affirms an idealistic monism where only the psychic is the real thing, thus reducing the material to be a mere epiphenomenon of what is spiritual.

Being against these two positions, Bertrand Russell holds as real the corporal as well as the psychical order, considering them as manifestations of an unknown "X."

What can be said about this? To begin with, it can be said that along history there are biased interpretations of the relationship between soul and body where one or the other extreme of the relation is overrated. And what today seems to have a major weight is a rather scientist reading of the same that postpones the spiritual part of the relationship. No doubt it can be thought that some kind of relationship exists between the organic and animic order and between the cerebral and mental process. That is, the decrease of the motor activity corresponds to a decrease of the conscience which fluctuates between the estates of obtundation, sleep, and coma. And when there is an acceleration of the motor activity, we can observe an upsurge of the conscience which rocks between excitement, mania, and delirium. We can also notice the incidence of wishes or passions in the body and the influence that psychotropic drugs or cerebral injuries or cerebrovascular accidents have over the psychical states.

Nevertheless, a man's activity does not always reflect the influence of the organic over the mental, because there are faculties that operate on an extrinsic dependence from the body, that is, when the activity presupposes the participation of the body only at an accidental level not an essential one. That would be the case of the rational activities, because although they can imply some organic activity of neuronal character, which would explain the conservation, transmission, and limitation of mental processes, they would not imply the generation of, so to speak, mental processes.

Well, if acts like thinking and loving, being of immaterial nature, radically exceed the possibilities of a purely organic nature, then there would be no way of justifying in what way an inferior cause could explain a superior effect. Then a sufficient reason is necessary, as can be an immaterial soul, to explain the genesis of mental processes: "the bigger the nobility of the forms, the more its virtue exceeds to such point on the corporal matter, that it has an operation and virtue in which no mode participates the corporal mode and this virtue is the intellect" [7].

Thus, although the materialists Smart [8] and Place [9] hold a certain identity between the mental and cerebral processes. Other authors, like Kenny [10] and Malcolm [11], with different arguments, reject the reducibility of the mental processes to the cerebral processes. Beuchot, following Malcolm, answers that there is no way of empirically verifying the relation that stands between both spheres of the human activity, simply because there cannot be a sensitive experience of the genesis of a mental process. "We can only attend to certain effects to determine mental states. But this is 'conceptually independent' of the investigation of cerebral processes. It will never tell us anything about the bodily location of that mental event. We would not know what the meaning of a thought being localized in the brain is. We would not even understand what that means" [12].

A Reasonable Solution: The Soul Is the Formal Principle of the Body

According to Beuchot, the stance of contemporary authors confirms the reasonableness of Thomas Aquinas' position: "Henny's reflection helps us see the coherence and the adequacy of the notions used by St. Thomas in his doctrinal construction" [13]. And it is Thomas Aquinas who, following Aristotle, affirms that the rational soul is the substantial formal principle that is united to the body like form to matter [14]. This means that the soul is the principle of being (first act or perfection of man) and also the principle of acting (act or second perfection of man).

First argument: *the first thing for which a being acts is the form.* The first thing for which a man lives is the soul. Intellection is an *expression of life.* Thus, the principle by which man understands is the form of the body.

Second argument: the act of understanding is convenient to man by essence. The essential act is founded in the substantial formal principle, which is the intellective soul. But it is the same man *the one who perceives understanding as well as feeling*. Then, the formal principle that founds him as capable of understanding is the same one that founds him as capable of feeling.

Third argument: the third argument says that the nature of anything is manifested by its operation. The specific operation of man is the intellectual one. But the species is founded on form, and then through the form, the human species performs the specific operations.

But how do we hold the existence of one vital principle when life is manifested in diverse degrees? Against Plato's doctrine of the three souls, Thomas insists that man cannot have more than one soul because he must have one substantial form which is the one that makes him a human being. Then the soul, as vital principle, is such in all the levels of the spiritual potential activities, anima ut spiritus, and of the organic powers, anima ut anima [15]. "The rational soul is soul and spirit" [16]. And although it has multiple and diverse functions, it can be defined because of its superior activity, that is, as an intellective soul, and because of its inferior functions, which is only understood as virtually vegeto-sensitive. It may be sustained assuming that "whatever can do more, can also do the least" [17], the vegetative and sensitive functions are also attributed to the soul.

Its unity with the body is solved by affirming it as formal principle of the body, that is, not because of the union of two by means of a third party but by the immediate union of two coprinciples of a unique reality: the whole being. "The principle by which we understand, whether it be called intellect or intellective soul, is the form of the bod." [18].

The "plus" of actuality or perfection that the soul has respective of the body is the consequence of its not being totally immerse in the matter, the reason why it is distinguished of any other substantial form.

What follows will try to clarify all this.

How Do We Know the Soul?

Which is the most convenient attitude and method to know the soul and its relation with the body? Answer:

Attitude with which such investigation must be assumed: against the defence of the "*post true*", or of relativism at all cost- because, such attitudes despair from the knowledge of the real order- it becomes reasonable to assume an integral and realistic attitude, because, although imperfectly, *a parte homini*, a knowledge of the real order is admitted in all its dimensions, then, *a parte rei*, it is assumed that everything that is, as far as it is, is intelligible. [19]

Method of investigation: the assumption of a realist attitude supposes that nature be the thing which determines the method of its investigation [20]. Thus we have to overcome the concept that the scientific data be limited to the horizon offered by the empirical data to admit also the transempirical or metaphysical order. Because while the empirical data allows to answer the external question about how something is, it is the metaphysical data the one that will allow to answer the questions about the what, the why, and the what for something is [21]. Taking all this to the anthropological field, we can see that while the empirical data hardly gives account of the external manifestations of the human reality, and for this reason, it will not be able to reach the reality of being, that is, of an immaterial nature, as for the metaphysical data, it will be able to offer data about the essential constituents of man and the relationship that they have among themselves.

The metaphysical data is obtained by starting from a confused consideration of what is human so as to then analyze its constituents parts, starting with its more visible external manifestations, paying particular attention to the human acts, to sequentially reach the nearest and farthest intrinsic principles of operation, to finally ascend to the extrinsic or transcendent causes of the human whole. This is what doctors know when they ask about their patient's illnesses, starting by the knowledge of the symptoms:

When a doctor invokes to his senses, together with the sensitive intuition which captures the external manifestation of the illness there are intellectual intuitions at play by means of which such manifestations as symptoms of a given illness are related. By any chance could these things take place if some force [not sensitive but intellectual] perceived by the mind and under the action of the intelligence, were not present [intimately accompanying] the instruments of the senses? [22]

The method of investigation of a mood order is characterized by being a posteriori, analytical, and ascendant. It is *a posteriori* or inductive because it starts from the immediacy of the data of the experience, whether it be external or internal; it is *analytic* or resolution based because it knows by explaining through its principal parts; and it is ascendant because it goes from the effects to the intrinsic – near and far – causes, to reach finally the extrinsic causal principles, that is, to its efficient and final causes [23]. This way establishes a sequence that goes from the act to the operational force and from the operational force to the soul.

Steps That Lead to the Knowledge of the Soul

Because of its spirituality, the soul cannot be known immediately, but – following the principle "the operation follows the being" – in an indirect way through its own operations: "The essence of things are unknown to us, we know their virtue through the acts" [24]. Then the consideration of its intelligible object expresses the nature of its cognitive act and through this the cognitive potential: "It is evident that, since it knows the intelligible, it understand its own act of understanding, and through this act gets to know the intellective potential" [25].

(a) The acts of man and the human acts

Man can perform two kinds of acts: the acts of the man and the human acts. The acts of the man. shared by other beings, are done in an unconscious and involuntary way, such as breathe or digest; while the human acts, proper to man, depend on a deliberate will, they lead to a goal and look for happiness [26], thus reflecting the richness of the inner soul. It is the case of activities such as studying, reading, talking. Then, not every act of the man can be called human, rather, "those which come from a deliberate will" [27]. Consequently, if the nature of anything is manifested by its operation [28], and such is the case of the intellective operation, then she will be the one who will better help know the nature of the soul and of the man.

(b) The powers or faculties as near principles of operation

Once the acts of man and the human acts have been examined, we inquire about their near principles of operation, which are the powers that make them.

The powers are possibilities or "near principles of operation" [29] which we know indirectly through their own operations: "Our understanding knows itself not because of its essence but because of its acts" [30] – whose function is to complete the perfection that man possesses in an innate way, because through them, he acquires and develops new physical and spiritual capabilities.

"The power as such, follows the act. Its nature must be determined by the act it follows and therefore, it is necessary that the diversity of nature in the powers be established according to the diversity of the acts, which, in turn, is established on the basis of the diversity of the objects" [31].

Such powers may or may not have an organic base, thus the distinction between the organic powers and the non-organic [32], that is to say, between the powers that are vegetative, sensitive, appetitive, locomotive, and the intellective and the will faculty. Some suppose an intrinsic dependency of the body and others only the extrinsic one. The spiritual activities are the work of the soul, because such operations are done without the intervention of a corporal organ, but the somatic activities are the result of the work of the soul and the body:

Certain operations of the soul are done without the intervention of the corporal organ. For example, understanding and loving, then the powers that are the principles of these operations are in the soul. Instead, there are other operations of the soul that take place by means of the corporal organs. For example, to see through the eyes and to hear through the ears. The same can be said of all the other, the nutritional and the sensitive. Then the powers that are the principles of such operations are in the composite and in their own subject and not only in the soul. [33]

Then, while the sensitive knowledge knows the external aspects of something through the sensitive representation – *species sensibilis* – the intelligible knowledge reaches its essential aspects through the intellectual representation, *species intelligibilis*.

(c) The soul as subject and remote principle of operations

The soul is the principle of life, but properly, who operates is the man: "The action, as well as the being, is the composite, because operating is inherent of the one who exist" [34].

A real distinction between the soul and the powers must be established: "The essence of the soul is not its power, because nothing is in power concerning an act given that it is in the act" [35]. The distinction between the soul and its faculties lies in several reasons. First, the soul is a substantial form that is the principle of the being and of the essence; the powers are accidental forms, and they are principles of operation that complete the perfections of the soul, because they imply the capacity of doing and receiving. Second, the soul is one because the real individual supposes a unique principle of subsistence; and the faculties are many because they multiply according to their operations directed to different specific objects [36]. Third, the soul is always in an act, because it founds the thing in the order of the being and of the essence, while the powers are not always in the act: "If the very essence of the

soul were the immediate principle of its operation then anyone who has a soul would be always performing in act the vital actions." [37]. Fourth, the soul orders and coordinates all the powers or faculties, while the faculties perform their action only over one part of the body. Two examples could be cited. They are the active faculty of audition of the ears, and the faculty of sight of the eyes.

(d) The transcendent cause

The human reality explains itself by its intrinsic principles and also by the extrinsic ones. Because if what is contingent supposes imperfection, then what exists in an imperfect way, such as the case of man, cannot have the being and its perfections by itself but having received them in an imperfect or limited way from someone else who possesses them in a perfect or absolute way [38].

But the existence of man demands some distinction. Because if the corporal part of man can be explained through the existence of his parents, it does not happen the same thing with the part of the soul, given that its spiritual nature, which is simple, cannot be originated by engenderment but through creation, because only one cause that possesses the being by itself can give its being to someone else [39]. As the human soul is not deductible from matter, it does not arise from what is contributed by the parents. Thomas Aquinas argued here that arises from an act of creation. "The human soul is produced by God" [40]. Being this so, we can admit the ontological dependence of man concerning that transcendent last cause. And this is so, not only because of the contingency itself -"What have you got that you have not been given?" [41] – but also because God can freely and completely produce all his creatures, "The will of God is the cause for the things," [42] because He can do everything [43] and He is the final cause: "There is someone intelligent by means of whom all the things are directed to the end" [44]. And that end, the last one, coincides with the own principle of all the things: "He himself is the last end of all the things" [45]. It is a transcendence that is not detrimental of his presence in the innermost part of the human being: "You were inside me, more innermost than the most intimate part of myself" [46].

As from here, we can answer not only the question for the nature and existence of the soul but also the relation that the soul holds with the body. The soul, although it is not understood as a sensible reality, does not have to be considered as a non-existent or mythological reality. The soul also belongs to a real order that links the body as a substantial formal essential principle. This determines the body in the order of being and mode of being. In other words, the soul makes man be and what he is and, at the same time, animates him and founds all his spiritual and organic activities.

Definition of Soul

Aristotle defines the soul as "the first act of an organized natural body that has his life yet to be" [47], so that it is understood as "the beginning of life" of the body. This life is manifested in terms of "movement" or, more properly, of "growing," "generation," and even "sensitivity" and "understanding." The term "first act" invokes the foundation in the order of being and the way of being. "Among all the acts, the first one is the being" [48], "the first perfection is the form each thing has through which it has the being" [49], which implies that it may also be in the order of the three levels of its vital activity. The vegetative level, which comprises the reproductive and nutritional powers, is common to all the living beings; the sensitive level, which comprises sensitivity and movement, is common to all animals; the rational level that includes thought and reasoning belongs only to man. When saying "over an organized body that has his life yet to come," we indicate that the soul must not be understood as a separate relation from the body as would be something that is accidentally added to something else but as an essential, encouraging, perfective, optional part of the human whole, which corresponds itself with subordinate essential part constituted by the organic part of the human being. Then such

soul must be understood as the founding principle of the human whole – "formal principle of the body," "forma corporis, physici, organici" [50] – which performs a sustaining and guiding function concerning the body and shaping with it a distinct or substantial whole. With this in view, Saint Thomas defines the soul as the first vital principle and act of the body. "The soul, first vital principle, is not the body but the act of the body" [51].

The Nature of the Soul: The Soul as an Immaterial and Subsistent Reality

(a) The immateriality of the soul

If the nature of the soul is known by its operations, then, to know it, we must determine the nature of its proper activities, which distinguish it from other forms. But the proper operations of the human soul are its superior activities, regarding which we may ask: Are they organic or spiritual activities? It is difficult to determine through the natural sciences because its method has no access to the immaterial order; thus we can only expect a metaphysical explanation.

True as it may be, the materialists may think that mental activities can be understood as belonging to the organic sphere, because the unity between body and soul could suppose an intrinsic dependency in the order of human knowledge: "All the ideas come from the sensation or reflection" [52]. In this sense, it could be thought that the rational activity intrinsically depends of the neuronal activity. And what we can see in the cognitive field could also be understood in the same way in the willingness and affective field; also, it could be thought that the affective and willingness activities could only answer to instances of material subsistence, thus being of an essentially organic character.

But favoring the affirmation of the spirituality of the rational acts, important arguments appear. Concerning the intellectual activity: First, the soul is immaterial because it can know the nature of all the bodies, "because to know everything it is necessary that none of these things be contained in the nature proper, because if it were like that, it would prevent knowledge" [53]. Second, the soul performs some operations without the assistance of the body: "certain operations of the soul are executed without the intervention of the corporal organ. For example, understanding and loving" [54]. Because if man understood through the corporal organ, the nature of the organ would stop the knowledge of everything corporeal. Third, because only one principle that surpasses the ontological level of the matter could give place to an operation disconnected from the matter: "the nobler the form the more dominated the corporal matter is and the less immerse is in it... [...]" "...of all the forms, the noblest is the human soul". "That is why its power surpasses the corporal matter which has a power and an operation where there is no participation of the corporal matter" [55]. Fourth, the intelligence, being different from the material beings, has the capacity of performing a complete reflection over its own act by virtue of which it knows the intelligible, its own act, and the power that executes it: "It is evident that if it knows the intelligible, it will understand his act of understanding, and through the act, know the intellective power" [56]. Fifth, the reflection over its own act is not possible in the order of the sensitive knowledge: "No sensitive power reflects over itself" [57]. Sixth, knowing supposes the possession of the thing known, and there seems to be no limit for the knowledge of all the things; this is possible by way of the immaterial: "In a certain way all the things can be done because through the sensitive everything is sensitive and by way of the intellect everything is intelligible" [58]. Seventh, man can know universal, necessary, and abstract realities, as it is in the order of the essence: "The intellectual soul can comprehend the universal, it has the capacity for what is infinite" [59].

About the volitional activity: First, although the volitional activities can pursue subordinate aims, like satisfying the needs for subsistence and organic well-being, they can also attend the needs of a superior order such as contemplative activity or personal self-sacrifice. Second, the rational activities are far from being submitted to the determinism that suits the organic activities. They overcome them giving place to the free determination. The election, which is the proper act of freedom, supposes the participation of the intelligence and the will: "the wisdom of the reason over particular actions can follow several directions, without being determined to only one" [60].

We also have to affirm the immateriality of the object of the intellect. The object of the intellect is the quidditas or the nature of the material thing: "The proper object of the human intellect which is closely joined to the body is the quidditas or the nature that exists in the matter" [61]. The mental content or concept by means of which the nature or essence of the things is known requires two conditions, that it be representative of the thing known and that it be immaterial: "For an idea to be a means to knowledge two things are required: the it be the representation of the thing known, which is convenient for its proximity to the knowable; and the immaterial or spiritual being" [62].

But the content of the concept, before being in the intellect, is in the thing, in which, because it is immerse in the matter, cannot be the object of an immaterial faculty, because, if "what is received, is received according to the way of the recipient" [63], it is necessary to adapt the way of the nature of the singular things to the way of the immateriality of the intellective faculty. Then, because of this, it must absolutely know nature - the intellective soul absolutely knows something in its nature [64]. Hence the need to abstract the nature of things from the conditions of matter to make them intelligible in act: "The forms existing in matter are not intelligible in act, [...] some virtue must be asserted over the part of the intellect that it could make them intelligible in act by means of the abstraction of the representations of the conditions of the matter" [65]. And in this way, the material things can be known by the human intellect: "Nothing forbids material things from being known by the forms that exist in an immaterial way in the mind" [66].

The soul in which such intellective faculty lies is also immaterial because a vital principle cannot be a body but an "act of the body" [67]. Since that it is a faculty that performs acts detached from the matter, the soul is understood as a foundation which is intrinsic and far from the spiritual activity, and then if there is a proportion between the doing and the being, "the doing follows the being" [68], then there is a spiritual correspondence between the doing and the being.

Because of this spirituality, it cannot be considered neither as made from matter because in this case it would be corporeal nor from a spiritual being, because the spirituality is not transferable; thus it must God's direct creation: "It is not done but by creation" [69].

And because of its relative immateriality, the human soul can entirely be in all the body and in each one of its parts: "In the same way as each act is in that of which it is act, it is necessary that the soul be in all the body and in all and any of its parts" [70].

(a) The subsistence of the soul

Once admitting the spirituality of the soul, its own subsistence must be supposed. If the doing of a being must be proportional to its nature, and what it does for itself, it must be by itself – "Nothing can operate by itself if it does not subsist by itself" [71] – then the soul, being capable of doing independently from the matter, must also have a being by itself: "The intellectual principle called 'mind' or 'intellect' has an operation by itself independent from the body and nothing does for itself if it is not subsisten" [72].

The subsistence of the soul can be affirmed, because, according to the principle "the doing follows the being" [73], the perfection of the doing of the soul is proportional to the perfection that is convenient to its own being:

The human soul [...] has an operation that completely supersedes the matter and it is not done through a body organ, the understanding. And because the being of the thing is proportional to its operation, given that all doing as far as it is an entity, it is necessary that the being of the human soul surpasses the corporal matter and that it be not confined in it, although it might reach it somehow. Consequently, because it supersedes the being of the corporal matter and it is capable of subsist by itself and do, the human soul is a spiritual substance. [74]

But the subsistence that suits the soul is not simpliciter, but *secundum quid*; this is not because it possesses a "complete nature" but because it is "almost subsistent," that is to say, "existing as part of the human nature." And if "the complete nature" is the "composite of the soul and the body", then the soul possesses the existence only to be part of the concrete human being:

Something concrete may be considered in two ways: whether it be something subsistent or, as long as it is subsistent with the complete nature of some species. The former excludes the inherence of the accident and the material form, the latter, excludes the imperfection of the part [...]. Because the human soul is part of the human nature, it can be said that it is concrete in the first way, that is, it is almost existing, but not the second way, that is as the composite of soul and body. [75]

So the soul is not entirely subsistent, because it does not exhaust but it is only part of the specific essence, that is, "that by which and in which the entity has its existence" [76].

(a) The soul as co-principle

Because it exists as part of the human essence, the soul must be understood as an active coprinciple of the human nature in the same way in which the form is respective of the matter or the act respective of the capacity [77].

The distinction between matter and form originates in the necessity of explaining different attributes of each thing given different principles that underlie them, for example, the matter underlies the attributes of quantity, passivity, and multiplicity, while the form underlies the attributes of quality, activity, and unity. But, above all, assuming its creation, the form is distinguished as principle in the order of the being: "the substantial form makes it be in an absolute way" [78]. Because if its own, the matter lacks of all actuality, then "the matter acquires the being in act because it acquires the form" [79]. And over this hilemorfism base, each corporal entity could be known according to its near gender and specific difference. In turn, the determination of the matter by a determined matter - materia signata

quantitate [80] – expression that redirects to a real not abstract matter, constitutes itself in the principle of individualism of the hilemorphic entity.

Under the distinction "matter-form," we understand the essential constitution of all the corporal reality so as to explain its substantial change. The form operates under the matter that receives it as a determinant principle. Then, as far as the act through which one thing is what it is and not another, the form determines in its species a given subject. Whereas the *prime material*, is that from which something is made, because it is a susceptible permanent element which receives successive determinant forms.

"In the substantial changes – Aristotle says – there must be a subject of generation and corruption, that is, a subject that receives the substantial form or is deprived of it" [81]. But for the matter to receive a determined form, it is necessary that it, by itself, lacks of all formal determination, that is, that it be pure capacity. And both, matter and form, are joined in such an endearing way like a rubber seal over soft wax [82].

The implementation of the hilemorfic doctrine to the order of the human reality.

The human "matter" is given by the capability that the matter has to adopt the form that upgrades it to give place to a human being.

The soul, as a substantial form, is a vital principle that manifests itself in the body it inhabits giving place to an immanent activity to that same being, because it is born from itself and remains in itself. But its encouraging function does not exhaust by its relation to the body, because it is complied in two levels, the animal and the spiritual. At the animal level, it is fulfilled, by relation to the body, in the vegetative and sensitive. At the spiritual level, the soul operates founded in a "plus" of actuality that supersedes the capacities of the corporal matter giving place to the rational activities: "So that the man can understand with his intellect all the things and for him to understand the immaterial and universal it is enough that the intellectual faculty is not act of the body" [83]. Then because of its essence, the soul, without ceasing to be one, is "forma sui corporis y spiritus" [84].
That is why man is said to possess a nature that, although being an animal, he also participates of the rationality or spirituality. Because if the vegetative and sensitive activities are performed with the dependency of the body, that does not prevent other specific activities that are performed without depending on an organ, in virtue of which a rational or spiritual nature can be attributed to the soul. In this way, the fact of conceiving an idea supposes a suitable proportion between the spiritual nature of such concept, the act of conceiving, the faculty that conceives, and the soul that possesses such faculty. From all this, it follows that it is not possible to understand the soul and the body as separate realities, because they behave as material and formal co-principles and we are speaking about a soul that defines itself as an encouraging or vital principle of the body and of a body that is understood as animated or alive. Then, we cannot understand the soul without referring it to the body that it encourages, "It is proper of the soul to be the form of some body" [85], nor can the body be conceived without supposing the soul that animates it. A body without a soul is reduced to lifeless matter; and a soul that is not referred to the body that it animates is meaningless, because its essential function is to enliven the body [86].

Unity with the Body

In which way can two distant realities such as the soul and the body be united? The Aquinate clears up the difficulties. The soul and the body are united "without blending," because there cannot be a mixture between two that "have nothing in common." But what is between them is a certain unity "by contact." A contact that can be established through action or passion:

The contact of the virtue proper of the intellectual substance touches the intimacy of the body. And thus the tangent substance is inside of that it touches and incorporates itself without any obstacle. In this way, the intellectual substance can join the body through a virtual contact. [87]

And this contact happens in the way of the matter and the form. Because, in such a way as

the substantial form immediately joins the corporal matter [88], so does the human soul immediately join the raw material [89]. And as the bright color of the skin depicts a healthy human body, the vivifying function of the soul extends over all the body [90]. And if the vital signs also belong to the subsistence or the real existence, then it can be thought that the same principle that enlivens it must be the one that grants its perfection of being subsistent [91].

But the unity in the order of the being is only possible if the soul acts as a substantial form of the body, which demands two conditions: first, that "the form be the principle of the substantial being of which it is its form" and, second, "that the matter and the form converge in only one being and in such being, the composed substance which is one as far as its being and consists of matter and form must survive" [92].

And that union in the order of the being supposes the simultaneity, a parte ante, of the soul and body, taking into account that the body does not precede the soul, because if the matter receives its being from the soul – "the [substantial] form gives the being" - then the matter cannot be or exist without the form [93], because its reason for being is the form [94]; neither does the form precede the body, because it was not produced but to animate a body: "The soul, being part of the human nature, does not have its natural perfection except when joined to the body. That is why it would not be consistent that it be created before the body" [95], but "when they are imbued in the bodies" [96], because it does not receive the being but in the body [97]. Thus, the soul is present in the body since the beginning of the human gestation.

This simultaneity is also exhibited *a parte post*, because once all the manifestation of life is extinguished, a body is no longer considered "body" but simply "remains" or "mortal remains." Because of this, the difference between a living body and a dead body has to be searched in a principle of life, recognizable by its vital effect. And as life is also the one that allows to warn its subsistence or real existence, it can be thought that the same principle that enlivens it must also be the one which, in its condition of "first act,"

confers its perfection of subsistent being. Thus, it can be confirmed that the soul, as the principle of life, is "the formal substantial principle" of the human whole [98].

Effects of the Union Between the Soul and the Body

In its condition of substantial formal principle, the soul is understood as the optional or active or decisive part of the body and the body as a subordinate or passive or determinable of such distinct whole. Consequently, the soul determines the body as regards the being, the union, the truth, perfections, operations, and relations.

First, the soul is the formal principle of the body in the order of being and the way of being, because it is proper of the form to give the being to each thing: "The first perfection is the form of each thing, by which it has the being" [99]. And it grants the human whole the subsistent being: "The substantial form is the one that gives a thing its substantial being" [100]. Because "The being corresponds substantially to the form which is act. Therefore the [corporal] matter acquires the being in act once it acquires the form" [101]. In this way, man receives the being in an integral way by the soul: "And all the body and all its parts have the specific and substantial being by the soul" [102]. Because although the essence receives the being - which is created it does not keep it for itself but, after receiving it, ipso facto, grants it to the body to constitute with it only one subsistent entity: "The soul communicates the same being with which it exists with the corporal matter and from this and the intellective soul only one entity is formed, then the being that has all the mixture is also the being of the soul" [103].

And, at the same time, the soul is what determines a man to be a man, and it does so since the beginning of his conception to the last instant of his existence. Because if we cannot find an essential difference between his initial zygote state and a further state, then how can we justify that what in the beginning was not admitted as a human person could later be recognized as such? "After the conception, no moment of radical change can point out authorizing to say that there, and not before, human life starts?" [104], which is in accordance with the evidence that in an initial stage, the cells are already marked by a genetic code that is different from the parents. It follows then that the soul is present in the body since the beginning because the human germ pre-contains all the man.

But why is it necessary that the soul be the formal principle of the body in the order of being? This is due to the fact that when we speak about the being, we are not only speaking of the existence of an entity but also of an absolute perfection that is the base of all perfection. That is why we speak of the "act of being" as "the act of all the acts": "The being [ipsum esse] is the most perfect of all things, for it is compared to all things as that by which they are made actual; for nothing has actuality except so far as it exists. Hence being [ipsum esse] is that which actuates all things, even their forms" [105].

No creature, including man, can receive perfection in an absolute way because in that case it would be entirely perfect. And in spite that the man does not stop wanting it, nothing indicates that he actually achieves it. This reveals that the being is given to the creature in a limited or partaken way. And the constraining principle of the being is precisely the essence, but not because of its material principle - because as it is undetermined, it does not set limits - but because of the formal principle of the essence, because when determining the being to be this or that, it limits the being to the being of man. "Because the form created as subsistent has a being and it is not its being, it is necessary that its own being be received and acquire [or enclosed] to a determined nature" [106].

Second, it can also be said that the soul operates as formal principle on the order of the unity, "Anything is one by its essence" [107]. Its last foundation, though, is in the act of being, given that all that is, cannot have more than one *act of being*. The soul unites and organizes all the parts of the human whole. And this happens because in "any totality there must be a formal and predominant part in virtue of which the unity of the entitative whole is founded" [108]. And this is what happens with the rational soul when it complies in it all the vegetative, sensitive, and rational functions: "The most perfect form makes in a unitary way all the things that the inferior makes in a diversified way: for example, if the form of the animated body gives the matter the being and the body, the form of the plant will give it that and also life; and the sensitive soul will give that and also the sensitive being; and the rational soul will give that and the rational being" [109]. That is why in the man, the substance form is the rational soul: "In this man there is no other substantial form than the rational soul by which this man is not only man but also an animal which is alive, has a body and substance and entity" [110]. There is a function that the soul complies with in its highest part which is the intellective soul: "in this way the intellective soul contains in its virtue what the sensitive soul has from the brute and the vegetative soul from the plants" [111]. This assumption can be made because "what can the most also can the least." And the soul can also be considered principle of the same unity that it has concerning the body: "As the soul is the form and gives the being to the matter, it is the one that joins the two orders of the being and constitutes itself in horizon and boundary of the bodies and the spirits as it is an incorporeal substance and is the form of a body" [112].

Think, for example, in the extreme complexity of a human body. A body is constituted by millions of cells - near 37 billions - each one of them has an inner activity similar to that of an industrial city; the number of neurons can vary between eighty six thousand millions and hundred thousand millions, and they perform the most essential functions of human life, which demands a principle of unity to integrate them. This unity is lost when the soul stops its enlivening function on the human organism, because when the living person losses his life, ipso facto, his body – which implies composition of matter and form [113] and parts extra partes – initiates an irreversible process of division, decay, dissolution, disintegration, and corruption.

Third, the ownership of things has to do with the "intelligibility" or "aptitude that things have to be known" [114]. The truth as property of the intellectual knowledge supposes the actual possession of knowledge. And in the case of man, the soul constitutes itself in the foundation of the truth, and it is so twofold because the man knows and is known in virtue of the nobility of his substantial form, which is identified with the intellective soul.

Fourth, the soul also performs a formal function in the order of perfections. To say that the soul operates over the body in the order of being implies that the soul, as formal principle of the body, operates on it providing it all its perfections, in such a way that without soul, the body would not exist. This is explained because if the matter is defined in terms of pure capacity, then it does not possess any perfection because without the substantial form, the matter would not exist, so all the perfections that the body has, beginning by the perfection of being, are possessed because they are received from the soul which is the formal principle. The vegetative, sensitive, and rational perfections are sustained in it [115]. Therefore, if the soul enlivens matter in an integral and finished way, then there is nothing in the body that the soul that animates does not receive entirely, metaphysically speaking. Then all the ontological kindness of man, that is, his appetizingness and his level of perfection, have their intrinsic principle in the soul as a substantial form. It is so because the soul in respect of form of the body - "the soul is the act of the body" [116] – is a perfective act of man. And if the man, because of his corporal attitudes, seems to be the less endowed among all living creatures, because of his rational aptitudes, he is not because through his cognitive he can possess the forms of all the things.

Fifth, the soul, which constitutes itself in foundation of all the powers of the man, is also, in a remote way, foundation of all his operations, starting by the vegetative activity, then the sensitive, the emotional, the mnemonic, and the rational, as they are assumed by the principle of the superior activity. "It is necessary to affirm that the intellect, starting point of the intellectual operation, is the form of the human body. Because the first thing for which a being proceeds is the form of the being to which the action is attributed" [117].

Then, if the soul is admirable because of its perfective action on the body, it is much more so because of its superior activities which are of a rational order and are related to the order of knowing and loving. In this sense, think of the grandeur and nobility of all the attributes that suit the man as such, in the capacities that he naturally possesses and in the ones he can obtain through his personal development. And in this way, we can see in which way all the doing of man is naturally organized to look for the fullness of all his capacities: "all the beings have their reason to be in their operations" [118].

Sixth, the soul is also the formal principle in the order of the relationships. They are presented in a pluralistic and exuberant way because they fundamentally contribute to the development of the human person. Man is not reduced to being a relational entity, because the relation does not exist by itself but supposes the related extremes that make possible and found the relationship [119]. These relationships are given as follows: regarding the world, with their equals, by affiliation, by conjugal unity, by friendship, and by procreation, and even regarding the last responsible being of his own existence [120]. This last relationship is discovered when the man, knowing that he is temporary, at one point wonders about his origin and, above all, his final destiny. In this sense, some people think that the end of life has to coincide with its own beginning, with the Author of all life: "You made us Lord, for you, and our heart will be restless until it rests in you" [121]. In the order of the faith, as a last instance, it supposes the beatific vision, which, in a supernatural way, allows its union with God: "For a perfect beatitude it is required that the intellect reach the essence of the first cause. And thus its perfection is reached by the union with God as its object" [122].

Importance of the Body

The nobility and subsistence of the soul must not lead to thinking that the body does not comply with an important function even to benefit its own soul. And this is so, because the fact that the soul is subsistent does not make it a separate being, as would be an angelic being or even God. It is so because its condition of "form of the body" implies that the soul is not "purely immaterial" but "simply immaterial" [123], because "as it is reached by the matter which communicates its being, it is form of the body" [124].

The body complies with a notable function given its passivity, so in the same way the soul sets limits to the absolute perfection of the being. Because it determines to the act of being to be, in each case, this or that, according to its species, in a similar way, the body also sets limits to the perfective action of the soul over the matter, because this receives its perfections in a singular way according to the measure of its capacity: "[the defects of the body are] a necessary consequence of the matter that are needed so that the right proportion is given between the body and the soul and its operations" [125].

And in fact, the body does not properly suppose a threat against its own nature but rather a benefit, because its union with the body responds to its nature: "The soul, as part of the human nature, does not have its natural perfection as long as it is joined to the body" [126]. And this is also valid for its way of operating, because it knows appealing to the sensitive images: "It is joined to the body to exist and do in agreement to its nature" [127]. In such a way that the soul is more perfect when joined to the body than separated from it: "Being united to the body and understanding through images is better for the soul" [128].

For this reason, even though the specifically human is the intellective part, its nature supposes the composition of the soul and body. Hence, its definition is formed as from the corporal and rational parts: "The nature of the gender is taken from the material in the corporal thing, the reason of the species, of what is formal; the reason of the animal comes from the sensitive and the reason of the man from the intellect" [129]. Hence, it is the compound not the soul that has the dignity of person. That is why many of its functions are achieved with the help of the body. This is clearly manifested in the traction order. Because the traction activity, on the one hand, is ordered by an appetitive power that is manifested through some corporal mutation, for example, in the state of anger and of joy, and on the other hand, it is executed by the members of the body which are apt to obey. It follows that "moving is not an act of the sensitive soul done without the body" [130].

Does this mean a devaluation of the body in relation to the soul? On the contrary, because if the soul is act of the body, then the body, upgraded by it, becomes participant of its same dignity by having in it its own intrinsic end: "The forthcoming end of the human body is the rational soul and its operations, because the matter is ordered to the form and the instruments to the actions of the agent" [131]. And as regards the last aim, the body could reach, after death, a glorious destiny thanks to a divine intention: "In the last state, after the resurrection, the soul will communicate to the body that which is peculiar as spirit: the immortality to all; the impassivity, the glory and the virtue of the good, whose bodies will be called spirituals" [132].

Having said that and by way of conclusion, we see the firm and healthy equilibrium that the Aquinate finds between the soul and the body avoiding the excesses before and after it took place regarding its relation. He does so affirming the existence and nature of both components of the nature of man, the double condition of the soul as spirit, and form of the body.

References

- 1. Aristotle. De anima, tr. esp. A Ennis, Buenos Aires, Espasa Calpe, 1944. lb II, cap. 2; Bk 414 a 13–14.
- Cf. Beuchot M, Cuerpo y alma en el hilemorfismo de Santo Tomás, México: UNAM, s. f. P. 8.
- Plato. Phedon tr. esp. Madrid, Guadarrama, 196. 80 b.
- 4. Cf Descartes R Principia philosophiae, tr. fran: Les príncipes de la philosophie, A. Garnier, 1835. t. I, I, 53.
- 5. Cf Malebranche N. Entretiens sur la Métaphysique et la Religion et sur la mort, Nouvelle édition, revue, corrigée et augmentée, Paris, 1711. Quatrième entretien, XI.
- Cf. Leibniz GW. Les principes de la Nature et de la Grâce fondés en raison. Herausgegeben von C. J., Gerhardt, VI B Berlin. 1885. 573 3.

- S. Thomae Aquinatis, Opera Omnia, ed. P. Robertus Bussa, F. Frommann Günther Holzboog KG Sttutgart-Bad Cannstaat 1980; Impressum in Italia Typys IBM automato photocompositis, Milano, S. Th., I, 76, 1.
- Cf. Smart JJC. Sensation and Brian Processes. Philosophical Review, 1959; 68: ----, Materialism, Journal of Philosophy. 1963; 60.
- Place UT. Is Consciousness brain Process. Br J Psychol. 1956;47
- Kenny A. The Origin of the Soul. Various: The development of Mind, Edinburgh University Press, 1973; The Metaphysic of Mind, Oxford, Clarendon, Press, 1989.
- Malcolm N. Problems of minds. Oxford: Clarendon Press; 1989.
- Beuchot M. Cuerpo y alma en el hilemorfismo de Santo Tomás, op. Cit., p. 43; cf. Shaffer JA. Recent work on the mind-body problem. Am Philos Q. 1965;2:97.
- Beuchot M. Cuerpo y alma en el hilemorfismo de Santo Tomás, op. cit., p. 42.
- 14. Cf. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S. Th. I, 76, 1.
- 15. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th. I, 76, aa. 3, 4.
- 16. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th, I, 97.
- 17. S. Thomae Aquinatis. De Ueritate, q. 10, a. 1.
- 18. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S. Th., I, 76, 1.
- 19. S. Thomae Aquinatis. De Ueritate, q. 1, a. 1.
- 20. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S. Th. I, 77, 3.
- 21. Cf. Aristotle's. Physics, a revised text with intro. and commentary, Oxford, 1936. b. 2, chap. 3.
- Gregory of NIssa., De anima et resurrectione, Introducción, fin; trad. Luis M. De Cádiz, Buenos Aires, Atlántida, 1952, 5. p. 49.
- 23. Quijano Guesolaga H; Asselborn É. Introducción a la Filosofía y Antropología Filosófica. Documento de la cátedra del departamento de Derecho de la Facultad Teresa de Ávila de la Universidad Católica Argentina; en http//biblioteca digital.uca edu.ar/ repositorio/contribuciones/abogacía-filosofíaantropología filosófica pdf (date of consultation, June 9, 2017).
- 24. Thomae Aquinatis. De Ueritate, 10, 1.
- 25. S. Thomae Aquinatis, S. Th., I, 14, 2, 3m.
- 26. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S. Th. I-II, 6, 1.
- 27. S. Thomae Aquinatis. Th. I-II, q. 1, a. 1.
- 28. S. Thomae Aquinatis S. Th., I, 76, 1.
- 29. S. Thomae Aquinatis, In II Sent, d. 43, a. 3, 2m.
- 30. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S. Th, I, 87, 1.
- 31. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th. I, 77, 3.
- 32. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th, I-II, 8, 1, 2m; De Uer. q, 26, a. 3, 7m.
- 33. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th., I, 77, 5.
- 34. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th. I, 77, 1, 3m.
- 35. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th., I, 77, 1.
- 36. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th. I, 77, 1.
- 37. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th I, 77, 1.
- 38. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th, I, 2, 3.
- 39. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S T, I, 2, 3.

- 40. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th, I, 75, 6, 1m; cf. –I, 79, 4; I, 90, 2; I, 90, 3; CG II, 86, 4; De Uer. q, 27, 3, 9m; De Pot, q, 3, 9.
- 41. St. Paul, 1 Cor 4, 7.
- 42. S. Thomae Aquinatis. Th., I, 19, 4; cfr. -I, 25, 3; I, 28, 1, 3m; -I, 32, 1, 2m; -I, 45, 6; -I, 50, 1; -I, 61, 2, 1m; -I, 104, 3; -I, 105, 1, 2m; CG 2, 23 usque 30; -2, 44 fi.
- 43. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th, I, 19, 4. Cf. S. Th., I, 20, 2; -I, 25, 5; -I, 45, 6; -I, 46, 1; -I-II, 116, 1; -II, 84, 2; In I Sent. dist. 45, a. 3; C. G., III, 97; IV, 20 prin°; De Pot. q. 3, a. 15.
- 44. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th, I, 2, 3.
- 45. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th., I, 6.
- 46. Augustinus. Confessiones, 3, 6, 11.
- 47. Aristotle. De anima, l. II, cap. 1; (BK, 412 a 30); cf. De anima l. II, c. 1 (BK 412 b 10); De anima l. 1, c. 4 (BK415 b 8); De anima l. II, c. 1 (BK 412 a 3). S. Thomae Aquinatis, S. Th. I, q, 75, 1.
- 48. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th., I, 76, 6; De Ueritate, q. I, a. 10, 3m.
- 49. S. Thomae Aquinatis. De Ueritate, q. I, a. 10, 3m.
- 50. S. Thomae Aquinatis. C G., Libro II, cap. 79.
- 51. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th, I, 75, 1.
- 52. Locke J. An Essay Concerning Human Understanding. Book, II, chap. 2, § 2.
- 53. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th., I, 75, 2.
- 54. S. Thomae Aquinatis, S Th., I, 77, 5.
- 55. S Th. I, 76, 1.
- Cfr. Blanco G. P., Curso de Antropología Filosófica, Buenos Aires, EDUCA, 2002, p. 521.
- 57. S. Thomae Aquinatis. C G. IV, 11.
- 58. S. Thomae Aquinatis, S Th., I, 76, 3.
- 59. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th. 76, 5, 4m.
- 60. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th. I, 83, 3.
- 61. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th. I, 84, 7.
- 62. S. Thomae Aquinatis. De Uer. q. 3, a. 1, 2m.
- 63. S. Thomae Aquinatis S Th. I, 75, 5.
- 64. S. Thomae Aquinatis. STh. I, 75, 5.
- S. Thomae Aquinatis. STh. I, 79, 3. Cf. Aristotle, De anima III, 3; Anal. Post. II, 19; S. Thomae Aquinatis. S. Th. qq. 84 y ss.; C.G., II, 66–67; II, 73–78.
- 66. S. Thomae Aquinatis- De Ueritate, q, 10, a. 4.
- 67. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th. I, 75, 1.
- 68. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th., I, 89, 1.
- 69. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th. I, 90, 2.
- 70. S. Thomae Aquinatis. De spiritualibus creaturis, a. 4.
- 71. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th, I, 75, 2.
- 72. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th. I, 75, 2.
- 73. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th. I, 89, 1.
- 74. S. Thomae Aquinatis. De spiritualibus creaturis, a. 2.
- 75. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th. I, 75, 2, 1m.
- 76. S. Thomae Aquinatis. De ente et essentia, cap. 1.
- 77. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th. I, 76, 1.
- 78. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th., I, 77, 6.
- 79. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th., I, 75, 6.
- 80. Thomae Aquinatis S. De ente et essentia, cap. II.
- Cf. García López J. Metafísica tomista, Pamplona, EUNSA, 2001, p. 472.
- 82. Aristotle. Físics, I, 7.

- 83. S. Thomae Aquinatis. Th., I, 76, 1, 2m.
- 84. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th., I, 76, 3: cf. I, 76, 3, 3m; I, 76, 4; I, 76, 5; I, 77, 2; I, 79, 2 fi; I, 89, 1 fi.; I-II, 50, 6; C. G., II, 68 me°; C. G., III, 25, 3m; III, 61, 4m; III, 80, prin°; III, 81, prin°; Uer. q. 5, 8; Uer. q. 10, 6, De Malo, q. 1816, 10, 2m; cf. GARCÍA LÓPEZ, Metafísica tomista, op. cit. p. 256.
- 85. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th. I, 75, 5.
- 86. Aristotle, De anima, III, cap. I, Bk 412 b 7.
- 87. S. Thomae Aquinatis.CG, II, 56.
- 88. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S T., III, 76, 6.
- 89. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th., I, 76, 4, 3m.; –I, 76, 4, 2m; I, 76, 6, 2m; C G lb II, cap. 56, 57, 68, 69, 70.
- 90. S. Thomae Aquinatis. De spiritualibus creaturis, a. 4.
- 91. S. Thomae Aquinatis Th, I, 76, 1. Cf. –I, 76, 4, 2m; -I, 76, 6, 3m; -I, 76, 7; -I, 76, 8; -I, 90.4; –110, 2, 1m; -I, 117, 3, 3m; -I-II, 83, 2, 3; -III, 8, 2; C.G., II, 56, 57, 68, 69, 70; II, 73, 1m; II, 93, 2m; De Uer. q. 26, aa. 2, 3, 8.
- 92. S. Thomae Aquinatis. C G II, 68.
- 93. S. Thomae Aquinatis. De spiritualibus creaturis, I, 6m; 5, 1m; De ente et essentia, 5, prin° 3.
- 94. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th, I, 47, 1.
- 95. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th., I, 90, 4.
- 96. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th., I, 118.
- S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th. I, 90, 4. Cf. S. Th., I, 91, 4, 3m; -II-II, 164, 1, 4m; -III, q. 63; C.G., II, 83 -84– 85, 1m; -IV, 33, fi; Uer. I, 19 1.
- 98. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th., I, 76, 1.Cf –I, 76, 4, 2m; -I, 76, 6, 3m; -I, 76, 7; -I, 76, 8; -I, 90.4; -110, 2, 1m; -I, 117, 3, 3m; -I-II, 83, 2, 3; -III, 8, 2; C.G., II, 56, 57, 68, 69, 70; II, 73, 1m; II, 93, 2m; De Uer. q. 26, aa. 2, 3, 8.
- 99. S. Thomae Aquinatis. De Ueritate, q, 1, a. 10, 3m.
- 100. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th., I, 76, 4.
- 101. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th., I, 75, 6.
- 102. S. Thomae Aquinatis. De spiritualibus creaturis, a. 4.
- 103. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th., I, 76, 1, 5m.
- 104. Quijano Guesolaga H.; Asselborn É. Introducción a la Filosofía y Antropología Filosófica. Documento de la cátedra del Departamento de Derecho de la Facultad Teresa de Ávila de la Universidad Católica Argentina. http://biblioteca digital.uca edu.ar/ repositorio/contribuciones/Abogacía, Filosofía/ Antropología/Filosófica pdf (fecha de consulta 14 de junio de 2017), p. 18.
- 105. S. Thomae Aquinatis, S Th., I, q. a. 4, a. 1, 3m.
- 106. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th., I, 7, 2.
- 107. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th. I, 6, 2.
- 108. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th., II-II, 49, 6, 1m.
- 109. S. Thomae Aquinatis. De spiritualibus creaturis, q. 1, a. 3.
- 110. S. Thomae Aquinatis. De spiritualibus creaturis, a. 4.
- 111. S. Thomae Aquinatis. Th., I, 76, 5.
- 112. Lobato A. El pensamiento de Tomás de Aquino para el hombre de hoy. EDICEP: Valencia; 1994. p. 151.
- 113. Cf. S. Thomae Aquinatis. C.G., l. II, c. 49, 1m.
- 114. García López J., Metafísica tomista, op. cit., p. 105.
- 115. Cf. S. Thomae Aquinatis S. Th. I, 76, 3.
- 116. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th., I, 75, 1.

- 117. S. Thomae Aquinatis S Th., I, 76, 1.
- 118. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th., I, 105, 5.
- 119. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S. Th., I, 13, 7: cf. I, 23, 1, 2m; I, 23, 4m 1m; De Uer. q. 1, a. 5, 15m; -q. 2, a. 2, 1m.
- Cf. Ferrer Arellano J. Metafísica de la relación y la alteridad: persona y relación, Pamplona, EUNSA, 1998, cap. II.
- 121. Augustinus. Confessiones, l. I, c. 1, 1.
- 122. S. Thomae Aquinatis. Th., I-II, 3, 4.
- 123. S. Thomae Aquinatis. I-II, 3, 8.
- 124. Cf. García López J., Metafísica tomista, op. cit., p. 92.
- 125. S. Thomae Aquinatis. De spiritualibus criaturis, a. 2.
- 126. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S. Th., I, 90, 4.
- 127. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S. Th., I, 89, 1.
- 128. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S Th., I, 89, 1. Cf. –I, 89, 2, 1m; -I, 90, 4; -I, 118, 3; -I-II, 4, 5; De Pot. Q, 5, a. 10; -q, 5, a. 10, 5m.
- 129. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S. Th., I, 85, 3, 4m.
- 130. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S. Th., I, 75, 3, 3m.
- 131. S. Thomae Aquinatis. Th., I, 91, 3.
- 132. S. Thomae Aquinatis. S. Th., I, 97, 3.

Bibliography

 S. Thomae Aquinatis, Opera omnia, curante Roberto Bussa, S.I., Opera Omnia, ed. P. Robertus Bussa, F. Frommann Günther Holzboog KG Sttutgart-Bad Cannstaat 1980; Impressum in Italia Typys IBM automato photocompositis, Milano tomos: I, II, III, IV. 1980.

- 134. Basso D, Las potencias y facultades humanas según la antropología tomasiana in Sapientia, 2012 vol. LXVIII, fasc. 231–232.
- Beuchot M. Cuerpo y alma en el hilemorfismo de Santo Tomás. México, UNAM, s.f.
- Blanco GP. Curso de Antropología Filosófica. EDUCA: Buenos Aires; 2002.
- 137. Burgoa L. V. Sobre la naturaleza y carácter inmaterial del alma humana, en Sapientia, 2012. vol. LXVII, fasc. 229–230 (2011).
- 138. García LJ. Metafísica tomista. 2da ed. EUNSA: Pamplona; 2001.
- 139. QUIJANO GUESOLAGA, Hernán; ASSELBORN, Élida, Introducción a la Filosofía y Antropología Filosófica. Documento de la cátedra del departamento de Derecho de la Facultad Teresa de Ávila de la Universidad Católica Argentina; en http://biblioteca digital.uca edu.ar/repositorio/contribuciones/ abogacía-filosofía-antropología filosófica pdf (Fecha de consulta 9 de junio de 2017).



9

The Conception of Psychosomatic Medicine in Spain: From Neurology to the Person

Consuelo Martínez Priego

Psychosomatic pathology is not only a new way of practicing the medical profession with more depth and scope, but it also opens new horizons in the issue of man. ([1], p. 2)

Introduction

Justifying a Historical Perspective

The topic I am proposing, the role of neurology in the conception of psychosomatic medicine in Spain, requires immediate *justification*. In the context of a study update, a historical framework may seem out of place. Nevertheless, finding out how psychosomatic medicine developed and under what scientific input is currently of interest for at least two reasons:

 The conception of psychosomatic medicine, and more specifically of "psychosomatic pathology," shed light on the physician's occupation and provided insight into the ill (and healthy) person [2]. Currently, such enlightenment seems relevant and even urgent. Indeed, our inspirational reference occurred almost a century ago; if we, however, consider, for instance, that psychosomatic medicine enabled an approach to "each man," it

C. M. Priego (🖂)

Universidad Villanueva, Madrid, Spain e-mail: cmartinez@villanueva.edu might inspire the current technification of medicine and the quest for human enhancement, which tend to de facto question the "individuality and oneness" of each subjectmind, thereby replacing the "person" [3, 4].

2. In view that neurology played a significant role in the conception of psychosomatic medicine and the current development of this field (and of neuroscience in general) seems neverending and continuously poses new questions, we believe the knowledge of man can be updated as it is under the scrutiny of medicine (and of other related fields such as psychology) [4, 5].

There is a clear underlying interest in psychosomatic medicine as a means to access the human being considered as neither dualistic nor monistic. Indeed, this field of medicine attempts to overcome the material monism and mentalistic monism of certain neuroscientific pursuits that have marked the history of neuroscience [5] and have become commonplace in many neuroscientific studies [4]. Also, the dualism that values the mind and the brain as different entities can be construed as the questions raised and the response attempts of psychosomatics [6]. On the other hand, psychosomatic medicine has had its moments of splendor and has been linked to medical anthropology (its academic recognition began with the publication of Psychosomatic Medicine in 1939). This is not to say that it has not had its critics who view it as irrelevant or

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_9

merely temporary: an author thinks that when our biological knowledge increases, psychosomatic medicine will become superfluous or sheer mysticism [7].

Objective of Study

The purpose of this study is to clarify the role of neurology – together with other fields – in the expansion of medicine, in order that, by becoming psychosomatic, medicine will be capable of broaching how each man becomes ill as opposed to the mere deliberation of illness as such. In this way, science – and not just an ambiguous humanistic desire – will bring us closer to man, every man. This breakthrough was analyzed, described, and performed by the physician Juan Rof Carballo (a physician and humanist educated in the most conventional anatomic-physiological medicine, with a mechanistic approach, and is also the father of psychosomatic medicine in Spain) [8]. He has recently been acknowledged as being fundamental to the development of this medical perspective [9]. Together with the contributions made by another physician, Pedro Laín Entralgo, we will outline the conceptual history behind the expansion of medical horizons we view as relevant in the twenty-first century, including other fields such as psychology, social science, and the science of health.

Why Rof Carballo

Focusing on the contributions of Juan Rof Carballo to the scope of this study may be sufficiently justified if we mention a few biographical details: Rof Carballo was born in Santiago de Compostela in 1905 and acquired a multidisciplinary vision of scientific and cultural reality in his early education (Table 9.1).

We have pointed out that Rof read Freud in the 1920s. However, it was in the 1940s that he dis-

Table 9.1 Main teachers of Juan Rof Carballo

Period	People and type of influence	Source
Schooling	Juan Vicente Viqueira, philosopher and psychologist. Comes from The Free Institution of Education (philosophy of K. C. Friedrich Krause)	[10]
Early university studies (1922)	Meets Ortega y Gasset (philosopher) Reads Freud Universities at Madrid and Barcelona	[11]
University teachers	Mira y López (psychiatrist) Cuatrecasas Rumí (physician, psychobiology) Pittaluga (hematology and parasitology) Jiménez Díaz (medical pathology)	[12] [13] [14] [15]
The 1926–1927 academic year	Nóvoa Santos, familiar with Freud's work. Most distinguished personality at the time	[16]
Board scholarship for study expansion directed by Ramón y Cajal. Moves to Vienna and Cologne	Sternberg (attends autopsies) Jauregg (1927 Nobel Prize)	[11]
1936: Spanish Civil War	Ángel Garma: Prominent figure in institutionalizing psychoanalysis	[17]
1940–1945	Learns about Psychosomatic Medicine	[11]
1949	Writes <i>Psychosomatic Pathology</i> (first edition). First book in Spanish of this nature [18]	The 6 most quoted authors: Wolff, H. G. 70 Hochrein, M. 58 Kretschmer, E. 49 Friedman, M. 48 Weizsäcker, V. 43 Freud, S. 39

covered the journal Psychosomatic Medicine, and according to Laín, "it shook the foundations of his technical and applied habits" ([19], p. 43). With this new medical insight, he began working with Gregorio Marañon at the General Hospital of Madrid, and a small department of psychosomatic medicine was established. Also, during these years, he came into close contact with the Spanish philosopher Xavier Zubiri who was a very influential figure together with his personal friend, Laín Entralgo. About the former, he wrote: "his way of understanding philosophy requires knowing biology to such an extent and depth not seen to date in any philosopher (...) his concern for biological issues is at times far deeper and outreaching than in most "professionals" and experts" ([20], pp. 219–220). As we will see later, it seems interesting that the scientific knowledge of a philosopher is emphasized in a way that philosophical influence in no way diminishes the value of scientific data, but rather enhances it.

Rof Carballo is a good example of major transformation: coming from a rigorous anatomical and pathological background, clinical in the most conventional sense of the word (he was an internist physician and endocrinologist), he embraced the psychosomatic perspective through his contact with scientists who deeply impacted the history of science in the twentieth century. Therefore, it seems appropriate to study the following issues from Rof Carballo's viewpoint: (1) Which was the framework, humus, or fertile soil that made this new perspective flourish? (2) What were neurology and other sciences like at the time and what did psychosomatic medicine contribute? (3) How did those contributions expand the analysis of an ill (or healthy) person? The final point of analysis will be to acknowledge and discuss how this historical event sheds light on our times and the questions raised today.

The "Humus" That Enabled Change

The scientific groundwork that surrounds the conception of psychosomatic medicine was developed in the early twentieth century. We could say there was an ideal *humus* or fertile soil

in which a new way of clinically studying and approaching human issues was able to flourish. On the other hand, the authors who developed this groundwork shared, to an extent, three basic concerns or theories.

Background and Scientific and Philosophical Context

In terms of the *humus*, three major elements stand out. Firstly, psychoanalysis was already a wellestablished psychological and psychiatric train of thought (anthropological also) and provided important findings to the medical profession: considerations of the constitutive process of the subject and the progression of illness, in such a way that the individual's story must be taken into account; the importance of the person's word, his narrative, which becomes revealing and healing; the relationship between the physician and the patient which has specific characteristics, not comparable to almost any other situation; and so forth [21].

On the other hand, Max Scheler had already published the content of his philosophical anthropology, including the issue of man within the framework of a natural and cultural cosmos [22]. After having determined that man is not just one more living being, that he is not an animal among other animals (quantitative difference), human existence is emphasized as a fundamentally distinct object of study (qualitative difference); he is a person. The human spirit, free and capable of shaping its own biography, is not limited to organic life. Precisely because Scheler included culture in anthropology, the human issue is always viewed in social contexts, coexisting in fact.

And lastly, neuroendocrinology. Once the studies of Cajal and others have been consolidated [5, 23], and the visceral or limbic brain is discovered and enhanced [24, 25], consideration of the nervous system does not juxtapose the endocrine one (after all, hormones and other similar substances of the endocrine system appear at the synapse) [26]. These are pillars that enabled modifying the preceding medical framework.



Fig. 9.1 According to Rof, the development of psychosomatic medicine is due to the concurrence of several fields of learning. (From Rof Carballo [27])

However, according to Rof, the development of psychosomatic medicine is due to the concurrence of several fields of learning (Fig. 9.1).

Along the same lines, the number of writers he met in 1949 was considerable [18], as well as the number of times he quoted them [28]. Specifically, he quoted 1837 different authors in 4838 references. Below is a list of renown writers (Table 9.2) listed according to the number of quotes (at least 12).

Common Criteria of the Psychosomatic Perspective

Together with this substrate, psychosomatic developments share certain concerns (derived to an extent from the above), a "convergence of opinions" both in Europe and within the United States, which also impacted the theoretical and practical development of medicine. There is the criticism of causality in the first place. Citing Galton, Rof wrote that it is a major mistake to "… view causality according to a temporal

sequence [...] We must eliminate from our minds the notion of a causal relationship between the psyche and the soma" ([29, p.404]). Thus, emotion becomes one of the "causes" for illness. It becomes necessary to resort to "transactional" concepts, i.e., of reciprocal influence, as opposed to the mechanistic perspective that reaches no further than the "interactional."

The second element with which writers converged was *disagreement with the term emotion* because it was too vague and disguised the true psychosomatic issue. In fact, "it is common to think that the psychosomatic perspective in medicine means that emotions can generate illnesses. But this misconception stems from not recognizing precisely what emotions really are" ([30], p.7). Indeed, understanding emotion should entail *clarifying the psychic-somatic duality*, by considering that to gain insight into emotions, it has been necessary to include new realities, recent findings about physiopathology, and specifically those related to the "internal brain," construed as a functional unit.

Table 9.2	Main writers listed according to the number of
quotes	

Wolff, H. G.	70
Hochrein, M.	58
Kretschmer, E.	49
Friedman, M.	48
Weizsäcker, V.	43
Freud, S.	39
Jung, C.G.	37
Bilz, R.	32
Dunbar, F.	32
Lopez Ibor, J.J.	32
Jimenez Diaz, C.	30
Alexander, F.	28
Grinker, R.R.	27
White, B.V.	27
Massermann, J.H.	26
Alvarez, W.C.	24
Brun, R.	23
Jahn, D.	23
Murphy, G.	23
Jones, M.	22
Cannon, W.N.	20
Cobb, S.	20
Müller, L.R.	20
Wittkower, E.	20
Bockus, H.L.	19
Portis, S.A.	19
Hurst, A.	17
Menninger, K.A.	17
Selye, H.	17
Deutsch, F.	16
Künkel, F.	16
Mittelmann, B.	16
Monakow, C.	16
Weis, S.	16
Hoff, H.	15
Lashley, K.S.	15
Fulton, J.F.	14
Heyer, G.R.	14
Watts, J.W.	14
Wolf, St.	14
Beach, F.A.	13
Bergmann, G. v.	13
Goldstein, K.	13
Hess, W.R.	13
Lange, J	13
Schindler, R.	13
Bleuler, M.	12
Gantt, W.H.	12
Lain, P.	12
Lewis, J.M.	12
Livingston, W.K.	12
Mayer, A.	12
Pavlov, I.P.	12
Richter, C.P.	12

The third point is the issue of coexistence as the various psychosomatic, philosophical, and psychiatric schools all agree on the need to consider interpersonal relationships to comprehend man: the issue of the "person" leads to "the issue of neighbors" ([29], p. 406). That is why "the aspiration is to see man as a whole, with a personal destiny, as a connection of psychosocial networks" [31]. This way, "the rich underlying life story re-emerges now as a social issue" ([11], p. 36). The contributions of Buber, Heidegger, and Marcel from a philosophical standpoint and Trüb from psychoanalysis all point in this direction. From a purely psychosomatic perspective, this same notion was emphasized by Halliday, Lindemann, and Engel and Sullivan in psychiatry, while in Spain, Laín is one of the most prominent advocates of this topic.

Based on these elements, medical practice acquires a new dimension. Let us not forget that "natural" medicine stems from the study of a human corpse during the Renaissance, turning the human being into an object, under the Cartesian and mechanistic influence [1, 5]. In the nineteenth century, the:

«anatomical clinical» method "basically asserted that medicine would acquire scientific rigor when a true relationship was determined between clinical observation of the ill and anatomical injuries revealed by an autopsy after death. Clinical symptoms must be subject to anatomical injuries, which are the cornerstone of science and medical practice." ([23], p. 97)

Without undermining the importance of anatomic pathology, it becomes obvious that with this modus operandi, a substantial part of the pathological process remains hidden, unknown. The procedural correctness required of every physician, i.e., the need to acknowledge the patient and his/her entire morbid process, was limited to displaying "courtesy" with the ill person and the family. In the end, procedural correctness did not "scientifically" include the personal dimension. Indeed, the medical practice that disregards aspects of reality cannot be called "scientific," including those that a rigorous anamnesis puts forth, which must incorporate - if the physician has been adequately trained - disruptions of a biographical nature [32]. In sum, "aware that illness is almost always a 'personal story,' a deep biographical connection, and that this biography is derived from human interrelations, psychosomatic medicine becomes *dialogical and socio-genetic*" ([33], p. 235).

However, what does it mean that medicine evolves into a dialogical practice, and what about socio-genetics? Mostly, the answer lies in understanding man himself as someone who is constitutive "with the other" and that this constitutive process, his "origin," is not merely a biological and autonomous event. Just like there is genetic heritage, we will find, if we carefully analyze human growth from its inception, a far more important and instrumental heritage than the former one, which could be labelled "socio-genetic heritage" [34]. The representativeness of "affective warp" is key to understand this process and also to turn medicine into something different to what has been established to date. The neuroendocrine system will play a major role.

Psychosomatic Medicine and "the Constitution" of Man: Affective Warp

The basic condition for the psychosomatic analysis of illness is founded on understanding the way of being and constitutive process of man. If the formation of man is the autonomous organic development of each individual, becoming ill, as many physicians point out, is per force an anatomical-functional imbalance. Now then, if the constitutive process is something more complex in which the person's biological conditions intervene, developed in terms of the person's immediate surroundings due to the epigenetic zones; if primal relationships are involved not only in the formation of the psyche but of the organism itself in view of plasticity and prematurity; and if the person's decisions impact and leave their mark on his/her development, the morbid processes and their healing will also become involved in the elements that the constitutive process incorporates. The psychosomatic study, in any case, is not distinctly psychological or corporal, particularly if we consider the role of the internal brain, of man's affective background.

Science itself forces us to reconsider the constitution of the human being. That is why the question and corresponding answer given by Rof Carballo, making biology a necessary element to study man, are very significant:

To what extent does the increasingly more perfect understanding of the ultimate structure of life: mitochondria, lysosomes, ergastoplasm or the chemical substances that intervene in the endocrine and cellular nerve mechanisms, increase our comprehension of man? ([33], p. 238)

A negative response would be as inadequate as ignoring the biographical dimension. However,

The main characteristic of contemporary medicine is derived from pondering the issue of the "psyche" within the clinical practice, in other words, the conviction arising from experience that the physician does not fully satisfy his/her objective if man is not treated as an entire entity. This fundamental focal point of medicine has been called psychosomatic medicine. ([27], p. 7)

Indeed, psychosomatic understanding does not deny, but rather incorporates these contributions as comprehensive elements of human reality, which are an integral part of man's "constitutive process" ([35], p. 100). The most outstanding element of the human being in terms of its constitution – its being in the world – is the previously mentioned neonate's prematurity and defenselessness [36, 37]. From their perspective affective warp is readily comprehensible.

Some antecedents to this notion are symbiotic relationship [38], primal relationship [39], preobject relations or "a particularly favorable environment" [40], primal love [41] and the lack thereof (basic fault) [42], attachment [43], epigenetic process [44], "imprinting" [45], etc. These are not exactly overlapping terms or synonyms. It is clear all of them lead toward common ground, toward a primary fabric that becomes whole within a social weave. At their presentations, Rof established relations with almost all of them, but he always pointed out that his "warp" concept was more convenient and better adjusted to human reality, due to its wider spectrum and because it emphasized the dialogical nature from the biological root to social development [28]. To the same extent that all these concepts are related to prematurity, defenselessness, and lack of "completion" of the child's somatopsychic configuration on a neurological, endocrine, and enzymatic level [46], that "primary fabric" is the constituent element of the infant's personality. But what does Rof mean by "affective warp"?

The first thing affective warp intends to signify is the importance of the first, immediate learnings that leave a lasting impression on the child (and also on the mother or guardians as it is a transactional relationship). That impression is decisively neuroendocrine. The situation that ensues is as follows:

«Imprinting» or minting, instant learnings, teaches us, in the first place, that many of the newborn's activities *seem innate* due to the quickness with which they take place but are only partially so as they follow a learning so unexpected and fleeting that it *may go unnoticed to the observer*. Secondly, substituting the convenient scheme: on the one hand, innate behavior or *instinct*, and on the other, *learning*, separated by an unsurmountable barrier, we witness something much more complex take place: *the purpose of innate or instinct behavior* (...) *is to enable the formation or initiation of learned behavior*. ([47], p. 50)

Therefore, the *warp* can be described as follows: the special nexus between transactionally linked invalidity and diatrophic¹ love, a harmonious growth condition for the child's personality; a fundamental structure of human existence, the one used for its constitution, shaping the ultimate biological structures via interaction with the child's parents, and through them, with the cultural norms and basic guidelines of the society to which the child belongs, in order to come to terms with it [47]. This reality is indispens*able* for the completion of the person precisely due to its nature as a constitutive foundation, programmatic, and implying a substantial anatomic-physiological, immunological, enzymatic, and biochemical modification. It has the tendency of being transmitted again to new generations, as well as the summation capacity of the hominization process, that is, a most unique ontogenetic abbreviation of a lengthy phylogenetic process in the midst of which man has been able to emerge. This way, its close link with heredity processes is highlighted. Ultimately, it is a *quasi-hereditary* process, a *socio-genetic inheritance*, *or a historically conditioned hered-ity*. This primary transactional relationship is of paramount importance in the establishment of the world of perception, as a basic programmatic activity [48]. Lastly, this relationship implies not only the mutual dependency between child and mother but also the tendency to be free of her, thereby establishing an "independent and auton-omous life" ([21], p. 463).

This insight into the origin of man leads us to assert that a morbid process is of such organic, transactional, biographic, and, in the end, constitutive complexity that it requires us to scientifically approach the entire man. In keeping with Grinker's ideas. Rof states that the net distinction between individual heredity and learning patterns and their integration within the personal system is, on the one hand, difficult to determine due to the depth and quickness of what was learned or acquired from the surroundings, and on the other, the period of such integration will determine the development of a healthy, ill, or potentially ill organism [46]. But if we look for the primary concept derived from the fields of biological anthropology and ethology, it would have to be prematurity, the incomplete nature particularly of the neuroendocrine dimension, which renders the primary transactional interaction, i.e., the warp, as paramount and prominent. That is how neurological findings will lead to focus on aspects that until now were superficially or dualistically understood. Such is the case of emotion or the affective setting. The affective warp is, in fact, an enhancement of these bonds, and its center of development is the emotional brain itself, and with it, the structure of personality.

Neurology and the Psychosomatic Perspective: The Internal Brain

Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychosomatic Pathology

Contrary to the determinations of Descartes and assumed by traditional medicine in the way it analyzes the human body, life is not mechanical [49] but rather "systemic": everything has to do

¹"dια" refers to two, duality; "τροφοσ" is the dimension of nourishing and caring for. Diatrophic particularly refers to maternal-paternal love.

with everything else, and elements or "parts" cannot be disregarded without affecting the whole. In this sense, the analytical method, which seeks clarity and distinction, simplicity, is not adequate to consider the human issue at all times [50]. That is the reasoning behind "the relationships of live reality are 'transactional'" ([46], p. 765). This does not mean, however, that the analytical way of thinking has not provided major achievements in medicine; it means, as we shall see, that it disguises other facts. In keeping with numerous studies of the time [2], Rof Carballo points out that medicine has always been psychosomatic, even if the physician's mentality has been natural-scientific. In fact, the first action of any treatment is to shake hands with the patient and treat him/her personally as a unique being according to Von Leiden.

Whatever the scientific approaches, principles or theories that any prominent physician claims to believe, the truth is that objectively, as *a good clinician*, i.e., *abiding by and addressing the entire reality* in front of him, one way or another that physician will necessarily face the «personal» aspect of the human being, in other words, the patient as a person. ([47], p. 3)

The natural and personal condition of the human being is always asserted. Compared with the undeniable demand of treating the patient as "a whole man" – not merely a sick body – in pathology it has not always been this way: pathology has not always been psychosomatic.

The expression «psychosomatic pathology» has two complementary meanings. One direct and superficial: the study of human illness attending to its two aspects of realization, the psychic and the somatic; another intermediate and plenary: the scientific consideration of man's morbid conditions according to the personal nature of the psychophysical reality. [[2], p. 6)

In theoretical interpretations that are most distant from psychosomatic pathology, either only the organic dimension has been considered (natural medicine or material monism), or every pathology has been reduced to imbalances of psychological mechanics pursuant to the psychoanalytical school of thought [27]. From the patient's perspective, Rof understands that many cannot accept that: these anatomical adjustments have a «soul», or that the soul is in the person's instinctive impulses, because then, the illusion of being entirely free, the unrestricted owner of an instrument: a body, vanishes. If the body breaks down, the person wants the reason to be a random event not concerning him/her, and the only obligation is to take it where it can be repaired or wait until it fixes itself. ([29], p. 423)

Ultimately, including the biography and life's disruptions as a relevant variable in the development and way of becoming ill involves the patient, the person, both from the etiological standpoint and in terms of the therapeutic process. The ill person is committed with his/her illness and healing processes. Undoubtedly, the Hippocratic convention of this medical perspective is reflected; however, in doing so it does not lose its medical scientific nature. On the contrary, as we have seen, it is a requirement of the scientific consideration of the patient himself. That is why a writer states, and Rof reclaims, "internist physicians do not believe in psychosomatic pathology, but one day, we neurophysiologists will hand it to them done and completed, and they won't even realize it" ([46], pp. 771–772). Thus, "the incapacity of clinicians to see psychosomatic reality is not derived from an excess of pathological anatomy, but from an insufficient understanding of the anatomy of the nervous system" ([51], p. 239).

New Neuroendocrine Perspectives: The Internal Brain and Emotion

The neurological endocrine knowledge, the discovery of the internal brain, the areas affected by the child's constitution highlight the affective warp and the anthropobiological insight of writers such as Zubiri regarding the unity of the living being, radically changing the way emotion is understood and its biological and biographical place.

The first issue is to overcome Cannon's theories according to which the vegetative system has its own homeostasis, in addition to other biological consistency levels. Conscious life also has its own sphere. Well then, unity in its dual sense (temporal homeostatic and homeorhetic) is essential in the living being [26]. The quality of the living being of continuing to be itself throughout its biological-biographical disruptions is what we call the "vital tone" [52]. To "be itself" would be the psychological dimension of this same reality, the vital tone, and means "the comprehensive totality of the psyche" [18]. In biological evolution there is a progressive functional and cellular differentiation and, simultaneously, in virtue of the nervous system, a most unique unity similar to the one in unicellular beings. As we have said, this is so due to the nervous (and endocrine) system. Zubiri calls such unification the "formalization of the vital tone" (of the homeorhetic and homeostatic unit that could take place at various levels).

In this sense, the reptilian brain, the vegetative system, is an integration level of the vital tone. But it is not the only level; there is a higher one. At this superior level, more information is integrated at the internal brain. There, pursuant to well-established findings of neuroscience, the world of memories, the sphere of the senses, one's own self-image, etc. come together, including the revelation to the individual of his neighbor's world [27]. We must bear in mind that the stimulus to which the subject is more emotionally sensitive is the psychosocial stimulus (the others).

If we were to itemize the formations that are primarily responsible for the inflow of all this information, we would see that (1) they meet or coalesce in the internal brain, (2) numerous connections unite them, and (3) the thalamus, hypothalamus, hypophysis, fornix, hippocampus, the association areas of sensitivity and motor functions, the reticular formation, the frontal area of the cortex, the amygdala, etc. are not unidirectional [1]. At this special "organ of emotion," due to the type of connections established for such unification (e.g., the cortico-hypothalamic connections), information flows from bottom to top and from top to bottom. Emotion can coalesce the cardiac rhythm and conscious judgment.

When superior integration, the emotional one, is possible, the dynamics of integration prioritization enable more flexible stimuli responses, adapted to the subtleties of reality, whereas when this level is missing due to pathology or an immature brain, as in the case of children, responses become more rigid, stereotyped, and inflexible.

Therefore, the importance of emotion as a psychosomatic reality, with its own organ that integrates cognitive and conative processes in a very close relationship with the condition of basic biological systems, has been summarily described, and all of it takes place following associations or connections that cannot be labelled "causal-lineal." Ultimately, emotion from a biological standpoint is not "an 'ornament' of life; rather, it is in its most intimate substrate [...] It is not ludicrous to think that emotion is found not only at the noble pinnacle of the tree of life, but also in its humble roots, as something essential" ([53], p. 51).

From Illness to the Ill Person: Our Need

If the affective warp possesses the depth and altitude described, if emotion is so fundamentally human and psychosomatic, and if man is so biographical (temporal) and dialogical (related transactionally to others), illness belongs to "each one" in the most profound sense. That is why Rof Carballo applies Siebeck's unerring words:

The direction an illness adopts and what it implies for the destiny of a man, depends not on the "illness" itself but, fundamentally, on the man, on his attitude toward life and his situation within it. The ill person not only *has the illness*, but the man himself and his destiny *make up the illness*. Morbid history is always biographical. ([47], p. 19)

Rof finds four levels in the biographical and personal nature of the illness process that should be part of the medical history (anamnesis) [47]. Indeed, illness is just an episode in life, but it has internal and external roots.

- 1. The first stage: the history, the totality of personal life: an allergy or a trauma, all of it is prehistory. Man is more than "bio."
- 2. Man is also a compilation of obligations, renunciations, anxieties, guilt, and regrets.

This level has an anthropological ranking: it is not an individual's history, but *my history*, the person's: the totality of a life project.

- 3. Because an ill person is not someone who lives isolated, the subjective historicity mentioned previously must be expanded: the person's world is a world of coexistence, something constituent that is neither transient nor minor. It is also a source of corporal illnesses.
- 4. The last stage of the ill person's personal historicity is found in the spiritual being: the person can progress and become more perfect. The ill person already in a timeless situation is faced with the last questions of existence, including the person's personal sense and attitude toward death. Evidently, what is made patent here is the ability and certainty of the person's "reconnective" nature (connected to transcendence).

Medicine's recent history has set forth the importance of certain structures of the nervous system called the "internal brain," human prematurity and its malleability, the truth behind the affective warp as designer of the human being's psychosomatic structures, and with it the place emotion holds in human life and in the illness process itself. All this clearly shows the insufficiency of traditional or purely organ-oriented medicine. It is also clear that the entire morbid process "belongs to one person" and it is "dialogical and socio-genetic," highly individualistic, and never solitary in terms of isolation from the other, as isolation can also be a cause for illness. The analytical treatment of an "analytically" considered illness is certainly possible. However, scientifically speaking, we would be disregarding (as mentioned above) a whole array of founded assertions related to the morbid process.

In keeping with Rof's proposal in terms of the anamnesis, Laín Entralgo [54] points out that, in connection with the ill person's life, the following must be taken into account if we consider the ill person and not only the illness: (1) the patient's "non-truths" that the illness hides/shows, (2) the somatopsychic alteration it entails, and lastly (3) the spatial-temporal structure of the process: the where, when, what, why, and what for. "Why and what for,

precisely here, precisely now and precisely this way?" ([54], p. 172). The patient is someone who "suffers" need and seeks help whether he/she is fully aware of it or not. Thus, every alteration holds its own entity (nosology), a cause (etiology), and a meaning (semiotics) ([2], p. 12). Ignoring this complexity in the twenty-first century is, we might say, renouncing the use of scientific facts, not just lacking a "humanitarian attitude."

The customization of products – either goods or services – is the trend in the twenty-first century: to improve or make the life of people easier through state-of-the-art advances. Two situations immediately stand out as paradoxical after we have seen the meaning behind the fact that it is the person who becomes ill or remains healthy (not the corporal organic machine).

- 1. The customization of the digital world, enabling it to enter our private world, and as we use it, it offers us what best suits our tastes and interests.
- The quest for human enhancement to the point of overcoming every limitation, including illness and death.

In terms of the first situation, it would be worth analyzing whether satisfaction of a person's needs regardless of how personalized it becomes also results in the well-being and happiness of that person. Is maternal affection truly replaceable by "technological affection?" What does neuroscience have to say about emotions associated with personal bonds? [55] Are these superior or inferior in terms of their contribution to human happiness as compared to emotions derived from "customized" pleasure for instance? Likewise, we could question whether the technically mediated physician-patient relationship truly replaces the benefits of one person (the physician) knowing another person (the ill person) [56]. To what extent does entering the symptoms in a computer program and establishing a diagnosis replace the decisively biographical nature of the anamnesis we mentioned above? We understand the questions raised are proportional to the environment we are in.

The second situation could seem to some people as something closer to fiction than to reality. But there are a large number of physicians focused on the study of human enhancement. It so happens that the limitations of a human being are derived almost completely (as far as science can attain) from the human being's organic, corporal condition. Therefore, science together with technology would be able to overcome those limitations. In other words, if it encounters no organic limitations (*res extensa*), the unlimited and perfect mind (*res cogitans*) is seeking a "space-time" in which to place itself that does not limit its possibilities and is not reachable by illness and, ultimately, by death.

Psychosomatic medicine, knowledgeable of the specific man, understands that disincarnation of the mind means losing the true man. As we pointed out [6], the key is not so much in the distinction of mind and brain, but rather in the relationship, interrelation, or duality of the psyche and soma. It therefore follows that the mind, the psyche rather, is not a constituted entity but one that always comes into being through an affective relationship with others. Perhaps overcoming the limitations imposed by the soma (man is "subject to illness") would be the annihilation of the human essence (to some, exceeding the human essence). But it is also possible that such a situation would generate forever unhappy beings, existing with a basic fault [42] or without primal love [41], that which allows them to know and feel goodness within themselves [57].

References

- Rof Carballo J. Cerebro interno y mundo emocional. Madrid: Labor S.A.; 1952.
- Laín Entralgo P. Introducción Histórica al estudio de la Patología Psicosomática. Madrid: Paz Moltalvo; 1950.
- Goffi JY. From "better than well" to "more than human". In: Giroux É, editor. Naturalism in the philosophy of health, history, philosophy and theory of the life sciences. Cham: Springer; 2016.
- Arana J. La conciencia inexplicada. Ensayo sobre los límites de la comprensión naturalista de la mente. Madrid: Biblioteca Nueva; 2015.
- Blanco C. Historia de la Neurociencia. El conocimiento del cerebro y de la mente desde una perspectiva interdisciplinar. Madrid: Biblioteca Nueva; 2014.
- 6. Martínez PC. What is understood by "neural correlate" in mind-brain relations. In: Gargiulo P, Mesones

Arroyo H, editors. Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update update. Cam: Springer; 2019. p. 73–81.

- 7. Dantzer R. L'illusion psychosomatique. Paris: O. Jacob; 1989.
- Martínez Priego C. Neurociencia y afectividad. La psicología de Juan Rof Carballo. Barcelona: Eramus; 2012.
- Lobo A, Blanch J, Campos R, Farré JM, Gómez-Reino I, Lobo E, et al. Psychosomatic psychiatry in Spain: historical notes and the state of the art. In: Leigh H, editor. Global psychosomatic medicine and consultation-liaison psychiatry. Cham: Springer; 2019. p. 295–327.
- Mestre MV, Carpintero H. Psicólogos españoles: Juan V. Viquiera López (1886–1924). Revista de Historia de la Psicología. 1982;3(2):133–56.
- Rof CJ. Autopercepción intelectual de un proceso histórico: Autobiografía intelectual. Anthropos. 1993;141:27–41.
- Miralles JL. Antecedentes de la Obra de E. Mira y López en la Fisiología Catalana del Siglo XIX. Revista de Historia de la Psicología. 1980;1(1):89–120.
- Kurowski M. Christofredo Jakob y Juan Cuatrecasas en la ciencia argentina. Revista de Historia de la Psicología. 2001;22(3–4):399–405.
- Giral F. Ciencia española en el exilio (1939–1989). Barcelona: Anthropos; 1994.
- Jiménez Casado M. Doctor Jiménez Díaz. Vida y obra: la persecución de un sueño. Madrid: Fundación Conchita Rebago de Jiménez Díaz; 1993.
- Fernández Teijeiro JJ. Nóvoa Santos (1885–1933): "Psicopatología y emoción". Revista de Historia de la Psicología. 1994;15(3–4):157–64.
- Frutos A. Angel Garma en el Instituto psicoanalítico de Berlín. Revista de Historia de la Psicología. 1994;15(1–2):199–208.
- Rof Carballo J. Patología Psicosomática. Madrid: Paz Montalvo; 1949.
- Laín EP. Díptico sobre Juan Rof. Anthropos. 1993;141:49–52.
- Rof Carballo J. Zubiri como biólogo. In: Homenaje a Xavier Zubiri. Madrid: Revista Alcalá; 1953. p. 209–25.
- 21. Rof Carballo J. Biología y psicoanálisis. Bilbao: Desclée de Brouwer; 1972.
- 22. Scheler M. El puesto del hombre en el cosmos. Buenos Aires: Losada; 1938.
- López Piñero JM. Historia de la Medicina. Madrid: Historia 16; 1990.
- MacLean D. Psychosomatic disease and the visceral brain; recent developments bearing on the Papez theory of emotion. Psychosom Med. 1949;11(6): 338–53.
- MacLean D. The limbic system (visceral brain) in relation to central gray and reticulum of the brain stem; evidence of interdependence in emotional processes. Psychosom Med. 1955;17(5):355–66.
- Rof Carballo, J. Hacia una nueva endocrinología. Madrid: Anales de la Real Academia de Medicina (Discurso de entrada en la Real Academia); 1969.

- Rof Carballo J. El punto de vista psicosomático. Rev Ibys. 1954;12(1):7–31.
- Martínez Priego C. Hombre, urdimbre y personalidad en Rof Carballo. Madrid: Psicología; 2009.
- Rof Carballo J. Bases filosóficas y psiquiátricas de la Medicina Psicosomátifca. Arbor. 1956a;35(132):403–26.
- Rof Carballo J. Cerebro interno y sociedad. Madrid: Ateneo; 1956.
- Rof Carballo J. Cincuenta años de Medicina Psicosomática. Madrid: Real Academia de Medicina (Discurso); 1984.
- Rof Carballo J. Medicina y humanismo: perspectivas. Revista de Occidente. 1985;47:48–64.
- Rof Carballo J. La situación contemporánea de la comprensión médica del hombre. Boletín de Patología Médica. 1967;7(6):234–54.
- Rof Carballo J. Factores biológicos del futuro del hombre. Medicina e Historia. 1964;3–15.
- Rof Carballo J. Veinte años después. Hacia una Patología Clínica del Cerebro Interno. Anales de la Real Academia de Medicina y Cirugía de Valladolid. 1972;10(1):93–123.
- Portman A. Entlasst die Natur den Menschen? Gesammelte Aujsdtze zur Biologie und Anthropologie. München; 1970.
- Padial J. Principios físicos, biológicos y cognoscitivos. Naturaleza y Libertad. 2016;7:227–38.
- Spitz R. Hospitalism. Psychoanal Study Child. 1945;1:53–74.
- Newmann E. The great mother: an analysis of the archetype. Princeton: Princeton University Press; 1972.
- Winnicott DW. The theory of the parent-infant relationship. Int J Psychoanal. 1960;41:585–95.
- Balint M. Primary love and psycho-analytic technique: [reimp: 2003, Routledge]; 1965.
- Balint M. The Basic Fault: Therapeutic Aspects of Regression: [reimp: 1992, Northwestern University Press]; 1968.

- Bowlby J. Attachment and loss. New York: Basic Books; 1968.
- 44. Waddongton CH. Genetic assimilation of an acquired character. Evolution. 1953;7(2):118–26.
- Lorenz K. Fundamentos de Etología. Estudio comparado de las conductas. Barcelona: Paidós; 1986.
- Rof Carballo J. Influencia de las ideas psicosomáticas en la medicina interna. Rev Psicol Gen Apl. 1961;16(60):765–75.
- Rof Carballo J. Urdimbre afectiva y enfermedad. Introducción a una Medicina Dialógica. Barcelona: Labor S.A.; 1961.
- Rof CJ. El hombre como encuentro. Madrid: Alfaguara; 1973.
- Alexander F. Psychological aspects of medicine. Pshychosom Mede. 1939;1(1):7–18.
- 50. Polo L. Quién es el hombre. Un espíritu en el tiempo. Madrid: Rialp; 2003.
- 51. Rof CJ. El hombre a prueba. Madrid: Paz Montalvo; 1952.
- 52. Zubiri X. El hombre, realidad personal. Revista de Occidente. 1963;1:5–29.
- 53. Rof Carballo J. Anhedonia y alexitimia. Real Academia Nacional de Medicina. 1992;59:149–61.
- Laín Entralgo P. El diagnóstico médico. Historia y Teoría. Barcelona: Salvat; 1982.
- Romero-Iribas A, Martínez Priego C. Could we think about friendship relationships without emotions? The other-oriented emotions. European Proce Soc Behav Sci. 2019;52:9–21.
- 56. López Piñero JM. Los estudios de Laín Entralgo sobre la relación entre médicos y enfermos. In Anales; 2007–2008; Valencia: Reial Acadèmia de Medicina de la Comunitat Valenciana.
- 57. Rof Carballo J. Violencia y ternura. Madrid: Espasa Calpe, S. A; 1987.



10

From Phenomenological Psychopathology to Phenomenological Psychiatry: The Cases of Schizophrenia and Substance Misuse

Guilherme Messas and Melissa Tamelini

Introduction

Psychopathology is a foundational science of psychiatry, born with the task of assessing the patient's abnormal experiences from their own perspective and transposing such forms of consciousness into general and intelligible categories, to be shared as a body of knowledge [1]. This body of knowledge will be the basis of the different moments of the psychiatric act, and it is possible to point out a relationship of determination and mutuality in the implications between the psychopathological discipline and the psychiatric practice. Psychiatry is the raison d'être of psychopathology as a science, once it cannot ignore at its birth a conceptual understanding of the forms of consciousness that will be characterized as mental pathology [2].

There is a plurality of methodological proposals in the field of psychopathology and in the history of psychiatry. Different views of psychiatric illness have oscillated regarding their acceptance in culture [3]. Phenomenological psychopathology is one of them and its project of psychopathology began in the 1920s of the last century,

Santa Casa de São Paulo School of Medical Sciences, São Paulo, Brazil

e-mail: guilherme.messas@fcmsantacasasp.edu.br

M. Tamelini Hospital das Clínicas, Faculty of Medicine, University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil based on Husserl's philosophical elaborations, which started to be drawn a few decades earlier and had a broad repercussion on the cultural context of the time. Eventually Husserlian methodology was incorporated into several disciplines, including psychopathology. In this specific field, it had a significant impact, as its epistemological foundations were a close match to the rigorous purposes of a scientific investigation of mental disorders [4].

The fundamental epistemological assumption behind phenomenological psychopathology is that mental disorders are a transformation of all existence - and not just of isolated psychic functions - or a disturbance of the experienced world rooted in transformations of the aprioristic structures of consciousness. In other words, phenomenology provides the elucidation of psychopathological conditions as modifications of the main dimensions of the life-world, such as temporality, spatiality, corporeality, and intersubjectivity. These structures are the underlying constituents of experience - its conditions of possibility - inherently vulnerable to pathological modifications [5]. Their examination marks a stage of greater maturity of psychopathology as an autonomous science [6].

Over almost a century, the phenomenological contribution in psychopathology has elaborated a unique conception of the psychiatric object [7]. Among the authors of the phenomenological tradition are names such as Minkowski, Binswanger,

G. Messas (🖂)

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_10

Von Gebsattel, Blankenburg, and Tellenbach, whose works have contributed to the construction of a sophisticated form of empirical science that aims to provide the basis for pragmatic objectives without failing to consider intimate links with anthropological reflections [8]. In a first moment, this pragmatic role of phenomenological psychopathology was more restricted to the diagnostic sphere, but, more recently, we can see the expansion of the frontiers of phenomenological research agenda in psychiatry towards the development of therapeutic strategies that target the whole of existence in their actions.

The transposition of scientific findings of phenomenological psychopathology to psychiatric therapeutic is more precisely a new feature in contemporary literature. Two complementary historical contingencies, one external and the other internal to the phenomenological field, contribute to the expansion of the epistemological scope already rooted in the psychiatric tradition, but still largely unexplored. On the one hand, psychiatry is compelled to reflect on its own foundations, given the explicit conceptual weaknesses of the neopositive model in driving clinical practice. At a time like this, not exactly a novelty in the psychiatric field, marked by the instability of the dominant paradigm, there is always a window of opportunity for dissonant views. In the midst of this scenario, phenomenological program returned to focus, in a "unique position" [9], capable of fostering the emergence of an alternative epistemological project that allow psychiatric praxis to be based on more solid foundations [10]. On the other hand, internally to the phenomenological field, since their scientific findings make up an advanced form of psychopathology, there is no reason to dissociate it from the conception of therapeutic strategies. The elucidation of the essential modifications underlying mental disorders traditionally linked to diagnostic purposes [4] can contribute with the same competence in conceptual and therapeutic debate. That is, the transposition of scientific findings of phenomenological psychopathology to psychiatric therapeutic field is a feasible and opportune attempt "not only because of the historical legacy of phenomenology but above all its living potential to deal with the dilemmas and challenges still in force in psychiatry today" [11].

Even though any psychopathological enterprise establishes its project of treatment intrinsically, only recently it can be observed less hesitancy to proceed phenomenological oriented studies focused on therapeutics, especially on psychopharmacology. There are recent articles proposing hypotheses in line with the fundamental understanding that "core insights into the disorder result as well as core treatment implications" [12]. In order to illustrate the viability of a psychiatric praxis of phenomenological orientation, from the diagnostic act to the design of therapeutic guidelines, and highlight its relevance to clinical psychiatry today, we will present the case of schizophrenia and substance misuse. The choice of these two conditions does not obey any specific logic; it only refers to fields in which such an attempt was preliminarily explored.

Schizophrenia

Psychopathology becomes, in fact, phenomenological when taking advantage of methodological alternatives that allow the investigation of the aprioristic structures of consciousness (Minkowski, 2000) [13]. These fundamental constituents of experience are inherently vulnerable to changes and the different psychopathological entities derived from prototypical kinds of disarticulation of such structures [5]. It is within the aforementioned aprioristic structures, like temporality, spatiality, corporeality, and intersubjectivity, that, in fact, the schizophrenic fundamental modification will be established, providing coherence to the multiple phenomena typifying this psychopathological entity [14].

Although there is no essential notion capable of satisfactorily summarizing the entire phenomenological understanding of the schizophrenic condition in the literature, there is a conceptual affinity between the classical views (of authors such as Minkowski, Kimura, and Blankenburg) and contemporary views that allow us to have a "reasonably coherent vision of schizophrenic disorders" [15]. The convergence of these psychopathological investigations was synthesized by Sass and Parnas [16], in the ipseity-disturbance model. According to it, schizophrenia is characterized by instability and transformations in the most primordial and irreducible dimension of selfhood (ipseity), and these transformations allow an integrative understanding of key phenomena in the schizophrenic experience, such as hyper-reflexivity, diminished self-affection, and lack of common sense [17, 18].

Regarding schizophrenia as a particular disturbance of aprioristic structures of consciousness, the clinical targets for antipsychotics can be considered in terms of their impact and modification also in this fundamental dimension of consciousness. Empirically, know we that schizophrenia notoriously has a lifetime course, even when appropriate therapeutic measures are in place, which indicates that these drugs are limited in terms of the integral restitution of the modifications of the aprioristic structures of consciousness. Moreover, antipsychotics are often effective in reducing manifestations like delusions in schizophrenics. In phenomenological terms, delusion is seen as a response to the ontological need to stabilize the field of experience at the imminence of its full-blown disintegration or an immanent possibility of providing "a new foundation for the aprioristic sense of continuity, familiarity and stability of the field of experience" [10]. Therefore, it is reasonable to assume an equivalence between the phenomenological compensation given by the emergence of delusion and the action of antipsychotic drugs, even by different paths.

We can hypothesize that this therapeutic action can take place in the field of corporeality, more particularly in the lived body. In schizophrenia, there is a "disembodiment of the self in the sense of losing one's implicit body functioning, and with it the prereflective, questionless being-in-the-world that is mediated by the body" [19]. Among these radical disturbances in the consciousness, corporeality is an immediate counterpoint to the disintegration tendencies inherent to schizophrenia. The prominence of corporeality induced by pharmacotherapy can forge a new stability to ipseity and thus guarantee a primary point of articulation in the experiential field, since being a body is to be already necessarily connected to a world [20].

The possible benefits of replacing an intrinsic restorative element (delusion) with a supplementary element (pharmacological action) include the possibility of an earlier and more controlled process of restructuring consciousness in a field of instability. In theory, antipsychotics could minimize deleterious repercussions, well demonstrated by the existential price arising from the typically ubiquitous invasion of delusion into the whole of experience, and also mitigate other developments typical to the prolongation of unstable existential conditions, such as dissolution into fragmented forms (severe hebephrenia) or suicide. Thus, pharmacological treatment would represent an anthropological advantage over the schizophrenic natural forms of recomposition. Its major purpose would be the anthropological restitution of consciousness by means of a path, at first, less pervasive and less paralyzing.

Substance Misuse

Substance misuse is a highly complex condition, which comprehends a wide range of behaviors, from acute misuse to severe substance dependence syndromes. Though this is a still mostly unexplored field of research in phenomenological psychopathology, some recent contributions have been offering a frame for a clinical care based on phenomenological psychopathology [21]. As we will develop in the following, a comprehensive care for substance misuse relies on the recognition of the main anthropological modifications, crucial for all the deleterious effects of substance misuse. In order to better understand this contribution, we shall first shortly present two core characteristics of substance misuse and, having this in mind, summarize some consequences of this finding for clinical care.

Anthropological Hyperpresentification

Anthropological hyperpresentification means an excessive participation of the present dimension of temporality in human consciousness, whose consequence is the reduction of the participation of the past and the future in consciousness. This restriction of existence to the present makes consciousness unstable, which may produce many psychopathological experiences, as, for example, mood oscillations, or even contribute to hinder the existential ability for projection into an authentic future.

As a consequence, we propose that the aim of a substance misuse care is to help patients to avoid getting dominated by the present dimension of the temporality. The psychiatrist/clinical psychologist should strive to prevent the patient from being held hostage by a cycle of continuous present.

Excessive participation in the present can be tackled, for instance, by augmenting engagement with the future, by a psychotherapeutic process. This process must follow the psychopathological characteristics of the temporality of the patient. It must draw on the patient's hyperpresentification to establish some meaningful contact point with him or her. The clinician must act on immediate temporality, taking an intense and direct contact with the patient.

Treatment of substance misuse is therefore a process that gradually establishes a broader temporality, enabling the emergence of a kind of biographical "becoming."

Anthropological Plenitude

Anthropological plenitude depicts the experience of substance misusers of seeking substances to produce an experience of wholeness. Substance misuse consists of a surrender to the absolute, a merging with a one-dimensional experience of reality, that distorts the characteristic profile of human existence. This dominance of the absolute may be manifested in different ways in substance misuse, like the complete indifference regarding the world, typical of heavy cannabis users. From an existential point of view, one could say that cannabis use promotes a state of satiated plenitude in the consciousness, from which not only conflicts are expelled but also all personal desires and anxieties.

This state of satiated plenitude prevents the necessary existential confrontation with its life contradictions. Rather than a life in which decisions and renouncements constantly present themselves, the world appears to be full and doubt-free. Consequently, the aim of the clinical care is to reinstate in the patient the capacity to experience the different perspectives that exist in each experience. Treatment consists of reinstating the ability to doubt, to inhabit an essentially complex world, where a subject's experiences definition, intersubjective are, by and multifarious.

Conclusion

The immediate challenge of phenomenology in the current scenario of psychiatry is to intellectually help overcome the narrow biological vision of the patient and to promote the resumption of the humanist tradition historically established in the field. Since its incorporation into psychopathology in the 1920s, phenomenology has been the vigorous antithesis of reductive tendencies in the field, and the move from phenomenological psychopathology to phenomenological psychiatry can be a resumption of psychiatry on more complex bases. Once phenomenology observes the human being as a whole existence, it presents all the conditions to assume a central role in the contemporary psychiatric scenario.

What seems to be at stake in the present conjuncture is not only the resumption of the emphasis on pure psychopathological research, but the broad integration of phenomenology with clinical praxis as a whole. Especially attuned with current aspirations for change in psychiatry field, we present two brief examples of how phenomenology can contribute to the productive development of therapeutic strategies and, thus, make modern psychiatry effective as a practice that allies strong humanist appeal to the technological apparatus in the care of mental pathologies.

References

- Blankenburg W. La psicopatología como ciencia básica de la psiquiatría. Rev Chil Neuro-psiquiat. 1983;21(3):177–88.
- de Leon J. Is psychiatry only neurology? Or only abnormal psychology? Déjà vu after 100 years. Acta Neuropsychiatr. 2015;27(2):69–81.
- Tamelini MG, Messas GP. Phenomenological psychopathology in contemporary psychiatry: interfaces and perspectives. Rev Latinoam Psicopatol Fundam. 2017;20(1):165–80.
- Binswanger L. Sobre Fenomenologia. In: Artículos y conferencias escogidas. España: Gredos; 1973. p. 14–45.
- Fuchs T, Schlimme JE. Embodiment and psychopathology: a phenomenological perspective. Curr Opin Psychiatry. 2009;22(6):570–5.
- Stanghellini G. The meanings of psychopathology. Curr Opin Psychiatry. 2009;22(6):559–64.
- Parnas J, Sass LA, Zahavi D. Rediscovering psychopathology: the epistemology and phenomenology of the psychiatric object. Schizoph Bull. 2012;39(2):270–7.
- Naudin J. La psychiatrie phénoménologique: une anthropologie de la vie quotidienne. PSN. 2003;1(2):47–52.
- Parnas J, Zahavi D. The role of phenomenology in psychiatric diagnosis and classification. In: Maj M, Gaebel W, López-Ibor JJ, Sartorius N, editors. Psychiatric diagnosis and classification. New York: Wiley; 2002. p. 137–62.

- Tamelini MG, Messas GP. On the phenomenology of delusion: the revelation of its aprioristic structures and the consequences for clinical practice. Psicopatol Fenomenol Contemp. 2016;5(1):1–21.
- Tamelini MG, Messas GP. Pharmacological treatment of schizophrenia in light of phenomenology. Philos Psychiatr Psychol. 2019;26(2):133–42.
- 12. Moskalewicz M, Schwartz MA. Temporal experience in mania. Phenomenol Cogn Sci. 2018:1–14.
- Minkowski E. La Esquizofrenia: psicopatologia de los esquizóides y los esquizofrénicos. México: Fondo de Cultura Económica; 2000.
- Messas G. Psicopatologia e transformação: um esboço fenômeno-estrutural. São Paulo: Casa do Psicólogo; 2004.
- Sass LA. Self and world in schizophrenia: three classic approaches. Philos Psychiatr Psychol. 2001;8(4):251–70.
- Sass LA, Parnas J. Schizophrenia, consciousness and the self. Schizophr Bull. 2003;29(3):427–44.
- Stanghellini G. Disembodied spirits and deanimated bodies: the psychopathology of common sense. Oxford University Press; 2004.
- Nelson B, Raballo A. Basic self-disturbance in the schizophrenia spectrum: taking stock and moving forward. Psychopathology. 2015;48(5):301–9.
- Fuchs T. Phenomenology and psychopathology. In: Schmicking D, Gallagher S, editors. Handbook of phenomenology and Cognitive science. New York: Springer; 2010. p. 546–73.
- Merleau-Ponty M. Phenomenology of perception. Motilal Banarsidass Publishe; 1996.
- Messas G, Fukuda L, Pienkos E. A phenomenological contribution to substance misuse treatment: principles for comprehensive care. Psychopathology. 2019;52(2):85–93.



11

The Notion of Person in Neuroscience: From Cognitivism to a Comprehensive Phenomenology

Javier Bernacer and Francisco Güell

Introduction

Neuroscience is committed to change our lives hopefully for the better. The main goal of neuroscientists is to unveil the extreme complexity of the brain in order to understand the material correlates of the mind: this would be the final step to cure - and not only alleviate - devastating mental disorders such as schizophrenia, autism, addiction, or depression, for instance. In recent years, this thirst for knowledge is also intended to enhance human beings, that is, to push evolution forward and improve our abilities (i.e., memory, intelligence), reaching a post-human species. Further, extravagant non-academic voices assure that imminent advances in neuroscience will end up with mind uploading, that is, transferring memories and consciousness to an artificial device, so "we" could live forever (see [1] for a critical view on this issue).

The core of our text is the *we* between quotes in the previous sentence. The most common term to refer to human beings from a holistic point of view is "person," which is a synonym of "human being" according to most dictionaries: Cambridge Dictionary, "a man, woman or child"; Merriam-Webster, "human, individual"; Lexico, "a human being regarded as an individual"; and Spanish Royal Academy of the Language, "individual belonging to the human species". The Collins dictionary includes an interesting third sense: "if you talk about someone as a person, you are considering them from the point of view of their real nature." It might be clear for everyone that any man, woman, or child is a person. However, what about someone whose abilities have been enhanced with a microchip? Or a mentally ill patient who cannot distinguish good from evil? Or an individual in an irreversible coma? Using the fictional scenario mentioned in the previous paragraph, we could also wonder whether an artificial device that contains someone's consciousness is a person. The concept of person is easily grasped by lay people. However, it becomes more obscure when it is object of research. The attribution of personhood to an individual is not trivial at all, since it confers a set of rights and duties that are fundamental: for instance, the word "persona" is used 32 times in the 30 articles of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights of the United Nations in its version in Spanish.

How can neuroscience contribute to the concept of person? As we will briefly explain in the next section, neuroscience aims to study the nervous system, at both a morphological and a functional level. Thus, its field is quite reduced. In fact, searching the terms "person neuroscience," "neuroscience of the person," and "neuroscience and the person" in PubMed does not yield any entry. Personhood is a rare topic of interest in

J. Bernacer (🖂) · F. Güell

Mind-Brain Group, Institute for Culture and Society (ICS), University of Navarra, Pamplona, Spain e-mail: jbernacer@unav.es; fguell@unav.es

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_11

neuroscience. However, the recent field of neuroethics is entering into the debate of which human beings should be granted the attribute of person and which should not. This discipline intends to merge the findings of neuroscientific research with certain philosophical interpretations to reach a definition of person that can be useful for neuroscience itself. Therefore, we will explain the techniques that are at neuroscience's disposal to explore the possible neural substrate of personhood. With respect to the philosophical interpretations of the concept of person, we will summarize how this notion has been understood by the main currents of thought. This is necessary to put into context the view held by neuroethics. Next, we will show how neuroethics may draw dramatic conclusions from poorly interpreted neuroscientific results and a restricted philosophical interpretation of personhood. It should be considered that decisions arising from neuroethics committees are very influential, since they advise governments and international boards to regulate medical and scientific practices. Finally, we will present a different interplay between philosophy and neuroscience to reach a comprehensive notion of person, promoting interdisciplinary research from a phenomenological perspective.

The concept of person in neuroscience is an extremely important topic. Even though most neuroscientists may believe that the attribution of personhood to human beings is irrelevant for their research, they must keep in mind that psychiatrists, neurologists, and psychologists, for instance, are *taking care of persons*. For that reason, a careful interdisciplinary research on the concept of person should be considered as an important piece of translational research.

Current Neuroscience Techniques to Explore the Human Brain

On July 18, 1990, President George Bush formally proclaimed the "Decade of the Brain," a 10-year period aimed to boost research on the nervous system, neurological, and mental disorders. Currently, optimism and interest on the neurosciences are experiencing a new breakthrough after the announcement of Obama's BRAIN Initiative (https://www.braininitiative. nih.gov/) and the European Commission's Human Brain Project (https://www.humanbrain-project.eu/en/). The ultimate goal of these gigantic projects is to give economic support to emerging and promising techniques to study the anatomy and physiology of the brain, in both humans and non-human animals. This would allow us to *start* understanding how this complex organ works as a whole and its relationship with cognition. Before explaining the available techniques to explore the human brain, we would like to clarify what neuroscience is.

Neuroscience, also used in its plural form, is the study of the nervous system of human and non-human animals. Even though some disciplines within this field of knowledge may seem purely descriptive, such as neuroanatomy, they all have a functional focus and are oriented to a better understanding of neural activity. In other words, neuroscience studies the nervous system as the material substrate of the cognitive, motor, and motivational aspects of behavior. Nowadays, medical doctors, psychologists, biologists, biochemists, geneticists, engineers, and computer experts, among many others, combine efforts to push neuroscience forward. With respect to the nervous system, it is organized in a central - the brain and spinal cord - and a peripheral-nerves and ganglia distributed throughout the bodycomponent in humans, as well as in many other species. Neurons are the individual cells that capture most of neuroscience's attention, although they are outnumbered and crucially supported by glial cells, in both the peripheral and central divisions of the nervous system. In turn, there is an increasing interest in glia, since several studies have highlighted their importance in neuronal communication (see, e.g., [2]). In any case, due to the relevance for the arguments presented below, we will briefly explain why neurons are so special.

Neuronal membrane has a negative electrical charge because their inner milieu has a different composition than the surrounding extracellular liquid. This is maintained at a high energetic cost through transmembrane channels and ionic pumps. In fact, membrane potential (i.e., electrical charge) may change after the opening and closing of these channels. These phenomena are not unique to neurons. The distinctive feature of neural cells, what makes them different to others, is the ability to communicate this membrane potential change between each other through a chemical signal. This process is called chemical synapse. A prototypical neuron has a soma that contains the nucleus and main organelles, a dendritic tree where the electrical change is received from another neuron or an external stimulus, and an axon or thin "biological cable" through which the electrical impulse is transferred to another neuron or a muscle fiber. When this impulse reaches the final part of the axon, certain calcium channels open and result in the release of a chemical substance: the neurotransmitter. This is specifically received by some receptors in the dendrites of nearby neurons, which entails the opening of ionic channels and the membrane potential change in the postsynaptic neuron. Hence, the electrical signal has been converted into chemical by the presynaptic neuron, and the chemical signal has been converted again into electrical by the postsynaptic cell. This electrical current traveling through and between neurons is the neural impulse or "neural information." This is, in a few words, the basis of neuronal communication and, in some intricate way that we could never grasp, the material substrate of cognition and behavior.

This extremely brief neuroanatomical and neurophysiological description is necessary to support the following assertion: *neuroscience does not have a proper technique to study the functionality of the nervous system in normal conditions in humans.* We use the term "normal" in two senses: (1) as non-pathological, that is, healthy conditions, and (2) as realistic situations that are similar to everyday behaviors.

Below, we describe the main techniques to study the function of the human brain: functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), positron emission tomography (PET), electroencephalography (EEG), and intracranial recordings. Currently, fMRI is the most frequently used neuroimaging technique [3]. Its outcome is the

widely disseminated photo of a black-and-white brain with red blobs, showing which brain areas are "active" in a particular situation. The reader may find surprising that this is an erroneous statement: as a matter of fact, our whole brain is active at any single moment of our lives. The idea that we only use 10% of our brains is a *neuromyth* [4]: if it were true, 90% of our brains would be dead tissue due to the "use it or lose it" law [5]. Then, what do we measure in an fMRI experiment? In a nutshell, we assess where in the brain there is an increase of oxygen supply in the event of interest of the task that our volunteers are performing within the scanner. For example, if we want to know which brain area is involved in looking at an angry face, we will sequentially show angry and neutral faces to our participants while being scanned. Then, after processing the signal, we will evaluate where in the brain oxygen supply is statistically higher when they looked at angry faces with respect to when they looked at neutral faces: in this case, we will probably find a red blob in a brain nucleus called amygdala. Therefore, that red blob is not a *direct* indicator of neuronal activity, but the result of a statistical analysis on the oxygen that reaches brain tissue through blood vessels. Obviously, rigorous studies carried out in laboratory animals have demonstrated that this indirect signal is a proper indicator of direct measures [6]. The technique is reliable - but it does not record neuronal activity.

PET is also a neuroimaging technique, although its basis is utterly different: first, a radioactive substance (also known as radioligand, e.g., a radioactively tagged glucose) must be intravenously injected in the participants [7]. Then, they are asked to perform a task (e.g., memorizing words) outside the scanner. Finally, they are scanned and the brain regions where the radioligand has accumulated are located. In this case, we assume that the brain areas more active while memorizing words had a higher energy expenditure, and they needed a higher glucose supply. Hence, those parts of the brain with larger quantities of radioactive glucose would be more active during the task. Note that whereas fMRI provides a set of images in time, as in a movie,

PET imaging offers a single image, like a snapshot. There are several radioligands that provide a better temporal resolution, but the final result turns out to be the same: an indirect measure of neural activity.

EEG had its inception in 1924, many decades before the development of fMRI and PET. In this case, however, it is a more direct recording of brain activity, since we can measure on the scalp the subtle electrical changes produced by small group of neurons that are jointly activated [8]. The main limitation of this technique is spatial accuracy: since we record the signal on the top of the head, we do not know exactly where in the brain it is coming from. Intracranial recordings, however, allow the researcher to directly measure the activity of small groups of neurons or even individual cells [9]. This technique is frequently used in laboratory animals, from rodents to nonhuman primates: after neurosurgery, a thin electrode is introduced in a specific brain region and the activation or inhibition pattern of individual neurons can be assessed in different experimental conditions. Given this, how is it possible to carry this out in human beings? This technique is exclusively used in patients that need a neurosurgical procedure due to a neurological or mental condition - epilepsy, Parkinson's disease, or depression, for example. At the time of surgery, and obviously after providing informed consent, the patient may be asked to perform a task while the researcher records neuronal activity in those brain regions exposed for the intervention. Therefore, the great advantage of directly measuring neuronal activity goes hand-in-hand with two important limitations: to be restricted to pathological samples and to have access only to those brain areas where surgery will take place.

In conclusion, despite the optimism emanating from neuroscience and the enormous resources invested in its development, neuroscientists are in a precarious position with respect to the grandeur of the object of their research: it is not just the challenge of reaching a comprehensive vision of the 86 billion neurons contained in the brain, but also the impossibility of studying directly their activity in normal conditions. It is plausible that the capital invested in the flagship projects about the brain could finally provide us with an ideal technique to analyze neural function, but nowadays this is a wish rather than a distant reality. When the moment comes, we should decide what aspects of cognition or behavior can be studied with this ideal technique, and we will need to keep thinking in depth whether neuroscience by itself can fully answer the big questions that human beings can ask. Let us suppose that we already have such technique and we want to study *personhood*: what notion of person shall we take as starting point? Being humble and honest, we will have to turn to sources of knowledge that have been studying this problem for centuries.

Concept of Person in the History of Philosophy: An Overview

An exhaustive description of the notion of person throughout the history of philosophy is clearly beyond the scope of this text. In this section, we will present a brief overview of the main traditions that have dealt with the issue: ancient Greek philosophy, Christian Medieval thought, rationalism and empiricism, German idealism, personalism, phenomenology, and current bioethics, which is focused on materialism (for a deeper analysis on the topic, we recommend the recent excellent book by Amengual [10]). Even though we will overlook those trends lacking of a fundamental contribution to our topic of interest - that is, the neuroscientific study of the person – the historical evolution of the concept will be essential to understand the concept of person underlying mainstream neuroscience.

In general terms, two parallel lines – with some overlapping branches – can be traced in the philosophical notion of person: on the one hand, there is a metaphysical approach on the concept, which aims to clarify who bears which distinctive features to be considered as a person, and, on the other hand, the moral approach assumes that the person is the agent of moral decisions [10]. In Greek philosophy, the term is not present as such, since the main focus was on the universal rather than in the particular aspect of beings. However, Romans start using the term to refer to legal subjects; this is still in use: persons are carriers of rights and duties. Boethius (circa 480-524) was the first philosopher to clearly define the person as "individual substance with rational nature" [11]. He, as well as his scholastic Christian successors, faced a mystery that went well beyond the human mind or brain: the possibility of a single God existing as three persons and the fact that Christ could be one person with two different natures - human and divine. Since this discussion is theological rather than anthropological, we will ignore it. Before that, it is worth noting that influential scholars such as Augustine (354-430), Richard of Saint Victor (?-1173), and Thomas Aquinas (1225-1274) stress the relational character of persons or intersubjectivity: the distinctive feature of persons is to recognize themselves and, immediately, to recognize others as such. Modern philosophy identifies personhood with consciousness. For Descartes (1596-1650), the body - res extensa - is a mere burden, and it is the thinking substance, res cogitans, including perceptions and desires, that identifies with the subject [12]. According to him, there are no persons, but subjects and objects. John Locke (1632–1704) embraces this change of perspective and elaborates the notion of person that is currently assumed by neuroscience.

According to Locke, person is "a thinking intelligent being, that has reason and reflection, and can consider itself as itself, the same thinking thing, in different times and places" [13]. Hence, the defining features of a person are consciousness and memory: it is necessary selfconsciousness at a given time point, but also the assembly of these experiences by memory. Persons are nothing but this. Thus, the notion of person distances from that of human being. This puts into question that a mentally ill human being, whose consciousness or memory is impaired, should be considered a person. Furthermore, following the Cartesian heritage, the relational aspect of personhood is overlooked. German idealism takes and enriches this supremacy of consciousness. Kant (1724-1804) initiates the interpretation of persons as moral agents. He starts divorcing the concept of person from classical notions such as substance and soul, setting it apart from theoretical reflection. According to Kantian philosophy, the person should be studied under the scope of the metaphysics of freedom: moral law is a fact of pure reason that does not need demonstration, and its manifestation is freedom. It is expressed as individual free actions, carried out by a concrete agent: a person. Besides, since this is a universal law, it entails the starting point of intersubjectivity. Hence, the person is the moral agent [14].

German idealism was argued by personalism and phenomenology. The former highlights again the role of relationships at the core of the person, as scholastic did before, although setting aside theology. Furthermore, it stresses the importance of an embodied existence and the dynamic development of human beings: we are configured through the development of interpersonal relationships [10]. Edmund Husserl (1859–1938), founder of phenomenology, reaches the concept of person after a systematic reflection on subjectivity and begins with the experience of the own body. By doing so, he is radically departing from cognitivist interpretations such as the Cartesian or Lockean. Being a person is primarily recognizing oneself as subject of a world of perceptions, memories, and thoughts - a world that we share with other persons [15]. Max Scheler (1874–1928) begins with the question about why humans are different to other beings [16]. He establishes different degrees of life according to interiority and the way to grasp the environment. The highest degree of life is obviously that of humans, since we have a spirit. The spirit allows us to make decisions by ourselves, to be open to the world, and to be able to objectify. The person would be the singular case of the spirit. Scheler assumes that this is a very strict conception, and probably none of us is a person during our whole existence. Consequently, he attributes a gradual character to personhood: human beings can be persons at a higher or lower degree, assuming that all human beings are persons.

Analytic philosophy is going to be a bridge between Locke's proposal and current materialism. It attempts to specify the list of conditions that a being needs to fulfill in order to be considered a person, which are always centered around self-consciousness and decision-making. Strawson (1919-2006) states that the person is the subject whom material and mental predicates can be assigned to. Whereas Ryle's logical behaviorism assumes that there is no mind - and hence person - beyond observable behavior, Strawson advocates for a primitive and simple concept of person [17]. His contribution, which will be followed by authors such as Peter Singer, opens the door to the attribution of material and mental predicates to non-human beings. Harry Frankfurt (1929-), however, considers that Strawson has not been able to find a defining feature of persons; his proposal is that this feature is the ability to put second-order desires before first-order desires [18]. In other words, persons can be on a diet and put physical wellbeing - second-order desire - before hunger, first-order desire. Free will is doing what one wants to do, and this comes marked by second-order desires. Daniel Dennett (1942-) agrees with Frankfurt's view, but he still does not find the list of features to fulfill for being considered a person. Thus, Dennett clearly states six characteristics or themes: (1) being rational; (2) being attributed states of consciousness; (3) taking an attitude towards it; (4) being able to reciprocate such attitude; (5) verbal communication; and (6) self-consciousness [19]. After analyzing in depth all these themes, he concludes that they are necessary, but not sufficient, features; in other words, there can be no person without the six characteristics, but having them does not guarantee that *something* is a person. Therefore, he assumes that personhood cannot be explained by any empirical science or theoretical knowledge, and it has to be treated in a practical sense: personhood is a moral construct, and hence something will be a person if at certain moment we convene it to be a person.

This is the spirit underlying the concept of person in mainstream current bioethics, which reflects on the rules to be followed when a human being intervenes on another being. The global position of the following authors is that the concept of person is primal and easy to grasp in healthy and fully developed human beings, but it becomes tricky when applied to humans both at extremes of their lifespan - unborn children and elderly people - and in certain pathological conditions. For example, Tooley (1941-) argues that a person is a being that can express his or her desire to live. In the case of human beings, this happens in a non-verbal manner about 12 weeks after birth. Until then, infanticide is acceptable [20]. This is also the case when the human being loses this ability at old age. Eventually, from this perspective, being a person depends on certain degree of brain development. Peter Singer (1946-) exploits this interpretation under the scope of preference utilitarianism: we should always seek for the greatest good for the largest number of people. The defining feature of personhood is the capacity for suffering: we should give preference to those with a greater capacity for suffering with respect to desires for the future: "Killing a snail or a day-old infant does not thwart any desires of this kind, because snails and newborn infants are incapable of having such desires" ([21], p. 90). Engelhardt (1941-2018) substitutes suffering for permission: person is the subject that can give permission or consent [22]. Vegetative human life, which still does not have or has lost the rational capacity for consenting, has value, but lacks of rights. Despite this, he admits a "social concept of person" for those to be considered as persons by consensus even though they do not fulfill the requirements that he proposes. In conclusion, materialist bioethics shows a failure of the concept of person, moving from a metaphysical or moral conception to a merely practical utilitarian view.

On the other hand, within bioethics, there are utterly different interpretations to relaunch the notion of person from a non-materialistic point of view. For example, Theo Kobusch (1948–) argues that a modern concept of person cannot overlook its metaphysical heritage. According to him, the current understanding of person is impoverished due to materialist reductionism, which entails abandoning the moral character of the term, as well as the importance of biographical history and interpersonality [23]. The greatest current contribution to restore the notion of person is that of Robert Spaemann (1927–2018). For him, since Boethius, philosophy has attempted to distinguish persons according to a set of characteristics; from this starting point, there is a "rational," Locke, and a "social" - German idealism - way. However, according to Spaemann, there are no features to be fulfilled: every human being is a person because he or she is always recognized as part of a moral community [24]. We get to that recognition because we identify him or her as a member of a species that have a set of features. In other words, we should not ask which human being fulfill certain properties, but assume that the species has those properties, and therefore every single individual within the species must be recognized as person. The person is the holder of the features, but is not defined by them. Being a person is a way of existing that is mainly defined by two characteristics: self-difference and interpersonality. The former is based on Helmuth Plessner's contributions, who concludes that only human beings can have an "eccentric position" with respect to their lives: by being in charge of their own lives, they can contemplate it from an "external position." This is related to free will, since by means of the exercise of freedom we can go beyond the homogeneity of the species and become individual persons. Spaemann clarifies that if a human being does not have the capacity for self-difference, he or she is not a mere animal, but an ill person with respect to others. On the other hand, interpersonality underlies a respectful relationship and mutual recognition. However, being person does not emerge from having the feature of being recognized; rather, one is recognized because he or she is a person. Even though a patient in a minimally conscious state does not manifest as person, he or she appears as such in the relationship with others. In fact, the embryo is not a *potential*, but an actual person due to the continuous interaction with the mother from the very moment of conception. Underpinning the primal character of the person beyond the assignment of properties, he concludes that being person is not the result of certain development, but the very structure that allows development.

Through this historical journey, the reader can realize that the concept of person has followed a tortuous pathway, where the tightest turns ended up with its separation from the notions of human being, corporality, and intersubjectivity. Starting from Locke and merging with utilitarian ethics, the person is reduced to the mind (i.e., consciousness and memory) as observed from the thirdperson perspective. Moreover, since the mind is hard to objectify, it is naturalized, and the brain becomes the new object of interest. Although there are other contemporary proposals that attempt to relaunch the concept of person, as we mentioned above, the naturalized standpoint is pervasive in neuroscience, as we will show in the next section.

Neuroscience Needs a Limited Concept of Person

Going back for a moment to Amengual's book, he states the following with respect to scientific materialism:

If we start from the distinction between human being and person, it should be said that natural sciences, neurosciences included, deal with human beings, that is, humans as members of a species and with the conditions, characteristics and features that make possible and differentiate human life and, more precisely, the life of human beings as persons. Thus, they are about what humans are, and not *who* they are. ([10], pp. 289–290)

Interestingly, this poses the question whether neuroscience must be materialist by definition. Inasmuch as it is defined as the study of the nervous system, that is, the biological bases of behavior, our response is affirmative: neuroscience is a materialist discipline and, furthermore, it *must* be so. The following question to be posed is whether it has to be reductionist or eliminativist, that is, to overlook the conclusions coming from other sources of knowledge. Our response to this question is negative, although the actual prevailing attitude in neuroscience is eliminativist. For example, this is the case of the famous Libet's experiment – and the subsequent interpretations – about free will [25]. In this case, neuroscientists decide to study free will in the laboratory, which is completely legitimate. To do so, they assume one among many philosophical interpretations of free will, ruling others out, and they take certain selected features to design an

experimental paradigm to be tested in the laboratory. At this point, the notion of free will has been pruned in two different ways - theoretically and in the development of the experimental task. Then, the experiment is conducted, which entails a series of intrinsic methodological limitations that researchers must take into account to be aware of what conclusions can be drawn from the study. Finally, after analyzing data, the main result of the experiment is that certain brain area shows a peak of activity before the sample of participants felt the conscious desire to move their hands. The widely disseminated conclusion is that our sensation of freely choosing to move is fictitious, since our brains - the material bases *decide* to move well before our desires, mental experiences, have even appeared. Related commentators state that Libet demonstrates that free will is an illusion [26]. These conclusions and statements overlook methodological limitations and the unavoidable bias to transfer a philosophical concept into a laboratory. This is the most popular case of reductionist materialism applied to the issue of free will. What about the notion of person?

There is not a clear definition of person in neuroscience, due to the lack of a corpus of neuroscientific studies about this matter. In any case, due to the legitimate materialist aspect of neuroscience, the definition should be adequate to study its biological substrate. Furthermore, the obvious link between neuroscience, psychology, and philosophy of mind supports a cognitivist interpretation of the person. For example, the neuroscientist and philosopher Georg Northoff [27], when asking the relationship between the synchronic aspect of personhood (i.e., the conditions that make something to be a person) and the diachronic aspect of personal identity (i.e., what makes someone be the same person through time), answers as follows:

What do persons have that non-persons don't have? The philosophical goal has largely been to identify a set of mental features possessed by all and only persons. These features, both traditionally and in recent philosophical discussions, are determined first and foremost by higher-order cognitive functions. It is fairly agreed upon the view that a person is someone who acts from reasons. This

conception of personhood has a long tradition, reaching back to John Locke.... ([27], p. 2)

Northoff is a prestigious neuroscientist and philosopher who has proposed that several midline brain structures are the biological substrate of the self. Interestingly, in a recent study [28], he concludes that most of these "self-related" areas overlap with the well-known default-mode network – those brain areas significantly active when volunteers are at rest. According to Northoff and his team, these are the neural correlates of self-consciousness. Note the contradiction: whereas the person is explicitly defined as the being that possesses higher cognitive functions, it is stated that one of the main characteristics of the person, self-consciousness, manifests when the subject is mentally at rest.

Some authors within the field of neuroethics have followed the same train of thought of Libet's experiments and have emphatically stated that, according to neuroscientific findings, personhood is an illusion [29]. First, like many researchers did before, they ask about the characteristics that a being should have to be considered a person. Through an extremely short philosophical overview, they summarize the interpretations of Locke, Kant, and Dennett, highlighting intelligence and self-consciousness as the main characteristics of the person. In addition, they mention the criteria by Joseph Fletcher [30], one of which is based on IQ: "Below IQ 40 individuals might not be persons; below IQ 20 they are definitely not persons." Farah and Heberlein acknowledge the relevance of personhood for bioethics in order to assign moral responsibility. However, they find difficulties to clearly determine if something is a person, especially in the beginning and near the end of the human lifespan. Likewise, in accordance with Steven Wise, they believe that nowadays we can make the terrible mistake of refusing personhood to animals as it was done to slaves in the past [31]. Based on the multiple lists of characteristics for personhood that have been created throughout the history of philosophy, the authors conclude that it is impossible to define the person from a metaphysical point of view, so they propose the search for a biological marker to clearly differentiate persons from non-persons.

Their starting point is that, like biology could find an unquestionable physiological trait to differentiate plants from animals (i.e., photosynthesis), there may be a biological trait to define persons. Considering the cognitivist approach mentioned above, the obvious choice to find that trait is neuroscience. They start from a clear-cut assumption: persons must have cortical activity. Thus, intrauterine children and neurological patients without cortical activity are not persons: "Such patients are more commonly described as being in a persistent vegetative state, biologically alive but considered by many to be former persons because they appear to lack any mental life" ([29], p. 39; our italics). But this is not enough for Farah and Heberlein: it would be necessary to specify which cortical areas are involved in personhood and what degree of functionality they should have. They recognize that this is impossible even for neuroscience and, therefore, personhood as such does not exist:

If our analysis is correct, it suggests that personhood is a kind of illusion. Like visual illusions, it is the result of brain mechanisms that represent the world nonveridically under certain circumstances. Also like visual illusions, it is stubborn. ([29], p. 45)

Given this nihilist conclusion, the authors propose a double attitude: on the one hand, ethics must take a utilitarian stance and, instead of asking who is a person, consider the degree of intelligence or self-consciousness and, on the other hand, since in daily life we need to make a plethora of decisions with some moral implications, it is legitimate to behave with certain beings, such as human babies, as if they were really persons, because it is beneficial for their development: "Although the concept of personhood may be bad metaphysics and better suited to an earlier world, even today it serves us well" ([29], p. 46). It is worth noting that Martha Farah is one of the cofounders of the International Neuroethics Society, an institution that, through the Presidential Commission for the Study of Bioethical Issues, directly counsels the President of the USA.

It should be also mentioned that biology has irrefutably confirmed the existence of non-photosynthetic plants [32].

Unquestionably, the notion of person in current neuroscience is richer than the one presented here. We have just summarized two examples from very influential researchers: the interdisciplinary view of Northoff that assumes the cognitivist approach on the person and the nihilist account of Farah proposing merely practical attitudes. The idea that we want to communicate is as follows: neuroscience, due to its mainstream eliminativist stance, needs the simplest notion of person to analyze it in the laboratory. For that reason, the most adequate concept is that of Locke, who advocates for three simple features to be considered as person: intelligence, selfconsciousness, and memory.

Albeit mainstream, this is not the only approach on the person in neuroscience. In the next section, we take the opposite point of view and ask how neuroscience should be to study a richer notion of person. As we will show, through open-mindedness and interdisciplinarity, it becomes possible to study personhood from a holistic point of view, which is more fruitful than eliminativist materialism.

The Concept of Person Needs an Enriched Neuroscience

Neuroscience, as any individual discipline, has several intrinsic limitations that undermine the study of human big questions. Technical issues, in our opinion, are not the most important. In previous sections, we have insisted on the absence of an ideal technique to measure human brain activity in normal conditions. We could conduct a mental experiment and assume that such technique exists, and we can exactly assess what is happening in our brains when we behave in certain way or think about something. This fictitious scenario may be compared with a stress test to evaluate cardiac activity or pulmonary or muscular function when we are under fatigue conditions. The equipment may indicate that our physiological response is abnormal, too high or too low according to physical effort, and this would be a crucial information to guarantee our wellbeing when we are under similar situations. However, we would obtain no valuable information about our subjective experience during the test: in fact, it is assumed that subjective experience will not correspond with our physiology, approaching to dangerous situations where our wellbeing may be at stake. That is the purpose of a stress test. The "perfect machine" to assess brain activity in normal conditions would be the same: it would inform about how our brain responds in certain situations - moral or economic decision-making, witnessing or committing unfair actions, learning, habit acquisition, behavior in accordance to beliefs, and so on - but it would not provide any valuable information about our moral principles, memories, or beliefs. This is neuroscience's most important intrinsic limitation: having a restricted field of interest.

Hence, a proper understanding of the concept of person does not require a technically exquisite neuroscience, but a neuroscience that participates in a comprehensive anthropology. Just like we presented a concrete case to exemplify the eliminative stance of neuroscience, we will explain here the proposal by Thomas Fuchs, psychiatrist and philosopher in the University of Heidelberg, in order to demonstrate that neuroscience, even from materialist presuppositions, can provide valuable information to improve our understanding of personhood. Fuchs's main goal is to demolish "brain-centrism": we are not our brains because, for a start, the brain is not the only biological substrate of the mind. In his most recent book [33], he explains the ecology of the brain, that is, the environment where it is located and its relationship with the rest of the body and the person. First, he criticizes neurobiological reductionism and explains the person from a phenomenological perspective. To do so, he distinguishes - but also integrates - the notions of "living body" (Körper) and "lived body" (Leib); both, as a unity, configure human life. The former is the object of neuroscience, which must not eliminate the latter. Fuchs adheres to the 4e cognition field, which advocates for an embodied, embedded, extended, and enactive understanding of the mind. The first term argues that the mind always appears in relation with a body, so both must be always studied as a whole [34]; the second stresses that the embodied mind is always in a concrete situation and context [35]; the third proposes that the mind goes beyond the limits of the body, that is, it is also in the cane used by a blind person to perceive the world [36]; and, finally, the enactive mind highlights the Leib, the fact that the mind is always within a living, dynamic, and complex being [37]. Note the radical distinction between these proposals and the assumption that the brain is the source from which the mind and all behaviors emanate. Going back to Fuchs, the fifth chapter of his book describes the brain as the organ of the person. It is focused on social and cultural influences in brain development since infancy: the human brain is physiologically premature - the newborn's brain is 25% the size of an adult's, whereas this figure is up to 50% in chimpanzees - so its development will go hand-in-hand with its ecology:

The development of the embodied human mind does not only require interaction between brain, body, and environment, but essentially interaction with other humans. In the course of these biographically progressing interactions, the brain becomes a social, cultural, and biographically shaped organ. ([33], p. 175)

According to Fuchs, the person is the unity between the living body and the lived body: the former can be assessed from a third-person perspective, but the latter provides the person with his or her uniqueness:

A person is a lived body (Leib) inasmuch as his or her subjective states, experiences, and actions are bound to the medium of the body. However, persons are also lived bodies for others, who directly perceive them "in the flesh" through their expression, attitudes, and acts—thus, not as a combination of pure physical body and hidden psyche, but as a unified entity. If someone greets me by extending a hand, this does not represent for me an inner, "mental act" involving a movement of the physical body as an outward symbol. Rather, this person is present for me by virtue of his greeting, in his offered hand. ([33], p. 74)

One essential element in this proposal is the role of the second-person perspective – intersubjectivity – in the configuration of the person. This is absent in neuroscience, but also in the most influential philosophical stances outlined above. The relationship with others is not accidental, as mere receptors of moral acting; it is essential since conception – in the mother-baby relationship – and in the continuous development of the person. This can be minimally explained by neuroscience, because the brain is just a small part of it. Then, Fuchs assumes that the mainstream standpoint in neuroscience is similar to Farah and Heberlein's and argues as follows:

The brain does not possess mental states or consciousness as such, for it does not live-it merely exists as the organ of an animate being or living person. Neither neuronal assemblies nor brains, but only human persons can feel, think, perceive, and act. It is erroneous to identify the brain with the human subject and to look inside for what makes up the person. What essentially characterizes a human person is being in relationships. The brain neither produces nor inherently contains such intentional and social relationships with the world. True, a human person's capacities and their realization as conscious acts of life are uniquely linked to brain functions. In this sense, the brain is a primary condition of possibility of personal existence in the world. However, a person is not a localizable part of the body, but is embodied and animate. We do not exist a second time inside ourselves. Human persons have brains, but they are not brains. ([33], p. 279)

Throughout the text, Fuchs mentions those brain areas associated with the recognition of the other as person. This is similar to the train of thought that followed Farah and Heberlein. However, whereas the neuroethicists concluded that personhood was an illusion, Fuchs demonstrates that those brain areas and processes serve the person to harmonically integrate with the rest of the body, the environment, and the other. This starts with primary intersubjectivity, through which prenatal and postnatal babies interact with their mothers in a natural, pre-reflective manner. Primary intersubjectivity allows the establishment of a shared space that involves bodies and environment. Later, at about 9 months of extrauterine life, secondary intersubjectivity is develand the child starts interacting oped, simultaneously with his or her caregiver and concrete objects in the environment. This is the popular "shared attention," which is extremely important in the acquisition of all types of abilities, such as language [38]. In turn, together with tools, language is the environment of cultural development: "Therefore, humans, like no other creature, need their conspecifics in order to develop their dispositions into capacities" ([33], p. 205). Finally, we would like to note that Fuchs's definition of mind goes beyond cognitivism and the Lockean interpretation. For the German phenomenologist, the mind is "the overarching manifestation, the gestalt, and the ordered patterns of all relations that we have to our environment as animate beings, and as humans to our fellow humans" ([33], p. 207).

In conclusion, this kind of approaches allows neuroscience to provide valuable information on the big questions of the human being, such as personhood, freedom, morality, or spirituality. An integrative vision must assume the multiple dimensions of human beings, where the partial explanation of each dimension should contribute to improve our knowledge about the unity that they configure. This is the basis of a fruitful interdisciplinarity between the sciences and humanities.

Conclusion: Interdisciplinarity as the Cornerstone to Study the Concept of Person

Research on big questions must be guided by questions themselves, and not by the constraints of a given discipline. After posing the question and selecting the disciplines that can contribute to the answer, it should be clarified the own space of each discipline and the shared space between them. In the initial section of our text, we have briefly explained the basics of neurobiology and the main techniques to study the human brain, in order to delimit neuroscience's own space. The philosophical journey to explore the concept of person has served us well to realize the magnitude of the question and to assume that neuroscience is unable to give an answer by itself. This was exposed in the next section, where the neuroscientists' tendency to eliminate what remains inexplicable was exemplified in the case of free will and personhood. After these negative cases, we focused on the phenomenological approach by Thomas Fuchs as an example of constructive interaction between disciplines. This can be viewed as a growing spiral that, starting from the small restricted field of a discipline, increases its diameter through its interaction with others. Neuroscience, as a valuable source of knowledge about biology, may formulate hypotheses in dialogue with psychology, philosophy, or theology, in order to expand its field. The research on personhood by Farah and Heberlein is a good example of a decreasing spiral, where the constraints of certain field - neuroscience - reduces the diameter of the spiral and ends up in an extensionless point: personhood is an illusion.

The approach on big questions, therefore, does not mainly depend on the contribution of each discipline, but on the attitude of the researchers that carry the study out. They can expand or contract the spiral's diameter. In our opinion, educational systems should promote this attitude at all levels, from schools to doctorate degrees. Only thus, training humble open-minded students who are eager for dialogue and in honest search for the truth, we could try to answer the big questions of humanity.

References

- Hopkins PD. Why uploading will not work, or, the ghosts haunting transhumanism. Int J Mach Conscious. 2012;4(1):229–43.
- Yang Y, Jackson R. Astrocyte identity: evolutionary perspectives on astrocyte functions and heterogeneity. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2019;56:40–6. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.conb.2018.11.006.
- Huettel SA, Song AW, McCarthy G. Functional magnetic resonance imaging. Sunderland: Sinauer Associates; 2004.
- Higbee KL, Clay SL. College students' beliefs in the ten-percent myth. J Psychol Interdiscip Appl. 1998;132(5):469–76. https://doi. org/10.1080/00223989809599280.
- Powell K. How does the teenage brain work? Nature. 2006;442:865–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/442865a.
- Logothetis NK, Auguth M, Oeltermann A, Jon P, Trinath T. A neurophysiological investigation of the basis of the BOLD signal in fMRI. Nature. 2001;412(6843):150–7.
- 7. Chugani HT, Phelps ME, Mazziotta JC. Positron emission tomography study of human brain func-

tional development. Ann Neurol. 1987;22(4):487–97. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410220408.

- Menon V, Crottaz-Herbette S. Combined EEG and fMRI studies of human brain function. Int Rev Neurobiol. 2005;66:291–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0074-7742(05)66010-2.
- Mukamel R, Fried I. Human intracranial recordings and cognitive neuroscience. Annu Rev Psychol. 2012;63:511–37. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-psych-120709-145401.
- Amengual G. La persona humana. El debate sobre su concepto. Madrid: Síntesis; 2015.
- Boethius. Liber De Persona et Duabus Naturis Contra Eutychen Et Nestorium. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press; 1918.
- 12. Descartes R. Meditations on first philosophy. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1996.
- Locke J. An essay concerning human understanding. Hazleton: Pennsylvania State University, Electronic Classics Series; 1999.
- Denis L. Kant's metaphysics of morals. A critical guide. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2010.
- Husserl E. Cartesian meditations. Dordrecht: Martinus Dijhoff; 1988.
- 16. Scheler M. El puesto del hombre en el cosmos. Buenos Aires: Losada; 1971.
- Strawson P. Individuals: an essay in descriptive metaphysics. London: Methuen; 1974.
- Frankfurt HG. Freedom of the will and the concept of a person. J Philos. 1971;68:5–20. https://doi. org/10.2307/2024717.
- Dennett D. Conditions of Personhood. In: What is a person, edited by Michael F. Goodman. Clifton (NJ):Humana Press; 1988, p. 145–67.
- Tooley M. Abortion & Infanticide. Philos Public Aff. 1972;2(1):37–65.
- 21. Singer P. Practical ethics. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1993.
- 22. Engelhardt HT. The foundations of bioethics. New York: Oxford University Press; 1986.
- 23. Kobusch T. Die Entdeckung der Person. Darmstadt: WBG; 1993.
- Spaemann R. Persons. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2006.
- 25. Libet B, Wright EW, Gleason CA. Readinesspotentials preceding unrestricted "spontaneous" vs. pre-planned voluntary acts. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1982;54(3):322–35. https://doi. org/10.1016/0013-4694(82)90181-X.
- Blackmore S. Mind over matter? The Guardian Medical Research (Opinion). Available at: https:// www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2007/aug/28/ mindovermatter2007.
- Wagner NF, Northoff G. Habits: bridging the gap between personhood and personal identity. Front Hum Neurosci. 2014;8(May):1–12. https://doi. org/10.3389/fnhum.2014.00330.
- Wolff A, Di Daniel A, Giovanni J, Takashi N. The temporal signature of self : Temporal measures of resting- state EEG predict self-consciousness 2019. 2018:789–803. https://doi.org/10.1002/ hbm.24412.
- Farah MJ, Heberlein AS. Personhood and neuroscience: naturalizing or nihilating? Am J Bioeth. 2007;7(1):37–48. https://doi.org/10.1080/15265160601064199.
- Fletcher J. Humanhood: essays on biomedical ethics. Buffalo: Prometheus Books; 1979.
- Wise S. "Practical autonomy" entitles some animals to rights. Nature. 2002;416:785. https://doi. org/10.1038/416785a.
- Hadariová L, Vesteg M, Hampl V, Krajčovič J. Reductive evolution of chloroplasts in nonphotosynthetic plants, algae and protists. Curr Genet. 2018;64(2):365–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00294-017-0761-0.

- Fuchs T. Ecology of the brain. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2018.
- 34. Anderson ML. Embodied cognition: a field guide. Artif Intell. 2003;149(1):91–130. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0004-3702(03)00054-7.
- Haugeland J. Mind embodied and embedded. Mind Cogn: 1993 Int Symp Academia Sinica. 1993:233–67.
- Clark A, Chalmers D. The extended mind. Analysis. 1998;58(1):7–19.
- Froese T, Di Paolo EA. The enactive approach: theoretical sketches from cell to society. Pragmat Cogn. 2011;19(1):1–36. https://doi.org/10.1075/ pc.19.1.01fro.
- Tomasello M, Farrar MJ. Joint attention and early language. Child Dev. 1986;57(6):1454–63. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1986.tb00470.x.



The Neuroethics of Beauty: Insights from Aldous Huxley's Theory of Knowledge

12

Luis Enrique Echarte Alonso

Beauty over Aesthetics

"Beauty is worse than wine, it intoxicates both the holder and beholder." These words, once attributed to Aldous Huxley, mock those who are blinded by beauty, as well as the recipients of excessive flattery. However, the phrase also hides a deeper lesson: beauty has *both* a subjective and an objective dimension. It is not just in the eye of the beholder; it is also in the holder, or so it was long believed - this is the posture of Plato, which lasts until scholastic philosophy with few exceptions. However, this common belief changed with modernity, when beauty was reduced to an aesthetic experience, namely, to its subjective dimension. It resulted, as Arthur Pontynen writes, in a drastic way, "Which approaches can be called aesthetic and which beautiful? It is helpful first to remember how the meaning of those terms. Aesthetics refers to sensation and emotional response whereas beauty refers to perfection in a purposeful world, and the splendor of wisdom. Aesthetics is non-cognitive, whereas the pursuit of beauty aspires to some significant degree of cognition, of understanding being, of

Unit of Medical Education and Bioethics, School of Medicine, University of Navarra, Pamplona, Navarra, Spain e-mail: lecharte@unav.es ontology. Aesthetics refers to physics, to the realm of fact and feeling. Beauty refers to metaphysics, to the attempt to understand reality and life. The difference between aesthetics and beauty was once widely recognized, just as was the distinction between fact and truth. Today that distinction is blurred, and when blurred, a shallow aesthetics prevails" [1] (p. 326).

Of course, this does not mean that beauty is a simple matter of external and internal senses for all modern philosophers. For example, Immanuel Kant faces this interpretation, mainly sustained by British empiricists, arguing that beauty is a sort of judgment. He views it as "an experience submitted to rational considerations" [2]. However, in Kant's transcendental idealism, beauty has neither a representative nor an intentional function: it does not say anything to us about things as they are in and of themselves; neither does it lead us to reality. By contrast, philosophy of beauty, in the sense used in this chapter about Huxley's approach, is a philosophy about one of the transcendental properties of being - truth, goodness, and beauty, among others.

In light of these clarifications, I will delve into the role of beauty in moral decision-making, and, to carry this out, I will present some of Huxley's stimulating ideas about, first, the difference between knowledge and understanding; second, the problem of the increasing technification of our culture; and third, some tips for returning the

L. E. Echarte Alonso (🖂)

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_12

arts to the place they deserve. These points positively contribute to the two subgroups of study that, according Adina Roskies, are included in neuroethics, namely, "the neuroscience of ethics" and "the ethics of neuroscience" [3]. For the first subgroup, I conclude that developing nonverbal education may help neuroscientists face the problems of methodologism and utilitarianism. With regard to the second subgroup, I argue that neuroscientists have a major responsibility in avoiding the centralization of power and subsequent danger of tyranny.

Three Transcendentals

Over the past centuries, much has changed concerning the idea of beauty – and not always for the better. It is no coincidence that one of the main challenges that Huxley faced in his work was retrieving the *perennial philosophy*, an interpretation of reality in which beauty has a central role.

I will start with a good example of classic wisdom that Huxley tries to recover. In The Life of Pythagoras, Neoplatonist philosopher Iamblichus Chalcidensis writes, "It is said that Pythagoras was the first to call himself a philosopher, not only introducing a new name, but also the first to teach the related matter thoroughly and usefully. He likened the entrance of men into the present life to the progression of a crowd to some public spectacle. There assemble men of all descriptions and views. One hastens to sell his wares for money and gain; another exhibits his bodily strength for renown; but the most liberal assemble to observe the landscape, the beautiful works of art, the specimens of valour, and the customary literary productions. So also in the present life men of manifold pursuits are assembles. Some are influenced by the desire of riches and luxury; others, by the love of power and dominion, or by insane ambition for glory. But the purest and most genuine character is that of the man who devotes himself to the contemplation of the most beautiful things, and he may properly be called a 'philosopher'" (Iamblichus, The Life of Pythagoras, 12). This rather long text is worth

quoting in full because, in these words, we find the context and historical basis with which Huxley links science and philosophy. According to him, contemporary science and contemporary philosophy share the same roots that amount to beauty – the incommunicable secret, the objective subjectivity, of the *perennial philosophy*.

Beauty is the sacred and ultimate bridge among fields, among the seekers of knowledge whether philosophers or scientists in the proper sense of those words. As Plato also writes, "Wonder is the feeling of the philosopher and philosophy begins in wonder" (Thaetetus 155d). Philosophical conversion is, then, a fortuitous event in which reality reveals itself as precious for a single gifted moment. That is often enough to go down the road of knowledge. But what does the adjective "beautiful" refer to? On this point, Huxley also follows the classics when he answers that the objective dimension of beauty speaks to a proportional relationship in reality. "Beauty arises when the parts of a whole are related to one another and to the totality in a manner which we apprehend as orderly and significant" [4] (p. 16). For him, the concept of beauty is impossible to understand without thinking about identity's inner purpose and the universe's outer purpose, i.e., harmony. Indeed, beauty is a sign of unity between the observer and an entity, which leads, in turn, to unity with the universe. This is possible, according to Huxley, because everything is called to such unity. However, this target is only possible if, first, reality maintains a particular order, the natural one, and second if the observer maintains a relationship of love with the observed.

Huxley points out here the intrinsic connection among three transcendentals: the first one, truth, refers to the intelligibility of reality and other aspects and dimensions that shape entities; the second transcendental, goodness, refers to one of these dimensions, i.e., teleology, which amounts to knowing that certain things are good or bad, to finding things' correct place in the universe; the third one, beauty, refers to the agentive dimension of knowledge, that is to say, its capacity to impel an observer to action that aims at protecting, serving, fostering, and, above all, seeking unity. Beauty's main commitment involves being one with the beloved. In contemplating the beauty of a thing, the philosopher – this *old scientist* – is coherently inclined to look around at the surrounding reality. As Huxley notes, quoting Yung-chia Ta-shih, this idea is not exclusive to the West: "One Reality, all-comprehensive, contains within itself all realities" [5] (p. 8). Settling for less becomes impossible. Interdisciplinarity is, therefore, connatural for scientists, which explains their interest in a variety of methods and in the right way of reaching adjacent objects. For the same reason, scientists are concerned about professional ethics, in particular, as well as ecology, in general, which is the second transcendental. These concerns mobilize citizens – the third transcendental. It is therefore not surprising that, for Huxley, science is not a matter of simple curiosity or practical interest, but of demanding love. Facing reality implies the development of human sensitivity, that is to say, the capacity to be aware of other's needs and anticipate their demands.

Because it is not easy to implement such an interdisciplinary, moral, and committed attitude, scientists need scientists. However, according to Huxley, this necessity is not the main thing that unites them; rather, their shared condition as a part of a long chain of teleological natural dynamism brings them together. Quoting Huxley's words, "It is only when we have renounced our preoccupation with 'I,' 'me,' 'mine,' that we can truly possess the world in which we live. Everything, provided that we regard nothing as property. And not only is everything ours; it is also everybody else's." [5] (p. 108). Better yet, the exploration of reality always drives discovery of human beings' beauty. In this context, scientific community is not just a means but also an end: the place where humans can rest and delight in their most specific and noble task. However, things do not end there. Universal harmony leads observers to God: the first principle of natural order, the font of this complex web of purposes. "God is the final, deepest meaning of all that exists. God, then, is manifest in the relationship which makes things beautiful." [4] (p. 17). It is a long ascension from corporal unity to natural unity and then to divine unity.

To conclude, Huxley also agrees with the classics on knowledge's ultimate reward, namely, beauty. This is because philosophy does not just begin in wonder but also ends there. It is what makes philosophy a magnificent activity, an end in itself, the highest reward for any intellectual. For example, Aristotle observes this point when, talking about how Thales the philosopher became rich, he concludes, "thus showing how easy it is for philosophers to become wealthy if they so wish, but it is not this they are serious about" (Politics I, 11, 1259a). Using Huxley's words, the best scientists are those who deal with pure truth not its fruits. "To the exponents of the Perennial Philosophy, the question whether Progress is inevitable or even real is not a matter of primary importance. For them, the important thing is that individual men and women should come to the unitive knowledge of the divine Ground, and what interests them in regard to the social environment is not its progressiveness or non-progressiveness (whatever those terms may mean), but the degree to which it helps or hinders individuals in the their advance towards man's final end" [5] (p. 80). Man's final end is not in the future; it is not even in the most limited view of tomorrow. Rather, for Huxley, it is in the eternal timeless present.

The Search for Understanding

Transcendentals do not have an equidistant position in Huxley's theory of knowledge. Truth is the main and general transcendental in which all aspects and dimensions of one's being are interrelated. On the other hand, goodness is only part of this explanation; it speaks to the teleological dimension of identity because not every being has a purpose. Beauty ultimately refers to an even more specific feature of these second kinds of beings; it is the driving force associated with the knowledge of said teleological dimension. When we observe the purpose of something, we are attracted or repelled by the particular place it takes in the universe, but not all teleological identities move us to action. In brief, transcendentals are like three matrioskas: they are found one inside another.

In the preceding conceptual framework, it is easy to understand Huxley's distinction between knowledge and understanding. According to him, "knowledge is acquired when we succeed in fitting a new experience into the system of concepts based upon our old experiences. Understanding comes when we liberate ourselves from the old and so make possible a direct, unmediated contact with the new, the mystery, moment by moment, of our existence" [4] (p. 193). Knowledge implies the acquisition of truths including of purpose - but not those that stir observers to significant behaviors. Indeed, for Huxley, science or moral books do not trigger by themselves good or evil acts. It is because of beauty - a sort of direct experience - that intelligent beings take action.

Two mistakes must be avoided in interpreting Huxley's distinction. First of all, the metaphor of matrioskas is not entirely suitable because it leads us to believe that there is only one nesting doll inside another when, in Huxley's view, there may be several ones at the same level. For example, besides beauty, teleological identities have more dimensions and traits to contemplate. Secondly, these three transcendental ways of touching reality do not necessarily mean three different sorts of acts or even three different moments of the same rational act. For Huxley, as for Aristotle, beauty is in the very principle of any act of cognition. "For where there is perception, there is also both pain and pleasure, and where these, there is of necessity also epithumia" (De Anima 2. 413b 23–24). Similarly, Huxley writes: "The new is the given on every level of experience - given perceptions, given emotions and thoughts, given states of unstructured awareness, given relationships with things and persons. The old is our home-made system of ideas and word patterns. It is the stock of finished articles fabricated out of the given mystery by memory and analytical reasoning, by habit and the automatic associations of accepted notions. Knowledge is primarily a knowledge of these finished articles. Understanding is primarily direct awareness of the raw material. Knowledge is always in terms of concepts and can be passed on by means of words or other symbols.

Understanding is not conceptual, and therefore cannot be passed on. It is an immediate experience, and immediate experience can only be talked about (very inadequately), never shared. Nobody can actually feel another's pain or grief, another's love or joy or hunger. And similarly nobody can experience another's understanding of a given event or situation" [4] (pp. 193–194). In this quote, we find a close connection between beauty and emotion. Any intelligence is emotional intelligence: purpose and drive are constitutive elements of any kind of real awareness and consciousness. What is the difference then between beauty and emotions? For Huxley, it has to do with the everlasting issue of appearances: a belief is true when it corresponds with reality, a moral value is good when it speaks to the real place of beings in the universe, and an emotion is beautiful when it compels an agent to build a better world. The opposite corresponds to false beliefs, bad values, and seductive emotions. Indeed, the opposite of beauty is not necessarily sadness and ugliness because some of these emotional perceptions may help us obtain a better understanding of our world and find more sympathy for its downtrodden creatures, which results in a better position from which to love - the sublime experience as philosophers universally referred to it. Huxley strongly believes that any deep enquiry into suffering is also a chance to discover the delicate and marvelous forces that sustain the world and being.

Huxley does not advocate for naïve realism. Beauty emerges from intuitions, but it often comes with a dose of what merely appears to be truth and goodness. "For the convinced believer, understanding or direct contact with reality is exceedingly difficult. Moreover, the mere fact of having a strong reverential feeling about some hallowed thing, person or proposition is no guarantee of the existence of the thing, the infallibility of the person or the truth of the proposition" [4] (p. 221). It is the task of reflection and dialogue, together with more contemplation, to discriminate between what is real and unreal. However, for Huxley, it is impossible to climb the stairs of transcendentals starting from a completely false impression. There must be some element of truth in every experience. This vision is coherent with Huxley's concern for "free undistorted awareness." The challenge of reaching clearer understanding, especially among Westerners, corresponds to reopening the doors of perception, as Huxley quotes from William Blake, "were cleansed everything would appear to man as it is" [6] (p. 6).

This challenge does not involve the most human aspect of our intelligence but rather our sensory and visceral part, which we share with the rest of the animal kingdom. This is another way of saying that understanding is a capacity more deeply associated with children than with wise men. What is more, Huxley believes animals too have this capacity: those beings with sensitive souls, using Aristotle's terminology, who feed on matter as well as truth, purpose, and beauty from nature. Of course, we as humans go further with intuitions, reflections, and communications that are much stronger, more penetrating, and acute; animals do not have science, moral codes, or pieces of art. In the end, only human beings, thanks to rationality, can achieve a degree of relational unity with the universe that enables them to enhance and recreate it - for Huxley, this corresponds to the last graces.

A final critical issue is how these three dimensions of intelligence act upon each other. According to Huxley, such interaction is both a fact and also a risk because, if we are not careful, it leads us to think that one dimension can be deduced from another or, what is worse, be reduced to another. Both mistakes appear in the naturalistic fallacy: moral values cannot be deduced from scientific statements in the same way as *ought to be* cannot be reduced to *being*. Having said that, Huxley recognizes that adequate knowledge of matters is important for greater understanding: scientific knowledge can act as an inner lens - empty of content - that helps observers grasp the purpose and beauty of reality. Let me reiterate, however, that, for Huxley, a fly examined with a magnifying glass cannot be deduced from or reduced to the features of the magnifying glass. It should be acknowledged, however, that Huxley does not sufficiently explain how knowledge is capable of strengthening human intuition, which is a nonmediated act. But, on the other hand, he faces a problem that is still today insufficiently studied, that is, the similarities and differences between an elderly person's intuition and that of a child, which are both as mysterious as everyday phenomena.

Idealism and Alienation

What is normally an advantage can become a liability. Huxley warns against keeping a wealth of conceptualized knowledge and patterns of thinking, feeling, and behavior because they may stand between us and reality and hamper human intuition. On this basis, he distinguishes between knowledge and pseudo-knowledge; the former acquires its meaning from perceptions, while the latter is deduced and validated from other mental images or thoughts. For Huxley, this is not a minor matter: pseudo-knowledge prevents us from intuiting what is good and what is not and, most importantly, from hearing the voice of intuition that speaks to us about what to do and what not to do. In other words, too much pseudoknowledge blocks understanding. The price to pay is high. "Meaningless pseudo-knowledge has at all times been one of the principal motivators of individual and collective action. And that is one of the reasons why the course of human history has been so tragic and at the same time so strangely grotesque. Action based upon meaningless pseudo-knowledge is always inappropriate, always beside the point, and consequently always results in the kind of mess mankind has always lived in – the kind of mess that makes the angels weep and the satirists laugh aloud" [4] (p. 196). It goes without saying that a lack of meaning is typical of aged and tightly corseted societies in which children, as well as the elderly, have left behind the noble and free impulses of the heart.

The disease of Western society, as Huxley diagnoses it, is the hypertrophy of pseudoknowledge; its main symptoms are idealism, alienation, and separation from the physical body. With it, engines of beauty are lost and replaced by *puritan* and *voluntaristic* attitudes that serve as a defense mechanism, as well as by solipsistic pleasure and vibrant promises for a better future pawned off by the entertainment industry. On the latter matter, Huxley claims, "[A]ny faith based upon hypothetical occurrences a long time hence must always, in the very nature of things, be hopelessly unrealistic. In practice, faith in the bigger and better future is one of the most potent enemies to present liberty; for rulers feel themselves justified in imposing the most monstrous tyrannies on their subjects for the sake of the wholly imaginary fruits which these tyrannies are expected (only an implicit faith in progress can say why) to bear some time, let us say, in the twenty-first or twenty-second century" [7] (pp. 26–27). Hope deflects attention from the present life - where reality is - to the future - where intuition is sterile. Again, like culture, tomorrow has a creative role in human life but only when the doors of perception are completely open. It is the present that teaches us our plans and the codes and methods to change them, which amount to moral enhancement.

The root causes of the West's idolatry of pseudo-knowledge can be traced to a forceful intellectual trend initiated three centuries ago, namely, the Cartesian split between natural sciences and spiritual sciences. It was then that mind and matter started to separate and, thus, to forget the intuitional basis of intelligence. From a Cartesian view, experimental methodologies are applied in natural sciences, while formal methodologies (dialogue and the logic of question and answer) are suitable for sciences of the spirit – today also called the humanities and social sciences. In both cases, objectivity is the final goal. Descartes identifies this term with the self's intuition - the only and ultimate way of knowledge. In other words, certainty, or perfect knowledge, is reduced to knowledge that can be communicated to everyone. That being so, the question of methodology became a central theme in the sciences and the humanities, which comes down to the search for the best way of knowing features of reality that are entirely communicable. The problem with this interpretation of objectivity is that it excludes noncommunicable knowledge from science, which is, as we have seen, the most important key for reaching understanding. Using Huxley's theory of knowledge as a framework, it is clearly wrong to think that only third-person knowledge corresponds to what is intrinsic to reality as it exists autonomously to any spectator. This mistake is not difficult to grasp once you comprehend the difference between knowledge and understanding, which is basically an intuitive act.

The legacy of the Cartesian split has increasingly affected the Western conceptual framework of reality and, most importantly, our sensibility for deeper truths: the delicate ability to capture purpose and beauty from nature, both of which are all the more mysterious, personal, and not directly transferable. Besides, as Huxley correctly claims, this problem is worsened by contemporary educators: "[They] have taken John Dewey's theories of 'learning through doing' and of 'education as life adjustment,' and have applied them in such a way that, in many American schools, there is now doing without learning, along with courses in adjustment to everything except the basic twentieth-century fact that we live in a world where ignorance of science and its methods is the surest, shortest road to national disaster" [4] (pp. 200-201). The Cartesian split and the primacy of objectivity have become an axiom, that is to say, a general premise, on which reasoning in the sciences and the humanities is based. But, using Huxley's criticism, the term prejudge is more accurate than axiom because it is more a cause of cultural ignorance and desensitization than of cultural progress.

Another turn of the screw is given in our modern way of thinking and feeling: less attention is given to non-applied knowledge, which is the same as saying that we suffer from a growing inability to value present reality, the here and now. Unfortunately, this was only to be expected: even the most exact and correct third-person knowledge makes no sense and is of no value if we throw out understanding. Thus, scholars have found it necessary to assign knowledge another value – an external one. Nowadays, any sort of search is mainly valuable in that it allows me to manipulate reality. Indeed, objectivity is being replaced by utility. By far, concern for practical knowledge – innovation as it is also called – far outweighs concern for truth and, even more so, understanding, i.e., lived truth. In this regard, Huxley perfectly captured the independence of applied and non-applied knowledge: "There are in the lives of human beings very many situations in which only knowledge, conceptualized, accumulated and passed on by means of words, if of any practical use. For example, if I want to manufacture sulfuric acid or to keep accounts for a banker, I do not start at the beginnings of chemistry or economics; I start at what is now the end of these sciences. In other words, I go to a school where the relevant knowledge is taught, I read books in which the accumulations of past experience in these particular fields are set forth. I can learn the functions of an accountant or a chemical engineer on the basis of knowledge alone. For this particular purpose it is not necessary for me to have much understanding of concrete situations as they arise, moment by moment, from the depths of the given mystery of our existence. What is important for me as a professional man is that I should be familiar with all the conceptual knowledge in my field. Ours is an industrial civilization, in which no society can prosper unless it possesses an elite of highly trained scientists and a considerable army of engineers and technicians. The possession and wide dissemination of a great deal of correct, specialized knowledge has become a prime condition of national survival" [4] (pp. 199–200). However, though specialists are necessary and good, for Huxley, a society totally dominated by them is destined to slavery, boredom, and alienation – an ugly brave new world. In his most famous novel, he imagined a worst-case scenario in which everyone has been completely transformed into a specialist - a hyper-specialists is someone who knows all about their job and private life (i.e., is socially well-adapted and productive) but, at the same time, who does not understand anything at all.

The Neuroethics of Beauty

Dogmatic science has taken a Copernican twist that fosters all sorts of technified attitudes. However, nowadays another long-term effect of the Cartesian split, which is seemingly the opposite of utilitarianism, is found in the philosophical world. For many philosophers of the modern era, establishing a uniform methodology and adhering strictly to its terms are of utmost importance. Huxley coined this intellectual vice the *primacy of methodology, hereinafter referred to as methodologism.*

Then as now, there are academics, scientists among them, that are more concerned about the way than the destination. All that matters is playing by the rules and being consistent with the established framework of beliefs. The ultimate expression of this idealistic overview is Ludwig Wittgenstein's definition of philosophy as an *idol* breaker. It is at the service of science, with lowercase letters also. "The results of philosophy are the uncovering of one or another piece of plain nonsense and of bumps that the understanding has got by running its head up against the limits of language. These bumps make us see the value of the discovery [...] The philosopher's treatment of a question is like the treatment of an illness" [8] (§119 and §133). Long gone are the days when philosophers were hunters of wonder and beauty. Now, the main focus is mind, arguments, and human logic - pseudo-knowledge, as Huxley would say. Nonetheless, he finds that both approaches - methodologism, present in universities, and utilitarianism, present in industry share a disdain for ever-present nature. Dissatisfaction with what is real, a need for change, and a yearning for a better future lead to our current interpretation, valuation, and use of methods and tools. Conversely, methods and tools are taking us away from ourselves - alienating us - and, thus, truncating human beings' main sources of satisfaction. Both phenomena are cause and effect.

Neuroscience is probably the field in which the problems of methodologism and utilitarianism are most correlated. On the one hand, the study of the biological basis of consciousness (for biological, empirical should be understood) often results in a reductive perspective of consciousness in which *human experiences* are wholly identified with what we can learn from *laboratory experiments*. "Confronted by the data of experience, men of science begin by leaving out of account all those aspects of the facts which do not lend themselves to measurement and to explanation in terms of antecedent causes rather than of purpose, intention and values. Pragmatically they are justified in acting in this odd and extremely arbitrary way; for by concentrating exclusively on the measurable aspects of such elements of experience as can be explained in terms of a causal system they have been able to achieve a great and ever increasing control over the energies of nature. But power is not the same thing as insight and, as a representation of reality, the scientific picture of the world is inadequate, for the simple reason that science does not even profess to deal with experience as a whole, but only with certain aspects of it in certain contexts" [7] (p. 28). Purpose and beauty are beyond the empirical approach's scope of direct analysis. Neuroscience establishes correlations between subjective impressions (such as intentions or feelings) and objective brain processes. For Huxley, that is no small thing: antecedent causes are part of what we are and, most importantly, of what we can do. However, without intuitional experience of purpose and beauty, the human material dimension and human projects become surreal and bizarre. When methodological reductionism ends in ontological reductionism - a sort of methodologism - then truth no longer matters, and power takes its place.

The preceding argument is extraordinarily important in the neuroscientific study of human decision-making, where three transcendentals come together to give full meaning to human behavior. From the measurable perspective, knowledge no longer describes reality. Therefore, truth ceases having an active role in decisionmaking. Intuitions about the truth or falsehood of any proposition come to form part of archaic superstitions, which are better left behind in order to survive. As many euphemistically claim, "truth statements only have functional value." Similarly, real purposes are removed or, if one prefers, reduced to complex antecedent causes. Among other consequences, what was known as human freedom ceases: one's own law reduced to physical law or at least to a series of specific actions in human biology – *autonomy*, as compatibilism's defenders call it. Intuitions about moral responsibility are, in this light, mere delusions of grandeur. "Human beings, it is more or less tacitly assumed, are nothing but bodies, animals, even machines; the only really real elements of reality are matter and energy in their measurable aspects; values are nothing but illusions that have somehow got themselves mixed up with our experience of the world; mental happenings are nothing but epiphenomena, produced by and entirely dependent upon physiology; spirituality is nothing but wish fulfillment and misdirected sex; and so on" [7] (p. 29). Finally, beauty is reduced to aesthetics, i.e., to purely subjective emotions and feelings - if anything, the only truth of our emotional life is its usefulness for survival. Therefore, there are no authentic feelings - true emotions about the people that matter to us or about the war and violence that devastate our world. They only speak of the observer. There are no beautiful eyes or ugly, polluted cities. Hence, our motivation for action also comes from antecedent causes: we are not attracted by beauty but rather triggered by neural networks.

There is an important connection between the neuroscience of ethics and the ethics of neuroscience: this triple shift in perspective that neuroscience introduced-no matter if true or false-already influences people and organizations' decisions about truth, freedom, and love. However, it is not the only bridge. Many lines of exploration in neuroscience have to do with applied research, including therapeutic, as well as nontherapeutic, uses of biotechnology. However, without intuitions about nature, concepts such as health or enhancement become quite problematic because functional criteria are also subjective to circumstances and individuals. There are no guidelines for the use of technology; reality, human rights, and love are no longer baselines or reference points.

In short, a better-oriented neuroscience of decision-making would help us face many ethical challenges that will emerge in the very near future. Huxley hits the mark when he proposes that we should redefine the issue from mind/ brain perspective to intuitional/processual perspective. The problem is not how consciousness emerges from the brain, how the brain produces consciousness, or how the brain and consciousness are gathered together but rather how intuitional and processual acts are related. Are intuitions and processes two sides of the same coin - dimensions, features, etc. - or, on the contrary, do they respond to different nonreducible entities or principles? Is the human brain more than an organ charged for operating processes or does it need to be connected to another thing to think? These are perennial questions.

References

- Pontynen A. For the love of beauty. Art, history, and the moral foundations of aesthetic judgment. New Brunswick: Transaction Publishers; 2006.
- Nadal M, Gálvez A, Gomila A. A history for neuroaesthetics. In: Skov M, Lauring JO, editors. Introduction to neuroaesthetics. the neuroscientific approach to aesthetic experience, artistic creativity and arts appreciation. Copenhagen: Museum Tusculanum Press; 2014. p. 3–50.
- Roskies A. Neuroethics for the new millennium. Neuron. 2002;35(1):21–3.
- 4. Huxley A. Huxley and God. Essays on religious experience. New York: Crossroad Book; 2003.
- 5. Huxley A. The perennial philosophy. New York: Libraries Press; 1972.
- 6. Huxley A. The doors of perception. London: Chatto and Windus; 1968.
- 7. Huxley. *Science*, liberty and peace. London: Chatto & Windus; 1947.
- Wittgenstein L. Philosophical investigations. Oxford: Wiley-Blackway; 2009.



13

Radical Solutions to the Ontological and Epistemological Problems of Consciousness

Javier Andrés García Castro

Explorations into consciousness have a remote history, which probably begins with the first mystical adventures thousands of years ago in the context of magical and religious practices. However, interest in this philosophical and scientific study is relatively more recent. We can date it to the seventeenth century thanks to the work of the French philosopher René Descartes (1596– 1650) and to the end of the nineteenth century with the foundation of the first laboratory of experimental psychology in Leipzig by the German psychologist Wilhelm Wundt (1832– 1920), respectively.

Problems in the study of consciousness have been a constant that has generated deep discouragement to those who have tried to approach its ontological and epistemological roots. Suffice it to cite as examples the gnoseological pessimism of behaviorism of the first half of the twentieth century, the currents of eliminative materialism, and *mysterianism* or catastrophic predictions of some sectors of neuroscience, impotent before the task of explaining the emergence of subjectivity as a product of a synchronized discharge of various populations of neurons. These and other predictions, arising from a debate that has been described as "dead end" ([1], p55), place us before a bleak panorama in which many research-

J. A. García Castro (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

ers conclude their work with an air of frank resignation [2–4].

Now, what are the problems of consciousness? We assume that it is not a single problem, but several, and all of them have deep roots, from both a neuroscientific and a philosophical perspective. These problems have been stated in ontological and epistemological terms. Briefly, ontology means the study of the reality of the world, that is, what is in it, while epistemology refers to the ability to obtain an objective knowledge of that reality. While from the philosophical point of view consciousness is ontologically objective and undeniable, from the epistemological point of view, it is a subjective phenomenon, difficult to address scientifically [5]. However, the supposed ontological objectivity of consciousness could be denied since we still do not have an objective and universal criterion to determine the self-conscious capacity of an organism, entity, or object in the known universe, beyond the famous and limited Turing test [6]. Modern versions of this test propose that, to find out if an organism or entity is "selfaware," it must be tested by another organism that we know for sure is self-aware [7]. Note, however, the regressus ad infinitum of this proposal. Therefore, except each one privately and subjectively, no one can be sure that the other is self-aware [8], and, accordingly, we do not currently have a valid and reliable criterion to prove

Centro Universitario Villanueva (Universidad Complutense de Madrid), Madrid, Spain e-mail: jagcastro@villanueva.edu

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_13

the presence of self-awareness and/or phenomenal consciousness in other beings or devices.¹

The objective of this chapter is to offer a recapitulation of the most groundbreaking solutions that have been proposed to try to solve the various problems posed by the study of consciousness. For this, the fundamental difficulties that this research field entails will be exposed, and each one of them will be answered from different theoretical approaches. Finally, a critical assessment of each of these contributions is proposed, and the possible lines of theoretical and empirical approach that are expected in the coming years are outlined.

The Problems of Consciousness

More than a few renowned philosophers have referred to the problem of consciousness in the singular [10, 11], when in reality the real problem of consciousness is that it is more than one problem, beginning with its conceptualization. Accordingly, there is currently no consensus on what could be the definition that best characterizes this elusive mental phenomenon [12]. In any case, this is not due to the lack of proposals, which have been numerous. However, none has been fully able to capture that which they aim to define; thus, the majority is inclined to delimit the concept by resorting to a mere list of obvious properties. Among them, its unity and continuity; its private, personal, and subjective nature; its coherence; and its ability to integrate multiple sensations and perceptions [13] should be highlighted. Indeed, and as William James [14] affirmed, private and subjective character, together with the sense of unity and continuity, are some of the problematic nuclear features of consciousness, though not the only ones.

The following section describes each of these problems. In this review, they have been reduced to three: the problem of reality, the problem of dualism, and the problem of the subjective quality of conscious experience (*qualia*).

The Nature of Reality and Its Relation to Consciousness

The first difficulty that we must take into account when studying consciousness has to do with the correspondence that exists between the outside world or reality and the inner world of the subject or representation. Various philosophical currents have tried to address this issue, which remains immersed in deep debate. Thus, the problem of "double access" ([15], p291) raises the difficulty of verifying the fidelity of the "I-world" correspondence, precisely because we start from our own subjective representation of that reality and lack an external validity criterion that allows us to contrast the two. This and other evidences drawn from the research into perception, attention span, and certain hallucinatory phenomena [16, 17] question the possibility of a naive or radical realism. On the opposite extreme, idealism denies the existence of reality, which is reduced to a mere product of our thinking. Between the two, *constructivism* states that from information captured by the sensors, the cognitive system reconstructs a representation to some extent analogous to external reality.

In relation to consciousness, neuroscience postulates a materialistic directionality by stating that the brain creates consciousness [18]. This directionality is not new at all [19] but has been accentuated in recent decades. Faced with this point of view, authors who reduce all possible knowledge to subjectivity have not been lacking in the philosophical tradition [20] nor have those who consider that consciousness uses the brain as an instrument to self-manifest in the course of an evolutionary process [21]. A third way to resolve this directionality is that defended by Francisco Varela through the existence of a mutual overlap between mind, brain, and world, based on the concept of "embodied" mind, that is, one inextricably linked to a body [22].

To further complicate matters, the findings of quantum mechanics in the early twentieth century introduced notable difficulties in articulating the micro-phenomena of physics with macrophenomena, extending their implications to the very study of consciousness. Among the propos-

¹See however [9].

als that have been made, Roger Penrose and Stuart Hameroff stand out. They suggested, through their model of orchestrated objective reduction, that consciousness could be explained from quantum computing processes [23]. For Penrose, consciousness, such as thought or creativity, is a non-computable mental phenomenon, since algorithmic computing contains a deterministic element that is incompatible with freedom and creativity. These authors, therefore, state in their hypothesis that consciousness arises as a result of quantum coherence in auspicious structures that make up the cytoskeleton of all cells of the human body: the microtubules. Microtubules are essential for a wide variety of biological functions that include cell displacement, mitosis, and maintenance of cellular form and functions. In addition, in neurons, they contribute to "maintain and regulate synaptic plasticity related to learning and other cognitive functions" ([24], p1872). The proteins that make up the microtubules are called tubulins and can adopt two possible configurations, α and β , which could be made equivalent to the binary computing system "0 and 1." The quantum computation developed in the microtubules in an isolated and superimposed way could be generalized to the whole brain, giving rise to a large-scale physical activity in accordance with the quantum nonlocality. This state of quantum overlap would suffer an objective reduction orchestrated by the molecular structures of the microtubule (tubulin) proteins to move to a conscious state thanks to a quantum gravitation mechanism, which would generate self-collapse by latent nonlocal variables [25]. All this would lead to the irreversible transition from a state of preconscious overlap to a reduced one that would coincide with the state of conscious experience in the phenomenal world of macrophysics (Fig. 13.1).

The efforts undertaken to try to explain consciousness from microphysics are abundant, and recent proposals have been made that attempt to overcome some of the intrinsic difficulties identified in the previous theory and other similar hypotheses [26].

Faced with the enigma of the ontological status of reality and its relation to the mind-body



Fig. 13.1 An orchestrated objective reduction event that produces a conscious experience

problem, Donald Hoffman has constructed a mathematical theory which he calls conscious realism [27]. For this author, consciousness is composed of three processes that he assumes as true in an axiomatic way by intuition: perception, decision, and action. From here, he defines the key concept of his hypothesis: the conscious agent. A conscious agent, when interacting with the world (W), has a conscious experience (X) that triggers a decision process (D), which consists of a deliberation on what courses of action to take. The possible course of action translates into an effective action (G) that transforms the world (W_i), which in turn will alter the subject's conscious experience (X_i). These processes are developed in spaces of probability, and the messages that are transmitted between the components (W, X, G) can be counted by a number N measuring the flow of information through stochastic channels that connect each node of the conscious agent (P, D, A) (Fig. 13.2).

However, the theory thus formulated would fall into dualism; on the one hand, we have the world (W) that is described in classical physics and, on the other, conscious (X, G), private, subjective, and ineffable experience. But, the hypothesis of conscious realism aims to be a monism in which consciousness is ontologically fundamental and thus overcomes the difficulties posed by the mind-body problem from materialism and its relation to reality. Therefore, Hoffman proposes replacing the world (W) with the dynamic interaction of conscious agents. Thus, the decisions and actions of a conscious agent would constitute the experiences of another conscious agent and



Fig. 13.2 Diagram of a conscious agent [27]. (Adapted with permission from the original author. Orignally published under a CC-BY license)

vice versa. The world, consciousness, would be composed only of conscious agents in reciprocal interaction.

To illustrate this idea, Hoffman uses the splitbrain analogy, which consists of an interhemispheric communication difficulty secondary to a surgical intervention that cuts the corpus callosum. According to this author, this phenomenon reveals the existence of two conscious agents who interacted before generating the impression of a unified consciousness. In short, for Hoffman, the "subject-world" correspondence arises because consciousness creates brain activity and not vice versa, as neuroscience defends.

If consciousness, in addition to selfawareness, is also of the objects and entities of the outside world, it seems obvious that any research on consciousness must deal with the supposed objectivity of reality. Both physics and psychology have provided convincing evidence that, for the moment, we must not literally interpret the stimuli of external reality. In addition, studies on perception have shown that organisms have not been evolutionarily selected to perceive reality as it is but to optimally record those stimulus configurations that are most advantageous for their adaptation to the environment and survival [28]. A multidisciplinary approach, therefore, is necessary to continue moving forward on this issue.

The Problem of Dualism

Another of the great and traditional problems that have arisen to explain consciousness is dualism. Although it is a metaphysical interpretation already present in other cultures and eras, Descartes [29] establishes the modern distinction between res cogitans and res extensa, two independent but interacting substances, subject to different laws and principles and with different properties. The other possibility, monism, tries to explain and reduce all the phenomena that exist to matter, and therefore, subject to deterministic physicochemical laws. While dualism cannot satisfactorily explain the interaction between two substances of different nature, monism has not been able to complete successfully its reductionist project.

Cartesian dualism was harshly criticized by the philosopher Gilbert Ryle in the mid-twentieth century [30], leading to a current of animosity that would extend to the entire neuroscience research program. However, if monism cannot account for the main problem when studying consciousness – that is, the emergence of subjective experience from a physical process – many authors consider that the most reasonable alternative we have left is the dualism. So much so, neurosurgeon Wilder Penfield [31] goes on to state that dualism, perhaps, is the lesser evil of the existing solutions:

Taken either way, the nature of the mind presents the fundamental problem, perhaps the most difficult and most important of all problems. For myself, after a professional lifetime spent in trying to discover how the brain accounts for the mind, it comes as a surprise now to discover, during this final examination of the evidence, that the dualist hypothesis seems the more reasonable of the two possible explanations. (p123)

To resolve this controversy, numerous proposals have been formulated. Attempts to reconcile dualism with the contemporary scientific method have led to the interactionist dualism of John Eccles [32], who proposes interaction between the mind and the brain as two independent and autonomous substances. The soul (mind) would act on the brain through a mechano-quantum field altering the probability of release of presynaptic vesicles. In turn, the body (the brain) would influence the mind through the process of exocytosis of presynaptic terminations on receptive fields of cortical neurons, which would be detected by the quantum field of probability producing a mental and conscious event.

For his part, Nicholas Humphrey [33], in his attempt to solve the mind-body problem, states that consciousness is actually an emergent property that arose as a result of the natural selection process and, therefore, with an adaptive function. This function is fundamentally social, although it later evolved by providing an internal model of itself. This process, presumably, would occur through the "internal monitoring of the body's external reactions to the outside world" (p19).

Another way to address the overlap between mind and brain is the so-called emergentism. For example, for Charlie D. Broad, phenomena can be explained mechanically or emergently. In the first case, observed phenomena can be explained from the complete knowledge of the properties of the components of that which is intended to be studied, while in the case of emergentism, this is not possible [34]. Although the classic example usually used to illustrate this idea is to obtain the liquid state of water from the covalent bonds of hydrogen and oxygen atoms, in a sense, it should be expected that the properties of these elements, when combined, produce that effect. This, however, does not occur in the case of the mind, since the same laws that govern the behavior of neurons do not have the status they should to justify the onset of mental states. Therefore, it is proposed that certain systems have associated new emergent - properties, although the mechanisms that produce them are not explained.

From neuroscience, on the other hand, we work around the concept of neural correlate of consciousness (NCC), which currently accepts at least three different possibilities: (1) identity, a mental state is equal to a brain state; (2) causality, a brain state causes a mental state or vice versa; and (3) correlation, both mental and cerebral states are related. Each of these possibilities is supported by a concrete theoretical-conceptual framework. The first two start from physicalism, while the last one implies, in one way or another, some form of dualism (interactionist, substance, property, etc.) or even the possible existence of a psychophysical parallelism. However, we must bear in mind that "correlation," as a condition of possibility, does not imply causation but is only limited to indicating the co-occurrence of two or more events that could be related [35]. In addition, if the concept of NCC is far from being clarified, much less will be the explanatory implications on consciousness around that concept [36].

All these difficulties seem to demand a change of epistemological paradigm. The dominant scientific method currently tries to explain the phenomena from the principle of causality. Thus, consciousness would be the result of certain neuronal operations [37]. Neuroscience, in general terms, seems to be limited to the correlational study of mental and brain events, without examining in depth the theoretical implications of its findings. If we could formulate the problem as follows:

(a)
$$\Phi = \psi$$

(b) $\Phi \rightarrow \psi$
(c) $\Phi \leftarrow \psi$

being Φ = physical events and ψ = mental events, we could establish a discussion about the directionality of causality or even the possible identity of both phenomena, an issue that remains open. When talking about correlation, we thought, in principle, "of a linear measure of the association between two variables" ([38], p890). Therefore, it does not seem legitimate, at the moment, to speak of causal directionality.

Faced with the sequential view that prevails in Western epistemology, the principle of synchronicity implies that there is a correspondence between two simultaneous states of two different phenomenal systems [39]. This connection is not of cause-effect but of homology of two events that concur in the same instant. These approaches would open the possibility to currents similar to psychophysical parallelism, according to which the physical and psychic processes are independent, although they occur in a coordinated manner [40]. In this sense, synchronicity, understood as the "temporal coincidence of two or more causally unrelated events" ([41], p35), could be extrapolated to overcome the difficulties imposed by the concept of NCC. It would be interesting to investigate the necessary and sufficient physiological, spatial, and temporal conditions of this synchronicity. In fact, various investigations in cognitive neuroscience point to the need for a minimum time for the emergence of a correlation between neural and cognitive events [42, 43]. At the same time, neurophysiology has revealed the existence of synchronized discharges in certain neuronal groups with oscillations in the gamma band at 40 hertz when a moving object is perceived [44]. Whether these neuronal synchronies are causally decisive to generate awareness or not, or that they may have some link with the synchronicity between mental states and neuronal states, is something that has not yet been explored.

Following the line of what might be called neodualism, David Chalmers had already raised through his naturalistic dualism the possibility of investigating the mechanisms of interaction between subjective experience and the physical world [45]. Specifically, he proposed three psychophysical principles that could establish links between both dimensions: the principle of structural coherence, the principle of organizational invariance, and, finally, the double aspect of information theory. This last principle, of fundamental character, implies that certain types of information have a double structure in which there is a correspondence between the physical states and the phenomenal states. One of the corollaries of this principle is that wherever there is some kind of information, there could be some kind of equivalent consciousness, although this would be as rudimentary as that corresponding, for example, to a thermostat.

In a new proposal, Chalmers raises this relationship founded on the principles of quantum mechanics, based on the pioneering works of Eugene P. Wigner on the possibility that consciousness caused the wave function determined by the Schrödinger equation. According to its new model [46], in the universe, there would be a special property, called m-property, whose effect

would be to respond with the collapse of the wave function every time it encounters an overlap state. Thus, for example, if a photon is in two overlapping positions (P1; P2), when it comes into contact with an m-particle, the photon would collapse into a defined state (i.e., M1-P1). The m-properties would be similar to the physical correlates of consciousness, which in turn should find neurobiological candidates that establish their relationship with brain mechanisms. One of them could be the phi (Φ) measure of the *integrated informa*tion theory of Giulio Tononi [47], which provides a dimension of the amount of consciousness generated by a system. Here consciousness, as a phenomenal state, is taken as an intrinsic property of physical systems, being the result of the degree of integration of information into that system. Therefore, according to this model, consciousness is understood as a higher order function of physical systems, such as the brain, determined by its functional ability to exhibit the collapse of the wave function thanks to the existence of the m-property.

In sum, there are currently as many difficulties as arguments in favor of dualism as of monism. Adopting the attitude of denial as a solution, as proposed by eliminative materialism, is not convincing in the face of Cartesian evidence of selfconsciousness. The inconsistencies of the concept of neural correlate to conform to the linear causality scheme imposed by the methodological framework of Western science should not be an obstacle to persist in neuroscientific research but rather an incentive to reform a possibly inappropriate epistemological paradigm which must be expanded and reformulated. Thus, the progressive conceptual enrichment derived from the convergence between apparently distant theories could be a crucial starting point to unlock an atavistic antinomy [48].

Qualia: The Subjective Quality of Conscious Experience

No less thorny than the other two is the problem of the subjective quality of conscious experience, what philosophers have called *qualia*. Indeed, the explanatory leap between the aseptic functioning of neuronal computing and the intimate and private sensation of perceiving inwardly the quality of a color, a taste, or a pain is one of the greatest difficulties that physicalism has encountered in all its aspects [49]. From this perspective, the most thorough investigation of the neural intricacies of the perceptual pathways in the brain can tell us nothing about *qualia* [50]. Beyond the axon tracts, the exchange of neurotransmitters and the feedback and feedforward mechanisms, the mysterious sensation of *what it is to feel like* will always remain in the air; it seems to escape, for the moment, the methods of modern science.

At this point, many authors conclude in a logically impeccable way a reasoning that starts from questionable premises: consciousness does not exist; it is a mere epiphenomenon; it is not relevant [51–53]. However, at least since Descartes, the subjective experience of the world and of oneself is something clear and evident. Some contemporary authors have even hinted at the possibility that consciousness is a fundamental property of the universe, such as mass, electric charge, or space-time continuum in physics, thus approaching panpsychism [54].

A possible solution to this dilemma could be the intersubjective agreement reached through a neurophenomenological approach to the problem, a well-known philosophical tradition that has recently been revitalized in the field of cognitive neuroscience and the philosophy of the mind. Indeed, at the beginning of the twentieth century, German philosopher Edmund Husserl the founded the phenomenological movement in response to the epistemological limitations of positivism, materialism, and psychology [55]. Phenomenology questions the validity of everyday metaphysical and epistemological statements and tries to go to things themselves as presented to consciousness. By suspending the trial $(\epsilon \pi o \chi \eta)$, the belief that sustains the natural attitude about the objective existence of the world is in doubt. The goal is to obtain sufficient knowledge in itself, an absolute fact on which to build the immediate experience. This process is called phenomenological reduction.

More recently, the philosopher Thomas Nagel [56] has suggested the possibility of developing an objective phenomenology that allows a

description of the subjective nature of the experiences in such a way that it is understandable to other beings lacking such experiences. Perhaps collecting the witness, neurophenomenology proposes a research program capable of articulating the relationships and mutual restrictions between the phenomenological experience and the findings of cognitive neuroscience [57]. Thus, one of the fundamental attitudes of the neurophenomenological method is that it does not persist in the "objective-subjective" opposition, but rather seeks to go further and cover the explanatory gap between the two from its fundamental correlation.

The working hypothesis of neurophenomenology would be to explore the structure of experience and its equivalents in cognitive neuroscience in order to "formulate relational principles and laws between the two to resolve apparent contradictions" (p343). The novelty of this proposal would be that the explanations of "first person" should be included as fundamental elements of validation of the neurobiological findings of "third person" and not as mere accidents in the course of experimentation. The aspiration to find a way to reconcile objective and subjective data in a unified epistemological framework is common in various authors and fields of knowledge and, therefore, is an ideal working field to search for convergent theoretical spaces. All this suggests a stereoscopic perspective in which both conscious experience and cognitive science must become active partners in a new way of understanding the relationships between the mind and the brain.

On the other hand, if we accept the existence of a phenomenal level of organization, within a stratification of increasing complexity between different ontological levels, new and original approaches are necessary to capture the essential properties of consciousness. According to Antti Revonsuo, the exploration of dream activity during sleep, particularly during the REM phase, which is when narrative dreams occur, could constitute an adequate model of the proposed phenomenal level of organization [58]. This is so because the dreaming brain doesn't need neither sensory input nor motor output to produce phenomenal consciousness. This could provide us with the more accurate possibility of identifying the processes that are sufficient to produce subjective experience. In this line, new technologies such as virtual reality could offer us methodological opportunities to open unexpected fields in the study of consciousness. For example, Jeremy Bailenson's group has carried out interesting experiments in which, through a conscious change of perspective using virtual reality, they managed to increase the prosocial behavior of the participants [59]. In this sense, the development of technology can contribute to exploring aspects of consciousness hitherto inaccessible to experimentation.

Discussion and Conclusions

In this brief review of the different alternatives offered to problems in the study of consciousness, we have focused on three fundamental difficulties and some of the most radical solutions that have been proposed. However, other problems have not been considered here, although in one way or another they could be understood as precursors, related to or derived from those presented here (i.e., binding problem, free will, or self-consciousness, among others).

Faced with the problem of interaction between reality and consciousness, various authors have proposed solutions from the peculiar properties of particles at the subatomic level of quantum mechanics. Perhaps their biggest problem, as mentioned in various places [60], is that these theories try to explain a mystery through something even more mysterious, such as quantum mechanics, based on future advances that do not currently exist. In addition, they rely heavily on physical explanations, neglecting their link with the data that neuroscience research continues to generate [61]. However, a comprehensive explanation of consciousness will have to rely, eventually, on the ultimate foundations of the universe's matter or, at least, be in some way consistent with them.

The dualism-monism debate has been entrenched for centuries. It does not seem that new data or proposals generated from the same epistemological context can produce a satisfactory solution to this perennial problem. Although outlawed in the field of neuroscience, dualism remains in force due to the inadequacies of physicalism [62]. Therefore, a reformulation of the epistemological framework that allows us to overcome what has also been described as false debate is necessary. This would open new possibilities to other explanatory frameworks in which events do not follow a linear logic of causality but a spatiotemporal coincidence of transversality. The possible mechanisms of this synchronicity and the ontological nature of the two states, mental and physical, are issues that need even more radical proposals.

In relation to subjective experience, the acceptance of the privacy and subjectivity of conscious states does not imply that we cannot investigate the necessary and sufficient conditions to generate consciousness. It means that describing these conditions is not the same as producing those experiences [63]. Moreover, a phenomenological approach to the states of conscious experience may allow us, over time, to generate intersubjective communication codes that make possible the transfer of interspecies experiential qualities. Each level of organization requires levels of analysis, methods, and particular theoretical developments that should not become antagonistic and incompatible rivals but, rather, allies capable of building bridges that enable a global and articulated understanding for a complex problem.

On the other hand, emergentism has been repeatedly proposed as a panacea for the various problems of consciousness and, more specifically, to circumvent the explanatory gap. However, the difficulties of this formulation are notable. Among them and like most materialistic proposals, they merely expose the magical appearance of consciousness as an emergent property of the interaction between the different parts of a system, without really explaining how it arises or why [64].

In short, both the diversity of problems listed and the proliferation of theories to address them suggest that the science of consciousness is in a still immature stage of development [65]. The progressive integration between different epistemological frameworks, such as the case of neuroscience and cognitive psychology or the fusion between some metaphysical theories with the principles of quantum mechanics, indicates the possible existence of a convergent movement that could result in new approaches that we do not contemplate today. At this time, creative and groundbreaking proposals that challenge conventional practices in both the philosophy of science and empirical research are more necessary than ever. The proliferation of new technological tools opens up unknown horizons for experimentation, whose data should enrich and improve the theoretical discussion. Such proposals should stimulate and generate exciting lines of research in the not too distant future, in order to overcome the difficulties posed by the different and numerous problems of consciousness.

References

- 1. Dennett D. Contenido y conciencia. Barcelona: Gedisa; 1996. p. 55.
- Crick F. La búsqueda científica del alma: una revolucionaria hipótesis para el siglo XXI. Madrid: Debate; 1994. p. XI.
- Llinás R. El cerebro y el mito del yo. El papel de las neuronas en el pensamiento y el comportamiento humano. Barcelona: Belacqua; 2003. p. 131.
- McGinn C. The mysterious flame: conscious minds in a material world. New York: Oxford Books; 1999.
- Chalmers D. How can we construct a science of consciousness? Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2013;1303:25–35. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12166.
- Turing A. Computing machinery and intelligence. Mind. 1950;59(236):433–60.
- Arana J. La conciencia inexplicada. Ensayo sobre los límites de la comprensión naturalista de la mente. Madrid: Biblioteca Nueva; 2015. p. 151.
- Wittgenstein L. Investigaciones filosóficas. Barcelona: Crítica; 2008. p. 245.
- 9. Cowey A, Stoerig P. Blindsight in monkeys. Nature. 1995;373:247–9.
- Chalmers D. The conscious mind: in search of a fundamental theory. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1996.
- 11. Searle J. El misterio de la conciencia. Paidós: Barcelona; 2000.
- Dietrich A. Introduction to consciousness. New York: Palgrave Macmillan; 2007. p. 1–61.
- 13. Searle J. The rediscovery of the mind. Massachusetts: MIT Press; 1992. p. 127–31.
- James W. The principles of psychology. New York: Henry Holt & Co; 1890. p. 224–5.
- Aznar-Casanova J. La consciencia: la interfaz polinómica de la subjetividad. Madrid: Pirámide; 2017. p. 291.

- Simons D, Chabris CF. Gorillas in our midst: sustained inattentional blindness for dynamic events. Perception. 1999;28(9):1059–74.
- Ramachandran V. Lo que el cerebro nos dice: los misterios de la mente humana al descubierto. Barcelona: Paidós; 2012. p. 62–80.
- Churchland PM. Eliminative materialism and the propositional attitudes. J Philos. 1981;LXXVIII:67–90.
- La Mettrie JO. Histoire naturelle de l'ame. Oxford: aux dépends de l'auteur; 1747.
- 20. Berkeley G. Principios del conocimiento humano. Madrid: Aguilar; 1980.
- Bergson H. La evolución creadora. Madrid: Espasa-Calpe; 1973.
- Varela F. De cuerpo presente: las licencias cognitivas y la experiencia humana. Gedisa: Barcelona; 1992.
- Hameroff S, Penrose R. Consciousness in the universe. A review of the 'Orch OR' theory. Phys Life Rev. 2014;11(1):39–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. plrev.2013.08.002.
- Hameroff S. Quantum computation in brain microtubules? The Penrose-Hameroff 'Orch OR' model of consciousness. Phil Trans R Soc Lond A. 1998;356:1869–96.
- Penrose R. Shadows of the mind. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1994. p. 367.
- Kodukula SP. New hypothesis on consciousnessbrain as quantum processor-synchronization of quantum mechanics and relativity. Int J Theor Phys. 2019;7(2):31–43.
- Hoffman D, Prakash C. Objects of consciousness. Front Psychol. 2014;577(5):1–22. https://doi. org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00577.
- Hoffman D. The interface theory of perception: natural selection drives true perception to swift extinction. In: Tarr M, Leonardis A, Schiele B, editors. Object categorization: computer and human vision perspectives. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2009. p. 48–165.
- 29. Descartes R. Meditaciones metafísicas. Madrid: Espasa-Calpe; 1990.
- 30. Ryle G. The concept of mind. Hutchison: Londres; 1949.
- Penfield W. El misterio de la mente. Estudio crítico de la consciencia y del cerebro humano. Madrid: Pirámide; 1977. p. 123.
- Eccles J. A unitary hypothesis of mind-brain interactions in the cerebral cortex. Proc R Soc Lond B. 1990;240:433–51.
- Humphrey N. How to solve the mind-body problem. J Conscious Stud. 2000;7(4):5–20.
- Broad CD. The mind and its place in nature. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul; 1925. p. 61.
- 35. Martínez PC. What is understood by "neural correlate" in mind-brain relations. In: Gargiulo PA, Mesones-Arroyo HL, editors. Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update update: from translational research to a humanistic approach, vol. 3. Switzerland: Springer; 2019. p. 73–81.

- Chalmers D. What is a neural correlate of consciousness? In: Metzinger T, editor. Neural correlates of consciousness. Massachusetts: MIT Press; 2000. p. 17–40.
- Miller G. What is the biological basis of consciousness? Science. 2005;309:79.
- Binder MD. Correlation. In: Binder MD, Hirokawa N, Windhorst U, editors. Encyclopedia of neuroscience. Berlin: Springer; 2009. p. 890.
- Racionero L. Oriente y Occidente. Barcelona: Anagrama; 1993. p. 64.
- 40. Leibniz GW. Monadología. Madrid: Alhambra; 1986.
- 41. Jung CG. La interpretación de la naturaleza y la psique. Barcelona: Paidós; 2003. p. 35.
- Dennett D, Kinsbourne M. Time and the observer: the where and when of consciousness in the brain. Behav Brain Sci. 1992;15:183–247.
- Pöppel E. Lost in time: a historical frame, elementary processing units and the 3-second window. Acta Neurobiol Exp. 2004;64:295–301.
- 44. Gray C, Singer W. Stimulus-specific neuronal oscillations in orientation columns of cat visual cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1989;86:1698–702.
- Chalmers D. Facing up to the problem of consciousness. J Conscious Stud. 1995a;2(3):200–19.
- 46. Chalmers D, McQueen K. Consciousness and the collapse of the wave function. A lecture given by David Chalmers at Göttingen University: Göttingen; 2014.
- 47. Tononi G, Koch C. Consciousness: here, there and everywhere? Phil Trans R Soc B. 2015;370:1–18. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2014.0167.
- 48. Rorty R. Contemporary philosophy of mind. Synthese. 1982;53:323–48.
- Levine J. Materialism and qualia: the explanatory gap. Pac Philos Q. 1983;64(4):354–61.
- 50. Pinker S. How the mind works. New York: W.W. Norton & Co; 1997. p. 546.
- Dennett D. Consciousness explained. Boston: MIT Press; 1991.

- Flanagan O. Consciousness reconsidered. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 1992.
- 53. Jackendoff R. Consciousness and the computational mind. Cambridge: MIT Press; 1987.
- Goswami A. Creative evolution: a physicist resolution between Darwin and intelligent design. Wheaton: Quest Books; 2008.
- 55. Husserl E. Investigaciones lógicas. Madrid: Alianza Editorial; 1985.
- 56. Nagel T. What is it like to be a bat? Philos Rev. 1974;83(4):435–50.
- Varela F. Neurophenomenology: a methodological approach remedy for the hard problem. J Conscious Stud. 1996;3(4):330–49.
- Revonsuo A. Consciousness, dreams and virtual realities. Philos Psychol. 1995;8:35–58.
- Van Loon A, Bailenson J, Zaki J, Bostick J, Willer R. Virtual reality perspective-taking increases cognitive empathy for specific others. PLoS One. 2018;13(8):1–19. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0202442.
- 60. Glattfelder JB. Subjective consciousness: what am I? In: Glattfelder JB, editor. Information – consciousness – reality: how a new understanding of the universe can help answer age-old questions of existence. Switzerland: Springer; 2019. p. 395–449.
- Pastor-Gómez J. Mecánica cuántica y cerebro: una revisión crítica. Rev Neurol. 2002;35(1):87–94.
- 62. Davidson D. Ensayos sobre acciones y sucesos. Barcelona: Crítica; 1995. p. 265.
- Edelman G, Tononi G. Reentry and the dynamic core: neural correlates of conscious experience In: Metzinger T, editor. Neural correlates of consciousness. Massachusetts: MIT Press; 2000. pp. 139–52.
- Goñi-Sáez F, Tirapu-Ustárroz J. El problema mentecerebro (I): fundamentos ontoepistemológicos. Rev Neurol. 2016;63(3):130–9.
- García-Castro J. Nuevas teorías sobre la consciencia. eNeurobiologia. 2019;10(24):1–12. doi:www.uv.mx/ eneurobiologia/vols/2019/24/24.html.



14

A Discussion of Anxiety Over the Last Millennium (1000 to 2000)

Michel Bourin and Monique Bourin

Introduction

Current forms of anxiety often seem to be related to our way of life. Is this reality or mythology? Did people really suffer from anxiety about the end of the world around the year 1000? Medieval texts are discreet about emotions, especially the earliest of them. It is true that the Christian religion imposes the notion of the Last Judgment and, therefore, of the end of the world, but it is difficult to rely on contemporary written testimonies to think that people sat around full of fear imagining the forthcoming apocalypse. These days, we think, in fact we know that the solar system will ultimately disappear, that the earth can be threatened by the fall of an asteroid or that we risk collective death following a nuclear accident; these threats are ever present within our current consciousness. In the face of these potential but real dangers, only a small proportion of humanity is afraid, often in a more intellectual than perceptual way.

Around the year 1000, the Christian church may have exploited this anxiety to make their parishioners fearful, motivating them to donate

M. Bourin

M. Bourin (⊠) La Sorbonne University, Paris, France e-mail: bourin@univ-paris1.fr goods to the monasteries in exchange for redemption of their souls. However, finding evidence to support this hypothesis is difficult. If such anxiety generated by talk of the Last Judgment existed, it manifested itself well after the year 1000, toward the end of the eleventh century, when preparations for the First Crusade were being made. The minds of the people were dominated by forecasts of the apocalypse; no one doubted it. Some indulged in learned calculations; indeed, several periods had already been predicted as possible apocalyptic times. But the counting of the years since the incarnation of Christ was not uppermost in their minds: those who wrote the acts of sale and transfer of the goods, all members of the clergy, counted according to the years of the reign of the living king or according to a calendar of Roman origin. These figures had no doubt a very strong arithmetic and symbolic meaning for the most learned clerics, who were used to calculating the date of Easter, around which the entire Christian liturgical life was organized. Once again, there is very little material to testify to their fear of the approaching millennia. For the others, most of the population, the coming years were much less important than the cycle of the seasons. Daily life carried on as before.

According to the chronicles of the time, people could be the subject of collective panic, especially if they thought they were receiving heaven-sent signs from the cosmos. This

Neurobiology of Anxiety and Mood Disorder, Faculty of Medicine, University of Nantes, Nantes, France e-mail: michel.bourin@univ-nantes.fr

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_14

happened to the troops of the Holy Roman Emperor, Otto I, during an eclipse in 968 [1].

The Death of Oneself

We should distinguish the anxiety created by thoughts of an end of the collective world against the anguish of our own individual death. In the year 1000, people knew that they were mortal. Each disease could have a fatal outcome, and death during pregnancy or childbirth was a common occurrence. At that time, life expectancy was low; death could strike at any age, so the priority was to entrust one's soul to God, to be ready always for the unexpected and possibly sudden passage to the other side. "She kills the young man or the adult in full force, he must make his pact with the Almighty well before he has time to become decrepit as an old man" as Emmanuel Leroy Ladurie once said [2].

In medieval times, did the constant threat of imminent death arouse permanent feelings of anxiety or, on the contrary, lead to its resolution? No doubt neither, but some sense of painful awareness, even within monastic circles, more than anything else tempered this notion. Imagine that we are, in the year 974, present in the large Lorraine monastery of Gorze. The abbot, Jean de Gorze, is dying, morally serene, but he suffers: "Troubled hearts, affecting our sick minds, no longer able to breathe the winds of reason everyone feared only for himself." Hope, cultivated by these monks, namely, that a life of piety would lead to a sweet death without suffering had just vanished forever.

In current times, our death is more "programmed." We develop the feeling little by little, especially as we age, that we are getting closer to our final reckoning. This phenomenon of habituation does not remove the anxiety, quite the opposite in fact. It is not uncommon to hear an individual tell us that he is not afraid of death, so why talk about it?

Today, dying and death are mostly hidden from view. There is rarely anything comparable to the long procession of little people who visited Jean de Gorze as he lay dying, welcoming them from his bed "as much as the disease allowed him" [3]. Then came the time of Jean's "private" death, Jean gives leave to the crowd and is assisted in his final moments only by a small group of relatives. A very similar example is the ceremony held for William the Marshal a few centuries later. Should death be on display or hidden; is the difference so great? One might think that the sudden occurrence of death is more agonizing if it is not a regular presence in our lives. In fact, the panic that was evident in the monks attending Jean's dying emphasizes that one does not get used to the idea of his death nor of his suffering that preceded it.

Fear of Old Age

Today, old age often brings physical and intellectual decline, although we should be careful to note that the condition of an 80-year-old person of today is probably equivalent to that of a person of around 50 years of age during the medieval period. The fight against aging is a recurring theme in advertising, targeting women more than men. Beyond the age when we struggle not to grow old, there are far more surviving women than men [4].

The medieval image seems different: old age is valued, and it does not appear that women outnumber men in old age. (Fig. 14.1) Certainly, contemporary texts are full of references to widows, dynamic and liberated by the death of a husband who until then had hidden, according to



Fig. 14.1 Fear of aging

preserved documents, their real influence in society. But it is mainly the inequality of age at marriage that gives rise to this survival of the wife over the husband; they are widows, but not necessarily very old.

The noble old man existed too. There were even some who almost became centenarians. Evidence of impotence and senility in old age is not absent from contemporary documents; one can rightly imagine a population affected by hard work and physical effort, worn out early. But the dominant image is that of self-control and wisdom. The impetuous impulses of youth are finally tamed by reason. The old are the bearers of memory: they are witnesses of the customs, and their testimony, in a highly oral civilization, remains the foundation of this custom. In fact, the old man was an individual who was able to avoid the pitfalls of disease, especially infectious diseases such as tuberculosis or various forms of dysentery. Old age conferred on the individual a feeling of invulnerability and could be perceived by the youngest as a sign of divine election and therefore of wisdom. During the Middle Ages, old age is precious because it is rare; it is a biological triumph for those fortunate enough to make it that far.

Life expectancy in today's world has increased, and reaching old age has become the norm for most of us [5]. However, it does come with an increased risk of brain cognitive diseases (e.g., dementia). On the other hand, the likelihood of poverty in old age and a lack of descendants to ensure our well-being are much reduced. The death of a child is a major emotional event; we do not expect our children to die within our own lifetime leaving us to contemplate old age in the loneliest of circumstances [6]. Nevertheless, it is less likely to be the miserable and anxious existence than it was in times past.

Fear of Starvation, Sickness, or Deprivation

The fear of lacking the essentials of life, the fear of destitution for oneself living in solitude or for one's family, was undoubtedly strongly present in the medieval consciousness. Hunger is still prevalent today in third-world countries, but it is not generally a collective fear of Western societies.

Medieval communities lived in constant fear of a failed harvest [7]. Modern societies recognize it in a very different form which is specific to our agricultural industries; however, the effectiveness of the fight against fungal and other diseases has to some extent alleviated it. In extreme cases, a poor harvest results in scarcity of agricultural produce. The opening of trade after the eleventh century no doubt helped to reduce the number of occasions when hunger and starvation intruded into people's lives. Also, communal anger against hoarders, which manifested itself in revolts against unpopular regimes, reveals the latency of this anxiety of hunger, if not death by hunger.

But the risks to the individual of disease are undoubtedly pervasive, more so than famine [8]. The threat of somatic diseases or disabilities caused by accidents was, for the man of the year 1000 and until the eighteenth century, a major source of anxiety. The consequences could be disastrous as his resultant inactivity and therefore his nonproductivity could make it difficult or even impossible to feed himself and his family. This concern had probably been increasing because there existed in the Middle Ages forms of intra- or interfamily solidarity, as in most socalled "primitive" societies; however, this form of collective support seems to have diminished, partly because of migration and the increased chances for individual enterprise in an economy where innovation was becoming increasingly rapid and prevalent. Orphanages were created in the fifteenth century by Saint Vincent de Paul [9]. It can be assumed that before this period, intrafamily solidarity helped to relieve the loss of parents through death. In fact, there were many uncles who acted on behalf of their nephews and who may be presumed, in many instances, to have accommodated and raised them. From the twelfth and thirteenth centuries, the "linen of the poor" and the various "charities," fed by the collection of alms, were organized within the parish framework to distribute help and sustenance to those in need; this had previously exclusively been a function of the larger ecclesiastical institutions. Of course, this was only a palliative and as such a case of only treating the symptoms and not the root causes of people's suffering; therefore, it cannot be linked exclusively to the sharing of goods as advocated by Christian doctrine, because it responds in the first place to the social need to find a solution to the impoverishment of some of its members. This led to the creation of various forms of insurance against risk which relieved the grip of individual responsibility within the family but made it more vulnerable in the end. It was necessary to wait for the very recent arrival of health insurance schemes where the risk is covered collectively by a company and no longer by family-generated solutions. It is difficult to make judgments about collective solidarity (social security) versus family solidarity, in terms of anxiety.

Superstitions

An inability to understand natural processes appears to be a defining characteristic of society in the year 1000 [10]; therefore, one might conclude that this failure to comprehend the forces of nature contributed to anxiety in general. As humans developed a greater understanding of the natural world around them, did their improved knowledge serve to alleviate anxiety? We have roughly understood the mechanisms of contagion; so, do we need to get rid of the hypochondriacal fear of the disease? During the Middle Ages, a whole system was developed to deal with and hopefully reduce anxiety. A major worry was salvation: the inculcation of Christian doctrine into people's lives was unrelenting; people firmly believed that they could only achieve salvation through the intercession of the saints and the virgin with her protective mantle. Also, the increasing weight of Christology in the Christian religion contributed to a greater understanding of this God made man [11]. These were all ramparts set against the prospect of the eternal torments to be endured by Christians who had committed evil acts in defiance of religious law.



Fig. 14.2 Fear of pride sin

As regards anxiety generated by the fear of incurable diseases, people put their trust in the miracles and the virtues of the relics. Rites of blessing, processions, and rogations were all ways to reassure oneself. Epidemics or cosmic phenomena were interpreted as signs sent by God to correct a society increasingly attached to their worldly possessions and values and to reassure it through penance for their sins [12] (Fig. 14.2).

Superstitions may be a convenient way to explain phenomena we do not understand and a guide to behavior which reduces risk. Has not the "disenchantment" of the world placed a heavy responsibility on the shoulders of humans and created new forms of anxiety about the future? It is interesting to compare the anxiety related to the lack of understanding of phenomena versus the anxiety generated by speculative visions of the future. Science has helped us to understand many things including death, but it has not responded adequately to either the interrogation of the future of humanity or the notion of the beyond.

Weaknesses of Historical Documentation

An analysis of available documents, in order to develop an accurate picture of the anxiety experienced by the man of the year 1000, is very difficult. Indeed, until the Fourth Lateran Council (1215) made twice-yearly confession compulsory, thus leading to introspection and the direction of conscience (cf. Saint Louis), it was not customary to ask these types of questions; therefore, it is difficult to know specifically how



Fig. 14.3 Fear of hell

evil manifested itself in daily life. In any case, especially before the 1300s, the pen was still very much in the hands of clerics; if the "psychology" sometimes is evident, it is that of the clerks and therefore of a very small part of the population; or at least the psychological notations have been filtered via their way of thinking. When evil and demons appear embedded in their writings, it is expressed in the vocabulary of confrontation between good and evil, which corresponds poorly to current concepts [13]. The sources do not facilitate our objectives because the historical record provides a poor basis for our analysis of anxiety in those times (Fig. 14.3).

Shared fears within a society can sometimes lead to paroxysmal events. For example, it is easy to explain large or violent displacements, like those of the crusades, pogroms of Jews, or revolts against despised rulers. The historical records often describe clashes between clans or between classes. A psychological review of these events would necessarily involve collaboration between historians and psychiatrists.

Analysis of specific narratives about anxiety becomes even more complicated. Among the very rare medieval autobiographies, a text can enable us to recover semiological aspects of acute anxiety. What follows is Guibert de Nogent's description of the anxiety his mother felt when she learned that her husband had been taken prisoner by an enemy lord and would never see him again:

One particularly dark night, when, overcome by this atrocious anxiety, she huddled at the bottom of her bed, the Devil, accustomed to attacking souls filled with sadness, suddenly arrived in person as her enemy and went to bed on top of her while she was still awake. With his enormous weight, he crushed her so much that she was almost dead. While her breath was cut off by this crushing weight and she was totally deprived of the free use of her limbs, she was literally unable to utter the slightest sound. She, constrained as she was by her muteness, could only plead for divine help. [14]

This reactive anxiety that occurs during sleep evokes a panic attack or acute anxiety attack. The translation done by Labande is very faithful to the Latin text that is presented to us. It would certainly be easier sometimes to tell our patients that their shortness of breath (dyspnea) is caused by anxiety related to the weight of the devil on their chests.

It is also interesting to follow, throughout the speech, the obsessional neurosis of the narrator, evident in his writing. It does not seem possible to equate it, as Kantor did, with the notion Freud developed that religiosity was obsessive [15]. This poses the problem of the timelessness of psychoanalysis. Indeed, it is difficult to evaluate the role of religiosity in a cleric.

Conclusion: What Remains of Our Millennial Anxieties?

The approach of a new millennium does not seem to have changed current human behavior in the face of worry, either as death approaches or as we head toward an increasingly uncertain future. In this respect, the transition from the first to the second millennium probably did not have any major impact either. But in the longer term, what does the future hold for us? Has the loss of faith and the development of "positive" rationality worried or reassured human beings? Anxiety became the "ransom of freedom," according to Kierkegaard, when it became clear that man had some power over his destiny [16]. Alongside the religious response to the anxieties of the present, to overcome or at least save a soul, another trend has emerged: the escape of the present not to the hereafter, but in a historically feasible future. Did the man of the year 1000 have more certainty? Probably not, but culturally he had no choice.

The fact remains that it is difficult, when examining the writings of the religious clerics, to find much of consequence regarding the nature of anxiety in the year 1000. Autobiography is probably the only tool that fulfills the conditions needed to identify the characteristic symptoms of anxiety, but it is a very exceptional genre in the Middle Ages. So how can we define the different manifestations of anxiety as they are described in the modern classifications of the psychiatric affections such as the American classification (DSM 5) or the World Health Organization (ICD 11)? Did social phobias exist? Certainly, such phobias could have been generated by the frequent intrusion of strangers transiting through medieval villages. Could there have been posttraumatic stress or panic attacks? It is not impossible. What could have been the degree of introspection within the confessional? Despite these difficulties, serious research remains to be done in the light of the current psychiatric culture, specifically, to gain an appreciation of what historians have started using the methods of social sciences other than history, such as anthropology or sociology.

Strictly speaking, the scope of this discussion paper, as presented here, does not amount to a history of anxiety through the ages. It is commonly accepted by the media or by the general population that we now have more risk factors in our environment due to stress, urban violence, and the vagaries of employment. It seems that the environmental effects have changed, but we forget that our living conditions, for most of us, have improved: housing, sanitary conditions, and food, with some notable exceptions since many people in the world are still dying of hunger. It does not seem to us that the background of human anxiety has changed through the ages; it is likely that our basic fears are the same. When consulting their doctors, older patients may express their fear of death with the paradoxical phrase "Doctor, I am not afraid of death." This continues to provide the most stable support for our anxiety.

Another question arises as to the evolution of anxiety; did the most anxious of our ancestors survive or, on the contrary, was it those who could best control their anxiety? The great changes in our societies have probably reshaped our anxieties, but it seems to be more the expression of our anxiety and its paradigms than profound changes in our anxious nature [17].

Acknowledgments The authors are grateful to Martin Ziegler for his help and advice in producing the English language version of this paper.

References

- Frazier TL. A second look at the second coming: sorting through the speculations. Ben Lomond: Conciliar Press; 1999.
- 2. Le Roy Ladurie E Les paysans de Languedoc. Vol. 1. Mouton Ed: Paris; 1966.
- Parisse M, de Saint-Arnoul J. La Vie de Jean abbé de Gorze. Paris: Picard; 1999.
- Porck T. Old age in early Medieval England. A cultural history. Woodbridge: Boydell & Brewer; 2019.
- Hühne-Osterloh G, Grupe G. Causes of infant mortality in the middle ages revealed by chemical and palaeopathological analyses of skeletal remains. Z Morphol Anthropol. 1989;77:247–58.
- 6. Ariès P. L'enfant et la vie familiale sous l'Ancien régime. Paris: Seuil; 1975.
- Lucas HS. The Great European famine of 1315, 1316 and 1317. In: Carus-Wilson EM, editor. Speculum, v (1930), republished, Essays in economic history. Vol 2. London; 1962. ii, pp. 49–72.
- Hawkins D. The black death and the new London cemeteries of 1 348. Antiquity. 1990;64:637–42.
- Libster MM, McNeil SBA. Enlightened charity: the holistic nursing care, education, and advices concerning the sick of Sister Matilda Coskery, 1799–1870. West Lafayette: Golden Apple Publications; 2009.
- Hanawalt BA, Kiser LJ. Engaging with nature: essays on the natural world in medieval and early modern Europe. Notre Dame: University of Notre Dame Press; 2008. Retrieved March 17, 2019, from Project MUSE database. https://bit.ly/3oM8ivV.
- 11. Saint Anselme de Cantorbéry. Le Petit Livre des Saints, Éditions du Chêne, tome 2. 2011. p. 15.
- Goodich M. Miracles and disbelief in the late middle ages. Mediaevistik. 1988;1:23–38.
- 13. Feros Ruys J. Demons in the middle ages arc. Kalamazoo: Humanities Press; 2017.
- Guibert de Nogent, Autobiographie, Introduction, édition et traduction par Edmond-René Labande (Les Classiques de l'histoire de France au Moyen Age) 1981.
- Lewis CA, Loewenthal KM. Religion and obsessionality: obsessive actions and religious practices. Ment Health Relig Cult. 2018;21(2):117–22.
- Glenn JD Jr. Kierkegaard's ethical philosophy. Southwest J Philos. 1974;5:121–8.
- Crocq MA. A history of anxiety: from Hippocrates to DSM. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2015;17:319–25.

Part II

From Basic Neurosciences to Human Brain



Neurotransmitters and Hormones in Human Decision-Making

15

Luis Felipe Sarmiento Rivera and Amauri Gouveia

Introduction

Neurotransmitters, neuropeptides, and hormones in humans are directly related to behavior. It is suggested that the ultimate goal of these chemicals is to increase the probabilities of individuals to access to resources, to mating, and to get social status [1]. The relationship between neurochemicals from the brain and body and behavior has been commonly studied using pharmacology. It allowed to understand in a putative way how each neurotransmitter or hormone affects behavior [2]. Specifically, in this text, how different kinds of these neurochemicals are associated with different kinds of human's decision-making is studied.

Making a decision is to choose between different kinds of options or possibilities, in order to try to have the best outcome. In the living beings, this outcome is related with adaptation, in order to improve reproduction and life quality [3]. Precisely, in human beings, from the beginning of the day, people are making decisions. Some of them are simple decisions like what to wear and what to eat and more complex decisions like how to invest the money or how to save the marriage.

There have been classified different types of decision-making, due to the different approaches

which study it. Usually, they are classified according to the kind of decision that person is making. In this manner, it can be found moral decision-making, economic decision-making, and social decision-making. It is probable that there are studies of other kinds of decisionmaking. However, they are inside of this categorization or they became outside of this manuscript.

Social Decision-Making

Social decisions are a kind of decision that are made each day, and, as it is suggested by their name, they are related to interactions and social relationship. Many of these decisions are related to empathy, social cognition, cooperation, altruism, hierarchy, mating, and relationship. New researches are approaching to the study of them using neuroscience and psychological and economical paradigms, like the game theory. It presents tasks as dilemmas. In them the decision-maker has to find a solution. The prisoner dilemma is one of the most famous examples of this kind of paradigms related to cooperation.

Two persons are arrested for being suspects of thief by the police; they are put in different rooms and they are not allowed to communicate with each other. The crime has a punishment of 10 years of prison. The police do not have enough evidence to make a definitive verdict; but they can put them on prison for 2 years by a minor crime. If both

L. F. Sarmiento Rivera (🖂) · A. Gouveia

Laboratory of Neuroscience and Behavior, Federal University of Pará (UFPA), Belem, Pará, Brazil

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_15

prisoners remain loyal to each other, not betraying their partner, they will pay 5 years in prison, while if both betray each other, they will pay 10 years in prison. Then, they have this alternatives, if both of them betray each other they will pay 10 years; if both remain loyal to each them, they will pay 5 years; but, if one betray, and the other remain loyal, the betrayer will pay 2 years while the other one will be paying 10 years. [4]

Will the person betray or not his/her partner? These kinds of task are mainly focused on the social decision-making studies.

Moral Decision-Making

Moral decision-making has a strong component associated to social relationship. For example, there is a woman who see a 20 dollar bill, just at the side of a man toward her. Should she tell the person, who probably lost the bill, and pick it up for him, or should she wait for the perfect timing to pick it up and save it for her [5, 6]? This decision has a strong moral feeling, and they have been studied specially through moral dilemmas.

An example of a classic moral dilemma is this:

A runway trolley is out of control, it going directly to five people, which are working on the road. They do not see the trolley, so, they are going to die if you do not do anything. You are next to a big person in a bridge above the road. You can press a lever, which make the big person fall down. He will die, but you will save the five workers. It is morally allowed, to move the liver and sacrifice one life in order to save the five lives of the worker? [7]

Now, the decision-maker has a variant, he has the same situation but without the lever; this time he has to push the big person out of the bridge with his own hands. Is it morally allowed to push out the big person in order to save the life of the five workers [7]?

Although the consequence of this action is the same, the answer of the people is that they tend to prefer to make the decision, which is to save the five persons when there is no physical contact with the victim, while they are more reluctant to involve in physical contact – pushing the big person. The utilitarianism is going to judge if the action is acceptable or not, holding it in the outcome of the action. In this case, it is allowed to kill a person in order to save five, while deontology judges the acceptability of the actions based on what is done, for example, to kill is bad regardless the objective [7].

Economic Decision-Making

Some theories and models have been used to study how people make decisions in financial markets and business, like expected utility theory and prospect theory [3]. This manuscript is not the place to analyze how decisions are made, if it follow the expected utility rules or not, unless to understand this kind of decision and its relation with neurochemicals. Thus, economic decisionmaking is related to the options the decisionmaker has in order to make the decision. It is also related to the possible choices that he has and the different kinds of outcomes, being some or all of them unknown. In this case this kind of decision is under risk and/or uncertainty because the decision-maker doesn't know the whole possible outcomes.

To measure decision-making under risk, there are different kinds of tests used. Most of them are choosing between different kinds of stimuli. The most famous task is the Iowa Gambling Task (IGT). In this task are taking into account emotional and instinctive responses in the options. Other tests to measure decision-making under risk are the Balloon Analog Risk Task (BART) and the Columbia Card Task (CCT). The IGT is a test which has four decks, A, B, C, and D. Two decks are disadvantageous or risky desk, because they give big rewards but at long term they result in loses. The other two decks are advantageous because they give wins in the long term [8].

Oxytocin

Oxytocin is a neuropeptide composed by nine amino acids. It is mainly released in the brain. However, it is also released in other parts of the body. Oxytocin acts as a neuromodulator of the central nervous system. Moreover, it has the ability to form nexus with other molecules in the whole body [10]. It is synthetized by the hypothalamus in the paraventricular and supraoptic nucleus – which synthetized the vasopressin too [9]. It is later liberated by the pituitary gland in the circulation [2].

Oxytocin has the ability to relate with other hormones. In the paraventricular nucleus, the corticotropin-realizing hormone (CRH) is liberated, involved in the stress response, which can be liberated at the same time than the oxytocin. Moreover, this nucleus has connections with the amygdala and the hippocampus. These connections relate oxytocin with emotions. Levels of this peptide tend to be very high in the blood and brain. Besides blood level having variation between individuals, they tend to be a stable measure through time for this neuropeptide [10].

Currently, there is a hypothesis claiming that oxytocin has evolved for more than 700 million years. At the beginning, it regulates cellular processes, homeostasis, and water balance. Later, during brain evolution, it acquired other new functions and became responsible of the development of the brain cortex in relation to social behaviors [11]. Nowadays, this hormone is strongly associated with social behaviors [12, 13, 15, 16].

Social Decision-Making

There is a relation between oxytocin, in human and animals, as is mentioned by Barazza [12], and parental behavior, social attachment, affiliation, and long-term monogamous relationship [14]. Moreover, it is reported that administration of intranasal oxytocin produces more social proximity – being more near to others – in rats [17]. In humans, it is found that there is an increase in oxytocin blood measure when there are observed positive social clues like trust or reciprocity [9]. Furthermore, it was found that oxytocin modulates social attention, social perception, social memory, emotion recognition, and communication [13, 15]. It also has to be taken into account that in humans the presence of a social environment that suits with the interaction is crucial in order to associate oxytocin with social proximity [18].

Vasopressin and Oxytocin in Social Behaviors

Vasopressin is closely linked to oxytocin. Partly it is because this molecules share the same receptors, they have similar structures, and they are produced in the same place [9]. Moreover, as with the oxytocin, vasopressin is linked with social bonding, and together, both molecules are related to anxiety [19] and defensive behaviors [11, 20]. Furthermore, there is an association in the increase of both neuropeptides when a person receives a massage [21].

Relationship Between Trust and Oxytocin

The oxytocin is frequently linked to trust and social behaviors. Even though there are plenty of researches supporting it, the mechanism of how it works is unknown [9]. Regarding to trust, it was found that during the trust game (TG), a task focused on the trust between the participants [22, 23], the people who portray more trust were the people with higher oxytocin levels measured in blood. Furthermore, when the experimenters administrate synthetic oxytocin, people exhibited higher levels of trust in the TG [10, 14].

Moreover, it was found that oxytocin administration increases generosity in the ultimatum game [10, 24]. On the other hand, there are studies with oxytocin which relates positive attributes and trust to commercial brands [25]. In the same way, a trust increment toward the government and political leaders was seen, especially in participants who show lower levels of trust [14]. However, it is unknown how this relationship works because it was discovered that learning under oxytocin influence affects the brain reward system and it is hypothesized that, more than a trust increment, it could be a learning difficulty [26].

Empathy and Prosocial Behavior

There are many studies linking oxytocin with prosocial behavior and empathy. Increasing levels of oxytocin have relation with the increasing in donations to philanthropic social institutions [12]. There is evidence that oxytocin release is linked to empathy, while participants of a study are seeing a film in which a child has terminal cancer [27]. In relation with social behavior, it is observed that administration of intranasal oxytocin improves social interactions of the participants [27].

Moreover, some studies show that oxytocin administration helps to improve emotional recognition in autism [28]. Other studies relate it with social memory and increase in looking to the eyes of another person [10]. In rats, oxytocin administration during adolescence causes an increase in social gaming, while there was a decrease in anxiety and social preference [17]. *Furthermore, it was found that oxytocin increases generosity* [29] and social interaction in rats [30] and other animals [31].

In this way studies begin to link oxytocin, mostly the intranasal administration, in psychopathology treatments of autism, schizophrenia, and social anxiety [32]. Finally, functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI) studies show that the ventral tegmental area (VTA) presents the highest activation in relation to oxytocin and social behavior [33].

Social Decision-Making

Oxytocin is related to moral decision-making. It was found that the receptor gene for the oxytocin – OXTR – is linked to utilitarian decisions vs deontological decisions in moral dilemmas, and even, a correlation in a variation of the gene associated with the utilitarian judgment and harm in moral dilemmas was found [34, 35]. In this manner, genetics would have a contribution in the way that people make moral decisions. (Fig. 15.1).



Fig. 15.1 Oxytocin is clearly related to social decisionmaking, especially with trust and reciprocity

Testosterone

Testosterone is a steroid hormone and the most common androgen. It is released through the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis; gonadotropinreleasing hormone is released from the hypothalamus into the hypothalamo-pituitary portal system; via this system, it is carried to the anterior pituitary gland; there, it induces liberation of gonadotropins by the anterior pituitary into the circulatory system, and posteriorly, the testosterone is secreted in the gonads [2]. It is not just linked to sexual and reproductive functions because it is also related with social behavior [36].

Absence or presence of prenatal testosterone has influence in the development of sexual dimorphism, and it has short-term and long-term repercussions [37]. Nevertheless, it only counts for a little part of the explication of sexual differences, which are not going to be discussed in this chapter. On the other side, this data could be used as an indicator for the understanding of why schizophrenia, stuttering, and autism are more prevalent in men. Besides, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is 10 times more frequent in men than in women. These facts may also give an explanation of why anxiety disorder, affective disorders, and depression are more prevalent in women [2].

Testosterone and Social Decision-Making

Different studies have found relation between testosterone and humor, aggression, sexuality, and social decision-making [37]. In animals, it is linked to aggressive and nonadaptive behaviors, for example, testosterone increase in birds is associated with competitiveness in reproductiverelated behaviors [38]; and, in rats, it has been seen having a relation with social dominance [52]. Despite this, in human beings, the testosterone has a weak and confusing relation with aggressivity [2, 37, 38], but it is linked to competitive behaviors [39]. A neuropsychological test has found that men tend to have higher punctuation in spatial skills compared to women. It has been suggested that there could be a link between testosterone and these skills. Furthermore, it has been observed that testosterone administration to women improves their performance in test that measures this skill. In the same way, social aggression is related to testosterone, and administration to women generates quicker responses to angry faces [37].

It was also found that higher prenatal testosterone levels in men were associated to what they decide to buy [41]; specifically, products related with determinate gender. They choose products more masculine and less colorful than other men exposed to lesser prenatal testosterone levels [40]. Persons which received testosterone administration compared with a placebo group have shown preference for brands which give them more social status than a similar product from another brand. Similar studies have suggested that there is cerebral differences in the sexual stimuli processing comparing two groups, one with higher testosterone levels and another with lower testosterone levels [37].

Reciprocity and Trust

Even though how it works is not understood, research suggests a link between reciprocity, trust, and testosterone [10, 42]. This link may be related to the fact that higher testosterone levels inhibit oxytocin release. It was found that dihydrotestosterone is associated with low levels of reciprocity. It may be the explanation of the higher trust levels shown by women comparing to men in the trust game [10]. Furthermore, it was also shown that trust decreases in women with testosterone administration in a test which portrays pictures of men faces. In the same way, there is a bigger quantity of rejects in the offers presented in the ultimatum game when the participant has higher levels of testosterone [42]. In men, testosterone administration diminishes the trust and also decreases the offer to the other participant in the ultimatum game. In the same way, the minimum offer received for the second participant gets higher, but, curiously, this effect was not seen in women [10].

Economic Decision-Making

It has been suggested that testosterone is related to economic decision-making [37], especially to decision-making under uncertainty. The test developed by Damasio [43], the Iowa Gambling Task (IGT), consists in a card game. There are four decks, two of them with some penalties to the higher rewards, while there is lower rewards and at the same time lower penalties, finishing in a sure winning. This test is a good measure of decision-making under uncertainty [44]. Men tend to choose more cards from the decks of lower reward in the short-term but higher reward in the long-term than women [45], and men with lower levels of testosterone are associated with a better performance of the test [46]. In young people, a higher risk-taking measure with the Balloon Analog Risk Task was found. It was associated with endogenous testosterone [47]. Nevertheless there are no other studies which find similar conclusions to decision-making under risk between men and women [48].

In more competitive situations, increased testosterone is associated with more risky decisionmaking compared with noncompetitive situations [49], even finding more financial risk [50, 51]. Nevertheless, testosterone rising, in competitive situation, is bonded to personal and social characteristic of the individual [53]. On the other hand, administration of testosterone in rats decreases their decision-making under uncertainty but also reduces their effort to reach a reward [54]. Moreover, there could be a link between propensity to take risk with the dopaminergic and reward system, because it was shown in rats that testosterone can joint to dopaminergic receptors D1 and D2 [37].

Moral Decision-Making

Testosterone affects the moral decisions and the moral judgment. People with higher testosterone tend to make more utilitarian decisions, especially if there is some aggression involved [55]. In another study, a relationship in women between testosterone administration and moral judgment was not found. However, taking into account the

Fig. 15.2 Testosterone has relation with social decisionmaking, specifically in competitiveness and social dominance. It is also related to economic decision-making relating with higher risk-taking and with moral judgment

testosterone administration and a bigger difference in the digit ratio of the right hand's second to fourth -2D:4D (the division of the second digit length and fourth digit length, which is related to prenatal testosterone exposure), it was found that they make more utilitarian decisions [56]. Then, prenatal testosterone is associated to utilitarian judgment. Even though the relation between testosterone and social behavior in adulthood is clear, it remains unknown how is it related to moral judgment made by people [57] (Fig. 15.2).

Arginine Vasopressin

Vasopressin and neuropeptides are synthetized in paraventricular and supraoptic nuclei from the hypothalamus. They are released in general circulation from the posterior pituitary [2]. Oxytocin and vasopressin brain circuits interact with gonadal sex hormones [58], and it has been found that in different kinds of mammals, this is important for the regulation of social behavior [59].

In rats a relation between V1a oxytocin receptor and social behaviors has been seen [60]. In reptiles, it is linked to the modulation of social behavior and parental care. However, in reptiles, the molecule is a homologue named vasotocin [61]. In zebra finches it has been related with affiliation behaviors [62]. In human beings, it has similar functions related to learning and social behaviors like social recognizing, parental care, affiliation, cooperation, and in psychiatric level with autism [58, 63–65] and anxiety [19].

Social Decision-Making

Cooperation

Arginine vasopressin (AVP) has been linked to cooperation. It has effects very similar to oxytocin, and it is thought that both of them are strongly related because they can share receptors. However, it is suggested that they have different neural circuits [66]. It has been found that intranasal administration of AVP increases task taking in looking for cooperation [64, 67]. Moreover, a higher cooperation in the prisoner dilemma in the second participant when it is administrated by intranasal oxytocin has been observed [27]. On the other side, differences between men and women has been found when there is intranasal administration of AVP, specifically in the lateral part of the insula and the right supramarginal gyrus [66]. In addition, using fMR studies, it was observed that, when the participants saw an emotional scene, charged emotionally plus the AVP administration, there was activation of the right amygdala, the ventromedial prefrontal cortex, and the inferior parietal lobule [59], structures previously linked to empathy.

Parental Care and Monogamy

It has been found that arginine vasopressin is linked with parental care [68, 69, 149] and monogamy. In studies with animals in relation to sexual fidelity, in the prairie vole, a monogamous specie, it was found that males with higher levels of vasopressin in the retrosplenial cortex V1aR receptors tend to have lesser partners outside of the original couple [70] (Fig. 15.3).



Fig. 15.3 Neuropeptide vasopressin is associated with social decision-making, specifically with cooperation and parental care



Serotonin

Serotonin is a monoamine known as 5-HT (5-hydroxytryptamin), derived from the amino acid tryptophan [71]. This neurotransmitter is specially located in the raphe nuclei, in the brain stem, and it is associated to cognitive and emotional processes, besides impulsivity, temporal discounting (the loss of value of a bigger reward delayed in time versus a shorter but immediate reward), and cooperation [73], all of them important for decision-making. Furthermore, serotonin is related to modulation of decision-making under risk [74–77].

Serotonin plays an important role in the most advanced functions related to behavior. In the most frontal part of the brain, the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) is associated with attention, direct behaviors toward a goal, planning, and cognitive control. This brain area has projections from subcortical structures as the amygdala, nucleus accumbens (NAc), and habenula. Another part of the prefrontal cortex, the orbitofrontal cortex receives projections from the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) forming a circuit linked to emotional valences. These brain areas are known for the presence of serotonin in them. Serotoninergic neurons are originated in raphe nuclei, and these nuclei project to almost all subcortical areas including the NAc, amygdala, habenula, and mPFC. These serotoninergic neurons together with dopaminergic neurons are in charge of the prefrontal cortex modulation [78].

In psychiatry, serotonin has been related to psychopathologies [79, 80], such as anxiety and depression [81]. It has also been suggested that it is associated with the kinds of food that people consume, particularly, choosing which will benefit in the long term [82, 83]. In the same manner, serotonin plays a crucial role in inhibitory learning and behaviors related to aversive predictions, known as Pavlovian aversive predictions [81, 83, 84]. Moreover, drugs that inhibit serotonin reuptake tend to affect social behaviors like affiliation, social interaction, playing behaviors, reproductive behaviors, and parental care of the next generation [79].

Social Decision-Making

The role of serotonin in affective and social decision-making is highly complex; a relation with the valuation of aversive outcomes is suggested [81]. It is also related to mood, appetite, and sleep, and it is important for learning and cognition [73]. Furthermore, there are relations between serotonin and psychopathologies which affect socially to people [79, 80] as anxiety and depression [81].

Serotonin is an important modulator of social decision-making, especially in cooperation. In animals, it has been observed that the rise of tryptophan increases cooperation and affiliation. In humans, serotonin reuptake inhibitors augment cooperation in the prisoner dilemma [13]. In the same manner, tryptophan depletion reduces cooperation in the prisoner dilemma [77, 85]. Alteration of the serotonin will affect the results in the ultimatum game, making more rejection to offers perceived as injustice. In addition, it is suggested that it is very important to identify psychological characteristics of other people [9].

Impulsivity and Decision-Making Under Risk

The neurotransmitter serotonin has been linked with risk in decision-making [74, 86], loss aversion [87], and cognitive flexibility, focusing in reversal learning and temporal discounting [78], with self-control and impulsivity [88–91]. Decreasing the amino acid precursor of serotonin and tryptophan, there is an increased impulsivity [73] and aggression. Likewise, there are some studies linking serotonin with patience [92, 93].

Serotonin elimination in rodents using neurotoxins produces a high rate of immediate decisions that seek immediate rewards [13], equally to tryptophan elimination [75]. In humans, it was found that discount rate increases with tryptophan elimination, and it equally affects risky decision-making. Nevertheless, in humans, it increases loss aversion [14].

Specific serotonin receptors as 5-HT1B and 5-HT₂ are associated with decision-making. The

Fig. 15.4 The neurotransmitter serotonin is related to social decision-making with self-control, impulsivity, and valuation of aversive consequences. In economic decision-making, it is associated with higher decision-making and impulsivity. In moral decision-making, it is related to valuation of harm to another people

5-HT1B receptor relates with risk in decisionmaking [94]. Moreover, 5-HT₂ receptor relates with risk but also with motor impulsivity. Moreover, it is suggested that this receptor antagonist can be used pharmacologically to change behaviors, which affects impulsivity in decisionmaking [95].

Moral Decision-Making

Serotonin can also be very important in the moral judgment, specifically in valuation of harm, justice perception, and harm aversion [96, 97]. It has been associated with valuation of harm to other people in moral dilemma [97]. Increasing serotonin can make people more cooperative, while decreasing it can make it less cooperative. Furthermore, studies with patients taking citalopram – a serotonin reuptake inhibitor – have shown a significant increase in more altruistic behaviors [96, 98]. Finally, tryptophan elimination causes people to become more punitive to what they consider an injustice [14]. (Fig. 15.4).

Stress Hormones

Physical or psychological stress produces the same physiological response. It helps the animal to respond to the stressor stimuli. This response is accompanied by the rising of cytokines and adrenal hormones. The stress response is mediated by the activation of the adrenal cortex-anterior pituitary system. It releases the adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) from the anterior pituitary. It facilitates the release of glucocorticoids from the adrenal cortex, which is a physiological parameter of stress [2].

Stress is a physical, psychological, and emotional response to a stimulus that is perceived as a threat. It is critical for survival because it allows the individual to adapt to new situations. However, long periods of stress or chronic stress can be nonadaptive for the individual. This has been related to decrease in the neurogenesis and neuroplasticity. In a psychiatric level, it may lead to psychopathologies such as anxiety and stress [99, 100].

Neuroimaging studies and behavioral studies suggest that stress produces a higher response in subcortical regions which are thought as related to instinctive and emotional behavior. Likewise, the activation of the frontal region, linked to executive control and deliberate thought, decreases. Then, stress will be related to the interaction between behaviors that are more emotional and more deliberate thinking producing more instinctive and emotional reactions [101]. Moreover, it has been suggested that it has a modulator role in the steroid hormone, testosterone [102].

Related to behavior, it has been found that rising of glucocorticoids affects negatively learning [100] and visual attention [10]. Furthermore, it has been observed that this rising is critical for different kinds of decision-making because it can impede the evaluation of all probabilities to make the right decision [99]. However, the function of these hormones has a U-shape response because low levels of stress can improve cognition, while higher levels can impair it [10].

Economic Decision-Making

Stress hormones are affected in decision-making under risk. Testosterone and glucocorticoids are related to risk-taking in decision-making [49, 102, 103]. In studies where cortisol was increased



pharmacologically, it was found that men tend to score lower than women do in the Iowa Gambling Task, but both are affected by stress. In the Balloon Analog Risk Task (BART) test, men took more risk, while women take lesser risk [104]. Other studies have corroborated these results finding that acute stress increases risk-taking in men, but they do not find the same effect in women [104, 150]. Additionally, in adolescence, a period of high-risk decision-making [99], it has been observed that under stress, young ones tend to make more risker decisions compared to a placebo group and adults [107].

Moreover, stress hormones are linked to strategic decision-making. Using the beauty contest game, a game in which a participant has to develop strategy in different steps in order to win, it was observed that people under stress were affected in their strategic reasoning compared with people without stress [108]. Furthermore, in studies in militaries, it was found that those who were in the condition of higher stress were more likely to fail in their decisions comparing with the other condition of low stress [109].

Moral and Social Decision-Making

Many social and moral decisions are made in stress condition. Higher levels of stress make more utilitarian [10] and altruistic [104] decision. Furthermore, it has been observed in social decision-making that participants under stress trust lesser than participants without stress [105]. In the hawk-dove game, a social decision-making game, to pick the hawk was associated with low cortisol level; this selection is related to social dominance behaviors, and higher cortisol levels would be associated to inhibitory behaviors as defense behavior [106]. (Fig. 15.5).

Women Cycle Hormones

Men and women have the same hormones. However, they differ in their proportions and functions. The biggest difference is that male gonadal hormones are stable while female



Fig. 15.5 Stress hormones are related to economic decision-making, increasing risk-taking and moral decision-making, focusing in the common well-being

gonadal hormones are cyclic. The hormones fluctuate each 28 days, more or less, and specifically the estrogen and progesterone are in charge of the cycle [2].

The menstrual cycle is divided in five phases: menstrual phase, follicular phase, ovulatory phase, luteal phase, and premenstrual phase. The length of the cycle varies between individuals, in which follicular phase is the most variable while ovulation, luteal phase, and premenstrual phase are more stable. Estrogen reaches its peak in the ovulatory phase, and progesterone in luteal phase [110]. Besides, in menopause hormonal changes that affects emotional processing are produced [115]. It takes to hypothesize that hormones play a key role in the emotional aspects of decision-making.

Social Decision-Making

Women cycle hormones are associated with emotional changing that has effect in social decisionmaking. In this manner, it was found that women show less trust in premenstrual and menstrual phases [10]. Another study found that it is more likely that women dressed red clothes, associated with courtship, during their most fertile period than any other part of the cycle. Moreover, estradiol-progesterone ratio was a predictor of the probabilities of wearing red clothes [116].

There are hypotheses which relate women hormonal cycle with mating. It has been found that during the follicular phase, women tend to look for men with more dominant appearance, while in the luteal phase they tend to observe
men with lesser dominant appearance [10]. However, this link is not clear because there are studies with contradictory results. When women are in their fertility period, it was found that there was no change related to the preference of physical characteristics of men. Nevertheless, there was a difference in choosing between longterm relationship partner and short-term relationship partner [117]. Other studies have not found a relation between preferences for male characteristics and hormonal cycle [118, 119]. However, it was observed that the qualification of the male body given by women is higher during the fertile phase [119].

There is a relation between women with higher testosterone levels and physical attractiveness of female faces but not male faces. In the same manner, they prefer attractive faces than non-attractive faces [120]. However, this relation was not found in another study which found a positive relation between preferences for male faces and higher level of testosterone measure in saliva. This result was affected when women were under some kind hormonal contraceptive method [121]. of Moreover, there were not found differences during menstrual cycle phases in preferences for men physical attractiveness, based on beard or boddy hair distribution [122]. These results suggest that there is some kind of link between women hormonal cycle and physical attractive preferences, but it remains unknown how it is affected.

On the other hand, it is suggested that female cycle hormones are related to social status and competitiveness. Specifically, testosterone is linked to a higher risk-taking of looking for a higher social status [123]. Furthermore, a link between competitiveness, the menstrual cycle, and hormonal contraceptive method was observed, but the role of the estrogen and progesterone in it is unknown [110].

Economic Decision-Making

Women cycle hormones are associated with decision-making under risk. It was observed that women tend to choose more risky option during ovulation. It was also found that they have lesser

Fig. 15.6 Hormones involved in women menstrual cycle link to social decision-making in behaviors as mating, and with economic decision-making. They relate with decision-making under risk

loss aversion in that phase than men [111]. Besides, it has been seen that women in luteal phase have less control and are more impulsive when they are buying, evenly correlating with remorse because they pay more than they can spend and remorse for buying in the next day [112]. In the same way, in biddings, it was found that in the fertile phase women tend to take higher risk. This behavior is explained evolutionary in higher chances of conceiving and higher quality and variety of the offspring [113].

Finally, there is a relation between risk, learning, and dopaminergic system [87, 114]. Estradiol and progesterone modulate dopaminergic tone, specifically in dopamine receptor DRD2. During menstrual phase, women present different levels of these hormones. Even some studies show that in follicular phase there is an improvement in the sensitivity to reward, compared to luteal phase. In the same manner, learning will be affected for negative feedbacks [124] (Fig. 15.6).

Dopamine

This neurotransmitter is a monoamine synthetized for the tyrosine amino acid. The tyrosine becomes L-dopa, and then, it became dopamine. It is mainly located in the dopaminergic mesolimbic system, related to reward [2]. As well as the prefrontal cortex, development finishes during adolescence, specially their connections with the ventral striatum [125]. In addition, it is strongly associated to motivation and seeking behaviors [126].

decision-making

-Risk-

Dopamine is related to seeking behavior and learning [127]. In animal models, it has been observed, specifically in cleaner fish – *Labroides dimidiatus* – that blocking dopamine receptors inhibits motivationally the fish to approach to a reward [128]. Moreover, blocking dopamine receptors in mouse affects motivation in decisionmaking, specifically in decision which requires higher effort to reach the reward [129].

In human beings, it is linked with learning [130] and motivation [131–133]. In studies in Parkinson disease, it has been observed that dopamine is the neurotransmitter involved in learning difficulties presented by aging [2, 134]. Moreover, in schizophrenia, a disease characterized by dopaminergic system impairing [135], patients present a decrease in their motivation, which is also needed for decision-making that requires some kind of effort [136].

On the other side, as it was mentioned previously, neuropeptides oxytocin and vasopressin are very important in decisions and social behavior. Studies in rodents have found that there is an interaction in social behavior between oxytocin, vasopressin, and dopamine. This interaction is given in brain areas involved with learning and reward, as the striatum, where there are receptors for dopamine as well as oxytocin and vasopressin. Thus, there is a hypothesis which suggests that oxytocin is related to trust, vasopressin is related to social bonding, and dopamine became a reinforcer and motivator to social encounters [137].

Moral Decision-Making

Parkinson disease patients that usually portray alterations in nonmoral decision-making have also shown alteration in moral decision-making, suggesting that dopamine is involved with it [138]. Together with serotonin, they interact to make a valuation of the harm to make a moral decision [97]. Moreover, a difference in the dopaminergic system associated with moral judgment between men and women was found. It was found in women that they make the judgment less emotional and more rational [139].



Fig. 15.7 The neurotransmitter dopamine is associated with moral decision-making, in the valuation of harm to other people, and in economic decision-making related to risk-taking

Economic Decision-Making

Dopamine is associated with risk-taking [114, 140] and reinforcement [141]. In rats, it was found that it is important for the valuation of the outcomes in decisions [142], and in human beings, it is very important for the valuation of the decision [143]. Dopamine is associated with decision-making under risk and behavior involving risk-taking. It is mentioned that D2/D3 receptors are related to the modulation of the weight of the probabilities of a reward [140]. On the other hand, dopamine has been linked to temporal discounting; it implies that affectation of the NAc in rats makes them prefer smaller reward but immediately bigger rewards which take more time to be earned [144] (Fig. 15.7).

Norepinephrine

It is a catecholamine of the monoamine group. It is synthetized from the amino acid tyrosine that became later dopamine. Then, another enzyme transforms dopamine in norepinephrine [2]. Noradrenergic neurons are located in the locus coeruleus. Despite being relatively low in number, they project to almost the whole cortex, cerebellum, and spinal medulla. Posteriorly, other enzymes synthetized the norepinephrine and became adrenalin [71].

Norepinephrine is involved with reward. As well as dopamine, it is located in the circuits of the frontal cortex related to reward [3]. Moreover, it is associated with the flight or fight response [72], and it is linked to major depression. However, this association may be wrong, because this discovery of blood norepinephrine in depression could be related more to daily smoking than the psychopathology [145].

Moral and Social Decision-Making

It is suggested that the more basic emotions, as hunger and fear, are related with social attitudes and moral judgment. In this manner, norepinephrine is strongly related to social and moral decisionmaking [72]. Studies have found that when propranolol, a noradrenergic antagonist receptor, is administered, participants said it was unacceptable to take measures that harm other people in a moral dilemma [146]. Moreover, it was found that propranolol affects emotions diminishing the response of the amygdala when the participants see emotional pictures or emotional facial expression [72].

Economic Decision-Making

Norepinephrine, as serotonin, is linked with loss aversion. It was found that people with lower levels of norepinephrine transporters in thalamic pathways feel more strongly the losses than wins [147]. Furthermore, it was observed that after propranolol administration the sensibility to possible losses in a bet task decreases [87]. Finally, norepinephrine is intimately related to dopamine in impulsivity [3] and with multicomponent behaviors, which are to make different action in a specific order to reach a goal [148] (Fig. 15.8).



Fig. 15.8 Norepinephrine is associated with moral decision-making, when there is harm to other person, while in economic decision-making link to loss aversion

Discussion

The present model aims to describe the relationship between each one of this neurotransmitters and hormones with the different kinds of decision-making: social decision-making, moral decision-making, and economic decisionmaking. Manipulations of these neurotransmitters or hormones affect or alter in some ways these kinds of decision-making. It became necessary, for the different kinds of decisions, the interaction between these different chemicals to produce the outcome of the decision. However, it is necessary to consider that there is simply no mere game of neurochemicals to make the decision. All these substances will interact with individual characteristics, experiences, and their current situation, which will eventually lead to some kind of decision (Figs. 15.9, 15.10, and 15.11).

Related to social decision-making, it is observed that the interaction between vasopressin, oxytocin, and serotonin is very important. This whole interaction leads to a cooperation. Linked to moral decision-making, there is a relationship between stress hormones, serotonin, dopamine,



Fig. 15.9 In social decision-making, specifically in behavior related to cooperation, there is an interaction between neurotransmitter serotonin and neuropeptides, like vasopressin and oxytocin



Fig. 15.10 In moral decision-making, there is an interaction between stress hormones, dopamine, norepinephrine, serotonin, and testosterone in utilitarian judgment



Fig. 15.11 In economic decision-making, there is a relationship between stress hormones, testosterone, serotonin, dopamine, and feminine cycle hormones, specifically in risk-taking

norepinephrine, oxytocin, and testosterone associated to decision that benefits the common wellbeing, as the utilitarian decisions. In economic decision-making, there is a relationship between risk-taking and hormones and neurotransmitters like dopamine, serotonin, testosterone, stress hormone, and feminine cycle hormones. There are different ways to study some of this brain and body chemicals. However, it is necessary to mention that there are many limitations for the understanding of them in the human being. Blood measure, medical drug administration, or neuroimaging methods still have huge limitations which do not allow yet a full comprehension of how the relation and how these neurotransmitters, neuropeptides, and hormones in human decision-making is affected.

References

- Stanton S. The role of testosterone and estrogen in consumer behavior and social & economic decision making: a review. Horm Behav. 2017;92:155–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2016.11.006.
- 2. Pinel J, Barnes S. Biopsychology. Harlow: Pearson Education Limited; 2018.
- Lee D. Decision making: from neuroscience to psychiatry. Neuron. 2013;78:233–49. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.neuron.2013.04.008.
- Roth A, Murnighan K. Equilibrium behavior and repeated play of the Prisoner's dilemma. J Math Psychol. 1978;17:189–98.
- Cushman F. From moral concern to moral constraint. Curr Opin Behav Sci. 2015;3:58–62. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2015.01.006.
- Woodward J, Allman J. Moral intuition: its neural substrates and normative significance. J Physiol. 2007;101:179–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jphysparis.2007.12.003.
- Crockett M. Models of morality. Trends Cogn Sci. 2013;17(8):363–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tics.2013.06.005.
- Buelow M, Blaine A. The assessment of risky decision making: a factor analysis of performance on the Iowa gambling task, balloon analogue risk task, and Columbia card task. Psychol Assess. 2015;27(3):777–85. https://doi.org/10.1037/ a0038622.
- 9. Ward J. The student's guide to social Neuroscience. 2nd ed. New York: Psychology Press; 2017.
- Nadler A, Zak P. Hormones and economics decisions. In: Reuter M, Montag C, editors. Neuroeconomics. Studies in neuroscience, psychology and behavioral economics. Berlin: Springer; 2016. p. 41–66.
- Carter S. Oxytocin pathways and the evolution of human behavior. Ann Rev Psychol. 2014;65(10 (1)):17–39. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-psych-010213-115110.
- Barraza J, McCullough M, Ahmadi S, Zak P. Oxytocin infusion increases charitable donations regardless of monetary resources. Horm

Behav. 2011;60:148–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yhbeh.2011.04.008.

- Crockett M, Fehr E. Pharmacology of economic and social decision making. In: Glimcher P, Fehr E, editors. Neuroeconomics, decision making and the brain. 2nd ed. London: Academic Press by Elsevier 2014; 2014. p. 259–79.
- Crockett M, Apergis-Schoute A, Herrmann B, Lieberman M, Muller U, Robbins T, Clark L. Serotonin modulates striatal responses to fairness and retaliation in humans. J Neurosci. 2013;33(8):3505–13. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.2761-12.2013.
- Merolla J, Burnett G. Oxytocin and the biological basis for interpersonal and political trust. Polit Behav. 2013;35:753–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11109-012-9219-8.
- Fürst A, Thron J, Scheele D, Marsh N. The neuropeptide oxytocin modulates consumer brand relationships. Nat Sci Rep. 2016;5:14960: 1–11. https:// doi.org/10.1038/srep14960.
- Ramos L, Hicks C, Caminer A, Couto K, Narlawar R, Kassiou M, McGregor I. MDMA ('Ecstasy'), oxytocin and vasopressin modulate social preference in rats: a role for handling and oxytocin receptors. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 2016;150:115–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2016.10.002.
- Cohen D, Perry A, Mayseless N, Kleinmintz O, Shamay-Tsoory S. The role of oxytocin in implicit personal space regulation: an fMRI study. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2018;91:206–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2018.02.036.
- MacDonald K, Feifel D. Oxytocin's role in anxiety: a critical appraisal. Brain Res. 2014;1580:22–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2014.01.025.
- Carson D, Guastella A, Taylor E, McGregor M. A brief history of oxytocin and its role in modulating psychostimulant effects. J Psychopharmacol. 2013;27:231– 47. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881112473788.
- Morhenn V, Beavin L, Zak P. Massage increases oxytocin and reduces adrenocorticotropin hormone in humans. Altern Ther Health Med. 2012;18(6):11–8.
- 22. Anderl C, Steil R, Hahn T, Hitzeroth P, Reif A, Windmann S. Reduced reciproval giving in social anxiety – evidence from the trust game. J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry. 2018;59:12–8. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2017.10.005.
- Civai C, Hawes D. Game theory in neuroeconomics. In: Reuter M, Montag C, editors. Neuroeconomics. Studies in neuroscience, psychology and behavioral economics, vol. 2016. Berlin: Springer; 2016. p. 13–37.
- 24. Hinterbuchinger B, Kaltenboeck A, Mossaheb N, Friedrich F. Do patients with different psychiatric disorders show altered social decision-making? A systematic review of ultimatum game experiments in clinical populations. Cogn Neuropsychiatry. 2018;23:117. https://doi.org/10.1080/13546805.201 8.1453791.

- Fürst A, Thron J, Scheele D, Marsh N. The neuropeptide oxytocin modulates consumer brand relationships. Nat Sci Rep. 2016;5:14960: 1–11. https:// doi.org/10.1038/srep14960.
- 26. Ide J, Nadic S, Wong K, Shmuel S, Lawson E, Dickerson B, Wald L, La Camera G. Oxytocin attenuates trust as a subset of more general reinforcement learning, with altered reward circuit functional connectivity in males. NeuroImage. 2018;174:35–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.02.035.
- Rilling J, Chen X, Haroon E. Intranasal oxytocin modulates neural functional connectivity during human social interaction. Am J Primatol. 2018;80:e22740:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ajp.22740.
- Guastella A, Einfeld S, Rinehart N, Tonge B, Lambert T, Hickie I. Intranasal oxytocin improves emotion recognition for youth with austism spectrum disorder. Biol Psychiatry. 2010;67(7):692–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.09.020.
- Zak P, Stanton A, Ahmadi S. Oxytocin increases generosity in humans. PLoS One. 2007;2(11):1–5. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0001128.
- Ramos L, Hicks C, Caminer A, Goodwin J, McGregor J. Oxytocin and MDMA ('Ecstasy') enhance social reward in rats. Psychopharmacology. 2015;232:2631–41. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00213-015-3899-9.
- Piva M, Chang S. An integrated framework for the role of oxytocin in multistage social decisionmaking. Am J Primatol. 2018;80:e22735:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajp.22735.
- Tremblay S, Sharika K, Platt M. Social decisionmaking and the brain: a comparative perspective. Trends Cogn Sci. 2017;21(4):265–76. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.tics.2017.01.007.
- 33. Groppe S, Gossen A, Rademacher L, Hahn A, Westphal L, Grûnder G, Spreckelmeyer K. Oxytocin influences processing of socially relevant cues in the ventral tegmental area of the human brain. Biol Psychiatry. 2013;74:172–9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.12.023.
- 34. Bernhard R, Chaponis J, Siburian R, Gallager P, Ransohoff K, Wikler D, Perlis R, Greene J. Variation in the oxytocin receptor gene (*OXTR*) is associated with differences in moral judgment. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. 2016;11(12):1872–81. https://doi. org/10.1093/scan/nsw103.
- 35. Walter N, Montag C, Markett S, Felten A, Voigt G, Reuter M. Ignorance is no excuse: moral judgments are influenced by a genetic variation on the oxytocin receptor gene. Brain Cogn. 2012;78:268–73. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2012.01.003.
- Oliveira G, Oliveira R. Androgen modulation of social decision-making mechanisms in the brain: an integrative and embodied perspective. Front Neurosci. 2014;8(209):1–6. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fnins.2014.00209.
- Caldú X, Dreher J. Gonadal steroid hormones' influence on reward and decision making processes. In:

Dreher J, Tremblay L, editors. Handbook of reward and decision making. Oxford: Elsevier Academic Press; 2009. p. 307–34.

- Carre J, Archer J. Testosterone and human behaviour: the role of individual and contextual variables. Curr Opin Psychol. 2018;19:149–53. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2017.03.021.
- Carré J, Olmstead N. Social neuroendocrinology of human aggression: examining the role of competition-induced testosterone dynamics. Neuroscience. 2015;286:171–86. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.11.029.
- 40. Aspara J, Van Den Bergh B. Naturally designed for masculinity vs. femininity? Prenatal testosterone predicts male consumers' choices of gender-imaged products. Int J Res Market. 2014;31:117–21. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijresmar.2013.09.001.
- Nave G, Nadler A, Dubois D, Zava D, Camerer C, Plassmann H. Single-dose testosterone administration increases men's preference for status goods. Nat Commun. 2018;9(2433):1–9. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41467-018-04923-0.
- 42. Boksem M, Mehta P, van den Bergh B, van Son V, Trautmann S, Roelofs K, Smidts A, Sanfey A. Testosterone inhibits trust but promotes reciprocity. Psychol Sci. 2013;24(11):2306–14. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797613495063.
- Bechara A, Damasio A, Damasio H, Anderson S. Insensitivity to future consequences following damage to human pré-frontal córtex. Cognition. 1994;50:7–12. https://doi. org/10.1016/0010-0277(94)90018-3.
- 44. Ouerchefani R, Ouerchefani N, Allain P, Ben M, Le Gall D. Contribution of different regions of the prefrontal cortex and lesión laterality to déficit of decisión-making on the Iowa Gambling Task. Brain Cogn. 2017;111:73–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bandc.2016.06.010.
- 45. Van den Bos R, Homberg J, Visser LA. Critical review of sex differences in decision-making task: focus on the Iowa Gambling Task. Behav Brain Res. 2013;238:95–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbr.2012.10.002.
- 46. Evans K, Hampson E. Does risk-taking mediate the relationship between testosterone and decisionmaking on the Iowa Gambling Task. Personal Individ Differ. 2014;61(62):57–62. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.paid.2014.01.011.
- Peper J, Cedric M, Koolschijn P, Crone E. Development of risk taking: contributions from adolescent testosterone and the orbito-frontal cortex. J Cogn Neurosci. 2013;25(12):1–10. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn_a_00445.
- Derntl B, Pintzinger N, Kryspin-Exner I, Schöpf V. The impact of sex hormone concentrations on decision-making in females and males. Front Neurosci. 2014;9(352):1–11. https://doi. org/10.3389/fnins.2014.00352.
- 49. Nofsingera J, Patterson F, Shank C. Decisionmaking, financial risk aversion, and behavioral

biases: the role of testosterone and stress. Econ Hum Biol. 2018;29:1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ehb.2018.01.003.

- Apicella C, Carré J, Dreber A. Testosterone and economic risk taking: a review. Adapt Hum Behav Physiol. 2015;1:358–85. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s40750-014-0020-2.
- Apicella C, Dreber A, Mollerstrom J. Salivary testosterone change following monetary wins and losses predicts future financial risk-taking. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2014;39:58–64. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2013.09.025.
- Zhou T, Sandi C, Hu H. Advances in understanding neural mechanisms of social dominance. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2018;49:99–107. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.conb.2018.01.006.
- Mehtaa P, van Sonb V, Welker K, Prasada S, Sanfey G, Smidts A, Roelofs K. Exogenous testosterone in women enhances and inhibits competitive decision-making depending on victory–defeat experience and trait dominance. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2015;60:224–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. psyneuen.2015.07.004.
- Wallin K, Alves J, Wood R. Anabolic—androgenic steroids and decision making: probability and effort discounting in male rats. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2015;57:84–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. psyneuen.2015.03.023.
- Carney D, Mason M. Decision making and testosterone: when ends justify the means. J Exp Soc Psychol. 2010;46(4):668–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jesp.2010.02.003.
- Montoya E, Terbug D, Bos P, Geert-Jan W, Buskens V, Raub W, van Honk J. Testosterone administration modulates moral judgments depending on second-to-fourth digit ratio. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2013;38(8):1362–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. psyneuen.2012.12.001.
- Arnocky STS, Olmstead N, Carré J. The effects of exogenous testosterone on men's moral decisionmaking. Adapt Hum Behav Physiol. 2017;3:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40750-016-0046-8.
- Ebstein R, Knafo A, Mankuta D, Hong S, San P. The contributions of oxytocin and vasopressin pathway genes to human behavior 2012. Horm Behav. 2012;61:359–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yhbeh.2011.12.014.
- Brunnlieb C, Münte T, Tempelmann C, Heldmann M. Vasopressin modulates neural responses related to emotional stimuli in the right amygdala. Brain Res. 2013;1499:29–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. brainres.2013.01.009.
- 60. Smith C, Li S, Ratnaseelan A, Bredewold R, Veenema A. Age and sex differences in oxytocin and vasopressin V1a receptor binding densities in the rat brain: focus on the social decision-making network. Brain Struct Funct. 2017;222:981–1006. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00429-016-1260-7.
- 61. Wilczynski W, Quispe M, Munoz M, Penna M. Arginine Vasotocin, the social neuropeptide

of amphibians and reptiles. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2017;8(186):1–17. https://doi. org/10.3389/fendo.2017.00186.

- 62. Lowrey E, Tomaszycki M. The formation and maintenance of social relationships increases non-apeptide mRNA in zebra finches of both sexes. Behav Neurosci. 2014;128(1):61–70. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035416.
- 63. Johnson Z, Young I. Oxytocin and vasopressin neural networks: implications for social behavioral diversity and translational neuroscience. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2017;76:87–98. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.01.034.
- 64. Brunnlieb C, Nave G, Camerer C, Schosser S, Vogt B, Münte T, Heldmanna M. Vasopressin increases human risky cooperative behavior. PNAS. 2016;113(8):2051–6. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1518825113.
- Zink C, Meyer-Lindenberg A. Human neuroimaging of oxytocin and vasopressin in social cognition. Horm Behav. 2012;61:400–9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2012.01.016.
- 66. Feng C, Hackett P, DeMarco A, Chen X, Stair S, Haroon E, Ditzen B, Pagnoni G, Rilling J. Oxytocin and vasopressin effects on the neural response to social cooperation are modulated by sex in humans. Brain Imaging Behav. 2015;9:754–64. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11682-014-9333-9.
- Patel N, Grillon C, Pavletic N, Rosen D, Pine D, Ernst M. Oxytocin and vasopressin modulate risktaking. Physiol Behav. 2015;0:254–60. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2014.11.018.
- Snyder-Macker N, Tung J. Vasopressin and the neurogenetics of parental care. Neuron. 2017;95(1):9– 12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2017.06.027.
- 69. Taylor J, Intorre A, French J. Vasopressin and oxytocin reduce food sharing behaviour in male, but not female Marmoset in family groups. Front Endocrinol. 2017;8:181): 1–9. https://doi. org/10.3389/fendo.2017.00181.
- Phelps S, Okhovat M, Berrio A. Individual differences in social behavior and cortical vasopressin receptor: genetics, epigenetics, and evolution. Front Neurosci. 2017;11:537: 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2017.00537.
- Kandel E, Schwartz J, Jessell T, Siegelbaum S, Hudspeth A. Principles of neural science. 5th ed. New York: McGraw-Hill, Health Professions Division; 2009.
- Terbeck S, Savulescu J, Chesterman L, Cowen P. Noradrenaline effects on social behaviour, intergroup relations, and moral decisions. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2016;66:54–60. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.03.031.
- 73. Glimcher P. Value-based decision making. In: Glimcher P, Fehr E, editors. Neuroeconomics, decision making and the brain. 2nd ed. London: Academic Press by Elsevier; 2014. p. 373–91.
- 74. Ishii H, Ohara S, Tobler P, Tsutsui K, Lijima T. Dopaminergic and serotonergic modulation of

anterior insular and orbitofrontal cortex function in risky decision making. Neurosci Res. 2015;92:53–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neures.2014.11.009.

- Merchán A, Navarro S, Klein A, Aznar S, Campa I, Suñol C, Moreno M, Flores P. Tryptophan depletion affects compulsive behaviour in rats: strain dependent effects and associated neuromechanism. Psychopharmacology. 2017;234(8):1223–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-017-4561-5.
- Marsh A. Neural, cognitive, and evolutionary foundations of human altruism. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Cogn Sci. 2016;7:59–71. https://doi.org/10.1002/ wcs.1377.
- 77. Rogers R. The role of serotonin in risky choice and the acquisition of reciprocal cooperative behaviour: 2 investigations using tryptophan depletion. Int Congr Ser. 2007;1304:144–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ics.2007.08.001.
- Homberg J. Serotonin and decision making processes. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2012;36:218–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.06.001.
- 79. Gemme M, Bögib E, Ragan C, Hazletta M, Dubovicky M, van den Hoved D, Oberlanderf T, Charlierg T, Pawluskig J. Perinatal selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor medication (SSRI) effects on social behaviors, neurodevelopment and the epigenome. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2018;85:102–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.04.023.
- Ranade S, Pi H, Kepecs A. Neuroscience: waiting for serotonin. Curr Biol. 2014;24(17):R803–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2014.07.024.
- Crockett M, Cools R. Serotonin and aversive processing in affective and social decision-making. Curr Opin Behav Sci. 2015;5:64–70. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2015.08.005.
- Vlaev I, Crockett M, Clark L, Müller R, Robbins T. Serotonin enhances the impact of health information on food choice. Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci. 2017;17:542–53. https://doi.org/10.3758/ s13415-016-0496-2.
- Iwanir S, Brown A, Nagy S, Najjar D, Kazakov A, Lee K, Zaslaver A, Levine E, Biron D. Serotonin promotes exploitation in complex environments by accelerating decision-making. BMC Biol. 2016;14(9):1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12915-016-0232-y.
- Crockett M, Clark L, Apergis-Schoute A, Morein-Zamir S, Robbins T. Serotonin modulates the effects of pavlovian aversive predictions on response vigor. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2012;37:2244–52. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2012.75.
- 85. Bilderbeck A, Brown G, Read J, Woolrich M, Cowen P, Behrens T, Rogers R. Tryptophan depletion impairs social comparison and leads to resource depletion in a multiplayer harvesting game. Psychol Sci. 2014;25(7):1303–13. https://doi. org/10.1177/0956797614527830.
- Balasubramani P, Chakravarthy S, Ravindran B, Moustafa A. An extended reinforcement learning model of basal ganglia to understand the contribu-

tions of serotonin and dopamine in risk-based decision making, reward prediction, and punishment learning. Front Comput Neurosci. 2014;8(47):1– 121. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncom.2014.00047.

- Takahashi H. Molecular neuroimaging of emotional decision-making. Neurosci Res. 2013;75:269–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neures.2013.01.011.
- Mavrogiorgou P, Enzi B, Klimm A, Koler E, Roser P, Norra C, Juckel G. Serotonergic modulation of orbitofrontal activity and its relevance for decision making and impulsivity. Hum Brain Mapp. 2018;38:1507–17. https://doi.org/10.1002/ hbm.23468.
- 89. Chang C, Shur-Fen S, Huang W, Shiue C, Yeh C. Abnormal serotonin transporter availability in the brains of adults with conduct disorder. J Formos Med Assoc. 2017;116(6):469–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfma.2016.07.012.
- Joob B, Wiwanitkit V. Serotonin transporter and behavioral traits. Psychiatry Res. 2018;262:356. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2017.08.056.
- Robbins T, Dalley J. Impulsivity, risky choice, and impulse control disorders: animal models. In: Dreher J, Tremblay L, editors. Decision neuroscience: Elsevier Academic Press; 2016. p. 81–93. https:// doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-805308-9.00007-5.
- 92. Miyazaki K, Miyazaki K, Tanaka K, Yamanaka A, Takahashi A, Tabuchi S, Doya K. Optogenetic activation of dorsal raphe serotonin neurons enhances patience for future rewards. Curr Biol. 2014;24(17):2033–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cub.2014.07.041.
- Miyazaki K, Miyazaki K, Doya K. The role of serotonin in the regulation of patience and impulsivity. Mol Neurobiol. 2012;45(2):213–24. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12035-012-8232-6.
- 94. Faulker P, Mancinelli F, Lockwood P, Matarin M, Dolan R, Wood N, Dayan P, Roiser J. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol. 2016;00(00):1–9. https://doi.org/10.1093/injp/pyw075.
- 95. Adam W, Barkus C, Ferland J, Sharp T, Winstanley C. Pharmacological evidence that 5-HT2C receptor blockade selectively improves decision making when rewards are paired with audiovisual cues in a rat gambling task. Psychopharmacology. 2017;234:3091–104. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-017-4696-4.
- Siegel J, Crocket M. How serotonin shapes moral judgment and behavior. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2013;1299:42–51. https://doi.org/10.1111/ nyas.12229.
- 97. Crockett M, Siegel J, Kurth-Nelson Z, Ousdal O, Story G, Frieband C, Grosse-Rueskamp J, Dayan P, Dolan R. Dissociable effects of serotonin and dopamine on the valuation of harm in moral decision making. Curr Biol. 2015;25:1852–9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.05.021.
- Wood R, Rilling J, Sanfey A, Bhagwagar Z, Rogers R. Effects of tryptophan depletion on the performance of an iterated Prisoner's dilemma game

in healthy adults. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2006;31(5):1075–84. https://doi.org/10.1038/ sj.npp.1300932.

- Galván A, Rahdar A. The neurobiological effects of stress on adolescent decision making. Neuroscience. 2013;249:223–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroscience.2012.09.074.
- 100. Dinse H, Kattenstrotha J, Lenz M, Tegentohoff M, Wolf O. The stress hormone cortisol blocks perceptual learning in humans. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2017;77:63–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. psyneuen.2016.12.002.
- 101. Yu R. Stress potentiates decision biases: a stress induced deliberation-to intuition (SIDI) model. Neurobiol Stress. 2016;3:83–95. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ynstr.2015.12.006.
- 102. Mehta P, Welker K, Carré J. Testosterone and cortisol jointly modulate risk-taking. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2015;56:88–99.
- 103. Cueva C, Roberts E, Spencer T, Rani N, Tempest M, Tobler P, Herbert J, Rustichini A. Cortisol and testosterone increase financial risk taking and may destabilize markets. Sci Rep. 2015;5:11206: 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep11206.
- 104. Singer N, Sommer M, Döhnel K, Zänkert S, Würst S, Kudielka B. Acute psychosocial stress and everyday moral decision-making in young healthy men: the impact of cortisol. Horm Behav. 2017;93:72–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yhbeh.2017.05.002.
- 105. Steinbeis N, Engert V, Linz R, Singer T. The effects of stress and affiliation on social decision-making: investigating the tend-andbefriend pattern. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2015;62:138–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. psyneuen.2015.08.003.
- 106. Mehta P, Lawless N, van Vugt M, Josephs R. Hormonal underpinnings of status conflict: testosterone and cortisol are related to decisions and satisfaction in the hawk-dove game. Horm Behav. 2017;92:141–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yhbeh.2017.03.009.
- 107. Uy P. Acute stress increases risky decisions and dampens prefrontal activation among adolescent boys. NeuroImage. 2017;146:679–89. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016.08.067.
- Leder J, Häusser J, Mojzisch A. Exploring the underpinnings of impaired strategic decision-making under stress. J Econ Psychol. 2015;45:133–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2015.05.006.
- 109. Gamble K, Vettel J, Patton J, Eddy M, Davis C, Garcia J, Spangler J, Thayer J, Brooks J. Different profiles of decision making and physiology under varying levels of stress in trained military personnel. Int J Psychophysiol. 2018;131:73–80. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2018.03.017.
- 110. Buser T. The impact of the menstrual cycle and hormonal contraceptives on competitiveness. J Econ Behav Organ. 2012;83:1–10. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jebo.2011.06.006.

- 111. Lazzaro S, Rutledge R, Burghart D, Glimcher P. The impact of menstrual cycle phase on economic choice and rationality. PLoS One. 2016;11(1):1–15. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0144080.
- 112. Pine K, Fletcher B. Women's spending behaviour is menstrual-cycle sensitive. Personal Individ Differ. 2011;50:74–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. paid.2010.08.026.
- Pearson M, Schipper B. Menstrual cycle and competitive bidding. Games Econom Behav. 2013;78:1– 20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geb.2012.10.008.
- 114. Sugam A, Day J, Wightman M, Carelli R. Phasic nucleus Accumbens dopamine encodes riskbased decision-making behavior. Biol Psychiatry. 2012;71:199–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsych.2011.09.029.
- 115. Berent-Spillson A, Marsh C, Persad C, Randolph J, Zubieta J, Smith Y. Metabolic and hormone influences on emotion processing during menopause. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2017;76:218–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.08.026.
- 116. Eisenbruch A, Simmons Z, Roney J. Lady in red: hormonal predictors of women's clothing choices. Psychol Sci. 2015;26(8):1332–8. https://doi. org/10.1177/0956797615586403.
- 117. Aitke S, Lyons M, Jonason P. Dads or cads? Women's strategic decisions in the mating game. Personal Individ Differ. 2013;55:118–22. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.paid.2013.02.017.
- 118. Marcinkowska U, Ellison P, Galbarczyk A, Milkowska K, Pawlowski B, Thune I, Jasienska G. Lack of support for relation between woman's masculinity preference, estradiol level and mating context. Horm Behav. 2016;78:1–7. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2015.10.012.
- 119. Jünger J, Kordsmeyer T, Gerlach T, Penke L. Fertile women evaluate male bodies as more attractive, regardless of masculinity. Evol Hum Behav. 2018;39:412–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. evolhumbehav.2018.03.007.
- 120. Wang H, Hahn A, Fisher C, DeBruine L, Jones B. Women's hormone levels modulate the motivational salience of facial attractiveness and sexual dimorphism. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2014;50:246–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. psyneuen.2014.08.022.
- 121. Bobst C, Sauter S, Foppa A, Lobmaier J. Early follicular testosterone level predicts preference for masculinity in male faces — but not for women taking hormonal contraception. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2014;41:142–50.
- 122. Dixson B, Rantala M. The role of facial and body hair distribution in women's judgments of men's sexual attractiveness. Arch Sex Behav. 2016;45:877–89. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-015-0588-z.
- 123. Cardoos S, Suleiman A, Johnson M, van den Bos W, Hinshawa S, Dahl R. Social status strategy in early adolescent girls: testosterone and valuebased decision making. Psychoneuroendocrinology.

2017;81:14–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. psyneuen.2017.03.013.

- 124. Diekhof E, Ratnayake M. Menstrual cycle phase modulates reward sensitivity and performance monitoring in young women: preliminary fMRI evidence. Neuropsychologia. 2016;84:70–80. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2015.10.016.
- Hoops D, Flores C. Making dopamine connections in adolescence. Trends Neurosci. 2017;40(12):709– 19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2017.09.004.
- 126. Panksepp J, Wilson CG. Brain SEEKING circuitry in neuroeconomics: a unifying hypothesis for the role of dopamine-energized arousal of the medial forebrain bundle in enthusiasm-guiding decision-making. In: Reuter M, Montag C, editors. Neuroeconomics. Studies in neuroscience, psychology and behavioral economics, vol. 2016. Berlin: Springer; 2016. p. 231–52.
- 127. Morales I, Currie P, Hackenberg T, Pastor R. Opioidergic and dopaminergic modulation of cost/benefit decision-making in long Evans rats. Physiol Behav. 2017;179:442–50. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2017.07.019.
- 128. Soares M, Cardoso S, Malato J, Messias J. Can cleaner fish overcome temptation? A selective role for dopamine influence on cooperative-based decision-making. Physiol Behav. 2017;169:124–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.11.028.
- 129. Robles C, Johnson A. Disruptions in effort-based decision-making and consummatory behavior following antagonism of the dopamine D2 receptor. Behav Brain Res. 2017;320:431–9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bbr.2016.10.043.
- 130. Keeler J, Pretsel O, Robbins T. Functional implications of dopamine D1 vs. D2 receptors: a 'prepare and select' model of the striatal direct vs. indirect pathways. Neuroscience. 2014;282(12):156–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.07.021.
- Westbrook A, Braver T. Dopamine does double duty in motivating cognitive effort. Neuron. 2016;89(4):695–710. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuron.2015.12.029.
- 132. Le Heron C, Plant O, Manohar S, Siang Y, Jackson M, Lennox G, Husain M. Distinct effects of apathy and dopamine on effort-based decision-making in Parkinson's disease. Brain. 2018;141:1455–69. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awy110.
- 133. Ang Y, Manohar S, Plant O, Kienast A, Le Heron C, Muhammed K, Hu Husain M. Dopamine modulates option generation for behavior. Curr Biol. 2018;28:1561–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cub.2018.03.069.
- 134. Sojitra R, Lerner I, Petok J, Gluck M. Age affects reinforcement learning through dopamine-based learning imbalance and high decision noise-not through Parkinsonian mechanisms. Neurobiol Aging. 2018;68:102–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2018.04.006.
- 135. Grace A. Dysregulation of the dopamine system in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia and depres-

sion. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2016;17:524–32. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nrn.2016.57.

- 136. Culbreth A, Moran R, Barch D. Effort-based decision-making in schizophrenia. Curr Opin Behav Sci. 2018;22:1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cobeha.2017.12.003.
- 137. Skuse D, Gallagher L. Dopaminergic-neuropeptide interactions in the social brain. Trends Cogn Sci. 2009;13(1):27–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tics.2008.09.007.
- 138. Rosen J, Rott E, Ebersbach G, Kalbe E. Altered moral decision-making in patients with idiopathic Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2015;21(10):1191–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. parkreldis.2015.08.016.
- 139. Pellegrini S, Palumbo S, Lofrida C, Melissari E, Rota G, Mariotti V, Anastasio T, Manfrinati A, Rumiati R, Lotto L, Sarlo M, Pietrin P. Genetically-driven enhancement of dopaminergic transmission affects moral acceptability in females but not in males: a pilot study. Front Behav Neurosci. 2017;11:156): 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2017.00156.
- 140. Ojala K, Janssen L, Hashemi M, Timmer M, Geurts D, Huurne N, Cools R, Sescousse G. Dopaminergic drug effects on probability weighting during risky decision making. eNeuro. 2018;5(2):1–12. https:// doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0330-18.2018.
- 141. Jean-Richard-Dit-Bressel P, Killcross S, McNally G. Behavioral and neurobiological mechanisms of punishment: implications for psychiatric disorders. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2018;43:1639–50. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-018-0047-3.
- 142. Verharen J, de Jong J, Roelofs T, Huffels C, van Zessen R, Luijendijk M, Hamelink R, Willuhn H, de Ouden E, van der Plasse AR, Vanderschuren A. A neuronal mechanism underlying decisionmaking deficits during hyperdopaminergic states. Nat Commun. 2018;9(731):1–15. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41467-018-03087-1.
- Westbrook A, Frank M. Dopamine and proximity in motivation and cognitive control. Curr Opin Behav

Sci. 2018;22:28–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cobeha.2017.12.011.

- 144. Fatahi Z, Sadeghi B, Haghparast A. Involvement of cannabinoid system in the nucleus accumbens on delay-based decision making in the rat. Behav Brain Res. 2018;337:107–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbr.2017.10.004.
- 145. Futtrup J, Nordentoft M, Elfving B, Krogh J. The association between norepinephrine and metabolism in patients with major depression. Neurol Psychiatry Brain Res. 2018;30:91–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. npbr.2018.07.002.
- 146. Terbeck S, Guy K, Sarah M, Julian S, Neil L, Miles H, Cowen P. Beta adrenergic blockade reduces utilitarian judgement. Biol Psychol. 2013;92:323–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsycho.2012.09.005.
- 147. Takahashi H, Fujie S, Camerer C, Arakawa R, Takano H, Kodaka F, Matsui H, Ideno T, Okubo S, Takemura K, Yamada M, Eguchi Y, Murai T, Okubo Y, Kato M, Ito H, Suhara T. Norepinephrine in the brain is associated with aversion to financial loss. Mol Psychiatry. 2013;18:3–4. https://doi. org/10.1038/mp.2012.7.
- 148. Mückschel M, Gohil K, Ziemssen T, Beste C. The norepinephrine system and its relevance for multi-component behavior. NeuroImage. 2017;146:1062–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroimage.2016.10.007.
- 149. Bendesky A, Young-Mi K, Lassance J, Lewarch C, Yao S, Peterson B, Xiao M, Dulac C, Hoekstra H. The genetic basis of parental care evolution in monogamous mice. Nature. 2017;544:434–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature22074.
- 150. Marieke K, Agorastos A, Wiedemann K, Schawabe L. Cortisol boosts risky decision-making behavior in men but not in women. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2017;84:181–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. psyneuen.2017.07.240.



Glial Cells in the Schizophrenia Puzzle: Angiotensin II Role

16

Victoria Belén Occhieppo, Osvaldo Martín Basmadjian, Natalia Andrea Marchese, Anahí Rodríguez, Andrea Jaime, Malena Herrera, and Claudia Bregonzio

Introduction

Schizophrenia is a severe mental disorder with 1% worldwide prevalence, which means that it affects the life quality and longevity of more than 21 million people worldwide according to the *World Health Organization* [1]. This pathology is characterized by profound disruption of thoughts, language, perception, and the sense of self, which often includes psychotic experiences, such as hallucinations and delusions. Together, they are called positive symptoms and were initially considered as the main psychological signs of this pathology. However, schizophrenia presents other psychological features such as social behavioral deficits, lack of motivation, and anhedonia - grouped as the negative symptoms - and cognitive dysfunction [1]. Historically, the classical neuron-centric view that has long-dominated neuroscience and the pharmacological research, fundamentally by using antipsychotic drugs, constituted the largest part of the characterization of schizophrenia etiopathology. In this sense, the bibliography is full of reports pointing out to neu-

IFEC-CONICET, Departamento de Farmacología,

Córdoba, Argentina

e-mail: victoria.occhieppo@unc.edu.ar; martin.basmadjian@unc.edu.ar rotransmission misbalance - essentially dopaminergic or glutamatergic - as the main factor in the development of this pathology. Over the last years, the dopaminergic-centrist theories have given place to a more complex interpretation as schizophrenia becomes a multifactorial puzzle where glial cells are one of the new targets of interest. Glial cells (oligodendrocytes, astrocytes, and microglial cells) are essential pieces in brain microenvironment function as they play crucial roles in metabolic and ion homeostasis control, synaptic establishment and function, modulation of several neurotransmission systems, as well as neuroprotection, tissue repair, and inflammation [2, 3]. Regarding these glial functions, it is not surprising that alterations in their functionality and integrity could be related to psychiatric disorder development. In this sense, it has been reported, in human and animal research, that glial cells are involved in several mental diseases including Parkinson's disease, major depressive disorder, addiction, and schizophrenia [2]. The intricate patterns involved in both etiopathology and symptomatology make schizophrenia an unreadable enigma for the moment. Indeed, more than 100 years after its first description by Kraepelin and other psychiatrists, there is not a theory that explains all the features observed throughout its development and the consequent symptoms. Genetic, neurodevelopmental, and environmental theories can be mentioned among the multiplicity of the hypothesis that attempts to

V. B. Occhieppo \cdot O. M. Basmadjian \cdot N. A. Marchese

A. Rodríguez \cdot A. Jaime \cdot M. Herrera

C. Bregonzio (🖂)

Universidad Nacional de Córdoba,

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_16

clarify the complex scenario of this pathology. Each one of them could represent different components, of the underlying cascade, that trigger the neurotransmitter imbalance and the subsequent schizophrenic symptom expression. These series of concatenated pathological events would occur throughout life, producing deficits in dendritic spine formation, due to an interplay between genetic factors and obstetric complication, along with an excessive apoptosis and synaptic pruning during adolescence, leading to brain disconnection and the subsequent psychotic symptoms [4]. Moreover, the different stages of schizophrenia development are transversally crossed by neuroinflammation. Some of the first insights of a possible association between the schizophrenic syndrome and neuroinflammation come from a century ago, when an increase of schizophrenia diagnosis rates was reported after an influenza epidemic that had happened in 1918 [5]. Although with some inconsistencies, more recent studies are in line with this asseveration, where schizophrenia development seems to be related with influenza as well as other maternal infection like herpes simplex virus type 2, Toxoplasma gondii, and nonspecific bacterial infections [6]. Taking into account the heterogeneity of etiological infections, the increased risk to suffer schizophrenia probably involve alterations related to immune system activation and not due to specific pathogenic pathways of each microorganism. To this respect, increased proinflammatory cytokine levels during pregnancy have been related to higher risk to suffer schizophrenia [6]. On the other hand, high genetic contribution to schizophrenia development was observed in studies made in twin with a heritability up to 80% [7]. Located on the short arm of chromosome 6, major histocompatibility complex (MHC) was consistently related to this high contribution to schizophrenia susceptibility [8-11]. In this region, at least 250 genes that encode human leukocyte antigens and many other immune and nonimmune genes are present.

immune reaction leading to exacerbate response

and the consequent neuroinflammation through-

Variations on many genes encoded in this genome's region could induce an unsuitable

out life. Together with the genetic vulnerability, the early neuroinflammatory insults abovementioned could imprint long-life marks over microglia cells, displaying an increased immune reactivity throughout the life of schizophrenic patients [12]. Both processes could explain the high levels of inflammatory markers, such as proinflammatory cytokines and C-reactive protein, that have been described in the blood and cerebrospinal fluid of schizophrenia patients [13, 14]. This immune hyperactivity during brain development could lead to less dendritic spine formation and to an enhanced mesencephalic progenitor differentiation into dopaminergic neurons, promoting some features of schizophrenia, like disruption of cortical synaptic connectivity and hyperdopaminergia [12, 15].

The central brain angiotensin II (Ang II) effects are mediated mainly by the two G proteincoupled receptors, the Ang II type 1 receptor (AT_1-R) and Ang II type 2 receptor (AT_2-R) . AT₁-R is present in astrocytes, microglia, and brain endothelial cells pointing out its crucial role in neuroinflammatory responses [16, 17]. To this last respect, Ang II, via AT₁-R, is one of the most important inflammation and oxidative stress inducers by the nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase complex activation [18]. Nowadays, a large body of evidence supports the existence of a local reninangiotensin system (RAS) with all of its components synthesized in the central nervous system (CNS). The presence and synthesis of angiotensinogen have been described in neurons and astrocytes. Whereas angiotensinogen production in neurons is restricted to some brain regions, its astrocytes' synthesis is the most important and widespread source [9-12]. Moreover, it has been reported an intra- and extracellular location of renin, while the Ang II converter enzyme (ACE) has been found extracellularly, as soluble and membrane-bound forms. Additionally, Karamyan [19] described alternative central pathways for Ang II synthesis that involved elastase, proteinase 3, cathepsin G, and tonin activity. Further evidence supports intraneuronal generation and activity of Ang II, as well, in brain microvessels [17, 20, 21].

In the present chapter, we attempt to summarize the role of the glial cells in the schizophrenia unmasking the AT₁-R involvement in the complex glial scenario.

Glial Cells in Schizophrenia

Microglia

Microglia, resident macrophages of the brain, participates in the progressive loss of synaptic connection during normal neurodevelopment after birth. This physiological process called synaptic pruning could lead, beyond a critical threshold, to cortical disconnection and psychotic symptoms. Moreover, a similar pathological state could be triggered in normal brains after an excessive microglia activation with an excessive synaptic pruning [15]. Furthermore, it has been hypothesized that an inadequate immune activation to a predominant type 2 response could induce an excess of kynurenic acid (KYNA) formation, an endogenous N-methyl-d-aspartate (NMDA) antagonist released mainly by astrocytes, known to lead to a glutamatergic hypofunction, an important hallmark of schizophrenia [12]. Moreover, it has been observed that about 10% of patients with an initial schizophrenia diagnosis have NMDA receptor antibodies [22]. In addition, a meta-analysis performed by Miller et al. shows that some cytokines, like interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), interleukin-6 (IL-6), and tumor growth factor β (TGF- β), could be markers for acute exacerbations, since their levels were high during psychotic episodes and normal after antipsychotic treatment [23].

Anti-inflammatory effects of antipsychotic drugs are another important finding that relates immune imbalance with schizophrenia etiopathology. In this sense, a meta-analysis performed by Tourjman shows that antipsychotic treatment reduces the plasma levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and interferon- γ and increases soluble interleukin-2 receptor [24]. Further evidence, which supports an inflammatory response, came from the benefits of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) in the treatment of

schizophrenia. In this case, the addition of NSAIDs to antipsychotic treatment generated an improvement, although modest, in symptom control [25, 26].

Under physiological conditions, Ang II and AT₁-R are expressed mainly in neurons and astrocytes; meanwhile, in nonactivated microglia, they are present at really low levels. However, under a pathological state, such as neuroinflammation, stroke, or multiple sclerosis, Ang II and AT₁-R increase their expression in activated microglia promoting an inflammatory feedback. Bhat [27] has reported that lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced gliosis is associated with RAS overactivation evidenced by increased Ang II level and AT₁-R expression in both astroglial and microglial cells. Moreover, in the same study, they showed that AT₁-R blockade blunted the neuroinflammation via suppression of glial activation and imbalance in inflammatory cytokines in both cell types. To this last respect, a large body of evidence reported that Ang II, via AT₁-R, plays a key role in oxidative stress and inflammation, promoting NADPH oxidase activation. Moreover, a cross talk between AT₁-R and the microglial toll-like receptor 4 contributes to Ang II pro-inflammatory signal inducing ROS production, NF- kB, and pro-inflammatory cytokine release, including IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α , and leads the microglial cell activation [28, 29]. In microglial cells, the NADPH oxidase activity is the main regulator of the shift between M1/proinflammatory M2/immunoregulatory and microglial phenotypes, where high oxidative levels promote the pro-inflammatory and inhibit the immunoregulatory phenotype [30]. In this sense, it is known that an M1/M2 phenotype balance is necessary to prevent brain damage, so it is not a surprise that the Ang II overactivation could lead to a chronic neuroinflammatory state. In this sense, the AT₁-R involvement in microglial neuroinflammation has been extensively studied in models of Parkinson's disease and hypertension [18, 29, 31-33]. To this last respect, both M1 and M2 markers have been found upregulated in an Ang II-induced mouse model of hypertension, whereas the microglial depletion reduced the neuroinflammation and the blood pressure, as well as the levels of peripheral hypertensive hormones in a mice model of hypertension [34, 35]. In the same way, in an animal model of parkinsonism with MPTP, it has been shown that the Ang II/AT₁-R activation of the microglia is involved in the dopaminergic degeneration. This neurotoxin induces an increase in the RhoA/Rhokinase pathway, which plays a critical role in the inflammatory and oxidative effects of Ang II that is inhibited by AT_1 -R blockade or depletion [36]. Moreover, Rho-kinase activation upregulated AT₁-R expression in microglial cells leading to a feedforward mechanism. AT₁-R regulates the microglial response through two main pathways, Rho-kinase and NADPH oxidase, thus controlling superoxide generation, microglial motility and phagocytosis, and the release of inflammatory cytokines [29].

Astrocytes

Astrocytes are the neurovascular unit's center of integration mediating the vascular response to couple the neuronal activity, through the activation of their metabotropic glutamatergic recep- Ca^{+2} oscillations, tors. and release of gliotransmitters and vasoactive substances. In this way, astrocytes control the blood flow in response to the neuronal function (functional hyperemia), and the metabolites exchange through the blood-brain barrier. Furthermore, astrocytes exert a critical contribution to neurotransmission systems since they are responsible for the metabolism, recycling, and/or degradation of glutamate and GABA. Classical examples of these astrocytes' functions are glutamine-glutamate or KYNA circle. On the other hand, astroglia is involved in the immune response and tissue repair after damage [3, 37-39]. Taking all together, since astrocytes have a critical role in maintaining neuronal function, it is not surprising that alterations in their functions have been associated with several psychiatric disorders. However, regarding schizophrenia, the astrocytic contribution is not clear [37, 40]. Initial studies have reported signs of gliosis in a

regional-dependent manner and usually closely related to the illness' history and severity [41, 42]. In this sense, Arnold [43] reported gliosis only in a schizophrenia subgroup of patients with a high prevalence of severe cognitive impairment and functional disability. However, later studies that focused on glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) mRNA or protein analyses found no changes [44-47] or decreased expression [48–52]. In another study, augmented astrogliosis -described for schizophrenia - was reported to be concomitant with increased neuroinflammatory marker expression, and the authors suggested that astrocyte reactivity could be due to external factors (i.e., differences in psychiatric etiopathology, illnesses coexistence, or treatments received) [44]. In line with this hypothesis, it has been shown an increase in GFAP immunoreactivity after chronic antipsychotic treatment [53]. However, in animal models (rats), the treatment with haloperidol-typical antipsychotic - has no effects over GFAP expression [51]. Focusing the attention over the astroglial enzymes, products, or gliotransmitters, the reports over astrocytes' role in schizophrenia become more inconsistent. Among the main astrocyte's enzymes, the glutamine synthetase (GS) is a critical component of glutamineglutamate cycling expressed mainly in astrocytes. This enzyme catalyzes the ATP-dependent condensation of ammonia and glutamate to form glutamine, playing a fundamental role in the glutamate neurotransmission and homeostasis, as well as neurotoxicity prevention by clearing of ammonia [54]. In the available bibliography, there is no agreement about GS involvement in this pathology, considering that the expression of this enzyme has been reported to be increased, decreased, or with no changes in schizophrenic patients [51, 53, 55-57]. Similar results were found for glutaminase, another glutamineglutamate cycling enzyme, responsible for glutamine-glutamate transformation [55, 57]. However, it has been suggested that these changes could be due to antipsychotic treatment. In this sense, in astrocyte cultures, risperidone increased GS as well as the glutamate uptake and

glutathione content; meanwhile, haloperidol increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) but did not show any effect over these astrocyte functions [58]. Moreover, it has been shown an increase in glutamine synthetase-like protein in patients with schizophrenia, which becomes even higher after the treatment with olanzapine [59]. Other critical players in the glutamate-glutamine circle are the excitatory amino acid transporters (EAATs), expressed primarily on astrocytes. The evidence suggests that abnormalities in these glutamate transporter localization and function could underlie alterations in the kinetics of perisynaptic glutamate buffering, clearance, and cycling, contributing to the glutamatergic dysfunction described in schizophrenia [60, 61]. Regarding this last respect, it has been reported a decreased expression of these transporters in critical areas implicated in schizophrenia physiopathology **[61]**. Interestingly, McCullumsmith [60] showed an increased expression of these glutamate transporters in neurons and suggested that this could be a way to balance out the loss of astroglial reuptake capacity. Moreover, KYNA was found to be increased in critical regions of the CNS in schizophrenic patients, an effect that contributes to the reduction of the glutamatergic neurotransmission [62]. Studies performed in rats showed that the treatment with antipsychotics, like haloperidol, clozapine, and raclopride, caused a reduction in KYNA levels in the caudate putamen, hippocampus, and frontal cortex [63]. Another astroglial marker is the S100B, a neurotrophic factor released from several cell types, but within the CNS, it is released by astrocytes, and it is used as an astrocyte integrity indicator. Through its paracrine and autocrine role, in low concentration, S100B regulates proliferation and differentiation of neurons and glia and modulates dopamine and glutamatergic synaptic function. On the contrary, the over-release of this factor has been related to neuronal dysfunction and apoptosis due to increased expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) or proinflammatory cytokines [64, 65]. Regarding schizophrenia patients, several studies have revealed increased S100B levels in the peripheral blood and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of patients [65-70]. This increase in S100B has been associated to a more severe negative psychopathology and cognitive deficit, supporting the key role of astroglia in the schizophrenia etiopathology [65, 68, 69, 71]. Moreover, it has been reported higher levels of this factor at the cellular level in the early stages or acute paranoid schizophrenia that could be associated with astro- and oligodendroglial activation. These evidences suggest that glial activation and structural damage lead to a neurodegenerative-like process in schizophrenia [65, 72, 73]. Interestingly, an increased inflammatory markers' expression has been linked to higher levels of S100B in CSF of schizophrenic patients, suggesting that inflammatory processes could lead or exacerbate the glial dysfunction in these patients [66]. Furthermore, different reports showed a decrease in the S100B levels in CSF of patients after antipsychotic treatment. However, this effect appears to be selective for patients with predominantly positive symptoms, since the patients with negative symptomatology showed high levels of S100B even after antipsychotic treatment [65, 69, 72, 74]. Indeed, Qi et al. [67] reported that S100B was significantly higher in patients with refractory schizophrenia which were treated with both clozapine and typical antipsychotics, without significant difference between these two treatment groups. In animal research (monkeys), it has been reported lower S100B expression after chronic haloperidol or olanzapine treatment [75].

Succeeding the description of Ang II activity within the CNS, the first evidence of brain locally produced components was observed as the co-localization of angiotensinogen and the main astrocytic marker – GFAP – whereas the local synthesis of the precursor by astrocytes was confirmed short after [76–78]. Furthermore, it was simultaneously evidenced that Ang II binds to receptors in glial cells with similar binding properties and different functionality when compared to angiotensin actions over neurons [79]. These receptors were later identified as the AT₁-R subtype, promoting PLC activation and inositol-phosphate hydrolysis [80, 81]. Moreover, it was observed that Ang II, through AT₁-R, increased intracellular Ca⁺² levels as an initial peak (via IP3) followed by a sustained plateau (for Ca+2 influx from extracellular sources) [82, 83]. Afterward, several cellular effects through different signaling pathways have been described for these receptors in cultured astrocytes including CREB phosphorylation, JACK2/STAT3 and MAPK/ ERK activation, and inducible early gene transcription [84-87]. Overall, nowadays it is widely accepted the constitutive presence and expression of AT₁-R in astrocytes through which Ang II autoregulates its activity by controlling the synthesis of all RAS components [88, 89]. However, under certain pathological conditions that involve neuroinflammation, AT₁-R overactivity in astrocytes has been found to be detrimental. In this sense, AT₁-R activation stimulates ROS production and IL-6 synthesis and release in cultured glial cells via the NF- κ B signaling pathway [87, 89], whereas Ang II promotes human astrocyte senescence by superoxide production, after membrane translocation of NADPH oxidase's subunits. Interestingly, these effects were blunted by AT₁-R blockade and the antioxidant tempol [90]. Moreover, in vitro studies showed that the inflammatory condition stimulated by LPS involves AT1-R activation for the upcome of astrogliosis, Ang II synthesis, and AT₁-R upregulation, concomitant with NF-kB nuclear translocation, ROS production, and TNF- α release [27]. In the same direction, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in rodents implies AT₁-R overexpression in glial cells, triggering the upregulation and activation of transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) and sustaining the inflammatory condition. Specifically, the AT₁-R blockade decreased thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1) secretion from astrocytes, which later promotes TGF- β activation, and improved clinical scores in rodents [91]. Furthermore, AT₁-R antagonists

effectively blocked TNF- α release by astrocytes under hypoxic conditions [92]. Interestingly, the immunomodulatory actions of dopamine in neurodegenerative conditions involve the misbalance of RAS component production by astrocytes [93]. This interaction has also been observed after amphetamine exposure, where the psychostimulant-induced astrocyte reactivity involves AT₁-R activation, concomitant with vascular-network rearrangement and apoptosis in cortical areas [94]. This way, accumulating evidence supports the synergic activity of AT₁-R, pro-inflammatory mediators, and ROS in astrocytes contributing to the upcome of neuroinflammatory scenario [95, 96].

Oligodendrocytes

Oligodendrocytes are the glial cells responsible for the myelination processes. The appearance of myelinating oligodendrocytes facilitated the conduction of the nervous impulse, making the synaptic transmission faster and more efficient and leading to vertebrate CNS increase in complexity. In this sense, it is known that myelination processes have a critical role in cognitive functions, such as attention, learning, and memory. In humans, the myelin structure formation begins postnatally, and it is completed in young adulthood, around the time of the first psychotic episode expression and schizophrenia detection [97, 98]. Initial researches reported changes in gray and white matters and in the size of the ventricles. These findings gave a new meaning to oligodendrocytes and the myelination process in the schizophrenia etiopathology. Furthermore, several studies showed an atypical myelination in patients; the association observed in healthy controls between age, education, and the myelin water fraction in the frontal lobe's white matter is not found in schizophrenic subjects [99]. Indeed, a decreased myelin fraction was observed in schizophrenic patients on their first episode, suggesting that these myelin changes precede the pathology occurrence and the possible pharmacological treatments [99]. Moreover, it has been reported that white matter density alterations are related to illness' severity, where the low density of the corpus callosum and anterior commissure suggests an aberrant interhemispheric connectivity of anterior cortical and subcortical brain regions and reflecting decreased hemispheric specialization in schizophrenia [100]. All together, these results support the reduced lateralization observed in schizophrenic patients [101, 102]. On the other hand, these myelin structural alterations are companied by oligodendrocyte functional alterations, integrity loss, and/or decreased population [103]. To this last respect, it has been reported a reduction of oligodendrocyte density in the hippocampus, frontal cortex, and anterior cingulate cortex [99, 104–108]. In the same way, decreased oligodendrocyte- and myelin-related genes have been found reduced in schizophrenic patients [108–113]. One of the main genetic risk factors in schizophrenia are the disrupted-in-schizophrenia 1 (DISC1) genes, expressed in oligodendrocytes regulating negatively their differentiation and maturation. Bernstein et al. [114] have shown augmented oligodendrocyte-positive expression for DISC1 genes in patients with paranoid schizophrenia. Furthermore, the use of knockout mouse models, missing oligodendrocyte-, or the myelin-related genes linked to schizophrenia recreates the demyelination observed in the human disease in animal research [113]. Interestingly, it has been shown that subchronic olanzapine improved oligodendrocyteand myelin-related gene expression in rats [115]. In the same way, in cellular culture and in vivo, it has been reported that antipsychotics, such as haloperidol, olanzapine, and quetiapine, promote the differentiation of oligodendrocytes through transcription factors 1 and 2

(Olig1 and Olig2), without having any effect over their proliferation [97, 116, 117]. Other studies described an oligodendrocyte development stage-dependent effect for haloperidol. In this sense, in a proliferation phase, haloperidol promotes the cellular spread but inhibits their differentiation in the maturation process [118]. It seems that there is a special susceptibility period during oligodendrocyte development, mainly in gestational and perinatal phases. In this sense, it has been reported that inflammatory processes during early gestational stages produce a decreased number of oligodendrocytes and myelination alterations in the offspring's adult brain [119, 120]. These results are supported reciprocally with prenatal or gestational inflammation, since, as mentioned above, schizophrenia has been strongly related to maternal inflammatory insults.

Only a few studies have been focused on Ang II involvement over oligodendroglial functions. However, the confirmation of AT₁-R expression on oligodendrocytes suggests undescribed physiological roles of Ang II over these cells [88]. Several lines of evidences suggest an indirect Ang II involvement in re-myelinization through its action over astrocytes or microglial cells. In this sense, angiotensinogen, the precursor of Ang II, has been suggested as a potential biomarker of progression of multiple sclerosis, an illness that results in myelin sheath damage [121]. Moreover, clearance and recycling of lipid debris are necessary processes for an adequate myelination and depend on a suitable lipid transport. The main apolipoprotein (Apo) involved in this lipid transport in the brain is Apo E, which is produced by astrocyte. Since Ang II, through its AT₁-R, modulates astroglial function, this peptide could alter Apo E synthesis and indirectly myelin transport and recycling [122, 123] (Fig. 16.1).



Fig. 16.1 The available evidences underpinning the glial system as a key player in the etiopathology of schizophrenia. The AT₁-R broad role over neurotransmission systems and glial function encourages their consideration in the development of this pathology and allows to postulate

to be conscious that the actual knowledge is the tip of the iceberg in this multifactorial pathology and more studies become necessary to fill out the blank in the schizophrenia puzzle

References

- 1. WHO | Schizophrenia [Internet]. WHO [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2014.
- Kim R, Healey KL, Sepulveda-Orengo MT, Reissner KJ. Astroglial correlates of neuropsychiatric disease: From astrocytopathy to astrogliosis. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2018;87(Pt A):126–46.
- Marchese NA, Casarsa BS, Baiardi GC, Bregonzio C. Neurovascular cognitive alterations: implication of brain renin–angiotensin system. In: Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update update. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2015. p. 101–17.
- Anderson IM. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors versus tricyclic antidepressants: a metaanalysis of efficacy and tolerability. J Affect Disord. 2000;58(1):19–36.
- Menninger KA. Influenza and schizophrenia. An analysis of post-influenzal "dementia precox", as of 1918, and five years later further studies of the psychiatric aspects of influenza. 1926. Am J Psychiatry. 1994;151(6 Suppl):182–7.

- Khandaker GM, Zimbron J, Lewis G, Jones PB. Prenatal maternal infection, neurodevelopment and adult schizophrenia: a systematic review of population-based studies. Psychol Med. 2013;43(02):239–57.
- Sullivan PF, Kendler KS, Neale MC. Schizophrenia as a complex trait: evidence from a metaanalysis of twin studies. Arch General Psychiatry. 2003;60(12):1187.
- Corvin A, Morris DW. Genome-wide association studies: findings at the major histocompatibility complex locus in psychosis. Biol Psychiatry. 2014;75(4):276–83.
- International Schizophrenia Consortium IS, Purcell SM, Wray NR, Stone JL, Visscher PM, O'Donovan MC, et al. Common polygenic variation contributes to risk of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Nature. 2009;460(7256):748–52.
- Shi J, Levinson DF, Duan J, Sanders AR, Zheng Y, Pe'er I, et al. Common variants on chromosome 6p22.1 are associated with schizophrenia. Vol. 460. Nature. 2009;460(7256):753–7.
- Stefansson H, Ophoff RA, Steinberg S, Andreassen OA, Cichon S, Rujescu D, et al. Common vari-

ants conferring risk of schizophrenia. Nature. 2009;460(7256):744–7.

- Müller N, Weidinger E, Leitner B, Schwarz MJ. The role of inflammation in schizophrenia. Front Neurosci. 2015;9:372.
- Potvin S, Stip E, Sepehry AA, Gendron A, Bah R, Kouassi E. Inflammatory cytokine alterations in schizophrenia: a systematic quantitative review. Biol Psychiatry. 2008;63(8):801–8.
- Miller BJ, Culpepper N, Rapaport MH. C-reactive protein levels in schizophrenia. Clin Schizophr Relat Psychoses. 2014;7(4):223–30.
- Cannon TD. How schizophrenia develops: cognitive and brain mechanisms underlying onset of psychosis. Trends Cogn Sci. 2015;19(12):744–56.
- von Bohlen und Halbach O, Albrecht D. The CNS renin-angiotensin system. Cell Tissue Res. 2006;326(2):599–616.
- Zhou J, Pavel J, Macova M, Yu Z-X, Imboden H, Ge L, et al. AT1 receptor blockade regulates the local angiotensin II system in cerebral microvessels from spontaneously hypertensive rats. Stroke. 2006;37(5):1271–6.
- Wu C-Y, Zha H, Xia Q-Q, Yuan Y, Liang X-Y, Li J-H, et al. Expression of angiotensin II and its receptors in activated microglia in experimentally induced cerebral ischemia in the adult rats. Mol Cell Biochem. 2013;382(1–2):47–58.
- Karamyan VT, Speth RC. Enzymatic pathways of the brain renin–angiotensin system: unsolved problems and continuing challenges. Regul Pept. 2007;143(1–3):15–27.
- Basmadjian OM, Occhieppo VB, Marchese NA, Baiardi G, Bregonzio C. Brain Angiotensin II Involvement in chronic mental disorders, Protein Pept Lett 2017;24(9):817–826.
- Deliu E, Brailoiu GC, Eguchi S, Hoffman NE, Rabinowitz JE, Tilley DG, et al. Direct evidence of intracrine angiotensin II signaling in neurons. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2014;306(8):C736–44.
- 22. Steiner J, Walter M, Glanz W, Sarnyai Z, Bernstein H-G, Vielhaber S, et al. Increased prevalence of diverse N -methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptor antibodies in patients with an initial diagnosis of schizophrenia. JAMA Psychiatry. 2013;70(3):271.
- Miller BJ, Buckley P, Seabolt W, Mellor A, Kirkpatrick B. Meta-analysis of cytokine alterations in schizophrenia: clinical status and antipsychotic effects. Biol Psychiatry. 2011;70(7):663–71.
- Tourjman V, Kouassi É, Koué M-È, Rocchetti M, Fortin-Fournier S, Fusar-Poli P, et al. Antipsychotics' effects on blood levels of cytokines in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. Schizophr Res. 2013 Dec;151(1–3):43–7.
- 25. Sommer IE, van Westrhenen R, Begemann MJH, de Witte LD, Leucht S, Kahn RS. Efficacy of antiinflammatory agents to improve symptoms in patients with schizophrenia: an update. Schizophr Bull. 2014;40(1):181–91.

- Sommer IE, de Witte L, Begemann M, Kahn RS. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in schizophrenia. J Clin Psychiatry. 2012;73(04):414–9.
- 27. Bhat SA, Goel R, Shukla R, Hanif K. Angiotensin receptor blockade modulates NF\$κ\$B and STAT3 signaling and inhibits glial activation and neuroinflammation better than angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition. Mol Neurobiol. 2016;53(10):6950–67.
- Biancardi VC, Stranahan AM, Krause EG, de Kloet AD, Stern JE. Cross talk between AT1 receptors and toll-like receptor 4 in microglia contributes to angiotensin II-derived ROS production in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2016;310(3):H404–15.
- Borrajo A, Rodriguez-Perez AI, Diaz-Ruiz C, Guerra MJ, Labandeira-Garcia JL. Microglial TNF-α mediates enhancement of dopaminergic degeneration by brain angiotensin. Glia. 2014;62(1):145–57.
- Labandeira-Garcia JL, Rodríguez-Perez AI, Garrido-Gil P, Rodriguez-Pallares J, Lanciego JL, Guerra MJ. Brain Renin-angiotensin system and microglial polarization: implications for aging and neurodegeneration. Front Aging Neurosci. 2017;9:129.
- 31. Sun H, Wu HQ, Yu X, Zhang GL, Zhang R, Zhan SQ, et al. Angiotensin II and its receptor in activated microglia enhanced neuronal loss and cognitive impairment following pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus. Mol Cell Neurosci. 2015;65:58–67.
- Rodriguez-Perez AI, Borrajo A, Rodriguez-Pallares J, Guerra MJ, Labandeira-Garcia JL. Interaction between NADPH-oxidase and rho-kinase in angiotensin II-induced microglial activation. Glia. 2015;63(3):466–82.
- 33. Labandeira-Garcia JL, Rodriguez-Pallares J, Rodríguez-Perez AI, Garrido-Gil P, Villar-Cheda B, Valenzuela R, et al. Brain angiotensin and dopaminergic degeneration: relevance to Parkinson's disease. Am J Neurodegener Dis. 2012;1(3):226–44.
- 34. Kapoor K, Bhandare AM, Farnham MMJ, Pilowsky PM. Alerted microglia and the sympathetic nervous system: a novel form of microglia in the development of hypertension. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2016;226:51–62.
- Shi P, Grobe JL, Desland FA, Zhou G, Shen XZ, Shan Z, et al. Direct pro-inflammatory effects of prorenin on microglia. PLoS One. 2014;9(10):e92937.
- 36. Villar-Cheda B, Dominguez-Meijide A, Joglar B, Rodriguez-Perez AI, Guerra MJ, Labandeira-Garcia JL. Involvement of microglial RhoA/rho-kinase pathway activation in the dopaminergic neuron death. Role of angiotensin via angiotensin type 1 receptors. Neurobiol Dis. 2012;47(2):268–79.
- Xia M, Abazyan S, Jouroukhin Y, Pletnikov M. Behavioral sequelae of astrocyte dysfunction: focus on animal models of schizophrenia. Schizophr Res. 2016;176(1):72–82.
- Goudriaan A, de Leeuw C, Ripke S, Hultman CM, Sklar P, Sullivan PF, et al. Specific glial functions contribute to schizophrenia susceptibility. Schizophr Bull. 2014;40(4):925–35.

- Hansson E, Rönnbäck L. Glial neuronal signaling in the central nervous system. FASEB J. 2003;17(3):341–8.
- Bernstein H-G, Steiner J, Guest PC, Dobrowolny H, Bogerts B. Glial cells as key players in schizophrenia pathology: recent insights and concepts of therapy. Schizophr Res. 2015;161(1):4–18.
- 41. Rajkowska G, Miguel-Hidalgo JJ, Makkos Z, Meltzer H, Overholser J, Stockmeier C. Layerspecific reductions in GFAP-reactive astroglia in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res. 2002;57(2–3):127–38.
- Bruton CJ, Crow TJ, Frith CD, Johnstone EC, Owens DG, Roberts GW. Schizophrenia and the brain: a prospective clinico-neuropathological study. Psychol Med. 1990;20(2):285–304.
- Arnold SE, Franz BR, Trojanowski JQ, Moberg PJ, Gur RE. Glial fibrillary acidic proteinimmunoreactive astrocytosis in elderly patients with schizophrenia and dementia. Acta Neuropathol. 1996;91(3):269–77.
- 44. Catts VS, Wong J, Fillman SG, Fung SJ, Shannon WC. Increased expression of astrocyte markers in schizophrenia: association with neuroinflammation. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2014;48(8):722–34.
- Garey L. When cortical development goes wrong: schizophrenia as a neurodevelopmental disease of microcircuits. J Anat. 2010;217(4):324–33.
- 46. Fatemi SH, Laurence JA, Araghi-Niknam M, Stary JM, Schulz SC, Lee S, et al. Glial fibrillary acidic protein is reduced in cerebellum of subjects with major depression, but not schizophrenia. Schizophr Res. 2004;69(2–3):317–23.
- Casanova MF. Astrocytosis and schizophrenia. Schizophr Res. 1991;5(3):186–7.
- Najjar S, Pearlman DM. Neuroinflammation and white matter pathology in schizophrenia: systematic review. Schizophr Res. 2015;161(1):102–12.
- Hercher C, Chopra V, Beasley CL. Evidence for morphological alterations in prefrontal white matter glia in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. J Psychiatry Neurosci. 2014;39(6):376–85.
- 50. Williams MR, Hampton T, Pearce RKB, Hirsch SR, Ansorge O, Thom M, et al. Astrocyte decrease in the subgenual cingulate and callosal genu in schizophrenia. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2013;263(1):41–52.
- Steffek AE, McCullumsmith RE, Haroutunian V, Meador-Woodruff JH. Cortical expression of glial fibrillary acidic protein and glutamine synthetase is decreased in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res. 2008;103(1–3):71–82.
- 52. Webster MJ, O'Grady J, Kleinman JE, Weickert CS. Glial fibrillary acidic protein mRNA levels in the cingulate cortex of individuals with depression, bipolar disorder and schizophrenia. Neuroscience. 2005;133(2):453–61.
- Toro CT, Hallak JEC, Dunham JS, Deakin JFW. Glial fibrillary acidic protein and glutamine synthetase in

subregions of prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia and mood disorder. Neurosci Lett. 2006;404(3):276-81.

- Rose CF, Verkhratsky A, Parpura V. Astrocyte glutamine synthetase: pivotal in health and disease. Biochem Soc Trans. 2013;41(6):1518–24.
- 55. Katsel P, Byne W, Roussos P, Tan W, Siever L, Haroutunian V. Astrocyte and glutamate markers in the superficial, deep, and white matter layers of the anterior cingulate gyrus in schizophrenia. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2011;36(6):1171–7.
- 56. Burbaeva GS, Boksha IS, Tereshkina EB, Savushkina OK, Starodubtseva LI, Turishcheva MS, et al. Systemic neurochemical alterations in schizophrenic brain: glutamate metabolism in focus. Neurochem Res. 2007;32(9):1434–44.
- Bruneau EG, McCullumsmith RE, Haroutunian V, Davis KL, Meador-Woodruff JH. Increased expression of glutaminase and glutamine synthetase mRNA in the thalamus in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res. 2005;75(1):27–34.
- Quincozes-Santos A, Bobermin LD, Tonial RPL, Bambini-Junior V, Riesgo R, Gottfried C. Effects of atypical (risperidone) and typical (haloperidol) antipsychotic agents on astroglial functions. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2010;260(6):475–81.
- 59. Burbaeva GS, Boksha IS, Tereshkina EB, Savushkina OK, Turishcheva MS, Starodubtseva LI, et al. Effect of olanzapine treatment on platelet glutamine synthetase-like protein and glutamate dehydrogenase immunoreactivity in schizophrenia. World J Biol Psychiatry. 2006;7(2):75–81.
- 60. McCullumsmith RE, O'Donovan SM, Drummond JB, Benesh FS, Simmons M, Roberts R, et al. Cellspecific abnormalities of glutamate transporters in schizophrenia: sick astrocytes and compensating relay neurons? Mol Psychiatry. 2016;21(6):823–30.
- 61. Shan D, Lucas EK, Drummond JB, Haroutunian V, Meador-Woodruff JH, McCullumsmith RE. Abnormal expression of glutamate transporters in temporal lobe areas in elderly patients with schizophrenia. Schizophr Res. 2013;144(1–3):1–8.
- Müller N, Myint A-M, Krause D, Weidinger E, Schwarz MJ. Anti-inflammatory treatment in schizophrenia. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2013;42:146–53.
- Ceresoli-Borroni G, Rassoulpour A, Wu H-Q, Guidetti P, Schwarcz R. Chronic neuroleptic treatment reduces endogenous kynurenic acid levels in rat brain. J Neural Transm (Vienna, Austria: 1996). 2006;113(10):1355–65.
- 64. O'Connell K, Thakore J, Dev KK. Levels of S100B are raised in female patients with schizophrenia. BMC Psychiatry. 2013;13(1):146.
- 65. Rothermundt M, Falkai P, Ponath G, Abel S, Bürkle H, Diedrich M, et al. Glial cell dysfunction in schizophrenia indicated by increased S100B in the CSF. Mol Psychiatry. 2004;9(10):897–9.
- 66. Hong W, Zhao M, Li H, Peng F, Wang F, Li N, et al. Higher plasma S100B concentrations in schizophre-

nia patients, and dependently associated with inflammatory markers. Sci Rep. 2016;6(1):27584.

- 67. Qi LY, Xiu MH, Chen DC, Wang F, Kosten TA, Kosten TR, et al. Increased serum S100B levels in chronic schizophrenic patients on long-term clozapine or typical antipsychotics. Neurosci Lett. 2009;462(2):113–7.
- Pedersen A, Diedrich M, Kaestner F, Koelkebeck K, Ohrmann P, Ponath G, et al. Memory impairment correlates with increased S100B serum concentrations in patients with chronic schizophrenia. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2008;32(8):1789–92.
- 69. Rothermundt M, Missler U, Arolt V, Peters M, Leadbeater J, Wiesmann M, et al. Increased S100B blood levels in unmedicated and treated schizophrenic patients are correlated with negative symptomatology. Mol Psychiatry. 2001;6(4):445–9.
- Wiesmann M, Wandinger KP, Missler U, Eckhoff D, Rothermundt M, Arolt V, et al. Elevated plasma levels of S-100b protein in schizophrenic patients. Biol Psychiatry. 1999;45(11):1508–11.
- 71. Ling S, Tang Y, Jiang F, Wiste A, Guo S, Weng Y, et al. Plasma S-100B protein in Chinese patients with schizophrenia: comparison with healthy controls and effect of antipsychotics treatment. J Psychiatr Res. 2007;41(1–2):36–42.
- Zhang XY, Xiu MH, Song C, Chen DC, Wu GY, Haile CN, et al. Increased serum S100B in nevermedicated and medicated schizophrenic patients. J Psychiatr Res. 2010;44(16):1236–40.
- Steiner J, Bernstein H-G, Bielau H, Farkas N, Winter J, Dobrowolny H, et al. S100B-immunopositive glia is elevated in paranoid as compared to residual schizophrenia: a morphometric study. J Psychiatr Res. 2008;42(10):868–76.
- 74. Schroeter ML, Abdul-Khaliq H, Frühauf S, Höhne R, Schick G, Diefenbacher A, et al. Serum S100B is increased during early treatment with antipsychotics and in deficit schizophrenia. Schizophr Res. 2003;62(3):231–6.
- 75. Konopaske GT, Dorph-Petersen K-A, Pierri JN, Wu Q, Sampson AR, Lewis DA. Effect of chronic exposure to antipsychotic medication on cell numbers in the parietal cortex of macaque monkeys. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2007;32(6):1216–23.
- Deschepper CF, Bouhnik J, Ganong WF. Colocalization of angiotensinogen and glial fibrillary acidic protein in astrocytes in rat brain. Brain Res. 1986;374(1):195–8.
- Imboden H, Harding JW, Hilgenfeldt U, Celio MR, Felix D. Localization of angiotensinogen in multiple cell types of rat brain. Brain Res. 1987;410(1):74–7.
- Stornetta RL, Hawelu-Johnson CL, Guyenet PG, Lynch KR. Astrocytes synthesize angiotensinogen in brain. Science (New York, N.Y.). 1988;242(4884):1444–6.
- 79. Raizada MK, Phillips MI, Crews FT, Sumners C. Distinct angiotensin II receptor in primary cul-

tures of glial cells from rat brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1987;84(13):4655–9.

- Sumners C, Tang W, Zelezna B, Raizada MK. Angiotensin II receptor subtypes are coupled with distinct signal-transduction mechanisms in neurons and astrocytes from rat brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1991;88(17):7567–71.
- Tallant EA, Higson JT. Angiotensin II activates distinct signal transduction pathways in astrocytes isolated from neonatal rat brain. Glia. 1997;19(4):333–42.
- Wang D, Martens JR, Posner P, Sumners C, Gelband CH. Angiotensin II regulation of intracellular calcium in astroglia cultured from rat hypothalamus and brainstem. J Neurochem. 1996;67(3):996–1004.
- Gebke E, Müller AR, Jurzak M, Gerstberger R. Angiotensin II-induced calcium signalling in neurons and astrocytes of rat circumventricular organs. Neuroscience. 1998;85(2):509–20.
- 84. Delaney J, Chiarello R, Villar D, Kandalam U, Castejon AM, Clark MA. Regulation of c-fos, c-jun and c-myc gene expression by angiotensin II in primary cultured rat astrocytes: role of ERK1/2 MAP kinases. Neurochem Res. 2008;33(3):545–50.
- Holownia A, Braszko JJ. The effect of angiotensin II and IV on ERK1/2 and CREB signalling in cultured rat astroglial cells. Naunyn Schmiedeberg's Arch Pharmacol. 2007;376(3):157–63.
- Alanazi AZ, Patel P, Clark MA. p38 Mitogenactivated protein kinase is stimulated by both angiotensin II and angiotensin III in cultured rat astrocytes. J Recept Signal Transduct Res. 2014;34(3):205–11.
- Kandalam U, Clark MA. Angiotensin II activates JAK2/STAT3 pathway and induces interleukin-6 production in cultured rat brainstem astrocytes. Regul Pept. 2010;159(1–3):110–6.
- Fogarty DJ, Matute C. Angiotensin receptorlike immunoreactivity in adult brain white matter astrocytes and oligodendrocytes. Glia. 2001;35(2):131–46.
- Gowrisankar YV, Clark MA. Angiotensin II induces interleukin-6 expression in astrocytes: role of reactive oxygen species and NF-κB. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2016;437:130–41.
- Liu G, Hosomi N, Hitomi H, Pelisch N, Fu H, Masugata H, et al. Angiotensin II induces human astrocyte senescence through reactive oxygen species production. Hypertens Res. 2011;34(4):479–83.
- Lanz TV, Ding Z, Ho PP, Luo J, Agrawal AN, Srinagesh H, et al. Angiotensin II sustains brain inflammation in mice via TGF-beta. J Clin Invest. 2010;120(8):2782–94.
- 92. Danielyan L, Lourhmati A, Verleysdonk S, Kabisch D, Proksch B, Thiess U, et al. Angiotensin receptor type 1 blockade in astroglia decreases hypoxia-induced cell damage and TNF alpha release. Neurochem Res. 2007;32(9):1489–98.
- Dominguez-Meijide A, Rodriguez-Perez AI, Diaz-Ruiz C, Guerra MJ, Labandeira-Garcia JL. Dopamine modulates astroglial and microglial

activity via glial renin-angiotensin system in cultures. Brain Behav Immunity. 2017;62:277–90.

- 94. Occhieppo VB, Marchese NA, Rodriguez ID, Basmadjian OM, Baiardi G, Bregonzio C. Neurovascular unit alteration in somatosensory cortex and enhancement of thermal nociception induced by amphetamine involves central AT1 receptor activation. Eur J Neurosci. 2017;45:1586–93.
- 95. de Kloet AD, Liu M, Rodríguez V, et al. Role of neurons and glia in the CNS actions of the renin-angiotensin system in cardiovascular control. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2015;309:R444–58.
- O'Connor AT, Clark MA. Astrocytes and the renin angiotensin system: relevance in disease pathogenesis. Neurochem Res. 2018;43(7):1297–307.
- 97. Fang F, Zhang H, Zhang Y, Xu H, Huang Q, Adilijiang A, et al. Antipsychotics promote the differentiation of oligodendrocyte progenitor cells by regulating oligodendrocyte lineage transcription factors 1 and 2. Life Sci. 2013;93(12–14):429–34.
- Takahashi N, Sakurai T, Davis KL, Buxbaum JD. Linking oligodendrocyte and myelin dysfunction to neurocircuitry abnormalities in schizophrenia. Prog Neurobiol. 2011;93(1):13–24.
- 99. Flynn SW, Lang DJ, Mackay AL, Goghari V, Vavasour IM, Whittall KP, et al. Abnormalities of myelination in schizophrenia detected in vivo with MRI, and post-mortem with analysis of oligodendrocyte proteins. Mol Psychiatry. 2003;8(9):811–20.
- 100. Hulshoff Pol HE, Schnack HG, Mandl RCW, Cahn W, Collins DL, Evans AC, et al. Focal white matter density changes in schizophrenia: reduced inter-hemispheric connectivity. NeuroImage. 2004;21(1):27–35.
- 101. Fei Ho N, Li Z, Ji F, Wang M, Kuswanto CN, Yi Sum M, et al. Hemispheric lateralization abnormalities of the white matter microstructure in patients with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. J Psychiatry Neurosci. 2017;42(4):242–51.
- 102. Levitt JJ, Nestor PG, Levin L, Pelavin P, Lin P, Kubicki M, et al. Reduced structural connectivity in frontostriatal white matter tracts in the associative loop in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry. 2017;174(11):1102–11.
- 103. Vikhreva OV, Rakhmanova VI, Orlovskaya DD, Uranova NA. Ultrastructural alterations of oligodendrocytes in prefrontal white matter in schizophrenia: a post-mortem morphometric study. Schizophr Res. 2016;177(1–3):28–36.
- 104. Falkai P, Malchow B, Wetzestein K, Nowastowski V, Bernstein H-G, Steiner J, et al. Decreased Oligodendrocyte and Neuron Number in Anterior Hippocampal Areas and the Entire Hippocampus in Schizophrenia: A stereological Postmortem study. Schizophr Bull. 2016;42(suppl 1):S4–12.
- 105. Hof PR, Haroutunian V, Friedrich VL, Byne W, Buitron C, Perl DP, et al. Loss and altered spatial distribution of oligodendrocytes in the superior

frontal gyrus in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry. 2003;53(12):1075-85.

- 106. Vostrikov V, Orlovskaya D, Uranova N. Deficit of pericapillary oligodendrocytes in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. World J Biol Psychiatry. 2008;9(1):34–42.
- 107. Farkas N, Lendeckel U, Dobrowolny H, Funke S, Steiner J, Keilhoff G, et al. Reduced density of ADAM 12-immunoreactive oligodendrocytes in the anterior cingulate white matter of patients with schizophrenia. World J Biol Psychiatry. 2010;11(3):556–66.
- 108. Felsky D, Voineskos AN, Lerch JP, Nazeri A, Shaikh SA, Rajji TK, et al. Myelin-associated glycoprotein gene and brain morphometry in schizophrenia. Front Psychiatry. 2012;3:40.
- 109. Shen P-C, He L-Q, Yang X-J, Cao H-X. Renal protection of losartan 50 mg in normotensive Chinese patients with nondiabetic chronic kidney disease. J Investig Med. 2012;60(7):1041–7.
- 110. Chavarria-Siles I, White T, de Leeuw C, Goudriaan A, Lips E, Ehrlich S, et al. Myelination-related genes are associated with decreased white matter integrity in schizophrenia. Eur J Human Gene. 2016;24(3):381–6.
- 111. Tkachev D, Mimmack ML, Ryan MM, Wayland M, Freeman T, Jones PB, et al. Oligodendrocyte dysfunction in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Lancet. 2003;362(9386):798–805.
- 112. Mauney SA, Pietersen CY, Sonntag K-C, Woo T-UW. Differentiation of oligodendrocyte precursors is impaired in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res. 2015;169(1–3):374–80.
- 113. Segal D, Koschnick JR, Slegers LHA, Hof PR. Oligodendrocyte pathophysiology: a new view of schizophrenia. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol. 2007;10(4):503–11.
- 114. Bernstein H-G, Jauch E, Dobrowolny H, Mawrin C, Steiner J, Bogerts B. Increased density of DISC1immunoreactive oligodendroglial cells in frontoparietal white matter of patients with paranoid schizophrenia. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2016;266(6):495–504.
- 115. Ersland KM, Skrede S, Stansberg C, Steen VM. Subchronic olanzapine exposure leads to increased expression of myelination-related genes in rat fronto-medial cortex. Transl Psychiatry. 2017;7(11):1262.
- 116. Xiao L, Xu H, Zhang Y, Wei Z, He J, Jiang W, et al. Quetiapine facilitates oligodendrocyte development and prevents mice from myelin breakdown and behavioral changes. Mol Psychiatry. 2008;13(7):697–708.
- 117. Yamauchi T, Tatsumi K, Makinodan M, Kimoto S, Toritsuka M, Okuda H, et al. Olanzapine increases cell mitotic activity and oligodendrocyte-lineage cells in the hypothalamus. Neurochem Int. 2010;57(5):565–71.
- 118. Niu J, Mei F, Li N, Wang H, Li X, Kong J, et al. Haloperidol promotes proliferation but inhibits dif-

ferentiation in rat oligodendrocyte progenitor cell cultures. This paper is one of a selection of papers published in this special issue entitled "Second International Symposium on Recent Advances in Basic". Biochem Cell Biol. 2010;88:611–20.

- 119. Favrais G, van de Looij Y, Fleiss B, Ramanantsoa N, Bonnin P, Stoltenburg-Didinger G, et al. Systemic inflammation disrupts the developmental program of white matter. Ann Neurol. 2011;70(4):550–65.
- 120. Graf AE, Haines KM, Pierson CR, Bolon BN, Houston RH, Velten M, et al. Perinatal inflammation results in decreased oligodendrocyte numbers in adulthood. Life Sci. 2014;94(2):164–71.
- 121. Ottervald J, Franzén B, Nilsson K, Andersson LI, Khademi M, Eriksson B, et al. Multiple sclerosis: identification and clinical evaluation of novel CSF biomarkers. J Proteome. 2010;73(6):1117–32.
- Haroutunian V, Katsel P, Roussos P, Davis KL, Altshuler LL, Bartzokis G. Myelination, oligodendrocytes, and serious mental illness. Glia. 2014;62(11):1856–77.
- 123. Deza-Ponzio R, Herrera ML, Bellini MJ, Virgolini MB, Hereñú CB. Aldehyde dehydrogenase 2 in the spotlight: the link between mitochondria and neurodegeneration. Neurotoxicology. 2018;68:19–24.



Somatostatin and Neurotensin Systems in Schizophrenia

17

Andrea Induni, Fernando Gil Zbinden, and María Graciela López Ordieres

Introduction

Recent researches have focused on the possible therapeutic use of neuropeptides in the development of psychiatric and neurological disorders [1]. These molecules can behave as neuromodulators being responsible for a series of longlasting events that modify the rapid actions of classic neurotransmitters. Although, many of these substances complete all the criteria to be considered neurotransmitters, since they are molecules synthesized and distributed in the CNS, which are stored in vesicles, to be released from the nerve terminals by a suitable stimulus [2]. Nevertheless, many peptides may be not considered true neurotransmitters because there is a limited acknowledgment about the mechanisms involved in the end of neurotransmission [2]. Neuropeptides are attractive therapeutic targets for mood disorders because they may participate in the biochemical alterations of these diseases [3].

Vasopressin and oxytocin play a pivotal role in behavioral regulation and in memory processes [4]. For this reason, it is known that vasopressin would be involved in the pathophysiology of major depression and the vasopressin receptor antagonists may be potential agents for the depression treatment. In this respect, oxytocin is also considered as an endogenous antidepressant or anxiolytic hormone [5].

Opioids are well-known as pain stimuli modulators, but they are linked to human being's behavior, particularly emotion and pleasure; then beta-endorphin, a natural opioid, seems to be involved in the rare behavior of autistic children. New therapeutic agents are synthesized to activate (in depression) or deactivate (in schizophrenia) the orexin system [6, 7].

These are a few examples of neuropeptide involvement in mental pathologies. However, our interest consisted of a description of neurotensin and somatostatin involvement in schizophrenia.

Neurotensin

Neurotensin is a tridecapeptide that was isolated from bovine hypothalamus extracts by Carraway and Leeman [8]. Intravenous administration of these extracts to exposed areas, i.e., ears, produced significant vasodilation. Since this peptide was found in the brain and behaved as a vasodilator, it was called neurotensin. Then a sequence of neurotensin amino acids (Glp-Leu-Tyr-Glu-Asn-Lys-Pro-Arg-Pro-Tyr-Ile-Le-OH) was found and used to obtain a synthetic peptide to develop antisera for radioimmunoassay (RIA); these assays made it possible to know both neurotensin distribution in the body as biological effects. In this

A. Induni · F. Gil Zbinden · M. G. López Ordieres (⊠) Facultad de Farmacia y Bioquímica, Universidad de Buenos Aires, Buenos Aires, Argentina e-mail: ainduni@ffyb.uba.ar; glopez@ffyb.uba.ar

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_17

sense, the neurotensin distribution in the rat brain was performed using specific antisera against different targets of the neurotensin sequence and followed by the reverse-phase liquid chromatography (HPLC) purification. In this assay, high amounts of neurotensin-like immunoreactivity (NTi) were found in the hypothalamus, septum, core of the terminal stria bed, and core of the central amygdaloid; moderate amounts in the ventral tegmental area (VTA), the thalamus, the locus coeruleus, and the dorsal roof of the spinal cord; and small amounts in the cerebellum and cerebral cortex [9], where the coexistence of NTi and tyrosine hydroxylase (a catecholamine marker) was limited to the nerve endings. These findings led many researchers to study the relationship of neurotensin, the dopaminergic system, and schizophrenia [10].

Like neuropeptides, neurotensin is synthesized as a precursor molecule that contains neurotensin and neuromedin N sequences found in the C-terminal domain, flanked by three sequences of Lys-Arg. These basic sequences are consensus sites that are recognized by pro-protein convertase enzymes [11]. In the brain, the precursor molecule cleavage originates both neurotensin and neuromedin N, which are released after neuronal depolarization [12, 13]. Neuromedin N is rapidly hydrolyzed by aminopeptidases, while neurotensin is degraded by metalloendopeptidases that produce the cleavage of the neurotensin molecule in the C-terminal domain [14].

Neurotensin can behave either as a neuromodulator, primarily of the dopaminergic neurotransmission, or as a neurotransmitter binding to specific recognition sites, which were studied using radioactive ligand binding techniques, such as [125I]-NT. Mouse membranes obtained intestinally and cerebrally generally contain two different types of receptors: a high-affinity site, called NTS1 (Kd = 0.1-0.3 nM), sensitive to Na + and GTP ions which decreases the affinity of neurotensin for its receptor and a low-affinity site, NTS2 (Kd = 3-5 nM), much less sensitive to Na⁺ and insensitive to GTP [15]. At the CNS level, there is a parallelism between neurotensin regional distribution and its receptor site localization [16]. The first molecular identification was

achieved by Tanaka and colleagues, who cloned the first neurotensin receptor (NTS1) and demonstrated that it belongs to the G-protein-coupled receptor family [17]. The neurotensin interaction with the NTS1 receptor produces three different mechanisms: a transient increase in cGMP concentrations, a decrease in cAMP concentrations, and an increase in 1,4,5 inositol triphosphate and calcium concentrations [18, 19]. At variance, stimulates neurotensin phosphatidylinositol hydrolysis, without producing any changes in cAMP and cGMP levels in H29 cell line. Besides, neurotensin binds to the NTS1 receptor, producing MAPK (mitogen-activated protein kinase) activation and krox-24 gene induction, both mechanisms related to cell growth in this cell line [20-22].

In addition to NTS1 and NTS2 receptors, another receptor, NTS3, is localized intracellularly [23]. This receptor is involved in the regulation of glucose transporter vesicle biosynthesis and its translocation and in the clearance of circulating neurotensin. It has also been implicated in the development of certain types of cancer, where this peptide may act as a growth factor [24, 25].

After exocytosis, free neurotensin in the synaptic cleft is internalized by a presynaptic process that depends on the sodium ions' presence and the appropriate temperature [26]. The peptide molecules internalized are led from the periphery to the perinuclear region. NTS1 is not recycled to form part of the plasma membrane but is degraded within the cell [27]. The NTS1 receptor region related to internalization corresponds to the intracytoplasmic C-terminal domain [28]. Both enzyme degradation and receptor internalization are processes that could be considered as two mechanisms that put an end to the neurotensin actions [29].

G-protein-coupled receptors can form dimers [30] that are important for receptor function, including agonist affinity, efficiency, and G-protein specificity. NT triggered multiple responses because of independent signaling cascades. It is also shown that some regions involved in G-protein coupling are also involved in the control of the receptor regulation triggered by agonist stimulation. Heterodimerization modifies ligand binding or coupling properties and trafficking characteristics of the receptors [31]. Molecular interactions between neurotensin receptors have been studied including NTS1/ NTS2 heterodimerization. This situation affects the intracellular distribution and trafficking of NTS1 and could represent an alternative mechanism in the regulation of neurotensin responses mediated by NTS1 and NTS2 receptors [32].

After, neurotensin receptor activation, multiple signaling pathways occurred, leading to neurotensin effects. Neurotensin mainly activates the ERK signaling, which in turn activates downstream transcription factors, leading to cell proliferation [33]. Besides, it has been reported that RAS is activated and the pathways of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase are stimulated, as well as MAP kinase ERK1/2 enhancement [34].

Several findings indicate that neurotensin binding to the NTS1 receptor produces diverse effects such as the stimulation of phosphoinositide hydrolysis and the inositol phosphate production, the calcium mobilization, and the increase in GMPc [35, 36]. Neurotensin also increases tyrosine hydroxylase activity and induces this gene expression through nitric oxide and protein kinase pathways [36]. Furthermore, neurotensin is implicated in cognitive disorders due to aging, because the interaction to its receptors in the hippocampal formation decreases the signaling pathways with age [37]. Neurotensin produces several central effects such as analgesia, hypothermia, the hormone release reinforcement, the reduction of locomotor activity, and the potentiation of CNS depressant agent actions. Neurotensin is found in the stomach, duodenum, jejunum, and ileum but not in the rat liver and lungs [12]. At the peripheral level, neurotensin causes vasodilatation, the stimulation of uterine contraction, the duodenum relaxation, increases in vascular permeability, and decreases in gastric secretion [27, 38].

Neurotensin is associated with dopaminergic transmission and considered to have potential antipsychotic activity. Therefore, several lines of research were devoted to the development of neurotensin analogs which were synthesized to easily cross the blood-brain barrier and provide it with resistance to degradation by prolonging the half-life [39, 40].

Somatostatin

Somatostatin is a 14-amino acid peptide that prevents the release of growth hormone (GH) from the pituitary [41]. But, two other peptides are part of the somatostatin system: the SS28, a 28 amino acid peptide, and SS28 (1-12), a 12 amino acid peptide formed by the cleavage of the SS28 in the N-terminal domain. All these peptides show a specific laminar distribution in the cerebral cortex; SS28 is found in the cell body and SS28 (1-12) in the nerve terminals of the hypothalamus and amygdala neurons [42]. For example, somatostatin-like immunoreactivity (SLI) is detected by a specific radioimmunoassay in rat striatum homogenates. The SS28 immunoreactivity is found in dorsal root ganglion cells and the superficial laminae of the rat spinal cord, while the dorsal root ganglion cells exhibit the presence of SS14 immunoreactivity [43].

Somatostatin regulates multiple biological processes via five genetically distinct, G-proteincoupled receptors. All of them are G-proteincoupled, seven-transmembrane receptors, which interact with a wide range of downstream signaling targets. Several pharmacological studies and sequence analyses have allowed to divide them into two groups, one formed by sst2, sst3, and sst5 and the second by sst1 and sst4. In mice and rats, the sst2 receptor can be found as two splice variants, sst2a and sst2b, which differ by length and C-terminal amino acid composition [44]. The mRNA expression patterns of the somatostatin receptors are useful to disclose the somatostatin receptor subtype distribution: Sst1 subtype receptor mRNA is widely distributed throughout the CNS. It is in the presynaptic membrane and can modulate somatostatin release. Sst2 subtype receptor mRNA is expressed at high levels in cells in the cerebral cortex, medial habenula, dentate gyrus, and cerebellum. Sst2a and sst2b subtype receptors can mediate regional and the cell-specific postsynaptic responses. Sst3 subtype receptor mRNA pattern is found in the cerebellar Purkinje and granular cell layers, the deeper cortical layers, the hippocampal formation, and the myelencephalon nuclei. It is also detected in the sensory neurons of the dorsal root ganglia and in the rat trigeminal ganglia. The mRNA pattern of the sst4 receptor subtype is found in the formation of the hippocampus and predominantly located in the postsynaptic membranes. The sst5 receptor subtype RNAm pattern is both found in the hypothalamus as the preoptic area. Low expression levels were detected in the hippocampus, the cerebral cortex, the amygdala, and the striatum [44, 45].

Several studies were conducted to clarify somatostatin neural actions. Somatostatin induces a Ca^{2+} current inhibition in cultured cells of chicken in neurons of ciliary ganglion. Opioid peptides, applied before somatostatin, prevent the somatostatin inhibitory effects on the Ca^{2+} currents, but when applied after somatostatin, they change a voltage-dependent somatostatinmediated calcium current by a voltageindependent opioid-mediated modulation [46].

The high voltage-activated somatostatin current is mediated by a G-protein from the Gi/Go subclass. Somatostatin produces the inhibition of the spontaneous firing in the noradrenergic neurons of rat locus coeruleus, leading to the opening of an inwardly rectifying K channel current in a somatostatin concentration manner [47]. In humans and rodents, the sst1 and sst5 receptors mediate the inhibition of insulin secretion, and the sst2 receptor seems to mediate the inhibition of glucagon secretion in these species [48]. Somatostatin also produces central effects that have involved it in diseases such as epilepsy, depression, Huntington's chorea, and Alzheimer's disease [49].

Schizophrenia and the Neuropeptides: Neurotensin and Somatostatin

Schizophrenia is a severe psychiatric disorder that affects approximately 1% of the world's population, regardless of race, gender, or social

status. It appears in later adolescence and adulthood, and it is likely to persist after an initial outbreak throughout the patient's life. A variety of symptoms have been described in schizophrenia such as hallucinations and delusions (positive symptoms), apathy, flattening mood, poverty of oral discourse, and social withdrawal (negative symptoms) [50].

Following the neurodevelopmental theory, two sets of genes would be involved in schizophrenia: genes that would be responsible for the connectivity of the new specifically human circuitry and genes that would be associated with high emotionality in the interpretation of the signs. In schizophrenia, there is a transmission of a combination of genes that variably predispose symptoms related to language-thought disorders and schizotypal features. Besides, the obstetric complications at birth and the environmental conditions mainly during a child's emotional development can cause alterations coincident with a model of late neurodevelopmental damage (excessive increase in neural pruning), the run-up to adolescence. Finally, there is a possibility that in subjects without a decisive alteration in neurodevelopment, a lesion in some circuits or a neurochemical dysfunction results in a drug-related disorder transitory or permanent of the neural connectivity. All of this leads to a clinical phenotype that is a continuum of symptoms ranging from isolated psychotic symptoms to chronic schizophrenia [51].

Although the exact cause that predisposes to the disease is not completely clear, it is known that the interacting neurotransmission systems are altered. In accordance with the glutamatergic hypothesis, NMDA receptors, specifically in cortico-encephalic projections, could be hypoactive in schizophrenia, resulting in mesolimbic dopaminergic hyperactivity with positive symptomatology. Besides, the hypofunction of the NMDA receptor in the corticotroncoencephalic projections would lead to hypoactivity in the mesocortical dopaminergic pathway, thus explaining the appearance of negative, affective, and cognitive symptoms in schizophrenia [52].

Neurotensin

To study the basics of schizophrenia, researchers use extremely helpful animal models; although they are not superimposable, they enable the study of the biochemical aspects of the disease. Using Black's animal model consisting of postnatal administration of a nitric oxide synthase inhibitor, it has been reported an alteration in behavioral tests and permanent dysfunction of neurotensin system that influence Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase response to neurotensin [53, 54].

It should be noted that neurotensin and somatostatin are implicated in schizophrenia since both peptides can regulate neurotransmitter systems related to schizophrenia. Neurotensin is also involved in the antipsychotic agents' mechanism of action [55, 56]. Dopamine and neurotensin are colocalized in some mesencephalic neurons, which project to the prefrontal cortex, a brain area devoid of dopamine and intrinsic neurotensin, but whose fibers are stained by tyrosine hydroxylase, a catecholamine marker, in the deep layers of the prefrontal cortex. These fibers also exhibit the presence of NTi (neurotensin-like immunoreactivity) determined by radioimmunoassay [57, 58]. Many lines of evidence demonstrated that neurotensin particularly exerts a direct regulation of midbrain dopamine neuron activity. It is known that neurotensin can increase dopamine turnover in the terminal fields of the mesolimbicmesocortical pathways [10]. At nanomolar concentrations, neurotensin decreases the affinity of dopamine agonist binding to subcortical limbic sites. It might be due to intramembrane interaction between neurotensin and dopamine receptors. Moreover, using electrophysiological techniques applied to a culture of dopaminergic neurons, it has been enabled to prove a bidirectional interaction between the D2 receptor and NTS1 [59]. Neurotensin acting through NTS1 [56] receptors can reduce the function of D2 autoreceptors due to PKC and a calcium-dependent mechanism [60]. Likewise, prior activation of D2 receptors also reduces the ability of NTS1 to induce intracellular calcium mobilization [61]. The functional interaction between dopamine and neurotensin is also carried out by the formation of heteromers. It

has been reported that expression of the dopamine D2 long (D2L) receptor and neurotensin receptor subtype NTS1 leads to physical interaction and the formation of heteromers in transfected human embryonic kidney cells and at the striatum cells [62–64]. In testing dopamine receptor agonists, partial agonists, and antagonists, it has been possible to establish different ligand-binding profiles and heteromerization based on functional selectivity; thus in the presence of neurotensin, the agonist FAU 326 displayed a 34-fold decrease of binding affinity in cells co-expressing D2L and NTS1 [62].

The intracerebroventricular administration of neurotensin to rats produces a neuroleptic-like effect, and neurotensin blocks dopamine hyperactivity due to psychostimulants when it is directly microinjected into the nucleus accumbens. However, neurotensin fails to induce catalepsy in rats and produces a decrease in stereotyped inhalation caused by dopamine stimulant drugs, leading to the hypothesis that neurotensin may behave pharmacologically like an atypical antipsychotic agent [65].

Neurotensin regulates serotonin release through the involvement of the high-affinity neurotensin receptor (NTS1), not associated with serotonin terminals, in the rat frontal cortex, striatum, and hippocampus slices [66]. Neurotensin has been located on the nerve terminals of the raphe nuclei. In the dorsal raphe nucleus, neurotensin induces an increase in the firing rate of a subpopulation of serotonin neurons while in the nucleus ventral part, the neurotensin induces excitation, which is selectively blocked by the non-peptide neurotensin receptor antagonist SR 48692 [67]. The activation of serotonergic neurons by an experimental acute sound stress enhances the stress activation of the median raphe nucleus; this effect is attenuated by endogenous neurotensin and unmasked by NT antagonist SR48692 [68].

Neurotensin is a mediator of the antipsychotic effects due to the dopaminergic neurotransmission modulation [69]. Prepulse inhibition is a robust operational measure of sensorimotor gating that is deficient in schizophrenics. Thus, using neurotensin null mice has shown that PPI is not reversed by haloperidol or olanzapine, indi-

cating that the elevation of neurotensin by antipsychotic agents is significantly involved in their action [70].

It is worth noting that striatal induction of neurotensin by both haloperidol and olanzapine confirms the results of previous single-gene studies that reported enhanced neurotensin mRNA and peptide release in response to typical and atypical antipsychotics [71]. Na+, K+-ATPase is inhibited by neurotensin through the NTS1 receptor interaction. Acute administration of haloperidol prevents the enzyme inhibition by neurotensin in cortical and striatal membranes due to a desensitization phenomenon. Differently, acute clozapine administration stimulates cortical enzyme activity by neurotensin. However, the acute administration of antipsychotics does not alter Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase basal activity suggesting that antipsychotic administration only modifies the neurotensin neurotransmission [72, 73]. Neurotensin antagonizes the prepulse inhibition (PPI) disruption produced by dizocilpine, an effect that is prevented by the neurotensin antagonist, 142948A. These facts demonstrate that the neurotensin interaction with NTS1 receptors presents antipsychotic-like properties [74]. The use of immunofluorescence histochemistry technique allows demonstrating the coexistence between glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD) and tyrosine hydroxylase as well as the presence of neurotensin and galanin in cell bodies in the arcuate nucleus [75].

The ability of neurotensin to increase GABA levels in the prefrontal cortex is also blocked by pre-treatment with NTS1 antagonist SR 48692. This finding is consistent with the observation that NTS1 is localized in GABAergic interneurons in the prefrontal cortex, particularly in parvalbumin-containing interneurons [76]. The methylazoxy-methanol acetate (MAM)-treated rats induce a reduction in the expression of parvalbumin (PV)-containing interneurons. Hence, a decrease in intrinsic GABAergic signaling may be the cause of the prefrontal cortex hypo-functionality of the hippocampus in schizophrenia [77].

Since neurotensin establishes relationships with other altered neurotransmitter systems in schizophrenia, it was thought that neurotensin receptor agonists could represent a novel class of antipsychotic agents [78]. Although neurotensin analogs have been shown to be effective in schizophrenia models, clinical studies showed no significant results [79]. Other research reports that neurokinin receptor antagonists acting on the neuropeptide system may be effective in the treatment of schizophrenia [80]. These contradictory findings have led current lines of research to focus mainly on the anorectic effects, directing the study towards the involvement of neurotensin in diseases such as obesity and diabetes [81].

Somatostatin

Somatostatin has been related to the dopamine system. It is known that dopamine antagonists inhibit somatostatin release and downregulate to somatostatin receptors [82]. In addition, it has been described that D2 and SSTR5 receptors form heterooligomers that reduce the formation of cAMP. Heterooligomerization is understood to be a ligand process initiated either by somatostatin or dopamine [83]. Somatostatin-like immunoreactivity (SLI) is reduced in hippocampus samples of patients with negative symptoms of schizophrenia [84]. Similarly, somatostatin-like immunoreactivity level is decreased in cognitively impaired schizophrenic patients, as in many other disorders with cognitive impairment [85].

Somatostatin-like immunoreactivity (SLI) is reduced in schizophrenics, but they are increased after haloperidol treatment, although this increase is not correlated with a psychopathological improvement [86]. Plasmatic somatostatin is increased in schizophrenic patients predominantly affected with positive symptoms, specially delusion and hallucination [87]. Although a reduction in cortical somatostatin levels has been reported, this reduction might not be due to gender differences in sex, age, or time between death and autopsy [88]. However, another research has found no significant differences in the mean initial somatostatin levels between schizophrenic, nonschizophrenic, and surgical patients [89]. In this sense, it should be noted that the number of patients participating in the study as well as characteristic symptomatology of the pathology could lead to conflicting results.

It is known that MK-801 induces schizophrenialike symptomatology. Therefore MK-801 administration produces the reduction of somatostatin mRNA levels in the prefrontal cortex, posterior cingulate-retrosplenial cortices, and hippocampus. After clozapine but not haloperidol administration, the somatostatin mRNA levels have been restored in these areas [90].

Furthermore, schizophrenia cognitive deficits are associated with a dysfunction of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) resulting, at least in part, from abnormalities in gammaaminobutyric acid (GABA) neurotransmission. Accordingly, alterations in the inhibitory circuitry of the DLPFC in schizophrenia include reduced expression of the mRNA for somatostatin (SST), a neuropeptide present in a subpopulation of GABA neurons [91]. Recent findings indicate that altered DLPFC circuitry in patients reflects changes in gene expression that encodes to presynaptic and postsynaptic components of GABA neurotransmission [92]. In relation to somatostatin receptors, a significant reduction in sst2 receptors in layers 5-6 of the DLPFC pyramidal neurons in schizophrenia has been described [93].

In schizophrenia, functional abnormalities of the hippocampus are not ruled out. Neuroimaging studies have shown that the hippocampus is hyperactive in schizophrenia apparently due to abnormalities in the GABAergic neurotransmission, a reduced number of interneurons, and a marked decrease in the expression of both genes and interneuron proteins positive for somatostatin and parvalbumin [94]. Subsequently, such hyperactivity could be corrected by a transplantation of stem cell-derived interneurons in mice undergoing a schizophrenia model [95]. Moreover, a decrease in the somatostatin immunoreactivity of the amygdala neurons has been reported in schizophrenic and bipolar disorder patients, which has been interpreted as a decrease in the expression of somatostatin and an alteration of fear and anxiety responses [96].

The interneurons connecting the prefrontal cortex with the hippocampus have been extensively studied. Through optogenetic studies that stimulate or inhibit the somatostatin-positive interneurons, it has been observed that they are involved in the cognitive deficits of schizophrenia [97, 98].

Alherz et al. (2017) have reported three basic aspects of the relations between somatostatin and schizophrenia. Firstly, they refer to the changes of somatostatin or somatostatin RNA in different brains using schizophrenia models. Secondly, they analyze the changes in the GABAergic interneurons that contain somatostatin and sst2 receptors and its decrease in a model related to the glutamatergic hypothesis. The association with gamma-band oscillation (GBO) abnormalities which are involved in the schizophrenia cognitive deficits was also analyzed. The generation of GBO is also dependent on the inhibitory action of GABAergic interneurons as well as the activity of NMDARs [99].

Conclusion

This review has attempted to describe the basic and clinical aspects of neuropeptides, neurotensin and somatostatin, and its ability to interact with the main neurotransmission systems altered in schizophrenia, such as the dopaminergic, GABAergic, and glutamatergic systems, and their potential participation as therapeutic agents in mental disorders.

References

- Leake A, Ferrier IN. Alterations in neuropeptides in aging and diseases. Drugs Aging. 1993;3(5):408–27.
- Ferrier IN, Leake A. Peptides in the neocortex in Alzheimer's disease and aging. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 1990;15:89–95.
- Belzung C, Yalcin I, Griebel G, Surget A, Leman S. Neuropeptides in psychiatric diseases: an overview with a particular focus on depression and anxiety disorders. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets. 2006;5(2):135–45.
- Boccia MM, Kopf SR, Baratti CM. Effects of a single administration of oxytocin or vasopressin and their

interactions with two selective receptor antagonists on memory storage in mice. Neurobiol Learn Mem. 1998;69(2):136–46.

- Scantamburlo G, Hansenne M, Fuchs S, Pitchot W, Maréchal P, Pequeux C, Ansseau M, Legros JJ. Plasma oxytocin levels and anxiety in patients with major depression. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2007;32(4):407–10.
- Pellissier LP, Gandía J, Laboute T, Becker JA, Le Merrer J. μ opioid receptor, social behaviour and autism spectrum disorder: reward matters. Br J Pharmacol. 2018;175(14):2750–69.
- Nollet M, Leman S. Role of orexin in the pathophysiology of depression: potential for pharmacological intervention. CNS Drugs. 2013;27(6):411–22.
- Carraway RE, Leeman SE. The isolation of a new hypotensive peptide, neurotensin, from bovine hypothalami. J Biol Chem. 1973;248:6854–61.
- Emson PC, Goedert M, Horsfield P, Rioux F, St Pierre S. The regional distribution and chromatographic characterization on neurotensin-like immunoreactivity in the rat central nervous system. J Neurochem. 1982;38:992–9.
- Shi WX, Bunney BS. Actions of neurotensin: a review of the electrophysiological studies. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1992;668:129–45.
- Seidah NG, Chretien M, Day R. The family of subtilisin/kexin like pro-protein and pro-hormone convertases divergent or shared functions. Biochimie. 1994;76:197–209.
- Kitabgi P, Nemeroff CB. The neurobiology of neurotensin. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1992;668:1–374.
- Carraway RE, Mitra SP. Posttranslational processing of neurotensin/neuromedin N precursor. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1992;668:1–16.
- Checler F, Vincent JP, Kitabgi P. Inactivation of neurotensin by rat brain synaptic membranes partly occurs through cleavage at Arg⁸-Arg⁹ peptide bond by a metallopeptidase. J Neurochem. 1985;45: 1509–13.
- Vincent B, Vincent JP, Checler F. Neurotensin and neuromedin N undergo distinct catabolic processes in murine astrocytes and primary cultured neurons. Eur J Biochem. 1999;22:297–306.
- Young WS, Kuhar MJ. Neurotensin receptor localization by light microscopic autoradiography in rat brain. Brain Res. 1981;206:273–85.
- Tanaka K, Masu M, Nakanishi S. Structure and functional expression of the cloned rat neurotensin receptor. Neuron. 1990;4:847–54.
- Snyder RM, Forray C, Pfenning M, Richelson E. Neurotensin stimulates inositol phospholipid metabolism and calcium mobilization in murine neuroblastoma clone NIE-115. J Neurochem. 1986;47:1214–8.
- Amar S, Mazella J, Checler F, Kitabgi P, Vincent JP. Regulation of cyclic GMP levels by neurotensin in neuroblastoma clone N1E115. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1985;129:117–25.

- Amar S, Kitabgi P, Vincent JP. Activation of phosphatidylinositol turnover by neurotensin receptors in the human colonic adenocarcinoma cell line HT29. FEBS Lett. 1986;201:31–6.
- Turner JT, James-Krader MR, Camden JM. Regulation of the neurotensin receptor and intracellular calcium mobilization in HT29 cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 1990;253:1049–56.
- 22. Poinot- Chazel C, Portier M, Bouaboula M, Vita N, Pecceu F, Gully D, Monroe JG, Maffrand JP, LeFur G, Casellas P. Activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase couples neurotensin receptor stimulation to induction of the primary response gene krox-24. Biochem J. 1996;320:145–51.
- Dobner PR. Multitasking with neurotensin in the central nervous system. Cell Mol Life Sci CMLS. 2005;62(17):1946–63.
- Dicou E, Vincent JP, Mazella J. Neurotensin receptor-3/sortilin mediates neurotensin-induced cytokine/chemokine expression in a murine microglial cell line. J Neurosci Res. 2004;78(1):92–9.
- 25. Del Farra C, Sarret P, Navarro V, Botto JM, Mazella J, Vincent JP. Involvement of the neurotensin receptor subtype NTR3 in the growth effect of neurotensin on cancer cell lines. Int J Cancer. 2001;92:503.
- 26. Chabry J, Labbé-Jullié C, Gully D, Kitabgi P, Vincent JP, Mazella J. Stable expression of cloned rat brain neurotensin receptor into fibroblast: binding properties, photo affinity labeling, transduction mechanism and internalization. J Neurochem. 1994;63:19–27.
- Botto JM, Chabry J, Sarret P, Vincent JP, Mazella J. Stable expression of the mouse levocabastinesensitive neurotensin receptor in HEK 293 cell line: binding properties, photo affinity labeling and internalization. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1998;243:585–90.
- Chabry J, Botto JM, Nouel D, Beaudet A, Vincent JP, Mazella J. Thr-422 and Tyr-424 residues in the carboxyl terminus are critical for the internalization of the rat neurotensin receptor. J Biol Chem. 1995;270:2439–42.
- Beaudet A, Mazella J, Nouel D, Chabry J, Castel MN, Laduron P, Kitabgi P, Faure MP. Internalization and intracellular mobilization of neurotensin in neuronal cells. Biochem Pharmacol. 1994;47:43–52.
- 30. Najimi M, Gailly P, Maloteaux JM, Hermans E. Distinct regions of C-terminus of the high affinity neurotensin receptor mediate the functional coupling with pertussis toxin sensitive and insensitive G-proteins. FEBS Lett. 2002;13;512(1–3):329–33.
- Bai M. Dimerization of G-protein-coupled receptors: roles in signal transduction. Cell Signal. 2004;16:175–86.
- 32. Perron A, Sharif N, Sarret P, Stroh T, Beaudet A. NTS2 modulates the intracellular distribution and trafficking of NTS1 via heterodimerization. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2007;353:582–90.
- Evers BM. Neurotensin and growth of normal and neoplastic tissues. Peptides. 2006;27:2424–33.

- Navarro V, Martin S, Mazella J. Internalizationdependent regulation of HT29 cell proliferation by neurotensin. Peptides. 2006;27:2502–7.
- Goedert M, Pinnock D, Downes CP, Mantyh PW, Emson PC. Neurotensin stimulates inositol phospholipid hydrolysis in rat brain slices. Brain Res. 1984;323:193–7.
- 36. Najimi M, Robert JJ, Mallet J, Rostène W, Forgez P. Neurotensin induces tyrosine hydroxylase gene activation through nitric oxide and protein kinase C signaling pathways. Mol Pharmacol. 2002;62:647–53.
- Rowe WB, Kar S, Meaney MJ, Quirion R. Neurotensin receptor levels as a function of brain aging and cognitive performance in the Morris water maze task in the rat. Peptides. 2006;27:2415–23.
- Lopez Ordieres MG. Rodriguez de Lores Arnaiz G. Neurotensin in central neurotransmission. In: Rodriguez de Lores Arnaiz G, editor. Functions of neuropeptides at central nervous system. Trivandrum: Research Singpost; 2009. p. 1–30.
- Feifel D, Reza TL, Wustrow DJ, Davis MD. Novel antipsychotic-like effects on prepulse inhibition of startle produced by a neurotensin agonist. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 1999;288:710–3.
- 40. Cusack B, Boules M, Tyler BM, Fauq A, McCormick DJ, Richelson E. Effects of a novel neurotensin peptide analog given extracranially on CNS behaviors mediated by apomorphine and haloperidol. Brain Res. 2000;856:48–54.
- Brazeau P, Gullemin R. Editorial: somatostatin: newcomer from the hypothalamus. N Engl J Med. 1974;290(17):963–4.
- 42. Patel Y. A high molecular weight form of Somatostatin-28(1-12)-like immunoreactive substance without Somatostatin-14 immunoreactivity in the rat pancreas. J Clin Invest. 1983;72:2137–43.
- Epelbaum J, Dournaud P, Fodor M, Viollet C. The neurobiology of somatostatin. Crit Rev Neurobiol. 1994;8(1–2):25–44.
- 44. I S, Schindler M, Allen JP, Humphrey PP, Emson PC. Advances in understanding neuronal somatostatin receptors. Regul Pept. 2000;90(1–3):1–18.
- Schvulz S, Händel M, Schreff M, Schmidt H, Höllt V. Localization of five somatostatin receptors in the rat central nervous system using subtype-specific antibodies. J Physiol Paris. 2000;94(3–4):259–64.
- Ishibashi H, Akaike N. Somatostatin modulates high-voltage-activated Ca²⁺ channels in freshly dissociated rat hippocampal neurons. J Neurophysiol. 1995;74(3):1028–36.
- Chiu TH, Wu TH, Yeh MH. Effects of somatostatin-28 on rat locus coeruleus neurons. Chin J Physiol. 1994;37(2):97–102.
- Strowski MZ, Blake AD. Function and expression of somatostatin receptors of the endocrine pancreas. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2008;286(1–2):169–79.
- 49. Reisine T. Somatostatin. Cell Mol Neurobiol. 1995;15(6):597–614.
- 50. Mueser KT, Mc Gurk SR. Schizophrenia. Lancet. 2004;363:2063–72.

- San Juan Arias J. Evolutionary theories of schizophrenia. Claves de Psiquiatria. 2007;2(3):3–9.
- Gargiulo PA, Landa De Gargiulo AI. Glutamate and modeling of schizophrenia symptoms: review of our findings: 1990–2014. Pharmacol Rep. 2014;66(3):343–52.
- Black MD, Selk DE, Hitchcock JM, et al. On the effect ofneonatal nitric oxide synthase inhibition in rats: a potential neurodevelopmental model of schizophrenia. Neuropharmacology. 1999;38:1299–306.
- López Ordieres MG, Álvarez-Juliá A, Kemmling A, Rodríguez de Lores Arnaiz G. Postnatal nitric oxide inhibition modifies neurotensin effect on ATPase activity. Neurochem Res. 2011;36(12):2278–86.
- 55. Gariano RF, Groves PM. A mechanism for the involvement of colocalized neuropeptides in the actions of antipsychotic drugs. Biol Psychiatry. 1989;26(3):303–14.
- 56. Binder EB, Kinkead B, Owens MJ, Nemeroff CB. The role of neurotensin in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia and the mechanism of action of antipsychotic drugs. Biol Psychiatry. 2001;50(11):856–72.
- Hökfelt T, Everitt BJ, Theodorsson-Nprheim E, Goldstein M. Occurrence of neurotensinlike immunoreactivity in subpopulations of hypothalamic, mesencephalic, and medullary catecholamine neurons. J Comp Neurol. 1984;222:543–59.
- Seroogy KB, Metha A, Fallon JH. Neurotensin and cholecystokinin coexistence within neurons of the ventral mesencephalon: projections to forebrain. Exp Brain Res. 1987;68:277–89.
- 59. Agnati LF, Fuxe K, Benfenati F, Battistini N. Neurotensin in vitro markedly reduces the affinity in subcortical limbic 3H-Npropylnorapomorphine binding sites. Acta Physiol Scand. 1983;119:459–61.
- 60. Fuxe K, von Euler G, Agnati LF, Merlo Pich E, O'Connor WT, Tanganelli S, Li XM, Tinner B, Cintra A, Carani C, Benfenati F. Intramembrane Interactions between Neurotensin Receptors and Dopamine D2 Receptors as a Major Mechanism for the Neurolepticlike Action of Neurotensin. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1992;668:186–9.
- Jomphe C, Lemelin PL, Okano H, Kobayashi K, Trudeau LE. Bidirectional regulation of dopamine D2 and neurotensin NTS1 receptors in dopamine neurons. Eur J Neurosci. 2006;24(10):2789–800.
- Koschatzky S, Tschammer N, Gmeiner P. Crossreceptor interactions between dopamine D2L and neurotensin NTS1 receptors modulate binding affinities of dopaminergics. ACS Chem Neurosci. 2011;2(6):308–16.
- 63. Borroto-Escuela DO, Pintsuk J, Schäfer T, Friedland K, Ferraro L, Tanganelli S, Liu F, Fuxe K. Multiple D2 heteroreceptor complexes: new targets for treatment of schizophrenia. Ther Adv Psychopharmacol. 2016;6(2):77–94.
- 64. Borroto-Escuela DO, Carlsson J, Ambrogini P, Narváez M, Wydra K, Tarakanov AO, Li X, Millón C, Ferraro L, Cuppini R, Tanganelli S, Liu F, Filip

M, Diaz-Cabiale Z, Fuxe K. Understanding the role of GPCR heteroreceptor complexes in modulating the brain networks in health and disease. Front Cell Neurosci. 2017;11:37.

- Jolicoeur FB, Gagné MA, Rivest R, Drumheller A, St-Pierre S. Atypical neuroleptic-like behavioral effects of neurotensin. Brain Res Bull. 1993;32(5):487–91.
- 66. Héaulme M, Leyris R, Soubrié P, Le Fur G. Stimulation by neurotensin of (3H) 5-hydroxytryptamine (5HT) release from rat frontal cortex slices. Neuropeptides. 1998;32:465–71.
- Jolas T, Aghajanian GK. Neurotensin and the serotonergic system. Prog Neurobiol. 1997;52:455–68.
- Corley KC, Phan TH, Daugherty WP, Boadle-Biber MC. Stress-induced activation of median raphe serotonergic neurons in rats is potentiated by the neurotensin antagonist, SR 48692. Neurosci Lett. 2002;319:1–4.
- Boules M, Fredrickson P, Richelson E. Neurotensin agonists as an alternative to antipsychotics. Expert Opin Investig Drugs. 2005;14(4):359–69.
- 70. Kinkead B, Dobner PR, Egnatashvili V, Murray T, Deitemeyer N, Nemeroff CB. Neurotensindeficient mice have deficits in prepulse inhibition: restoration by clozapine but not haloperidol, olanzapine, or quetiapine. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2005;315(1):256–64.
- Binder EB, Kinkead B, Owens MJ, Nemeroff CB. Neurotensin and dopamine interactions. Pharmacol Rev. 2001;53(4):453–86.
- López Ordieres MG, de Lores R, Arnaiz G. The inhibitory effect of neurotensin on synaptosomal membrane Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase is altered by antipsychotic administration. Regul Pept. 2005;129:177–82.
- López Ordieres MG, Rodríguez de Lores Arnaiz G. Neurotensin inhibits neuronal Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity through high affinity peptide receptor. Peptides. 2000;21:571–6.
- 74. Cáceda R, Kinkead B, Owens MJ, Nemeroff CB. Virally mediated increased neurotensin 1 receptor in the nucleus accumbens decreases behavioral effects of mesolimbic system activation. J Neurosci. 2005;25(50):11748–56.
- 75. Meister B, Hökfelt T. Peptide- and transmittercontaining neurons in the mediobasal hypothalamus and their relation to GABAergic systems: possible roles in control of prolactin and growth hormone secretion. Synapse. 1988;2:585.605.
- Petrie KA, Schmidt D, Bubser M, Fadel J, Carraway RE, Deutch AY. Neurotensin activates GABAergic interneurons in the prefrontal cortex. J Neurosci. 2005;25(7):1629–36.
- 77. Lodge AP, Langmead CJ, Daniel G, Anderson GW, Werry TD. Performance of mouse neural stem cells as a screening reagent: characterization of PAC1 activity in medium-throughput functional assays. J Biomol Screen. 2010;15(2):159–68.

- Kinkead B, Nemeroff CB. Novel treatments of schizophrenia: targeting the neurotensin system. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets. 2006;5(2):205–18.
- Griebel G. Neuropeptide receptor ligands for the treatment of schizophrenia: focus on neurotensin and tachykinins. Curr Pharm Des. 2015;21(26):3807–12.
- Cáceda R, Kinkead B, Nemeroff C. Involvement of neuropeptide systems in schizophrenia: human studies. Int Rev Neurobiol. 2007;78:327–76.
- Schroeder LE, Leinninger GM. Role of central neurotensin in regulating feeding: Implications for the development and treatment of body weight disorders. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol basis Dis. 2018;1864(3):900–16.
- 82. Rodríguez-Sánchez MN, Puebla L, López-Sañudo S, Rodríguez-Martín E, Martín-Espinosa A, Rodríguez-Pena MS, et al. Dopamine enhances somatostatin receptor-mediated inhibition of adenylate cyclase in rat striatum and hippocampus. J Neurosci Res. 1997;48(3):238–48.
- Rocheville M, Lange DC, Kumar U, Patel SC, Patel RC, Patel YC. Receptors for dopamine and somatostatin: formation of hetero-oligomers with enhanced functional activity. Science. 2000;288(5463):154–7.
- 84. Ferrier IN, Roberts GW, Crow TJ, Johnstone EC, Owens DG, Lee YC, O'Shaughnessy D, Adrian TE, Polak JM, Bloom SR. Reduced cholecystokinin-like and somatostatin-like immunoreactivity in limbic lobe is associated with negative symptoms in schizophrenia. Life Sci. 1983;33(5):475–82.
- 85. Reinikainen KJ, Koponen H, Jolkkonen J, Riekkinen PJ. Decreased somatostatin-like immunoreactivity in the cerebrospinal fluid of chronic schizophrenic patients with cognitive impairment. Psychiatry Res. 1986;17(1):1–6.
- Gattaz WF, Rissler K, Gattaz D, Cramer H. Effects of haloperidol on somatostatin-like immunoreactivity in the CSF of schizophrenic patients. Psychiatry Res. 1990;33(3):307–12.
- Sáiz-Ruiz J, Carrasco JL, Martín M, Manzanares J, Hernanz A. Plasmatic somatostatin as a marker of positive symptoms of schizophrenia. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 1992;16(2):203–10.
- Nemeroff CB, Youngblood WW, Manberg PJ, Prange AJ Jr, Kizer JS. Regional brain concentrations of neuropeptides in Huntington's chorea and schizophrenia. Science. 1983;221(4614):972–5.
- Heikkilä J, Jalava A, Eriksson K. The selective protein kinase C inhibitor GF 109203X inhibits phorbol esterinduced morphological and functional differentiation of SH-SY5Y human neuroblastoma cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1993;197(3):1185–93.
- 90. Arif M, Ahmed MM, Kumabe Y, Hoshino H, Chikuma T, Kato T. Clozapine but not haloperidol suppresses the changes in the levels of neuropeptides in MK-801-treated rat brain regions. Neurochem Int. 2006;49(3):304–11.

- Morris HM, Hashimoto T, Lewis DA. Alterations in somatostatin mRNA expression in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex of subjects with schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder. Cereb Cortex. 2008;18(7):1575–87.
- 92. Lewis DA, Hashimoto T, Morris HM. Cell and receptor type-specific alterations in markers of GABA neurotransmission in the prefrontal cortex of subjects with schizophrenia. Neurotox Res. 2008;14(2–3):237–48.
- Beneyto M, Morris HM, Rovensky KC, Lewis DA. Lamina- and cell-specific alterations in cortical somatostatin receptor 2 mRNA expression in schizophrenia. Neuropharmacology. 2012;62(3):1598–605.
- Heckers S, Konradi C. GABAergic mechanisms of hippocampal hyperactivity in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res. 2015;167(1–3):4–1.
- 95. Donegan JJ, Tyson JA, Branch SY, Beckstead MJ, Anderson SA, Lodge DJ. Stem cell-derived interneuron transplants as a treatment for schizophrenia: preclinical validation in a rodent model. Mol Psychiatry. 2017;22(10):1492–501.

- 96. Pantazopoulos H, Wiseman JT, Markota M, Ehrenfeld L, Berretta S. Decreased numbers of Somatostatinexpressing neurons in the amygdala of subjects with bipolar disorder or schizophrenia: relationship to circadian rhythms. Biol Psychiatry. 2017;81(6):536–47.
- Volk DW, Lewis DA. Prenatal ontogeny as a susceptibility period for cortical GABA neuron disturbances in schizophrenia. Neurosci. 2013;248:154–64.
- Nieh EH, Kim SY, Namburi P, Tye KM. Optogenetic dissection of neural circuits underlying emotional valence and motivated behaviors. Brain Res. 2013;1511:73–92.
- Alherz F, Alherz M, Almusawi H. NMDAR hypofunction and somatostatin-expressing GABAergic interneurons and receptors: a newly identified correlation and its effects in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res Cogn. 2017;8:1–6.



8

Mechanisms of Action of Anxiolytics

Michel Bourin

Introduction

Anxiety and stress disorders are a major public health issue. However, their pathophysiology is still unclear. Given the complexity of the different types of anxiety and that the anxious behavior is regulated by a network of brain regions, addressing the mechanism of action of antianxiety medication is an important challenge. While there are similarities between symptomatological generalized anxiety, panic disorder, and social anxiety, biological and genetic determinants seem to be of a different nature [1].

Regulation abnormalities of neurobiological substrates are widespread and various including serotonin, GABA, glutamate, and also the autonomic nervous system, the hypothalamicpituitary axis, and various neuropeptides such as cholecystokinin, substance P, galanin, etc.

Studies exploring the pharmacological properties of the different subunits have led to a better knowledge of the interaction between benzodiazepine-sensitive GABAA receptor subtypes and more or less specific ligands.

Furthermore, although the medical imaging furthers our understanding of the neurobiology of anxiety, animal models, achieved by utilizing transgenic animals in which specific receptors or

M. Bourin (🖂)

subunits are mutated or knocked out, proved to be determining in explaining the mechanisms of action of anxiolytics.

The Amygdala and the Brain Circuit of Fear

The amygdala is the cornerstone of neuroanatomical models of fear and anxiety [2]. Several studies have in fact demonstrated the importance of the amygdala in the manifestation of anxiety disorders in humans. The volume of the amygdala (left) is reduced in children suffering from anxiety disorders [3], and this region is more activated when presenting photos of spiders to individuals with a specific phobia or during the presentation of photos of contexts or unhealthy objects to patients suffering from obsessivecompulsive disorder [4]. Increased amygdala activity has also been observed during the viewing of war photos by veterans with post-traumatic stress disorder [5].

A work in particular has made it possible to clarify the role of the complex amygdala (the amygdala has more than a dozen structurally and functionally different nuclei) in the conditioning of fear [6] (Fig. 18.1).

In these experiments, rats are exposed to a visual (light) or auditory signal (short tone) which is immediately followed by an electric shock from the metal floor. The animal quickly

Neurobiology of Anxiety and Mood Disorder, Faculty of Medicine, University of Nantes, Nantes, France e-mail: michel.bourin@univ-nantes.fr

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_18





associates the neutral stimulus (light or sound) with the aversive stimulus (shock) and manifests a deep tonic rigidity – freezing – when it perceives light or sound. This apprehension can last several seconds or even a few seconds.

In addition, if the electrical discharge is replaced by a sound stimulus, there is an exaggerated motor reaction (startle) in the animal. Thanks to this relatively simple procedure, the researchers mapped the neural circuits responsible for this conditioning. These circuits, too complex to be detailed here, mainly involve not only the amygdala but also the thalamus (a gateway to sensory information and an important integrating center of brain activity), the hypothalamus (a regulatory center of the release of several hormones), the central gray substance (a structure of the brainstem and freezing center), the hippocampus (a structure responsible for memory formation), and two cortical regions, the prefrontal cortex and the anterior cingulate cortex (or cingulum), both involved in the control of emotions and social behavior. In vivo observations of human brain activity have also shown the activation of these brain regions during the processing of fear-conniving stimuli. The prefrontal cortex plays an important role in inhibiting the activity

of subcortical regions and inappropriate behavioral responses [7].

GABAergic System and Anxiety

The gamma-amino acid butyric acid (GABA) neurochemical system has been strongly implicated in their pathogenesis and treatment by numerous preclinical and clinical studies, the most recent of which have been highlighted and critically reviewed [8]. Changes in cortical GABA appear related to normal personality styles and responses to stress. While there is accumulating animal and human neuroimaging evidence of cortical and subcortical GABA deficits across a number of anxiety conditions, a clear pattern of findings in specific brain regions for a given disorder is yet to emerge. Neuropsychiatric conditions with anxiety as a clinical feature may have GABA deficits as an underlying feature. Different classes of anxiolytic therapies support GABA function, and this may be an area in which newer GABA neuroimaging techniques could soon offer more personalized therapy. Novel GABAergic pharmacotherapies in development offer potential improvements over current therapies in


Fig. 18.2 Schematic GABAA receptor

reducing sedative and physiologic dependency effects while offering rapid anxiolysis [9].

By their allosteric modulation, GABAA receptors serve as control elements through which the level of anxiety, alertness, muscle tension, and epileptogenic threshold can be regulated. GABAA receptors with benzodiazepine (BZD) functional sites exist in the rat brain when γ 2 subunits are expressed [10].

However, these receptors are not able to participate in the opening of the chlorine channel. The presence of multiple GABAA receptors in the brain may contribute to synaptic plasticity, GABAergic neuron response differences, and variation in drug activity profile. Thus, much research continues to be undertaken to find new agonists specific for BZD receptor subtypes.

Evidence is that GABAA receptor function is disrupted in anxiety and that patients respond poorly to BZDs. Furthermore, a genetic inactivation of 5-HT1A receptors in knockout mice for this receptor results in the downregulation of GABAA receptor alpha subunits, a decrease in GABA binding, and resistance of these mice to the anxiolytic activity of GABA receptors. (Fig. 18.2). These changes have been brought closer to an abnormal expression of the alpha subunit in the amygdala and hippocampus.

The inverse agonists of the BZD receptor are anxiogenic. Thus, FG 7142 administered to healthy volunteers induces anxiety accompanied by vegetative symptoms including cardiovascular; this action would be via the BZD receptor because the symptoms are antagonized by the BZDs. Studies using low doses of BZDs have shown increased attention in healthy volunteers, suggesting that in this case BZDs such as lorazepam or alprazolam [11] may have partial agonist properties (Fig. 18.3).

Flumazenil, which has an affinity for the BZD receptor comparable to more affective BZDs, does not alter GABAergic transmission and induces panic attacks in patients. One of the hypotheses of the patient which had abnormal sensitivity: in this case, flumazenil would not be an antagonist but an inverse agonist. This modification of sensitivity of BZDs could also be involved in withdrawal and tolerance phenomena [12].

Although inverse agonist-induced activity and BZD-induced anxiolysis appear to be a direct

consequence of GABAergic transmission, it would be simplistic to say that anxiety disorders result from primary alteration of the GABAA/ channel chlorine complex. Indeed, in humans, the GABA mimetic substances do not show frank anxiolytic activity (tiagabine, gabapentin) (Fig. 18.4) [13]. Thus, the role of GABA in anxiety would be rather indirect. There are indeed









interactions with the noradrenergic system at the locus coeruleus and with the serotonergic system at raphe, which could explain the activity of some antidepressants in the treatment of generalized anxiety. On the other hand, the anxiety-reducing activity and the decrease in serotonin turnover induced by BZDs were maintained over repeated doses in an animal model of anxiety [14]. Anxiolytic effects of BZDs were neutralized by intravenous serotonin.

Role of the Serotoninergic System

According to several animal studies, an increase in 5-HT transmission would be likely to lead to anxiety, whereas a reduction would attenuate it [15].

Considering the involvement of 5 HT1A, 5 HT2, and 5 HT3 receptor subtypes in the pathophysiology of anxiety, they should be considered as a key target for anxiolytics. m-Chlorophenyl piperazine (mCPP), which is direct-acting at 5 HT1 and 5-HT2 receptors, induced anxiety in humans. This occurs both in healthy patients and panickers [16]. Therapeutic investigations, using indirect serotonergic agonists such as 5-hydroxytryptophan (5-HTP), clomipramine, and fluvoxamine that act as serotonin reuptake inhibitors, revealed biphasic responses resulting in improvement following the initial symptom exacerbation. Serotonin increase leads to anxiety.

5-HT1A Receptors

The 5-HT1A receptor is involved in anxiety disorders. Indeed, within the azapirones family (buspirone, gepirone, ipsapirone, tandospirone, and zalospirone) that acts as 5-HT1a partial agonists are anxiolytics. Buspirone is the only substance to be marketed for the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder. However, buspirone has a long onset of action and appears not to be sufficiently effective in anxiety disorders, including panic disorder [17]. Other 5HT receptor agonists, such as ipsapirone, gepirone, tandospirone, and flesinoxan, exhibit anxiolytic activity; how-

ever, to exert this therapeutic effect, these substances require higher daily levels and could have significant adverse effects. Quetiapine, an antipsychotic, exhibits anxiolytic activity on the Vogel test (considered as an anxiety test in rats), due to its partial agonistic 5HT1A [18]. The 5HT receptor agonists have been suggested to reduce anxiety as an agonist at 5-HT1a on the somatodendritic autoreceptors, antagonist activity at postsynaptic receptors, or by a combination of both mechanisms.

The involvement of 5-HT1A receptor in modulation of anxiety behaviors is supported by other studies using 5-HT1A knockout mice that showed an increase in anxious behavior in several animal models [19, 20]. The effects of selective 5-HT1A receptors ligands have been extensively studied in a variety of animal behaviors. 5-HT1A partial agonists (buspirone, ipsapirone, gepirone) and full 5-HT1A agonists have been shown to induce an anxiolytic-like effect. Furthermore, anxiolytic-like effects of antagonists of 5-HT1A receptors were reported in the light/dark test (L/D) and the elevated plus maze (EPM). However, negative results have also been reported in the light/dark test and the Vogel conflict test (where drinking behavior is punished by electric shocks). These conflicting results have been linked to either a pre- or postsynaptic stimulation, to a different anatomical location of these receptors, or to the animal model used.

5-HT2A Receptors

Preliminary research studies involving the 5-HT2 receptors in anxiety have used nonselective 5-HT2A/2C antagonists (most studies used ritanserin or ketanserin). Studies showed that the administration of ketanserin, trazodone, pirenperone, and spiperone reduced the aversion induced at the periaqueductal gray [21] and, thus, is in accordance with clinical data. However, many of these molecules have an affinity for dopaminergic, alpha-adrenergic, histaminergic, or 5-HT1 receptors; moreover, there are few studies on these neurotransmitters' interaction. This antagonistic effect alone is not sufficient to explain their anxiolytic properties. A plethora of studies using ketanserin or ritanserin showed results, ranging from an anxiolytic effect to anxiety-provoking or no effect. The emergence of 5HT2A receptor antagonists could elucidate the role of this receptor subtype in anxiety [22].

A few studies have closely examined the effects of the 5-HT2A receptor antagonists, probably due to the lack of available selective ligands and strong interest in blocking the 5-HT2A receptors. Serazepine is among the various compounds with antagonistic properties for the 5-HT2A receptors evaluated in clinical studies and proved to be effective in generalized anxiety [23]; deramciclane is also studied in several clinical trials [24]. Cyamemazine, an atypical antipsychotic, is widely used as an anxiolytic and has been found to have a 5HT2A agonist action [25].

5-HT2B Receptors

The demonstration of the involvement of the 5-HT2B receptor in anxiety has been hampered by the lack of detection of this receptor in the rat brain and low detection in mouse and human brains [26]. However, the identification of the expression of the 5-HT2B receptor in the rat CNS, especially in areas involved in anxiety (amygdala, hippocampus, and hypothalamus), is driving a renewed interest in the exploration of its effects in animal models. Recent findings suggest that 5-HT2B receptor can mediate anticonflict activity in those tests. SB 206553 also increased the percentage of time spent on the open arms and the total number of entries into the arms in the EPM in the rat; however, it has no effect in two experimental models in mice. The discovery of anxiolytic effect of BW 723C86, a potent 5-HT2B receptor agonist, in EPM in the rat [26], has led to assess the involvement of this receptor subtype in animals' models of anxiety. However, clinical trials cannot be carried out on humans.

In fact, compounds such as norfenfluramine which is the common metabolite of fenfluramine and benfluorex induced valvulopathies in humans [27].

5-HT_{2C} Receptors

Clinical studies have shown that mCPP could induce anxiety symptoms in healthy volunteers. mCPP increases also panic attacks in patients with panic disorder and obsessive symptoms in patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. These early studies suggest an involvement of this receptor subtype in anxiety control [28].

However, it must be emphasized that mCPP exhibits an affinity for several receptor subtypes including 5-HT1B/1D/2A/2B, and moreover, it can act as 5-HT2B agonist or 5-HT2B antagonist. 5-HT2C receptor blockade may prevent some of the anxiety-inducing effects of mCPP in the rat. The nonspecific 5-HT receptor antagonists, mianserin, cyproheptadine, and metergoline, have been shown to block the anxiogenic effects of mCPP in the rat. Since the stimulation of 5-HT2C receptors induces an anxiogenic response, it was expected that blocking these receptors may induce anxiolytic effects. Several 5-HT1C receptor antagonists (old classification of this receptor subtype) such as mianserin, 1-naphthylpipérazine, ICI 169369, pizotifène, and LY 53857 increased the time spent in active social interactions in the rat (predictive anxiolytic test). Regulation of anxiety involves 5-HT 2C receptor. Indeed, 5-HT2c receptor knockout mice exhibit an apparent reduced anxiety revealed by open-field test and "zero maze" [29]. The involvement of the 5-HT2C receptor in anxiety disorders is also supported by its central distribution. Several intracerebral administrations of 5-HT2C agonists or antagonists support their role in anxiety depending on the explored structure [30].

Because of the conflicting results obtained with the 5-HT2 receptor ligands (anxiolytic, anxiogenic, or no effect) whether in spontaneous models or conditioned models, there is confusion over the precise role of 5-HT in anxiety disorders (increased or decreased neurotransmission) and a lack of clinical implications and declining research of the possible role of this receptor in anxiety. However, the extensive therapeutic use of compounds which act by modulating serotonergic neurotransmission, specifically selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), in the treatment of anxiety disorders has increased the therapeutic importance of this neurotransmission system. It was suggested that the clinically active anxiolytics act through 5-HT2 receptors. In an instance, antidepressants exhibit affinity for 5-HT2 receptors and share the ability to regulate the binding ligands of the 5-HT2 receptors. Long-lasting administration of SSRIs and IMAOs results in 5-HT2 receptor desensitization. Some of the effects resulting in long-term administration of SSRIs and IMAOs and the behavior related to anxiety may involve desensitization mechanism. Recent studies indicate that discriminant effects of IRSSs may involve one of the components of the 5-HT 2A/2C, suggesting that there could play a significant role relating to some of the effects of this class of molecules in the CNS [31]. Several antipsychotics also exhibit affinity for the 5-HT2 receptor and act as 5-HT2 antagonist or 5-HT2 inverse agonist which may contribute to their anxiolytic effects [32]. It appears that the use of 5-HT2C antagonists in the treatment of anxiety is fairly obvious [33].

5-HT3 Receptors

Identification of 5-HT3 receptor was soon followed by the synthesis of 5-HT3 receptor antagonists (ondansetron, zacopride, zatosetron) and their evaluation in several animal models of anxiety [34]. The most convincing evidence (anxiolytic-like properties) of 5-HT3 receptor antagonists has been discovered in the dark/light test in mice. Several 5-HT3 receptor antagonists (especially ondansetron) have been investigated clinically as an effective therapeutic tool for anxiety disorders. However, the results have been disappointing; this led to a decrease in the interest regarding investigations into the pharmacology of these receptors. Nevertheless, it has been suggested that compounds acting as 5-HT3 receptor antagonist and exhibiting significant affinity for a variety of other receptors or using an alternative mechanism (such as reuptake inhibitors) may be beneficial in anxiety and offering a new line of research. Two subtypes of 5-HT3 receptor were identified, 5-HT3A and 5HT3B [35]. Anxiolyticlike behavior was investigated in 5-HT3A knockout mice. The dark/light test has revealed decreased anxiolytic-like behavior, and this correlated with the results obtained with 5-HT3 receptor antagonists [36]. In the dark/light test, 5-HT3A knockout mice have spent more time in the light compartment compared to control animals. It was also noted an increase in the total number of entries into the arms in the EPM in the mice. These findings suggest that the 5-HT3A receptor may be involved in anxiety disorders. Progress in the field of chemistry development of specific ligands should be made with a view to verifying this hypothesis. More recently, it has been shown that 5HT3 antagonism could help manage the fear and emotions in humans [37].

5-HT2 Receptors and the GABAergic System

The 5-HT2A receptors were found on GABAergic neurons in several brain regions [38]. Furthermore, it has been shown that GABAergic interneurons of the cortex express 5HT2A receptors. In the piriform cortex, the 5-HT2A receptors are present on GABAergic interneurons localized in layers II and III while the 5-HT2C receptors are located on the pyramidal cells.

Anatomical studies have revealed the expression of mRNA 5-HT2A and 5-HT2C subtype receptors in interneurons of CA1 region in the hippocampus. Serotonin appears to increase GABAergic synaptic transmission in the CA1 region through the activation of presynaptic 5-HT2 receptors. The choroid plexus expresses both the GABA receptors and large numbers of 5-HT2C receptors. Distribution of GABAA receptors and 5-HT2C receptors in the CNS indicates that these receptors may coexist in other areas of the CNS such as the telencephalon, diencephalon, midbrain, pons, medulla, and cerebellum. Serotonin appears to modulate GABAergic function in the ventral tegmental area (VTA). In VTA, 5-HT2A receptors are present on nondopaminergic dendrites and presumably on GABAergic neurons. Recent data indicate that activation of 5-HT2C depolarizes non-dopaminergic

neurons, presumably GABAergic cells in the AVT which, in turn, inhibit the release and subsequent release of transmitters from dopaminergic neurons [39].

Glutamatergic System and Anxiety

Glutamate, the primary excitatory neurotransmitter in the central nervous system (CNS), exerts neuromodulator actions via the activation of metabotropic glutamate (mGlu) receptors. There are eight known mGlu receptor subtypes (mGlu1-8), which are widely expressed throughout the brain and are divided into three groups (I–III), based on signaling pathways and pharmacological profiles. Group III mGlu receptors (mGlu4/6/7/8) are primarily, although not exclusively, localized on presynaptic terminals, where they act as both auto- and hetero-receptors, inhibiting the release of neurotransmitter. Until recently, our understanding of the role of individual group III mGlu receptor subtypes was hindered by а lack of subtype-selective pharmacological tools. Recent advances in the development of both orthosteric and allosteric group III-targeting compounds, however, have prompted detailed investigations into the possible functional role of these receptors within the CNS and revealed their involvement in a number of pathological conditions, such as epilepsy, anxiety, and Parkinson's disease. The heterogeneous expression of group III mGlu receptor subtypes throughout the brain, as well as their distinct distribution at glutamatergic and GABAergic synapses, makes them ideal targets for therapeutic intervention [40].

A growing body of evidence suggests the involvement of the hippocampal glutamatergic system in anxiety disorders [41] (Fig. 18.5). Local injections of products that improve the release of glutamate in the ventral hippocampus (i.e., a cocktail of GABAB and mGlu2/3 receptor antagonists) exert a strong anxiolytic effect in rats exposed to prenatal restraint stress (PRS). In addition, chronic treatment with conventional antidepressants enhances glutamate release in the ventral hippocampus and corrects the

GABAergic-glutamatergic balance



Fig. 18.5 GABAergic-glutamatergic balance

PRS-induced anxiety/depressive phenotype. These results reinforce glutamatergic theory in stress-related mood disorders and suggest that ventral hippocampal deficiency and its influence on the striatal circuit are key elements of research into the mechanisms of action of anxiolytics [42].

New promising agents are under development, including modulators of the N-methyl-Daspartate (NMDA) receptor, 2-amino-3-(3hydroxy-5-methylisoxazol-4-yl) propanoic acid (AMPA), and active substances on metabotropic glutamatergic receptors (mGlu) [43]. This type of development was carried out about 20 years ago but without success because of teratogenesis problems. We hope that these new derivatives will reach the clinic [44].

Adenosine and Anxiety

Adenosine is a nucleoside formed when adenine is attached to a ribose nucleus, released by neurons and glial cells. It plays an important role in biochemical processes, such as energy transfer – such as adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and adenosine diphosphate (ADP) – as well as in signal transduction like cyclic adenosine monophosphate, cAMP. It also acts as a hormonal neurotransmitter [45].

The process of stabilization/elimination of synapses is a key process of brain development. Although stabilization/removal of active/inactive synapses is well established, the mechanisms involved are still poorly understood. Adenosine, a degradation product of ATP, positively or negatively controls the synaptic release of neurotransmitters via the activation of A1 and A2 receptors, respectively [46]. Although the role of these receptors is relatively well-known in adults, their function in the developing brain remains little explored [47].

The A2A receptor appears to control the stability of nascent synapses. This led us to propose that postsynaptic A2A receptors act during development as detectors of presynaptic activity. Release of ATP or adenosine of presynaptic and/ or glial origin would activate postsynaptic A2A receptors. The signaling pathways thus activated by A2A receptors would stabilize the newly formed synapses. A lack of activation of A2As receptors would cause the disruption of the synapse after a critical period. In other words, a transient postsynaptic A2A receptor function would signal to the postsynaptic element that the presynaptic element is active and that the synapse must be maintained. A2A receptors appear to have an important role in the pathophysiology of anxiety disorders [48, 49]. In fact, it is an indirect evidence that suggests that adenosine and its receptors play a role in anxiety. Caffeine is a nonselective receptor antagonist (A1 and A2A) to adenosine which proves to be anxiogenic. Indeed, in high doses it can lead to panic attacks [50]; but also, at low doses it is anxiolytic. Attempts have been made to synthesize A2A receptor agonists that would have anxiolytic properties, hitherto unsuccessful [51]. It is difficult to unravel the role of adenosine in mood disorders and anxiety disorders.

Neuropeptides and Anxiety

Neuropeptides are an important and broad class of molecular messengers carrying information between neurons in the brain. There are more than 100 different neuropeptides in the mammalian brain, and most of them are made and released from the hypothalamus. Some hypothalamic neuropeptides are released directly into the bloodstream and exert their peripheral effects just like hormones. Among these hypothalamic neurons, magnocellular neurons with oxytocin and vasopressin have been shown to be a model system, as they reveal major aspects of many neuronal functions, including the release mechanisms of the neuropeptides themselves. The classical interneuronal communication system is carried out via neurotransmitters, molecules packaged in small vesicles released mainly at the level of the neuronal synapse. In contrast, neuropeptides, contained in other vesicles, are released via mechanisms different from those of conventional neurotransmitters, from many membrane sites including nerve endings, cell bodies, and dendrites of neurons. The neuropeptide release mechanisms at the level of dendrites can be quite different from those at axonal endings, and, for vasopressin and oxytocin, this differential regulation allows peripheral effects of the released neuropeptide to occur independently of its central effects.

In addition to the classical neurotransmitters, neuropeptides represent an important class of modulators for affective behaviors and associated disorders, such as anxiety disorders. Many neuropeptides are abundantly expressed in brain regions involved in emotional processing and anxiety behaviors.

Cholecystokinin

Cholecystokinin (CCK) is the most abundant neuropeptide in the mammalian cerebral cortex and limbic system [52]. CCK is evident in significant quantities in regions known to be important in the mediation of panic disorder, including the cerebral cortex. striatum, amygdala, hippocampus, and brainstem nuclei where it is believed to function as a neurotransmitter or neuromodulator. Specific CCK recognition sites, presently divided into CCK-A and CCK-B subtypes, have been characterized, and drugs selectively active on these receptor subtypes have been synthesized [53].

Interest in the role of CCK in anxiety and panic stems led to microiontophoretic experiments, which showed that benzodiazepines selectively attenuated the excitatory action of CCK8s on hippocampal pyramidal neurons in rats [54].

One of the best ways to study panic disorders is to cause panic attacks, in the laboratory and under controlled conditions, in healthy volunteers or patients with this disorder. To do this, many pharmacological agents have already been used, the most frequently studied being sodium lactate. A panic model has been developed, using cholecystokinin tetrapeptide (CCK4) as an inducing agent [55]. Studies show that CCK4 offers a safe and safe way to induce anxiogenic reactions in human's healthy volunteers and most patients with panic disorders. These patients describe the symptoms induced by CCK4 as very similar or identical to the symptoms of their spontaneous panic attacks. Moreover, in these patients, the panicogenic threshold is lower than that of healthy volunteers, and at equal dose the panic rate is much higher than in healthy subjects. A dose-response relationship has also been demonstrated for CCK4. The effects of CCK4 are reliable and reproducible in terms of symptom onset time, duration, and intensity. Ineffective drugs for the treatment of panic attacks do not seem to block the symptoms of CCK4, whereas those commonly used in this indication prevent the onset of seizures. CCK2 receptor antagonists were developed unsuccessfully, probably because they poorly crossed the blood-brain barrier [56].

It is still unknown whether CCK plays a role in PD alone or whether it is involved in the pathogenesis of other anxiety syndromes. PD patients and normal control subjects display marked differences in their sensitivities to the panicogenic effects of CCK4 [57]. Although the effects of CCK4 in patients suffering from other psychiatric disorders indicate a nonspecific effect of CCK4, it is possible that lower doses of CCK4 will differentiate PD patients from those with other pathological states. Additional provocation studies could help to determine whether CCK4 shows selectivity of action in PD and whether it could be used as a diagnostic tool.

CCK-B agonists could be used to map out neurotransmitter networks leading to the phenomena of anxiety and panic attacks. Strategies of pharmacological dissection of the panicogenic action of these agonists could be used in humans with agonists/antagonists of postulated target systems.

The hypothesis of CCK-glutamate interactions as mechanisms for CCK4-induced panic asserts that CCK4 activates a glutamatergic pathway which mediates panic symptoms. If selective glutamate receptor subtype antagonists blocked CCK4-induced behavioral actions, then the anatomical site(s) mediating glutamate/CCK4 interactions could be analyzed through site-specific microinjections.

Interactions between CCK and GABA may also contribute to the etiology of anxiety disorders [58]. These neurotransmitters are colocalized in several structures in the brain which control emotion and cognitive processing. GABA has been shown to inhibit the release of CCK from the rat cerebral cortex [59] while CCK8 increases K-evoked of GABA release from several brain areas in vitro [60]. Brain site-directed injections of CCK- and GABA-selective drugs and application of recent developments in molecular biology could give new insights into the role of interactions between CCK and GABA in the regulation of fear and anxiety (Fig. 18.6).

The main attention will be paid to the study of serotonin – GABA, CCK, nitric oxide (NO) pathways. The drugs both increasing and decreasing the activity of these neurotransmitter systems are going to be used. The experiments measure the changes in the activity of NO synthesis due to anxiogenic and anxiolytic pharmacological manipulations that are also to be planned [61].

Corticotropin-Releasing Hormone

It is a neuropeptide that plays an important role in stress-related responses. Corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRF) injected into the rat brain produces many signs and symptoms observed in patients with anxiety signs [62]. CRF1 receptor antagonists have been shown to be active in rodent models of anxiety, but clinical studies in humans have been disappointing [63].

CRF and CRF-related peptides are not only responsible for activation of the hypothalamic-





pituitary-adrenal axis and activation of the sympathetic system in the brainstem in response to stress. They also have a powerful effect on the basal telencephalon that mediates behavioral responses to stress. CRF produces behavioral activation, facilitates behavioral responses to stress, and decreases appetite. CRF receptor antagonists very effectively produce a reversal of CRF suppressor or enhancer behavioral effects [64].

These effects appear to be mediated by the action of key elements within a telencephalic macrostructure called the "extended amygdala," comprising the central nucleus of the amygdala and the nucleus of the terminal striae. Furthermore, neuropeptides related to CRF have been identified, "urocortins" (urocortin 1, urocortin 2, and urocortin 3), and have been described as having high affinity for CRF receptors: CRF1 and CRF2 [63]. Urocortins are located mainly at the subcortical level. Urocortin 1 produces certain CRF-like effects and even reduces the intake of food in private animals or is fed at will more efficiently than CRF. Urocortins 2 and 3 do not possess the activating and anxiogenic effects of CRF in the rat but retain powerful anorexic effects. In transgenic mouse models, mice that overexpress CRF show anxiogenic responses compared to the wild strain, and mice that do not express the CRF1 receptor possess an anxiolytic behavioral profile compared to the wild-type strain [65]. The results obtained so far lead to the hypothesis that CRF1 receptors could participate in the mediation of CRF-like effects of neuropeptides on behavioral responses to stress whereas CRF2 receptors could participate in the mediation of the induced anorectic effect by neuropeptides of the CRF type. The specific brain targets responsible for the stress-like effect of CRF most likely involve CRF1 receptors in the extended amygdala; as for the anorectic effect, it would rather be the CRF2 receptors in some specific subregions of the hypothalamus. Recent studies also suggest that CRF in the extended amygdala has a major role as a mediator of the stress-like effect of withdrawal from most abused drugs such as alcohol, benzodiazepines, cocaine, opiates, and marijuana [66-68].

These effects may be important in prolonged abstinence and vulnerability to relapse. These data therefore suggest that CRF and neuropeptides related to CRF in the brain mediate the behavioral response to different types of stress. Dysfunction in such a fundamental brain activator system may be the key to a variety of pathophysiological conditions that lead to abnormal responses to stress, such as in anxiety disorders, affective disorders, substance abuse, and anorexia.

Substance P and Neurokinins

There are three main neurokinin receptors, NK1, NK2, and NK3, which are the preferential receptors for three tachykinins: substance P (SP), neurokinin A (NKA), and neurokinin B (NKB), respectively [69]. However, SP acts on these three neurokinin receptors according to different degrees of affinity: mainly by binding to the NK1 receptor, then NK2, and finally NK3 [70]. Tachykinins and their receptors are widely distributed at the level of the central nervous system and peripheral nervous system [71]. Tachykinins bind to their receptors preferentially but not exclusively. Neurokinin receptors belong to the family of G-protein-coupled receptors.

NK1 is widely expressed at the central and peripheral levels and is present in neurons, vascular endothelial cells, muscles, and different types of immune cells. Internalization of the NK1 receptor appears to be a reliable and quantifiable indicator of this receptor's activity [72] and could potentially be a good indicator of MS activity.

The NK2 receptor is detected peripherally in smooth muscle cells, certain neuronal cell types and immunocytes, the middle layers of the dorsal horn (lamina II to IV) [73], and the specific nuclei of the brain.

The NK3 receptor is abundantly expressed in the CNS, and, although NKB does not appear to be peripherally expressed, the NK3 receptor is detected in some peripheral tissues [74]. Specifically, the NK3 receptor has been found in the cerebral cortex, the nucleus of the solitary tract, and the dorsal horn of the spinal cord [75].

Alterations in the SP-NK1 system have also been observed in human anxiety disorders, yet little is known about the relation between this system and individual differences in personality traits associated with anxiety propensity and approach-avoidance behavior, including trait anxiety, neuroticism, and extraversion [76].

Some animal studies tend to show anxiolytic properties of substance P antagonists [77]. Antagonists of the substance P (SP) preferring neurokinin 1 receptor (NK1R) represent a promising novel class of drugs for the treatment of stressrelated disorders such as depression and anxiety disorders [78]. Some animal studies tend to show anxiolytic properties of substance P antagonists [79]. The development of nonpeptide receptor antagonists revealed species differences in neurokinin-receptor pharmacology, and the cloning of human neurokinin receptors has led to the development of compounds with optimized affinity for the human target receptor, but to date there is no anxiolytic drug issued from this research.

Galanin

Galanin (GAL) is a peptide consisting of a 30-amino acid chain produced in a number of regions in the brain. These regions include the amygdala (a region of the brain involved in the treatment of emotions) and specific regions of the hypothalamus. The galanin gene and its encoded protein may be involved in the regulation of food and alcohol consumption, but other genes could also be involved, and the DNA sequences examined here may not be the only regulatory factors of the gene.

Galanin and its three receptor subtypes (Gal R1-3) are highly expressed in the dorsal raphe nucleus (DRN), a region of the brain that contains a large population of serotonergic neurons [80]. Galanin is co-expressed with serotonin in approximately 40% of the DRN neurons, and galanin and GALR2 expression are elevated by antidepressants like the SSRI fluoxetine suggesting an interaction between serotonin and galanin [81]. Administered directly into the central nucleus of the amygdala, galanin blocks the anxiogenic effects of yohimbine. In addition, mice with a deficiency of galanin 1 receptors exhibit anxious behavior. This behavioral response depends on the balance between norepinephrine, neuropeptide Y, and galanin [82]. The anxiolytic effect induced by activation of Gal2 receptors may depend on the serotonergic tone. Finally, the role of galanin in panic-related behaviors remains uncertain.

Oxytocin

Recently, brain imaging has shown that oxytocin affects the functioning of the amygdala (emotional center of the brain) as well as parts of the prefrontal cortex (in charge of controlling emotions and behaviors). During this experiment, volunteers were subjected to images associated with fear as well as the possibility of being subjected to electric shocks. After nasal absorption of oxytocin, researchers were able to observe a change in amygdala activity accompanied by a decrease in the feeling of fear, as well as a decrease in the production of sweat, a physiological phenomenon accompanying the feeling of fear [83]. Many biological studies conducted on oxytocin have shown that absorption of this hormone systematically causes a drop-in heart rate and blood pressure, causing the individual to experience a feeling of calm and security. Because of its effects on the parasympathetic nervous system, oxytocin greatly reduces anxiety and is therefore a perfect anxiolytic [84]. By reducing fear and anxiety, oxytocin has direct consequences for human behavior and the perception of the outside world. The properties of oxytocin thus act directly on the social behavior of the human being, by promoting trust and closeness between individuals. It would inhibit aggressive behavior and make it more optimistic. Studies conducted by this university have shown that, under the effect of oxytocin, people would better remember happy faces than sad but also better recognize positive social indicators than threatening [85]. Evidence for the role of oxytocin in regulating anxiety is undeniable. We expect that the diverse particularities of the oxytocin system will help broaden our understanding of anxiety and stress-related disorders [86].

Atrial Natriuretic Peptide

Atrial natriuretic (ANP) factor is a polypeptide hormone essentially synthesized by the right atrium of the heart. It participates in the homeostasis of sodium, potassium, and water by acting on renal excretion and has a vasodilatory action [87].

Pretreatment of 150 µg of natriuretic peptide avoids CCK4-induced panic attacks in patients with panic disorder [88] as well as in healthy volunteers. On the other hand, ANP exerts anxiolytic-like effects on CCK4-stimulated anxiety attacks in patients with panic disorder. In addition, ANP produced an inhibition of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical system and sympatholytic effects [89]. Future research will have to confirm or disprove these preliminary findings. To date, there is no useful synthetic derivative [90].

Antidepressants in Anxiety

The concept of antidepressants is evolving gradually since these molecules are used successfully to treat other mental pathologies than depression. They are also discouraged in the treatment of bipolar disorders [91].

Clomipramine was the first to prove an activity in the treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD), while other imipramines and derivatives are not effective. In fact, its desmethylclomipramine metabolite is a potent inhibitor of both serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake. The combined results of clomipramine and desmethylclomipramine on the inhibition of serotonin reuptake are much greater than those of other tricyclics. Other selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, such as fluoxetine, fluvoxamine, sertraline, and paroxetine, have also been shown to be effective in the treatment of OCD. Their effectiveness in treating this condition is clearly not related to their antidepressant properties as these drugs reduce obsessive-compulsive symptoms in patients who are not depressed.

Since the 1960s, several studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of MAOIs in anxiophobic states. These molecules have been shown to be particularly effective in the treatment of social phobias [92], but the difficulty of using these derivatives has led to them being used only in severe cases or even to abandoning them. These results have been confirmed more recently, and new studies have been developed thanks to the use of potentially fewer toxic derivatives such as the MAO A-specific inhibitors.

Klein and Fink were those who first observed that imipramine was able to prevent panic attacks. Later Klein showed that imipramine was effective in treating phobias with panic attacks but not effective in phobias. These observations led to the treatment of subjects with panic attacks with low doses of imipramine as a preventive measure; the high doses exaggerate the phenomenon. The dose is increased in steps until, after 3 months; doses of imipramine are similar to those usually used in depression. Authors have shown that imipramine and trazodone are effective in the treatment of generalized anxiety. Imipramine also has better results than trazodone and diazepam compared to placebo after 6 and 8 weeks. This work confirms previous work that had been conducted in patients with anxio-depressive pathology. From now on, the various IRRS have been granted marketing authorization for generalized anxiety and other anxiety disorders.

The fact that antidepressants are active in the treatment of anxiety disorders led us to seek the explanation of their mechanisms of action in these pathologies. It turns out that 5-HT2A receptors can participate in this activity. It seems more and more obvious that this action would be exercised at the level of the amygdala, a cerebral structure that seems to be a "filter" for the perception of emotions and is rich in 5-HT2A receptors.

Conclusion

The fact that the pathophysiology of anxiety is complex has led to very different drug developments in this area. The first were benzodiazepines discovered by serendipity. It turns out that animal models of anxiety have been developed as to their effectiveness in "screening" BZDs. BZDs decrease serotonin in the brain; they have a more disinhibitory action than really anxiolytic. The SSRIs also reduce the cerebral serotonin in a less abrupt way than the BZDs which contributed to their therapeutic success; it remains to know if more specific derivatives of a type of serotoninergic receptor could have a better benefit/risk. The glutamatergic track appears from time to time, but we do not know how to control the glutamate/GABA balance. As for the neuropeptides, they are not effective in themselves but seem to be modulators of the serotoninergic activity; used alone they are of limited effectiveness. There are used as biological markers for anxiety disorders [93].

References

- Bourin M, Thibaut F. A critical approach of the current treatment of anxiety disorders. Curr Psychopharmacol. 2013;2:104–12.
- Antoniadis EA, . Winslow JT, Davis M, David G, Amaral DG. Role of the primate amygdala in fearpotentiated startle: effects of chronic lesions in the Rhesus Monkey J Neurosci. 2007, 27 7386-7396.
- Antoniadis EA, Winslow Schumann CM, Bauman MD, Amaral DG. Abnormal structure or function of the amygdala is a common component of neurodevelopmental disorders. Neuropsychologia 2011; 49:745-759.
- Dilger S, Straube T, Mentzel HJ, et al. Brain activation to phobia-related pictures in spider phobic humans: an event-related functional magnetic resonance imaging study. Neurosci Lett. 2003;348:29–32.
- Morey RA, Gold AL, LaBar KS, Beall SK, Brown VM, Haswell CC, Nasser JD, Wagner HR, McCarthy G, Mid-Atlantic MIRECC Workgroup. Amygdala volume changes in posttraumatic stress disorder in a large case-controlled veterans' group. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2012;69:1169–78.
- Davis M. Neural systems involved in fear and anxiety measured with fear-potentiated startle. Am Psychol. 2006;61:741–56.
- Bourin M. In: Kim YK, editor. Neurobiology and neuroanatomy of panic disorder in panic disorder: assessment, management and research insights: Nova Science Publishers: New York; 2018. p. 151–67.
- Chagraoui A, Skiba M, Thuillez C, Thibaut F. To what extent is it possible to dissociate the anxiolytic and sedative/hypnotic properties of GABAA receptors modulators? Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2016;71:189–202.
- Goddard AW. Cortical and subcortical gamma amino acid butyric acid deficits in anxiety and stress disorders: clinical implications. World J Psychiatry. 2016;6:43–53.
- Gielen MC, Lumb MJ, Smart TG. Benzodiazepines modulate GABAA receptors by regulating the preactivation step after GABA binding. J Neurosci. 2012;3:5707–15.

- Bourin M, Colombel MC, Guitton B. Alprazolam 0.125 mg twice a day improves aspects of psychometric performance in healthy volunteers. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 1998;18:364–72.
- Zorumski CF, Isenberg KE. Insights into the structure and function of GABA-benzodiazepine receptors: ion channels and psychiatry. Am J Psychiatry. 1991;148:162–73.
- Houghton KT, Forrest A, Awad A, Atkinson LZ, Stockton S, Harrison PJ, Geddes JR, Cipriani A. Biological rationale and potential clinical use of gabapentin and pregabalin in bipolar disorder, insomnia and anxiety: protocol for a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Open. 2017;7(3):e013433. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013433.
- Wise CD, Berger BD, Stein L. Benzodiazepines: anxiety-reducing activity by reduction of serotonin turnover in the brain. Science. 1972;177:180–3.
- Bourin M. Serotoninergic systems in anxiety. JSM Anxiety Depress. 2016;1(1):1007.
- Germine M, Goddard AW, Woods SW, Charney DS, Heninger GR. Anger and anxiety responses to m-chlorophenylpiperazine in generalized anxiety disorder. Biol Psychiatry. 1992;32:457–61.
- Rynn M, García-España F, Greenblatt DJ, Mandos LA, Schweizer E, Rickels K. Imipramine and buspirone in patients with panic disorder who are discontinuing long-term benzodiazepine therapy. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2003;23:505–8.
- Pisu C, Pira L, Pani L. Quetiapine anxiolytic-like effect in the Vogel conflict test is serotonin dependent. Behav Pharmacol. 2010;21:649–53.
- Toth M. 5-HT1A receptor knockout mouse as a genetic model of anxiety. Eur J Pharmacol. 2003;463:177–84.
- 20. Guilloux JP, David DJ, Guiard BP, Chenu F, Repérant C, Toth M, Bourin M, Gardier AM. Blockade of 5-HT1A receptors by (+/-)-pindolol potentiates cortical 5-HT outflow, but not antidepressant-like activity of paroxetine: microdialysis and behavioral approaches in 5-HT1A receptor knockout mice. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2006;31:2162–72.
- Jenck F, Broekkamp CL, Van Delft AM. Effects of serotonin receptor antagonists on PAG stimulation induced aversion: different contributions of 5HT1, 5HT2 and 5HT3 receptors. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 1989;97:489–95.
- 22. Bourin M, Hascoët M. Implication of 5-HT2 receptor subtypes in the mechanism of action of the GABAergic compound etifoxine in the four-plate test in Swiss mice. Behav Brain Res. 2010;208:352–28.
- Katz RJ, Landau PS, Lott M, Bystritsky A, Diamond B, Hoehn-Saric R, Rosenthal M, Weise C. Serotonergic (5-HT2) mediation of anxiety-therapeutic effects of serazepine in generalized anxiety disorder. Biol Psychiatry. 1993;34:41–4.
- 24. Naukkarinen H, Raassina R, Penttinen J, Ahokas A, Jokinen R, Koponen H, Lepola U, Kanerva H, Lehtonen L, Pohjalainen T, Partanen A, Mäki-Ikola O, Rouru J, Deramciclane Dose-Finding Study Group. Deramciclane in the treatment of generalized

anxiety disorder: a placebo-controlled, double-blind, dose-finding study. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 2005;15:617–23.

- Benyamina A, Naassila M, Bourin M. Potential role of cortical 5-HT(2A) receptors in the anxiolytic action of cyamemazine in benzodiazepine withdrawal. Psychiatry Res. 2012;198:307–12.
- Kennett GA, Bright F, Trail B, Baxter GS, Blackburn TP. Effects of the 5-HT2B receptor agonist, BW 723C86, on three rat models of anxiety. Br J Pharmacol. 1996;117:1443–8.
- Rothman RB, Baumann MH. Serotonergic drugs and valvular heart disease. Expert Opin Drug Saf. 2009;8:317–29.
- Martin JR, Bös M, Jenck F, Moreau J, Mutel V, Sleight AJ, Wichmann J, Andrews JS, Berendsen HH, Broekkamp CL, Ruigt GS, Köhler C, Delft AM. 5-HT2C receptor agonists: pharmacological characteristics and therapeutic potential. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 1998;286:913–24.
- Heisler LK, Zhou L, Bajwa P, Hsu J, Tecott LH. Serotonin 5-HT (2C) receptors regulate anxietylike behavior. Genes Brain Behav. 2007;6:491–6.
- Chagraoui A, Thibaut F, Skiba M, Thuillez C, Bourin M. 5-HT2C receptors in psychiatric disorders: A review. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2016;66:120–35.
- Dekeyne A, Millan MJ. Discriminative stimulus properties of antidepressant agents: a review. Behav Pharmacol. 2003;14:391–407.
- Mc Intyre R, Katzman M. The role of atypical antipsychotics in bipolar depression and anxiety disorders. Bipolar Disord. 2003;5(Suppl 2):20–35.
- Wood MD. Therapeutic potential of 5-HT2C receptor antagonists in the treatment of anxiety disorders. Curr Drug Targets CNS Neurol Disord. 2003;2:383–7.
- Rodgers RJ, Cole JC, Tredwell JM. Profile of action of 5-HT3 receptor antagonists, ondansetron and WAY 100289, in the elevated plus-maze test of anxiety of mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 1995;117:306–12.
- Thompson AJ, Lummis SC. 5-HT3 receptors. Curr Pharm Des. 2006;12:3615–30.
- 36. Gupta D, Radhakrishnan M, Kurhe Y. Ondansetron, a 5HT3 receptor antagonist reverses depression and anxiety-like behavior in streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice: possible implication of serotonergic system. Eur J Pharmacol. 2014;744:59–66.
- Harmer CJ, Reid CB, Ray MK, Goodwin GM, Cowen PJ. 5HT (3) antagonism abolishes the emotion potentiated startle effect in humans. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 2006;186:18–24.
- Griffiths JL, Lovick TA. Co-localization of 5-HT 2A receptor- and GABA-immunoreactivity in neurons in the periaqueductal grey matter of the rat. Neurosci Lett. 2002;326:151–4.
- 39. Di Giovanni G, Di Matteo V, La Grutta V, Esposito E. m-Chlorophenylpiperazine excites non-dopaminergic neurons in the rat substantia nigra and ventral tegmental area by activating serotonin-2C receptors. Neuroscience. 2001;103:111–6.

- Mercier MS, Lodge D. Group III metabotropic glutamate receptors: pharmacology, physiology and therapeutic potential. Neurochem Res. 2014;39:1876–94.
- 41. Zare Z, Tehrani M, Rezaei N, Dana Ghalebarzand B, Mohammadi M. Anxiolytic activity of paraoxon is associated with alterations in rat brain glutamatergic system. Neurotoxicol Teratol. 2019;71:32–40.
- 42. Laloux C, Mairesse J, Van Camp G, Giovine A, Branchi I, Bouret S, Morley-Fletcher S, Bergonzelli G, Malagodi M, Gradini R, Nicoletti F, Darnaudéry M, Maccari S. Anxiety-like behaviour and associated neurochemical and endocrinological alterations in male pups exposed to prenatal stress. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2012;37:1646–58.
- Hovelsø N, Sotty F, Montezinho LP, Pinheiro PS, Herrik KF, Mørk A. Therapeutic potential of metabotropic glutamate receptor modulators. Curr Neuropharmacol. 2012;10:12–48.
- 44. Raber J, Duvoisin RM. Novel metabotropic glutamate receptor 4 and glutamate receptor 8 therapeutics for the treatment of anxiety. Expert Opin Investig Drugs. 2015;24:519–28.
- 45. Snyder SH. Adenosine as a neuromodulator. Annu Rev Neurosci. 1985;8:103–24.
- Borea PA, Gessi S, Merighi S, Vincenzi F, Varani K. Pharmacology of adenosine receptors: the state of the art. Physiol Rev. 2018;1(98):1591–625.
- Wolff JR, Laskawi R, Spatz WB, Missler M. Structural dynamics of synapses and synaptic components. Behav Brain Res. 1995;66:13–20.
- Yamada K, Kobayashi M, Kanda T. Involvement of adenosine A2A receptors in depression and anxiety. Int Rev Neurobiol. 2014;119:373–93.
- van Calker D, Biber K, Domschke K, Serchov T. The role of adenosine receptors in mood and anxiety disorders. J Neurochem. 2019. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jnc.14841.
- 50. Masdrakis VG, Markianos M, Oulis P. Lack of specific association between panicogenic properties of caffeine and HPA-axis activation. A placebocontrolled study of caffeine challenge in patients with panic disorder. Psychiatry Res. 2015;229:75–81.
- Lopes LV, Sebastiao AM, Ribeiro JA. Adenosine and related drugs in brain diseases: present and future in clinical trials. Curr Top Med Chem. 2011;11:1087–101.
- Crawley JN, Corwin RL. Biological actions of cholecystokinin. Peptides. 1994;15:731–55.
- Wank SA. Cholecystokinin receptors. Am J Physiol. 1995;269(5 Pt 1):G628–46.
- Bradwejn J, de Montigny C. Benzodiazepines antagonize cholecystokinin-induced activation of rat hippocampal neurons. Nature. 1984;312:363–4.
- Bourin M, Baker GB, Bradwejn J. Neurobiology of panic disorder. J Psychosom Res. 1998;44:163–80.
- Bourin M. Cholecystokinin as a target for neuropsychiatric drugs. Drug News Perspect. 1998;11:342–9.
- 57. Bradwejn J, Koszycki D, du Tertre AC, Bourin M, Palmour R, Ervin F. The cholecystokinin hypoth-

esis of panic and anxiety disorders: a review. J Psychopharmacol. 1992;6:345–51.

- Tanganelli S, Fuxe K, Antonelli T, O'Connor WT, Ferraro L. Cholecystokinin/dopamine/GABA interactions in the nucleus accumbens: biochemical and functional correlates. Peptides. 2001;22:1229–34.
- Yaksh TL, Furui T, Kanawati IS, Go VL. Release of cholecystokinin from rat cerebral cortex in vivo: role of GABA and glutamate receptor systems. Brain Res. 1987;406:207–14.
- Pérez de la Mora M, Hernandez-Gómez AM, Méndez-Franco J, Fuxe K. Cholecystokinin-8 increases K(+)evoked [3H] gamma-aminobutyric acid release in slices from various brain areas. Eur J Pharmacol. 1993;250:423–30.
- Ballaz S. The unappreciated roles of the cholecystokinin receptor CCK (1) in brain functioning. Rev Neurosci. 2017;28:573–85.
- Arborelius L, Owens MJ, Plotsky PM, Nemeroff CB. The role of corticotropin-releasing factor in depression and anxiety disorders. J Endocrinol. 1999;160:1–12.
- 63. Kehne JH, Cain CK. Therapeutic utility of nonpeptidic CRF1 receptor antagonists in anxiety, depression, and stress-related disorders: evidence from animal models. Pharmacol Ther. 2010;128:460–87.
- 64. Spinieli RL, Leite-Panissi CRA. Similar effect of CRF1 and CRF2 receptor in the basolateral or central nuclei of the amygdala on tonic immobility behavior. Brain Res Bull. 2018;137:187–96.
- 65. Heinrichs SC, Min H, Tamraz S, Carmouché M, Boehme SA, Vale WW. Anti-sexual and anxiogenic behavioral consequences of corticotropin-releasing factor overexpression are centrally mediated. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 1997;22:215–24.
- 66. Skelton KH, Oren D, Gutman DA, Easterling K, Holtzman SG, Nemeroff CB, Owens MJ. The CRF1 receptor antagonist, R121919, attenuates the severity of precipitated morphine withdrawal. Eur J Pharmacol. 2007;571:17–24.
- Skelton KH, Gutman DA, Thrivikraman KV, Nemeroff CB, Owens MJ. The CRF1 receptor antagonist R121919 attenuates the neuroendocrine and behavioral effects of precipitated lorazepam withdrawal. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 2007;192:385–96.
- Rodríguez de Fonseca F, Carrera MR, Navarro M, Koob GF, Weiss F. Activation of corticotropinreleasing factor in the limbic system during cannabinoid withdrawal. Science. 1997;276:2050–4.
- Maggi CA. The troubled story of tachykinins and neurokinins. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2000;21:173–5.
- 70. Harrison S, Geppetti P. Substance p. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2001;33:555–76.
- 71. Amadoro G, Pieri M, Ciotti MT, Carunchio I, Canu N, Calissano P, Zona C, Severini C. Substance P provides neuroprotection in cerebellar granule cells through Akt and MAPK/Erk activation: evidence for the involvement of the delayed rectifier potassium current. Neuropharmacology. 2007;52:1366–77.

- Trafton JA, Abbadie C, Marchand S, Mantyh PW, Basbaum AI. Spinal opioid analgesia: how critical is the regulation of substance P signaling? J Neurosci. 1999;19:9642–53.
- Coggeshall RE, Carlton SM. Receptor localization in the mammalian dorsal horn and primary afferent neurons. Brain Res Brain Res Rev. 1997;24:28–66.
- Pennefather JN, Lecci A, Candenas ML, Patak E, Pinto FM, Maggi CA. Tachykinins and tachykinin receptors: a growing family. Life Sci. 2004;74:1445–63.
- Khawaja AM, Rogers DF. Tachykinins: receptor to effector. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 1996;28:721–38.
- 76. Hoppe JM, Frick A, Åhs F, Linnman C, Appel L, Jonasson M, Lubberink M, Långström B, Frans Ö, von Knorring L, Fredrikson M, Furmark T. Association between amygdala neurokinin-1 receptor availability and anxiety-related personality traits. Transl Psychiatry. 2018;8(1):168. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41398-018-0163-.
- Loiseau F, Le Bihan C, Hamon M, Thiébot MH. Distinct effects of diazepam and NK1 receptor antagonists in two conflict procedures in rats. Behav Pharmacol. 2003;14:447–55.
- Duarte FS, Hoeller AA, Duzzioni M, Gavioli EC, Canteras NS, De Lima TC. NK1 receptors antagonism of dorsal hippocampus counteract the anxiogeniclike effects induced by pilocarpine in non-convulsive Wistar rats. Behav Brain Res. 2014;265:53–60.
- 79. Unschuld PG, Ising M, Erhardt A, Lucae S, Kohli M, Kloiber S, Salyakina D, Thoeringer CK, Kern N, Lieb R, Uhr M, Binder EB, Müller-Myhsok B, Holsboer F, Keck ME. Polymorphisms in the galanin gene are associated with symptom-severity in female patients suffering from panic disorder. J Affect Disord. 2008;105:177–84.
- Šípková J, Kramáriková I, Hynie S, Klenerová V. The galanin and galanin receptor subtypes, its regulatory role in the biological and pathological functions. Physiol Res. 2017;66:729–40.
- Sharkey LM, Madamba SG, Siggins GR, Bartfai T. Galanin alters GABAergic neurotransmission in the dorsal raphe nucleus. Neurochem Res. 2008;33:285–91.
- Zhao X, Seese RR, Yun K, Peng T, Wang Z. The role of galanin system in modulating depression, anxiety,

and addiction-like behaviors after chronic restraint stress. Neuroscience. 2013;246:82–93.

- Hurlemann R, Scheele D, Kinfe TM, Berger R, Philipsen A, Voncken MJ, Kuypers KPC, Schruers K. Increased temporal discounting in social anxiety disorder normalizes after oxytocin treatment. Psychother Psychosom. 2019;88:55–7.
- Gottschalk MG. Domschke K Oxytocin and anxiety disorders. Curr Top Behav Neurosci. 2018;35:467–98.
- MacDonald K, Feifel D. Oxytocin's role in anxiety: a critical appraisal. Brain Res. 2014;1580:22–56.
- Naja WJ, Aoun MP. Oxytocin and anxiety disorders: translational and therapeutic aspects. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2017;19(10):67.
- Athanassopoulos G, Cokkinos DV. Atrial natriuretic factor. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. 1991;33:313–28.
- Ströhle A, Kellner M, Holsboer F, Wiedemann K. Anxiolytic activity of atrial natriuretic peptide in patients with panic disorder. Am J Psychiatry. 2001;158:1514–6.
- Wiedemann K, Jahn H, Yassouridis A, Kellner M. Anxiolyticlike effects of atrial natriuretic peptide on cholecystokinin tetrapeptide-induced panic attacks: preliminary findings. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2001;58:371–7.
- Steckler T. Developing small molecule nonpeptidergic drugs for the treatment of anxiety disorders: is the challenge still ahead? Curr Top Behav Neurosci. 2010;2:415–28.
- Bourin M. Are antidepressants useful in bipolar disease? Arch Depress Anxiety. 2017;3:58–9.
- Versiani M, Nardi AE, Mundim FD, Alves AB, Liebowitz MR, Amrein R. Pharmacotherapy of social phobia. A controlled study with moclobemide and phenelzine. Br J Psychiatry. 1992;161:353–60.
- 93. Bandelow B, Baldwin D, Abelli M, Bolea-Alamanac B, Bourin M, Chamberlain SR, Cinosi E, Davies S, Domschke K, Fineberg N, Grünblatt E, Jarema M, Kim YK, Maron E, Masdrakis V, Mikova O, Nutt D, Pallanti S, Pini S, Ströhle A, Thibaut F, Vaghi MM, Won E, Wedekind D, Wichniak A, Woolley J, Zwanzger P, Riederer P. Biological markers for anxiety disorders, OCD and PTSD: A consensus statement. Part II: Neurochemistry, neurophysiology and neurocognition. World J Biol Psychiatry. 2017;18:162–214.



19

From Benzodiazepine Prescription to Dependence: Learning Processes Involved

Emilce Artur De La Villarmois, María Florencia Constantin, and Mariela F. Pérez

Benzodiazepines: Mechanism of Action, Clinical Use, and Side Effects

Benzodiazepines (BZD) are among the most commonly prescribed psychotropic medications worldwide because of their multiple uses and are taken by about 4% of the population [1–3]. They potentiate the actions of γ -amino-butyric-acid (GABA), the major inhibitory neurotransmitter in the central nervous system (CNS), acting through ionotropic GABA_A and GABA_C receptors [4, 5], and metabotropic $GABA_B$ receptors [6]. $GABA_A$ receptors are heteropentameric ligand-gated, anion selective, chloride channels that open upon GABA binding [7]. These receptors are composed of five subunits with a specific stoichiometry of 2α , 2β , and 1γ (among others); and each subunit family presents several isoforms: $\alpha 1$ –6, $\beta 1$ –3, $\gamma 1$ –3, δ , ε , π , Θ , and $\rho 1$ –3 [8].

The pharmacological actions of BZD are mediated by a high-affinity site on GABA-A receptor, widely distributed on neurons into the CNS, acting as allosteric modulators, which means that they only act in the presence of the endogenous ligand GABA [9]. Based on efficacy,

E. Artur De La Villarmois \cdot M. F. Constantin

IFEC-Departamento de Farmacología, Facultad de Ciencias Químicas, CONICET, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Córdoba, Argentina e-mail: mfperez@unc.edu.ar BZD can be positive and negative allosteric modulators, with different potencies (partial positive or negative modulators) or antagonists. The positive modulators potentiate GABA_A receptorevoked currents, whereas the negative modulators decrease these currents. The antagonists prevent and reverse the effect of both types of allosteric modulators and with no consequences on the channel activity on their own [10]. Nevertheless, only positive allosteric modulators such as clonazepam and diazepam (DZ) and the antagonist flumazenil are used therapeutically. All BZD bind to a specific cleft located between α and γ subunit of the $GABA_A$ receptor [11, 12], but only α 1-, α 2-, α 3-, and α 5-containing GABA_A receptors are sensitive to BZD [13].

BZD are prescribed extensively to treat anxiety and sleep disorders and used as adjuvant therapy in depression, pain management, and as muscle relaxants [14–16], usually requiring longterm treatment. They are widely used for their rapid onset of action and clinical efficacy, as well as low toxicity and decreased risk of suicide [14]. BZD are safe and effective for short-term treatment. However, long-term use is controversial due to the development of tolerance and their liability for physical dependence [17]. Even with correct treatment duration and doses, BZD use has both short- and long-term side effects. Shortterm, untoward effects include sleepiness that may interfere with daily function, increased risk of motor vehicle accidents, falls that may be

M. F. Pérez (🖂)

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_19

accompanied by fractures especially in the elderly, and potential for abuse or misuse [14]. Long-term drawbacks include tolerance and physical dependence, cognitive and memory impairment leading to withdrawal, or rebound symptoms following treatment discontinuation, which may be greater in severity than pretreatment levels and may persist for extended periods [14, 15].

Benzodiazepines Abuse, Misuse, and Wrong Prescription

Misuse of prescription drugs means taking a medication in a manner or dose other than prescribed; taking someone else's prescription, even for a legitimate medical complaint; or taking a medication to feel euphoria. The term nonmedical use of prescription drugs also refers to these categories of misuse [18]. Increases in prescription drug misuse over the last 15 years are reflected in increased emergency room visits [19], overdose deaths associated with prescription drugs [20–23], and treatment admissions for prescription drug use disorders, being addiction the most severe form of them. The reasons for the high prevalence of prescription drug misuse vary by age, gender, and other factors but likely include ease of access [24]. Nonmedical use of prescription drugs is highest among young adults, aged 18-25 [18]. Youth who misuse prescription medications are also more likely to report use of other drugs [25-28]. More than 80% of older patients use at least one prescription medication on a daily basis [29]. This can potentially lead to health issues resulting from unintentionally using a prescription medication in a manner other than how it was prescribed, or from intentional nonmedical use [30].

Consumption of BZD is becoming a public health problem because of the indiscriminate use. The Drug Abuse Warning Network (DAWN) monitored emergency department (ED) visits in selected US areas through 2011. DAWN reported that more than 1.2 million ED visits in 2011 could be attributed to nonmedical use of prescription drugs; this represents about half of all ED visits related to drug misuse and 28.7% of those involved BZD [21], being BZD one of the two most frequently reported prescription medications in drug abuse-related cases along with opioid-based pain relievers (http://www.nida.nih. gov). Furthermore, BZD abuse often occurs in conjunction with the abuse of another substance (e.g., alcohol or cocaine), making treatment approaches even more difficult.

Aside from physical and psychological dependence, other potential problems associated with improper BZD use or abuse are suicidal thoughts or actions, worsening of depression, sleep disorders, and aggression [31]. While CNS depression and cardiorespiratory depression rarely characterize oral BZD overdoses [32], in 2013, an estimated 22.767 people died of an overdose involving prescription drugs in the United States, and BZD were involved in approximately 31% of these fatal overdoses [33]. Furthermore, overdose mortality involving BZD rose at a faster rate than did the percentage of individuals filling prescriptions and the quantity filled [34]. It may be probably because the increases in the total quantity filled reflected both an increase in the number of individuals filling BZD prescriptions as well as substantial increases in the amount each individual received. Furthermore, among physicians prescribing BZD, the median quantity prescribed over the year is reported to be more than doubled between 1996 and 2013, suggesting either a higher daily dose or more treatment days, which potentially increased the risk of fatal overdose [35]. Moreover, people at high risk for fatal overdose may be obtaining diverted BZD (i.e., not directly from medical providers). The proportion of fatal overdoses involving diverted versus prescribed BZD is unknown. Finally, increases in alcohol use or combining BZD with other medications could increase the risk of fatal overdose and explain this rise [34].

Inappropriate BZD prescriptions mainly among the elderly population are common [36, 37] and represents a health problem, considering that in some cases approximately 70% of the patients received an inappropriate prescription [38]. Other studies showed that prescriptions were adequate for only 1.9% for adults and 5.8% of older adults, drawing the attention to inappropriate indication for use, non-recommended procedures for the age group and/or patient; risk of severe drug interactions; and problems related to dose, frequency, and mainly period of treatment [39]. Although the use of BZD is justified in many situations, their long-term use and the presence of potentially inappropriate prescriptions are frequent phenomena that could significantly affect older adults' functioning [40–43].

Because older adults have less muscle mass, an increased body fat percentage, and a reduction in total drug elimination mainly due to a decrease in renal efficiency, they are exposed to the extended action of BZD [44]. Furthermore, the half-life of BZD can be tripled in elderly patients [45], therefore long-acting drugs (such as clonazepam and DZ) are not recommended for these patients because they increase the risk of side effects [46-48] affecting stability, memory, and concentration [49, 50]. Also, they have been associated with hypertension, coronary and renal diseases [51, 52], as well as with falls, risk of fractures, and hospitalizations [51, 53–55]. Additionally, older adults are also susceptible to develop physiological and psychological dependence on BZD [50]. Then, when BZD prescription must be considered for these patients, intermediate or short-acting drugs such as lorazepam and alprazolam at the lowest effective dose are recommended [45, 47]. The high proportion of inappropriate BZD prescriptions observed among the older adult population suggests that prevention strategies should be developed to inform older adults, doctors, pharmacists, and other healthcare providers about the appropriate use of these drugs [38].

Conditioned Benzodiazepines Tolerance and Dependence

As it was stated before, the problems associated to BZD use include diversion, misuse, driving impairment, morbidity and mortality related to overdose, tolerance, and dependence [1, 2]. Tolerance is manifested when drug dosage must be increased in order to achieve the same pharmacological effects. Dependence is reflected by the appearance of a series of symptoms when the drug is abruptly withdrawn, and for BZD the risk of dependence increases after long-term use [56]. The most frequent physiological symptoms characterizing BZD dependence include insomnia, anxiety, gastric problems, tremors, agitation, fearfulness, and muscle spasms [57]. Less frequently observed are irritability, sweating, depersonalizations, hypersensitivity to stimuli, depression, suicidal behavior, psychosis, seizures, and delirium tremens [58]. On the other hand, addiction is considered a brain disease defined by the World Health Organization as compulsive substance intake despite negative consequences, and it is also characterized by relapse after a prolonged period of abstinence. Most often, people who recreationally abuse BZD also abuse other drugs such as alcohol or opioids (www.nida.nih.gov).

It has been demonstrated that development and persistent expression of addictive behaviors occur through the usurpation of natural learning and memory mechanisms within the limbic system, and long-lasting neuroadaptations resulting from repeated drug exposure involve associative learning processes [59, 60]. The environmental context of an experience induced by a drug of abuse is crucial for drug-seeking behavior and relapse in human addicts [61, 62]. This fact relays in the Pavlovian conditioning principles, which consider that an associative learning occurs with the contingency between two stimulus events: a neutral stimulus (conditioned stimulus, CS) followed by a biologically relevant stimulus (unconditioned stimulus, US). The first one (CS) may acquire the property to induce a response in the organism (conditioned response, CR) that is similar to the one triggered by the US [63]. Repeated or chronic drug administration often results in the conditioning of physiological responses, where drug administration ritual may act as a CS that will eventually elicit a CR. These conditioned responses have been suggested to play a role in drug tolerance, dependence, and sensitization, even for BZD [64–68].

Furthermore, learning and memory, particularly contextual memories, are important for the establishment of conditioned responses to drugs of abuse [59, 61]. It has been shown that an associative learning process is underlying the development of tolerance and dependence to DZ, because pre-exposure to DZ administration context impairs the development of tolerance to the sedative effects of DZ [65]. Additionally, changes in contextual cues presented during DZ longterm treatment avoid expression of the anxietylike behavior after drug discontinuation [64]. Alternatively, withdrawal expression can be attenuated or avoided by pre-exposure to the administration context during the last days of long-term treatment [69]. The anxiety-like behavior expressed by dependent animals is evident until 5 days after discontinuation [70], but when these animals are re-exposed to the context in which they experienced DZ withdrawal, 2 weeks after DZ discontinuation, this withdrawal symptom is expressed over again [70]. Furthermore, alterations in contextual cues experienced during withdrawal prevent its expression after long-term withdrawal [71]. Then, the environmental cues present during the drug administration procedure or withdrawal are able to modulate the behavioral expression of both tolerance and dependence to

DZ, by affecting the conditioned responses previously described.

Repeated Benzodiazepines-Induced Alterations in Brain Structures Related to Learning and Memory

As it was stated before, BZD are positive modulators of GABA-A R function. Different subtypes of this receptor are widely spread in the CNS, particularly in brain areas related to learning and memory (hippocampus, medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), amygdala) as well as to abuse and physical dependence (nucleus accumbens (NAc) and ventral tegmental area (VTA)), among others [72]. Repeated long-term BZD administration induces neuroadaptations in these and other brain structures affecting their function and thereby impact in behavioral expression after treatment discontinuation (Fig. 19.1).

Hippocampus

The hippocampus is a brain structure crucial for episodic memory formation [73–76]; in fact,



Fig. 19.1 BZD effects after chronic administration in *mPFC* medium prefrontal cortex, *HP* hippocampus, *DRN* dorsal raphe nucleus, *LC* locus coeruleus, *AM* amygdala, *NAc* nucleus accumbens. Acute BZD effects in *VTA* ventral tegmental area. *LTP* long-term potentiation, *NOS-1* nitric oxide synthase-1, *NE* neuronal excitability, *ARC*

activity-regulated cytoskeleton-associated protein, *FOS* transcription factor FOS, *GABA-A* gaba A receptor type, $5HT_{IA}$ serotoninergic 1A receptor type, αl GABA-A receptor subunit alfa 1. Colored dots (green, red, orange, and magenta) indicate different neurotransmitters release

hippocampal (HP) neurons encode configuration items and events in the spatial and temporal context in which they were experienced, a central feature of episodic recollection [77]. Specifically, the dentate gyrus (DG) has been described as a HP subregion with high rates of plasticity, and it is targeted by different psychoactive drugs modulating synaptic plasticity [78]. The long-term potentiation (LTP) in the hippocampus, an enduring increase in the efficacy of glutamatergic synaptic transmission, is accepted as a molecular mechanism for memory storage in the brain in which contextual cues are relevant [79–82].

It has been described that development of tolerance and dependence to DZ administration are caused by learning and memory phenomena, where the hippocampus has an essential role [83]. Rapid tolerance to the sedative effects of DZ has been linked to an enhanced HP DG synaptic plasticity, measured as a reduced threshold to induce LTP [84]. It has been also related to an increased mRNA expression of NR1 and NR2B N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDA) subunits [85]. NMDA receptors constituted by these particular subunits are the most efficient type, because overexpression of the recombinant NR1/NR2B subunits results in a prolonged opening of the NMDA receptor channel and in an enhanced NMDA receptor activation in individual synapses [86].

Similar results have been found after development of DZ dependence by repeated long-term administration (18 days). During dependence, manifested by drug discontinuation, in which animals exhibit withdrawal signs such as anxiety, a facilitated threshold to induce LTP in the HP DG was also present [87]. Furthermore, increased immediate-early gene activity-regulated cytoskeleton-associated protein (Arc) positive cells were observed in this brain structure [70]. Arc is one of the proteins involved in processes of synaptic plasticity that are induced by neuronal activity linked to spatial learning and memory [88], promoting local expansion of the actin cytoskeleton [89]. Moreover, persistent activation of the brain-specific atypical protein kinase M zeta (PKMz) is also necessary and sufficient for maintenance of an HP LTP [90, 91]. Sustained Arc synthesis is necessary for LTP maintenance, and it has been suggested as a sequential mechanism of LTP maintenance in which Arc-dependent actin stabilization promotes PKMz synthesis and expression of enduring LTP [89, 92].

Another important player in neuronal excitability and synaptic plasticity in HP and other brain areas is the gaseous neurotransmitter nitric oxide (NO) [93]. NO is a diffusible neuromodulator synthesized in the brain mainly by the neuronal NO synthase enzyme (NOS-1) following NMDA receptor activation [94], and it is involved in a variety of physiological and pathophysiological processes including learning and memory [95], anxiety [96], and neuroadaptations induced by different addictive drugs [97-103], among others [104-106]. Furthermore, inhibition of NO synthesis attenuates pentetrazole-induced withdrawal syndrome in DZ-dependent mice [99]. Recent findings showed that pre-exposure to drug administration context at the end of long-term DZ treatment not only prevented withdrawal symptoms but also reduced NOS-1 protein levels within the dorsal HP [69]. The dorsal HP is a region primarily involved in the cognitive process of learning and memory [107], and it is important to note that the decrease in NOS-1 protein levels was only observed in this region and not in ventral HP. Furthermore, these reduced NOS-1 protein levels and probably a diminished NO availability within dorsal HP could be a compensatory mechanism to reduce HP synaptic plasticity and to avoid the expression of the "anxiety-like" behavior [69].

Most of the changes induced by DZ after tolerance or dependence within the hippocampus described above were prevented or reversed by either in vivo NMDA antagonist systemic administration [108], intra-HP PKMz inhibition [71], pre-exposure to the drug administration context [65], or alteration in the contextual cues present during the withdrawal experience [64]. All together, these results have pointed out that the increased plasticity observed in the hippocampus, concomitant to the development of tolerance, dependence, and withdrawal, may be the neurobiological substrate underlying the behavioral alterations observed as a consequence of repeated DZ administration.

Locus Coeruleus

Locus coeruleus (LC), the major noradrenergic (NA) nucleus in the pons, is also activated during DZ withdrawal after repeated long-term administration. This structure participates in a wide range of brain functions and behaviors, such as the sleepwaking cycle [109], neural plasticity [110–112], drug abuse [113], and stress responses [114]. The NA system has been proposed to modulate several cognitive functions, including learning and attention involved in arousal and vigilance [112, 115]. Furthermore, the participation of the NA system in promoting a full withdrawal syndrome after the long-term use of BZD has been well established in many studies [116]. It has been shown that DZ dependent rats after chronic administration increased the in vivo number of spontaneously active cell/track and the firing rate within LC neuronal spontaneous activity when compared to controls or to rats without physical signs of withdrawal [87].

This enhanced LC activity taken together with biochemical studies in both humans and animals showing that BZD withdrawal was associated with increased NE levels [117] may account for both physical withdrawal symptoms (involving the autonomic function) and the increased HP synaptic plasticity. Accordingly, it has been demonstrated on HP slices from adult rats that the perfusion of adrenergic agonists promotes lasting synaptic plasticity in the adult CNS [118].

Prefrontal Cortex

It is known that the mPFC, hippocampus, and amygdala are key structures necessary for the execution of memory- and anxiety-related behaviors. The CA1/subicular region of the ventral hippocampus plays an important role in the acquisition of spatial memory [119]. Furthermore, this region is connected to the mPFC [120], and this connection could contribute to the encoding of spatial information [121]. Parts of the prefrontal cortex, including the prelimbic region, have been reported to be involved in the production of fear- and anxiety-related behaviors [122, 123]. Then, the connections in the HP-mPFC-amygdala pathway may be necessary for memory-dependent emotional regulation, processes that occur during BZD withdrawal. Nevertheless, only a few studies were performed until now showing the impact of BZD long-term treatment within the mPFC structure or physiology.

It has been shown that withdrawal from chronic DZ administration in rats induces an increase in neuronal activation only in the prelimbic cortex from the mPFC, assessed by Foslike immunoreactivity as a marker of the neuronal activation [124]. Furthermore, a marked decrease in the density of dendritic spines in apical dendrites from pyramidal neurons of the cingulate cortex was observed specifically in layer V after similar treatments in mice [125].

On the other hand, long-term treatment of rats with increasing doses of diazepam or triazolam for 10-14 days proved to induce anticonvulsant tolerance and decreased expression of mRNA and protein encoding for the $\alpha 1$ GABA_A receptor subunit in prefrontal cortex [9, 126, 127]. This receptor subunit has also suggested mediating the sedative, amnesic, and anticonvulsant actions of classical benzodiazepines [128, 129]. In line with these results, an association between alterations of acetylated histone H3 and long-term BZD-induced downregulation of GABAA receptor subunit expression has been reported. Specifically, a decrease in the expression of $\alpha 1$ GABA_A receptor subunit mRNA and promoter acetylation in mPFC was associated with long-term treatment with DZ. Also, 10 days of DZ treatment increased the expression of histone deacetylase (HDAC) 1 and 2 in mPFC. Thus, the increased expression of HDAC1 and HDAC2 (class 1 HDACs) and consequently increased histone deacetylation mechanism of this class 1 HDACs may underlie long-term DZ-induced decreased expression of the $\alpha 1$ GABA_A receptor subunit mRNA in frontal cortex [130].

Considering the importance of the mPFC both in the expression of the BZD withdrawal symptoms and in the mechanism underlying dependence, withdrawal, and probably addiction to BZD, it is important to arrow new studies in this particular brain area.

Dorsal Raphe Nucleus

The forebrain 5-HT system, commonly referred to the dorsal raphe nucleus (DRN), is implicated in many aspects of the cerebral function, including emotion and fear processing, cognition, movement, and regulation of the sleep-wake cycle [131–133]. 5-HT has been implicated in the control of a wide variety of psychiatric functions, with dysfunction of the 5-HT system thought to be involved in the development and/or progression of neuropsychiatric disorders including depression and anxiety [134, 135]. Furthermore, it has been postulated that the anxiety occurring during DZ withdrawal is mediated by an increased 5-HT release in the hippocampus [136]. In fact, DZ withdrawal after chronic administration in rats induced increased number of spontaneously active cells per track on DRN and the number of neurons firing between 1.01 and 1.50 spike/sec [137]. Additionally, hypersensitivity of somatodendritic serotonin 5-HT1A receptors was observed after repeated DZ [138], while the 5-HT1A agonist, 8-OH DPAT, during DZ withdrawal not only dose-dependently reversed anxiety but also decreased the DRN firing rate and hence the release of 5-HT in the dorsal hippocampus. These results provide clear evidence that the DRN-dorsal HP 5-HT pathway is at least one of the pathways playing an important role in mediating DZ withdrawal-induced anxiety [139]. Furthermore, pretreatment with MK-801 during DZ chronic administration impaired both the development of anxiety signs during DZ withdrawal and the increase in electrical activity within the DRN [137]. Serotonin systems have been implicated in the regulation of HP synaptic transmission [111, 140, 141]. Then, the increased DRN neuronal activity may result in a facilitation of the HP synaptic transmission during withdrawal from chronic DZ administration previously described [141–143].

Amygdala

Amygdala is a key brain structure in the modulation of emotional behavior [123, 144–147] and particularly in the Pavlovian aversive learning [148–150]. The basolateral complex (BLA) receives relevant information from the environment via HP, thalamic, and cortical afferents [151, 152]. In turn, the BLA projects to the central nucleus of the amygdala, which then projects to midbrain and brainstem areas involved in the coordination of endocrine, somatic, and behavioral responses to aversive stimulation characteristic of fear and anxiety [146, 152, 153]. Withdrawal from repeated BZD administration may induce exaggerated emotional responses and stress-induced behavioral deficits lasting several days after the interruption of chronic BZD [154-156]. The long-lasting occurrence of exaggerated emotional reactions to mild aversive stimulation could be an additional component of BZD withdrawal [154]. It has been demonstrated that withdrawn rats from chronic DZ display enhanced fear learning and also show increased neuronal excitability and facilitated LTP in BLA together with a disinhibition of BLA projection neurons, caused in pyramidal neurons by suppression of IPSPs generated by recurrent activation of GABAergic interneurons [157]. All this changes favor multiple firing in response to cortical afferent activity and greater synaptic plasticity that probably underlies the increased aversive learning observed during DZ withdrawal [158]. This neuronal hyperactivity is consistent and enhanced Fos-like immunoreactivity [159] as well as increased glucose use following flumazenilprecipitated withdrawal [160] and reduced mRNA levels of glutamatergic AMPA receptors subunits in the amygdala nuclei [161].

On the other hand, a recent study showed that chronic DZ administration on the mouse brain induced alterations in the expression levels of 177 genes corresponding to protein-coding genes and also non-protein-coding genes. Most of the non-protein-coding genes detected in the hippocampus and amygdala (78.4% and 90%, respectively) were downregulated. Interestingly, the lipocain-2 (Lcn2), known member of the lipocalin family of transport proteins [162–164], which are related to iron transport, were upregulated in both the amygdala and hippocampus [165]. In the CNS, Lcn2 released from injured neurons activates microglia and astrocytes [166]. Activated microglia secretes Lcn2 and sensitizes themselves to apoptosis [167] and promotes neuronal death [168] and also is involved in the structural plasticity of neurons such as reductions in spine density [125]. All these data suggest that chronic DZ administration may also disrupt iron homeostasis particularly in brain areas related to cognition and learning and further support recent clinical studies revealing that BZD overuse is associated with an increased risk of Alzheimer's disease [169–171]

Benzodiazepines Effects Within the Natural Reword System

As it was mentioned before, drug addiction is defined as the loss of control over the intense urges to take drugs even at the expense of adverse consequences. Such loss of control may develop as a result of deregulation of the dopaminergic reward system in the brain [172]. The VTA and the NAc are part of the mesolimbic system, which is an integral component of brain reward system. Dopamine (DA) neurons within the VTA provide one of the major sources of DA to limbic structures, including the NAc. Anatomically, VTA is constituted of a heterogeneous population of DA, GABA, and Glu neurons. DA neurons represent the majority of the VTA cells, while GABA and Glu neurons account for 35% and 2-5% of the total respectively population, [173–179]. Moreover, it seems that some VTA neurons corelease multiple neurotransmitters, jeopardizing their neurochemical classifications. For instance, VTA DA neurons that project to the NAc and dorsal striatum can co-release DA and GABA or DA and Glu from the same axons [176, 180-182]. Interestingly, VTA neurons that project to the lateral habenula have been shown to corelease GABA and Glu, thus sending mixed inhibitory/excitatory signals [183]. Similarly, a functional connection in which VTA neurons corelease both GABA and Glu in the HP DG has been recently described [184]. In spite of the complexity of the VTA neurotransmission, it is a fact that DA participates in the encoding of reinforcement and learning [185].

A common particularity of addictive drugs is that they all target the VTA and acutely increase extracellular levels of DA within the VTA and target regions [186, 187]. Drugs of abuse may induce these DA increments by reducing GABA interneurons activity within the VTA leading to a disinhibition of DA main VTA neurons (i.e., opioids [188] and cannabinoids [189]); by activating directly DA neurons (nicotine [190]); by affecting the DA transporter located at the terminals of DA neurons either by blocking it (cocaine) or reversing its activity (amphetamines) [191]; or by inhibition of the DA metabolic enzyme, the monoaminooxidase (MAO; like amphetamine) [192]. Unlike natural rewards, addictive drugs always cause an increase in DA levels upon drug exposure even after repeated trials [193]. This interruption of normal DA signaling mechanisms may allow addictive drugs to hijack the reward system and lead to the malfunction of mechanisms controlling learning and memory [10].

Recent findings have demonstrated that BZD engage pharmacological and cellular mechanisms in the mesolimbic DA system [194, 195] that are similar in nature to those which have previously been identified for other drugs of abuse, because they are able to induce an indirect increase in extracellular DA levels by reducing GABA interneurons activity and thereby disinhibiting DA neurons [195]. The pharmacological effects of BZD depend crucially on α subunit isoform identity. For example, much of the literature suggests that subtypes containing $\alpha 1$ subunits mediate their reinforcing and sedative effects, whereas subtypes containing $\alpha 2/\alpha 3$ subunits have been implicated in the anxiolytic effects [195–198]. For these reasons, novel GABA_A positive alosteric modulator selective for $\alpha 2/\alpha 3$ -containing compounds GABA_A receptors might have a lower abuse liability while still producing therapeutic effects such as anxiolysis [12, 196]. Indeed, the acute effects of BZD depend on the brain area in which they are administered. For instance, injection of dipotassium chlorazepate has a differential behavioral profile, leading to anxiolytic effects (mediated by its injection within the amygdala) or anxiogenic effects (mediated by its administration within PFC or Hip) [199].

Various non-selective positive alosteric modulators such as DZ and midazolam are selfadministered across a wide range of reinforcement schedules in multiple species [195, 200-203]. They are rewarding in conditioned place preference paradigm [204] and able to increase the rate of responding for and to decrease the threshold of the intracranial self-stimulation reward [198]. Then, reinforcers such as DZ and zolpidem, similarly to the other drugs of abuse, were shown to induce plasticity in the glutamatergic synapses contacting VTA DA neurons [194]. Particularly, BZD induced an LTP that was prevented by coadministration of the BZD antagonist flumazenil and by the NMDA receptor antagonist dizocilpine [194]. BZD-induced LTP in VTA DA neurons was associated with insertion of new AMPA receptors with specific subunit composition (GluA2-lacking), and intra-VTA local network was sufficient for the LTP induction via inhibition of VTA GABA interneurons [195].

The studies related to how chronic BZD exposure can affect remodeling and plasticity of brain reward circuitry have not been investigated as deeply as for many drugs of abuse, including cocaine, morphine, and nicotine. It is necessary to know how they can affect the physiology not only of the VTA but also the NAc, the PFC, and many other brain regions. Those experiments will be important for determining the commonalities that BZD share with other addictive drugs, as well as for identifying the specific attributes that make them unique. Recent data described below reveal how BZD, acting through specific GABA_A receptor subtypes, activate midbrain DA neurons and how this may hijack the mesolimbic reward system. Such findings have important implications for the future drug design with reduced or even absent addiction liability [10].

Pharmacological or Behavioral Strategies to Treat Benzodiazepines Withdrawal

When clinical data are observed regarding management of BZD withdrawal, physicians prefer to utilize a gradual dose taper to avoid withdrawal symptoms in order to favor patient compliance to BZD discontinuation, although withdrawal symptoms occur even with slow dose taper from relatively low doses of BZD [205–207]. However, it can be seen a lot of effort focused on potential pharmacological treatments, considering the extensive list of investigated compounds for the treatment of BZD withdrawal, but unfortunately there is not an effective pharmacological therapy yet available.

Pharmacological Treatments

A large number of drugs have been used to alleviate, reverse, or prevent BZD withdrawal symptoms in animals (Table 19.1), considering all the evidence regarding the mechanisms that underlie BZD dependence and withdrawal and the brain structures involved (see section "Repeated Benzodiazepines-Induced Alterations in Brain Structures Related to Learning and Memory"). It has been shown that drugs with good anxiolytic and anticonvulsant effects such as the partial positive modulators abecarnil and Ro 19-8022 are also effective in reducing withdrawal symptoms from traditional BZD [207]. Mice withdrawn from 12-day daily alprazolam treatment showed increased anxiety-like behavior, muscle tone, and seizures between day 1 and day 28 after drug discontinuation. The development of these withdrawal symptoms was prevented if alprazolam treatment was followed by 1-week treatment with abecarnil. On the other hand, mice withdrawn for 72 h from 8-day alprazolam treatment showed less social behavior and were more aggressive. An acute administration of Ro 19-8022 reversed these behavioral withdrawal signs, without causing side effects such as sedation or ataxia [208]. However, these replacement treatments should be examined carefully before being recommended for therapy of BZD dependence and withdrawal in humans, because BZD might have addictive potential themselves [207], as it was previously discussed.

On the other hand, serotoninergic partial agonists have been also tested considering that this neurotransmitter system has also a role in BZD withdrawal expression, because 5-HT1A agonists reverse anxiety and decrease the DRN firing rate. Co-administration of buspirone, a 5-HT1A partial agonist, with DZ for 7 days increased the incidence of withdrawal-induced convulsions [209]. Other study also reported that withdrawal from 7-day DZ treatment, buspirone failed to

г	. 1	1	1

Citation	BZD treatment and duration	Withdrawal treatment (WT)	WT duration	Withdrawal signs or behavioral test	Experimental subject
Pinna 1997 [100].	Alprazolam 6 mg/kg Twice daily for 12 days Subcutaneous injections	Abecarnil 6 mg/kg	7 days Daily subcutaneous injections	Anxiety-like behavior Muscle tone Seizures	Male mice 20–24 g
Krsiak, M. 1998 [208]	Alprazolam 1 mg/kg Twice daily for 8 days Oral administration	Ro19-8022 10 mg/ Kg	One oral administration	Anxiety- aggression Social and aggressive behavior	Male mice 18–20 g
File SE. 1991 [213]	Diazepam 2 mg/Kg/ day 21 days Intraperitoneal injection	Buspirone 200 µg/ Kg	One s.c. administration	Anxiety/social interaction Elevated plus maze	Male hooded Lister rats 180 g
Tsuda M. 1998 [222]	Diazepam oral administration in DZ-admixed food Increasing concentrations (1–12 mg/g) 30 days	MK-801 0.05 and 0.1 mg/Kg	One i.p. administration	Motor, emotional, and autonomic withdrawal signs Body weight loss	Male Fischer 344 rats
Galpern WR. 1991 [226]	Alprazolam 2 mg/kg/ day 7 days	Carbamazepine, 25 or 100 mg/kg/day	7 days	Open-field activity	Mice
Martijena ID. 1997 [155]	Diazepam 2 mg/Kg/ day 21 days Intraperitoneal administration	Carbamazepine, 7.5 mg/kg, i.p.	One administration	Forced swim test. Active avoidance test	Male Wistar rats 220–260 g

 Table 19.1
 Experimental pharmacological strategies to treat BZD withdrawal signs in animals after different BZD chronic exposure

reverse anxiety-like behavior in the social interaction test in rats, in the light/dark transition test in mice, and in the withdrawal-induced weight loss [210]. These findings are in agreement with clinical studies as buspirone failed to reverse or prevent BZD withdrawal symptoms in humans [211, 212]. However, positive results have been obtained when the administration of low doses of buspirone reversed anxiogenic responses in the elevated plus maze and in the social interaction test in rats withdrawn for 24 h from 21-day DZ treatment, while higher doses were anxiogenic in both withdrawn and control rats [136, 213]. Physicians would be unlikely to prescribe 5-HT1A agonists to outpatients if there is a risk of aggravation of withdrawal symptoms at higher doses. Moreover, buspirone has been shown to have no benefit [212] and sometimes to

aggravate BZD withdrawal symptoms in humans [211]. In addition, clinical practice has shown that prior BZD experience may attenuate the anxiolytic actions of buspirone and other 5-HT1A agonists [212]. These evidences suggest that 5-HT1A agonists are probably of limited value in the treatment of BZD dependence and withdrawal [207].

Another neurotransmitter involved in BZD withdrawal is NA. In humans, propranolol, a β NA receptor antagonist, has been shown to relieve autonomic withdrawal symptoms such as palpitations and tremor, all mediated by increased noradrenergic activity, with little effects on anxiety [214, 215]. Furthermore, propranolol and clonidine, an α 2NA receptor agonist, failed to suppress the anxiogenic withdrawal reaction detected 24 h after cessation of 4-week chlordiazepoxide

treatment in rats [216]. Thus, blockade of NA neurotransmission with $\alpha 2$ agonists and β antagonists appears to have little effect on anxiety as the predominant symptom of BZ withdrawal and limits their use as add-on therapies for BZD withdrawal.

The excitatory amino acid neurotransmitter Glu, particularly acting on NMDA receptors, is believed to contribute to the neurobiology of anxiety disorders [217–219]. NMDA receptor antagonists evidenced anticonvulsant, muscle relaxant, and anxiolytic properties in animal models [217, 220]. Moreover, DZ chronic treatment has been reported to induce upregulation of NMDA receptors [64, 221]. Rats withdrawn from DZ for 72 h showed tremor, muscle rigidity, reduced body weight, and emotional responses such as vocalization and aggression and also had reduced seizure threshold. Administration of MK-801, a non-competitive NMDA antagonist, during the withdrawal period had a protective effect on the withdrawal [222, signs expression 223]. Although NMDA antagonists showed to be effective in the treatment of BZD withdrawal in animals, they can produce muscle relaxation and ataxia [220, 224], that might limit their use for treatment of any condition where motor impairment is undesirable. In fact, it is difficult to establish whether the decrease in withdrawalinduced anxiety following treatment with NMDA antagonists actually reflects a therapeutic success [225] or whether these effects are merely secondary to the muscle relaxation and ataxia caused by these drugs [207]. Although a low dose of MK-801 was able to prevent development of tolerance to the sedative effects of DZ when it was administered together with DZ, without inducing motor effects [108].

The anticonvulsant carbamazepine has also been shown to have benefit in reducing the symptoms of BZD withdrawal in humans. Furthermore, carbamazepine given for 7 days following withdrawal from 7-day alprazolam treatment attenuated manifestation of withdrawal-induced hyperactivity in open-field test and BZD receptor upregulation in the cortex and hypothalamus. Interestingly, large variability in the response between animals was found in this study [226], similar to that found in humans [227]. Also, a single carbamazepine administration to rats withdrawn for 96 h from 21-day DZ treatment reversed impairments in the forced swim test and in the active avoidance paradigm [155].

The mechanism of action of carbamazepine on BZD withdrawal symptoms remains unknown. The ability of carbamazepine to inhibit electrical excitation in the limbic system may play an important role [228]. Another possible mechanism that has been proposed belongs to inhibition of sodium channel-mediated neurotransmitter release [229]. Carbamazepine is an anticonvulsant and thus can protect against withdrawalinduced seizures. It has also been found to increase open-arm activity in the elevated plus maze in rats [230], suggesting that it may also possess anxiolytic properties.

It also appears to be effective in treating BZD withdrawal in several clinical studies [227, 231, 232]. Patients receiving carbamazepine prior to or during withdrawal from BZD had more rapid and better-tolerated discontinuation with less intense withdrawal symptoms than if gradual taper was used alone [227, 233]. These results support carbamazepine as a possible pharmacological tool in the therapy of BZ withdrawal. On the other hand, the variability in responses to carbamazepine in mice [226] and in humans [227] might indicate that it can be useful only in some individuals. Unfortunately, the characteristics of patients most likely to respond to carbamazepine in the treatment of BZ withdrawal remain unknown.

Behavioral Strategies

Since pharmacological strategies showed partial or non-efficacy for treatment of BZD dependence, behavioral or cognitive approaches are the focus of alternative strategies to treat or prevent symptom of BZD withdrawal (Table 19.2). In the case of the insomnia, guidelines recommend limiting the use of BZD hypnotics to 4 weeks [234, 235]. Nevertheless, BZD use is often prolonged because insomnia is a chronic problem [236]. The usual clinical management of BZD dependence is gradual tapering, but 50–60% of users resume use of their medication during the month following the end of the withdrawal period [237].

	BZD	BZD drug factors			Mean age	
	withdrawal		Dose mg/	Study	Years	
Citation	sign	Duration (SD)	day (DE)	size (n)	(SD)	WT used
Baillargeon L. 2003 [238]	Insomnia	152 [122] months	6.3 [4.1]	65	67.4 [6.8]	Efficacy of taper ± CBT
Morin CM. 2004 [239]	Insomnia	19.3[10.3] years	9.54 [6.13]	76	62.5 [6.3]	Effectiveness of taper or CBT alone or in combination
O'Connor K. 2008 [241].	Anxiety disorder Insomnia Anxiety and insomnia	11.45 [9.96] years	14.77 [12.6]	41	48.22 [9.5]	Effectiveness of treatment-as-usual group
		6.55 [4.99] years	11.84 [13.2]	22	48.19 [9.8]	Effectiveness of group support only
		7.84 [8.01] years	12.98 [10.6]	23	47.35 [9.9]	Effectiveness of cognitive behavioral therapy plus group support

Table 19.2 Behavioral treatments used in clinical studies to treat BZD withdrawal signs

Some evidences indicate that simply encouraging patients to reduce medications has little effect; rather, setting up a medication taper schedule with weekly visits to assess progress is necessary to achieve significant reductions of hypnotic use. In addition, while such a supervised medication tapering regimen is essential in the initial discontinuation phase, it may not be sufficient to keep patients from taking these medications in the long term because of persistent sleep disturbances.

The addition of behavioral treatment specifically targeting insomnia symptoms may attenuate withdrawal symptoms (e.g., rebound insomnia) and prevent relapse [238]. On the other hand, comprising cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT) and a gradual tapering of benzodiazepine hypnotics have demonstrated the superiority of a combined intervention, over the usual clinical approach (tapering alone) for people with chronic insomnia who had been using medication for a long-term period. The benefits in terms of BZD cessation were still present 1 year after the end of the intervention. The CBT was provided in small groups rather than individually, and the intervention involved behavioral, cognitive, and educational components. The goal was to reinforce the bed as a contextual cue for sleep and to regularize sleep rhythm. Participants were instructed to go to bed only when sleepy, to go into another room when they could not fall asleep, to use the bedroom only for sleeping, and to get up at the same time every morning and to avoid day time naps. Sleep restriction consisted of curtailing the time spent in bed to the amount of time actually spent sleeping. At the end of treatment, the 77% of participants in the combined treatment group reported a completed reduction of the BZD hypnotic dosage, while in tapering-alone group only 38% of participants reported the same result [238].

Another similar study evaluates the efficacy of three interventions (supervised medication taper, CBT, and a combination of the two approaches) for BZD discontinuation in older adults and to examine their short- and long-term effects on subjective and objective sleep patterns, as recorded by patients' sleep diaries and electroencephalography, respectively. They demonstrated that all three groups had significant decreases in the frequency of medicated nights, being lower in the combined CBT and medication taper group than in the group that received medication taper alone. Furthermore, the 63% of the patients were drug-free at posttreatment. The proportion of drug-free patients was significantly higher in the combined CBT and medication taper group (85.2%) than in the medication taper group (48%) and the CBT group (54.2%) [239]. It is important to highlight that participants were healthy and relatively "young" older adults who were willing and motivated to discontinue their BZD medication. With one or two exceptions, the participants were not abusing BZD medication in the sense of exceeding the recommended dose [240].

BZD are not only used for sleep disorders, and different strategies for discontinuation of BZD were evaluated when the participants have been treated for insomnia, panic with agoraphobia, generalized anxiety disorder, social phobia, specific phobia, and adaptation problems with anxious mood. Participants received treatment as usual (taper only) plus physician counseling in the same clinic setting, CBT plus taper, or group support (GS) plus taper [241]. In this study CBT was divided into three sections, covering preparation, severance, and maintaining abstinence. The therapy aimed to enhance selfefficacy principally through normalizing expectancies of withdrawal and attributions of withdrawal; through boosting confidence in coping without BZD, coping with anxious inhibiting situations; and through developing a belief in capacity to function autonomously from BZD. In the GS no CBT strategies were presented, and exchanges took the form of openended discussion on themes such as "What is anxiety?" Here no direct action or strategy to deal with any problems was suggested. Any requests for specific help were deflected back to the group. The principal difference with CBT was in the lack of any specific directions for changing thoughts and behaviors. The outcomes in both the CBT and the GS subgroups were equivalent and showed a significant increase in state of quality of life, although the CBT group had less abandons and showed higher self-efficacy after BZD taper. Over all 86 participants, a high-baseline level of psychological distress, anxiety, and dosage predicted a poor outcome, but increase in self-efficacy achieved with the CBT therapy contributed to a successful outcome [241]. Therefore, it can be observed that CBT strategy has a preponderant effect in generating increases in the confidence of individuals to make decisions in difficult situations and in this way facilitate BZD discontinuation. Applying this multidisciplinary approach in the community could help reduce BZD use by older people and prevent health problems related to these medications [238].

Final Remarks

At the beginning of BZD discovery and pharmacological optimization, these compounds were considered safe because they had no apparent side effects. Chlordiazepoxide (Librium) was the first BZD approved for use in 1960, and rapidly they were the most prescribed drugs in America, with more than 2.3 billion tablets sold in 1978. Their high therapeutic index, availability of the antagonist flumazenil in case of overdose, and their rapid onset of action make these compounds particularly versatile and difficult to replace in clinical psychiatry. Nevertheless, their prolonged use may induce tolerance to some of their effects, liability for physical dependence, and abuse potential. Then, physicians should evaluate to prescribe BZD under the light of recent advances in the knowledge of the risks and benefits of these compounds, also considering potential misuse on the basis of the patient's attitude, personality, and pathological behavior [242, 243]. However, many patients could misuse or abuse BZD by themselves due to dependence generated by chronic use or to attenuate symptoms of the withdrawal syndrome without proper medical guidance.

In order to reduce BZD side effects, in the literature it can be found that a considerable amount of studies focused on developing effective treatments for BZD therapy discontinuation, dependence, withdrawal, or even addiction. Nowadays, even though there are not 100% effective therapies, some strategies have been able to demonstrate positive results for many patients. Combined gradual tapering and cognitive-behavioral therapies are considered first line of treatment chosen in the clinics, rather than the available pharmacological strategies, that may be used as add-on therapy together with the first line.

References

 Dickinson B, Rush PA, Radcliffe AB. Alprazolam use and dependence. A retrospective analysis of 30 cases of withdrawal. West J Med. 1990;152(5):604– 8. PubMed PMID: 2349800. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC1002418. Epub 1990/05/01. eng.

- Quaglio G, Pattaro C, Gerra G, Mathewson S, Verbanck P, Des Jarlais DC, et al. High dose benzodiazepine dependence: description of 29 patients treated with flumazenil infusion and stabilised with clonazepam. Psychiatry Res. 2012;198(3):457–62. PubMed PMID: 22424905. Epub 2012/03/20. eng.
- Galduroz JC, Noto AR, Nappo SA, Carlini EA. [Use of psychotropic drugs in Brazil: household survey in the 107 biggest Brazilian cities--2001]. Revista latino-americana de enfermagem. 2005;13 Spec No:888–95. PubMed PMID: 16400456. Epub 2006/01/10. Uso de drogas psicotropicas no Brasil: pesquisa domiciliar envolvendo as 107 maiores cidades do pais--2001. por.
- Chebib M, Johnston GA. The 'ABC' of GABA receptors: a brief review. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol. 1999;26(11):937–40. PubMed PMID: 10561820. Epub 1999/11/24. eng.
- Drew CA, Johnston GA, Weatherby RP. Bicucullineinsensitive GABA receptors: studies on the binding of (-)-baclofen to rat cerebellar membranes. Neurosci Lett. 1984;52(3):317–21. PubMed PMID: 6097844. Epub 1984/12/21. eng.
- Bettler B, Kaupmann K, Mosbacher J, Gassmann M. Molecular structure and physiological functions of GABA(B) receptors. Physiol Rev. 2004;84(3):835–67. PubMed PMID: 15269338. Epub 2004/07/23. eng.
- Sieghart W, Fuchs K, Tretter V, Ebert V, Jechlinger M, Hoger H, et al. Structure and subunit composition of GABA(A) receptors. Neurochem Int. 1999;34(5):379–85. PubMed PMID: 10397365. Epub 1999/07/09. eng.
- Korpi ER, Sinkkonen ST. GABA(A) receptor subtypes as targets for neuropsychiatric drug development. Pharmacol Ther. 2006;109(1–2):12–32. PubMed PMID: 15996746. Epub 2005/07/06. eng.
- Uusi-Oukari M, Korpi ER. Regulation of GABA(A) receptor subunit expression by pharmacological agents. Pharmacol Rev. 2010;62(1):97–135. PubMed PMID: 20123953. Epub 2010/02/04. eng.
- Tan KR, Rudolph U, Luscher C. Hooked on benzodiazepines: GABAA receptor subtypes and addiction. Trends Neurosci. 2011;34(4):188–97. PubMed PMID: 21353710. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4020178. Epub 2011/03/01. eng.
- Sigel E, Buhr A. The benzodiazepine binding site of GABAA receptors. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 1997;18(11):425–9. PubMed PMID: 942647. Epub 1998/01/14. eng.
- Mohler H. GABA(A) receptor diversity and pharmacology. Cell Tissue Res. 2006;326(2):505–16. PubMed PMID: 16937111. Epub 2006/08/29. eng.
- Wieland HA, Luddens H, Seeburg PH. A single histidine in GABAA receptors is essential for benzodiazepine agonist binding. J Biol Chem. 1992;267(3):1426–9. PubMed PMID: 1346133. Epub 1992/01/25. eng.
- 14. Vikander B, Koechling UM, Borg S, Tonne U, Hiltunen AJ. Benzodiazepine tapering: a prospec-

tive study. Nord J Psychiatry. 2010;64(4):273–82. PubMed PMID: 2062961. Epub 2010/07/16. eng.

- Vicens C, Bejarano F, Sempere E, Mateu C, Fiol F, Socias I, et al. Comparative efficacy of two interventions to discontinue long-term benzodiazepine use: cluster randomised controlled trial in primary care. Br J Psychiatry J Ment Sci. 2014;204(6):471– 9. PubMed PMID: 24526745. Epub 2014/02/15. eng.
- Hyman I. KTaCR. Effective interventions to manage symptoms of benzodiazepine withdrawal in seniors. In: toxicomanies CCoSACcdlcl, editor. . Toronto: e Evidence Exchange Network (EENet); 2014. p. 9.
- Woods JH, Katz JL, Winger G. Benzodiazepines: use, abuse, and consequences. Pharmacol Rev. 1992;44(2):151–347. PubMed PMID: 1356276. Epub 1992/06/01. eng.
- Quality CfBHSa. 2016 national survey on drug use and health: detailed tables. In: Administration SAaMHS, editor. . Rockville: U.S. Department of Health & Human Services; 2017.
- Blanco C, Alderson D, Ogburn E, Grant BF, Nunes EV, Hatzenbuehler ML, et al. Changes in the prevalence of non-medical prescription drug use and drug use disorders in the United States: 1991-1992 and 2001-2002. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2007;90(2– 3):252–60. PubMed PMID: 17513069. Epub 2007/05/22. eng.
- Quality CfBHSa. Treatment Episode Data Set (TEDS): 2003-2013. National admissions to substance abuse treatment services. In: Administration SAaMHS, editor. Rockville: U.S. Department of Health & Human Services; 2015.
- 21. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration DAWN. National estimates of drugrelated emergency department visits. In: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration DAWN, editor. Rockville: U.S. Department of Health & Human Services; 2013.
- Jones CM, McAninch JK. Emergency department visits and overdose deaths from combined use of opioids and benzodiazepines. Am J Prev Med. 2015;49(4):493–501. PubMed PMID: 26143953. Epub 2015/07/07. eng.
- Rudd RA, Aleshire N, Zibbell JE, Gladden RM. Increases in drug and opioid overdose deaths--United States, 2000-2014. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2016;64(50–51):1378–82. PubMed PMID: 26720857. Epub 2016/01/01. eng.
- (CDC) CfDCaP. Vital signs: overdoses of prescription opioid pain relievers---United States, 1999--2008. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2011;60(43):1487–92. PubMed PMID: 22048730. Epub 2011/11/04. eng.
- McCabe SE, Teter CJ, Boyd CJ. Illicit use of prescription pain medication among college students. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2005;77(1):37–47. PubMed PMID: 15607840. Epub 2004/12/21. eng.
- 26. Boyd CJ, Esteban McCabe S, Teter CJ. Medical and nonmedical use of prescription pain medication by

youth in a Detroit-area public school district. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2006;81(1):37–45. PubMed PMID: 16040201. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC1785363. Epub 2005/07/26. eng.

- McCabe SE, West BT, Teter CJ, Boyd CJ. Medical and nonmedical use of prescription opioids among high school seniors in the United States. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2012;166(9):797–802. PubMed PMID: 22566521. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3416923. Epub 2012/05/09. eng.
- Young AM, Glover N, Havens JR. Nonmedical use of prescription medications among adolescents in the United States: a systematic review. J Adolesc Health. 2012;51(1):6–17. PubMed PMID: 22727071. Epub 2012/06/26. eng.
- Qato DM, Alexander GC, Conti RM, Johnson M, Schumm P, Lindau ST. Use of prescription and overthe-counter medications and dietary supplements among older adults in the United States. JAMA. 2008;300(24):2867–78. PubMed PMID: 19109115. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2702513. Epub 2008/12/26. eng.
- Wang R, Chen L, Fan L, Gao D, Liang Z, He J, et al. Incidence and effects of polypharmacy on clinical outcome among patients aged 80+: a five-year follow-up study. PLoS One. 2015;10(11):e0142123. PubMed PMID: 26554710. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4640711. Epub 2015/11/12. eng.
- 31. Manchikanti KN, Manchikanti L, Damron KS, Pampati V, Fellows B. Increasing deaths from opioid analgesics in the United States: an evaluation in an interventional pain management practice. J Opioid Manag. 2008;4(5):271–83. PubMed PMID: 19070265. Epub 2008/12/17. eng.
- Welch TR, Rumack BH, Hammond K. Clonazepam overdose resulting in cyclic coma. Clin Toxicol. 1977;10(4):433–6. PubMed PMID: 862377. Epub 1977/01/01. eng.
- Scholl L, Seth P, Kariisa M, Wilson N, Baldwin G. Drug and opioid-involved overdose deaths -United States, 2013-2017. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2018;67(5152):1419–27. PubMed PMID: 30605448. Epub 2019/01/04. eng.
- 34. Bachhuber MA, Hennessy S, Cunningham CO, Starrels JL. Increasing benzodiazepine prescriptions and overdose mortality in the United States, 1996-2013. Am J Public Health. 2016;106(4):686–8. PubMed PMID: 26890165. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4816010. Epub 2016/02/19. eng.
- 35. Park TW, Saitz R, Ganoczy D, Ilgen MA, Bohnert AS. Benzodiazepine prescribing patterns and deaths from drug overdose among US veterans receiving opioid analgesics: case-cohort study. BMJ. 2015;350:h2698. PubMed PMID: 26063215. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4462713. Epub 2015/06/13. eng.
- Hanlon JT, Schmader KE, Boult C, Artz MB, Gross CR, Fillenbaum GG, et al. Use of inappropriate prescription drugs by older people. J Am Geriatr Soc.

2002;50(1):26–34. PubMed PMID: 12028243. Epub 2002/05/25. eng.

- Mort JR, Aparasu RR. Prescribing potentially inappropriate psychotropic medications to the ambulatory elderly. Arch Intern Med. 2000;160(18):2825–31. PubMed PMID: 11025793. Epub 2000/10/12. eng.
- 38. Preville M, Bosse C, Vasiliadis HM, Voyer P, Laurier C, Berbiche D, et al. Correlates of potentially inappropriate prescriptions of benzodiazepines among older adults: results from the ESA study. Can J Aging. 2012;31(3):313–22. PubMed PMID: 22800936. Epub 2012/07/18. eng.
- Naloto DC, Lopes FC, Barberato Filho S, Lopes LC, Del Fiol FS, Bergamaschi CC. Prescription of benzodiazepines for adults and older adults from a mental health clinic. Cien Saude Colet. 2016;21(4):1267– 76. PubMed PMID: 27076025. Epub 2016/04/15. eng.por.
- Bierman EJ, Comijs HC, Gundy CM, Sonnenberg C, Jonker C, Beekman AT. The effect of chronic benzodiazepine use on cognitive functioning in older persons: good, bad or indifferent? Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2007;22(12):1194–200. PubMed PMID: 17407168. Epub 2007/04/05. eng.
- 41. Gray SL, LaCroix AZ, Blough D, Wagner EH, Koepsell TD, Buchner D. Is the use of benzodiazepines associated with incident disability? J Am Geriatr Soc. 2002;50(6):1012–8. PubMed PMID: 12110059. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4776743. Epub 2002/07/12. eng.
- 42. Landi F, Onder G, Cesari M, Barillaro C, Russo A, Bernabei R. Psychotropic medications and risk for falls among community-dwelling frail older people: an observational study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2005;60(5):622–6. PubMed PMID: 15972615. Epub 2005/06/24. eng.
- 43. Souchet E, Lapeyre-Mestre M, Montastruc JL. Drug related falls: a study in the French Pharmacovigilance database. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf. 2005;14(1):11–6. PubMed PMID: 15508129. Epub 2004/10/28. eng.
- 44. Lechevallier N, Fourrier A, Berr C. [Benzodiazepine use in the elderly: the EVA Study]. Rev Epidemiol Sante Publique. 2003;51(3):317–26. PubMed PMID: 13130212. Epub 2003/09/18. Utilisation de benzodiazepines chez le sujet age: donnees de la cohorte EVA. fre.
- 45. ND GRaH. Patologia e terapêuticas para farmacêuticos: bases para a prática da farmácia clínica. 3rd ed. Porto Alegre: Artmed; 2012.
- 46. Bae JM, Koo HW, Jung KO, Park BJ. A cohort study on the association between psychotropics and hip fracture in Korean elderly women. J Korean Med Sci. 2002;17(1):65–70. PubMed PMID: 11850591. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3054825. Epub 2002/02/19. eng.
- 47. Fick DM, Cooper JW, Wade WE, Waller JL, Maclean JR, Beers MH. Updating the Beers criteria for potentially inappropriate medication use in older adults: results of a US consensus panel of experts.

Arch Intern Med. 2003;163(22):2716–24. PubMed PMID: 14662625. Epub 2003/12/10. eng.

- 48. Griffin CE, 3rd, Kaye AM, Bueno FR, Kaye AD. Benzodiazepine pharmacology and central nervous system-mediated effects. Ochsner J. 2013 Summer;13(2):214–23. PubMed PMID: 23789008. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3684331. Epub 2013/06/22. eng.
- Gray SL, LaCroix AZ, Hanlon JT, Penninx BW, Blough DK, Leveille SG, et al. Benzodiazepine use and physical disability in community-dwelling older adults. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2006;54(2):224– 30. PubMed PMID: 16460372. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2365497. Epub 2006/02/08. eng.
- Voyer P, McCubbin M, Cohen D, Lauzon S, Collin J, Boivin C. Unconventional indicators of drug dependence among elderly long-term users of benzodiazepines. Issues Ment Health Nurs. 2004;25(6):603–28. PubMed PMID: 15371146. Epub 2004/09/17. eng.
- Tamblyn RM, PJ ML, Abrahamowicz M, Monette J, Gayton DC, Berkson L, et al. Questionable prescribing for elderly patients in Quebec. CMAJ. 1994;150(11):1801–9. PubMed PMID: 8199957. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC1337055. Epub 1994/06/01. eng.
- 52. Voyer P, Cappeliez P, Perodeau G, Preville M. Mental health for older adults and benzodiazepine use. J Community Health Nurs. 2005 Winter;22(4):213–29. PubMed PMID: 16245973. Epub 2005/10/26. eng.
- 53. Grymonpre RE, Mitenko PA, Sitar DS, Aoki FY, Montgomery PR. Drug-associated hospital admissions in older medical patients. J Am Geriatr Soc. 1988;36(12):1092–8. PubMed PMID: 3192887. Epub 1988/12/01. eng.
- Bolton JM, Metge C, Lix L, Prior H, Sareen J, Leslie WD. Fracture risk from psychotropic medications: a population-based analysis. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2008;28(4):384–91. PubMed PMID: 18626264. Epub 2008/07/16. eng.
- 55. Woolcott JC, Richardson KJ, Wiens MO, Patel B, Marin J, Khan KM, et al. Meta-analysis of the impact of 9 medication classes on falls in elderly persons. Arch Intern Med. 2009;169(21):1952–60. PubMed PMID: 19933955. Epub 2009/11/26. eng.
- Lader M. Benzodiazepines revisited--will we ever learn? Addiction (Abingdon, England). 2011;106(12):2086–109. PubMed PMID: 21714826. Epub 2011/07/01. eng.
- Petursson H. The benzodiazepine withdrawal syndrome. Addiction. 1994;89(11):1455–9. PubMed PMID: 7841856. Epub 1994/11/01. eng.
- Lalive AL, Rudolph U, Luscher C, Tan KR. Is there a way to curb benzodiazepine addiction? Swiss Med Wkly. 2011;141:w13277. PubMed PMID: 22012428. Epub 2011/10/21. eng.
- 59. Taubenfeld SM, Muravieva EV, Garcia-Osta A, Alberini CM. Disrupting the memory of places induced by drugs of abuse weakens motivational withdrawal in a context-dependent manner. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(27):12345–50.

PubMed PMID: 20566855. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2901477. Epub 2010/06/23. eng.

- 60. Wolf ME. Addiction: making the connection between behavioral changes and neuronal plasticity in specific pathways. Mol Interv. 2002;2(3):146–57. PubMed PMID: 14993375. Epub 2004/03/03. eng.
- Hyman SE, Malenka RC. Addiction and the brain: the neurobiology of compulsion and its persistence. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2001;2(10):695–703. PubMed PMID: 11584307. Epub 2001/10/05. eng.
- O'Brien CP, Childress AR, McLellan AT, Ehrman R. Classical conditioning in drug-dependent humans. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1992;654:400–15. PubMed PMID: 1632593. Epub 1992/06/28. eng.
- Pavlov IP. Conditioned reflexes. London: Oxford University Press; 1927.
- 64. Perez MF, Maglio LE, Marchesini GR, Molina JC, Ramirez OA. Environmental changes modify the expression of Diazepam withdrawal. Behav Brain Res. 2002;136(1):75–81. PubMed PMID: 12385792. Epub 2002/10/19. eng.
- 65. Marin RH, Perez MF, Duero DG, Ramirez OA. Preexposure to drug administration context blocks the development of tolerance to sedative effects of diazepam. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 1999;64(3):473–7. PubMed PMID: 10548258. Epub 1999/11/05. eng.
- 66. Siegel S. Evidence from rats that morphine tolerance is a learned response. J Comp Physiol Psychol. 1975;89(5):498–506. PubMed PMID: 425. Epub 1975/07/01. eng.
- Siegel S. Morphine tolerance acquisition as an associative process. J Exp Psychol Anim Behav Process. 1977;3(1):1–13. PubMed PMID: 845541. Epub 1977/01/01. eng.
- Wikler A. Dynamics of drug dependence. Implications of a conditioning theory for research and treatment. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1973;28(5):611–6. PubMed PMID: 4700675. Epub 1973/05/01. eng.
- 69. Artur de la Villarmois E, Perez MF. Cognitive interference as a possible therapeutic strategy to prevent expression of benzodiazepine withdrawal. Eur J Neurosci. 2019;50(11):3843–54. PubMed PMID: 31299121. Epub 2019/07/13. eng.
- Monti MC, Almiron RS, Bignante EA, Ramirez OA. Changes in hippocampal arc protein expression and synaptic plasticity by the presentation of contextual cues linked to drug experience. Synapse (New York, NY). 2010;64(1):39–46. PubMed PMID: 19728364. Epub 2009/09/04. eng.
- Monti MC, Gabach LA, Perez MF, Ramirez OA. Impact of contextual cues in the expression of the memory associated with diazepam withdrawal: involvement of hippocampal PKMzeta in vivo, and arc expression and LTP in vitro. Eur J Neurosci. 2012;36(8):3118–25. PubMed PMID: 22759216. Epub 2012/07/05. eng.
- Nothdurfter C, Rupprecht R, Rammes G. Recent developments in potential anxiolytic agents targeting GABAA/BzR complex or the translocator protein (18kDa) (TSPO). Curr Top Med Chem.

2012;12(4):360–70. PubMed PMID: 22204486. Epub 2011/12/30. eng.

- Scoville WB, Milner B. Loss of recent memory after bilateral hippocampal lesions. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1957;20(1):11–21. PubMed PMID: 13406589. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC497229. Epub 1957/02/01. eng.
- Nadel L, Moscovitch M. Memory consolidation, retrograde amnesia and the hippocampal complex. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 1997;7(2):217–27. PubMed PMID: 9142752. Epub 1997/04/01. eng.
- Eichenbaum H, Dudchenko P, Wood E, Shapiro M, Tanila H. The hippocampus, memory, and place cells: is it spatial memory or a memory space? Neuron. 1999;23(2):209–26. PubMed PMID: 10399928. Epub 1999/07/10. eng.
- Squire LR, Stark CE, Clark RE. The medial temporal lobe. Annu Rev Neurosci. 2004;27:279–306. PubMed PMID: 15217334. Epub 2004/06/26. eng.
- 77. Eichenbaum H, Sauvage M, Fortin N, Komorowski R, Lipton P. Towards a functional organization of episodic memory in the medial temporal lobe. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2012;36(7):1597–608. PubMed PMID: 21810443. Epub 2011/07/23.
- Perez MF, Gabach LA, Almiron RS, Carlini VP, De Barioglio SR, Ramirez OA. Different chronic cocaine administration protocols induce changes on dentate gyrus plasticity and hippocampal dependent behavior. Synapse. 2010;64(10):742–53. PubMed PMID: 20698030. Epub 2010/08/11. eng.
- Kim JJ, Fanselow MS. Modality-specific retrograde amnesia of fear. Science. 1992;256(5057):675–7. PubMed PMID: 1585183. Epub 1992/05/01. eng.
- Martin SJ, Grimwood PD, Morris RG. Synaptic plasticity and memory: an evaluation of the hypothesis. Annu Rev Neurosci. 2000;23:649–711. PubMed PMID: 10845078. Epub 2000/06/09. eng.
- Phillips RG, LeDoux JE. Differential contribution of amygdala and hippocampus to cued and contextual fear conditioning. Behav Neurosci. 1992;106(2):274–85. PubMed PMID: 1590953. Epub 1992/04/01. eng.
- 82. Selden NR, Everitt BJ, Jarrard LE, Robbins TW. Complementary roles for the amygdala and hippocampus in aversive conditioning to explicit and contextual cues. Neuroscience. 1991;42(2):335–50. PubMed PMID: 1832750. Epub 1991/01/01. eng.
- Ramirez OA, Perez MF. The plastic phenomenon underlying the associative processes in the addictive properties of diazepam and other psychoactive drugs. Mini Rev Med Chem. 2009;9(7):869–77. PubMed PMID: 19519511. Epub 2009/06/13. eng.
- Marin RH, Salvatierra NA, Ramirez OA. Rapid tolerance to benzodiazepine modifies rat hippocampal synaptic plasticity. Neurosci Lett. 1996;215(3):149–52. PubMed PMID: 8899735. Epub 1996/09/13. eng.
- Perez MF, Salmiron R, Ramirez OA. NMDA-NR1 and -NR2B subunits mRNA expression in the hippocampus of rats tolerant to diazepam. Behav

Brain Res. 2003;144(1–2):119–24. PubMed PMID: 12946602. Epub 2003/08/30. eng.

- Tang YP, Shimizu E, Dube GR, Rampon C, Kerchner GA, Zhuo M, et al. Genetic enhancement of learning and memory in mice. Nature. 1999;401(6748):63–9. PubMed PMID: 10485705. Epub 1999/09/15. eng.
- Perez MF, Nasif FJ, Marchesini GR, Maglio LE, Ramirez OA. Hippocampus and locus coeruleus activity on rats chronically treated with diazepam. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 2001;69(3–4):431–8. PubMed PMID: 11509201. Epub 2001/08/18. eng.
- Tzingounis AV, Nicoll RA. Arc/Arg3.1: linking gene expression to synaptic plasticity and memory. Neuron. 2006;52(3):403–7. PubMed PMID: 17088207. Epub 2006/11/08. eng.
- 89. Messaoudi E, Kanhema T, Soule J, Tiron A, Dagyte G, da Silva B, et al. Sustained arc/Arg3.1 synthesis controls long-term potentiation consolidation through regulation of local actin polymerization in the dentate gyrus in vivo. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci. 2007;27(39):10445–55. PubMed PMID: 17898216. Epub 2007/09/28. eng.
- Ling DS, Benardo LS, Sacktor TC. Protein kinase Mzeta enhances excitatory synaptic transmission by increasing the number of active postsynaptic AMPA receptors. Hippocampus. 2006;16(5):443–52. PubMed PMID: 16463388. Epub 2006/02/08. eng.
- Serrano P, Yao Y, Sacktor TC. Persistent phosphorylation by protein kinase Mzeta maintains latephase long-term potentiation. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci. 2005;25(8):1979–84. PubMed PMID: 15728837. Epub 2005/02/25. eng.
- Kelly MT, Yao Y, Sondhi R, Sacktor TC. Actin polymerization regulates the synthesis of PKMzeta in LTP. Neuropharmacology. 2007;52(1):41–5. PubMed PMID: 16914172. Epub 2006/08/18. eng.
- Prast H, Philippu A. Nitric oxide as modulator of neuronal function. Prog Neurobiol. 2001;64(1):51– 68. PubMed PMID: 11250062. Epub 2001/03/16. eng.
- 94. Garthwaite J, Boulton CL. Nitric oxide signaling in the central nervous system. Annu Rev Physiol. 1995;57:683–706. PubMed PMID: 7539993. Epub 1995/01/01. eng.
- 95. Yamada K, Noda Y, Nakayama S, Komori Y, Sugihara H, Hasegawa T, et al. Role of nitric oxide in learning and memory and in monoamine metabolism in the rat brain. Br J Pharmacol. 1995;115(5):852–8. PubMed PMID: 8548187. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC1908527. Epub 1995/07/01. eng.
- 96. Quock RM, Nguyen E. Possible involvement of nitric oxide in chlordiazepoxide-induced anxiolysis in mice. Life Sci. 1992;51(25):Pl255–60. PubMed PMID: 1280754. Epub 1992/01/01. eng.
- 97. Nasif FJ, Hu XT, Ramirez OA, Perez MF. Inhibition of neuronal nitric oxide synthase prevents alterations in medial prefrontal cortex excitability induced by repeated cocaine administration. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 2011;218(2):323–30. PubMed PMID: 21125397. Epub 2010/12/03. eng.

- 98. Gabach LA, Carlini VP, Monti MC, Maglio LE, De Barioglio SR, Perez MF. Involvement of nNOS/ NO/sGC/cGMP signaling pathway in cocaine sensitization and in the associated hippocampal alterations: does phosphodiesterase 5 inhibition help to drug vulnerability? Psychopharmacology (Berl). 2013;229(1):41–50. PubMed PMID: 23579428. Epub 2013/04/13. eng.
- 99. Talarek S, Listos J, Fidecka S. Effect of nitric oxide synthase inhibitors on benzodiazepine withdrawal in mice and rats. Pharmacol Rep. 2011;63(3): 680–9. PubMed PMID: 21857078. Epub 2011/08/23. eng.
- 100. Pinna G, Galici R, Schneider HH, Stephens DN, Turski L. Alprazolam dependence prevented by substituting with the beta-carboline abecarnil. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997;94(6):2719–23. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.6.2719.
- 101. Vaupel DB, Kimes AS, London ED. Nitric oxide synthase inhibitors. Preclinical studies of potential use for treatment of opioid withdrawal. Neuropsychopharmacology. 1995;13(4):315–22. PubMed PMID: 8747756. Epub 1995/12/01. eng.
- 102. Gabra BH, Afify EA, Daabees TT, Abou Zeit-Har MS. The role of the NO/NMDA pathways in the development of morphine withdrawal induced by naloxone in vitro. Pharmacol Res. 2005;51(4):319– 27. PubMed PMID: 15683745. Epub 2005/02/03. eng.
- 103. Uzbay IT, Erden BF, Tapanyigit EE, Kayaalp SO. Nitric oxide synthase inhibition attenuates signs of ethanol withdrawal in rats. Life Sci. 1997;61(22):2197–209. PubMed PMID: 9393939. Epub 1997/01/01. eng.
- 104. Sousa AM, Prado WA. The dual effect of a nitric oxide donor in nociception. Brain Res. 2001;897(1–2):9–19. PubMed PMID: 11282353. Epub 2001/04/03. eng.
- 105. Cardenas A, Moro MA, Hurtado O, Leza JC, Lizasoain I. Dual role of nitric oxide in adult neurogenesis. Brain Res Brain Res Rev. 2005;50(1):1– 6. PubMed PMID: 16291071. Epub 2005/11/18. eng.
- 106. Del-Bel EA, Oliveira PR, Oliveira JA, Mishra PK, Jobe PC, Garcia-Cairasco N. Anticonvulsant and proconvulsant roles of nitric oxide in experimental epilepsy models. Braz J Med Biol Res = Rev Bras Pesqui Med Biol. 1997;30(8):971–9. PubMed PMID: 9361727. Epub 1997/08/01. eng.
- 107. Fanselow MS, Dong HW. Are the dorsal and ventral hippocampus functionally distinct structures? Neuron. 2010;65(1):7–19. PubMed PMID: 20152109. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2822727. Epub 2010/02/16. eng.
- 108. Almiron RS, Perez MF, Ramirez OA. MK-801 prevents the increased NMDA-NR1 and NR2B subunits mRNA expression observed in the hippocampus of rats tolerant to diazepam. Brain Res. 2004;1008(1):54–60. PubMed PMID: 15081382. Epub 2004/04/15. eng.

- 109. Aston-Jones G, Bloom FE. Activity of norepinephrine-containing locus coeruleus neurons in behaving rats anticipates fluctuations in the sleep-waking cycle. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci. 1981;1(8):876–86. PubMed PMID: 7346592. Epub 1981/08/01. eng.
- 110. Anlezark GM, Crow TJ, Greenway AP. Impaired learning and decreased cortical norepinephrine after bilateral locus coeruleus lesions. Science. 1973;181(4100):682–4. PubMed PMID: 4724483. Epub 1973/08/17. eng.
- 111. Stanton PK, Sarvey JM. Blockade of norepinephrineinduced long-lasting potentiation in the hippocampal dentate gyrus by an inhibitor of protein synthesis. Brain Res. 1985;361(1–2):276–83. PubMed PMID: 4084800. Epub 1985/12/30. eng.
- 112. Velley L, Cardo B. Facilitation of acquisition and extinction of an operant task four weeks after stimulation of brainstem aminergic nuclei of the rat. Behav Neural Biol. 1982;35(4):395–407. PubMed PMID: 7165621. Epub 1982/08/01. eng.
- Koob GF. Drugs of abuse: anatomy, pharmacology and function of reward pathways. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 1992;13(5):177–84. PubMed PMID: 1604710. Epub 1992/05/01. eng.
- 114. Owen RT, Tyrer P. Benzodiazepine dependence. A review of the evidence. Drugs. 1983;25(4):385–98. PubMed PMID: 6133736. Epub 1983/04/01. eng.
- 115. Aston-Jones G, Rajkowski J, Kubiak P. Conditioned responses of monkey locus coeruleus neurons anticipate acquisition of discriminative behavior in a vigilance task. Neuroscience. 1997;80(3):697–715. PubMed PMID: 9276487. Epub 1997/10/01. eng.
- Goudie AJ, Harrison AA, Leathley MJ. Evidence for a dissociation between benzodiazepine withdrawal signs. Neuroreport. 1993;4(3):295–8. PubMed PMID: 8097409. Epub 1993/03/01. eng.
- 117. Nestler EJ, Alreja M, Aghajanian GK. Molecular and cellular mechanisms of opiate action: studies in the rat locus coeruleus. Brain Res Bull. 1994;35(5–6):521–8. PubMed PMID: 7859110. Epub 1994/01/01. eng.
- 118. Izumi Y, Zorumski CF. Norepinephrine promotes long-term potentiation in the adult rat hippocampus in vitro. Synapse. 1999;31(3):196–202. PubMed PMID: 10029237. Epub 1999/02/24. eng.
- 119. Floresco SB, Seamans JK, Phillips AG. Differential effects of lidocaine infusions into the ventral CA1/ subiculum or the nucleus accumbens on the acquisition and retention of spatial information. Behav Brain Res. 1996;81(1–2):163–71. PubMed PMID: 8950013. Epub 1996/11/01. eng.
- 120. Jay TM, Glowinski J, Thierry AM. Selectivity of the hippocampal projection to the prelimbic area of the prefrontal cortex in the rat. Brain Res. 1989;505(2):337–40. PubMed PMID: 2598054. Epub 1989/12/29. eng.
- 121. Floresco SB, Seamans JK, Phillips AG. Selective roles for hippocampal, prefrontal cortical, and ven-

tral striatal circuits in radial-arm maze tasks with or without a delay. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci. 1997;17(5):1880–90. PubMed PMID: 9030646. Epub 1997/03/01. eng.

- 122. Espejo EF. Selective dopamine depletion within the medial prefrontal cortex induces anxiogenic-like effects in rats placed on the elevated plus maze. Brain Res. 1997;762(1–2):281–4. PubMed PMID: 9262191. Epub 1997/07/11. eng.
- 123. LeDoux JE. Emotion circuits in the brain. Annu Rev Neurosci. 2000;23:155–84. PubMed PMID: 10845062. Epub 2000/06/09. eng.
- 124. Fontanesi LB, Ferreira R, Cabral A, Castilho VM, Brandao ML, Nobre MJ. Brainstem areas activated by diazepam withdrawal as measured by Fos-protein immunoreactivity in rats. Brain Res. 2007;1166:35– 46. PubMed PMID: 17669374. Epub 2007/08/03. eng.
- 125. Curto Y, Garcia-Mompo C, Bueno-Fernandez C, Nacher J. Chronic benzodiazepine treatment decreases spine density in cortical pyramidal neurons. Neurosci Lett. 2016;613:41–6. PubMed PMID: 26733301. Epub 2016/01/07. eng.
- 126. Impagnatiello F, Pesold C, Longone P, Caruncho H, Fritschy JM, Costa E, et al. Modifications of gammaaminobutyric acidA receptor subunit expression in rat neocortex during tolerance to diazepam. Mol Pharmacol. 1996;49(5):822–31. PubMed PMID: 8622632. Epub 1996/05/01. eng.
- 127. Auta J, Impagnatiello F, Kadriu B, Guidotti A, Costa E. Imidazenil: a low efficacy agonist at alpha1- but high efficacy at alpha5-GABAA receptors fail to show anticonvulsant cross tolerance to diazepam or zolpidem. Neuropharmacology. 2008;55(2):148–53. PubMed PMID: 18555494. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2601598. Epub 2008/06/17. eng.
- 128. McKernan RM, Rosahl TW, Reynolds DS, Sur C, Wafford KA, Atack JR, et al. Sedative but not anxiolytic properties of benzodiazepines are mediated by the GABA(a) receptor alpha1 subtype. Nat Neurosci. 2000;3(6):587–92. PubMed PMID: 10816315. Epub 2000/05/18. eng.
- 129. Rudolph U, Mohler H. GABA-based therapeutic approaches: GABAA receptor subtype functions. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2006;6(1):18–23. PubMed PMID: 16376150. Epub 2005/12/27. eng.
- 130. Auta J, Gatta E, Davis JM, Pandey SC, Guidotti A. Potential role for histone deacetylation in chronic diazepam-induced downregulation of alphal-GABAA receptor subunit expression. Pharmacol Res Perspect. 2018;6(4):e00416. PubMed PMID: 29951207. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC6019704. Epub 2018/06/29. eng.
- Dugovic C. Role of serotonin in sleep mechanisms. Rev Neurol. 2001;157(11 Pt 2):S16–9. PubMed PMID: 11924032. Epub 2002/04/02. eng.
- Jacobs BL, Fornal CA. Activity of serotonergic neurons in behaving animals. Neuropsychopharmacology. 1999;21(2 Suppl):9s-

15s. PubMed PMID: 10432483. Epub 1999/08/05. eng.

- Meneses A. 5-HT system and cognition. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 1999;23(8):1111–25. PubMed PMID: 10643820. Epub 2000/01/22. eng.
- Duman RS. Novel therapeutic approaches beyond the serotonin receptor. Biol Psychiatry. 1998;44(5):324– 35. PubMed PMID: 9755354. Epub 1998/10/02. eng.
- 135. Mori K, Togashi H, Kojima T, Matsumoto M, Ohashi S, Ueno K, et al. Different effects of anxiolytic agents, diazepam and 5-HT(1A) agonist tandospirone, on hippocampal long-term potentiation in vivo. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 2001;69(3– 4):367–72. PubMed PMID: 11509193. Epub 2001/08/18. eng.
- 136. Andrews N, File SE. Increased 5-HT release mediates the anxiogenic response during benzodiazepine withdrawal: a review of supporting neurochemical and behavioural evidence. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 1993;112(1):21–5. PubMed PMID: 7871006. Epub 1993/01/01. eng.
- 137. Almiron RS, Ramirez OA. Participation of dorsal raphe nucleus in the behavioral alteration observed after discontinuation of chronic diazepam administration: possible neural circuitry involved. Synapse. 2005;56(2):61–8. PubMed PMID: 15714479. Epub 2005/02/17. eng.
- Lanfumey L, Haj-Dahmane S, Laporte AM, Martin P, Hamon M, Gozlan H. Effects of chronic diazepam treatment on pre- and postsynaptic 5-HT1A receptors in the rat brain. Eur J Pharmacol. 1997;323(2– 3):137–48. PubMed PMID: 9128832. Epub 1997/04/04. eng.
- 139. Andrews N, File SE, Fernandes C, Gonzalez LE, Barnes NM. Evidence that the median raphe nucleusdorsal hippocampal pathway mediates diazepam withdrawal-induced anxiety. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 1997;130(3):228–34. PubMed PMID: 9151356. Epub 1997/04/01. eng.
- 140. Bliss TV, Collingridge GL. A synaptic model of memory: long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. Nature. 1993;361(6407):31–9. PubMed PMID: 8421494. Epub 1993/01/07. eng.
- 141. Klancnik JM, Phillips AG. Modulation of synaptic plasticity in the dentate gyrus of the rat by electrical stimulation of the median raphe nucleus. Brain Res. 1991;557(1–2):236–40. PubMed PMID: 1747755. Epub 1991/08/23. eng.
- 142. Kao K, Sanders MJ, Green EJ. Physiological evidence for hippocampal disinhibition resulting from activation of the median raphe. Brain Res. 1997;752(1–2):90–8. PubMed PMID: 9106444. Epub 1997/03/28. eng.
- 143. Winson J. Influence of raphe nuclei on neuronal transmission from perforant pathway through dentate gyrus. J Neurophysiol. 1980;44(5):937–50. PubMed PMID: 6255111. Epub 1980/11/01. eng.
- 144. Davis M. The role of the amygdala in fear-potentiated startle: implications for animal models of anxiety.

Trends Pharmacol Sci. 1992;13(1):35–41. PubMed PMID: 1542936. Epub 1992/01/01. eng.

- 145. Davis M. Neurobiology of fear responses: the role of the amygdala. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci. 1997 Summer;9(3):382–402. PubMed PMID: 9276841. Epub 1997/07/01. eng.
- 146. Fendt M, Endres T, Apfelbach R. Temporary inactivation of the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis but not of the amygdala blocks freezing induced by trimethylthiazoline, a component of fox feces. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci. 2003;23(1):23–8. PubMed PMID: 12514197. Epub 2003/01/07. eng.
- 147. Maren S. Long-term potentiation in the amygdala: a mechanism for emotional learning and memory. Trends Neurosci. 1999;22(12):561–7. PubMed PMID: 10542437. Epub 1999/11/05. eng.
- 148. LeDoux JE, Cicchetti P, Xagoraris A, Romanski LM. The lateral amygdaloid nucleus: sensory interface of the amygdala in fear conditioning. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci. 1990;10(4):1062–9. PubMed PMID: 2329367. Epub 1990/04/01. eng.
- 149. Gewirtz JC, Davis M. Second-order fear conditioning prevented by blocking NMDA receptors in amygdala. Nature. 1997;388(6641):471–4. PubMed PMID: 9242405. Epub 1997/07/31. eng.
- 150. Fanselow MS, Kim JJ. Acquisition of contextual Pavlovian fear conditioning is blocked by application of an NMDA receptor antagonist D,L-2amino-5-phosphonovaleric acid to the basolateral amygdala. Behav Neurosci. 1994;108(1):210–2. PubMed PMID: 7910746. Epub 1994/02/01. eng.
- McDonald AJ. Cortical pathways to the mammalian amygdala. Prog Neurobiol. 1998;55(3):257–332. PubMed PMID: 9643556. Epub 1998/06/27. eng.
- 152. Davis M, Whalen PJ. The amygdala: vigilance and emotion. Mol Psychiatry. 2001;6(1):13–34. PubMed PMID: 11244481. Epub 2001/03/13. eng.
- 153. Charney DS, Grillon CCG, Bremner JD. The neurobiological basis of anxiety and fear: circuits, mechanisms, and neurochemical interactions (Part II). Neuroscientist. 1998;4(2):122–32.
- 154. Martijena ID, Tapia M, Molina VA. Altered behavioral and neurochemical response to stress in benzodiazepine-withdrawn rats. Brain Res. 1996;712(2):239–44. PubMed PMID: 8814898. Epub 1996/03/18. eng.
- 155. Martijena ID, Lacerra C, Molina VA. Carbamazepine normalizes the altered behavioral and neurochemical response to stress in benzodiazepine-withdrawn rats. Eur J Pharmacol. 1997;330(2–3):101–8. PubMed PMID: 9253941. Epub 1997/07/09. eng.
- 156. Lacerra C, Martijena ID, Bustos SG, Molina VA. Benzodiazepine withdrawal facilitates the subsequent onset of escape failures and anhedonia: influence of different antidepressant drugs. Brain Res. 1999;819(1–2):40–7. PubMed PMID: 10082859. Epub 1999/03/20. eng.
- 157. Isoardi NA, Bertotto ME, Martijena ID, Molina VA, Carrer HF. Lack of feedback inhibition on rat

basolateral amygdala following stress or withdrawal from sedative-hypnotic drugs. Eur J Neurosci. 2007;26(4):1036–44. PubMed PMID: 17666080. Epub 2007/08/02. eng.

- 158. Isoardi NA, Martijena ID, Carrer HF, Molina VA. Increased fear learning coincides with neuronal dysinhibition and facilitated LTP in the basolateral amygdala following benzodiazepine withdrawal in rats. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2004;29(10):1852–64. PubMed PMID: 15138438. Epub 2004/05/13. eng.
- 159. Dunworth SJ, Mead AN, Stephens DN. Previous experience of withdrawal from chronic diazepam ameliorates the aversiveness of precipitated withdrawal and reduces withdrawal-induced c-fos expression in nucleus accumbens. Eur J Neurosci. 2000;12(4):1501–8. PubMed PMID: 10762378. Epub 2000/04/13. eng.
- 160. Laurie DJ, Pratt JA. Flumazenil induces localised increases in glucose utilization during diazepam withdrawal in rats. Brain Res. 1993;631(2):277–86. PubMed PMID: 8131056. Epub 1993/12/24. eng.
- 161. Allison C, Pratt JA. Differential effects of two chronic diazepam treatment regimes on withdrawal anxiety and AMPA receptor characteristics. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2006;31(3):602–19. PubMed PMID: 15970947. Epub 2005/06/23. eng.
- 162. Lee S, Lee WH, Lee MS, Mori K, Suk K. Regulation by lipocalin-2 of neuronal cell death, migration, and morphology. J Neurosci Res. 2012;90(3):540– 50. PubMed PMID: 22038922. Epub 2011/11/01. eng.
- 163. Devireddy LR, Gazin C, Zhu X, Green MR. A cell-surface receptor for lipocalin 24p3 selectively mediates apoptosis and iron uptake. Cell. 2005;123(7):1293–305. PubMed PMID: 16377569. Epub 2005/12/27. eng.
- 164. Yoon D, Pastore YD, Divoky V, Liu E, Mlodnicka AE, Rainey K, et al. Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 deficiency results in dysregulated erythropoiesis signaling and iron homeostasis in mouse development. J Biol Chem. 2006;281(35):25703–11. PubMed PMID: 16787915. Epub 2006/06/22. eng.
- 165. Furukawa T, Shimoyama S, Miki Y, Nikaido Y, Koga K, Nakamura K, et al. Chronic diazepam administration increases the expression of Lcn2 in the CNS. Pharmacol Res Perspect. 2017;5(1):e00283. PubMed PMID: 28596835. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC5461642. Epub 2017/06/10. eng.
- 166. Xing C, Wang X, Cheng C, Montaner J, Mandeville E, Leung W, et al. Neuronal production of lipocalin-2 as a help-me signal for glial activation. Stroke. 2014;45(7):2085–92. PubMed PMID: 24916903. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4122238. Epub 2014/06/12. eng.
- 167. Lee S, Lee J, Kim S, Park JY, Lee WH, Mori K, et al. A dual role of lipocalin 2 in the apoptosis and deramification of activated microglia. J Immunol. 2007;179(5):3231–41. PubMed PMID: 17709539. Epub 2007/08/22. eng.

- 168. Bi F, Huang C, Tong J, Qiu G, Huang B, Wu Q, et al. Reactive astrocytes secrete lcn2 to promote neuron death. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(10):4069–74. PubMed PMID: 23431168. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3593910. Epub 2013/02/23. eng.
- 169. Yaffe K, Boustani M. Benzodiazepines and risk of Alzheimer's disease. BMJ. 2014;349:g5312. PubMed PMID: 25205606. Epub 2014/09/11. eng.
- 170. Imfeld P, Bodmer M, Jick SS, Meier CR. Benzodiazepine use and risk of developing Alzheimer's disease or vascular dementia: a case-control analysis. Drug Saf. 2015;38(10):909–19. PubMed PMID: 26123874. Epub 2015/07/01. eng.
- 171. Rosenberg PB, Mielke MM, Han D, Leoutsakos JS, Lyketsos CG, Rabins PV, et al. The association of psychotropic medication use with the cognitive, functional, and neuropsychiatric trajectory of Alzheimer's disease. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2012;27(12):1248–57. PubMed PMID: 22374884. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3448859. Epub 2012/03/01. eng.
- 172. Saal D, Dong Y, Bonci A, Malenka RC. Drugs of abuse and stress trigger a common synaptic adaptation in dopamine neurons. Neuron. 2003;37(4):577–82. PubMed PMID: 12597856. Epub 2003/02/25. eng.
- 173. Yamaguchi T, Sheen W, Morales M. Glutamatergic neurons are present in the rat ventral tegmental area. Eur J Neurosci. 2007;25(1):106–18. PubMed PMID: 17241272. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3209508. Epub 2007/01/24. eng.
- 174. Swanson LW. The projections of the ventral tegmental area and adjacent regions: a combined fluorescent retrograde tracer and immunofluorescence study in the rat. Brain Res Bull. 1982;9(1–6):321–53. PubMed PMID: 6816390. Epub 1982/07/01. eng.
- 175. Van Bockstaele EJ, Pickel VM. GABA-containing neurons in the ventral tegmental area project to the nucleus accumbens in rat brain. Brain Res. 1995;682(1–2):215–21. PubMed PMID: 7552315. Epub 1995/06/05. eng.
- 176. Chuhma N, Zhang H, Masson J, Zhuang X, Sulzer D, Hen R, et al. Dopamine neurons mediate a fast excitatory signal via their glutamatergic synapses. J Neurosci. 2004;24(4):972–81.
- 177. Fields HL, Hjelmstad GO, Margolis EB, Nicola SM. Ventral tegmental area neurons in learned appetitive behavior and positive reinforcement. Annu Rev Neurosci. 2007;30:289–316. PubMed PMID: 17376009. Epub 2007/03/23. eng.
- 178. Nair-Roberts RG, Chatelain-Badie SD, Benson E, White-Cooper H, Bolam JP, Ungless MA. Stereological estimates of dopaminergic, GABAergic and glutamatergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area, substantia nigra and retrorubral field in the rat. Neuroscience. 2008;152(4):1024–31.
- 179. Taylor SR, Badurek S, Dileone RJ, Nashmi R, Minichiello L, Picciotto MR. GABAergic and glu-

tamatergic efferents of the mouse ventral tegmental area. J Comp Neurol. 2014;522(14):3308–34.

- 180. Stuber GD, Hnasko TS, Britt JP, Edwards RH, Bonci A. Dopaminergic terminals in the nucleus accumbens but not the dorsal striatum corelease glutamate. J Neurosci. 2010;30(24):8229–33.
- Tritsch NX, Ding JB, Sabatini BL. Dopaminergic neurons inhibit striatal output through non-canonical release of GABA. Nature. 2012;490(7419):262– 6. PubMed PMID: 23034651. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3944587. Epub 2012/10/05. eng.
- 182. Kim JI, Ganesan S, Luo SX, Wu YW, Park E, Huang EJ, et al. Aldehyde dehydrogenase 1a1 mediates a GABA synthesis pathway in midbrain dopaminergic neurons. Science. 2015;350(6256):102–6. PubMed PMID: 26430123. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4725325. Epub 2015/10/03. eng.
- 183. Root DH, Mejias-Aponte CA, Zhang S, Wang HL, Hoffman AF, Lupica CR, et al. Single rodent mesohabenular axons release glutamate and GABA. Nat Neurosci. 2014;17(11):1543–51. PubMed PMID: 25242304. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4843828. Epub 2014/09/23. eng.
- Ntamati NR, Lüscher C. VTA projection neurons releasing GABA and glutamate in the dentate gyrus. eNeuro. 2016;3(4).:ENEURO.0137–16.2016.
- Koob GF, Volkow ND. Neurocircuitry of addiction. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2010;35(1):217– 38. PubMed PMID: 19710631. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2805560. Epub 2009/08/28. eng.
- 186. Di Chiara G, Imperato A. Drugs abused by humans preferentially increase synaptic dopamine concentrations in the mesolimbic system of freely moving rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1988;85(14):5274–8. PubMed PMID: 2899326. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC281732. Epub 1988/07/01. eng.
- 187. Nestler EJ. Is there a common molecular pathway for addiction? Nat Neurosci. 2005;8(11):1445–9. PubMed PMID: 16251986. Epub 2005/10/28. eng.
- 188. Johnson SW, North RA. Opioids excite dopamine neurons by hyperpolarization of local interneurons. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci. 1992;12(2):483–8. PubMed PMID: 1346804. Epub 1992/02/01. eng.
- 189. Szabo B, Siemes S, Wallmichrath I. Inhibition of GABAergic neurotransmission in the ventral tegmental area by cannabinoids. Eur J Neurosci. 2002;15(12):2057–61. PubMed PMID: 12099913. Epub 2002/07/09. eng.
- 190. Maskos U, Molles BE, Pons S, Besson M, Guiard BP, Guilloux JP, et al. Nicotine reinforcement and cognition restored by targeted expression of nicotinic receptors. Nature. 2005;436(7047):103–7. PubMed PMID: 16001069. Epub 2005/07/08. eng.
- 191. Sulzer D, Sonders MS, Poulsen NW, Galli A. Mechanisms of neurotransmitter release by amphetamines: a review. Prog Neurobiol. 2005;75(6):406–33. PubMed PMID: 15955613. Epub 2005/06/16. eng.
- Luscher C, Ungless MA. The mechanistic classification of addictive drugs. PLoS Med. 2006;3(11):e437.
PubMed PMID: 17105338. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC1635740. Epub 2006/11/16. eng.

- 193. Zhang Y, Schlussman SD, Ho A, Kreek MJ. Effect of chronic "binge cocaine" on basal levels and cocaineinduced increases of dopamine in the caudate putamen and nucleus accumbens of C57BL/6J and 129/J mice. Synapse. 2003;50(3):191–9. PubMed PMID: 14515336. Epub 2003/09/30. eng.
- 194. Heikkinen AE, Moykkynen TP, Korpi ER. Longlasting modulation of glutamatergic transmission in VTA dopamine neurons after a single dose of benzodiazepine agonists. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2009;34(2):290–8. PubMed PMID: 18563060. Epub 2008/06/20. eng.
- 195. Tan KR, Brown M, Labouebe G, Yvon C, Creton C, Fritschy JM, et al. Neural bases for addictive properties of benzodiazepines. Nature. 2010;463(7282):769–74. PubMed PMID: 20148031. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2871668. Epub 2010/02/12. eng.
- 196. Ator NA. Contributions of GABAA receptor subtype selectivity to abuse liability and dependence potential of pharmacological treatments for anxiety and sleep disorders. CNS Spectr. 2005;10(1):31–9. PubMed PMID: 15618945. Epub 2004/12/25. eng.
- 197. Rudolph U, Crestani F, Benke D, Brunig I, Benson JA, Fritschy JM, et al. Benzodiazepine actions mediated by specific gamma-aminobutyric acid(A) receptor subtypes. Nature. 1999;401(6755):796–800. PubMed PMID: 10548105. Epub 1999/11/05. eng.
- 198. Schwienteck KL, Li G, Poe MM, Cook JM, Banks ML, Stevens Negus S. Abuse-related effects of subtype-selective GABA_A receptor positive allosteric modulators in an assay of intracranial self-stimulation in rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 2017;234(14):2091–101. PubMed PMID: 28365836. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC5875719. Epub 2017/04/04. eng.
- 199. Llano Lopez LH, Caif F, Fraile M, Tinnirello B, de Gargiulo AI, Lafuente JV, et al. Differential behavioral profile induced by the injection of dipotassium chlorazepate within brain areas that project to the nucleus accumbens septi. Pharmacol Rep. 2013;65(3):566–78. PubMed PMID: 23950579. Epub 2013/08/21. eng.
- 200. Grant KA, Johanson CE. Diazepam selfadministration and resistance to extinction. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 1987;28(1):81–6. PubMed PMID: 3659109. Epub 1987/09/01. eng.
- 201. Griffiths RR, Bigelow G, Liebson I. Human drug self-administration: double-blind comparison of pentobarbital, diazepam, chlorpromazine and placebo. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 1979;210(2):301–10. PubMed PMID: 458637. Epub 1979/08/01. eng.
- 202. Pilotto R, Singer G, Overstreet D. Self-injection of diazepam in naive rats: effects of dose, schedule and blockade of different receptors. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 1984;84(2):174–7. PubMed PMID: 6150506. Epub 1984/01/01. eng.

- 203. Stewart RB, Lemaire GA, Roache JD, Meisch RA. Establishing benzodiazepines as oral reinforcers: midazolam and diazepam self-administration in rhesus monkeys. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 1994;271(1):200–11. PubMed PMID: 7965716. Epub 1994/10/01. eng.
- 204. Spyraki C, Kazandjian A, Varonos D. Diazepaminduced place preference conditioning: appetitive and antiaversive properties. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 1985;87(2):225–32. PubMed PMID: 3931151. Epub 1985/01/01. eng.
- Lader M. Anxiolytic drugs: dependence, addiction and abuse. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 1994;4(2):85–91. PubMed PMID: 7919947. Epub 1994/06/01. eng.
- 206. Schweizer E, Rickels K, Case WG, Greenblatt DJ. Long-term therapeutic use of benzodiazepines. II. Effects of gradual taper. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1990;47(10):908–15. PubMed PMID: 2222130. Epub 1990/10/01. eng.
- 207. Podhorna J. The experimental pharmacotherapy of benzodiazepine withdrawal. Curr Pharm Des. 2002;8(1):23–43. PubMed PMID: 11812248. Epub 2002/01/29. eng.
- 208. Krsiak M, Podhorna J, Miczek KA. Aggressive and social behavior after alprazolam withdrawal: experimental therapy with Ro 19-8022. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 1998;23(2):155–61. PubMed PMID: 9884109. Epub 1999/01/12. eng.
- Mizoguchi H, Suzuki T, Misawa M. Effects of serotonergic anxiolytics on physical dependence on diazepam in mice. Neurosci Lett. 1993;160(1):41–4. PubMed PMID: 7902543. Epub 1993/09/17. eng.
- 210. Costall B, Jones BJ, Kelly ME, Naylor RJ, Tomkins DM. Exploration of mice in a black and white test box: validation as a model of anxiety. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 1989;32(3):777–85. PubMed PMID: 2740429. Epub 1989/03/01. eng.
- 211. Ashton CH, Rawlins MD, Tyrer SP. A double-blind placebo-controlled study of buspirone in diazepam withdrawal in chronic benzodiazepine users. Br J Psychiatry J Ment Sci. 1990;157:232–8. PubMed PMID: 2224374. Epub 1990/08/01. eng.
- Schweizer E, Rickels K. Failure of buspirone to manage benzodiazepine withdrawal. Am J Psychiatry. 1986;143(12):1590–2. PubMed PMID: 2878622. Epub 1986/12/01. eng.
- 213. File SE, Andrews N. Low but not high doses of buspirone reduce the anxiogenic effects of diazepam withdrawal. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 1991;105(4):578–82. PubMed PMID: 1771225. Epub 1991/01/01. eng.
- 214. Hallstrom C, Crouch G, Robson M, Shine P. The treatment of tranquilizer dependence by propranolol. Postgrad Med J. 1988;64 Suppl 2:40–4. PubMed PMID: 2905797. Epub 1988/01/01. eng.
- 215. Tyrer P, Rutherford D, Huggett T. Benzodiazepine withdrawal symptoms and propranolol. Lancet (London, England). 1981;1(8219):520–2. PubMed PMID: 6111632. Epub 1981/03/07. eng.

- 216. Baldwin HA, Hitchcott PK, File SE. Evidence that the increased anxiety detected in the elevated plusmaze during chlordiazepoxide withdrawal is not due to enhanced noradrenergic activity. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 1989;34(4):931–3. PubMed PMID: 2623049. Epub 1989/12/01. eng.
- 217. Sanger DJ, Perrault G, Morel E, Joly D, Zivkovic B. Animal models of anxiety and the development of novel anxiolytic drugs. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 1991;15(2):205–12. PubMed PMID: 1678541. Epub 1991/01/01. eng.
- Hamon M. Neuropharmacology of anxiety: perspectives and prospects. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 1994;15(2):36–9. PubMed PMID: 7909396. Epub 1994/02/01. eng.
- 219. Vasar E, Harro J, Lang A, Soosaar A, Oopik T, Koks S, et al. Anti-exploratory effect of N-methyl-D-aspartate in elevated plus-maze. Involvement of NMDA and CCK receptors. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 1993;3(1):63–73. PubMed PMID: 8471831. Epub 1993/03/01. eng.
- 220. Blanchard DC, Blanchard RJ, Carobrez Ade P, Veniegas R, Rodgers RJ, Shepherd JK. MK-801 produces a reduction in anxiety-related antipredator defensiveness in male and female rats and a gender-dependent increase in locomotor behavior. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 1992;108(3):352–62. PubMed PMID: 1523285. Epub 1992/01/01. eng.
- 221. Tsuda M, Shimizu N, Yajima Y, Suzuki T, Misawa M. Hypersusceptibility to DMCM-induced seizures during diazepam withdrawal in mice: evidence for upregulation of NMDA receptors. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol. 1998;357(3):309–15. PubMed PMID: 9550303. Epub 1998/04/29. eng.
- 222. Tsuda M, Suzuki T, Misawa M. NMDA receptor antagonists potently suppress the spontaneous withdrawal signs induced by discontinuation of long-term diazepam treatment in Fischer 344 rats. Brain Res. 1998;790(1–2):82–90. PubMed PMID: 9593834. Epub 1998/06/17. eng.
- 223. Tsuda M, Chiba Y, Suzuki T, Misawa M. Upregulation of NMDA receptor subunit proteins in the cerebral cortex during diazepam withdrawal. Eur J Pharmacol. 1998;341(2–3):R1–2. PubMed PMID: 9543260. Epub 1998/05/23. eng.
- 224. Turski L, Klockgether T, Sontag KH, Herrling PL, Watkins JC. Muscle relaxant and anticonvulsant activity of 3-((+/-)-2-carboxypiperazin-4-yl)propyl-1-phosphonic acid, a novel N-methyl-Daspartate antagonist, in rodents. Neurosci Lett. 1987;73(2):143–8. PubMed PMID: 3029636. Epub 1987/01/14. eng.
- 225. Steppuhn KG, Turski L. Diazepam dependence prevented by glutamate antagonists. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1993;90(14):6889–93. PubMed PMID: 8341715. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC47038. Epub 1993/07/15. eng.
- 226. Galpern WR, Miller LG, Greenblatt DJ, Szabo GK, Browne TR, Shader RI. Chronic benzodiazepine

administration. IX. Attenuation of alprazolam discontinuation effects by carbamazepine. Biochem Pharmacol. 1991;42 Suppl:S99–104. PubMed PMID: 1662953. Epub 1991/12/11. eng.

- 227. Schweizer E, Rickels K, Case WG, Greenblatt DJ. Carbamazepine treatment in patients discontinuing long-term benzodiazepine therapy. Effects on withdrawal severity and outcome. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1991;48(5):448–52. PubMed PMID: 2021297. Epub 1991/05/01. eng.
- 228. Ballenger JC, Post RM. Carbamazepine in alcohol withdrawal syndromes and schizophrenic psychoses. Psychopharmacol Bull. 1984 Summer;20(3):572–84. PubMed PMID: 6382378. Epub 1984/01/01. eng.
- Macdonald RL. Antiepileptic drug actions. Epilepsia. 1989;30 Suppl 1:S19–28; discussion S64–8. PubMed PMID: 2550216. Epub 1989/01/01. eng.
- 230. Zangrossi H Jr, Leite JR, Graeff FG. Anxiolytic effect of carbamazepine in the elevated plus-maze: possible role of adenosine. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 1992;106(1):85–9. PubMed PMID: 1346723. Epub 1992/01/11. eng.
- 231. Di Costanzo E, Rovea A. [The prophylaxis of benzodiazepine withdrawal syndrome in the elderly: the effectiveness of carbamazepine. Double-blind study vs. placebo]. Minerva psichiatrica. 1992;33(4):301–4. PubMed PMID: 1297907. Epub 1992/10/01. La profilassi della sindrome di astinenza da benzodiazepine nell'anziano: l'efficacia della carbamazepina. Uno studio in doppio cieco con placebo. ita.
- 232. Swantek SS, Grossberg GT, Neppe VM, Doubek WG, Martin T, Bender JE. The use of carbamazepine to treat benzodiazepine withdrawal in a geriatric population. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol. 1991;4(2):106–9. PubMed PMID: 1854420. Epub 1991/04/01. eng.
- 233. Ries R, Cullison S, Horn R, Ward N. Benzodiazepine withdrawal: clinicians' ratings of carbamazepine treatment versus traditional taper methods. J Psychoactive Drugs. 1991;23(1):73–6. PubMed PMID: 1682434. Epub 1991/01/01. eng.
- Lader MH. Limitations on the use of benzodiazepines in anxiety and insomnia: are they justified? Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 1999;9(Suppl 6):S399– 405. PubMed PMID: 10622686. Epub 2000/01/06. eng.
- 235. Consensus conference. Drugs and insomnia. The use of medications to promote sleep. JAMA. 1984;251(18):2410–4. PubMed PMID: 6142971. Epub 1984/05/11. eng.
- 236. Ohayon MM, Caulet M. Psychotropic medication and insomnia complaints in two epidemiological studies. Can J Psychiatry. 1996;41(7):457–64. PubMed PMID: 8884035. Epub 1996/09/01. eng.
- 237. Rickels K, Schweizer E, Case WG, Greenblatt DJ. Long-term therapeutic use of benzodiazepines. I. Effects of abrupt discontinuation. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1990;47(10):899–907. PubMed PMID: 2222129. Epub 1990/10/01. eng.

- 238. Baillargeon L, Landreville P, Verreault R, Beauchemin JP, Gregoire JP, Morin CM. Discontinuation of benzodiazepines among older insomniac adults treated with cognitive-behavioural therapy combined with gradual tapering: a randomized trial. CMAJ. 2003;169(10):1015–20. PubMed PMID: 14609970. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC236226. Epub 2003/11/12. eng.
- 239. Morin CM, Bastien C, Guay B, Radouco-Thomas M, Leblanc J, Vallieres A. Randomized clinical trial of supervised tapering and cognitive behavior therapy to facilitate benzodiazepine discontinuation in older adults with chronic insomnia. Am J Psychiatry. 2004;161(2):332–42. PubMed PMID: 14754783. Epub 2004/02/03. eng.
- 240. Salzman C. The APA Task Force report on benzodiazepine dependence, toxicity, and abuse. Am J Psychiatry. 1991;148(2):151–2. PubMed PMID: 1987812. Epub 1991/02/01. eng.

- 241. O'Connor K, Marchand A, Brousseau L, Aardema F, Mainguy N, Landry P, et al. Cognitive-behavioural, pharmacological and psychosocial predictors of outcome during tapered discontinuation of benzodiazepine. Clin Psychol Psychother. 2008;15(1):1–14. PubMed PMID: 19115423. Epub 2008/12/31. eng.
- 242. de Wit H, Griffiths RR. Testing the abuse liability of anxiolytic and hypnotic drugs in humans. Drug Alcohol Depend. 1991;28(1):83–111. PubMed PMID: 1679388. Epub 1991/06/01. eng.
- 243. Dell'Osso B, Albert U, Atti AR, Carmassi C, Carra G, Cosci F, et al. Bridging the gap between education and appropriate use of benzodiazepines in psychiatric clinical practice. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2015;11:1885–909. PubMed PMID: 26257524. PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4525786. Epub 2015/08/11. eng.



20

Beyond Acute Traumatic Brain Injury: Molecular Implications of Associated Neuroinflammation in Higher-Order Cognitive Processes

Agustín J. Montivero, Marisa S. Ghersi, Johanna Catalán-Figueroa, María Lina Formica, Nahuel Camacho, Antonella F. Culasso, Claudia B. Hereñú, Santiago D. Palma, and Mariela Fernanda Pérez

Traumatic Brain Injury: Definition, Epidemiology, and Classification

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is the result of an external mechanical force applied to the cranium and the intracranial contents, leading to temporary or permanent impairments, functional disability, or psychosocial maladjustment [1, 2]. TBI can adversely affect a person's quality of life in numerous ways, including cognitive, behavioral/emotional, and physical effects that affect interpersonal, social, and occupational functioning. In addition to the TBI impact to the individual, TBI can negatively impact families, communities, and also the country's economy. One case of TBI occurs every 15 seconds in the USA, generating 1.7 million new head injury victims per year. These events are responsible for 50,000 deaths, leave 80,000 individuals with permanent disabilities, and cost more than US\$77 billion on average per year. The frequency of brain injury is currently higher than that of any other diseases, including complex diseases such as breast cancer, acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS). Parkinson's disease, and multiple sclerosis. In the USA, children aged 0-4 years, adolescents aged 15-19 years, and adults aged 75 years and older are among the most likely to have a TBIrelated emergency department visit or to be hospitalized for a TBI. Adults aged 75 years and older have the highest rates of TBI-related hospitalizations and deaths among all age groups. The leading causes of nonfatal TBI in the USA

A. J. Montivero · M. S. Ghersi · A. F. Culasso

C. B. Hereñú · S. D. Palma · M. F. Pérez (⊠) IFEC-Departamento de Farmacología, Facultad de Ciencias Químicas, CONICET, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Haya de la Torre y Medina Allende s/n, Ciudad Universitaria, Córdoba, Argentina e-mail: sdpalma@fcq.unc.edu.ar; mfperez@unc.edu.ar

J. Catalán-Figueroa

IFEC-Departamento de Farmacología, Facultad de Ciencias Químicas, CONICET, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Haya de la Torre y Medina Allende s/n, Ciudad Universitaria, Córdoba, Argentina

Centro de Nanotecnología Aplicada, Universidad Mayor, Santiago de Chile, Chile e-mail: joh.catalan.figueroa@unc.edu.ar

M. L. Formica · N. Camacho UNITEFA-Departamento de Ciencias Farmacéuticas, Facultad de Ciencias Químicas, CONICET, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Haya de la Torre y Medina Allende s/n, Ciudad Universitaria, Córdoba, Argentina

are falls (35%), motor vehicle-related injuries (17%), and strikes or blows to the head from or against an object (17%), such as in sports injuries [3]. The incidence of sport-related concussions is estimated to be 130,000 per year among children 5-18 years of age [4]. Among active military personnel, blast injury is the most common cause of TBI [5]. The prevalence (i.e., the existing cases at any given time) of TBI is not well documented, because most cases (i.e., mild TBI; mTBI) are not fatal and patients may not have been hospitalized. Estimates often are based on existing disabilities. Estimates by the National Institutes of Health Consensus Development Panel on Rehabilitation of Persons with TBI showed that 2.5-6.5 million Americans live with TBI-related disabilities [3, 6].

TBI may be penetrating or non-penetrating and diffuse or focal and vary in severity, location, and patient characteristics. *Impact loading* causes TBI through a combination of contact forces and inertial forces. *Inertial force* ensues when the head is set in motion with or without any contact force, leading to an acceleration of the head. *Contact force* occurs when impact injury is delivered to the head at rest. *Static or quasistatic loading* is rare and occurs when a slowly moving object traps the head against a fixed rigid structure and gradually squeezes the skull, causing many comminuted fractures that may be enough to deform the brain and lead to fatal injury (See Fig. 20.1). TBI-related injuries are divided into two subcategories: (1) *primary injury*, which occurs at the moment of trauma, and (2) *secondary injury*, which occurs immediately after trauma and produces effects that may continue for a long time.

- Primary Injuries: can be manifested as focal injuries (e.g., skull fractures, intracranial hematomas, lacerations, contusions, penetrating wounds) or they can be diffuse (as in diffuse axonal injury, DAI) [7, 8]. DAI is due to shear strain caused by acceleration/deceleration forces that ultimately lead to disconnection and Wallerian degeneration.
- Secondary Injury: attributable to further cellular damage from the effects of primary injuries and are related to ischemia, brain swelling, and other complex mechanisms such as inflammation and may in themselves have severe consequences. Secondary injuries may develop over a period of hours or days following the initial traumatic assault [9].

The early phase of damage usually occurs within 24 h of injury and is directly related to tissue damage and deregulated physiological functions. The intermediate phase takes place in the days following TBI and entails neuroinflammation. The late phase is primarily associated with seizures and epileptogenesis and arises days to weeks after TBI. Early damage following TBI often stems from the ischemic cascade. There is a



Fig. 20.1 Physical mechanisms of brain injury

fine interplay regarding normal energy processes and disruption of this intricate path. It leads to decreased glucose utilization, lactic acid accumulation, reduced ATP and activity of ATPreliant ion pumps, Ca²⁺ –induced depolarization, excitotoxicity, and cellular death.

The severity of TBI can be classified as mild, moderate, or severe on the basis of clinical presentation of a patient's neurologic signs and symptoms. Currently, the severity of TBI is categorized based on the Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS), in which patients are scored on the basis of clinical symptoms, and the resulting overall score classifies their injury as mild (score: 13–15), moderate (score: 9–12), or severe (score: <9). Moreover, duration of posttraumatic amnesia (PTA) has proved to be a strong predictor of TBI outcome [10, 11], considering that mild TBI may be associated with PTA for up to 24 h [12], and about 70-90% of TBI cases are considered mild, while 10-20% of cases are moderate to severe [13]. Symptoms of mTBI can include headaches, dizziness, nausea, and amnesia. These injuries usually resolve within days to weeks of the insult. However, occasionally, these injuries can result in long-term cognitive and behavioral deficits.

Furthermore, there is evidence to suggest that moderate to severe TBI, and even repeated mTBI, might be associated with increased risk of neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease [14], chronic traumatic encephalopathy [15], and Parkinson's disease [16].

Cognitive Deficits Induced by TBI

After moderate to severe TBI, cognitive dysfunction is common, with more than half of the patients experiencing chronic cognitive impairment that produces lifelong disabilities [17]. These deficits include slowed information processing and impaired long-term memory, attention, working memory, executive function, social cognition, and self-awareness [for extensive review, see [18]].

Following a concussion, the expectation of a full functional recovery within 7–10 days may be

realized for most people [19], but others continue to experience symptoms for an extended period of time [20–22]. The cluster of symptoms that commonly present together in these individuals has been recognized as post-concussive syndrome (PCS) [21, 23]. Post-concussive symptoms may develop following a TBI of any severity and are generally grouped into three categories. The first are cognitive symptoms (e.g., attention, executive function, memory, mental slowing, speech changes) [24]. The second group are physical and somatic symptoms (e.g., headache, fatigue, dizziness and nausea, pain headaches, sleep disruption, sensitivity to light or sound, hearing problems, and visual disturbances, even seizures) [24, 25]. The third group is integrated by emotional/behavioral symptoms (e.g., depression, anxiety, irritability, attention deficit, and executive dysfunction) [26, 27]. The deficits produced by mTBI are frequently more subtle and poorly recognized than those resulting from severe TBI [28–31]. They include physical problems such as headache, dizziness, and visual disturbances; cognitive impairments such attention, memory, and executive dysfunction; and emotional or behavioral problems such as irritability, anxiety, depression, affective liability, apathy, and/or impulsivity [32, 33].

Many individuals with TBI have chronic and debilitating communication problems [34, 35]. These problems are most commonly characterized as impairments in the ability to communicate appropriately and effectively across contexts [34, 35]. Social communication deficits may include impaired comprehension of indirect language [36-38] and poor organization of spoken and written discourse [39-41] and are thought to reflect underlying cognitive rather than linguistic impairments [42]. Moderate-to-severe TBI may reduce the processing ability available for social communication or, alternatively, that communication tasks may be more taxing for individuals with TBI than for their uninjured peers [43-45]. With the standard clinical assessment used, it is very difficult to identify those individuals at risk for post-concussive syndrome. Moreover, since working memory is one of the domains primarily affected by mild TBI, a combination of clinical and fMRI measures of working memory early after injury (within the first week) may predict the patient outcome. Individuals who do not recover at 1 week after injury showed an increased activation in the right [46, 47], often prefrontal [48], cortex when the activation of individuals who have sustained a TBI is compared with controls. However, this pattern is not evident in individuals recovering. Furthermore, the pattern of activity change in areas of the "default network" (DN) (posterior cingulate cortex and medial prefrontal cortex) have the potential to be predictive of recovery. When the activation in these areas was low during the working memory task (hypoactivation), individuals with an mTBI did not recover. When activation in these areas was relatively high during the task, individuals with mTBI recovered. This result raises the possibility that the activation in the DN may eventually be useful to identify individuals who will require more intensive rehabilitation after mTBI [49]. In line with these results, another study performed more than 1 year after TBI showed that working memory and information processing speed was significantly impaired in mTBI participants with persistent PCS compared to mTBI participants without PCS and all non-head injured participants. Correlations between cognitive performance and symptoms were only observed for mTBI participants, with worse performance correlating with lower sleep quality, in addition to medium effect size associations (which do not reach statistical significance) with higher PCS symptoms, posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), and anxiety [50].

An important issue to consider in the TBI outcome and persistence of PCS symptoms is to clarify pre-injury developmental, medical, neurological, psychiatric, substance, academic, and employment histories, particularly as regards conditions that may influence recovery following mTBI. One third of TBI patients may present one or many of these conditions [51], and their presence may also offer explanation of relatively poor recovery after an apparently mTBI.

It is important to take into account substance abuse and/or intoxication during TBI, since the association of substance abuse with brain injury and the relatively poor psychological and functional outcome after TBI are well described [32, 52–55].

Depression, anxiety disorders, posttraumatic stress disorder, and sleep disturbances may develop after TBI, and premorbid disorders of these types may be exacerbated by mild TBI [27].

Animal Models of TBI

To study TBI preclinically, researchers have developed several experimental animal models to replicate human pathophysiology (see Table 20.1, Fig. 20.2).

Molecular Mechanisms Involved in Secondary Injury Contributing to Neurodegeneration

As it was mentioned before, secondary injury appears as a consequence of the primary damage, and it can occur in a period from days to weeks or even months. It triggers a complex cascade of intracellular signaling, which includes ATP depletion, neuroinflammation, oxidative stress, and cytoskeleton damage. These events are associated to glutamate receptor-mediated excitotoxicity, altering membrane's permeability by the disruption of the ionic balance, thus inducing cellular edema [60]. This, in turn, favors the calcium massive entrance into the cell due to the augmentation of extracellular potassium [61], which can induce endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress, and cellular death by apoptosis and/or necrosis [62]. These events induce the production of toxic and pro-inflammatory mediators, such as prostaglandins, oxidative metabolites, chemokines and proinflammatory cytokines, which can lead to lipoperoxidation, enhanced BBB disruption, and brain edema [60]. In addition, compensatory mechanisms are triggered, such as the unfolded protein response (UPR) and autophagy, aiming for the restoration of the cellular homeostasis [63, 64].

The UPR is triggered in response to the ER stress, mainly because of the loss of calcium

Animal models of		
traumatic brain injury	Characteristics	
Fluid percussion injury (FPI)	FPI produces a TBI that is characterized by cerebral edema, intraparenchymal hemorrhage, and cortical neuronal injury. Lately, the FPI model has been modified to lateral FPI model, which creates not only focal cortical contusion but it also transmits the traumatic injury into subcortical structures such as the hippocampus and thalamus. The neuronal loss starts immediately after the impact and progresses up to 7 days post-TBI. The cascade of the molecular changes continues for months in the subcortical structures such as the septum pellucidum, thalamus, amygdala, and striatum. This TBI model produces similar symptoms to humans and manifests severe neurobehavioral deficits that persist more than 1 year after TBI [56, 57]	
Controlled cortical impact injury (CCI)	CCI is a TBI model that provides a more controlled injury in terms of velocity force, time, and depth of injury as compared to the FPI model. This model creates cortical injury, SDH, axonal injury, and subcortical injury in the thalamus and hippocampus. The CCI model- induced brain injuries cause long-term neurobehavioral deficits that persist more than a year and are associated with cortical atrophy and reduced brain perfusion [56, 58]	
Weight drop impact acceleration injury (WDIAI)	WDIAI is a model that generates an open or closed head injury. The result of the first impact is cortical contusion with possible subcortical intracerebral hemorrhage. This leads to the formation of a necrotic cavity within 2 weeks after injury. In this model, the recovery phase is ranged from 2 weeks to 3 months. The closed head injury of this model causes neurologic deficits, neurodegeneration, an inflammatory response with microglia activation, blood-brain barrier (BBB) breakdown, and DAI. The pathology features of this model contain similar components as seen in human TBI that is caused by motor vehicle accidents or sports injury [56]	
Blast injury	Blast injury model is created by high-v anatomical and morphological charac- trajectory of the injury with intraparen formation. Moreover, this model also g inflammation with BBB breakdown, ce axonal degeneration [56, 59]	velocity ballistic penetration or a stub of a blast. The teristics of the blast injury are related to the achymal hemorrhage and subsequent cavity generates additional TBI components such as rebral edema, neurodegeneration, tauopathy, and

Table 20.1 Characteristic lesions induced by different animal models of traumatic brain injury

homeostasis, in order to prevent accumulation of altered proteins [64]. It has been described that ER stress contributes to the injury spread observed in postmortem human brains of patients who suffered chronic traumatic encephalopathy as well as to behavioral deficits present in adult rodents TBI models [65]. On the other hand, there are basal (quality control) and stressinduced levels of autophagy. While basal autophagy is necessary for the turnover of cellular components, stress-mediated autophagy may occur as a compensatory response to oxidative stress, organelles dysfunction, or when ATP levels need to be restored. When autophagy is unable to restore cellular energy, apoptosis or necrosis are triggered [66]. In mTBI, autophagy upregulation has a protective role, whereas in severe injury, it seems to be inhibited, contributing to cell death [63].

Excitotoxicity and Calcium Imbalance

The alteration of ionic balance after TBI induces an extensive depolarization, promoting a massive glutamate release, increasing the extracellular levels of the neurotransmitter. This phenomenon is exacerbated by impairment in glutamate buffering and clearance, mainly because of posttraumatic reduction of excitatory amino acid transporter expression [67]. These transporters, located at neurons and astrocytes, are responsible for removing glutamate from the extracellular space, but when their activity is reduced further, increases in extracellular glutamate levels occur, self-perpetuating excitatory signaling [68]. The glutamate overstimulation and its reuptake deplete ATP cellular storage, increasing extracellular potassium about six times. Moreover, the latter events are enhanced





by alterations in the potassium conductance in astrocytes after TBI [69]. Cytotoxic effects of glutamate are mainly mediated by the influx of large amounts of calcium through N-methyl-Daspartate (NMDA) receptors from extracellular pools, as well as from intracellular calcium stores [70]. These effects are exacerbated by the hypoxic opening of other plasma membrane calcium-permeable channels, due to an increase in oxidative stress and the decreased of extracellular pH [71].

Several mechanisms are involved in the damage induced by elevated levels of intracellular calcium in neurons, such as the activation of calcium-dependent enzymes and mitochondria calcium overload, which may lead to necrotic cell death or apoptosis [72]. For instance, in neurons there are specific calpain isoforms which are activated by micromolar calcium concentrations, reached after excitotoxic insults such as TBI. Furthermore, cytoskeletal proteins such as tubulin, microtubule-associated proteins, neurofilaments, and spectrin are substrates for calpains; thus, their activation also induces structural alterations [70]. In addition, calpains are also related to the degradation of membrane proteins and other cellular enzymes, such as kinases and phosphatases, altering cellular normal activity. Nevertheless, calpain activation only occurs when neuronal physiology is compromised; therefore, calcium homeostasis restoration appears to be one of the main targets for diminishing TBI-induced damage [73].

Another family of enzymes associated to increased intracellular calcium levels are caspases, which are related to the induction of apoptotic death, and their activation has been observed after TBI [70, 74]. In addition, TBI-induced caspases activity has been related to mitochondrial swelling, to increases in oxidative damage and pro-apoptotic factors, to reduced expression of BBB tight junction proteins, and to the cleavage of axonal membrane structural proteins [74]. There are also calcium-dependent

endonucleases that have been shown to be activated after TBI, generating DNA damage, characteristic for apoptotic cell death [71]. These morphofunctional impairments increase membrane disruption, altering its permeability to ions and macromolecules and finally contributing to cell damage as well as to the abnormal physiology in neurons after TBI [70].

On the other hand, calcium can also activate enzymes associated to inflammatory and oxidative stress cascades, such as cytosolic phospholipase A2 (cPLA2) and phospholipase C (PLC), which levels are also increased after TBI [70]. The cPLA2 activation induces the release and cellular accumulation of soluble arachidonic acid (AA), the eicosanoids precursor, involved in inflammatory processes, platelet aggregations, and vessels' smooth muscle regulation. In addition, PLC mediates the production of both diacylglycerol (DAG) and inositol trisphosphate (IP3), inducing calcium release from the endoplasmic ER [70]. Finally, upon NMDA receptors activation, calcium activates neuronal nitric oxide synthase (NOS-1), by stimulation of the calcium-dependent enzyme calmodulin, which has been involved in panic-like behavior in mice [75]. Moreover, increased NO levels combined with superoxide generate the highly toxic free radical, peroxynitrite [72], that along with the high metabolism of AA and impaired mitochondria may end up saturating endogenous scavengers.

Therefore, there is strong evidence in the literature supporting the role of glutamate in secondary injury. Microdialysis-based studies in rodents showed an increase in extracellular glutamate, which was proportional to the severity of the damage [76, 77]. In addition, it has been shown an increase of glutamate in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients suffering TBI, persistent for periods longer than 1-week posttrauma, where the severity of the injury also was correlated to worst patient's outcome [78]. Finally, a persistent deficit of the extracellular regulation of glutamate may set the basis for the cognitive and emotional impairment of patients affected for TBI, probably by loss of fidelity and specificity of synaptic transmission [69].

Mitochondrial Injury and TBI

Mitochondria regulates energy metabolism, calcium homeostasis, and intracellular trafficking [79]. In the central nervous system (CNS), they are one of the main sources of physiological reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, whereby their membrane is constantly submitted to oxidative events. However, in normal conditions, neurons remain protected by constant detoxification processes and for the CNS isolation by the BBB [80]. In addition, given the continuous ROS exposure, mitochondria are strictly regulated by their dynamics and turnover. These processes aim to preserve or restore the normal functioning, by fusing healthy mitochondria with dysfunctional ones [81]. In the case of the persistence of dysfunctional fractions, these mitochondria are separated from functional ones by fission, to be then recycled by mitophagy (the selective mitochondria turnover by autophagy) [80]. Nevertheless, long-term pathological conditions inhibit fusion and stimulate fission, causing mitochondrial fragmentation, finally triggering apoptotic cell death [81].

In TBI, axolemma disruption favors a massive calcium entry into the cytoplasm, which is actively sequestrated by mitochondria [79]. This might lead to mitochondrial swelling and bioenergetic deterioration, following impairment in axonal transport, axon degeneration, and neuronal disconnection [82]. In addition, the interruption of axonal transport produces accumulation and aggregation of toxic proteins, similar to what is observed in several neurodegenerative diseases, which may potentiate the deleterious effects over neurological functional outcome [80].

On the other hand, outer mitochondrial membrane permeability is a key factor for the determination of the cell's outcome after a noxious event, since within the intermembrane space there are several proteins involved in apoptotic cell death signaling. Furthermore, mitochondrial inner membrane disruption results in a decreased ATP production [82]. The reduction of ATP is mainly due to the impairment of the electron transport chain, where physiological electron leak is enhanced, generating a greater production of superoxide radicals $(O_2^{-\bullet})$, which can activate mitochondrial NOS-1, as described above. High reactive species derived from the electron leak, such as hydroxyl radical (•OH) and nitrogen dioxide (NO2•), induce lipoperoxidation of mitochondrial membrane fatty acids. Lipoperoxidation contributes to the self-propagating pathogenesis following TBI, as the result of neurotoxic aldehydes generation, which are capable of forming adducts with mitochondrial proteins, inducing their malfunctioning [83]. Finally, these processes may lead to an alteration in mitochondrial turnover (mitophagy) and dynamics (fusion/fission), potentially leading to cellular apoptosis [80, 81].

Following acute neuronal injury, there has been observed the induction of mitochondrial permeability transition, defined as an abrupt augmentation of inner mitochondrial membrane permeability for molecules smaller than 1.5 KDa [82]. This, combined with the increase of intramitochondrial calcium, will lead to the opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore, inducing loss of the mitochondrial membrane potential and ATP production, as well as calcium release toward the cytosol. These events, altogether, can activate different proteases inducing an increase in lactate levels, cytoskeletal degradation, and neurodegeneration [84].

Molecular Mechanisms of Secondary Injury as Potential Pharmacological Targets for TBI Treatment: A General Overview

It has been shown that beta-amyloid $(A\beta)$ oligomers can interrupt glutamate reuptake, favoring an extrasynaptic NMDA receptor activation, thus leading to a reduction of long-term potentiation and the enhancement of long-term depression of synaptic transmission in many brain areas. Therefore, treatment with NMDA receptors antagonists has been studied as a molecular target to ameliorate TBI-induced cognitive impairment. In rodents subjected to TBI, it has been observed that memantine (an extrasynaptic NMDA receptor antagonist) favors an improvement in cognition and neuroprotection. Nevertheless, this approach has failed in human clinical trials, probably due to the relevance of glutamate in normal excitatory signals. In addition, the use of inhibitors of glutamate release, such as N-acetylaspartylglutamate (NAAG) peptidase inhibitor, ZJ-43, was shown to significantly improve cognition in rats submitted to TBI, by limiting the hydrolysis of NAAG [85].

On the other hand, several studies have shown an attenuation of brain edema, by inhibiting interleukin 1 β (IL-1 β) after TBI. Specifically, by treating mice subjected to CCI with antibodies anti IL-1 β , it was observed a reduction in the extension of the damage, tissue loss, microglial activation, inflammatory infiltration, and cognitive deficit, in comparison to control. In addition, in mice subjected to CCI and microvascular endothelial cell monolayers treated with a calpain inhibitor, a decrease in calpain-dependent IL-1 β activity was observed, as well as an attenuation in BBB tight junction dysfunction [86].

It is known that TBI stimulates the production of several neurotrophins including the insulinlike growth factor-1 (IGF-1) [87, 88]. However, TBI appears to induce only transient increases in IGF-1 and its signaling molecules, which are probably not sufficient to provide neuroprotection or stimulate subacute repair or regenerative mechanisms. Therefore, exogenous administration of IGF-1 may supplement and extend the actions of endogenous IGF-1. In fact, administration of exogenous IGF-1 after experimental TBI promotes neuroprotection and improved functional outcomes. Although IGF-1 administration stimulates regenerative events including neurogenesis and angiogenesis in other CNS injury models [87], its brain repair potential after TBI is not yet known. Importantly, IGF-1 was well tolerated by patients in early-phase clinical trials for TBI, and IGF-1-treated patients showed improved metabolic outcome compared to placebo-treated patients [89, 90].

Finally, the use of glutathione intracranial administration reduces the disruption of glial barrier by a 70% parenchymal cell death, and neuro-inflammation, and in a lesser extent (50%)

meningeal cell death [91]. Moreover, the administration of N-acetylcysteine to patients within 24 hours post-mild TBI has shown to exert an improvement on their recovery after 7 days of treatment, regarding to placebo. In addition, similar results were obtained in weight drop and fluid percussion rodent models of TBI, where it was observed a behavioral recovery under the treatment with n-acetylcysteine after mild and moderate TBI [91].

Molecular Mechanisms in TBI Underlying Development of Neurodegenerative Pathologies

As it was stated above, secondary injury induced by TBI can lead to long-term neurological and neuropsychiatric sequelae. These sequelae include, but not are limited to, neurodegenerative pathologies. Some of the neurodegenerative pathologies induced by TBI include Alzheimer's disease (AD), Parkinson's disease (PD), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), and chronic traumatic encephalopathy [25, 92, 93]. Symptoms of these neurodegenerative processes include behavioral disturbances, cognitive dysfunction, and/or motor-related symptoms. The common feature of these pathologies is a degeneration of certain groups of neurons associated with the clinical symptoms [92]. However, the exact molecular mechanisms by which a TBI can develop any of these pathologies are not yet known, or there is no consensus among the scientific community.

Alzheimer's Disease

AD is mainly characterized for cholinergic neuron loss in the brain [92] and an accumulation of A β peptides in plaques in brain tissue [93]. Additionally, an intracellular aggregation of microtubule associated protein tau in neurofibrillary tangles occurs [93, 94]. Despite these findings, what is the common denominator between Alzheimer's disease and TBI? The answer is chronic inflammation. The discussed and not accurate mechanism of pathogenesis in AD

induced by TBI could be mediated by oxidative stress, inflammation, and excitotoxicity. All these processes occur during TBI-induced secondary injury.

Figure 20.3 summarizes the possible pathways for neurodegeneration and AD induction by TBI. Inflammation and oxidative stress gated by TBI are closely related to inflammatory cytokines, which in turn downregulates Aß clearance genes, promoting the deposition on protein plaques [92]. In fact, activated microglia during inflammation can cause excitotoxicity, stimulating neurofibrillary tangle deposition due to release of toxic levels of cytokines [93]. Besides, non-enzymatically glycated tau contributes to oxidative stress [95]. On the other hand, high levels of glutamate in synaptic cleft are responsive for excitotoxicity. The apparent result is the development of free radicals with consequent cell death [92]. In combination, all these processes ensue synergistically, enhancing the severity and progress of the disease.

The abnormal proteinopathies could be vie wed as part of the injury process instead of a result of the injury [93], because some studies found that the accumulation of amyloid precursor protein (APP) in the traumatized axons after TBI promotes the A β plaque formation [96]. Although many others enunciate that in numerous studies with animal models, this deposition of A β from APP is not observed [97–100]. Further potential pathogenesis mechanisms include neural network disruption, abnormal calcium signaling, and vascular abnormalities [94]. Moreover, BBB damage is implicated in pathophysiology of AD, due to the slower clearance of senile plaques [101].

Parkinson's Disease

Parallel to AD disease, PD is governed by the formation of α -synuclein-rich Lewy bodies and characterized by death of dopaminergic neurons, specifically in the substantia nigra [102]. The α -synuclein accumulation is the prevailing point among TBI and Parkinson's disease [92] due to the damage of axonal transport by injuries in white matter. Additionally, in this disease it is



Fig. 20.3 Neurodegenerative pathways in AD

also observed inflammation, oxidative stress, deficient handling of proteins and mitochondrial dysfunction [103].

Clinical studies have emphasized the incidence of PD in animal models of TBI [104] and humans with previous TBI [105], and the evidence is probably strongest for PD, instead of a TBI association with AD [106], though a recent research reported that TBI is not a potential risk factor for PD, compared with individuals that never suffer a TBI [107]. The difficulties to establish a consensus on these associations are probably due to the complexity of epidemiology and pathology of AD and PD.

Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

ALS is a neurodegenerative disorder where upper and lower motor neurons are affected [108]. The incidence of this disease is 3–5 per 100,000 people [109, 110]. Furthermore, there are several features of its pathogenesis waiting to be unveiled. Only 2 percent of all cases are due to mutation in the superoxide dismutase (SOD1), and similarly to AD and PD, cytotoxic TDP-43 proteins aggregates are developed [103]. Additionally, some evidence point out the oxidative stress, glutamatergic excitotoxicity, microglial activation, and inflammation as promoters of disease progression and severity [111, 112].

Neuroinflammation as a Putative Cause of Neurocognitive Deficits Induced by TBI

Extensive evidence point out neuroinflammation as a major pathological process in the secondary response following injury, that may cause many of the neurocognitive deficits and behavioral changes observed after TBI. A major component of the neuroinflammatory response to brain injury is release of IL-1 α or β , the prototypical pro-inflammatory cytokine that binds to the type 1 IL receptor (IL-1RI), and IL-1 signaling is a major mediator of secondary neurologic injury. In fact, the IL-1R-blocking drug anakinra, currently approved in many countries for rheumatoid arthritis, was also been studied for off-label use in other disorders with an inflammatory component, including stroke and TBI [113–117]. Anakinra was able to induce significant improvement in learning during the acquisition phase of the Barnes maze in mice under the TBI induced by FPI, compared with saline-treated FPI mice, indicating that therapeutically targeting IL-1RI may be more likely to provide effective treatment for patients suffering cognitive deficits after TBI than drugs that specifically target individual IL-1 or their signaling [118]. In a different TBI model in rats, frontal CCI at multiple levels of severity resulted in substantial, persistent deficits in several domains of function, namely, attention, impulse control, ability to complete trials, choice, and reinforce collection latencies. The long-term neuroinflammation caused by brain injury was strongly associated with chronic impulsivity (evident over 3 months post-injury, even in mildly injured animals) as well as the degree of recovery in impulse control, even when accounting for gross tissue loss [119]. Additionally, by using the same TBI model, sensorimotor deficits at 3 days post-TBI were observed, and late cognitive flexibility disorder was evidenced by the reversal learning task of the Barnes maze 3 months after injury. These data give an overall invaluable overview of time course of neuroinflammation that could be involved in demyelination and late cognitive disorder over a time scale of 3 months in a model of mild TBI [120].

Pomalidomide is an immunomodulatory agent with a reported tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) inhibitory action of up to 50,000-fold greater than thalidomide [121]. It is clinically available with suppressive effects on angiogenesis, and tumor cell proliferation underpins its use and efficacy in the treatment of multiple myeloma and other cancers [122]. Interestingly, pomalidomide attenuates the size of the resulting cortical lesion by reducing the neuronal degeneration and improves multiple motor functional outcomes in an animal model of a penetrating form of TBI. Additionally, mRNA and protein levels of the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 were significantly blunted by pomalidomide when it was administered up to 5 h after TBI [123].

On the other hand, high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) proteins, non-histone nuclear pro-

teins which contribute to the architecture of chromatin DNA [124, 125], are highly conserved. It has been reported that immediately after neuronal injury, there is a passive release of significant amounts of HMGB1 from the nucleus into the extracellular space [126]. HMGB1 initiates several cell responses including inflammation as well as mediate the activation of inflammatory process via binding with different types of receptors, including RAGE and TLR4 [127, 128]. HMGB1 acts as a pathogenic inflammatory agent. It is involved in the response mediating ranges of conditions such as epilepsy [129, 130], septic shock [131], ischemia [132, 133], TBI [134], PD [135], AD [136], and MS [137]. HMGB1 can influence synaptic function in the brain regions such as the hippocampus, which is involved in hyperexcitability and cognitive decline in epilepsy [138]. HMGB1 participates in cognitive decline probably by causing disruption of the BBB leading to cognitive deficits in aged rats [139]. Interestingly, accumulating evidence suggests that neuroinflammation is highly associated with epilepsy and cognitive dysfunction after TBI and HMGB1 exhibits a key role as an initiator and amplifier of neuroinflammation as well as in neuronal excitation [140], while inhibition of HMGB1 expression exhibits protective effects in animal model of TBI [141]. Similar line of results has been reported where anti-HMGB1 monoclonal antibodies improved neurological deficits in ischemic-induced brain injury [142] and prevent cognitive dysfunction after TBI [143], while antagonists competing with HMGB1 for receptor binding significantly ameliorated the blood-brain barrier breakdown and brain edema induced by CCI, and these effects were associated with the decrease in expressions of inflammation-related factors as well as improved neurological functions [144]. Taken together, all these findings suggest HMGB1 as a potential candidate to be a common biomarker of TBI, neuroinflammation, epileptogenesis, and cognitive dysfunctions which can be used for early prediction and progression of those neurological diseases [145].

Current Clinical and Pharmacological Management of TBI

Medical management of TBI should be tailored to the severity of each case [146]. In milder cases the treatment is focused in the control of the symptoms. There is strong interest to encourage healthy lifestyle strategies such as maintaining the circadian rhythm, having four-meals-a-day diet [147], and doing aerobic exercise training [148]. All these activities are effective in diminishing the common symptoms of mTBI. Headaches, depending on their pattern and intensity, can be managed with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), serotonin receptor agonists (triptans), and phenothiazine antipsychotics. Nausea and vomiting are treated with anti-emetics as well [147].

In order to treat cognitive symptoms of mTBI, pharmacological and nonpharmacological strategies have been assessed. Physical exercise was effective in improving the post-concussion symptom scale and diminished the reaction time when evaluated and days off work [149]. In terms of neurorehabilitation, results are controversial. Patients with mTBI who received multidisciplinary treatment (supportive psychotherapy, physiotherapy, and occupational therapy) did not show improvements in neurobehavioral outcomes after 6 months. These results contrasted only when subjects with psychiatric history prior to TBI were taken into account. They showed a significant decrease in depressive symptoms after this supportive therapy [150]. On the other hand, cognitive rehabilitation achieved better results when working attention deficits were assessed [151].

When pharmacological strategies are considered for the patient management, amitriptyline, a tricyclic antidepressant, has been widely used in patients with mTBI because it prevents migraine, although majority of the studies failed to prove effectiveness in diminishing depressive symptoms. Sertraline, a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor, in contrast to amitriptyline has shown improvement not only in depression but also in cognition and impulsivity [152]. Moreover, methylphenidate, a psychostimulant that blocks the reuptake of norepinephrine and dopamine into the presynaptic neuron commonly used to treat patients with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, is useful for enhancing attention in patients with mTBI but fails in improving memory or processing speed [153, 154]. In severe TBI cases, amantadine (dopamine agonist) and CP-0127 (bradykinin antagonist) showed a markedly improvement in arousal, according to GCS, but no effects were seen in attention, memory, general cognition, and global outcome according to Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS) [155], proving that there is still insufficient pharmacological armamentarium for the management of cognitive disorders induced by TBI.

Severe TBI has a different management strategy because elevated intracranial pressure (ICP) is often encountered and it becomes the main problem to treat in order to get an adequate cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP). When increased ICP is because of a lesion with mass effect, surgery for evacuation of the lesion is indicated. However, when the cause of raised ICP is cerebral edema, medical management turns challenging and often frustrating, because there is not currently effective medical treatment that focuses on the secondary injury causes. The first pharmacological step in the treatment of a patient with severe TBI is sedation. The goal is to decrease cerebral metabolism and oxygen consumption and also protect against seizures. Propofol and morphine are commonly used. Morphine is more effective decreasing ICP, but mortality and GOS were similar when both agents were compared [156]. Because propofol can induce hypotension and depression of cardiac output, a strict control of these parameters must be continuously checked [157]. On the other hand, even though neuromuscular blockade is widely spread, there is still lacking data to support or reject its use. The benefice of nondespolarazing neuromuscular blocking agents (NBA) is the facilitation of mechanical ventilation [158], but it has been shown that patients with severe TBI who received NBA during their stay in intensive care unit had more elevated ICP records than controls without it [159].

Once the patient is under mechanical ventilation and sedated, a placement of an external ventricular drain (EVD) should be the next step in order to control ICP. It has been demonstrated that continuous drainage of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), commonly from the frontal horn of the ventricle, is more effective in decreasing ICP than when it is done intermittently [160]. If the patient persists with ICP over 20 mmHg, the use of hyperosmolar agents plays an important role. It is known that administration of hypertonic saline and mannitol increases plasma osmolarity by reducing cerebral edema, due to the passage of water from the interstitial and intracellular space to the intravascular compartment. Significant differences between these two agents in terms of global outcomes have not been found, and both are effective reducing the ICP [161]. Moreover, a close control of electrolyte balance and renal function must be performed in order to prevent cardiac and renal complications.

The last pharmacological stage in the stepwise ICP management is the use of barbiturates. They achieve neuroprotection reducing ICP by getting burst suppression, decreasing cerebral metabolism and oxygen consumption, and altering vascular tone. Furthermore, barbiturates couple regional blood flow and inhibit ROS-mediated lipid peroxidation [162], one the main process of secondary injury. Nevertheless, barbiturates may produce severe adverse effects such as hypotension, hypokalemia, respiratory complications, infections, and hepatic and renal dysfunction [163]. Finally, when ICP persists uncontrollable, risking the normal CPP, a surgical procedure called decompressive hemicraniectomy, which implies the removal of an important amount of the calvarium, should be performed in order to give space to the brain and prevent herniations. This procedure, of no less than 12x15cm, demonstrates to reduce mortality but with higher rates of disability and vegetative states [164– 166]. Other classic procedures that have not been shown to be beneficial like hypothermia [167], prolonged early hyperventilation [161], and bifrontal craniectomy [168] are not further recommended.

Nanomedicines for Brain Delivery and TBI Applications

The BBB plays the key role in regulating the access of molecules to the CNS. After TBI, it is known that access to the brain of bioactive molecules is limited, and the associated pathological process itself makes it difficult to achieve effective treatment or diagnosis. During this pathological process, an alteration of the BBB has been reported. It includes its disruption, leakage, and alterations in the receptor expression, allowing proteins and red blood cells to enter within the cerebral parenchyma. These changes may provide opportunities to treatment with nanomedicines [169, 170]. The field of nanomedicine involves interdisciplinary research and development related to the application of nanotechnology in medicine on diagnosis, monitoring, treatment, or prevention taking the chemical, physical, and biological advantages that nanometric scale systems possess [171-177]. The nanomedicines used for drug administration have a diameter between 1 and 1000 nm which are able to lead and control release of active molecule in the target site improving its bioavailability and effectiveness [173, 177, 178]. These systems not only minimize the degradation of the drug but also increase the accumulated fraction in the pathological area, preventing the release in cells of healthy organs and more importantly reducing effective doses as well as side effects.

The design of the nanoparticles should focus on achieving a high load capacity and long circulation times, protecting the drug from degradation or its premature or anticipated release. In addition, the system must be nontoxic and biocompatible [173, 179-181]. Nanoparticles can incorporate hydrophobic and hydrophilic drugs, proteins, biological macromolecules, and genes, among others. Moreover, they can improve drug solubility and present high stability as well as controlled and directed release, allowing their administration by different routes [182, 183]. In addition to these properties, nanoparticles intended for the administration of drugs into the brain must have the ability to cross the BBB and possess sufficient physical stability in blood to achieve prolonged blood circulation [169]. Generally, a bioactive molecule or drug can be adsorbed, encapsulated, trapped, or covalently bound to a matrix or surface of nanoparticles [177] and, thus, modify its pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics [173]. A large variety of nanostructures have been described and used with different composition and properties including liposomes, polymeric nanoparticles, lipid nanoparticles, inorganic nanoparticles, nanocrystals, cyclodextrins, dendrimers, and different hybrid nanoparticles. The use of different technological tools can impact the nanoparticle properties such as its diameter, morphology, surface charge, and drug loading capacity, among others [173, 179]. In turn, these properties may influence nanoparticle brain delivery across the BBB.

Liposomes are composed of phospholipids that spontaneously form unilamellar or multilamellar concentric bilayers [184, 185]. The polymeric nanoparticles are composed of biodegradable polymers, and its core can be formed by several natural polymers such as cellulose, gelatin, chitosan, and alginate or synthetic polymers as polylactic (PLA), poly (lactic-coglycolic acid) (PLGA), polyanhydrides, and poly-ɛ caprolactone [186]. Dendrimers are wellorganized nanoscopic macromolecules that have high aqueous solubility, biocompatibility, polyvalence, and precise molecular weight. They are composed of a central molecule associated with repeated units and reactive groups on the surface [186, 187]. In relation to lipid-based nanoparticles, we can name lipid nanoparticles, lipid nanocapsules, and nanostructured lipids where it is possible to find a solid lipid core at room temperature, in the liquid state or a mixture of both, respectively [188–190]. Inorganic nanoparticles include mainly those based on metals (magnetic or not), carbon (nanotubes and fullerenes), and silica. In addition, different types of these nanoparticles have been combined to obtain hybrid nanoparticles, either those that combine lipids and polymers or organic and inorganic components [169]. Thus, the combination of hydrophilic polymer polyethylene glycol (PEG) and nanoparticles showed benefits in the TBI treatment. Particularly, PEG-decorated silica nanoparticles administered following TBI were able to effectively and efficiently enhance resealing of damaged cell membranes compared with uncoated particles or PEG alone [191–193].

In the design of nanosystems intended for CNS targeting, different aspects must be analyzed. The small size of the nanoparticles which confer a large specific surface exchange allows passage through the smaller capillaries to access a wide range of tissues and cells and prevents rapid elimination by phagocytes. It has been described that nanoparticles with sizes from 20 to 100 nm could reach the brain because their size is smaller than the capillaries thus producing a minimum clearance [173, 194]. The PEGylation process (coating of nanoparticles with PEG) is used to avoid opsonization and to achieve a longer blood circulation time. Furthermore, strategies of passive and active delivery are also used to allow nanoparticles to cross the BBB and release drugs into the brain. In some cases of TBI, the pathological process involves a leaky BBB and permeable blood vessels that offer an opportunity of extravasation and accumulation for circulating nanoparticles in brain areas where injury lead to permeability changes of the BBB, like enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect [170, 195]. PEG-decorated liposomes have shown selectively accumulation in the affected brain areas after induction of TBI. These liposomes could deliver drugs directly into the affected site in traumatized brain due to an EPR-like effect, suggesting that they are promising systems to enhance central drug delivery after TBI [196]. Additionally, nanoparticles can be functionalized with positive charge in order to use the BBB active transport, facilitating adsorptive-mediated transcytosis mechanism by electrostatic interaction with negative surface of BBB. Another functionalization strategy is related to the surface inclusion of cationic biomolecules, proteins, or specific ligands which can be bound to receptors of cells of BBB [169]. These strategies are implemented to achieve uniform, longer-lasting, and effective delivery of drugs into the brain. For instance, PLGA nanoparticle core coated with a PEG layer was coupled to imaging agent (800CW) which specifically binds to intracellular proteins of cells that have lost membrane integrity, thus revealing the extent of the damaged area into a mouse brain and greater penetration with smaller nanoparticles [197].

Different nanoparticles loaded with broad active molecules were designed for treatment and diagnosis of TBI that showed promising results. Thus, cerebrolysin-loaded PLGA nanoparticles were able to reduce brain pathology following TBI and superior neuroprotective effect in comparison to free cerebrolysin in a rat model. A rapid access of nanoparticles into the brain and a prolonged drug release was observed [198]. In another study, brain-derived neurotrophic factor-PLGA nanoparticles coated with poloxamer 188 showed an increase of molecule levels in the central nervous system with a consequent improvement in neurological and cognitive outcomes in an animal model of TBI [199]. Two PLGA-based formulations (microspheres and nanoparticles) loaded with stromal derived factor were studied as strategy for local brain delivery when injected in mouse brain, showing different in vivo response probably related to the particle size and long-term sustained release. Although both particles preserved chemokine bioactivity, nanoparticles showed a more sustained release than microspheres inducing migration of recruiting neural stem cell to the damaged area after their injection in mouse brain with TBI [200]. In another study, it was shown that a dendrimer loaded with pentobarbital significantly increased the absorption after TBI [201]. Furthermore, **ROS**-reactive thioether core-cross-linked nanoparticles showed a reduction of neuroinflammation and outcome improvement in a mouse model of TBI. These nanoparticles were able to accumulate in damaged brain areas quickly after injection and reduced the spread of damage during the early phase of the disease [202]. Additionally, neurotrophin elastin-like peptide-based fusion proteins maintained the biological activity of the neurotrophin and increased bioavailability by limiting protein loss due to diffusion and allowing controlled spatio-temporal delivery. These nanoparticles have impact in the field of neuronal regeneration and treatment of neurodegenerative diseases, including TBI [203].

Nanoparticles are also used for diagnosis purposes, such as the superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles, which is one of the most used contrast agents for the detection of cells transplanted by nuclear magnetic resonance. Furthermore, the superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticle labeling via DNA hybridization was explored to achieve a fast and specific cell labeling method to monitor transplanted cells in the CNS by magnetic resonance imaging in vitro as well as in vivo [204]. A recent work used nanoparticles to demonstrate that the magnetic particle imaging modality can be applied to imaging TBI events with an excellent contrast [205]. Another novel nanosystem was reported as a wireless sensing device to monitor the intracranial brain deformation in real time during the event of a blastinduced TBI. This system consists of an implantable soft magnet composed by iron oxide nanoparticles and an external head-mounted magnetic sensor that is able to measure the field in three dimensions. The change in the relative position of the soft magnet with respect to the external sensor induces changes in the magnetic field, which are used to extract the temporal and spatial motion of the brain under the blast wave in real time [206].

On the other hand, iron-based magnetic nanoparticles were designed to label mesenchymal stem cells as well as to track the fate of cells by magnetic resonance imaging [207]. In the same way, a delivery system using a surface modified solid gold nanoparticle was studied modifying the protein expression of therapeutically beneficial biomolecules. The results offer a simple efficient approach to transfection without complication from viral methods and illustrate that gene transfer on a gold nanoparticle peptide fusion can induce an efficient one-step transformation of rat mesenchymal stem cells [208].

Strategies to enhance survival and direct the differentiation of stem cells in vivo following tissue transplantation are critical to realize the potential of stem cell-based therapies. A nanoparticle system to deliver neurogenin-2 to human fetal tissue-derived neural stem cells resulted effective to promote neuronal differentiation and maturation in the brain area that needs to be repaired. A larger number of neurogenin-2transfected human neural stem cells, when transplanted with a tailored hyaluronic acid hydrogel into the TBI lesion site in a rat model, were more effectively differentiated into neuronal lineage compared with non-transfected cells [209]. In the same way, a nanosystem was developed to encapsulate retinoic acid, a potent morphogen, to effectively induce neural stem cells differentiation in vivo. However, a limited number of transplanted neural stem cells can finally accumulate at the TBI site. The transplanted neural stem cells partially reconstructed the damaged neuron circuit and improved the axon signal conductivity, helping ameliorate the negative impact of TBI and partially rescued gene transcripts regulating brain functions [185].

Concluding Remarks

All evidences presented in this chapter suggest that the neuroinflammatory nature of TBI, as a vicious circle, is the gating factor that may lead to the development of long-term disabilities including cognitive, affective, and physical detriments as well as neurodegenerative pathologies. Clinical evidences indicate that management of TBI is difficult and limited, because the insufficient pharmacological or procedural armamentarium together with their frequent adverse effects and complications must be taken into account when deciding which therapy is more convenient to apply. Therefore, it is essential to generate new scientific evidence to solve the questions posed by the mechanisms gated by TBI that contribute to long-term disabilities and draw attention to them as potential pharmacological targets of newly designed and more effective drugs or systems.

Finally, it is important to highlight that the use of nanomedicine in TBI is incipient and a strong impact of this type of development is projected in the coming years. It is particularly visualized that nanometric systems will have prevalence in the future on the design of novel pharmacotherapies that allow reaching the CNS more efficiently and diagnostic devices that can improve the prognosis of this pathology.

References

- Steyerberg EW, Mushkudiani N, Perel P, Butcher I, Lu J, McHugh GS, et al. Predicting outcome after traumatic brain injury: development and international validation of prognostic scores based on admission characteristics. PLoS Med. 2008;5(8):e165; discussion e.
- Niedzwecki CM, Marwitz JH, Ketchum JM, Cifu DX, Dillard CM, Monasterio EA. Traumatic brain injury: a comparison of inpatient functional outcomes between children and adults. J Head Trauma Rehabil. 2008;23(4):209–19.
- Faul M, Xu L, Wald MM, Coronado VG. Traumatic brain injury in the United States: emergency department visits, hospitalizations and deaths. In: Atlanta GCfDCaP, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, editor. 2010.
- Cohen JS, Gioia G, Atabaki S, Teach SJ. Sportsrelated concussions in pediatrics. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2009;21(3):288–93.
- Elder GA, Cristian A. Blast-related mild traumatic brain injury: mechanisms of injury and impact on clinical care. Mt Sinai J Med. 2009;76(2):111–8.
- statement Nc. Rehabilitation of persons with traumatic brain injury. NIH consensus statement. 2000/06/30 ed1998. p. 1–41.
- Ommaya AK, Gennarelli TA. Cerebral concussion and traumatic unconsciousness. Correlation of experimental and clinical observations of blunt head injuries. Brain. 1974;97(4):633–54.
- Hill CS, Coleman MP, Menon DK. Traumatic axonal injury: mechanisms and translational opportunities. Trends Neurosci. 2016;39(5):311–24.
- Nortje J, Menon DK. Traumatic brain injury: physiology, mechanisms, and outcome. Curr Opin Neurol. 2004;17(6):711–8.
- Katz DI, Alexander MP. Traumatic brain injury. Predicting course of recovery and outcome for patients admitted to rehabilitation. Arch Neurol. 1994;51(7):661–70.
- Ponsford JL, Spitz G, McKenzie D. Using posttraumatic amnesia to predict outcome after traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma. 2016;33(11):997–1004.
- MTBI C. Definition of mild traumatic brain injury. J Head Trauma Rehabil. 1993;8:2.
- Tiret L, Hausherr E, Thicoipe M, Garros B, Maurette P, Castel JP, et al. The epidemiology of head trauma in Aquitaine (France), 1986: a community-based study of hospital admissions and deaths. Int J Epidemiol. 1990;19(1):133–40.
- Lye TC, Shores EA. Traumatic brain injury as a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease: a review. Neuropsychol Rev. 2000;10(2):115–29.
- McKee AC, Cantu RC, Nowinski CJ, Hedley-Whyte ET, Gavett BE, Budson AE, et al. Chronic traumatic encephalopathy in athletes: progressive tauopathy after repetitive head injury. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2009;68(7):709–35.

- Hutson CB, Lazo CR, Mortazavi F, Giza CC, Hovda D, Chesselet MF. Traumatic brain injury in adult rats causes progressive nigrostriatal dopaminergic cell loss and enhanced vulnerability to the pesticide paraquat. J Neurotrauma. 2011;28(9):1783–801.
- Rabinowitz AR, Levin HS. Cognitive sequelae of traumatic brain injury. Psychiatr Clin North Am. 2014;37(1):1–11.
- Azouvi P, Arnould A, Dromer E, Vallat-Azouvi C. Neuropsychology of traumatic brain injury: an expert overview. Rev Neurol (Paris). 2017;173(7–8):461–72.
- McCrory P, Meeuwisse WH, Aubry M, Cantu RC, Dvorak J, Echemendia RJ, et al. Consensus statement on concussion in sport: the 4th international conference on concussion in sport, Zurich, November 2012. J Athl Train. 2013;48(4):554–75.
- Kushner D. Mild traumatic brain injury: toward understanding manifestations and treatment. Arch Intern Med. 1998;158(15):1617–24.
- 21. Ryan LM, Warden DL. Post concussion syndrome. Int Rev Psychiatry. 2003;15(4):310–6.
- 22. McMahon P, Hricik A, Yue JK, Puccio AM, Inoue T, Lingsma HF, et al. Symptomatology and functional outcome in mild traumatic brain injury: results from the prospective TRACK-TBI study. J Neurotrauma. 2014;31(1):26–33.
- Alexander MP. Mild traumatic brain injury: pathophysiology, natural history, and clinical management. Neurology. 1995;45(7):1253–60.
- Kaplan GB, Leite-Morris KA, Wang L, Rumbika KK, Heinrichs SC, Zeng X, et al. Pathophysiological bases of comorbidity: traumatic brain injury and post-traumatic stress disorder. J Neurotrauma. 2018;35(2):210–25.
- 25. Lozano D, Gonzales-Portillo GS, Acosta S, de la Pena I, Tajiri N, Kaneko Y, et al. Neuroinflammatory responses to traumatic brain injury: etiology, clinical consequences, and therapeutic opportunities. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2015;11:97–106.
- Bryan CJ. Multiple traumatic brain injury and concussive symptoms among deployed military personnel. Brain Inj. 2013;27(12):1333–7.
- Arciniegas DB, Anderson CA, Topkoff J, McAllister TW. Mild traumatic brain injury: a neuropsychiatric approach to diagnosis, evaluation, and treatment. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2005;1(4):311–27.
- MacKenzie EJ, Edelstein SL, Flynn JP. Hospitalized head-injured patients in Maryland: incidence and severity of injuries. Md Med J. 1989;38(9):725–32.
- 29. Williams DH, Levin HS, Eisenberg HM. Mild head injury classification. Neurosurgery. 1990;27(3):422–8.
- Katz RT, DeLuca J. Sequelae of minor traumatic brain injury. Am Fam Physician. 1992;46(5):1491–8.
- Dikmen SS, Bombardier CH, Machamer JE, Fann JR, Temkin NR. Natural history of depression in traumatic brain injury. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2004;85(9):1457–64.

- MacMillan PJ, Hart RP, Martelli MF, Zasler ND. Pre-injury status and adaptation following traumatic brain injury. Brain Inj. 2002;16(1):41–9.
- Wood RL. Understanding the 'miserable minority': a diasthesis-stress paradigm for post-concussional syndrome. Brain Inj. 2004;18(11):1135–53.
- 34. Dahlberg C, Hawley L, Morey C, Newman J, Cusick CP, Harrison-Felix C. Social communication skills in persons with post-acute traumatic brain injury: three perspectives. Brain Inj. 2006;20(4):425–35.
- Douglas JM. Relation of executive functioning to pragmatic outcome following severe traumatic brain injury. J Speech Lang Hear Res. 2010;53(2):365–82.
- Bosco FM, Angeleri R, Sacco K, Bara BG. Explaining pragmatic performance in traumatic brain injury: a process perspective on communicative errors. Int J Lang Commun Disord. 2015;50(1):63–83.
- Channon S, Watts M. Pragmatic language interpretation after closed head injury: relationship to executive functioning. Cogn Neuropsychiatry. 2003;8(4):243–60.
- Muller F, Simion A, Reviriego E, Galera C, Mazaux JM, Barat M, et al. Exploring theory of mind after severe traumatic brain injury. Cortex. 2010;46(9):1088–99.
- Coelho C, Le K, Mozeiko J, Hamilton M, Tyler E, Krueger F, et al. Characterizing discourse deficits following penetrating head injury: a preliminary model. Am J Speech Lang Pathol. 2013;22(2):S438–48.
- Ghayoumi Z, Yadegari F, Mahmoodi-Bakhtiari B, Fakharian E, Rahgozar M, Rasouli M. Persuasive discourse impairments in traumatic brain injury. Arch Trauma Res. 2015;4(1):e21473.
- Rousseaux M, Verigneaux C, Kozlowski O. An analysis of communication in conversation after severe traumatic brain injury. Eur J Neurol. 2010;17(7):922–9.
- Prigatano GP, Roueche JR, Fordyce DJ. Nonaphasic language disturbances after closed head injury. Language Sci. 1985;7:12.
- Martin-Rodriguez JF, Leon-Carrion J. Theory of mind deficits in patients with acquired brain injury: a quantitative review. Neuropsychologia. 2010;48(5):1181–91.
- Byom L, Turkstra LS. Cognitive task demands and discourse performance after traumatic brain injury. Int J Lang Commun Disord. 2017;52(4):501–13.
- Bosco FM, Parola A, Sacco K, Zettin M, Angeleri R. Communicative-pragmatic disorders in traumatic brain injury: the role of theory of mind and executive functions. Brain Lang. 2017;168:73–83.
- 46. Ricker JH, Hillary FG, DeLuca J. Functionally activated brain imaging (O-15 PET and fMRI) in the study of learning and memory after traumatic brain injury. J Head Trauma Rehabil. 2001;16(2):191–205.
- 47. Christodoulou C, DeLuca J, Ricker JH, Madigan NK, Bly BM, Lange G, et al. Functional magnetic resonance imaging of working memory impairment after traumatic brain injury. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2001;71(2):161–8.

- Hillary FG, Medaglia JD, Gates K, Molenaar PC, Slocomb J, Peechatka A, et al. Examining working memory task acquisition in a disrupted neural network. Brain. 2011;134(Pt 5):1555–70.
- 49. Wylie GR, Freeman K, Thomas A, Shpaner M, OKeefe M, Watts R, et al. Cognitive improvement after mild traumatic brain injury measured with functional neuroimaging during the acute period. PloS One. 2015;10(5):e0126110.
- Dean P, Sterr A. Long-term effects of mild traumatic brain injury on cognitive performance. Front Hum Neurosci. 2013;7:30.
- Rimel RW, Giordani B, Barth JT, Boll TJ, Jane JA. Disability caused by minor head injury. Neurosurgery. 1981;9(3):221–8.
- 52. Bigler ED, Kurth SM, Blatter D, Abildskov TJ. Degenerative changes in traumatic brain injury: post-injury magnetic resonance identified ventricular expansion compared to pre-injury levels. Brain Res Bull. 1992;28(4):651–3.
- Kolakowsky-Hayner SA, Gourley EV 3rd, Kreutzer JS, Marwitz JH, Cifu DX, McKinley WO. Preinjury substance abuse among persons with brain injury and persons with spinal cord injury. Brain Inj. 1999;13(8):571–81.
- Bombardier CH, Rimmele CT, Zintel H. The magnitude and correlates of alcohol and drug use before traumatic brain injury. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2002;83(12):1765–73.
- Ashman TA, Schwartz ME, Cantor JB, Hibbard MR, Gordon WA. Screening for substance abuse in individuals with traumatic brain injury. Brain Inj. 2004;18(2):191–202.
- Xiong Y, Mahmood A, Chopp M. Animal models of traumatic brain injury. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2013;14(2):128–42.
- Thompson HJ, Lifshitz J, Marklund N, Grady MS, Graham DI, Hovda DA, et al. Lateral fluid percussion brain injury: a 15-year review and evaluation. J Neurotrauma. 2005;22(1):42–75.
- 58. Hall ED, Sullivan PG, Gibson TR, Pavel KM, Thompson BM, Scheff SW. Spatial and temporal characteristics of neurodegeneration after controlled cortical impact in mice: more than a focal brain injury. J Neurotrauma. 2005;22(2):252–65.
- 59. Goldstein LE, Fisher AM, Tagge CA, Zhang XL, Velisek L, Sullivan JA, et al. Chronic traumatic encephalopathy in blast-exposed military veterans and a blast neurotrauma mouse model. Sci Translat Med. 2012;4(134):134ra60.
- 60. Krishnamurthy K, Laskowitz DT. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of secondary neuronal injury following traumatic brain injury. In: Laskowitz D, Grant G, editors. Translational research in traumatic brain injury. Frontiers in neuroscience. Boca Raton (FL) 2016.
- Lei Z, Deng P, Li J, Xu ZC. Alterations of A-type potassium channels in hippocampal neurons after traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma. 2012;29(2):235–45.

- 62. Rubovitch V, Shachar A, Werner H, Pick CG. Does IGF-1 administration after a mild traumatic brain injury in mice activate the adaptive arm of ER stress? Neurochem Int. 2011;58(4):443–6.
- Lipinski MM, Wu J, Faden AI, Sarkar C. Function and mechanisms of autophagy in brain and spinal cord trauma. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2015;23(6):565–77.
- Larner SF, Hayes RL, Wang KK. Unfolded protein response after neurotrauma. J Neurotrauma. 2006;23(6):807–29.
- 65. Hylin MJ, Holden RC, Smith AC, Logsdon AF, Qaiser R, Lucke-Wold BP. Juvenile traumatic brain injury results in cognitive deficits associated with impaired endoplasmic reticulum stress and early tauopathy. Dev Neurosci. 2018;40(2):175–88.
- 66. Loos B, Engelbrecht AM, Lockshin RA, Klionsky DJ, Zakeri Z. The variability of autophagy and cell death susceptibility: unanswered questions. Autophagy. 2013;9(9):1270–85.
- 67. Hinzman JM, Thomas TC, Quintero JE, Gerhardt GA, Lifshitz J. Disruptions in the regulation of extracellular glutamate by neurons and glia in the rat striatum two days after diffuse brain injury. J Neurotrauma. 2012;29(6):1197–208.
- Hameed MQ, Hsieh TH, Morales-Quezada L, Lee HHC, Damar U, MacMullin PC, et al. Ceftriaxone treatment preserves cortical inhibitory interneuron function via transient salvage of GLT-1 in a rat traumatic brain injury model. Cereb Cortex. 2018;
- Dorsett CR, McGuire JL, DePasquale EA, Gardner AE, Floyd CL, McCullumsmith RE. Glutamate neurotransmission in rodent models of traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma. 2017;34(2):263–72.
- Weber JT. Altered calcium signaling following traumatic brain injury. Front Pharmacol. 2012;3:60.
- Bano D, Ankarcrona M. Beyond the critical point: an overview of excitotoxicity, calcium overload and the downstream consequences. Neurosci Lett. 2018;663:79–85.
- Slemmer JE, Shacka JJ, Sweeney MI, Weber JT. Antioxidants and free radical scavengers for the treatment of stroke, traumatic brain injury and aging. Curr Med Chem. 2008;15(4):404–14.
- Araujo IM, Carreira BP, Carvalho CM, Carvalho AP. Calpains and delayed calcium deregulation in excitotoxicity. Neurochem Res. 2010;35(12):1966–9.
- 74. Kim S, Han SC, Gallan AJ, Hayes JP. Neurometabolic indicators of mitochondrial dysfunction in repetitive mild traumatic brain injury. Concussion. 2017;2(3):CNC48.
- 75. Zhou P, Xu HS, Li MM, Chen XD, Wang J, Zhou HB, et al. Mechanism of nitric oxide and acid-sensing ion channel 1a modulation of panic-like behaviour in the dorsal periaqueductal grey of the mouse. Behav Brain Res. 2018;353:32–9.
- Panter SS, Faden AI. Pretreatment with NMDA antagonists limits release of excitatory amino acids

following traumatic brain injury. Neurosci Lett. 1992;136(2):165–8.

- 77. Faden AI, Demediuk P, Panter SS, Vink R. The role of excitatory amino acids and NMDA receptors in traumatic brain injury. Science. 1989;244(4906):798–800.
- Zhang H, Zhang X, Zhang T, Chen L. Excitatory amino acids in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with acute head injuries. Clin Chem. 2001;47(8):1458–62.
- Kannurpatti SS. Mitochondrial calcium homeostasis: implications for neurovascular and neurometabolic coupling. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2017;37(2):381–95.
- Catalan-Figueroa J, Palma-Florez S, Alvarez G, Fritz HF, Jara MO, Morales JO. Nanomedicine and nanotoxicology: the pros and cons for neurodegeneration and brain cancer. Nanomedicine (Lond). 2016;11(2):171–87.
- Di Pietro V, Lazzarino G, Amorini AM, Signoretti S, Hill LJ, Porto E, et al. Fusion or fission: the destiny of mitochondria in traumatic brain injury of different severities. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):9189.
- Mazzeo AT, Beat A, Singh A, Bullock MR. The role of mitochondrial transition pore, and its modulation, in traumatic brain injury and delayed neurodegeneration after TBI. Exp Neurol. 2009;218(2):363–70.
- 83. Hill RL, Kulbe JR, Singh IN, Wang JA, Hall ED. Synaptic mitochondria are more susceptible to traumatic brain injury-induced oxidative damage and respiratory dysfunction than non-synaptic mitochondria. Neuroscience. 2018;386:265–83.
- O'Leary RA, Nichol AD. Pathophysiology of severe traumatic brain injury. J Neurosurg Sci. 2018;62(5):542–8.
- Walker KR, Tesco G. Molecular mechanisms of cognitive dysfunction following traumatic brain injury. Front Aging Neurosci. 2013;5:29.
- Sulhan S, Lyon KA, Shapiro LA, Huang JH. Neuroinflammation and blood-brain barrier disruption following traumatic brain injury: pathophysiology and potential therapeutic targets. J Neurosci Res. 2018;
- Madathil SK, Evans HN, Saatman KE. Temporal and regional changes in IGF-1/IGF-1R signaling in the mouse brain after traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma. 2010;27(1):95–107.
- 88. Schober ME, Block B, Beachy JC, Statler KD, Giza CC, Lane RH. Early and sustained increase in the expression of hippocampal IGF-1, but not EPO, in a developmental rodent model of traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma. 2010;27(11):2011–20.
- Hatton J, Rapp RP, Kudsk KA, Brown RO, Luer MS, Bukar JG, et al. Intravenous insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) in moderate-to-severe head injury: a phase II safety and efficacy trial. J Neurosurg. 1997;86(5):779–86.
- Madathil SK, Saatman KE. Frontiers in neuroengineering IGF-1/IGF-R signaling in traumatic brain injury: impact on cell survival, neurogenesis, and behavioral outcome. In: Kobeissy FH, editor. Brain

neurotrauma: molecular, neuropsychological, and rehabilitation aspects. Boca Raton (FL): CRC Press/ Taylor & Francis (c) 2015 by Taylor & Francis Group, LLC.; 2015.

- Corps KN, Roth TL, McGavern DB. Inflammation and neuroprotection in traumatic brain injury. JAMA Neurol. 2015;72(3):355–62.
- Cruz-Haces M, Tang J, Acosta G, Fernandez J, Shi R. Pathological correlations between traumatic brain injury and chronic neurodegenerative diseases. Trans Neurodegener. 2017;6:20.
- Kokiko-Cochran ON, Godbout JP. The inflammatory continuum of traumatic brain injury and Alzheimer's disease. Front Immunol. 2018;9:672.
- Mendez MF. What is the relationship of traumatic brain injury to dementia? J Alzheimer's Dis. 2017;57(3):667–81.
- 95. Yan SD, Yan SF, Chen X, Fu J, Chen M, Kuppusamy P, et al. Non-enzymatically glycated tau in Alzheimer's disease induces neuronal oxidant stress resulting in cytokine gene expression and release of amyloid beta-peptide. Nat Med. 1995;1(7):693–9.
- 96. Morganti-Kossmann MC, Semple BD, Hellewell SC, Bye N, Ziebell JM. The complexity of neuroinflammation consequent to traumatic brain injury: from research evidence to potential treatments. Acta Neuropathol. 2018;
- 97. Pierce JE, Trojanowski JQ, Graham DI, Smith DH, McIntosh TK. Immunohistochemical characterization of alterations in the distribution of amyloid precursor proteins and beta-amyloid peptide after experimental brain injury in the rat. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci. 1996;16(3):1083–90.
- 98. Chen XH, Siman R, Iwata A, Meaney DF, Trojanowski JQ, Smith DH. Long-term accumulation of amyloid-beta, beta-secretase, presenilin-1, and caspase-3 in damaged axons following brain trauma. Am J Pathol. 2004;165(2):357–71.
- 99. Ciallella JR, Ikonomovic MD, Paljug WR, Wilbur YI, Dixon CE, Kochanek PM, et al. Changes in expression of amyloid precursor protein and interleukin-1beta after experimental traumatic brain injury in rats. J Neurotrauma. 2002;19(12):1555–67.
- 100. Hamberger A, Huang YL, Zhu H, Bao F, Ding M, Blennow K, et al. Redistribution of neurofilaments and accumulation of beta-amyloid protein after brain injury by rotational acceleration of the head. J Neurotrauma. 2003;20(2):169–78.
- 101. Al-Dahhak R, Khoury R, Qazi E, Grossberg GT. Traumatic brain injury, chronic traumatic encephalopathy, and Alzheimer disease. Clin Geriatr Med. 2018;34(4):617–35.
- 102. Wang T, Hay JC. Alpha-synuclein toxicity in the early secretory pathway: how it drives neurodegeneration in Parkinsons disease. Front Neurosci. 2015;9:433.
- 103. Sundman MH, Hall EE, Chen NK. Examining the relationship between head trauma and neurodegenerative disease: a review of epidemiology, pathology

and neuroimaging techniques. J Alzheimer's Dis Parkinsonism. 2014;4:137.

- 104. Impellizzeri D, Campolo M, Bruschetta G, Crupi R, Cordaro M, Paterniti I, et al. Traumatic brain injury leads to development of Parkinson's disease related pathology in mice. Front Neurosci. 2016;10:458.
- 105. Gardner RC, Byers AL, Barnes DE, Li Y, Boscardin J, Yaffe K. Mild TBI and risk of Parkinson disease: a chronic effects of neurotrauma consortium study. Neurology. 2018;90(20):e1771–e9.
- 106. Wilson L, Stewart W, Dams-O'Connor K, Diaz-Arrastia R, Horton L, Menon DK, et al. The chronic and evolving neurological consequences of traumatic brain injury. Lancet Neurol. 2017;16(10):813–25.
- 107. Huang CH, Lin CW, Lee YC, Huang CY, Huang RY, Tai YC, et al. Is traumatic brain injury a risk factor for neurodegeneration? A meta-analysis of population-based studies. BMC Neurol. 2018;18(1):184.
- 108. van Es MA, Hardiman O, Chio A, Al-Chalabi A, Pasterkamp RJ, Veldink JH, et al. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Lancet (London, England). 2017;390(10107):2084–98.
- Robberecht W, Philips T. The changing scene of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2013;14(4):248–64.
- 110. Chio A, Logroscino G, Traynor BJ, Collins J, Simeone JC, Goldstein LA, et al. Global epidemiology of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a systematic review of the published literature. Neuroepidemiology. 2013;41(2):118–30.
- 111. Carbone M, Duty S, Rattray M. Riluzole elevates GLT-1 activity and levels in striatal astrocytes. Neurochem Int. 2012;60(1):31–8.
- 112. Brettschneider J, Toledo JB, Van Deerlin VM, Elman L, McCluskey L, Lee VM, et al. Microglial activation correlates with disease progression and upper motor neuron clinical symptoms in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. PLoS One. 2012;7(6):e39216.
- 113. Fisher CJ Jr, Dhainaut JF, Opal SM, Pribble JP, Balk RA, Slotman GJ, et al. Recombinant human interleukin 1 receptor antagonist in the treatment of patients with sepsis syndrome. Results from a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Phase III rhIL-1ra Sepsis Syndrome Study Group. JAMA. 1994;271(23):1836–43.
- 114. Emsley HC, Smith CJ, Georgiou RF, Vail A, Hopkins SJ, Rothwell NJ, et al. A randomised phase II study of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in acute stroke patients. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2005;76(10):1366–72.
- 115. Fleischmann RM, Tesser J, Schiff MH, Schechtman J, Burmester GR, Bennett R, et al. Safety of extended treatment with anakinra in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2006;65(8):1006–12.
- 116. Helmy A, Guilfoyle MR, Carpenter KL, Pickard JD, Menon DK, Hutchinson PJ. Recombinant human interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in severe traumatic brain injury: a phase II randomized control trial. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2014;34(5):845–51.

- 117. Singh N, Hopkins SJ, Hulme S, Galea JP, Hoadley M, Vail A, et al. The effect of intravenous interleukin-1 receptor antagonist on inflammatory mediators in cerebrospinal fluid after subarachnoid haemorrhage: a phase II randomised controlled trial. J Neuroinflammation. 2014;11:1.
- 118. Newell EA, Todd BP, Mahoney J, Pieper AA, Ferguson PJ, Bassuk AG. Combined blockade of interleukin-1alpha and -1beta signaling protects mice from cognitive dysfunction after traumatic brain injury. eNeuro. 2018;5(2):e0385–17.
- 119. Vonder Haar C, Lam FC, Adams WK, Riparip LK, Kaur S, Muthukrishna M, et al. Frontal traumatic brain injury in rats causes long-lasting impairments in impulse control that are differentially sensitive to pharmacotherapeutics and associated with chronic neuroinflammation. ACS Chem Neurosci. 2016;7(11):1531–42.
- 120. Taib T, Leconte C, Van Steenwinckel J, Cho AH, Palmier B, Torsello E, et al. Neuroinflammation, myelin and behavior: temporal patterns following mild traumatic brain injury in mice. PLoS One. 2017;12(9):e0184811.
- 121. Shortt J, Hsu AK, Johnstone RW. Thalidomideanalogue biology: immunological, molecular and epigenetic targets in cancer therapy. Oncogene. 2013;32(36):4191–202.
- 122. Chanan-Khan AA, Swaika A, Paulus A, Kumar SK, Mikhael JR, Rajkumar SV, et al. Pomalidomide: the new immunomodulatory agent for the treatment of multiple myeloma. Blood Cancer J. 2013;3:e143.
- 123. Wang JY, Huang YN, Chiu CC, Tweedie D, Luo W, Pick CG, et al. Pomalidomide mitigates neuronal loss, neuroinflammation, and behavioral impairments induced by traumatic brain injury in rat. J Neuroinflammation. 2016;13(1):168.
- 124. Lotze MT, Tracey KJ. High-mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1): nuclear weapon in the immune arsenal. Nat Rev Immunol. 2005;5(4):331–42.
- 125. Baxevanis AD, Landsman D. The HMG-1 box protein family: classification and functional relationships. Nucleic Acids Res. 1995;23(9):1604–13.
- Scaffidi P, Misteli T, Bianchi ME. Release of chromatin protein HMGB1 by necrotic cells triggers inflammation. Nature. 2002;418(6894):191–5.
- 127. Bianchi ME, Manfredi AA. High-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) protein at the crossroads between innate and adaptive immunity. Immunol Rev. 2007;220:35–46.
- 128. Iori V, Maroso M, Rizzi M, Iyer AM, Vertemara R, Carli M, et al. Receptor for advanced glycation endproducts is upregulated in temporal lobe epilepsy and contributes to experimental seizures. Neurobiol Dis. 2013;58:102–14.
- 129. Kaneko Y, Pappas C, Malapira T, Vale FL, Tajiri N, Borlongan CV. Extracellular HMGB1 modulates glutamate metabolism associated with Kainic acid-induced epilepsy-like hyperactivity in primary rat neural cells. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2017;41(3):947–59.

- 130. Maroso M, Balosso S, Ravizza T, Liu J, Aronica E, Iyer AM, et al. Toll-like receptor 4 and high-mobility group box-1 are involved in ictogenesis and can be targeted to reduce seizures. Nat Med. 2010;16(4):413–9.
- 131. Wang H, Bloom O, Zhang M, Vishnubhakat JM, Ombrellino M, Che J, et al. HMG-1 as a late mediator of endotoxin lethality in mice. Science. 1999;285(5425):248–51.
- 132. Kim JB, Sig Choi J, Yu YM, Nam K, Piao CS, Kim SW, et al. HMGB1, a novel cytokine-like mediator linking acute neuronal death and delayed neuroinflammation in the postischemic brain. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci. 2006;26(24):6413–21.
- 133. Wang J, Hu X, Xie J, Xu W, Jiang H. Beta-1adrenergic receptors mediate Nrf2-HO-1-HMGB1 axis regulation to attenuate hypoxia/reoxygenationinduced cardiomyocytes injury in vitro. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2015;35(2):767–77.
- 134. Okuma Y, Liu K, Wake H, Zhang J, Maruo T, Date I, et al. Anti-high mobility group box-1 antibody therapy for traumatic brain injury. Ann Neurol. 2012;72(3):373–84.
- 135. Sasaki T, Liu K, Agari T, Yasuhara T, Morimoto J, Okazaki M, et al. Anti-high mobility group box 1 antibody exerts neuroprotection in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. Exp Neurol. 2016;275(Pt 1):220–31.
- 136. Fujita K, Motoki K, Tagawa K, Chen X, Hama H, Nakajima K, et al. HMGB1, a pathogenic molecule that induces neurite degeneration via TLR4-MARCKS, is a potential therapeutic target for Alzheimer's disease. Sci Rep. 2016;6:31895.
- 137. Andersson A, Covacu R, Sunnemark D, Danilov AI, Dal Bianco A, Khademi M, et al. Pivotal advance: HMGB1 expression in active lesions of human and experimental multiple sclerosis. J Leukoc Biol. 2008;84(5):1248–55.
- 138. Ravizza T, Terrone G, Salamone A, Frigerio F, Balosso S, Antoine DJ, et al. High Mobility Group Box 1 is a novel pathogenic factor and a mechanistic biomarker for epilepsy. Brain Behav Immun. 2018;72:14–21.
- 139. He HJ, Wang Y, Le Y, Duan KM, Yan XB, Liao Q, et al. Surgery upregulates high mobility group box-1 and disrupts the blood-brain barrier causing cognitive dysfunction in aged rats. CNS Neurosci Ther. 2012;18(12):994–1002.
- 140. Frank MG, Weber MD, Watkins LR, Maier SF. Stress sounds the alarmin: the role of the danger-associated molecular pattern HMGB1 in stress-induced neuroinflammatory priming. Brain Behav Immun. 2015;48:1–7.
- 141. Gao T, Chen Z, Chen H, Yuan H, Wang Y, Peng X, et al. Inhibition of HMGB1 mediates neuro-protection of traumatic brain injury by modulating the microglia/macrophage polarization. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2018;497(1):430–6.
- 142. Wang D, Liu K, Wake H, Teshigawara K, Mori S, Nishibori M. Anti-high mobility group box-1

(HMGB1) antibody inhibits hemorrhage-induced brain injury and improved neurological deficits in rats. Sci Rep. 2017;7:46243.

- 143. Okuma Y, Wake H, Teshigawara K, Takahashi Y, Hishikawa T, Yasuhara T, et al. Anti-high mobility group box 1 antibody therapy may prevent cognitive dysfunction after traumatic brain injury. World Neurosurg. 2018;122:e864.
- 144. Yang W, Li J, Shang Y, Zhao L, Wang M, Shi J, et al. HMGB1-TLR4 Axis plays a regulatory role in the pathogenesis of mesial temporal lobe epilepsy in immature rat model and children via the p38MAPK signaling pathway. Neurochem Res. 2017;42(4):1179–90.
- 145. Paudel YN, Shaikh MF, Chakraborti A, Kumari Y, Aledo-Serrano A, Aleksovska K, et al. HMGB1: a common biomarker and potential target for TBI, neuroinflammation, epilepsy, and cognitive dysfunction. Front Neurosci. 2018;12:628.
- 146. Foks KA, Cnossen MC, Dippel DWJ, Maas A, Menon D, van der Naalt J, et al. Management of mild traumatic brain injury at the emergency department and hospital admission in Europe: a survey of 71 neurotrauma centers participating in the CENTER-TBI study. J Neurotrauma. 2017;34:2529.
- 147. Foundation ON. Guidelines for Mild Traumatic Brain Injury and Persistent Symptoms2010.
- 148. Chin LM, Keyser RE, Dsurney J, Chan L. Improved cognitive performance following aerobic exercise training in people with traumatic brain injury. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2015;96(4):754–9.
- 149. Lal A, Kolakowsky-Hayner SA, Ghajar J, Balamane M. The effect of physical exercise after a concussion: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Sports Med. 2018;46(3):743–52.
- Ghaffar O, McCullagh S, Ouchterlony D, Feinstein A. Randomized treatment trial in mild traumatic brain injury. J Psychosom Res. 2006;61(2):153–60.
- Cicerone KD. Remediation of "working attention" in mild traumatic brain injury. Brain Inj. 2002;16(3):185–95.
- 152. Comper P, Bisschop SM, Carnide N, Tricco A. A systematic review of treatments for mild traumatic brain injury. Brain Inj. 2005;19(11):863–80.
- 153. Huang CH, Huang CC, Sun CK, Lin GH, Hou WH. Methylphenidate on cognitive improvement in patients with traumatic brain injury: a meta-analysis. Curr Neuropharmacol. 2016;14(3):272–81.
- 154. Whyte J, Vaccaro M, Grieb-Neff P, Hart T. Psychostimulant use in the rehabilitation of individuals with traumatic brain injury. J Head Trauma Rehabil. 2002;17(4):284–99.
- 155. Wheaton P, Mathias JL, Vink R. Impact of early pharmacological treatment on cognitive and behavioral outcome after traumatic brain injury in adults: a meta-analysis. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2009;29(5):468–77.
- 156. Kelly DF, Goodale DB, Williams J, Herr DL, Chappell ET, Rosner MJ, et al. Propofol in the treat-

ment of moderate and severe head injury: a randomized, prospective double-blinded pilot trial. J Neurosurg. 1999;90(6):1042–52.

- 157. Administration USFaD. Diprivan (propofol) injectable emulsion. 2008.
- 158. Sanfilippo F, Santonocito C, Veenith T, Astuto M, Maybauer MO. The role of neuromuscular blockade in patients with traumatic brain injury: a systematic review. Neurocrit Care. 2015;22(2):325–34.
- 159. Juul N, Morris GF, Marshall SB, Marshall LF. Neuromuscular blocking agents in neurointensive care. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 2000;76:467–70.
- 160. Nwachuku EL, Puccio AM, Fetzick A, Scruggs B, Chang YF, Shutter LA, et al. Intermittent versus continuous cerebrospinal fluid drainage management in adult severe traumatic brain injury: assessment of intracranial pressure burden. Neurocrit Care. 2014;20(1):49–53.
- 161. Carney N, Totten AM, O'Reilly C, Ullman JS, Hawryluk GW, Bell MJ, et al. Guidelines for the management of severe traumatic brain injury, fourth edition. Neurosurgery. 2017;80(1):6–15.
- Roberts I, Sydenham E. Barbiturates for acute traumatic brain injury. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;(12):Cd000033.
- 163. Schalen W, Messeter K, Nordstrom CH. Complications and side effects during thiopentone therapy in patients with severe head injuries. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 1992;36(4):369–77.
- 164. Hutchinson PJ, Corteen E, Czosnyka M, Mendelow AD, Menon DK, Mitchell P, et al. Decompressive craniectomy in traumatic brain injury: the randomized multicenter RESCUEicp study (www. RESCUEicp.com). Acta neurochirurgica Supplement. 2006;96:17–20.
- 165. Hutchinson PJ, Kolias AG, Timofeev IS, Corteen EA, Czosnyka M, Timothy J, et al. Trial of decompressive craniectomy for traumatic intracranial hypertension. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(12):1119–30.
- 166. Kolias AG, Adams H, Timofeev I, Czosnyka M, Corteen EA, Pickard JD, et al. Decompressive craniectomy following traumatic brain injury: developing the evidence base. Br J Neurosurg. 2016;30(2):246–50.
- 167. Clifton GL, Valadka A, Zygun D, Coffey CS, Drever P, Fourwinds S, et al. Very early hypothermia induction in patients with severe brain injury (the National Acute Brain Injury Study: Hypothermia II): a randomised trial. Lancet Neurol. 2011;10(2):131–9.
- Cooper DJ, Rosenfeld JV, Murray L, Arabi YM, Davies AR, D'Urso P, et al. Decompressive craniectomy in diffuse traumatic brain injury. N Engl J Med. 2011;364(16):1493–502.
- 169. Bharadwaj VN, Nguyen DT, Kodibagkar VD, Stabenfeldt SE. Nanoparticle-based therapeutics for brain injury. Adv Healthc Mater. 2018;7(1).
- 170. Kaijzel EL, van Beek ER, Stammes MA, Que I, Chan AB, Lowik C, et al. Traumatic brain injury: preclinical imaging diagnostic(s) and therapeutic approaches. Curr Pharm Des. 2017;23(13):1909–15.

- 171. Duncan R, Gaspar R. Nanomedicine(s) under the microscope. Mol Pharm. 2011;8(6):2101–41.
- 172. Fornaguera C, Garcia-Celma MJ. Personalized nanomedicine: a revolution at the nanoscale. J Pers Med. 2017;7(4):12.
- 173. Fornaguera C, Solans C. Methods for the in vitro characterization of nanomedicines-biological component interaction. J Pers Med. 2017;7(1):2.
- 174. Gaudin A, Andrieux K, Couvreur P. Nanomedicines and stroke: toward translational research. J Drug Delivery Sci Technol. 2015;30:278–99.
- 175. Mirza AZ, Siddiqui FA. Nanomedicine and drug delivery: a mini review. Int Nano Lett. 2014;4(1):94.
- 176. Sunderland KS, Yang M, Mao C. Phage-enabled nanomedicine: from probes to therapeutics in precision medicine. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl. 2017;56(8):1964–92.
- 177. Torchilin V. Introduction. Nanocarriers for drug delivery: needs and requirements. In Nanoparticulates as drug carriers. London, UK: Imperial College Press; 2006. p. 1–8.
- 178. Parodi A, Molinaro R, Sushnitha M, Evangelopoulos M, Martinez JO, Arrighetti N, et al. Bio-inspired engineering of cell- and virus-like nanoparticles for drug delivery. Biomaterials. 2017;147:155–68.
- 179. Courant T, Roullin VG, Cadiou C, Delavoie F, Molinari M, Andry MC, et al. Vectorization of copper complexes via biocompatible and biodegradable PLGA nanoparticles. Nanotechnology. 2010;21(16):165101.
- De Jong WH, Borm PJ. Drug delivery and nanoparticles:applications and hazards. Int J Nanomedicine. 2008;3(2):133–49.
- 181. Parveen S, Misra R, Sahoo SK. Nanoparticles: a boon to drug delivery, therapeutics, diagnostics and imaging. Nanomedicine. 2012;8(2):147–66.
- Karim R, Palazzo C, Evrard B, Piel G. Nanocarriers for the treatment of glioblastoma multiforme: current state-of-the-art. J Control Release. 2016;227:23–37.
- 183. Mokhtarzadeh A, Hassanpour S, Vahid ZF, Hejazi M, Hashemi M, Ranjbari J, et al. Nano-delivery system targeting to cancer stem cell cluster of differentiation biomarkers. J Control Release. 2017;266:166–86.
- Gregoriadis G, Florence AT. Liposomes in drug delivery. Clinical, diagnostic and ophthalmic potential. Drugs. 1993;45(1):15–28.
- 185. Wang Z, Wang Y, Wang Z, Zhao J, Gutkind JS, Srivatsan A, et al. Polymeric nanovehicle regulated spatiotemporal real-time imaging of the differentiation dynamics of transplanted neural stem cells after traumatic brain injury. ACS Nano. 2015;9(7):6683–95.
- 186. Sudhir S, Chakravarthi DHR, De Sinjan. Nanoparticles prepared using natural and synthetic polymer. In: Thassu DD, Pathak M, editors. Nanoparticulate drug delivery systems. Boca Raton: CRC Press; 2007. p. 9.
- 187. Jurj A, Braicu C, Pop LA, Tomuleasa C, Gherman CD, Berindan-Neagoe I. The new era of nanotech-

nology, an alternative to change cancer treatment. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2017;11:2871–90.

- Beduneau A, Saulnier P, Benoit JP. Active targeting of brain tumors using nanocarriers. Biomaterials. 2007;28(33):4947–67.
- 189. Fang JY, Fang CL, Liu CH, Su YH. Lipid nanoparticles as vehicles for topical psoralen delivery: solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN) versus nanostructured lipid carriers (NLC). Eur J Pharmaceut Biopharm. 2008;70(2):633–40.
- Zaro JL. Lipid-based drug carriers for prodrugs to enhance drug delivery. AAPS J. 2015;17(1):83–92.
- 191. Chen B, Zuberi M, Borgens RB, Cho Y. Affinity for, and localization of, PEG-functionalized silica nanoparticles to sites of damage in an ex vivo spinal cord injury model. J Biol Eng. 2012;6(1):18.
- 192. Cho Y, Shi R, Ivanisevic A, Borgens RB. Functional silica nanoparticle-mediated neuronal membrane sealing following traumatic spinal cord injury. J Neurosci Res. 2010;88(7):1433–44.
- 193. Cho Y, Borgens RB. Polymer and nanotechnology applications for repair and reconstruction of the central nervous system. Exp Neurol. 2012;233(1):126–44.
- 194. Bharadwaj VN, Rowe RK, Harrison J, Wu C, Anderson TR, Lifshitz J, et al. Blood-brain barrier disruption dictates nanoparticle accumulation following experimental brain injury. Nanomedicine. 2018;14(7):2155–66.
- 195. Clond MA, Lee BS, Yu JJ, Singer MB, Amano T, Lamb AW, et al. Reactive oxygen species-activated nanoprodrug of ibuprofen for targeting traumatic brain injury in mice. PLoS One. 2013;8(4):e61819.
- 196. Boyd BJ, Galle A, Daglas M, Rosenfeld JV, Medcalf R. Traumatic brain injury opens blood-brain barrier to stealth liposomes via an enhanced permeability and retention (EPR)-like effect. J Drug Target. 2015;23(9):847–53.
- 197. Cruz LJ, Stammes MA, Que I, van Beek ER, Knol-Blankevoort VT, Snoeks TJA, et al. Effect of PLGA NP size on efficiency to target traumatic brain injury. J Control Release. 2016;223:31–41.
- 198. Ruozi B, Belletti D, Sharma HS, Sharma A, Muresanu DF, Mossler H, et al. PLGA nanoparticles loaded cerebrolysin: studies on their preparation and investigation of the effect of storage and serum stability with reference to traumatic brain injury. Mol Neurobiol. 2015;52(2):899–912.
- 199. Khalin I, Alyautdin R, Wong TW, Gnanou J, Kocherga G, Kreuter J. Brain-derived neurotrophic

factor delivered to the brain using poly (lactide-coglycolide) nanoparticles improves neurological and cognitive outcome in mice with traumatic brain injury. Drug Deliv. 2016;23(9):3520–8.

- 200. Zamproni LN, Mundim MV, Porcionatto MA, des Rieux A. Injection of SDF-1 loaded nanoparticles following traumatic brain injury stimulates neural stem cell recruitment. Int J Pharm. 2017;519(1–2):323–31.
- 201. Kannan G, Kambhampati SP, Kudchadkar SR. Effect of anesthetics on microglial activation and nanoparticle uptake: implications for drug delivery in traumatic brain injury. J Control Release. 2017;263:192–9.
- 202. Yoo D, Magsam AW, Kelly AM, Stayton PS, Kievit FM, Convertine AJ. Core-cross-linked nanoparticles reduce neuroinflammation and improve outcome in a mouse model of traumatic brain injury. ACS Nano. 2017;11(9):8600–11.
- Johnson T, Koria P. Expression and purification of neurotrophin-elastin-like peptide fusion proteins for neural regeneration. BioDrugs. 2016;30(2):117–27.
- 204. Egawa EY, Kitamura N, Nakai R, Arima Y, Iwata H. A DNA hybridization system for labeling of neural stem cells with SPIO nanoparticles for MRI monitoring post-transplantation. Biomaterials. 2015;54:158–67.
- 205. Orendorff R, Peck AJ, Zheng B, Shirazi SN, Matthew Ferguson R, Khandhar AP, et al. First in vivo traumatic brain injury imaging via magnetic particle imaging. Phys Med Biol. 2017;62(9):3501–9.
- 206. Song S, Race NS, Kim A, Zhang T, Shi R, Ziaie B. A wireless intracranial brain deformation sensing system for blast-induced traumatic brain injury. Sci Rep. 2015;5:16959.
- 207. Huang X, Zhang F, Wang Y, Sun X, Choi KY, Liu D, et al. Design considerations of iron-based nanoclusters for noninvasive tracking of mesenchymal stem cell homing. ACS Nano. 2014;8(5):4403–14.
- 208. Muroski ME, Morgan TJ Jr, Levenson CW, Strouse GF. A gold nanoparticle pentapeptide: gene fusion to induce therapeutic gene expression in mesenchymal stem cells. J Am Chem Soc. 2014;136(42):14763–71.
- 209. Li X, Tzeng SY, Liu X, Tammia M, Cheng YH, Rolfe A, et al. Nanoparticle-mediated transcriptional modification enhances neuronal differentiation of human neural stem cells following transplantation in rat brain. Biomaterials. 2016;84:157–66.



21

Physiology and Pharmacology of Melatonin

Michel Bourin

Introduction

Melatonin is a natural hormone that was discovered by chance in 1958 by Aaron B. Lerner at Yale University. Conducting research on the treatment of vitiligo, a depigmenting skin disease, the latter has been experimenting with administering to his sick patients a bovine epiphysis extract, thinking to obtain an effect on the pigmentation of the skin. Instead, Dr. Lerner made his patients sleepy. He identified the substance and named it N-acetyl-5methoxytryptamine [1]. This hormone, derived from serotonin, is produced mainly in the pineal gland and is secreted at night, with a peak around 3 am. It follows a circadian rhythm, controlled by the suprachiasmatic nuclei, biological clock of our organism [2]. This clock works itself rhythmically, and it is driven by the synchronizers of the environment.

The pineal gland is located at the back of the brain and belongs to the epithalamus, on the roof of the third ventricle [3]. Organ richly vascularized, its irrigation is by arteriolar ramifications from the posterior choroidal arteries. The vascularization of the mammalian pineal gland is characteristic of that of a tissue with intense

M. Bourin (\boxtimes)

secretory activity. The rat epiphyseal blood flow, calculated per gram of tissue, is greater than that of most endocrine glands and is equivalent to that of the post-hypophysis. The connection pathway includes retinohypothalamic suprachiasmatic nuclei (SCN) binding, which plays a key role in the generation of circadian melatonin rhythms and body temperature in particular. Dubbed sleep hormone, melatonin is the key hormone regulating our chronobiological rhythms, such as circadian rhythms, including temperature and sleep-wake rhythms, indicating to the body its position in alternation day-night and allowing him to adapt to his environment [4]. Its secretion can be disturbed by artificial light. There are other extrapineal sources of secretion of melatonin, especially in the retina, intestine, liver, kidneys, cochlea, thyroid, and some blood cells [5]. Melatonin is present in all biological fluids, including cerebrospinal fluid, saliva, bile, synovial fluid, amniotic fluid, and breast milk. In many of these fluids, melatonin concentrations are higher than those of blood [6].

Biosynthesis

Melatonin is mainly synthesized in the cells of the pineal gland, pinealocytes, from its precursor, tryptophan. In the absence of intraepiphyseal storage after its production, it is directly

Neurobiology of Anxiety and Mood Disorder, Faculty of Medicine, University of Nantes, Nantes, France e-mail: michel.bourin@univ-nantes.fr

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_21

released into the venous blood through the blood-brain barrier, passively and in a nictemeral rhythm [7]. The biosynthesis of melatonin is mainly at night and lasts about 10 hours. Firstly, tryptophan is converted to 5-hydroxytryptophan by tryptophan hydroxylase and then serotonin (or 5-hydroxytryptamine) by the action of а decarboxylase enzyme. This serotonin undergoes acetylation by the arylalkylamine N-acetyltransferase which (NAT) gives N-acetylserotonin, followed by methylation with hydroxy-indole O-methyltransferase to give N-acetyl-5-methoxytryptamine or melatonin [8]. (Fig. 21.1) After maturation in the first year of life, melatonin production peaks between the ages of 3 and 6, and the nocturnal peak gradually decreases to 80% to reach adulthood levels. As it ages, calcification of the pineal gland results in decreased secretion of melatonin [9]. It should be known that NAT is the limiting enzyme in the rate of synthesis of melatonin. This enzyme has an activity at night which is up to 100 times higher than during the day, hence the important secretion of nocturnal melatonin. In the adult male, nocturnal endogenous melatonin production is 10 to 80 μ g per night, and the concentration of melatonin in the blood is highly variable; it ranges from 50 to 200 µg/mL [10]. Melatonin has the particularity of being both hydrophilic and lipophilic, which give it the possibility of crossing different cell barriers, in particular, the bloodbrain barrier after its synthesis [11]. The half-life of melatonin is around 30 minutes [12]. It is interesting to note that the plasma concentration of melatonin is very variable from one individual to another but very reproductive in the same individual from 1 day to the next, which raises a very important interindividual difference.

Regulation of Biosynthesis

The secretion of melatonin is regulated by the central nervous system at the level of suprachiasmatic nuclei (SCN), location of the internal clock [13]. When the decrease in brightness is captured by the retina, a neuronal message is sent from the SCN to neurons producing norepinephrine. The latter stimulates the β 1-adrenergic receptors present on pinealocytes [14]. A cascade of reactions then activates the key enzyme producing melatonin, N-acetyltransferase. Melatonin secreted into the blood will transmit photoperiod information to all structures with melatoninergic receptors. Conversely, light inhibits the secretion of melatonin if certain conditions are met: sufficient illumination and prolonged at an optimum time, which is to say between 2 and 4 o'clock in the morning [15]. In addition, the blue light will have more effect on its secretion, while the red light has no effect. Indeed, light inhibits noradrenergic transmission by hyperpolarization of the retinohypothalamic pathway. The effect of artificial light on the melatonin plasma secretion curve shows that if light is given once in the middle of the night, the secretion rate falls sharply. Then the secretion resumes with an offset peak. Evening light delivery shifts the peak in the morning, while morning administration moves the peak in the evening. The plasma profile may be narrowed if light is administered in the morning and evening.

Pharmacokinetics

The interindividual variability being very important, the melatonin plasma concentrations and its half-life depend on several factors such as the

Fig. 21.1 Comparison between the chemical structure of melatonin and serotonin



Melatonin



Serotonin

dose of administration, the time, and the type of Galenic presentation. Absorption of oral melatonin is complete in adults and can be halved in the elderly [16]. There is a major hepatic first pass effect. Sustained-release preparations will be preferred when endogenous secretion is decreased to achieve a lower blood pressure peak and a relatively high concentration over a longer period than with immediate release preparations [17]. Blood melatonin is 70% bound to albumin and to a lesser extent to orosomucoid [18]. The half-life of absorption is 0.4 hours, and the rates increase in the plasma after 30 minutes to 3 hours. It has been observed that melatonin receptors are more sensitive between 17 and 20 hours.

Melatonin is a very lipophilic hormone that is eliminated up to 90% by the effect of first pass through the liver. It is then metabolized to 6-hydroxy-melatonin, an inactive metabolite, and then transformed by sulfation and glucuronidation before being eliminated in the urine [19]. A small part of melatonin is also degraded in the brain (15%). In the liver, it is CYP1A2 that essentially metabolizes melatonin. CYP2C19 is involved to a lesser extent [20]. This metabolism decreases with age. We can measure the main urinary metabolite, 6-hydroxymelatonin sulfate, which has a half-life of 20 minutes, for example, to help diagnose certain pathologies.

Only a small proportion of melatonin, which is not metabolized, is eliminated directly via the kidneys. Its bioavailability is 40–70% for doses ranging from 2.5 to 100 mg. This implies that it is best to start at the smallest possible dose, especially that a dose as low as 0.5 mg gives higher concentrations than physiological concentrations. Food seems to increase absorption, but the clinical impact seems weak [21]. Exogenous melatonin has a very rapid distribution phase (half-life time, 2 minutes) followed by a slower elimination phase (half-life time, 20–50 minutes). As a result, the sleep-inducing effect is rapid and transient, lasting for 3–4 hours.

Melatonin has a large circadian rhythm with very low levels during the day and high levels (10 times) at night, the peak of secretion being around 02–03 h, whether the species is nocturnal or diurnal [22]. Other extrapineal gland sources exist in particular in the retina, the digestive tract, and certain blood cells [23]. The circadian rhythm of melatonin is, for the same individual, very reproducible from day to day, which makes the hormone an important marker of circadian synchronization [24], but the interindividual differences are important. The nocturnal elevation of melatonin concentration is related to the nocturnal release of norepinephrine (NE), since a neuronal message, initiated in suprachiasmatic nucleus when neurons are subtracted from the light-inhibiting effect, induces the release of norepinephrine. This stimulates the beta-1adrenergic receptors present on the pinealocytes (and to a lesser extent, the α -adrenergic receptors), then the adenylate cyclase via the guanine nucleotide-related proteins (GS proteins), which results in an intracellular rise of cyclic AMP followed by rapid release of melatonin by activation of the key enzyme, N-acetyltransferase. While hydroxyindole-O-methyltransferase, the enzyme catalyzing the last stage of synthesis, is very weakly rhythmic, the N-acetyltransferase of the pineal gland has a very high amplitude rhythm with nocturnal activity 50-100 times higher than that presented the day. Betaadrenergic control of melatonin secretion results in inhibition of the hormone by β -adrenergic receptor antagonists such as propranolol and atenolol [25]. On the other hand, we observed that the administration of beta-adrenergic agonists to humans, in the morning when melatonin levels are very low, does not stimulate the secretion of the hormone, because its synthesis is almost null during the light phase. The goal, during the therapeutic use of melatonin, is therefore always to preserve the natural circadian rhythm of the hormone with its high concentrations at night and low during the day.

Control of Secretion by Light

The light-dark cycle is the main synchronizer of the hormone: it drives suprachiasmatic nucleus and consequently a number of circadian rhythms, including those of melatonin and body temperature (Fig. 21.2). Transmitted through the retina,



Fig. 21.2 The amount

light is the most important synchronizer for the training of the clock, which will be used in the treatment of chronobiological disorders of which we will see some applications [26]. The synchronization of the endogenous clock by photoperiod begins in fetal life in mammals in relation to the secretion of maternal melatonin [27]. In all cases where the light-dark cycle is modified, such as during transmissions over more than three time zones [28], night shift work [29], or in case of blindness, the profile secretory of melatonin is disrupted. Light acts differently on the secretion of melatonin depending on the time of exposure. When the exposure occurs at night at the peak of secretion (02-03 h), secretion of melatonin is completely inhibited throughout the duration of exposure. When exposure is in the morning, there is phase advance, i.e., the peak circadian rhythm of melatonin is advanced over time. When the exposure takes place at the end of the afternoon, there is a phase delay that is to say that the peak is delayed compared to its usual temporal location. In addition to the exposure time, the effect of light depends on the species and its characteristics (intensity, duration, and spectrum). In the total absence of light (in the dark), the circadian rhythm of melatonin is no longer synchronized with the environment and is out of phase with the outer light-dark cycle (free-ride phenomenon) [30]. As light is the visible portion of the electromagnetic spectrum, it is conceivable that other wavelengths are also likely to affect the secretion of melatonin. We have recently shown the absence of effects in humans exposed to magnetic fields of 50 Hz, even when exposure lasted 20 years.

Melatoninergic Receptor

The action of melatonin is mediated through receptors on cell membranes. Their modulation by melatonin varies according to the exposure of people to light. There are three binding sites for melatonin in the human body: MT1, MT2, and MT3. The two subtypes MT1 and MT2 are G protein-coupled receptors [31] and belong to a group of high-affinity pharmacological sites, while MT3 has been characterized as an enzyme involved in protection against oxidative stress and belongs to a group of low-affinity sites. These three subtypes are encoded by genes located on different chromosomes. In humans, MT1 and MT2 receptors are found in several central nervous structures, including the suprachiasmatic nuclei of the hypothalamus and the pars tuberalis of the adenohypophysis. It is currently known that MT1 and MT2 receptors have numerous peripheral locations [32], such as the gastrointestinal tract, lungs, spleen, thymus, kidneys, prostate, blood vessels, lymphocytes, neutrophils, tissue adipose and hippocampus, and in other unidentified structures still today.

The melatonin receptors MT1 and MT2 belong to the superfamily of seven transmembrane domains coupled to heterotrimeric G proteins (GPCRs). Central melatonin binding sites were first described in the bovine [33] following autoradiography with [3H]-MLT. Other experiments have demonstrated melatonin binding sites at peripheral organs in the rat [34]. Pharmacological studies as well as the cloning of melatoninergic receptors have allowed the functional characterization of the latter. Initially, the melatoninergic receptors were divided into two classes, ML1 and ML2, based on the affinity differences and kinetics of binding with the radioligand of 2-[125I]-iodomelatonin (2-[125I]-MLT), as well as differences in the picomolar, whereas ML2 binds the radioligand with a lower affinity, of the order of nanomolar. In mammals, the lowaffinity binding site, initially identified as ML2, has been pharmacologically characterized and renamed MT3 [35]. Melatonin and one of its precursors, N-acetylserotonin, compete for binding of 2-[125I]-MLT to the picomolar binding site, whereas ML2 binds the radioligand with a lower affinity to order of nanomolar.

The MT3 binding site was purified from hamster kidney tissue and identified as an enzyme, quinone reductase II (QR2). This QR2 protein has a binding profile of 2-[125I]-MLT identical to the MT3 binding profile in the hamster brain [36]. Historically, the QR2 enzyme has been considered as a detoxification enzyme, by analogy with the QR1 enzyme. For the moment, it has not been clearly demonstrated that the QR2 enzyme has these detoxifying properties [37].

In 1994, the first true melatoninergic receptor (Mel1c) was cloned from Xenopus melanophores (Xenopus laevis) [38] then in Ornithorhynchus anatinus [39]. This discovery allowed revealing different receptor subtypes with class-related pharmacology ML1: Mel1a, currently MT1; Mel1b, corresponding to MT2; and Mel1c, found in birds, fish, and Xenopus but not in mammals. It is in all cases GPCRs. A phylogenetic study has demonstrated that the mammalian orphan GPR50 receptor is an orthologous Mel1c receptor [40]. This GPR50 receptor is related to the family of melatonin receptors, despite the loss of capacity binding of melatonin [41]. The GPR50 receptor has a distribution in many neuroendocrine tissues such as the dorsomedial hypothalamus, the lateral hypothalamus, the arcuate nucleus, or the layer of ependymal cells lining the third ventricle. This expression appears to be conserved in several species (sheep, mouse, rat, and hamster) suggesting a biological function for this receptor [42].

The coding region of the MT1 and MT2 receptors is composed of two exons separated by an intron about 10 kB. Exon 1 codes for the N-terminal part and up to the first intracellular loop of the receptor. Exon 2 codes for the rest of the protein [43]. The MT1 and MT2 receptors have a strong sequence identity in amino acids: 55% for the whole sequence and 70% for only the transmembrane domains. Receivers have about 300 amino acids with a molecular weight of about 40 kDa. As mentioned earlier, MT receptors are related to the A family of Gprotein-coupled receptors (GPCRs). Twenty to 25 highly conserved amino acids represent the signature of this class of GPCRs. The high degree of conservation of this amino acid sequence suggests that they would play an important role in maintaining structural integrity and/or functional of these receptors. Of these amino acids, the aspartate of TM 2 and three residue hydrophobic properties of TM 6 and TM 7 (proline, phenylalanine, and asparagine) would be important for activation of the receptors as well as arginine of the DRY motif (Asp-Arg-Tyr) between the passage TM 3 and the second intracellular loop. Two cysteines on the first two loops extracellular cells involved in a disulfide bridge and a possible site of palmitoylation after the short helix 8 located directly at the exit of the TM 7 are also very well preserved during of evolution [44].

This posttranslational modification site represents a possible point anchoring to the plasma membrane that can form a fourth intracellular loop. It was shown by site-specific mutagenesis that these cysteines are necessary for the activation of G proteins as well as signaling pathways [45]. The ligand binding site primarily involves transmembrane domains as well as extracellular loops [46]. The pattern E/DRY/W, and more particularly the aspartate residue, seems important in protein coupling G. Only the ovine MT2 receptor has a DRY pattern. MT2 receptors of other species have an NRY motif, where asparagine is replaced by aspartic acid. This motive participates in the inactivated state of GPCRs [47]. The N-terminus of the MT1 receptor has two potential glycosylation sites on asparagine residues (Asn), while that of the MT2 receiver has only one. The C-terminus of the two receptors contains a site for casein kinase 1 α , casein kinase II, and protein kinase C (PKC). This site would participate in the membrane anchoring and the installation of the tracks of MT signaling system. MLT activates different molecular cascades depending on the cellular context.

The way signaling mainly described for MT receivers is the so-called "cAMP" pathway of the secondary signaling pathways are also described. Coupling of MT1 receptors can be done with inhibitory heterotrimeric proteins Gi, sensitive to pertussis toxin (PTX), specific inhibitor, and with Gq/11 proteins, insensitive to the PTX. When binding melatonin to its type 1 receptor, a Gi protein activates to inhibit the activity of adenylate cyclase (AC) and thereby decrease the production of cAMP from ATP. The activity of protein kinase A (PKA) and the phosphorylation of cAMP-response element-binding (CREB) protein are therefore inhibited [48]. In parallel with the cAMP pathway, the MT1 receptors can directly activate the phospholipase C (PLC) pathway or indirectly via the βγ subunit of the G protein. Activation of the MT1 receptors can also regulate certain ion channels. In sheep pars tuberalis cells, activation of MT1 receptors results in increased intracellular calcium (Ca2 +) concentration via PTX-insensitive G proteins [49]. In contrast, in neonatal rat pituitary cells and in AtT20 cells stably expressing MT1 receptors, melatonin acts via PTX-sensitive G proteins and inhibits calcium flow. MT1 receptors can also be coupled to calcium-activated potassium channels (BKCa2 +) as well as to G-protein-activated (GIRK Kir3)-compatible incoming potassium channels. Activation of this receptor may also modulate arachidonic acid formation, stimulate c-Jun N-terminal kinase activity, and modulate MAP kinase activity.

MT2 receptors are also coupled to inhibition of cAMP formation [50]. Furthermore, activation of this receptor subtype induces inhibition of nucle-

otide formation, the cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP). In SCN, melatonin by binding to MT2 receptors activates protein kinase C (PKC), a response that is abolished following the administration of 4-phenyl-2-propionamidotetralin (4P-PDOT). These results suggest that MT2 receptors are coupled to the inositol signaling pathway triphosphate (IP3). Indeed, the binding of melatonin on MT2 induces the activation of a Gq protein that activates phospholipase C (PLC). This one is produced from a lipid transmembrane, phosphatidylinositol diphosphate (PIP2), diacylglycerol (DAG), and second messenger, the IP3. IP3 has receptors expressed at the membrane of the endoplasmic reticulum, thus modulating the intracellular release of Ca²⁺ [51].

Pharmacology of Melatoninergic Receptors

Many pharmacological molecules have been developed to specifically mimic the effects of melatonin. The following paragraph presents several of these molecules well known for their selectivity on MT receivers. The MT1 and MT2 receptors have a picomolar affinity for the reference radioligand, 2-[125I]-iodomelatonin. MT1 and MT2 receptors, expressed as transiently in the COS-7 cell line [52] or stably in CHO cell lines and NIH-3 T3, are characterized by the following classification of affinities: 2-iodomelatonin \geq melatonin > N-acetylserotonin > serotonin.

In addition, the MT1 receiver differs from the receiver MT2 by a higher affinity for 2-iodomelatonin and ramelteon than for melatonin and a very low affinity for 6-chloromelatonin. The MT2 receiver is characterized by similar affinities for 2-iodomelatonin, ramelteon, melatonin, and 6-chloromelatonin [53]. The ligands with a better affinity for MT2 than for MT1 are as follows: luzindole (2-benzyl N-acetyltryptamine) (15-25 times stronger), GR128107 (113 times), IIK7 (90 fold), K185 (140 fold) [54], and a luzindole analogue, DH97 (90-fold) [55]. 4-Phenyl-acetamidotetraline (4P-ADOT) is a selective ligand for MT2. However, the affinity ratio MT1/MT2 (300/22000) varies according to the level of expression of the receptors

or current signaling pathways. Many melatoninergic ligands are competitive antagonists with a variable degree of selectivity.

Luzindole, the first competitive antagonist discovered, shows a better affinity for MT2 than for MT1. The specific and selective ligands of MT2, 4P-PDOT, and its derivatives, 4P-ADOT (4-phenyl-2-acetamidotetraline) and 4P-CADOT (4-phenyl-2-chloroacetamidotetraline), are competitive antagonists in native tissues, where the level of receptor expression is low. In contrast, the 4P-PDOT and luzindole behave as agonists or in partial agonists recombinant systems. 4P-PDOT also has a strong affinity for the heterodimer MT1/MT2 [56]. 5-Hydroxyethoxy-Nacetyltryptamine (HEAT), a ligand nonselective MT1 and MT2, shows different efficiencies by acting as a full agonist for MT1 and as an MT2 antagonist [57]. IIK7 is a selective MT2 agonist, which inhibits forskolin-induced cAMP formation, when the receptors are expressed in the NIH-3 T3 line. All of these studies indicate that the pharmacological effects of luzindole and 4P-PDOT are complex, both in native tissues and in recombinant systems [58].

The recombinant MT1 receptors exhibit constitutive activity, producing a spontaneous regulation of effectors in the absence of ligand [59]. As indicated previously, inverse agonists stabilize the free forms of the receptor and reduce thus the activity of the ligand-independent receptor. As a result, luzindole and 4P-PDOT may be considered inverse agonists of MT1. The inverse agonist behavior of luzindole and 4P-PDOT is called into question in several works [60]. In the CHO lineage expressing a high concentration of hMT1 receptors, these molecules would have a higher affinity for MT1 in the presence rather than absence of GTP. In addition, luzindole and 4P-PDOT would decrease basal [35S]-GTPgS binding and increase training cAMP.

Human MT receptors have been localized in the brain and in peripheral tissues by various techniques such as 2-[125I]-MLT autoradiography, the RTPCR technique, as well as immunohistochemistry. In birds and lower vertebrates, MT receptors are widely distributed in the central nervous system. In mammals, these receptors are more locally distributed. Pars tuberalis, subdivision of the anterior lobe of the pituitary gland, has a very high level of MT receptor expression [61]. The MT1 and MT2 receptors are found in the retina and the hypothalamus, especially at the level of the SCN and the HPM, but in the hippocampus and the cerebellum. The MT1 receptors are also found in the thalamus, cornea, and cerebral cortex [62]. MT1 and MT2 receptors have also been localized in peripheral tissues, such as the heart and arteries [63], lung [64], liver [65], and skin [66]. The MT1 receptor is found in the adrenal glands [67], kidneys [68], and T and B lymphocytes [69]. The MT2 receptor is also detected at the level of the intestines [70].

Physiological Involvement of Melatonin Receptors

Although melatonin receptors are well known, the specific function of the MT1 receptor versus that of the MT2 receptor is not well established. In many species, including man, the mRNAs encoding the MT1 and MT2 receptors and the receptors themselves are expressed in the peripheral and cerebral arteries [71]. At the level of the rat caudal artery, important for the mechanism of thermoregulation, activation of the MT1 receptor induces vasoconstriction, whereas that of MT2 receptor leads to vasodilation.

The action of melatonin would be mediated by the inhibition of calcium-activated largeconductor potassium channels (BKCa²⁺) [72]. These results, however, are controversial. Invalidation studies of genes encoding MT receptors make it possible to understand the physiological implication of each receptor subtype. In the pars tuberalis of deleted mice of the gene coding for the MT1 receptor, the expression of the clock genes (mPer1, mCry1, Clock, and Bmal1) is drastically decreased. These results make it possible to identify the role of the MT1 receptor expressed in pars tuberalis in mice [73]. Indeed, acting through MT1 receptors, melatonin is an important regulator of the rhythmic expression of clock genes.

Double studies invalidating the gene coding for the MT1 and/or MT2 receptors, this time in the SCN, show in vitro that phase advances in the circadian rhythm would involve activation of the receptor subtype 2, whereas in vivo activation of both subtypes (MT1 and MT2) seems to be necessary for the expression of these phase advances induced by melatonin [74, 75]. On the other hand, during a forced swim test on invalidated mice for one of the genes encoding MT receptors, the antidepressant effects of luzindole pass only through MT2 receptors [76].

Effects of Melatonin

Melatonin is present in all the liquid compartments of the body, and all the cells are exposed to it [77]. It influences a number of functions of the body, although its physiopathological and pharmacological effects are not fully understood, as well as its mechanism of action, although melatonin receptors (or high-affinity binding sites of melatonin) have been found in different tissues [78].

Most mammals, including humans, have been able during evolution to use photoperiodic information, that is to say, the daily duration of illumination, to adapt to the environment and seasonal changes. Many species are able to respond to these changes in photoperiod by adapting some of their physiological and behavioral functions to anticipate future seasons. The hibernation cycle is a specific example of these photoperioddependent physiological processes that involve a very complex neuroendocrine control system. The pineal gland, the terminal organ of the visual system, is a neurochemical transducer, and its function is to inform the body about the photoperiod (or the length of the night) thanks to the secretion of melatonin. Highly lipophilic, melatonin rapidly passes the cell membranes and plays its role as a chemical messenger. All cells and cell organelles are therefore exposed to the circadian rhythm of melatonin. Provided that it can interpret this signal by a mechanism involving a receiver or other means, each cell of the body can be informed of the photoperiodic situation of the environment.

Suprachiasmatic nucleus of the hypothalamus is considered as the main biological clock of the body, controlling many circadian rhythms, including that of melatonin [79]. However, melatonin can intervene on this endogenous clock, since melatonin receptors have been found in the suprachiasmatic nucleus in rats, hamsters, sheep, and humans. Thus, melatonin is able to directly inhibit the activity of protein metabolism and synthesis in the rat SCN [80].

Interrelation of Melatonin with Different Endocrine Axes

The pineal gland has an inhibitory role on most endocrine glands. Thus, pinealectomy in rats results in increased circulating levels of gonadal steroids, follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), and prolactin. Ablation of the pineal in rats also causes changes in pituitary, gonadal, thyroid, and parathyroid function. In studies with rat pineal perfusions, pharmacological concentrations of corticosterone and dexamethasone have been shown to cause inhibition of melatonin production while at physiological concentrations; testosterone and 17b-estradiol stimulate the secretion of the hormone [81]. While there appears to be evidence of a direct interaction between the pineal gland and the pituitary gland, gonads, and hypothalamus in various laboratory animals, in humans, the effects on these endocrine functions are less obvious and controversial [82].

Gonadotropic Axis

The interrelation of melatonin with the gonadotropic axis is the one most studied [83]. In animals, the pineal gland is an important link in the neuroendocrine system that regulates circannual rhythms of the reproductive function. The epiphysis influences the maturation and cyclic activity of the gonads as a function of light exposure and allows synchronization of the animal's reproductive system with its environment. Melatonin transmits photoperiodic information to the reproductive function; this influence is most often inhibitory [84]. The action of melatonin is manifested differently according to the mode of administration (the duration and the time of administration), the doses injected, and the characteristics of the subject (age, sex, and so on).

Corticotropic Axis

There appears to be an inhibitory effect of melatonin on adrenal function in rodents [85]. Pinealectomy induces hypertrophy of the adrenal gland with hypersecretion of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH), corticosterone, and/or aldosterone, whereas administration of melatonin or pineal extracts may neutralize these effects [86]. An inhibitory effect of melatonin on ACTH secretion has been suggested [87]. In vitro, the effects of pineal gland extracts on the adrenal glands of mice depend on the circadian stage of gland collection: according to this, the response of corticosterone to ACTH can be amplified or attenuated [88].

Thyrotropic Axis

The secretion of the thyroid is influenced by photoperiod, and melatonin has an antithyrotropic effect. The suppression of circulating melatonin by injection of antimelatonin antibodies into the rat results in an increase in plasma thyroidstimulating hormone (TSH) concentration. This effect depends on the circadian stage and age of the subject. Melatonin decreases plasma thyroxine and TSH levels if administered at the end of the photoperiod [89].

Pancreas

Melatonin participates in the regulation of insulin secretion. The experiments in mice and rats in vitro and in vivo show that melatonin has a significant depressant effect on insulin only if the concentration of insulin is in the plasma or in the islet incubation medium. Isolated Langerhans are increased by a glucose load [90].

Melatonin Sleep and Desynchronization

There is no formal experimental evidence that physiological concentrations of melatonin are able to intervene in the sleep cycle although the hypothesis has been made that the increase in the frequency of sleep disorders in the subject is related to the significant decrease in the concentration of nocturnal melatonin [91] (Fig. 21.3). Its main effect is thus to improve the quality of sleep and to allow the resynchronization of its own rhythm.

Melatonin and insomnia



Sleep, 14:392, 1991

After Waldhauser *et al.*, *J of Clin Endoc & Metab*, 66: 648, 1988

Fig. 21.3 Comparison between insomnia prevalence and melatonin plasma concentration depending of patient age

Some studies have suggested its effectiveness in transmeridian flights to combat the effects of jet lag [92]. The pharmacological administration of melatonin reduces sleep latency and increases the quality and total duration of sleep [93], lowers body temperature [30], and does not alter the architecture of sleep [94]. The duration of paradoxical sleep is not affected, while the results are controversial for slow sleep [95]. As melatonin lowers body temperature, it can regulate the sleep/ wake cycle through thermoregulatory mechanisms [96]. Melatonin has been used to treat sleep disorders in subjects with total blindness [97], in Alzheimer's disease [98], and in delayed phase sleep disorders, administered to the patient. Adequate time, it advances the phase of sleep. A relationship between the oral dose of melatonin and the degree of phase shift of endogenous melatonin has been shown. It is also interesting to note that the administration of the hormone facilitates benzodiazepine withdrawal [99].

Desynchronization occurs when the biological clock is no longer in sync with the environment, leading, among other things, to sleep disturbances. Desynchronization is thus observed in night work and shift work, transmeridian flights [100], blindness [101], depression [102], and hormone-dependent cancers [103]. Disruption of circadian organization has been proposed as one of the possible explanatory factors for certain mood disorders including depression. The nocturnal peak of melatonin is decreased in depressed patients, and the circadian profile of the hormone has, according to the patients, either a phase advance or a phase delay (Fig. 21.4). The antidepressant activity of agomelatine has been shown on the treatment of major depression [104] and on forced swimming test a behavioral model of depression [105]. Agomelatine adjunctive therapy was not superior to placebo adjunctive therapy for acute bipolar depression [106].

Melatonin, Free Radicals, and Aging

The plasma concentration of melatonin is halved in the elderly and even more pronounced in Alzheimer's disease [107] according to a process that probably involves different mechanisms such



Fig. 21.4 Plasma concentrations of 6-SMT the main metabolite of melatonin depending of age and insomnia

as calcification of the pineal, the decrease in the number of or the sensitivity of β -adrenergic receptors in the pinealocyte membrane, and the decreased activity of the key NAT enzyme. As melatonin, which is lipophilic, easily crosses the cell membrane, all the actions it is likely to have do not necessarily involve its specific membrane receptors. Many studies have reported its action antiradical even more powerful than vitamin E, reference in the field [108]. The suspected role of free radicals in the processes of cellular aging has therefore made melatonin a means of combating age-related neurodegenerative processes without formal experimental evidence yet being provided. It has also been tested in other pathologies accompanied by an increase in free radicals, particularly ischemia. This decrease in melatonin in the elderly, its potent antiradical action, and results indicating that cross-pineal transplants of young mice to aged mice (and vice versa) lead to an increase in the life span of animals [109] have led the American public following a hype, an abusive self-medication that we can only regret. Although melatonin does not appear to have significant side effects in acute administration, long-term toxicity is not known, nor are possible interactions with other drugs taken together.

Melatonin and Cancer

In vivo pinealectomy in mice increases the rate of tumor mitosis, and in vitro the growth of breast cancer cells in culture has been found inhibited
[110]. A significant correlation between lowered levels of plasma melatonin and endometrial cancer has been demonstrated, as in breast cancer, with positive estrogen receptors [111, 112]. In addition, the toxic effects of chemotherapy with interleukin-2 or tamoxifen can be reduced by the concomitant administration of melatonin as an adjunct [113]. These results remain to be confirmed for larger groups of patients. Another aspect of the possible relationship between melatonin and cancer is evidenced by recent epidemiological studies reporting a significant increase in the relative risk of breast cancer in women working regularly at night. The advanced mechanistic hypothesis is the reduction of the nocturnal melatonin peak, which is related to illumination at night, leading to an increase in estrogen, estradiol in particular, which increases the growth and proliferation of hormone-sensitive breast cells. If these data were confirmed, they would pose a major public health problem. It remains to be specified, however, if other factors of confusion than those sought by the authors are not likely to explain these results. The melatonin hypothesis has also been advanced in epidemiological studies that report a potential link between exposure to an electromagnetic field of 50-60 Hz and the incidence of diseases, depression, and cancers [114]. However, recent work on workers exposed daily for 1-20 years to the magnetic field in their work and home shows that this exposure does not result in alterations in melatonin secretion, which refutes the so-called advanced melatonin hypothesis as a biological explanation of the supposed effects of magnetic fields on human health.

Melatonin and Autism

Research into the circadian secretion of melatonin in autism seems all the more interesting as abnormalities in the circadian rhythm of cortisol have been described in children with autism [115]. Studies have investigated the production of melatonin in autistic disorders, either by measuring serum or plasma levels or by measuring urinary excretion or that of its major metabolite, 6-MS [116]. Early studies, although limited by the small size of the samples, all reported abnormalities in melatonin production. Thus, authors [117], whose study involved ten young adults with autism, showed an increase in the diurnal secretion of urinary melatonin without a decrease in nocturnal secretion. In another study [118], it was found an abolition of the circadian difference in melatonin secretion in a 15-year-old autistic patient with hypomelanin. A research team who studied the circadian rhythm of plasma melatonin in ten young men with autism observed that plasma melatonin levels were higher during the day and lower during the night than those of control subjects [119].

In a group of 14 children with autism compared to children with normal development, it was found significantly lower mean serum melatonin concentrations, especially at night, with 24-hour stable melatonin concentrations, thus an abolition of circadian secretion difference, for 10-14 children, and, for the other 4, an increase in diurnal secretion resulting in an inversion of the nictemeral rhythm of melatonin [120]. It is remarkable that none of the autistic patients recruited by this team had a normal circadian melatonin secretion rhythm. On the other hand, it was reported a decrease in diurnal plasma melatonin in a large group of 43 autistic patients [121]; in 2010, later it was showed a decrease in urinary excretion of 6-MS over 24 hours in 10 autistic patients [122].

Melatonin dosing at bedtime improves sleep disturbances in young blind [123] or children with Angelman syndrome [124]. In the context of pervasive developmental disorders, it was investigated the treatment of sleep disorders in Rett's syndrome [125] and the treatment of these disorders in Asperger's syndrome [126, 127]. Melatonin treatment decreases sleep latency but does not change the number of nocturnal awakenings in Rett's syndrome, while it improves both in Asperger's syndrome. Some studies in autism report a therapeutic effect of melatonin on sleep disorders observed in autistic patients, with very few side effects.

Mainly melatonin is used in the autism spectrum disorder (ASD) to improve sleep disorder. A systematic review found that, when measured, levels of melatonin or melatonin derivatives are often below average in individuals with ASD compared with healthy individuals. Furthermore, the physiology of melatonin is abnormal in many individuals with ASD, which in some cases correlates to ASD symptoms. Some individuals have abnormalities in genes involved in melatonin production or receptor function. This metaanalysis found that the use of melatonin in ASD is associated with significantly improved sleep parameters (sleep duration and sleep onset latency) [128].

Melatonin and Irritable Bowel

Melatonin relieves abdominal pain in patients with both irritable bowel syndrome and sleep disorders, according to a placebo-controlled study [129]. The study included 40 patients who received a randomized, double-blind dose of 3 mg melatonin before bedtime or placebo for 2 weeks. It showed that melatonin significantly reduced the average score of abdominal pain from 2.35 against only 0.7 in the placebo group and increased the average threshold of rectal pain, from 8.9 mm Hg, compared with a decrease of 1.2 mm Hg in the placebo group. There was no significant difference between the two groups in terms of bloating, stool type, and frequency, as well as anxiety and depression scores. In patients with both irritable bowel syndrome and sleep disorders, administration of 3 mg melatonin before bedtime for 2 weeks significantly attenuated abdominal pain and reduced the sensitivity of rectal pain without improving sleep disorders or psychological suffering. These data suggest that the beneficial effects of melatonin on abdominal pain (of this type of patients) are independent of its action on sleep disorders and on psychological profiles. Sleep data obtained from both questionnaires and polysomnography showed that the 2 weeks of melatonin administration did not influence sleep-related parameters, including total sleep time, latent sleep, time latency and sleep efficiency, awakenings, the duration of stages 1-4, paradoxical sleep, and latency of paradoxical sleep [130]. More recently a paper made a

review of melatonin for the treatment of irritable bowel syndrome by the same authors, without new data [131].

References

- Lewy AJ. Current understanding and future implications of the circadian uses of melatonin, a neurohormone discovered by Aaron B, Lerner. J Invest Dermatol. 2007;127:2082–5.
- Geoffriau M, Brun J, Chazot G, Claustrat B. The physiology and pharmacology of melatonin in humans. Horm Res. 1998;49:136–41.
- Sapède D, Cau E. The pineal gland from development to function. Curr Top Dev Biol. 2013;106:171–215.
- Pandi-Perumal SR, Trakht I, Spence DW, Srinivasan V, Dagan Y, Cardinali DP. The roles of melatonin and light in the pathophysiology and treatment of circadian rhythm sleep disorders. Nat Clin Pract Neurol. 2008;4:436–47.
- Acuña-Castroviejo D, Escames G, Venegas C, Díaz-Casado ME, Lima-Cabello E, López LC, Rosales-Corral S, Tan DX, Reiter RJ. Extrapineal melatonin: sources, regulation, and potential functions. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2014;71:2997–3025.
- de Almeida EA, Di Mascio P, Harumi T, Spence DW, Moscovitch A, Hardeland R, Cardinali DP, Brown GM, Pandi-Perumal SR. Measurement of melatonin in body fluids: standards, protocols and procedures. Childs Nerv Syst. 2011;27:879–91.
- Macchi MM, Bruce JN. Human pineal physiology and functional significance of melatonin. Front Neuroendocrinol. 2004;25:177–95.
- Amaral FGD, Cipolla-Neto J. A brief review about melatonin, a pineal hormone. Arch Endocrinol Metab. 2018;62:472–9.
- Tan DX, Xu B, Zhou X, Reiter RJ. Pineal calcification, melatonin production, aging, associated health consequences and rejuvenation of the pineal gland. Molecules. 2018;23:E301.
- Trinchard-Lugan I, Waldhauser F. The shortterm secretion pattern of human serum melatonin indicates a pulsatile hormone release. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1989;69:663–9.
- Osier N, McGreevy E, Pham L, Puccio A, Ren D, Conley YP, Alexander S, Dixon CE. Melatonin as a therapy for traumatic brain injury: a review of published evidence. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19:E1539.
- Harpsøe NG, Andersen LP, Gögenur I, Rosenberg J. Clinical pharmacokinetics of melatonin: a systematic review. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2015;71:901–9.
- Pévet P. Melatonin receptors as therapeutic targets in the suprachiasmatic nucleus. Expert Opin Ther Targets. 2016;20:1209–18.
- 14. Pfeffer M, Kühn R, Krug L, Korf HW, Stehle JH. Rhythmic variation in beta1-adrenergic receptor mRNA levels in the rat pineal gland: circadian

and developmental regulation. Eur J Neurosci. 1998;10:2896–904.

- Touitou Y, Reinberg A, Touitou D. Association between light at night, melatonin secretion, sleep deprivation, and the internal clock: health impacts and mechanisms of circadian disruption. Life Sci. 2017;173:94–106.
- Andersen LP, Werner MU, Rosenkilde MM, Harpsøe NG, Fuglsang H, Rosenberg J, Gögenur I. Pharmacokinetics of oral and intravenous melatonin in healthy volunteers. BMC Pharmacol Toxicol. 2016;17:18.
- Gringras P, Nir T, Breddy J, Frydman-Marom A, Findling RL. Efficacy and safety of pediatric prolonged-release melatonin for insomnia in children with autism spectrum disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2017;56:948–57.
- Morin D, Simon N, Deprés-Brummer P, Lévi F, Tillement JP, Urien S. Melatonin high-affinity binding to alpha-1-acid glycoprotein in human serum. Pharmacology. 1997;54:271–5.
- Barrenetxe J, Delagrange P, Martínez JA. Physiological and metabolic functions of melatonin. J Physiol Biochem. 2004;60:61–72.
- Tordjman S, Chokron S, Delorme R, Charrier A, Bellissant E, Jaafari N, Fougerou C. Melatonin: pharmacology, functions and therapeutic benefits. Curr Neuropharmacol. 2017;15:434–43.
- 21. Salehi B, Sharopov F, Fokou PVT, Kobylinska A, Jonge L, Tadio K, Sharifi-Rad J, Posmyk MM, Martorell M, Martins N, Iriti M. Melatonin in medicinal and food plants: occurrence, bioavailability, and health potential for humans. Cells. 2019;8:E681.
- Dijk DJ, Landolt HP. Sleep physiology, circadian rhythms, waking performance and the development of sleep-wake therapeutics. Handb Exp Pharmacol. 2019; https://doi.org/10.1007/1642019243.
- Acuña-Castroviejo D, Escames G, Venegas C, Díaz-Casado ME, Lima-Cabello E, López LC, Rosales-Corral S, Tan DX, Reiter RJ. Extrapineal melatonin: sources, regulation, and potential functions. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2014;71:2997–3025.
- Revell VL, Kim H, Tseng CY, Crowley SJ, Eastman CI. Circadian phase determined from melatonin profiles is reproducible after 1 wk. in subjects who sleep later on weekends. J Pineal Res. 2005;39:195–200.
- Sugden D, Klein DC. Beta-adrenergic receptor control of rat pineal hydroxyindole-O-methyltransferase. Endocrinology. 1983;113:348–53.
- Cajochen C, Chellappa S, Schmidt C. What keeps us awake? The role of clocks and hourglasses, light, and melatonin. Int Rev Neurobiol. 2010;93:57–90.
- Goldman BD. Pattern of melatonin secretion mediates transfer of photoperiod information from mother to fetus in mammals. Sci STKE. 2003;2003(192):PE29.
- Claustrat B, Leston J. Melatonin: physiological effects in humans. Neurochirurgie. 2015;61:77–84.
- Boivin DB, Boudreau P. Impacts of shift work on sleep and circadian rhythms. Pathol Biol (Paris). 2014;62:292–301.

- Tan DX, Manchester LC, Reiter RJ. CSF generation by pineal gland results in a robust melatonin circadian rhythm in the third ventricle as an unique light/ dark signal. Med Hypotheses. 2016;86:3–9.
- 31. Kilic U, Yilmaz B, Ugur M, Yüksel A, Reiter RJ, Hermann DM, Kilic E. Evidence that membranebound G protein-coupled melatonin receptors MT1 and MT2 are not involved in the neuroprotective effects of melatonin in focal cerebral ischemia. J Pineal Res. 2012;52:228–35.
- von Gall C, Stehle JH, Weaver DR. Mammalian melatonin receptors: molecular biology and signal transduction. Cell Tissue Res. 2002;309:151–62.
- Cardinali DP, Vacas MI, Boyer EE. Specific binding of melatonin in bovine brain. Endocrinology. 1979;105:437–41.
- Cohen M, Roselle D, Chabner B, Schmidt TJ, Lippman M. Evidence for a cytoplasmic melatonin receptor. Nature. 1978;274:894–5.
- 35. Nosjean O, Ferro M, Coge F, Beauverger P, Henlin JM, Lefoulon F, Fauchere JL, Delagrange P, Canet E, Boutin JA. Identification of the melatonin-binding site MT3 as the quinone reductase 2. J Biol Chem. 2000;275:31311–7.
- 36. Nosjean O, Nicolas JP, Klupsch F, Delagrange P, Canet E, Boutin JA. Comparative pharmacological studies of melatonin receptors: MT1, MT2 and MT3/ QR2. Tissue distribution of MT3/QR2. Biochem Pharmacol. 2001;61:1369–79.
- Vella F, Ferry G, Delagrange P, Boutin JA. NRH: quinone reductase 2: an enzyme of surprises and mysteries. Biochem Pharmacol. 2005;71:1–12.
- Ebisawa T, Karne S, Lerner MR, Reppert SM. Expression cloning of a high-affinity melatonin receptor from Xenopus dermal melanophores. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994;91(13):6133–7.
- 39. Gautier C, Guenin SP, Riest-Fery I, Perry TJ, Legros C, Nosjean O, Simonneaux V, Grützner F, Boutin JA. Characterization of the Mel1c melatoninergic receptor in platypus (Ornithorhynchus anatinus). PLoS One. 2018;13(3):e0191904.
- Dufourny L, Levasseur A, Migaud M, Callebaut I, Pontarotti P, Malpaux B, Monget P. GPR50 is the mammalian ortholog of Mel1c: evidence of rapid evolution in mammals. BMC Evol Biol. 2008;8:105.
- 41. Levoye A, Dam J, Ayoub MA, Guillaume JL, Couturier C, Delagrange P, Jockers R. The orphan GPR50 receptor specifically inhibits MT1 melatonin receptor function through heterodimerization. EMBO J. 2006;25:3012–23.
- 42. Sidibe A, Mullier A, Chen P, Baroncini M, Boutin JA, Delagrange P, Prevot V, Jockers R. Expression of the orphan GPR50 protein in rodent and human dorsomedial hypothalamus, tanycytes and median eminence. J Pineal Res. 2010;48:263–9.
- 43. Reppert SM, Godson C, Mahle CD, Weaver DR, Slaugenhaupt SA, Gusella JF. Molecular characterization of a second melatonin receptor expressed in human retina and brain: the Mel1b melatonin receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92:8734–8.

- 44. Brandt W, Golbraikh A, Täger M, Lendeckel U. A molecular mechanism for the cleavage of a disulfide bond as the primary function of agonist binding to G-protein-coupled receptors based on theoretical calculations supported by experiments. Eur J Biochem. 1999;261:89–97.
- Kokkola T, Salo OM, Poso A, Laitinen JT. The functional role of cysteines adjacent to the NRY motif of the human MT1 melatonin receptor. J Pineal Res. 2005;39:1–11.
- 46. Kristiansen K. Molecular mechanisms of ligand binding, signaling, and regulation within the superfamily of G-protein-coupled receptors: molecular modeling and mutagenesis approaches to receptor structure and function. Pharmacol Ther. 2004;103:21–80.
- 47. Cogé F, Guenin SP, Fery I, Migaud M, Devavry S, Slugocki C, Legros C, Ouvry C, Cohen W, Renault N, Nosjean O, Malpaux B, Delagrange P, Boutin JA. The end of a myth: cloning and characterization of the ovine melatonin MT (2) receptor. Br J Pharmacol. 2009;158:1248–62.
- 48. Masana MI, Witt-Enderby PA, Dubocovich ML. Melatonin differentially modulates the expression and function of the hMT1 and hMT2 melatonin receptors upon prolonged withdrawal. Biochem Pharmacol. 2003;65:731–9.
- Witt-Enderby PA, Bennett J, Jarzynka MJ, Firestine S, Melan MA. Melatonin receptors and their regulation: biochemical and structural mechanisms. Life Sci. 2003;72:2183–98.
- Oishi A, Karamitri A, Gerbier R, Lahuna O, Ahmad R, Jockers R. Orphan GPR61, GPR62 and GPR135 receptors and the melatonin MT2 receptor reciprocally modulate their signaling functions. Sci Rep. 2017;7:8990.
- Cecon E, Liu L, Jockers R. Melatonin receptor structures shed new light on melatonin research. J Pineal Res. 2019;23:e12606.
- 52. Dubocovich ML, Masana MI, Iacob S, Sauri DM. Melatonin receptor antagonists that differentiate between the human Mel1a and Mel1b recombinant subtypes are used to assess the pharmacological profile of the rabbit retina ML1 presynaptic heteroreceptor. Naunyn Schmiedeberg's Arch Pharmacol. 1997;355:365–75.
- 53. Kato K, Hirai K, Nishiyama K, Uchikawa O, Fukatsu K, Ohkawa S, Kawamata Y, Hinuma S, Miyamoto M. Neurochemical properties of ramelteon (TAK-375), a selective MT1/MT2 receptor agonist. Neuropharmacology. 2005;48:301–10.
- Sugden D, Yeh LK, Teh MT. Design of subtype selective melatonin receptor agonists and antagonists. Reprod Nutr Dev. 1999;39:335–44.
- 55. Behrens UD, Douglas RH, Sugden D, Davies DJ, Wagner HJ. Effect of melatonin agonists and antagonists on horizontal cell spinule formation and dopamine release in a fish retina. Cell Tissue Res. 2000;299:299–306.
- 56. Ayoub MA, Levoye A, Delagrange P, Jockers R. Preferential formation of MT1/MT2 melatonin receptor heterodimers with distinct ligand interac-

tion properties compared with MT2 homodimers. Mol Pharmacol. 2004;66:312–21.

- 57. Nonno R, Lucini V, Spadoni G, Pannacci M, Croce A, Esposti D, Balsamini C, Tarzia G, Fraschini F, Stankov BM. A new melatonin receptor ligand with mt1-agonist and MT2-antagonist properties. J Pineal Res. 2000;29:234–40.
- Winczyk K, Fuss-Chmielewska J, Lawnicka H, Pawlikowski M, Karasek M. Luzindole but not 4-phenyl-2- propionamidotetralin (4P-PDOT) diminishes the inhibitory effect of melatonin on murine Colon 38 cancer growth in vitro. Neuro Endocrinol Lett. 2009;30:657–562.
- 59. Roka F, Brydon L, Waldhoer M, Strosberg AD, Freissmuth M, Jockers R, Nanoff C. Tight association of the human Mel(1a)-melatonin receptor and G(i): precoupling and constitutive activity. Mol Pharmacol. 1999;56:1014–24.
- 60. Devavry S, Legros C, Brasseur C, Delagrange P, Spadoni G, Cohen W, Malpaux B, Boutin JA, Nosjean O. Description of the constitutive activity of cloned human melatonin receptors hMT(1) and hMT(2) and discovery of inverse agonists. J Pineal Res. 2012;53:29–37.
- Dubocovich ML, Rivera-Bermudez MA, Gerdin MJ, Masana MI. Molecular pharmacology, regulation and function of mammalian melatonin receptors. Front Biosci. 2003;8:d1093–108.
- 62. Jockers R, Delagrange P, Dubocovich ML, Markus RP, Renault N, Tosini G, Cecon E, Zlotos DP. Update on melatonin receptors: IUPHAR review 20. Br J Pharmacol. 2016;173:2702–25.
- 63. Qiu F, Liu X, Zhang Y, Wu Y, Xiao D, Shi L. Aerobic exercise enhanced endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation in mesenteric arteries in spontaneously hypertensive rats: the role of melatonin. Hypertens Res. 2018;41:718–29.
- 64. Kumar Kharwar R, Haldar C. Anatomical and histological profile of bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue and localization of melatonin receptor types (Mel 1a and Mel 1b) in the lung-associated immune system of a tropical bird, Perdicula asiatica. Acta Histochem. 2011;113:333–9.
- 65. Faria JA, Kinote A, Ignacio-Souza LM, de Araújo TM, Razolli DS, Doneda DL, Paschoal LB, Lellis-Santos C, Bertolini GL, Velloso LA, Bordin S, Anhê GF. Melatonin acts through MT1/MT2 receptors to activate hypothalamic Akt and suppress hepatic gluconeogenesis in rats. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2013;305:E230–42.
- 66. Slominski RM, Reiter RJ, Schlabritz-Loutsevitch N, Ostrom RS, Slominski AT. Melatonin membrane receptors in peripheral tissues: distribution and functions. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2012;351:152–66.
- 67. Komatsubara M, Hara T, Hosoya T, Toma K, Tsukamoto-Yamauchi N, Iwata N, Inagaki K, Wada J, Otsuka F. Melatonin regulates catecholamine biosynthesis by modulating bone morphogenetic protein and glucocorticoid actions. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2017;165(Pt B):182–9.

- Naji L, Carrillo-Vico A, Guerrero JM, Calvo JR. Expression of membrane and nuclear melatonin receptors in mouse peripheral organs. Life Sci. 2004;74:2227–36.
- 69. Carrillo-Vico A, Calvo JR, Abreu P, Lardone PJ, García-Mauriño S, Reiter RJ, Guerrero JM. Evidence of melatonin synthesis by human lymphocytes and its physiological significance: possible role as intracrine, autocrine, and/or paracrine substance. FASEB J. 2004;18:537–9.
- Chen CQ, Fichna J, Bashashati M, Li YY. Storr distribution, function and physiological role of melatonin in the lower gut. World J Gastroenterol. 2011;17:3888–98.
- Liu J, Clough SJ, Hutchinson AJ, Adamah-Biassi EB, Popovska-Gorevski M, Dubocovich ML. MT1 and MT2 melatonin receptors: a therapeutic perspective. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol. 2016;56:361–83.
- Zhao T, Zhang H, Jin C, Qiu F, Wu Y, Shi L. Melatonin mediates vasodilation through both direct and indirect activation of BKCa channels. J Mol Endocrinol. 2017;59:219–33.
- 73. von Gall C, Weaver DR, Moek J, Jilg A, Stehle JH, Korf HW. Melatonin plays a crucial role in the regulation of rhythmic clock gene expression in the mouse pars tuberalis. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2005;1040:508–11.
- Dubocovich ML, Markowska M. Functional MT1 and MT2 melatonin receptors in mammals. Endocrine. 2005;27:101–10.
- Dubocovich ML, Hudson RL, Sumaya IC, Masana MI, Manna E. Effect of MT1 melatonin receptor deletion on melatonin-mediated phase shift of circadian rhythms in the C57BL/6 mouse. J Pineal Res. 2005;39:113–20.
- Sumaya IC, Masana MI, Dubocovich ML. The antidepressant-like effect of the melatonin receptor ligand luzindole in mice during forced swimming requires expression of MT2 but not MT1 melatonin receptors. J Pineal Res. 2005;39:170–7.
- Kleszczynski K, Fischer TW. Melatonin and human skin aging. Dermatoendocrinol. 2012;4:245–52.
- Morgan PJ, Barrett P, Howell HE, Helliwell R. Melatonin receptors: localization, molecular pharmacology and physiological significance. Neurochem Int. 1994;24:101.
- Videnovic A, Lazar AS, Barker RA, Overeem S. "The clocks that time us'--circadian rhythms in neurodegenerative disorders. Nat Rev Neurol. 2014;10:683–93.
- Morgan PJ, Williams LM. Central melatonin receptors: implications for a mode of action. Experientia. 1989;45:955–65.
- 81. Ostrowska Z, Kos-Kudla B, Nowak M, Swietochowska E, Marek B, Gorski J, Kajdaniuk D, Wolkowska K. The relationship between bone metabolism, melatonin and other hormones in shamoperated and pinealectomized rats. Endocr Regul. 2003;37:211–24.

- Reiter RJ. Pineal melatonin: cell biology of its synthesis and of its physiological interactions. Endocr Rev. 1991;12:151–80.
- Falcón J, Besseau L, Sauzet S, Boeuf G. Melatonin effects on the hypothalamo-pituitary axis in fish. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2007;18:81–8.
- Reiter RJ. Pineal gland interface between the photoperiodic environment and the endocrine system. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 1991;2:13–9.
- Richter HG, Torres-Farfan C, Garcia-Sesnich J, Abarzua-Catalan L, Henriquez MG, Alvarez-Felmer M, Gaete F, Rehren GE, Seron-Ferre M. Rhythmic expression of functional MT1 melatonin receptors in the rat adrenal gland. Endocrinology. 2008;149:995–1003.
- Ogle TF, Kitay JI. Effects of melatonin and an aqueous pineal extract on adrenal secretion of reduced steroid metabolites in female rats. Neuroendocrinology. 1977;23:113–20.
- 87. Torres-Farfan C, Richter HG, Rojas-García P, Vergara M, Forcelledo ML, Valladares LE, Torrealba F, Valenzuela GJ, Serón-Ferré M. mt1 Melatonin receptor in the primate adrenal gland: inhibition of adrenocorticotropin-stimulated cortisol production by melatonin. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88:450–8.
- Lopes C, Mariano M, Markus RP. Interaction between the adrenal and the pineal gland in chronic experimental inflammation induced by BCG in mice. Inflamm Res. 2001;50:6–11.
- Vriend J. Effects of melatonin and thyroxine replacement on thyrotropin, luteinizing hormone, and prolactin in male hypothyroid hamsters. Endocrinology. 1985;117:2402–7.
- Simões D, Riva P, Peliciari-Garcia RA, Cruzat VF, Graciano MF, Munhoz AC, Taneda M, Cipolla-Neto J, Carpinelli AR. Melatonin modifies basal and stimulated insulin secretion via NADPH oxidase. J Endocrinol. 2016;231:235–44.
- Zisapel N. New perspectives on the role of melatonin in human sleep, circadian rhythms and their regulation. Br J Pharmacol. 2018;175:3190–9.
- Herxheimer A, Petrie KJ. Melatonin for the prevention and treatment of jet lag. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2002;(2):CD001520.
- Bourin M. Hypnotic drugs: pharmacological and therapeutic issues. SOJ Pharm Pharm Sci. 2018;5:1–4.
- 94. Xie Z, Chen F, Li WA, Geng X, Li C, Meng X, Feng Y, Liu W, Yu F. A review of sleep disorders and melatonin. Neurol Res. 2017;39:559–65.
- 95. Kunz D, Mahlberg R, Müller C, Tilmann A, Bes F. Melatonin in patients with reduced REM sleep duration: two randomized controlled trials. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004;89:128–34.
- Okamoto-Mizuno K, Mizuno K. Effects of thermal environment on sleep and circadian rhythm. J Physiol Anthropol. 2012;31:14.
- 97. Fischer S, Smolnik R, Herms M, Born J, Fehm HL. Melatonin acutely improves the neuroendocrine

architecture of sleep in blind individuals. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88:5315–20.

- Cardinali DP. Melatonin: clinical perspectives in neurodegeneration. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2019;10:480.
- 99. Baandrup L, Lindschou J, Winkel P, Gluud C, Glenthoj BY. Prolonged-release melatonin versus placebo for benzodiazepine discontinuation in patients with schizophrenia or bipolar disorder: a randomised, placebo-controlled, blinded trial. World J Biol Psychiatry. 2016;17:514–24.
- 100. Lamp A, McCullough D, Chen JMC, Brown RE, Belenky G. Pilot sleep in long-range and ultralong-range commercial flights. Aerosp Med Hum Perform. 2019;90:109–15.
- Pfeffer M, Korf HW, Wicht H. Synchronizing effects of melatonin on diurnal and circadian rhythms. Gen Comp Endocrinol. 2018;258:215–21.
- Hühne A, Welsh DK, Landgraf D. Prospects for circadian treatment of mood disorders. Ann Med. 2018;50:637–54.
- Touitou Y. Dysfunctions of biological clocks and their treatments. Ann Pharm Fr. 2008;66:146–57.
- Bourin M, Prica C. Melatonin receptor agonist agomelatine: a new drug for treating unipolar depression. Curr Pharm Des. 2009;15:1675–82.
- 105. Bourin M, Mocaër E, Porsolt R. Antidepressantlike activity of S 20098 (agomelatine) in the forced swimming test in rodents: involvement of melatonin and serotonin receptors. J Psychiatry Neurosci. 2004;29:126–33.
- 106. Yatham LN, Vieta E, Goodwin GM, Bourin M, de Bodinat C, Laredo J, Calabrese J, Agomelatine Study Group. Agomelatine or placebo as adjunctive therapy to a mood stabiliser in bipolar I depression: randomised double-blind placebo-controlled trial. Br J Psychiatry. 2016;208:78–86.
- 107. Vincent B. Protective roles of melatonin against the amyloid-dependent development of Alzheimer's disease: a critical review. Pharmacol Res. 2018;134:223–37.
- Reiter RJ, Mayo JC, Tan DX, Sainz RM, Alatorre-Jimenez M, Qin L. Melatonin as an antioxidant: under promises but over delivers. J Pineal Res. 2016;61:253–78.
- Bubenik GA, Konturek SJ. Melatonin and aging: prospects for human treatment. J Physiol Pharmacol. 2011;6:13–9.
- 110. Sánchez-Barceló EJ, Cos S, Fernández R, Mediavilla MD. Melatonin and mammary cancer: a short review. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2003;10:153–9.
- 111. Viswanathan AN, Schernhammer ES. Circulating melatonin and the risk of breast and endometrial cancer in women. Cancer Lett. 2009;281:1–7.
- 112. Martínez-Campa C, Menéndez-Menéndez J, Alonso-González C, González A, Álvarez-García V, Cos S. What is known about melatonin, chemotherapy and altered gene expression in breast cancer. Oncol Lett. 2017;13:2003–14.

- 113. Mills E, Wu P, Seely D, Guyatt G. Melatonin in the treatment of cancer: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials and meta-analysis. J Pineal Res. 2005;39:360–6.
- 114. Touitou Y, Selmaoui B. The effects of extremely low-frequency magnetic fields on melatonin and cortisol, two marker rhythms of the circadian system. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2012;14:381–99.
- 115. Tordjman S, Najjar I, Bellissant E, Anderson GM, Barburoth M, Cohen D, Jaafari N, Schischmanoff O, Fagard R, Lagdas E, Kermarrec S, Ribardiere S, Botbol M, Fougerou C, Bronsard G, Vernay-Leconte J. Advances in the research of melatonin in autism spectrum disorders: literature review and new perspectives. Int J Mol Sci. 2013;14:20508–42.
- Gagnon K, Godbout R. Melatonin and comorbidities in children with autism spectrum disorder. Curr Dev Disord Rep. 2018;5:197–206.
- 117. Ritvo ER, Ritvo R, Yuwiler A, Brothers A, Freeman BJ, Plotkin S. Elevated daytime melatonin concentrations in autism: a pilot study. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 1993;2:75–8.
- 118. Zappella M. Autism and hypomelanosis of Ito in twins. Dev Med Child Neurol. 1993;35:826–32.
- 119. Nir I, Meir D, Zilber N, Knobler H, Hadjez J, Lerner Y. Brief report: circadian melatonin, thyroidstimulating hormone, prolactin, and cortisol levels in serum of young adults with autism. J Autism Dev Disord. 1995;25:641–54.
- 120. Kulman G, Lissoni P, Rovelli F, Roselli MG, Brivio F, Sequeri P. Evidence of pineal endocrine hypofunction in autistic children. Neuro Endocrinol Lett. 2000;21:31–4.
- 121. Melke J, Goubran Botros H, Chaste P, Betancur C, Nygren G, Anckarsäter H, Rastam M, Ståhlberg O, Gillberg IC, Delorme R, Chabane N, Mouren-Simeoni MC, Fauchereau F, Durand CM, Chevalier F, Drouot X, Collet C, Launay JM, Leboyer M, Gillberg C, Bourgeron T. Abnormal melatonin synthesis in autism spectrum disorder. Mol Psychiatry. 2008;13:90–8.
- 122. Mulder EJ, Anderson GM, Kemperman RF, Oosterloo Duinkerken A, Minderaa RB, Kema IP. Urinary excretion of 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid, serotonin and 6-sulphatoxymelatonin in normoserotonemic and hyperserotonemic autistic individuals. Neuropsychobiology. 2010;61:27–32.
- 123. Palm L, Blennow G, Wetterberg L. Long-term melatonin treatment in blind children and young adults with circadian sleep-wake disturbances. Dev Med Child Neurol. 1997;39:319–25.
- Zhdanova IV, Lynch HJ, Wurtman RJ. Melatonin: a sleep promoting hormone. Sleep. 1997;20:899–907.
- 125. MacArthur AJ, Budden SS. Sleep dysfunction in Rett syndrome: a trial of exogenous melatonin treatment. Dev Med Child Neurol. 1998;40:186–92.
- 126. Horrigan JP, Barnill LJ. More on melatonin. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 1997;36:1014.

- 127. Bourin M. Is the Asperger syndrome still in existence since DSM-5? SFJ Autism. 2017;1:1.
- 128. Rossignol DA, Frye RE. Melatonin in autism spectrum disorders. Curr Clin Pharmacol. 2014;9:326–34.
- 129. Song GH, Leng PH, Gwee KA, Moochhala SM, Ho KY. Melatonin improves abdominal pain in irritable bowel syndrome patients who have sleep disturbances: a randomised, double blind, placebo controlled study. Gut. 2005;54:1402–7.
- 130. Lu WZ, Gwee KA, Moochhalla S, Ho KY. Melatonin improves bowel symptoms in female patients with irritable bowel syndrome: a double-blind placebo-controlled study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2005;22:927–34.
- Siah KT, Wong RK, Ho KY. Melatonin for the treatment of irritable bowel syndrome. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20:2492–8.



22

Cytoprotection by Melatonin: The Metabolic Syndrome as an Example

Daniel P. Cardinali and Daniel E. Vigo

Introduction

A series of risk factors for cardiovascular diseases including hyperinsulinemia, glucose intolerance, dyslipidemia, obesity, and high blood pressure are known as the metabolic syndrome (MS). The prevalence of MS varies from 15% to 30% depending on the region of the world considered [1, 2]. An increase of 1.5–2.5 times in cardiovascular mortality occurs when MS is present. Therefore, MS represents one of the main public health problems nowadays.

MS is preventable. Excessive accumulation of fat, whether in white adipose tissue or in other organs, is the consequence of hypertrophy and hyperplasia of white adipocytes in a context of positive energy balance. Poor diet, lack of exercise, and chronic resistance to insulin are important factors that contribute to excessive fat accumulation [3, 4]. Abnormal nutritional balance is controlled mainly at the hypothalamic level by a complex circuit of orexigenic and

D. E. Vigo

anorexigenic signals and by an endogenous clock that establishes a circadian rhythm for appetitesatiety, a function highly affected by modern lifestyle habits.

In the last decade, there has been a considerable increase in our understanding of the cellular and molecular factors that contribute to MS. A basic function that seems to be strongly influenced by (and influences) obesity and metabolic disease is the internal timing system [5-7]. The correlation between the higher incidence of obesity and the ubiquity of modern social habits, such as light at night, unusual meal times, irregular sleep/wake schedules, and travel across different time zones, all encompassed in the "24/7" lifestyle of the modern society, strongly suggests that sleep deterioration and circadian system disruption are involved in the etiology of MS. Several clinical surveys have shown a higher prevalence of MS among night shift workers, indicating that artificial lighting may contribute to the higher prevalence of metabolic disorders [8–11].

Both animal and human data have shown that circadian and sleep disturbances lead to insulin resistance and MS. In a study conducted in 593 patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus, sleep debt was associated with long-term metabolic disruption, which may promote the progression of the disease. For every 30 min of sleep debt during a week, the risk of obesity and insulin resistance at 12 months increased by 18 and 41%, respectively

D. P. Cardinali (🖂)

Faculty of Medical Sciences, Pontificia Universidad Católica Argentina, Buenos Aires, Argentina e-mail: daniel_cardinali@uca.edu.ar

BIOMED-UCA-CONICET, Pontificia Universidad Católica Argentina, Buenos Aires, Argentina e-mail: dvigo@conicet.gov.ar

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_22

[12]. Taken together, these findings indicate the need to improve the quality of sleep to prevent the development of obesity and insulin resistance, as well as its progression to diabetes.

As a chronobiotic/cytoprotective agent, melatonin may occupy a special place in the prevention and treatment of MS [13, 14]. Melatonin improves sleep efficiency and has antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties, in part because of its function as a metabolic regulator and mitochondrial protector [15–17]. This review summarizes what is known about this subject. Medical literature was identified by searching databases including (MEDLINE, EMBASE), bibliographies from published literature, and clinical trial registries/databases. Searches were last updated on January 12, 2019.

Inflammation and the MS

Obesity in MS is associated with low-grade inflammation of white adipose tissue, which can subsequently lead to insulin resistance, impaired glucose tolerance, and diabetes [18, 19]. Adipocytes actively secrete proinflammatory cytokines, such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , interleukin (IL)-1 β and IL-6, resistin, and leptin, which triggers a vicious circle that leads to additional deposition of fat. The increase in circulating levels of C-reactive protein and other inflammatory biomarkers also indicate the occurrence of inflammation in obesity [20, 21].

Early MS is characterized by an increase in systemic markers of lipid oxidation, such as oxidized low-density lipoproteins, which contribute to the development of insulin resistance [22–24]. In the mitochondria, lipid peroxidation particularly affects cardiolipin, a phospholipid located at the level of the inner mitochondrial membrane, which is required for several mitochondrial bioenergetic processes, as well as in mitochondriadependent apoptosis steps, e.g., it prevents the opening of the transition pore of mitochondrial permeability [25].

Several studies have shown that the altered production of proinflammatory cytokines in obesity modulates the size and number of adipocytes through paracrine mechanisms that play an important role in the regulation of fat mass [26-28]. The amounts of proinflammatory molecules derived from adipose tissue in obese patients decrease after weight loss [29]. Therefore, fat cells are both a source and a target for proinflammatory cytokines. When the mass of white adipose tissue increases due to hypertrophy of the adipocyte, large adipocytes develop a secretory dysfunction characterized by overproduction (synthesis and release) of proinflammatory adipocytokines that decrease the sensitivity of the tissue to insulin and promote oxidative stress (leptin, resistin, TNF- α , inhibitor of plasminogen activator-1, IL-1, IL-6). In addition, adipocytes release less amounts of adiponectin (an insulin-sensitizing adipocytokine). Consequently, obesity is the result of a multifactorial combination of genetic, metabolic, endocrine, inflammatory, and circadian dysfunctions, whose long-term maintenance is favored by behavioral disorders [30].

Levels of inflammatory mediators generally increase with age, even in the absence of acute infection or physiological stress. Such stress leads to the inflammatory damage of cellular components, including proteins, lipids, and DNA, and contributes to the decline of physiological functions related to age. The term "inflammaging" was introduced to underscore the importance of inflammation in senescence and its role in the development of age-related diseases such as MS [31-34]. The type of persistent oxidative stress that progresses slowly, as a result of increased production of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species and which is reinforced by damage to the mitochondria, is typical of inflammation [34–36].

Basic Biology of Melatonin Relevant for Cytoprotection in MS

Melatonin, an unusually phylogenetic conserved molecule present in all known aerobic organisms, is effective both as a chronobiotic and as a cytoprotective agent. "Chronobiotic" defines a drug that can synchronize and increase the amplitude of circadian rhythms, with melatonin being the prototype [37, 38].

The light-dark variation in the synthesis of melatonin by pinealocytes is the essential fact that explains the role of melatonin as a chronobiotic that coordinates the physiology of biological rhythms [39]. The action of melatonin as a chronobiotic is twofold: on the one hand, it "opens the doors of sleep" by inhibiting the promoting activity of late awakening driven by suprachiasmatic nuclei (SCN) [40, 41]. On the other hand, melatonin is the "hormone of darkness," a chemical code of the duration of the night, and has established itself as crucial in the transmission of information from light to the neuroendocrine system. Melatonin represents a "hand" of the biological clock in the sense that it responds to the signals of the SCN, the temporal variation of the melatonin rhythm indicating the state of the clock, both in terms of phase (time in the internal clock in relation to external time) and amplitude [42].

In all mammals, circulating melatonin is derived almost exclusively from the pineal gland [43]. In addition, melatonin is synthesized locally in many cells, tissues, and organs, including the lymphocytes, bone marrow, thymus, gastrointestinal tract, skin, and eyes, where it can play an autocrine or paracrine role [44]. In both animals and humans, melatonin participates in diverse physiological functions that not only indicate the duration of the night but also improve the elimination of free radicals and the immune response, showing relevant cytoprotective properties [45].

The chronobiotic action of melatonin is mediated via the melatonin receptors, which have been identified both in the CNS and in the periphery [46]. MT₁ and MT₂ receptors all belonging to the superfamily of membrane receptors associated with G proteins (G-protein-coupled receptors, GPCR) have been cloned. These receptors mediate melatonin inhibition of adenylate cyclase (and in the case of the MT₂ receptor, guanylate cyclase) and participate in the action of melatonin on the phase and amplitude of circadian rhythms. By using receptor autoradiography with the nonselective 2-[¹²⁵I]-iodomelatonin ligand and real-time quantitative reverse transcriptionpolymerase chain reaction to label melatonin receptor mRNA, MT_1 and MT_2 receptors have been identified in the retina, SCN, thalamus, hippocampus, vestibular nuclei, and cerebral and cerebellar cortex. At the level of the hippocampus, MT_2 receptors were detected in CA3 and CA4 pyramidal neurons, which receive glutamatergic excitatory inputs from the entorhinal cortex, whereas MT_1 receptors were predominantly expressed in CA1 [47].

More recently, another member, GPR50, was included in the melatonin receptor subfamily. GPR50 shows high-sequence homology to MT_1 and MT_2 but does not bind to melatonin or any other known ligand. An interesting feature of these receptors is their capacity to form homoand heteromers between each other and also with other GPCRs [48]. The following heteromers have been described: MT₁/MT₂, MT₁/GPR50, and heteromers composed of MT₂ and the serotonin 5-HT_{2c} receptor or the orphan GPR61, GPR62, and GPR135 receptors. These heteromers represent novel pharmacological entities as they exhibit functional properties that are different from those of the corresponding homomers. For example, MT₂/5-HT_{2c} heteromers are targeted by the clinically relevant antidepressant agomelatine, and MT_1/MT_2 heteromers regulate nocturnal retinal light sensitivity [49].

Due to its liposolubility, melatonin penetrates all membranes and is associated with cytoplasmic proteins such as calmodulin and tubulin, which cause important changes in the cytoskeleton [50]. Melatonin also accesses the cell nucleus where the receptor sites were supposed to belong to the orphan receptor superfamily RZR/ROR [45]. However, RZR/ROR demonstrably does not bind melatonin. Rather, melatonin may act indirectly via this transcription factor, e.g., by affecting the circadian accessory oscillator component RORα through sirtuin-1 activation [51].

The cytoprotective activity of melatonin exceeds that mediated via receptors. Almost every cell in the human body contains melatonin, in quantities much higher than those circulating in blood derived from the pineal gland [44]. The mitochondrial capacity to synthesize melatonin is now confirmed, but for reasons that remain unexplained, intracellular melatonin does not get the extracellular space. To modify intracellular melatonin levels, doses much higher than those employed as a chronobiotic are needed [52, 53].

In cell cultures, physiologically relevant effects of melatonin are revealed at doses in the range of 10^{-8} to 10^{-9} M, these concentrations being enough for almost complete or total receptor saturation. However, most studies on neuroprotective and anti-inflammatory effects in animals employ pharmacological doses, which clearly exceed the saturation of the receptor.

In both the cytoplasm and the cell nucleus, melatonin has important antioxidant and scavenging effects on free radicals, which are largely independent of receptors [54]. These effects are exerted in three ways: (a) melatonin is a free radical scavenger; (b) melatonin is metabolized to compounds with high antioxidant activity; (c) melatonin is an indirect antioxidant, which stimulates the synthesis of antioxidant enzymes and inhibits that of prooxidant enzymes. Melatonin has a proven superiority to vitamin C and E in protection against oxidative damage and in the elimination of free radicals [55]. In addition, melatonin potentiates the effects of other antioxisuch as vitamin C, Trolox, dants. and NADH. Several antiapoptotic and cytoprotective effects of melatonin are exerted under conditions of ischemia (unrelated to free radicals) and can be attributed to the stabilizing activity of the mitochondrial membrane [53].

Melatonin is an immunological modulator that shows proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory properties [56, 57]. The anti-inflammatory actions are of medicinal interest, since they are observed in high-grade inflammation such as sepsis, ischemia/reperfusion, and brain injury, as well as in the low-grade inflammation seen in neurodegenerative disorders and aging. Melatonin has significant anti-inflammatory properties presumably by inhibiting the binding of nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) to DNA, thus decreasing the synthesis of proinflammatory cytokines, by inhibiting cyclooxygenase (Cox) [58] in particular Cox- 2 [59], and by suppressing the expression of the inducible gene of nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) [60]. In addition, other pathways of secondary signaling are involved, including inhibition of high-mobility group box-1 signaling and toll-like receptor-4 activation, prevention of inflammasome NLRP3 activation, and upregulation of nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2. These effects of melatonin are also reflected by downregulation of proinflammatory and upregulation of antiinflammatory cytokines. A particular role in the actions of melatonin is associated with the positive regulation of sirtuin-1, which shares several known effects of melatonin and also interferes with proinflammatory signaling [57].

Melatonin and Inflammation

Reversal of inflammation by melatonin occurs at different levels. One of them is the correction of metabolic dysregulation, including the prevention of insulin resistance. Melatonin reduces serine phosphorylation of the insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS-1) and upregulates IRS-1 expression [61]. Both melatonin and the melatonergic agonist piromelatine reverse the blocking of this key step in the transduction of insulin signals [62–64].

An additional level of action of melatonin refers to the prevention of processes that favor or lead to inflammation. These include calcium overload and excessive release of nitric oxide (NO) that result in peroxynitrite formation, peroxynitrite-derived free radicals, tyrosine nitration, and mitochondrial dysfunction [16]. It is known that all these changes initiate low-grade inflammation in various organs.

The immunological effects of melatonin represent a third relevant area for inflammation. The multiple functions of melatonin as a modulating immune agent comprise proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory actions (acting as a "buffer" of the immune system) [16, 36, 56]. In the liver of aged and ovariectomized female rats (an animal model of MS), melatonin downregulates proinflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6, and upregulates the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 [65]. Reductions of TNF- α and IL-1 β and increased levels of IL-10 were observed in the liver [66], pancreas [67], and heart [68] of the accelerated senescence mouse strain SAMP8.

Peripheral oscillators exist in cells relevant to MS, such as pancreatic β -cells [69], hepatocytes, adipocytes, cardiomyocytes [70], and leukocytes [71, 72]. In all these cell types, melatonin modulates factors involved in metabolic sensing of the circadian apparatus like peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor- γ coactivator-1 α , peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-y, phosphoinositide 3-kinase, protein kinase B, and the accessory oscillator components AMPK, nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase, and sirtuin 1 [36, 73]. Melatonin reduced proinflammatory factors by suppressing the expression of nuclear factor-kB via recruitment of a histone deacetylase to its promoter [74]. Other aspects of epigenetic modulation by melatonin via circadian oscillators have been recently summarized [75].

Evidence for the Therapeutic Value of Melatonin in the MS: Animal Studies

Treatment with melatonin in rats can reduce obesity, type 2 diabetes, and hepatic steatosis [76, 77]. In several animal models of hyperadiposity, the injection of melatonin could normalize most of the observed alterations and correct the altered biochemical proinflammatory profile (Table 22.1).

In addition, melatonin is effective in animal models of ischemic and nonischemic heart failure, an important comorbidity of MS (Table 22.2). From the doses of melatonin used in these different animal models, the human equivalent dose of melatonin for a 75 kg adult was calculated by normalization of body surface area [78] (Tables 22.1 and 22.2). Body surface area correlates well across several mammalian species with several parameters of biology, including oxygen utilization, caloric expenditure, basal metabolism, blood volume, circulating plasma proteins, and renal function, and has been advocated as a factor to be used when converting a dose for translation from animals to humans [78]. Noteworthy, theoretical human equivalent doses calculated from Tables 22.1 and 22.2 results ranged from 2 to 3 orders of magnitude greater than those employed in humans.

Melatonin treatment of streptozotocininduced type 1 diabetic rats induces the regeneration and proliferation of β -cells in the pancreas leading to a decrease in blood glucose [143]. Loss of melatonin in circulation after pinealectomy results in hyperinsulinemia and accumulation of triglycerides in the rat liver [144]. The long-term administration of melatonin improves lipid metabolism in type 2 diabetic rats via restoring insulin sensitivity [145]. Melatonin treatment increases glycogen content in the liver of rats [146], while in high-fat dietinduced diabetic mice, the intraperitoneal injection of 10 mg/kg melatonin improved glucose utilization and insulin sensitivity and ameliorated hepatic steatosis [147].

As shown in Table 22.1, melatonin administration is usually very effective in reversing hyperadiposity in animal models of MS. The reasons for the decrease in body weight after melatonin in the absence of significant differences in food intake is worthy to be explored. A key piece of evidence in this regard is the observation that melatonin plays a role in seasonal changes in adiposity by increasing the activity of the sympathetic nervous system innervating white and brown fat [148]. Melatonin not only affects white adipose tissue but also increases the recruitment of brown adipocytes and increases their metabolic activity in mammals [149–151]. It was speculated that the hypertrophic effect and functional activation of brown adipose tissue induced by melatonin can likely be applied to treatment of human obesity.

Table 22.2 summarizes the effect of melatonin on animal models of ischemic and nonischemic heart disease. One of the first observations was derived from this laboratory. In a model of rat myocardial infarction (by ligation of the left anterior descending coronary artery for 3 h **Table 22.1** Effect of melatonin on animal models of MS. The human equivalent dose (HED) of melatonin for a 75 kg adult is calculated by normalization of body surface area [78]

	Melatonin	Daily HED for a 75 kg	
Findings	dose	adult	Ref
In rats fed from weaning with a high-fat diet, melatonin decreased body weight gain, feed efficiency, and plasma glucose, leptin, and triglyceride levels	30 mg/kg/ day p.o.	365 mg	[79]
In high-fat diet-fed mice, melatonin improved insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance	100 mg/kg/ day p.o.	610 mg	[80]
In ovariectomized rats, melatonin was effective to reduce obesity	2–3 mg/kg p.o.	25–36 mg	[81– 83]
In olanzapine-treated rats, melatonin was effective to reduce obesity	0.05 mg/kg p.o.	0.6 mg	[84]
Melatonin and its analog piromelatonin inhibited weight gain and improve insulin sensitivity in high-fat-fed rats	5 mg/kg p.o.	60 mg	[62]
In high-fat-fed rats, melatonin attenuated body weight increase, the increase in plasma glucose, insulin, adiponectin, leptin, triglycerides, and cholesterol levels, and counteracted disrupted 24-h patterns	2.3 mg/kg p.o.	25 mg	[85]
Melatonin improves inflammation processes in the liver and pancreas of senescence-accelerated prone male mice (SAMP8)	1 mg/kg p.o.	6 mg	[66, 86]
Melatonin reduced body weight gain, visceral adiposity, blood triglyceride, insulin levels, and TBARS under a high-calorie diet in rats.	4 mg/kg p.o.	48 mg	[87]
In young male Zucker diabetic fatty rats, melatonin treatment reduced mean weight gain without affecting food intake, decreased in a nonsignificant way blood pressure, and improved dyslipidemia	10 mg/kg p.o.	120 mg	[88]
Melatonin improves MS induced by high fructose intake in rats without affecting food intake	2.3–20 mg/ kg p.o.	25– 120 mg	[89– 93]
Melatonin and its analog piromelatonin reduced blood pressure in spontaneously hypertensive rats	5 mg/kg p.o.	60 mg	[94]
Melatonin prevents the development of the MS in male rats exposed to different light/dark regimens	120 mg/kg p.o.	1.45 g	[95]
Melatonin attenuates high-fat diet-induced fatty liver disease in rats	5–10 mg/ kg p.o.	60– 120 mg	[96]
Melatonin ameliorates low-grade inflammation and oxidative stress in young Zucker diabetic fatty rats	10 mg/kg p.o.	120 mg	[97]
Melatonin improves hyperglycemia, hypertriglyceridemia, polyphagia, and polydipsia in streptozotocin diabetic rats	2.5–20 mg/ kg p.o.	25– 240 mg	[98, 99]
Protective effects of melatonin against metabolic and reproductive disturbances in polycystic ovary syndrome in rats	1–2 mg/ kg i.p.	12–24 mg	[100]
Melatonin normalizes clinical and biochemical parameters of mild inflammation in diet-induced MS syndrome in rats	2.3 mg/kg p.o.	25 mg	[101]
Melatonin counteracts changes in hypothalamic gene expression of signals regulating feeding behavior in high-fat-fed rats	2.3 mg/kg p.o.	25 mg	[102]
Melatonin reduces obesity and restores adipokine patterns and metabolism in obese (ob/ob) mice	100 mg/kg p.o.	610 mg	[103]
Melatonin nephroprotective action in Zucker diabetic fatty rats involves an inhibitory effect on NADPH oxidase	2.5 mg/kg p.o.	25 mg	[104]
Melatonin prevents type 2 diabetes in high-carbohydrate diet-fed male Wistar rats	0.8 mg/kg p.o.	10 mg	[105]
Melatonin decreases fasting blood glucose, total cholesterol, LDL levels, and MDA levels and restores the vascular responses and endothelial dysfunction in diabetic, high-fat diet-fed rats	10 mg/kg p.o.	120 mg	[106]
Maternal melatonin supplementation during murine diabetic pregnancy improves the tolerance to myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury in the offspring, via restoring cardiac IRS-1/Akt signaling	10 mg/kg p.o.	60 mg	[107]

Table 22.1 (continued)

Melatonin	Daily HED for a 75 kg	
dose	adult	Ref
20 mg/kg p.o.	240 mg	[108]
10 mg/kg p.o.	60 mg	[109]
400 mg/ kg i.p.	4.85 g	[110]
50 mg/kg p.o.	300 mg	[111]
20 mg/kg p.o.	240 mg	[112]
30 mg/kg p.o.	180 mg	[113]
0,32 mg/kg p.o.	4 mg	[114]
20 mg/kg p.o.	240 mg	[115]
10 mg/kg p.o.	120 mg	[116]
100 mg/kg p.o.	1.2 g	[117]
20 mg/kg p.o.	240 mg	[118]
	Adelatonin dose 20 mg/kg p.o. 10 mg/kg p.o. 400 mg/ kg i.p. 50 mg/kg p.o. 20 mg/kg p.o. 30 mg/kg p.o. 20 mg/kg p.o. 20 mg/kg p.o. 10 mg/kg p.o. 10 mg/kg p.o. 20 mg/kg	Daily HED for aMelatonin dose75 kg adult20 mg/kg p.o.240 mg p.o.10 mg/kg p.o.60 mg p.o.400 mg/ kg i.p.4.85 g 240 mg p.o.50 mg/kg p.o.300 mg p.o.20 mg/kg p.o.240 mg p.o.30 mg/kg p.o.180 mg p.o.0,32 mg/kg p.o.240 mg p.o.20 mg/kg p.o.120 mg p.o.10 mg/kg p.o.120 mg p.o.20 mg/kg p.o.120 mg p.o.20 mg/kg p.o.120 mg p.o.

before), melatonin reduced 86–87% of the area of injury and 75–80% of the number of injured myocardial areas [119]. Several studies indicated the efficacy of melatonin to reduce cardiac damage markers, to augment cardiac antioxidant defense system, and to normalize the lipid profile in rats [120–124, 126, 127] and mice [129, 130, 152]. The same was observed in cardiomyopathy induced by streptozotocin [133] or doxorubicin [135]. In a murine model of myocardial infarction treated with cardiac progenitor cells, exposure of cells to melatonin enhances therapeutic efficacy of cardiac progenitor cells for myocardial infarction [137]. The human equivalent dose (HED) of melatonin for a 75 kg adult calculated by normalization of body surface area [78] of Table 22.2's data yielded values greater than 60 mg/day.

Collectively, the results indicate that the administration of melatonin effectively counteracts some of the disrupting effects seen in dietinduced obesity in animal insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, and obesity and the consequences of ischemic and nonischemic heart disease.

Daily HED for a 75 kg Findings Melatonin dose adult Ref In a model of rat myocardial infarction (by ligation of the left anterior 6 mg/kg/day p.o. 70 mg [119] descending coronary artery for 3 h before), melatonin reduced 86-87% of the area of injury and 75-80% of the number of injured myocardial areas In a rat model of isoproterenol-induced myocardial infarction, 10 mg/kg /day i.p. 120 mg [120] melatonin reduced cardiac damage markers, augmented cardiac antioxidant defense system, and normalized the lipid profile In a rat model of severe obstructive sleep apnea, melatonin was 10 mg/kg/day i.p. 120 mg [121] cardioprotective by decreasing BP, oxidative stress, endothelial dysfunction, and inflammation In a rat model of myocardial infarction-induced heart failure, 10 mg/kg/day i.p. 120 mg [122] melatonin augmented cardiac activities of Na+, K+-ATPase, and SERCA, content of glutathione, and levels of caveolin-3 and reduced lactate dehydrogenase and creatine kinase, lysosomal enzymatic activities, and cardiac malondialdehyde and myeloperoxidase In a rat model of hypoxic pulmonary hypertension with intermittent 15 mg/kg/day i.p. 180 mg [123] hypoxia, melatonin decreased right ventricular systolic pressures, the weight ratio RV/LV + S, pulmonary vascular structure remodeling, and several signals involved in proliferation of primary pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells In a rat model of isoproterenol-induced heart failure, melatonin 10 mg/kg/day p.o. 120 mg [124] decreased cardiac fibrosis, oxidative stress, insoluble and total collagen, and the alteration of beta-tubulin in the left ventricle In a rat model of arterial hypertension induced by continuous light for 10 mg/kg/day p.o. 120 mg [125] 6 weeks, melatonin was cardioprotective by decreasing cardiac fibrosis and oxidative stress but with no effect on left ventricle hypertrophy In a rat model of pulmonary hypertension induced by monocrotaline, [126] 6 mg/kg/day p.o. 70 mg melatonin exerted cardioprotection both curative and preventive by decreasing right ventricular hypertrophy, systemic oxidative stress, and cardiac interstitial fibrosis In a rat model of myocardial infarction, intramyocardial injection of Intramyocardial [127] melatonin before mesenchymal stem cell transplantation was injection of 5 µM for 24 h before stem cells cardioprotective by augmenting catalase and Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase, as well modulating proangiogenic and mitogenic factors and apoptosis In a murine model of myocardial infarction, intramyocardial injection Intramyocardial [128] of melatonin before mesenchymal stem cell transplantation was injection of 5 μ M for cardioprotective by augmenting Sirt1 signaling and the expression of 24 h before stem cells antiapoptotic protein Bcl2 and by reducing Ac-FoxO1, acetylated-p53, Ac-NF-KB, and Bax In a murine model of postinfarction, cardiac remodeling, and 20 mg/kg/day p.o. 120 mg [129] dysfunction, melatonin ameliorated cardiac dysfunction, adverse left ventricle remodeling, autophagy, apoptosis, and mitochondrial dysfunction In a murine model of myocardial infarction, melatonin was 10-20 mg/kg/day i.p. 60–120 mg [130] cardioprotective by reducing post-myocardial infarction damage, Notch1 signaling, and Mfn2 expression via melatonin receptors In a murine model of myocardial infarction (ligation of the left anterior 10-20 mg/kg/day i.p. 60–120 mg [131] descending coronary artery for 5 days), melatonin decreased infarction damage by augmenting PGC-1a and Tom 70 expression, preserving mitochondrial integrity, and decreasing ROS production

Table 22.2 Effect of melatonin on animal models of ischemic and nonischemic heart disease. The human equivalent dose (HED) of melatonin for a 75 kg adult is calculated by normalization of body surface area [78]

Table 22.2 (continued)

		Daily HED for a 75 kg	
Findings	Melatonin dose	adult	Ref
In a murine model of pathological cardiac hypertrophy, melatonin reduced pulmonary congestion, cardiac fibrosis, and the deterioration of cardiac contractile function	20 mg/kg/day p.o.	120 mg	[132]
In a model of rat diabetes mellitus, melatonin protects against streptozotocin-induced diabetic cardiomyopathy by the phosphorylation of vascular endothelial growth factor-A	50 mg/kg/day i.p.	600 mg	[133]
In rats subjected to cardiac ischemia by coronary artery ligation for 30 min and reperfusion for 2 h, melatonin attenuated myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury by inhibiting autophagy via an AMPK/ mTOR signaling pathway	20 mg/kg i.p.	120 mg	[134]
In a rat model of doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity, melatonin improves cardiac and mitochondrial function via peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator-1α and sirtuin activity	6 mg/kg/day p.o.	70 mg	[135]
In a murine model of heart failure with preserved ejection fraction, melatonin improves cardiac function	50 mg/kg/day p.o.	300 mg	[136]
In a murine model of myocardial infarction (ligation of the left anterior descending coronary artery) treated with cardiac progenitor cells, exposure of cells to melatonin enhances therapeutic efficacy of cardiac progenitor cells for myocardial infarction	Exposure to 10 µM and 100 µM melatonin		[137]
In a mouse model of myocarditis infected with coxsackievirus B3, melatonin counteracted effectively myocardial injuries	14.4 mg/kg/day i.p.	88 mg	[138]
In a murine model of diabetic cardiomyopathy, melatonin activates Parkin translocation and rescues the impaired mitophagy activity through Mst1 inhibition	20 mg/kg i.p.	120 mg	[139]
In a rat model of overload-induced ventricular hypertrophy caused by abdominal aortic constriction, melatonin prevented the changes in cardiac fibrosis and in gene expressions of HDAC1, HDAC2, HDAC3, and HDAC4 in cardiomyocytes	10 mg/kg i.p.	60 mg	[140]
In a murine chronic pain induced by spared nerve injury model followed by myocardial ischemia-reperfusion, melatonin attenuated chronic pain-related myocardial ischemic susceptibility through inhibiting RIP3-MLKL/CaMKII-dependent necroptosis	20 mg/kg i.p.	120 mg	[141]
In a rat model of cardiac ischemia/reperfusion after ligation of descending coronary artery, melatonin treatment maintained myocardial function and cardiomyocyte viability, and these effects were highly dependent on mitochondrial fusion/mitophagy	20 mg/kg i.p.	120 mg	[142]

Evidence for the Therapeutic Value of Melatonin in the MS: Clinical Studies

Type 2 diabetic patients have low circulating levels of melatonin [153] with a simultaneous and expected regulation of mRNA expression of the melatonin membrane receptor [154]. In addition, allelic variants for melatonin receptors were associated with an increase in fasting blood glucose levels and/or an increased risk of type 2 diabetes [155–157] and with the polycystic ovarian syndrome [158]. These findings strongly bind melatonin to the homeostasis of blood glucose.

Patients with coronary artery disease show a decrease in melatonin secretion [159–162], and among elderly hypertensive patients, nocturnal urinary melatonin excretion was inversely associated with the non-dipper pattern of hypertensive disease [163]. As summarized in Table 22.3, melatonin administration proved capable of reducing nocturnal blood pressure in hypertensives [164–167] and attenuated age-dependent disturbances of cardiovascular rhythms [168].

Findings	Melatonin dose	Ref
Melatonin treatment decreases nocturnal BP in type 1 adolescent diabetics	5 mg/day p.o.	[169]
Melatonin treatment decreases high nocturnal BP in	5 mg/day p.o.	[167]
hypertensives	2.5 mg/day p.o.	[165]
	3 mg/day p.o.	[164]
	2 mg/day p.o.	[166]
Melatonin administration attenuates age-dependent disturbances of cardiovascular rhythms	1.5 mg/day p.o.	[168]
Melatonin treatment prevents catecholamine-induced hypercoagulability in normal volunteers	3 mg/day p.o.	[170]
Melatonin attenuates the tachycardia and improves symptom burden in patients with postural tachycardia syndrome	3 mg/day p.o.	[171]
Melatonin increases antioxidant defenses and attenuates cellular damages resulting from coronary artery bypass grafting surgery	10 mg/day p.o.	[172]
Melatonin treatment in the perioperative period decreased clinical cardiac morbidity and the occurrence of myocardial ischemia after abdominal aortic aneurism repair	50 mg melatonin i.v. intraoperatively, and 10 mg melatonin/day p.o.	[173]
Melatonin increases attenuate myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury resulting from coronary artery bypass grafting surgery	10 and 20 mg/day p.o.	[174]
Melatonin limits the ischemia reperfusion injury and improves	Melatonin 51.7 µmol i.v. for 60 min before	[175]
the efficacy of mechanical reperfusion with primary	percutaneous coronary intervention and an	
percutaneous coronary intervention in ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction treated up to 2 h of symptom onset	intracoronary bolus of 8.6 µmol within the first 60 sec of reperfusion	
Melatonin did not improve the myocardial salvage index after	Melatonin 50 mg i v, immediately after	[176]
primary percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with ST elevation myocardial infarction	angioplasty	[]
Melatonin treatment ameliorates MS in obese patients	5 mg/day p.o.	[177]
	8 mg/day p.o.	[178]
	5 mg/day p.o.	[179]
	6 mg/day p.o.	[180]
	1 or 3 mg/day p.o.	[181]
	10 mg/day p.o.	[182]
	3 mg/day in the morning and 5 mg/day at bedtime p.o.	[183]
Melatonin treatment improves MS after treatment of bipolar	5 mg/day p.o.	[184]
and schizophrenic patients with second-generation	3 mg/day p.o.	[185]
antipsychotics	3 mg/day p.o.	[186]
Melatonin administration normalizes MS in elder hypertensive	3 mg/day p.o.	[187]
patients	5 mg/day p.o.	[188]
Melatonin treatment improves enzymatic profile in patients	5 mg/day p.o. twice daily	[189]
with nonalcoholic liver steatosis	5 mg/day p.o. twice daily	[190]
	5 mg/day p.o. twice daily	[191]
		[183]
The combination of melatonin and zinc acetate, when used alone or in combination with metformin, improved glycemic control in type 2 diabetic patients	10 mg/day p.o. twice daily	[192]
Treatment of preinvasive endometrial cancer in women with PCOS using female sexual hormones in combination with melatonin, antidiabetic, antidopaminergic, and anti-serotonin therapy favorably influenced female sexual hormone profile and lipid metabolism and caused the restoration of normal endometrium	5 mg/day p.o.	[193]
Melatonin improves menstrual irregularities and biochemical hyperandrogenism in women with PCOS through a direct, insulin-independent effect on the ovary	2 mg/day p.o.	[194]

Table 22.3	Studies including	treatment of MS	patients with	melatonin
-------------------	-------------------	-----------------	---------------	-----------

A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials suggests that a controlled release preparation of melatonin is effective and safe to improve nocturnal hypertension [195]. As a pleiotropic molecule, melatonin can exert its antihypertensive and anti-remodeling effects through its antioxidant and scavenging properties, preserving the availability of nitric oxide and having sympathoplegic effects that provide cardiovascular protection in MS.

Resembling animal experiments, clinical studies have shown that melatonin improves lipid profiles in MS patients. Melatonin treatment (1 mg daily for 30 days) increased levels of high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol in peri- and post-menopausal women [196]. Several mechanisms may explain the hypolipidemic effects of melatonin, such as reduced intestinal absorption of cholesterol [197] or an inhibited cholesterol biosynthesis [198].

The hypercoagulability induced by catecholamine in acute stress (that contributes to thrombus growth after rupture of the coronary plaque) was attenuated by the administration of melatonin [170]. This was probably mediated by the reported inhibitory effects of melatonin on platelet aggregation [199–201]. Taking these results into account, melatonin may have a protective effect in reducing atherothrombotic risk in MS.

Several studies support the beneficial role of melatonin in patients with MS (Table 22.3). Treatment with melatonin improves MS in obese patients [177, 178], as well as in bipolar and schizophrenic patients after treatment with second-generation antipsychotics [184–186]. The administration of melatonin normalizes MS in elderly hypertensive patients [187] and improves the enzyme profile in patients with alcoholic hepatic steatosis [190, 191]. The combination of melatonin and zinc acetate, when used alone or in combination with metformin, improved the glycemic control in type 2 diabetic patients [192], and an inverse relationship between the urinary excretion of 6-sulfatoxymelatonin and insulin levels and insulin resistance was reported in healthy women in the Nurses' Health Study cohort [202].

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is a highly frequent reproductive-endocrine disorder affecting up to 8–10% of women worldwide at reproductive age. Although its etiology is not fully understood, evidence suggests that insulin resistance, with or without compensatory hyperinsulinemia, and hyperandrogenism are very common features of the PCOS phenotype. Dysfunctional white adipose tissue has been identified as a major contributing factor for insulin resistance in PCOS.

Overweight and/or obesity is very common in these women, thus suggesting that PCOS and MS female phenotypes share common characteristics. Sleep disturbances have been reported to double in women with PCOS, and obstructive sleep apnea is a common feature in PCOS patients [203].

Genetic variants in melatonin receptor have been linked to increased risk of developing PCOS, to impairments in insulin secretion, and to increased fasting glucose levels.

Melatonin may directly affect ovarian function: it is concentrated in human ovarian follicles relative to the level in plasma, and it alters granulosa cell steroidogenesis and follicular function in humans. However, only a few studies have been published on melatonin potential as a therapeutic agent in humans in the PCOS. Two of them relate to improvement of in vitro fertilization of patients with PCOS. The supplementation of in vitro culture medium with melatonin improved in vitro fertilization outcome in PCO, while melatonin and myoinositol enhanced, synergistically, oocyte and embryo quality and improved in vitro fertilization of patients with PCOS. These findings suggest that the addition of melatonin to in vitro fertilization media may improve the cytoplasmic maturation of immature oocytes.

In an open label study including 40 normalweight women with PCOS, ultrasound pelvic examinations, hirsutism score evaluation, hormone profile assays, oral glucose tolerance test, and lipid profile at baseline and after 6 months administration of 2 mg fast release melatonin p.o. daily at bedtime were recorded [194]. Melatonin treatment significantly decreased serum androgen and 17α -hydroxyprogesterone levels and augmented serum follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) and anti-Mullerian hormone serum levels. Almost 95% of participants experienced an amelioration of menstrual cycle disruption. No significant changes occurred in gluco-insulinemic and lipid parameters after treatment except a significant decrease of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol [194].

Treatment of preinvasive endometrial cancer in women with PCOS using melatonin in combination with female sexual hormones and antidiabetic, antidopaminergic, and antiserotoninergic therapy favorably influenced female sexual hormone profile and lipid metabolism and caused restoration of normal endometrium [193].

In general, the results discussed above suggest that melatonin therapy may be beneficial for patients with MS, although it is evident that more studies are needed to evaluate the time/length of administration of the dose/treatment ratio of melatonin in patients with MS.

It must be noted that some results deny the capacity of melatonin to improve glucose tolerance and to reduce insulin resistance in humans. Melatonin administration decreased glucose tolerance, already in nondiabetic young individuals [202], an observation confirmed by recent studies [204, 205]. In vitro, melatonin inhibits insulin secretion, an effect that is logical in humans if one presumes that melatonin suppresses insulin during the night to sensitize the pancreatic β -cells in preparation for breakfast but is more difficult to explain in nighttime eating rodents.

Additional information concerning a glucose tolerance-reducing property of melatonin in humans came from the detection of melatonin receptor polymorphisms. To date, several single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) located near or inside the gene encoding MTNR1B with an association with type 2 diabetes mellitus have been identified in Asian (Indian, Sri Lankan, Chinese, Korean, Japanese) and European ethnicities [155, 206–211]. Among these SNPs, rs10830963 appears the most strongly associated with an increase in fasting plasma glucose, glucose area under the curve, and glycated hemoglobin (HbA1C) and a decrease in pancreatic β -cell

function, basal insulin secretion, and plasma insulin [212]. This G allele that carries the SNP rs10830963 is prodiabetic and is overexpressed in pancreatic β -cells, causing a more intense decrease in cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) upon melatonin stimulation and consequently suppressing more strongly the cAMPdependent secretion of insulin [213]. It appears to affect β -cell function directly and is associated with a defective early insulin response and a decreased β -cell glucose sensitivity [213–215]. In clinical studies, the presence of the G allele worsens the decrease in glucose tolerance induced by melatonin [216].

The rs10830963 G allele may have a greater risk on the transition from normal glucose tolerance to prediabetes than on prediabetes to type 2 diabetes mellitus and is thought to have an important influence on glucose levels from childhood onward [217]. Individuals older than 45 years of age, who are carrying the rs10830963 G allele, show a higher expression of MTNR1B in pancreatic islets [213]. This has been reported in diabetic rats as well as diabetic humans. It is not known whether this is a physiological adaptive response to reduced melatonin levels or whether it is part of the pathology of diabetes. It has been proposed that an increase in MT₂ receptor expression could increase the inhibitory downstream signaling leading to an overall decrease in insulin release in type 2 diabetes mellitus [213].

Increased MTNR1B expression occurred in human islets from risk G allele carriers. Melatonin treatment reduced insulin secretion and raised glucose levels more extensively in risk G allele carriers indicating that an increased melatonin signaling may be a risk factor for type 2 diabetes [218]. Since the presence of the G allele was shown to worsen the reduction in glucose tolerance by melatonin [216], strategies of blocking melatonergic signaling in patients with diabetes have been proposed [219].

However, it must be noted that a reduction in insulin secretion is not necessarily associated with insulin resistance in the target organs, clearly improved by melatonin in most studies. In addition, other MT_2 receptor variants with entirely different properties have been found to be also associated with type 2 diabetes. Some of

them are entirely dysfunctional because of their incapability of binding melatonin, and others were found to be unable to interact with G_i proteins [220, 221]. Thus, the absence of melatonin signaling is presumably also diabetogenic.

A further important aspect concerns the contrasting findings of impairments of insulin secretion by the overexpressed MT_2 G allele and the observed reduced melatonin levels in patients with diabetes [153, 222–226]. The reduction in melatonin levels should presumably be considered as a primary change that is associated with the initiation and/or progression of the disease. In fact, the decrease in melatonin has been regarded as a risk factor for type 2 diabetes.

In young adults, the expression levels of the G allele showed a higher variability but were not statistically different from those of noncarriers, whereas a strong increase in G allele expression was observed in individuals above 45 years [213]. Based on these findings, Hardeland recently proposed an aging-related deterioration of the circadian system, which may lead to losses of rhythm amplitudes, presumably also in the pancreatic β -cell oscillators, and additionally to decreases in nocturnal melatonin secretion [227]. This suggestion gives rise to the interesting question on whether exogenous melatonin administered to carriers of the G allele or to other adults before the age of 40 years might protect the circadian system from losses in amplitudes and, thus, prevent or delay the development of type 2 diabetes. Another important point to consider in human studies is the discrimination of core symptoms (glucose homeostasis) from diabetes-associated pathologies, including those derived from an enhanced oxidative stress like liver steatosis, cardiovascular disease, retinopathy, nephropathy, or osteoporosis. In most of these associated pathologies, melatonin has a demonstrated therapeutic efficacy.

Conclusions

The clinical management of type 2 diabetes includes rigorous changes in lifestyle, insulin therapy, and treatments with medications that promote insulin sensitization (such as metformin) and insulin secretion (such as glibenclamide), new glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor agonists, dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors, and sodium glucose cotransporter inhibitors [228]. These approaches are designed to control the symptoms of insulin resistance/β-cell dysfunction and are used alone or in combination. Many pharmacological therapies for diabetes are expensive and in some cases have been associated with adverse events, including possible pancreatitis, hypoglycemia, and osteoporosis [229]. Therefore, there continues to be a need for new cost-effective diabetes pharmacotherapies that have limited additional health risks.

Obesity is a preventable disease, but its prevalence is increasing all over the world, and because it is frequently associated with other cardiovascular risk factors and high mortality, obesity has become a major public health problem and a heavy socioeconomic burden for society in general. The environmental factors or the stressors of the so-called contemporary "24/7" societies have pronounced effects on the metabolism that produce the interruption of the circadian clock. In addition, people whose work involves irregular hours and forced exposure to bright light at night workers/shifts) (night show significant disruptions in sleep and higher prevalence of MS. These lines of evidence indicate that the system does not adequately adjust to environmental and/or stressful changes that disrupt general metabolic homeostasis.

Melatonin may provide an innovative strategy in MS by combining its chronobiotic effect on the circadian rhythm with its cytoprotective properties. Melatonin protects against several comorbidities of MS, such as diabetes and damage mediated by concomitant radiation, inflammation, microvascular disease, and atherothrombotic risk. Melatonin can have a place from the early stages of MS treatment. It has a high safety profile and shows reduced toxicity, which is why it differs from most pharmaceutical agents used in patients with MS.

Melatonin exhibits both hypnotic and chronobiotic properties and has been used therapeutically for the treatment of insomnia related to age, as well as other primary and secondary insomnia [230, 231]. Several meta-analyses support this role [232–234]. A consensus of the British Association for Psychopharmacology on the evidence-based treatment of insomnia, parasomnia, and sleep disorders in the circadian rhythm concluded that melatonin is the first-choice treatment when a hypnotic is indicated in patients older than 55 years [235].

As discussed in this article, studies using 2-5 mg of melatonin/day are not adequate to provide an adequate comparison with data on the protection of MS derived from animal studies. Melatonin is remarkably nontoxic, and its safety is very high. The lethal dose 50 for the intraperitoneal injection of melatonin was determined for rats (1168 mg/kg) and mice (1131 mg/kg), but the oral administration of melatonin (tested up to 3200 mg/kg in rats) could not be determined and for melatonin subcutaneous injection (tested up to 1600 mg/kg in rats and mice) [236]. In humans, melatonin has a high safety profile and, in general, is very well tolerated (Table 22.4). At present, the only option for the attending physician interested in the use of melatonin as a cytoprotective is the off-label indication of the drug.

Medicines not included in the label are defined as uses of medicines that are not included in the indications or dosing regimens listed by the

Survey for on h	our presemption of me	incom
Clinical condition	Melatonin dose	Ref.
Dermal hyperpigmentation	1 g/day p.o. for 1 month	[237]
Parkinson's disease	0.25 and 1.25 mg/ kg i.v.	[238]
Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis	60 mg/day p.o. for 13 months	[239]
Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis	300 mg/day, rectal for 2 years	[240]
Muscular dystrophy	70 mg/day for 9 months	[241]
Multiple sclerosis	50–300 mg/day p.o. for 4 years	[242]
Liver surgery	50 mg/kg	[243]
Healthy individuals	80 mg/hr. for 4 h	[244]
Healthy women	300 mg/day for 4 months	[245]
Dose escalation in healthy individuals	10–100 mg p.o.	[246]
Dose escalation in healthy individuals	10–100 mg p.o.	[247]

Table 22.4 Safety for off-label prescription of melatonin

administrative body that registers, controls, and authorizes medications, for example, the US Food and Drug Administration [248]. The offlabel use of medications is common in many clinical areas, such as psychiatry, pediatrics, oncology, and intensive care unit [249–252]. In general, law does not prohibit the unauthorized use of medicines, and the prescription of unauthorized medicines is legally accepted in most legislations [253]. The prescription of medications by physicians is limited only by the common requirement of physicians' duty to act and drive with care and attention.

In Argentina, the National Administration of Medicines, Food, and Medical Technology (ANMAT) approved melatonin (3 mg capsules or tablets) as an over-the-counter drug in 1995. In 2017, ANMAT authorized a prolonged-release preparation of 2 mg of melatonin (Circadin^R) as a prescription medication. Although ANMAT cannot authorize the use of a drug for an indication that is not listed in the package leaflet, it does not mean that the indication of a drug for other clinisituations is prohibited. According to cal ANMAT, the unauthorized prescriptions are "the sole responsibility of the attending physician, who performs them in the full exercise of their professional activity, based on their experience and available scientific knowledge, motivated by the need to provide an answer to health problems for which there are no treatment standards or, if they exist, they are very difficult to access."

In many countries, melatonin is widely used as a dietary supplement or dietary products. The European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) has admitted that melatonin reduces sleep-onset latency. This allows the introduction of melatonin as a food to improve the "regulation of the sleep-wake cycle," the "relaxation," and the "sleep patterns." Melatonin, melatonin-rich foods, and their bio-extracts are now being developed to serve as nutritional supplements, dietary products, and medications. The target group was defined by the EFSA as the general population, and, as such, these extracts can be marketed in all EU countries.

Different studies indicate that, as in animal tissues, melatonin reduces oxidative stress in plants. In fact, its discovery in plants two decades ago has opened an emerging field of research that has made substantial progress in understanding the actions of melatonin that contribute to the ecological success of the plan. Overexpression of melatonin in plants facilitates the germination of seeds and improves the development and maturation of the roots, protecting plants from biotic and abiotic stress [254-256]. Therefore, the presence of melatonin in plants has implications not only for plant growth and crop yield but also in terms of human and animal nutrition. When plant products containing melatonin are consumed, the compound is easily absorbed and exerts its functions at the cellular level. Therefore, in animals and plants, melatonin is a highly useful molecule that neutralizes the physiopathological processes that compromise a healthy lifestyle. The enrichment of melatonin in foods seems to be necessary to achieve the amounts that provide effective protection. Therefore, an area of interest is the development of functional foods with high levels of melatonin. In parallel, the toxicity of long-term use of melatonin should be evaluated.

In conclusion, from studies in animals, several potentially useful effects of melatonin, such as those in MS, require high doses of melatonin to be evident. If melatonin is expected to be effective in improving health, especially in the elderly, it is likely that the low doses of melatonin commonly used (less than 10 mg/day) are not very beneficial so far [257].

Acknowledgments DPC is an emeritus superior investigator and DEV is an established investigator from the Argentine National Research Council (CONICET). Studies in authors' laboratory were supported by grants PICT 2007 01045 and 2012 0984 from the Agencia Nacional de Promoción Científica y Tecnológica, Argentina.

Conflict of Interest The authors declare that there are no commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

 Smith CJ, Ryckman KK. Epigenetic and developmental influences on the risk of obesity, diabetes, and metabolic syndrome. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes. 2015;8:295–302.

- O'Neill S, O'Driscoll L. Metabolic syndrome: a closer look at the growing epidemic and its associated pathologies. Obes Rev. 2015;16:1–12.
- Di Daniele N, Noce A, Vidiri MF, Moriconi E, Marrone G, Annicchiarico-Petruzzelli M, et al. Impact of Mediterranean diet on metabolic syndrome, cancer and longevity. Oncotarget. 2017;8:8947–79.
- de la Iglesia R, Loria-Kohen V, Zulet MA, Martinez JA, Reglero G, Ramirez de Molina A. Dietary strategies implicated in the prevention and treatment of metabolic syndrome. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17:1877.
- Kalsbeek A, la Fleur S, Fliers E. Circadian control of glucose metabolism. Mol Metab. 2014;3:372–83.
- Huang W, Ramsey KM, Marcheva B, Bass J. Circadian rhythms, sleep, and metabolism. J Clin Invest. 2011;121:2133–41.
- Karthikeyan R, Marimuthu G, Spence DW, Pandi-Perumal SR, Bahammam AS, Brown GM, et al. Should we listen to our clock to prevent type 2 diabetes mellitus? Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2014;106:182–90.
- McFadden E, Jones ME, Schoemaker MJ, Ashworth A, Swerdlow AJ. The relationship between obesity and exposure to light at night: cross-sectional analyses of over 100,000 women in the Breakthrough Generations Study. Am J Epidemiol. 2014;180:245–50.
- Molzof HE, Wirth MD, Burch JB, Shivappa N, Hebert JR, Johnson RL, et al. The impact of meal timing on cardiometabolic syndrome indicators in shift workers. Chronobiol Int. 2017;34:337–48.
- Lin YC, Hsieh IC, Chen PC. Utilizing the metabolic syndrome component count in workers' health surveillance: an example of day-time vs. day-night rotating shift workers. Int J Occup Med Environ Health. 2015;28:675–88.
- Kawabe Y, Nakamura Y, Kikuchi S, Murakami Y, Tanaka T, Takebayashi T, et al. Relationship between shift work and clustering of the metabolic syndrome diagnostic components. J Atheroscler Thromb. 2014;21:703–11.
- Arora T, Chen MZ, Cooper AR, Andrews RC, Taheri S. The impact of sleep debt on excess adiposity and insulin sensitivity in patients with early type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Clin Sleep Med. 2016;12:673–80.
- Cardinali DP, Cano P, Jimenez-Ortega V, Esquifino AI. Melatonin and the metabolic syndrome: physiopathologic and therapeutical implications. Neuroendocrinology. 2011;93:133–42.
- Cardinali DP, Hardeland R. Inflammaging, metabolic syndrome and melatonin: a call for treatment studies. Neuroendocrinology. 2017;104:382–97.
- Tan DX, Manchester LC, Esteban-Zubero E, Zhou Z, Reiter RJ. Melatonin as a potent and inducible endogenous antioxidant: synthesis and metabolism. Molecules. 2015;20:18886–906.
- Hardeland R, Cardinali DP, Brown GM, Pandi-Perumal SR. Melatonin and brain inflammaging. Prog Neurobiol. 2015;127–128:46–63.

- Sharafati-Chaleshtori R, Shirzad H, Rafieian-Kopaei M, Soltani A. Melatonin and human mitochondrial diseases. J Res Med Sci. 2017;22:2.
- Balistreri CR, Caruso C, Candore G. The role of adipose tissue and adipokines in obesityrelated inflammatory diseases. Mediat Inflamm. 2010;2010:802078.
- Makki K, Froguel P, Wolowczuk I. Adipose tissue in obesity-related inflammation and insulin resistance: cells, cytokines, and chemokines. ISRN Inflamm. 2013;2013:139239.
- Welty FK, Alfaddagh A, Elajami TK. Targeting inflammation in metabolic syndrome. Transl Res. 2016;167:257–80.
- Esser N, Paquot N, Scheen AJ. Inflammatory markers and cardiometabolic diseases. Acta Clin Belg. 2015;70:193–9.
- 22. Fabbri E, Chia CW, Spencer RG, Fishbein KW, Reiter DA, Cameron D, et al. Insulin resistance is associated with reduced mitochondrial oxidative capacity measured by 31p-magnetic resonance spectroscopy in participants without diabetes from the Baltimore longitudinal study of aging. Diabetes. 2017;66:170–6.
- Bhatti JS, Bhatti GK, Reddy PH. Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in metabolic disorders – a step towards mitochondria based therapeutic strategies. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2017;1863:1066–77.
- Bhatti JS, Kumar S, Vijayan M, Bhatti GK, Reddy PH. Therapeutic strategies for mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in age-related metabolic disorders. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci. 2017;146:13–46.
- Paradies G, Petrosillo G, Paradies V, Reiter RJ, Ruggiero FM. Melatonin, cardiolipin and mitochondrial bioenergetics in health and disease. J Pineal Res. 2010;48:297–310.
- 26. Arpaci D, Gurkan TA, Yilmaz S, Ergenc H, Tamer A, Keser N, et al. The relationship between epicardial fat tissue thickness and visceral adipose tissue in lean patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. J Ovarian Res. 2015;8:71.
- Sarvari AK, Vereb Z, Uray IP, Fesus L, Balajthy Z. Atypical antipsychotics induce both proinflammatory and adipogenic gene expression in human adipocytes in vitro. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2014;450:1383–9.
- Zhang Y, Zitsman JL, Hou J, Fennoy I, Guo K, Feinberg J, et al. Fat cell size and adipokine expression in relation to gender, depot, and metabolic risk factors in morbidly obese adolescents. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2014;22:691–7.
- 29. Tchernof A, Despres JP. Pathophysiology of human visceral obesity: an update. Physiol Rev. 2013;93:359–404.
- Pereira-Miranda E, Costa PR, Queiroz VA, Pereira-Santos M, Santana ML. Overweight and obesity associated with higher depression prevalence in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Coll Nutr. 2017;36:223–33.

- Franceschi C, Bonafe M, Valensin S, Olivieri F, De Luca M, Ottaviani E, et al. Inflamm-aging. An evolutionary perspective on immunosenescence. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2000;908:244–54.
- Boren E, Gershwin ME. Inflamm-aging: autoimmunity, and the immune-risk phenotype. Autoimmun Rev. 2004;3:401–6.
- Cevenini E, Monti D, Franceschi C. Inflamm-ageing. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2013;16:14–20.
- Catrysse L, van Loo G. Inflammation and the metabolic syndrome: the tissue-specific functions of NF-kappaB. Trends Cell Biol. 2017;27:417–29.
- 35. De la Fuente M, Miquel J. An update of the oxidation-inflammation theory of aging: the involvement of the immune system in oxi-inflamm-aging. Curr Pharm Des. 2009;15:3003–26.
- Hardeland R. Melatonin and the theories of aging: a critical appraisal of melatonin's role in antiaging mechanisms. J Pineal Res. 2013;55:325–56.
- Dawson D, Armstrong SM. Chronobiotics--drugs that shift rhythms. Pharmacol Ther. 1996;69:15–36.
- Cardinali DP, Pandi-Perumal SR, Srinivasan V, Spence DW, Trakht I. Therapeutic potential of melatonin agonists. Expert Rev Endocrinol Metab. 2008;3:269–79.
- Cardinali DP. Melatonin. 1 A mammalian pineal hormone. Endocr Rev. 1981;2:327–46.
- Lavie P. Melatonin: role in gating nocturnal rise in sleep propensity. J Biol Rhythm. 1997;12:657–65.
- Lewy AJ, Emens J, Jackman A, Yuhas K. Circadian uses of melatonin in humans. Chronobiol Int. 2006;23:403–12.
- 42. Pandi-Perumal SR, Trakht I, Srinivasan V, Spence DW, Maestroni GJ, Zisapel N, et al. Physiological effects of melatonin: role of melatonin receptors and signal transduction pathways. Prog Neurobiol. 2008;185:335–53.
- Claustrat B, Leston J. Melatonin: physiological effects in humans. Neurochirurgie. 2015;61:77–84.
- 44. Acuña-Castroviejo D, Escames G, Venegas C, Díaz-Casado ME, Lima-Cabello E, López LC, et al. Extrapineal melatonin: sources, regulation, and potential functions. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2014;71:2997–3025.
- Hardeland R, Cardinali DP, Srinivasan V, Spence DW, Brown GM, Pandi-Perumal SR. Melatonin--a pleiotropic, orchestrating regulator molecule. Prog Neurobiol. 2011;93:350–84.
- 46. Dubocovich ML, Delagrange P, Krause DN, Sugden D, Cardinali DP, Olcese J. International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology. LXXV. Nomenclature, classification, and pharmacology of G protein-coupled melatonin receptors. Pharmacol Rev. 2010;62:343–80.
- Ng KY, Leong MK, Liang H, Paxinos G. Melatonin receptors: distribution in mammalian brain and their respective putative functions. Brain Struct Funct. 2017;222:2921–39.
- 48. Cecon E, Oishi A, Jockers R. Melatonin receptors: molecular pharmacology and signalling

in the context of system bias. Br J Pharmacol. 2018;175(16):3263–80.

- Oishi A, Cecon E, Jockers R. Melatonin receptor signaling: impact of receptor oligomerization on receptor function. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol. 2018;338:59–77.
- Benitez-King G. Melatonin as a cytoskeletal modulator: implications for cell physiology and disease. J Pineal Res. 2006;40:1–9.
- Hardeland R. Recent findings in melatonin research and their relevance to the CNS. Cent Nerv Syst Agents Med Chem. 2018;18:102–14.
- Venegas C, García JA, Doerrier C, Volt H, Escames G, López LC, et al. Analysis of the daily changes of melatonin receptors in the rat liver. J Pineal Res. 2013;54:313–21.
- Reiter RJ, Tan DX, Rosales-Corral S, Galano A, Jou MJ, Acuña-Castroviejo D. Melatonin mitigates mitochondrial meltdown: interactions with SIRT3. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19:2439.
- Manchester LC, Coto-Montes A, Boga JA, Andersen LP, Zhou Z, Galano A, et al. Melatonin: an ancient molecule that makes oxygen metabolically tolerable. J Pineal Res. 2015;59:403–19.
- Galano A, Tan DX, Reiter RJ. Melatonin as a natural ally against oxidative stress: a physicochemical examination. J Pineal Res. 2011;51:1–16.
- Carrillo-Vico A, Lardone PJ, Álvarez-Sánchez N, Rodríguez-Rodríguez A, Guerrero JM. Melatonin: buffering the immune system. Int J Mol Sci. 2013;14:8638–83.
- Hardeland R. Melatonin and inflammation-story of a double-edged blade. J Pineal Res. 2018;65:e12525.
- Cardinali DP, Ritta MN, Fuentes AM, Gimeno MF, Gimeno AL. Prostaglandin E release by rat medial basal hypothalamus in vitro. Inhibition by melatonin at submicromolar concentrations. Eur J Pharmacol. 1980;67:151–3.
- 59. Deng WG, Tang ST, Tseng HP, Wu KK. Melatonin suppresses macrophage cyclooxygenase-2 and inducible nitric oxide synthase expression by inhibiting p52 acetylation and binding. Blood. 2006;108:518–24.
- Costantino G, Cuzzocrea S, Mazzon E, Caputi AP. Protective effects of melatonin in zymosanactivated plasma-induced paw inflammation. Eur J Pharmacol. 1998;363:57–63.
- 61. Du Y, Wei T. Inputs and outputs of insulin receptor. Protein Cell. 2014;5:203–13.
- 62. She M, Deng X, Guo Z, Laudon M, Hu Z, Liao D, et al. NEU-P11, a novel melatonin agonist, inhibits weight gain and improves insulin sensitivity in high-fat/high-sucrose-fed rats. Pharmacol Res. 2009;59:248–53.
- 63. She M, Hou H, Wang Z, Zhang C, Laudon M, Yin W. Melatonin rescues 3T3-L1 adipocytes from FFA-induced insulin resistance by inhibiting phosphorylation of IRS-1 on Ser307. Biochimie. 2014;103:126–30.
- 64. Quan X, Wang J, Liang C, Zheng H, Zhang L. Melatonin inhibits tunicamycin-induced endo-

plasmic reticulum stress and insulin resistance in skeletal muscle cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2015;463:1102–7.

- 65. Kireev RA, Tresguerres AC, García C, Ariznavarreta C, Vara E, Tresguerres JA. Melatonin is able to prevent the liver of old castrated female rats from oxidative and pro-inflammatory damage. J Pineal Res. 2008;45:394–402.
- 66. Cuesta S, Kireev R, Forman K, García C, Escames G, Ariznavarreta C, et al. Melatonin improves inflammation processes in liver of senescenceaccelerated prone male mice (SAMP8). Exp Gerontol. 2010;45:950–6.
- 67. Cuesta S, Kireev R, García C, Forman K, Escames G, Vara E, et al. Beneficial effect of melatonin treatment on inflammation, apoptosis and oxidative stress on pancreas of a senescence accelerated mice model. Mech Ageing Dev. 2011;132:573–82.
- 68. Forman K, Vara E, García C, Kireev R, Cuesta S, Escames G, et al. Effect of a combined treatment with growth hormone and melatonin in the cardiological aging on male SAMP8 mice. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2011;66:823–34.
- Muhlbauer E, Wolgast S, Finckh U, Peschke D, Peschke E. Indication of circadian oscillations in the rat pancreas. FEBS Lett. 2004;564:91–6.
- Hardeland R, Madrid JA, Tan DX, Reiter RJ. Melatonin, the circadian multioscillator system and health: the need for detailed analyses of peripheral melatonin signaling. J Pineal Res. 2012;52:139–66.
- Boivin DB, James FO, Wu A, Cho-Park PF, Xiong H, Sun ZS. Circadian clock genes oscillate in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Blood. 2003;102:4143–5.
- Bollinger T, Leutz A, Leliavski A, Skrum L, Kovac J, Bonacina L, et al. Circadian clocks in mouse and human CD4+ T cells. PLoS One. 2011;6:e29801.
- Hardeland R. Melatonin and circadian oscillators in aging--a dynamic approach to the multiply connected players. Interdiscip Top Gerontol. 2015;40:128–40.
- 74. Jung KH, Hong SW, Zheng HM, Lee HS, Lee H, Lee DH, et al. Melatonin ameliorates cerulein-induced pancreatitis by the modulation of nuclear erythroid 2-related factor 2 and nuclear factor-kappaB in rats. J Pineal Res. 2010;48:239–50.
- Hardeland R. Melatonin, noncoding RNAs, messenger RNA stability and epigenetics--evidence, hints, gaps and perspectives. Int J Mol Sci. 2014;15:18221–52.
- Pan M, Song YL, Xu JM, Gan HZ. Melatonin ameliorates nonalcoholic fatty liver induced by high-fat diet in rats. J Pineal Res. 2006;41:79–84.
- Stumpf I, Bazwinsky I, Peschke E. Modulation of the cGMP signaling pathway by melatonin in pancreatic beta-cells. J Pineal Res. 2009;46:140–7.
- Reagan-Shaw S, Nihal M, Ahmad N. Dose translation from animal to human studies revisited. FASEB J. 2008;22:659–61.

- Prunet-Marcassus B, Desbazeille M, Bros A, Louche K, Delagrange P, Renard P, et al. Melatonin reduces body weight gain in Sprague Dawley rats with dietinduced obesity. Endocrinology. 2003;144:5347–52.
- Sartori C, Dessen P, Mathieu C, Monney A, Bloch J, Nicod P, et al. Melatonin improves glucose homeostasis and endothelial vascular function in high-fat diet-fed insulin-resistant mice. Endocrinology. 2009;150:5311–7.
- Ladizesky MG, Boggio V, Albornoz LE, Castrillón PO, Mautalen C, Cardinali DP. Melatonin increases oestradiol-induced bone formation in ovariectomized rats. J Pineal Res. 2003;34:143–51.
- 82. Sánchez-Mateos S, Alonso-González C, González A, Martínez-Campa CM, Mediavilla MD, Cos S, et al. Melatonin and estradiol effects on food intake, body weight, and leptin in ovariectomized rats. Maturitas. 2007;58:91–101.
- Ciortea R, Costin N, Braicu I, Haragas D, Hudacsko A, Bondor C, et al. Effect of melatonin on intraabdominal fat in correlation with endometrial proliferation in ovariectomized rats. Anticancer Res. 2011;31:2637–43.
- 84. Raskind MA, Burke BL, Crites NJ, Tapp AM, Rasmussen DD. Olanzapine-induced weight gain and increased visceral adiposity is blocked by melatonin replacement therapy in rats. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2007;32:284–8.
- 85. Ríos-Lugo MJ, Cano P, Jiménez-Ortega V, Fernández-Mateos MP, Scacchi PA, Cardinali DP, et al. Melatonin effect on plasma adiponectin, leptin, insulin, glucose, triglycerides and cholesterol in normal and high fat-fed rats. J Pineal Res. 2010;49:342–8.
- 86. Cuesta S, Kireev R, García C, Rancan L, Vara E, Tresguerres JA. Melatonin can improve insulin resistance and aging-induced pancreas alterations in senescence-accelerated prone male mice (SAMP8). Age (Dordr). 2013;35:659–71.
- 87. Nduhirabandi F, du Toit EF, Blackhurst D, Marais D, Lochner A. Chronic melatonin consumption prevents obesity-related metabolic abnormalities and protects the heart against myocardial ischemia and reperfusion injury in a prediabetic model of diet-induced obesity. J Pineal Res. 2011;50:171–82.
- Agil A, Navarro-Alarcón M, Ruiz R, Abuhamadah S, El-Mir MY, Vazquez GF. Beneficial effects of melatonin on obesity and lipid profile in young Zucker diabetic fatty rats. J Pineal Res. 2011;50:207–12.
- Kitagawa A, Ohta Y, Ohashi K. Melatonin improves metabolic syndrome induced by high fructose intake in rats. J Pineal Res. 2012;52:403–13.
- Cardinali DP, Bernasconi PA, Reynoso R, Toso CF, Scacchi P. Melatonin may curtail the metabolic syndrome: studies on initial and fully established fructose-induced metabolic syndrome in rats. Int J Mol Sci. 2013;14:2502–14.
- Bernasconi PA, Cardoso NP, Reynoso R, Scacchi P, Cardinali DP. Melatonin and diet-induced metabolic syndrome in rats: impact on the hypophysial-

testicular axis. Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig. 2013;16:101–12.

- 92. Demirtas CY, Pasaoglu OT, Bircan FS, Kantar S, Turkozkan N. The investigation of melatonin effect on liver antioxidant and oxidant levels in fructosemediated metabolic syndrome model. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2015;19:1915–21.
- Ewida SF, Al-Sharaky DR. Implication of renal aquaporin-3 in fructose-induced metabolic syndrome and melatonin protection. J Clin Diagn Res. 2016;10:CF06–11.
- 94. Huang L, Zhang C, Hou Y, Laudon M, She M, Yang S, et al. Blood pressure reducing effects of piromelatine and melatonin in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2013;17:2449–56.
- 95. Vinogradova I, Anisimov V. Melatonin prevents the development of the metabolic syndrome in male rats exposed to different light/dark regimens. Biogerontology. 2013;14:401–9.
- 96. Hatzis G, Ziakas P, Kavantzas N, Triantafyllou A, Sigalas P, Andreadou I, et al. Melatonin attenuates high fat diet-induced fatty liver disease in rats. World J Hepatol. 2013;5:160–9.
- Agil A, Reiter RJ, Jiménez-Aranda A, Iban-Arias R, Navarro-Alarcón M, Marchal JA, et al. Melatonin ameliorates low-grade inflammation and oxidative stress in young Zucker diabetic fatty rats. J Pineal Res. 2013;54:381–8.
- Bibak B, Khalili M, Rajaei Z, Soukhtanloo M, Hadjzadeh MA, Hayatdavoudi P. Effects of melatonin on biochemical factors and food and water consumption in diabetic rats. Adv Biomed Res. 2014;3:173.
- Hidayat M, Maha Y, Wasim H. Effect of melatonin on serum glucose and body weight in sotreptozotocin induced diabetes in albino rats. J Ayub Med Coll Abbottabad. 2015;27:274–6.
- Pai SA, Majumdar AS. Protective effects of melatonin against metabolic and reproductive disturbances in polycystic ovary syndrome in rats. J Pharm Pharmacol. 2014;66:1710–21.
- 101. Cano BP, Pagano ES, Jiménez-Ortega V, Fernández-Mateos P, Esquifino AI, Cardinali DP. Melatonin normalizes clinical and biochemical parameters of mild inflammation in diet-induced metabolic syndrome in rats. J Pineal Res. 2014;57:280–90.
- 102. Ríos-Lugo MJ, Jiménez-Ortega V, Cano-Barquilla P, Mateos PF, Spinedi EJ, Cardinali DP, et al. Melatonin counteracts changes in hypothalamic gene expression of signals regulating feeding behavior in high-fat fed rats. Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig. 2015;21:175–83.
- 103. Favero G, Stacchiotti A, Castrezzati S, Bonomini F, Albanese M, Rezzani R, et al. Melatonin reduces obesity and restores adipokine patterns and metabolism in obese (ob/ob) mice. Nutr Res. 2015;35:891–900.
- 104. Winiarska K, Dzik JM, Labudda M, Focht D, Sierakowski B, Owczarek A, et al. Melatonin nephroprotective action in Zucker diabetic fatty rats

involves its inhibitory effect on NADPH oxidase. J Pineal Res. 2016;60(1):109–17.

- 105. Doddigarla Z, Ahmad J, Parwez I. Effect of chromium picolinate and melatonin either in single or in a combination in high carbohydrate diet-fed male Wistar rats. Biofactors. 2016;42:106–14.
- 106. Salmanoglu DS, Gurpinar T, Vural K, Ekerbicer N, Dariverenli E, Var A. Melatonin and L-carnitin improves endothelial disfunction and oxidative stress in Type 2 diabetic rats. Redox Biol. 2016;8:199–204.
- 107. Gao L, Zhao YC, Liang Y, Lin XH, Tan YJ, Wu DD, et al. The impaired myocardial ischemic tolerance in adult offspring of diabetic pregnancy is restored by maternal melatonin treatment. J Pineal Res. 2016;61:340–52.
- 108. Thomas AP, Hoang J, Vongbunyong K, Nguyen A, Rakshit K, Matveyenko AV. Administration of melatonin and metformin prevents deleterious effects of circadian disruption and obesity in male rats. Endocrinology. 2016;157:4720–31.
- 109. Sun H, Wang X, Chen J, Song K, Gusdon AM, Li L, et al. Melatonin improves non-alcoholic fatty liver disease via MAPK-JNK/P38 signaling in highfat-diet-induced obese mice. Lipids Health Dis. 2016;15:202.
- 110. Sheen JM, Chen YC, Hsu MH, Tain YL, Huang YH, Tiao MM, et al. Melatonin alleviates liver apoptosis in bile duct ligation young rats. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17:1365.
- 111. Xu P, Wang J, Hong F, Wang S, Jin X, Xue T et al. Melatonin prevents obesity through modulation of gut microbiota in mice. J Pineal Res. 2017;62. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpi.12399.
- 112. Zhou J, Zhang J, Luo X, Li M, Yue Y, Laudon M, et al. Neu-P11, a novel MT1/MT2 agonist, reverses diabetes by suppressing the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in rats. Eur J Pharmacol. 2017;812:225–33.
- 113. Han L, Wang H, Li L, Li X, Ge J, Reiter RJ et al. Melatonin protects against maternal obesityassociated oxidative stress and meiotic defects in oocytes via the SIRT3-SOD2-dependent pathway. J Pineal Res. 2017;63. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jpi.12431.
- 114. Djordjevic B, Cvetkovic T, Stoimenov TJ, Despotovic M, Zivanovic S, Basic J, et al. Oral supplementation with melatonin reduces oxidative damage and concentrations of inducible nitric oxide synthase, VEGF and matrix metalloproteinase 9 in the retina of rats with streptozotocin/nicotinamide induced pre-diabetes. Eur J Pharmacol. 2018;833:290–7.
- 115. Onk D, Onk OA, Erol HS, Ozkaraca M, Comakli S, Ayazoglu TA, et al. Effect of melatonin on antioxidant capacity, inflammation and apoptotic cell death in lung tissue of diabetic rats. Acta Cir Bras. 2018;33:375–85.
- 116. Kadry SM, El-Dakdoky MH, Haggag NZ, Rashed LA, Hassen MT. Melatonin improves the therapeu-

tic role of mesenchymal stem cells in diabetic rats. Toxicol Mech Methods. 2018;28:529–38.

- 117. Heo JI, Yoon DW, Yu JH, Kim NH, Yoo HJ, Seo JA, et al. Melatonin improves insulin resistance and hepatic steatosis through attenuation of alpha-2-HS-glycoprotein. J Pineal Res. 2018;65:e12493.
- 118. Mehrzadi S, Motevalian M, Rezaei KM, Fatemi I, Ghaznavi H, Shahriari M. Protective effect of melatonin in the diabetic rat retina. Fundam Clin Pharmacol. 2018;32:414–21.
- 119. Castagnino HE, Lago N, Centrella JM, Calligaris SD, Farina S, Sarchi MI, et al. Cytoprotection by melatonin and growth hormone in early rat myocardial infarction as revealed by Feulgen DNA staining. Neuro Endocrinol Lett. 2002;23:391–5.
- 120. Patel V, Upaganlawar A, Zalawadia R, Balaraman R. Cardioprotective effect of melatonin against iso-proterenol induced myocardial infarction in rats: a biochemical, electrocardiographic and histoarchitectural evaluation. Eur J Pharmacol. 2010;644:160–8.
- 121. Hung MW, Kravtsov GM, Lau CF, Poon AM, Tipoe GL, Fung ML. Melatonin ameliorates endothelial dysfunction, vascular inflammation, and systemic hypertension in rats with chronic intermittent hypoxia. J Pineal Res. 2013;55:247–56.
- 122. Sehirli AO, Koyun D, Tetik S, Ozsavci D, Yiginer O, Cetinel S, et al. Melatonin protects against ischemic heart failure in rats. J Pineal Res. 2013;55:138–48.
- 123. Jin H, Wang Y, Zhou L, Liu L, Zhang P, Deng W, et al. Melatonin attenuates hypoxic pulmonary hypertension by inhibiting the inflammation and the proliferation of pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells. J Pineal Res. 2014;57:442–50.
- 124. Simko F, Bednarova KR, Krajcirovicova K, Hrenak J, Celec P, Kamodyova N, et al. Melatonin reduces cardiac remodeling and improves survival in rats with isoproterenol-induced heart failure. J Pineal Res. 2014;57:177–84.
- 125. Simko F, Pechanova O, Repova Bednarova K, Krajcirovicova K, Celec P, Kamodyova N, et al. Hypertension and cardiovascular remodelling in rats exposed to continuous light: protection by ace-inhibition and melatonin. Mediat Inflamm. 2014;2014:703175.
- 126. Maarman G, Blackhurst D, Thienemann F, Blauwet L, Butrous G, Davies N, et al. Melatonin as a preventive and curative therapy against pulmonary hypertension. J Pineal Res. 2015;59:343–53.
- 127. Zhu P, Liu J, Shi J, Zhou Q, Liu J, Zhang X, et al. Melatonin protects ADSCs from ROS and enhances their therapeutic potency in a rat model of myocardial infarction. J Cell Mol Med. 2015;19:2232–43.
- 128. Han D, Huang W, Li X, Gao L, Su T, Li X, et al. Melatonin facilitates adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells to repair the murine infarcted heart via the SIRT1 signaling pathway. J Pineal Res. 2016;60:178–92.
- Hu J, Zhang L, Yang Y, Guo Y, Fan Y, Zhang M et al. Melatonin alleviates postinfarction cardiac remodel-

ing and dysfunction by inhibiting Mst1. J Pineal Res. 2017;62. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpi.12368.

- 130. Pei H, Du J, Song X, He L, Zhang Y, Li X, et al. Melatonin prevents adverse myocardial infarction remodeling via Notch1/Mfn2 pathway. Free Radic Biol Med. 2016;97:408–17.
- 131. Pei HF, Hou JN, Wei FP, Xue Q, Zhang F, Peng CF et al. Melatonin attenuates postmyocardial infarction injury via increasing Tom70 expression. J Pineal Res. 2017;62. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpi.12371.
- 132. Zhai M, Li B, Duan W, Jing L, Zhang B, Zhang M et al. Melatonin ameliorates myocardial ischemia reperfusion injury through SIRT3-dependent regulation of oxidative stress and apoptosis. J Pineal Res. 2017;63. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpi.12419.
- 133. Behram KY, Guntekin U, Tosun V, Korucuk N, Bozdemir MN. Melatonin protects against streptozotocin-induced diabetic cardiomyopathy by the phosphorylation of vascular endothelial growth factor-A (VEGF-A). Cell Mol Biol (Noisy -legrand). 2018;64:47–52.
- 134. Chen WR, Liu HB, Chen YD, Sha Y, Ma Q, Zhu PJ, et al. Melatonin attenuates myocardial ischemia/ reperfusion injury by inhibiting autophagy via an AMPK/mTOR signaling pathway. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2018;47:2067–76.
- 135. Govender J, Loos B, Marais E, Engelbrecht AM. Melatonin improves cardiac and mitochondrial function during doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity: a possible role for peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha and sirtuin activity? Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 2018;358:86–101.
- 136. Liu Y, Li LN, Guo S, Zhao XY, Liu YZ, Liang C, et al. Melatonin improves cardiac function in a mouse model of heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. Redox Biol. 2018;18:211–21.
- 137. Ma W, He F, Ding F, Zhang L, Huang Q, Bi C, et al. Pre-treatment with melatonin enhances therapeutic efficacy of cardiac progenitor cells for myocardial infarction. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2018;47:1287–98.
- 138. Sang Y, Gu X, Pan L, Zhang C, Rong X, Wu T, et al. Melatonin ameliorates coxsackievirus B3-induced myocarditis by regulating apoptosis and autophagy. Front Pharmacol. 2018;9:1384.
- 139. Wang S, Zhao Z, Feng X, Cheng Z, Xiong Z, Wang T, et al. Melatonin activates Parkin translocation and rescues the impaired mitophagy activity of diabetic cardiomyopathy through Mst1 inhibition. J Cell Mol Med. 2018;22:5132–44.
- 140. Wu Y, Si F, Luo L, Jing F, Jiang K, Zhou J, et al. The effect of melatonin on cardio fibrosis in juvenile rats with pressure overload and deregulation of HDACs. Korean J Physiol Pharmacol. 2018;22:607–16.
- 141. Yang Z, Li C, Wang Y, Yang J, Yin Y, Liu M, et al. Melatonin attenuates chronic pain related myocardial ischemic susceptibility through inhibiting RIP3-MLKL/CaMKII dependent necroptosis. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2018;125:185–94.
- 142. Zhang Y, Wang Y, Xu J, Tian F, Hu S, Chen Y, et al. Melatonin attenuates myocardial ischemia reperfu-

sion injury via improving mitochondrial fusion/ mitophagy and activating the AMPK-OPA1 signaling pathways. J Pineal Res. 2019;66:e12542.

- 143. Kanter M, Uysal H, Karaca T, Sagmanligil HO. Depression of glucose levels and partial restoration of pancreatic beta-cell damage by melatonin in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Arch Toxicol. 2006;80:362–9.
- 144. Nishida S, Sato R, Murai I, Nakagawa S. Effect of pinealectomy on plasma levels of insulin and leptin and on hepatic lipids in type 2 diabetic rats. J Pineal Res. 2003;35:251–6.
- 145. Nishida S, Segawa T, Murai I, Nakagawa S. Longterm melatonin administration reduces hyperinsulinemia and improves the altered fatty-acid compositions in type 2 diabetic rats via the restoration of Delta-5 desaturase activity. J Pineal Res. 2002;32:26–33.
- 146. Mazepa RC, Cuevas MJ, Collado PS, González-Gallego J. Melatonin increases muscle and liver glycogen content in nonexercised and exercised rats. Life Sci. 2000;66:153–60.
- 147. Shieh JM, Wu HT, Cheng KC, Cheng JT. Melatonin ameliorates high fat diet-induced diabetes and stimulates glycogen synthesis via a PKCzeta-Akt-GSK3beta pathway in hepatic cells. J Pineal Res. 2009;47:339–44.
- 148. Bartness TJ, Demas GE, Song CK. Seasonal changes in adiposity: the roles of the photoperiod, melatonin and other hormones, and sympathetic nervous system. Exp Biol Med (Maywood). 2002;227:363–76.
- 149. Tan DX, Manchester LC, Fuentes-Broto L, Paredes SD, Reiter RJ. Significance and application of melatonin in the regulation of brown adipose tissue metabolism: relation to human obesity. Obes Rev. 2011;12:167–88.
- 150. de Souza CAP, Gallo CC, de Camargo LS, de Carvalho PVV, Olesçuck I, Macedo F, et al. Melatonin multiple effects on brown adipose tissue molecular machinery. J Pineal Res. 2019;66:e12549.
- 151. Fernández VG, Reiter RJ, Agil A. Melatonin increases brown adipose tissue mass and function in Zucker diabetic fatty rats: implications for obesity control. J Pineal Res. 2018;64:e12472.
- 152. Zhai M, Liu Z, Zhang B, Jing L, Li B, Li K et al. Melatonin protects against the pathological cardiac hypertrophy induced by transverse aortic constriction through activating PGC-1beta: in vivo and in vitro studies. J Pineal Res. 2017;63. https://doi. org/10.1111/jpi.12433.
- 153. Tutuncu NB, Batur MK, Yildirir A, Tutuncu T, Deger A, Koray Z, et al. Melatonin levels decrease in type 2 diabetic patients with cardiac autonomic neuropathy. J Pineal Res. 2005;39:43–9.
- 154. Peschke E, Stumpf I, Bazwinsky I, Litvak L, Dralle H, Muhlbauer E. Melatonin and type 2 diabetes – a possible link? J Pineal Res. 2007;42:350–8.
- 155. Prokopenko I, Langenberg C, Florez JC, Saxena R, Soranzo N, Thorleifsson G, et al. Variants in

MTNR1B influence fasting glucose levels. Nat Genet. 2009;41:77–81.

- 156. Huber M, Treszl A, Reibis R, Teichmann C, Zergibel I, Bolbrinker J, et al. Genetics of melatonin receptor type 2 is associated with left ventricular function in hypertensive patients treated according to guidelines. Eur J Intern Med. 2013;24:650–5.
- 157. Zheng C, Dalla MC, Cobelli C, Groop L, Zhao H, Bale AE, et al. A common variant in the MTNR1b gene is associated with increased risk of impaired fasting glucose (IFG) in youth with obesity. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2015;23:1022–9.
- 158. Song X, Sun X, Ma G, Sun Y, Shi Y, Du Y, et al. Family association study between melatonin receptor gene polymorphisms and polycystic ovary syndrome in Han Chinese. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2015;195:108–12.
- 159. Sakotnik A, Liebmann PM, Stoschitzky K, Lercher P, Schauenstein K, Klein W, et al. Decreased melatonin synthesis in patients with coronary artery disease. Eur Heart J. 1999;20:1314–7.
- 160. Girotti L, Lago M, Ianovsky O, Carbajales J, Elizari MV, Brusco LI, et al. Low urinary 6-sulphatoxymelatonin levels in patients with coronary artery disease. J Pineal Res. 2000;29:138–42.
- 161. Domínguez-Rodríguez A, Abreu-González P, García MJ, Sánchez J, Marrero F, de Armas-Trujillo D. Decreased nocturnal melatonin levels during acute myocardial infarction. J Pineal Res. 2002;33:248–52.
- 162. Yaprak M, Altun A, Vardar A, Aktoz M, Ciftci S, Ozbay G. Decreased nocturnal synthesis of melatonin in patients with coronary artery disease. Int J Cardiol. 2003;89:103–7.
- 163. Obayashi K, Saeki K, Iwamoto J, Okamoto N, Tomioka K, Nezu S, et al. Nocturnal urinary melatonin excretion is associated with non-dipper pattern in elderly hypertensives. Hypertens Res. 2013;36:736–40.
- 164. Cavallo A, Daniels SR, Dolan LM, Bean JA, Khoury JC. Blood pressure-lowering effect of melatonin in type 1 diabetes. J Pineal Res. 2004;36:262–6.
- 165. Mozdzan M, Mozdzan M, Chalubinski M, Wojdan K, Broncel M. The effect of melatonin on circadian blood pressure in patients with type 2 diabetes and essential hypertension. Arch Med Sci. 2014;10:669–75.
- 166. Scheer FA, Van Montfrans GA, Van Someren EJ, Mairuhu G, Buijs RM. Daily nighttime melatonin reduces blood pressure in male patients with essential hypertension. Hypertension. 2004;43:192–7.
- 167. Cagnacci A, Cannoletta M, Renzi A, Baldassari F, Arangino S, Volpe A. Prolonged melatonin administration decreases nocturnal blood pressure in women. Am J Hypertens. 2005;18:1614–8.
- 168. Grossman E, Laudon M, Yalcin R, Zengil H, Peleg E, Sharabi Y, et al. Melatonin reduces night blood pressure in patients with nocturnal hypertension. Am J Med. 2006;119:898–902.

- 169. Gubin DG, Gubin GD, Gapon LI, Weinert D. Daily melatonin administration attenuates age-dependent disturbances of cardiovascular rhythms. Curr Aging Sci. 2016;9:5–13.
- 170. Wirtz PH, Bartschi C, Spillmann M, Ehlert U, von Kanel R. Effect of oral melatonin on the procoagulant response to acute psychosocial stress in healthy men: a randomized placebo-controlled study. J Pineal Res. 2008;44:358–65.
- 171. Green EA, Black BK, Biaggioni I, Paranjape SY, Bagai K, Shibao C, et al. Melatonin reduces tachycardia in postural tachycardia syndrome: a randomized, crossover trial. Cardiovasc Ther. 2014;32:105–12.
- 172. Haghjooy JS, Ziaei A, Ziaei S, Ziaei E, Mirmohammad-Sadeghi M. The effect of preoperative melatonin on nuclear erythroid 2-related factor 2 activation in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting surgery. Oxidative Med Cell Longev. 2013;2013:676829.
- 173. Gogenur I, Kucukakin B, Panduro JL, Reiter RJ, Rosenberg J. Melatonin reduces cardiac morbidity and markers of myocardial ischemia after elective abdominal aortic aneurism repair: a randomized, placebo-controlled, clinical trial. J Pineal Res. 2014;57:10–5.
- 174. Dwaich KH, Al-Amran FG, Al-Sheibani BI, Al-Aubaidy HA. Melatonin effects on myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury: impact on the outcome in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting surgery. Int J Cardiol. 2016;221:977–86.
- 175. Domínguez-Rodríguez A, Abreu-González P, de la Torre-Hernández JM, Consuegra-Sánchez L, Piccolo R, González-González J, et al. Usefulness of early treatment with melatonin to reduce infarct size in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction receiving percutaneous coronary intervention (from the melatonin adjunct in the acute myocardial infarction treated with angioplasty trial). Am J Cardiol. 2017;120:522–6.
- 176. Ekeloef S, Halladin N, Fonnes S, Jensen SE, Zaremba T, Rosenberg J, et al. Effect of intracoronary and intravenous melatonin on myocardial salvage index in patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction: a randomized placebo controlled trial. J Cardiovasc Transl Res. 2017;10:470–9.
- 177. Kozirog M, Poliwczak AR, Duchnowicz P, Koter-Michalak M, Sikora J, Broncel M. Melatonin treatment improves blood pressure, lipid profile, and parameters of oxidative stress in patients with metabolic syndrome. J Pineal Res. 2011;50:261–6.
- 178. Goyal A, Terry PD, Superak HM, Nell-Dybdahl CL, Chowdhury R, Phillips LS, et al. Melatonin supplementation to treat the metabolic syndrome: a randomized controlled trial. Diabetol Metab Syndr. 2014;6:124.
- 179. Chojnacki C, Walecka-Kapica E, Klupinska G, Pawlowicz M, Blonska A, Chojnacki J. Effects of fluoxetine and melatonin on mood, sleep quality and body mass index in postmenopausal women. J Physiol Pharmacol. 2015;66:665–71.

- 180. Mesri AN, Mahdavi R, Roshanravan N, Lotfi YN, Ostadrahimi AR, Faramarzi E. A double-blind, placebo-controlled trial related to the effects of melatonin on oxidative stress and inflammatory parameters of obese women. Horm Metab Res. 2015;47:504–8.
- 181. Amstrup AK, Sikjaer T, Pedersen SB, Heickendorff L, Mosekilde L, Rejnmark L. Reduced fat mass and increased lean mass in response to 1 year of melatonin treatment in postmenopausal women: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. Clin Endocrinol. 2016;84:342–7.
- 182. Szewczyk-Golec K, Rajewski P, Gackowski M, Mila-Kierzenkowska C, Wesolowski R, Sutkowy P, et al. Melatonin supplementation lowers oxidative stress and regulates adipokines in obese patients on a calorie-restricted diet. Oxidative Med Cell Longev. 2017;2017:8494107.
- 183. Chojnacki C, Kaczka A, Gasiorowska A, Fichna J, Chojnacki J, Brzozowski T. The effect of long-term melatonin supplementation on psychosomatic disorders in postmenopausal women. J Physiol Pharmacol. 2018;69. https://doi.org/10.26402/jpp.2018.2.15.
- 184. Romo-Nava F, Álvarez-Icaza GD, Fresán-Orellana A, Saracco AR, Becerra-Palars C, Moreno J, et al. Melatonin attenuates antipsychotic metabolic effects: an eight-week randomized, double-blind, parallel-group, placebo-controlled clinical trial. Bipolar Disord. 2014;16:410–21.
- 185. Modabbernia A, Heidari P, Soleimani R, Sobhani A, Roshan ZA, Taslimi S, et al. Melatonin for prevention of metabolic side-effects of olanzapine in patients with first-episode schizophrenia: randomized double-blind placebo-controlled study. J Psychiatr Res. 2014;53:133–40.
- 186. Mostafavi A, Solhi M, Mohammadi MR, Hamedi M, Keshavarzi M, Akhondzadeh S. Melatonin decreases olanzapine induced metabolic side-effects in adolescents with bipolar disorder: a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial. Acta Med Iran. 2014;52:734–9.
- 187. Shatilo VB, Bondarenko EV, Antoniuk-Shcheglova IA. Pineal gland melatonin-producing function in elderly patients with hypertensive disease: age peculiarities. Adv Gerontol. 2010;23:539–42.
- 188. Kedziora-Kornatowska K, Szewczyk-Golec K, Kozakiewicz M, Pawluk H, Czuczejko J, Kornatowski T, et al. Melatonin improves oxidative stress parameters measured in the blood of elderly type 2 diabetic patients. J Pineal Res. 2009;46:333–7.
- Cichoz-Lach H, Celinski K, Konturek PC, Konturek SJ, Slomka M. The effects of L-tryptophan and melatonin on selected biochemical parameters in patients with steatohepatitis. J Physiol Pharmacol. 2010;61:577–80.
- 190. Gonciarz M, Gonciarz Z, Bielanski W, Mularczyk A, Konturek PC, Brzozowski T, et al. The pilot study of 3-month course of melatonin treatment of patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: effect on

plasma levels of liver enzymes, lipids and melatonin. J Physiol Pharmacol. 2010;61:705–10.

- 191. Gonciarz M, Gonciarz Z, Bielanski W, Mularczyk A, Konturek PC, Brzozowski T, et al. The effects of long-term melatonin treatment on plasma liver enzymes levels and plasma concentrations of lipids and melatonin in patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: a pilot study. J Physiol Pharmacol. 2012;63:35–40.
- 192. Hussain SA, Khadim HM, Khalaf BH, Ismail SH, Hussein KI, Sahib AS. Effects of melatonin and zinc on glycemic control in type 2 diabetic patients poorly controlled with metformin. Saudi Med J. 2006;27:1483–8.
- 193. Stanosz S, von Mach-Szczypinski J, Sieja K, Kooeciuszkiewicz J. Micronized estradiol and progesterone therapy in primary, preinvasive endometrial cancer (1A/G1) in young women with polycystic ovarian syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014;99:E2472–6.
- 194. Tagliaferri V, Romualdi D, Scarinci E, Cicco S, Florio CD, Immediata V, et al. Melatonin treatment may be able to restore menstrual cyclicity in women with PCOS: a pilot study. Reprod Sci. 2018;25:269–75.
- 195. Grossman E, Laudon M, Zisapel N. Effect of melatonin on nocturnal blood pressure: meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Vasc Health Risk Manag. 2011;7:577–84.
- 196. Tamura H, Nakamura Y, Narimatsu A, Yamagata Y, Takasaki A, Reiter RJ, et al. Melatonin treatment in peri- and postmenopausal women elevates serum high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels without influencing total cholesterol levels. J Pineal Res. 2008;45:101–5.
- 197. Hussain SA. Effect of melatonin on cholesterol absorption in rats. J Pineal Res. 2007;42:267–71.
- 198. Esquifino A, Agrasal C, Velázquez E, Villanua MA, Cardinali DP. Effect of melatonin on serum cholesterol and phospholipid levels, and on prolactin, thyroid-stimulating hormone and thyroid hormone levels, in hyperprolactinemic rats. Life Sci. 1997;61:1051–8.
- 199. Del Zar MM, Martinuzzo M, Cardinali DP, Carreras LO, Vacas MI. Diurnal variation in melatonin effect on adenosine triphosphate and serotonin release by human platelets. Acta Endocrinol. 1990;123:453–8.
- 200. Del Zar MM, Martinuzzo M, Falcon C, Cardinali DP, Carreras LO, Vacas MI. Inhibition of human platelet aggregation and thromboxane-B2 production by melatonin: evidence for a diurnal variation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1990;70:246–51.
- 201. Vacas MI, Del Zar MM, Martinuzzo M, Falcón C, Carreras LO, Cardinali DP. Inhibition of human platelet aggregation and thromboxane B2 production by melatonin. Correlation with plasma melatonin levels. J Pineal Res. 1991;11:135–9.
- 202. McMullan CJ, Curhan GC, Schernhammer ES, Forman JP. Association of nocturnal melatonin secretion with insulin resistance in nondiabetic young women. Am J Epidemiol. 2013;178:231–8.

- 203. Fernández RC, Moore VM, Van Ryswyk EM, Varcoe TJ, Rodgers RJ, March WA, et al. Sleep disturbances in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: prevalence, pathophysiology, impact and management strategies. Nat Sci Sleep. 2018;10:45–64.
- 204. Rubio-Sastre P, Scheer FA, Gómez-Abellan P, Madrid JA, Garaulet M. Acute melatonin administration in humans impairs glucose tolerance in both the morning and evening. Sleep. 2014;37:1715–9.
- 205. Eckel RH, Depner CM, Perreault L, Markwald RR, Smith MR, McHill AW, et al. Morning circadian misalignment during short sleep duration impacts insulin sensitivity. Curr Biol. 2015;25:3004–10.
- 206. Matuszek MA, Anton A, Thillainathan S, Armstrong NJ. Increased insulin following an oral glucose load, genetic variation near the melatonin receptor MTNR1B, but no biochemical evidence of endothelial dysfunction in young Asian men and women. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0133611.
- 207. Zhan Y, Li C, Gao Q, Chen J, Yu S, Liu SG. Association between the rs4753426 polymorphism in MTNR1B with fasting plasma glucose level and pancreatic beta-cell function in gestational diabetes mellitus. Genet Mol Res. 2015;14:8778–85.
- 208. Tarnowski M, Malinowski D, Safranow K, Dziedziejko V, Pawlik A. MTNR1A and MTNR1B gene polymorphisms in women with gestational diabetes. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2017;33:395–8.
- 209. Dupuis J, Langenberg C, Prokopenko I, Saxena R, Soranzo N, Jackson AU, et al. New genetic loci implicated in fasting glucose homeostasis and their impact on type 2 diabetes risk. Nat Genet. 2010;42:105–16.
- 210. Liao S, Liu Y, Tan Y, Gan L, Mei J, Song W, et al. Association of genetic variants of melatonin receptor 1B with gestational plasma glucose level and risk of glucose intolerance in pregnant Chinese women. PLoS One. 2012;7:e40113.
- 211. Liu C, Wu Y, Li H, Qi Q, Langenberg C, Loos RJ, et al. MTNR1B rs10830963 is associated with fasting plasma glucose, HbA1C and impaired beta-cell function in Chinese Hans from Shanghai. BMC Med Genet. 2010;11:59.
- 212. Staiger H, Machicao F, Schafer SA, Kirchhoff K, Kantartzis K, Guthoff M, et al. Polymorphisms within the novel type 2 diabetes risk locus MTNR1B determine beta-cell function. PLoS One. 2008;3:e3962.
- 213. Lyssenko V, Nagorny CL, Erdos MR, Wierup N, Jonsson A, Spegel P, et al. Common variant in MTNR1B associated with increased risk of type 2 diabetes and impaired early insulin secretion. Nat Genet. 2009;41:82–8.
- 214. Langenberg C, Pascoe L, Mari A, Tura A, Laakso M, Frayling TM, et al. Common genetic variation in the melatonin receptor 1B gene (MTNR1B) is associated with decreased early-phase insulin response. Diabetologia. 2009;52:1537–42.
- 215. Marchetti P, Syed F, Suleiman M, Bugliani M, Marselli L. From genotype to human beta cell phenotype and beyond. Islets. 2012;4:323–32.

- 216. Garaulet M, Gómez-Abellán P, Rubio-Sastre P, Madrid JA, Saxena R, Scheer FA. Common type 2 diabetes risk variant in MTNR1B worsens the deleterious effect of melatonin on glucose tolerance in humans. Metabolism. 2015;64:1650–7.
- 217. Barker A, Sharp SJ, Timpson NJ, Bouatia-Naji N, Warrington NM, Kanoni S, et al. Association of genetic Loci with glucose levels in childhood and adolescence: a meta-analysis of over 6,000 children. Diabetes. 2011;60:1805–12.
- 218. Tuomi T, Nagorny CL, Singh P, Bennet H, Yu Q, Alenkvist I, et al. Increased melatonin signaling is a risk factor for type 2 diabetes. Cell Metab. 2016;23:1067–77.
- Espino J, Pariente JA, Rodríguez AB. Role of melatonin on diabetes-related metabolic disorders. World J Diabetes. 2011;2:82–91.
- 220. Bonnefond A, Clement N, Fawcett K, Yengo L, Vaillant E, Guillaume JL, et al. Rare MTNR1B variants impairing melatonin receptor 1B function contribute to type 2 diabetes. Nat Genet. 2012;44:297–301.
- 221. Karamitri A, Renault N, Clement N, Guillaume JL, Jockers R. Minireview: toward the establishment of a link between melatonin and glucose homeostasis: association of melatonin MT2 receptor variants with type 2 diabetes. Mol Endocrinol. 2013;27:1217–33.
- 222. O'Brien IA, Lewin IG, O'Hare JP, Arendt J, Corrall RJ. Abnormal circadian rhythm of melatonin in diabetic autonomic neuropathy. Clin Endocrinol. 1986;24:359–64.
- 223. Hikichi T, Tateda N, Miura T. Alteration of melatonin secretion in patients with type 2 diabetes and proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Clin Ophthalmol. 2011;5:655–60.
- 224. Mantele S, Otway DT, Middleton B, Bretschneider S, Wright J, Robertson MD, et al. Daily rhythms of plasma melatonin, but not plasma leptin or leptin mRNA, vary between lean, obese and type 2 diabetic men. PLoS One. 2012;7:e37123.
- McMullan CJ, Schernhammer ES, Rimm EB, Hu FB, Forman JP. Melatonin secretion and the incidence of type 2 diabetes. JAMA. 2013;309:1388–96.
- 226. Reutrakul S, Siwasaranond N, Nimitphong H, Saetung S, Chirakalwasan N, Chailurkit LO, et al. Associations between nocturnal urinary 6-sulfatoxymelatonin, obstructive sleep apnea severity and glycemic control in type 2 diabetes. Chronobiol Int. 2017;34:382–92.
- 227. Hardeland R. Melatonin and the pathologies of weakened or dysregulated circadian oscillators. J Pineal Res. 2017;62. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jpi.12377.
- 228. Lew KN, Wick A. Pharmacotherapy of type 2 diabetes mellitus: navigating current and new therapies. Medsurg Nurs. 2015;24:413–9, 438.
- 229. Nauck MA, Friedrich N. Do GLP-1-based therapies increase cancer risk? Diabetes Care. 2013;36(Suppl 2):S245–52.
- 230. Leger D, Laudon M, Zisapel N. Nocturnal 6-sulfatoxymelatonin excretion in insomnia and its

relation to the response to melatonin replacement therapy. Am J Med. 2004;116:91–5.

- Zhdanova IV, Wurtman RJ, Regan MM, Taylor JA, Shi JP, Leclair OU. Melatonin treatment for age-related insomnia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86:4727–30.
- 232. Ferracioli-Oda E, Qawasmi A, Bloch MH. Metaanalysis: melatonin for the treatment of primary sleep disorders. PLoS One. 2013;8:e63773.
- 233. Auld F, Maschauer EL, Morrison I, Skene DJ, Riha RL. Evidence for the efficacy of melatonin in the treatment of primary adult sleep disorders. Sleep Med Rev. 2017;34:10–22.
- 234. Li T, Jiang S, Han M, Yang Z, Lv J, Deng C, et al. Exogenous melatonin as a treatment for secondary sleep disorders: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Front Neuroendocrinol. 2018;52:22–8.
- 235. Wilson SJ, Nutt DJ, Alford C, Argyropoulos SV, Baldwin DS, Bateson AN, et al. British Association for Psychopharmacology consensus statement on evidence-based treatment of insomnia, parasomnias and circadian rhythm disorders. J Psychopharmacol. 2010;24:1577–601.
- Sugden D. Psychopharmacological effects of melatonin in mouse and rat. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 1983;227:587–91.
- 237. Nordlund JJ, Lerner AB. The effects of oral melatonin on skin color and on the release of pituitary hormones. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1977;45:768–74.
- 238. Anton-Tay F, Diaz JL, Fernandez-Guardiola A. On the effect of melatonin upon human brain. Its possible therapeutic implications. Life Sci I. 1971;10:841–50.
- 239. Jacob S, Poeggeler B, Weishaupt JH, Siren AL, Hardeland R, Bahr M, et al. Melatonin as a candidate compound for neuroprotection in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS): high tolerability of daily oral melatonin administration in ALS patients. J Pineal Res. 2002;33:186–7.
- 240. Weishaupt JH, Bartels C, Polking E, Dietrich J, Rohde G, Poeggeler B, et al. Reduced oxidative damage in ALS by high-dose enteral melatonin treatment. J Pineal Res. 2006;41:313–23.
- 241. Chahbouni M, Escames G, Lopez LC, Sevilla B, Doerrier C, Munoz-Hoyos A, et al. Melatonin treatment counteracts the hyperoxidative status in erythrocytes of patients suffering from Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Clin Biochem. 2011;44:853–8.
- 242. López-González A, Álvarez-Sánchez N, Lardone PJ, Cruz-Chamorro I, Martínez-López A, Guerrero JM, et al. Melatonin treatment improves primary progressive multiple sclerosis: a case report. J Pineal Res. 2015;58:173–7.
- 243. Nickkholgh A, Schneider H, Sobirey M, Venetz WP, Hinz U, IH P, et al. The use of high-dose melatonin

in liver resection is safe: first clinical experience. J Pineal Res. 2011;50:381–8.

- Waldhauser F, Saletu B, Trinchard-Lugan I. Sleep laboratory investigations on hypnotic properties of melatonin. Psychopharmacology. 1990;100:222–6.
- 245. Voordouw BC, Euser R, Verdonk RE, Alberda BT, de Jong FH, Drogendijk AC, et al. Melatonin and melatonin-progestin combinations alter pituitaryovarian function in women and can inhibit ovulation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1992;74:108–17.
- 246. Galley HF, Lowes DA, Allen L, Cameron G, Aucott LS, Webster NR. Melatonin as a potential therapy for sepsis: a phase I dose escalation study and an ex vivo whole blood model under conditions of sepsis. J Pineal Res. 2014;56:427–38.
- Harpsoe NG, Andersen LP, Gogenur I, Rosenberg J. Clinical pharmacokinetics of melatonin: a systematic review. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2015;71:901–9.
- ASHP statement on the use of medications for unlabeled uses. Am J Hosp Pharm (1992) 49:2006–8.
- 249. Alexander GC, Gallagher SA, Mascola A, Moloney RM, Stafford RS. Increasing off-label use of antipsychotic medications in the United States, 1995-2008. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf. 2011;20:177–84.
- Bazzano AT, Mangione-Smith R, Schonlau M, Suttorp MJ, Brook RH. Off-label prescribing to children in the United States outpatient setting. Acad Pediatr. 2009;9:81–8.
- 251. Smithburger PL, Buckley MS, Culver MA, Sokol S, Lat I, Handler SM, et al. A multicenter evaluation of off-label medication use and associated adverse drug reactions in adult medical ICUs. Crit Care Med. 2015;43:1612–21.
- 252. Saiyed MM, Ong PS, Chew L. Off-label drug use in oncology: a systematic review of literature. J Clin Pharm Ther. 2017;42:251–8.
- 253. Aagaard L, Kristensen K. Off-label and unlicensed prescribing in Europe: implications for patients' informed consent and liability. Int J Clin Pharm. 2018;40:509–12.
- 254. Tan DX, Zanghi BM, Manchester LC, Reiter RJ. Melatonin identified in meats and other food stuffs: potentially nutritional impact. J Pineal Res. 2014;57:213–8.
- 255. Erland LA, Murch SJ, Reiter RJ, Saxena PK. A new balancing act: the many roles of melatonin and serotonin in plant growth and development. Plant Signal Behav. 2015;10:e1096469.
- Arnao MB, Hernandez-Ruiz J. Functions of melatonin in plants: a review. J Pineal Res. 2015;59:133–50.
- Cardinali DP. Melatonin as a chronobiotic/cytoprotector: its role in healthy aging. Biol Rhythm Res. 2019;50:28–45.



23

Neural Network Simulations of a Possible Role of the Hippocampus in Pavlovian Conditioning

José E. Burgos and Juan M. Galeazzi

Neural Network Simulations of a Possible Role of the Hippocampus in Pavlovian Conditioning

In this paper, we take up the following suggestion [1]:

... it may be more productive to evaluate whether the proposed mechanisms function as they do in nature ... One approach would be to see if "damage" to UTR neural networks has the same behavioral effects as brain damage in living organisms. For example, the hippocampal learning rule could be disabled or impaired and the resulting network's behavior could be compared to that of animals with hippocampal lesions. (p. 60)

The suggestion refers to the neural network interpretation of a unified theory of reinforcement (UTR)² and was part of a criticism of this interpretation. Although the criticism was successfully replied to [3], the suggestion provides an opportunity to test such interpretation. In this paper we take the opportunity to begin exploring the model's potential to theorize about the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning. As a

J. E. Burgos (\boxtimes)

University of Guadalajara, Zapopan, Jalisco, Mexico e-mail: jburgos@cucba.udg.mx; jburgos@academicos.udg.mx

J. M. Galeazzi University of Oxford, Oxford, UK e-mail: juan.galeazzigonzalez@psy.ox.ac.uk starting point, we focus on a few Pavlovian conditioning phenomena that have been investigated to determine this role.

The study of the hippocampus, named after its characteristic resemblance to the seahorse, has received much attention in neuropsychology and neuropsychiatry. It all began with reports of certain cognitive deficits resulting from bilateral temporal lobectomies to relieve severe epilepsy symptoms (e.g., patient R.M [4]) or cardiovascular accidents (e.g., patient R.B [5]). One of the deficits is known as anterograde amnesia, the inability to form new memories after the lesion. These reports started an extensive field of research about the possible roles of the hippocampus in memory.

Part of this field has been the experimental study of the role of the hippocampal formation (henceforth "hippocampus," for short) in Pavlovian conditioning, using a variety of procedures. Some studies have used delay and trace procedures. In a delay procedure, the unconditioned stimulus (US) begins some time after the conditioned stimulus (CS) onset but before the CS offset. This time is known as the interstimulus interval (ISI). In trace procedures, the US begins some time after the CS offset. This time is known as the trace interval (TI). Normally, Pavlovian conditioning with these paradigms depends on the respective intervals, being stronger with short than long intervals, although too short an ISI also disrupts delay conditioning. In particular,

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_23

short-trace conditioning tends to be weaker than short-delay conditioning.

Uses of these procedures to study the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning have largely focused on differential effects of hippocampal lesions [6–14]. Some of the evidence indicates that hippocampal lesions disrupt acquisition of trace more than delay conditioning. This evidence led to the view that the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning was relevant only to trace procedures, perhaps by "filling-in" the "empty," TI. Since there was no such empty time in delay procedures, the hippocampus was viewed as irrelevant to them. This view inspired some neural network modeling of the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning [15–17].

However, some of the evidence [8] has challenged this view, suggesting that hippocampal lesions also disrupted Pavlovian conditioning with long-delay more than short-trace procedures. Models that restrict the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning to trace procedures cannot account for this evidence. It thus appears that the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning is not restricted to "filling" the TI. Contrary to those models, the hippocampus also seems to be relevant for long-delay conditioning.

Two neural network models have answered the challenge and rejected that restriction, in different ways. There are other models, but we focus on these as representative of models about the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning guided by such rejection. In one model [18], the authors stated that "it is the combination of variables used in the experimental design (e.g., the combination of CS duration and ISI), rather than the type of paradigm (e.g., delay vs. trace conditioning), that serves as a predictor for many experimental outcomes" (pp. 90, 92). This statement rejects the traditional restriction of the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning to trace procedures in favor of a more central role for delay procedures.

In another model [19], the authors also reject the traditional restriction of the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning to trace procedures, but more inclusively: "while the idea that trace conditioning is hippocampal-dependent whereas delay conditioning is hippocampalindependent provides a useful rule of thumb, it is not sufficient to adequately address the full range of existing data" (p. 49). However, they conclude that "a conceptualization of eyeblink conditioning in which the length of the ISI, in addition to the presence of a TI, determines hippocampal dependence would appear to help integrate our understanding of the eyeblink conditioning literature with that of other preparations" (p. 50). In contrast to the other model [18], then, this one seems to be more inclusive in the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning, giving equal importance to a possible role in trace and delay conditioning.

This second model [18] is a real-time extension of a trial-level model [20] and conceives the hippocampus as a "predictive autoencoder which learns to predict the next state of the world given current inputs," to monitor "environmental regularities ... using prior experience and current inputs to predict what (out of all possible events) is likely to happen next" (p. 51). This model simulates CS trials (in a context) as input activations in multiple successive moments. The hippocampus is simulated as a network of real-valued activation units where connection weights change via error correction to predict input activations for the next moment. This network includes feedforward and recurrent connections in a 10-node hidden layer and an output layer of 20 nodes. The recurrent connections allow the network to recall past occurrences of the CS and contextual cues.

The model uses a least mean squares error correction learning rule, where the error signal is the difference between the UR and CR. The hippocampal network connects to a motor network consisting of a single output node that simulates responding. A hippocampal lesion was simulated by preventing weight changes in the hippocampal network. In this way, this model can simulate all the aforementioned differential effects of hippocampectomy on long- and short-delay and trace conditioning.

In the present paper, we use an alternative existing model that propounds a different, perhaps simpler, role for the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning that accounts for all the effects of hippocampal lesion on delay and trace conditioning, long as well as short. Intuitively (we articulate it in more technical detail in the first section), we hypothesize that the hippocampus lessens the detrimental effects of (1) momentary nonreinforcement (moments without the US) and, perhaps more substantially, (2) weaker cues on Pavlovian conditioning. Networks in this model simulate both roles by having special units (H) that are intended to simulate some hippocampal structure (e.g., CA1). The function of these units is to send a discrepancy (temporal difference) signal $(d_{H,t})$ that, if sufficiently high, promotes weight gain by connections from input units (S', intended to simulate primary sensory)areas activated by the CS and contextual cues) to hidden units intended to simulate polysensory areas (S'').

Simulations of Pavlovian conditioning with these networks depend crucially on those weights. Normally, nonreinforcement and weaker cues have a detrimental effect on Pavlovian conditioning in these networks (in agreement with the evidence). However, the removal of the H units from a network, the way the model simulates hippocampal lesions, results in the absence of this signal (i.e., $d_{H,t} = 0.0$). This removal thus has an even more detrimental effect of nonreinforcement and weaker cues on those weights and, to this extent, on Pavlovian conditioning. We hypothesize that an analogous process might occur in animals. In Simulation 1, we sought to determine if this process can account theoretically for the differential effects of hippocampal lesions on short-delay and short-trace versus long-delay and long-trace conditioning, which have also been simulated by another model [19].

We also sought to assess whether the present model can account for two other differential effects of hippocampal lesions on Pavlovian conditioning not examined with other models. One is the more deleterious effect of hippocampal lesions on backward [21] than contiguous-trace conditioning (CTC), where the CS is reinstated to occur simultaneously with the US after a long TI [22]. We studied this effect in Simulation 2. We summarize the model in the first section, describe the simulations in the second section, and end with a general discussion about some implications, limitations, and future directions.

The Model: Brief Intuitive Description

The model was originally intended as a unified neural network account of Pavlovian and operant conditioning [2, 23], but here we focus on Pavlovian conditioning. The model is a relatively high-level, neural systems model guided by a few general principles of gross vertebrate neuroanatomy that allow theorizing about the hippocampus in a wider framework, taking into account its relations to synapses from primary sensory to polysensory areas, and how it is affected by dopaminergic structures (e.g., the ventral tegmental area).

The model has been shown to simulate a reasonably wide range of Pavlovian conditioning phenomena: acquisition and extinction with resistance [2]; faster reacquisition [2]; blocking and overshadowing [2, 24]; ISI function and dependence of optimal ISIs on network size [25, 26]; discrimination and generalization [2]; simultaneous conditioning [27]; reinforcement revaluation [28]; latent inhibition [29]; effect of the C/T ratio [30]; autoshaping and automaintenance [31]; second-order conditioning [32]; context specificity and renewal [33]; autoshaped choice [34]; and misbehavior [35]. Many other phenomena remain to be simulated, and some are currently being investigated with the model (e.g., conditioned inhibition, spontaneous recovery, cue-to-consequence effects, impulsivity, resurgence, redundancy, etc.). The present study is thus a continuation of research with the model, but the first one explores the model's predictions about the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning.

The model has a computational component and a network component. The former specifies an activation rule to compute the state of a computational unit or node and a learning rule to compute changes in connection weights at every moment or timestep (ts) of indefinite duration. We describe this computational component in the Appendix. The network component specifies the types of units that can constitute a network in the model and some guidelines on how to connect them, inspired by a few principles of vertebrate neuroanatomical organization. Next, we describe this network component and include the basic intuition behind how the model implements our proposed hypothesis about the possible role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning.

The Networks

The network component is best described through examples. Figure 23.1 shows the two network architectures used in the simulations described later, labeled as H (top panel, with a hippocampal, H unit) and ~H (bottom panel, without any H unit). Indefinitely many other architectures are possible, but we used these to get a first sense of the model's prediction with relatively simple architectures. As in any neural network model, networks in this model are intended as minimal abstract, simplified theoretical structures roughly interpreted in terms of certain neuroscientific concepts and used to explain behavioral phenomena of interest.

The gross neuroanatomical principle underlying all networks in this model is that vertebrate brains are organized according to the minimal basic structure $\overset{S' \to S'' \bigtriangledown M'' \leftthreetimes M}{H} \overset{D}{D}$ Primary sensory areas (S') are simulated as the input layer of an artificial neural network. Units in this layer connect to (and to this extent can activate) units in a first hidden layer that simulates polysensory areas (S''). S'' units, in turn, connect to hippocampal (H) units and units in a second hidden layer that simulates prefrontal/premotor areas (M''), which connect to a dopaminergic (D) unit and an output unit that simulates primary motor areas (M'). All connections are one directional, meaning that a unit can activate another if the former is connected or projects or connects to the latter, and the strength of the connection is sufficiently high. Of course, this general structure admits indefinitely many variations that can function

differently under the same conditions, but then again, here we follow conventional wisdom in modeling and start the simplest networks possible in this model (Fig. 23.1).

Both architectures have a feedforward, left-toright organization that follows the same basic structure $\overset{S' \to S'' \swarrow M'' \leftrightarrows M}{H}$ consisting of four layers: one input (S'), two hidden (S''-H, M''-D), and one output (M'). In most cases (except for H and D), a unit in one layer connects to the unit in the immediately adjacent unit to the right. In these architectures, the input (leftmost) layer consists of three units (squares labeled as S'_1 and S'_2 and hexagon labeled as S*). Their activations simulate primary sensory effects of the kinds of exteroceptive stimuli that function as cues in Pavlovian conditioning, including the CS (e.g., lights, tones), contextual cues (Ctx; e.g., the walls, sounds, and smells of the experimental chamber), and unconditioned stimuli (US or S^* , e.g., food, water, electrical shock). S' activations simulate primary sensory effects of these stimuli.

Both S' units connect to the first hidden unit (S", for "polysensory"), which, in turn, connects to the H unit and the second hidden unit (M", for "prefrontal/premotor"). M" connects to the D (for "dopaminergic") and the unit output unit (M', for "primary motor"). All these connections (thin lines with button endings) represent variable initially weak (0.1 our out of a maximum possible of 1.0) connections, and their strength or "weight" changes according to the learning rule (see Eq. 23.2 in the Appendix). Thick lines from S* to D and the output unit (M') depict fixed maximally strong connections. M' activations simulate primary motor precursors of responding (R*).

The only difference between the two architectures was ~H's lack of the *H* unit, intended to simulate a hippocampal lesion of some kind (e.g., excitotoxicity, hippocampectomy, etc.). Everything else was identical (free parameters included; see Appendix). The shaded rectangles from the *H* (H architecture only) and *D* units depict the hippocampal discrepancy $(d_{H,l})$ and the dopaminergic discrepancy $(d_{D,l})$, respectively, at



Fig. 23.1 Network architectures used in the simulations described later. Top panel: H architecture, with a hippocampal (*H*) unit. Bottom panel: ~H architecture, without the *H* unit, which simulates some damage to hippocampal structure. *S'*: input units activated by the conditioned stimulus (CS, *S'*₁) and contextual cues (Ctx, *S'*₂). *S**: input unit activated by the unconditioned stimulus (US). Thin lines: variable initially weak connections with weights that change according to the learning rule (see Appendix). All initial variable weights were set to 0.1, out of the maximum possible of 1.0. Thick lines: fixed maximally strong connections. *S''*: First hidden (sensory association, polysensory) unit (which receives variable, initially weak con-

t. $d_{H,t}$ modulates changes in the weights of the *S'*-*S"* and *S"*-*H* (H architecture only) connections, whereas $d_{D,t}$ modulates changes in the weights of the *S"*-*M"*, *M"*-*D*, and *M"*-*M'* connections.

In the model's initial formulation, and in most previous simulation research with it, the CA1 area was hypothesized as a good candidate for a specific neurobiological interpretation of the Hunits. Not only has the CA1 area been widely investigated in relation to the phenomenon known as "long-term potentiation." Some evidence also suggests that CA1 might be more critical to Pavlovian conditioning than other areas of the

nections from S'_1 and S'_2). H (in architecture H): hippocampal-like unit, source of d_H , diffuse discrepancy signal that modulates changes in the S'-S'' and S''-H connections. For ~H, $d_H = 0.0$ at all times. Shaded rectangles: signals that modulate weight changes. M'': motor association unit. D: dopaminergic-like unit, source of d_D , the signal that modulates changes in the weights of the S''-M'', M''-D, and M''-M' connections and amplifies d_H (curved arrow in H). M': output (primary motor) unit. R^* : either a conditioned response (if activated by S' via M'' and M', after connections get gain weight) or an unconditioned response (if activated directly by S^* , which occurs whenever S^* 's activation is greater than 0.0)

hippocampus [36–38]. Of course, this is not to say that other parts of the hippocampus (or the brain: e.g., amygdala, cerebellum, etc.) do not play a role in Pavlovian conditioning. Our present focus on the hippocampus, rather, is just a theoretical abstraction as a strategic simplification. Nor do we mean to say that the hippocampus plays a role only in Pavlovian conditioning. The hippocampus plays other roles (spatial learning) that may or may not relate to Pavlovian conditioning, but our present focus on Pavlovian conditioning phenomena is yet another strategic simplification.
In H, according to the evidence [39–45], $d_{D,t}$ amplifies $d_{H,t}$ (curved solid arrow in Fig. 23.1). Because ~H lacks any H unit, $d_{H,t} = 0$ is always the case for this architecture, so changes in the S'-S'' weights are modulated only by $d_{D,t}$. Based on this, our working hypothesis is that efficacies of synapses from primary (S') to sensory association (polysensory, S'') areas can be modulated only by dopaminergic signals ($d_{D,t}$), without the hippocampus. Still, the absence of the hippocampus disrupts sensory learning by substantially reducing the net amount of discrepancy that contributes to weight gain by the S'-S'' connection.

The model's learning rule (see Eq. 23.2 in the Appendix) thus differs from others in that it has two related but separable "error" signals, hippocampal $(d_{H,t})$ and dopaminergic $(d_{D,t})$, for different sets of connections $(d_{H,t}$ for the S'-S" and, in the H architecture, S"-H connections; $d_{D,t}$ for the rest of the variable connections). Both are defined not as synchronous discrepancies between the UR and the CR, as they are in other computational models of Pavlovian conditioning (H units in this model are not activated by the US), but as asynchronous discrepancies (temporal differences) in pairs of successive ts between the actual activations of H (for $d_{H,t}$) or D units (for $d_{D,t}$). Both signals are global or "diffuse" in that they synchronously affect all weight changes at t, but differentially, depending on factors such as the strength of the afferent signals, the amount of weight gained by the connection, the amount of weight available on the unit, and so on.

Signal $d_{H,t}$ is defined as the absolute value of the hippocampal temporal difference. This definition is guided by the assumption that the hippocampus broadcasts changes (whether incremental or decremental) in its own activity (caused by changes in polysensory activity, which in turn reflect changes in primary sensory areas), back to synapses from primary sensory to polysensory areas. In contrast, $d_{D,t}$ is not defined as the absolute temporal difference. Instead, $d_{D,t}$ negative values (whenever D activations decrease from t - 1 to t) are set to 0.0 (see Eq. 23.2 in Appendix). As a result, there tend to be more opportunities for $d_{H,t}$ than for $d_{D,t}$ to surpass the threshold that decides whether a connection gains

or loses weight. Typically, then, weight loss by the S'-S'' and S''-H connections tends to be much slower than weight loss by the rest of the variable connections.

H and ~H are not abbreviations of the networks that were used in the simulations. They are exactly the network architectures that were actually used. Thus, H had exactly eight units $(S'_1,$ S'_2 , S^* , S'', H, M'', D, and M'), six variable connections, and two fixed connections, whereas ~H had exactly seven units (the same as H's minus H) and five variable connections (plus the same fixed connections as H). Such simplicity contrasts with networks in previous models of the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning, which have many more units and connections. For example, in the network used in another study [18], we counted 10 units, 3 variables, and 19 fixed connections. In the networks used in another model [19], we counted 20 input, 10 hidden, and 20 output units, for a total of 50 units, all fully connected in a feedforward manner (resulting in at least 400 feedforward connections), plus all the recurrent connections. The present networks are much simpler.

Two other features of H deserve mention. One is that the *D* signal $(d_{D,t})$ modulates $d_{H,t}$ (curved arrow in H). This modulation is intended to simulate a dopaminergic influence (e.g., from the ventral tegmental area) on the hippocampus, which has been well documented [40, 43, 45]. Again, in the ~H architecture, $d_{H,t} = 0.0$, for which weight changes in the S'-S" connections in this architecture are modulated only by $d_{D,t}$, which will always be weaker than a greater-than-zero $d_{H,t}$ amplified by $d_{D,t}$.

Another feature is that H is also intended to simulate relations between the hippocampus and polysensory areas, in two ways. In the first way, the *H* unit in the H architecture received a connection from *S*", intended to simulate projections from polysensory areas to the hippocampus (via the entorhinal cortex), which have been documented as well [46–49]. In the second way, $d_{H,t}$ modulates weight changes in the *S*'-*S*" and *S*"-*H* connections. This second way is more conjectural. Although the hippocampus is known to send projections back to polysensory areas [50], their precise synaptic structure and function remain unknown. The working hypothesis in the present model is that such projections modulate changes in the efficacies of synapses from primary sensory to polysensory neurons via modulatory axo-axonic synapses. In contrast to another model [19], and despite evidence to the contrary [51], the present model does not include projections from the hippocampus to motor association (M'', viz., prefrontal and premotor) areas. Nor does the present model simulate hippocampal projections to dopaminergic areas either, such as the ventral tegmental area, despite evidence to the contrary [52]. All these omissions, however, are only strategic simplifications for theorizing purposes, not factual claims about the real neuroanatomy of vertebrate brains.

The output unit (M') can be activated either by M'', if the activation of S^* is 0.0 (which simulates the absence of the US), or by S^* , if this activation is greater than 0.0 (which simulates the occurrence of the US). The two modes of activation are mutually exclusive. The level of activations of M' by M'' will depend on the weight of the M''-M' connection, everything else being equal.

H and ~H are the "templates" of the networks we used in the simulations. That is to say, they are generic *types* or *classes* of networks. For the simulations, different tokens (instances or copies) of each template were used. To label network tokens in the simulations, we used a code that began with the type name (H or ~H), followed by an abbreviation of the treatment (e.g., "d" for "short delay," "D" for "long delay," "BCK" for "backward," etc.). We used an individual network for each condition of a simulation experiment.

Simulations

We ran two simulations using different tokens of the architectures shown in Fig. 23.1, with a simulator coded by the first author with Delphi 7[©] for Windows[©]. The relevant source code, instructions and files necessary to repeat the simulations, output files of the simulations described here, and a description of the data folder structure are available at https://www.dropbox.com/sh/g62dxo92q9i9q4e/AADyECFcuolC-dY1CXYeySJNa?dl=0. All results are intended as comparative, ordinal approximations, rather than quantitatively precise emulations, of the animal evidence. Only output activations will be shown. Due to the stochastic component of the model (a Gaussian threshold in the activation rule) and the update algorithm (asynchronous random), simulations were run with different random seeds to check for reliability. There were differences (some networks did not show the effects of interest) but also reasonably reliable overall trends to simulate the effects of interest. Individual networks visually judged as representative of the effects were chosen for the results. As a convenient starting point, the study was descriptive, without any statistical analysis.

Simulation 1: Role of the Hippocampus in Delay and Trace Conditioning

Four tokens of the H architecture (labeled as Hd, Ht, HD, and HT) and four tokens of the ~H architecture (labeled as ~Hd, ~Ht, ~HD, and ~HT) received a training protocol intended to simulate either a short-delay (d), short-trace (t), long-delay (D), or long-trace (T) procedure. Figure 23.2 shows diagrams for each protocol.

The CS was defined as a maximal activation (1.0) of input unit S'_1 (see Fig. 23.1) for 3 ts in all procedures except for the long-delay procedure (D), where the CS lasted 7 ts. The training context (Ctx, see Fig. 23.1) was defined as a lower activation of unit S'_2 (0.8) concurrent with the CS and the TI (i.e., Ctx "filled" the TI) in the trace procedures. This lower activation simulated a less salient context [53]. The US was defined as the maximal activation of input unit S^* for 1 ts at CS's last ts in the delay procedures (for an ISI of 2 and 6 ts in the short- and long-delay procedures, respectively) or immediately after the last ts of the TI (for a TI of 1 or 3 ts in the short- and long-trace procedures, respectively) (Fig. 23.2).

Each network received 100 trials of its assigned protocol. For simplicity, the intertrial interval was not explicitly simulated, because it



Fig. 23.2 Training protocols in Simulation 1. ISI: interstimulus interval. TI: trace interval. CS: conditioned stimulus, defined as the maximal activation (1.0) of S'_1 (see Fig. 23.1) for a number of ts (either 3 or 7). Ctx: training context, defined as an S'_2 activation of 0.8 throughout the

complicates the simulations beyond our soughtafter simplicity as a starting point [33]. Instead, we assumed the intertrial interval to be sufficiently long to allow for all activations to decrease to near-zero values (the logistic function with x = 0 and $\sigma = 0.1$, approximately 0.007) at the moment immediately before the beginning of each trial (at t = 0). Initial weights for all connections and networks were set to 0.1. All this, as well as all free parameters (see Appendix), were the same for all networks and simulations.

Figure 23.3 shows the results in terms of a(M')(output activation) at the second-to-last CS moment across all training trials for an individual network representative of each condition. Ht and HT show for the first time that this model can simulate trace conditioning with short and (more weakly) long TIs, respectively. Also consistent with the animal evidence is that the absence of Hunits disrupted short-trace (~Ht) more than shortdelay conditioning (~Hd). This result is consistent with animal evidence that, as we said, led to the premature conclusion that the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning was just to "fill the A-US gap" in trace conditioning and played little if any role in delay conditioning. However, also consistent with the evidence and



ISI and TI. US: unconditioned stimulus, defined as a maximal activation of S^* for 1 ts. Each segment represents 1 ts of indefinite but equal duration. d short delay (ISI = 2 ts), t short trace (TI = 1 ts), D long delay (ISI = 6 ts), T long trace (TI = 3 ts)

another model [19], but against that premature conclusion, the absence of H units disrupted long-delay (~HD) more severely than short-trace conditioning (~Ht).

This disruption was much more severe (nearzero output activations after 100 conditioning trials) than that simulated with another model [19] and observed in animals, although this model simulated less disruption (about 45% mean output activation; see Fig. 23.5 of that paper [19]) than that observed in animals (about 35% conditioned response; see Fig. 23.4 of the other paper [8]). Despite this, our results are consistent with the revised notion that the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning is not restricted to trace but also includes delay conditioning. Both, the ISI in delay conditioning and the TI in trace conditioning, are equally relevant to such role. The results of trace conditioning are also consistent with predictions of models that do not postulate a role of the hippocampus for delay conditioning [16, 17] (Fig. 23.3).

These results are due to how the model's learning rule for changing connection weights works. The technical details can be seen in the learning rule in the Appendix, but, intuitively, two factors in this model promote weight loss



Fig. 23.3 Changes in a(M') (output activation) at CS's second-to-last ts across training trials, for an individual network representative of each condition in Simulation 1. Different tokens of architectures H (with an H unit; see Fig. 23.1, top panel) and ~H (without any H unit; see

Fig. 23.1, bottom panel) received different training protocols (see Fig. 23.2). Four copies of each architecture were thus used, and each copy received one protocol. d short delay (ISI = 2 ts), t short trace (TI = 1 ts), D long delay (ISI = 6 ts), T long trace (TI = 3 ts)

J. E. Burgos and J. M. Galeazzi



Fig. 23.4 Changes in output (M') activations at the second-to-last ts of each CS across all training trials for a replication (one individual network per condition) of the simulation of short-delay (d) conditioning (upper panels)



Fig. 23.5 Training protocols used in Simulation 2. CS, Ctx, and US were defined as before. In the backward procedure, US occurred one moment before CS in the pres-

(and thus the extent to which the input units can activate the output unit via the hidden units). Both factors have been widely shown to weaken Pavlovian conditioning and are among the basic principles of this kind of learning.

The one is weaker exteroceptive, sensory cues, as determined by cue intensity (or perhaps

and short-trace (t) conditioning (lower panels) with a weaker CS-Ctx compound ([CS,Ctx] subscript), for H (left panels) and ~H networks (right panels)



ence of Ctx alone. In the contiguous-trace procedure, US occurred concurrently with CS for one moment, after a TI of two moments after CS without the US

by limitations of the animal's sensory system; the model makes no essential distinction in this regard). In the model, weaker cues are simulated by lower sensory input activations (of S'_1 and S'_2 in Fig. 23.1). The other factor that has been shown to weaken Pavlovian conditioning is nonreinforcement, the absence of the biologically significant stimulus used as the US, simulated in this model as an S^* activation of 0.0. The negative effect of such absence worsens over time, so that the longer the time (in the present model, the greater the number of moments) without reinforcement, the more harmful the effect will be on conditioning (in these networks, the slower the weight gain and, hence, the less effective the activations of the output by the sensory input units).

Each factor can act individually, which is less detrimental, or in combination, which is more detrimental to learning in these networks. Both factors promote weight loss by the relevant connections, which reduces the efficacy of the cue inputs $(S'_1 \text{ and } S'_2)$ in activating the output unit (M') via the hidden units (S'' and M''). Nonreinforcement promotes significant weight loss by generating a dopaminergic discrepancy signal $(d_{D,t})$ below a certain threshold (see Eq. 23.2 in Appendix). In the present simulations, the long-delay (D) procedure had the most moments without the US (eight vs. two in the short-delay, four in the short-trace, and six in the long-trace procedure). Thus, this was the procedure where nonreinforcement had the most disruptive effect on learning. The effect can be seen in HD, which showed a noticeably slower acquisition and less stable maintenance, compared to Hd. The presence of H units in HD, however, prevented a more severe disruption of long-delay conditioning, by providing a greater-than-zero hippocampal discrepancy signal ($d_{H,t} > 0.0$; see Eq. 23.1 in Appendix). The absence of the Hunits in ~HD, in contrast, resulted in $d_{H,t} = 0$, causing a much more severe disruption of longdelay conditioning by promoting more weight loss.

The long-trace (T) procedure was the second most disruptive, for similar reasons: too many ts without the US, which promoted more substantial weight loss and, thus, acquisition retardation and unstable maintenance. This effect is observed in HT and was comparable to that observed in HD, but like HD, the presence of H units protected HT from it. The lack of H unit in ~HD resulted in a more disruptive effect of the T, although this effect was comparable to that of D.

The trace procedures tended to be more disruptive also because, locally, the US occurred in the presence of Ctx alone, a much weaker cue than the compound [CS,Ctx]. In this model, then, and in agreement with the evidence [54], trace conditioning depends more heavily on contextual learning (to different degrees, depending on the TI) than delay conditioning. Such dependence was more notorious in T than t in the H networks but exacerbated by the lack of H in the \sim H networks. The presence of H in the H networks thus lessened the deleterious effect of the context alone as a weaker input signal. According to the model, then, not only is trace conditioning largely context conditioning (depending on the TI), but also its deleterious effect is due to the context alone as a weaker cue.

The effects of these differences on learning are better appreciated in the final weights (all initial weights were set to 0.1). Most directly relevant to our present purposes, the final weights of the S'_1 - S''_1 connection (S'_1 was activated by the CS), rounded up, were 0.52 for HD and 0.22 for ~HD. This connection thus gained much less weight in ~HD, due to a long delay (too many moments without reinforcement) as a result of lacking the H unit, which made CS less effective in activating the output unit (M') through the hidden units (S'' and M'') than the corresponding connection in HD. The final weights of the same corresponding connection were 0.15 for HT versus 0.00063 in ~HT. T thus actually caused substantial weight loss in ~HT, having a far more detrimental effect on learning, in the form of the weight loss mechanism that simulates extinction and latent inhibition in this model. This effect was due to reinforcement of Ctx alone, a weaker cue than the compound [CS,Ctx] which occurred in D), in the absence of H units.

Simulation 1b: Effects on short-delay conditioning with weaker cues. All this implies that hippocampal lesions should be more detrimental with weaker CS and Ctx cues. To determine whether the model makes this prediction, we repeated the short-delay (d) and short-trace (t) simulations with new tokens of the H architecture (see Fig. 23.1), labeled as Hd_[CS,Ctx] and Ht_[CS,Ctx], and new tokens of the ~H architecture labeled as ~ $Hd_{[CS,Ctx]}$ and ~ $Ht_{[CS,Ctx]}$, where the subscripts indicate weaker cues. $Hd_{[CS,Ctx]}$ and $Ht_{[CS,Ctx]}$ received, respectively, the same short-delay (d) and short-trace (t) procedures as before (see Fig. 23.2) but with a weaker CS-Ctx compound where both input activations were set to 0.7. The results in Fig. 23.4 show that the model indeed makes the prediction.

As expected from the animal evidence, weaker CS and Ctx resulted in weaker, or at least slower, conditioning of Hd_[CS,Ctx] (compare the upper left panel of this figure to the Hd panel of Fig. 23.3). This result is consistent with observations that generally weaker cues promote slower conditioning. However, ~Hd_[CS,Ctx]'s conditioning (upper right panel) was even slower, with the very same short delay (compared to the ~Hd panel of Fig. 23.3). This result is also consistent with the animal evidence [54]. Similarly, for the short-trace procedure (t): Weaker cues severely disrupted conditioning in this procedure for the $\sim H_{[CS,Ctx]}$ network (compared to the $\sim Ht$ panel in Fig. 23.3). We are not aware of any animal evidence to that directly corroborates or falsifies this second result (but see [55]), so we submit it as a novel prediction to be tested in animals. The concrete prediction is that hippocampal lesions severely disrupt short-trace conditioning with weaker cues (Fig. 23.4).

Overall, these results fit our hypothesis that a possible role of the hippocampus could be to lessen the detrimental effects of weaker cues in Pavlovian conditioning. The effects on learning are more directly appreciated in some of the final weights. As before, focusing on the S'-S'' connection as the most critically affected by the absence of H, the final weights for this connection (rounded up) are shown in Table 23.1.

Table 23.1 Rounded-up final weights for the S'-S'' connection of the four individual networks used in Simulation 1b, where the short-delay (d) and short-trace (t) procedures as before (see Fig. 23.3) were repeated but with weaker cues, indicated by the subscripts

Hd _[CS,Ctx]	0.5
~Hd _[CS,Ctx]	0.4
Ht _[CS,Ctx]	0.09
$\sim Ht_{[CS,Ctx]}$	0.001

The results suggest, vis-á-vis our main hypothesis, that the hippocampus might play a more critical role in lessening the detrimental effects of reinforcement of weaker cues than momentary nonreinforcement on synaptic efficacies in polysensory areas. We are not aware of any attempt to simulate this particular phenomenon with other neural network models of conditioning. Nor do we know if the other models we have cited can actually simulate it. It remains to be seen if they can. In the meantime, we submit the result as the first time a neural network model has been shown to be able to simulate this particular phenomenon.

Discussion. The present model's hypothesis that a possible role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning is to lessen the detrimental effects of nonreinforcement (moments without the US) and reinforcement of weaker cues on polysensory learning (increases of efficacies of polysensory synapses) explains the animal evidence of the effects of hippocampal lesions on delay and trace conditioning. This role seems more parsimonious and precise than the one hypothesized in other models. There are several models available and a detailed point-by-point comparison would take too long. Here, we will just discuss a few relevant comparisons.

For example, another model [19] proposes that the hippocampus is "a predictive autoencoder, which learns to predict the next state of the world given current inputs" and "forms new stimulus representations in its internal layer;" "the essential function of the hippocampus is monitoring environmental regularities ... using prior experience and current inputs to predict what (out of all possible events) is likely to happen next" (p. 51). (Table 23.1) We are not saying that this is wrong. We are only saying that it covers a very large class of neural networks and, hence, says very little, if anything, that is unique to the hippocampus. We are also saying that our hypothesis, as implemented in the model, is propounded as a unique feature of the hippocampus. In the networks we have used here, only the H units play the hypothesized roles. No other type of unit does what the H units do in these networks.

Also in contrast to that other model [19], ours is more neuroanatomically explicit (without enlarging the network architecture) in specifying other kinds of brain structures that participate in the phenomenon with the hippocampus. In particular, that model does not specify a source of the sensory inputs to the hippocampus, whereas we hypothesize (in agreement with the evidence) that such inputs are specifically projections *at least* from polysensory areas (which in turn receive projections from primary sensory areas affected by the CS and contextual cues).

The present model also makes the prefrontal/ premotor versus primary motor distinction and hypothesizes a role for dopaminergic (D in Fig. 23.1) structures (e.g., the ventral tegmental area) not only in changes of efficacies (weights) of synapses (connections) from polysensory to prefrontal/premotor areas but also, more importantly, in modulating the role of the hippocampus. As we admitted, our model does not include other structures that other models do, like the cerebellum and amygdala. Such exclusions are important limitations of the present model compared to others.

Similar considerations apply to other attempts to model the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning. Another model [18] used attentional theory of embedding fields [56], published well before animal evidence on the differential roles of the hippocampus in delay and trace conditioning was available. Therefore, this theory was not intended to account for such differential roles, even if it included a simulated hippocampal structure. Schmajuk and DiCarlo (Fig. 23.2) [18] adapted the theory, mapping it into a circuit that included a structure intended to simulate the hippocampus (and others, e.g., the cerebellum). In this adaptation, most of the connections are fixed [17], and only three are variable. Therefore, the network's functioning depends relatively little on learning (if defined as weight changes in variable connections and if the number of variable connections determines how much a network's functioning depends on learning). In contrast, only three connections in our networks (thick lines in Fig. 23.1) are fixed; the rest (six in H, five in \sim H) are variable (thin lines in Fig. 23.1). Our networks' functioning thus depends much more heavily on learning than the one used by that other model [18]. It remains to be seen whether this is also the case in animals.

Another important difference is that the way hippocampal lesions are simulated seems less clear in the approach described by that other model [18]. It is unclear if the hippocampus box was removed from the diagram in the Fig. 23.2 or did it in a more mathematical way (see their Appendix B). In the present model, in contrast, how we simulated hippocampal lesions is clearer: by removing the H unit from H to obtain ~H. The authors of that other model [18] said this: "Hippocampal lesions eliminate incentive motivation, competition, and self-excitation among sensory representations" (p. 89). In our simulations, hippocampal lesions (simulated by the removal of the *H* units) did none of that: They eliminated neither incentive motivation (did not affect activations of the D unit), nor competition (competition occurred only between S'_1 and S'_2 for the limited amount of weight available on S'', but was unaffected by the absence of H in \sim H), nor self-excitation among sensory representations (input units were activated equally in the H and ~H networks). In our simulations, the simulated hippocampal lesions in ~H only exacerbated the detrimental effects of momentary nonreinforcement (long delays and traces) and weaker cues (the context alone in trace conditioning is a weaker signal than the context in compound to the CS).

The same authors used a different model [57] to simulate many of the same phenomena they simulated in their previous paper [18], including some simulated here, although we included short and long delays, as well as short and long traces, whereas neither of their two papers did. But what should we make of the use of different models by the same authors to simulate the same phenomena? Are both models valid? If not, which one is more valid and why? No obvious answers present themselves, but seeking them here would require a different paper. In the present study, in contrast, we have used exactly the same model used over the past 20+ years to simulate a wide variety of other conditioning phenomena.

With all these comparisons, we do not mean to say that the present model is "better" than others. Making this determination is exceedingly difficult, due to the great complexity of the phenomena involved, the massive amount of evidence to be accounted for, and the various features of models that influence their assessment (explanatory power, predictive power, parsimony, generality, etc.). We only mean to say that our model could contribute to the theorization of the role to the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning. As such, we present the model as just another piece to the theoretical puzzle, perhaps a step toward understanding the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning. In the ensuing simulations, we show that this simpler account works reasonably well with other Pavlovian conditioning phenomena that have also been studied in relation to the hippocampus.

Simulation 2: Role of the Hippocampus in Backward and Contiguous-Trace Conditioning

Our hypothesis prompts further simulations of differential effects of hippocampal lesions on Pavlovian conditioning correlated with differences in the intensities of the cues involved. The hypothesis is also consistent with another differential hippocampal dependence of Pavlovian conditioning in two procedures that have not yet been simulated by any model thus far: backward and contiguous-trace conditioning. Figure 23.5 shows a diagram of both procedures, as defined for the simulation. Again, the evidence shows hippocampal dependence of maintenance of backward [21] but not contiguous-trace conditioning [22].

The hypothesis that the hippocampus may play a key role in lessening the deleterious effect of reinforcement of weaker cues, than of nonreinforcement, is consistent with this evidence. The specific prediction here is that hippocampal lesions should be more deleterious to backward than to contiguous-trace conditioning. According to our hypothesis, the reason is that in backward conditioning the US occurs in the presence of the context (Ctx) alone, whereas in contiguous-trace conditioning the US occurs in the presence of the [CS,Ctx] compound, a stronger cue. Therefore, hippocampal lesions should be more deleterious of backward than contiguous-trace conditioning, as indeed has been observed in animals.

To determine whether the model makes this prediction, two new tokens of the H architecture, labeled as H-BCK and H-CTC, and two new tokens of the ~H architecture, labeled as ~H-BCK and ~H-CTC, received simulated versions of either a backward (BCK) or a contiguous-trace conditioning (CTC) procedure, as depicted in Fig. 23.5. CS, Ctx, and US were defined as before, but the US occurred at the ts immediately before the CS onset in BCK (in the presence of Ctx alone) and concurrently with the last 1-ts reoccurrence of the CS in CTC. Each network received 100 trials of its assigned protocol, followed by 20 test trials of the CS alone (in compound with Ctx), during which the learning rule was disabled to freeze the connection weights and assess the differential effects of the treatments on the activations only, without any learning (a common practice in neural network modeling).

The results are shown in Fig. 23.6 in terms of the mean a(M') (output activation) across all test trials (after conditioning) for an individual net-



Fig. 23.6 Results of Simulation 2 in terms of mean a(M') (output activation) across test trials (with the learning rule disabled) after training, for an individual network representative of each condition. H: networks with the *H* unit. ~H: networks without any *H* units. BCK backward procedure, CTC contiguous-trace conditioning procedure (see Fig. 23.5)

work representative of each condition. These results show for the first time that this model can simulate backward conditioning. More directly relevant to our present focus on the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning, the ~H network also simulated a more disruptive effect of hippocampal lesion on backward conditioning than CTC, in agreement with the animal evidence [21, 22].

These results are explained by the same mechanism described before. Again, in this model, ts without the US promote weight loss, and weaker input activations decelerate weight gain. In BCK, the US occurred only in the presence of the context, which provided a weaker input signal than the context in compound with the CS. This promoted weaker conditioning in H-BCK than H-CTC (which received the US with the context in compound with the CS). On this model, then, and in agreement with the evidence [57], backward conditioning depends heavily on contextual learning. The detrimental effect of BCK, which involved the occurrence of the US in the presence of C1 alone, a weaker cue, was exacerbated in ~H-BCK. The H units protected H-BCK from this weakening effect.

CTC, however, had the same number of ts without the US as BCK. Despite this, the absence of H was much less detrimental to ~H-CTC than to ~H-BCK. The reason is that the US occurred in the presence of the [CS,Ctx] compound, a stronger cue. Thus, H in this simulation played a more substantial role in lessening the detrimental effects of reinforcement of a weaker cue than nonreinforcement. This result also suggests that the hippocampus might be more critical in lessening the effects of reinforcement of weaker cues.

The final weights explain these differential effects on learning. Table 23.2 shows these weights for the S'_1 -S'' (affected by the CS) and S'_2 -S'' (affected by Ctx) connections for all the networks. BCK was mostly Ctx conditioning, for which S'_2 -S'' gained most of the weight in both BCK networks, but much more so for H-BCK than ~H-BCK. Context conditioning was thus much stronger in H-BCK than ~H-BCK. CTC, in contrast, was mostly CS learning, although there

Table 23.2 Rounded-up final weights of the S'_1 -S'' and S'_2 -S'' connections (see Fig. 23.2) for all networks in Simulation 2

	$S_1'-S''$	S_{2}' - S''
H-BCK	0.001	0.98
~H-BCK	0.0001	0.6
H-CTC	0.677	0.32
~H-CTC	0.728	0.17

H architecture with *H* units (see Fig. 23.1, top panel). $\sim H$ architecture without any *H* units (see Fig. 23.1, bottom panel)

BCK backward procedure, CTC contiguous-trace conditioning procedure

also was some Ctx learning, but the final S'_1 -S'' weights were very similar in both CTC networks, indicating that the lack of *H* in ~H-CTC had not deleterious effect on CTC. The more substantial difference was gained between the two S'_2 -S'' final weights: H-CTC's was substantially greater that ~H-CTC's, indicating that the lack of *H* in ~H-CTC had a substantial deleterious effect on contextual conditioning during CTC.

Discussion. The results of this second simulation are consistent with the hypothesis derived from the model that a possible role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning is to lessen the detrimental effects of weak cues. The [CS,Ctx] compound in CTC provides a much stronger cue at the moment of the US than Ctx alone in BCK. We are unaware of other attempts to model the present results. It remains to be seen whether other models make these predictions (we did not make this determination here because it would make the paper too long, perhaps the reason why it is not common practice to do it). In the meantime, we submit the present results as the first successful simulation of this particular differential effect of hippocampal lesions with a neural network model.

According to conventional wisdom, backward conditioning does not exist, which is inconsistent with the relatively high level of backward conditioning in H-BCK. However, this conventional wisdom has been questioned by evidence that shows that backward conditioning is more substantial than learning psychologists initially thought [58–61]. Certainly, backward conditioning is not as strong as forward-delay conditioning with an optimal ISI but still is sufficiently strong to often make a statistically significant difference from control conditions.

More problematic for the model is that it accounts BCK as a case of context conditioning: There was virtually no learning to the CS during BCK in either network. In fact, there was a considerable weight loss by the S'_1 -S'' and connections during BCK in both networks, albeit far more so in ~H-BCK than H-BCK. This result goes against conventional wisdom according to which all conditioning, even BCK, involves some CS learning, however weak. This model, however, predicts that BCK is just context conditioning. There might be ways to handle this, but this is not the proper place to discuss them. At this point, then, we submit this particular result as a limitation of the model.

General Discussion

This study is a first step to determine what an existent neural network model of conditioning predicts about the possible role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning. Our aim was only to show the model's potential in this regard. The simulation results are reasonably consistent with some of the relevant animal evidence on the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning with delay, trace, BCK, and CTC procedures. The model hypothesizes that this role could crucially be to lessen the detrimental effects of momentary nonreinforcement and weaker cues, both of which have been widely documented. If indeed they obtain in animals, we would expect these two roles to interact in significant ways. We gave two theoretical examples of how they could interact. Simulation 1b showed that the model predicts hippocampal lesions to cause a significant deterioration of short-delay conditioning with a weaker CS.

It remains to be seen whether and how the two roles we have hypothesized relate to those postulated in other models and whether the different hypothesized roles make differential empirically testable predictions that allow for a more precise decision on which hypothesis is closer to the truth. If they do not, they are empirically underdetermined and will have to be judged on more analytic, conceptual grounds, such as clarity and parsimony, if that they are mutually exclusive. Perhaps they are not: Unless they are proven beyond reasonable doubt to be contradictory, it is entirely possible that all of them coexist in the hippocampus. It would be redundant, but natural brains are that way.

We do not mean to say that all the parts of the hippocampus play the two roles we have hypothesized or even either role. Certain parts of the hippocampus might play neither role, just either role, or perhaps both, and several parts might play both roles (there may well be considerable redundancy in this regard). A key limitation of the model in this regard is that the hippocampus is modeled very abstractly, as an input-output black box the internal structure and function of which remain unspecified. Unfortunately, then, the model gives no clues as to exactly which part(s), if any, might play which role(s), to what extent, and how. The model only hypothesizes specifically, in agreement with present knowledge, that among the inputs to the hippocampus (via the entorhinal cortex) are projections from polysensory neurons (of course, the hippocampus receives inputs from many other parts of the brain, but the model excludes them for theoretical abstraction purposes) and sends a diffuse discrepancy signal (through the CA1 area) back to synapses from primary sensory to polysensory neurons. Fortunately, the anatomy of the hippocampus is sufficiently well known to guide neurobiological research to determine how the hippocampus generates the hypothesized modulating signal, if indeed it does, and specifically how it exerts its effects on polysensory synapses, especially in Pavlovian conditioning.

The model is simplifying also in excluding other structures that have been shown to be involved in Pavlovian conditioning (e.g., cerebellum, amygdala, hippocampus-prefrontal projections, etc.). But then again, such exclusion should not be interpreted as the theoretical assertion that these structures are irrelevant but only as convenient, strategic simplifications that only seek to determine the possible roles of different brain structures counterfactually, in theoretical isolation from other structures.

Another limitation is that we did not try to simulate several other phenomena that have been studied to determine the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning, such as latent inhibition [62–63], conditioned inhibition [64], differential conditioning [7], discrimination reversal [7], overshadowing, and blocking [64–69]. Although most of this evidence is mixed, precluding a clear conclusion, it remains to be seen what the present hypothesis predicts about the effects of hippocampal lesions in all these phenomena. We did not do these additional simulations because, again, they would have made the paper too long. We thus decided to leave them for further research.

It also is very likely that the simulation results reported here will vary with manipulations of the parameters of the training protocols we have used, such as the number of training trials, the salience of the context, and the magnitude of the US. We did not simulate the intertrial interval explicitly either (again, as a strategic simplification). All of these variables can change the results, so a more parametric set of simulations would be needed to determine how the results vary with all these variables, which could be a rich source of novel predictions. As far as we know, there is little research on how the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning is affected by all such parameters, especially intertrial interval. One variable that has been shown to be relevant in Pavlovian conditioning is the C/T ratio, where C denotes the intertrial (or, more precisely, interreinforcement) interval and T the trial duration. We are not aware of evidence showing interaction effects between hippocampal and C/T manipulations.

We also simulated the context in a very simplified way, as just another CS that accompanied other CSs. The model allows for more realistic ways to simulate the context [33], but for the present study we preferred to simulate the context more simply, as a convenient starting point. Future simulations where the intertrial interval is explicitly simulated will allow more realistic, although this raises the issue of how Ctx could be activated throughout this interval. We simulated Ctx as a constant relatively less salient cue than CS, but it is unclear if such strict constancy obtains throughout the intertrial interval.

In contrast to other models [18, 57], the present one explains the effects of hippocampal lesions on Pavlovian conditioning only in terms of learning deficits during acquisition, without appealing to any attentional process. The only aspect of the model that relates most closely to attentional factors is the input activation levels. A low input activation could be interpreted as less attention, but it could also be interpreted as a low cue intensity (which is how we have interpreted here). However, unlike other models, the present one does not include a mechanism for simulating changes in such levels (they take place only by being assigned as part of the design of training protocols).

Of course, we do not mean to say that the hippocampus plays no role in attentional processes. Rather, the present hypothesis is that the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning is not purely attentional but also associative and thus plays a key role during *acquisition*. The model just allows to investigate this associative role as a counterfactual simplification, in isolation from attentional processes (at least as modeled by other models), to determine how much of the evidence can be accounted for if the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning *were* only associative. The present results suggest that a good portion of the evidence can be accounted thusly.

Another issue arises from the kinds of surgical controls typically used in studies of the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning. A common control is the so-called cortical, which involves cortical instead of hippocampal damage. Although uses of this control do not always specify the exact cortical areas damaged, some of them may correspond to those hypothesized in the present model (primary sensory, polysensory, prefrontal, premotor, and primary motor areas). Clearly, removing all these units from the networks used here would result essentially in no network and, hence, neither learning nor behavior. To determine whether removing such units from networks in this model affect their performance in Pavlovian conditioning, much larger networks would be needed. It thus remains to be seen how "graceful" performance degradation is in larger networks with progressive removal of those other kinds of units. The gracefulness of performance degradation in an artificial neural network depends on its size. If five units (other than the H units) are removed from the networks used here, their performance will degrade sharply, compared to the removal of the same number of units from a 100-unit network. In any case, we assume that the brains of the animals used in studies of the effects of hippocampal lesions on Pavlovian conditioning are sufficiently large to expect control cortical lesions to leave sufficient brain matter in those other areas as to allow animals without hippocampal lesions to still perform normally in Pavlovian conditioning tasks.

As yet another simplification, we did not include any inhibitory processes in the present study. Networks in this model can have inhibitory units, but thus far they have been restricted to S''and M" units. Hence, some S" units could inhibit hippocampal units (and M'' units, and some of these could inhibit D and output units). However, hippocampal units per se have played no inhibitory role thus far, although it would be relatively easy to add this feature (and others, such as hippocampal effects on M'' units). Additionally, as we said, the present model does not include any influence of the hippocampus on the modulation of synaptic efficacies of projections from polysensory to premotor areas and from these to primary motor areas.

Finally, there is the issue of whether and how the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning relates to the role in other, seemingly different, tasks, in particular, those used to study spatial learning in navigational tasks (e.g., water mazes). Whether there is a relation, and its nature, will depend on whether and how Pavlovian conditioning, which is not considered as a spatial learning task, plays any role in spatial learning. As is well known, hippocampal lesions severely disrupt spatial learning in these tasks (e.g., lesioned animals have a much greater difficulty to find the submerged platform in a water maze). If spatial learning is interpreted as involving Pavlovian conditioning where the contextual surrounding cues function as CSs, and correctly resolving the task (e.g., reaching the submerged platform in a water maze) is the reinforcer, then the present model predicts that a sufficient increase in the salience of certain key contextual cues should improve performance in these tasks by animals with hippocampal lesions.

Reinforcement frequency might be more difficult to manipulate in water mazes, but in other kinds of mazes (e.g., radial mazes), it could be manipulated by changing the amount of reinforcer (food) available at each arm. It is also well known that animals with hippocampal lesions perform poorly in these mazes (they have difficulties learning to avoid arms already visited). According to this model, perhaps a sufficiently greater amount of reinforcement (and more intense cues) in the arm might improve performance in these mazes in animals with hippocampal lesions. In fact, there are attempts to design mazes that allow for Pavlovian conditioning procedures and the manipulation of the ISI and cue intensity [70, 71]. These kinds of studies allow for a closer relation between Pavlovian conditioning and spatial learning.

In sum, the present account is quite conjectural, so we intend it only as a suggestive step toward a better theoretical understanding of the role of the hippocampus in Pavlovian conditioning. The model certainly has the abstract, simplifying character of other computational models, and has limitations, as all models do. The degree of simplification may be too high to some, perhaps to the point of making this a "toy" model, but this is not the only model guilty of this. Fortunately, some [72] still believe that "mathematical toy models will continue to play a major role in guiding the way we think about neuroscience" (p. 64). Certainly, such models are not enough, but to dismiss them because they are abstract or limited goes against the spirit and raison d'être and thus the whole institution of scientific theorizing: Abstraction and simplification are the means by which models become analytically tractable and, to this extent, can give clear and precise explanations and make clear and precise empirically testable predictions.

Compliance with Ethical Standards This study was funded by no grant.

Ethical Approval No animals were used or participated in this article, excepting the authors, who were not mistreated in anyway; nor does it cite any studies with animals performed by any of the authors. Whether or not the networks used were mistreated requires an expanded code of ethics that includes the possibility and nature of suffering in artificial systems. Unfortunately, no so such code is yet available, and the issue of whether silicon computer quantum states are capable of suffering remains controversial.

Appendix

Activation Rule

The model's two main equations are the activation rule and the learning rule. The activation rule is used to compute the momentary level of activation of a neural processing unit j at moment t. The learning rule is used to compute the change in the weight of a connection from afferent (preconnection, presynaptic) unit i to target (postconnection, postsynaptic) unit j. The activation rule is defined as follows:

$$a_{j,t} = \begin{cases} a_{s^*,t}, \text{ if } a_{s^*,t} > 0 \text{ and } j \text{ is } V_D \text{ or } R^* \text{ (unconditional activation); otherwise,} \\ L(exc_{j,t}) + \tau_j L(exc_{j,t-1}) [1 - L(exc_{j,t})] - L(inh_{j,t}), \\ \text{ if } L(exc_{j,t}) > L(inh_{j,t}) \text{ and } L(exc_{j,t}) \ge \theta_t \text{ (reactivation)} \\ a_{j,t-1} - \kappa_j a_{j,t-1} (1 - a_{j,t-1}) - L(inh_{j,t}), \\ \text{ if } L(exc_{j,t}) > L(inj_{j,t}) \text{ and } L(exc_{j,t}) < \theta_{j,t} \text{ (decay)} \\ 0, \text{ if } L(exc_{j,t}) \le L(inh_{j,t}) \text{ (deactivation)} \end{cases}$$

$$(23.1)$$

where *j* is a neural processing (hidden, output, *H*, or V_D) unit, *t* is a moment in time, and

$$L(x) = \frac{1}{1 + e^{\frac{-x + \mu}{\sigma}}}$$

is the logistic function with constant mean $\mu = 0.5$ and standard deviation $\sigma = 0.1$ (a spontaneous activation free parameter). In this function

$$x = \sum_{i=1}^{m} a_{i,t}^{+} w_{i,j,t}^{+}$$

for $exc_{i,t}$, and

$$x = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{i,t} w_{i,j,t}^{-}$$

for $inh_{j,t}$, where *m* denotes the total number of excitatory units connected to *j* and *n* the total number of inhibitory units connected to *j*. No inhibitory units were used in this study, so the amount of inhibition was 0.0 for all units and networks in all simulations. Whether the rule is in reactivation or decay mode at *t* depends on a Gaussian threshold $(\theta_{i,t})$, a random number gen-

erated according to a Gaussian distribution with a mean of 0.2 and standard deviation of 0.15. $\theta_{j,i}$ is dynamical, as it is generated at every moment for every computational unit. The other two activation free parameters are temporal summation ($\tau_j = 0.1$) and decay ($\kappa_j = 0.1$). The same free parameters that were used here have been used in most previous simulation research with the model.

On input activations and stimulus traces. A network's inputs in this model are not activated via the activation rule but manually, by just setting their activations according to some training protocol that simulates a conditioning procedure of interest. The protocol includes simulations of sensory stimuli typically used as cues in conditioning studies (e.g., lights, tones, noises, etc.) and biologically significant stimuli typically used as USs or primary reinforcers (e.g., food, water, electrical shocks, etc.). In previous research with this model, we have assumed that these activations are real-time primary sensory effects of external stimuli. Hence, we do not intend input activations in this model to simulate "traces" qua input activations in the absence of external stimuli but real-time effects of ongoing stimuli. Thus, a greater-than-zero input activation means in this model that a stimulus is effectively present, *roughly* at that moment.

Thus far in research with this model, we have had no need to conceive input activations as "stimulus traces." The notion of a stimulus trace in models of Pavlovian conditioning was introduced ad hoc to account for trace conditioning in a way that fits the conventional wisdom that the CS always acquires some associative strength, even if absent. In Simulation 1, however, we simulated trace conditioning (and in Simulation 2, backward conditioning) as *only* context conditioning. We know this to be extreme and against conventional wisdom, but it is consistent with the evidence (see Marlin, 1981).

Learning Rule

The learning rule is defined as follows:

$$\Delta w_{i,j,t} = \begin{cases} \alpha_j a_{j,t} d_t p_{i,t} r_{j,t}, \text{ if } d_t \ge 0.001 \\ -\beta_j w_{i,j,t-1} a_{i,t} a_{j,t}, \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(23.2)

where α (rate of weight increment) and β (the rate of weight decrement) denote the two free parameters of the rule ($\alpha = 0.5$ and $\beta = 0.1$ for all connections; the same parameters have been used in most previous simulation research with this model). Ideally, the relative values of various parameters would reflect independent, experimentally determined values. All initial weights were set to 0.1 (cf. Burgos 2007).

The other terms of the learning rule are:

 $a_{i,i}$: activation of afferent unit (*i*), either excitatory or inhibitory

$$a_{j,t}$$
: activation of target unit (j)

- $d_t = d_{H,t} = |a_{H,t} a_{H,t-1}| + d_{D,t}(1 d_{H,t-1})$, if *j* is an *S*" or *H* unit (see Fig. 23.1 for the different kinds of units and how they are connected)
- $d_t = d_{D,t} = a_{D,t} a_{D,t-1}$, if *j* is an *M*", *D*, or *M*' unit; if $d_{D,t} < 0.0$, then $d_{D,t} = 0.0$

$$p_{i,t} = \frac{a_{i,t}w_{i,j,t-1}}{N}$$
, where $N = exc_{j,t}$ or $N = inh_{j,t}$

depending on whether i is excitatory or inhibitory, respectively

$$r_{j,t} = 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{n} w_{i,j,t}$$

The key factor is d_t , a signal that modulates changes of all weights in the same moment (i.e., it is a diffuse signal), inspired by evidence on the roles of hippocampal (e.g., CA1, simulated by Hunits in the H architecture at the top of Fig. 23.1) and dopaminergic (e.g., ventral tegmental area, simulated by the D unit in Fig. 23.1) areas in conditioning. d_t also is a discrepancy signal in that it is defined as a temporal difference between the actual activations of H and D units in successive pairs of moments. The learning rule includes two such modulating signals: $d_{H,t}$, which depends on the activations of the H units, and $d_{D,t}$, which depends on the activations of the D units. As shown above, $d_{H,t}$ is amplified by $d_{D,t}$. However, in the ~H networks (bottom panel, Fig. 23.1), $d_{H,t} = 0.0$, for which $d_t = d_{D,t}$. Hence, d_t in the ~H networks tends to be weaker than in the H networks.

The $p_{i,t}$ and $r_{j,t}$ factors introduce a "rich get richer" sort of competition among connections for a limited amount of weight (1.0) on a common target unit. In the network architectures used in the simulations (see Fig. 23.1), this competition took place on units that received two connections (viz., all the *S*" and *M*" units, as well as the *D* unit). The $p_{i,t}$ factor, like some other models, includes a Hebbian component where connection weights partly depend on the co-activations of the connected (afferent and target) units.

In general, connections tend to gain weight (to a greater or lesser degree, depending on several factors) when S^* (see Fig. 23.1) is activated and lose weight when S^* is not activated. Successive timesteps with a zero S^* activation thus promote weight loss. The same learning rule was used to modify the connection weights across all times, connections, networks, units, and training protocols. All activations and weights are updated at every moment *t* according to an asynchronous random procedure. In this procedure, a randomly ordered list of all units (or connections) is generated at *t*, and new activations (or weights) are computed in that order (according to Eq. 23.1 for activations or Eq. 23.2 for weights). The activations (or weights) from t - 1 are immediately replaced by the new activations at *t*. Hence, by chance, the activation of a unit at *t* could depend on the activations of its afferents (some or all) at t - 1. Therefore, the propagation of activations across the network, from input to hidden to output layers, is not strictly sequential and synchronous.

References

- Calvin NT, McDowell JJ. Unified-theory-ofreinforcement neural networks do not simulate the blocking effect. Behav Process. 2015;120:54–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beproc.2015.08.008.
- Donahoe JW, Burgos JE, Palmer DC. A selectionist approach to reinforcement. J Exp Anal Behav. 1993;60(1):17–40. https://doi.org/10.1901/ jeab.1993.60-17.
- Burgos JE, Donahoe JW. Unified principle of reinforcement: a reply to N. T. Calvin and J. J. McDowell. Behav Process. 2016;126:46–54. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.beproc.2016.03.003.
- Scoville WB, Milner B. Loss of recent memory after bilateral hippocampal lesions. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1957;20(1):11–21. https://doi. org/10.1136/jnnp.20.1.11.
- Zola-Morgan S, Squire LR, Amaral DG. Human amnesia and the medial temporal region: enduring memory impairment following a bilateral lesion limited to field CA1 of the hippocampus. J Neurosci. 1986;6(10):2950–67. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.06-10-02950.1986.
- Akase E, Alkon DL, Disterhoft JF. Hippocampal lesions impair memory of short-delay conditioned eye blink in rabbits. Behav Neurosci. 1989;103(5):935– 43. https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.103.5.935.
- Berger TW, Orr WB. Hippocampectomy selectively disrupts discrimination reversal conditioning of the rabbit nictitating membrane response. Behav Brain Res. 1983;8(1):49–68. https://doi. org/10.1016/0166-4328(83)90171-7.
- Beylin AV, Gandhi CC, Wood GE, Talk AC, Matzel LD, Shors TJ. The role of the hippocampus in trace conditioning: temporal discontinuity or task difficulty? Neurobiol Learn Mem. 2001;76(3):447–61. https://doi.org/10.1006/nlme.2001.4039.

- Chowdhury N, Quinn JJ, Fanselow MS. Dorsal hippocampus involvement in trace fear conditioning with long, but not short, trace intervals in mice. Behav Neurosci. 2005;119(5):1396–402. https://doi. org/10.1037/0735-7044.119.5.1396.
- Clark RE, Squire LR. Classical conditioning and brain systems: the role of awareness. Science. 1998;280(5360):77–81. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.280.5360.77.
- Moyer JR, Deyo RA, Disterhoft JF. Hippocampectomy disrupts trace eye-blink conditioning in rabbits. Behav Neurosci. 1990;104(2):243–52. https://doi. org/10.1037/0735-7044.104.2.243.
- Port RL, Mikhail AA, Patterson MM. Differential effects of hippocampectomy on classically conditioned rabbit nictitating membrane response related to interstimulus interval. Behav Neurosci. 1985;99(2):200–8. https://doi. org/10.1037/0735-7044.99.2.200.
- Schmaltz LW, Theios J. Acquisition and extinction of a classically conditioned response in hippocampectomized rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*). J Comp Physiol Psychol. 1972;79(2):328–33. https://doi. org/10.1037/h0032531.
- Solomon PR, Vander Schaaf ER, Thompson RF, Weisz DJ. Hippocampus and trace conditioning of the rabbit's classically conditioned nictitating membrane response. Behav Neurosci. 1986;100(5):729–44. https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.100.5.729.
- Ludvig EA, Sutton RS, Verbeek E, Kehoe EJ. A computational model of hippocampal function in trace conditioning. Adv Neural Inf Process Syst (NIPS-08). 2009;21:993–1000. Available from: https://papers. nips.cc/paper/3619-a-computational-model-of-hippocampal-function-in-trace-conditioning.
- Rodriguez P, Levy WB. A model of hippocampal activity in trace conditioning: where is the trace? Behav Neurosci. 2001;115(6):1224–38. https://doi. org/10.1037/0735-7044.115.6.1224.
- Yamazaki T, Tanaka S. A neural network model for trace conditioning. Int J Neural Syst. 2005;15(1–2):23– 30. https://doi.org/10.1142/S0129065705000037.
- Schmajuk NA, DiCarlo JJ. A neural network approach to hippocampal function in classical conditioning. Behav Neurosci. 1991;105(1):82–110. https://doi. org/10.1037/0735-7044.105.1.82.
- Moustafa AA, Wufong E, Servatious RJ, Pang KCH, Gluck MA, Myers CE. Why trace and delay conditioning are sometimes (but not always) hippocampal dependent: a computational model. Brain Res. 2013;1493:48–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. brainres.2012.11.020.
- Gluck MA, Myers CE. Hippocampal mediation of stimulus representation: a computational theory. Hippocampus. 1993;3(4):491–516. https://doi. org/10.1002/hipo.450030410.
- Quinn JJ, Oommen SS, Morrison GE, Fanselow MS. Post-training excitotoxic lesions of the dorsal hippocampus attenuate forward trace, backward trace, and delay fear conditioning in a temporally specific

manner. Hippocampus. 2002;12(4):495–504. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.10029.

- Bangasser DA, Waxler DE, Santollo J, Shors TJ. Trace contiguity and the hippocampus: the importance of contiguity. J Neurosci. 2006;26(34):8702–6. https:// doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1742-06.2006.
- Burgos JE. The operant/respondent distinction: a computational neural-network analysis. In: Schmajuk N, editor. Computational models of conditioning. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2010.
- Burns R, Burgos JE, Donahoe JW. Pavlovian conditioning: pigeon nictitating membrane. Behav Process. 2011;86:102–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. beproc.2010.10.004.
- Burgos JE. Evolving artificial neural networks in Pavlovian environments. In: Donahoe JW, Dorsel-Packard V, editors. Neural-network models of cognition: biobehavioral foundations. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 1997. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0166-4115(97)80090-8.
- 26. Burgos JE, Donahoe JW. Structure and function in selectionism: implications for complex behavior. In: Leslie J, Blackman D, editors. Issues in experimental and applied analyses of human behavior. Reno: Context Press; 2000.
- Burgos JE, Flores C, García O, Díaz C, Cruz Y. A simultaneous procedure facilitates acquisition under an optimal interstimulus interval in artificial neural networks and rats. Behav Process. 2008;78(2):302–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beproc.2008.02.018.
- Donahoe JW, Burgos JE. Behavior analysis and revaluation. J Exp Anal Behav. 2000;74(3):331–46. https:// doi.org/10.1901/jeab.2000.74-331.
- Burgos JE. Theoretical note: simulating latent inhibition with selection neural networks. Behav Process. 2003;62(1–3):183–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0376-6357(03)00025-1.
- Burgos JE. Theoretical note: the *C/T* ratio in artificial neural networks. Behav Process. 2005;69(2):249–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beproc.2005.02.008.
- Burgos JE. Autoshaping and automaintenance: a neural-network approach. J Exp Anal Behav. 2007;88(1):115–30. https://doi.org/10.1901/ jeab.2007.75-04.
- Sánchez JM, Galeazzi JM, Burgos JE. Some structural determinants of Pavlovian conditioning in artificial neural networks. Behav Process. 2010;84(1):526–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beproc.2010.01.018.
- Burgos JE, Murillo-Rodríguez E. Neural-network simulations of two context-dependence phenomena. Behav Process. 2007;75(2):242–9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.beproc.2007.02.003.
- Burgos JE, García-Leal Ó. Autoshaped choice in artificial neural networks: implications for behavioral economics and neuroeconomics. Behav Process. 2015;114:63–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. beproc.2015.01.010.
- Burgos JE. Misbehavior in artificial neural networks. Int J Comp Psychol. 2015;28:1–21. Available from: http://escholarship.org/uc/item/3vb500tv.

- 36. Ji J, Maren S. Electrolytic lesions of the dorsal hippocampus disrupt renewal of conditional fear after extinction. Learn Mem. 2005;12(3):270–6. https:// doi.org/10.1101/lm.91705.
- McEchron MD, Tseng W, Disterhoft JF. Single neurons in CA1 hippocampus encode trace interval duration during trace heart rate (fear) conditioning in rabbit. J Neurosci. 2003;23(4):1535–47. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-04-01535.2003.
- Moyer JR, Power JM, Thompson LT, Disterhoft JF. Increased excitability of aged rabbit CA1 neurons after trace eyeblink conditioning. J Neurosci. 2000;20(14):5476–82. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.20-14-05476.2000.
- 39. Frey U, Schroeder H, Matthies H. Dopaminergic antagonists prevent long-term maintenance of posttetanic LTP in the CA1 region of rat hippocampal slices. Brain Res. 1990;522(1):69–75. https://doi. org/10.1016/0006-8993(90)91578-5.
- 40. Gasbarri A, Packard MG, Campana E, Pacitti C. Anterograde and retrograde tracing of projections from the ventral tegmental area to the hippocampal formation in the rat. Brain Res Bull. 1994;33(4):445–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/0361-9230(94)90288-7.
- Li S, Cullen WK, Anwyl R, Rowan MJ. Dopaminedependent facilitation of LTP induction in hippocampal CA1 by exposure to spatial novelty. Nat Neurosci. 2003;6(5):526–31. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1049.
- 42. Morris RGM, Moser EI, Riedel G, Martin SJ, Sandin J, Day M, O'Carroll C. Elements of a neurobiological theory of the hippocampus: the role of activity-dependent synaptic plasticity in memory. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci. 2003;358(1432):773–86. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2002.1264.
- 43. Scatton B, Simon H, Le Moal M, Bischoff S. Origin of dopaminergic innervation of the rat hippocampal formation. Neurosci Lett. 1980;18(2):125–31. https:// doi.org/10.1016/0304-3940(80)90314-6.
- 44. Verney C, Baulac M, Berger B, Alverez C, Vigny A, Helle KB. Morphological evidence for a dopaminergic terminal field in the hippocampal formation of young and adult rat. Neuroscience. 1985;14(4):1039– 52. https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4522(85)90275-1.
- Stein L, Belluzzi JD. Cellular investigations of behavioral reinforcement. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 13(2–3):69–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0149-7634(89)80014-4.
- 46. Amaral DG, Insausti R, Cowan WM. Evidence for a direct projection from the superior temporal gyrus to the entorhinal cortex in the monkey. Brain Res. 1983;275(2):263–77. https://doi. org/10.1016/0006-8993(83)90987-3.
- 47. Burwel RD, Amaral DG. Cortical afferents of the perirhinal, postrhinal, and entorhinal cortices of the rat. J Comp Neurol. 398(2):179–205. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-9861(19980824)398:2%3C179::AID-CNE3%3E3. 0.CO;2-Y.
- Mohedano-Moriano A, Martínez-Marcos A, Pro-Sistiaga P, Blaizot X, Arroyo-Jimenez MM, Marcos

P, Artacho-Pérula E, Insausti R. Convergence of unimodal and polymodal sensory input to the entorhinal cortex in the fascicularis monkey. Neuroscience. 2008;151(1):255–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroscience.2007.09.074.

- Van Hoesen GW, Hyman BT. Hippocampal formation: anatomy and the patterns of pathology in Alzheimer's disease. Prog Brain Res. 1990;83:445–57. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0079-6123(08)61268-6.
- Swanson LW, Köhler C. Anatomical evidence for direct projections from the entorhinal area to the entire cortical mantle in the rat. J Neurosci. 6(10):3010–23. http://www.jneurosci.org/content/6/10/3010.long.
- Barbas H, Blatt GJ. Topographically specific hippocampal projections target functionally distinct prefrontal areas in the Rhesus monkey. Hippocampus. 1995;5(6):511–33. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo. 450050604.
- Lisman JE, Grace AA. The hippocampal-VTA loop: controlling the entry of information into long-term memory. Neuron. 2005;46(5):703–13. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.neuron.2005.05.002.
- Witnauer JE, Miller RR. Conditioned suppression is an inverted-U function of footshock intensity. Learn Behav. 2013;41(1):94–106.
- Marlin NA. Contextual associations in trace conditioning. Anim Learn Behav. 1981;9(4):519–23. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03209784.
- 55. G-y W, Yao J, Hu B, H-m Z, Li Y-d, Li X, Li Q, J-f S. Reevaluating the role of the hippocampus in delay eyeblink conditioning. PLoS One. 2013;8:e71249. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0071249.
- Grossberg S. A neural model of attention, reinforcement, and discrimination learning. Int Rev Neurobiol. 1975;18:263–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0074-7742(08)60037-9.
- Schmajuk NA, DiCarlo JJ. Stimulus configuration, classical conditioning, and hippocampal function. Psychol Rev. 1992;99(2):268–305. https://doi. org/10.1037/0033-295X.99.2.268.
- Chang RC, Blaisdell AP, Miller RR. Backward conditioning: mediation by the context. J Exp Psychol Anim Behav Process. 2003;29(3):171–83. https://doi. org/10.1037/0097-7403.29.3.171.
- Chang RC, Stout S, Miller RR. Comparing excitatory backward and forward conditioning. Q J Exp Psychol. 2004;57B(1):1–23. https://doi. org/10.1080/02724990344000015.
- Heth CD, Rescorla RA. Simultaneous and backward fear conditioning in the rat. J Comp Physiol Psychol. 1973;82(3):434–43.

- Spetch ML, Wilkie DM, Pinel JPJ. Backward conditioning: a reevaluation of the empirical evidence. Psychol Bull. 1981;89(1):163–75.
- Kaye H, Pearce JM. Hippocampal lesions attenuate latent inhibition of a CS and a neutral stimulus. Psychobiology. 1987;15(1):293–9.
- 63. Coutureau E, Galani R, Gosselin O, Majchrzak M, Di Scala G. Entorhinal but not hippocampal or subicular lesions disrupt latent inhibition in rats. Neurobiol Learn Mem. 1999;72(3):143–57. https://doi.org/10.1006/nlme.1998.3895.
- Solomon PR. Role of the hippocampus in blocking and conditioned inhibition of the rabbit's nictitating membrane response. J Comp Physiol Psychol. 1977;91(2):407–17. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0077330.
- 65. Garrud P, Rawlins NP, Mackintosh NJ, Goodal G, Cotton MM, Feldon J. Successful overshadowing and blocking in hippocampectomized rats. Behav Brain Res. 1984;12(1):39–53. https://doi. org/10.1016/0166-4328(84)90201-8.
- 66. Good M, Macphail EM. Hippocampal lesions in pigeons (*Columba livia*) disrupt preexposure but not overshadowing or blocking. Quart J Exp Psychol. 1994;47B(3):263–91. https://journals.sagepub.com/ doi/abs/10.1080/14640749408401360.
- Holland PC, Fox GD. Effects of hippocampal lesions on overshadowing and blocking procedures. Behav Neurosci. 2003;117(3):650–6. https://doi. org/10.1037/0735-7044.117.3.650.
- Rickert EJ, Bent TL, Lane P, French J. Hippocampectomy and the attenuation of blocking. Behav Biol. 1978;22(2):147–60. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0091-6773(78)92170-3.
- Schmajuk NA, Spear NE, Isaacson RL. Absence of overshadowing in rats with hippocampal lesions. Physiol Psychol. 1983;11(1):59–62. https://doi. org/10.3758/BF03326770.
- Treviño M. Associative learning through acquired salience. Front Behav Neurosci. 2016;11(9):353. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00353.
- Treviño M, Oviedo T, Jendritza P, Li S-B, Köhr G, De Marco RJ. Controlled variations in stimulus similarity during learning determine visual discrimination capacity in freely moving mice. Sci Rep. 2013;3:1048. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep01048.
- Gerstner W, Sprekeler H, Deco G. Theory and simulation in neuroscience. Science. 2012;338(6103):60–5. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1227356.



Brassica Vegetables: Rich Sources of Neuroprotective Compounds

24

Hebe Vanesa Beretta, Carolina Torres-Palazzolo, Daniela Andrea Ramírez, and Alejandra Beatriz Camargo

Introduction

The most common types of psychiatric and neurological disorders include Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, dementia, anxiety, cerebrovascular impairment, seizures, stroke, and depression [1]. Due to the increase in the average life expectancy in the present era, incidence of neurodegenerative disorders has dramatically risen, due also to the fact that the risk increases dramatically with age. Concordantly, neurodegenerative diseases are predicted to be the second most common cause of death among the elderly by the 2040s.

Among the strategies of neuroprotection, traditionally synthetic therapeutic drugs have been employed, but there are several accompanying side effects. For instance, in Parkinson's disease pharmacological treatments are only successful for approximately ten years; long-term use leads

Facultad de Ciencias Agrarias, UNCuyo, Mendoza, Argentina to the accumulation of ROS (reactive oxygen species) and other toxic metabolites [2]. Besides, these drugs are unable to slow disease progression. Furthermore, synthetic neuroprotective agents are considered to have several side effects such as dry mouth, tiredness, drowsiness, sleepiness, and others. In this context, studying and characterizing natural neuroprotective compounds become crucial for preventing neurodegenerative diseases.

Phytochemicals are defined as the bioactive nonnutrient plant compounds in fruits, vegetables, grains, and other plant food [3]. Phytochemicals have proven to be effective in preventing several vascular and degenerative diseases including cardiovascular diseases, various types of cancers and neurodegenerative disorders. Additionally, they represent the advantage of having no side effects.

There are several classes of phytochemicals including sulfur, phenolics, alkaloids, steroids, terpenoids, saponins, flavonoids, etc. The Brassicaceae family contains more than 350 genera and 3000 species distributed worldwide represented mainly by broccoli, cauliflower, cabbage, radish, rocket, watercress, etc. These vegetables have been consumed for their distinctive flavor and also for their health-enhancing properties (Fig. 24.1). Foods that have diseasepreventing potential are generally known as "functional foods." Since Brassicaceae members are rich sources of many beneficial compounds

H. V. Beretta · C. Torres-Palazzolo · D. A. Ramírez Laboratorio de Cromatografía para Agroalimentos, Instituto de Biología Agrícola de Mendoza, Universidad Nacional de Cuyo, CONICET, Mendoza, Argentina

A. B. Camargo (🖂)

Laboratorio de Cromatografía para Agroalimentos, Instituto de Biología Agrícola de Mendoza, Universidad Nacional de Cuyo, CONICET, Mendoza, Argentina

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_24





such as isothiocyanates, phenolic, vitamins, several minerals, and carotenoids, they are considered functional crops. This chapter focuses in reviewing, for first time, cruciferous bioactive compounds that may contribute to improving neurological health.

Neuroprotective Compounds Found in Brassicaceae Family Members

Glucosinolates and Their Metabolic Derivatives

Glucosinolates are secondary plant metabolites that have attracted researchers' attention due to their multiple health-enhancing properties. More than 120 different glucosinolates (GSL) have been identified in plants, specifically in Brassicaceae family, in which GSL represents the dominant class of secondary metabolites, but also in a few other species such as *Capparis spinosa* (capers), *Carica papaya* (papaya), and *Moringa oleifera* (moringa) [4, 5]. Glucosinolates are secondary metabolites that consist of anionic thioglucosides with a diverse array of carbon skeletons [6].

GSL can be classified into three classes: aliphatic, indolic, and aromatic, according to their precursor amino acid (methionine, tryptophan or aromatic amino acid, tyrosine or phenylalanine), respectively [7]. The concentration and types of GSL present in food are highly variable depending on several factors, such as genetics, developmental stage, cultivation site, cultivation condition, cultivar, plant tissue, postharvest handling, and food processing methods [8].

When Brassica vegetables are processed and consumed, cells are disrupted. The glucosinolates – in vacuoles – are hydrolyzed by myrosinase (Fig. 24.2). The hydrolysis products include mainly isothiocyanates, nitriles, and thiocyanates. Besides, depending on the plant species studied, side-chain substitution and the reaction conditions, other compounds can be formed such as epithionitriles and oxazolidinethiones [9, 10].

Intact GSL does not have any known biological activity, and among GSL breakdown products isothiocyanates stand up as the major compounds for bioactivity. Isothiocyanates (ITCs) have been



Fig. 24.2 Hydrolysis of glucosinolates by the endogenous enzyme myrosinase. Inspired by Keck [10]

shown to prevent the risk of carcinogenesis and certain cardiovascular acute and chronic diseases, such as neurodegenerative diseases. Moreover, the general molecular mechanism of action through ITC elicits their neuroprotective effect, as described by Giacoppo [11] and shown in Fig. 24.3.

The most researched ITC is sulforaphane, which is derived from glucoraphanin GSL and represents the main ITC in broccoli florets. Both in vivo and in vitro assays have been carried out for analyzing sulforaphane neuroprotective actions. Sulforaphane has been found to decrease disease progression in a Parkinson's disease rat model in vivo [12], stopping apoptosis in Parkinson's and Alzheimer's rat models and murine and human neuroblastoma cell lines [13– 15], improving cognitive function [16] and ameliorating cognitive impairment [17] in Alzheimer's disease rat models. Sulforaphane also increases proteasome activity and proper folding in several different murine and human neuroblastoma cell lines [18, 19]. Several mechanisms of action have been proposed for these findings; the most reported being the modulation and enhancement of Nrf2 (nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor) pathway. Other mechanisms proposed include modulation of Bax/Bcl2 (Bcl-2 associated X protein/B-cell lymphoma 2) pathways, ARE (antioxidant response element) pathways, phase II antioxidant enzymes, and modulation of pro-inflammatory and apoptotic pathway via activation of ERK1/2.

Other ITCs have also been studied as neuroprotectors such as phenetyl ITC, 6 methyl sulfinyl hexyl ITC, and erucin. The reported effects include: reducing, slowing down, or stopping inflammation in several multiple sclerosis mouse models [20]. Besides, in vivo as in vitro effects have been reported for these ITCs in different neurodegenerative diseases cell lines and animal models both [21, 22], improving cognitive function in cerebral ischemia/reperfusion rat model, delaying the onset of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis disease in rat models [23], avoiding neuronal death in a spinal cord injury in a rat model [24], alleviating severe pathological condition in a disease transgenic mice model [25], decreasing apoptosis, increasing cognitive function and improving behavior in a Parkinson's disease



animal model [12], and slowing down apoptosis in neurological diseases cell lines model [15].

In a recent work, Burcul [26] analyzed the antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and cholinesterase properties inhibiting the activities of 11 ITCs in a model of Alzheimer's disease and found that aryl ITC (like phenyl, benzyl and phenethyl ITC) were more biologically active than the aliphatic ones, while all the ITCs analyzed showed antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects to different degrees. Moreover, all ITCs tested show cholinesterase inhibiting activities reaching 61% (for 3-methoxyphenyl ITC) when compared with the traditional synthetic drug employed to block acetyl choline degradation. This activity was tested for ITC compounds for the first time and resulted in very promising molecules because actually there are no natural alternatives to the pharmacotherapy for increasing the levels of acetylcholine in the brain. Therefore, ITCs represent a great natural alternative for Alzheimer's and Parkinson's treatment for instance.

Despite the significant advances in ITCs research as neuroprotective, there are still several compounds whose role in the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases remains unknown. Among these compounds, we can include raphasatin and sulforaphene, which are the main ITCs found in fresh radish roots; Indol 3-carbinol, which is the main ITC found in cabbage but is also present in moderate concentrations in broccoli, radish, rocket, cauliflower, and watercress; and sativin, which is the main ITC found in fresh rocket leaves.

Phenolic Compounds

Phenolic compounds are a large group of secondary metabolites of plants. More than 8000 different phenolic compounds have been reported in the plant kingdom. In Brassicaceae vegetables, phenolic metabolites are mainly led by two groups: flavonols and hydroxycinnamic acids. Flavonoids are the largest group of polyphenols, and more than 2000 individual flavonoids are known [27]. The main flavonols found in Brassicaceae species are quercetin, kaempferol, and isorhamnetin. These compounds are generally presented as O-glycosides or acylated by different hydroxycinnamic acids. Besides these flavonoids, in some Brassicaceae species like red cabbage, red broccoli, red cauliflower, or radishes, anthocyanins are also found, mainly as cyaniding derivatives.

Among hydroxycinnamic acids, p-coumaric acid, sinapic acid, and ferulic acid are the most frequently found conjugated with sugars or with hydroxycinnamic acids [28, 29]. A recent study on 12 cruciferous species reported that among the phenolic compounds, 70% were flavonols, represented mainly by quercetin and kaempferol derivatives, and phenolic acids represented 30% remain. Besides this, the phenolic profile of each species is different quantitatively, but not in a qualitative manner. Moreover, the phenolic profile varies also with the developmental stage of the vegetable and among the different organs of the plant.

Although many critical biological properties have been attributed to phenolic compounds including anticarcinogenic, anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial, antiallergenic, enzyme inhibition, etc., the antioxidant activity of phenolic compounds remains outstanding and the most reported [30, 31]. In this context, considering that oxidative stress caused by reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) are the leading cause of neurodegeneration, potent natural antioxidant compounds such as phenolic ones have been extensively studied for the prevention and treatment of neurodegenerative disorders [1]. Two possible mechanisms through which the phenolic compounds exert their neuroprotective properties is by inhibiting acetylcholinesterase (AChE) and butyrylcholinesterase (BChE) activities, as well as preventing oxidative-stress-induced neurodegeneration [32, 33].

Several clinical and epidemiological studies have found significant inverse associations between flavonoids' intake and the incidence of dementia and Alzheimer's disease [34–38]. Moreover flavonoids have been reported to reduce the risk of Parkinson's disease [39] and improve the cognitive performance of Alzheimer's patients [40].

The most studied phenolic compounds as neuroprotective agents are quercetin, kaempferol, (–)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG), phenolic acids, and t-resveratrol.

Quercetin is a major component of the flavonol subclass and represents 60–75% of the total flavonoid intake. Concordantly, it is the most widely studied flavonoid as neuroprotective agent. In vitro studies show that quercetin and its metabolites protect neuronal cell lines from cell toxicity induced by various oxidants (such as hydrogen peroxide and linoleic acid), several neurotoxic molecules, and from the amyloid beta peptide [41]. Furthermore, several in vivo studies show that quercetin can exert neuroprotection from neurotoxicity induced by several minerals, like mercury and tungsten, and also by organic compounds, like insecticides, and specific neurotoxins such as MPTP (1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine) [42–44]. Additionally, quercetin proved effective in diminishing inflammation and apoptosis in an intracerebral hemorrhage rat model [45] and promoted the functional recovery following acute spinal cord injury and spinal cord compression injury [46, 47].

Besides, Sabogal-Guáqueta [48], working with a transgenic Alzheimer's disease mouse model found that quercetin improved performance on learning and spatial memory tasks. The molecular mechanisms involved in quercetin neuroprotection are described in depth [49, 41] and include NRF-2 modulation, suppression of NF-kB signal transducer and activator of transcription-1(STAT-1), modulation of a broad number of kinase signaling cascades such as phosphoinositide 3- kinase (P13-kinase), AKT/ PKB tyrosine kinase and protein kinase C (PKC), regulation of PON2 (paraoxonase family of genes). This gene plays a significant role in atherosclerosis [50], modulation of autophagy that allows maintenance of integrity of the neural system [51] and activation of sirtuins [52].

In summary, quercetin has been widely reported as an effective agent for reversing cognitive impairment, improving memory. It is considered as a protector of neurons and neuroglial cells from external damage, reducing the effect of ROS, modulating apoptotic pathways and activating the natural antioxidant mechanisms. Altogether, these effects allow considering quercetin as a powerful ally in the treatment of acute and chronic neurological disorders.

Resveratrol (trans-3,4',5-trihydroxystilbene) is another intensely studied phytochemical. However, its presence in Brassicaceae vegetables has been recently reported by our group. Significant levels of this phenolic compound

Resveratrol has been reported to possess many biological and pharmacological activities including antimutagenic, antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and anticarcinogenic properties [54, 55]. Besides its comprehensively documented free radical scavenging and anti-inflammatory properties, numerous in vivo and in vitro studies have demonstrated that resveratrol inhibits beta-amyloid $(A\beta)$ protein aggregation, a key feature of Alzheimer's disease and modulates intracellular effectors associated with oxidative stress involved in neuronal cell survival/death, neuronal energy homeostasis, programmed cell death or apoptosis, and longevity [56]. Figure 24.4 shows a summary of the different neuroprotective action mechanisms of resveratrol according to Bastianello [56].

Another phenolic compound investigated as neuroprotector is (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG). EGCG protects dopaminergic neurons from neurotoxin damage in an animal model of Parkinson's disease [58]. In other reports [57, 59], EGCG proved to be a potent scavenger of singlet oxygen, superoxide anions, hydroxyl radicals, and peroxyl radicals. EGCG elicits profound effects on reduction of the amyloid β peptide generation, which could result in a deceleration of Alzheimer progression. The molecular mechanisms involved in the neuroprotective effect of EGCG are related to the regulation of the expression of apoptotic genes [60] and the modulation of protein kinase family enzymes that are known to have a fundamental role in the regulation of cell survival, programmed cell death, and neuronal differentiation [61-63]. In several in vivo and in vitro models, epicatechin



Fig. 24.4 Summary of the neuroprotective action of resveratrol. Inspired by Bastianetto [56]

resulted in protective effects against different oxidant and neurotoxic compounds [64, 65].

Another group of compounds intensely studied are phenolic acids, which are considered according to some epidemiologic reports the main phenolic compounds consumed in diet [66]. Among these compounds, ferulic acid has been the most reported as neuroprotective. Multiple neurological effects have been attributed to phenolic acid including reduction of neuroinflammation and apoptosis, amelioration of depression, memory impairment, and epilepsy, and neural protective effects against several types of insults in both in vivo and in vitro studies [62, 67–69].

Another phenolic compound present in Brassicaceae vegetables is isorhamnetin, which has also been studied as a neuroprotector, but to a lesser extent. In an in vivo report, this compound shows protective effects in mice brains against ischemic injury [70]. Besides, Kim [71] reported that isorhamnetin-3-O-galactoside showed antiinflammatory activity in an in vivo mouse model. Beneficial properties of this compound are reviewed by Kandakumar and Manju [72].

Another widely studied compound is Kaempferol whose neuroprotective effects include prevention of ischemic brain injury and neuroinflammation [73]. Other reports have found that kaempferol rutinoside improves memory dysfunction and diminishes oxidative stress in a dementia model. It shows anti-inflammatory effects in a different edema model and it has been proposed as a novel neuroprotectant by restoring cerebral blood flow after a neurovascular cerebral injury [74].

In summary, phenolic compounds have proven to be potent phytochemicals in protecting the nervous system from oxidative stress, helping to restore post natural or produced injury, avoiding the onset and progression of neurodegenerative illness.

Carotenoids Compounds

Carotenoids are natural pigments produced by plants, fungi, and algae. More than 600 types of carotenoids have been described. There are two main groups of carotenoids according to their polarity: xanthophylls (polar carotenoids) and carotenes (nonpolar carotenoids). The main carotenoid compounds present in Brassicaceae are β -carotene, β -Cryptoxanthin, Zeaxanthin, and lutein [75, 76]. Kale, broccoli, red cabbage, white cabbage, and Brussels sprout are considered the most abundant sources of carotenoids among Brassicas [77].

The main bioactive properties of carotenoids have been recently reviewed by Cho [78] and include antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and autophagy-modulatory activities. Several in vitro and in vivo reports have revealed carotenoids as potent anti-inflammatory agents in the nervous system, acting through a variety of mechanisms including ROS quenching, upregulation of antioxidant enzyme systems, hypocholesterolemic properties, anti-neuroinflammatory effects, anti-amyloid aggregation activity, and regulation of amyloid oligomer-induced signaling. Carotenoids may ameliorate mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative neuroinflammation, stress, sustained impaired lipid metabolism, Aβ-aggregation, and Aβ-neurotoxicity, all of which are critically associated with the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases [79-81]. In Fig. 24.5, the molecular interaction between three carotenoid compounds and $A\beta$ molecules is analyzed by molecular modeling; this interaction would further avoid Aβ-plaque formation by two proposed mechanisms: by preventing the formation of the fibril and through disruption of the A β aggregates [81].

Finally, numerous epidemiological correlation studies have found an inverse association between neurodegenerative diseases risk and carotenoid intake (measured in the blood) and have also suggested that carotenoids may inhibit the onset of neurodegenerative diseases [82–87].

Vitamins

Vitamin C is one of the 13 essential vitamins that are needed for normal functioning of mammalians' life and proper functioning of the nervous system. About 85% of vitamin C in the human diet is supplied by fruits and vegetables (and up Fig. 24.5 Molecular modeling of interactions of carotenoids (in this case Cryptocapsin) and amyloid beta protein (A β). Inspired by Lakey [81]



to 50% specifically by Brassicaceae crops depending on consumer habits) [88].

Vitamin C works in the brain mainly as an antioxidant agent. Since antioxidant agents can stop the free radical's chain of damage, its absence or abnormal concentrations may lead to different neurodegenerative disorders. Moretti [89] reviewed clinical and nonclinical studies indicating that ascorbate (ASC) has neuroprotective effects mainly through reducing oxidative stress and formation of protein aggregates (Fig. 24.6), which may contribute to the reduction of cognitive decline or motor deficits in patients suffering neurological diseases.

There is wide evidence of the role of vitamin C in protecting the nervous system, avoiding neural damage, and diminishing multiple pathologies' incidence. In vivo, in vitro, and epidemiological reports support its use for the treatment of: seizures and epilepsy; stroke; schizophrenia; depressive, manic, and paranoid symptom complexes; Alzheimer's disease; parkinsonian movement disorder and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder; Parkinson's disease; Huntington's disease; multiple sclerosis; and amyotrophic sclerosis [90–94].

Vitamin E contributes to the first line of defense against oxidative stress because it quenches singlet oxygen [95]. Vitamin D has several neuroprotective effects including amelioration of cognitive impairment and reducing the incidence of depression and schizophrenia [96, 97].

Although the role of vitamin E in the central nervous system has not been fully elucidated, it is known that it can act as a protector in cell membranes from oxidative damage by neutralizing the effects of free radicals. Besides its antioxidant properties, vitamin E has been reported to act as a potent anti-inflammatory agent. Vitamin E neuroprotection properties have been reviewed by Ricciarelli [98] and include beneficial effects in Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, and ataxia.

Minerals

Minerals exert their neuroprotective effect through serving as cofactors of antioxidant enzymes, such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (Cat), and glutathione peroxidase (GPx).



Fig. 24.6 Neurodegenerative diseases and the role of vitamin C in avoiding the increase of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the brain. Inspired by Moretti [89]

Many reports indicate that some dietary minerals are associated with lower dementia risk [99, 100].

Brassicaceae crops also contain an appreciable amount of minerals highly beneficial for the maintenance of health and prevention of diseases, such as iron and zinc [101]. Metals are involved as components or cofactors of numerous enzymes antioxidants, and certain vitamins (ascorbic acid, α -tocopherol, and β -carotene, folic acid) act as a sequestrant of ROS [102].

Iron and zinc levels in Kale are in accordance with the daily intake recommended by the WHO (FDA WHO, 1988). This result is interesting since iron deficiency impaired performance in mental and motor test in children [103, 104]. On the other hand, iron has been associated with Alzheimer's disease since it has been found to co-localize with amyloid plaques [105] and has also been associated with cognitive function in elderly patients [106] and with Alzheimer neuropathology, progression, and cognitive impairment [107]. Ndayisaba [108] reported a detailed summary of iron accumulation effects on the brain as can be seen in Fig. 24.7. This indicates that iron levels play an important role in brain function, but excessive levels of this metal could also be detrimental to brain health.

On the other side, zinc represents the most abundant trace metal in the brain, acting as a signaling messenger molecule, participating in diverse biological reactions, and serving as a key component in hundreds of proteins [109]. Extensive evidence relates zinc levels with neural system pathologies. Zinc deficiency appears in subjects with Alzheimer's disease in controlled trials and observational studies, and dietary animal studies show that the impact of dietary Zn on cognitive performance depends on additional



Fig. 24.7 Cellular and subcellular dysregulation associated with brain iron accumulation. Inspired by Ndayisaba [108]

nutrients [109]. Moreover, as Zn is a neuronal protective factor, it has been proposed that zinc deficiency could be partially causative of Alzheimer's disease [110].

Conclusion

Brassicaceae vegetables are promising sources of several neuroprotective compounds, both aqueous and liposoluble, which represent a natural and side-effect-free alternative therapy for the prevention and treatment of neurological disorders. The main mechanism of action includes quenching of free radicals, activation of antioxidant enzymes, inhibition of acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase enzymes, activating defense metabolic pathways, avoiding β -plaque deposition, and avoiding neuronal apoptosis. Further studies analyzing the individual and combination effects of several phytochemicals in order to find synergisms are interesting. Studies about bioavailability and cooked effects are of interest in order to elucidate the potential benefits of each brassica species. It is interesting to consider that besides individual compounds present in Brassicaceae members that have shown neuroprotective actions, studies regarding the neuroprotector effects of whole plant extracts are lacking. Future research addressing this topic is needed.

Acknowledgments The authors would like to acknowledge graphic designer Estefanía Beretta for image design and formatting.

References

- Kumar G, Anilakumar K, Naveen S. Phytochemicals having Neuroprotective properties from dietary sources and medicinal herbs. J Pharmacogn. 2015;7(1):1–17.
- Sandoval-Avila S, Diaz N, Gómez-Pinedo U, Canales-Aguirre A, Gutiérrez-Mercado YK, Padilla-Camberos E, Díaz-Martínez N. Neuroprotective effects of phytochemicals on dopaminergic neuron cultures. Neurología (English Edition). 2019;34(2):114–24.
- Septembre-Malaterre A, Remize F, Poucheret P. Fruits and vegetables, as a source of nutritional compounds and phytochemicals: Changes in bioactive compounds during lactic fermentation. Food Res Int. 2018;104:86–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. foodres.2017.09.031. Epub 2017 Sep 14. PMID: 29433787.
- Possenti M, Baima S, Raffo A, Durazzo A, Giusti AM, Natella F. Glucosinolates in food. Glucosinolates. 2017:87–132.
- Cartea ME, Velasco P. Glucosinolates in Brassica foods: bioavailability in food and significance for human health. Phytochem Rev. 2008;7(2):213–29.
- Yan X, Chen S. Regulation of plant glucosinolate metabolism. Planta. 2007;226(6):1343–52.
- Giamoustaris A, Mithen R. Genetics of aliphatic glucosinolates. IV. Side-chain modification in Brassica oleracea. Theor Appl Genet. 1996;93(5–6):1006–10.
- Brown PD, Tokuhisa JG, Reichelt M, Gershenzon J. Variation of glucosinolate accumulation among different organs and developmental stages of Arabidopsis thaliana. Phytochemistry. 2003;62(3):471–81.
- Angelino D, Jeffery E. Glucosinolate hydrolysis and bioavailability of resulting isothiocyanates: Focus on glucoraphanin. J Funct Foods. 2014;7(1):67–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2013.09.029.

- Keck AS, Finley JW. Cruciferous vegetables: cancer protective mechanisms of glucosinolate hydrolysis products and selenium. Integr Cancer Ther. 2004;3(1):5–12.
- Giacoppo S, Galuppo M, Montaut S, Iori R, Rollin P, Bramanti P, Mazzon E. An overview on neuroprotective effects of isothiocyanates for the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases. Fitoterapia. 2015;106:12–21.
- Morroni F, Tarozzi A, Sita G, Bolondi C, Moraga JMZ, Cantelli-Forti G, Hrelia P. Neuroprotective effect of sulforaphane in 6-hydroxydopaminelesioned mouse model of Parkinson's disease. Neurotoxicology. 2013;36:63–71.
- Lee C, Park GH, Lee SR, Jang JH. Attenuation of β-amyloid-induced oxidative cell death by sulforaphane via activation of NF-E2-related factor 2. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2013;2013:313510. https:// doi.org/10.1155/2013/313510. Epub 2013 Jun 20. PMID: 23864927; PMCID: PMC3705986.
- Deng C, Tao R, Yu SZ, Jin H. Sulforaphane protects against 6-hydroxydopamine-induced cytotoxicity by increasing expression of heme oxygenase-1 in a PI3K/Akt-dependent manner. Mol Med Rep. 2012;5(3):847–51.
- Tarozzi A, Morroni F, Merlicco A, Hrelia S, Angeloni C, Cantelli-Forti G, Hrelia P. Sulforaphane as an inducer of glutathione prevents oxidative stressinduced cell death in a dopaminergic-like neuroblastoma cell line. J Neurochem. 2009;111(5):1161–71.
- Lee S, Kim J, Seo SG, Choi BR, Han JS, Lee KW, Kim J. Sulforaphane alleviates scopolamineinduced memory impairment in mice. Pharm Res. 2014;85:23–32.
- Dwivedi S, Rajasekar N, Siddiqui H, Nath C, Hanif K, Shukla R. Activation of Nrf2-antioxidant signaling protects memory impairment in rats. Alzheimers Dement. 2013;9(4):159.
- Gan N, Wu YC, Brunet M, Garrido C, Chung FL, Dai C, Mi L. Sulforaphane activates heat shock response and enhances proteasome activity through up-regulation of Hsp27. J Biol Chem. 2010;285(46):35528–36.
- Kwak MK, Cho JM, Huang B, Shin S, Kensler TW. Role of increased expression of the proteasome in the protective effects of sulforaphane against hydrogen peroxide-mediated cytotoxicity in murine neuroblastoma cells. Free Radi Biol Med. 2007;43(5):809–17.
- Galuppo M, Giacoppo S, De Nicola GR, Iori R, Navarra M, Lombardo GE, Mazzon E. Antiinflammatory activity of glucomoringin isothiocyanate in a mouse model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Fitoterapia. 2014;95:160–74.
- Chen NG, Chen KT, Lu CC, Lan YH, Lai CH, Chung YT, Lin YC. Allyl isothiocyanate triggers G2/M phase arrest and apoptosis in human brain malignant glioma GBM 8401 cells through a mitochondriadependent pathway. Oncol Rep. 2010;24(2):449–55.

- 22. Wagner AE, Sturm C, Piegholdt S, Wolf IM, Esatbeyoglu T, De Nicola GR, Rimbach G. Myrosinase-treated glucoerucin is a potent inducer of the Nrf2 target gene heme oxygenase 1—studies in cultured HT-29 cells and mice. J Nutr Biochem. 2015;26(6):661–6.
- 23. Galuppo M, Giacoppo S, Iori R, De Nicola GR, Bramanti P, Mazzon E. Administration of 4-(α-Lrhamnosyloxy)-benzyl isothiocyanate delays disease phenotype in SOD1G93A rats: a transgenic model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Biomed Res Int. 2015;2015:12 p. Article ID 259417. http://dx.doi. org/10.1155/2015/259417
- 24. Giacoppo S, Rajan TS, De Nicola GR, Iori R, Rollin P, Bramanti P, Mazzon E. The Isothiocyanate isolated from Moringa oleifera shows potent antiinflammatory activity in the treatment of murine subacute Parkinson's disease. Rejuven Res. 2017;20(1):50–63.
- Boyanapalli SS, Paredes-Gonzalez X, Fuentes F, Zhang C, Guo Y, Pung D, Kong ANT. Nrf2 knockout attenuates the anti-inflammatory effects of phenethyl isothiocyanate and curcumin. Chem Res Toxicol. 2014;27(12):2036–43.
- Burčul F, Generalić Mekinić I, Radan M, Rollin P, Blažević I. Isothiocyanates: cholinesterase inhibiting, antioxidant, and anti-inflammatory activity. J Enzyme Inhib Med Chem. 2018;33(1):577–82.
- Ramassamy C. Emerging role of polyphenolic compounds in the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases: a review of their intracellular targets. Eur J Pharm. 2006;545(1):51–64.
- Cartea ME, Francisco M, Soengas P, Velasco P. Phenolic compounds in Brassica vegetables. Molecules. 2011;16(1):251–80.
- Li Z, Lee HW, Liang X, Liang D, Wang Q, Huang D, Ong CN. Profiling of phenolic compounds and antioxidant activity of 12 cruciferous vegetables. Molecules. 2018;23(5):1139.
- Chu YH, Chang CL, Hsu HF. Flavonoid content of several vegetables and their antioxidant activity. J Sci Food Agric. 2000;80(5):561–6.
- Podsedek A, Sosnowska D, Redzynia M, Anders B. Antioxidant capacity and content of Brassica oleracea dietary antioxidants. Int J Food Sci Technol. 2006;41:49–58.
- 32. Oboh G, Agunloye OM, Akinyemi AJ, Ademiluyi AO, Adefegha SA. Comparative study on the inhibitory effect of caffeic and chlorogenic acids on key enzymes linked to Alzheimer's disease and some pro-oxidant induced oxidative stress in rats' brain-*in vitro*. Neurochem Res. 2013;38(2):413–9.
- 33. Ademosun AO, Oboh G, Passamonti S, Tramer F, Ziberna L, Boligon AA, Athayde ML. Phenolics from grapefruit peels inhibit HMG-CoA reductase and angiotensin-I converting enzyme and show antioxidative properties in endothelial EA. Hy 926 cells. Food Sci Human Well. 2015;4(2):80–5.
- Commenges D, Scotet V, Renaud S, Jacqmin-Gadda H, Barberger-Gateau P, Dartigues JF. Intake of fla-

vonoids and risk of dementia. Eur J Epidemiol. 2000;16(4):357–63.

- 35. Deschamps V, Barberger-Gateau P, Peuchant E, Orgogozo JM. Nutritional factors in cerebral aging and dementia: epidemiological arguments for a role of oxidative stress. Neuroepidemiology. 2001;20(1):7–15.
- Engelhart MJ, Geerlings MI, Ruitenberg A, Van Swieten JC, Hofman A, Witteman JCM, Breteler MMB. Diet and risk of dementia: does fat matter? The Rotterdam study. Neurology. 2001;59(12):1915–21.
- 37. Lemeshow S, Letenneur L, Dartigues JF, Lafont S, Orgogozo JM, Commenges D. Illustration of analysis taking into account complex survey considerations: the association between wine consumption and dementia in the PAQUID study. Amer J Epidemiol. 1998;148(3):298–306.
- Morris MC, Evans DA, Bienias JL, Tangney CC, Bennett DA, Aggarwal N, Scherr PA. Dietary intake of antioxidant nutrients and the risk of incident Alzheimer disease in a biracial community study. JAMA. 2002;287(24):3230–7.
- 39. Checkoway H, Powers K, Smith-Weller T, Franklin GM, Longstreth WT Jr, Swanson PD. Parkinson's disease risks associated with cigarette smoking, alcohol consumption, and caffeine intake. Amer J Epidemiol. 2001;155(8):732–8.
- Oken BS, Storzbach DM, Kaye JA. The efficacy of Ginkgo biloba on cognitive function in Alzheimer disease. Arch Neurol. 1998;55(11):1409–15.
- 41. Costa LG, Garrick JM, Roquè PJ, Pellacani C. Mechanisms of Neuroprotection by Quercetin: Counteracting Oxidative Stress and More. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2016;2016:2986796. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/2986796. Epub 2016 Jan 24. PMID: 26904161; PMCID: PMC4745323.
- Mercer LD, Kelly BL, Horne MK, Beart PM. Dietary polyphenols protect dopamine neurons from oxidative insults and apoptosis: investigations in primary rat mesencephalic cultures. Biochem Pharmacol. 2005;69(2):339–45.
- Vauzour D, Vafeiadou K, Rodriguez-Mateos A, Rendeiro C, Spencer JP. The neuroprotective potential of flavonoids: a multiplicity of effects. Genes Nutr. 2008;3(3):115.
- 44. Arredondo F, Echeverry C, Abin-Carriquiry JA, et al. After cellular internalization, quercetin causes Nrf2 nuclear translocation, increases glutathione levels, and prevents neuronal death against an oxidative insult. Free Radic Biol Med. 2010;49(5):738–47.
- 45. Zhang Y, Yi B, Ma J, Zhang L, Zhang H, Yang Y, Dai Y. Quercetin promotes neuronal and behavioral recovery by suppressing inflammatory response and apoptosis in a rat model of intracerebral hemorrhage. Neurochem Res. 2015;40(1):195–203.
- 46. Schultke E, Kamencic H, Skihar VM, Griebel R, Juurlink B. Quercetin in an animal model of spinal cord compression injury: correlation of treatment duration with recovery of motor function. Spinal Cord. 2010;48(2):112–7.

- Schultke E, Kendall E, Kamencic H, Ghong Z, Griebel RW, Juurlink BH. Quercetin promotes functional recovery following acute spinal cord injury. J Neurotrauma. 2003;20(6):583–91.
- 48. Sabogal-Guáqueta AM, Munoz-Manco JI, Ramírez-Pineda JR, Lamprea-Rodriguez M, Osorio E, Cardona-Gómez GP. The flavonoid quercetin ameliorates Alzheimer's disease pathology and protects cognitive and emotional function in aged triple transgenic Alzheimer's disease model mice. Neuropharmacology. 2015;93:134–45.
- 49. Suganthy N, Devi KP, Nabavi SF, Braidy N, Nabavi SM. Bioactive effects of quercetin in the central nervous system: focusing on the mechanisms of actions. Biomed Pharmacother. 2016;84:892–908.
- Boesch-Saadatmandi C, Pospissil RT, Graeser AC, Canali R, Boomgaarden I, Doering F, Rimbach G. Effect of quercetin on paraoxonase 2 levels in RAW264. 7 macrophages and in human monocytes—role of quercetin metabolism. Int J Mol Sci. 2009;10(9):4168–77.
- Qu L, Liang X, Gu B, Liu W. Quercetin alleviates high glucose-induced Schwann cell damage by autophagy. Neural Regen Res. 2014;9(12):1195.
- Dang W. The controversial world of sirtuins. Drug Discov Today Technol. 2014;12:9–17.
- 53. Fusari C, Nazareno M, Locatelli D, Fontana A, Berett HV, Camargo AB. Bioactive compounds profiling and antioxidant activity in main edible Brassicaceae species: a comparative study. 2019 (unpublish).
- 54. Jang M, Cai L, Udeani GO, Slowing KV, Thomas CF, Beecher CW, Moon RC. Cancer chemopreventive activity of resveratrol, a natural product derived from grapes. Science. 1997;275(5297):218–20.
- 55. Soleas GJ, Diamandis EP, Goldberg DM. Wine as a biological fluid: history, production, and role in disease prevention. J Clin Lab Anal. 1997;11(5):287–313.
- Bastianetto S, Ménard C, Quirion R. Neuroprotective action of resveratrol. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2015;1852(6):1195–201.
- 57. Levites Y, Amit T, Mandel S, Youdim MB. Neuroprotection and neurorescue against Aβ toxicity and PKC-dependent release of nonamy-loidogenic soluble precursor protein by green tea polyphenol (–)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate. FASEB J. 2003;17(8):952–4.
- 58. Nie G, Cao Y, Zhao B. Protective effects of green tea polyphenols and their major component,(–)epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG), on 6-hydroxydopamine-induced apoptosis in PC12 cells. Redox Rep. 2002;7(3):171–7.
- Forester SC, Lambert JD. The role of antioxidant versus pro-oxidant effects of green tea polyphenols in cancer prevention. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2011;55(6):844–54.
- 60. Choi BH, Choi JS, Yoon SH, Rhie DJ, Jo YH, Kim MS, Hahn SJ. Effects of (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate, the main component of green tea, on

the cloned rat brain Kv1. 5 potassium channels. Biochem Pharmacol. 2001;62(5):527–35.

- 61. Chen C, Yu R, Owuor ED, Kong ANT. Activation of antioxidant-response element (ARE), mitogenactivated protein kinases (MAPKs) and caspases by major green tea polyphenol components during cell survival and death. Arch Pharm Res. 2000;23(6):605.
- Koh PO. Ferulic acid attenuates the downregulation of MEK/ERK/p90RSK signaling pathway in focal cerebral ischemic injury. Neurosci Lett. 2015;588:18–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neulet.2014.12.047.
- Levites Y, Weinreb O, Maor G, Youdim MB, Mandel S. Green tea polyphenol (–) epigallocatechin3gallate prevents Nme-thyl4phenyl1, 2, 3, 6tetrahydropyridine induced dopaminergic neurodegeneration. J Neurochem. 2001;78(5):1073–82.
- 64. Schroeter H, Spencer JP, Rice-Evans C, Williams RJ. Flavonoids protect neurons from oxidized lowdensity-lipoprotein- induced apoptosis involving c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), c-Jun and caspase-3. Biochem J. 2001;358:547–57.
- 65. Nobre Junior HV, Cunha GM, Maia FD, Oliveira RA, Moraes MO, Rao VS. Catechin attenuates 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA)-induced cell death in primary cultures of mesencephalic cells. Compar Biochem Physiol Part C Toxicol Pharmacol. 2003;136(2):175–80.
- 66. Zamora-Ros R, Knaze V, Rothwell JA, Hémon B, Moskal A, Overvad K, Tjønneland A, Kyrø C, Fagherazzi G, Boutron-Ruault MC. Dietary polyphenol intake in Europe: the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition (EPIC) study. Eur J Nutr. 2016;55:1359–75. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00394-015-0950-x.
- Szwajgier D, Borowiec K, Pustelniak K. The neuroprotective effects of phenolic acids: molecular mechanism of action. Nutrients. 2017;9(5):477.
- 68. Li G, Ruan L, Chen R, Wang R, Xie X, Zhang M, Chen L, Yan Q, Reed M, Chen J. Synergistic antidepressant-like effect of ferulic acid in combination with piperine: involvement of monoaminergic system. Metab Brain Dis. 2015;30:1505–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11011-015-9704-y.
- Aswar M, Patil V. Ferulic acid ameliorates chronic constriction injury induced painful neuropathy in rats. Inflammopharmacology. 2016;24:181–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10787-016-0272-5.
- Zhao JJ, Song JQ, Pan SY, Wang K. Treatment with isorhamnetin protects the brain against ischemic injury in mice. Neurochem Res. 2016;41(8):1939–48.
- 71. Kim TH, Ku SK, Bae JS. Anti-inflammatory activities of isorhamnetin 3 O galactoside against HMGB1-induced inflammatory responses in both HUVECs and CLP induced septic mice. J Cell Biochem. 2013;114(2):336–45.
- Kandakumar S, Manju V. Pharmacological applications of Isorhamnetin. Int J Trend Sci Res Dev. 2017;1:672–8.

- 73. Yu L, Chen C, Wang L-F, Kuang X, Liu K, Zhang H. Neuroprotective effect of Kaempferol glycosides against brain injury and Neuroinflammation by inhibiting the activation of NF-κB and STAT3 in transient focal stroke. PLoS One. 2013;8(2):55839. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0055839.
- 74. Parveen Z, Deng Y, Saeed MK, Dai R, Ahamad W. Anti- inflammatory and analgesic activities of Thesium chinense Turcz extracts and its major flavonoids, kaempferol and kaempferol-3-O-glucoside. Yakugaku Zasshi. 2007;127:1275–9.
- Sommerburg JEE, Keunen AC, Bird F, van Kuijk M. Fruits and vegetables that are sources for lutein and zeaxanthin: the macular pigment in human eyes. Br J Ophthalmol. 1998;82(8):907–10.
- Krinsky NI, Johnson E. Carotenoid actions and their relation to health and disease. Mol Asp Med. 2005;26(6):459–516.
- Podsędek A. Natural antioxidants and antioxidant capacity of Brassica vegetables: a review. LWT-Food Sci Tech. 2007;40(1):1–11.
- Cho KS, Shin M, Kim S, Lee SB. Recent advances in studies on the therapeutic potential of dietary carotenoids in neurodegenerative diseases. Oxi Med Cell Longe 2018.
- 79. Zhao B, Ren B, Guo R, Zhang W, Ma S, Yao Y, Liu X. Supplementation of lycopene attenuates oxidative stress induced neuroinflammation and cognitive impairment via Nrf2/Nf-κB transcriptional pathway. Food Chem Toxi. 2017;109:505–16.
- Xiang F, Liu J. Lin. Fucoxanthin inhibits β-amyloid assembly and attenuates β-amyloid oligomerinduce cognitive impairments. J Agric Food Chem. 2017;65(20):4092–102.
- Lakey-Beitia J, Doens D, Kumar DJ, Murillo E, Fernandez PL, Rao KS, Durant-Archibold AA. Antiamyloid aggregation activity of novel carotenoids: implications for Alzheimer's drug discovery. Clin Interv Aging. 2017;12:815.
- Feart C, Letenneur L, Helmer C. Plasma carotenoids are inversely associated with dementia risk in an elderly French cohort. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2016;71(5):683–8.
- 83. Nolan JM, Loskutova E, Howard AN, Moran R, Mulcahy R, Stack J, Thurnham DI. Macular pigment, visual function, and macular disease among subjects with Alzheimer's disease: an exploratory study. J Alzheimer Dis. 2014;42(4):1191–202.
- Min J, Min K. Serum lycopene, lutein and zeaxanthin, and the risk of Alzheimer's disease mortality in older adults. Dement Geriatr Cogn Dis. 2014;37(3–4):246–56.
- Dai Q, Borenstein AR, Wu Y, Jackson JC, Larson EB. Fruit and vegetable juices and Alzheimer's disease: the kame project. Am J Med. 2006;119(9):751–9.
- 86. Li SY, Fung FK, Fu ZJ, Wong D, Chan HH, Lo AC. Anti-inflammatory effects of lutein in retinal ischemic/hypoxic injury: *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2012;53(10):5976–84.

- Kesse-Guyot E, Andreeva VA, Ducros V, Jeandel C, Julia C, Hercberg S, Galan P. Carotenoid-rich dietary patterns during midlife and subsequent cognitive function. Br J Nutr. 2014;111(5):915–23.
- Domínguez-Perles R, Mena P, Garcia-Viguera C, Moreno D. Brassica foods as a dietary source of vitamin C: a review. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2014;54(8):1076–91.
- Moretti M, Fraga DB, Rodrigues ALS. Preventive and therapeutic potential of ascorbic acid in neurodegenerative diseases. CNS Neurosci Ther. 2017;23(12):921–9.
- Quiroga MJ, Carroll DW, Brown TM. Ascorbate-and zinc-responsive parkinsonism. Ann Pharmacother. 2014;48(11):1515–20.
- 91. Warner TA, Kang JQ, Kennard JK, Harrison FE. Low brain ascorbic acid increases susceptibility to seizures in mouse models of decreased brain ascorbic acid transport and Alzheimer's disease. Epilepsy Res. 2015;110:20–5.
- 92. Santos LF, Freitas RL, Xavier SM, et al. Neuroprotective actions of vitamin C related to decreased lipid peroxidation and increased catalase activity in adult rats after pilocarpineinduced seizures. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 2008;89:1–5.
- Dakhale GN, Khanzode SD, Khanzode SS, Saoji A. Supplementation of vitamin C with atypical antipsychotics reduces oxidative stress and improves the outcome of schizophrenia. Psychopharmacology. 2005;182:494–8.
- 94. Joshi K, Lad S, Kale M, et al. Supplementation with flax oil and vitamin C improves the outcome of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 2006;74:17–21.
- Shi H, Noguchi N. Antioxidants in Food. In: Pokorný J, Yanishlieva N, Gordon M. (Eds.) Practical Applications, 1st Edn. Woodhead Publishing, 2001, pp. 147–58.
- Cadden MH, Koven NS, Ross MK. Neuroprotective effects of vitamin D in multiple sclerosis. Neurosci Med. 2011;2(03):198.
- Anjum I, Jaffery SS, Fayyaz M, Samoo Z, Anjum S. The role of vitamin D in brain health: a mini literature review. Cureus. 2018;10(7):e2960.
- Ricciarelli R, Argellati F, Pronzato MA, Domenicotti C. Vitamin E and neurodegenerative diseases. Mol Asp Med. 2007;28(5–6):591–606.
- 99. Houston MC, Harper KJ. Potassium, magnesium, and calcium: their role in both the cause and treatment of hypertension. J Clin Hypertens. 2008;10(2):1110–1.
- 100. Larsson SC, Virtanen MJ, Mars M, Mannisto S, Pietinen P, Albanes D. Magnesium, calcium, potassium, and sodium intakes and risk of stroke in male smokers. Arch Intern Med. 2008;168:459–65. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.168.5.459.
- 101. Ogbede SC, Saidu AN, Kabiru AY, Busari MB. Nutrient and anti-nutrient compositions of Brassica Oleracae Var. Capitata L. IOSR J Pharm. 2015;3:19–25.

- 102. Perez CA, Tong Y, Guo M. Iron chelators as potential therapeutic agents for Parkinson's disease. Curr Bioact Compd. 2008;4(3):150–8.
- 103. Lockett T, Christopher C, Calvert L, Grivetti C. Energy and micronutrient composition of dietary and medicinal wild plants consumed during drought. Study of rural Fulani, Northeastern Nigeria. Int J Food Sci Nutr. 2000;51(3):195–208.
- Emebu PK, Anyika JU. Proximate and mineral composition of kale (Brassica oleracea) grown in Delta state, Nigeria. Pakistan J Nutr. 2011;10(2):190–4.
- 105. Dong J, Atwood CS, Anderson VE, Siedlak SL, Smith MA, Perry G, et al. Metal binding and oxidation of amyloid-beta within isolated senile plaque cores: Raman microscopic evidence. Biochemistry. 2003;42:2768–73.
- 106. Yavuz BB, Cankurtaran M, Haznedaroglu IC, Halil M, Ulger Z, Altun B, et al. Iron deficiency can cause cognitive impairment in geriatric patients. J Nutr Health Aging. 2012;16:220–4.

- 107. Cherbuin N, Kumar R, Sachdev P, Anstey KJ. Dietary mineral intake and risk of mild cognitive impairment: the PATH through life project. Front Aging Neurosci. 2014;6:4.
- Ndayisaba A, Kaindlstorfer C, Wenning GK. Iron in Neurodegeneration - Cause or Consequence? Front Neurosci. 2019;13:180. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fnins.2019.00180.
- Watt NT, Whitehouse IJ, Hooper NM. The role of zinc in Alzheimer's disease. Int J Alzheimers Dis. 2010;2011:971021. https://doi.org/10.4061/2011/ 971021. PMID: 21197404; PMCID: PMC3010690.
- Brewer GJ. Alzheimer's disease causation by copper toxicity and treatment with zinc. Front Aging Neurosci. 2014;6:92.



Coloured Compounds in Fruits and Vegetables and Health 25

Leonor Deis, Andrea Mariela Quiroga, and María Inés De Rosas

Introduction

The health benefit of consuming fruits seems to be related to the presence of a wide range of compounds which belong to the so-called phytochemical group or bioactive substances. Their beneficial effects are associated with their role in preventing the development of different types of cancer, cerebrovascular and cardiovascular diseases (CVD), and even Alzheimer's disease. The action mechanisms of these compounds are still not clear, but their effect is the result of many interactions not only between the different food components but also with the organism itself. In this sense, it is not clear whether the same benefits could be obtained from the isolated components as those obtained from a properly balanced diet.

Instituto de Biología Agrícola: IBAM-CONICET-UNCUYO, Mendoza, Argentina e-mail: ldeis@fca.uncu.edu.ar

A. M. Quiroga Facultad de Ingeniería y Ciencias Agropecuarias, Universidad Nacional de San Luis, San Luis, Argentina

M. I. De Rosas Cátedra de Fisiología Vegetal, Facultad de Ciencias Agrarias, Universidad Nacional de Cuyo, Mendoza, Argentina e-mail: iderosas@fca.uncu.edu.ar

Bioactive Substances or Fruits-Vegetables Phytochemicals

Plant-based foods (fruits, vegetables, cereals and their derivatives) are products of great interest since they provide macronutrients and micronutrients (carbohydrates, minerals, organic acids, carotenoids, phenolic compounds, vitamins and fibre). But also, a series of substances are present in them that do not have a classically defined nutritional function, or are not considered essential for human health, and have a significant impact on some diseases, crucial for human health in the long term. These bioactive substances or secondary metabolites of plant origin are also called phytochemicals or phytonutrients.

Compared with antioxidant vitamins such as vitamin E, fruits-vegetables (FV)-derived flavonoids were proved to be more efficient in antagonizing oxidative damage in vivo and in vitro [1]. In addition to the direct scavenging of free radicals, antioxidants in FV were able to protect against reactive oxygen species (ROS)mediated oxidative damage by elevating cellular antioxidant capacity [2]. A series of dietary intervention studies carried out in humans and in animals also showed that a FV-rich diet can cause the elevation of peroxide-detoxifying enzymes activities including superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione peroxidase (GSH-Px) and catalase (CAT) [3, 4]. Phase II antioxidant enzyme gene expression and activity were proved to be induc-

L. Deis (🖂)

Cátedra de Fisiología Vegetal, Facultad de Ciencias Agrarias, Universidad Nacional de Cuyo, Mendoza, Argentina

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_25

ible by FV-derived antioxidants through the trans-activation of the Nuclear Factor Erythroid-Derived 2-like 2 (NFE2L2 or Nrf2) [5] and thus, the genes regulated by it through Nrf2 signaling pathway [6]. Additionally, in experimental animals the expression of antioxidant genes regulated by the Nrf2 signaling pathway was reported to play important roles in antagonizing the pathogenesis of oxidative-damage-related diseases [7]. Individuals who consumed an FV-rich diet appeared to have a lower risk of many chronic diseases [8]. However, the accurate mechanism by which an FV-rich diet decreases the risk of oxidative-damage-related diseases is still unclear. Previous studies carried out in experimental animals mainly focus on the effects of FV (or their juices) on the levels of antioxidant biomarkers [9]. However, a few studies have explored the profile of oxidative-damage-related biomarkers and antioxidant gene expression in different organs in animals.

Fruits and Vegetables as Elements of Adequate Nutrition

As mentioned, the benefits of fruit consumption for health seem to be related to the presence of this large group of bioactive substances called phytochemicals. Table 25.1 shows some of the phytochemicals present in different fruits and vegetables and their metabolic and beneficial effects for human health. It is very important to remember that the foods that contain them prevent but not necessarily cure by themselves diverse diseases. From this point of view, the classic concept of 'adequate nutrition' that provides sufficient nutrients (carbohydrates, proteins, fats, vitamins and minerals) to meet organic needs tends to be replaced by the 'optimal nutrition' concept which also includes the potential of food to promote health, improve well-being, and reduce the risk of developing diseases. In this area is where it naming of foods as func-

Compounds		Metabolic effect	Fruits or vegetable
Flavonoids	Anthocyanins	Antioxidants	Grape berry, cherry, blue berry, raspberry
	Flavonols (quercetin)	Antioxidants, decrease platelet aggregation. Decrease the oxidation of LDL, antimutagenic	Grape berry, cherry, apple
	Flavanones	Protect peroxidation, affect the permeability of vascular lipids	Citrus
	Flavonols (catequine, proanthocyanins)	Decrease platelet aggregation. Decrease the oxidation of LDL, antimutagenic	Grape berry, apple, cherry, pear
Carotenoids	Carotenes (β-carotenes, lycopene)	Substrate for vitamin A production Boosting the immune response. Anti-inflammatory	Tomatoes, papaya, mangoes, carrots. Watermelon
	Xanthophyll (lutein)	Essential function in vision. Age-related eye disease	Tomatoes, spinach. Carrots
Vitamins	Vitamin A	Age-related eye disease	Carrots, papilla, apple, apricot, banana, mango, plum, wáter melón, avocado, carrot
	Vitamin K		Papilla, green leafy vegetables, lettuce, kale, mustard greens, spinach, broccoli, Brussels sprouts, cauliflower
	Vitamin C	Strong antioxidant that may reduce the risk of chronic diseases. May help Battle high blood pressure, could reduce blood uric acid. Prevent Iron deficiencies by improving Iron absorption. Protect your memory and thinking as you age	Tomatoes, papilla, citrus, apricot, apple, banana, cherry, blackberry, kiwi, mangoes, pineapple

 Table 25.1
 Principal compounds, metabolic effect and fruits or vegetable examples

tional, since the last century. Phytochemicals and micronutrients are responsible for the intense biological activity after human consumption. These compounds contribute to the naming of foods as functional. Functional foods are foods which contain components that are important for their nutritional value and this would include the presence of certain vitamins, organic acids, fibre, minerals, phytochemicals and microorganisms in amounts that contribute to that effect. The additive and synergistic effects of phytochemicals present in fruits and vegetables are responsible for their potential antioxidant and anticancer activity. However, it has been shown that highdose supplementation with antioxidant preparations can be counterproductive. Therefore, it is best to follow a varied and balanced diet in which there is no shortage of fruits in order to avoid, as far as possible, supplements and foods enriched with antioxidants. In this sense, the World Health Organization recommends the daily consumption of more than five servings of fruits and vegetables.

High fruit and vegetable intake is also linked to healthy skin and hair, increased energy, and lower weight.

Carotenes in Fruits and Vegetables

Fruits and vegetables with carotenes are coloured orange, red and yellow.

Carotenoids are a family of fat soluble pigments present in plants, photosynthetic microorganisms and some fungi [10] that participate in the light harvesting processes required for photosynthesis, which confer photoprotection and possess antioxidant activity [11].

Carotenoids are classified either by their chemical structure or by their functionality:

 Chemical structure: based on the chemical structure, carotenoids that exist as pure hydrocarbons are referred to as carotenes (α-carotene, β-carotene and lycopene). Furthermore, carotenoids that contain oxygen as a functional group in its structure (β-cryptoxanthin, lutein and zeaxanthin) are referred to as xanthophylls. The presence of the polar group in the structure (e.g. epoxy, hydroxyl and keto) affects the polarity and biological function of the compounds.

2. Functionality: carotenoids can also be classified as primary or secondary carotenoids. Primary carotenoids are known as photosynthetic pigments, which play a key role in photosynthesis, transmitting light energy from the sunlight absorbed by chlorophyll. They are also known to act as antioxidants to the plant by absorbing energy from singlet oxygen formed during the photosynthesis process. On the other hand, the xanthophyll molecules are found abundantly in the leaves of plants absorbing the wavelength of sunlight, which is not absorbed by chlorophyll [12].

Approximately, 40 carotenoids are present in the human food supply [13]. The bioaccessibility, for example the incorporation of carotenoids into micelles, is indeed modulated by carotenoids' localization in the different plastids, such as chloroplasts and chromoplats, as well as by their physical state in theses plastids, such as crystals or associated with proteins.

As mentioned earlier, carotenoids are divided into two groups: carotenes and xanthophylls. The carotenes are hydrocarbons and the xanthophylls are their oxygenated derivatives. Carotenoids derive much of their diversity from the addition of a number of different functional groups, which are most commonly attached to the rings or the ends of the molecule, but rarely to the centre. Most of the tetraterpenoids (i.e. carotenoids with 40 carbon atoms) are named by adding prefixes to the name 'carotene'. These prefixes are Greek letters corresponding to the end groups. Carotenoids are orange because of the large lightabsorbing chromophore in the centre of the molecule. This sequence of conjugated double bonds absorbs light at about 450 nm and dissipates the energy as heat. Higher wavelengths of light are reflected, giving them their characteristic orange colour. The extended chromophore of lycopene, which is one of the most important carotenes, absorbs more of the yellow-orange light and thus reflects red light (as in tomatoes). Carotenoids
vary in their absorption maxima, which is useful for identification.

Moreover, they are precursors for the biosynthesis of phytohormones (e.g. abscisic acid and strigolactones) that control abiotic stress acclimation, shoot and root branching as well as apocarotenoid signalling metabolites that mediate chloroplast to nucleus communications and root-mycorrhizal interactions [14–16]. Their biosynthesis and regulation occurs throughout the life cycle of a plant, with the composition and levels of carotenoids finely tuned to developmental stages and changes in the environment [17]. In order to attract the pollinators, the plants produce carotenoids with bright colours like yellow, orange and reddish-pink in flowers and fruits [18]. In animals, carotenoids provide a distinct coloration to flamingos, salmon and finches, in which they enhance ornament-based colour signalling and attraction thereby improving reproductive success [19, 20]. Carotenoids have essential functions in human body, for example vision (lutein and zeaxanthin protect against age-related macular degeneration of the eye), vitamin A biosynthesis (β -carotene is the substrate for vitamin A production), boosting the immune response (e.g. canthaxanthin, α - and β -carotene, lutein and astaxanthin), antioxidation (e.g. β -carotene), behavioural characteristics, reducing cancer (e.g. lycopene), as well as many other reported human health benefits [20–23].

Provitamin A carotenoids contain at least one unsubstituted β -ionone ring (e.g. β -carotene, α -carotene, β -cryptoxanthin) and can be enzymatically cleaved to produce vitamin A, an essential micronutrient for human beings [24]. The potential biological functions of non-provitamin A carotenoids and their metabolites in mammals continue to be investigated. In vitro and in vivo studies have suggested numerous activities for ingested carotenoids and/or their metabolites. These include antioxidant [25], antiinflammatory and neuro-protective [26], anticancer [27], cardio-protective [28], vision protecting [29], lipid deposing and storage-modulating [30], photo-protective and immune-modulating [31] activities. In order to mediate such activities, these compounds must be delivered to target tissues following ingestion.

Important advances in recent years with several biotechnological and conventional breeding programmes have biofortified food and feed crops with promising achievements to enhance carotenoid supplementation to the food and livestock industry. For example, to combat vitamin A deficiency, 'GOLDEN' Rice and Bananas were engineered with enhanced levels of provitamin A, thereby making major food crops consumed around the world more nutritious [32]. Another breakthrough was the horizontal genome transfer of a synthetic operon for the biosynthesis of astaxanthin (which mostly accumulates in microorganisms such as microalgae, red yeast and marine bacteria) into plants, which provides a highly valued colour and micronutrient supplement for artificial feeds used in poultry and aquaculture [33]. In the last decades, the genes and enzymes of carotenoid metabolic pathway have been well characterized and thoroughly studied in many plants [18]. There are still gaps in our understanding of carotenoid regulation, sequestration and degradation [15, 17]. In general, all organisms that can perform the photosynthetic process naturally generate *cis*-carotenes between phytoene and lycopene. Cis-isomers of lycopene are found to be more soluble than their trans-configured isomers in organic solvents [34].

It is important to note that in addition, carotenes are also present in other fruits or green vegetables such as spinach and broccoli. Intracellular localization and the physique state of carotenoids in the foods are very different. In green vegetables as well as spinach and broccoli, the carotenoids are localized in the photosystems as proteins– pigments complex. Carotenoids in orange, red or yellow fruits and vegetables are located in the chromoplasts. The chromoplasts morphology is variable; they can be globular and tubular membranous. In tomatoes and carrots, the carotenoids are solid crystalline, but in papaya and mangoes the carotenoid are liquid crystalline.

Lycopene, Fruits and Vegetables

Nutrients in red fruits and vegetables include: lycopene, ellagic acid, quercetin, and hesperidin, to name a few. In general, these nutrients reduce the risk of prostate cancer, lower blood pressure, reduce tumor growth and LDL cholesterol levels, scavenge harmful free-radicals, and support joint tissue in cases of arthritis.

Fruits and vegetables that content lycopene are numerous. The more common ones are beets, blood oranges, cherries, cranberries, papaya, pink grapefruit, pink/red grapefruit, pomegranates, radicchio, raspberries, red apples, red bell peppers, red grapes, red onions, red pears, red peppers, red potatoes, strawberries, tomatoes and watermelon [35–37].

Lycopene is a lipophilic, biologically active, unsaturated, acyclic carotenoid with the chemical formula C₄₀H₅₆. In human nutrition, lycopene plays no role as provitamin A precursor due to the absence of appropriate enzymes. In plants its function is considered important because it is an intermediate of carotenoid synthesis. All trans-isomer lycopene are usually present in plants. Isomerization of the all transisomer into the more bioavailable cis-isomer, occurs under acidic conditions (e.g. gastric acid), or due to exposure to light and thermal energy [35–37]. Lycopene content increases during different stages of ripening of fruits, for example, for tomatoes there is a steady increase in lycopene content from the breaker to the red stage [38]. Watermelon pulp can also be used for lycopene extraction [39] and is a rich source of *cis*-isomeric lycopene, abundant in higher concentrations than in tomatoes [40]. Another source that produces lycopene is the fungal plant pathogen *Blakeslee trispora* [41]. Several foods high in lycopene content are classified as functional foods [40]. Tomato juice, paste, puree, ketchup, sauce or soup represent lycopene sources with improved bioavailability due to thermal treatment, but also because processing releases lycopene from the fibrous cell structure matrix [42, 43].

One property of lycopene is an effective singlet oxygen quencher in the carotenoids group [35, 44]. Diverse studies have shown its importance as a potent antioxidant, ten times more potent than alpha tocopherol or twice than betacarotene [35, 45]. Lycopene modulates also the production of antioxidant enzymes, such as superoxide dismutase and catalase [46, 47]. Oxidative stress causes endothelial dysfunction due to uncoupling of the nitric oxide synthase and oxidative injury of the endothelial cells [48]. Both are associated with inflammation. Lycopene is capable of reducing oxidative stress and reactive oxygen species. In consequence, it increases the bioavailability of nitric oxide (NO), improves endothelium-dependent vasodilation and reduces protein, lipids, DNA, and mitochondrial damage [40, 49–52].

Endothelial NO enables vasodilation, inhibits platelet functions and adhesion and transmigration of white blood cells, and reduces smooth muscle cell proliferation [53]. Lycopene supplementation improved endothelial-mediated vasodilation in cardiovascular disease patients, but not in healthy controls [36], suggesting the importance of lycopene in secondary cardiovascular prevention [54]. In summary, lycopene scavenges both reactive oxygen and nitrogen species, increases the production of antioxidant enzymes and protects the endothelial cells from oxidative damage.

Historically, the tomato traces its origins back to around 700 AD with the early Aztecs; therefore, it is believed that tomato is native to the Americas. It was not until around the sixteenth century that Europeans were introduced to this fruit, when the early explorers set sail to discover new lands. Tomatoes are an intensely nutritious plant food and are classified as a functional food. There are different types and sizes of tomatoes, and they can be consumed in different ways: raw, stewed in soups, as juice and puree, as ketchups, etc.. The health benefits can vary. For example, cherry tomatoes have higher beta-carotene content than regular tomatoes. Tomatoes also contain lycopene, lutein, beta-carotene and vitamin C. Tomatoes can help protect the eyes from light damage. These are potent antioxidants that have been shown to protect the eyes against lightinduced damage, the development of cataracts, and age-related macular degeneration.

Tomatoes are an excellent source of vitamin C and other antioxidants. With these components, tomatoes can help combat the formation of free radicals. Free radicals are known to cause cancer. A recent study [55] linked the high levels of beta-carotene to the prevention of tumor development in prostate cancer. Diets rich in beta-carotene may play a protective role against this kind of cancer. Tomatoes also have high fibre, potassium, vitamin C, and choline content and these compounds are associated with heart health. An increase in potassium intake, along with a decrease in sodium intake, is the most important dietary change the average person can make to reduce their risk of cardiovascular disease. Not only is high potassium intake also associated with a reduced risk of cardiovascular disease, but it is also known for protecting the muscles against deterioration, preserving bone mineral density, and reducing the production of kidney stones. High fibre diets in people with type 1 diabetes show lower blood glucose levels, while people with type 2 diabetes may have improved blood sugar, lipids, and insulin levels. The fibre may help hydration and support normal bowel movements. Tomatoes are often described as a laxative fruit. The age-related eye disease study recently found that people with high dietary intake of the carotenoids lutein and zeaxanthin, both present in tomatoes, had a 35% reduction in the risk of neovascular age-related eye disease [56]. Vitamin C is related with production of collagen in the body. Collagen is an essential component of the skin, hair, nails, and connective tissue. A deficiency of vitamin C can lead to scurvy. As vitamin C is a powerful antioxidant, a low intake is associated with increased damage from sunlight, pollution and smoke [57].

Carrots were probably first cultivated thousands of years ago, in the area now known as Afghanistan. It was a small, forked purple or yellow root with a bitter, woody flavour, quite different from the carrot we know nowadays. Purple, red, yellow, and white carrots were grown long before the appearance of the sweet, crunchy, and aromatic orange carrot that is now popular. This type was developed and stabilized by Dutch growers in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries. This feature is part of a collection of articles on the health benefits of popular foods, and here are some key points about carrots. Carrots were first grown in Asia, and they were not orange. Carrots contain antioxidants, which may protect against cancer. While they may not help human to see in the dark, the vitamin A in carrots helps prevent vision loss. Carrots are available all year round and can be used in savoury dishes, cakes, and juices. Regular consumption in the diet of carotenoids has been shown to have anticancer effects, due to their antioxidant power in reducing free radicals in the body. Evidence suggests that eating more antioxidant-rich fruits and vegetables, such as carrots, can help reduce the risks of cancer and cardiovascular disease. Studies have found a possible link between diets rich in carotenoids and a lower risk of prostate cancer [58]. Carrots have important beta-carotene content. Former studies of beta-carotenes have concluded that the supplementation with them may reduce the risk of lung cancer. There is evidence of an inverse association between lung cancer incidence and β -carotene intake (and with serum concentrations of β -carotene). This data led to the initiation of several large-scale randomized chemoprevention trials to test the hypothesis that β -carotene supplements protected against lung cancer, but those trials had disappointing results. Indeed, β-carotene supplementation actually was found to increase the risk of lung cancer in high-risk populations [59]. The same pattern was not true for any individual carotenoid, such as beta-carotenoid. Among smokers, betacarotene supplementation may increase the risk of lung cancer. A 2011 study found that carrot juice extract could kill leukemia cells and inhibit their progression [60]. Besides, carrots contain vitamin A. Vitamin A deficiency can lead to xerophthalmia, a progressive eye disease that can damage normal vision and result in night blindness, or the inability to see in low light or darkness. The main preventable cause of blindness in children is a lack of vitamin A (according to the National Institutes of Health).

Carrots are also rich in vitamins, minerals, and fibre.

Papayas grow in tropical climates and are also known as papaws or pawpaws. Their sweet taste, vibrant colour, and the wide variety of health benefits they provide make them a popular fruit. The papaya, a previously exotic and rare fruit, is now available at most times of the year. The possible health benefits of consuming papaya include a reduced risk of heart disease, diabetes, cancer, aiding in digestion, improving blood glucose control in people with diabetes, lowering blood pressure, and improving wound healing.

Papaya is native to Mexico, but it grows naturally in the Caribbean and Florida too. According to the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), India produces the most papayas. Papayas are a soft, fleshy fruit that can be used in a wide variety of culinary ways. Here we will focus more on the health benefits, uses, how to incorporate them more into the human diet, and the nutritional value papayas have. It can be added to salads, smoothies, and other dishes.

Papayas have nutrients that are thought to have a range of health benefits. They may help protect against a number of health conditions such as agerelated macular degeneration, asthma prevention and even anticancer properties. Zeaxanthin, an antioxidant found in papaya, filters out harmful blue light rays. It is thought to play a protective role in eye health, and it may ward off macular degeneration, reducing the risk of and progression of this pathology. Relationship between papaya and asthma prevention are associated with people who consume a high amount of certain nutrients. One of these nutrients is beta-carotene, contained in foods like papaya but also in apricots, broccoli, cantaloupe, pumpkin and carrots [61, 62].

Papaya also possesses beta-carotene and consequently its intake may reduce the risk of cancer. Among younger men, diets rich in beta-carotene may play a protective role against prostate cancer. Papaya has the highest content of vitamin K. Low intakes of vitamin K have been associated with a higher risk of bone fracture. Adequate vitamin K consumption is important for good health, as it improves calcium absorption and may reduce urinary excretion of calcium, meaning there is more calcium in the body to strengthen and rebuild bones. Studies have shown that people with type 1diabetes who consume high-fibre diets have lower blood glucose levels, and people with type 2 diabetes may have improved blood sugar, lipid and insulin levels. One small papaya provides about 3 g of fibre, which is equivalent to just 17 g of carbohydrates. Papayas contain an enzyme called papain that aids digestion; in fact, it can be used as a meat tenderizer. Papaya is also high in fibre and water content, both of which help to prevent constipation and promote regularity and a healthy digestive tract. The fibre, potassium, and vitamin content in papaya all help to ward off heart disease. An increase in potassium intake along with a decrease in sodium intake is the most important dietary change that a person can make to reduce their risk of cardiovascular disease. Choline is a very important and versatile nutrient found in papayas that aids our bodies in sleep, muscle movement, learning, and memory. Choline also helps to maintain the structure of cellular membranes, aids in the transmission of nerve impulses, assists in the absorption of fat, and reduces chronic inflammation [61, 62].

Papaya is also great for hair because it contains vitamin A, a nutrient required for sebum production, which keeps hair moisturized. Vitamin A is also necessary for the growth of all bodily tissues, including skin. Adequate intake of vitamin C, which papaya can provide, is needed for the building and maintenance of collagen, which provides structure to skin. Papayas are an excellent source of vitamin C, and one single medium fruit provides 22.4% of recommended daily intake.

Nowadays, the mangoes are cultivated in diverse countries including the United States, Mexico and the Caribbean. Originally, Mangoes are from Southern Asia. Mangoes are a tropical fruit and are refreshing, juicy and delicious. They have an inedible skin that ranges in colour depending on the variety from yellow to green through to red-green, whilst inside is a soft, edible yellow flesh and a hard inedible stone. It has some great nutritional benefits. The principal benefits are: they are high in fibre content, vitamins and minerals composition [63].

Lutein, Fruits and Vegetables

Lutein is a xanthophyll, which belongs to the group commonly known as carotenoids. Lutein is synthesized only by plants and like other xanthophylls is found in high quantities in green leafy vegetables such as spinach, kale and yellow carrots. In green plants, xanthophylls act to modulate light energy and serve as protection agents. Animals obtain the lutein from ingest.

Different studies suggest that lutein and its isomers play important roles in ocular development in utero and during the life span, in vision performance in young and later adulthood, and in lowering risk for the development of common age-related eye diseases in older age. These xanthophyll (oxygen-containing) carotenoids are found in a wide variety of vegetables and fruits, and they are present in especially high concentrations in leafy green vegetables, egg yolks and human milk. The prevalence of lutein, zeaxanthin, and meso-zeaxanthin in dietary supplements is increasing. Particularly in pregnant and lactating women, setting optimal and safe ranges of intake requires additional research. Accumulated evidence about variable interindividual response to dietary intake of these carotenoids, based on genetic or metabolic influences, suggests that there may be subgroups that benefit from higher levels of intake and/or alternate strategies to improve lutein and zeaxanthin status.

Spinach contains several important plant compounds, including lutein, kaempferol, nitrates, quercetin, and zeaxanthin. Lutein and zeaxanthin are linked to improved eye health. Kaempferol is an antioxidant and is thought to be associated with a decreased risk of cancer and chronic diseases. Also, spinach contains high amounts of nitrates, which may promote heart health. Another antioxidant present in spinach is quercetin; this antioxidant may ward off infection and inflammation. Spinach is one of the richest dietary sources of quercetin. It is an extremely healthy vegetable and has been linked to numerous health benefits as it decreases oxidative stress, improves eye health, aids in cancer prevention and helps regulate blood pressure levels [64].

Remember that free radicals are by-products of normal metabolism. When their productions are increased they can cause oxidative stress, which triggers accelerated aging. Correspondingly, this increases the risk of cancer and diabetes [64]. However, spinach contains antioxidants, which fight oxidative stress and help reduce the damage it causes. One controlled trial on healthy people found that spinach helped prevent oxidative damage [65]. Although the study mentioned above was quite small, the findings are backed up by other animal and human studies [66, 67].

Zeaxanthin and lutein are the carotenoids responsible for colour in some vegetables. Human eyes also contain high quantities of these pigments. They help protect our eyes from the damage caused by sunlight [68]. In addition, numerous studies have indicated that zeaxanthin and lutein work to prevent macular degeneration and cataracts, which are the leading diseases that cause blindness [69]. These compounds may even be able to reverse existing damage [70]. There is evidence that these compounds helped to slow tumor growth in a human's cervix. They also decreased the size of the tumor [71]. Several human studies link spinach consumption to a reduced risk of prostate cancer. Eating this leafy green may also help prevent breast cancer [72]. A number of reactive oxygen species are produced during normal aerobic metabolism and these oxidants totally participate in aging and degenerative diseases such as cancer and atherosclerosis by oxidation of DNA, proteins and lipids [73]. Oxidation is not the only reason for cancer; rather inflammation is the other factor for carcinogenesis. Inflammation causes cancer by several mechanisms including the production of free radicals by inflammatory cells [74]. Spinach contains high amounts of antioxidants, which may also aid in cancer prevention [75]. It contains approximately 250 mg of calcium per cup. However, it is less easily absorbed than calcium obtained from dairy sources and makes it more difficult for our bodies to use it. Moreover, it has a high oxalate content, which binds to calcium. Because of the calcium oxalate often present in this vegetable, people who tend to develop kidney stones should not eat large amounts of it [76]. On the other hand, spinach contains very high amounts of vitamin K1. Vitamin K1 serves several functions in the body, but is best known for its role in blood clotting. People who are taking blood-thinners, such as warfarin, may want to closely monitor their vitamin K intake or avoid leafy greens altogether [77]. Additionally, an ion present in this vegetable is iron and this can affect how efficiently the body uses energy. Make sure to combine vitamin-C-rich foods such as citrus fruits with plant iron like spinach to improve its absorption. Magnesium is also present in spinach which is considered the best dietary source of it. This ion is necessary for energy metabolism in maintaining muscle and nerve function, regular heart rhythm, a healthy immune system, and preserving a regular blood pressure. Magnesium also plays a part in hundreds more biochemical reactions that occur in the body.

Spinach has the following possible health benefits: diabetes management because contains an alpha-lipoic acid, which has been shown to lower glucose levels, increase insulin sensitivity, and prevent oxidative, stress-induced changes in patients with diabetes. Studies on alpha-lipoic acid have also showed decreases in peripheral neuropathy and autonomic neuropathy in diabetics [78].

Flavonoids, Fruits and Vegetables

Flavonoids are compounds with the general structure of a 15-carbon skeleton, which consists of two phenyl rings (A and B) and a heterocyclic ring (C). This carbon structure can be abbreviated C6-C3-C6. They are widely distributed in plants, and are the most important plant pigments for flower coloration, producing yellow or red/blue pigmentation in petals designed to attract pollinator animals. Flavonoids are involved in UV filtration, symbiotic nitrogen fixation and floral pigmentation. These compounds may also act as chemical messengers, physiological regulators and cell cycle inhibitors.

Flavonoids are naturally occurring compounds. They are considered secondary metabolites of plants and have numerous therapeutic activities: anti-allergic, anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, antimicrobial (antibacterial, antifungal and antiviral), anticancer and antidiarrhoeal activities [79–84]. Flavonoids have also been shown to inhibit topoisomerase enzymes [84]. However, in most of the above cases no follow-up in vivo or clinical research has been performed, leaving it impossible to say if these activities have any beneficial or detrimental effect on human health.

Flavonoids are difficult to absorb orally because there are highly lipophilic compounds. They experience excessive first pass metabolism on oral administration that hampers their oral bioavailability. In consequence, an alternative topical route of administration has been explored for distribution of several flavonoids [85].

Flavonoids include different subclasses of compounds such as flavones, flavonols, flavanol, isoflavones and anthocyanins.

Flavonols

Flavonols are *O*-glyosidic, kenotic compounds with sugar moiety at the 3-position. Flavonols act as antioxidants and protect reactive oxygen species (ROS) formation. Skin is the most common aim for oxidative stress due to UV, ozone radiations, and other harmful chemicals. The antioxidant property of flavonols is due to the combination of conjugated double bond presenting the C-ring along with neighbouring hydroxyl group in their B-ring.

Quercetin, kaempferol and myricetin are the main compounds in this class. Quercetin is a flavonol abundantly found in leafy vegetables, citrus fruits, berries, etc. Quercetin reduces inflammation and inhibits various inflammatory mediators such as interleukins (IL), prostaglandins, produced by COX, LOX and LPS [86]. It triggers tissue regeneration by promoting the growth of new collagen fibres and producing ground substance to restore the skin structure [87]. Also, quercetin helps in inhibiting all the mediators which cause oxidative stress producing, thus, the antioxidant effect. It prevents cell death by inhibiting caspase-3 pathways and decreases the level of histidine decarboxylase [88].

Kaempferol is mostly found in berries and plants belonging to species of allium and brassica. This compound possesses anticancer, antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and anti-allergic activity [89, 90]. Kaempferol inhibits nitric oxide synthase which forms nitric oxide, a pro-inflammatory mediator, and therefore acts as anti-inflammatory agent. However, this favonol undergoes excessive first pass metabolism and therefore, bioavailability is only 2% and hence, topical route is preferred for its delivery. Kaempferol acts as novel agent in treating the UVB-induced tumorigenesis and photo-inflammation.

Flavanols

Flavanols include catechin, epicatechin, epigallocatechin, gallocatechin, and their gallate derivatives (monomeric flavanols) and their polymerization products, proanthocyanidines. In general, they are present in important concentrations in cocoa powder and chocolate, teas, grapes, citrus fruits and in celery [91].

Grape and grape juices are rich in catechin and epicatechin, which are capable of reducing glutamate excitotoxicity and utilize potent antioxidant activity and thus ameliorate endothelial function and reduce platelet aggregation and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) oxidation [92]. In consequence, they reduce the risk of onset or progression of cerebrovascular damage. Results from preclinical and human studies on flavanolrich cocoa administration (in which epicatechin is the most represented flavanol) have shown that it could result in the reduction of age-related cognitive decline and depression. A high-flavanol dietary supplement administered to elder adults was found to enhance activity in brain regions involved in age-related cognitive decline and to improve performance at cognitive testing [93]. Epigallocatechin gallate, the most abundant flavanol in green and black tea, has shown promising preclinical results in cognitive decline induced by vascular damage [92].

Catechins are the most readily absorbable flavonoids because they are the only form not bound to sugars (flavonoids glicosides are more easily absorbed after transformation in aglycan form) [94]. FDA has approved the use of catechins and its derivatives in various pharmaceutical formulations. Catechins act as antioxidants and are photoprotective, antiaging, anti-inflammatory, anticancer, neuroprotective, cardioprotective, antiviral and antibacterial [95]. Grape seed extract and tea polyphenols are rich in epigallocatechin and epicatechin, showing antioxidant effect by scavenging free radicals [91]. Catechins promote wound healing by scavenging free radicals at the injury site.

Anthocyanins

The beneficial pharmacological activities and possible health benefits of the anthocyanins confer a distinct advantage for their use as food colorants. These phenols have some positive therapeutic effects as anti-inflammatory agents, the prevention of cholesterol-induced atherosclerosis, including micro-circulation diseases [96, 97]. Anthocyanins are predominant pigments of grape skins, which are responsible for the colour of red wine, and also of blueberry, raspberry, black rice, and black soybean, among many others that are red, blue, purple or black. Some of the colours of autumn leaves are derived from anthocyanins and their colour may appear red, purple, or blue, depending on their pH. Usually, anthocyanins are associated with fruit but they are also present in vegetables, roots, legumes and cereals as well [98, 99]. They are water-soluble pigments and this characteristic is important for their largescale extraction [100]. Red grape and wine have phenolic compounds present in the berry skin and wine and they are responsible for their blue and red colours.

These compounds are excellent antioxidants because they are easily oxidized under circumstances of stress, with reactive oxygen species present. This capacity is very important for the humans because contribute to the fruits and vegetables protective effect regarding degenerative and chronic diseases [101–103]. The extracts of some plants and fruits with high phenolic compounds content have effects after human intake as mutagenesis and carcinogenesis inhibitors, anti-inflammatory agents, to prevent cholesterol-induced atherosclerosis, including micro-circulation diseases [96, 104–106]. Indeed, pills or powders rich in polyphenols made out of grape berry skins are already available on the market, and are preferred by naturists over conventional medicine.

In 1998, Renaud and Guegen reported a comparatively lower incidence of coronary heart disease in France in the face of high levels of saturated fat in the traditional French diet, commonly called 'The French paradox'. The wine contributes to this effect, but a moderate daily consumption of red wine [107]. Supplemental epidemiological studies from diverse populations have revealed that individuals who habitually consume moderate amounts of wine experience a 20-30% reduction in all-cause mortality, particularly cardiovascular mortality, when compared with individuals who abstain or who drink alcohol to excess [108]. There are studies performed in animals and humans that support a connection between regular moderate wine drinking and improved health. Although, there is evidence that supports the health benefits derived from grapes, grape juice, and grape seed extract. These products have been used to treat a variety of conditions, including cancer, cardiovascular disease, ischemic stroke, neurodegenerative disorders, aging, hypertension, hyperlipedemia and dental caries [109–111]. While wine has similar chemical constituents as grapes, the therapeutic effects have been attributed to wine more than the grapes. Some investigators believe these benefits may actually be enhanced in wine, possibly due to additive effects with the alcohol component of wine and/or to an increased bioavailability of wine polyphenols as a result of the fermentation process.

The cherry fruit is a nutrient-dense food with relatively low caloric content and significant amounts of important nutrients and bioactive food components including fibre, polyphenols, carotenoids, vitamin C, potassium, tryptophan,

serotonin and melatonin [112, 113]. There are many cultivars of cherries, but they are grouped in two major types: sweet (Prunus avium L.) and tart (Prunus cerasus L.) cherries. The majority of sweet cherries are consumed fresh, and approximately 20–25% is processed: brined, canned, frozen, dried or juiced. The cherries are rich in polyphenols [112, 114]. Polyphenols concentration and composition of cherries varies in relation with many factors including the cultivar, stage of ripening, portion of fruit, storage, among others [97]. The major anthocyanins are cyanidin-3glucoside and cyanidine-3-rutinoside. In addition to anthocyanins, cherries are also rich in hydroxycinnamates and flavin-3-ols. Hydroxycinnamates and flavin-3-ols, respectively, make up about 25-50% and 5-40% of the total phenolic in cherry depending on the cultivar.

Consequently, there is varied range in the concentration of anthocyanins in the different cultivars of cherries which may be due to the factors listed above and the precision of the analytical methods used. Further analyses under identical conditions are needed to compare the phenolic composition of specific cultivars of cherries.

In addition, cherries have another antioxidant which is associated to sleep regulation: melatonin. The antioxidant capacity of cherries varies but it have the oxygen radical absorbing capacity (ORAC) and ferric reducing ability of plasma (FRAP) assays, however, in a liposome-based system; the sweet cherries exhibited the highest antioxidant activity [115, 116].

Both anthocyanins and hydoxycinnamates are believed to be rapidly absorbed in humans reaching maximum plasma concentrations in less than 2 h and are quickly eliminated [117, 118]. Diverse findings suggest that anthocyanins have a minimum of 12.3% bioavailability and their metabolites continue in circulation longer than previously believed. Further studies are needed to confirm the bioavailability of anthocyanins. Given the high concentrations of bioactive compounds (e.g. anthocyanins, hydoxycinnamates, flavin-3-ols) in cherries, it is not surprising that cherry consumption promotes health. Numerous authors showed in animal and human studies that consumption of cherries may reduce the risk of several chronic inflammatory diseases including, arthritis, cardiovascular disease (CVD), diabetes, and cancer. Additionally, there is evidence that cherry consumption may improve sleep, cognitive function, and recovery from pain after strenuous exercise [112, 119–121].

Antioxidants help neutralize the free-radical cellular damage that accumulates in the body through factors such as stress, pollution and a poor diet. Free-radical damage can result in degenerative diseases such as cancer. Two of the most potent anticancer agents – the flavonoids isoquercitrin and queritrin – are found in tart red cherries.

Cherry juice is also thought to be effective in preventing heart disease. In addition to its antioxidants, cherries are high in potassium, an important mineral for those with high blood pressure. The anthocyanins found in this fruit may also protect artery walls from damage that leads to plaque buildup and heart disease similar to what was described above.

Blueberries are not actually blue, but deep purple, which is the colour of anthocyanin, a pigment that is especially rich in blueberries.

Blueberries are known to be high in antioxidants, anthocyanins, phenols and polyphenols which are good for the human body. Anthocyanin, phenols and polyphenols and your health benefits were described earlier.

References

- Rao BN. Bioactive phytochemicals in Indian foods and their potential in health promotion and disease prevention. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr. 2003;12:9–22.
- Rubió L, Motilva MJ, Romero MP. Recent advances in biologically active compounds in herbsandspices: a review of the most effective antioxidant and antiinflammatory active principles. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2013;53:943–53.
- Dragsted LO, Pedersen A, Hermetter A, Basu S, Hansen M, Haren GR. The 6-a-day study: effects of fruit and vegetables on markers of oxidative stress and antioxidative fruit and vegetable juice and health defense in healthy nonsmokers. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004;79:1060–72.
- Polidori MC, Carrillo JC, Verde PE, Sies H, Siegrist J, Stah W. Plasma micronutrient status is improved after a 3-month dietary intervention with 5 daily portions

of fruits and vegetables: implications for optimal antioxidant levels. Nutr J. 2009;8:10.

- Owuor ED, Kong AN. Antioxidants and oxidants regulated signal transduction pathways. Biochem Pharmacol. 2002;64:765–70.
- ItohK MJ, Yamamoto M. Discovery of the negative regulator of Nrf2, Keap1: a historical overview. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2010;13:1665–78.
- Aleksunes LM, Manautou JE. Emerging role of Nrf2 in protecting against hepatic and gastrointestinal disease. Toxicol Pathol. 2007;35:459.
- de Morais C, Oliveira B, Afonso C, Lumbers M, Raats M, de Almeida MD. Nutritional risk of European elderly. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2013;67:1215.
- Duthie SJ, Jenkinson AM, Crozier A, Mullen W, Pirie L, Kyle J. The effects of cranberry juice consumption on antioxidant status and biomarkers relating to heart disease and cancer in healthy human volunteers. Eur J Nutr. 2006;45:113–22.
- Yabuzaki J. Carotenoids Database: structures, chemical fingerprints and distribution among organisms. Database-Oxford. 2017.
- Alcaino J, Baeza M. Cifuentes. Carotenoid distribution in nature. Subcell Biochem. 2016;79:3–33.
- Magdaong NCM, Blankenship RE. Photoprotective, excited-state quenching mechanisms in diverse photosynthetic organisms. J Biol Chem. 2018;293(14):5018–25.
- Wang XD. Carotenoids. In: Ross CA, Caballero B, Cousins RJ, Tucker KL, Zeigler TR, editors. Modern nutrition in health and disease. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2014. p. 427–39.
- Avalos J, Carmen Limon M. Biological roles of fungal carotenoids. Curr Genet. 2015;61(3):309–24.
- Hou X, Rivers J, Leon P, McQuinn RP, Pogson BJ. Synthesis and function of apocarotenoid signals in plants. Trends Plant Sci. 2016;21(9):792–803.
- Walter MH, Floss DS, Strack D. Apocarotenoids: hormones, mycorrhizal metabolites and aroma volatiles. Planta. 2010;232(1):1–17.
- Cazzonelli CI, Pogson BJ. Source to sink: regulation of carotenoid biosynthesis in plants. Trends Plant Sci. 2010;15(5):266–74.
- Baranski R, Cazzonelli CI. Carotenoid biosynthesis and regulation in plants. In Kaczor A, Baranska M. (Eds.), Carotenoids: Nutrition, Analysis and Technology. 2016:161–89.
- McGraw KJ, Toomey MB. Carotenoid accumulation in the tissues of zebra finches: predictors of integumentary pigmentation and implications for carotenoid allocation strategies. Physiol Biochem Zool. 2010;83:97–109.
- Amat J, Rendon M, Garrido-Fernandez J, Garrido A, Rendon-Martos M, Perez-Galvez A. Greater flamingos Phoenicopterus roseus use uropygial secretions as make-up. Behav Ecol Sociobiol. 2010.
- Meyers KJ, Mares JA, Igo RP, Truitt B, Liu Z, Millen AE, Klein M, Johnson EJ, Engelman CD, Karki CK, Blodi B, Gehrs K, Tinker L, Wallace R, Robinson J, LeBlanc ES, Sarto G, Bernstein PS, SanGiovanni JP,

Iyengar SK. Genetic evidence for role of carotenoids in age-related macular degeneration in the carotenoids in age-related eye disease study (CAREDS). Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2014;55(1):587–99.

- 22. Fiedor J, Burda K. Potential role of carotenoids as antioxidants in human health and disease. Nutrients. 2014;6(2):466–88.
- 23. Cooperstone JL, Ralston RA, Riedl KM, Haufe TC, Schweiggert RM, King SA, Timmers CD, Francis DM, Lesinski GB, Clinton SK, Schwartz SJ. Enhanced bioavailability of lycopene when consumed as cis-isomers from tangerine compared to red tomato juice, a randomized, cross-over clinical trial. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2015;59(4):658–69.
- 24. Raghuvanshi S, Reed V, Blaner WS, Harrison EH. Cellular localization of βcarotene 15, 15' oxygenase-1 (BCO1) and β-carotene 9', 10 ' oxygenase-2 (BCO2) in rat liver and intestine. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2005;572:19–27.
- Stahl W, Sies H. Antioxidant activity of carotenoids. Mol Asp Med. 2003;24:345–51.
- 26. Mohammadzadeh Honarvar N, Saedisomeolia A, Abdolahi M, Shayeganrad A, Taheri Sangsari G, Hassanzadeh Rad B, Muench G. Molecular antiinflammatory mechanisms of retinoids and carotenoids in alzheimers disease: a review of current evidence. J Mol Neurosci. 2017;61(3):289–304.
- Giovannucci E, Rimm EB, Liu Y, Stampfer MJ, Willett W. A prospective study of tomato products, lycopene, and prostate cancer risk. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2002;94:391–8.
- Sesso HD, Gaziano JM. Heart and vascular diseases. Carotenoids in health and disease. New York: Marcel Dekker; 2004. p. 491–502.
- Sabour-Pickett S, Nolan JM, Loughman J, Beatty S. A review of the evidence germane to the putative protective role of the macular carotenoids for agerelated macular degeneration. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2012;56:270–86.
- Pickworth CL, Loerch SC, Kopec RE, Schwartz SJ, Fluharty FL. Concentration of pro-vitamin a carotenoids in common beef cattle feedstuffs. J Anim Sci. 2012;90:1553–61.
- Chew BP, Park JS. Carotenoid action on the immune response. J Nutr. 2004;134:257S–61S.
- 32. Paul JY, Khanna H, Kleidon J, Hoang P, Geijskes J, Daniells J, Zaplin E, Rosenberg Y, James A, Mlalazi B, Deo P, Arinaitwe G, Namanya P, Becker D, Tindamanyire J, Tushemereirwe W, Harding R, Dale J. Golden bananas in the field: elevated fruit pro-vitamin a from the expression of a single banana transgene. Plant Biotechnol J. 2017;15(4):520–32.
- Yuan JP, Peng J, Yin K, Wang JH. Potential healthpromoting effects of astaxanthin: a high-value carotenoid mostly from microalgae. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2011;55(1):150–65.
- Gomez-Prieto MS, Caja MM, Santa-Maria G. Solubility in supercritical carbon dioxide of the predominant carotenes of tomato skin. J Am Oil Chem Soc. 2002;79(9):897–902.

- Kong KW, Khoo HE, Prasad KN, Ismail A, Tan CP, Rajab NF. Revealing the power of the natural red pigment lycopene. Molecules. 2010;15:959–87.
- 36. Gajendragadkar PR, Hubsch A, Mäki-Petäjä KM, Serg M, Wilkinson IB, Cheriyan J. Effects of oral lycopene supplementation on vascular function in patients with cardiovascular disease and healthy volunteers: a randomised controlled trial. PLoS One. 2014;9:99070.
- Mozos I, Borzak G, Caraba A, Mihaescu R. Arterial stiffness in hematologic malignancies. Onco Targets Ther. 2017;10:1381–8.
- Saini RK, Zamany AJ, Keum YS. Ripening improves the content of carotenoid, alpha-tocopherol, and polyunsaturated fatty acids in tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.) fruits. Biotech. 2017;7:43.
- Oberoi DPS, Sogi DS. Utilization of watermelon pulp for lycopene extraction by response surface methodology. Food Chem. 2017;232:316–21.
- Naz A, Butt MS, Sultan MT, Qayyum MM, Niaz RS. Watermelon lycopene and allied health claims. EXCLI J. 2014;13:650–60.
- Mantzouridou F, Tsimidou MZ. Lycopene formation in *Blakeslea trispora*. Chemical aspects of a bioprocess. Trends Food Sci Technol. 2008;19:363–71.
- Basu A, Imrhan V. Tomatoes versus lycopene in oxidative stress and carcinogenesis: conclusions from clinical trials. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2007;61:295–303.
- 43. Burton-Freeman B, Talbot J, Park E, Krishnankutty S, Edirisinghe I. Protective activity of processed tomato products on postprandial oxidation and inflammation: a clinical trial in healthy weight men and women. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2012;56:622–31. https://doi. org/10.1002/mnfr.201100649.
- 44. Viuda-Martos M, Sanchez-Zapata E, Sayas-Barberá E, Sendra E, Pérez-Álvarez JA, Fernández-López J. Tomato and tomato byproducts. Human health benefits of lycopene and its application to meat products: a review. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2014;54:1032–49.
- 45. Kim OY, Yoe HY, Kim HJ, Park JY, Kim JY, Lee SH. Independent inverse relationship between serum lycopene concentration and arterial stiffness. Atherosclerosis. 2010;208:581–6.
- Böhm V. Lycopene and heart health. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2012;56:296–303.
- 47. Pereira BLB, Reis PP, Severino FE, Felix TF, Braz MG, Nogueira FR, et al. Tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum) or lycopene supplementation attenuates ventricular remodeling after myocardial infarction through different mechanistic pathways. J Nutr Biochem. 2017;46:117–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jnutbio.2017.05.010.
- Mozos I, Luca CT. Crosstalk between oxidative and Nitrosative stress and arterial stiffness. Curr Vasc Pharmacol. 2017;15(5):446–56.
- 49. Hollman PCH, Cassidy A, Comte B, Heinonen M, Richelle M, Richling E, et al. The biological relevance of direct antioxidant effects of polyphenols for cardiovascular health in humans is not established. J Nutr. 2011;141:989S–1009S.

- Bjelakovic G, Nikolova D, Gluud LL, Simonetti RG, Gluud C. Mortality in randomized trials of antioxidant supplements for primary and secondary prevention: systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA. 2007;297:842–57.
- Nakamura A, Itaki C, Saito A, Yonezawa T, Aizawa K, Hirai A, et al. Possible benefits of tomato juice consumption: a pilot study on irradiation human lymphocytes from healthy donors. Nutr J. 2017;16:27.
- Abdel-Daim MM, Eltaysh R, Hassan A, Mousa SA. Lycopene attenuates tulathromycin and diclofenac sodium-induced cardiotoxicity in mice. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19:e344.
- Opatrilova R, Kubatka P, Caprnda M, Büsselberg D, Krasnik V, Veselz P. Nitric oxide in the pathophysiology of retinopathy: evidences from preclinical and clinical research. Acta Ophthalmol. 2017;96:222–31.
- Costa-Rodrigues J, Pinho O, Monteiro PRR. Can lycopene be considered an effective protection against cardiovascular disease? Food Chem. 2018;245: 1148–53.
- 55. Gong Z, Holly EA, Wang F, et al. Intake of fatty acids and antioxidants and pancreatic cancer in a large population-based case-control study in the San Francisco Bay Area. Int J Cancer. 2010;127(8):1893–904.
- 56. Chew EY, Klein ML, Clemons TE, Agron E, Abecasis GR. Genetic testing in persons with age-related macular degeneration and the use of the AREDS supplements: to test or not to test? Ophthalmology. 2015;122:212–5.
- Manela-Azulay M, Bagatin E. Cosmeceuticals vitamins. Clin Dermatol. 2009;27(5):469–74.
- Nishino H, Tokuda H, Murakoshi M, Satomi Y, Masuda M, Onozuka M, Yamaguchi S, Takayasu J, Tsuruta J, Okuda M, et al. Cancer prevention by natural carotenoids. Biofactors. 2000;13:89–94.
- 59. Baron JA, Cole BF, Mott L, Haile R, Grau M, et al. Neoplastic and antineoplastic effects of beta-carotene on colorectal adenoma recurrence: results of a randomized trial. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2003;95:717–22.
- 60. Zaini R, Clench MR, Le Maitre CL. Bioactive chemicals from carrot (daucus carota) juice extracts for the treatment of leukemia. J Med Food. 2011;14(11):1303–12.
- Zhao Y, Zhao B. Oxidative stress and the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. Oxidative Med Cell Longev. 2013:316523.
- Jian L, Lee AH, Binns CW. Tea and lycopene protect against prostate cancer. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr. 2007;16(Suppl 1):453–7.
- Roberts JE, Dennison J. The photobiology of lutein and Zeaxanthin in the eye. J Ophthalmol. 2015:687173.
- Sies H, Stahl W, Sevanian A. Nutritional, dietary and post-prandial oxidative stress. J Nutr. 2005;135:969–72.
- Docampo R. Antioxidant mechanisms. In: Marr J, Müller M, editors. Biochemistry and molecular biology of parasites. London: Academic Press; 1995. p. 147–60.

- 66. Rice-Evans CA, Gopinathan V. Oxygen toxicity, free radicals and antioxidants in human disease: biochemical implications in atherosclerosis and the problems of premature neonates. Essays Biochem. 1995;29:39–63.
- Rock CL, Jacob RA, Bowen PE. Update o biological characteristics of the antioxidant micronutrientsvitamin C, vitamin E and the carotenoids. J Am Diet Assoc. 1996;96:693–702.
- Mc Cord JM. The evolution of free radicals and oxidative stress. Am J Med. 2000;108:652–9.
- Rao AL, Bharani M, Pallavi V. Role of antioxidants and free radicals in health and disease. Adv Pharmacol Toxicol. 2006;7:29–38.
- Poppel GV, Golddbohm RA. Epidemiologic evidence for β – carotene and cancer prevention. Am J Clin Nutr. 1995;62:1393–5.
- Ashok BT, Ali R. The aging paradox: free radical theory of aging. Exp Gerontol. 1999;34:293–303.
- Cantuti-Castelvetri I, Shukitt-Hale B, Joseph JA. Neurobehavioral aspects of antioxidants in aging. Int J Dev Neurosci. 2000;18:367–81.
- Ames BN, Shigenaga MK. Ann oxidants are a major contributor to aging. N Y Acad Sci. 1992;663:85–96.
- Okada F. Inflammation and free radicals in tumor development and progression. Redox Rep. 2002;7(6):357–68.
- Tantamango-Bartley Y, Jaceldo-Siegl K, Fan J, Fraser G. Vegetarian diets and the incidence of cancer in a low-risk population. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2013;22(2):286–94.
- Massey LK, Roman-Smith H, Sutton RA. Effect of dietary oxalate and calcium on urinary oxalate and risk of formation of calcium oxalate kidney stones. J Am Diet Assoc. 1993;93(8):901–6.
- Chang CH, Wang YW, Yeh Liu PY, Kao Yang YH. A practical approach to minimize the interaction of dietary vitamin K with warfarin. J Clin Pharm Ther. 2014;39(1):56–60.
- Panda V, Shinde P, Dande P. Consumption of Spinacia Oleracea (spinach) and aerobic exercise controls obesity in rats by an inhibitory action on pancreatic lipase. Arch Physiol Biochem. 2018;29:1–8.
- Cushnie TP, Lamb AJ. "Antimicrobial activity of flavonoids" (PDF). Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2005;26(5):343–56.
- Cushnie TP, Lamb AJ. Recent advances in understanding the antibacterial properties of flavonoids. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2011;38(2):99–107.
- Manner S, Skogman M, Goeres D, Vuorela P, Fallarero A. Systematic exploration of natural and synthetic flavonoids for the inhibition of Staphylococcus aureus biofilms. Int J Mol Sci. 2013;14(10):19434–51.
- Friedman M. Overview of antibacterial, antitoxin, antiviral, and antifungal activities of tea flavonoids and teas. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2007;51(1):116–34.
- Schuier M, Sies H, Illek B, Fischer H. Cocoarelated flavonoids inhibit CFTR-mediated chloride transport across T84 human colon epithelia. J Nutr. 2005;135(10):2320–5.

- Bandele O, Clawson SJ, Osheroff N. Dietary polyphenols as topoisomerase II poisons: B-ring substituents determine the mechanism of enzyme-mediated DNA cleavage enhancement. Chem Res Toxicol. 2008;21(6):1253–60.
- Shelke SJ, Shinkar DM, Saudagar RB. Topical gel: a novel approach for development of topical drug delivery system. Int J Pharm Technol. 2013;5:2739–63.
- Gupta A, Birhman K, Raheja I, Sharma SK, Kar HK. Quercetin: a wonder bioflavonoid with therapeutic potential in disease management, Asian Pacific. J Trop Dis. 2016;6:248–52.
- Andrea GD. Fitoterapia Quercetin: a flavonol with multifaceted therapeutic applications ? Fitoterapia. 2015;106:256–71.
- Lesjak M, Beara I, Simin N, Pintać D, Majkić T, Bekvalac K, Orčić D, Mimica-Dukić N. Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities of quercetin and its derivatives. J Funct Foods. 2018;40:68–75.
- Wang H, Helliwell K. Determination of favonols in green and black tea leaves and green tea infusions by high-performance liquid chromatography. Food Res Int. 2001;34:223–7.
- 90. Liu R, Wang T, Zhang B, Qin L, Wu C, Li Q, Ma L. Lutein and zeaxanthin supplementation and association with visual function in age-related macular degeneration. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2014;56(1):252–8.
- Grzesik M, Bartosz G, Dziedzic A, Narog D, Namiesnik J, Sadowska-Bartosz I. Antioxidant properties of ferrous flavanol mixtures. Food Chem. 2018;268:567–76.
- Mecocci P, Tinarelli C, Schulz RJ, Polidori MC. Nutraceuticals in cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. Frog nt Pharmacol. 2014;5:147.
- Brickman AM, Khan UA, Provenzano FA, Yeung LK, Suzuki W, Schroeter H. Enhancing dentate gyrus function with dietary flavanols improves cognition in older adults. Nat Neurosci. 2017;17(12):1798–803.
- Kumar S, Pandey AK. Chemistry and biological activities of flavonoids: an overview. Sci World J. 2013:162750.
- Carilho K. Review of methods for analysis of carotenoids. Trends Anal Chem. 2014;56:49–73.
- 96. Satue-Garcia MT, Heinonen M, Frankel EN. Anthocyanins as antioxidants on human lowdensity lipoprotein and lecithinliposome systems. J Agric Food Chem. 1997;45:3362–7.
- Wang H, Cao G, Prior RL. The oxygen radical absorbing capacity of anthocyanins. J Agric Food Chem. 1997;45:304–9.
- Giampieri F, Alvarez-Suarez JM, Battino M. Strawberry and human health: effects beyond antioxidant activity. J Agric Food Chem. 2014;62:3867–76.
- Howard LR, Brownmiller C, Prior RL. Improved color and anthocyanin retention in strawberry puree by oxygen exclusion. J Berry Res. 2014;4:107–16.

- Prior RL, Wu X. Anthocyanins: structural characteristics that result in unique metabolic patterns and biological activities. Free Radic Res. 2006;40:1014–28.
- 101. Qiu Z, Wang X, Gao J, Guo Y, Huang Z, Du Y. The tomato Hoffman's Anthocyaninless gene encodes a bHLH transcription factor involved in anthocyanin biosynthesis that is developmentally regulated and induced by low temperatures. PLoS One. 2016;11(3):e0151067.
- 102. Record IR, Dreosti IE, McInerney JK. Changes in plasma antioxidant status following consumption of diets high or low in fruit and vegetables or following dietary supplementation with an antioxidant mixture. Br J Nutr. 2001;85(4):459–64.
- 103. Heinonen IM, Meyer AS, Frankel EN. Antioxidant activity of berry phenolics on human low-density lipoprotein and liposome oxidation. J Agric Food Chem. 1998;46(10):4107–12.
- 104. Macheix JJ, Fleuriet A, Billot J. Fruit phenolics. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 1990. p. 41–54.
- 105. Wang J, Fang X, Ge L, Cao F, Zhao L, Wang Z, Xiao W. Antitumor, antioxidantand anti-inflammatory activities of kaempferol and its corresponding glycosides and the enzymatic preparation of kaempferol. PLoS One. 2018;13:1–12.
- 106. Kumpulainen JT, Salonen JT. In natural antioxidants and anticarcinogens in nutrition, health and disease. Cambridge: Royal Society of Chemistry; 1998.
- Renaud S, Gueguen R. The French paradox and wine drinking. Novartis Found Symp. 1998;216:208–17.
- 108. German JB, Walzem RL. The health benefits of wine. Ann Rev Nutr. 2000;20:561–93.
- Perez-Jimenez J, Saura-Calixto F. Grape products and cardiovascular disease risk factors. Nutr Res Rev. 2008;21:158–73.
- 110. Kaur M, Agarwal C, Agarwal R. Anticancer and cancer chemopreventive potential of grape seed extract and other grapebased products. J Nutr. 2009;139:1806S–12S.
- 111. Wu CD. Grape products and oral health. J Nutr. 2009;139:1818S1823S.
- 112. McCune LM, Kubota C, Stendell-Hollis NR, Thomson CA. Cherries and health: a review. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2011;51:1–12.
- 113. Cubero J, Toribio F, Garrido M, Hernandez MT, Maynar J, Barriga C, Rodriguez AB. Assays of the amino acid tryptophan in cherries by HPLCfluorescence. Food Anal Methods. 2010;3:36–9.
- 114. Ferretti G, Bacchetti T, Belleggia A, Neri D. Cherry antioxidants: from farm to table. Molecules. 2010;15:6993–7005.
- 115. Commisso M, Bianconi M, di Carlo F, Poletti S, Bulgarini A, Munari F, Negri S, Stocchero M, Ceoldo S, Avesani L, et al. Multi-approach metabolomics analysis and artificial simplified phytocomplexes reveal cultivar-dependent synergy between polyphenols and ascorbic acid in fruits of the sweet cherry (Prunus avium L.). PLoS One. 2017;12:e0180889.

- 116. Mulabagal V, Lang GA, DeWitt DL, Dalavoy SS, Nair MG. Anthocyanin content, lipid peroxidation and cyclooxygenase enzyme inhibitory activities of sweet and sour cherries. J Agric Food Chem. 2009;57:1239–46.
- 117. Keane KM, Bell PG, Lodge JK, Constantinou CL, Jenkinson SE, Bass R, Howatson G. Phytochemical uptake following human consumption of Montmorency tart cherry (L. Prunus cerasus) and influence of phenolic acids on vascular smooth muscle cells in vitro. Eur J Nutr. 2016;55:1695–705.
- 118. Manach C, Williamson G, Morand C, Scalbert A, Remesy C. Bioavailability and bioefficacy of polyphenols in humans. I. Review of 97 bioavailability studies. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005;81(Suppl. S1):230S–42S.
- 119. de Sousa RR, Queiroz KC, Souza AC, Gurgueira SA, Augusto AC, Miranda MA, Peppelenbosch MP, Ferreira CV, Aoyama H. Phosphoprotein levels, MAPK activities and NFkappaB expression are affected by fisetin. J Enzyme Inhib Med Chem. 2007;22(4):439–44.
- 120. Bell PG, McHugh MP, Stevenson E, Howatson G. The role of cherries in exercise and health. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 2014;24:477–90.
- 121. Mayta-Apaza AC, Marasini D, Carbonero F. Tart cherries and health: current knowledge and need for a better understanding of the fate of phytochemicals in human gastrointenstinal tract. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2017;28:1–13.



26

Prospects of Herbal Remedies in Neuropsychiatric Diseases from the Gut–Brain Communication Perspective

Wing-Yan Wong, Brandon Dow Chan, Magnolia Muk-Lan Lee, Benjamin K. Yee, and William Chi-Shing Tai

The Gut Microbiota in Health and Disease

The human gastrointestinal tract is colonized by a vast dynamic ecosystem of over 100 trillion (10^{14}) microorganisms comprising mostly bacteria, but also fungi, protozoa and viruses [1]. The number of microbial cells we carry vastly outnumber our own cells (3.72×10^{13} , [2]). In terms of genomics, the gut microbiota possesses a gene set 150-fold larger than the human genome [3, 4]. The biological significance of the gut microbiota is now well acknowledged – it has been described as an essential "virtual organ" of the body. Hence, a healthy ecosystem of gut microbiota is considered necessary for the normal development and health of its host. Conversely, its imbalance,

W.-Y. Wong · B. D. Chan · M. M.-L. Lee W. C.-S. Tai Department of Applied Biology and Chemical

Technology, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Kowloon, Hong Kong e-mail: wyan.wong@polyu.edu.hk; brandon.d.chan@connect.polyu.hk; ml.lee@connect.polyu.hk; william-cs.tai@polyu.edu.hk known as dysbiosis, is associated with dysfunction and disease. Local effects of dysbiosis are readily implicated in intestine-related diseases such as irritable bowel syndrome, inflammatory bowel diseases [5], and metabolic diseases such as diabetes and obesity [6], but there is increasing evidence that dysbiosis may also contribute to a wide spectrum of chronic conditions. These range from hypertension [7], atherosclerosis [8] and cancer [9] to mental disorders such as depression, anxiety and schizophrenia [10].

First, the gut microbiota is necessary for optimum health and basic function of the gastrointestinal tract. It contributes directly to the metabolism of undigested and undigestible carbohydrates and proteins, and synthesis of vitamins and other essential bioactive substances, such as the short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) [11, 12]. Butyrate, one of the SCFAs, is a key regulator of the assembly of tight junctions crucial to the integrity of the intestinal mucosal barrier [13, 14]. The gut microbiota also assume a critical protective role against invasion of pathogenic bacteria through colonization resistance [15]. Our resident gut bacteria not only act as a physical barrier to exogenous microbes, but also release antimicrobial substances to curtail incursion by foreign microorganisms as well as inhibit the growth of harmful indigenous species. It is now known that *colonization resistance* also

B. K. Yee (🖂)

Department of Rehabilitation Sciences, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Kowloon, Hong Kong e-mail: benjamin.yee@polyu.edu.hk

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_26

depends on interaction with the host's systemic immune responses [16]. Indeed, the development and maintenance of the intestinal immune system are tightly regulated by the gut microbiota. Some of the most convincing demonstrations are derived from germ-free (GF) mice raised through generations in laboratory conditions devoid of all microorganisms.

Notably, GF mice are known to develop Peyer's patches and mesenteric lymph nodes in the gut indicative of deficient development of gut-associated lymphoid tissues. The levels of secretory IgA, the numbers of CD4+ T-cells, including T_H17 cells and CD4⁺ CD25⁺ T_{reg}-cells are all reduced in the guts of GF mice. Beyond the impact on the intestinal barrier and intestinal immune system, GF animals also show defects in metabolism, vasculature and behaviour [17, 18]. Although the extent to which their behavioural defects (e.g. altered stress response, anxietylike behaviour) reflect nervous system dysfunction (rather than being secondary to the presence of other systemic dysfunctions) arguably still remains uncertain, structural changes in the brain are clearly evident in these animals. Brain morphological changes reported in GF mice include increased volume of the amygdala and hippocampus, even though the total volume of their brain is largely comparable with normal microbecolonized mice [19].

Additional evidence for a possible causal relationship between gut microbiota and neural development comes from microbiota transplant experiments. Transplanting microbiota harvested from infant mice with phenotypes of retarded growth to the guts of GF mice could reproduce the retarded growth phenotypes in the recipient animals, including suppression of neuronal development and myelination [20]. This study isolated the importance of gut microbiota in modulating brain development. Secondly, given the defects in vasculature in GF mice, and that normal tight junction assembly in the intestine requires the presence of gut microbiota, it is not surprising that the blood-brain barrier (BBB) of GF mice is also reportedly "leaky" with increased permeability [21]. The specific link of leaky BBB with the absence of gut bacteria is supported by rescue experiments, in which the expression of tight junction proteins in the BBB of GM mice could be successfully upregulated following transplantation of gut microbiota harvested from normal mice [22].

The Gut–Brain Axis

The gut microbiota is an integral component of the "gut-brain axis". The term "gut-brain axis" has been around for decades, which encapsulates the interaction and communication between the enteric nervous system and the central nervous system [23]. Considering the pivotal roles played by gut microbes mentioned above, the "gut-brain axis" may be more accurately understood as a "microbiota-gut-brain axis" [24, 25]. Signalling within this triadic network is bi-directional (Fig. 26.1). While the gut microbiota may influence brain activity and modify behaviour, the gut microbiota are also modifiable by signals originating from the brain. Thus, the brain can alter the composition of the gut microbiota and their influence within the axis [26].

The direct as well as indirect connections between the gut microbiota and the brain have been implicated in psychiatric and behavioural disorders. The seminal paper by Sudo et al. [27] has often been cited as the first demonstration of a potential causal link. They showed that GF mice exhibited a stronger response to stress stimuli; and that the elevated stress response via the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) stress axis as well as the associated anxiety traits could be partially normalized by re-colonization of the gut [27]. Although one may not exclude the contribution of microbiota in other organs to the actiology of the abnormal psychophysiology in the GF mice, the normalization of anxiety-related behaviour pinpoints the importance of gut bacteria - a critical finding that has been consistently replicated [28, 29].

Attempts to manipulate the gut microbiota in normal animals have also yielded evidence for specific behavioural and neural effects. The chronic administration of the bacterial strain *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* (JB-1) in normal mice



Fig. 26.1 The conception of the "microbiota-gut-brain" triadic network

was found to produce an antidepressant-like effect. The behavioural change has been attributed to the modification of inhibitory neurotransmission mediated by gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) in the multiple brain regions, leading to increased excitation in cortical regions and decreased signalling in the hippocampus, amygdala and locus coeruleus [30]. The antidepressant effect can be abolished by vagotomy, suggesting that the vagus nerve could be a major conduit for a direct communication between the gut bacteria and the brain [30].

Increased intestinal permeability and higher expression levels of intestinal inflammatory mediators have been shown in a mouse model of autism spectrum disorder (ASD) based on the neurodevelopmental impact of gestational immune activation. While one may not conclude from this correlative finding alone that the intestinal phenotypes may be causally related to the behavioural ASD-related phenotypes of this mouse model, the demonstration of a successful rescue by gut microbiota intervention has lent some stronger support – which highlights incidentally a novel risk factor of ASD. In the mouse gestational immune activation model of ASD, treatment with the human commensal bacterium Bacteroides fragilis not only restored the defective intestinal barrier and altered the serum metabolomic/ cytokine profile but also ameliorated multiple ASD-related anxiety and attentional deficits of the resulting offspring. *B. fragilis* was effective in suppressing the massive increase of one specific metabolite, 4-ethylphenylsuphate, produced by *Clostridium* spp. in the ASD mouse model. These findings support a connection between the microbiome, gut and brain, whereby the composition of gut bacteria can affect the host's metabolome to alter behaviour from a neurodevelopmental perspective [31]. This study has been recognized as an important proof-of-concept that microbial metabolites provide a molecular connection between the gut and the brain [32].

Mechanisms of Gut Microbiota in Modulation of Neuropsychiatric Disease

The composition and diversity of gut microbiota has been linked to many major neuropsychiatric disorders, including autism spectrum disorder [33, 34], depression [35, 36], anxiety, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder [37], bipolar disorders, and schizophrenia [38].

However, it remains unclear the extent to which specific changes in the microbiota causally contribute to disease aetiology and progression, or if such changes are secondary consequences of the disease in question. Support for substantive mechanistic links has been strengthened by recent studies highlighting the multiple pathways involved. The crosstalk between the gut microbiota and brain could be mediated through neural (neurotransmitters), immune (cytokines), neuroendocrine (hormones) pathways, and bacterial metabolites [39-41]. However, a given change in gut microbiota may often influence all pathways in parallel – directly or indirectly. It is therefore challenging to delineate the precise mechanism of any single effect, especially when the complexity of the intestinal microflora is further scrutinized. Furthermore, most of the current mechanistic knowledge is derived from experiments in laboratory rodents. Inter-species divergence in gut microbiota is a potential barrier to translation. To overcome this, epidemiological studies as well as clinical trials in humans, across regions and ethnicity, would be necessary.

Neurotransmission Gut bacteria are capable of modifying communications mediated by neurotransmitter and neuromodulator molecules at synaptic junctions through multiple mechanisms. Neurotransmission is essential for computational processes and neural plasticity central to all nervous system functions. Dysregulation of brain neurotransmission is implicated in the pathophysiology of neuropsychiatric conditions - from depression, anxiety, schizophrenia, mania, to Parkinson's disease - and the receptors, synthesis, and re-uptake of specific neurotransmitters are common targets for nearly all major neuropsychiatric drugs. Within this neurocentric view of psychiatry, probiotics for mental health has become a distinct possibility, with the ability of gut bacteria to modulate multiple neurotransmission pathways in the host's nervous system. Dysbiosis is associated with changes in receptor expression and neurotransmitter turnover in the brain across multiple neurotransmitter systems,: including catecholamines, GABA, serotonin, melatonin and acetylcholine. In addition, the expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) is also sensitive to changes in the gut microbiota [42], which is closely involved in

some forms of memory and learning as well as the pathogenesis of depression and anxiety.

Some bacteria have evolved the ability to respond and release neurotransmitter-like molecules to "communicate" with the host nervous system. Relatively high levels of catecholamine neurotransmitters have been observed in biomasses formed by Escherichia coli, Proteus vulgaris, Serratia marcescens, Bacillus subtilis or Bacillus mycoides [43]. A specific serotype of E. coli (O157:H7) can locate their presence in the intestines by sensing adrenaline and activating essential genes for colonization, which can be blocked by α - and β -adrenergic antagonists [44]. It has been suggested that such bacteria have adapted their inter-bacterial communication (quorum sensing) system to communicate with the host. Indeed, the levels of dopamine and noradrenaline in gut lumens are determined by gut microbiota composition. Compared with typical mice raised in specific-pathogen-free (SPF) conditions, the levels of free dopamine and noradrenaline are lower in GF mice [45]. Introduction of E. coli into the guts of GF mice could restore gut catecholamine content to SPF mice levels, and this restoration was dependent on the activity of the enzyme, β -glucuronidase.

Another monoamine neurotransmitter in the host that may be regulated by gut microbiota composition is serotonin. This is mediated by specific metabolites produced by spore-forming bacteria indigenous to humans and mice. Such bacterial metabolites could stimulate the release of serotonin by enterochromaffin cells and thus interfere with the regulation of GI motility and platelet function in the colon [46].

Finally, chronic treatment of common probiotic lactic acid bacteria – *Lactobacillus reuteri* and *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* – could lead to an anxiolytic and antidepression profile, together with a reduction in the release of corticosterone in response to stress [30, 47, 48]. These effects are attributed to multiple region-specific changes in GABA receptor expression in the brain. GABA-B 1b subunit expression was elevated in the cingulate and prelimbic cortices but reduced in the hippocampus, amygdala and locus coeruleus. On the other hand, the expression of $\alpha 2$ GABA-A receptors was elevated in the hippocampus but reduced in the amygdala and prefrontal cortex [30]. The pivotal role of the vagal connection in mediating these diverse behavioural and molecular pharmacological effects is demonstrated by the ability of vagotomy prior to probiotic treatment to prevent such effects.

Immune Cytokines The gut microbiota's influence on the immune system is readily detectable through changes in the blood levels of immune cytokines. The resulting changes in the circulating levels of pro-inflammatory and antiinflammatory cytokines are capable of bringing about structural as well as functional changes in the nervous system, including the brain. Chronic inflammation is associated with dysfunction in serotonergic, noradrenergic, and dopaminergic transmission as well as neurogenesis in the brain - all have been linked to various psychiatric conditions [49–52]. In addition, increases in the gene expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α) in the brain have been associated with hippocampal and cerebral damage [53].

Mechanistically, one immediate impact of dysbiosis is to undermine the intestinal epithelium and mucous layers as a physical barrier to bacterial incursion. The resulting increase in epithelial permeability or "leaky gut" accelerates the diffusion of bacterial metabolites into the systemic blood circulation, which may cause immune reactions [54]. It has been suggested that chronic low-grade inflammation present in some patients with depression is associated with leaky gut [55]. This is in keeping with the inflammatory hypothesis of depression, which suggests that persistent increased inflammation plays a causative role in depression [49], including relapse [56], and underlies drug resistance in some cases [57, 58]. The contribution of leaky gut in other psychiatric conditions may include bipolar disorder, schizophrenia and autism. Increased genes expression of inflammatory cytokines has been reported in post-mortem brain materials in people who had depression, bipolar

disorder and schizophrenia [59]. Similarly, elevation of pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g. TNF, IL-6, and monocyte chemotactic protein 1) has been reported in autism [60, 61].

Parkinson's disease is a neuropsychiatric condition with evidence for microbiota imbalance. The relative abundance of *Parabacteroides*. Verrucomicrobia, Akkermansia, Butyricimonas, Veillonella, Odoribacter, Mucispirillum, Bilophila, Enterococcus, and Lactobacillus was elevated in patients relative to controls. Amongst these changes, plasma levels of TNF- α and IFN γ correlated with the abundance of Bacteroides (a genus of Gram-negative, obligate anaerobic bacteria) and bacteria of the phylum *Verrucomicrobia* [62]. A mechanistic link between gut microbiota and α -synuclein pathology in the brain of Parkinson's disease patients has been proposed [63]. It may open new interventions utilizing prebiotics, probiotics and synbiotics [64].

Neuroendocrine Signalling Molecules The composition of the gut microbiota is sensitive to multiple endocrine factors including braingut peptides, leptin, corticotrophin-releasing factor (CRF), adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH), corticosterone and other hormones [65]. Activation of the HPA axis by stress and the release of corticosterone into the blood circulation could modulate how the gut microbiota may affect our bodily functions. For instance, stress may increase the permeability of the gut (thus compromising its barrier function and result in a "leaky gut") and the production of inflammatory cytokines by immune cells [52] as summarized above. In addition, the composition and activity of the microbiota, including bacterial gene expression and inter-bacteria signalling, can be modulated by stress hormones (e.g. noradrenaline) released by the host [66]. The bacteria-host signalling system is therefore clearly reciprocal when we take into account that the sensitivity of the stress axis can be modified by the composition of the gut microbiota. For instance, combined treatment with Lactobacillus helveticus and Bifidobacterium longum could effectively suppress the release of corticosterone in response to stress in mice [67].

Gut Bacteria Metabolites The microbiota can exert substantial impact on the host's metabolomic profile through the production of molecules, including bacterial metabolites and neuroactive signalling molecules [68]. A host of microbialderived molecules are responsible for communication from the bacteria to the host's brain. Some metabolites are capable of crossing the intestinal barrier into systemic circulation, and can also pass through the BBB [26, 46, 69]. These include tryptophan metabolites, secondary bile acids, and microbial-derived SCFAs (e.g. acetate, butyrate, isobutyrate, hexonate, and propionate) [70, 71]. They may bind to receptors on enteroendocrine cells and/or be taken up by the intestinal epithelial cells with consequence in the host's mucosal immune and nervous functions. SCFAs are primary bacterial metabolites with potent anti-inflammatory properties, and are commonly associated with Eubacterium, Rosebery, Faecalibacterium, Bifidobacterium, Lactobacillus and Enterobacter species [72]. They typically decrease intestinal permeability, enhance immune system functioning, alter lipoprotein profiles, and decrease colonic pH [73]. They also bind to G-protein-coupled receptors (e.g. GPR41) and stimulate the release of neuropeptides, thus modulating enteroendocrine signalling [74]. Beyond that, more extensive influence on energy homeostasis and even behaviour may be realized through the actions of enteroendocrine neuropeptides on both enteric

Gut Microbiota in Depression and Anxiety

before.

Although notable changes in gut microbiota associated with specific psychiatric diseases are often reported between specific patient groups, it remains difficult to identify consistent differences. Table 26.1 summarizes the major differences reported in three studies examining faecal samples obtained from patients with major depressive disorder (MDD) or general

and afferent vagal pathways [75], as mentioned

anxiety disorder (GAD) in comparison with healthy controls [76-78]. Whilst each study could identify significant changes in the relative abundance of specific groups of bacteria in both directions, these are hardly consistent across the selected studies. At the genus level, there is little overlap, although a reduction in Prevotella spp. appeared consistent [76, 77]. At the phylum level, only the increase of Actinobacteria in MDD patients was commonly reported in these two studies, but changes in three other phyla (Bacteroidetes, Proteobacteria, Firmicutes) identified were opposite between these two studies. The changes reported in MDD patients in these two studies are as different from each other as they are in comparison with the pattern reported in GAD patients. Similarly, neither the correlation between the abundance of Faecalibacterium and severity of depressive symptoms [77] nor the correlation between Holdemania abundance and anxiety symptoms in MDD patients [76] was replicated between studies. It seems premature to rely on such findings to direct therapeutic microbiota treatment. The diversity in diets amongst humans as well as systematic differences between geographical populations could add to the difficulty in comparison between studies. Nonetheless, correlative links between microbiota changes and symptom severity [76, 77] or remission [78] are encouraging when considered against the proof-of-principle studies in animals. However, it remains contentious whether the microbiota differences reported in human epidemiological studies may be consequential to changes in mental state instead of a causal factor. A new approach seems necessary to overcome this roadblock.

Animal models help overcome some of these interpretative difficulties of human data despite limitations of their own. First, laboratory animals of comparable age and genetic background may be used under highly regulated and stable diets between conditions. Second, baseline differences can be effectively minimized by thorough randomization of group allocation. Third, the experimental manipulations used to induce behavioural changes relevant to mental dysfunction are well

	Microbiota (by phylur	n)	Microbiota (by genus)		
Psychiatric conditions	Change in relative abu	indance	Change in relative abundance		
Major depressive disorder [77]	Bacteroidetes	1	Alistipes	1	
	Proteobacteria	1	Parabacteroides	1	
	Fusobacteria	1	Phascolarctobacterium	1	
	Actinobacteria	1	Rosebery	1	
	Firmicutes	Ļ	Dialister	Ļ	
			Faecalibacterium	Ļ	
			Prevotella	Ļ	а
			Ruminococcus	↓	
Major depressive disorder [76]	Actinobacteria	1	Bifidobacterium	1	
	Firmicutes	1	Blautia	1	b
	Proteobacteria	Ļ	Prevotella	Ļ	
	Bacteroidetes	Ļ			
General anxiety disorder [78]	Fusobacteria	1	Bacteroides	↑	с
	Bacteroidetes	1	Escherichia-Shigella	1	
			Ruminococcus gnavus	1	
			Lactobacillus	1	
			Fusobacterium	1	
	Firmicutes	Ļ	Faecalibacterium	Ļ	
			Eubacterium rectale	Ļ	
			Roseburia	Ļ	
			Subdoligranulum	Ļ	
			Lachnospira	Ļ	

 Table 26.1
 Summary of three human studies examining gut microbiota differences in patients with major depressive disorder or general anxiety disorders

Upper (\uparrow) and lower (\downarrow) arrows indicate the direction of change in the relative abundance of the respective genus and/ or phyla of bacterium in the gut

^aFaecalibacterium negatively correlated with depressive symptoms severity

^bFirmicutes Holdemania positively correlated with anxiety symptoms in patients

^cLower relative abundance of *Bacteroides spp*. was related to remission

characterized and repeatable across laboratories. Table 26.2 summarizes a selection of seven rodent studies using diverse approaches to induce anxiety and depression-like behaviour and standard preclinical tests. Across a range of animal models of depression involving chronic stress as well as high-fat diet, the relative abundance of bacteria belonging to the phylum Proteobacteria (including genus: Helicobacter, Flexispira, Helicobacter, Parasutterella and Klebsiella) was consistently elevated [79-85]. In this list, the chronic alcohol exposure model in rats appears to be the exception - in which a decrease of Proteobacteria (Helicobacter) is reported instead [85]. In contrast, phyla Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes and Verrucomicrobia yielded less consistent changes across this set of studies.

A more exhaustive meta-analysis is certainly warranted, but this brief selection serves to illustrate the daunting task of identifying the signatures of dysbiosis in relation to specific psychiatric conditions in order to guide therapeutics with prebiotics, probiotics or symbiotics. The gut microbiota is a dynamic ecosystem, such that fluctuation of its composition in response to both internal and external factors (including the host) is the norm rather than the exception. Hence, the impact of any prebiotic/probiotic manipulation on the gut microbiota, no matter how specific it may seem, must be considered holistically. We may not exclude the possibility that apparent divergent patterns of microbiota changes could exert similar impacts on the host's physiology and behaviour. Such empirical considerations

		Microbiota (by phylun	n)	Microbiota (by genus)	
		Change in relative		Change in relative	
Animal models of anxiety/depression	Model species	abundance		abundance	
Chronic unpredictable mild stress [80]	Mouse	Verrucomicrobia	Ť	Akkermansia	Ť
		Proteobacteria	Î	Helicobacter	Î
				Parasutterella	1
				Alistipes	1
				Odoribacter	1
				Turicibacter	1
				Barnesiella	\downarrow
				Bifidobacterium	\downarrow
				Lactobacillus	\downarrow
				Olsenella	\downarrow
Chronic mild stress [79]	Mouse			Lactobacillus	1
Chronic mild social defeat stress [82]	Mouse	Deferribacteres	1	Oscillospira	1
		Proteobacteria	1	Bacteroides	1
				Flexispira	1
		Actinobacteria	Ļ	Akkermansia	↓
		Verrucomicrobia	Ļ	Ruminococcus	Ļ
				Paraprevotella	Ļ
				Dorea	Ļ
Chronic restraint stress [81]	Mouse	Bacteroidetes	↑	Bacteroides	1
		Firmicutes	Ļ	Lactobacillus	Ļ
Chronic restraint stress [83]	Mouse	Proteobacteria	↑	Klebsiella	1
			1	Helicobacter	1
		Bacteroidetes	T		. ·
High-fat diet [84]	Mouse	Proteobacteria	↑		
0 1 1		Deferribacteres	↑ ↑		
		Bacteroidetes	i.		
		Tenericutes	¥ I		
Chronic alcohol exposure [85]	Rat	Bacteroidetes	*	Adlercreutzia	1
emonie alconor exposure [00]	Rut	Actinobacteria	1	Allohaculum	1
		Cyanobacteria	1	Turicibacter	1
		Firmicutes		<i>innelbucier</i>	1
		Proteobacteria	+	Heliobacter	
		THEODACIEITA	¥	menobucier	\downarrow

Table 26.2	The impact of seve	n rodent models of de	epression and/or anxiet	y on gut microbiota
-------------------	--------------------	-----------------------	-------------------------	---------------------

Upper (\uparrow) and lower (\downarrow) arrows indicate the direction of change in the relative abundance of the respective genus and/ or phyla of bacterium in the gut

^aAkkermansia negatively correlated with depressive-like behaviour

^bThe relative abundance of Adlercreutzia negatively correlated with alcohol preference and locomotor activity

are in keeping with traditional herbal medicines, which, by nature, comprise multiple active ingredients and target multiple targets. Next, we examine how herbal therapies with potential psychiatric application could resolve dysbiosis as part of their mechanisms.

Herbal Modifications of Gut Microbiota

Herbal supplements have gained considerable popularity as complementary and alternative medicines. Many are derived from traditional Chinese medicines, with documented applications in psychiatric conditions or the maintenance of mental well-being. Herbal supplements or medicines are consumed in a form comprising a multitude of active ingredients, whether they take the form of single herbs or formulae comprising specific mixtures of herbs (Table 26.3). They are thus intended to act on multiple targets including, not surprisingly, the gut microbiota [86].

Many candidate gut bacteria strains involved in psychiatric disorders and behavioural changes in animals (see Tables 26.1 and 26.2) are also

Table 26.3 The names and composition of herbal ingredients of common herbal decoctions and formulae and with claimed therapeutic efficacy for treating behavioural and mental symptoms

	Major ingredients by	
Formula	plants	Ref
Rhubarb Peony decoction	Rhei Radix et Rhizoma Moutan cortex Persicae semen Natrii sulfas Benincasae semen	[116]
Gegen Qinlian decoction	Radix Puerariae Radix Scutellariae Rhizoma Coptidis Honey-fried Radix Glycyrrhizae	[87]
Bawei Xileisan	Exocarpium Citrulli Galx Calculus Bovis Margarita Sal Sedatirum Borneolum Syntheticum Sal ammoniac Indigo Naturalis	[117]
Daesiho Tang	Bupleuri radix Pinelliae rhizome Zingiberis rhizome Scutellariae radix Paeoniae radix Zizyphus fructus Ponciri fructus Rhei undulati rhizome	[89]
Hugan Qingzhi tablet	Rhizoma Alismatis Fructus Crataegi Pollen Typhae Folium Nelumbinis Radix Notoginseng	[118]

Table 26.3 (continued)

	3.6 1 1 . 1	
	Major ingredients by	D (
Formula	plants	Ret
Shenzhu Tiaopi	Codonopsis pilosula Rhizoma Atractylodis Pinellia Poria cocos Pericarpium Citri Reticulatae Coptis chinensis Franch Pueraria	[119]
Tiansi liquid	Morinda officinalis Cuscuta chinensis	[98]
Xiaoyaosan	Radix Angelicae Sinensis Radix Paeoniae Alba Poria Radix Bupleuri Radix Glycyrrhizae Rhizoma Atractylodis Macrocephalae Herba Menthae Rhizoma Zingiberis Recens	[99, 120]
ZiBuPiYin recipe	Radix Ginseng Radix Paeoniae Alba Rhizoma Dioscoreae Semen Lablab Album Poria cum Radix Pini Lignum Santali Albi	[95, 121]

sensitive to common herbal medicines or herbal formulae that take the form of single herbs as well as formulae consisting of mixtures of herbs (Table 26.4). Notably, Gegen Qinlian Decoction is highly effective in reducing the abundance of Bacteroidetes strains while elevating Proteobacteria strains and the Firmicutes strain, Faecalibacterium. These include changes that parallel those that accompany remission in general anxiety disorders, and less severe depressive states (see Table 26.1) [77, 78, 87]. Daesiho-Tang was shown to be effective in increasing the abundance of several Firmicutes strains, which may potentially counter its downregulated status found in MDD and GAD (see Table 26.1) [77, 78, 88]. The elevation of the relative abundance of Akkermansia spp. by Flos Lonicera, Antrodia cinnamomea, Mulberry leaves, and Daesiho-Tang [82, 89–92] may counter the increased

						0		ford f	0					
		Single herb						Herbal for	mula					
		Flos	Ganoderma		Panax	Antrodia	Mulberry	Rhubarb	Gegen	Bawei	Daesiho-	Xiaoyao-	Hugan	Shenzhu
Phylum	Genus	Lonicera	lucidum	Berberine	ginseng	cinnamomea	leaves	Peony	Qinlian	Xileisan	Tang	san	Qingzhi	Tiaopi
Actinobacteria								↓						
Bacteroidetes								\rightarrow			←		←	\rightarrow
Firmicutes							→	←			\rightarrow	\rightarrow	\rightarrow	
Proteobacteria			\rightarrow		←		→	\rightarrow				→		
Bacteroidetes	Bacteroides	←	←	←			↓		\rightarrow	÷	←			
	Alistipes								\rightarrow				÷	
	Barnesiella								\rightarrow					
	Odoribacter								\rightarrow					
	Parabacteroides								\rightarrow					
	Prevotella										←		\rightarrow	
Firmicutes	Blautia												→	
	Roseburia										←			
	Ruminococcus										←		←	
	Allobaculum													→
	Faecalibacterium								←					
	Lachnospira					→							←	
	Lactobacillus			←	←					÷	←			
Proteobacteria	Escherichia- Shigella								←					
	Parasutterella				←				←					
Verrucomicrobia	Akkermansia	←				4	←				←			
	Ref	[91]	[122]	[123]	[124]	[92]	[06]	[116]	[87]	[117]	[89]	[120]	[118]	[119]
Tinnar (1) and low	aribai amona (1) re	to the direct	ion of change	ain tha rale	stine ohme	dance of the n	active a	puo sines	olinder ach	of hoota	inn in the	cut		

Table 26.4 The effects of herbal treatment either as single herbs or formulae on selected gut microbiota by phyla and genus

Upper (1) and lower (4) arrows indicate the direction of change in the relative abundance of the respective genus and/or phyla of bacterium in the gut

abundance of this strain in association with the presence of depressive symptoms. In addition, reduced *Lactobacillus spp.* counts that have been associated with MDD [93] were demonstrated to be increased by Berberine, *Panax ginseng*, Bawei Xileisan, and Daesiho-Tang.

The impact on the gut microbiota by commercially available herbal mixtures (viz., ZiBuPiYin, Tiansi Liquid and Xiaoyaosan) that are currently being consumed for their potential neuropsychiatric effects have been investigated in animal models of depression and anxiety. Table 26.5 summarizes the associated gut microbiota that might be mechanistically linked to their claimed ability to modify behaviour in the relevant animal models of mood disorders.

ZiBuPiYin – a recipe derived from the Zicheng Decoction first recorded by Cheng Wu [94] – has been prescribed for the treatment of memory loss in people with diabetes. Its potential efficacy against psychological disturbances common amongst diabetes has also been demonstrated in Zucker diabetic fatty rats. The stress-induced expression of anxiety and depression-like behaviour as well as the suppression of two bacteria strains (*Roseburia* and *Coprococcus*) in this rat model could be reversed by ZiBuPiYin [95]. This raises the possibility that the normalization of gut microbiota may contribute to the reported pro-cognitive effects of ZiBuPiYin in addition to its antioxidant, anti-amyloid and neuroprotective effects at the cellular and structural levels [94].

Another herbal formula, known as Tiansi Liquid, contains extracts from plants *Morinda officinalis* and *Cuscuta chinensis*, and is also prescribed for depression in China [96, 97]. Similarly, Tiansi Liquid was reported to reverse gut microbiota changes in a rat model of hydrocortisone-induced depression, which paralleled its antidepressant efficacy [98]. It is suspected that the antidepressant effect of Tiansi Liquid is linked to elevated serotoninergic activ-

Commercial		Reversal of gut microbiota changes associated with the depression models		
Formulae	Preclinical animal models	At phylum level	At genus / group level	
ZiBuPiYin [95]	Psychological stress in Zucker diabetic fatty rats	Increased abundance of phylum Firmicutes	Roseburia	
			Coprococcus	
		Reduced abundance in phylum Bacteroidetes		
Tiansi Liquid [98]	Hydrocortisone model in Sprague Dawley rats	Reduced abundance in phylum Bacteroidetes	Bacteroides	
		Reduced abundance in phylum Firmucutes	Ruminococcaceae UCG-013	
			Ruminococcaceae UCG-014	
			Lactobacillis	
			Lactococcus	
Xiaoyaosan [99]	Chronic restraint stress in Sprague Dawley rats	Increased abundance in phylum Bacteroidetes	Prevotellaceae Ga6A1	
		Increased abundance in phylum Proteobacteria	Desulfovibrio	
		Reduced abundance in phylum Firmucutes	Ruminiclostridium 6	
			Ruminiclostridium	
			Anaerotruncus	
		Increased abundance in phylum Chloroflexi		
		Increased abundance in phylum Planctomycetes		

 Table 26.5
 Gut modulation in animal models of mood disorders by commercially marketed herbal medicines

ity resulting from the suppression of rate-limiting catabolic enzymes in the breakdown of serotonin: tryptophan-2,3-dioxygenase and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase [98].

The Chinese herbal formula, Xiaoyaosan, is also marketed for its potential use in mental diseases, especially depression. This decoction can be traced back to the Song Dynasty in China (960–1127 AD) and it is primarily composed of eight herbs. Modifications of the original recipes are common. Again, the antidepression effect of Xiaoyaosan seen in a chronic restraint stress model of depression in rats is accompanied by the normalization of gut microbiota [99].

In addition to decoctions and recipes derived or revived from historical Chinese medicine texts, development of a novel composition has also been attempted - specifically with the intention to modify gut microbiota in order to alleviate depression symptoms [100]. Although the derivation of the new formula was not fully explained, except that it is loosely based on the Gegen Qinlian decoction and another recipe, its application in a chronic mild stress model of depression in rats had demonstrated a behavioural efficacy. The new formula was able to reverse two out of six significant gut microbiota changes (increased abundance of Ruminococcus 2 and reduced abundance of Roseburia) induced by the chronic mild stress model [100]. This study illustrates how novel herbal supplements may be developed with a focus on microbiota modification. The enhancement of multiple cellular and molecular processes (including lysine biosynthesis, protein export, expression of diverse cancerrelated microRNAs, and the bacterial secretion system) in the microbiota analysis have been highlighted but the precise mechanism remains elusive, and the interpretation of these changes not entirely straightforward. An emphasis of a more stringently driven hypothesis approach rather than ad hoc speculation would boost the impact and value of similar attempts in developing new microbiota-modifying herbal interventions for psychiatric conditions or general mental well-being.

Future Perspectives

We contend that there is sufficient evidence to place gut microbiota as a critical determinant of mental health such that its imbalance or disturbance, that is, dysbiosis, could contribute to behavioural and cognitive dysfunctions. At the same time, increasing evidence suggests that interventions that may rebalance the gut microbiota could be of therapeutic potential. Although there are significant gaps in our knowledge of the intricate and complex interactions underlying how the microbiota-gut-brain axis may shape the initiation, development and progression of psychiatric diseases, they should not deter the development of new therapeutics targeting gut microbiota with an aim to improve the treatment of neuropsychiatric disorders. The efforts will no doubt also clarify the aetiological significance of gut microbiota in mental illnesses. While current animal and human studies have mostly targeted anxiety and depression, the list of mental illnesses is anticipated to grow.

Although we are still unable to provide the precise composition and functional characteristics of healthy gut microbiota, technical advances and improvements in study designs may bring us closer to answering this million dollar question.

It is known that the human gut microbiota naturally undergo changes as a function of age, body mass index, food intake, medications, and differences do exist as a function of ethnicity, culture and lifestyle, such as levels of regular exercise [101, 102]. Similar individual differences can also be identified in laboratory animals related to differences in genetic background (e.g. between mouse strains), housing conditions, diets, age [103–105]. In designing intervention studies or comparison between psychiatric conditions, consideration of such factors is imperative. Basal gut microbiota composition, diversity and specific bacteria levels should be performed. The scale of the study may be increased if necessary. A longitudinal design with multiple sampling of stool samples is always preferred, whether it is to monitor gut microbiota changes that accompany disease progression or randomized controlled trials for prebiotics, probiotics and synbiotics. Finally, the experimenter must also exercise caution over faecal collection and extraction methods which represent extra sources of variability complicating interpretation [106, 107].

Until now, metagenomics analysis using next-generation sequencing (NGS) remains the mainstream for the analysis of gut microbiota. Commonly used NGS platforms such as Illumina genome sequencer, Roche 454 genome sequencer and ABI SOLiD system can produce reasonable data. However, the cost, resolution, length for analysis and potential errors still hinder gut microbiota analysis. Advances have led to the introduction of third-generation sequencing technologies, for example, Single Molecule, Real-Time (SMRT) sequencing from Pacific Bioscience, and nanopore sequencing from Oxford Nanopore Technologies. Their wider adoption could facilitate the analysis of gut microbiota with increased accuracy in amplification and reduced detection times [108]. With such technical innovations and the standardization of analytic protocols to support systematic, large multi-centre, longitudinal studies, it will become possible to more precisely determine the constituents of disease-altering gut microbiota.

In this review, we propose that the impact of existing herbal medicines and supplements on gut microbiota must be considered as one of their therapeutic mechanisms [86]. There exist herbal medications, including those based on the tradition of Chinese medicines, being prescribed for the treatment of psychiatric diseases as well as the maintenance of mental well-being for millennia [109]. Their increasing popularity in the past decades [110] should provide opportunities to investigate their impact on gut microbiota composition and the physiological and biological pathways known to be relevant to the regulation of mental functions. This review has highlighted current evidence that at least some herbal formulae do modify the gut microbiota and potential mechanisms that may underlie their claimed efficacy. However, we

must not overlook that the impact on the abundance of different gut bacterial species does vary between herbal treatments despite similarity in their claimed psychiatric efficacy (see Tables 26.4 and 26.5). While similar variations could also be identified in epidemiological studies (Table 26.1) or animal models of psychiatric conditions (Table 26.2), any further development of herbal drugs in mental illnesses is associated with some unique challenges.

One must overcome the difficulties inherent to the use of herbs, or mixtures of multiple herbs, which necessarily includes a myriad of potentially active ingredients. Indeed, a single herb may contain chemical components numbering into the thousands. The identification and systematic screening of bioactive compounds, including their interactions can be a daunting task. Yet, it is necessary for dissecting the relevant biochemical and molecular cascades whereby the desired changes in gut microbiota are achieved by diverse herbal treatment. Only then could we expect to develop more efficient and reliable therapeutics. First we must address the lack of standards in the cultivation, sourcing and preparation of the herbs [110, 111], including the differentiation of subspecies, place of origin, harvesting season, and methods of processing and storage, which could determine the presence of contamination and artificial ingredients. To ensure robust and reproducible experimental outcomes, quality control of herbal drugs is of paramount importance [112]. It ultimately must be based on advanced separation and chromatography techniques [113] but not quantitative assays of only a handful of chemical markers in the herbal samples [114]. A combination of multiple chromatographic fingerprinting and bio- and meta-fingerprinting is essential for independent authentication of herbal medicines and the accurate detection and documentation of any lot-to-lot variation [115]. International standards at the production levels, such as Good Agricultural Practice and Good Manufacturing Practice, may not be sufficient when compared with the current standards of pharmaceutical manufacturing.

The past several decades have seen the wider acceptance of complementary and alternative medicine by patients and medical practitioners, including both probiotics and herbal treatments. Their potential application to psychiatric conditions must be guided by sound evidence and mechanistic understanding. Evaluation of their impact on gut microbiota may offer a hypothesisdriven approach.

References

- Lynch SV, Pedersen O. The human intestinal microbiome in health and disease. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(24):2369–79.
- Bianconi E, Piovesan A, Facchin F, Beraudi A, Casadei R, Frabetti F, et al. An estimation of the number of cells in the human body. Ann Hum Biol. 2013;40(6):463–71.
- Qin J, Li R, Raes J, Arumugam M, Burgdorf KS, Manichanh C, et al. A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing. Nature. 2010;464(7285):59–65.
- Sender R, Fuchs S, Milo R. Revised estimates for the number of human and Bacteria cells in the body. PLoS Biol. 2016;14(8):e1002533.
- Aziz Q, Dore J, Emmanuel A, Guarner F, Quigley EM. Gut microbiota and gastrointestinal health: current concepts and future directions. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2013;25(1):4–15.
- Sanz Y, Santacruz A, Gauffin P. Gut microbiota in obesity and metabolic disorders. Proc Nutr Soc. 2010;69(3):434–41.
- Yang T, Santisteban MM, Rodriguez V, Li E, Ahmari N, Carvajal JM, et al. Gut dysbiosis is linked to hypertension. Hypertension. 2015;65(6):1331–40.
- Jonsson AL, Backhed F. Role of gut microbiota in atherosclerosis. Nat Rev Cardiol. 2017;14(2):79–87.
- Keku TO, Dulal S, Deveaux A, Jovov B, Han X. The gastrointestinal microbiota and colorectal cancer. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2015;308(5):G351–63.
- Clapp M, Aurora N, Herrera L, Bhatia M, Wilen E, Wakefield S. Gut microbiota's effect on mental health: the gut-brain axis. Clin Pract. 2017;7(4):987.
- Rajilic-Stojanovic M. Function of the microbiota. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2013;27(1):5–16.
- Rowland I, Gibson G, Heinken A, Scott K, Swann J, Thiele I, et al. Gut microbiota functions: metabolism of nutrients and other food components. Eur J Nutr. 2018;57(1):1–24.
- Mathewson ND, Jenq R, Mathew AV, Koenigsknecht M, Hanash A, Toubai T, et al. Gut microbiome– derived metabolites modulate intestinal epithelial cell

damage and mitigate graft-versus-host disease. Nat Immunol. 2016;17:505.

- Peng L, Li ZR, Green RS, Holzman IR, Lin J. Butyrate enhances the intestinal barrier by facilitating tight junction assembly via activation of AMP-activated protein kinase in Caco-2 cell monolayers. J Nutr. 2009;139(9):1619–25.
- Buffie CG, Pamer EG. Microbiota-mediated colonization resistance against intestinal pathogens. Nat Rev Immunol. 2013;13(11):790–801.
- Kim S, Covington A, Pamer EG. The intestinal microbiota: antibiotics, colonization resistance, and enteric pathogens. Immunol Rev. 2017;279(1):90–105.
- Smith K, McCoy KD, Macpherson AJ. Use of axenic animals in studying the adaptation of mammals to their commensal intestinal microbiota. Semin Immunol. 2007;19(2):59–69.
- Round JL, Mazmanian SK. The gut microbiota shapes intestinal immune responses during health and disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009;9(5):313–23.
- Luczynski P, Whelan SO, O'Sullivan C, Clarke G, Shanahan F, Dinan TG, et al. Adult microbiotadeficient mice have distinct dendritic morphological changes: differential effects in the amygdala and hippocampus. Eur J Neurosci. 2016;44(9):2654–66.
- Lu J, Lu L, Yu Y, Cluette-Brown J, Martin CR, Claud EC. Effects of intestinal microbiota on brain development in humanized gnotobiotic mice. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):5443.
- Obrenovich MEM. Leaky gut, leaky brain? Microorganisms. 2018;6(4):104.
- 22. Braniste V, Al-Asmakh M, Kowal C, Anuar F, Abbaspour A, Toth M, et al. The gut microbiota influences blood-brain barrier permeability in mice. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6(263):263. ra158
- Mayer EA. Gut feelings: the emerging biology of gut-brain communication. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2011;12(8):453–66.
- Cryan JF, O'Riordan KJ, Cowan CSM, Sandhu KV, Bastiaanssen TFS, Boehme M, et al. The microbiotagut-brain axis. Physiol Rev. 2019;99(4):1877–2013.
- 25. O'Mahony SM, McVey Neufeld KA, Waworuntu RV, Pusceddu MM, Manurung S, Murphy K, et al. The enduring effects of early-life stress on the microbiotagut-brain axis are buffered by dietary supplementation with milk fat globule membrane and a prebiotic blend. Eur J Neurosci. 2019;99(4):1877–2013.
- Martin CR, Osadchiy V, Kalani A, Mayer EA. The brain-gut-microbiome axis. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;6(2):133–48.
- Sudo N, Chida Y, Aiba Y, Sonoda J, Oyama N, Yu XN, et al. Postnatal microbial colonization programs the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal system for stress response in mice. J Physiol. 2004;558(Pt 1):263–75.
- Neufeld KM, Kang N, Bienenstock J, Foster JA. Reduced anxiety-like behavior and central neurochemical change in germ-free mice. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2011;23(3):255–64. e119

- Diaz Heijtz R, Wang S, Anuar F, Qian Y, Bjorkholm B, Samuelsson A, et al. Normal gut microbiota modulates brain development and behavior. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(7):3047–52.
- 30. Bravo JA, Forsythe P, Chew MV, Escaravage E, Savignac HM, Dinan TG, et al. Ingestion of lactobacillus strain regulates emotional behavior and central GABA receptor expression in a mouse via the vagus nerve. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(38):16050–5.
- Hsiao EY, McBride SW, Hsien S, Sharon G, Hyde ER, McCue T, et al. Microbiota modulate behavioral and physiological abnormalities associated with neurodevelopmental disorders. Cell. 2013;155(7):1451–63.
- Hofer U. Microbiome: B. fragilis and the brain. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2014;12(2):76–7.
- Finegold SM, Dowd SE, Gontcharova V, Liu C, Henley KE, Wolcott RD, et al. Pyrosequencing study of fecal microflora of autistic and control children. Anaerobe. 2010;16(4):444–53.
- Tomova A, Husarova V, Lakatosova S, Bakos J, Vlkova B, Babinska K, et al. Gastrointestinal microbiota in children with autism in Slovakia. Physiol Behav. 2015;138:179–87.
- 35. Hughes C, Davoodi-Semiromi Y, Colee JC, Culpepper T, Dahl WJ, Mai V, et al. Galactooligosaccharide supplementation reduces stress-induced gastrointestinal dysfunction and days of cold or flu: a randomized, double-blind, controlled trial in healthy university students. Am J Clin Nutr. 2011;93(6):1305–11.
- 36. Messaoudi M, Violle N, Bisson JF, Desor D, Javelot H, Rougeot C. Beneficial psychological effects of a probiotic formulation (lactobacillus helveticus R0052 and Bifidobacterium longum R0175) in healthy human volunteers. Gut Microbes. 2011;2(4):256–61.
- Thapar A, Cooper M, Eyre O, Langley K. What have we learnt about the causes of ADHD? J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2013;54(1):3–16.
- Dinan TG, Borre YE, Cryan JF. Genomics of schizophrenia: time to consider the gut microbiome? Mol Psychiatry. 2014;19(12):1252–7.
- Foster JA, McVey Neufeld KA. Gut-brain axis: how the microbiome influences anxiety and depression. Trends Neurosci. 2013;36(5):305–12.
- Moloney RD, Desbonnet L, Clarke G, Dinan TG, Cryan JF. The microbiome: stress, health and disease. Mamm Genome. 2014;25(1–2):49–74.
- Stilling RM, Dinan TG, Cryan JF. Microbial genes, brain & behaviour - epigenetic regulation of the gutbrain axis. Genes Brain Behav. 2014;13(1):69–86.
- Strandwitz P. Neurotransmitter modulation by the gut microbiota. Brain Res. 2018;1693(Pt B):128–33.
- Tsavkelova EA, Botvinko IV, Kudrin VS, Oleskin AV. Detection of neurotransmitter amines in microorganisms with the use of high-performance liquid chromatography. Dokl Biochem. 2000;372(1–6):115–7.
- 44. Sperandio V, Torres AG, Jarvis B, Nataro JP, Kaper JB. Bacteria-host communication: the language of hormones. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100(15):8951–6.

- 45. Asano Y, Hiramoto T, Nishino R, Aiba Y, Kimura T, Yoshihara K, et al. Critical role of gut microbiota in the production of biologically active, free catecholamines in the gut lumen of mice. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2012;303(11):G1288–95.
- 46. Yano JM, Yu K, Donaldson GP, Shastri GG, Ann P, Ma L, et al. Indigenous bacteria from the gut microbiota regulate host serotonin biosynthesis. Cell. 2015;161(2):264–76.
- Cryan JF, O'Mahony SM. The microbiome-gut-brain axis: from bowel to behavior. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2011;23(3):187–92.
- Bravo J, Scaravage E, Chew M, Forsythe P, Dinan T, Bienenstock J, et al. The probiotic lactobacillus reuteri induces constitutive changes in central GABA receptor expression. Abstract SFN. 2010;795(17):FFF2.
- Miller AH, Raison CL. The role of inflammation in depression: from evolutionary imperative to modern treatment target. Nat Rev Immunol. 2016;16(1): 22–34.
- Muller N. Inflammation in schizophrenia: pathogenetic aspects and therapeutic considerations. Schizophr Bull. 2018;44(5):973–82.
- Muller N, Weidinger E, Leitner B, Schwarz MJ. The role of inflammation in schizophrenia. Front Neurosci. 2015;9:372.
- Song C, Wang H. Cytokines mediated inflammation and decreased neurogenesis in animal models of depression. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2011;35(3):760–8.
- Hornig M, Weissenbock H, Horscroft N, Lipkin WI. An infection-based model of neurodevelopmental damage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96(21):12102–7.
- Hornig M. The role of microbes and autoimmunity in the pathogenesis of neuropsychiatric illness. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2013;25(4):488–795.
- Berk M, Williams LJ, Jacka FN, O'Neil A, Pasco JA, Moylan S, et al. So depression is an inflammatory disease, but where does the inflammation come from? BMC Med. 2013;11:200.
- Liu CH, Zhang GZ, Li B, Li M, Woelfer M, Walter M, et al. Role of inflammation in depression relapse. J Neuroinflammation. 2019;16(1):90.
- 57. Kopschina Feltes P, Doorduin J, Klein HC, Juarez-Orozco LE, Dierckx RA, Moriguchi-Jeckel CM, et al. Anti-inflammatory treatment for major depressive disorder: implications for patients with an elevated immune profile and non-responders to standard antidepressant therapy. J Psychopharmacol. 2017;31(9):1149–65.
- Woelfer M, Kasties V, Kahlfuss S, Walter M. The role of depressive subtypes within the neuroinflammation hypothesis of major depressive disorder. Neuroscience. 2019;403:93–110.
- Konradi C, Sillivan SE, Clay HB. Mitochondria, oligodendrocytes and inflammation in bipolar disorder: evidence from transcriptome studies points to intriguing parallels with multiple sclerosis. Neurobiol Dis. 2012;45(1):37–47.

- Onore C, Careaga M, Ashwood P. The role of immune dysfunction in the pathophysiology of autism. Brain Behav Immun. 2012;26(3):383–92.
- Theoharides TC, Angelidou A, Alysandratos KD, Zhang B, Asadi S, Francis K, et al. Mast cell activation and autism. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012;1822(1):34–41.
- 62. Lin C-H, Chen C-C, Chiang H-L, Liou J-M, Chang C-M, Lu T-P, et al. Altered gut microbiota and inflammatory cytokine responses in patients with Parkinson's disease. J Neuroinflammation. 2019;16(1):129.
- Lubomski M, Tan AH, Lim SY, Holmes AJ, Davis RL, Sue CM. Parkinson's disease and the gastrointestinal microbiome. J Neurol. 2019;267(9):2507–23.
- Gazerani P. Probiotics for Parkinson's disease. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20(17):4121.
- Lyte M. Microbial endocrinology in the microbiomegut-brain axis: how bacterial production and utilization of neurochemicals influence behavior. PLoS Pathog. 2013;9(11):e1003726.
- 66. Sandrini S, Aldriwesh M, Alruways M, Freestone P. Microbial endocrinology: host-bacteria communication within the gut microbiome. J Endocrinol. 2015;225(2):R21–34.
- 67. Ait-Belgnaoui A, Colom A, Braniste V, Ramalho L, Marrot A, Cartier C, et al. Probiotic gut effect prevents the chronic psychological stress-induced brain activity abnormality in mice. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2014;26(4):510–20.
- Cryan JF, Dinan TG. Mind-altering microorganisms: the impact of the gut microbiota on brain and behaviour. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2012;13(10):701–12.
- 69. Wikoff WR, Anfora AT, Liu J, Schultz PG, Lesley SA, Peters EC, et al. Metabolomics analysis reveals large effects of gut microflora on mamma-lian blood metabolites. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(10):3698–703.
- Chen X, D'Souza R, Hong ST. The role of gut microbiota in the gut-brain axis: current challenges and perspectives. Protein Cell. 2013;4(6):403–14.
- Tolhurst G, Heffron H, Lam YS, Parker HE, Habib AM, Diakogiannaki E, et al. Short-chain fatty acids stimulate glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion via the G-protein-coupled receptor FFAR2. Diabetes. 2012;61(2):364–71.
- Nicholson JK, Holmes E, Kinross J, Burcelin R, Gibson G, Jia W, et al. Host-gut microbiota metabolic interactions. Science. 2012;336(6086):1262–7.
- Rieder R, Wisniewski PJ, Alderman BL, Campbell SC. Microbes and mental health: a review. Brain Behav Immun. 2017;66:9–17.
- 74. Inoue D, Kimura I, Wakabayashi M, Tsumoto H, Ozawa K, Hara T, et al. Short-chain fatty acid receptor GPR41-mediated activation of sympathetic neurons involves synapsin 2b phosphorylation. FEBS Lett. 2012;586(10):1547–54.
- Kuwahara A. Contributions of colonic short-chain fatty acid receptors in energy homeostasis. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2014;5:144.
- Chung YE, Chen HC, Chou HL, Chen IM, Lee MS, Chuang LC, et al. Exploration of microbiota targets

for major depressive disorder and mood related traits. J Psychiatr Res. 2019;111:74–82.

- 77. Jiang H, Ling Z, Zhang Y, Mao H, Ma Z, Yin Y, et al. Altered fecal microbiota composition in patients with major depressive disorder. Brain Behav Immun. 2015;48:186–94.
- Jiang HY, Zhang X, Yu ZH, Zhang Z, Deng M, Zhao JH, et al. Altered gut microbiota profile in patients with generalized anxiety disorder. J Psychiatr Res. 2018;104:130–6.
- 79. Li N, Wang Q, Wang Y, Sun A, Lin Y, Jin Y, et al. Oral probiotics ameliorate the Behavioral deficits induced by chronic mild stress in mice via the gut microbiota-inflammation Axis. Front Behav Neurosci. 2018;12:266.
- 80. Li N, Wang Q, Wang Y, Sun A, Lin Y, Jin Y, et al. Fecal microbiota transplantation from chronic unpredictable mild stress mice donors affects anxiety-like and depression-like behavior in recipient mice via the gut microbiota-inflammation-brain axis. Stress. 2019;22(5):592–602.
- 81. Guo Y, Xie JP, Deng K, Li X, Yuan Y, Xuan Q, et al. Prophylactic effects of bifidobacterium adolescentis on anxiety and depression-like phenotypes after chronic stress: a role of the gut microbiota-inflammation axis. Front Behav Neurosci. 2019;13:126.
- 82. McGaughey KD, Yilmaz-Swenson T, Elsayed NM, Cruz DA, Rodriguiz RM, Kritzer MD, et al. Relative abundance of Akkermansia spp. and other bacterial phylotypes correlates with anxiety- and depressivelike behavior following social defeat in mice. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):3281.
- Jang HM, Lee KE, Lee HJ, Kim DH. Immobilization stress-induced Escherichia coli causes anxiety by inducing NF-kappaB activation through gut microbiota disturbance. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):13897.
- Jeong MY, Jang HM, Kim DH. High-fat diet causes psychiatric disorders in mice by increasing Proteobacteria population. Neurosci Lett. 2019;698:51–7.
- 85. Xu Z, Wang C, Dong X, Hu T, Wang L, Zhao W, et al. Chronic alcohol exposure induced gut microbiota dysbiosis and its correlations with neuropsychic behaviors and brain BDNF/Gabra1 changes in mice. Biofactors. 2019;45(2):187–99.
- 86. An X, Bao Q, Di S, Zhao Y, Zhao S, Zhang H, et al. The interaction between the gut microbiota and herbal medicines. Biomed Pharmacother. 2019;118:109252.
- Xu J, Lian F, Zhao L, Zhao Y, Chen X, Zhang X, et al. Structural modulation of gut microbiota during alleviation of type 2 diabetes with a Chinese herbal formula. ISME J. 2015;9(3):552–62.
- Huang Y, Shi X, Li Z, Shen Y, Shi X, Wang L, et al. Possible association of Firmicutes in the gut microbiota of patients with major depressive disorder. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2018;14:3329–37.
- 89. Hussain A, Yadav MK, Bose S, Wang JH, Lim D, Song YK, et al. Daesiho-Tang is an effective herbal formulation in attenuation of obesity in mice through alteration of gene expression and modulation of intestinal microbiota. PLoS One. 2016;11(11):e0165483.

- 90. Sheng Y, Liu J, Zheng S, Liang F, Luo Y, Huang K, et al. Mulberry leaves ameliorate obesity through enhancing brown adipose tissue activity and modulating gut microbiota. Food Funct. 2019;10(8):4771–81.
- 91. Wang JH, Bose S, Kim GC, Hong SU, Kim JH, Kim JE, et al. Flos Lonicera ameliorates obesity and associated endotoxemia in rats through modulation of gut permeability and intestinal microbiota. PLoS One. 2014;9(1):e86117.
- 92. Chang CJ, Lu CC, Lin CS, Martel J, Ko YF, Ojcius DM, et al. Antrodia cinnamomea reduces obesity and modulates the gut microbiota in high-fat diet-fed mice. Int J Obes. 2018;42(2):231–43.
- 93. Aizawa E, Tsuji H, Asahara T, Takahashi T, Teraishi T, Yoshida S, et al. Possible association of Bifidobacterium and lactobacillus in the gut microbiota of patients with major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord. 2016;202:254–7.
- 94. Chen J, Liang L, Zhan L, Zhou Y, Zheng L, Sun X, et al. ZiBuPiYin recipe protects db/db mice from diabetes-associated cognitive decline through improving multiple pathological changes. PLoS One. 2014;9(3):e91680.
- Gu C, Zhou W, Wang W, Xiang H, Xu H, Liang L, et al. ZiBuPiYin recipe improves cognitive decline by regulating gut microbiota in Zucker diabetic fatty rats. Oncotarget. 2017;8(17):27693–703.
- 96. Kong Q-M, Shu L, Zhang HY, Jiao FY, Han ZC, Wang J, et al. Efficacy and safety of Morinda officinalis oligose capsule in the treatment of depression. Chin J Clin Pharmacol. 2011;27:170–3.
- 97. Liang J, Shu L, Luo Z, Liu P, Yang M, Tan C. Preliminary clinical effectiveness of Morinda offcinalis water extract in the treatment of depression. China J Chin Mater Med. 2002;27:75–8.
- 98. Cheng D, Chang H, Ma S, Guo J, She G, Zhang F, et al. Tiansi liquid modulates gut microbiota composition and tryptophan(–)Kynurenine metabolism in rats with hydrocortisone-induced depression. Molecules. 2018;23(11):2832.
- 99. Zhu HZ, Liang YD, Ma QY, Hao WZ, Li XJ, Wu MS, et al. Xiaoyaosan improves depressive-like behavior in rats with chronic immobilization stress through modulation of the gut microbiota. Biomed Pharmacother. 2019;112:108621.
- 100. Qu W, Liu S, Zhang W, Zhu H, Tao Q, Wang H, et al. Impact of traditional Chinese medicine treatment on chronic unpredictable mild stress-induced depression-like behaviors: intestinal microbiota and gut microbiome function. Food Funct 2019.
- 101. Brooks AW, Priya S, Blekhman R, Bordenstein SR. Gut microbiota diversity across ethnicities in the United States. PLoS Biol. 2018;16(12):e2006842.
- 102. Rinninella E, Raoul P, Cintoni M, Franceschi F, Miggiano GAD, Gasbarrini A, et al. What is the healthy gut microbiota composition? A changing

ecosystem across age, environment, diet, and diseases. Microorganisms. 2019;7(1):14.

- 103. Laukens D, Brinkman BM, Raes J, De Vos M, Vandenabeele P. Heterogeneity of the gut microbiome in mice: guidelines for optimizing experimental design. FEMS Microbiol Rev. 2016;40(1):117–32.
- 104. Montonye DR, Ericsson AC, Busi SB, Lutz C, Wardwell K, Franklin CL. Acclimation and institutionalization of the mouse microbiota following transportation. Front Microbiol. 2018;9:1085.
- 105. Yawata Y, Kiyokawa T, Kawamura Y, Hirayama T, Takabe K, Nomura N. Intra- and interspecies variability of single-cell innate fluorescence signature of microbial cell. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2019;85(18).
- 106. Lim MY, Song EJ, Kim SH, Lee J, Nam YD. Comparison of DNA extraction methods for human gut microbial community profiling. Syst Appl Microbiol. 2018;41(2):151–7.
- 107. Wang Z, Zolnik CP, Qiu Y, Usyk M, Wang T, Strickler HD, et al. Comparison of Fecal collection methods for microbiome and metabolomics studies. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2018;8:301.
- 108. Malla MA, Dubey A, Kumar A, Yadav S, Hashem A, Abd Allah EF. Exploring the human microbiome: the potential future role of next-generation sequencing in disease diagnosis and treatment. Front Immunol. 2018;9:2868.
- 109. Gao H, Wang Z, Li Y, Qian Z. Overview of the quality standard research of traditional Chinese medicine. Front Med. 2011;5(2):195–202.
- 110. Ya Y, Xuejie H, Yanming X, Yanping W, Aiping L. Analysis and thinking on the current status of traditional Chinese medicine standardization. World Sci Technol. 2011;13(3):445–9.
- 111. Xuejie H, Xingfang L, Liying W, Nannan S, Ya Y, Yongyan W, et al. Standardization strategy on modernization and internationalization of traditional Chinese medicine. World Sci Technol (Modernization of Traditional Chinese Medicine and Materia Medica). 2011;4:35.
- 112. Wang J, Guo Y, Li GL. Current status of standardization of traditional Chinese medicine in China. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med. 2016;2016:9123103.
- 113. Xin-Yue S, Ying-Dong L, Yan-Ping S, Ling J, Juan C. Quality control of traditional Chinese medicines: a review. Chin J Nat Med. 2013;11(6):596–607.
- 114. Wen X-D, Qi L-W, Chen J, Song Y, Yi L, Yang X-W, et al. Analysis of interaction property of bioactive components in Danggui Buxue decoction with protein by microdialysis coupled with HPLC–DAD– MS. J Chromatogr B. 2007;852(1–2):598–604.
- 115. Razmovski-Naumovski V, Tongkao-on W, Kimble B, Qiao VL, Beilun L, Li KM, et al. Multiple chromatographic and chemometric methods for quality standardisation of Chinese herbal medicines. World Sci Technol. 2010;12(1):99–106.

- 116. Luo S, Wen R, Wang Q, Zhao Z, Nong F, Fu Y, et al. Rhubarb Peony decoction ameliorates ulcerative colitis in mice by regulating gut microbiota to restoring Th17/Treg balance. J Ethnopharmacol. 2019;231:39–49.
- 117. Wen J, Teng B, Yang P, Chen X, Li C, Jing Y, et al. The potential mechanism of Bawei Xileisan in the treatment of dextran sulfate sodium-induced ulcerative colitis in mice. J Ethnopharmacol. 2016;188:31–8.
- 118. Tang W, Yao X, Xia F, Yang M, Chen Z, Zhou B, et al. Modulation of the gut microbiota in rats by Hugan Qingzhi tablets during the treatment of highfat-diet-induced nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Oxidative Med Cell Longev. 2018;2018:7261619.
- 119. Zhao J, Li Y, Sun M, Xin L, Wang T, Wei L, et al. The Chinese herbal formula Shenzhu Tiaopi granule results in metabolic improvement in type 2 diabetic rats by modulating the gut microbiota. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med. 2019;2019:6976394.
- 120. Qiu JJ, Liu Z, Zhao P, Wang XJ, Li YC, Sui H, et al. Gut microbial diversity analysis using Illumina

sequencing for functional dyspepsia with liver depression-spleen deficiency syndrome and the interventional Xiaoyaosan in a rat model. World J Gastroenterol. 2017;23(5):810–6.

- 121. Liang LN, Hu SY, Zhan LB. Effects of zibu piyin recipe on the insulin resistance in the hippocampus of pi-yin deficiency diabetic rats. Zhongguo Zhong Xi Yi Jie He Za Zhi. 2012;32(3):356–61.
- 122. Chang CJ, Lin CS, Lu CC, Martel J, Ko YF, Ojcius DM, et al. Ganoderma lucidum reduces obesity in mice by modulating the composition of the gut microbiota. Nat Commun. 2015;6:7489.
- 123. Cao Y, Pan Q, Cai W, Shen F, Chen GY, Xu LM, et al. Modulation of gut microbiota by Berberine improves steatohepatitis in high-fat diet-fed BALB/C mice. Arch Iran Med. 2016;19(3):197–203.
- 124. Sun Y, Chen S, Wei R, Xie X, Wang C, Fan S, et al. Metabolome and gut microbiota variation with longterm intake of Panax ginseng extracts on rats. Food Funct. 2018;9(6):3547–56.



27

Biological Strategies, Adjunct to the Current Antidepressant Treatment

Eric Wainwright

Introduction

The Depression burden in our times is growing as it is an important and frequent cause of morbidity and mortality. Even with a wide a variety of modern pharmacological alternatives, most patients do not reach adequate response even in the presence of correct treatment efforts, hence the search for alternative treatment strategies. Usually, cognitive disorders and elderly patient groups pose further difficulties in the treatment of Depression.

Compliance with antidepressant treatment is generally poor: studies report that between 20% and 59% patients adequately comply with pharmacological treatment. This is mostly due to treatment side effects, and an incomplete disease understanding by patients and family [1]. We now know that mental well-being is intimately related to physical well-being. The concept above, links mood with immune status, particularly in uncompliant patients, this being specifically associated with deteriorating general state. These concepts

Braulio Moyano Hospital, Buenos Aires, Argentina

The Catholic University of Argentina, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Maimónides University, Buenos Aires, Argentina e-mail: ewainwright@hbritanico.com.ar further stimulate research for new strategies, involving general physical well-being, as a link to immune function.

When treating a new patient, we usually explain the treatment strategy, both pharmacological, and psychotherapeutical, but rarely include psychoeducation. This must be solved, as patients may benefit with simple changes, regarding the following topics, as undoubtedly our brain is intimately associated with the rest of our body. These activities, which are beneficial both to our brain and bodily health, must be discussed from the beginning of the psychiatric treatment. We must highlight the importance of exercise, relaxing meditation (mindfulness, or other), and improving nutritional style and sleep pattern optimization, among other topics.

It is now clear that physical health problems are related to mental health disorders by inflammation mechanisms. In chronic inflammatory conditions, the patient's mood tends to deteriorate.

Recent research further confirms the relationship of inflammation and mental health, and there is a gradual increase in publications illustrating anti-inflammatory strategies to be included in the daily practice of mental health practitioners.

Many studies indicate that the efficacy of antidepressive treatment is under scrutiny, particularly following the STAR-D study, that alerted us regarding the use and real effectiveness of antidepressant strategies in use today [2].

E. Wainwright (🖂)

Department of Psychiatry, Buenos Aires British Hospital, Buenos Aires, Argentina

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_27

The currently used antidepressants have proved unable to achieve sustained remission in a significant proportion of depressed patients. Furthermore, placebo studies have planted further doubts on their efficacy. Since the STAR-D study was published, new treatment alternatives have been researched. Some of them have proven to be useful; the results have been evaluated elsewhere, in an effort to explain previous treatment failures.

Apparently, antidepressant drugs are less efficacious in patients with high levels of inflammatory markers. This theory has recently been scrutinized. Among these studies, SIRT1, an anti-inflammatory polyphenol, has been extensively studied, in relation with inflammation in CNS. When SIRT1's levels fall, a parallel reduction has been seen in the Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor (*BNDF*). These changes are related to ageing, particularly levels of the 75 kDa fragment of SIRT1 (110 kDa), in areas associated with cognitive processes [3, 4].

We must not forget that an early improvement of modifiable lifestyle factors may prevent functional decline during normal ageing. This may be especially useful when Depression or other neurodegenerative processes are present. Modifiable lifestyle factors include diet and physical and cognitive activities. Besides, depressive symptoms have been associated with higher intake of fast food and high-calorie sweets together with lower consumption of fruits and vegetables [3, 4].

The combination of these lifestyle findings, together with the reports on limited antidepressant effects and the safety of the biological strategies, have prompted the diversification of treatment alternatives in the search for more effective treatment strategies.

Some of the Biological Strategies – aiming at anti-inflammatory effects – that may be found useful in daily practice are enumerated in the following:

Dietary Improvements

Emerging evidence suggests an association between dietary habits and emotional and cogni-

tive performance. It has long been suspected that the relative abundance of specific nutrients can affect cognitive processes and emotions. Newly described influences of dietary factors on neuronal function and synaptic plasticity have revealed some of the vital mechanisms that are responsible for the action of diet on brain health and mental function. Several gut hormones that can enter the brain, or that are produced in the brain itself, influence cognitive ability. In addition, well-established regulators of synaptic plasticity, such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor, can function as metabolic modulators, responding to peripheral signals such as food intake [5].

Consumption of food, rich in trans fatty acids, for example junk or fast food, meat, refined grains and sweets or commercially produced baked goods, have been recently associated with greater risk of depression and neurodegeneration [4, 6].

It is a usual practice to recommend limited intake of excessively elaborated food, bread derivates, cold cuts, etc. but this practice is not adequately stressed during psychiatric interviews. We should start highlighting the importance of fruit, vegetables, varied nuts, and fish in the diet, including limited amounts of meat, improving in this way the patient's nutrition following the recommendations of traditional medicine. A 2016 study reported the association between Mediterranean diet and improvements in inflammatory processes; the authors recommended "micro" nutritional changes, including vitamin D, L-metilfolate, S-adenosyl methionine (SAMe), and omega-3 in everyday diet. As a sideline, in patients suffering neurodegenerative disorders, the rhythm of hippocampal atrophy slowed down after these nutritional changes, the atrophy progressing 4.25 times slower for patients under treatment with medically designed nutrients as compared with the control group. Another very appealing publication reports that SAMe supplements were similar in efficacy to a first-line SSRI, as monotherapy or in combination with an antidepressant [7, 8].

Both studies remind us that nutritional changes may safely improve mood symptoms and associated neurodegenerative and inflammatory changes in depressed patients. Further in this line, the results of a comparative study between healthy snacks and chocolatederived snacks showed that consumption of fruit as a healthy snack was associated with lower anxiety, depression, and emotional distress than consumption of crisps/chocolate [9].

On behalf of chocolate use, we must mention that experimental studies on animals and cultured human cell lines have demonstrated the role of polyphenols, especially flavonoids (contained in Cocoa) in the prevention of cardiovascular and neurodegenerative diseases such as cancer, diabetes, and osteoporosis. It has also demonstrated effectiveness in Hypertension and Chronic Fatigue Syndrome [10].

Particularly in the elderly, flavonoid-rich diets have been associated with better cognitive performance. These findings are in line with previous research, indicating these changes are dose dependent for chocolate and wine (approximately, 10 g daily and 85 ml daily respectively) but linear for tea [11].

The ingestion of dark chocolate (flavonol-rich cocoa) is associated with increased gray matter blood flow and it has been suggested that it may be beneficial in dementia and stroke. But highly processed chocolate-derived snacks lose their flavonoid content, particularly when alkalinized for color or in milk chocolate [11].

Chocolate ingestion patterns require a special viewpoint, particularly when consumed as an emotional eating strategy. It is more likely to be associated with increased dysphoric mood. Chocolate and chocolate-derived snacks can provide their own hedonistic reward by satisfying cravings but this is short-lived, and usually guilt ridden [12].

Coffee consumption requires a special mention. Caffeine is the world's most widely used central nervous system stimulant, most of it (80%) consumed as regular coffee. Coffee consumption has demonstrated a strong inverse association with suicide in different populations. A recent review found that depression risk decreases with increasing coffee consumption. But more studies are required to know whether caffeinated coffee consumption really contributes to depression prevention, proposing further research [13]. Chronic treatment with polyphenols (resveratrol, silimarin, quercetin, and naringenin) may improve the altered function in Central Monoaminergic systems, generating changes in protein levels, related to inflammation. These compounds are anti-inflammatory and antioxidant. Besides normalizing Central Monoaminergic systems, they may regulate levels of SIRT1 y NF- $_{\rm K}$ B, both core proteins in neuro-inflammation and ageing processes [14].

Flavanol-rich foods have been shown to cause significantly increased cerebral Blood Flow (CBF) in areas irrigated by the middle cerebral artery in human subjects. Foods rich in three specific flavonoid subgroups, the flavanols, anthocyanins, and/or flavanones, possess the greatest potential to act on human cognitive processes. These components are found most commonly in fruits such as apples, berries, and citrus. Unfortunately, there is still limited evidence for the actions of such flavonoids on cognitive behavior and related cellular function and architecture, but current findings are stimulating [15].

Weight Control

Weight alterations have also been directly associated to mood disorders and changes in brain structure. Particularly, obesity was found to increase the risk of depression; this finding is most pronounced among females, Americans, and particularly for clinically diagnosed depression. Additionally, depression is predictive of developing obesity. Interestingly, this association was found in women but not in men [16].

These changes occur previously to the appearance of metabolic syndrome or diabetes, implying these CNS regions may be specifically vulnerable to obesity in early stages of the disease.

A meta-analysis in humans confirms the reciprocal connection between depression and obesity:

Obesity increases the risk of depression; 55% of overweight patients had an increase in this risk.

Also, Major Depression predicted obesity; female depressed patients had a 58% increase in risk of obesity. These findings alert on the importance of weight control in depressed patients [2, 17, 18].

Dietary improvements may directly influence patient's weight. Both strategies have been associated with reduction in depression symptoms, and as described previously, also improving general well-being. These findings can be related to the following topic.

Probiotics

Depression has been associated to an increase in gut Actinobacteria, with a concomitant reduction in Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes types. Antioxidant-rich diets including vitamins and antioxidant supplementation have been proposed as an add-on to treatment of mood disorders and work-related stress, and may be useful as a sideeffect-free adjunct treatment [18].

Probiotics, combined with Prebiotics, may be useful additions to the first topic in this review, as current research investigates different strategies within the Dietary Improvements. The inclusion of probiotics in the diet has been associated with improvements in the Leaky Gut Syndrome, and other studies reported probiotics supplementation reduced negative emotions in healthy volunteers, with additional improvements in Anxiety, Major Depression and Chronic Fatigue Syndrome. These findings are particularly interesting and warrant further studies regarding the gut/brain relationship, and its implications in Mood Disorder treatment [5, 6].

Restriction of Calorie Intake

Brief periods of calorie restriction may improve mood and may also reduce anxiety. The recommendations are to reduce intake initially by 10%, continuing to 25% if it is successful. Complete fasting should be restricted. Patients should be instructed to start with short fasting periods, with gradual calorie restrictions between 300 and 500 calories during fasting days. Greater percent weight loss at month 24 was associated with increased vigor and less mood disturbance, together with improved general health, and better sleep quality. In non-obese adults, calorie restriction, marked by approximately 10% weight loss, can be undertaken with little concern about negative effects on quality of life, mood, sexual function, and sleep [16, 18, 19].

These initial findings may also be associated with improved auto perception by the patients, as a beneficial side effect. Future and well-designed studies are warranted, since the causal factors have not been adequately differentiated and extreme calorie restrictions have been associated with nutritional imbalances.

Improvement in Sleep Behavior

Sleep as many other autonomic processes, occurs rhythmically, and is intimately related to mood disorders. This environmental 24 h synchronization, the Circadian Rhythm, is usually disordered in depressive patients. Together with the previously depicted topics it should be detected and addressed in everyday practice.

The Circadian Rhythm can be influenced by exogenous or internal cues, (zeitgebers) including light, sounds, temperature, digestive and urinary tract content, and recent physical activity and other symptoms.

Most sleep cues are regulated through behavior, and may be improved by an adequate psychoeducation, in similar fashion to most of the behavioral issues addressed in this review.

The sleep process is mediated by Melatonin levels (peaks at night), involving ACTH and cortisol (peaks in morning). Alterations in Circadian Rhythm have been linked to psychiatric illness, particularly related to inflammation, as Major Depressive Disorder (MDD) and Bipolar Disorders, also with disruptions of immune, metabolic and cardiovascular systems [3].

Depression and anxiety disorders, as previously stated, have been related to sleep symptoms. Moreover, these disorders are one of the main causes of sleep disorders. Many community studies reported sleep disorders as important risk factors for the development of new depressive episodes in the year following evaluation. As many as 70% of MDD patients reported sleep problems. Reporting insomnia or ineffective sleep presents a higher risk of depression during the patient's lifetime. Related studies associate sleep disorders, in particular, sleep deprivation with an increase in inflammatory signaling. Preliminary research has suggested that Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for insomnia may contribute to durable anti-inflammatory effects [20].

Emerging results indicate that subjects presenting sleep disorders present a higher risk of mood disorders. This is one of the classical symptoms of depression and monitoring is mandatory in these individuals, when present [20, 21].

Irregular sleep habits, noisy surroundings, being thirsty and being worried when going to sleep, may cause deterioration in sleep effectivity and lead to various consequences including drowsiness and cognitive symptoms. Some studies suggest exercise may help reduce sleep abnormalities in MDD. It is understood that neuroplasticity requires adequate sleep, particularly in MDD.

Health providers, when highlighting efforts in improving sleep disorders, may be preventing mood disorders. Improving patient's sleep pattern has proven to be a safe and "non-toxic" health intervention, and should be prioritized in mood disorders daily treatment [18, 21].

Exercise

Current evidence supports anti-inflammatory and neuroplastic effects of exercise. Most researchers accept that a brief reminder may be quite effective for an improvement in the frequency and duration of exercise in the short term. There is no confirmation yet on the persistence of these effects in the long term. [22]

No dose/response effect was found in relation to increasing exercise intensity. At least 30 min of moderate daily exercise sessions, 5 days a week, has been recommended. On the other hand, some studies recommend 2 h daily over a 6-month period, mixing aerobics, strength, and other types. It appears that too much or excessive exercise may not be as beneficial as previously believed (DAPA trial) [22–24].

Some findings associated to exercise include improvements in immune function and feedback, in circadian rhythmicity, hypothalamic/pituitary/ adrenal axis feedback, hippocampal neurogenesis, increased BDNF, increased telomere length, adaptive epigenetic signaling, and synaptic number and function, associated with improvements in neurotransmitter functionality.

Physical Activity restores the synthesis, release, and metabolism of serotonin, noradrenaline, glutamate, and dopamine, mainly in cerebral cortex, hippocampus, hypothalamus, and also in the brainstem.

Exercise is also involved in the noradrenergic system, limiting the output of NE from the Locus Ceruleus, also modulating the balance between the Serotonin Pathway and the Kynurenine Pathway, due to inactivation of indolamine 2,3 dioxygenase and tryptophan 2,3 dioxygenase. Physical Activity also dampens reactivity to stress, stimulating the conversion of Cortisol to Cortisone [23].

It also modulates the turnover of Dopamine and calcium levels. Lately Dopaminergic function has been associated with Depression and Bipolar Disorder [3].

Adequate exercise as a psychoeducational topic should always be included in daily practice as its effects may improve patients' well-being, neuroplasticity, and involvement in the treatment process.

Socialization

Several recent studies have reported interesting associations between social activity and mood disorders, one of them being between isolation in childhood and inflammatory disorders in adults, as lower social functional scores have been related to increased inflammation. Other studies have found associations between voluntary social activities and reduction in inflammation. Increasing social skills may be a simple way to reduce inflammation, and depressive symptoms [3, 25–28].
It is generally understood that isolation is not an effective rearing strategy. Pediatricians usually encourage socialization efforts in families not usually active in this sense. In our consultation social activity should be reviewed, so as to be able to include sensible advice in this regard.

Meditation Techniques

Meditation practice has demonstrated antiinflammatory effects, particularly Mindfulnessbased Stress Reduction (MBSR) and Tai Chi practice. Training in these techniques has shown benefits both for depression and substance use disorders. Mindfulness-based Cognitive Therapy (MBCT) achieved a reduction of 44–50% in the relapse rate in recurrent depression.

Rumination, usually included in cognitive problems in mood disorders, has been associated to longer periods of depression, and poor response to treatment. Mindfulness meditation may break the ruminative cycle, decreasing dysphoria, and, therefore, the duration of the depression episode [29–32].

A recent study in Asian nursing students showed that mindfulness interventions and stress management programs were effective, in the short-term, on depressive patients, as well as other no pharmacological interventions that also showed improvements in depressive symptoms [33].

Tai Chi Chuan techniques have been associated with increased psychological well-being, including decreased stress, anxiety, depression symptoms, and increased self-esteem. Emerging results suggest that frequent practice of Tai Chi (40 min to 2 h, 1–4 days a week) resulted in significant reduction of depressive symptoms as compared to various controls (*ES*, 0.56; *IC del* 95%, 0.31 a 0.80) con I2 = 62% [34].

These results may also be associated with improvement in somatic symptoms and physical function in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and multiple sclerosis, as well as improvement in the immune response of healthy elderly participants [34].

Hypothetic mechanisms explaining the effects of Tai Chi in the treatment of depression include

direct modulation and indirect effect on activity and connectivity in the CNS regions involved in depression and mood regulation, reducing neuroinflammatory sensitization associated with these disorders and modulating the autonomous nervous system activity. This type of mind-body exercise, in combination with pharmacologic treatment may provide additional improvements of clinical outcomes in the treatment of depression, particularly in geriatric populations. Meditation interventions, particularly combined with exercise require further study as each individual intervention has proved useful in these patients [35, 36].

All of these strategies are interesting in that they have no obvious pharmacological interactions or untoward effects in themselves, as long as used adequately. They have also proven to have an excellent cost-benefit ratio: sleep interventions, nutritional improvement, meditation, and exercise would be effective strategies for the reduction of depressive symptoms in the short term. Further research on the longer term in clinical populations and prevention of recurrences is warranted. These strategies should be included in our usual treatment as an adjunct to pharmacological and psychological treatment strategies as a simple and extremely safe way to improve treatment efficacy.

Conclusions of the Present Study

The usual treatment options have not proven satisfactory, even when aggressive treatment regimens are used. With the introduction of adjunct biological strategies, we may help patients become active participants in their own treatment, besides the expected effects that the studies included in this review show, on affective, somatic, and cognitive symptoms of these diseases.

However, the majority of studies had inadequate controls, warranting further study.

These strategies are a simple, inexpensive, and safe way to include the patient as an active participant in his or her own treatment. In view of the current success rate with modern treatment options, it is probably time to look elsewhere for new (or maybe ancient) strategies to help alleviate patients' sufferings.

Even in the light of limited results, these strategies can be effective add-ons to traditional treatment strategies, improving patient's compliance with regular treatment options.

The lack of effective treatment for cognitive decline and dementia symptoms, often related to mood disorders, points to the need of preventive strategies that may delay the onset and/or minimize the effects of both these devastating conditions. The present results with the Mediterranean diet are encouraging, as are other strategies presented in this review. Mental Health practitioners tend to run behind in the use of these healthrelated strategies, as other areas of medicine have been using them for some time now.

Definitive conclusions are limited as studies present variation in designs, heterogeneous outcomes, and controls. Further high-quality trials are needed to better inform clinical decisions.

References

- Lawlor AD, Hopker SW. The effectiveness of exercise as an intervention in the management of depression. BMJ. 2001;322:1–8.
- Insel TR. Beyond efficacy: the STAR*D trial. 2006; https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.163.1.5.
- Phillips C. Lifestyle modulators of neuroplasticity. Neural Plast 2017; 3589271, 22 pages.
- Rahe C, Baune BT, Unrath M, Arolt V, Wellmann J, Wersching H, Berger K. Associations between depression subtypes, depression severity and diet quality: crosssectional findings from the BiDirect study. BMC Psychiatry. 2015;15:38.
- Gomez-Pinilla F. Brain foods: the effects of nutrients on brain function. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2008;9(7):568–78.
- Sanchez-Villegas A, Martínez-González MA. Diet, a new target to prevent depression? BMC Med. 2013;11:3.
- Shankle W, Hara J, Barrentine LW. Cerefolin NAC therapy of hyperhomocysteinemia delays cortical and white matter atrophy in Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis. 2016;54:1073–84.
- Mitchoulon D, Fava M. Role of S-adenosyl-L-methionine in the treatment of depression: a review of the evidence. Am J Clin Nutr. 2002;76(suppl):1158S–61S.
- Parker G. Mood state effects of chocolate. J Affect Disord. 2006;92(2–3):149–59.

- Sathyapalan T, Beckett S, Rigby AS, Mellor DD, Atkin SL. High cocoa polyphenol rich chocolate may reduce the burden of the symptoms in chronic fatigue syndrome. Nutr J. 2010;9:55.
- Nurk E. Intake of flavonoid-rich wine, tea, and chocolate by elderly men and women is associated with better cognitive test performance. J Nutr. 2009;139:120–7.
- Smith AP, Rogers R. Positive effects of a healthy snack (fruit) versus an unhealthy snack (chocolate/ crisps) on subjective reports of mental and physical health. Front Nutr. 2014;1:10.
- Lucas M. Coffee, caffeine, and risk of depression among women. Arch Intern Med. 2011;171(17):1571–8.
- Spencer J. Flavonoids and brain health. Genes Nutr. 2009;4:243–50.
- Spencer JP. The impact of fruit flavonoids on memory and cognition. Brit J Nutr. 2010;104(S3):S40–7.
- Luppino FS, de Wit LM, Bouvy PF, Stijnen T, Cuijpers P, Penninx BW, Zitman FG. Overweight, obesity, and depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2010;67(3):220–9.
- Estruch R, Ros E, Salas-Salvadó J, Covas MI, Corella D, PREDIMED Study Investigators. Primary prevention of cardiovascular disease with a Mediterranean diet. N Engl J Med. 2013;368:1279–90.
- Bocarsly M, Fasolino M, Kane G, LaMarca EA, Kirschen EW, Karatsoreos IN, McEwend BS, Gould E. Obesity diminishes synaptic markers, alters microglial morphology, and impairs cognitive function. PNAS. 2015;112:15731–6.
- Martin CK, Bhapkar M, Pittas AG, Pieper CF, Das SK, Williamson DA, Scott T, Redman LM, Stein R, Gilhooly CH, Stewart T, Robinson L, Roberts SB, Comprehensive Assessment of Long-term Effects of Reducing Intake of Energy (CALERIE) Phase 2 Study Group. Effect of calorie restriction on mood, quality of life, sleep, and sexual function in healthy nonobese adults. AMA Intern Med. 2016;176(6):743–52.
- Brown F, Buboltz FC Jr, Soper B. Relationship of sleep hygiene awareness, sleep hygiene practices, and sleep quality in university students. J Behav Med. 2002;28(1):33–8.
- Ford D. Sleep disturbances and mood disorders: an epidemiologic perspective. Depress Anxiety. 2001;14:3–6.
- MacAuley D. Exercise: not a miracle cure, just good medicine. Br J Sports Med. 2016;50(18):1107–8.
- Schuch FB. Exercise as a treatment for depression: a meta-analysis adjusting for publication bias. J Psychiatr Res. 2016;77:42–51.
- Atherton N. Dementia and physical activity (DAPA) an exercise intervention to improve cognition in people with mild to moderate dementia. Trials. 2016;17:165.
- 25. Jain R. Presented at: U.S. Psychiatric and mental health congress; 21–24 Oct 2016.

- Eyre H. Neuroinmunological effects of physical exercise on depression. Brain Behav Immun. 2012;26:251–66.
- Morelen D. Family emotion expressivity, emotion regulation, and the link to psychopathology. Br J Psychol. 2013;104:149–66.
- 28. Zahn-Waxler C. Socialization of emotion: who influences whom and how? In: Root AK, Denham S, editors. The role of gender in the socialization of emotion: key concepts and critical issues. new directions for child and adolescent development, vol. 128. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; 2010. p. 101–9.
- Brewer JA. Mindfulness-based treatments for cooccurring depression and substance use disorders. Addiction. 2010;105:1698–706.
- 30. Sorbero, ME, Ahluwalia S, Reynolds K, Lovejoy SL, Farris C, Sloan J, Miles J, Vaughan Ch, Kandrack R, Apaydin E, Colaiaco B, Herman PM. Meditation for depression: a systematic review of mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for major depressive disorder. 2015. https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/RR1138. html.

- Prakhinkit S, Suppapitiporn S, Tanaka H, Suksom D. Effects of Buddhism walking meditation on depression, functional fitness, and endotheliumdependent vasodilation in depressed elderly. J Altern Complement Med. 2014;20(5):411–6.
- Hunter E. How do I feel about feelings? Emotion socialization in families of depressed and healthy adolescents. J Youth Adolesc. 2011;40:428–41.
- 33. Chen D. Effects of nonpharmacological interventions on depressive symptoms and depression among nursing students: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Complement Ther Clin Pract. 2019;34:217–28.
- Wang C. Research article tai chi on psychological well-being: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Complement Altern Med. 2010;10:23.
- Kong J. Treating depression with Tai Chi: state of the art and future perspective front. Psychiatry. 2019;10:237.
- Lavretsky H. Complementary use of Tai Chi Chih augments Escitalopram treatment of geriatric depression: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2011;19(10):839–50.



28

Potential Interactions Between Environmental and Psychoneurobiological Factors in the Interface Between Stress and Depression: A Road Map to Resilience

Gustavo Eduardo Tafet and Diego Javier Feder

Introduction

The role of stress in the origin and development of depression and anxiety disorders has long been demonstrated, including the long-lasting effect of early life stress and the impact of chronic stress, later in life [1-5]. In this regard, sustained and prolonged exposure to environmental stressors may stimulate a repertoire of adaptive responses, mediated by different neural structures involved in emotional and cognitive processing in the central nervous system (CNS), and the subsequent activation of the autonomic nervous system (ANS) and the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (HPA) [6, 7]. Environmental stressors may be bio-ecological, when associated to the natural environment, and psychosocial, when associated to the interaction between individuals in a social environment. Chronic stress has been mostly studied in social conditions, where it has been possible to describe different disorders produced by the prolonged and sustained impact of psychosocial stressors. It has been demonstrated that

International Foundation for the Development of Neurosciences (FIDN), Department of Psychiatry and Neuroscience Updates – Maimonides University, Buenos Aires, Argentina e-mail: psychiatry@maimonides.edu; getafet@fidn.org exposure to chronically stressful conditions may lead to the origin and development of different symptoms of anxiety and depression, with different characteristics according to specific features associated with stressors, diverse aspects associated with each individual, and the resulting interactions between them. Stressors may be acute or chronic, mild or severe, positive or negative, predictable or unexpected, controllable or not. Each individual may perceive environmental stressors in a different manner, according to cognitive and emotional features involved in their subjective appraisal, their personal resources, and the resulting coping strategies. In this regard, according to their personal characteristics, each individual may be affected in a different manner, which in turn may differ according to their potential vulnerability or resilience. Therefore, different interactions between stressors and individuals may be translated into different conditions, which in turn may depend on individual factors of vulnerability or resilience.

Stress: From the Environment to the Brain

Stressors are perceived as environmental stimuli, which are transmitted through sensory pathways to different structures in the CNS, including the

G. E. Tafet $(\boxtimes) \cdot D$. J. Feder

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_28

thalamus, the amygdala, the hippocampus, and cortical areas, including sensory and associative cortices, which in turn convey information to the prefrontal cortex (PFC) [5, 7]. Direct projections from the thalamus may reach the amygdala, to stimulate arousal and early alarm reactions, which in turn may lead to the activation of the ANS, more specifically its sympathetic branch, and the HPA system. The amygdala may also receive indirect projections from sensory, associative and transitional cortices, which in turn are known to send projections to the hippocampus, where sensory input is integrated with contextual information to be subsequently conveyed from the hippocampus to the lateral nucleus of the amygdala (LNA) [8]. Projections from the hippocampus may also reach the para-ventricular nucleus (PVN) of the hypothalamus, where it plays an inhibitory role [9, 10]. The LNA is also the source of multiple projections to other ports of the amygdala, such as the basal, accessory basal, and central nucleus of the amygdala (CNA) [8, 11]. The CNA sends projections to the lateral nucleus of the hypothalamus (LNH), which activates the sympathetic branch of the ANS [12], the dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus, which activates the para-sympathetic branch, and the PVN, with the consequent activation of the HPA axis [12, 13], as part of the adaptive response to stress. The amygdala also shares connections with different areas of the PFC, including the orbito-frontal cortex (OFC) and the medial PFC (MPFC) [14]. The OFC participates in the integration and evaluation of sensory stimuli, including the primary appraisal of their positive or negative value and, subsequently, in the integration of their emotional and cognitive appraisal [14]. The MPFC, together with the anterior cingulated cortex (ACC), participates in the regulation of emotional responses, particularly those related to the amygdala [15]. All these cortices are also connected with the dorso-lateral PFC (DLPFC), which is involved in cognitive control and voluntary regulation of emotional responses. The DLPFC is known to be critically involved in executive aspects of cognitive processing [16], such as conscious processing and working memory. It receives projections from the amygdala through the OFC and ACC, and projects back to limbic structures through indirect connections to specific areas of the MPFC, namely, the ventromedial PFC (VMPFC), which projects to specific areas of the ACC, such as the subgenual ACC (sgACC) [16]. Projections from the VMPFC and the sgACC may reach the amygdala to exert a modulatory effect [16, 17], which in turn is also connected with the hypothalamic PVN. Therefore, the HPA axis may be regulated by stimulatory projections from the amygdala and inhibitory projections from the hippocampus, which in turn may be reflected in the adaptive response to stress.

The Role of the HPA Axis

It has been shown that the HPA axis is modulated by limbic components, such as the amygdala and the hippocampus, and cortical areas also involved in the regulation of these neural structures. Therefore, the amygdala sends stimulatory projections to the PVN [6], where the corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH) is synthesized and released to the hypophyseal portal blood to reach the anterior pituitary. There, CRH stimulates the transcription of the pro-opio-melanocortin (POMC) gene, a precursor for the adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH), which in turn is released into the bloodstream to reach the adrenal cortex, where it stimulates the biosynthesis and release of cortisol (see Fig. 28.1). At the molecular level, cortisol binds to mineralocorticoid receptors (MRs or type I) and glucocorticoid receptors (GRs or type II), constituting a hormone-receptor complex, which in turn may be ready to interact with a glucocorticoid response element (GRE), in the promoter region of target genes [18], to participate in transcription regulation. This molecular mechanism may explain the down-regulation of the POMC [19] and the CRH genes [20], where cortisol regulates its own synthesis and release through negative feedback circuits involved in the regulation of the HPA axis. In addition, cortisol may also bind to hippocampal GRs, which in turn may inhibit the PVN [21, 22]. It has been shown that chronic stress may abolish these negative-



Fig. 28.1 A schematic representation of the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis, with excitatory projections from the amygdala, inhibitory projections from the hippocampus, and ther negative feedback circuits mediated by cortisol. (Modified from Tafet and Nemeroff [5])

feedback circuits, therefore resulting in sustained activation of the HPA axis [18]. Chronic stress may also reduce the expression of brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in the hippocampus, therefore decreasing its capability to inhibit the HPA axis [23, 24]. These alterations in the regulation of the HPA axis, associated with chronic stress, have been involved in the origin and development of depression and anxiety disorders, where hyperactivity of the HPA axis, with the consequent increase in CRH and cortisol levels, are commonly observed [25, 26]. In addition to the PVN, CRH neurons have been also described in the amygdala [27, 28], particularly in the CNA, which activates the HPA axis through projections to the PVN. Reciprocal connections have been also described between these and aminergic nuclei, such as the locus coeruleus (LC) and the raphe nuclei (RN) [3], which may be involved in reciprocal interaction between the noradrenergic and the serotonergic systems with the HPA axis [3, 29], probably involved in the pathophysiology of mood and anxiety disorders [30].

It has been shown that a history of traumatic events during childhood represents a critical factor of vulnerability in the origin and development of depression later in life [3, 31]. These stressful conditions have been associated with enduring alterations in different neural structures, reflected in hyperreactivity of neural and neuroendocrine responses to stress, with the consequent increase in CRH concentrations, glucocorticoid resistance, and reduced volume of the hippocampus [31, 32].

The Role of the Serotonergic System

Among the aminergic systems involved in the stress response, it has been long demonstrated that alteration in the serotonergic system plays a critical role in the origin and development of anxiety and depressive symptoms [29]. This system has its main sources in the RN, which project to different neural structures, including projections to the forebrain from the dorsal (DRN) and medial raphe nuclei (MRN) [33] (Azmitia 1987). Projections from the DRN may reach different neural structures involved in adaptive responses to stress, and the origin of anxiety-related symptoms [34–36], including the amygdala, particularly the CAN [37], the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BNST) [38], the PVN and different areas of the PFC [39]. Projections from the DRN may also reach other neural structures related to regulation of fight-or-flight responses, such as the periaqueductal grey (PAG) [40, 41] and the striatum, which have been shown to be involved in passive coping behavior [42], and the state of anticipatory anxiety that plays a critical adaptive role in threatening situations, informing the amygdala about current negative stimuli and emotional reactions associated with them [10]. On the other hand, projections from the MRN may reach other neural structures, including the hippocampus and the hypothalamus [43, 44], which have been associated with tolerance to persistent aversive stimuli [45], such as those perceived during chronic stress, and adaptive control on negative emotional experiences [10]. Hence, alteration of the MRN-hippocampal projections has been associated with decreased tolerance to aversive stimuli, learned helplessness, and subsequent depression [43].

At the molecular level, serotonin (5-hydroxitryptamine, 5HT) is normally released to the synaptic cleft, where it binds to specific 5HT receptors. Serotonergic neurotransmission is regulated by the serotonin transporter (5HTT), which is responsible for reuptaking 5HT from the synaptic cleft, therefore regulating the concentrations of the neurotransmitter. This represents the target of different antidepressants, including the tricyclics (TCs) and the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), which have been shown to block the 5HTT, therefore leading to increased concentrations of 5HT in the synaptic cleft, hence allowing the activation of 5HT receptors [46]. These molecules may also induce adaptive changes, including desensitization or down-regulation of somato-dendritic 5HT_{1A} auto-receptors in the RN and up-regulation of postsynaptic 5HT_{1A} and desensitization of $5HT_{2A}$ receptors [47], particularly in the MRN-hippocampal tract. Postsynaptic 5HT_{1A} receptors may be down-regulated or desensitized in different limbic structures by cortisol or exposure to chronic stress [48-50]. Alteration of 5HT neurotransmission by cortisol may be exerted tonically through binding to MRs, while sustained and prolonged increased levels of cortisol, such as the observed during chronic stress, bind predominantly to GRs, which in turn may interact with GREs in the promoter region of target genes, therefore inhibiting the expression of the 5HT1A gene [48]. Interestingly, it has been shown that cortisol may stimulate 5HT uptake in vitro, due to increased expression of the 5HTT gene [51], providing additional evidence about the reciprocal regulation between the HPA axis and the serotonergic system, and their potential interactions in the interface between stress and depression.

The Role of Cognitive Vulnerability

The influence of stress in the origin and development of depression and anxiety disorders has long been observed at the clinical level, where cognitive processing has been shown to play a critical role. In this regard, the harmful effect of environmental stressors may depend on various aspects associated to stressful events, including their length and strength, and the availability of cognitive resources to cope with them. The availability of these resources may also depend on subjective cognitive processing, aimed at assessing the potential efficacy of these resources, and the resulting balance between them and environmental stressors, which is part of the cognitive appraisal, and the resulting coping strategies [52]. This adaptive cognitive processing is necessary to assess diverse characteristics of environmental stimuli, which may lead to the assumption that many of them may be noxious or negative, while many others may be perceived as positive stressors. In this regard, certain environmental stimuli, assessed and perceived as desirable, predictable, and controllable situations, may constitute positive conditions, hence distinguished as pleasant or exciting challenges, known as "eustress," or positive stress. On the other hand, "distress," which is commonly known and identified as negative stress, is characterized by undesirable, unpredictable, and uncontrollable conditions, generally provoked by more intense and persistent stimuli, which may be perceived as dangerous or threatening, and consequently may lead to maladaptive responses, which in turn may be associated with the origin and development of various disorders [53]. In this regard, distress may engender an array of adaptive responses, including a defense reaction, which represents the active mode of adaptive responses, or a defeat reaction, which represents the passive mode. Active responses may result as a consequence of perceived threat, when subjective feelings of control are threatened by environmental stimuli, and are usually associated with effortful coping strategies. On the other hand, passivity is associated with per-



ceived loss, when subjective feelings of control are considered null and void, which in turn may lead to inability to cope. Accordingly, sustained and prolonged impact of undesirable, unpredictable, and uncontrollable stimuli may lead to the subjective feeling of loss, associated with the belief that the available resources are not effective or not enough, with the consequent impossibility to cope with the situation, which in turn may lead to subjective feelings of helplessness [54]. In this regard, chronic distressful conditions may lead to learned helplessness, which in turn has been associated with increased vulnerability to develop depression or anxiety disorders [54], and this is more evident when chronic stressful conditions occur during childhood [3, 31] (illustrated in Fig. 28.2).

The Role of Early Adverse Experiences

It has been shown that, in addition to chronic stress, the harmful impact of adverse conditions, a hostile environment, and traumatic events suffered during early periods of life represent a significant factor of vulnerability in the origin and development of depression [3, 31]. In this regard, the impact of adverse experiences, such as abuse, neglect, or loss, has long been associated with increased vulnerability to stressful conditions later in life, and the consequent

development of depression [30, 31]. An increasing body of research has demonstrated the association between early adverse conditions and diverse alterations in different neural structures, including cortical and limbic areas, and the HPA axis. In this regard, CRH neurotransmission may be particularly affected [25], which may lead to increased reactivity to stress [3, 31]. Increased levels of CRH have been associated with hyperactivity of the HPA axis and the consequent increase in cortisol levels, which in turn may lead to functional and structural changes in the hippocampus [55]. It has been shown that increased levels of cortisol, in a sustained and prolonged manner, may affect GRs availability in the hippocampus [56]. It has been shown that early adverse experiences may lead to decreased availability and reduced efficacy of hippocampal GRs [31, 57], which in turn has been associated with glucocorticoid resistance and increased reactivity of the HPA axis in response to further stressful situations. In addition, it has been shown that decreased GRs induced by early adverse experiences, along with increased levels of cortisol, may lead to decreased hippocampal function and volume in adulthood [58]. In this regard, decreased function and volume of the hippocampus, along with hyperreactivity of the amygdala, have been associated with a history of early life stress [31, 59]. Changes in cortical thickness have been also described in patients exposed to specific stressors during childhood [60]. Therefore, early life stress may lead to functional and structural changes, including hyperreactivity of neural and neuroendocrine responses to stress, which may affect potential responses to upcoming stressful situations later in life (illustrated in Fig. 28.2).

The Role of Genetic Polymorphisms

The role of stressors has been extensively elaborated; however, some individuals may be more vulnerable to stress, while some others may be more resistant or even resilient [61]. The influence of stressors may depend not only on their attributes, but also on the interactions between them and the characteristics of each individual, including psychological conditions, including their cognitive resources, and biological conditions, including their genetic background [31]. The relationship between different genetic polymorphisms and possible alterations, either functional or structural, in the CNS is an important aspect to better understand the molecular mechanisms underlying potential gene-environment interactions. Various polymorphisms have been studied in different candidate genes, critically involved in diverse molecular pathways closely involved in the origin and development of depression. These genetic variations may participate in the development of depression, either in response to adverse experiences during childhood or environmental stressors during adulthood, therefore representing important factors of vulnerability [31, 61–63]. Among these genetic variations, a polymorphism was identified in the promoter region of the 5-HTT gene [64]. Activity in the promoter region may be regulated by sequence elements located in the upstream regulatory region, termed the 5-HTT gene-linkedpolymorphic-region (5-HTTLPR), where a short (5-HTTLPR-S) and a long (5-HTTLPR-L) variant have been described [63]. The short allele was associated with decreased transcriptional efficiency, compared to that observed in the long one, resulting in down-regulation of the 5-HTT gene [64] with a resulting decrease in the 5-HTT availability. It has been shown that the potential effect of various antidepressants, including

the serotonin reuptake inhibitors, may depend mostly on 5-HTT blockade, therefore increasing 5-HT concentrations in the synaptic cleft, and also on down-regulation of presynaptic 5-HT_{1A} auto-receptors [47, 65]. Hence, it has been proposed that down-regulation of the 5-HTT gene, with the resulting effect on 5-HT concentrations in the synaptic cleft, may be different between the expressed by congenital conditions, and the triggered by environmental stressors. Congenital alterations, such as that observed in the short allele carriers, may result in increased concentration of 5-HT, which in turn may lead to downregulation of postsynaptic 5-HT receptors, with the resulting desensitization of the serotonergic system [65], which may provide a mechanism to explain the vulnerability expressed by carriers of the 5-HTTLPR-S allele. It has been demonstrated that alterations in the regulation of the 5-HTT gene may be involved in the modulation of serotonergic activity in response to stress, and this was further supported by clinical and preclinical studies [66]. In addition, it has been observed in functional brain imaging studies that 5-HTTLPR-S carriers expressed an increased reactivity in the amygdala, in the presence of fearful and threatening stimuli, comparing to that observed in 5-HTTLPR-L carriers [67], strongly suggesting that these genetic variations may be involved in psychological responses to stress [61]. It has been shown that the amygdala participates in the regulation of emotional reactions, including anxiety and mood regulation, and also participates in the activation of the HPA axis, with the resulting hyper-cortisolism, therefore explaining the role of this polymorphism as a potential factor of vulnerability. Another important polymorphism has been investigated in the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) gene, particularly in its coding region at nucleotide position 196, where a guanine base is replaced by an adenine, which in turn is translated into the substitution of valine (Val) by methionine (Met) at codon 66, therefore termed "Val66Met." This substitution has been associated with altered intracellular trafficking and decreased availability of BDNF [68–70] (Duman and Monteggia 2006; Egan et al. 2003; Gatt et al. 2009). It has

been shown that BDNF plays a critical role in the stimulation of neuroplasticity and neurogenesis in the hippocampus, which may be critical in the treatment of mood disorders [70], while decreased concentrations of BDNF have been associated with depressive symptoms [71]. In this regard, it has been observed that carriers of the Met-BDNF allele exhibited reduced hippocampal volumes, compared with carriers of the Val-BDNF allele [70], and decreased hippocampal activation [69], with the consequent deficient cognitive performance [70], which in turn have been associated with emotional instability and vulnerabilityy to develop depressive symptoms. Many other polymorphisms have been also studied, and are currently investigated, therefore representing additional factors of vulnerability (illustrated in Fig. 28.2).

Neurobiological Circuits of Vulnerability and Resilience

It has been shown that serotonergic projections from the RN may reach different targets in the CNS. Projections from the MRN may reach the hippocampus to stimulate 5HT1A receptors involved in adaptation to chronic aversive stimuli, with the consequent tolerance to adverse events, such as that experienced during chronic stress. Therefore, impairment of this serotonergic pathway has been associated with learned helplessness and subsequent depressive symptoms [35]. Projections from the DRN may reach the extended amygdala, including the BNST and certain nuclei of the amygdala itself [36, 43] to stimulate 5HT2A receptors. Activation of these serotonergic pathways has been shown to be sufficient and necessary to produce increased fear and anxiety [72, 73]. In acute stress conditions, fear represents an adaptive emotion, necessary to implement and sustain active behavioral responses, such as the activation of fight or flight. During chronic stress, excessive fear and anxiety become more intense and less adaptive, as it is usually described in anxiety disorders and depression. In addition, serotonergic projections from the DRN may also reach additional neural structures,

such as the striatum and the periaqueductal gray (PAG), which are known to be involved in active coping behavior [74]. Serotonergic input from the DRN to these areas has been shown to exert inhibitory effect, which may lead to inhibition of active responses, such as fight or flight, which in turn may be replaced by passive responses [72, 73]. The lack of active responses, also known as passivity, combined with increased fear and anxiety, represent core symptoms of learned helplessness [75], and therefore are usually observed in anxiety disorders and depression. The DRN may be modulated by multiple inputs, including excitatory projections from the noradrenergic LC, which participate in adaptive responses to stress, and inhibitory projections from cortical sources, particularly from the prelimbic region of the ventromedial prefrontal cortex (VMPFC) [76]. Input from the VMPFC is mediated by glutamatergic neurons, which synapse to GABAergic interneurons in the DRN, therefore inhibiting serotonergic neurons. It has been shown that neurons in the VMPFC participate, with the dorsal medial striatum, in a circuit involved in detection of control, which in turn may lead to inhibit the DRN [42, 77]. Therefore, passivity, associated with chronic stress and learned helplessness, may be overcome by learned control, which may be understood as a result of VMPFC inhibition of the DRN. In addition, prelimbic and infra-limbic neurons in the VMPFC have been shown to extend glutamatergic projections to synapse GABAergic interneurons in the amygdala, therefore exerting inhibitory effect on this neural structure. Therefore, increased fear and anxiety, associated with hyperactivation of the amygdala, may be also overcome by learned control, which has been associated with activity in the VMPFC. Learned control also requires the concerted activity of other PFC areas, such as the DLPFC, which is involved in working memory and cognitive processing, and therefore participates in cognitive aspects of inhibitory control, the OFC, which participates in emotional aspects of inhibitory control, and the ACC, which is involved in emotion regulation [78]. Hence, cognitive processing may exert control on limbic structures, such as the amygdala, by means of inhibitory projections



from the VMPFC to the amygdala. In addition, increased controllability, exerted by inhibitory projections from the VMPFC to the DRN, may be followed by synthesis of new proteins, therefore reinforcing these adaptive connections involved in controllability and predictability, both aspects of resilience (illustrated in Fig. 28.3).

From Distress to Eustress: The Road Map to Resilience

The role of stress in the origin and development of anxiety and depressive symptoms has long been investigated, demonstrating to be a multifactorial relationship. Among these, it is possible to identify an array of features corresponding to the impact of different environmental stressors, where it is also possible to differentiate between the characteristics of stressors themselves and their environment, either bio-ecological or psychosocial. To successfully cope with these stressors, it is important to know the characteristics of each individual, which in turn may explain their potential vulnerability or resilience. In this regard, it is possible to identify biological factors, including genetic and epigenetic mechanisms, and psychological aspects, including those related to the biography, where a history of traumatic events in early periods of life has been shown to represent an important factor of vulnerability. Traumatic events during adulthood may also predispose to increased vulnerability, although it has been shown that many subjects with such a traumatic history exhibit certain ability to develop an extraordinary strength and additional skills to cope with stressful events, therefore becoming less vulnerable and more resilient. This has been shown to depend on different factors, mostly related to their ability to perceive stressful events in a different manner and appraise them according to their potential resources. Cognitive appraisal may provide cognitive resources to increase predictability and controllability, which in turn may lead to more effective coping strategies. The feeling of controllability may be suf-



ficient and necessary to transform distress into eustress. Therefore, cognitive strategies aimed at improving appraisal and related information processing may be highly effective to improve subjective feelings of controllability (illustrated in Fig. 28.4). More effective approaches to improve controllability, therefore avoiding learned helplessness, are currently investigated, which in turn may provide effective strategies for the treatment of depression and anxiety disorders, but also to promote resilience, providing novel approaches for the prevention of anxiety and depression in vulnerable individuals, including those exposed to chronic stress and those with a history of traumatic events in early periods of life.

References

- Gold PW, Goodwin FK, Chrousos GP. Clinical and biochemical manifestations of depression. Relation to neurobiology of stress (Part I). N Engl J Med. 1988;319(6):348–53.
- Nemeroff CB. The preeminent role of early untoward experience on vulnerability to major psychiatric disorders: the nature-nurture controversy revisited and soon to be resolved. Mol Psychiatry. 1999;4: 106–8.
- Heim C, Nemeroff CB. The role of childhood trauma in the neurobiology of mood and anxiety disorders: preclinical and clinical studies. Biol Psychiatry. 2001;49(12):1023–39.
- Tafet GE, Bernardini R. Psychoneuroendocrinological links between chronic stress and depression. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2003;27(6):893–903.

- Tafet GE, Nemeroff CB. The links between stress and depression: psychoneuroendocrinological, genetic and environmental interactions. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2016;28(2):77–88. https://doi. org/10.1176/appi.neuropsych.15030053. Epub 2015 Nov 9.PMID: 26548654.
- Chrousos GP, Gold PW. The concept of stress and stress system disorders. JAMA. 1992;267:1244–52.
- López JF, Akil H, Watson SJ. Neural circuits mediating stress. Biol Psychiatry. 1999;46(11):1461–71.
- LeDoux JE. Brain mechanisms of emotion and emotional learning. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 1992;2:191–7.
- 9. McEwen BS, Brinton RE. Neuroendocrine aspects of adaptation. Prog Brain Res. 1987;72:11–26.
- Smelik PG. Adaptation and brain function. Prog Brain Res. 1987;72:3–9.
- LeDoux JE. The emotional brain: the misterious underpinnings of emotional life. New York: Simon & Schuster; 1996.
- LeDoux JE, Iwata J, Cicchetti P, Reis DJ. Different projections of the central amygdaloid nucleus mediate autonomic and behavioral correlates of conditioned fear. J Neurosci. 1988;8:2517–29.
- Davis M. The role of the amygdala in fear-potentiated startle: implications for animal models of anxiety. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 1992;13:35–41.
- Price JL, Drevets WC. Neurocircuitry of mood disorders. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2010;35:192–216.
- Etkin A, Egner T, Kalisch R. Emotional processing in anterior cingulate and medial prefrontal cortex. Trends Cogn Sci. 2011;15(2):85–93.
- Ray RD, Zald DH. Anatomical insights into the interaction of emotion and cognition in the prefrontal cortex. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2012;36:479–501.
- Motzkin JC, Philippi CL, Wolf RC, Baskaya MK, Koenigs M. Ventromedial prefrontal cortex is critical for the regulation of amygdala activity in humans. Biol Psychiatry. 2015;77(3):276–84.
- De Kloet ER, Joëls M, Holsboer F. Stress and the brain: from adaptation to disease. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2005;6(6):463–75.

- Drouin J, Sun Y, Chamberland M, Gauthier Y, De Lean A, Nemer M, Schmidt T. Novel glucocorticoid receptor complex with DNA element of the hormonerepressed POMC gene. EMBO J. 1993;1:145–56.
- Malkoski S, Dorin R. Composite glucocorticoid regulation at a functionally defined negative glucocorticoid response element of the human corticotropin-releasing hormone gene. Mol Endocrinol. 1999;19:1629–44.
- Reul JM, de Kloet ER. Two receptor systems for corticosterone in rat brain: microdistribution and differential occupation. Endocrinology. 1985;117(6):2505–11.
- Reul JM, Holsboer F. On the role of corticotropinreleasing hormone receptors in anxiety and depression. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2002;4(1):31–46.
- Schaaf MJ, de Jong J, de Kloet ER, Vreugdenhil E. Downregulation of BDNF mRNA and protein in the rat hippocampus by corticosterone. Brain Res. 1998;813(1):112–20.
- Murakami S, Imbe H, Morikawa Y, Kubo C, Senba E. Chronic stress, as well as acute stress, reduces BDNF mRNA expression in the rat hippocampus but less robustly. Neurosci Res. 2005;53(2):129–39.
- Arborelius L, Owens MJ, Plotsky PM, Nemeroff CB. The role of corticotropin-releasing factor in depression and anxiety disorders. J Endocrinol. 1999;160(1):1–12.
- Nestler EJ, Barrot M, DiLeone RJ, Eisch AJ, Gold SJ, Monteggia LM. Neurobiology of depression. Neuron. 2002;34:13–25.
- Valentino RJ, Foote SL, Page ME. The locus coeruleus as a site for integrating corticotropin-releasing factor and noradrenergic mediation of stress response. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1993;697:171–87.
- LeDoux JE. The amygdala: contributions to fear and stress. Semin Neurosci. 1994;6:231–7.
- Owens MJ, Nemeroff CB. Physiology and pharmacology of corticotropin-releasing factor. Pharmacol Rev. 1991;43:425–73.
- Nemeroff CB. Neurobiological consequences of childhood trauma. J Clin Psychiatry. 2004;65(Suppl 1):18–28.
- Heim C, Newport DJ, Mletzko T, Miller AH, Nemeroff CB. The link between childhood trauma and depression: insights from HPA axis studies in humans. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2008;33:693–710.
- 32. Meaney MJ, Szyf M. Environmental programming of stress responses through DNA methylation: life at the interface between a dynamic environment and a fixed genome. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2005;7:103–23.
- 33. Azmitia EC. The primate serotonergic system: progression towards a collaborative organization. In: Meltzer H, editor. Psychopharmacology: the third generation of progress. New York: Raven Press Ltd.; 1987. p. 61–74.
- 34. Azmitia EC, Whitaker-Azmitia PM. Anatomy, cell biology, and plasticity of the serotonergic system. Neuropsychopharmacological implications for the actions of psychotropic drugs. In: Bloom FE, Kupfer DJ, editors. Psychopharmacology: the fourth genera-

tion of progress. New York: Raven Press Ltd.; 1995. p. 443–9.

- Deakin JWF, Graeff FG. 5-HT and mechanisms of defense. J Psychopharmacol. 1991;5:305–15.
- Lowry CA, Johnson PL, Hay-Schmidt A, Mikkelsen J, Shekhar A. Modulation of anxiety circuits by serotonergic systems. Stress. 2005;8(4):233–46.
- Petrov T, Krukoff TL, Jhamandas JH. Chemically defined collateral projections from the pons to the central nucleus of the amygdala and hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus in the rat. Cell Tissue Res. 1994;277(2):289–95.
- Commons KG, Connolley KR, Valentino RJ. A neurochemically distinct dorsal raphe-limbic circuit with a potential role in affective disorders. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2003;28(2):206–15.
- 39. Van Bockstaele EJ, Biswas A, Pickel VM. Topography of serotonin neurons in the dorsal raphe nucleus that send axon collaterals to the rat prefrontal cortex and nucleus accumbens. Brain Res. 1993;624:188–98.
- Stezhka VV, Lovick TA. Projections from dorsal raphe nucleus to the periaqueductal grey matter: studies in slices of rat midbrain maintained in vitro. Neurosci Lett. 1997;230:57–60.
- Bandler R, Keay KA, Floyd N, Price J. Central circuits mediating patterned autonomic activity during active vs. passive emotional coping. Brain Res Bull. 2000;53:95–104. 28.
- Maier SF, Seligman MEP. Learned helplessness at fifty: insights from neuroscience. Psychol Rev. 2016;123(4):349–67. https://doi.org/10.1037/ rev0000033.
- 43. Deakin JFW. Distinct roles of 5HT subsystems in panic, anxiety and depression. In: Racagai G, Brunello N, Fukuda T, editors. Biological psychiatry, vol. 1. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 1991. p. 305–7.
- Hensler JG. Serotonergic modulation of the limbic system. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2006;30:203–14.
- Kennett GA, Dickinson SL, Curzon G. Enhancement of some 5-HT-dependent behavioural responses following repeated immobilization in rats. Brain Res. 1985;330(2):253–63.
- Meltzer HY, Lowy MT. The serotonin hypothesis of depression. In: Meltzer HY, editor. Psychopharmacology, the third generation of progress. New York: Raven Press; 1987. p. 513–26.
- Blier P, de Montigny C, Chaput Y. Modifications of the serotonin system by antidepressant treatments: implications for the therapeutic response in major depression. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 1987;7:24S–35S.
- Lopez JF, Chalmers DT, Little KY, Watson SJ. Regulation of serotonin1A, glucocorticoid, and mineralocorticoid receptor in rat and human hippocampus: implications for the neurobiology of depression. Biol Psychiatry. 1998;43:547–73.
- 49. Karten YJ, Nair SM, van Essen L, Sibug R, Joels M. Long-term exposure to high corticosterone levels attenuates serotonin responses in rat hippocampal CA1 neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96:13456–61.

- 50. van Riel E, van Gemert NG, Meijer OC, Joels M. Effect of early life stress on serotonin responses in the hippocampus of young adult rats. Synapse. 2004;53:11–9.
- Tafet GE, Toister-Achituv M, Shinitzky M. Enhancement of serotonin uptake by cortisol: a possible link between stress and depression. Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci. 2001;1(1):96–104.
- Lazarus RS, Folkman S. Stress, appraisal and coping. New York: Springer; 1984.
- Selye H. The stress of life. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1978.
- Abramson LY, Seligman M, Teasdale LD. Learned helplessness in humans: critique and reformulation. J Abnorm Psychol. 1978;87:49–78.
- Suri D, Vaidya VA. Glucocorticoid regulation of brainderived neurotrophic factor: relevance to hippocampal structural and functional plasticity. Neuroscience. 2013;239:196–213.
- Sapolsky RM, Krey LC, McEwen BS. Stress down-regulates corticosterone receptors in a sitespecific manner in the brain. Endocrinology. 1984;114(1):287–92.
- 57. Heim C, Binder EB. Current research trends in early life stress and depression: review of human studies on sensitive periods, gene environment interactions, and epigenetics. Exp Neurol. 2012;233:102–11.
- McEwen BS. Stress and hippocampal plasticity. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 1999;5:205–16.
- Grant MM, Cannistraci C, Hollon SD, Gore J, Shelton R. Childhood trauma history differentiates amygdala response to sad faces within MDD. J Psychiatr Res. 2011;45:886–95.
- Heim CM, Mayberg HS, Mletzko T, et al. Decreased cortical representation of genital somatosensory field after childhood sexual abuse. Am J Psychiatry. 2013;170:616–23.
- 61. Caspi A, Sugden K, Moffitt TE, Taylor A, Craig IW, Harrington H, Mc Clay J, Mill J, Martin J, Braithwaite A, Poulton R. Influence of life stress on depression: moderation by a polymorphism in the 5-HTT gene. Science. 2003;301(5631):386–9.
- 62. Kaufman J, Yang BZ, Douglas-Palumberi H, Grasso D, Lipschitz D, Houshyar S, Krystal JH, Gelernter J. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor-5-HTTLPR gene interactions and environmental modifiers of depression in children. Biol Psychiatry. 2006;59:673–80.
- 63. Bradley RG, Binder EB, Epstein MP, Tang Y, Nair HP, Liu W, Gillespie CF, Berg T, Evces M, Newport DJ, Stowe ZN, Heim CM, Nemeroff CB, Schwartz A, Cubells JF, Ressler KJ. Influence of child abuse on adult depression: moderation by the corticotropinreleasing hormone receptor gene. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2008;65(2):190–200.
- 64. Lesch KP, Bengel D, Heils A, Sabol SZ, Greenberg BD, Petri S, Benjamin J, Müller CR, Hamer DH, Murphy DL. Association of anxiety-related traits with a polymorphism in the serotonin transporter gene regulatory region. Science. 1996;274(5292):1527–31.
- Hariri AR, Drabant EM, Munoz KE, Kolachana BS, Mattay VS, Egan MF, Weinberger DR. A suscepti-

bility gene for affective disorders and the response of the human amygdala. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2005;62(2):146–52.

- Murphy DL, Li Q, Engel S, Wichems C, Andrews A, Lesch KP, Uhl G. Genetic perspectives on the serotonin transporter. Brain Res Bull. 2001;56(5):487–94.
- Hariri AR, Mattay VS, Tessitore A, Kolachana B, Fera F, Goldman D, Egan MF, Weinberger DR. Serotonin transporter genetic variation and the response of the human amygdala. Science. 2002;297:400–3.
- Duman RS, Monteggia LM. A neurotrophic model for stress-related mood disorders. Biol Psychiatry. 2006;59(12):1116–27.
- 69. Egan MF, Kojima M, Callicott JH, Goldberg TE, Kolachana BS, Bertolino A, Zaitsev E, Gold B, Goldman D, Dean M, Lu B, Weinberger DR. The BDNF val66met polymorphism affects activitydependent secretion of BDNF and human memory and hippocampal function. Cell. 2003;112(2): 257–69.
- 70. Gatt JM, Nemeroff CB, Dobson-Stone C, Paul RH, Bryant RA, Schofield PR, Gordon E, Kemp AH, Williams LM. Interactions between BDNF Val66Met polymorphism and early life stress predict brain and arousal pathways to syndromal depression and anxiety. Mol Psychiatry. 2009;14(7):681–95.
- 71. Shimizu E, Hashimoto K, Okamura N, Koike K, Komatsu N, Kumakiri C, Nakazato M, Watanabe H, Shinoda N, Okada S, Iyo M. Alterations of serum levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in depressed patients with or without antidepressants. Biol Psychiatry. 2003;54(1):70–5.
- Maier SF, Grahn RE, Kalman BA, Sutton LC, Wiertelak EP, Watkins LR. The role of the amygdala and dorsal raphe nucleus in mediating the behavioral consequences of inescapable shock. Behav Neurosci. 1993;107:377–89.
- Maier SF, Watkins LR. Stressor controllability and learned helplessness: the roles of the dorsal raphe nucleus, serotonin, and corticotropin releasing hormone. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2005;29:829–41.
- 74. Graeff FG, Guimarães FS, De Andrade TG, Deakin JFW. Role of 5-HT in stress, anxiety, and depression. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 1996;54:129–41.
- Seligman MEP. Depression and learned helplessness. In: Friedman RJ, Katz MM, editors. The psychology of depression: contemporary theory and research. New York: Winston-Wiley; 1974. p. 83–113.
- Peyron C, Petit JM, Rampon C, Jouvet M, Luppi PH. Forebrain afferents to the rat dorsal raphe nucleus demonstrated by retrograde and anterograde tracing methods. Neuroscience. 1997;82:443–68.
- 77. Baratta MV, Zarza CM, Gomez DM, Campeau S, Watkins LR, Maier SF. Selective activation of dorsal raphe nucleus-projecting neurons in the ventral medial prefrontal cortex by controllable stress. Eur J Neurosci. 2009;30:1111–6.
- Shi L, Sun J, Wei D, Qiu J. Recover from the adversity: functional connectivity basis of psychological resilience. Neuropsychologia. 2019;122:20–7.



29

The Impact of Apolipoprotein E Allelic Variants on Alzheimer's Disease

Ezequiel Serrano, Pablo G. Sanz, and Francisco J. Barrantes

Introduction

Alzheimer disease (AD) was described for the first time in 1907 by Alois Alzheimer, a German neurologist, psychiatrist and neuropathologist [1], and today is the most frequent form of dementia. It has a huge global occurrence with 47 million affected individuals in 2016, expected to reach 130 million by the year 2050 [2]. The disease has a predominant late-onset, "sporadic" form (~95%) in the population older than 65 years [3, 4]. Besides its characteristic neurological and psychological dysfunctions, AD has additional negative impacts on the quality of life of the patient [4, 5], affects the familial environment, exhibits high morbidity and mortality - reaching 85,000 annual deaths in the United States alone [6, 7] – and involves enormous costs for the healthcare system [8].

Clinically, AD is characterized by an amnesic syndrome, cognitive decline, and no initial focal signs [9]. Cerebral atrophy is a macroscopic sign characteristically found in necropsies, and in more recent times fully corroborated in patients

E. Serrano · F. J. Barrantes (🖂)

Laboratory of Molecular Neurobiology, Biomedical Research Institute (BIOMED), UCA-CONICET, and Faculty of Medical Sciences, Buenos Aires, Argentina

P. G. Sanz Service of Neurology, Hospital Piñero, Buenos Aires, Argentina

using imaging techniques such as positron emission tomography (PET), single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) or computer tomography (CT), nuclear magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), or its variant volumetric brain MRI [10, 11]. At the light microscope level changes involve regional loss of neuronal cells, insoluble amyloid plaques, which we now know are made up of extracellular amyloid β $(A\beta)$ deposits (see below), and neurofibrillary tangles made up of microtubule hyperphosphorylated tau protein, predominantly found in memoryprocessing brain regions. PET with appropriate labeled ligands can detect specific metabolites such as $A\beta$ or tau. These neuropathological changes are presumably initiated by loss of synapses and subsequent death of neuronal cells [9], initially in the entorhinal cortex and hippocampus. At the cellular level, the cholinergic neurons at the basal forebrain region are attacked at early stages [12–14]. At more advanced stages of the disease, essentially all cerebral cortex and other brain areas are affected. Mass spectrometrybased proteomic studies of postmortem brains from patients with AD, asymptomatic AD, and controls show correlations between neuropathological changes, cognition, and AD risk loci identified by genome-wide association studies (GWAS) and transcriptome analyses [15, 16]. Transcriptomics and proteomics can be successfully combined as diagnostic tools to provide a more comprehensive description of the physio-

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_29

pathological mechanisms involved in AD and the underlying risk factors.

Two forms of AD can be distinguished based on the age of onset of the clinical manifestations: early-onset AD (EOAD <65 years) and late-onset AD (LOAD >65 years) [17]. In both presentations of the disease, the "sporadic" form accounts for 95% of cases [17], comprising an amalgamation of environmental factors and genetically complex risk factor combinations with up to 80% hereditability [17]. Although EOAD is the most common neurodegenerative dementia of early onset, it only represent 4-6%of all AD cases [18]. EOAD often shows autosomal dominant history (14.2%), the majority of the cases are nonfamilial, and the identification of determinant AD genes in this population is rare [19]. The EOAD form of the disease is associated with mutations in the genes coding for the presenilin (PS) variants PS1, PS2, and the amyloid precursor protein (APP) [20], with concomitant alterations in the processing of APP and increased deposition of A β . We will not deal with EOAD in this chapter.

Lipoproteins are a class of proteins whose major role is the transport of lipids in the circulatory system, involving lipid delivery to cell-surface receptors and lipid transfer from one cell type to another. They comprise various families: very-low density (VLDL), low-density (LDL), intermediate-density (IDL) and highdensity (HDL) lipoproteins, chylomychrons, chylomicron remnants, and lipoprotein-A. The link between abnormal levels of plasma LDL complexed with cholesterol, the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis, and the increased risk for ischemic cardiopathy hypothesized in the mid-1970s evolved to become a fundamental element in current views regarding the leading cause of death in Western civilization and concurrent approaches to preventive clinical cardiology. Dyslipidemias are by now undisputable risk factors for atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease, carotid artery plaque, and peripheral artery disease (see recent review in Ref. [21]). Lipoproteins interact with a variety of actors: lipids, enzymes, cell-surface specific lipoprotein receptors and surrogate molecules, and lipid transfer molecules.

Among plasma lipoproteins, the apolipoproteins E (ApoE) have gained relevance in relation to their negative or positive effect on a key group of neurodegenerative diseases, particularly AD. The burden conferred by carrying certain alleles of the ApoEcoding gene (APOE) has been documented as the major genetic risk factor for LOAD and for shifting the age of onset of AD, homozygous APOEe4 carriers developing AD earlier than heterozygous and non-APOEe4 carriers, although the contribution of this genetic factor to AD pathogenesis is still far from clear [22]. APOE has been postulated to be related to both Aβ-dependent and Aβ-independent pathways [23, 24]. APOE is also considered as a potential diagnostic tool and therapeutic target, though these two aspects are still understudied [25]. In this review, we address the current status of ApoE isoform biochemistry, expression in brain, and the various impact modalities of APOE status on AD.

APOE Polymorphism and ApoE Isoform Expression

The *APOE* gene is localized in chromosome 19, more precisely in the 19q13,32 sector. The gene comprises four exons and three introns [26]. Genetic analysis has disclosed a characteristic of *APOE* uniquely observed in humans: three gene alleles, termed $\varepsilon 2$, $\varepsilon 3$, and $\varepsilon 4$, which code the expression of three isoforms of the protein: ApoE2, ApoE3, and ApoE4, respectively. The frequency of the three alleles is 2–10% ($\varepsilon 2$), 70–80% ($\varepsilon 3$), and 10–15% ($\varepsilon 4$), respectively [27]. Genotyping has also uncovered that single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) confer high risk or protection from AD, as we will discuss below.

APOE is not homogeneously expressed in the body, its expression varying from tissue to tissue. The organ with the highest expression is the liver, followed by the brain, kidney, adrenal gland, adipose tissue, and spleen. The brain has a high production of ApoE, though it only amounts to about a fourth of that produced by the liver [28]. ApoE supply in the central nervous system (CNS) relies entirely on local biosynthesis, as the blood–brain

barrier (BBB) precludes the entrance of peripheral ApoE [29]. ApoE is synthesized by a variety of cell types, its expression varying among cells of the same organ; this is particularly apparent in the CNS, where ApoE is mostly produced by astrocytes [30]. Neurons do not normally express the *APOE* gene (see the next section), but may do so upon injury [31].

ApoE Isoforms: Structure and Functional Implications

ApoE is a relatively small glycoprotein made up of 299 amino acids, with an average molecular weight of 34.000 Daltons [32]. Peripheral blood ApoE subjected to isoelectric focusing can be separated into its three isoforms based on minor differences in their charges: ApoE2 differs from ApoE3 in a single amino acid at position 158 (Arg¹⁵⁸ is replaced by a Cys residue in ApoE2) and ApoE4 differs from ApoE3 also by a single amino acid (Cys¹¹² replaced by Arg¹¹²) [33]. These single amino acid substitutions suffice to produce significant changes in the lipid binding ability of the three isoforms.

The ApoE3/E3 phenotype is the most abundant one, constituting between 50% and 70% of the total, whereas ApoE2/E2 makes up only 1–5% of the circulating ApoE [34, 35]. In their lipid-free (apo) state, the three ApoE proteins share two distinct, independently folded structural domains: the N-terminal domain, comprising residues 1–191, the C-terminal domain, extending from residues 210-(225) to 299 [36], and a protease-sensitive hinge region - a loopconnecting the two domains [37]. The N-term possesses a four-strand antiparallel structure containing the LDL-R (and other surrogate receptors) binding region (residues 134-150 and Arg 172) in its fourth helix, enriched in Lys and Arg residues [38, 39]. The C-term domain is the one carrying the major lipid binding region (between residues 244 and 272) [37]. These structural studies aimed at identifying functionally relevant domains were carried out using various combinations of biophysical techniques, including X-ray diffraction and small-angle X-ray diffraction studies [40, 41], complemented by electron-spin resonance (ESR) [42], circular dichroism (CD) and differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) [43], and recently, nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) and "fluorescence spectroscopies" [44].

Even more recently, two alternative conformational states of (lipidated) ApoE4 at the surface of nanodiscs and their possible transition upon binding to the ApoER were identified using a combination of cryoelectron microscopy, chemical cross-linking, mass spectrometry, and in silico molecular modeling [37]. By varying the position of the hinge, the opened hairpin and the compact hairpin models were generated. According to the authors, they may represent distinct states of lipidation of ApoE4 coexisting in solution. The models also account for the lipid-dependent ApoE conformation relevant for recognition by the LDL receptor: extended helix 4/opened hairpin (see Fig. 29.1).

ApoE Receptors

ApoE proteins bind to specific cell-surface macromolecules, the ApoE receptors, which belong to the evolutionarily ancient LDL receptor (LDL-R) family [45-47]; these latter also include the LDLR-related protein 1 (LRP1), megalin (LRP2), ApoE receptor 2 (ApoER2 or LRP8), LRP4, and LRP1b [47]. All these receptor proteins bind ApoE, but ApoE isoforms do not bind equally well to all receptors: ApoE2, for instance, binds much less strongly to its receptors than the two other isoforms, its binding capacity being 50–100 times lower than that of ApoE3 or ApoE4 binding to the LDL-R [48]. This is because Cys¹⁵⁸ abolishes the salt bridge between residues 158 and 154 in ApoE2, generating a new bridge between residues 154 and 150 (LDLRbinding region 136–150) [49]. These differences have been associated with a higher probability of developing type III hyperlipoproteinemia, abnormally high levels of plasma cholesterol and triglycerides and clinical manifestations such as cutaneous disorders, premature coronary disease, and peripheral atherosclerosis in ApoE2 carriers [50].



Fig. 29.1 The two models of ApoE4 (compact and opened hairpins) at the surface of lipid nanodiscs. According to these models, upon binding lipids two ApoE4 molecules adopt either the compact (\mathbf{a}) or the opened (\mathbf{b}) hairpin conformation as a "belt" partially surrounding the lipid nanodisc. Subsequently (or concomitantly), the N-terminal helix 4 elongates (\mathbf{c} , \mathbf{d}). The

The binding of a lipid is essential for ApoE high-affinity binding to the LDL-R [36, 41, 51]. When ApoE binds lipids, it undergoes substantial conformational changes, adopting a hairpin-like structure that wraps around the polar section of a phospholipid discoidal bilayer [52–55]. This places the LDL-R binding region into the apex of the hairpin, facilitating interaction between the binding region and the LDL-R [40]. ApoE isoforms also bind to other lipoproteins, albeit with different affinities. ApoE 2 and 3 bind to small HDLs whereas ApoE4 exhibits preference for binding to large VLDL [56].

elongated N-term helix 4 is accessible and recognized by the LDL receptors (see below) in the opened state (**d**). C-term helices are colored purple; the N-term helices 1,2,3, and 4 are shown in blue, red, yellow, and green, respectively. (Reproduced from Ref. [37], following the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/))

ApoE Properties and Functions

ApoE is one of the major components of the circulating lipoproteins involved in the transport of the neutral lipid cholesterol. It is also involved in the control of the normal chylomicron and VLDL metabolism, particularly the removal from circulation of remnants generated by the metabolism of dietary lipids, transporting them to the liver where they are internalized by the hepatocytes, in a process mediated by ApoE-ApoE/chylomicron remnant receptors

[57–59]. Correspondingly, ApoE phenotypes constitute ligands for the three types of cell-surface receptors mentioned earlier: the LDL-R, the low-density lipoprotein-related protein receptor, and the VLDL receptor, albeit with different abilities. The ApoE2 isoform, for instance, is not effective in the receptor-mediated remnant lipoprotein removal process: its binding capacity to the LDL-R is only 2% that of ApoE3. $APOE\epsilon2/\epsilon2$ homozygous individuals therefore have much higher levels of remnant lipoproteins.

ApoE, together with the major HDL protein Apo A-I, is involved in the efflux of cholesterol from cells and ApoE actively participates in the transport of cholesterol produced by hepatocytes to peripheral tissues. Triglycerides, ApoE and ApoB-100-rich molecules are produced in the liver and are metabolized by plasma lipoprotein lipase from VLDL to intermediate-density lipoproteins (IDL) and LDL, losing ApoE along these processes. The uptake of the remnant VLDL and IDL is mediated by ApoE, whereas the uptake of LDL is facilitated by ApoB-100 [57].

The transport of cholesterol from peripheral tissues to the liver (reverse cholesterol transport) also requires the participation of ApoE [57, 58, 60]. Cells with high levels of cholesterol can transfer cholesterol to acceptors like high-density lipoprotein (HDL), which upon forming a complex with ApoE, facilitated by the high cholesterol in the HDL, incorporate cholesterol at a faster rate. The complex displays additional cholesterol binding sites on its surface and stronger binding to LDL-receptor [61, 62]. HDL lacking ApoE does not bind to LDL receptors. Humans possess another reverse cholesterol transport mechanism, in which high-cholesterol HDL transfers cholesterol to lipoproteins with lower density (VLDL, LDL, IDL), which deliver cholesterol to the liver [57, 63, 64].

ApoE also participates in the transport of lipids between cells within the same tissue. Cells with lower than normal levels of cholesterol express high levels of LDL-R in their membranes; ApoEcholesterol complexes deliver the neutral lipid to these cell-surface receptors, and this is followed by cholesterol internalization [57]. Damaged neurons, for instance, require lipids for the restoration of their dendrites and axons. Peripheral nerve injury activates macrophages inducing the production of ApoE, while the tips of the nerve endings express high levels of LDL-R to acquire ApoE-cholesterol [65].

ApoE was found to display heparin-binding properties [66], helping cells to interact with the extracellular matrix, stimulating their adhesion, growth, and division [67]. ApoE can prompt or inhibit other interactions between cells and the matrix [57]. These interactions have important consequences on neuronal growth and smooth muscle cell migration and differentiation (e.g., in atherosclerosis) [57, 66, 68, 69]. ApoE also has an important role in immunoregulation, having the capacity to induce or inhibit T-lymphocyte activation and proliferation depending on the T-lymphocyte receptor and concentration and type of lipoprotein [57]. ApoE can also bind to exogenous lipid antigens, assisting their presentation in the immune system [70]. ApoE is involved in inflammatory response pathways in an isoform-dependent and dual manner, with anti-inflammatory effects in the presence of $A\beta$ and pro-inflammatory responses in the absence of Aβ [71].

ApoE4 has the least resistance to thermal and chemical denaturation and proteolytic degradation as compared to the other isoforms, which follow the order E4 > E3 > E2. This difference correlates with the propensity to unfold in a less cooperative manner following the sequence E4 > E3 > E2 [43, 72, 73]. ApoE3 and ApoE4 also generate intermediate states, unlike ApoE2 [73]. The low unfolding capacity of ApoE4 is responsible for a higher rate of occurrence of stable intermediate conformations that are still compact (compared with the properly folded state) but with a larger radius of gyration (expanded), characterized as molten globules [73, 74]. The molten globule states have been related to various disease conditions and have been proposed as a possible explanation for the relationship between ApoE4 and AD [73].

The rate of transport of β -amyloid₁₋₄₂ has been shown to be slower when complexed with ApoE4 compared with the other ApoE isoforms [75]. *APOEe4* carriers have been reported to present reduced cerebrospinal fluid $A\beta_{1-42}$ levels, which are considered biomarkers of amyloid plaque deposition, and a cause–effect relationship has been attributed to this finding [76].

APOE Alleles and Risk of LOAD and Other Dementias

There have been considerable advances in our understanding of the relationship between APOE alleles and AD during the last few decades. One important emerging concept is that APOEe2 is essentially a protective allele and APOEe4 a high-risk allele [77, 78], particularly for the late-onset form of Alzheimer's disease (LOAD) [79]. In LOAD, both environmental and genetic influences are invoked [80]. The presence of the APOE $\epsilon 2$ isoform, for instance, lowers the probability of developing AD to 0.6 [77]. The incidence of LOAD varies not only with the APOE allele [81], but also with homozygocity/ heterocygocity: $APOE \varepsilon 4/\varepsilon 2-3$ heterocygotes have a fourfold higher probability to develop LOAD, and homozygous APOEe4/e4 carriers are 12-20 times more likely to develop LOAD compared with APOEe3/Ee3 homozygous carriers [77, 82]. Furthermore, homozygous APOEe4 $(APOE \varepsilon 4/\varepsilon 4)$ carriers have ca. 30% higher chances of developing AD with an earlier age of onset of clinical symptoms than heterozygous APOE ϵ 4 carriers [83, 84], who still exhibit a higher risk than carriers of other APOE variants. The risk is therefore dose-dependent [84]. The memory decline in A β -positive APOE ϵ 4 carriers begins much earlier than in A β -positive APOE ϵ 4 noncarriers; the difference is quite substantial: memory decline had an age of onset of 64.5 versus 76.5 years of age, respectively [85].

The genetic probability factor also becomes apparent when one compares the frequencies of occurrence of polymorphic alleles in affected individuals with those in the general population: $APOE\varepsilon 2$ is present in 3.9% of AD patients (8.4% in the general population), whereas $APOE\varepsilon 4$ is found in 36.7% of the AD population (13.7% in the general population) [86, 87]. It is noteworthy, however, that a proportion of elderly homozygous $APOE\varepsilon4$ carriers are not affected [88], making it clear that the correlation between $APOE\varepsilon4$ and AD remains poorly understood. Patients lacking ApoE expression due to mutations in both of their APOE alleles exhibit severe dysbetalipiproteinemia, but lack cognitive or neurological impairments [89, 90], an observation that has raised the hypothesis that ApoE does not normally play a major role in brain physiology but acquires relevance under physiopathological conditions.

It is worth noting that the occurrence of the APOE ε 4 allele is not pathognomonic of AD, although its frequency in this disease is quite high (38.1%) in comparison to other forms of dementia: Alzheimer-Lewy Body dementia mix (40.6%), pure Lewy Body dementia (31.9%) and PD dementia (19.1%) groups and to the control group (7.2%) [91]. An attempt to find clinical correlates with the occurrence of $APOE \varepsilon 4$ in a cohort of 500 PD patients did not show any statistically significant relationship with psychotic symptomatology [92]. Noteworthy is the fact that for still unknown reasons, many APOE ε 4 carriers (53%) never develop AD and only 47% do so [87]. APOE ε 4 affects cognitive function in other brain pathologies, undermining white matter integrity and neurovascular regulation, possibly leading to deep cortical white matter hypoxic-ischemic damage, and increased risk of small vessel (microvascular) disease in carriers [93]. APOE ε 4 is also a risk factor for intracerebral hemorrhage (see, e.g., [94]). According to Mahley [95], two structural features are responsible for ApoE4 pathogenicity: an abnormal domain interaction, in which the amino acid residue Arg⁶¹ interacts ionically with Glu²⁵⁵, and the less stable conformation of ApoE4 as compared to ApoE3 or ApoE2.

ApoE 4 has also been found to be correlated with an increase in the incidence of pugilistic dementia by chronic traumatic brain injury (CTBI). In 1997, a study on boxers found that those individuals carrying at least one *APOE4* allele and with high exposure to traumatic injuries (boxing) had greater Chronic Brain Traumatic scores. Moreover, all studied patients who ended up with severe impairments were carriers of this allele [96]. Several other studies support this association: ApoE4 has been linked with an increase in the deposition of A β after TBI [97]; severe complications after TBI [98]; greater contusial damage and ischemic brain damage in fatal TBI [99]; tenfold increases in the incidence of AD with ApoE4 and TBI, twofold with ApoE4 alone, and no correlation with TBI alone [100]. However, there are several articles that show inconclusive results in terms of the relationship between ApoE and dementia induced by CTBI [101–104].

ApoE is also strongly associated with vascular dementia: a recent large meta-analysis including 69 studies with a total of 16,045 participants (446 cases; 11,583 controls) supported this association [105]. The meta-analysis found a 3.1 -fold increase in the risk of developing vascular dementia in *APOE4* homozygous patients compared with *APOE3* individuals.

In terms of sex differences, according to a recent meta-analysis study, male and female individuals carrying the *APOEe4* or the *APOEe3* isoform have the same chances of developing AD from age 55 to 85 years, but women have increased risk at younger ages [106]. Female patients with mild cognitive impairment (MCI) as well as fully developed AD patients appear to have negatively regulated behavioral traits like anxiety when the two alleles are expressed [107]. However, this is still a contentious subject, and in addition to the need for further studies on gender differences and other population-associated issues related to *APOE* variants, there are still meta-analytical approaches to be settled.

A cross-sectional study to assess the effect of the *APOE* allelic genotype was conducted on a cohort of 989 cognitively normal elderly adults. A subset of these individuals underwent PET for A β and MRI of hippocampus to evaluate its volume. *APOE4* homozygotes ($\varepsilon 4/\varepsilon 4$) exhibited significantly worse episodic memory and higher A β levels than $\varepsilon 4$ heterozygotes. No differences were found in hippocampal volume between different *APOE* allele carriers. *APOE* acts in a codominant form on A β levels, episodic memory and hippocampal volume in normal old individuals and *APOE4* homozygotes [108].

Psychological stress-reducing perceptions or cultural conditions like "positive age beliefs"

have been invoked as possible factors reducing the incidence of AD in APOEe4 carriers and healthy individuals [109]. A recent study analyzed a cohort of >900 healthy subjects considered as "exceptional elderly individuals," that is, without any signs of AD physiopathology, in the search for protective factors (APOE demographics, normolipidemia, genotype, etc.) but no clear conclusions were reached, warranting further investigation [110]. A more recent study of a cohort of 300 cognitively healthy Dutch centenarians showed a 2.1-fold enrichment in APOEɛ2 and 2.3-fold lower values of APOE ε 4, without apparent changes in APOE ε 3 [111].

The TREM2/APOE4 Risk Factor Combination

In addition to age and the APOE pathogenic isoform $\varepsilon 4$, rare genetic variants of other proteins apparently linked to AD have been discovered. The so-called triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM2) [112], a singlepass transmembrane receptor protein present in microglia, has recently emerged as a potential risk factor (reviewed in [113]). TREM2 binds ApoE in brain, where this protein is selectively expressed by microglia [114–116], triggering a signal transduction mechanism in these cells [117]. Interestingly, the pathogenic ApoE4 isoform also causes amyloid-dependent microglial dysfunction [118]. APOE4-associated AD risk factor might therefore encompass, among other mechanisms, a combination of dysregulation of microglial function and hindrance of $A\beta$ clearance (see the following section). TREM2 knock-out microglia show reduced internalization of LDL and clusterin (CLU; also known as apolipoprotein J), two lipoproteins to which $A\beta$ binds and are normally internalized by microglia [114]. Macrophages of humans carrying the TREM2 AD variant exhibit reduced endocytosis of Aβ-lipoprotein complexes [114]. ApoE activation of TREM2 in microglia would be a manifestation of CNS-contained innate immune response [119].

ApoE, A β , and AD Risk

The increased probability of pathogenic development associated with the APOE4 allele and its antipolar APOE2 protective character are by now relatively well documented [81, 84, 120–122]. We know that these effects are multifactorial; a first level of complexity is given by the association of these effects with $A\beta$, which is in turn associated with the lipidation status-dependent binding of A β to ApoE [121]. Early studies demonstrated that lipid-free ApoE forms complexes with $A\beta$; ApoE4 was found to be a faster acceptor than ApoE3 [123]. More recent work indicates that ApoE–lipid and ApoE–A β complex efficiency follows the order of ApoE2 > ApoE3 >> ApoE4 [124, 125]. The complex efficiency of ApoElipid and $A\beta$ is inversely correlated with AD risk, lending support to the idea that ApoE aids Aβ clearance. Some studies indicate that lipidpoor and lipid-free ApoE4 can stimulate LRP1 and ApoeR2, increase amyloid precursor protein (APP) endocytosis and processing, and increase A β levels [126, 127] although other investigations do not find isoform-specific differences in these effects [128, 129].

Binding of the A β peptide to ApoE involves residues 12-28 of the peptide and residues 244-272 of ApoE [87]. ApoE4 has been characterized as the most pathogenic isoform, promoting A β deposition and hindering its clearance. Some studies also indicate that ApoE4 increases Aß fibrilogenesis more than the other isoforms [130– 132], whereas other studies suggest that ApoE4 is the least effective isoform in inhibiting Aβ deposition. When ApoE is associated with lipid, its capacity to inhibit A β fibril formation is reduced [133, 134]. Different A β fragments appear to exert different influences on this process: $A\beta_{40}$ was shown to inhibit A β deposition and A β_{42} to augment it [135, 136]. ApoE4 appears to induce A β_{40} aggregation in a dose-dependent manner [84, 137–139].

Affectation of the cholinergic system appears to be ApoE isoform-dependent. AD patients who

are also *APOE-* ϵ 4 carriers have a more marked deficit in the ACh synthesizing machinery, as evidenced by their lower choline acetyltransferase (ChAT) levels in comparison with noncarriers [140–142]. In another study of postmortem AD brains, the *APOE-* ϵ 4 allele was found to be correlated in a dose-dependent manner with higher losses of ChAT activity in the neocortex than the other alleles. Furthermore, homozygous AD patients had more A β senile plaques in the temporal cortex compared to heterozygous patients with only one copy of the ϵ 4 allele. The former also displayed lower levels of M2 muscarinic receptor and nicotinic α 4 β 2-type receptor densities [143].

The PDAAP transgenic mouse model of AD [144] has shown that expression of the different ApoE isoforms is associated with differences in the pattern of A β deposition and formation of neurite plaques. The tendency to undergo pathological A β deposition followed the order: mouse ApoE > knock-out mouse ApoE > human ApoE4 > human ApoE3 > human ApoE4. The protection given by the human ApoE in mice is dose-dependent, heterozygous human ApoE3 mice having a higher A β deposition than homozygous animals [145–150].

A β clearance follows three main pathways: proteolytic degradation, cellular clearance and clearance via the BBB. ApoE is involved in each one of these pathways. ApoE-dependent stimulation of AB degradation and phagocytosis follows the order: ApoE2 > ApoE3 > ApoE4 [151, 152]. ApoE has the capacity to activate microglia and stimulate its migration (ApoE3 > ApoE4), thus increasing A β clearance [153, 154]. A β can be transported through the BBB by LRP1receptor binding; when bound to ApoE, Aβ clearance is slowed down, as ApoE inhibits the interaction with the receptor in the BBB (ApoE4 > ApoE3 > ApoE2) [75, 155]. ApoE4 also exacerbates A plaque formation and cerebral amyloid angiopathology [156, 157]. For a comprehensive review on A β clearance the reader is referred to Ref. [121].

ApoE as a Biomarker of AD. Genome-Wide Association Studies and Other Approaches

As we have discussed in the preceding sections, APOE can safely be considered the key gene in relation to the risk of developing LOAD and numerous studies have addressed the issue to validate its use as an AD biomarker. Measurements of ApoE in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) have produced inconsistent results, precluding the establishment of statistically significant values that differentiate cognitively normal elderly people from AD patients [158–163] or correlations between stages of AD progression ("clinical dementia rating") [164] and different ApoE isoforms [161, 163–165]. Attempts to measure ApoE from brain parenchyma have met with similarly discouraging results [166–172]. Although an isoform-dependent increase in ApoE was detected in brain and CSF of ApoE knock-in mice following the order E2 > E3 > E4 [126, 127, 173–175], these data need further validation.

A longitudinal study of CSF biomarkers in AD and MCI patients found that the ratio $A\beta_{42}/A\beta_{40}$ is modified by the presence of ApoE4, carriers presenting lower levels than noncarriers. All other biomarkers evaluated (T-tau, P-tau231, IP, T-tau/A $\beta_{42/40}$ ratio, P-tau/A $\beta_{42/40}$ ratios) did not show statistically significant differences [176].

Another study evaluating the influence of *APOE4* on AD biomarkers led to a different conclusion. A behavioral study [177] stated that *APOE4* carriers presented higher IP, P-Tau, and P-Tau/A β_{42} -40 ratios; the highest levels of these biomarkers were found in *APOE4* carriers with subjective memory decline (SMC, i.e., patients who perform correctly on standard memory tests but who complain of memory impairment). PET neuroimaging of cognitively normal, elderly *APOE4* homozygous individuals, that is, presymptomatic but at high risk of developing LOAD, has revealed decreased bilateral medial temporal fluorodeoxyglucose metabolism and increased lenticular amyloid (Florbetapir F¹⁸)

deposition, predominantly in the putamen, compared to noncarriers. The latter is also observed in preclinical carriers of autosomal dominant AD and in preclinical AD associated with Down syndrome [178]. It should be pointed out that the pattern of atrophy in EOAD and LOAD is similar [179].

In cognitively normal individuals, neuroimaging neurodegeneration biomarkers did not differ between β -amyloid+ and β -amyloid- carriers. In contrast, patients with MCI and SNAP with *ApoE2* exhibited markedly less temporal hypometabolism and temporal lobe atrophy [180]. The reader is referred to a recent review [181] relating *APOE* with metabolic cerebrovascular and metabolic dysfunction.

Epistasis is defined as the interaction phenomenon whereby the effect of one gene allele is dependent on the presence of other genes, termed "modifier genes." If a locus is studied without inclusion of other genes, its influence on disease might be missed [80]. The above loci can be used to generate a polygenic score prediction in AD [182]. The data obtained by this predictive exercise can help diagnose individuals at risk of developing AD or predict the possible development of AD in apparently healthy controls [183, 184] or MCI [185].

In addition to the well-known APOE gene, other genes are purported to influence the occurrence of LOAD. A GWAS study [186] revealed associations of the following risk genes with LOAD: ABCA7, BIN1, CD2AP, CLU, CR1, EPHA1, MS4A6A, PICALM, APOE4, SORL1, CASS4, FERMT2, HLA-DRB5-DRB1, INPP5D, MEF2C, CELF1, NME8, PTK2B, SLC2A4, and ZCWPW1. The vast majority of these genes can be grouped into one or more pathways involved in the physiopathology of AD (β -amyloid pathway, inflammatory immunity pathway, lipid transport and metabolism pathways, synaptic cell function and endocytic pathways, APP pathways, or tau pathway [80]). A recent GWAS in African North-American AD patients implicates novel AD risk genes, including F5, ABCA7, KANSL1, *CNN2*, and *TRIM35* [187]. The study highlights the value of undertaking sequence analyses of multiple ethnic populations for the discovery of new impactful AD risk gene variants. Apparently, individual variants in genetic loci exert a modest influence on LOAD risk, well below that of *APOE4*.

A recent study of polygenic predictors of agerelated decline in cognitive ability employed 14 polygenic scores for phenotypes that have been suggested as risk or protective factors for cognitive decline, respectively. The study found that only *APOE4* status provided a significant prediction of the rate of cognitive decline between ages 70 and 79, indicating that GWAS are not yet as developed as the *APOE4* predictor [188]. Attenuated cerebrovascular function during young adulthood appears to provide a mechanism whereby the *APOE4* risk allele confers susceptibility to AD [189].

The advent of techniques to produce experimentally induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) has opened the possibility of exploring the early stages and pathogenesis of disease and attempting to establish correlations with the different ApoE isoforms. For instance, the iPSC lines reproduce, in vitro, some of the characteristic signs of AD observed in patients with the V717I mutation present in APP in the London familial form of AD, such as increased A β and tau [190]. Similarly, isogenic ApoE4 cell lines were shown to have elevated levels of $A\beta$ and phosphorylated tau [191] accompanied by an increase in synaptogenesis and microglia and astrocyte dysfunction [191, 192]. More recently, iPSCs from a large cohort of sporadic AD patients were obtained [193] and the transcriptome of these cells suggests that upregulated genes are modulated by the transcriptional repressor REST (repressor element 1-silencing transcription factor or neuron-restrictive silencer factor [NRSF]), a key regulator of neuronal differentiation [194, 195]. Interestingly, this factor is also induced in human brain during normal aging but exhibits diminished levels in AD [196]. APOE4 expression in the iPSCs was found to be associated with lower nuclear translocation and chromatin binding of REST; the dysfunction of this factor may potentially contribute to AD pathogenesis and link altered transcription and altered differentiation with ApoE4 expression [193].

ApoE and Mimetic Peptides as Therapeutic Agents in AD

Given our still limited knowledge of AD etiopathogenesis, the putative targets for therapeutic intervention are still vague; it is highly likely that some of the multiple pathogenic mechanisms (see, e.g., [197] and possible therapeutic targets [198] will be discarded as we deepen our understanding of AD dysfunction. The long latency period during the presymptomatic stages of the LOAD form of the disease opens a considerable time window for attempting to reduce the risk burden associated with AD. A recent review analyzes AD risk factors and outlines six different mechanisms in AD pathogenesis and possible strategies to ameliorate such risks. The mechanisms fall into two categories: systemic factors (altered glucose metabolism, inflammation, and oxidative stress) and neurological mechanisms (trophic factors, amyloid burden, and calcium toxicity) [198].

Accumulating evidence of the roles played by the different ApoE isoforms in physiological and physiopathological mechanisms and of the risk and course of AD has given rise to several approaches aimed at reversing or inhibiting pathogenicity and/or improving beneficial properties. One such approach is the design and application of inhibitors of ApoE4 activity. A small molecule has been developed to inhibit the interactions between the N- and C-term domains of ApoE4, thus increasing its susceptibility to proteolytic degradation and converting ApoE4 into an ApoE3-like protein, devoid of the characteristic ApoE4 pathogenic properties [199]. The abnormal domain interaction that characterizes ApoE4, in which Arg 61 interacts ionically with Glu255, can be blocked using gene targeting approaches, for example, by replacing Arg61 with a threonine residue [95]. This leads to higher ApoE4 levels and lipid-binding capacity and decreases intracellular degradation of the protein.

ApoE4 lipidation has been reported to be deficient compared with the other isoforms [25]. Diminished lipidation affects the aggregation and clearance of $A\beta$. Exploiting this knowledge, a possible therapeutic approach is to increase ApoE4 lipidation. The retinoind X receptor agonist, Bexarotene, increases the activity of transporters involved in protein lipidation, such as the ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter 1 (ABCA1) and ABCG1 [200, 201]. ABC transporters are a large family of integral membrane protein transporters with high structural homology, consisting of six or 12 transmembrane helices and one or two ATP binding sites. These transporters are subdivided into seven subfamilies based on their structural kindredness [202]. ABCG1, which belongs to the ABCG subfamily, appears to play a major role in the export of cholesterol from cells to HDL through the "reverse cholesterol transport" mechanism, that is, the movement of cholesterol from peripheral tissues to the liver. It also appears to reverse poor ApoE4 lipidation and its associated physiopathology [201]. This therapeutic effect has also been reported to be accomplished with a docosahexaenoic acidenriched diet [203].

ApoE proteins interact with A β , prompting its deposition; ApoE4 exhibits the strongest effect in A β deposition and aggregation and diminishes its clearance [22]. Amino acid residues 12–28 in A β are the ones that interact with ApoE [122]. Overload by exogenous A β_{12-28} peptide reduces ApoE-A β interactions and their synergistic effects [204]. Increased ApoE lipidation also reduces this interaction [200].

Another therapeutic avenue is aimed at reducing the amount of ApoE4. ApoE4-specific monoclonal antibodies (mAb) have been studied in ApoE4-positive transgenic mice. When these mice were treated with anti-ApoE, antibody accumulation was observed in hippocampal regions, together with a reduction in hyperphosphorylation of brain tau and increased levels of ApoER2 compared with untreated control mice, together with a concomitant prevention of ApoE4-induced cognitive impairment [205]. Treatments with ApoE-mimetic surrogate proteins comprising the receptor-binding region of ApoE but not the lipid- or the A β -binding regions [206, 207] improve the outcomes of conditions such as traumatic brain injury and focal ischemia [208, 209] and reduce memory deficits and the occurrence of plaques and tangles [210]. These surrogate ApoE fragments have been proposed as therapeutic agents for sporadic AD [211].

The use of smaller peptide fragments has been suggested due to their likelihood of crossing the BBB. ApoE133–149 (COG133) has been assayed in a transgenic mouse model of AD, and shown to reduce inflammation and amyloid deposition while augmenting the enzymatic activity of protein phosphatase 2A [210]. Another ApoEmimetic peptide, Ac-hE18A-NH2, was shown to restore ApoE levels previously reduced by in vitro application of ox-PAPC or $A\beta_{42}$ [212]. The major lipoprotein of plasma HDL (accounting for ca. 70% of the total HDL protein), ApoA-I, has also been tested as a putative therapeutic agent [213]. The rationale behind this approach is analogous. The high-density lipoprotein mimetic peptide, 4F, has been experimentally tested in the APP transgenic mouse model where it improved cognition and reduced A^β burden upon oral application [214]. Intraperitoneal administration of the mitochondria-targeted tetra-peptide SS31 to the APP mouse model of AD over a period of 6 weeks reduced A β production and A β -induced mitochondrial and synaptic toxicities, from which the protective effect of SS31 was inferred [215]. More recently, another peptide, 4F, was assayed on human astroglial cells and was found to increase both the production, lipidation, and secretion of ApoE in an ABCA1-dependent manner, and also to restore the Aβ-induced inhibition of these processes [216]. ABCA1 is a lipid transporter operative in the endoplasmic reticulum-Golgi complex exocytic pathway. As recently discussed by Wang and Zhu [217], several issues remain to be elucidated in relation to these positive effects of 4F, particularly whether the effects are isoform-specific.

Another peptide therapeutic approach in an animal model showed that $A\beta_{12-28P}$ diminished

amyloid plaques in the APP/PS1 transgenic mouse model and vascular amyloid in TgSwDI mice with congophilic amyloid angiopathy [87]. Subsequent work from these authors showed that the peptide was also effective in tau-related pathology as tested on the triple transgenic AD mouse (3xTg, with PS1M146V, APPSwe, and tauP30IL transgenes) [218].

ApoE upregulation has also been suggested as a possible therapeutic approach in AD. Several candidates have been tested, such as bexarotene, a retinoid X receptor agonist, with apparently some promising outcomes reported [201, 219, 220], although results are still inconsistent [221–225] and some side effects have been reported [220, 226].

An additional therapeutic approach is based on gene transfer of $APOE\varepsilon 2$. The rationale behind this strategy is the notion that ApoE2 exerts a neuroprotective role in AD and the hypothesis that overexpressing this isoform might halt or mitigate ApoE4 pathogenicity. Preliminary studies in mouse have shown encouraging results [227].

Other therapeutic strategies currently being considered focus on the targets of ApoE. ApoE interacts with LRP1 and ApoeR2 proteins of the LDL receptor family in an isoform-dependent manner [120], ApoE4 being one of the most efficient effectors for modulating these receptor levels in the hippocampus [228]. The rationale here is that controlling the effect of ApoE4 on the expression of these receptors could counteract its negative effects.

ApoE4 has a distinctive protease pathway that generates neurotoxic fragments when expressed in neurons [199, 229]. Identifying and inhibiting the molecules involved in this pathway might constitute a potential therapeutic target.

The susceptibility of the BBB to damage is also affected by ApoE4 [230, 231]. The barrier proper and the neurovascular dysfunction generated by ApoE4 is an additional therapeutic target in AD.

Conclusions

Despite being the most common form of dementia worldwide, the etiology and pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease is far from being under-

stood. This review has attempted to provide an appraisal of our current knowledge on the influence of apolipoprotein E on AD. We have reviewed the biochemical and physiological aspects of the different Apo E isoforms, the protection, susceptibility, and high-risk factors associated with expression of the ApoE4 isoform, and the evolution and prognosis of AD. We have also discussed the current strategies involving the use of ApoE as a diagnostic tool, and the multiple approaches addressing this protein as a therapeutic target. The epidemiological data and projections of AD morbidity for the forthcoming decades make it of the utmost importance to find new paradigms to unravel other genetic susceptibility factors, possibly stemming from the use of genome-wide association studies and other multidimensional approaches, and find early diagnostic tools conservatively applicable at the prodromic stages of the disease.

References

- Stelzmann RA, Norman Schnitzlein H, Reed Murtagh F. An english translation of Alzheimer's 1907 paper, "über eine eigenartige erkankung der hirnrinde". Clin Anat. 1995;8(6):429–31.
- Prince M. World Alzheimer report 2016: improving healthcare for people living with dementia: coverage, quality and costs now and in the future. London: Alzheimer's Disease International; 2016.
- Evans DA, Funkenstein HH, Albert MS, Scherr PA, Cook NR, Chown MJ, Hebert LE, Hennekens CH, Taylor JO. Prevalence of Alzheimer's disease in a community population of older persons. Higher than previously reported. JAMA. 1989;262(18):2551–6.
- Qiu C, Kivipelto M, von Strauss E. Epidemiology of Alzheimer's disease: occurrence, determinants, and strategies toward intervention. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2009;11(2):111–28.
- Mathers C, Leonardi M. Global burden of dementia in the year 2000. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization (WHO); 2003.
- Xu J, Murphy SL, Kochanek KD, Bastian B, Arias E. Deaths: final data for 2016. Natl Vital Stat Rep. 2018;67(5):1–76.
- Xu J, Murphy SL, Kochanek KD, Bastian BA. Deaths: final data for 2013. Natl Vital Stat Rep. 2016;64(2):1–119.
- Hurd MD, Martorell P, Delavande A, Mullen KJ, Langa KM. Monetary costs of dementia in the United States. N Engl J Med. 2013;368(14):1326–34.

- Calderon-Garcidueñas AL, Duyckaerts C. Alzheimer disease. In: Kovacs GG, Alafuzoff I, editors. Handbook of clinical neurology, vol. 145. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization (WHO); 2018. p. 325–37.
- Fox NC, Schott JM. Imaging cerebral atrophy: normal ageing to Alzheimer's disease. Lancet (London, England). 2004;363(9406):392–4.
- Salmon E, Bernard Ir C, Hustinx R. Pitfalls and limitations of PET/CT in brain imaging. Semin Nucl Med. 2015;45(6):541–51.
- Baker-Nigh A, Vahedi S, Davis EG, Weintraub S, Bigio EH, Klein WL, Geula C. Neuronal amyloidbeta accumulation within cholinergic basal forebrain in ageing and Alzheimer's disease. Brain J Neurol. 2015;138(Pt 6):1722–37.
- Whitehouse PJ, Price DL, Struble RG, Clark AW, Coyle JT, Delon MR. Alzheimer's disease and senile dementia: loss of neurons in the basal forebrain. Science (New York, NY). 1982;215(4537):1237–9.
- Davies P, Maloney AJ. Selective loss of central cholinergic neurons in Alzheimer's disease. Lancet (London, England). 1976;2(8000):1403.
- 15. Seyfried NT, Dammer EB, Swarup V, Nandakumar D, Duong DM, Yin L, Deng Q, Nguyen T, Hales CM, Wingo T, Glass J, Gearing M, Thambisetty M, Troncoso JC, Geschwind DH, Lah JJ, Levey AI. A multi-network approach identifies protein-specific co-expression in asymptomatic and symptomatic Alzheimer's disease. Cell Syst. 2017;4(1):60–72.e4.
- 16. Johnson ECB, Dammer EB, Duong DM, Yin L, Thambisetty M, Troncoso JC, Lah JJ, Levey AI, Seyfried NT. Deep proteomic network analysis of Alzheimer's disease brain reveals alterations in RNA binding proteins and RNA splicing associated with disease. Mol Neurodegener. 2018;13(1):52.
- Reitz C, Mayeux R. Alzheimer disease: epidemiology, diagnostic criteria, risk factors and biomarkers. Biochem Pharmacol. 2014;88(4):640–51.
- Zhu XC, Tan L, Wang HF et al. Rate of early onset Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Ann Translational Med. 2015;3(3):38–43.
- Jarmolowicz AI, Chen HY, Panegyres PK. The pattern of inheritance in early onset dementia: Alzheimer's disease and frontotemporal dementia. Am J Alzheimer Dis Other Demen. 2015;30(3):299–306.
- 20. Selkoe DJ. Alzheimer's disease: genes, proteins, and therapy. Physiol Rev. 2001;81(2):741–66.
- 21. Dittrich J, Beutner F, Teren A, Thiery J, Burkhardt R, Scholz M, Ceglarek U. Plasma levels of apolipoproteins C-III, A-IV, and E are independently associated with stable atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. Atherosclerosis. 2019;281:17–24.
- Kim J, Basak JM, Holtzman DM. The role of apolipoprotein E in Alzheimer's disease. Neuron. 2009;63(3):287–303.
- Huynh TV, Davis AA, Ulrich JD, Holtzman DM. Apolipoprotein E and Alzheimer's disease: the influence of apolipoprotein E on amyloid-beta and other amyloidogenic proteins. J Lipid Res. 2017;58(5):824–36.

- 24. Kanekiyo T, Bu G. Chapter 6 apolipoprotein E and amyloid-β-independent mechanisms in Alzheimer's disease. In: Lazarov O, Tesco G, editors. Genes, environment and Alzheimer's disease. San Diego: Academic Press; 2016. p. 171–96.
- Michaelson DM. APOE epsilon4: the most prevalent yet understudied risk factor for Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement. 2014;10(6):861–8.
- 26. Schoonenboom NS, Mulder C, Van Kamp GJ, Mehta SP, Scheltens P, Blankenstein MA, Mehta PD. Amyloid β 38, 40, and 42 species in cerebrospinal fluid: more of the same? Ann Neurol. 2005;58(1):139–42.
- Mahley RW, Rall SC Jr. Apolipoprotein E: far more than a lipid transport protein. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet. 2000;1:507–37.
- 28. Fagerberg L, Hallstrom BM, Oksvold P, Kampf C, Djureinovic D, Odeberg J, Habuka M, Tahmasebpoor S, Danielsson A, Edlund K, Asplund A, Sjostedt E, Lundberg E, Szigyarto CA, Skogs M, Takanen JO, Berling H, Tegel H, Mulder J, Nilsson P, Schwenk JM, Lindskog C, Danielsson F, Mardinoglu A, Sivertsson A, von Feilitzen K, Forsberg M, Zwahlen M, Olsson I, Navani S, Huss M, Nielsen J, Ponten F, Uhlen M. Analysis of the human tissue-specific expression by genome-wide integration of transcriptomics and antibody-based proteomics. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2014;13(2):397–406.
- 29. Wang H, Eckel RH. What are lipoproteins doing in the brain? Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2014;25(1):8–14.
- Huang Y, Mahley RW. Apolipoprotein E: structure and function in lipid metabolism, neurobiology, and Alzheimer's diseases. Neurobiol Dis. 2014;72 Pt A:3–12.
- 31. Xu Q, Bernardo A, Walker D, Kanegawa T, Mahley RW, Huang Y. Profile and regulation of apolipoprotein E (ApoE) expression in the CNS in mice with targeting of green fluorescent protein gene to the ApoE locus. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci. 2006;26(19): 4985–94.
- Mahley RW, Huang Y. Apolipoprotein E: from atherosclerosis to Alzheimer's disease and beyond. Curr Opin Lipidol. 1999;10(3):207–17.
- Seripa D, D'Onofrio G, Panza F, Cascavilla L, Masullo C, Pilotto A. The genetics of the human APOE polymorphism. Rejuvenation Res. 2011;14(5):491–500.
- 34. Tao QQ, Chen Y, Liu ZJ, Sun YM, Yang P, Lu SJ, Xu M, Dong QY, Yang JJ, Wu ZY. Associations between apolipoprotein E genotypes and serum levels of glucose, cholesterol, and triglycerides in a cognitively normal aging Han Chinese population. Clin Interv Aging. 2014;9:1063–7.
- 35. Singh PP, Singh M, Mastana SS. APOE distribution in world populations with new data from India and the UK. Ann Hum Biol. 2006;33(3):279–308.
- Mahley RW, Weisgraber KH, Huang Y. Apolipoprotein E: structure determines function, from atherosclerosis to Alzheimer's disease to AIDS. J Lipid Res. 2009;50 Suppl(Suppl):S183–8.
- 37. Henry N, Krammer E-M, Stengel F, Adams Q, Van Liefferinge F, Hubin E, Chaves R, Efremov R,

Aebersold R, Vandenbussche G, Prévost M, Raussens V, Deroo S. Lipidated apolipoprotein E4 structure and its receptor binding mechanism determined by a combined cross-linking coupled to mass spectrometry and molecular dynamics approach. PLoS Comput Biol. 2018;14(6):e1006165.

- Weisgraber KH. Apolipoprotein E: structurefunction relationships. Adv Protein Chem. 1994;45:249–302.
- 39. Morrow JA, Arnold KS, Dong J, Balestra ME, Innerarity TL, Weisgraber KH. Effect of arginine 172 on the binding of apolipoprotein E to the low density lipoprotein receptor. J Biol Chem. 2000;275(4):2576–80.
- Peters-Libeu CA, Newhouse Y, Hatters DM, Weisgraber KH. Model of biologically active apolipoprotein E bound to dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine. J Biol Chem. 2006;281(2):1073–9.
- Hatters DM, Peters-Libeu CA, Weisgraber KH. Apolipoprotein E structure: insights into function. Trends Biochem Sci. 2006;31(8):445–54.
- Hatters DM, Voss JC, Budamagunta MS, Newhouse YN, Weisgraber KH. Insight on the molecular envelope of lipid-bound apolipoprotein E from electron paramagnetic resonance spectroscopy. J Mol Biol. 2009;386(1):261–71.
- 43. Acharya P, Segall ML, Zaiou M, Morrow J, Weisgraber KH, Phillips MC, Lund-Katz S, Snow J. Comparison of the stabilities and unfolding pathways of human apolipoprotein E isoforms by differential scanning calorimetry and circular dichroism. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2002;1584(1):9–19.
- 44. Yang L, Hernandez RV, Tran TN, Nirudodhi S, Beck WHJ, Maier CS, Narayanaswami V. Ordered opening of LDL receptor binding domain of human apolipoprotein E3 revealed by hydrogen/deuterium exchange mass spectrometry and fluorescence spectroscopy. Biochim Biophys Acta Proteins Proteomics. 2018;1866(11):1165–73.
- 45. Pitas RE, Boyles JK, Lee SH, Foss D, Mahley RW. Astrocytes synthesize apolipoprotein E and metabolize apolipoprotein E-containing lipoproteins. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1987;917(1):148–61.
- Zhang J, Liu Q. Cholesterol metabolism and homeostasis in the brain. Protein Cell. 2015;6(4):254–64.
- Lane-Donovan C, Herz J. ApoE, ApoE receptors, and the synapse in Alzheimer's disease. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2017;28(4):273–84.
- Weisgraber KH, Innerarity TL, Mahley RW. Abnormal lipoprotein receptor-binding activity of the human E apoprotein due to cysteine-arginine interchange at a single site. J Biol Chem. McGraw-Hill, New-York. 1982;257(5):2518–21.
- 49. Dong LM, Parkin S, Trakhanov SD, Rupp B, Simmons T, Arnold KS, Newhouse YM, Innerarity TL, Weisgraber KH. Novel mechanism for defective receptor binding of apolipoprotein E2 in type III hyperlipoproteinemia. Nat Struct Biol. 1996;3(8):718–22.
- Mahley RW. Type III hyperlipoproteinemia (dysbetalipoproteinemia). The metabolic and molecular bases of inherited disease. 2001, p. 2835–62.

- 51. Dong LM, Wilson C, Wardell MR, Simmons T, Mahley RW, Weisgraber KH, Agard DA. Human apolipoprotein E. Role of arginine 61 in mediating the lipoprotein preferences of the E3 and E4 isoforms. J Biol Chem. 1994;269(35):22358–65.
- Davidson WS, Silva RA. Apolipoprotein structural organization in high density lipoproteins: belts, bundles, hinges and hairpins. Curr Opin Lipidol. 2005;16(3):295–300.
- Fisher CA, Narayanaswami V, Ryan RO. The lipidassociated conformation of the low density lipoprotein receptor binding domain of human apolipoprotein E. J Biol Chem. 2000;275(43):33601–6.
- 54. Raussens V, Fisher CA, Goormaghtigh E, Ryan RO, Ruysschaert JM. The low density lipoprotein receptor active conformation of apolipoprotein E. Helix organization in n-terminal domain-phospholipid disc particles. J Biol Chem. 1998;273(40):25825–30.
- Fisher CA, Ryan RO. Lipid binding-induced conformational changes in the N-terminal domain of human apolipoprotein E. J Lipid Res. 1999;40(1):93–9.
- Mahley RW, Rall SC, J. Apolipoprotein E: far more than a lipid transport protein. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet. 2000;1(1):507–37.
- Mahley RW. Apolipoprotein E: cholesterol transport protein with expanding role in cell biology. Science (New York, NY). 1988;240(4852):622–30.
- Mahley RW, Innerarity TL, Rall SC Jr, Weisgraber KH. Plasma lipoproteins: apolipoprotein structure and function. J Lipid Res. 1984;25(12):1277–94.
- Brown MS, Goldstein JL. Lipoprotein receptors in the liver. Control signals for plasma cholesterol traffic. J Clin Invest. 1983;72(3):743–7.
- Mahley RW. Atherogenic hyperlipoproteinemia. The cellular and molecular biology of plasma lipoproteins altered by dietary fat and cholesterol. Med Clin North Am. 1982;66(2):375–402.
- Gordon V, Innerarity TL, Mahley RW. Formation of cholesterol- and apoprotein E-enriched high density lipoproteins in vitro. J Biol Chem. 1983;258(10):6202–12.
- Koo C, Innerarity TL, Mahley RW. Obligatory role of cholesterol and apolipoprotein E in the formation of large cholesterol-enriched and receptoractive high density lipoproteins. J Biol Chem. 1985;260(22):11934–43.
- Weisgraber KH, Mahley RW. Subfractionation of human high density lipoproteins by heparin-Sepharose affinity chromatography. J Lipid Res. 1980;21(3):316–25.
- 64. Barter PJ, Hopkins GJ, Calvert GD. Transfers and exchanges of esterified cholesterol between plasma lipoproteins. Biochem J. 1982;208(1):1–7.
- 65. Boyles JK, Zoellner CD, Anderson LJ, Kosik LM, Pitas RE, Weisgraber KH, Hui DY, Mahley RW, Gebicke-Haerter PJ, Ignatius MJ. A role for apolipoprotein E, apolipoprotein A-I, and low density lipoprotein receptors in cholesterol transport during regeneration and remyelination of the rat sciatic nerve. J Clin Invest. 1989;83(3):1015–31.

- 66. Weisgraber KH, Rall SC, Mahley RW, Milne RW, Marcel YL, Sparrow JT. Human apolipoprotein E. Determination of the heparin binding sites of apolipoprotein E3. J Biol Chem. 1986;261(5):2068–76.
- O'Neill C, Jordan P, Ireland G. Evidence for two distinct mechanisms of anchorage stimulation in freshly explanted and 3T3 Swiss mouse fibroblasts. Cell. 1986;44(3):489–96.
- Akeson R, Warren SL. PC12 adhesion and neurite formation on selected substrates are inhibited by some glycosaminoglycans and a fibronectin-derived tetrapeptide. Exp Cell Res. 1986;162(2):347–62.
- Ross R. The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis an update. N Engl J Med. 1986;314(8):488–500.
- Van den Elzen P, Garg S, Leon L, Brigl M, Leadbetter EA, Gumperz JE, Dascher CC, Cheng TY, Sacks FM, Illarionov PA, Besra GS, Kent SC, Moody DB, Brenner MB. Apolipoprotein-mediated pathways of lipid antigen presentation. Nature. 2005;437(7060):906–10.
- Guo L, LaDu MJ, Van Eldik LJ. A dual role for apolipoprotein e in neuroinflammation: antiand pro-inflammatory activity. J Mol Neurosci. 2004;23(3):205–12.
- 72. Morrow JA, Segall ML, Lund-Katz S, Phillips MC, Knapp M, Rupp B, Weisgraber KH. Differences in stability among the human apolipoprotein E isoforms determined by the amino-terminal domain. Biochemistry. 2000;39(38):11657–66.
- Morrow JA, Hatters DM, Lu B, Hochtl P, Oberg KA, Rupp B, Weisgraber KH. Apolipoprotein E4 forms a molten globule. A potential basis for its association with disease. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(52):50380–5.
- Dobson CM. The structural basis of protein folding and its links with human disease. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci. 2001;356(1406):133–45.
- Deane R, Sagare A, Hamm K, Parisi M, Lane S, Finn MB, Holtzman DM, Zlokovic BV. apoE isoform-specific disruption of amyloid beta peptide clearance from mouse brain. J Clin Invest. 2008;118(12):4002–13.
- 76. Lautner R, Insel PS, Skillback T, Olsson B, Landen M, Frisoni GB, Herukka SK, Hampel H, Wallin A, Minthon L, Hansson O, Blennow K, Mattsson N, Zetterberg H. Preclinical effects of APOE epsilon4 on cerebrospinal fluid Abeta42 concentrations. Alzheimers Res Ther. 2017;9(1):87.
- 77. Corder EH, Saunders AM, Risch NJ, Strittmatter WJ, Schmechel DE, Gaskell PC Jr, Rimmler JB, Locke PA, Conneally PM, Schmader KE, et al. Protective effect of apolipoprotein E type 2 allele for late onset Alzheimer disease. Nat Genet. 1994;7(2):180–4.
- Talbot C, Lendon C, Craddock N, Shears S, Morris J, Goate A. Protection against Alzheimer's disease with apoE epsilon 2. Lancet. 1994;343(8910):1432–3.
- 79. Lutz MW, Sundseth SS, Burns DK, Saunders AM, Hayden KM, Burke JR, Welsh-Bohmer KA, Roses AD. A genetics-based biomarker risk algorithm for predicting risk of Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement (New York, N Y). 2016;2(1):30–44.
- Raghavan N, Tosto G. Genetics of Alzheimer's disease: the importance of polygenic and epistatic components. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. 2017;17(10):78.

- 81. Saunders AM, Strittmatter WJ, Schmechel D, St. George-Hyslop PH, Pericak-Vance MA, Joo SH, Rosi BL, Gusella JF, Crapper-MacLachlan DR, Alberts MJ, Hulette C, Crain B, Goldgaber D, Roses AD. Association of apolipoprotein E allele 64 with late-onset familial and sporadic Alzheimer's disease. Neurology. 1993;43(8):1467–72.
- 82. Corneveaux JJ, Myers AJ, Allen AN, Pruzin JJ, Ramirez M, Engel A, Nalls MA, Chen K, Lee W, Chewning K, Villa SE, Meechoovet HB, Gerber JD, Frost D, Benson HL, O'Reilly S, Chibnik LB, Shulman JM, Singleton AB, Craig DW, Van Keuren-Jensen KR, Dunckley T, Bennett DA, De Jager PL, Heward C, Hardy J, Reiman EM, Huentelman MJ. Association of CR1, CLU and PICALM with Alzheimer's disease in a cohort of clinically characterized and neuropathologically verified individuals. Hum Mol Genet. 2010;19(16):3295–301.
- Rebeck GW, Reiter JS, Strickland DK, Hyman BT. Apolipoprotein E in sporadic Alzheimer's disease: allelic variation and receptor interactions. Neuron. 1993;11(4):575–80.
- 84. Corder E, Saunders A, Strittmatter W, Schmechel D, Gaskell P, Small G, Roses A, Haines J, Pericak-Vance M. Gene dose of apolipoprotein E type 4 allele and the risk of Alzheimer's disease in late onset families. Science (New York, NY). 1993;261(5123):921–3.
- 85. Lim YY, Kalinowski P, Pietrzak RH, Laws SM, Burnham SC, Ames D, Villemagne VL, Fowler CJ, Rainey-Smith SR, Martins RN, Rowe CC, Masters CL, Maruff PT. Association of beta-amyloid and apolipoprotein E epsilon4 with memory decline in preclinical Alzheimer disease. JAMA Neurol. 2018;75(4):488–94.
- 86. Farrer LA, Cupples LA, Haines JL, Hyman B, Kukull WA, Mayeux R, Myers RH, Pericak-Vance MA, Risch N, Van Duijn CM. Effects of age, sex, and ethnicity on the association between apolipoprotein E genotype and Alzheimer disease. A meta-analysis. APOE and Alzheimer Disease Meta Analysis Consortium. JAMA. 1997;278(16):1349–56.
- Liu C-C, Liu C-C, Kanekiyo T, Xu H, Bu G. Apolipoprotein E and Alzheimer disease: risk, mechanisms and therapy. Nat Rev Neurol. 2013;9(2):106–18.
- 88. Roses AD. Apolipoprotein E affects the rate of Alzheimer disease expression: β-amyloid burden is a secondary consequence dependent on APOE genotype and duration of disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 1994;53(5):429–37.
- Lohse P, Brewer HB, Meng MS, Skarlatos SI, LaRosa JC, Brewer HB Jr. Familial apolipoprotein E deficiency and type III hyperlipoproteinemia due to a premature stop codon in the apolipoprotein E gene. J Lipid Res. 1992;33(11):1583–90.
- 90. Mak AC, Pullinger CR, Tang LF, Wong JS, Deo RC, Schwarz JM, Gugliucci A, Movsesyan I, Ishida BY, Chu C, Poon A, Kim P, Stock EO, Schaefer EJ, Asztalos BF, Castellano JM, Wyss-Coray T, Duncan JL, Miller BL, Kane JP, Kwok PY, Malloy MJ. Effects of the absence of apolipoprotein e on lipoproteins,

neurocognitive function, and retinal function. JAMA Neurol. 2014;71(10):1228–36.

- 91. Tsuang D, Leverenz JB, Lopez OL, Hamilton RL, Bennett DA, Schneider JA, Buchman AS, Larson EB, Crane PK, Kaye JA, Kramer P, Woltjer R, Trojanowski JQ, Weintraub D, Chen-Plotkin AS, Irwin DJ, Rick J, Schellenberg GD, Watson GS, Kukull W, Nelson PT, Jicha GA, Neltner JH, Galasko D, Masliah E, Quinn JF, Chung KA, Yearout D, Mata IF, Wan JY, Edwards KL, Montine TJ, Zabetian CP. APOE epsilon4 increases risk for dementia in pure synucleinopathies. JAMA Neurol. 2013;70(2):223–8.
- Factor SA, Steenland NK, Higgins DS, Molho ES, Kay DM, Montimurro J, Rosen AR, Zabetian CP, Payami H. Disease-related and genetic correlates of psychotic symptoms in Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord. 2011;26(12):2190–5.
- 93. Koizumi K, Hattori Y, Ahn SJ, Buendia I, Ciacciarelli A, Uekawa K, Wang G, Hiller A, Zhao L, Voss HU, Paul SM, Schaffer C, Park L, Iadecola C. Apoe4 disrupts neurovascular regulation and undermines white matter integrity and cognitive function. Nat Commun. 2018;9(1):3816.
- 94. Marini S, Crawford K, Morotti A, Lee MJ, Pezzini A, Moomaw CJ, Flaherty ML, Montaner J, Roquer J, Jimenez-Conde J, Giralt-Steinhauer E, Elosua R, Cuadrado-Godia E, Soriano-Tarraga C, Slowik A, Jagiella JM, Pera J, Urbanik A, Pichler A, Hansen BM, McCauley JL, Tirschwell DL, Selim M, Brown DL, Silliman SL, Worrall BB, Meschia JF, Kidwell CS, Testai FD, Kittner SJ, Schmidt H, Enzinger C, Deary IJ, Rannikmae K, Samarasekera N, Salman RA-S, Sudlow CL, Klijn CJM, van Nieuwenhuizen KM, Fernandez-Cadenas I, Delgado P, Norrving B, Lindgren A, Goldstein JN, Viswanathan A, Greenberg SM, Falcone GJ, Biffi A, Langefeld CD, Woo D, Rosand J, Anderson CD, Consortium, f. t. I. S. G. Association of apolipoprotein E with intracerebral hemorrhage risk by race/ethnicity: a meta-analysis. JAMA Neurol. 2019;76(4):480-91.
- Mahley RW. Central nervous system lipoproteins: ApoE and regulation of cholesterol metabolism. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2016;36(7):1305–15.
- 96. Jordan BD, Relkin NR, Ravdin LD, Jacobs AR, Bennett A, Gandy S. Apolipoprotein E epsilon4 associated with chronic traumatic brain injury in boxing. JAMA. 1997;278(2):136–40.
- Nicoll JA, Roberts GW, Graham DI. Apolipoprotein E epsilon 4 allele is associated with deposition of amyloid beta-protein following head injury. Nat Med. 1995;1(2):135–7.
- Olivecrona Z, Koskinen LD. APOE epsilon4 positive patients suffering severe traumatic head injury are more prone to undergo decompressive hemicraniectomy. J Clin Neurosci. 2017;42:139–42.
- Smith C, Graham DI, Murray LS, Stewart J, Nicoll JA. Association of APOE e4 and cerebrovascular pathology in traumatic brain injury. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2006;77(3):363–6.

- 100. Mayeux R, Ottman R, Maestre G, Ngai C, Tang MX, Ginsberg H, Chun M, Tycko B, Shelanski M. Synergistic effects of traumatic head injury and apolipoprotein-epsilon 4 in patients with Alzheimer's disease. Neurology. 1995;45(3 Pt 1):555–7.
- 101. Deng H, Ordaz A, Upadhyayula PS, Gillis-Buck EM, Suen CG, Melhado CG, Mohammed N, Lam T, Yue JK. Apolipoprotein E epsilon 4 genotype, mild traumatic brain injury, and the development of chronic traumatic encephalopathy. Med Sci (Basel, Switzerland). 2018;6(3):78.
- 102. Eramudugolla R, Bielak AA, Bunce D, Easteal S, Cherbuin N, Anstey KJ. Long-term cognitive correlates of traumatic brain injury across adulthood and interactions with APOE genotype, sex, and age cohorts. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. 2014;20(4):444–54.
- 103. Padgett CR, Summers MJ, Skilbeck CE. Is APOE epsilon4 associated with poorer cognitive outcome following traumatic brain injury? A meta-analysis. Neuropsychology. 2016;30(7):775–90.
- 104. Padgett CR, Summers MJ, Vickers JC, McCormack GH, Skilbeck CE. Exploring the effect of the apolipoprotein E (APOE) gene on executive function, working memory, and processing speed during the early recovery period following traumatic brain injury. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol. 2016;38(5):551–60.
- 105. Sun JH, Tan L, Wang HF, Tan MS, Tan L, Li JQ, Xu W, Zhu XC, Jiang T, Yu JT. Genetics of vascular dementia: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Alzheimers Dis. 2015;46(3):611–29.
- 106. Neu SC, Pa J, Kukull W, Beekly D, Kuzma A, Gangadharan P, Wang LS, Romero K, Arneric SP, Redolfi A, Orlandi D, Frisoni GB, Au R, Devine S, Auerbach S, Espinosa A, Boada M, Ruiz A, Johnson SC, Koscik R, Wang JJ, Hsu WC, Chen YL, Toga AW. Apolipoprotein E genotype and sex risk factors for Alzheimer disease: a meta-analysis. JAMA Neurol. 2017;74(10):1178–89.
- 107. Mosca A, Sperduti S, Pop V, Ciavardelli D, Granzotto A, Punzi M, Stuppia L, Gatta V, Assogna F, Banaj N, Piras F, Piras F, Caltagirone C, Spalletta G, Sensi SL. Influence of APOE and RNF219 on behavioral and cognitive features of female patients affected by mild cognitive impairment or Alzheimer's disease. Front Aging Neurosci. 2018;10:92.
- 108. Lim YY, Williamson R, Laws SM, Villemagne VL, Bourgeat P, Fowler C, Rainey-Smith S, Salvado O, Martins RN, Rowe CC, Masters CL, Maruff P. Effect of APOE genotype on amyloid deposition, brain volume, and memory in cognitively normal older individuals. J Alzheimers Dis. 2017;58(4):1293–302.
- 109. Levy BR, Slade MD, Pietrzak RH, Ferrucci L. Positive age beliefs protect against dementia even among elders with high-risk gene. PLoS One. 2018;13(2):e0191004.
- 110. Vemuri P, Knopman DS, Lesnick TG, Przybelski SA, Mielke MM, Graff-Radford J, Murray ME, Roberts RO, Vassilaki M, Lowe VJ, Machulda MM, Jones DT, Petersen RC, Jack CR Jr. Evaluation of

amyloid protective factors and Alzheimer disease neurodegeneration protective factors in elderly individuals. JAMA Neurol. 2017;74(6):718–26.

- 111. Holstege H, Beker N, Dijkstra T, Pieterse K, Wemmenhove E, Schouten K, Thiessens L, Horsten D, Rechtuijt S, Sikkes S, van Poppel FWA, Meijers-Heijboer H, Hulsman M, Scheltens P. The 100-plus study of cognitively healthy centenarians: rationale, design and cohort description. Eur J Epidemiol. 2018;33(12):1229–49.
- 112. Guerreiro R, Bilgic B, Guven G, Brás J, Rohrer J, Lohmann E, Hanagasi H, Gurvit H, Emre M. Novel compound heterozygous mutation in TREM2 found in a Turkish frontotemporal dementia-like family. Neurobiol Aging. 2013;34(12):2890.e1–e28905.
- Colonna M, Wang Y. TREM2 variants: new keys to decipher Alzheimer disease pathogenesis. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2016;17(4):201–7.
- 114. Yeh FL, Wang Y, Tom I, Gonzalez LC, Sheng M. TREM2 binds to apolipoproteins, including APOE and CLU/APOJ, and thereby facilitates uptake of amyloid-beta by microglia. Neuron. 2016;91(2):328–40.
- 115. Atagi Y, Liu CC, Painter MM, Chen XF, Verbeeck C, Zheng H, Li X, Rademakers R, Kang SS, Xu H, Younkin S, Das P, Fryer JD, Bu G. Apolipoprotein E is a ligand for triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM2). J Biol Chem. 2015;290(43):26043–50.
- Klesney-Tait J, Turnbull IR, Colonna M. The TREM receptor family and signal integration. Nat Immunol. 2006;7(12):1266–73.
- 117. Jendresen C, Årskog V, Daws MR, Nilsson LNG. The Alzheimer's disease risk factors apolipoprotein E and TREM2 are linked in a receptor signaling pathway. J Neuroinflammation. 2017;14(1):59.
- 118. Krasemann S, Madore C, Cialic R, Baufeld C, Calcagno N, El Fatimy R, Beckers L, O'Loughlin E, Xu Y, Fanek Z, Greco DJ, Smith ST, Tweet G, Humulock Z, Zrzavy T, Conde-Sanroman P, Gacias M, Weng Z, Chen H, Tjon E, Mazaheri F, Hartmann K, Madi A, Ulrich JD, Glatzel M, Worthmann A, Heeren J, Budnik B, Lemere C, Ikezu T, Heppner FL, Litvak V, Holtzman DM, Lassmann H, Weiner HL, Ochando J, Haass C, Butovsky O. The TREM2-APOE pathway drives the transcriptional phenotype of dysfunctional microglia in neurodegenerative diseases. Immunity. 2017;47(3):566–81.e9.
- 119. Shi Y, Holtzman DM. Interplay between innate immunity and Alzheimer disease: APOE and TREM2 in the spotlight. Nat Rev Immunol. 2018;18(12):759–72.
- 120. Holtzman DM, Herz J, Bu G. Apolipoprotein E and apolipoprotein E receptors: normal biology and roles in Alzheimer disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2012;2(3):a006312.
- 121. Kanekiyo T, Xu H, Bu G. ApoE and Aβ in Alzheimer's disease: accidental encounters or partners? Neuron. 2014;81(4):740–54.

- 122. Strittmatter WJ, Weisgraber KH, Huang DY, Dong LM, Salvesen GS, Pericak-Vance M, Schmechel D, Saunders AM, Goldgaber D, Roses AD. Binding of human apolipoprotein E to synthetic amyloid beta peptide: isoform-specific effects and implications for late-onset Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 1993;90(17):8098–102.
- 123. Sanan DA, Weisgraber KH, Russell SJ, Mahley RW, Huang D, Saunders A, Schmechel D, Wisniewski T, Frangione B, Roses AD. Apolipoprotein E associates with beta amyloid peptide of Alzheimer's disease to form novel monofibrils. Isoform apoE4 associates more efficiently than apoE3. J Clin Invest. 1994;94(2):860–9.
- 124. Tokuda T, Calero M, Matsubara E, Vidal R, Kumar A, Permanne B, Zlokovic B, Smith JD, Ladu MJ, Rostagno A, Frangione B, Ghiso J. Lipidation of apolipoprotein E influences its isoform-specific interaction with Alzheimer's amyloid beta peptides. Biochem J. 2000;348(Pt 2):359–65.
- 125. Yang DS, Smith JD, Zhou Z, Gandy SE, Martins RN. Characterization of the binding of amyloid-beta peptide to cell culture-derived native apolipoprotein E2, E3, and E4 isoforms and to isoforms from human plasma. J Neurochem. 1997;68(2):721–5.
- 126. Zhu M, Wang X, Gao W, Shi C, Ge H, Shen H, Lin Z. Corpus callosum atrophy and cognitive decline in early Alzheimer's disease: longitudinal MRI study. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 2014;37(3–4):214–22.
- 127. Yang J, Pan P, Song W, Huang R, Li J, Chen K, Gong Q, Zhong J, Shi H, Shang H. Voxelwise meta-analysis of gray matter anomalies in Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment using anatomic likelihood estimation. J Neurol Sci. 2012;316(1–2):21–9.
- 128. Irizarry MC, Deng A, Lleo A, Berezovska O, Von Arnim CA, Martin-Rehrmann M, Manelli A, LaDu MJ, Hyman BT, Rebeck GW. Apolipoprotein E modulates gamma-secretase cleavage of the amyloid precursor protein. J Neurochem. 2004;90(5):1132–43.
- 129. Cedazo-Minguez A, Wiehager B, Winblad B, Huttinger M, Cowburn RF. Effects of apolipoprotein E (apoE) isoforms, beta-amyloid (Abeta) and apoE/Abeta complexes on protein kinase C-alpha (PKC-alpha) translocation and amyloid precursor protein (APP) processing in human SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells and fibroblasts. Neurochem Int. 2001;38(7):615–25.
- 130. Ma J, Yee A, Brewer HB Jr, Das S, Potter H. Amyloid-associated proteins alpha 1-antichymotrypsin and apolipoprotein E promote assembly of Alzheimer beta-protein into filaments. Nature. 1994;372(6501):92–4.
- 131. Castano EM, Prelli F, Wisniewski T, Golabek A, Kumar RA, Soto C, Frangione B. Fibrillogenesis in Alzheimer's disease of amyloid beta peptides and apolipoprotein E. Biochem J. 1995;306(Pt 2):599–604.
- Wisniewski T, Castano EM, Golabek A, Vogel T, Frangione B. Acceleration of Alzheimer's fibril for-

mation by apolipoprotein E in vitro. Am J Pathol. 1994;145(5):1030–5.

- Beffert U, Poirier J. ApoE associated with lipid has a reduced capacity to inhibit beta-amyloid fibril formation. Neuroreport. 1998;9(14):3321–3.
- 134. Evans KC, Berger EP, Cho CG, Weisgraber KH, Lansbury PT Jr. Apolipoprotein E is a kinetic but not a thermodynamic inhibitor of amyloid formation: implications for the pathogenesis and treatment of Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92(3):763–7.
- 135. McGowan E, Pickford F, Kim J, Onstead L, Eriksen J, Yu C, Skipper L, Murphy MP, Beard J, Das P, Jansen K, DeLucia M, Lin WL, Dolios G, Wang R, Eckman CB, Dickson DW, Hutton M, Hardy J, Golde T. Abeta42 is essential for parenchymal and vascular amyloid deposition in mice. Neuron. 2005;47(2):191–9.
- 136. Kim J, Onstead L, Randle S, Price R, Smithson L, Zwizinski C, Dickson DW, Golde T, McGowan E. Abeta40 inhibits amyloid deposition in vivo. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci. 2007;27(3):627–33.
- 137. Mann DM, Iwatsubo T, Pickering-Brown SM, Owen F, Saido TC, Perry RH. Preferential deposition of amyloid beta protein (Abeta) in the form Abeta40 in Alzheimer's disease is associated with a gene dosage effect of the apolipoprotein E E4 allele. Neurosci Lett. 1997;221(2–3):81–4.
- 138. Ishii K, Tamaoka A, Mizusawa H, Shoji S, Ohtake T, Fraser PE, Takahashi H, Tsuji S, Gearing M, Mizutani T, Yamada S, Kato M, St George-Hyslop PH, Mirra SS, Mori H. Abeta1-40 but not Abeta1-42 levels in cortex correlate with apolipoprotein E epsilon4 allele dosage in sporadic Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res. 1997;748(1–2):250–2.
- 139. Poirier J, Davignon J, Bouthillier D, Kogan S, Bertrand P, Gauthier S. Apolipoprotein E polymorphism and Alzheimer's disease. Lancet (London, England). 1993;342(8873):697–9.
- 140. Beffert U, Poirier J. Apolipoprotein E, plaques, tangles and cholinergic dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1996;777:166–74.
- 141. Soininen H, Kosunen O, Helisalmi S, Mannermaa A, Paljarvi L, Talasniemi S, Ryynanen M, Riekkinen P Sr. A severe loss of choline acetyltransferase in the frontal cortex of Alzheimer patients carrying apolipoprotein epsilon 4 allele. Neurosci Lett. 1995;187(2):79–82.
- 142. Poirier J, Delisle MC, Quirion R, Aubert I, Farlow M, Lahiri D, Hui S, Bertrand P, Nalbantoglu J, Gilfix BM, Gauthier S. Apolipoprotein E4 allele as a predictor of cholinergic deficits and treatment outcome in Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92(26):12260–4.
- 143. Lai MKP, Tsang SWY, Garcia-Alloza M, Minger SL, Nicoll JAR, Esiri MM, Wong PTH, Chen CPLH, Ramírez MJ, Francis PT. Selective effects of the APOE ε4 allele on presynaptic cholinergic markers in the neocortex of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Dis. 2006;22(3):555–61.

- 144. Games D, Adams D, Alessandrini R, Barbour R, Borthelette P, Blackwell C, Carr T, Clemens J, Donaldson T, Gillespie F, Guido T, Hagopian S, Johnson-Wood K, Khan K, Lee M, Leibowitz P, Lieberburg I, Little S, Masliah E, McConlogue L, Montoya-Zavala M, Mucke L, Paganini L, Penniman E, Power M, Schenk D, Seubert P, Snyder B, Soriano F, Tan H, Vitale J, Wadsworth S, Wolozin B, Zhao J. Alzheimer-type neuropathology in transgenic mice overexpressing V717F β-amyloid precursor protein. Nature. 1995;373(6514):523–7.
- 145. DeMattos RB. Apolipoprotein E dose-dependent modulation of beta-amyloid deposition in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J Mol Neurosci. 2004;23(3):255–62.
- 146. Bales KR, Liu F, Wu S, Lin S, Koger D, DeLong C, Hansen JC, Sullivan PM, Paul SM. Human APOE isoform-dependent effects on brain beta-amyloid levels in PDAPP transgenic mice. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci. 2009;29(21):6771–9.
- 147. Fagan AM, Watson M, Parsadanian M, Bales KR, Paul SM, Holtzman DM. Human and murine ApoE markedly alters A beta metabolism before and after plaque formation in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Dis. 2002;9(3):305–18.
- 148. Irizarry MC, Cheung BS, Rebeck GW, Paul SM, Bales KR, Hyman BT. Apolipoprotein E affects the amount, form, and anatomical distribution of amyloid beta-peptide deposition in homozygous APP(V717F) transgenic mice. Acta Neuropathol. 2000;100(5):451–8.
- 149. Holtzman DM, Bales KR, Tenkova T, Fagan AM, Parsadanian M, Sartorius LJ, Mackey B, Olney J, McKeel D, Wozniak D, Paul SM. Apolipoprotein E isoform-dependent amyloid deposition and neuritic degeneration in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(6): 2892–7.
- 150. Bales KR, Verina T, Dodel RC, Du Y, Altstiel L, Bender M, Hyslop P, Johnstone EM, Little SP, Cummins DJ, Piccardo P, Ghetti B, Paul SM. Lack of apolipoprotein E dramatically reduces amyloid beta-peptide deposition. Nat Genet. 1997;17(3):263–4.
- 151. Russo C, Angelini G, Dapino D, Piccini A, Piombo G, Schettini G, Chen S, Teller JK, Zaccheo D, Gambetti P, Tabaton M. Opposite roles of apolipoprotein E in normal brains and in Alzheimer's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95(26):15598–602.
- 152. Jiang Q, Lee CY, Mandrekar S, Wilkinson B, Cramer P, Zelcer N, Mann K, Lamb B, Willson TM, Collins JL, Richardson JC, Smith JD, Comery TA, Riddell D, Holtzman DM, Tontonoz P, Landreth GE. ApoE promotes the proteolytic degradation of Abeta. Neuron. 2008;58(5):681–93.
- 153. Cudaback E, Li X, Montine KS, Montine TJ, Keene CD. Apolipoprotein E isoform-dependent microglia migration. FASEB J. 2011;25(6):2082–91.
- 154. Zhu Y, Nwabuisi-Heath E, Dumanis SB, Tai LM, Yu C, Rebeck GW, LaDu MJ. APOE genotype alters

glial activation and loss of synaptic markers in mice. Glia. 2012;60(4):559–69.

- 155. Bell RD, Sagare AP, Friedman AE, Bedi GS, Holtzman DM, Deane R, Zlokovic BV. Transport pathways for clearance of human Alzheimer's amyloid beta-peptide and apolipoproteins E and J in the mouse central nervous system. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2007;27(5):909–18.
- 156. Richard E, Carrano A, Hoozemans JJ, van Horssen J, van Haastert ES, Eurelings LS, de Vries HE, Thal DR, Eikelenboom P, van Gool WA, Rozemuller AJ. Characteristics of dyshoric capillary cerebral amyloid angiopathy. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2010;69(11):1158–67.
- 157. Thal DR, Ghebremedhin E, Rub U, Yamaguchi H, Del Tredici K, Braak H. Two types of sporadic cerebral amyloid angiopathy. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2002;61(3):282–93.
- 158. Sihlbom C, Davidsson P, Sjogren M, Wahlund LO, Nilsson CL. Structural and quantitative comparison of cerebrospinal fluid glycoproteins in Alzheimer's disease patients and healthy individuals. Neurochem Res. 2008;33(7):1332–40.
- 159. Mulder M, Ravid R, Swaab DF, de Kloet ER, Haasdijk ED, Julk J, van der Boom JJ, Havekes LM. Reduced levels of cholesterol, phospholipids, and fatty acids in cerebrospinal fluid of Alzheimer disease patients are not related to apolipoprotein E4. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord. 1998;12(3):198–203.
- 160. Lindh M, Blomberg M, Jensen M, Basun H, Lannfelt L, Engvall B, Scharnagel H, Marz W, Wahlund LO, Cowburn RF. Cerebrospinal fluid apolipoprotein E (apoE) levels in Alzheimer's disease patients are increased at follow up and show a correlation with levels of tau protein. Neurosci Lett. 1997;229(2):85–8.
- 161. Lehtimaki T, Pirttila T, Mehta PD, Wisniewski HM, Frey H, Nikkari T. Apolipoprotein E (apoE) polymorphism and its influence on ApoE concentrations in the cerebrospinal fluid in Finnish patients with Alzheimer's disease. Hum Genet. 1995;95(1):39–42.
- 162. Lefranc D, Vermersch P, Dallongeville J, Daems-Monpeurt C, Petit H, Delacourte A. Relevance of the quantification of apolipoprotein E in the cerebrospinal fluid in Alzheimer's disease. Neurosci Lett. 1996;212(2):91–4.
- 163. Landen M, Hesse C, Fredman P, Regland B, Wallin A, Blennow K. Apolipoprotein E in cerebrospinal fluid from patients with Alzheimer's disease and other forms of dementia is reduced but without any correlation to the apoE4 isoform. Dementia (Basel, Switzerland). 1996;7(5):273–8.
- 164. Wahrle SE, Shah AR, Fagan AM, Smemo S, Kauwe JS, Grupe A, Hinrichs A, Mayo K, Jiang H, Thal LJ, Goate AM, Holtzman DM. Apolipoprotein E levels in cerebrospinal fluid and the effects of ABCA1 polymorphisms. Mol Neurodegener. 2007;2:7.
- 165. Bekris LM, Millard SP, Galloway NM, Vuletic S, Albers JJ, Li G, Galasko DR, DeCarli C, Farlow

MR, Clark CM, Quinn JF, Kaye JA, Schellenberg GD, Tsuang D, Peskind ER, Yu CE. Multiple SNPs within and surrounding the apolipoprotein E gene influence cerebrospinal fluid apolipoprotein E protein levels. J Alzheimers Dis. 2008;13(3): 255–66.

- 166. Pirttila T, Soininen H, Heinonen O, Lehtimaki T, Bogdanovic N, Paljarvi L, Kosunen O, Winblad B, Riekkinen P Sr, Wisniewski HM, Mehta PD. Apolipoprotein E (apoE) levels in brains from Alzheimer disease patients and controls. Brain Res. 1996;722(1–2):71–7.
- 167. Beffert U, Cohn JS, Petit-Turcotte C, Tremblay M, Aumont N, Ramassamy C, Davignon J, Poirier J. Apolipoprotein E and beta-amyloid levels in the hippocampus and frontal cortex of Alzheimer's disease subjects are disease-related and apolipoprotein E genotype dependent. Brain Res. 1999;843(1–2):87–94.
- 168. Bertrand P, Poirier J, Oda T, Finch CE, Pasinetti GM. Association of apolipoprotein E genotype with brain levels of apolipoprotein E and apolipoprotein J (clusterin) in Alzheimer disease. Brain Res Mol Brain Res. 1995;33(1):174–8.
- 169. Bray NJ, Jehu L, Moskvina V, Buxbaum JD, Dracheva S, Haroutunian V, Williams J, Buckland PR, Owen MJ, O'Donovan MC. Allelic expression of APOE in human brain: effects of epsilon status and promoter haplotypes. Hum Mol Genet. 2004;13(22):2885–92.
- 170. Growdon WB, Cheung BS, Hyman BT, Rebeck GW. Lack of allelic imbalance in APOE epsilon3/4 brain mRNA expression in Alzheimer's disease. Neurosci Lett. 1999;272(2):83–6.
- 171. Harr SD, Uint L, Hollister R, Hyman BT, Mendez AJ. Brain expression of apolipoproteins E, J, and A-I in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem. 1996;66(6):2429–35.
- 172. Lambert JC, Perez-Tur J, Dupire MJ, Galasko D, Mann D, Amouyel P, Hardy J, Delacourte A, Chartier-Harlin MC. Distortion of allelic expression of apolipoprotein E in Alzheimer's disease. Hum Mol Genet. 1997;6(12):2151–4.
- 173. Whitwell JL, Shiung MM, Przybelski SA, Weigand SD, Knopman DS, Boeve BF, Petersen RC, Jack CR Jr. MRI patterns of atrophy associated with progression to AD in amnestic mild cognitive impairment. Neurology. 2008;70(7):512–20.
- 174. Weiner MW, Veitch DP, Aisen PS, Beckett LA, Cairns NJ, Cedarbaum J, Green RC, Harvey D, Jack CR, Jagust W, Luthman J, Morris JC, Petersen RC, Saykin AJ, Shaw L, Shen L, Schwarz A, Toga AW, Trojanowski JQ. 2014 update of the Alzheimer's disease neuroimaging initiative: a review of papers published since its inception. Alzheimers Dement. 2015;11(6):e1–120.
- 175. Waragai M, Okamura N, Furukawa K, Tashiro M, Furumoto S, Funaki Y, Kato M, Iwata R, Yanai K, Kudo Y, Arai H. Comparison study of amyloid PET

and voxel-based morphometry analysis in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. J Neurol Sci. 2009;285(1–2):100–8.

- 176. Brys M, Pirraglia E, Rich K, Rolstad S, Mosconi L, Switalski R, Glodzik-Sobanskaa L, De Santi S, Zinkowski R, Mehta PD, Pratico D, Saint Louis LA, Wallin A, Blennow K, de Leon MJ. Prediction and longitudinal study of CSF biomarkers in mild cognitive impairment. Neurobiol Aging. 2009;30(5):682–90.
- 177. Mosconi L, De Santi S, Brys M, Tsui WH, Pirraglia E, Glodzik-Sobanska L, Rich KE, Switalski R, Mehta PD, Pratico D, Zinkowski R, Blennow K, de Leon MJ. Hypometabolism and altered cerebrospinal fluid markers in normal apolipoprotein E E4 carriers with subjective memory complaints. Biol Psychiatry. 2008;63(6):609–18.
- 178. Pardo JV, Lee JT. Atypical localization and dissociation between glucose uptake and amyloid deposition in cognitively normal APOE*E4 homozygotic elders compared with patients with late-onset Alzheimer's disease. eNeuro. 2018;5(1):1–12.
- 179. Eckerstrom C, Klasson N, Olsson E, Selnes P, Rolstad S, Wallin A. Similar pattern of atrophy in early- and late-onset Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement (Amsterdam, Netherlands). 2018;10:253–9.
- 180. Schreiber S, Schreiber F, Lockhart SN, Horng A, Bejanin A, Landau SM, Jagust WJ. Alzheimer disease signature neurodegeneration and APOE genotype in mild cognitive impairment with suspected non-Alzheimer disease pathophysiology. JAMA Neurol. 2017;74(6):650–9.
- 181. Brandon JA, Farmer BC, Williams HC, Johnson LA. APOE and Alzheimer's disease: neuroimaging of metabolic and cerebrovascular dysfunction. Front Aging Neurosci. 2018;10:180.
- 182. Escott-Price V, Shoai M, Pither R, Williams J, Hardy J. Polygenic score prediction captures nearly all common genetic risk for Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging. 2017;49:214.e7–e11.
- 183. Escott-Price V, Sims R, Bannister C, Harold D, Vronskaya M, Majounie E, Badarinarayan N, Morgan K, Passmore P, Holmes C, Powell J, Brayne C, Gill M, Mead S, Goate A, Cruchaga C, Lambert JC, van Duijn C, Maier W, Ramirez A, Holmans P, Jones L, Hardy J, Seshadri S, Schellenberg GD, Amouyel P, Williams J. Common polygenic variation enhances risk prediction for Alzheimer's disease. Brain J Neurol. 2015;138(Pt 12):3673–84.
- 184. Mormino EC, Sperling RA, Holmes AJ, Buckner RL, De Jager PL, Smoller JW, Sabuncu MR. Polygenic risk of Alzheimer disease is associated with early- and late-life processes. Neurology. 2016;87(5):481–8.
- 185. Rodríguez-Rodríguez E, Sánchez-Juan P, Vázquez-Higuera JL, Mateo I, Pozueta A, Berciano J, Cervantes S, Alcolea D, Martínez-Lage P, Clarimón J, Lleó A, Pastor P, Combarros O. Genetic risk score predicting accelerated progression from mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer's disease. J Neural Transm. 2013;120(5):807–12.

- 186. Lambert JC, Ibrahim-Verbaas CA, Harold D, Naj AC, Sims R, Bellenguez C, DeStafano AL, Bis JC, Beecham GW, Grenier-Boley B, Russo G, Thorton-Wells TA, Jones N, Smith AV, Chouraki V, Thomas C, Ikram MA, Zelenika D, Vardarajan BN, Kamatani Y, Lin CF, Gerrish A, Schmidt H, Kunkle B, Dunstan ML, Ruiz A, Bihoreau MT, Choi SH, Reitz C, Pasquier F, Cruchaga C, Craig D, Amin N, Berr C, Lopez OL, De Jager PL, Deramecourt V, Johnston JA, Evans D, Lovestone S, Letenneur L, Moron FJ, Rubinsztein DC, Eiriksdottir G, Sleegers K, Goate AM, Fievet N, Huentelman MW, Gill M, Brown K, Kamboh MI, Keller L, Barberger-Gateau P, McGuiness B, Larson EB, Green R, Myers AJ, Dufouil C, Todd S, Wallon D, Love S, Rogaeva E, Gallacher J, St George-Hyslop P, Clarimon J, Lleo A, Bayer A, Tsuang DW, Yu L, Tsolaki M, Bossu P, Spalletta G, Proitsi P, Collinge J, Sorbi S, Sanchez-Garcia F, Fox NC, Hardy J, Deniz Naranjo MC, Bosco P, Clarke R, Brayne C, Galimberti D, Mancuso M, Matthews F, Moebus S, Mecocci P, Del Zompo M, Maier W, Hampel H, Pilotto A, Bullido M, Panza F, Caffarra P, Nacmias B, Gilbert JR, Mayhaus M, Lannefelt L, Hakonarson H, Pichler S, Carrasquillo MM, Ingelsson M, Beekly D, Alvarez V, Zou F, Valladares O, Younkin SG, Coto E, Hamilton-Nelson KL, Gu W, Razquin C, Pastor P, Mateo I, Owen MJ, Faber KM, Jonsson PV, Combarros O, O'Donovan MC, Cantwell LB, Soininen H, Blacker D, Mead S, Mosley TH Jr, Bennett DA, Harris TB, Fratiglioni L, Holmes C, de Bruijn RF, Passmore P, Montine TJ, Bettens K, Rotter JI, Brice A, Morgan K, Foroud TM, Kukull WA, Hannequin D, Powell JF, Nalls MA, Ritchie K, Lunetta KL, Kauwe JS, Boerwinkle E, Riemenschneider M, Boada M, Hiltuenen M, Martin ER, Schmidt R, Rujescu D, Wang LS, Dartigues JF, Mayeux R, Tzourio C, Hofman A, Nothen MM, Graff C, Psaty BM, Jones L, Haines JL, Holmans PA, Lathrop M, Pericak-Vance MA, Launer LJ, Farrer LA, van Duijn CM, Van Broeckhoven C, Moskvina V, Seshadri S, Williams J, Schellenberg GD, Amouyel P. Meta-analysis of 74,046 individuals identifies 11 new susceptibility loci for Alzheimer's disease. Nat Genet. 2013;45(12):1452-8.
- 187. Logue MW, Lancour D, Farrell J, Simkina I, Fallin MD, Lunetta KL, Farrer LA. Targeted sequencing of Alzheimer disease genes in African Americans implicates novel risk variants. Front Neurosci. 2018;12:592.
- 188. Ritchie SJ, Hill WD, Marioni RE, Davies G, Hagenaars SP, Harris SE, Cox SR, Taylor AM, Corley J, Pattie A, Redmond P, Starr JM, Deary IJ. Polygenic predictors of age-related decline in cognitive ability. Mol Psychiatry. 2020;25(10):2584–98.
- 189. Chandler HL, Wise RG, Murphy K, Tansey KE, Linden DEJ, Lancaster TM. Polygenic impact of common genetic risk loci for Alzheimer's disease on cerebral blood flow in young individuals. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):467.
- 190. Muratore CR, Rice HC, Srikanth P, Callahan DG, Shin T, Benjamin LN, Walsh DM, Selkoe DJ, Young-Pearse TL. The familial Alzheimer's dis-

ease APPV717I mutation alters APP processing and Tau expression in iPSC-derived neurons. Hum Mol Genet. 2014;23(13):3523–36.

- 191. Lin YT, Seo J, Gao F, Feldman HM, Wen HL, Penney J, Cam HP, Gjoneska E, Raja WK, Cheng J, Rueda R, Kritskiy O, Abdurrob F, Peng Z, Milo B, Yu CJ, Elmsaouri S, Dey D, Ko T, Yankner BA, Tsai LH. APOE4 causes widespread molecular and cellular alterations associated with Alzheimer's disease phenotypes in human iPSC-derived brain cell types. Neuron. 2018;98(6):1294.
- 192. Knoferle J, Yoon SY, Walker D, Leung L, Gillespie AK, Tong LM, Bien-Ly N, Huang Y. Apolipoprotein E4 produced in GABAergic interneurons causes learning and memory deficits in mice. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci. 2014;34(42):14069–78.
- 193. Meyer K, Feldman HM, Lu T, Drake D, Lim ET, Ling K-H, Bishop NA, Pan Y, Seo J, Lin Y-T, Su SC, Church GM, Tsai L-H, Yankner BA. REST and neural gene network dysregulation in iPSC models of Alzheimer's disease. Cell Rep. 2019;26(5):1112–27.e9.
- 194. Schoenherr CJ, Anderson DJ. The neuron-restrictive silencer factor (NRSF): a coordinate repressor of multiple neuron-specific genes. Science (New York, NY). 1995;267(5202):1360–3.
- 195. Chong JA, Tapia-Ramirez J, Kim S, Toledo-Aral JJ, Zheng Y, Boutros MC, Altshuller YM, Frohman MA, Kraner SD, Mandel G. REST: a mammalian silencer protein that restricts sodium channel gene expression to neurons. Cell. 1995;80(6):949–57.
- 196. Lu T, Aron L, Zullo J, Pan Y, Kim H, Chen Y, Yang TH, Kim HM, Drake D, Liu XS, Bennett DA, Colaiacovo MP, Yankner BA. REST and stress resistance in ageing and Alzheimer's disease. Nature. 2014;507(7493):448–54.
- 197. Kandimalla R, Reddy PH. Therapeutics of neurotransmitters in Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis. 2017;57(4):1049–69.
- 198. Schelke MW, Attia P, Palenchar DJ, Kaplan B, Mureb M, Ganzer CA, Scheyer O, Rahman A, Kachko R, Krikorian R, Mosconi L, Isaacson RS. Mechanisms of risk reduction in the clinical practice of Alzheimer's disease prevention. Front Aging Neurosci. 2018;10:96.
- 199. Mahley RW, Huang Y. Small-molecule structure correctors target abnormal protein structure and function: structure corrector rescue of apolipoprotein E4–associated neuropathology. J Med Chem. 2012;55(21):8997–9008.
- Vance JE, Hayashi H. Formation and function of apolipoprotein E-containing lipoproteins in the nervous system. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids. 2010;1801(8):806–18.
- 201. Boehm-Cagan A, Michaelson DM. Reversal of apoE4-driven brain pathology and behavioral deficits by bexarotene. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci. 2014;34(21):7293–301.
- 202. Kerr ID, Haider AJ, Gelissen IC. The ABCG family of membrane-associated transporters: you don't have to be big to be mighty. Br J Pharmacol. 2011;164(7):1767–79.

- 203. Kariv-Inbal Z, Yacobson S, Berkecz R, Peter M, Janaky T, Lutjohann D, Broersen LM, Hartmann T, Michaelson DM. The isoform-specific pathological effects of apoE4 in vivo are prevented by a fish oil (DHA) diet and are modified by cholesterol. J Alzheimers Dis. 2012;28(3):667–83.
- 204. Sadowski MJ, Pankiewicz J, Scholtzova H, Mehta PD, Prelli F, Quartermain D, Wisniewski T. Blocking the apolipoprotein E/amyloid-beta interaction as a potential therapeutic approach for Alzheimer's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006;103(49):18787–92.
- 205. Luz I, Liraz O, Michaelson DM. An anti-apoE4 specific monoclonal antibody counteracts the pathological effects of apoE4 in vivo. Curr Alzheimer Res. 2016;13(8):918–29.
- 206. Minami SS, Cordova A, Cirrito JR, Tesoriero JA, Babus LW, Davis GC, Dakshanamurthy S, Turner RS, Pak D, Rebeck GW, Paige M, Hoe HS. ApoE mimetic peptide decreases Abeta production in vitro and in vivo. Mol Neurodegener. 2010;5:16.
- 207. Ghosal K, Stathopoulos A, Thomas D, Phenis D, Vitek MP, Pimplikar SW. The apolipoprotein-Emimetic COG112 protects amyloid precursor protein intracellular domain-overexpressing animals from Alzheimer's disease-like pathological features. Neurodegener Dis. 2013;12(1):51–8.
- 208. Laskowitz DT, Song P, Wang H, Mace B, Sullivan PM, Vitek MP, Dawson HN. Traumatic brain injury exacerbates neurodegenerative pathology: improvement with an apolipoprotein E-based therapeutic. J Neurotrauma. 2010;27(11):1983–95.
- 209. Wang H, Anderson LG, Lascola CD, James ML, Venkatraman TN, Bennett ER, Acheson SK, Vitek MP, Laskowitz DT. ApolipoproteinE mimetic peptides improve outcome after focal ischemia. Exp Neurol. 2013;241:67–74.
- 210. Vitek MP, Christensen DJ, Wilcock D, Davis J, Van Nostrand WE, Li FQ, Colton CA. APOEmimetic peptides reduce behavioral deficits, plaques and tangles in Alzheimer's disease transgenics. Neurodegener Dis. 2012;10(1–4):122–6.
- 211. Poirier J. Apolipoprotein E represents a potent genebased therapeutic target for the treatment of sporadic Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement. 2008;4(1 Suppl 1):S91–7.
- 212. Handattu SP, Monroe CE, Nayyar G, Palgunachari MN, Kadish I, van Groen T, Anantharamaiah GM, Garber DW. In vivo and in vitro effects of an apolipoprotein e mimetic peptide on amyloid-β pathology. J Alzheimers Dis. 2013;36(2):335–47.
- 213. Segrest JP, Jones MK, De Loof H, Brouillette CG, Venkatachalapathi YV, Anantharamaiah GM. The amphipathic helix in the exchangeable apolipoproteins: a review of secondary structure and function. J Lipid Res. 1992;33(2):141–66.
- 214. Handattu SP, Garber DW, Monroe CE, van Groen T, Kadish I, Nayyar G, Cao D, Palgunachari MN, Li L, Anantharamaiah GM. Oral apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide improves cognitive function and reduces amyloid burden in a mouse

model of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Dis. 2009;34(3):525–34.

- 215. Reddy PH, Manczak M, Kandimalla R. Mitochondriatargeted small molecule SS31: a potential candidate for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. Hum Mol Genet. 2017;26(8):1483–96.
- 216. Chernick D, Ortiz-Valle S, Jeong A, Swaminathan SK, Kandimalla KK, Rebeck GW, Li L. Highdensity lipoprotein mimetic peptide 4F mitigates amyloid-β-induced inhibition of apolipoprotein E secretion and lipidation in primary astrocytes and microglia. J Neurochem. 2018;147(5):647–62.
- 217. Wang W, Zhu X. HDL mimetic peptides affect apolipoprotein E metabolism: equal supplement or functional enhancer? J Neurochem. 2018;147(5): 580–3.
- 218. Liu S, Breitbart A, Sun Y, Mehta PD, Boutajangout A, Scholtzova H, Wisniewski T. Blocking the apolipoprotein E/amyloid β interaction in triple transgenic mice ameliorates Alzheimer's disease related amyloid β and tau pathology. J Neurochem. 2014;128(4):577–91.
- 219. Cramer PE, Cirrito JR, Wesson DW, Lee CY, Karlo JC, Zinn AE, Casali BT, Restivo JL, Goebel WD, James MJ, Brunden KR, Wilson DA, Landreth GE. ApoE-directed therapeutics rapidly clear beta-amyloid and reverse deficits in AD mouse models. Science (New York, NY). 2012;335(6075):1503–6.
- 220. Tachibana M, Shinohara M, Yamazaki Y, Liu CC, Rogers J, Bu G, Kanekiyo T. Rescuing effects of RXR agonist bexarotene on aging-related synapse loss depend on neuronal LRP1. Exp Neurol. 2016;277:1–9.
- 221. Fitz NF, Cronican AA, Lefterov I, Koldamova R. Comment on "ApoE-directed therapeutics rapidly clear beta-amyloid and reverse deficits in AD mouse models". Science (New York, NY). 2013;340(6135):924–c.
- 222. Veeraraghavalu K, Zhang C, Miller S, Hefendehl JK, Rajapaksha TW, Ulrich J, Jucker M, Holtzman DM, Tanzi RE, Vassar R, Sisodia SS. Comment on "ApoE-directed therapeutics rapidly clear beta-amyloid and reverse deficits in AD mouse models". Science (New York, NY). 2013;340(6135):924–f.
- 223. Tesseur I, Lo AC, Roberfroid A, Dietvorst S, Van Broeck B, Borgers M, Gijsen H, Moechars D,

Mercken M, Kemp J, D'Hooge R, De Strooper B. Comment on "ApoE-directed therapeutics rapidly clear beta-amyloid and reverse deficits in AD mouse models". Science (New York, NY). 2013;340(6135):924–e.

- 224. LaClair KD, Manaye KF, Lee DL, Allard JS, Savonenko AV, Troncoso JC, Wong PC. Treatment with bexarotene, a compound that increases apolipoprotein-E, provides no cognitive benefit in mutant APP/PS1 mice. Mol Neurodegener. 2013;8:18.
- 225. Price AR, Xu G, Siemienski ZB, Smithson LA, Borchelt DR, Golde TE, Felsenstein KM. Comment on "ApoE-directed therapeutics rapidly clear betaamyloid and reverse deficits in AD mouse models". Science (New York, NY). 2013;340(6135):924–d.
- 226. Tai LM, Koster KP, Luo J, Lee SH, Wang YT, Collins NC, Ben Aissa M, Thatcher GR, LaDu MJ. Amyloid-beta pathology and APOE genotype modulate retinoid X receptor agonist activity in vivo. J Biol Chem. 2014;289(44):30538–55.
- 227. Hudry E, Dashkoff J, Roe AD, Takeda S, Koffie RM, Hashimoto T, Scheel M, Spires-Jones T, Arbel-Ornath M, Betensky R, Davidson BL, Hyman BT. Gene transfer of human Apoe isoforms results in differential modulation of amyloid deposition and neurotoxicity in mouse brain. Sci Transl Med. 2013;5(212):212ra161.
- 228. Gilat-Frenkel M, Boehm-Cagan A, Liraz O, Xian X, Herz J, Michaelson DM. Involvement of the Apoer2 and Lrp1 receptors in mediating the pathological effects of ApoE4 in vivo. Curr Alzheimer Res. 2014;11(6):549–57.
- 229. Mahley RW, Huang Y. Apolipoprotein E sets the stage: response to injury triggers neuropathology. Neuron. 2012;76(5):871–85.
- 230. Nishitsuji K, Hosono T, Nakamura T, Bu G, Michikawa M. Apolipoprotein E regulates the integrity of tight junctions in an isoform-dependent manner in an in vitro blood-brain barrier model. J Biol Chem. 2011;286(20):17536–42.
- 231. Bell RD, Winkler EA, Singh I, Sagare AP, Deane R, Wu Z, Holtzman DM, Betsholtz C, Armulik A, Sallstrom J, Berk BC, Zlokovic BV. Apolipoprotein E controls cerebrovascular integrity via cyclophilin A. Nature. 2012;485:512.


Fearing Parkinson's Disease: Relationships Between Cognition and Emotion

30

Macarena Lorena Herrera, Leandro Gabriel Champarini, Andrea Otamendi, and Claudia Beatriz Hereñú

Introduction

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a neurodegenerative disorder that results from a progressive dopaminergic neuronal loss in the nigrostriatal pathway. It is considered a multifactorial condition due to the multiplicity of symptoms experienced, that can be grouped according to which circuit malfunction is involved [1]. The types of symptoms present and their severity depend significantly on the length of time since onset, the speed of functional decline and treatment received [2]. While this condition is known for its characteristic motor deficits, patients also have a wide variety of non-motor symptoms (NMS), such as impaired learning and memory, mood changes and gastrointestinal problems, among others [3].

M. L. Herrera · A. Otamendi · C. B. Hereñú (⊠) Facultad de Ciencias Químicas, Departamento de Farmacología, Instituto de Farmacología Experimental de Córdoba (IFEC-CONICET), Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Córdoba, Argentina e-mail: cherenu@fcq.unc.edu.ar

L. G. Champarini

Facultad de Ciencias Químicas, Departamento de Farmacología, Instituto de Farmacología Experimental de Córdoba (IFEC-CONICET), Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Córdoba, Argentina

Facultad de Ciencias Exactas, Físicas y Naturales, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Córdoba, Argentina

Cognitive dysfunctions and emotional disturbances are one of the most severe non-motor symptoms of PD, leading to an increasing caregiver burden [4]. The focus on cognitiveemotional impairment in neurodegenerative diseases, including PD, is shifting from end to earlier stages and could be stronger determinants of Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQoL) [5, 6]. The molecular mechanism responsible for degenerative processes in the nigrostriatal dopaminergic system remains unknown. A variety of research approaches linked genes associated with PD, participation of a reactive gliosis leading to a neuroinflammatory state, mitochondrial dysfunction, protein degradation, aggregation of neurotoxic oligomers and oxidative stress among others [7]. Emerging data suggest that dopamine release in mesolimbic areas could contribute to synaptic plasticity required for updating learning and memory [8]. Any failure in the connection of these circuits might be implicated in the genesis and progression of dementia, as well as other neuropsychiatric aspects of PD [9]. In this chapter, we will update the latest findings about neurocircuitries, regulation networks and possible therapeutic approaches in different experimental models of parkinsonism about non-motor symptoms of PD.

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_30

Stages of PD-Related Pathology

PD is a multisystem and autonomic system disorder during the progression of which subcortical nuclei, cortical areas, spinal cord structures and portions of the peripheral and enteric nervous system become involved [10]. Almost 100 years have passed since Parkinson's first description when Fredrick Lewy described the presence of some unusual proteins in the brain that make some people act and think differently. His discovery became known as Lewy bodies (LBs), as published in the Handbook of Neurology in 1912. LBs became a defining pathological characteristic of Parkinson's disease and dementia with Lewy bodies (DLB) [11, 12]. A typical LB is an eosinophilic cytoplasmic inclusion of a dense core surrounded by a halo of 10-nm-wide radiating fibrils, and may vary among brain areas. It is composed of a primary structural component which is the protein alphasynuclein associated with other proteins, such as ubiquitin, neurofilament protein and alpha B crystalline. Also observed is the presence of Tau proteins as well as neurofibrillary tangles, particularly in the amygdala [13]. Otherwise, Lewy neurites (LNs) are abnormal neurites containing granular material and abnormal α-synuclein filaments similar to those found in Lewy bodies and because of this they constitute a key feature of α -synucleinopathies and AD [14].

Thus, systematic studies of PD patients made possible setting up of a classification of six neuropathological stages (Table 30.1). Each of these stages is marked by a continuum development of distinctive bodies' inclusion and, in part, branching Lewy neurites (LNs) within cellular processes, granular aggregations and Lewy bodies (LBs) in the soma of involved nerve cells [15].

Besides several of these non-specific symptoms, the combination of specific vulnerable neuronal types and susceptible brain regions to inclusion bodies is specific to PD and makes its differential diagnosis and association from other possible neurodegenerative diseases [15, 16]. It is also true that the complete absence of detectables LNs/LBs in neuroimaging, could lead to misdiagnosis. There are several physiological changes **Table 30.1** Description of Braak's six stages of progression of Parkinson's disease, with specific characteristics of each stage. Green highlights the brain areas correlated with non-motor symptoms, red with motor symptoms and blue with cognitive impairments

	Characteristics
Stage 1	LBs and neurites in the dorsal IX/X motor nuclei and/or intermediate reticular zone. Involvement of myenteric plexus
Stage 2	Medulla oblongata and pontine tegmentum affected. Pathology of stage 1 plus lesions in the caudal raphe nuclei, gigantocellular reticular nucleus, coeruleus–subsceruleus complex and the olfactory bulb
Stage 3	Pathology of stage 2 plus midbrain lesions, specifically in SNpc
Stage 4	Basal prosencephalon and mesocortex pathology (cortical involvement confined to the transentorhinal region and allocortex, and CA2 plexus). Lesions in the midbrain, pons and medulla oblongata
Stage 5	Extension to sensory association areas of the neocortex and prefrontal neocortex
Stage 6	Pathology of the previous five stages plus lesions in first-order sensory association areas of the neocortex and pre-motor areas. Mild changes in primary sensory areas and the primary motor cortex

that accompany both, the neurodegenerative process and the natural process of aging. such as protein aggregations. In PD, alpha synuclein aggregation is the hallmark of early presymptomatic disease-related PD stages [17, 18].

Non-motor Features in PD

Non-motor symptoms (NMS) are detrimental to health-related quality of life (HRQoL) of Parkinson's disease patients [19]. Therefore, it would appear that the first contemporary account on NMS appeared with the introduction of levodopa (LD) as a pharmacological strategy to compensate for or replace dopamine deficiency. Nevertheless, this disease is associated with other neurotransmitters deficits and, as a consequence LD could in fact improve several NMS. After several studies over time, NMS were taken into account and their impact was measured [20]; such is the case that, nowadays, one of the major therapeutic challenges for PD is the development of effective symptomatic interventions for NMS both in the motor stages and the pre-motor stages [21].

NMS can be grouped according to the general traits of specific endophenotypes, brain areas and neural circuits involved. Among physiological disturbances, several studies reported dysautonomia - changes in activity of the autonomic nervous system - as a frequent occurrence in PD [22]. Probably the most common forms of dysautonomia are altered vascular/circulatory, digestive and urinary performances and are considered as secondary causes [23]. Not least, olfactory dysfunction is among the earliest NMS of PD, present in approximately 90% of early-stage PD cases and can precede the onset of motor symptoms by years [24]. PD patients also experience sleep disorders: sleep fragmentation, rapid eye movement behaviour disorder and complex paroxysmal nocturnal motor behaviour [23, 25, 26]. Other neuropsychiatric alterations experienced by subjects with PD with a significant statistic importance are visual and auditory hallucinations [27], agitated confusion [28], vivid [29] dreaming, delirium and delusions [30, 31]. All these alterations may precede parkinsonian symptoms and they usually increase in intensity with disease progression.

On the other hand, affective disturbances like anhedonia - lowered ability to experience pleasure - could be explained by dysfunction of dopamine reward pathway in the mesolimbic area, secondary to the neurodegenerative process observed in PD [32]. In correlation with anhedonia, 30-40% of PD subjects have significant depression [33] being one of the most frequently reported neuropsychiatric disturbances in PD. It is also true that depressive disturbances are underrecognized and frequently undertreated [34] and could lead to earlier initiation of dopaminergic therapy, greater functional disability, faster physical and cognitive deterioration, increased mortality, poorer quality of life and increased caregiver distress [34]. Furthermore, the observable phenomenon of apathy, increasingly recognized as a syndrome with distinct targets for pharmacotherapy, is related to four subdomains: (i) decrease in emotional resonance (reward deficiency syndrome), (ii) depression, (iii) decrease in cognitive interests (executive dysfunction) and (iv) absence of spontaneous activation of mental processes (auto-activation deficit), and their dysfunction could be due to the interrelationship with other subdomains and with different neural circuits [35].

Anxiety is present in up to 50% of PD patients [36] and it is frequently comorbid with depression [37]. In spite of its significant impact, the symptomatology, chronology and neurobiology of anxiety in PD are all poorly understood, which complicates accurate diagnosis and development of effective treatment strategies [38]. Moreover, anxiety and depression disorders are greatly related to other affective disturbances such as panic attacks and social phobias (for further review see [39]).

Of equal or greater importance, we found that moderate to severe cognitive deterioration is found in this neurodegenerative disease. The PD cognitive spectrum, it is observed, ranges from normal cognition, through mild cognitive impairment (MCI) to moderate and even severe PD dementia (PDD) [40]. Approximately, 25% of non-demented PD patients have mild cognitive impairment (MCI); besides, up to 80% of all PD patients will eventually develop dementia [41]. A great heterogeneity among cognitive deficits was reported and is characterized by subtle changes, difficult to detect and diagnose [21].

Given all that has been mentioned so far, it is very difficult to study a specific isolated symptom without the interaction with other NMS and the onset of motor deficits. These PD-associated changes are also very difficult to find in current PD animal models. In the following sections, we will delve into different experimental model systems and the main focus of this chapter, the interplay between cognition and emotion in PD.

Experimental Model Systems

Disease models have a fundamental role in the knowledge of neurodegenerative pathogenesis. In particular, the main focus of study in PD lies behind the causes of selective loss of dopaminergic neurons at a cellular level, and its correlation at a behavioural level, since motor disturbances do not present clinically until 70–80% of striatal dopamine has been lost. However, addressing the pathological, pharmacological and clinical aspects of NMS will allow defining of the prediagnostic stages of PD.

It is expected that an experimental model must reproduce both clinical and pathological features of PD [42]. However, no animal or cell culture model is likely to be an exact phenotype of the human disease. For example, motor system organization differs in rodents and humans as well as their dopaminergic content and, consequently, a particular behavioural phenotype depends upon its correlation with striatal dopaminergic function, and not necessarily to a symptom of PD. Nevertheless, animal models are critical to achieve a better understanding of different brain circuits and neural networks that converge on a parkinsonian phenotype in order to establish potential therapeutic strategies. It is also true that experimental modelling of NMS of PD has serious limitations recapitulating the clinical and pathological characteristics and its progressive nature [21].

Approximately, 95% of PD cases are considered sporadic and cannot be correlated to a typically inherited condition. The remaining 5% of cases are linked to several monogenic mutations and geneenvironment interactions [43]. To extrapolate these conditions, we can distinguish animal models based on toxins, such as 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA), rotenone, paraquat, MPTP, reserpine, from those that are based on genetic forms, most frequently α-synuclein, parkin, ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase L1 and DJ-1 transgenic mice. Schapira et al. state that none of this model type has shown consistency in the evaluation of any specific NMS and that the presence of motor symptoms may interfere with the ability to evaluate non-motor disturbances [21].

Behavioural Non-motor Impairments in Rodent Models of Parkinsonism

Rodent models, both rats and mice, constitute the most widely used and best-characterized experimental approach for this neurodegenerative disease [42, 44], especially those based on the injection of 6-OHDA (for review, see [42]). Moreover, Magnard et al. suggest the importance of therapeutical targets concerning pharmacological treatment to reverse specific NMS; for example, some pharmacological studies show that a certain medication for the treatment of motivational deficits had positive results not only for this NMS but also it is effective on affective disturbances, indicating a potential confluence of molecular mechanisms between these NMS in PD [32, 42, 45, 46]. Although motor symptoms can constitute a major bias in the study of neurobehavioural mechanisms, it has been considered in the last decades, the key role of the dopaminergic nigrostriatal pathway in the evaluation of motivational, affective and cognitive tasks [47]. For example, to evaluate neurobiological mechanisms underlying apathy, several studies assess motivational preparatory processes with the use of operant self-administrating procedure of food reward. behavioural-like, several studies assess evaluation of motivational preparatory processes preferably operant self-administrating procedure in order to get and eat palatable food [48]. In addition, depression-like state is commonly measured in the force-swim test [49] and in the tail-suspension test [50] giving a specific index when the animal stops swimming or stops turning to both sides. Besides, in rodent experimental systems, anhedonia is considered as a behavioural insensitivity to the rewarding or reinforcing properties of a specific substance (i.e. sucrose, drugs of abuse, alcohol) or event (i.e. copulation). For anxiety-like behaviours, animals are evaluated in their performance on the plusmaze task, on a light/dark avoidance box and the classical open field [51]. Regarding cognitive impairment, different learning and memory deficits were characterized using a variety of behavioural tasks such as object recognition [52], social recognition [53], Morris water maze [53, 54] and Y-maze [49, 55]. However, further studies will prompt complementary approaches for elucidating prominent non-motor, and pre-motor symptoms of PD throughout the progressive neurodegeneration of the dopaminergic nigrostriatal

pathway; especially those with overexpression of wild type α -synuclein, by viral vector induction or using transgenic strains [21]. These studies will be of significant importance in drugs screening, efficiency tests, revealing potential collateral effects and neurosurgical approaches [42].

Interaction Between Cognition and Emotion Disturbances

Parkinson's disease has a complex pathophysiology caused by the emergence of several risk factors with variable contributions to motor, cognitive and affective disturbances [56]. In the next sections of this chapter, we will focus on cognitive and emotional disturbances since a continuous interplay between these two NMS affects different aspects of the daily life of subjects with PD.

When the physician James Parkinson published his monograph An essay on the shaking palsy, it was the first statement of Parkinson's disease as a neurological disorder [1]. Nevertheless, this description was defined only on the basis of the presence of specific motor features [57]. Through the years, anatomy studies advanced towards the clinical delineation of PD and related disorders and, as consequence, identified and defined a prior phase to the time that motor diagnostic appear and pharmacological treatment was assessed. This prior phase suggests that advanced nigral dopaminergic degeneration is already present at the time of motor symptoms arise and several clinical biomarker and genetic biomarkers that, alone or in combination, can accurately identify a subset of individuals who eventually will fill motor criteria [58]. Prodromal PD is the name for this early state of neurodegeneration and specific diagnostic criteria were recently proposed. Indeed, recent evidence suggests that PD may have several endophenotypes and some of these endophenotypes are dominated by NMS (Table 30.1) [21]. Among the many clinical markers of the prodromal state, impaired cognition occurs in 20-30% of individuals with early PD [6, 33], and involves a failure in the corticoestriatal loop (ventrolateral prefrontal cortex, caudate nucleus, and thalamus), involving executive defects in planning, initiation and visuospatial memory [59]. This aspect is relevant because 25% of PD patients have working memory deterioration and short-term memory impairment [4, 60]. Furthermore, the hippocampus is involved in the allocentric and dorsolateral striatum in the egocentric spatial memory [61], suggesting that many aspects of cognitive alterations are between the striatum and the prefrontal cortex but also the dorsal hippocampal circuit [62–64].

On the other hand, and as mentioned previously, the cause of PD remains unknown. Although research has mostly focused on motor symptoms and cognitive impairments, the observation that emotional processing can be affected in PD has received growing attention [65]. In fact, Parkinson's disease provides a useful model for studying the neural substrates of emotional processing. Research experts in the field of emotions agree that these are episodes of synchronized changes in several of the organism's components in response to environmental events of major significance to the organism, like thoughts, feelings, memories – internal events – or reaction to a novel stimulus, other people's behavior - external events - including motor expression, action tendencies, cognitive processes and the different types of physiological activation of autonomic nervous system, hormone levels and certain neurotransmitters, known as physiological arousal [66]. Aside from the affective disturbances mentioned above, we also found other emotion processing affections like deficits in recognition of disgust and anger [33] and difficulties in the production of emotional responses and in the perception of both facial expressions and affective prosody [67]. Among the control mechanisms responsible for emotional processing, the limbic system leads the emotional orchestra with its two major structures such as the hippocampus and the amygdala. Emotion recognition is associated with the activation of a complex network comprising the occipito-temporal, the amygdala, and the orbito-frontal cortex [68]. The amygdala plays an important role in the regulation of emotional states that lead to behavioural expression of such states [69] and it is also a structure that registers emotional occurrences [70]. In correlation

with nigrostriatal dopaminergic neuronal loss observed in PD, also reported was a remarkable degeneration of nigromesolimbic dopaminergic system that originates in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) and medial SNpc, which innervates the amygdala complex [67].

For all this, Parkinson's disease has a complex pathophysiology caused by the emergence of several risk factors with variable contributions to motor, cognitive and affective disturbances [56]. A continuous interplay between cognition and sensorimotor processing is observed in the ability of PD patients to walk safely, especially in challenging conditions that require adaptation to environmental changes and obstacles [68]. In elderly people and those with neurological diseases, there is an increase difficulty in performing a cognitive task whilst walking, assuming the interference of shared networks within the brain [71]. A critical network affected in PD is the cholinergic system with a vital role in the topdown control of attention, orientation and stimulus discrimination [72]. Several studies reported associations between gait disturbances, cognitive impairment and emotional stage [68]. Gross et al. reported how emotional feelings influence walking performance and characterize two types in healthy adults: (i) "sad walking" - reduced walking speed, lower range of extremities motion and higher flexion of the neck and the trunk – and (ii) "joyful walking" - increased gait velocity, wider range of motion and greater trunk extension [73]. At the same time, Hamman and collaborators [74] described that amygdala activity is related to enhancing memory for pleasant and aversive stimuli where an appetitive stimulus (i.e. food and shopping) activates "approach" behaviour and an aversive stimulus (i.e. frightening animals or violence) activates "avoidance" behaviour. These behaviours suggest that level of arousal has a salient effect, as well as the valence of people's emotions [75].

It is important that clinical and epidemiologic studies have increasingly recognized and investigated the importance of NMS, and their interaction, in understanding the natural history, aetiology and clinical care of PD emphasizing on gender differences. PD disproportionately affects

men and the male-to-female incidence ratio is 1.5 approximately [76]. In relation to motor symptoms, male patients tend to develop motor symptoms earlier and have faster progression while female patients are more prone to develop dyskinesia whereas in the NMS, women have a higher prevalence of fatigue, apathy, depression, anxiety and pain and men have severe sexual dysfunction and poorer performance in multiple cognitive domains around PD diagnosis [66, 77, 78]. Gender differences in cognition have not been extensively examined, some reports observed deficits in men in aspects of cognition that contribute to activities of daily living, that is, verbal fluency and recognition of facial emotion and in women in visuospatial cognition [79]. Knowledge about differences in the presentation of PD symptoms and about the pathophysiology underlying those differences may enhance the accuracy and effectiveness of clinical assessment and treatment of the disease [78].

Regulation Networks

Several neuropathological studies have shown that some of these NMS are the consequence of an imbalance between serotoninergic, cholinergic and dopaminergic systems of different regulation networks in different brain circuits. For example, a growing interest is emerging about the role of the amygdala and its neural connections in psychiatric symptoms in PD. A decreased responsiveness is found in the amygdala related to fearful facial expressions, prosodic, written verbal stimuli, decision-making, and facial recognition in parkinsonian patients [80, 81]. It is of remarkable importance that both emotional and social experience as retention and memory formation implies the fundamental anatomical and physiological basis of synapses that link neurons into networks. Through specific electrical signals, synaptic junctions allow the release of chemical neurotransmitters between a presynaptic and a postsynaptic neuron. A reduction in the number and quality of synapses in certain neuronal networks correlates with loss of memory in dementia disease states like Parkinson's disease.

Regarding this, Hopper et al. [82] suggests the essential role of the major transcription factor regulating expression of heat shock genes: heat shock factor 1 (HSF1). Besides establishing and sustaining synaptic fidelity and function in memory consolidation, HSF1 augments formation of essential synaptic elements - neuroligands, vesicle transport, synaptic scaffolding proteins, lipid rafts, synaptic spines and axodendritic synapses - and is potentially implicated in the regulation of huntingtin and α -synuclein aggregation [83–85]. Emotional events can alter neurotransmitters and hormones that can induce HSF1 activity, for example, serotonin, associated with danger recognition [86] is enclosed with activation of HSP1, suggesting that through this molecular pathway emotional experiences could become more memorable [82].

Moreover, a combination of dopaminergic and cholinergic deficiencies has been proposed as a crucial condition for the appearance of cognitive dysfunctions [87], since monoaminergic innervation from the locus ceruleus, serotonin neurotramistter release from neurons of the raphe neurons, and cholinergicic innervation provided by neurons of the nucleus basalis of Meynert are deficient in the neocortex in PD [88–91]. In correlation with this, Broussard et al. suggest that dopamine release in the hippocampus could contribute to synaptic plasticity required for updating learning and memory [8] and any failure in the connection of corticostriatal and hippocampal loops might be implicated in the genesis and progression of dementia, as well as, other neuropsychiatric aspect of PD [9].

Otherwise, the resultant spectrum of symptoms of a PD patient derives from the interplay between genetics and environment and involves multiple neuroanatomical structures. Among the multiple complex factors that contribute to the appearance of PD and that could be possible therapeutic targets, there are those of a mitochondrial nature. Experimental results, in different animal models, indicate that this neurodegenerative disease may be related to two interdependent conditions of the brain mitochondria: (a) mitochondrial dysfunction and (b) mitochondrial oxidative damage [92]. In both clinical PD and

animal parkinsonism, mitochondrial dysfunction is frequently associated with a reduced activity of mitochondrial complex I in several brain areas such as substantia nigra [93] and prefrontal cortex [92]. This reduced activity may be reflected in a variety of symptoms expressed in PD and correlated with an increase in cell death processes as a result of a deficient production of adenosine triphosphate (ATP), an increase in the release of proapoptotic factors and reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation, which increase oxidative stress susceptibility [94]. An excessive oxidative stress leads to the production and accumulation of reactive and toxic aldehydes by lipid peroxidation and these metabolites may inhibit aldehyde dehydrogenase 2 (ALDH2) enzyme leading to a higher toxic damage in several brain areas. About this fact, several studies proposed the catecholaldehyde hypothesis of neurodegeneration [94-96], where impairments of cell metabolism and regulatory processes including mitochondrial dysfunction, vesicular transport alterations, lipid peroxidation, protein-crosslinking and oxidative stress generate higher levels of aldehyde accumulation and, as consequence, the deposition of neurotoxic metabolites such as 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetaldehyde (DOPAL) and 3,4-dihydroxy-phenylglycolaldehyde (DOPEGAL) [97] that may contribute to the appearance of both motor and non-motor symptoms of PD.

Pharmacological treatments to relieve specific motor symptoms aim to increase dopaminergic concentrations or to stimulate dopaminergic receptors. However, the understanding of genetic modifications and mechanisms of neuroinflammation in cellular and animal models is crucial to identify potential targets or therapeutics-related approaches intended to relieve severe symptoms that affect the HRQoL.

Potential Therapeutical Approaches in Different Experimental Models

Several studies have been reported to recreate the characteristic motor symptoms of PD as consequence of nigrostriatal dopaminergic loss. From, computational models, overexpression of α -synuclein (α -syn) to neurotocicity drugs inducing oxidative stress at michocondrial level such as 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP), 6-hydroxydopamine (6OHDA), Paraquat or rotenone have been used to investigate the dopamine deficiency on PD symptoms [98–100].

Important approaches were adopted to study progress linked to genes associated with Parkinson's disease, Parkinson-familial EP, alpha synuclein, parkin, LRRK2, etc. and possible overexpression therapies in substantia nigra and striatum (tyrosine hydroxylase, aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase, GTP-cyclohydrolase I and growth factors of TGFbeta family-GDNF and neurturin), without yet reaching a significant clinical benefit [101]. There is a general consensus in the pathogenesis regarding the participation of a possible reactive gliosis, microglial activation, mitochondrial dysfunction, protein degradation, aggregation of alpha synuclein to neurotoxic oligomers, oxidative stress (triggering redox-dependent signals) and neuroinflammation as processes involved in the degeneration of dopaminergic neurons that are lost in the disease [7].

In all these experimental models, both innate and adaptive neuroinflammation immune responses may contribute to dopaminergic neurodegeneration and disease progression. Dopaminergic neurons and microglia are sensitive to even minor disturbances in the CNS, become microglial cells readily activated during neuropathological conditions [101]. So, in experimental animal models of PD, good approaches were conducted in order to downregulate immune and inflammatory processes using immunomodulatory agents. The modulation of inflammation could be important in slowing the progression of PD and might be exploited as treatments in patients with PD.

In this way, a therapeutic possibility of increasing clinical interest in the treatment of neurodegenerative processes is the use of neurotrophic factors that prevent degeneration and restore the function of the remaining neuronal populations. Interestingly, in the evolution of parkinsonian patients it has been reported that insulin growth factor I (IGF-I) is elevated in serum in moderate stages of the disease, and not in early stages [101], perhaps as a natural anti-inflammatory response. Rodriguez-Perez et al. demonstrated that IGF-1 participates, together with the local renin angiotensin system, to inhibit or activate neuroinflammation (transition from phenotype M1 to M2), oxidative stress and dopaminer-gic degeneration induced by the MPP + neuro-toxin. It has also been shown that candesartan (Angiotensin II receptor antagonist, selective for AT1) managed to decrease inflammation and enhance/improve the functioning of nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons in mutated forms of alpha-synuclein model [102].

Among the neurotrophic factors with a proven dopaminotrophic effect, glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) and neurturin (NRTN) have been extensively tested in animal models of PD and indeed translated to early phases of clinical trials (for review, see [103]). Chronic infusion of NRTN ameliorated motor scores in MPTP-treated animals has been reported [75]. In addition, it has been demonstrated that overexpression of pleiotrophin partially rescued the immunoreactivity of dopaminergic neuron bodies and terminals in the degeneration model induced by 6-OHDA [104].

Moreover, several natural phytochemicals were evaluated in Parkinson animal models. Among them, naringin, which is found in grapefruits and citrus fruits in high concentrations [75], has pharmacological anti-inflammatory and antioxidant activities inducing also neuroprotective effects against neurodegenerative disorders [75]. The ability of naringin to prevent neurodegeneration through an anti-inflammatory effect increasing GDNF expression was reported [105, 106]. Naphthazarin, a naphthoquinone phytochemical, was also evaluated in a Parkinson's disease animal model. Seon Young Choi found that naphthazarin induced a neuroprotective effect, enhanced movement ability, prevented loss of dopaminergic neurons and attenuated neuroinflammation, mediated by the suppression of astroglial activation, in MPTP animal model [106]. Currently, the discovery of animal cloning and the subsequent development of cell reprogramming technology constitute a new paradigm shift in gerontology and neurodegeneration. Takahashi and Yamanaka demonstrated that the transfer of only four master genes, namely oct4, sox2, klf4 and c-myc (OSKM genes) to adult mouse fibroblasts was able to reprogramme them, taking the cells to a pluripotency stage in which they behave as embryonic stem cells [106].

In in vitro reprogramming studies, Kim et al. showed that mouse fibroblasts can be reprogrammed directly to dopaminergic precursors (iDP) through the transient expression of the four Yamanaka factors, culturing the cells in specific media enriched with sonic hedgehog (SHH) and fibroblast growth factor 8 (FGF8) [107]. To date, cell reprogramming for CNS repair had been born as a new approach, with the subsequent implementation on neurodegeneration process including PD [108].

Concluding Remarks

As we have described throughout this chapter, different Parkinson's disease experimental animal models have been evaluated to mimic pathognomonic cognitive-emotional disorders of the pathology. Numerous efforts have been made to prevent or restore the associated Parkinsonian symptomatology, among them approaches with trophic factors, phytochemicals, specific enzymes, anti-inflammatory, gene therapy and currently incorporated reprogramming cell studies. The combination and optimization of these therapeutic approaches could contribute, in the near future, not only to the knowledge of the progression of the pathology but also to improving the quality of life in patients with Parkinson's disease.

References

- Przedborski S. The two-century journey of Parkinson disease research. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2017;18(4):251–9.
- Deumens R, Blokland A, Prickaerts J. Modeling Parkinson's disease in rats: an evaluation of 6-OHDA lesions of the nigrostriatal pathway. Exp Neurol. 2002;175(2):303–17.
- Kwon K-Y, Kang SH, Kim M, Lee HM, Jang JW, Kim JY, et al. Nonmotor symptoms and cognitive decline

in de novo Parkinson's disease. Can J Neurol Sci / J Can des Sci Neurol. 2014;41(05):597–602.

- Ehgoetz Martens KA, Lewis SJG. Pathology of behavior in PD: what is known and what is not? J Neurol Sci. 2017;374:9–16.
- Jones JD, Hass C, Mangal P, Lafo J, Okun MS, Bowers D. The cognition and emotional well-being indices of the Parkinson's disease questionnaire-39: what do they really measure? Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2014;20(11):1236–41.
- Weintraub D, Chahine LM, Hawkins KA, Siderowf A, Eberly S, Oakes D, et al. Cognition and the course of prodromal Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord. 2017;32(11):1640–5.
- Segura-Aguilar J, Kostrzewa RM. Neurotoxin mechanisms and processes relevant to Parkinson's disease: an update. Neurotox Res. 2015;27(3):328–54.
- Broussard JI, Yang K, Levine AT, Tsetsenis T, Jenson D, Cao F, et al. Dopamine regulates aversive contextual learning and associated in vivo synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus. Cell Rep. 2016;14(8):1930–9.
- Calabresi P, Castrioto A, Di Filippo M, Picconi B. New experimental and clinical links between the hippocampus and the dopaminergic system in Parkinson's disease. Lancet Neurol. 2013;12(8):811–21.
- Braak H, Del Tredici K. Neuropathological staging of brain pathology in sporadic Parkinson's disease: separating the wheat from the chaff. J Park Dis. 2017;7(s1):S71–85.
- Lewy FH. Paralysis agitans. I. Pathol Anat Handb der Neurol. 1912.
- 12. Tretiakoff C. Contribution a l'etude de l'Anatomie pathologique du Locus Niger de Soemmering avec quelques deduction relatives a la pathogenie des troubles du tonus musculaire et de la maladie de Parkinson. Theses de Paris. 1919.
- Schmidt ML, Martin JA, Lee VM, Trojanowski JQ. Convergence of Lewy bodies and neurofibrillary tangles in amygdala neurons of Alzheimer's disease and Lewy body disorders. Acta Neuropathol. 1996;91(5):475–81.
- Marui W, Iseki E, Kato M, Akatsu H, Kosaka K. Pathological entity of dementia with Lewy bodies and its differentiation from Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol. 2004;108(2):121–8.
- Braak H, Ghebremedhin E, Rüb U, Bratzke H, Del Tredici K. Stages in the development of Parkinson's diseaserelated pathology. Cell Tissue Res. 2004;318(1):121–34.
- Braak H, Del Tredici K, Bratzke H, Hamm-Clement J, Sandmann-Keil D, Rüb U. Staging of the intracerebral inclusion body pathology associated with idiopathic Parkinson's disease (preclinical and clinical stages). J Neurol. 2002;249(Suppl 3):III/1–5.
- Braak H, Braak E, Yilmazer D, Schultz C, de Vos RA, Jansen EN. Nigral and extranigral pathology in Parkinson's disease. J Neural Transm Suppl. 1995;46:15–31.
- Thal DR, Del Tredici K, Braak H. Neurodegeneration in normal brain aging and disease. Sci Aging Knowl Environ. 2004;2004(23):pe26.

- Martinez-Martin P, Rodriguez-Blazquez C, Kurtis MM, Chaudhuri KR. The impact of non-motor symptoms on health-related quality of life of patients with Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord. 2011;26(3):399–406.
- Garcia-Ruiz PJ, Chaudhuri KR, Martinez-Martin P. Non-motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease A review...from the past. J Neurol Sci. 2014;338(1–2):30–3.
- Schapira AHV, Chaudhuri KR, Jenner P. Non-motor features of Parkinson disease. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2017;18(7):435–50.
- Goldstein DS. Dysautonomia in Parkinson disease. In: Comprehensive physiology. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.; 2014. p. 805–26.
- Ferrer I, López-Gonzalez I, Carmona M, Dalfó E, Pujol A, Martínez A. Neurochemistry and the non-motor aspects of PD. Neurobiol Dis. 2012;46(3):508–26.
- Doty RL. Olfactory dysfunction in Parkinson disease. Nat Rev Neurol. 2012;8(6):329–39.
- Schrempf W, Brandt MD, Storch A, Reichmann H. Sleep disorders in Parkinson's disease. J Park Dis. 2014;4(2):211–21.
- Faludi B, Janszky J, Komoly S, Kovács N. Alvászavarok Parkinson-kórban: megjelenés, kivizsgálás, terápiás lehetőségek. Orv Hetil. 2015;156(27):1091–9.
- Holroyd S, Currie L, Wooten GF. Prospective study of hallucinations and delusions in Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2001;70(6):734–8.
- Cannas A, Solla P, Floris G, Tacconi P, Marrosu F, Marrosu MG. Othello syndrome in Parkinson disease patients without dementia. Neurologist. 2009;15(1):34–6.
- Bugalho P, Paiva T. Dream features in the early stages of Parkinson's disease. J Neural Transm. 2011;118(11):1613–9.
- Georgiev D, Danieli A, Ocepek L, Novak D, Zupancic-Kriznar N, Trost M, et al. Othello syndrome in patients with Parkinson's disease. Psychiatr Danub. 2010;22(1):94–8.
- Papapetropoulos S, Mash DC. Psychotic symptoms in Parkinson's disease. From description to etiology. J Neurol. 2005;252(7):753–64.
- Loas G, Krystkowiak P, Godefroy O. Anhedonia in Parkinson's disease: an overview. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2012;24(4):444–51.
- Aarsland D, Marsh L, Schrag A. Neuropsychiatric symptoms in Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord. 2009;24(15):2175–86.
- Marsh L. Depression and Parkinson's disease: current knowledge. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. 2013;13(12):409.
- Pagonabarraga J, Kulisevsky J, Strafella AP, Krack P. Apathy in Parkinson's disease: clinical features, neural substrates, diagnosis, and treatment. Lancet Neurol. 2015;14(5):518–31.
- Marinus J, Leentjens AFG, Visser M, Stiggelbout AM, van Hilten JJ. Evaluation of the hospital anxiety and depression scale in patients with Parkinson's disease. Clin Neuropharmacol. 2002;25(6):318–24.

- Hughes TA, Ross HF, Mindham RHS, Spokes EGS. Mortality in Parkinson's disease and its association with dementia and depression. Acta Neurol Scand. 2004;110(2):118–23.
- Egan SJ, Laidlaw K, Starkstein S. Cognitive behaviour therapy for depression and anxiety in Parkinson's disease. J Park Dis. 2015;5(3):443–51.
- Dissanayaka NNNW, White E, O'Sullivan JD, Marsh R, Pachana NA, Byrne GJ. The clinical spectrum of anxiety in Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord. 2014;29(8):967–75.
- Aarsland D, Creese B, Politis M, Chaudhuri KR, Ffytche DH, Weintraub D, et al. Cognitive decline in Parkinson disease. Nat Rev Neurol. 2017;13(4):217–31.
- Aarsland D, Kurz MW. The epidemiology of dementia associated with Parkinson's disease. Brain Pathol. 2010;20(3):633–9.
- 42. Magnard R, Vachez Y, Carcenac C, Krack P, David O, Savasta M, et al. What can rodent models tell us about apathy and associated neuropsychiatric symptoms in Parkinson's disease? Transl Psychiatry. 2016;6(3):e753.
- Schneider SA, Obeso JA. Clinical and pathological features of Parkinson's disease. Curr Top Behav Neurosci. 2015;22:205–20.
- Dauer W, Przedborski S. Parkinson's disease: mechanisms and models. Neuron. 2003;39(6):889–909.
- 45. Solla P, Fasano A, Cannas A, Mulas CS, Marrosu MG, Lang AE, et al. Dopamine agonist withdrawal syndrome (DAWS) symptoms in Parkinson's disease patients treated with levodopa-carbidopa intestinal gel infusion. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2015;21(8):968–71.
- 46. Zahodne LB, Marsiske M, Bowers D. A latent class analysis of psychological disturbance in Parkinson's disease. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2013;28(10):1054–60.
- 47. Lindgren HS, Demirbugen M, Bergqvist F, Lane EL, Dunnett SB. The effect of additional noradrenergic and serotonergic depletion on a lateralised choice reaction time task in rats with nigral 6-OHDA lesions. Exp Neurol. 2014;253:52–62.
- Balleine BW, O'Doherty JP. Human and rodent homologies in action control: corticostriatal determinants of goal-directed and habitual action. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2010;35(1):48–69.
- 49. Matheus FC, Rial D, Real JI, Lemos C, Takahashi RN, Bertoglio LJ, et al. Temporal dissociation of striatum and prefrontal cortex uncouples anhedonia and defense behaviors relevant to depression in 6-OHDA-lesioned rats. Mol Neurobiol. 2016;53(6): 3891–9.
- 50. Yamada K, Kobayashi M, Mori A, Jenner P, Kanda T. Antidepressant-like activity of the adenosine A2A receptor antagonist, istradefylline (KW-6002), in the forced swim test and the tail suspension test in rodents. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 2013;114–115:23–30.
- 51. Kulesskaya N, Voikar V. Assessment of mouse anxiety-like behavior in the light-dark box and open-

field arena: role of equipment and procedure. Physiol Behav. 2014;133:30–8.

- 52. Bonito-Oliva A, Pignatelli M, Spigolon G, Yoshitake T, Seiler S, Longo F, et al. Cognitive impairment and dentate gyrus synaptic dysfunction in experimental parkinsonism. Biol Psychiatry. 2014;75(9):701–10.
- 53. Tadaiesky MT, Dombrowski PA, Figueiredo CP, Cargnin-Ferreira E, Da Cunha C, Takahashi RN. Emotional, cognitive and neurochemical alterations in a premotor stage model of Parkinson's disease. Neuroscience. 2008;156(4):830–40.
- 54. Braun AA, Graham DL, Schaefer TL, Vorhees CV, Williams MT. Dorsal striatal dopamine depletion impairs both allocentric and egocentric navigation in rats. Neurobiol Learn Mem. 2012;97(4):402–8.
- 55. Pioli EY, Meissner W, Sohr R, Gross CE, Bezard E, Bioulac BH. Differential behavioral effects of partial bilateral lesions of ventral tegmental area or substantia nigra pars compacta in rats. Neuroscience. 2008;153(4):1213–24.
- Ehgoetz Martens KA, Shine JM. The interactions between non-motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease. Expert Rev Neurother. 2018;18(6):457–60.
- Hughes AJ, Daniel SE, Kilford L, Lees AJ. Accuracy of clinical diagnosis of idiopathic Parkinson's disease: a clinico-pathological study of 100 cases. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1992;55(3):181–4.
- Berg D, Postuma RB, Adler CH, Bloem BR, Chan P, Dubois B, et al. MDS research criteria for prodromal Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord. 2015;30(12):1600–11.
- Pagonabarraga J, Kulisevsky J. Cognitive impairment and dementia in Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol Dis. 2012;46(3):590–6.
- 60. Hely MA, Reid WGJ, Adena MA, Halliday GM, Morris JGL. The Sydney multicenter study of Parkinson's disease: the inevitability of dementia at 20 years. Mov Disord. 2008;23(6):837–44.
- Sarkisyan G, Hedlund PB. The 5-HT7 receptor is involved in allocentric spatial memory information processing. Behav Brain Res. 2009;202(1):26–31.
- 62. Miah IP, Olde Dubbelink KT, Stoffers D, Deijen JB, Berendse HW. Early-stage cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease and the influence of dopamine replacement therapy. Eur J Neurol. 2012;19(3):510–6.
- Cropley VL, Fujita M, Innis RB, Nathan PJ. Molecular imaging of the dopaminergic system and its association with human cognitive function. Biol Psychiatry. 2006;59(10):898–907.
- Moustafa AA, Sherman SJ, Frank MJ. A dopaminergic basis for working memory, learning and attentional shifting in Parkinsonism. Neuropsychologia. 2008;46(13):3144–56.
- 65. Yuvaraj R, Murugappan M, Omar MI, Ibrahim NM, Sundaraj K, Mohamad K, et al. Emotion processing in Parkinson's disease: an EEG spectral power study. Int J Neurosci. 2014;124(7):491–502.
- 66. Heller J, Mirzazade S, Romanzetti S, Habel U, Derntl B, Freitag NM, et al. Impact of gender and genetics on emotion processing in Parkinson's disease a multimodal study. Neuroimage Clin. 2018;18:305–14.

- Tessitore A, Hariri AR, Fera F, Smith WG, Chase TN, Hyde TM, et al. Dopamine modulates the response of the human amygdala: a study in Parkinson's disease. J Neurosci. 2002;22(20):9099–103.
- Avanzino L, Lagravinese G, Abbruzzese G, Pelosin E. Relationships between gait and emotion in Parkinson's disease: a narrative review. Gait Posture. 2018;65:57–64.
- Gallagher M, Chiba AA. The amygdala and emotion. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 1996;6(2):221–7.
- Dolan RJ. Emotion, cognition, and behavior. Science (80-). 2002;298(5596):1191–4.
- Montero-Odasso M, Bergman H, Phillips NA, Wong CH, Sourial N, Chertkow H. Dual-tasking and gait in people with mild cognitive impairment. The effect of working memory. BMC Geriatr. 2009;9(1):41.
- Klinkenberg I, Sambeth A, Blokland A. Acetylcholine and attention. Behav Brain Res. 2011;221(2):430–42.
- Gross MM, Crane EA, Fredrickson BL. Effort-shape and kinematic assessment of bodily expression of emotion during gait. Hum Mov Sci. 2012;31(1):202–21.
- Hamann SB, Ely TD, Grafton ST, Kilts CD. Amygdala activity related to enhanced memory for pleasant and aversive stimuli. Nat Neurosci. 1999;2(3):289–93.
- Naugle KM, Hass CJ, Joyner J, Coombes SA, Janelle CM. Emotional state affects the initiation of forward gait. Emotion. 2011;11(2):267–77.
- Liu R, Umbach DM, Peddada SD, Xu Z, Troster AI, Huang X, et al. Potential sex differences in nonmotor symptoms in early drug-naive Parkinson disease. Neurology. 2015;84(21):2107–15.
- Hurt CS, Alkufri F, Brown RG, Burn DJ, Hindle JV, Landau S, et al. Motor phenotypes, medication and mood: further associations with impulsive behaviours in Parkinson's disease. J Park Dis. 2014;4(2):245–54.
- Miller IN, Cronin-Golomb A. Gender differences in Parkinson's disease: clinical characteristics and cognition. Mov Disord. 2010;25(16):2695–703.
- Burn DJ. Sex and Parkinson's disease: a world of difference? J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2007;78(8):787.
- Péron J, Dondaine T. Emotion and basal ganglia (II): what can we learn from subthalamic nucleus deep brain stimulation in Parkinson's disease? Rev Neurol (Paris). 2012;168(8–9):642–8.
- Baggio HC, Segura B, Ibarretxe-Bilbao N, Valldeoriola F, Marti MJ, Compta Y, et al. Structural correlates of facial emotion recognition deficits in Parkinson's disease patients. Neuropsychologia. 2012;50(8):2121–8.
- Hooper PL, Durham HD, Török Z, Hooper PL, Crul T, Vígh L. The central role of heat shock factor 1 in synaptic fidelity and memory consolidation. Cell Stress Chaperones. 2016;21(5):745–53.
- Kim E, Wang B, Sastry N, Masliah E, Nelson PT, Cai H, et al. NEDD4-mediated HSF1 degradation underlies α-synucleinopathy. Hum Mol Genet. 2016;25(2):211–22.
- 84. Das S, Bhattacharyya NP. Huntingtin interacting protein HYPK is a negative regulator of heat shock response and is downregulated in

models of Huntington's disease. Exp Cell Res. 2016;343(2):107–17.

- 85. Das S, Bhattacharyya NP. Heat shock factor 1-regulated miRNAs can target huntingtin and suppress aggregates of mutant huntingtin. MicroRNA (Shariqah, United Arab Emirates). 2015;4(3):185–93.
- 86. Christianson JP, Ragole T, Amat J, Greenwood BN, Strong PV, Paul ED, et al. 5-Hydroxytryptamine 2C receptors in the basolateral amygdala are involved in the expression of anxiety after uncontrollable traumatic stress. Biol Psychiatry. 2010;67(4):339–45.
- Calabresi P, Galletti F, Saggese E, Ghiglieri V, Picconi B. Neuronal networks and synaptic plasticity in Parkinson's disease: beyond motor deficits. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2007;13:S259–62.
- Baloyannis SJ, Costa V, Baloyannis IS. Morphological alterations of the synapses in the locus coeruleus in Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Sci. 2006;248(1–2):35–41.
- Bosboom JLW, Stoffers D, Wolters EC. The role of acetylcholine and dopamine in dementia and psychosis in Parkinson's disease. J Neural Transm Suppl. 2003;65:185–95.
- Hilker R, Thomas AV, Klein JC, Weisenbach S, Kalbe E, Burghaus L, et al. Dementia in Parkinson disease: functional imaging of cholinergic and dopaminergic pathways. Neurology. 2005;65(11):1716–22.
- Zarow C, Lyness SA, Mortimer JA, Chui HC. Neuronal loss is greater in the locus coeruleus than nucleus basalis and substantia nigra in Alzheimer and Parkinson diseases. Arch Neurol. 2003;60(3):337–41.
- Navarro A, Boveris A. Brain mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative damage in Parkinson's disease. J Bioenerg Biomembr. 2009;41(6):517–21.
- Schapira AHV. The clinical relevance of levodopa toxicity in the treatment of Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord. 2008;23 Suppl 3(S3):S515–20.
- 94. Goldstein DS, Sullivan P, Holmes C, Miller GW, Alter S, Strong R, et al. Determinants of buildup of the toxic dopamine metabolite DOPAL in Parkinson's disease. J Neurochem. 2013;126(5):591–603.
- 95. Panneton WM, Kumar VB, Gan Q, Burke WJ, Galvin JE. The neurotoxicity of DOPAL: behavioral and stereological evidence for its role in Parkinson disease pathogenesis. Ginsberg SD, editor. PLoS One. 2010;5(12):e15251.
- 96. Casida JE, Ford B, Jinsmaa Y, Sullivan P, Cooney A, Goldstein DS. Benomyl, aldehyde dehydrogenase, DOPAL, and the catecholaldehyde hypothesis for the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. Chem Res Toxicol. 2014;27(8):1359–61.

- Grünblatt E, Riederer P. Aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease. J Neural Transm. 2016;123(2):83–90.
- Gao H-M, Hong J-S. Gene–environment interactions: key to unraveling the mystery of Parkinson's disease. Prog Neurobiol. 2011;94(1):1–19.
- 99. Blum D, Torch S, Lambeng N, Nissou M, Benabid AL, Sadoul R, et al. Molecular pathways involved in the neurotoxicity of 6-OHDA, dopamine and MPTP: contribution to the apoptotic theory in Parkinson's disease. Prog Neurobiol. 2001;65(2):135–72.
- Carrasco E, Casper D, Werner P. Dopaminergic neurotoxicity by 6-OHDA and MPP+: differential requirement for neuronal cyclooxygenase activity. J Neurosci Res. 2005;81(1):121–31.
- 101. Kim H-S, Kim J, Jo Y, Jeon D, Cho YS. Direct lineage reprogramming of mouse fibroblasts to functional midbrain dopaminergic neuronal progenitors. Stem Cell Res. 2014;12(1):60–8.
- 102. Rodriguez-Perez AI, Borrajo A, Diaz-Ruiz C, Garrido-Gil P, Labandeira-Garcia JL. Crosstalk between insulin-like growth factor-1 and angiotensin-II in dopaminergic neurons and glial cells: role in neuroinflammation and aging. Oncotarget. 2016;7(21):30049–67.
- 103. Kelly MJ, O'Keeffe GW, Sullivan AM. Viral vector delivery of neurotrophic factors for Parkinson's disease therapy. Expert Rev Mol Med. 2015;17:e8. https://doi.org/10.1017/erm.2015.6. PMID: 25997719.
- 104. Taravini IR, Larramendy C, Gomez G, Saborido MD, Spaans F, Fresno C, et al. Contrasting gene expression patterns induced by levodopa and pramipexole treatments in the rat model of Parkinson's disease. Neuropharmacology. 2016;101: 576–89.
- 105. Leem E, Nam JH, Jeon M-T, Shin W-H, Won S-Y, Park S-J, et al. Naringin protects the nigrostriatal dopaminergic projection through induction of GDNF in a neurotoxin model of Parkinson's disease. J Nutr Biochem. 2014;25(7):801–6.
- 106. Jung UJ, Kim SR. Effects of naringin, a flavanone glycoside in grapefruits and citrus fruits, on the nigrostriatal dopaminergic projection in the adult brain. Neural Regen Res. 2014;9(16):1514–7.
- 107. Kim J, Efe JA, Zhu S, Talantova M, Yuan X, Wang S, et al. Direct reprogramming of mouse fibroblasts to neural progenitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2011;108(19):7838–43.
- Li H, Chen G. In vivo reprogramming for CNS repair: regenerating neurons from endogenous glial cells. Neuron. 2016;91(4):728–38.

Part III

Neurosciences, Learning, Teaching and The Role of Social Environment



31

Friendship Relationships in Children and Adolescents: Positive Development and Prevention of Mental Health Problems

Lucas Marcelo Rodriguez, José Eduardo Moreno, and Belén Mesurado

Introduction

In recent years the study of positive development in children and adolescents has taken great relevance. So much so that in the year 2017, the American Journal *Child Development* published a special issue on this subject dedicated to *Positive Youth Development*, being its main feature the explicit rejection of a focus centered in addressing what is wrong or deficient in the behavior of children and adolescents. It emphasizes the skills and tools of children and adolescents such as positive relationships, opportunities, values, and positive social relationships [1]. In this context, the most important peer relationship is friendship.

Developmental psychology defines friendship as a specific kind of relationship that has distinct properties. Some of its properties are, for example, a dyadic and horizontal relationship. This relationship is based on mutual affection, reci-

L. M. Rodriguez (🖂) · J. E. Moreno

Centro de Investigación Interdisciplinar en Valores, Integración y Desarrollo Social, Pontificia Universidad Católica Argentina (UCA), Paraná, Entre Ríos, Argentina

B. Mesurado

procity of liking, and mutuality [2]. Reciprocity of liking is also called reciprocity of attraction or reciprocal liking. It is a particular type of reciprocity that refers to the tendency for people to like others who express liking for them [3]. According to Hartup and Stevens [2], the deep structure of friendship is reciprocity. This property is the same across the lifespan, but for those authors the surface structure changes with age.

Friendship can be defined as a voluntary, reciprocal, and egalitarian relationship in which both people recognize the relationship and treat each other as equals. It is a relationship characterized by companionship, a shared history, and mutual affection. In addition, throughout the life cycle, people usually choose as friends people who are similar to them in certain characteristics (e.g., sex, age, or behavior styles). Such similarities allow most friendships to be relatively equal in power and control, different from parent-child relationships, for example, which tend to be relatively asymmetric in power [4].

Developmental psychology theorists such as Harry Stack Sullivan [4] have postulated that friendships can provide a unique developmental context in which children and adolescents learn about conflict and negotiation and develop perspective taking and empathy. Also in that relationship, they satisfy social needs of companionship and intimacy. It is believed that friendships func-

Centro Interdisciplinario de Investigaciones en Psicología Matemática y Experimental (CIIPME)-Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones, Científicas y Técnicas (CONICET), Instituo de Filosofía, Universidad Austral, Pilar, Buenos Aires, Argentina

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_31

tion as important extra-family sources of social and emotional support that can help people overcome the challenges and stressors of life. Among the benefits of friendship, positive development results can be mentioned taking perspective, tools and socio-cognitive skills, positive feelings about oneself and others, as well as feelings of psychological well-being [4].

The purpose of this chapter is to develop the following issues: (a) the adaptation of the Friendship Quality Scale in Argentina and related studies; (b) the relationship between friendship and loneliness in childhood and adolescence; (c) values, empathy, and friendship quality in adolescents; and finally, (d) friendship and prevention of mental health problems.

Bukowski Friendship Quality Scale Argentine Adaptation

William Bukowski Friendship Quality Scale measures the quality of friendship in children and adolescents, taking into account the following dimensions: Companionship, Conflict, Balance, Help, Security, and Closeness. This instrument evaluates the dimensions mentioned in the relationship with their best friend. In the original scale, the subject must mention who his best friend is and then answer 46 items that describe friendship features, indicating the degree of agreement with them [5].

Friendships involve people who do things together; friends are people who share the stuff of life. Companionship is considered a basic feature or component of friendship relations. The Companionship dimension refers to the amount of voluntary time that friends share or spend together. It includes items such as: *My friend and I spend all our free time together*.

The Balance dimension refers to reciprocity. If in the friendship relationship, one of the subjects gives more than the other, there is no reciprocity. It includes items such as: *Being friends is more important to me than to my friend*.

Bukowski said that in spite of the idyllic views of friendship that can be found in endless number of sappy greeting cards and poems, many studies have shown that friends have more conflicts with each other than they do with other peers [6]. The Conflict dimension refers to fights, disagreements, or arguments within the friendship relationship. Conflict is an inevitable consequence of any relationship that requires decision-making. This dimension includes items such as: *My friend and I can argue a lot*.

The Help dimension refers to mutual help and assistance, as well as help in conflicting situations that can be experienced with others. It includes items such as: *If I forgot to bring my lunch or needed a little money my friend would lend it to me* (aid), or *My friend would defend me if another mate was causing me trouble* (protection).

Friendship has an enduring nature that assures its continuity across time and circumstance. The Security dimension refers to the belief that when you need it, your best friend is reliable and you can trust him (reliable alliance). This aspect includes items such as: *If I have a problem at school or at home I can talk to my friend about it*. This dimension also refers to the strength of friendship, regardless of the differences or disagreements that there may be within the friendship bond (transcending problems). This aspect includes items such as: *If I said I was sorry after I had an argument with my friend, he would still be mad at me*.

The Closeness dimension refers to the sense of affection or "specialness" that they experience with their friend and the strength of their attachment or bond to their friend. Fine [7] highlighted the work of Cooley and Mead (symbolic interactionists) to support an emphasis on closeness. These authors argue that the main provision of relationships is information about the goodness or value of the self. Inherent in their ideas is the notion that the closeness of the affective bond in a friendship relationship gives children and early adolescents the opportunities for reflected appraisal and affection that indicate that they are important to and valued by their friend. It includes items such as: I feel happy when I am with my friend, which is an Affective Bond item that refers to feelings about their friend; and Even if other people stopped liking me, my friend would still be my friend or My friend puts our friendship ahead of other things, these are

Reflected Appraisal items that refer to the feelings derived from friendship and their impression of how important they are to their friend.

Resett et al. [8] adapted the scale to Spanish in Argentinian children. They used a sample of 195 children from 9 to 12 years old (M = 10.44SD = 0.59). This version consists of 33 items. An exploratory factorial analysis was carried out using the principal component method and the oblique rotation. Prior to it, the following results were obtained: KMO = .802; Bartlett's test of sphericity coefficient $X^2 = 1944.53$; p = .000. The Cattell sedimentation test revealed that the optimal number of factors was six, equal to the original scale number. These six factors explained 50.74% of the variance. Regarding the internal consistency, in this study Cronbach's alpha coefficients for the subscales were the following: Companionship, .61; Help, .80; Security, .70; Closeness, .81; Conflict, .80; and Balance, .65.

Rodriguez et al. [9] carried out new studies to evaluate the psychometric properties in a population of 509 children from 10 to 12 years old (M = 10.65 SD = 0.69), of which 251 were males and 258 were females. They carried out a confirmatory factorial analysis with the method of estimation of parameters by maximum likelihood. In this study, the 6-factor model with 33 items was found to have an adequate fit $(X^2/$ $df = 1.98 \ GFI = .90 \ CFI = .90 \ RMSEA = .044).$ The standardized regression coefficients of the items ranged between .321 and .775. Regarding the internal consistency, in this study Cronbach's alpha coefficients for the subscales were Closeness, .83; Conflict, .73; Balance, .63; Help, .82; Companionship, .66; and Security, .63, which show a satisfactory reliability.

In this study, Pearson correlations between the dimensions of friendship quality and being victimized or being an aggressor in peer relationships (bullying) were analyzed. It was found that at a higher level of Help and Companionship, there are lower levels of being victimized or attacked. In addition, at a higher level of Closeness, a lower level of peer aggression was observed. At the same time, higher levels of Conflict in friendship indicate higher levels of being victimized and attacked [9]. These results highlight the importance of friendship quality for the prevention of peer victimization and aggression.

While studying Bukowski Friendship Quality Scale translation and adaptation into Spanish, Moreno and Resett [10] used the scale together with sociograms. In a sample of 161 both sexes children from 10 to 11 years old, they found that more than 40% of the sample participants were chosen as a friend by more than half of the class. In addition, more than 97% of the sample (almost the whole) chose an individual of the same sex as their best friend. At the same time, more than 80% of the sample chose as their best friend an individual of their class at school. These studies highlight the importance of schooling for the generation of friendship bonds.

Rodriguez and Moreno [11] evaluated the relationship between parenting styles and friendship relationships among peers in childhood and preadolescence. In a sample of 841 students aged 8–13 years old, they found that parents who act firmly, but with love and acceptance (affection) instead of a strict or pathological control, facilitate friendship bonds of children with others. In this study it was observed that the higher the pathological control, the lower the level of companionship and friendship. This empirically confirms the need to improve parent-child relationships for a better social interaction among peers.

Loneliness and Friendship in Childhood and Adolescence

There are many studies focused on children and adolescents who lack friends in school. Hartup and Laursen consider that poor peer relationships are predictive of serious adjustment problems in later life [12].

Loneliness and health have been investigated in adolescents, and, in line with adult literature, lonely adolescents report lower perceived health status and increased symptoms of psychosomatic manifestations of psychological distress, such as headaches and loss of appetite [13].

Harris, Qualter, and Robinson [14] examine in preadolescents the association between chronic loneliness and perceived health, school absence due to illness, sleep duration, and disturbance. Loneliness was measured in three collection waves that were 18 months apart and covered the ages 8-11 years. Using growth mixture modeling, two groups were identified with discrete growth patterns of loneliness: (a) relatively high, reducing loneliness (48%) and (b) low, stable loneliness (52%). At age 11 years, those in the relatively high, reducing lonely group reported higher levels of depressive symptoms, poorer general health, took longer to get to sleep, and had greater sleep disturbance than children in the low, stable loneliness group. The authors consider that these findings suggest that there may be long-term health effects of experiencing high loneliness in middle childhood, even when loneliness levels reduce to normal levels at preadolescence.

Harris, Qualter, and Robinson [14] consider that loneliness impacts on sleep functioning in children and has important implications. Sleep disruption reduces endocrine function and decreases immune system functioning. Further, poor sleep quality can lead to hyperactivity in the HPA axis, leading to elevated cortisol levels, and is associated with illnesses such as metabolic syndrome and hypertension. Therefore, they consider that their findings such as lonely children have higher levels of sleep dysfunction may suggest a pathway between loneliness and ill health.

Problems in parent-child relationships increase the probability of vulnerability to loneliness, causing insecurity and very strict standards for relationships [15, 16]. In a study these authors selected two groups, one included adolescents with low parental acceptance (Schaefer's Children's Reports of Parental Behavior lowest scores, 25% of the sample) and the other subjects with high parental acceptance (highest scores, 25% of the sample). A multiple analysis of variance (MANOVA) was conducted in order to determine if differences in parental acceptance could explain differences in loneliness. Significant differences between low (n = 182) and high (n = 171) parental acceptance groups were found: low parental acceptance, Peer Loneliness (M = 14.4 DS = 6.08) and Parental Loneliness (M = 17.59 DS = 8.02), and high parental acceptance, Peer Loneliness (M = 10.89 DS = 3.648) and Parental Loneliness (M = 9.39 DS = 2.12). This research shows that adolescent loneliness depends on parental styles. Perception of paternal acceptance is important in predicting social and emotional development and functioning of children and adolescents. Family Deficit is crucial since problems in parent-child relationships promote vulnerability toward loneliness.

Weiss [17] made a distinction between loneliness due to emotional isolation and loneliness due to social isolation. Emotional isolation appears in the absence of close emotional attachment, whereas social isolation appears in the absence of an engaging social network. Parental and peer relationships constitute two different social contexts where loneliness develops. Loneliness research in children and adolescents will distinguish between loneliness due to relationship with parents (parent-related loneliness) and loneliness due to relationship with peers (peer-related loneliness) [18].

Although group acceptance is important to children's successful adaptation to peers, it is needed to study children's ability to form and maintain satisfying and supportive specific dyadic friendships as distinct from their ability to gain acceptance in the classroom more generally. Bukowski and Hoza [19] argue that problems in group acceptance do not necessarily preclude satisfactory friendship adjustment, and they point out that concerns about the emotional wellbeing of low-accepted children might be attenuated if it could be established that low-accepted children have satisfying one-to-one friendships. They consider that children's friendship adjustment has been studied far less frequently and less systematically than children's group acceptance, and the links between these two forms of peer adjustment are poorly understood. For Parker and Asher [20], it seems reasonable that friendship and group acceptance contribute in distinctive ways to children's socialization. They found out that not all highly accepted children had friends.

Goossens [21] suggested that adolescence is a period of life when loneliness is particularly prevalent, and an increase in loneliness is expected when children enter preadolescence. We present a study with Argentinian adolescents whose objective is to show the relations between loneliness and friendship quality dimensions. The sample comprised 195 adolescents with an age range between 13 and 16 years old (M = 14.28 DS = .76), from both sexes (110 male and 85 female). The sample (non-probabilistic) was obtained in Formosa, Argentina.

The instrument used to measure loneliness was the *New Loneliness Scale for adolescents* [15, 22], which is based on Rokach and Brock Loneliness Questionnaire [23, 24] and Marcoen and Brumage Loneliness Scale [25, 26]. In this study we used two dimensions of this scale: Peer Loneliness, which includes items such as "I feel excluded by my classmates" (isolation) and "When I suggest a game nobody likes to join in" (rejection), and Parental Loneliness dimension (Family Deficit) which includes items such as "My mother and father never had some spare time for me" or "I feel that my parents were generally not supportive of me."

In order to measure friendship, the Adolescent Friendship Quality Scale [5] was administered.

For the fulfillment of the objective of this study, Pearson correlations between friendship quality dimensions and loneliness self-perception were obtained (See Table 31.1).

Significant negative correlations were obtained between Peer Loneliness and Companionship (-.304), Help (-.229), Security (-.148), Closeness (-.152), and Balance (-.157); and a positive significant correlation between Peer Loneliness and Conflict (.193).

On the other hand, Family Deficit or Parental Loneliness correlated significantly in a positive way with Conflict (.209).

 Table 31.1 Pearson correlations between loneliness

 dimensions and friendship dimensions

Friendship scales	Peer loneliness	Parental loneliness
Companionship	304**	010
Conflict	.193**	.209**
Balance	157*	.009
Help	229**	.001
Security	148*	.053
Closeness	152*	.092
* < 0.05 ** < 0.0	1 105	

 $p^* \leq 0.05 p^* \leq 0.01 N = 195$

Peer Loneliness is the feeling of being rejected or not loved by friends and mates [15]. This dimension correlated negatively with all the positive dimensions of the quality of friendship (Companionship, Balance, Help, Security, and Closeness). These findings are consistent since with a higher friendship quality, the perception of friends and colleagues' rejection or the fact of not being loved or accepted by them decreases. It should be mentioned that high Conflict is logically correlated to Parental Loneliness.

As regards friendship dimensions, parental rejection or Family Deficit (Parental Loneliness) alters them only when the conflictivity of the bond with peers increases, but not in positive friendship dimensions.

Values, Empathy, and Friendship Quality in Adolescence

To see adolescence from the perspective of *posi*tive development is not only to consider it from the avoidance of some behaviors such as violence, the consumption of substances, or other risky practices, but it is to consider it also from a generation of skills, abilities, and values that allow the adolescent advance toward adulthood in a successful way [27]. This model of positive vision toward adolescence has emerged in the United States with the works of Catalano et al. [28], among others. It is considered relevant to be able to expand this line of study by generating integrative models that can account for the interaction and the effect that other variables have on friendship as a positive peer relationship. Among these variables, we can mention empathy, which is essential for the bond between peers [29] as well as the values of honesty, integrity, responsibility, and prosociality [27].

Values are an important theme in the positive development of children and adolescents [1] as they have been considered as an important aspect in psychosocial and moral development. They can be defined as non-negotiable ideas, which constitute the basis by which the person acts autonomously, in any situation, in a positive, adequate, and valid way [30]. In their literature review [27], they have identified values for positive development in adolescents such as the following:

- (a) Social values which mark a good social relationship and a commitment to society and the community. These social values are prosociality (help, collaboration, and care of other people); social commitment (participation in community and social activities), and justice and social equality (interest in a fair and socially egalitarian world).
- (b) Personal values, which are related to the personal maturity that leads to consistent behavior with the principles assumed in life. They are integrity (behavior based on proper moral principles), responsibility (personal responsibility and assumption of one's decisions), and honesty (sincerity and communication of truth).
- (c) Individualistic values, which show individualistic culture. They are hedonism (achievement of one's own pleasure over other goals) and social recognition (being recognized and admired socially) [27]. It should be noted that these latter values (individualistic values) would be counter values for positive adolescent development.

Rodriguez et al. [31] studied values in the Argentinian population, correlating them with act penalization as faults and crimes. They found out that social values are positively correlated with act penalization and that, in particular, prosociality is a good predictor. These authors consider the importance of social values in the social framework and think that an adequate act penalization is necessary to sustain society.

Empathy is another important bond in socialization. Empathy is the capacity to understand the perspective of the other or the feelings and affections of the other, to put oneself in the place of the other [32, 33]. Eisenberg and Strayer [34] consider that empathy implies sharing the emotion that is perceived in the other, feeling with the other. For Davis [35, 36], empathy implies cognitive processes of understanding and adopting perspectives, as well as affective processes of sympathy and experiences of feelings coherent with the experiences of the other.

The approach to empathy has two major paths [29, 37]. The one emphasizes the importance of the cognitive in empathic processes by addressing empathy as a cognitive awareness of the internal states of other people, their thoughts, feelings, perceptions, intentions, etc. The second path focuses on the affective aspect, understanding empathy as an emotional vicarious response to the emotional experience perceived by others. Apart from the two paths mentioned in the study of empathy (cognitive or affective), multidimensional models of empathy have been developed. One of the greatest expert in empathy as a multidimensional variable with cognitive and affective components has been Davis [35, 36]. He considers that empathy implies cognitive processes of understanding and adopting perspectives, as well as sympathy affective processes and experiences of feelings coherent with the experiences of the other. His contribution to the measurement of this variable has been the Interpersonal Reactivity Index (IRI). This instrument is one of the most used in the world to measure empathy, providing cognitive components: (a) perspective taking is understood as the ability of people to put themselves in the place of the other; it implies spontaneous attempts of the person to adopt the perspective of the other in real situations of everyday life. (b) Fantasy evaluates the imaginative capacity to identify with fictional characters in films and literature. It also provides affective components: (c) empathic concern that includes feelings of concern, compassion, and affection toward others when they are in discomfort or in distress, that is to say, they are feelings oriented toward the other, and (d) personal distress that refers to the feelings of anxiety and discomfort toward negative facts of the others, that is to say that it implies feelings oriented to the self.

Values and empathy are important variables in peer relationships, particularly in friendship. Bukowski et al. [5] have studied the dimensions of friendship quality: Companionship, Conflict, Balance, Help, Security, and Closeness.

The present study aims to analyze the phenomena to find out if personal, social, and individualistic values and empathy may foster or thwart different dimensions of friendship quality. The sample comprised 411 adolescents, male and female, 47% boys and 53% girls, with an age range between 12 and 17 years old (M = 14.41SD = 1.21). The sample was obtained in Entre Ríos, Argentina. The Positive Youth Development Values Scale [27], Interpersonal Reactivity Index [36], and Friendship Quality Scale [5] were used to measure the variables. Hierarchical multiple regression was used to analyze data.

The results of this study have shown that personal values are important predictors for Balance, Help, Security, and Closeness. Perspective taking (empathy) is an important predictor for Help and Security. Empathic concern (empathy) is an important predictor for Balance, Help, Security, and Closeness. In turn, individualistic values negatively predict Balance and Help. These values positively predict Conflict (see Table 31.2). The results have shown that personal values, perspective taking, and empathic concern are important for friendship quality.

In Table 31.3 the values ungrouped can be seen. Honesty is the most important value to predict friendship quality.

The same results can be seen in Table 31.2 where the ungrouped values are found. It can be seen that honesty is one of the most important values that predicts friendship quality.

According to the research by Ciarrochi et al. [38], empathy is related to friendship support. They found out that a high level in empathy is more likely to have highly supportive friends. These results are similar to those in the present study where empathic concern is a good predictor of Companionship, Balance, Help, Security, and Closeness, which can be considered part of friendship support. This shows the importance of empathy in the construction of high-quality friendships, as Hayes and Ciarrochi [39] theorizes. These findings are similar to those of Chow et al. [40] who found out that empathy was positively related to intimacy and conflict management competences.

As it has been said, honesty is the sincerity and communication of truth. It is logical that this value is important in the communication between friends, since friendship is an intimate meeting between peers.

Friendship and Mental Health

Friendship plays a significant role in life and it contributes in many ways to well-lived life.

Friendship is very important for studying the intersection between the personal and the social. Friendship relations [41] offer specific provisions that cannot be obtained in other forms of relationship experience, and they provide unique forms of experience that have immediate effects on well-being. The challenges and opportunities posed by friendship have been well recognized by developmental psychologists.

In children and adolescents, and also in younger and older adults, friendship leads to positive feelings about the self and others and positive psychological health and well-being (e.g., lower levels of anxiety and depression, higher levels of self-esteem). Rubin and Bowker [4] consider that during childhood and adolescence, there is growing evidence that having at least one mutual friend can protect youth from peer victimization and its associated internalizing (e.g., anxiety) and externalizing (e.g., aggression) problems. Further, longitudinal studies found out that the benefits of having friendships during childhood and adolescence persists into adulthood and old age.

Friendless children and adolescents are more vulnerable to peer victimization and abuse. Rubin and Bowker [4] consider that there are also risks associated with friendships when the quality of the friendship is poor or highly conflictive. Individuals who have unsupportive friendships tend to report higher levels of psychological distress and also people with highly conflictive friendships (in which few conflicts are resolved in ways that are positive for both members of the relationship).

Friendship relationships are more important than peer status in terms of their association with adjustment. Popularity is related to children's and adolescent's feelings of belongingness, but friendship is especially related to feelings of loneliness. Although an individual who is considered more popular, is more likely to have friends, and accordingly feels less lonely.

	Dimension	ns of friend	ship quality									
	Companio	nship	Conflict		Balance		Help		Security		Closeness	
Variables	$\mathbb{R}^2/\Delta\mathbb{R}^2$	β	$\mathbb{R}^2/\Delta\mathbb{R}^2$	β	$\mathbb{R}^{2}/\Delta\mathbb{R}^{2}$	β	$\mathbb{R}^{2}/\Delta\mathbb{R}^{2}$	β	$\mathbb{R}^2/\Delta\mathbb{R}^2$	β	$\mathbb{R}^2/\Delta\mathbb{R}^2$	β
Step 1 Social values	.025*	013	.034**	134*	.085***	.017	.094***	.078	0.075***	.055	.081***	.079
Personal values		$.146^{*}$		025		.253***		.261***		.235***		.237***
Individual values		.058		.122*		164^{**}		024		104^{*}		014
Step 2 Social values	.04/.015	05	.045/.011	116	.116/.031**	053	.15/.057***	013	.143/.068***	042	.152/.072***	021
Personal values		$.133^{*}$		010		.214***		.206***		.175**		.185**
Individual values		.07		$.103^{*}$		134^{**}		.014		064		.020
Perspective taking		046		048		.065		.152**		.187**		860.
Fantasy		048		.106		041		025		.012		004
Empathic concern		.121		042		$.177^{**}$		$.146^{*}$.158**		.176**
Personal distress		.065		002		023		.035		025		860.
$p^* \geq 0.05 \ p^* \geq 0.01 \ m$	$p^{**} p \le 0.001$											

 Table 31.2
 Hierarchical multiple regression results for Argentinian adolescents (grouped)

	Dimension	ns of friends	ship quality									
	Companio	nship	Conflict		Balance		Help		Security		Closeness	
Variables	$\mathbb{R}^2/\Delta\mathbb{R}^2$	β	$\mathbb{R}^{2}/\Delta\mathbb{R}^{2}$	β	$\mathbb{R}^2/\Delta\mathbb{R}^2$	β	$\mathbb{R}^2/\Delta\mathbb{R}^2$	β	$\mathbb{R}^{2}/\Delta\mathbb{R}^{2}$	β	$\mathbb{R}^2/\Delta\mathbb{R}^2$	β
Step 1 Prosociality	.04*	00.	.05**	04	$.10^{***}$	03	$.12^{***}$	02	.09***	.01	.12***	07
Social commitment		60.		03		.01		.06		002		$.12^{*}$
Justice and social equality		11		08		.07		.07		.06		.07
Integrity		.04		60.		$.11^{*}$.07		.03		.06
Responsibility		.11		.02		.10		.01		.03		.003
Honesty		.06		14*		60.		$.26^{***}$.23***		.24***
Hedonism		.05		.08		.000		01		07		.05
Social recognition		004		.05		20^{***}		03		04		07
Step 2 Prosociality	.06/.02	03	.06/.01	04	.13/.03*	08	.17/.05***	08	.15/.06***	05	.19/.07***	15**
Social commitment		60.		03		004		.04		02		.11
Justice and social equality		12*		08		.04		.03		.01		.03
Integrity		.05		60.		$.11^*$.06		.02		.06
Responsibility		.11		.03		.10		.00		.03		004
Honesty		.03		13*		.05		.21***		$.18^{**}$		$.18^{**}$
Hedonism		.05		.07		600.		.01		05		.07
Social recognition		.01		.04		18**		002		004		045
Perspective taking		05		05		.06		.15**		$.19^{**}$		60.
Fantasy		04		.10		04		03		.01		01
Empathic doncern		.13*		02		$.17^{**}$.14*		$.14^{*}$.17**
Personal distress		.06		.003		01		.05		03		.12*
	2											

 Table 31.3
 Hierarchical multiple regression results for Argentinian adolescents (ungrouped)

 $p \le 0.05 \ ^{**}p \le 0.01 \ ^{***}p \le 0.01 \ ^{***}p \le 0.001$

Friendship is a relationship that makes contributions to people development, social adjustment and well-being. The developmental approach to friendship suggests that the effects of friendship are not the same at every age. Friendship relationships are especially important across childhood and adolescence.

References

- Leman PJ, Smith EP, Petersen AC, SRCD Ethnic– Racial Issues and International Committees. Introduction to the special section of child development on positive youth development in diverse and global contexts. Child Dev. 2017;88:1039–44. https:// doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12860.
- Bagwell CL, Schmidt ME. Friendships in childhood and adolescence. New York: The Guilford Press; 2011.
- Eastwick PW, Finkel EJ. Reciprocity of Liking. In: Reis HT, Sprecher S, editors. Encyclopedia of human relationships, vol. 3. Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications, Inc; 2009. p. 1333–6.
- Rubin KH, Bowker JC. Friendship. In: Bornstein M, Arterberry ME, Fingerman KL, Lansford JE, editors. The SAGE encyclopedia of lifespan human development. 1st ed. Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications; 2017.
- Bukowski WM, Hoza B, Boivin M. Measuring friendship quality during pre- and early adolescence: the development and psychometrics of the friendship qualities scale. J Soc Pers Relat. 1994;11:471–85.
- Rubin KH, Bukowski WM, Parker JG. Peer interactions, relationships, and groups. In: Eisenberg N, Damon W, Lerner RM, editors. Handbook of child psychology: social, emotional, and personality development. Nueva York: Wiley; 2006. p. 571–645.
- Fine GA. Friends, impression management, and preadolescent behaviour. In: Asher SR, Gottman JM, editors. The development of children's friendships. New York: Cambridge University Press; 1981. p. 29–52.
- Resett SA, Rodriguez LM, Moreno JE. Evaluación de la calidad de la amistad en niños argentinos. Acta Psiquiatr Psicol Am Lat. 2013;59(2):94–103.
- Rodriguez LM, Resett SA, Grinóvero MMP, Moreno JE. Propiedades psicométricas de la Escala de Calidad de la Amistad en español. Anuario de Psicología/The UB Journal of Psychology. 2015;45(2):219–34.
- 10. Moreno JE, Resett S. La calidad de la amistad en niños de edad escolar. Actas de las XVIII Jornadas de Investigación de la Facultad de Psicología de la Universidad de Buenos Aires (UBA) y VII Encuentro de investigadores del Mercosur. Buenos Aires: Facultad de Psicología de la Universidad de Buenos Aires; 2011. p. 97–100.

- Rodriguez LM, Moreno JE. Percepció de la relaciófill-pares i vinclesd'amistat parental, en infants i preadolescents. Anuari de Psicologia de la Societat Valenciana de Psicologia. 2016;17(2):151–64.
- Hartup WW, Laursen B. Contextual constraints and children's friendship relations. Paper presented at the biennial meetings of the Society for Research in Child Development, Kansas Cit. April 1989.
- Lohre A, Lydersen S, Vatten. Factors associated with internalizing or somatic symptoms in a cross-sectional study of school children in grades 1–10. Child Adolesc Psychiat Mental Health. 2010;4(1):33–41.
- Harris RA, Qualter P, Robinson SJ. Loneliness trajectories from middle childhood to pre-adolescence: impact on perceived health and sleep disturbance. J Adolesc. 2013;36(6):1295–304.
- Richaud de Minzi MC, Sacchi C. Adolescent loneliness assessment. Adolescence. 2004;39(156):701–10.
- 16. Richaud de Minzi MC, Sacchi C, Moreno JE. Tipos de influencia parental, socialización y afrontamiento de la amenaza en la infancia. Buenos Aires: Argentina: 1° Informe Subsidio de la Agencia Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnología y del Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas. 2001; (PICT 1999 04-06300).
- Weiss RS. Loneliness: the experience of emotional and social isolation. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 1973.
- Terrell-Deutsch B. The conceptualization and measurement of childhood loneliness. In: Rotenberg KJ, Hymel S, editors. Loneliness in social isolation. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 1999. p. 11–33.
- Bukowski WM, Hoza B. Popularity and friendship: issues in theory, measurement, and outcome. In: Berndt TJ, Ladd GW, editors. Peer relationships in child development. New York: Wiley; 1989. p. 15–45.
- Parker JG, Asher SR. Friendship and friendship quality in middle childhood: links with peer group acceptance and feelings of loneliness and social dissatisfaction. Dev Psychol. 1993;29(4):611–21.
- Goossens L. Emotion, affect, and loneliness in adolescence. In: Jackson S, Goossens L, editors. Handbook of adolescent development. Hove: Psychology Press; 2008.
- Richaud de Minzi MC. Loneliness and depression in middle and late childhood. Its relationship to attachment and parental styles. J Genetic Psychol. 2006;167(2):189–210.
- Rokach A, Brock H. Loneliness: a multidimensional experience. Psychol J Human Behav. 1997;34(1):1–9.
- Rokach A, Brock H. The effects of gender, marital status, and the chronicity and immediacy of loneliness. J Soc Behav Pers. 1995;10(4):833–48.
- Marcoen A, Brumagne M. Loneliness among children and young adolescents. Dev Psychol. 1985;21:1025–31.
- Marcoen A, Goossens L, Caes P. Loneliness in prethrough late adolescence: exploring the contributions of a multidimensional approach. J Youth Adolesc. 1987;16(6):561–77.

- Antolín Suárez A, Oliva Delgado A, Pertegal Vega MA, López Jiménez AM. Desarrollo y validación de una escala de valores para el desarrollo positivo adolescente. Psicothema. 2011;23(1):153–9.
- Catalano RF, Berglund ML, Ryan JAM, Lonczak HS, Hawkins D. Positive youth development in the United States: research findings on evaluations of positive youth development programs. Ann Am Acad Polit Soc Sci. 2004;591:98–124.
- 29. Hoffman ML. Empathy and moral development: implications for caring and justice. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press; 2001.
- Quintana Cabanas MJ. Pedagogía familiar. Madrid: Narcea SA; 1993.
- 31. Rodriguez LM, Schönfeld F, Hess CD, Moreno JE, Benitez MR. Valores y penalización de actos. Un estudio para el desarrollo positivo en adolescentes. Memorias del IX Congreso Internacional de Investigación y Práctica Profesional en Psicología. Psicología del Desarrollo. Tomo 3. Buenos Aires: Facultad de Psicología, Universidad de Buenos Aires; 2017. p. 78–80.
- Sánchez-Queija I, Oliva A, Parra Á. Empatía y conducta prosocialdurante la adolescencia. Revista de Psicología Social. 2006;21(3):259–71.
- Martí Vilar M. Lousado Marques de Pereira D. Relación entre cognición y conducta moral. In: En Martí Vilar M, editor. Razonamiento moral y prosocialidad. Fundamentos. Madrid: Editorial CCS; 2010. p. 49–74.

- Eisenberg N, Strayer J. La empatía y su desarrollo. Bilbao: DDB; 1992.
- Davis MH. A multidimensional approach to individual differences in empathy. Cat Sel Doc Psychol. 1980;10(85):1–17.
- Davis MH. Measuring individual differences in empathy: Evidence for a multidimensional approach. J Pers Soc Psychol. 1983;44:113–26.
- Mehrabian A, Epstein N. A measure of emotional empathy. J Pers. 1972;40:525–43.
- Ciarrochi J, Parker P, Sahdra B, Kashdan T, Kiuru N, Conigrave J. When empathy matters. The role of sex and empathy in close friendships. J Pers. 2017;85(4):494–504.
- 39. Hayes L, Ciarrochi J. The thriving adolescent: using acceptance and commitment therapy and positive psychology to help young people manage emotions, achieve goals, and build positive relationships. Oakland: Context Press; 2015.
- 40. Chow CM, Ruhl H, Buhrmester D. The mediating role of interpersonal competence between adolescents' empathy and friendship quality: a dyadic approach. J Adolesc. 2013;36(1):191–200.
- Bukowski WM, Simard M, Dubois ME, Lopez L. Representations, process, and development: a new look at friendship in early adolescence. In: Adolescent vulnerabilities and opportunities: developmental and constructivist perspectives. Cambridge: University Press; 2011. p. 159–81.



Bullying and Cyberbullying in Adolescents: A Meta-analysis on the Effectiveness of Interventions

32

Santiago Resett and Belén Mesurado

Introduction

Bullying and cyberbullying are considered important risk factors for the mental health of adolescents due to its association with numerous problems of psychosocial adjustment on a personal, interpersonal, and school level [1, 2]. In the last years, many interventions programmes have been developed and implemented with the purpose of reducing bullying and cyberbullying. Although there are several meta-analyses studying the effectiveness of these programmes, no meta-analytic review jointly analyses the effectiveness of interventions on both types of bullying. Consequently, the objective of this chapter is to compare together the effectiveness of the intervention programmes in the prevention of bullying and cyberbullying towards the perpetrator and the victim.

B. Mesurado

Bullying: Definitions and Types

First, bullying exists when a person or group repeatedly exposes an individual (or group) to negative actions. Second, such acts must be carried out with the intention of damaging or attacking. Finally, intimidation is based on an inequality of forces between the victim and the aggressor; usually the victim is weaker or has less power than the perpetrator [3–5].

Bullying can be carried out in different ways: verbal (nicknames, insults, etc.), physical (hitting, kicking, etc.), and indirectly, that is, without direct physical or verbal contact with the victim [6, 7], spread rumours, damage the reputation of another student, or exclusion (e.g. leave a student out of a group intentionally, not invite him or her to a party). Nowadays, bullying through the use of cell phones and/or computers – for example, sending rude and hurtful messages with these devices – has given rise to a new type of abuse called cyberbullying or electronic bullying [8, 9].

Although cyberbullying is debated about how to be defined and measured [10] [11], most researchers agree that cyberbullying is a kind of intentional aggression and harmful behaviour that occurs with electronic medium [12], such as computers and mobile phone, resulting in a power of imbalance [13, 14].

Some authors suggest that cyberbullying is merely an extension of bullying executed through new technologies of information and

S. Resett (🖂)

Instituto de Filosofía, Universidad Austral - Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas (CONICET) - Universidad Argentina de la Empresa (UADE), Buenos Aires, Argentina

Centro Interdisciplinario de Investigaciones en Psicología Matemática y Experimental (CIIPME)-Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones, Científicas y Técnicas (CONICET), Instituo de Filosofía, Universidad Austral, Pilar, Buenos Aires, Argentina e-mail: bmesurado@austral.edu.ar

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_32

communication (NTIC) [9, 15–17]. For instance, Williams and Guerra [18] argue that technological devices only provide an additional medium through which bullying can occur. Considering this argument, one might anticipate that the core characteristics of cyberbullying are no different from bullying. In line with this, some researchers detected a significant overlap between victimization and cybervictimization, specifically among adolescent samples [19, 20]. On the other hand, other authors suggest that cyberbullying differs from bullying in some important aspects or features (e.g. anonymity, massive audience, disinhibition, among others). They suggested that – although they may share features in common - cyberbullying is, in some way, different from bullying [8, 12, 21] and, for example, it is perpetrated by somewhat different groups of adolescents [14, 22, 23]. For instance, Kubiszewsli et al. [23] and Resett and Gámez-Guadix [24] detected little overlap between those who perpetrated bullying and those involved in cyberbullying. Perhaps, the little overlap between bullying and cyberbullying may be due to the fact that, although they are related phenomena, cyberbullying can occur in any time and any place (for instance, outside school), making more difficult for adults to monitor and detect it [25]. It is anonymous, and this fact increases disinhibition [11] and increases potential audience in a larger and huge manner [16].

Nowadays, cyberbullying is very frequent between adolescents, mainly in middle adolescence [26]. For instance, Tokunaga [27] detected that 20–40% of young adolescence has been victims. However, figures vary across researches [8]. In general, the prevalence rates of cybervictimization range across investigations from 10% to 35% [8, 15, 25, 28, 29]. Regarding aggressors, studies indicated that 11–44% are perpetrators of cyberbullying [30]. So, the escalation of cyberbullying has become an issue of increasing concern for teachers, parents, adolescents, and school communities [31]. However, the research on cyberbullying is still in its beginnings compared to bullying [32, 33].

Bullying, Cyberbullying, and Mental Health Problems

Both being a victim of bullying and being a perpetrator are risk factors for the psychopathology of development. Those who are victims present higher levels of emotional problems: greater anxiety, depression, and worse self-esteem than noninvolved groups [3, 5, 34, 35]. The aggressors, on the other hand, show higher levels of externalizing problems: antisocial behaviour, substances use, as well as greater impulsivity and attention problems, among others [36-38]. A recent metaanalysis from 18 longitudinal studies with adolescents detected the association between victimization with emotional, behavioural, and interpersonal problems, while finding the association between bullying and externalizing problems, interpersonal issues, and poor school performance [39].

Regarding cybervictimization and psychological functioning, it has been related to a variety of psychological problems, such as depression, anxiety, low self-esteem, low selfconcept, and, in some cases, suicide attempts [5, 11]. Regarding cyberbullying some authors argue that cyberaggressors do not present more emotional problems, but they engage in externalizing problems. In fact, cyberbullies score better in mental health compared to noninvolved adolescents [37, 40, 41]. However, some recent investigations found that being a cyberperpetrator was linked to poor psychological adjustments [42-45]. For instance, some studies detected that cyberaggressors showed more psychological difficulties and poorer quality of life [46]. In addition, Bauman, Toomey, and Walker [47] demonstrated that cyberbullying was related to suicide attempts in males, while Hinduja and Patchin [48] detected this link in both sexes. Researchers suggested that these results demonstrate a lack of understanding for the perpetrators in their own behaviour, so they possibly engaged in one act of online bullying that quickly escalated, becoming a bigger problem [45].

Bullying, Cyberbullying, and Intervention Programmes

Due to the important risk factor, that is, bullying and cyberbullying, for the mental health of adolescents, a central aspect is to develop effective interventions to reduce such problems. Therefore, many school-based programmes have been devised and implemented in an attempt to reduce bullying and in recent years, to reduce cyberbullying, as well. In 1983, the first large-scale anti-bullying programme was implemented in Bergen, Norway [3, 4, 49]. This programme showed a significant decrease in victimization of about half after the programme [3, 49]. The Olweus Bullying Prevention Programme is recognized by the Center for the Study and Prevention of Violence as 1 of only 11 Blueprints Model Programmes and by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration as a model programme in this respect. However, although Olweus programme showed a significant effect in preventing bullying in primary school children, it was less effective in adolescents. Moreover, its effectiveness was less intense in other countries, such as the United States [50, 51]. A recent meta-analysis [52] included 79 studies regarding anti-bullying programme from 2009 until 2018 suggesting similar percentage of reduction for bullying and victimization: 19-20% and 18-19%, respectively.

In recent years, another programme that demonstrated an important reduction of bullying in children and adolescents was the KiVa, an acronym for *Kiusaamista Vastaan*, "against bullying" [53, 54]. KiVa was developed and implemented in Finland and is currently being extrapolated to other countries, even Latin-American countries, such as Argentina, Perú, Colombia, and Chile, among others. KiVa programme was implemented in 8237 children and showed to be effective in reducing school bullying and victimization [54]. However, a drawback of this intervention is that it has been more effective in children and there is much less evidence of its effectiveness in other countries besides Finland.

Compared to bullying, fewer intervention programmes have been developed to reduce cyberbullying, and – even – many anti-bullying programmes were extrapolated to cyberbullying. Many authors [55] suggested that research on effective anti-cyberbullying intervention is lacking. One could suppose that efforts aimed to reduce bullying are expected to also be effective in reducing cyberbullying because of the considerable overlap between cyberbullying and bullying [56–58]. However, other authors argue that because there is not a perfect overlap between bullying and cyberbullying, it is necessary to improve or create evidence-based cyberbullying prevention programme [55, 59]. There is a metaanalysis study [60] that evaluated programme against bullying and cyberbullying that included 17 researches, but its problems were that focus on school-aged children only included studies from the United States, Australia, and North Europe, and research was performed from 2000 until 2013. With rapid changes and development of new technologist of information and communication (NTIC), in only 5 years important changes may have occurred with respect to cyberbullying and its associated behaviours.

One of the most accurate evaluated programmes against cyberbullying is "Media Heroes" (Medienhelden), a German school-based programme that attempts to raise students' awareness about risks associated with new technologies, to increase empathy and social responsibility, and to teach abilities to defend oneself and others from cyberbullying [61]. Two randomized investigations detected that the programme significantly reduced cyberbullying [61, 62].

About the intervention programmes for cyberbullying in Spanish populations, Cyberprogramme 2.0 [63] and ConRed [64, 65] are the best known with some evidence in the reduction of cyberbullying. However, the problem for above-mentioned programmes is that its effectiveness has not been proven in other countries.

This Study

In the last years, different meta-analytic reviews analysed the effectiveness of bullying and cyberbullying intervention programmes [59, 66, 67]. Baldry and Farrington [66] studied the effectiveness of 16 anti-bullying programmes implemented in 11 different nations, and they pointed out that 8 programmes produced desirable results, 2 produced mixed results, 4 produced small or negligible effects, and 2 generated undesirable effects. Although these results were optimistic, Baldry and Farrington [66] affirmed their meta-analysis was not enough evidence to confirm the efficacy of the anti-bullying programmes, because some studies did not have strong research designs and lacked of key information.

Mishna et al. [67] evaluated three programmes on cyberbullying (two implemented in the United States and one in Canada). The programmes were the US-developed I-SAFE curriculum, the Missing Programme, and Help-Assert Yourself-Humor-Avoid-Self-Talk-Own It. In general, Mishna et al. [67] found that the programmes increased Internet safety knowledge but did not impact online behaviour. In other reviews, Van Cleemput et al. [59] examined 15 programmes, and they included 6 programmes in their metaanalysis. The remainders were excluded for different reasons: case studies, problems with study design, and no outcomes for cyberbullying behaviour, among others. Results suggested that the overall effects of cyberbullying programmes were modest, but significant, with some of them yielding greater reductions. These programmes include social skills training, use of peer educators, and information for teachers, staff, and families. others **[68]**. Other recent among meta-analysis [55] for school-aged children and adolescents included 15 studies that used randomized controlled trials to evaluate programmes against cyberbullying detected. That programme reduced cyberbullying perpetration by approximately 10–15% and cybervictimization by 14%. They pointed out that future investigation needs to address, to develop specific anti-bullying programmes, and to evaluate the overlapping between bullying and cyberbullying.

Although there are several meta-analyses studying the effectiveness of bullying and cyberbullying intervention programmes, no meta-analytic review jointly analyses the effectiveness of interventions on both bullying and cyberbullying

in adolescents. Several authors indicated the importance of utilizing evidence based on antibullying programmes to better inform cyberbullying intervention [56], such as top-down methods of cyberbullying programmes (e.g. the Barlett and Gentile Cyberbullying Model) [69]. However, effectiveness of anti-cyberbullying programmes is unclear, yet. In addition, something that is not clear is the extent to which cyberbullying interventions are so effective compared to bullying. In line with this, Gaffney et al. [55] asked themself if school-based programmes should target bullying and cyberbullying concurrently or separately. So, the strengths of this chapter are two: (1) conduct jointly a review of scientific studies to reduce bullying, victimization, cyberbullying, and cybervictimization in adolescents and (2) include wide range of studies in Spanish, English, and Portuguese languages.

Based on this background, the objective of this meta-analysis is to analyse the effectiveness of bullying and cyberbullying interventions in adolescents aged 10–19 years, published between 2000 and July 2018 inclusive in English, Spanish, and Portuguese. We also studied whether intervention programmes have any variation in its effectiveness on perpetrator and victim of traditional bullying and cyberbullying.

Method

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

The inclusion and exclusion criteria for this meta-analytic review were aspects of population and methodological design of the studies. Concerning the population, we selected interventions on bullying or cyberbullying for adolescents ranging between the ages of 10 and 19 for both sexes. Although adolescence begins at around 11–12 years of age for many authors [70, 71], the age of 10 was taken into consideration because many studies included it and it was very close to the beginning of adolescence. Besides, in some cases, many subjects have already gone through the puberty changes that give rise to it. We also excluded in this meta-analytic review

intervention focusing on children and adults - as, for example, teachers or parents - or intervention focusing on non-community participants (for instance, adolescents with generalized anxiety disorder). Moreover, concerning methodological design, we included interventions that discourage bullying and cyberbullying in adolescents, and that include intervention with and without control groups. The duration of the intervention and follow-up measures were not considered an inclusion criterion. We included interventions with significant and non-significant results in comparison between the treatment and the control group or between the pre- and post-test in the treatment group. We also included interventions carried out inside and outside of the school settings. Finally, we selected publications appearing between 2000 until July 2018 and only those written in English, Spanish, or Portuguese. Studies published in other languages were excluded.

Search Strategy

We used the following databases to do the review of the literature: Dialnet, EBSCO Host, JSTOR, ScienceDirect, SciELO, NCBI, PsycINFO, and Latindex. We performed the search in July 2018, and papers published in English, Spanish, and Portuguese were included. The search keywords used for this meta-analysis were "bullying", "cyberbullying", "victimization", and "harassment"; and the following terms were employed in order to comply with the intervention criteria: "intervention", "outcome", "programme", and "treatment". The search was carried out by combining each of the key terms, for example, bullying and intervention, bullying and programme, etc.

Data Extraction

Three researchers carried out the selection of papers from the database following the inclusion criteria. The selection of studies was made in two stages or steps. In the first step, researchers evaluated the pertinence of the study through the title and abstract of the paper. In the second, researchers evaluated the full text of the paper. Researchers agreed a final list of papers with discrepancies resolved by consensus. Finally, 17 [17] papers of bullying intervention and 11 [11] papers of cyberbullying intervention were left because they fulfilled all of the inclusion criteria, and the data needed to perform the analysis was extracted from them. The information retrieved included author and year of study, intervention (duration, location), sample characteristics (age group and mean, gender ratio), and methodological design.

Statistical Analyses

The Comprehensive Meta-Analysis Programme (version 2) was used to calculate forest plot, funnel plot, and heterogeneity. In the case of dichotomous outcomes, odds ratio was extracted from articles, and in the case of continuous outcomes, mean and standard deviation or t test, F-statistic, and sample size were extracted from articles. Then, this statistical information was transformed Comprehensive (using Meta-Analysis Programme) to calculate standard differences of mean to allow across study comparisons. When a study had multiple measures for the same outcome, for example, physical and verbal bullying, we calculated an overall effect size averaging the individual effect sizes.

Moreover, we calculated Q statistic and the I^2 statistic to measure statistical heterogeneity between the studies. A non-significant Q statistic and an I^2 statistic smaller than 50 indicates absence of heterogeneity between the studies.

Finally, we used funnel plots and the failsafe number to study the publication bias. If the fail-safe number is greater than 5 k + 10 (k is the number of articles included in meta-analytic review), it is considered that it is unlikely that the number of unpublished articles with null results would change the significant findings of the meta-analytic review to statistical non-significance.

Results

Figure 32.1 shows the search and selection process of studies included in the meta-analytic review. We identified 5763 studies through databases (see Fig. 32.1). Subsequently, we selected 96 articles for a comprehensive review and finally 16 articles (which include 19 studies) were included in the final traditional bullying metaanalysis. Fourteen articles (which include 17 studies) were included in the final traditional victimization meta-analysis. Eleven articles (which include 14 studies) were included in the final cyberbullying meta-analysis. Finally, eight articles (which include nine studies) were included in the final cybervictimization meta-analysis (see Fig. 32.1).

Meta-analytic Review of Effectiveness of Traditional Bullying and Traditional Victimization Interventions

A total of 23,394 adolescents participated in the studies of traditional bullying intervention (12,964 adolescents were included in the treatment group, the other were included in the control group) and 27,386 adolescents participated in the studies of traditional victimization interventions (13,725 adolescents were included in the treatment group).

Concerning effect sizes of traditional bullying intervention were of standard differences of mean = -0.25 (95% CI = -0.33, -0.17, Z-value = -5.88, $p \le 0.001$) favouring the intervention condition in the prevention of bullying using random model and standard differences of mean = -0.18 using fix model (95% CI = -0.21, -0.15, Z-value = -12.59, $p \le 0.001$). The forest plot results can be seen in Fig. 32.2. Heterogeneity of studies was significant (*Q*-value = 107.31, df = 18, p = < 0.001, $I^2 = 83.22\%$). Besides, effect sizes of traditional victimization intervention were of standard differences of mean = -0.14 (95% CI = -0.23, -0.04, Z-value = -2.78, $p \le 0.01$) favouring the intervention condition in the prevention of victimization using random model and standard differences of mean = -0.11 using fix model (95% CI = -0.14, -0.09, Z-value = -8.40, $p \le 0.001$). The forest plot results can be seen in Fig. 32.3. Heterogeneity of studies was significant (*Q*-value = 163.45, df = 16, p = < 0.001, $I^2 = 90.2\%$).

Publication Bias

Finally, we did not detect publication bias, as the funnel plot shown was symmetrical for all analyses (see Fig. 32.4). Moreover, the potential impact of unpublished studies on the analysis was calculated with fail-safe number obtaining a value of 794. We estimated that there is no publication bias because it is unlikely that 794 articles would be found with statistical non-significance.

Meta-analytic Review of Effectiveness of Cyberbullying and Cybervictimization Interventions

A total of 9990 adolescents participated in the studies of cyberbullying intervention (5532 adolescents were included in the treatment group, the other were included in the control group), and 7627 adolescents participated in the studies of cybervictimization interventions (4590 adolescents were included in the treatment group).

Concerning effect sizes of cyberbullying intervention were of standard differences of mean = -0.19 (95% CI = -0.30, -0.08, Z-value = -3.31, $p \le 0.001$) favouring the intervention condition in the prevention of cyberbullying using random model and standard differences of mean = -0.11 using fixed model (95% CI = -0.15, -0.07, Z-value = -5.32, $p \le 0.001$). The forest plot results can be seen in Fig. 32.5. Heterogeneity of studies was signifi-



Fig. 32.1 Flowchart of the screening process of 24 articles identified during systematic searches of 5763 search results

cant (*Q*-value = 77.55, df = 13, p = < 0.001, $l^2 = 83.23\%$).

Moreover, effect sizes of cybervictimization intervention were of standard differences of mean = -0.13 (95% CI = -0.23, -0.04, Z-value = -2.68, $p \le 0.01$) favouring the intervention condition in the prevention of cybervictimization using random model and standard differences of mean = -0.08 using fix model (95% CI = -0.12, -0.03, Z-value = -3.43, $p \le 0.001$). The forest plot results can be seen in Fig. 32.6. Heterogeneity of studies was significant (*Q*-value = 29.85, df = 8, $p \le 0.001$, $I^2 = 73.2\%$).

Publication Bias

Finally, the funnel plot does not show a symmetrical distribution for all analyses (see Fig. 32.7). However, the potential impact of unpublished studies on the analysis was calculated with fail-

Model	Study name	Outcome			Stati	tics for each	study			Std diff in means and 95% CI
			Std diff in means	Standard	Variance	Lower limit	Upper limit	Z-Value	p-Value	-1,00 -0.50 0.00 0.50 1,00
	Allen, 2010	Bullying	-0.270	0,064	0,004	-0,396	-0,144	-4,207	0,000	0
	Bell, 2010	Bullying	-0,166	0,058	0,003	-0,280	-0.051	-2,841	0,005	6
	Berry, 2009	Bullying	-0,814	0,301	0,091	-1,404	-0.223	-2,700	0,007	7
	Claux long, 2016	Bullying	-0,309	0,086	0,007	-0,477	-0,140	-3,591	0,000	0
	Claux short, 2016	Bullying	-0,256	0,102	0,010	-0,456	-0.057	-2,519	0,012	2
	da Silva, 2016	Bullying	-0,043	0,227	0,051	-0,487	0,401	-0,192	0,848	8
	Del Rey, 2016	Bullying	-0.428	0.076	0,006	-0,577	-0.279	-5,618	0,000	0 +
	Espelage, 2013	Combine	-0,205	0,039	0,001	-0,280	-0,129	-5,287	0,000	0
	Garaigordobil, 2015	Bullying	-0,185	0,151	0,023	-0,482	0,111	-1,225	0,220	0
	Gusmoes, 2018	Bullying	0.032	0.054	0,003	-0.074	0.139	0,592	0.554	4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
	Kama, 2011	Bullying	-0.138	0.022	0.000	-0,181	-0.095	-6.225	0.000	0 +
	Palladino, 2016	Bullying	-0.227	0,090	0,008	-0,403	-0.050	-2,520	0.012	2
	Stelko-Pereira, 2016	Bullying	-0.297	0,121	0.015	-0.534	-0.059	-2.447	0.014	4 +
	Stevents with support, 2000	Bullying	-0.015	0,091	0,008	-0,193	0,164	-0,163	0,870	0
	Stevents without support, 2000	Bullying	-0.014	0.094	0.009	-0.199	0.171	-0.149	0.882	2
	Trip (REBE-VISC), 2015	Bullying	-0,133	0,107	0,011	-0,342	0.077	-1,239	0,215	5
	Trip (VISC-REBE), 2015	Bullying	-0.181	0,110	0.012	-0.398	0.035	-1,642	0,101	1
	Wojcik, 2018	Bullying	-1,281	0,187	0,035	-1,647	-0.915	-6,867	0.000	0 -
	Wong, 2011	Bullying	-0.629	0.089	0.008	-0.804	-0.454	-7.041	0.000	0
Fixed			-0,182	0,014	0,000	-0,210	-0,153	-12,589	0,000	0 +
Random			-0,249	0.042	0.002	-0,333	-0,166	-5.875	0.000	0

Fig. 32.2 Effect sizes for prevention of traditional bullying

Model	Study name	Outcome			Statis	itics for each	study				Std dill	f in means and	95% CI		
			Std diff in means	Standard error	Variance	Lower limit	Upper limit	Z-Value	p-Value	-1,00	-0,50	0,00	0,50	1,00	Ē.
	Allen, 2010	Victimization	0,107	0,064	0,004	-0.018	0,232	1,680	0,093			++-		1	
	Bauer, 2007	Combine	-0.023	0.032	0,001	-0,085	0,040	-0,703	0,482			+			
	Bell, 2010	Victimization	0,107	0.058	0,003	-0.007	0,221	1,835	0,067			++			
	Claux long, 2016	Victimization	-0,250	0,085	0,007	-0,417	-0,083	-2,936	0,003		-				
	Claux short, 2016	Victimization	-0.017	0,101	0.010	-0.215	0,181	-0.167	0.867			-			
	da Silva, 2016	Victimization	0,143	0,227	0,051	-0,301	0,588	0,632	0,527				-		
	Del Rey, 2016	Victimization	-0.535	0.078	0.006	-0.688	-0.382	-6.865	0.000			1.1			
	Espelage, 2013	Victimization	-0.023	0,038	0,001	-0,097	0.052	-0,593	0.553			+			
	Garaigordobil, 2015	Victimization	-0.269	0,152	0.023	-0,567	0.028	-1,776	0.076		-				
	Gusmoes, 2018	Victimization	-0.052	0,048	0.002	-0,145	0.041	-1,093	0.275			-++			
	Kama, 2011	Combine	-0.194	0.022	0.000	-0.238	-0.151	-8,757	0.000			+			
	Palladino, 2016	Victimization	-1,074	0,115	0,013	-1,299	-0,849	-9,361	0.000	-					
	Stelko-Pereira, 2016	Victimization	-0.076	0,119	0.014	-0,309	0,157	-0.639	0.523		-				
	Stevents with support, 2000	Victimization	0,015	0,091	0,008	-0,164	0,193	0,162	0,871			-			
	Stevents without support, 2000	Victimization	-0.014	0.094	0.009	-0.199	0,171	-0.148	0.882						
	Trip (REBE-V/SC), 2015	Victimization	-0,099	0,107	0,011	-0,309	0,110	-0,928	0,353		-				
	Trip (VISC-REBEL 2015	Victimization	-0,103	0,110	0.012	-0.319	0,113	-0.936	0.349		-				
wed			-0,111	0,013	0,000	-0,137	-0,085	-8,404	0,000			+			
mohom			-0.135	0.049	0.002	-0.231	-0.040	-2.782	0.005						

Fig. 32.3 Effect sizes for prevention of traditional victimization



Funnel Plot of Standard Error by Std diff in means

Fig. 32.4 Funnel plot of articles of traditional bullying intervention and traditional victimization intervention

Model	Study name	Outcome			Stati	stics for each	study				Std diff in	n means and	95% CI		
			Std dill in means	Standard error	Variance	Lower limit	Upper limit	Z-Value	p-Value	-1,00	0,50	0.00	0,50	1,00	
	Claux, 2016 (Long intervention)	Cyberbullying	-0,263	0,086	0,007	-0,431	-0,095	-3,073	0,002	1	1-+	- 1	1	1	
	Claux, 2016 (Short intervention)	Cyberbullying	-0,141	0,102	0.010	-0.340	0.058	-1,385	0,166		-	+++			
	Cross, 2015	Cyberbullying	0,000	0,035	0,001	-0,069	0,069	0,000	1,000			+			
	Del Rey, 2016	Cyberbullying	-0.094	0,127	0,016	-0.343	0,155	-0,738	0,460						
	Desmet, 2018	Cyberbullying	-0,007	0,068	0,005	-0,141	0,126	-0,110	0,912			-			
	Garaigordobil, 2015	Cyberbullying	-0,562	0,154	0.024	-0.864	-0.260	-3.652	0.000						
	Grandier, 2016	Cyberbullying	-0,183	0,045	0,002	-0,271	-0.095	-4,080	0,000		-				
	Martinez-Vichis, 2018	Cyberbullying	-0.261	0,153	0.024	-0.561	0.040	-1,701	0.089		+	-			
	Palladino, 2016	Cyberbulling	-0.524	0.112	0.013	-0.745	-0.304	-4.660	0.000	_	+				
	Schultze-Krumbholz, 2016 (Short intervention)	Cyberbullying	0.010	0,101	0.010	-0,188	0.208	0.095	0.924		1 .	\rightarrow			
	Schultzer-Krumbholz, 2016 [Long intervention]	Cyberbullying	0,089	0.085	0.007	-0.078	0.256	1,042	0.297			++-	-		
	Tanrikulu, 2015	Cyberbuling	-3.375	0.647	0.418	-4.643	-2.107	-5.217	0.000						
	Wolfer, 2013 (Long intervention)	Cyberbullying	-0.296	0.093	0.009	-0.478	-0,114	-3,186	0.001			-			
	Wolfer, 2013 (Short intevention)	Cyberbullying	-0.108	0.114	0.013	-0.331	0.116	-0.944	0.345		-	++-			
Fixed			-0.108	0.020	0.000	-0.148	-0.068	-5.322	0.000			+			
Random			-0 188	0.057	0.003	-0.300	-0.077	-3.307	0.001		-				

Fig. 32.5 Effect sizes for prevention of cyberbullying

Model	Study name	Outcome			Static	stics for each	study				Std diff	in means and	1 95% CI		
			Std diff in means	Standard error	Variance	Lower limit	Upper limit	Z-Value	p-Value	-1,00	-0,50	0,00	0,50	1,00	
	Claux, 2016 (Long intervention)	Cybervictimization	-0.143	0,085	0,007	-0,309	0.024	-1,680	0.093			+ +	1		
	Claux, 2016 (Short intervention)	Cybervictimization	0.031	0,102	0.010	-0.169	0.231	0.304	0.761				8		
	Cross, 2015	Cybervictimization	-0.031	0.037	0,001	-0,104	0,042	-0,839	0,401			+			
	Del Rey. 2016	Cybervictimization	0.000	0.079	0.006	-0.155	0,156	0.003	0.998						
	Desmet, 2018	Cybervictimization	0.000	0,068	0,005	-0,133	0,134	0,003	0,998			-			
	Garaigordobil, 2015	Cybervictimization	-0.537	0.154	0.024	-0.839	-0.236	-3,496	0.000			8			
	Grandier, 2016	Cybervictimization	-0.078	0,045	0.002	-0,166	0.010	-1,745	0,081						
	Martinez-Vichis, 2018	Cybervictimization	-0.446	0,158	0.025	-0.756	-0.136	-2.823	0.005	24					
	Palladino, 2016	Cybervictimization	-0,431	0,112	0,013	-0,651	-0,211	-3,845	0.000		-+				
wed			-0.077	0,022	0,001	-0,121	-0.033	-3,433	0.001			+			
andom			-0,133	0.050	0,002	-0,230	-0.036	-2,683	0,007						

Fig. 32.6 Effect sizes for prevention of cybervictimization



Fig. 32.7 Funnel plot of articles of cyberbullying intervention

safe number obtaining a value of 185. We estimated that there is no publication bias because it is unlikely that 185 articles would be found with statistical non-significance.

Conclusions

Bullying and cyberbullying are important risk factors for mental health of both perpetrator and victims. For example, in extreme cases the victims of both types of aggression can commit suicide or perpetrate school massacres. On the other hand, bullying is an ethical problem that violates human rights, especially the rights of the child and adolescent [72]. Consequently, it was crucial to analyse the effectiveness of intervention programmes to reduce bullying and cyberbullying especially in adolescence, because it is common for these types of aggression to increase during this stage of life. Moreover, it was also essential to analyse the effectiveness of intervention programmes focusing on adolescence because previous studies have shown that some well-known intervention programmes as Olweus programme [50, 51] and KiVa [54] were less effective in adolescence than in childhood.

Although there are meta-analytical reviews on interventions to reduce bullying [52, 60, 73, 74] and cyberbullying [55, 59] in children and adolescence, the advantage of this study is that it evaluated together the effectiveness of interventions to reduce bullying, victimization, cyberbullying, and cybervictimization, and it also included scientific works on three different languages: English, Portuguese, and Spanish. After our review, 17 [17] papers of bullying intervention and 11 [11] papers of cyberbullying intervention between the years 2000 and 2018 were selected. Thus, a sample of 23,394 adolescents was constituted in the studies of traditional bullying, and 27,386 adolescents participated in the studies of traditional victimization.

Concerning bullying, results indicated that there was a significant effect of -0.24 favouring intervention condition (with a significant heterogeneity of 83.22), whereas for victimization effect was -0.14 favouring intervention condition (with a significant heterogeneity of 90.2). Regarding fixed model, effects were -0.18 and -0.11, respectively. In the case of cyberbullying and cybervictimization, effects were -0.19 (with a significant heterogeneity of 83.23) and -0.13(with a significant heterogeneity of 73.2), respectively. For fixed model, effects were -0.11 and -0.08. These findings are in line with other meta-analyses regarding bullying [74] and cyberbullying [59], which also detected a significant reduction, although modest, of these problems.

As noted, for both bullying and cyberbullying, interventions were more effective to prevent the aggression of the perpetrator than reducing victimized, as was detected in other studies [74]. On the other hand, other meta-analyses found that anti-cyberbullying programmes were more effective in reducing cybervictimization compared to cyberbullying perpetration [55]. Comparing bullying and cyberbullying, the results of the present study indicated that bullying programmes were a bit more effective than cyberbullying programmes, while in victimization and cybervictimization the effect size of the intervention programme was similar.

No publication biases were detected for bullying, victimization, cyberbullying, and cybervictimization. That interventions were less effective for cyberbullying, compared to bullying, may be due to the fact that many interventions for this problem use a non-whole school approach since many of them try to extrapolate interventions aimed at bullying to a phenomenon with different characteristics, such as anonymity, viralization, disinhibition, and that extends beyond the school. Unlike the vast research on bullying, it is well established that there is no consensus on how to prevent cyberbullying [75], as well as there is not a consensus on how to define and measure it [11, 47]. It is also possible that due to the fact that cyberbullying is a phenomenon that extends beyond the school through the use of new technologies - this adds a complexity, even to the whole school approach.

This study has several limitations that must be mentioned. One of them is the high level of heterogeneity found among studies. The high heterogeneity found may be due to different reasons:

- The operationalization of the constructs, for instance, using different measurement – mainly in the case of cyberbullying. Another problem is that in all cases bullying, victimization, cyberbullying, and cybervictimization were evaluated with self-report measures. Its limitations are well known: social desirability, bias, lack of honest answers, etc.
- 2. Heterogeneity of the samples. Countries of different cultural traditions, such as Canada, the United States, Finland, Brazil, or Spain, among others. It generates in each of the regions different challenges to an already complex phenomenon [76]. For example, it is known that many successful interventions in the Nordic countries, for instance, Olweus anti-bullying programme, have less cultural and ethnic heterogeneity compared to other nations like the United States.
- 3. Samples ages that range from 10 years to 18 years old.
- 4. Different interventions carry out: curriculum intervention, school whole approach, social, and behavioural skill training, among others, which some are known to vary in their degree of effectiveness.

However, it must be noted that previous research indicated that Q statistic and I^2 have a poor power to detect real heterogeneity when the meta-analytic review includes few studies [77].

Another limitation is that some articles were excluded because they used other languages, such as German or French. In the same way, another drawback is that there are few studies regarding cyberbullying [11] compared to bullying [17] included in the present research. However, that is not only a limitation of our meta-analysis but of the cyberbullying literature, as well. That was pointed out by Gaffney et al. [55], as well. Research on cyberbullying is still new, as we suggested. Another limitation of the present meta-analysis is the exclusion of nonschool participants and samples other than adolescents. For example, cyberbullying is quite prevalent in college students [78]. Despite these limitations, this work provides an important contribution to demonstrating that interventions for bullying and cyberbullying in adolescence reduce this problem in a significant way, although its effects are small.

Future studies should examine why interventions are a bit less effective for cyberbullying, on one hand, and develop and test effectiveness of specific programme for the prevention of bullying, on the other. It is hoped that these findings will encourage further interest in bullying and cyberbullying prevention researches. Future work should examine the effectiveness of interventions to reduce bullying and cyberbullying but aimed at teachers and parents of students, on one hand, and evaluate effectiveness of anti-bullying programmes with another measure besides selfreports, such as peer nominations. Future metaanalysis should address what components of the interventions may explain variability in intervention outcomes and what components are more effective for the reduction of bullying and cyberbullying or both. Finally, it would also be desirable to generate local interventions for bullying and cyberbullying in each country. It must be considered that both bullying and cyberbullying are complex constructs that acquire cultural features in each of the regions, as it was detected in the case of bullying in a study with 14 nations and 13 languages [79]. That is, bullying can manifest in different ways in each culture. For instance, in Japan bullying is carried in a relational way, whereas in England it is carried out in a physical way [80].

References

- Card NA, Hodges EV. Peer victimization among school children: correlations, causes, consequences, and considerations in assessment and intervention. School Psychol Q. 2008;23:451–61. https://doi. org/10.1037/a0012769.
- Swearer S, Hymel S. Understanding the psychology of bullying: moving toward a social-ecological diathesis stress model. Am Psychol. 2015;70:344–53.

- 3. Olweus D. Bullying at school: what we know and what we can do. Cambridge, MA: Blackwell; 1993.
- Olweus D. Norway. In: Smith PK, Morita Y, Junger-Tas J, Olweus D, Catalano R, Slee P, editors. The nature of school bullying: a cross-national perspective. London: Routledge; 1999. p. 205–43.
- Olweus D. School bullying: development and some important challenges. Ann Rev Clin Psychol. 2013;9:751–80. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-clinpsy-050212-185516.
- Hymel S, Swearer S. Four decades of research on school bullying: an introduction. Am Psychol. 2015;70:293–9.
- Smith PK. Bullying: definition, types, causes, consequences and intervention. Soc Pers Psychol Compass. 2016;10(/9):519–32. https://doi.org/10.1111/ spc3.12266.
- Kowalski R, Limber S. Psychological, physical, and academic correlates of cyberbullying and traditional bullying. J Adolesc Health. 2013;53:13–20.
- Olweus D. Invited expert discussion paper: cyberbullying: an overrated phenomenon? Eur J Develop Psychol. 2012;9:520–38.
- Patchin J, Hinduja S. Measuring cyberbullying: implications for research. Aggress Violent Behav. 2015;23:69–74.
- Mehari K, Farrell A, Le A. Cyberbullying among adolescents: measures in search of a construct. Psychol Violence. 2014;4:399–415.
- Sontag L, Clemans K, Graber JA, Lyndon S. Traditional and cyber aggressors and victims: a comparison of psychosocial characteristics. J Youth Adolesc. 2011;40:392–404. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10964-010-9575-9.
- Beran T, Li Q. Cyber-harassment: a study of a new method for an old behavior. J Edu Comput Res. 2005;32:265–77.
- Slonje R, Smith PK. Cyberbullying: a new type of bullying? Scand J Psychol. 2008;49:147–54. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.14679450.2007.00611.
- Hinduja S, Patchin J. Cyberbullying: an exploratory analysis of factors related to offending and victimization. Deviant Behav. 2008;29:129–56.
- Juvonen J, Gross EF. Extending the school grounds? — Bullying experiences in cyberspace. J School Health. 2008;78:496–505.
- Raskauskas J, Stoltz AD. Involvement in traditional and electronic bullying among adolescents. Dev Psychol. 2007;43:564–75.
- Williams K, Guerra N. Prevalence and predictors of Internet bullying. J Adolesc Health. 2007;41:14–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2007.08.018.
- Olweus D, Limber S. Some problems with cyberbullying research. Curr Opin Psychol. 2018;19:139–43.
- Waasdorp TE, Bradshaw CP. The overlap between cyberbullying and traditional bullying. J Adolesc Health. 2015;56:483–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jadohealth.2014.12.002.
- 21. Ortega-Ruiz R, Del Rey R, Casas J. Nuevos riesgo de la convivencia escolar: el cyberbullying. In Ortega

Ruiz R, ed. Convivencia y Ciberconvivencia. Madrid: Antonio Machado Libros; 2015. p. 99–117.

- Dehue F, Bolman C, Völlink T. Cyberbullying: youngsters' experiences and parental perception. Cyber Psychol Behav. 2008;11:217–23.
- Kubiszewski V, Fontaine R, Potard C, Auzoult L. Does cyberbullying overlap with school bullying when taking modality of involvement into account? Comput Human Behav. 2015;43:49–57.
- Resett S, Gamez-Guadix M. Traditional bullying and cyberbullying: differences in emotional problems, and personality. Are cyberbullies more Machiavellians? J Adolesc. 2017;61:113–6.
- Agatson P, Kowalski R, Limber S. Students' perspectives on cyber bullying. J Adoles Health. 2007;41:59–60.
- Kowalski R, Giumetti G, Schroeder A, Lattanner M. Bullying in the digital age: a critical review and meta-analysis of cyberbullying research among youth. Psychol Bull. 2014;140:1073–37. https://doi. org/10.1037/a0035618.
- Tokunaga R. Following you home from school: a critical review and synthesis of research on cyberbullying victimization. Comput Human Behav. 2010;26:277–87.
- Li Q. New bottle but old wine: a research of cyberbullying in schools. Comput Human Behav. 2007;23:1777–91.
- Patchin J, Hinduja S. Bullies move beyond the school yard: a preliminary look at cyberbullying. Youth Violence Juv Justice. 2006;4:148–69.
- Calvete E, Orue I, Estévez A, Villardón L, Padilla P. Cyberbullying in adolescents: modalities and aggressors' profile. Comput Human Behav. 2010;26:1128–35.
- Law DM, Shapka J, Domene J, Gagné M. Are cyberbullies really bullies? An investigation of reactive and proactive online aggression. Comput Human Behav. 2012;28:664–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chb.2011.11.013.
- 32. Law DM, Shapka J, Hymel S, Olson B, Waterhouse T. The changing face of bullying: an empirical comparison between traditional and internet bullying and victimization. Comput Human Behav. 2011;28:226–32.
- Werner N, Bumpus M, Rock D. Involvement in Internet aggression during early adolescence. J Youth Adolesc. 2010;39:607–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10964-009-9419-7.
- 34. Roh B, Yoon Y, Kwon A, Oh S, Lee S, Ha K, et al. The structure of co-occurring bullying experiences and associations with suicidal behaviors in Korean adolescents. PLoS One. 2015;10:1–14.
- Solberg M, Olweus D. Prevalence estimation of school bullying with the Olweus Bully/Victim Questionnaire. Aggress Behav. 2003;29:239–68.
- Nansel T, Craig W, Overpeck M, Saluja G, Ruan W. Cross-national consistency in the relationship between bullying behaviours and psychosocial adjustment. Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2004;158:730–6.
- Nansel T, Overpeck M, Pilla R, Ruan W, Simons-Martin B, Scheidt P. Bullying behavior among U.S. youth: prevalence and association with psychosocial adjustment. J Am Med Assoc. 2001;285:2094–100.
- Ttofi M, Farrington DP. Effectiveness of school-based programs to reduce bullying: a systematic and metaanalytic review. J Exp Criminol. 2011;7:27–56.
- Kljakovic M, Hunt C. A meta-analysis of predictors of bullying and victimization in adolescence. J Adolesc. 2016;49:134–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. adolescence.2016.03.002.
- Juvonen J, Graham S, Schuster MA. Bullying among young adolescents: the strong, the weak, and the troubled. Pediatrics. 2003;112:1231–7. https://doi. org/10.1542/peds.112.6.1231.
- Volk A, Craig W, Boyce W, King M. Adolescent risk correlates of bullying and different types of victimization. Int J Adolesc Med Health. 2006;18:375–86.
- Bonanno R, Hymel S. Cyber bullying and internalizing difficulties: above and beyond the impact of traditional forms of bullying. J Youth Adolesc. 2013;42:685–97.
- Patchin J, Hinduja S. Cyberbullying and selfesteem. J Sch Health. 2010;80:614–21. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1746-1561.2010.00548.x.
- 44. Schenk AM, Fremouw WJ, Keelan CM. Characteristics of college cyberbullies. Comput Human Behav. 2013;29:2320–7.
- Wong D, Chan H, Cheng C. Cyberbullying perpetration and victimization among adolescents in Hong Kong. Child Youth Serv Rev. 2014;36:133–40.
- 46. Fletcher A, Fitzgerald-Yau N, Jones R, Allen E, Viner RM, Bonell C. Brief report: cyberbullying perpetration and its associations with socio-demographics, aggressive behaviour at school, and mental health outcomes. J Adolesc. 2014;37:1393–8.
- Bauman S, Toomey RB, Walker JL. Associations among bullying, cyberbullying, and suicide in high school students. J Adolesc. 2013;36:341–50.
- Hinduja S, Patchin J. Bullying, cyberbullying, and suicide. Archi Suicide Res. 2010;14:206–22.
- 49. Olweus D. The Olweus Bullying Prevention Program: design and implementation issues and a new national initiative in Norway. In: Smith PK, Pepler D, Rigby K, editors. Bullying in schools: how successful can interventions be? Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2004. p. 13–36.
- Bauer N, Lozano P, Rivara F. The effectiveness of the olweus bullying prevention program in public middle schools: a controlled trial. J Adolesc Health. 2007;40:266–74.
- 51. Limber S, Nation M, Tracy A, Melton G, Flerx V. Implementation of the Olweus Bullying Prevention Program in the southeastern United States. In: Smith PK, Pepler D, Rigby K, editors. Bullying in schools: how successful can interventions be? Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2004. p. 55–80.
- 52. Gaffney H, Ttofi M, Farrington DP. Evaluating the effectiveness of school-bullying prevention programs: an updated meta-analytical review. Aggress

Violent Behav. 2018; https://doi.org/10.1016/j. avb.2018.07.001.

- Kärnä A, Voeten M, Little TD, Alanen E, Poskiparta E, Salmivalli C. Effectiveness of the KiVa antibullying program: grades 1–3 and 7–9. J Edu Psychol. 2013;105:535–51.
- 54. Karna A, Voeten M, Little TD, Poskiparta E, Kaljonen A, Salmivalli C. A large-scale evaluation of the KiVa antibullying program: grades 4–6. Child Develop. 2011;82:311–30. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01557.x.
- 55. Gaffney H, Farrington DP, Espelage D, Ttofi M. Are cyberbullying intervention and prevention programs effective? A systematic and meta-analytical review. Aggress Violent Behav 2018. Available at: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.avb.201e8.07.002.
- 56. Pearce N, Cross D, Monks H, Waters S, Falconer S. Current evidence of best practice in whole-school bullying intervention and its potential to inform cyberbullying interventions. Aust J Guidance Couns. 2011;21:1–21. https://doi.org/10.1375/ ajgc.21.1.1.
- Perren S, Corcoran L, Cowie H, Dehue F, Garcia D, McGuckin C, et al. Tackling cyberbullying: review of empirical evidence regarding successful responses by students, parents, and schools. Int J Confl Violence. 2012;6:283–92.
- Slonje R, Smith PK, Frisén A. The nature of cyberbullying, and strategies for prevention. Comput Human Behav. 2013;29:26–32.
- 59. Van Cleemput K, Vandebosch H, Bastiaensens S, Poels K, DeSmet A, De Bourdeaudhuij IA. Systematic review of studies evaluating anticyberbullying programs. Conference presented at 'Etmaal van de Communicatiewetenschap', 2010, February, Wageningen (NL), Netherlands.
- Cantone E, et al. Interventions on bullying and cyberbullying in schools: a systematic review. Clin Pract Epidemiol Ment Health. 2015;11:58–76. https://doi. org/10.2174/1745017901511010058.
- Wolfer R, Schultze-Krumbholz A, Zagorscak P, Jakel A, Gobel K, Scheithauer H. Prevention 2.0: targeting cyberbullying@ school. Prev Sci. 2014;15:879–87.
- 62. Chaux E, Velásquez AM, Schultze-Krumbholz A, et al. Effects of the cyberbullying prevention program media heroes (Medienhelden) on traditional bullying. Aggress Behav. 2016;42:157–65.
- 63. Garaigordobil M, Martinez-Valderrey V. Effect of the cyberprogram 2.0 on the reduction of victimization and the improvement of social competence in adolescents. Revista De Psicodidactica. 2014;19:289–305. https://doi.org/10.1387/RevPsicodidact.10239.
- Del Rey R, Casas JA, Ortega R. The ConRed program, an evidence-based practice. Comunicar. 2012;39:129– 37. https://doi.org/10.3916/C39-2012-03-03.
- 65. Ortega-Ruiz R, Del Rey R, Casas J. Knowing, building and living together on internet and social networks: the ConRed cyberbullying prevention program. Int J Conflict Violence 2012; 6: 302–312.

- Baldry A, Farrington DP. Effectiveness of programs to prevent school bullying. Vict Offenders. 2007;2:183–204.
- 67. Mishna F, Cook C, Saini M, et al. Interventions for children, youth, and parents to prevent and reduce cyber abuse [Internet]. Oslo: Campbell Systematic Reviews; 2009.
- Espelage D, Hong J. Cyberbullying prevention and intervention efforts: current knowledge and future directions. Can J Psychiatr. 2016;62:374–80.
- Barlett C, Chamberlin K, Witkower Z. Predicting cyberbullying perpetration in emerging adults: a theoretical test of the Barlett Gentile Cyberbullying Model. Aggress Behav. 2017;43:147–54. https://doi. org/10.1002/ab.21670.
- Arnett JJ. Adolescent and emerging adulthood. a cultural approach. New Jersey: Prentice Hall; 2010.
- Steinberg L. Adolescence. New York: McGraw-Hill; 2008.
- 72. Sercombe B, Donnelly H. Bullying and agency: definition, intervention and ethics. J Youth Stud. 2013;16:491–502.
- Farrington DP, Baldry A., Kyvsgaard B, Ttofi M. Effectiveness of programs to prevent school bullying. Nordic Campbell Center: Swedish National Council on Crime Prevention; 2008.
- Farrington DP, Ttofi M. School-based programs to reduce bullying and victimization. Campbell Syst Rev. 2009;6:22–45.
- 75. Aboujaoude E, Savage MW, Starcevic V, Salame WO. Cyberbullying: review of an old problem gone

viral. J Adolesc Health. 2015;57:10-8. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2015.04.011.

- 76. Salmivalli C, Kärnä A, Poskiparta E. Counteracting bullying in Finland: the KiVa program and its effect on different forms of being bullied. Int J Behav Develop. 2011;35:405–11. https://doi. org/10.1177/0165025411407457.
- 77. Huedo-Medina TB, Sánchez-Meca J, Marín-Martínez F, Botella J. Assessing heterogeneity in meta-analysis: Q statistic or I² index? Psychol Methods. 2006;11(2):193–206. https://doi. org/10.1037/1082-989X.11.2.193.
- 78. Cowie H, Bauman S, Coyne I, Myers C, Pörhölä M, Almeida A. Cyberbullying amongst university students: an emergent cause for concern? Cyberbullying: research on coping with negative and enhancing positive uses of new technologies. In: Smith PK, Steffgen G, editors. Cyberbullying through the new media: findings from an international network. New York and London: Psychology Press; 2013. p. 165–77.
- Smith PK, Cowie H, Olafsson R, Liefooghe A. Definitions of bullying: a comparison of terms used, and age and sex differences, in a 14-country international comparison. Child Develop. 2002;73:1119–33.
- Smith PK, Kanetsuna T, Koo H. Cross-national comparison of 'bullying' and related Terms: Western and Eastern perspectives. Contemporary research on aggression: School violence. World Meeting of the International Society for Research on Aggression, 2007;3. p. 3–9.



A Summary of the Developmental Trajectory of Executive Functions from Birth to Adulthood

33

Celina Korzeniowski, Mirta Susana Ison, and Hilda Difabio de Anglat

Introduction

Executive functions (EFs) refer to a set of cognitive control abilities involved in the coordination of flexible and goal-directed behavior [1]. They are triggered by a wide variety of situations, especially when they are novel and complex; thus, competence in executive functions is critical for self-regulated behavior [2]. EFs include a set of higher-order cognitive abilities. There is general agreement that there are three core EFs: inhibitory control, working memory, and cognitive flexibility [1, 3-6]. Based on these, skills that are more complex related to EFs are built, such as planning, metacognition, reasoning, and problem-solving [1, 3-6]. The neuroanatomical substrate of EFs involves a set of interconnected neural networks that operate in a coordinated way across an integration zone located in prefrontal areas [1, 7].

These cognitive control abilities are among the most complex human processes. They are

Sciences (INCIHUSA-CONICET), Scientific-

Technological Center (CCT Mendoza – CONICET), CONICET, Capital, Mendoza, Argentina e-mail: ckorzeniowski@mendoza-conicet.gob.ar; mison@mendoza-conicet.gob.ar essential for cognitive, socio-emotional, and psychological development during our entire lifetime. In addition, they are a critical predictor of school performance [8, 9]. Longitudinal design studies have highlighted that satisfactory EF performance in childhood is associated with academic success, better employment status, improved quality of life, physical and psychological health, well-being, and a lower incidence of disruptive conduct and psychopathology in adolescence and adulthood [1, 4, 10].

Hence, the study of the developmental trajectory of EFs has sparked great interest among theoreticians and researchers. EFs develop over a long time, starting in infancy and continuing until adulthood. This is a sequential and multistage process, where different functions mature at different times. Some theoreticians speak about a pyramidal development of EFs, where the most basic abilities precede and underpin the development of other, more complex capacities [1, 3]. In childhood, it has been documented that inhibitory control plays a key role in the development of later EFs [1, 5, 6]. Later on, the three core EFs – inhibitory control, working memory, and cognitive flexibility - act as the basis for the development of other ones, such as planning, problem-solving, and metacognition [1, 3, 11, 12]. The truth is that EFs evolve over time individually until they form an integrated cognitive control system that involves multiple crosslinking

C. Korzeniowski (🖂) · M. S. Ison

Institute of Human, Social and Environmental

H. Difabio de Anglat Cuyo Research Center (CIC) – CONICET, Capital, Mendoza, Argentina

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_33

abilities that work together toward goal attainment.

Understanding how this system is formed has been a great challenge for neuroscience. Research in the past 20 years has produced valuable knowledge by reporting the developmental trajectories of special EFs; however, only a few studies have integrated these contributions into a wide developmental perspective. This difficulty has been mainly related to the complexity and extension of EF development and to a lack of assessment instruments specifically designed for the performance of comparative analyses over different ages [13].

This paper aims to carry out an updated review of EF development from infancy to adulthood by integrating research reports published in several peer-reviewed journals from 2000 to 2019. This summary is expected to update the main achievements of EF development research and identify topics to be addressed by future work.

Frontal Lobe Development and Connections

The emergence and prolonged development of EFs is associated with structural and functional modifications of the prefrontal cortex and its cortical and subcortical connections [14].

Frontal regions develop late. Brain maturation phenomena act first upon projection and then upon association areas [14, 15]. Thus, the prefrontal cortex and the association parietaltemporal areas are the last ones to develop. This pattern reflects the hierarchical organization of the brain [14], where the prefrontal cortex is one of the structures that most heavily connects with the remaining brain regions.

After birth, progressive maturing processes occur – cell proliferation, dendritic arborization, and myelination – and regressive ones, cell death and synapse pruning, that carve and give shape to the brain's anatomy. In particular, myelination and synapse pruning are deemed to have the highest impact on brain maturity.

Myelination helps improve brain functionality as it increases the conduction velocity of nervous

impulses. Frontal lobes are one of the last areas to be myelinated. The quantity of white matter in this region increases linearly from 4 to 13 years of age, although this process is not entirely completed until adulthood. It is believed that this maturation phenomenon plays a critical role in EF development during childhood and that it is associated with a higher conduction velocity of nervous impulses between the prefrontal cortex and other brain regions.

On the other hand, a polyneural innervation phenomenon is observed in childhood, i.e., an excess of synapse connections, although not all of them are functional. Therefore, pruning is necessary for the selective elimination of less relevant synapses. On the prefrontal cortex, pruning is continuous from ages 5 to 16, which leads to a decreased synapse density and changes in gray matter during childhood and adolescence. According to Giedd et al. [16], the volume of gray matter in the frontal area increases until adolescence, when it reaches ceiling, and then decreases during post-adolescence and adulthood. The selective elimination of synapse connections is a fundamental process for cognitive development in children. Sowell, Thompson, Tessner, and Toga [17] reported a relation between changes in the frontal gray matter and the evolution in the performance of cognitive tasks from 7 to 16 years of age.

Parallel to these maturing phenomena, changes are observed in cerebral glucose metabolism. The metabolism of the frontal area in the newborn is very low. It is not until 6-8 months of age that an increase in the metabolic rate of the lateral and medial prefrontal cortex is observed [15]. From this time on, the cerebral metabolism continues to increase, reaching adult's value at 2 years of age and its maximum value from ages 3 to 4, when it more than doubles the adult's value. This high metabolic rate is kept unchanged until age 9. Then, it declines and regains adult's value in the second decade of life. Some authors suggest that the metabolism of the frontal lobes increases on a discontinuous basis, with three intense activation peaks at ages 4-8, 10-12, and 16–19 [15]. These peaks coincide with the periods of intense growth of EFs [15, 18–20].

The morphological maturation of the prefrontal cortex is reached at puberty, but quantitative and qualitative changes continue during adolescence. This period is characterized by a linear growth of white matter and a nonlinear decrease in gray matter [16]. Gains in white matter are associated with a faster and more efficient processing of information in the frontostriatal network and a more refined communication between the prefrontal cortex and other cortical regions [21]. Gray matter reduction peaks occur after puberty and during the transition from adolescence to adulthood and are associated with the specialization of the neural networks involved in executive functioning. Baum et al. [22] demonstrated that both modular segregation and global network integration mediated the development of executive function in youth. In addition, changes in interhemispheric connections, cerebral metabolism, and neurotransmission and hormonal mechanisms have been reported. Particularly during this stage, the higher secretion of gonadal hormones has an organizational effect on the neural mechanisms that support cognitive processing [20].

In line with these changes, gains in EFs during adolescence are associated with increased levels of dopamine and serotonin along with a modification in the biosynthesis of neurotransmitters and peptides, which impacts cognitive functioning [23]. All together, these modifications in the neural structure link to significant improvements in inhibitory control [24], working memory [25], decision-making [26], selective attention, and problem-solving [27].

In summary, the structuring of the neural networks that underpin executive functioning has a prolonged maturation process that extends beyond adolescence. Based on this particular feature, EFs have been considered to be a cognitive system that is particularly vulnerable to environmental influence as the slow development of its neural substrate offers maximum opportunities for life experiences to impact brain development [28–30]. Multiple research studies have documented pathways through which the environment models EF development [31–33]. The most significant predictors of the family context are preand postnatal stress, the quality of parental care, maternal sensitivity, the parents' educational level, the cognitive stimulation that the child receives at home, and enriched speech interactions between parents and children [33–36]. Variables from the school, neighborhood, and other sociocultural contexts have also been identified as cognitive functioning mediators [37–39]. In brief, the developmental trajectory of EFs should be conceived of as a "development within contexts" [31, 40], originating from a delicate and ongoing interaction between cerebral maturation and environmental influence.

EF Development Along the Vital Cycle

EFs develop across multiple stages. Different functions mature at different times, so it is clarifying to analyze how EFs develop and change along the different vital stages: infancy, preschooling, childhood, adolescence, and adulthood.

Infancy

During infancy, behavioral inhibition and rudimentary forms of problem-solving emerge. The paradigm of object permanence and retrieval is considered to be an indicator of these achievements [41]. The acquisition of this ability assumes that children can create a mental representation of the world around them and keep that information in their mind. This has been studied through delayed response tests, similar to the "A-not-B" task used by Piaget. During these tests, children must look for an attractive object, which is hidden several times in a place (A). After it, the attractive object is hidden in another place (B) and children are expected to look for it there. This task has been suggested to involve the ability to keep information in the working memory and inhibit a dominant response tendency [14, 29, 42, 43]. Babies 5-7 months of age fail in their solving attempts, while it is not until 8 months of age that they succeed at performing this task [29, 42]. The rudimentary ability to inhibit impulsive responses and keep information in memory becomes evident later, from 8 to 12 months of age.

In addition to object permanence, from 8 to 12 months of age, children develop the ability to coordinate means and ends. This ability could be considered another indicator of the emergence of working memory, rudimentary forms of planning, and problem-solving during infancy.

In addition, studies on self-regulation suggest the emergence of executive attention at this stage. Sheese et al. [44] reported that 6- and 7-monthold children who had an anticipatory looking conduct showed higher self-regulation when approaching new toys and less visual attention toward disturbing stimuli. The authors have interpreted these results as early links between the cognitive control system and emotional processing.

Using a longitudinal approach, Johansson [43] found significant improvements in inhibition and working memory between the ages 12 and 36 months. Moreover, she found that simple inhibition and sustained attention were good predictors of later executive functions. These results are in line with the hierarchical framework of EF development, which sustain that inhibition may be considered a core aspect of executive functions [1, 3–6]. Also, these results agree with other researchers who have documented that sustained attention predicted early EFs, advocating early attention as a foundation for the development of cognitive self-regulation [36, 45].

The above cognitive achievements are associated with important maturity changes in children's brains. An increase in the metabolic rate of the prefrontal cortex is recorded at this stage, along with a higher number of synapse connections between the prefrontal cortex and other cortical areas [14].

In short, rudimentary EFs are present at early stages of development, including the ability to willingly regulate and command goal-oriented behavior in response to demands from environmental contingencies [19]. However, these selfcontrol conducts are rudimentary, fragile, variable, and dependent on external stimuli.

Preschoolers

EF development in preschoolers has traditionally been studied through task switching. Children are offered a set of cards that need to be sorted under a certain criterion, such as object colors. In general, the children establish the sorting criterion, and the evaluator just reinforces the right answers. After a number of tasks, the evaluator will say that the criterion used is not correct and children then will have to pay attention to this feedback and find a new sorting criterion. Performing these tasks require working memory, inhibition, and cognitive flexibility.

Studies with preschoolers suggest that 3-yearolds can sort the cards according to one criterion but fail to switch the sorting criterion, i.e., they fail to inhibit the current mental set and refocus their attention on a new set [29, 46-48]. One study [48] reported that this difficulty in 3-yearolds persists even when the examiner explains the new sorting criterion to be used or when the children can verbalize the new applicable rule. The authors believe that a dissociation could exist between what children can think and do, suggesting that the correct resolution of this task involves a conscious reflection upon one's own actions, which would be reached between 4 and 5 years of age. Other authors believe that this difficulty is the expression of attentional system underperformance [47]. The difficulty seen in children to disengage from one mental status and engage into a new one has been called "attentional inertia" and describes the tendency of the cognitive system to keep focused on what it had been focused [47]. From 4 to 5 years of age, children could overcome this attentional inertia and correctly solve this type of task [46-51].

Another way to evaluate attentional control in young children is through their ability for error detection and correction in conflict situations involving spatial locations. Rueda et al. [51] evaluated reaction times in children after errors in the resolution of the Attention Network Test. The authors observed that reaction times increased significantly from 30 to 38 months of age, which suggests that children realized that they had made an error and used that awareness to guide their performance. The authors concluded that children develop their ability for error detection and correction from 3 to 4 years of age.

In addition to significant changes in the socalled cool EFs, a rapid development of hot executive functions has also been recorded between 3 and 5 years old. Three-year-olds show greater difficulty in delaying immediate gratification and avoiding elections that may be disadvantageous, as compared to 5-year-olds [49]. These changes have been interpreted as a development of the ability to make decisions under circumstances where children need to assess the consequences of their actions and regulate their emotions. On the other hand, relations have been observed between attention control development and emotion regulation. In a series of studies in children 2-4 years old, [51], consistent relations between the ability of children to solve conflicts and their ability to delay gratification and regulate their negative emotions as reported by their parents through the daily observation of the children's behavior were observed. Based on these relations, the authors concluded that attention control is closely related to the ability for the selfregulation of emotions [50, 51].

Finally, the emergence of metacognitive skills has been recorded at this stage. Metacognition emerges early in life and develops over a long term, becoming more explicit and effective as it is under the voluntary control of subjects [52-54]. Most researchers agree that metacognitive skills can be observed at 3 years of age [48, 53]. At this age, children are aware that they and the others are knowers. They can distinguish between thinking of an object and perceiving the object and use the terms "I think - I know" to refer to their knowledge status [52]. At the age of 4, children understand that the others' behavior can be driven by beliefs and desires that can be different from their own. They start to understand that their thoughts may be wrong. Understanding that knowledge is the outcome of the human activity of knowing is a fundamental point in metacognitive development. These initial skills, however, often present in a relatively undifferentiated way.

In the last years, Coughlin et al. [55] have documented the emergency of the ability to meta-

cognitively differentiating between correct and incorrect performance in children of 3 years old. In line with these results, Kim and colleagues [56] captured children's gestures of uncertainty (i.e., children's head tilting or shaking and shrugging). They found that 4-year-olds showed significantly more nonverbal signs of uncertainty than 3-year-olds. These gestures of uncertainty became more frequent the less knowledge the children had. These findings could indicate a gradual development trajectory in early monitoring skills [54].

In brief, the period from 3 to 5 years of age seems to be a time of important EF-related cognitive achievements. Children develop skills related to keeping more than one thing in mind, having flexibility to change the attention focus, inhibiting a dominant response tendency, and regulating their emotions. From a cognitive standpoint, these gains can be associated with improved attention ability and the coordination of the different components of EFs [20]. In a parallel way, from the point of view of cerebral maturation, they can be associated with increased frontal white matter on the right hemisphere. It raises the number of connections of the prefrontal cortex with other cortical and subcortical areas [14]. Although these skills emerge during infancy and develop quickly in middle childhood, their maturation process continues through adolescence.

Childhood and Adolescence

What characterizes EF development during this stage is that different functions mature at different ages and reach ceiling at specific times. The variability of trajectories has not been associated solely with the function under study but also with evaluation tests [18]. In spite of these discrepancies, a general development pattern can be outlined. Meta-analysis studies [19, 20] have highlighted that the time when EFs develop more extensively appears from 6 to 8 years of age. Some experts note another peak of intense growth from 9 to 12 years of age, although more moderate than the former [15, 18].

A sequence of changes occurs in children's behavior during schooling, which suggests a fundamental reorganization of their attention, executive, and self-reflection processes. Below is a summary of EF trajectories individually to make reading easier; however, the interrelation between them makes it difficult to consider these trajectories one by one, as gains in one ability improve performance in others.

Inhibitory Control

Inhibitory control is a multidimensional construct that attempts to account for a series of mental operations tending to suppress inappropriate behavior or an attention tendency toward nonrelevant or distractor stimuli that can interfere with the deliberate resolution of a problem [57]. This cognitive ability improves significantly over school years. In general, studies report that 4- and 5-year-olds show slower reaction times and less accurate responses in tasks that require the inhibition of a dominant response or involve rule switching, as compared to older children [18, 29, 46, 58]. These abilities improve significantly at ages 6-10. A study reported that the most important step forward in the ability to stop a response appears between the ages 7 and 9 [59]. Most research works reflect the effect of age on inhibition tasks up to 13 years old, when this phenomenon seems to reach ceiling [46, 59].

There are some indicators used to evaluate this progress. This is the case of the effect of spatial incompatibility and the associated costs of switching from one block of tasks to a different one. Thus, it goes from a block that requires consistent responses (say "day" when the image of the sun is seen) to another block that requires an inconsistent response (say, "day" when the image of the moon is seen). These functions show a significant decrease with age [46, 47]. Another indicator is the response time: it has been observed that older children and adults show a tendency to increase their response times as tasks become more difficult in order to preserve performance accuracy. Children from 4 to 6 are more impul-

sive and do not take the necessary time to evaluate their response, which impairs accuracy.

Differences observed between children and adults have been explored with neuroimaging techniques. Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) studies have revealed different intensities in cortical activation and differences in recruited brain areas between children and adults when they perform Go/No-Go tasks that require the inhibition of a dominant response and the Stop-Signal tasks that require inhibition of an ongoing response. It has been suggested that the more extensive activation found in children reflects a diffuse activity pattern that may originate in an inefficient recruitment of involved brain regions. The selectivity of specific participant regions seems to increase with age.

As to interference control, a broader development pattern is observed. Children aged 6–7 years old have shown significant improvements at performing tasks that involve the inhibition of distractors. This ability increases gradually during childhood and adolescence, which has been associated with increased brain activation in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex during performance of the Stroop Test [60].

Cognitive Flexibility

Cognitive flexibility entails the ability to switch attention from one perceptual paradigm to another and adapt mental activity and behavior according to environmental demands [1]. This ability follows a gradual development during middle childhood that stretches until adolescence. It is assessed by means of tasks derived from the "task switching" paradigm such as the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST) [61]. Most studies indicate that cognitive flexibility shows marked improvements in children aged between 6 and 8 [18, 25, 29]. A number of research studies suggest that this ability would reach ceiling between ages 10 and 12 [13, 60, 62], while others report a more extended development [46, 47].

The contradiction in these findings may be explained by reference to the indicators of the psychometric techniques used to evaluate performance. For example, one of the indicators used is the absence of perseverative errors, which are common in early childhood but decline significantly during childhood and are rarely found in adolescence. Another indicator is the ability to learn from errors and devise alternative strategies. This ability emerges in early childhood and continues developing in middle childhood [18].

Another aspect used to evaluate cognitive flexibility is shifting attentional focus, which evidences extended development. Davidson et al. [46] noted that 13-year-olds display frequent errors in tasks that involve shifting from one mental set to another, even when working memory demands are reduced. The difficulty for adolescents is not that they fail to remember what rules apply but that they fail to transfer those rules quickly to the appropriate response. If even more sensitive indicators are used, such as reaction times or the manipulation of working memory demands and inhibition in task switching, it can be observed that not even adults get to master this ability in full [47]. This could be taken as another indicator of the long developmental course of cognitive flexibility.

Working Memory

Working memory refers to the ability to maintain information active (online) in the mind, manipulate it, and perform acts based on it [1, 46]. This cognitive capacity shows a gradual developmental course, starting in early childhood and extending across adolescence. One study observed that the basic modular structure of working memory visuospatial sketchpad, phonological loop, and central executive - is present since age 6 and that each component increases its capacity until adolescence [63]. Different studies conducted in schoolchildren have reported significant improvement in the phonological loop of working memory between ages 7 and 13 [29, 60, 64], with one peak at age 8 and another one at age 12 [59]. Regarding the visuospatial sketchpad, it has been observed that children achieve mastery of the task of keeping visual information in the working memory at around 9 years of age. However, if the task additionally involves information manipulation, development takes longer, reaching ceiling at approximately age 12 [13]. These gains have been associated with the differential development of mechanisms for sequencing, sorting, and retaining information in the working memory [29]. Some authors consider that the development of this ability extends until adulthood, with improvements becoming evident between ages 15 and 19 [25, 62].

Attentional Control

Attention allows an individual to select relevant information, sustain, and manipulate mental representations to modulate the responses to a variety of stimuli [65]. Regarded as a vertical control mechanism, attentional control serves the purpose of deciding to what stimuli cognitive resources will be allocated, by either activating or inhibiting the processes that generate and organize information [15, 66].

Execution in different auditory and visual attention tasks improves with age, with striking changes between ages 5 and 8, and subtler changes between ages 11 and 16 [67]. Using the Attention Network Test, Posner et al. [50] have reported considerable improvement in the ability to shift attentional focus between ages 2 and 5, with sustained improvement until age 7, a time when children seem to attain maximum performance [50, 51]. Other researchers have also found that the ability to shift attentional focus reaches ceiling early, between ages 8 and 10 [18, 62]. Although children display a level of attentional performance similar to that of adults, differences in activation were observed in the anterior attention network. When solving conflict situations involving spatial locations, adults show a more refined and focal activation pattern in the prefrontal cortex, while children display a more diffuse pattern.

Similar results have been found among 13-year-old adolescents [68], suggesting that neural networks keep reorganizing. This maturation pattern involves not only further specialization of the anterior attention network (executive

attention) but also a reduction in the time required by the system to solve the task. This may be related to the concept of attentional efficiency. A study conducted in Argentine schoolchildren reported improvements in the attentional efficiency ability in children aged 7–12 [65, 69].

Planning and Problem-Solving

Planning involves the ability to identify a goal, sequence, and organize the necessary steps to reach it, anticipate consequences, and develop and evoke a mental map to direct actions toward goal attainment [70, 71]. This ability develops quickly between ages 7 and 10 and continues evolving in a more gradual manner during adolescence [18, 72–74]. Young children use simple, often inefficient, random and fragmentary organization and planning strategies, but children aged 7–11 develop more organized and efficient reasoning strategies and skills [62, 72].

Some authors establish a distinction between two types of planning: visuospatial and strategic. The former is usually studied in tasks such as maze-solving. Results show that this ability reaches ceiling at around age 9 [13]. A research study with Argentine schoolchildren aged 7-12 reported that the planning ability, as assessed by the number of successfully completed mazes in the Porteus Maze Test, did not reveal significant changes [60]. Furthermore, strategic planning is associated with the ability to solve problems and is usually assessed by means of tower tests. An analysis of the solutions given to the Mexican Pyramid test revealed that children aged 5 and 6 initially attempt to get a higher number of correct answers, which suggests their inclination to focus on the end result of their execution. Only later do children (ages 7-8) tend to control the number of movements performed to complete the designs, i.e., they pay attention to their planning process. The study detected a ceiling effect in measuring the number of correct designs at ages 7-8. Conversely, control over the number of movements involved is attained less abruptly. This suggests a developmental stage characterized by important changes between ages 5 and 8 that become more gradual as from ages 9 and 10 [74].

Planning and problem-solving skills improve significantly until age 12. A number of studies have shown a plateau in the development of these skills between ages 12 and 13 [18, 74]. Some authors interpret this fact as a preference by adolescents for more cautious and conservative strategies leading to correct task execution [72], while others interpret it as resulting from a difficulty by young people to implement or take advantage of their new skills [62].

It has been observed that only at age 15 would ceiling be reached in solving the Tower of Hanoi puzzle with three disks, paying attention to the number of movements [13]. Consequently, strategic planning and the organization of goal-oriented behavior have been reported to continue developing during adolescence, possibly reaching their peak between ages 20 and 29 [62]. Improvements in these skills have been associated with gains in working memory during adolescence.

In summary, visuospatial planning as assessed by means of maze-solving tasks seems to reach ceiling early during child development. On the contrary, strategic planning, which requires selecting and sequencing problem-solving action schemes, displays sustained evolution during adolescence.

Metacognition

Metacognition refers to the knowledge individuals possess about their own cognitive functioning and their attempts to control these processes [75]. By virtue of this second-order cognition, individuals are able to monitor, self-regulate, and develop strategies that will enhance their own cognition [52].

Major changes in the metacognitive ability have been observed during childhood and adolescence. Between ages 5 and 8, children begin to enunciate statements of certainty about their memories and gradually increase their monitoring skills [53, 54]. With the development of inhibitory control, children begin to improve metacognitive control skills, such as checking their answers to a school performance test or realizing that they do not understand what they are reading. These behaviors become more frequent during primary schooling. Through daily experiences and learning efforts in school, children may slowly calibrate their monitoring skills (i.e., making more precise performance predictions, by becoming less overconfident). While monitoring skills are found to be relatively accurate by the age of 8, control skills (i.e., withdrawal of errors) are repeatedly found to lag behind [53, 54]. Metacognitive development in later childhood and adolescence can be best described as the fine-tuning of earlier developed monitoring and control skills [53, 54]. In sum, this stage sees rapid development of metacognitive awareness and meta-strategic skills, which continue to evolve during adolescence and adulthood, prompting the development of secondorder thinking.

Metacognitive thinking displays prolonged development, and, indeed, significant differences can be observed among adults depending on context variables such as their level of schooling [76]. Finally, it is worth highlighting that most studies on metacognitive development have been designed on theoretical grounds, but few have developed tasks or tests to conduct accurate assessments of the developmental trajectories involved in the different aspects of metacognition [53].

Oral Fluency and Processing Speed

Oral fluency refers to the ability to generate the highest number of words in a given period according to a semantic or phonological criterion [77]. On the other hand, processing speed points to the time taken by an individual to extract and integrate information during problem-solving, as well as the speed at which an individual executes basic cognitive functions, such as object identification, decision-making, or simple discrimination among objects or images [78].

Oral fluency and processing speed have been positively associated with age. With respect to

the former, most studies indicate that an increase takes place between ages 3 and 5 and continues to develop during childhood, with significant gains between ages 9–10 and 11–12 [18, 59, 60]. This development stretches into adolescence and may reach ceiling at around age 15 [18]. Processing speed shows a similar pattern, significantly increasing between ages 3 and 4 and displaying a significant gain between ages 6 and 10, but this skill would seem to reach ceiling in adolescence or early adulthood [62].

The studies reviewed allow for some conclusions. EFs follow different trajectories, but almost all of them experience a growth peak between ages 6 and 10, displaying a more gradual development from this point onward. Some functions, such as response inhibition and attention focusing, mature early, while others, such as working memory, control flexibility, planning, metacognition, problem-solving, interference control, and oral fluency evidence improvements in adolescence and adulthood, reaching their growth peak between ages 15 and 19. These gains may reflect coordination behind the different cognitive processes involved, which, in turn, may lead to improved performance. These achievements are parallel to structural, functional, and neurochemical changes in the neural networks supporting EFs [16, 21].

Executive gains at this vital stage allow children to mentally process and manipulate greater amounts of information, build mental schemas, and understand the most relevant conditions of a given task or problem [13]. They enable an efficient use of memory strategies, in addition to promoting learning, the development of various problem-solving hypotheses or alternative solutions, abstract thinking, and progress in activity organization and planning [13]. These achievements will have a substantial impact on the children's school, social, and emotional spheres.

Adulthood

It has been observed that some EFs may reach ceiling in early adulthood. In a study evaluating the development of EFs in a large age sample, functional gains were found in the efficiency of visuospatial working memory, planning, and problem-solving between ages 20 and 29 [62]. It has been reported that EFs involving perceptual and motor components peak around age 20, while EFs involving verbal processing seem to do so later, around age 40 [79, 80].

Generally, EF performance tends to remain constant until it declines significantly between ages 50 and 65. In line with these results, another study in adults aged 20–75 found a significant reduction in the capacity to inhibit a dominant response, cognitive flexibility, divided attention, and processing speed starting at age 60 [81]. Divided attention problems were recorded in younger adults (aged 46 and 59), which may suggest that decline can become manifest earlier in tasks involving greater cognitive complexity.

Interindividual EF differences have been reported to increase with age, in association with factors that could mediate the relationship between age and EF, such as the activation of other cortical areas during the execution of EF tasks, educational level, depression, family support, and the performance of cognitively stimulating tasks in old age. In brief, a significant decrease in EFs is observed between ages 50 and 60, which corroborates that EFs are agesensitive. Cognitive decline has been associated with neurodegenerative processes, such as a reduction of gray matter from age 65 onward and a decreasing brain activation pattern in the prefrontal cortex [81].

Gender Differences in the Development of Executive Functioning

Previous studies into the development of EFs have not provided consistent data with respect to sex-dependent effects. Some studies found no effects caused by the variable sex or of the sexage interaction in measurements of executive functioning, indicating that boys and girls develop their cognitive control abilities in similar ways [29, 46]. Other studies, instead, did report

differences, which tend to be consistent with the traditional view that girls perform better in verbal skills, while boys do so in spatial skills. Thus, it has been observed that girls show better performance in oral fluency and information organization and processing as compared to boys [18, 72]. In contrast, boys outperform girls in working memory and spatial reasoning. The study by De Luca et al. [62] showed that boys performed better in executive tasks involving visuospatial components, with these differences persisting over an extended period of development (ages 8-75). However, these authors found no interaction between age and sex, which reveals that these executive abilities emerge and develop in similar ways in males and females.

In addition, research has shown consistent gender differences in aspects regarding attention regulation, inhibitory control, and the use of selection strategies for the performance of cognitive tasks in favor of girls, as assessed by various test batteries [36, 67, 82, 83]. One meta-analysis claims that girls outperform boys in various dimensions of the attention domain between ages 3 and 13 [84]. Other studies have also reported advantages in attention, working memory, and inhibitory control for girls, both in direct evaluation tests and through the perception of parents and teachers [59, 83].

Studies comparing teacher reports regarding executive functioning in children point out that educators perceive better performance in inhibitory control, attention, working memory, organization, and planning skills in girls [41, 82, 83]. Greater self-regulation resources among girls may be a factor contributing to better academic and socio-emotional performance in school contexts. Along these lines, teachers report improved work habits, greater focus on school tasks, and better grades in girls than in boys [83]. Finally, it is interesting to note that differences in inhibitory control seem to persist in the course of development. Indeed, a study of 188 adults aged 17-60 found that females presented higher levels of inhibitory control and empathy than males [85].

In a study in Mexican children, girls outperformed boys in attention and memory tests but showed variations according to age. Girls aged 5-8 outperformed their male peers in auditory verbal recognition, encoding a list of shapes and cued visual recall tasks, while girls aged 9-16 outperformed males in letter cancellation tasks and story recall tests. These data match those of previous studies reporting that girls outperform boys in tasks involving memory and verbal learning [18]. Girls showed better performance in tasks involving verbal information or requiring verbal strategies. This could be related to the earlier development of language among girls, which has been associated to a faster increase in vocabulary and the production of complex linguistic constructions at earlier ages or with the greater ability of girls to identify, express, and describe emotions [67].

A recent large-scale cross-sectional study [86] investigated whether adolescent males and females differ in self-perceived self-regulation. Results revealed that females evaluated their attention higher than males, and they reported higher levels of self-control and self-monitoring in middle adolescence.

Gender differences in EFs may be mediated by hormonal factors, gender-related differences in brain architecture [87], and sociocultural factors or, most probably, the interaction among them. Few studies have identified an effect of the interaction between age and sex, and thus it is questionable to affirm that there are differences in the developmental trajectories of males and females. However, it may be interesting to explore whether gender differences persist or change over time, whether they become more marked at certain developmental stages instead of others, and what factors could mediate the relationship between EFs and gender differences.

Conclusions

Based on this research review, it is possible to trace the developmental profile of EFs during the vital cycle.

First, reviewed studies agree that EFs present a prolonged, multistage, sequential development, which is more intense during childhood and then decreases its pace during early adolescence. Most EFs reach ceiling in late childhood or early adolescence, while others, like strategic planning and cognitive flexibility, continue evolving in adulthood. Even when different trajectories are described, meta-analytical studies agree on the existence of a period of intense development between ages 6 and 8. Along these years, children exhibit a significant, accelerated increase in their attentional ability, working memory, inhibitory control, cognitive flexibility, processing speed, oral fluency, planning abilities, and problemsolving. Other two periods of rapid development take place between ages 10-12 and 15-19, although these are less accelerated than the first one. The identification of these sensitive periods represents an important achievement in current research, as it signals the specific times during which EFs are particularly vulnerable to environmental experience and, consequently, become optimal times for the application of cognitive interventions.

Another interesting feature is that, along their course of development, EFs progress from a state of greater undifferentiation to one of greater differentiation. Cognitive control processes emerge jointly, and it becomes virtually impossible to identify their individual components in early childhood. The truth is that executive functions develop and become differentiated gradually until they form a cognitive control system in which the multiplicity of EFs contribute in specific and interrelated manners toward the achievement of an aim or goal. Such differentiation results in stronger hierarchical control on cognition and greater cognitive flexibility [1, 13] and is consistent with the reorganization and greater selectivity of neural networks supporting executive functioning.

Along these lines, it has been observed that the development of EFs has an additive, systematic effect on cognition control. Studies have consistently documented that the cognitive control system gradually progresses toward greater selectivity and regulation of cognitive processes. As a result, a growing capacity to create mental schemas, improved mental flexibility, increased recourse to and complexity of memory strategies, greater organization and planning of cognitive activity, enhanced categorization ability, and oral fluency are observed, leading to more efficient and abstract thinking, which is also more complex from a psycho-linguistic perspective [13]. Similarly, these cognitive gains contribute to an improved control of emotions, impulses, and conducts, promoting self-regulated behavior and an adequate socio-emotional and psychological development.

Finally, it is important to highlight that the acquisition and development of the cognitive control system is tightly connected to the maturation of the prefrontal cortex and its cortical and subcortical connections. The neural networks forming these connections have an extensive maturation process, during which a number of stages can be identified. Along these stages, brain plasticity increases, and experience has maximal impact on brain development. This particular feature has led researchers to consider executive functions to be a cognitive system that is particularly vulnerable to environmental stimulation. Enriched and varied quality learning experiences will promote EFs, while socially vulnerable and socioculturally impoverished contexts will offer limited possibilities for the promotion of these abilities.

Therefore, we may conclude that the study of the developmental trajectory of EFs and their predictors continues to be an area of great interest for cognitive neuroscience. Knowledge unveiled in the past decades has meant a big step forward in the understanding of EF development. However, some topics remain unexplored: gender differences have not been thoroughly studied, yet few studies have described the decline of EFs in normal and pathological development and cognitive development predictors at different stages of the vital cycle need to be further examined.

Although progress has been achieved in the identification of development precursors in childhood, little is known about the factors promoting these abilities in adolescence, adulthood, and old age. New longitudinal studies of large samples that are well characterized in sociocultural terms and measure EFs with tools permitting comparative analyses at different ages will certainly be of outstanding value. In the same way, neuroimaging studies represent a valuable tool for the identification of changes in neural networks that are connected to EF growth and decline peaks, as well as with neural modeling that is connected with the exposure to favorable or unfavorable environmental conditions. Once these studies are available, it will be possible to design effective interventions more targeted to promoting cognitive control abilities during the full vital cycle with a view to improving full people's development.

References

- 1. Diamond A. Executive functions. Ann Rev Psychol. 2013;64(1):135–68.
- Lezak MD. The problem of assessing executive functions. Int J Psychol. 1982;17:281–97.
- Miyake A, Friedman NP, Emerson MJ, Witzki AH, Howerter A. The unity and diversity of executive functions and their contributions to complex "frontal lobe" tasks: a latent variable analysis. Cogn Psychol. 2000;41:49–100.
- Barker JE, Semenov AD, Michaelson L, Provan LS, Snyder HR, Munakata Y. Less-structured time in children's daily lives predicts self-directed executive functioning. Front Psychol. 2014;5:1–16.
- Lehto J, Juujärvi P, Kooistra L, Pulkkinen L. Dimensions of executive functioning: Evidence from children. Br J Dev Psychol. 2003;21:59–80.
- Huizinga M, Dolan C, van der Molen M. Age- related change in executive function: developmental trends and a latent variable analysis. Neuropsychologia. 2006;44:2017–36.
- Koechlin E, Summerfield C. An information theoretical approach to prefrontal executive function. Trends Cogn Sci. 2007;11:229–35.
- Best J, Miller P, Naglieri J. Relations between executive function and academic achievement from ages 5 to 17 in a large, representative national sample. Learn Individ Differ. 2011;21(4):327–3.
- Welsh JA, Nix RL, Blair C, Bierman L, Nelson KE. The development of cognitive skills and gains in academic school readiness for children from lowincome families. J Educ Psychol. 2010;102(1):43–53.
- Diamond A, Lee K. Interventions shown to aid executive function development in children 4 to 12 years old. Science. 2011;333:959–64.
- Collins A, Koechlin E. Reasoning, learning, and creativity: frontal lobe function and human decisionmaking. PLoS Biol. 2012;10(3):e1001293.
- Lunt L, Bramham J, Morris RG, Bullock PR, Selway RP, Xenitidis K, David AS. Prefrontal cortex dysfunc-

tion and "jumping to conclusions": bias or deficit? J Neuropsychol. 2012;6(1):65–78.

- Flores-Lázaro JC, Castillo-Preciado RE, Jiménez-Miramonte NA. Desarrollo de funciones ejecutivas de la niñez a la juventud. Anales de Psicología. 2014;30(2):463–73.
- Capilla A, Romero D, Maestú F, Campo P, Fernández S, González J, Fernández A, Ortiz T. Emergencia y desarrollo cerebral de las funciones ejecutivas. Acta Española de Psiquiatría. 2004;32(2):377–86.
- Portellano-Pérez JA. Cómo desarrollar la inteligencia: Entrenamiento neuropsicológico de la atención y las funciones ejecutivas. Madrid: Somos; 2005.
- Giedd J, Blumenthal J, Jeffries N, Castellanos F, Liu H, Zijdenbos A, et al. Brain development during childhood and adolescence: a longitudinal MRI study. Nat Neurosci. 1999;2:861–3.
- Sowell ER, Thompson PM, Tessner KD, Toga AW. Mapping continued brain growth and gray matter density reduction in dorsal frontal cortex: inverse relationships during postadolescent brain maturation. J Neurosci. 2001;21(22):8819–29.
- Anderson P. Assessment and development of executive function (EF) during childhood. Child Neuropsychol. 2002;8(2):71–82.
- Romine C, Reynolds C. A model of the development of frontal lobe functioning: findings from a metaanalysis. Appl Neuropsychol. 2005;12(4):190–201.
- Hughes C. Changes and challenges in 20 years of research into the development of executive functions. Infant Child Dev. 2011;20:251–71.
- Paus T. Growth of white matter in the adolescent brain: myelin or axon? Brain Cogn. 2010;72:26–35.
- 22. Baum GL, Ciric R, Roalf DR, Betzel RF, Moore TM, Shinohar RT, Kahn AE, Quarmley M, Cook PA, Elliott MA, Ruparel K, Gur RE, Gur RC, Bassett DS, Satterthwaite TD. Modular segregation of structural brain networks supports the development of executive function in youth. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania; 2017.
- Tau G, Peterson B. Normal development of brain circuits. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2010;35:147–68.
- Luna B, Garver K, Urban T, Lazar N, Sweeney J. Maturation of cognitive processes from late childhood to adulthood. Child Dev. 2004;75:1357–72.
- Luciana M, Conklin HM, Hooper CJ, Yarger RS. The development of nonverbal working memory and executive control processes in adolescents. Child Dev. 2005;76(3):697–712.
- Hooper C, Luciana M, Conklin H, Yarger R. Adolescents' performance on the development of decision making and ventromedial prefrontal cortex. Dev Psychol. 2004;40:1148–58.
- Anderson V, Anderson P, Northam E, Jacobs R, Catroppa C. Development of executive functions through late childhood and adolescence in an Australian sample. Dev Neuropsychol. 2001;20:385–406.
- 28. Armstrong V, Brunet P, He C, Nishimura M, Poole H. What is so critical?: A commentary on the reex-

amination of critical periods. Dev Psychobiol. 2006;47:326–31.

- 29. Diamond A. Normal development of prefrontal cortex from birth to young adulthood: cognitive functions, anatomy, and biochemistry. In: Stuss DT, Knight RT, editors. Principles of frontal lobe function. London: Oxford University Press; 2002. p. 466–503.
- 30. Farah MJ, Shera DM, Savage JS, Betancourt L, Giannetta JM, Brodsky NL, Malmud EK, Hurt H. Childhood poverty: specific associations with neurocognitive development. Brain Res. 2006;1110:166–74.
- Orozco-Hormaza M, Sánchez-Ríos H, Cerchiaro-Ceballos E. Relación entre desarrollo cognitivo y contextos de interacción familiar de niños que viven en sectores urbanos pobres. Universitas Psychologica. 2012;11(2):427–40.
- Korzeniowski C, Cupani M, Ison MS, Difabio H. School performance and poverty: the mediating role of executive functions. Electron J Psychol Res. 2016;14(3):474–94.
- Finch JE, Obradović J. Unique effects of socioeconomic and emotional parental challenges on children's executive functions. J Appl Dev Psychol. 2017;52:126–37.
- 34. Spruijt AM, Dekker MC, Ziermans TB, Swaab H. Attentional control and executive functioning in school-aged children: linking self-regulation and parenting strategies. J Exp Child Psychol. 2018;166:340–59.
- Valcan DS, Davis H, Pino-Pasternak D. Parental behaviours. Predicting early childhood executive functions: a meta-analysis. Educ Psychol Rev. 2018;30:607–49.
- 36. Berthelsen D, Hayes N, White SLJ, Williams KE. Executive function in adolescence: associations with child and family risk factors and self-regulation in early childhood. Front Psychol. 2017;8:897–903.
- PAC v L, Deater-Deckard K. Children's elementary school social experience and executive functions development: introduction to a special section. J Abnorm Child Psychol. 2016;44:1–6.
- McKinnon RD, Blair C. Bidirectional relations among executive function, teacher–child relationships, and early reading and math achievement: a cross-lagged panel analysis. Early Child Res Q. 2019;46:152–65.
- Bardack S, Obradović J. Observing teachers' displays and scaffolding of executive functioning in the classroom context. J Appl Dev Psychol. 2019;62:205–19.
- 40. Bodrova E, Leong DJ, Akhutina TV. When everything new is well-forgotten old: Vygotsky/Luria insights in the development of executive functions. New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development. 2011;133:11–28.
- Isquith P, Gioia A, Espy K. Executive function in preschool children: examination through everyday behavior. Dev Neuropsychol. 2004;26(1):403–22.
- Diamond A, Goldman-Rakic P. Comparison of human infants and rhesus monkeys on Piaget's A-not-B task:

evidence for dependence on dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. Exp Brain Res. 1989;74:24–40.

- 43. Johansson M. Attention and self-regulation in infancy and toddlerhood. The early development of executive functions and effortful control. Digital comprehensive summaries of uppsala dissertations from the faculty of social sciences 2015;117:1–71.
- 44. Sheese B, Rothbart M, Posner M, White L, Fraundorf S. Executive attention and self-regulation in infancy. Infant Behav Dev. 2008;31:501–10.
- 45. Frick MA, Forslund T, Fransson M, Johansson M, Bohlin G, Brocki KC. The role of sustained attention, maternal sensitivity, and infant temperament in the development of early self-regulation. Br J Psychol. 2018;109:277–98.
- 46. Davidson M, Amsoa D, Anderson LC, Diamond A. Development of cognitive control and executive functions from 4 to 13 years: evidence from manipulations of memory, inhibition, and task switching. Neuropsychology. 2006;44:2037–78.
- 47. Diamond A, Kirkham N. Not quite as grownup as we like to think: parallels between cognition in childhood and adulthood. Psychol Sci. 2005;16(4):291–7.
- Marcovitch S, Zelazo P. A hierarchical competing systems model of the emergence and early development of executive function. Develop Sci. 2009;12(1):1–25.
- 49. Hongwanishkul D, Happaney KR, Lee WC, Zelazo PD. Assessment of hot and cool executive function in young children: age-related changes and individual differences. Dev Neuropsychol. 2005;28(2):617–44.
- 50. Posner M, Rothbart M, Rueda M. Desarrollo de la autorregulación y desempeño escolar. In: Lipina SJ, Sigman M, editors. La pizarra de Babel. Puentes entre neurociencia, psicología y educación. Buenos Aires: Libros Del Zorzal; 2011. p. 133–52.
- Rueda R, Posner M, Rothbart K. The development of executive attention: contributions to the emergence of self-regulation. Dev Neuropsychol. 2005;28(2):573–94.
- Kuhn D. Metacognitive development. Curr Dir Psychol Sci. 2000;9(5):178–81.
- 53. Roebers C, Cimeli P, Röthlisberger M, Neuenschwander R. Executive functioning, metacognition, and self-perceived competence in elementary school children: an explorative study on their interrelations and their role for school achievement. Metacognition Learn. 2012;7:151–73.
- Roebers CM. Executive function and metacognition: towards a unifying framework of cognitive selfregulation. Dev Rev. 2017;45:31–51.
- 55. Coughlin C, Hembacher E, Lyons KE, Ghetti S. Introspection on uncertainty and judicious help-seeking during the preschool years. Dev Sci. 2015;18:957–71.
- 56. Kim S, Paulus M, Sodian B, Proust J. Young children's sensitivity to their own ignorance in informing others. PLoS One. 2016;11:1–15.

- 57. Freidman NP, Miyake A. The relations among inhibition and interference control functions: a latent-variable analysis. J Exp Psychol Gen. 2004;133(1):101–35.
- Shing YL, Lindenberger U, Diamond A, Li S, Davidson M. Memory maintenance and inhibitory control differentiate from early childhood to adolescence. Dev Neuropsychol. 2010;35(6):679–97.
- Brocki KC, Bohlin G. Executive functions in children aged 6 to 13: a dimensional and developmental study. Dev Neuropsychol. 2004;26(2):571–93.
- Arán FV. Funciones ejecutivas en niños escolarizados: efectos de la edad y del estrato socioeconómico. Avances en Psicología Latinoamericana. 2011;29(1):98–113.
- Heaton R, Chedule G, Talley J, Kay G, Curtiss G. Test de Clasificación de Tarjetas de Wisconsin. Manual. Madrid: TEA Ediciones; 1997.
- 62. De Luca C, Wood S, Anderson V, Buchanan J, Proffit T, Mahony K, Pantelis C. Normative data from the Cantab. I: development of executive function over the lifespan. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol. 2003;25(2):242–54.
- 63. Gathercole SE, Pickering SJ, Ambridge B, Wearing H. The structure of working memory from 4 to 15 years of age. Dev Psychol. 2004;40(2):177–90.
- 64. Lensing N, Elsner B. Development of hot and cool executive functions in middle childhood: three-year growth curves of decision making and working memory updating. J Exp Child Psychol. 2018;173:187–204.
- Ison MS, Carrada M. Evaluación de la eficacia atencional: Estudio normativo preliminar en escolares argentinos. RIDEP. 2011;29(1):129–46.
- 66. Roselló i Mir J. Psicología de la atención. Introducción al estudio del mecanismo atencional. Madrid: Ed. Pirámide; 1998.
- 67. Matute E, Sanz A, Gumá E, Roselli M, Ardila A. Influencia del nivel educativo de los padres, el tipo de escuela y el sexo en el desarrollo de la atención y la memoria. Revista Latinoamericana de Psicología. 2009;41(2):257–73.
- Morton JB, Bosma R, Ansari D. Age-related changes in brain activation associated with dimensional shifts of attention: an fMRI study. NeuroImage. 2009;46:249–56.
- Ison MS. Programa de intervención para mejorar las capacidades atencionales en escolares argentinos. Int J Psychol Res. 2011;4(2):72–9.
- Díaz A, Martín R, Jiménez JE, García E, Hernández S, Rodríguez C. Torre de Hanoi: datos normativos y desarrollo evolutivo de la planificación. Eur J Edu Psychol. 2012;5(1):79–91.
- Pennequin V, Sorel O, Fontaine R. Motor planning between 4 and 7 years of age: changes linked to executive functions. Brain Cogn. 2010;74:107–11.
- Anderson P, Anderson V, Garth J. Assessment and development of organizational ability: the rey complex figure organizational strategy score (RCF-OSS). Clin Neuropsychol. 2001;15(1):81–94.

- Krikorian R, Bartok JA. Developmental data for Porteus Maze Test. Clinic Neurophycol. 1998;12(3):305–10.
- 74. Matute E, Chamorro Y, Inozemtseva O, Barrios O, Rosselli A, Ardila A. Efecto de la edad en una tarea de planificación y organización ('pirámide de México') en escolares. Rev Neurol. 2008;47(2):61–70.
- Difabio de Anglat H. Competencias para la comprensión de texto y el pensamiento crítico en el nivel medio y universitario. Tesis Doctoral, UNCuyo; 2005.
- Georghiades P. From the general to the situated: three decades of Metacognition. Int J Sci Educ. 2004;26(3):365–83.
- Karch S, Mulert C. Advantages and disadvantages of simultaneous EEG_fMRI recordings of cognitive functions. Cognition. 2010;21:419–38.
- Suárez Brito P, Alva Canto EA, Ferreira VE. Velocidad de Procesamiento como Indicador de Vocabulario en el Segundo Año de Vida. Acta de Investigación Psicológica. 2015;5(1):1926–37.
- Korzeniowski C. Test de Clasificación de Tarjetas Wisconsin: valores de referencia para población adulta argentina. XIII Congreso Argentino de Nueropsicología. Mendoza. 2018.
- Reynolds CR, Horton A. Assessing executive functions: a life-span perspective. Psychol Sch. 2008;45(9):875–92.

- Treitz FH, Heyder K, Daum I. Differential course of executive control changes during normal aging. Aging Neuropsychol Cognit. 2007;14:370–93.
- Blair C. School readiness: Integrating cognition and emotion in a neurobiological conceptualization of children's functioning at school entry. Am Psychol. 2002;57:111–27.
- Matthews JS, Marulis LM, Williford AP. Gender processes in school functioning and the mediating role of cognitive self-regulation. J Appl Dev Psychol. 2014;35:128–37.
- Else-Quest NM, Hyde JS, Goldsmith HH, VanHulle CA. Gender differences in temperament: a metaanalysis. Psychol Bull. 2006;132:33–72.
- Spinella M. Self-rated executive function: development of the executive function index. Int J Neurosci. 2005;115:649–67.
- 86. van Tetering MA, van der Laan AM, de Kogel CH, de Groot RHM, Jolles J. Sex differences in self-regulation in early, middle and late adolescence: a large-scale cross-sectional study. PLoS One. 2020;13:1–17.
- 87. Cornblath EJ, Tang E, Baum GL, Moore TM, Roalf DR, Gur RC, Gur RE, Pasqualetti F, Satterthwaite TD, Bassett DS. Sex differences in network controllability as a predictor of executive function in youth. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania; 2019.



Approach to Learning in the University: Reference to Learning to Learn

34

Jesús Fernando Escanero, María Soledad Soria, Manuel Guerra, and Pascual Ángel Gargiulo

The Reform of Bologna: Teaching, Learning and Research

The new paradigm of European Higher Education, emerged as a result of the application of harmonization mechanisms, is oriented toward a methodology based on learning and focused on the active role of the student, which modifies the traditional function of the university (teaching and research), and a third element comes into play, learning, which should and will be nuclear in the new university model. This also implies that the student assumes one of the basic principles of continuing education: being lifelong learners. The transfer of their own construction implies the endowment to the student of the most suitable tools for this and, especially, of the knowledge of their own processes to always be able to choose the most optimal and, if this is not done, be able to rectify and change it [1].

It is evident that from the Humboldt University of Berlin, where research was before teaching, the current one in Bologna a stretch is present. Closing the eyes at a distance is simply losing horizons and denying futures.

Learning to Learn

Definition

The European Union (EU) [2] defines competencies as a combination of knowledge, skills, and attitudes appropriate to the context and key competencies as those that all individuals need for their realization and personal development, active citizenship, social inclusion, and employment.

Learning to learn is one of the eight key competences adopted by the European Parliament and the Council of the European Union in December 2006 [2]. Due to its generic nature and appllicability, it has been considered as a transversal competence, which indicates its generic

J. F. Escanero (⊠) · M. S. Soria · M. Guerra Departamento de Farmacología y Fisiología, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Zaragoza, Zaragoza, Spain e-mail: escanero@unizar.es; msoria@unizar.es; mguerra@unizar.es

P. Á. Gargiulo

Laboratory of Neurosciences and Experimental Psychology, Latin American Technological Corporation Foundation (FUCOTEL), Cathedra of Psychopathology, Catholic University of Argentina, Area of Pharmacology Department of Pathology, National University of Cuyo, CONICET, Guaymallén, Mendoza, Argentina

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_34

nature and applicability in different subjects and activities, or as metacompetence [3]. However, as indicated by Čepić et al. [4], it could be more appropriately qualified as metalearning since the term metacompetence would imply competence to *develop competencies* and describe most of the professional work of teachers.

The EU working group [2] on key competencies identified the concept of learning to learn as follows: *ability to pursue and persist in learning and organize one's own learning through effective time and information management, both individually as in groups*. This competence includes conscience of the learning process and needs, the identification of available opportunities, and the ability to overcome obstacles to learn successfully and means obtaining, processing, and assimilating new knowledge and skills, as well as seeking and making use of guidance.

Exploration of Learning to Learn

The approach of our group to learning and, therefore, when learning to learn has been done through the management of three concepts and their exploration:

- 1. Learning styles
- 2. Learning strategies
- 3. Learn to learn from self-regulated learning

Learning Styles: Learning in Any Context

We began working with learning styles and an objective, to provide our students with a high score in each of the constructs – styles – that determined the tools for their study, with what was expected to be good learners in all contexts (master classes, dissection rooms or laboratories, practices in small groups or next to the patient's bed, etc.).

The concept of pedagogical language style is often used to indicate a series of different behaviors gathered under a single label (management styles, learning styles, etc.). Styles are something like conclusions we reach about the way people act. For Keefe [5], learning styles are cognitive, affective, and physiological traits that serve as relatively stable indicators of how students perceive, interact, and respond to their learning environments.

Consequently, learning styles (cognitive traits) have to do with the way students structure content, form and use concepts, interpret information, problems, solve select means of representation (visual, auditory, kinesthetic), etc. The affective traits are linked to the motivations and expectations that influence learning, while the physiological traits are related to the gender and biological rhythms and biotype and biorhythm of each subject, such as sleepwakefulness, of the student.

Different types of learning styles have been developed in reference to different theoretical and conceptual frameworks. The one developed by Kolb [6–9], in the USA, is original in the sense that it has been the first to rely on a conception of learning described by the same author, experiential learning (concrete experience, reflexive observation, abstract conceptualization, and active experimentation). Kolb defines learning as the process by which knowledge is created through the transformation of experience. He identifies two main dimensions of learning: perception and processing. He points out that learning is the result of the way people perceive and then process what they have perceived. The two types, dialectically opposed, of perception are concrete experience and abstract conceptualization (and generalizations), and in processing, the extremes are active experimentation (implementation of the implications of concepts in new situations) and observation reflexive. The juxtaposition of the two ways of perceiving and the two ways of processing is what led Kolb to describe a four-quadrant model to explain learning styles. Each quadrant responds to a different style.

Learning styles have been integrated, as individual characteristics, into theoretical constructs seeking to give a global account of the activities of a student who is committed to the progress of learning. All studies involve 72 models of different learning styles, several of them in frank contradiction and almost a hundred different tools.

Curry [10] emphasizes that the counterparts of this abundance imply an excessive conceptual division, a poorly stabilized plural terminology and, from the operational point of view, a multiplication of measurement scales, whose psychometric validation has sometimes been developed in reference to several different constructs, so that the indicators of validity and reliability are frequently variable, which makes the predictive feasibility of the measures extremely difficult and makes the interpretations and arguments developed from them more fragile.

Usefulness of Styles: With High Scores in All Styles, Learning Contexts Do Not Matter

The application of the styles provides a profile of the students that serves to act in two directions [11]. On the one hand, trying to improve lower scoring styles with the objective that students have high scores in all of them allows them to be efficient learners in all contexts. On the other hand, facilitating knowledge allows the best and most profitable methodological interaction for learning. In both cases it is necessary to determine, first, the learning style of the students.

In relation to the second aspect, to favor the methodological interaction for learning and despite some successful contributions such as the 4MAT system [12, 13], in which the teacher must plan and design activities focused on the integration of all pedagogical styles, reality indicates that it is applied very sparingly.

When the approach to learning styles began, we went to the first aspect indicated above: the diagnosis and improvement of the constructs of students with low scores, that is, to detect those styles that had a score that seemed inappropriate to us. The aim was improving it in order for a given student to have high scores in all of them, which meant that he was able to learn in any context (theoretical, practical classes, dissection room, or next to the patient's bed, to name a few), since, as indicated in the characteristics of the styles, each one has a preference for some specific activities.

The Problem

As indicated above, the first action consists in determining the style for which there are numerous tools or questionnaires. When we worked with different tools in order to see which one best suited our interests, the problem we summarized in the following sentence arose: different tools, different diagnoses (styles) for the same subject, as we have shown in recent publications [14–17] in which two tools have been applied, the Honey-Alonso questionnaire of learning styles (CHAEA, [18]) – Spanish version of the Honey and Munford tool [19] – and that of Felder and Silverman [20].

The results are opposite regarding the active/ reflexive styles, so that the possible improvements obtained from the students' learning style knowledge are at least debatable. One of the reasons that have been pointed out [16] to explain these differences, apart from the structural ones, is based on the overvaluation of impulsivity to the detriment of the activity carried out by the CHAEA, and, consequently, when this tool is applied, the active style is undervalued.

In order to correct this dilemma, a new questionnaire [16, 17] was developed based on the previous ones in Kolb's experiential learning [7– 9], and the results were compared with those provided by the CHAEA in the same student population.

The CESEA [16, 17], acronym in Spanish of the Questionnaire of Escanero and Soria of Learning Styles, as the new questionnaire is called, assumes the axes of perception and processing. Perception, confrontation with learning, presents in one extreme/pole all the senses that can be used to capture something new (know, read, listen, see), with the exception of the kinesthetic, which is at the other end (try, check, do). To designate the extremes, the *theoretical* and *dynamic* terms have been used. The processing includes from the thoughtful, critical, and argumentative (think) to the application and resolutive (solve, solve) reflection. The terms designated for the ends or poles are *reflective* and *operational*. The interaction of the vertical and horizontal axes determines and defines four learning styles (quadrants): theoretical-reflective, dynamicreflective, theoretical-operational, and dynamicoperational. In turn, the two upper quadrants determine, as indicated in the previous section, the analytical cognitive region (theoretical-reflective and theoretical-operational styles), and the lower quadrants, the intuitive cognitive region (dynamicreflective and dynamic styles-operative).

The descriptive analysis showed that the theoretical learning pole was the preferred one, with a higher average score than the rest, followed by the reflexive one. The one with the lowest score was the dynamic one. In general, the results for the four poles have a high homogeneity (34.4 versus 37.5).

The results of the consistency of the reliability test show that the scale used to measure the 48 items or issues has a good Cronbach's α (0.822). The scales used to measure each of the four learning poles were analyzed individually and the values shown are satisfactory (0.6–0.8). According to Pardo and San Martín [21, 22], the acceptable values for this parameter are from 0.6.

Regarding the CHAEA, the results show differences mainly in regard to the active style, being more homogeneous and high in the new questionnaire, which was intended to correct.

Performance for Improvement

Once the diagnosis of the preferred style has been made, it could happen that: a) in one of the other styles he has obtained a low score (deficit score) in absolute values, or b) rather than, compared to those of their group mates in some styles. Although it does not have a poor score, it is one of the highest or lowest of the group.

Our recommendation, in case of improvement, acts in two ways:

• I Improvement of the questions that the subject has answered with low scores [18].

Once the survey is carried out to know the style, the defining questions of each pole are analyzed and discussed with the student. Taking into account the pole that we are going to improve, if we have worked with CESEA, we analyze the poor scores in the answers answered that may go from very marked or notorious to others where it sometimes approximates the cutting notes. It is recommended to start the improvement for the least expensive, that is, for those who almost do it already, or perform but have not acquired the required score, that is, for those who have the highest marks within the deficiency. Alonso et al. [18] recommend starting with those between yes and no, that is, those that have somehow had more doubts in answering.

The improvement strategy goes through the following points:

- Notebook for improvement. Booklet where all the tasks to be carried out for improvement are recorded in this first analysis visit, together with the tutor or responsible teacher. There is also a tentative distribution over time. They are usually grouped in two or three in three.
- 2. It begins with the first couple or trio. For example:

The way of acting described in the questions will be improved:

- 10A: When I learn I proceed in a structured manner.
- 19B: Faced with a problem, I seek to dominate the issue-draw conclusions that have qualified with the minimum.

For the first one, we have agreed on two things: (a) That before starting any activity, a forecast of the points to be addressed must be carried out and that at the end it should be verified that it has been carried out and (b) a summary of the subjects studied must begin every day, sequentially indicating the points to be treated. In the notebook for improvement, daily incidents will be collected every day.

The second has been approached in a similar way. From the subjects that study every day, it will be prepared a summary drawing the conclusions of it. Each day the incidents of this task will be noted in the booklet, in a different chapter from the previous one, in how many subjects have been agreed or entrusted and in how many not.

3. After the time agreed with the tutor or teacher in charge, which we recommend 2 or 3 weeks, the progress of the booklet will be analyzed according to the annotations made, observing the level of compliance with them.

If the result has been in accordance with the agreement, a new planning will be carried out, but if not the planned task will be repeated until a new meeting, analyzing the reasons for the breach and trying to solve them. It is ultimately intended that the student unconsciously develop what at first implies or may involve a voluntary and expensive activity.

II Modeling deficit styles.

Each style is defined by certain characteristics. In the case of CESEA, the main characteristics are the following described. The characteristics of the poles are presented, for which we recommend starting the improvement, remembering that the styles are the joint of the two limiting poles of the quadrant:

(a) Theoretical (know).

Methodical, logical, objective, critical, rigorous, organized, precise, sequential, formal, deductive, and associative

(b) Dynamic (try)

Experienced, explorer, discoverer, creator, restorative, synthetic, informal, spontaneous, adventurous, impulsive, and inductive

(c) Reflective (think)

Conscientious, receptive, exhaustive, compiler, meditator, collaborative, cautious, and sensitive

(d) Operational (do)

Productive, practical, effective, decisive, realistic, solver, direct, and common sense.

It is also recommended to be quite free with a broad view in modeling.

Next, the defining questions of each pole are analyzed and discussed with the student. Taking into account the deficiencies according to the answers answered and the characteristics of the different poles, the strategy of the improvement of some characteristic of the style is elaborated, which may not coincide exactly with a certain question and the improvement objectives may be broader than in the previous section, since they not only respond to the improvement of the poorly punctuated questions but to those qualities of the style that in common agreement are estimated to be susceptible to improvement. The objective from the first moment must be very clear on both sides: the student must be an efficient learner in any context. The treatment, in essence, is as in the previous section.

Learning Strategies: Learning from the Best

The approach to the topic of strategies requires, apart from the precise conceptual location, a certain knowledge of the different denominations of them that have been used by the various authors who have studied the subject, since there is a real jungle of names that can discourage who approaches the subject ignoring this problem.

There are a lot of definitions. Here we will mention only two of them. For Álvarez et al. [23], they are *intentional guides of action with which it is a question of putting into practice the skills that establish the learning objectives*. Monereo [24] defines them as a set of actions *that are carried out to obtain a learning objective*. These actions correspond to a series of cognitive processes in which, according to the author, it would be possible to identify cognitive abilities and skills, but also techniques and methods for the study.

At present, as Fernández-Borrás et al. [25] says, the learning strategies are located at the same hierarchical level as the specific thematic knowledge of each discipline. From this point of view, knowledge of these strategies is shown as a prevalent action in institutions dedicated to higher education. In this regard, Coffield et al. [26] write: *learners become more effective as learners if they are aware of the important qualities they and other learners possess*.

Classification

Although there are numerous classifications of strategies, in this chapter we will focus on meta-cognitive and cognitive.

Metacognitive Strategies

The metacognition construct has been developed based on contributions from leading scholars from various research areas [27-30] and implies not only the person's knowledge about the factors involved in their understanding process but also knowledge of how these factors act and interact to contribute to the realization and results of their cognitive actions. Metacognitive knowledge develops throughout life and is closely related to the frequency of use of high-level processes that involve two types of activities: on the one hand, being aware of what is known about the material that should be learned and the processes involved in its acquisition and, on the other, be able to regulate the activities that must be carried out for learning to be successful [28]. In this way, metacognitive knowledge allows the student to reflect on their own thinking in order to promote autonomous learning and academic success [31-34]. In this sense, the metacognitive knowledge that an individual possesses allows him to feel more motivated, taking into account that as he becomes more aware of the self-regulation mechanisms involved in carrying out academic activities, he becomes a better learner [33].

For us [14], the planning (first of the two explored components of the metacognition) and the grade obtained are significantly correlated (p < 0.05). The theoretical style is positively correlated with the planning strategies (p < 0.05) and evaluation (second of the metacognition components explored) (p < 0.01) and while the reflexive one only does so with the evaluation (p < 0.05).

On the other hand, the relationship between metacognition levels and academic performance seems clear. In this sense, in a work carried out by Bernad-Mainar et al. [35] – next section – it is indicated that the correlation between academic results and cognitive awareness reaches significance (p = 0.001) regardless of the level of academic performance and the statistic used (correlation and comparison of means). It is curi-

ous that this correlation is fulfilled regardless of the type of studies taken. This work also shows that the students of the last courses (final level) reflect having a greater cognitive consciousness than those of the first, which implies that the passage through the race not only provides more knowledge but a greater control of the learning process itself. In this line, two complementary data were also highly curious: (a) in the first courses, the level of cognitive consciousness of the students does not keep parallels with the academic performance (70% of underperforming students are among the students of higher cognitive consciousness) and (b) in the students of the last courses it happens that as academic performance decreases, the level of cognitive consciousness also decreases.

Cognitive Strategies: Learn with the Best Strategies in Any Environment

A First Experience

In 1995, the ESEAC scale that had been prepared by Bernad [37] and implemented at the University of Zaragoza by different collaborators [35] was presented at the Meeting of the AMEE (Association for Medical Education), held in Zaragoza [36], and, subsequently, applied to the students of Physiology of the Faculty of Medicine of Zaragoza [38]. This scale, unlike the rest of the instruments, measures behaviors and not so much the opinions of the student. In this sense, this scale wants to avoid two serious inconveniences of this type of tools. In the first place, the items of the other instruments are elaborated based on the opinion of the student - what he says to do, what he thinks - and they forget about aspects of behavior that by their very nature are directly observable and, therefore, truly objectionable aspects shown in the *execution* of concrete tasks. The second drawback, which ESEAC does not have, is that the items of the commented scales are formulated in a general or decontextualized way (I take notes in class; I seek to have prestige among my classmates, friends, and family; when I read, I differentiate the aspects and important or main contents of the accessories or secondary; etc.). The inclusion of abundant items such

as these in the aforementioned scales invites us to think that the learner's behavior would have as a reference a unique and undifferentiated framework in which the behavioral differences derived from the variety of factors that intervene within the precise context in the context are not contemplated. That learning really occurs (different disciplinary structures. different types of relationships within the group, different personality and teacher training, etc.), that is, everything that is included today under the label of contextualized learning.

The ESEAC scale, according to Bernad et al. [35], is defined by four characteristics:

- (a) A holistic or global conception of learning. What is attempted with this scale is not so much to study the influence of each variable, one by one, in the process of learning from students. The aim is to take note of the set of a representative sample of them with the different steps and nuances that can be distinguished in the said global process when learning is analyzed in its strategic version.
- (b) An ecological approach to learning (ESEAC as an instrument aimed at facilitating and enriching the activity of teachers in their task of evaluating students within the framework of their usual work).
- (c) Attention focused on student activity.
- (d) Generability of the analyzed processes.

Other Tools

As with the exploration of metacognition, the tools used for the exploration of learning strategies offer a lot of possibilities [16], although in this chapter only reference is made to what we usually use.

The ACRA (Spanish acronym for Acquisition, Coding, and Recovery and Processing Support) [39] based on learning theories includes cognitive, metacognitive, and socio-affective strategies. From our point of view, the structuring of the first two scales (acquisition and coding/storage) is debatable, since the storage strategies are located both in the first scale, in Acquisition of Information, and in the second, in Coding (called Coding or Storage, which is still questionable). On the other hand, the fourth scale, of Support, in the group of Socio-affective Strategies includes together in the same strategy the Intrinsic and Extrinsic Motivation, both punctuated in the same direction, which is still striking. This can give the impression that the intrinsic motivation is the same as the extrinsic one. In addition, one does not include a type of fundamental strategies, such as those of Search, Collection, and Selection of Information, and other important types of are contemplated. other types Thus, the Processing Strategies include do not Personalization, Creativity, and Transfer. Nor do they include the Value of the task, the Selfefficacy, and the Control of the Context among the Support Strategies. On the other hand, the questionnaire includes excessively long items and of doubtful intelligibility given the population to which it is addressed.

Deciding on this tool, in the end, focused on the ease of application and interpretation and why our work is supported either by the tutor or the teacher who deals with this competence.

Acting for Improvement

 Once the strategy survey (ACRA) has been carried out, the answers given by the students together under the idea of coverage that the students with good strategies are the students with high performance are discussed by practice sections. The strategies of each one of the explored processes are discussed separately, which are the three basic cognitive processes of brain functioning: (a) acquisition, (b) coding or storage, and (c) recovery or evocation of information, leaving for last place other processes of metacognitive, affective, and social nature that are addressed by the support strategies that are also necessary.

From the knowledge of cognitive processes can be deduced mental procedures or management strategies, which are called "micro strategies," learning tactics, or study strategies. The construction process of the ACRA was based on this theoretical framework [39].

Each cognitive process has a certain number of strategies: (I) 7 information acquisition strategies; (II) 13 information coding strategies; (III) 4 recovery strategies; and (IV) 9 processing support strategies.

2. It is about students getting to know each other and seeing the strategies they use, for those who need to incorporate them into their collection. It is, as we insist, to know well and to have previously explored the metacognition, since the second component according to Flavell [28] is the control or domain over them. This indicates the control that the student exerts on the strategies used to learn a certain subject, which implies that if a strategy is not adequate or does not work as it should eliminate it from his arsenal.

In this regard one of us occurred the following fact:

We were talking about acquisition strategies (Exploration, Linear Underline, Idiosyncratic Underline, Epigraph, Overhaul, Mental Review, Repeated Review) and, specifically, the underline, which everyone did, as was the case with the idiosyncratic they did. All but one student, male, said that he had no case with markers of different colors. The rest were women students. He assumed that this was the Acquisition strategy he was going to adopt. After 2 or 3 weeks, he met again with the professor in one of the halls of the faculty, and after the timely greetings and inquiries he said that underlining the page with so many colors he became dizzy and could not study. That meeting ended with a memory of metacognitive strategies. The professor suggested - Flavell, second part of the definition of metacognition, to which the student responded without hesitation - I have already given the markers.

One issue is metacognition and another is what we are trying to achieve: provide students with fewer strategies with all the luggage available to students with better performance.

3. With the strategies incorporated in a particular student, they will be followed up as has been done with the learning styles, writing down in a booklet the incidents of each day to be analyzed in the meetings scheduled with the tutor.

Learning to Learn Through Self-Regulated Learning

Lifelong learning, an essential skill of the twentyfirst century, has been driven by the constant need for information experienced by today's professionals, enhanced by the growing access to information and communication technologies (ICT). The citizens of the twenty-first century are experiencing the transition from a training model focused on the figure of the school – and university – teacher to a flexible and autonomous model that complements the formal education established with autonomous practices.

Self-regulation of learning (SRL) is a central issue of relevance and validity in the educational sciences. The SRL was originally raised by Zimmerman [40], in 1986, within the framework of the theory of social learning proposed by Bandura [41]. The SRL process consists of the deliberate organization of cognitive, behavioral, and environmental activities that lead to success in learning. The ARA can be conceptualized as a psychological construct that refers to the process by which the student configures his activity and organizes his environment in order to achieve the objectives that are imposed, or that is imposed, in front of an academic activity, autonomously and motivated.

Its relevance is that it constitutes one of the best predictors of academic performance [42, 43]. The characteristics attributed to selfregulated persons coincide with those attributed to high-performance and high-capacity students, compared to those with low performance (or learning difficulties) who have deficits in these variables.

Exploration of the Learning to Learn

The need to establish indicators to measure the competence of learning to learn had a fundamental thrust with the creation of the CRELL (*Center for Research on Lifelong Learning*) in 2005. This center, together with the European Network of Policy Makers for the Evaluation of Education System, proposed to develop an instrument to measure competence [44]. For this, in addition to the conceptual analysis, they considered four evaluation instruments [45]:

- (a) The tests of learning to learn, from the University of Helsinki within the project *Life* as learning (LEARN) [46]
- (b) The Effective Lifelong Learning Inventory-ELLI, from the University of Bristol [47]
- (c) The cross-curricular skills test developed by the University of Amsterdam (crosscurricular skills test-CCST) [48]
- (d) The metacognition test developed by the Autonomous University of Madrid [49]

Two of these instruments directly did not measure the competence of learning to learn but were analyzed for their great relationship with the construct.

From these studies the competence was defined, and a pre-pilot measurement test was developed [50] that was applied in several countries, including Spain [51]. In this way three large dimensions were defined: affective, cognitive, and metacognitive. Subsequently, as indicated by Muñoz-San Roque et al. [52], various Spanish authors have defined the construction of the competence learning to learn from different perspectives in order to build mechanisms that allow their evaluation. The previous authors made a selection of those dimensions that were common to all of them and that defined the perception of the competence of learning to learn from the perspective of self-regulation. From this selection a theoretical structure based on three dimensions arises: management of the learning process, selfevaluation of the process, and self-knowledge as an apprentice. They collect their exploration in a measuring instrument to know the level of development of the competence of learning to learn. This instrument is called EADCAA, the Spanish acronym for the Self-Perception Scale of the Level of Development of the Learning to Learn Competition (Escala de Autopercepción del nivel de Desarrollo de la Competencia de Aprender a Aprender). It consists of nine items grouped into the three dimensions that maintain the different conceptual nuances:

- 1. Learning management, four items
- 2. Self-evaluation of the process, two items
- 3. Self-knowledge as an apprentice, three items

Results

The results obtained for the first time with this tool in students of the Faculty of Medicine are presented worldwide in this publication. Seventy eight students in the first year of Medicine, Physiology subject, participated in the work, of which 19 (25%) were men and 57 (75%) women. All students enrolled (175) were informed of the purpose of the practice and were invited to fill in the questionnaires. Only students who entered their data informatically have been treated for this study.

The following table represents the averages for the three dimensions that make up the EADCAA tool. The items were valued with a Likert from 1 to 6 (Table 34.1).

As can be seen, all these means are found in decimal basis in figures greater than 7.

In order to show if any student needed special treatment, the following range was established:

- From 1,00 a 2,49
- From 2,50 a 4,49
- From 4,50 a 6,00

The values obtained in each range are presented in Table 34.2.

 Table 34.1
 Average values for each of the three dimensions

	Group values					
	Minimum	Mean	Maximum			
Learning management	2,25	4,38	5,75			
Process self-assessment	3,00	4,43	6,00			
Self-knowledge as an apprentice	1,33	4,62	6.00			

Table 34.2 Number of scores in the defined range

	Scores in the range of					
	1,0-	2,50-	4,50-			
	2,49	4,49	6,0			
Learning management	1	39	8			
Process self-assessment	0	35	43			
Self-knowledge as an	1	29	48			
apprentice						

The student who presented a low score in the learning management dimension turned out to be the same with a low score in the self-knowledge dimension as an apprentice. The average was 2.11 and had low scores in all dimensions. No more students of these characteristics were found. Some cases of the following rank in any of the three dimensions presented deficit scores. For example, in two cases, learning management had scores of 2.5 and 2.6, respectively. In contrast, in the other dimensions, the view changed completely.

In order to analyze if any item had any special difficulty or was not on the same frequency as the remaining ones, the following figure was prepared, where it is stated that items 2 and 3, especially the latter, do not follow the same behavior as the rest (Fig. 34.1). It can be seen that the values of items 2 and 3 are the ones with the lowest scores. Both values correspond to learning management, and its statement is as follows:

- 1. I organize my study by setting realistic goals (before I begin I am able to organize the study time necessary to achieve the objectives I have set).
- 2. I set times for study.

These results put us in the consideration that, together, our students are good students and master learning to learn. They also specify on this competence that time management is the domain where some may have certain problems.

Finally, we must indicate that we assume as Muñoz San Roque et al. [52] that the use of these and other tools, especially those aimed at determining approaches, allows to know the dimensions and indicators that define the competence. It will or should facilitate teachers to design and use appropriate teaching methodologies for their development and evaluation according to what is marked in the course schedules.

Action for Improvement

Once the questionnaire has been completed, students analyze the global and domain scores, in the case that one is susceptible to improvement. If so, the items are analyzed in the case that one in particular deserves preferential treatment. For example: let's focus on domain 1: Learning process management. Here, the item two is: "I organize my study with realistic goals (before starting I am able to organize the study time



484

necessary to achieve the objectives I have set)". It is qualified with a one. The other three items have acceptable scores.

It would be possible to start working on this item by making aware the steps followed in an activity, for example, the study of the subjects, the times planned for each session and the times actually invested, analyzing the greatest mismatches, and, despite the success that can be achieved, if the planning has been correct. If it has not been, this planning is modeled, reflecting on the different steps, inviting the student to start the task on the same day in an appropriate manner. The process from here would be identical to that indicated above for the improvement of styles and strategies.

This concludes some of the actions that we have carried out as teachers regarding learning. We have been not renounced to teaching and aspects related to its improvement and, of course, research. To conclude, it should be noted that everything indicated here is a part of the tools and procedures that are introduced on the Internet, DEMETIC database (Spanish acronym of Law, Medicine, Education and Information and Communications Technologies (TICs)), for educational experiences.

References

- Escanero JF, Guerra M, Soria MS. Elementos para el diseño de una práctica de metacognición: conocimientos del cómo. In: Lasala P, editor. La administración electrónica como herramienta de inclusión digital. Zaragoza: Prensas Universitarias de Zaragoza; 2011.
- European Parliament and Council of the European Union. European Union framework of key competencies for life long learning. Recommendation of the European Parliament and of the Council, of 18 Dec 2006, on key competencies for lifelong learning. Official Journal of the European Union, 2006/962/E, L394/10-18. Retrieved from: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/ legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32006H09 62&from=EN.
- Comisión Europea ¿Qué es el marco europeo de cualificaciones para el aprendizaje permanente? Ed. Oficina de Publicaciones Oficiales de las Comunidades Europeas (Luxemburgo), 2008, p. 9.
- Čepić R, Vorkapić ST, LonČarić D, Anđić D, Mihić SS. Considering transversal competences, personality and reputation in the context of the teachers' professional development. Int Educ Stud. 2015;8(2):8–20.

- Keefe J. Aprendiendo Perfiles de Aprendizaje. Asociación Nacional de Escuelas Secundarias; 1988.
- Kolb D. The learning style inventory: technical manual. Boston: McBer; 1976.
- Kolb D. Inventario de los estilos de aprendizaje: inventario autoevaluativo y su interpretación. Boston: TRG Hay/McBer; 1981.
- Kolb D. Experiential learning: experience at the source of learning and development. New Jersey: Prentice Hall; 1984.
- 9. Kolb D. LSI: learning style inventory. Technical specification. Boston: TRG Hay/McBer; 1995.
- Curry L. An organization of learning styles theory and construct. 67th Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association. Montreal: April 11–15; 1983. Documento ERIC. URL: http://eric. ed.gov/ERICWebPortal/search/detailmini.jsp?_ nfpb=true&_&ERICExtSearch_SearchValue_0=ED 235185&ERICExtSearch_SearchType_0=no&accno =ED235185.
- 11. Escanero JF, Soria M, Escanero ME, Guerra M. Utilización de los estilos de aprendizaje para la mejora de la calidad. Experiencia en la Facultad de Medicina con el cuestionario de Felder y Silverman. In: Lasala P, editor. Derecho y tecnologías avanzadas. LEFIS Series, vol. 15. Zaragoza: Prensas Universitarias de Zaragoza; 2013. p. 253–72.
- McCarthy B. The 4MAT system: teaching to learning styles with right/left mode techniques. Excel: Barrington; 1987.
- McCarthy B, McCarthy D. Teaching around the 4MAT cycle: designing instruction for diverse learners whit diverse learning styles. Thousand Oaks: Corwin Press; 2006.
- Escanero JF, Soria MS, Escanero ME, Guerra M. Influencia de los estilos de aprendizaje y la metacognición en el rendimiento académico de los estudiantes de fisiología. FEM. 2013;16:23–9.
- Escanero JF, Soria M, Escanero ME, Guerra M. Estilos, metacognición y estrategias de aprendizaje en estudiantes de medicina. Una propuesta para la mejora de la enseñanza/aprendizaje. Rev Farmacol Chile. 2013;6:39–47.
- 16. Escanero JF, Soria M, Guerra M, Silva J, Gargiulo PA. Learning styles and strategies: the importance of the selection of the tool. A new learning style questionnaire (c. 17). In: Gargiulo PA, Mesones HL, editors. Psychiatry and neuroscience update. Bridging the Divide Zurich: Springer International Publishing; 2015. p. 227–42.
- Escanero JF, Soria MS, Guerra M, Silva J. Comparación de los estilos de aprendizaje de los alumnos de medicina obtenidos con un nuevo cuestionario con los proporcionados por el cuestionario Honey-Alonso (CHAEA). FEM. 2016;19(1):19–26.
- Alonso C, Gallego D, Honey P. Los estilos de aprendizaje. Mensajero: Bilbao; 1994.
- 19. Honey P, Mumford A. The manual of learning styles. Honey Ardingly House: Maidenhead; 1986.

- Felder RM, Silverman LK. Learning and teaching styles in engineering education. Eng Edu. 1988;78:674–81.
- Pardo A, San Martín R. Análisis de datos en psicología II. 2nd ed. Madrid: Pirámide; 1998.
- Pardo A, Ruiz MA. Análisis de datos con SPSS 13 Base. Madrid: McGraw-Hill; 2005.
- Álvarez L, González-Pineda JA, González-Castro P, Núñez JC. Prácticas de psicología de la educación. Evaluación e intervención psicoeducativa. Madrid: Pirámide; 2007.
- Monereo C. El asesoramiento en el ámbito de las estrategias de aprendizaje. En: C. Monereo (Coord.), Estrategias de aprendizaje. Madrid: Visor: 15–62; 2000.
- 25. Fernández-Borrás J, Viscor G, Blasco J, Pagés T, Navarro I, Gallardo MA, et al. Evaluación de las preferencias y estrategias de aprendizaje de los estudiantes universitarios y su relación con la metodología docente. Aplicación a la mejora del aprendizaje. Madrid: Dirección General de Universidades; 2006.
- Coffield F, Moseley D, Hall E, Ecclestone K. Should we be using learning styles. What research has to say to practice. London: Learning and Skills Research Centre; 2004.
- Flavell JH. Metacognitive aspects of problem solving. In: Resnick LB, editor. The nature of intelligence. Hillsdale: Erlbaum; 1976.
- Flavell JH. Metacognition and cognitive monitoring: a new area of cognitive developmental inquiry. Am Psychol. 1979;4:906–11.
- Brown A. Knowing when, where, and how to remember: a problem of metacognition. In: Glaser R, editor. Advances in instructional psychology. Hillsdale: Erlbaum; 1978.
- Garner R. Metacognition and reading comprehension. Norwood: Ablex; 1987.
- 31. Ellis G. Is it worth it? Convincing teachers of the value of developing metacognitive awareness in children. In: Sinclair B, McGrath I, Lamb T, editors. Learner autonomy, teacher autonomy: future directions. Harlow: Longman/Pearson Education; 2000.
- Kuhn D. Metacognitive development. Curr Direct Psychol Sci. 2000;9:178–81.
- Mokhtari K, Reichard C. Assessing students' metacognitive awareness of reading strategies. J Educ Psychol. 2002;94:249–59.
- Paris S, Winograd P. How metacognition can promote academic learning and instruction. In: Jones BF, Idol L, editors. Dimensions of thinking and cognitive instruction. Hillsdale: Erlbaum; 1990.
- Bernad JA, Fillat JC, Budría C, Navarro J, Escanero JF, Cuadrat JM, Frutos IM, Galindo F. Análisis de estrategias de aprendizaje en la Universidad. In: Investigación, vol. 22. Universidad de Zaragoza: ICE; 1992.
- 36. Bernad JA, yEscanero JF. Student evaluation by means of a scale of learning strategies. Archivos de la Facultad de Medicina de Zaragoza 36. Número EXTRA de la AMME (Association for Medical Education in Europe): 46–52; 1996.

- Bernad JA. Modelo cognitivo de evaluación educativa: ESEAC-Escala de Estrategias de Aprendizaje Contextualizado. Madrid: Narcea; 2000.
- Escanero JF, Guerra M, Martínez-Ballarín E, Bernad JA. Evaluación de los estudiantes de fisiología con una escala de estrategias de aprendizaje. Educación Médica. 1999;2(1):39–45.
- Román JM, Gallego S. Escala de Estrategias de Aprendizaje, ACRA. TEA Ediciones: Madrid; 1994.
- 40. Zimmerman BJ. Becoming a self-regulated learner: which are the key subprocesses? Contemp Educ Psychol. 1986;11(4):307–13.
- Bandura A. Social learning theory. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall; 1977.
- Zimmerman BJ. A social cognitive view of selfregulated academic learning. J Educ Psychol. 1989;81(3):329–39. http://anitacrawley.net/Articles/ ZimmermanSocCog.pdf
- Hernández A, Camargo A. Autorregulación del aprendizaje en la educación superior en Iberoamérica: una revisión. Revista Latinoamericana de Psicología. 2017;49(2):146–60.
- 44. Unión Europea. Competencias clave para el aprendizaje permanente: Un Marco de Referencia Europeo. Luxemburgo: Oficina de Publicaciones Oficiales de las Comunidades Europeas; 2007.
- 45. Hoskins B, Fredriksson U. Learning to learn: what is it and can it be measured?. JRC Scientific and Technical Report; 2008.
- 46. Hautamäki J, Arinen P, Eronen S, Hautamäki A, Kupianien S, Lindblom B, Niemivirta M, Pakaslahti L, Rantanen P, Scheinin P. Assessing learning-to-learn: a framework. Centre for Educational Assessment, Helsinki University/National Board of Education: Helsinki; 2002.
- Deakin-Crick R, Broadfoot P, Claxton G. Developing an effective lifelong learning inventory: the ELLI project. Assess Edu. 2004;11(3):247–72.
- Elshout-Mohr M, Meijer J, Oostdam R, Van Gelderen A. CCST: a test for cross-curricular skills. Amsterdam: SCO–Kohnstamm Institution, University of Amsterdam; 2004.
- Moreno A. La evaluación de las habilidades metacognitivas. En: Marchesi, A. & Martín, E. (Eds.), Evaluación de la educación secundaria. Madrid: Fundación Santa María, 119–136; 2002.
- 50. Kupiainen S, Hautamäki J, Rantanen P. EU pre-pilot on learning to learn. Report on the compiled data. Recuperado de: University of Helsinki; 2008. http:// ec.europa.eu/education/lifelong-learning-olicy/doc/ pilot_survey/report_en.pdf
- Moreno A, Cercadillo L, Martínez M. Learn European project. Pre-pilot study national report. Spain. Instituto de Evaluación. Madrid: Ministerio de Educación; 2008.
- 52. Muñoz-San Roque I, Martín-Alonso JF, Prieto-Navarro L, Urosa-Sanz B. Autopercepción del nivel de desarrollo de la competencia de aprender a aprender en el contexto universitario: propuesta de un instrumento de evaluación. Revista de Investigación Educativa. 2016;34(2):369–83. https:// doi.org/10.6018/rie.34.2.235881.



Comparative Cohort Study of Burnout Syndrome in State Schools' Teachers

35

Víctor F. Quiroga Calegari and Carlos A. Bonantini

Introduction

More than 40 years have passed since Maslach [1] raised burnout syndrome as a psychopathology resulting from performing a work activity.

Along that time, there have been many contributions to that construct, conceptual adjustments, and technical changes that the same authors made. It is the case of Maslach and Leiter [2, 3] just to point out some. In this development of knowledge production, burnout suffered from different destinations, which biology (or its related studies) intended to appropriate.

The burnout association with different medical symptomatology is, at least, to an extent, the result of the different ways of trying to understand psychology, its history, and scholastic struggles.

In view of what has been said, we must indicate at the beginning that our tour about the topic, which lasted more than 10 years, will be presented with a psychosocial approach, and in that perspective, we will make some observations about the theoretical positioning we have adopted, since the several contributions that occur day by day can be capitalized into a syndrome breakthrough.

As we have said in some other publication, our journey about the topic since 2013 was covered

in three different research projects rooted at the Faculty of Psychology of the National University of Rosario.

We are ending this chapter with a group of considerations which are hand in hand with our current research project planning which, fortunately, is taking a perspective at a national level.

Some General Considerations

As it is well recognized in the literature about this topic, education workers are one of the main groups at risk of the psychopathology known as burnout.

Together with health and social workers, it is one of the most studied and quoted groups at risk in specific literature. This phenomenon takes place because burnout is suffered among workers who deal with people steadily (students, colleagues, patients, customers, etc.).

This specific event (which many times is overlooked in amateur literature) leads to typifying the work environment in a precise way, having Work Overload (Overwork) as one of the main variables related to the syndrome, and introduced to account for it.

In our case, the school environment is wellknown, since it has been studied and described in various opportunities in the last 50 years by psychologists, educators, anthropologists, and sociologists, among others [4, 5]. Such work

V. F. Quiroga Calegari (⊠) · C. A. Bonantini Faculty of Psychology, National University of Rosario, Rosario, Argentina

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_35

environment descriptions have been extremely useful to describe the specific setting where we have studied burnout syndrome.

The publications of Burke and Greenglass [6], Manassero et al. [7], and Guerrero Barona and Rubio Jiménez [8] in depth emphasize labor stressors at school environments. We highlight these examples as the most complete, best achieved, and most quoted in the studies about the topic.

On the other hand, the concept of Resources (relationship Demand/Resource) quoted from the studies of Karasek [9] and Karasek and Theorell [10] are incorporated in the social psychology studies when it is attempted to specify the intervening (or modulating) variables in the different work environments.

To the previously highlighted variables (Work Overload and Demand/Resources), we must add the variables of Social Support, Role Conflict, and Locus of Control. These variables synthetized well-known models in studies about Work Stress, which nowadays still maintain full validity and which several authors about burnout syndrome incorporate in their studies.

These fundamental variables in field studies of social psychology are rarely studied or taken into account, thus weakening possible links and reinforcements between these qualitative and quantitative strategies.

Separately, a three-factor analysis of burnout assessed with Maslach Burnout Inventory (MBI) has been discussed very few times. This fact, which can be taken into account as something positive or negative when it is intended to make an assessment of the syndrome development, encouraged the MBI (in its different versions) to be the almost exclusive method to make studies and evaluations of burnout syndrome.

The result that we can recognize today (and delimit) from burnout is due to the fact that the burnout definition and what the MBI measures have become a kind of revolving door, where the MBI measures burnout and burnout is what measures MBI.

Apart from the tautological fact and the rest, burnout syndrome research has not stopped. Rather, it seems that the fact that burnout is measured by MBI made (and causes) researchers to have a precise tool to start new research.

With this theoretical conceptual and historical framework as scaffolding (presented here in a brief way), our project is framed within social psychology, which we have pointed to in many opportunities by our workgroup [11–13], among others, since we basically give credit to theories which pose the individual as the center of a multiplicity of social crossings.

Since the beginning of our research work, the references which did more justice to the field observations were theories related to social constructions. Thus, for example, the works within the theories of social exchange show that the individuals most identified with the work group and organization are less affected by stress. The achieved identification is directly related to a person's construction of identity (shared social identity). As a result the person has a higher reception of social support, and, in addition, they are less affected by work stressors. In this sense, social support has a fundamental role to prevent work stressors as pointed out.

The studies of Ashforth and Mael [14] and Lee and Ashforth [15] hold that the variable known as Emotional Fatigue influences and conditions negatively Depersonalization and Low Work and Personal Performance. Thus, the three dimensions assessed in the syndrome remain involved.

In this theoretical perspective, we also find the works of Schaufeli and Dierendonck [16], Dierendonck, Schaufeli, and Sixma [17], and Schaufeli and Enzmann [18], which deepen the approach, pointing out as main issue the social and organizational identification and identity which the worker can build with that basis. It is a fundamental element from which they can perceive the received social support and in this way obtain resources to avoid the syndrome.

As we advanced in the different projects along the last decade, our vision of the field had to be adjusted. The experience of transiting different organizations led us to rethink burnout like a result of the organization of the work within the organizations, of the ways of managing, the definition of roles and responsibilities, and the possibility (sometimes remote or idealistic) that workers should participate in the decisions of the tasks involving them.

Work Overload and Role Conflict as main stressors highlighted along the interviews in the different schools gave us the sign to think about how the organizational bureaucratic system works in the group of education workers. It allows also to trace relevant bibliography. Of course, the theory of Demand/Resource at work [19, 20] was also useful when the time came to determine what we wanted to go in depth in our view upon burnout.

Although burnout can be defined as an individual phenomenon as pointed out by Maslach et al. [21] and Halbesleben and Buckley [22], some researchers observe that it can be either an individual or group phenomenon [23] and that it is produced in a specific work environment, with a particular way of working and in an organization model.

Group, work team, organization model, and work environment or atmosphere make a group of several studies that along time assembled and made burnout studies progress, redefining or enlarging the vision that we had about it. As it may be imagined, each of these observations gave place to a new conceptualization and at the same time a lot of discussions. In this way we are conducting our reasoning.

The first is a difference between work team and group as understood by Jaques [24], just to mention one of the most well-known theorists. In this form the studies of work in groups is located in the center, and it constitutes the place where depressive and paranoid anxieties come into play.

In this sense, we cannot ignore the existence of different levels of personal commitment which originate in a work team and in a group, even in a group within an organization.

When we talk about topics which imply sensitive levels of individuals' lives, we include empathy, trust, cooperation, and solidarity, among others. They have been related topics of the group studies in social psychology for decades. They have not been incorporated with the necessary importance. Due to this reason, it is not strange, as we will see soon, that many of these topics were incorporated in one or other way within the AWS. In addition, regarding to these distinctions' approach, we want to highlight a concept we have been using since the use of AWS [25]: the idea of justice within the organizations.

This idea of justice makes the work group or team solid, helping to create supportive trustworthy bonds, which are necessary to sustain the resources on a daily basis. Interaction and communication among work partners is more honest when the sense of justice is steady in the group and in some way all (or at least most) individuals feel that the participants in the same topic or situation enjoy equal conditions and opportunities.

Justice was associated to burnout in several works that look for some positive association. In this respect the work of Moliner et al. [26] considers that the role of justice in the work atmosphere is fundamental, and it is directly associated with low burnout. The way to approach the issues, the way of making decisions, and the confidence in the supervisor are the main points to assess when it comes to justice in a labor research on burnout syndrome.

On the other hand, and as counterpart, competition in work teams has a high impact with burnout measurements. In this sense, we can see how competition generates anxiety and the worker becomes defensive. As a consequence, little collaboration may be observed, not only with the team but also with the organization. On the other hand, many organizations manage the meeting points for the workers, thus trying to dissipate negative feelings generated by the competition. So, this individual energy generated by competition is neutralized.

The decrease of competition and anxiety generated by this procedure has the result of a decrease in the two main burnout variables (Emotional Fatigue and Cynicism). It generates a higher group participation, an honest disclosure of feelings of the team participants with the other members, and a channel to help to make decisions at an organizational level. The works of Le Blanc et al. [27], Bono et al. [28], and Halbesleben et al. [29], among others, take this approach.

As we have said in our earlier works that the idea of Value is the central concept of AWS. It is also the concept that we find more often in interviews, since the ideas and feelings of the individual's history are synthesized in it, with the values which must come into play in the several situations of work dynamics.

On their behalf, the works of Golembiewski, Munzenrider, and Carter [30] highlight and describe the work process, dynamics in which the teacher starts losing enthusiasm and commitment with the task they had when they started to work. Work tensions and stress provoke an answer which can be understood as a first opportunity for the arrival of burnout syndrome.

Authors go a little beyond that and point out that the first dimension affected is Depersonalization. When the worker begins to feel the weight of his job, he responds by adopting cynical and distant attitudes with students and colleagues, moving on to a second stage where the worker, overwhelmed by work, is overloaded. In this condition, he perceives the Role Impoverishment and begins to accuse ideas of Low Personal Performance and, in the long term, Emotional Fatigue.

The feeling of loss of Self-control and Autonomy deteriorates their image as a worker and many other times as a person. Fatigue, tiredness (physical), and irritability take place more frequently.

Among the differences we want to highlight is research framed in the line of psychology known as Positive Psychology. As said by Duran et al. [31, 32], this new line stresses and opposes Burnout to Engagement. Such author includes vital and work satisfaction, as measures of general well-being and well-being in the context of work. On our part, we intend to include the relationships produced within and out of the work field, and the possibility of using peer and reference groups, as a way of performing a more complete and comprehensive diagnosis assessment.

Our Approach, Sample, and Analysis

We made the descriptive analysis based on nine cohorts which comprise from the year 2008 to 2016. Each cohort is made up of different schools from different areas of Rosario City. In all of them, we have used the MBI-ES as a tool for epidemiological and approximation assessment to the conundrum in the different tested groups, with a total of 904 valid questionnaires (and with a rate of average answer of 79%).

We accompanied the year segmentations with in-depth interviews in the different education centers, as the main tool to collect data for qualitative assessment.

The most relevant results tell us that the average age of the tested teachers is 42 years old. A little more than 86% are women, 75% has regular couple, and 19% does not have a couple.

The average of work experience is more than 16 years and an average of a little more than 10 years working in the same institution and/ or in the same place of work. Seventy-seven percent of the teachers have a regular job, 38% work in the morning shift, almost 30% in the afternoon shift, and a group of almost 24% has double shift.

The average of the three dimensions of burnout syndrome are the following: Emotional Fatigue is 2.5%, Depersonalization is 1.16%, and Low Personal Performance is 3.78%.

In the analysis of reliability according to scores of Cronbach's alpha, the following results have been obtained: 0.864 for Emotional Fatigue, 0.602 in Depersonalization, and 0.774 in the Low Performance scale.

Table 35.1 shows the behavior of the three main dimensions of burnout syndrome according to the measurements obtained along the nine cohorts.

Results of the reliability tests done with Cronbach's alpha are shown in Tables 35.2, 35.3, 35.4, 35.5, 35.6, and 35.7.

Qualitative Analysis

The qualitative analysis of data was performed in three simultaneous ways. On the one hand, firstly we took into account the variables of Areas of Worklife Survey of Leiter and Maslach [25]. Secondly, on the other hand, we made an analysis of content. Thirdly and finally we traced hints that take us to the origin of the syndrome and a

	Emotional Fatigue	Depersonalization	Low fulfillment
2008 (<i>N</i> = 95)	2.7	1.95	3.65
2009 (N = 103)	2.61	1.76	3.79
2010 (<i>N</i> = 94)	2.48	1.71	3.75
2011 (<i>N</i> = 101)	2.73	1.76	3.53
2012 (<i>N</i> = 127)	2.28	1.46	3.84
2013 (<i>N</i> = 163)	2.34	1.44	3.92
2014 (<i>N</i> = 106)	2.55	1.57	3.79
2015 (<i>N</i> = 74)	2.39	1.45	3.93
2016 (N = 41)	2.61	1.37	3.83
TOTAL ($N = 904$)	2.5	1.61	3.78

Table 35.1 Behavior of the three main dimensions of burnout syndrome according to the measurements obtained along the nine cohorts

Table 35.2 Emotional Fatigue: reliability statistics

Cronbach's alpha	Cronbach's alpha based on standardized elements	Number of elements
.864	.867	9

Table 35.3	Emotional	Fatigue:	statistics	of	summary	element
-------------------	-----------	----------	------------	----	---------	---------

					Maximum/		Number of
	Average	Minimum	Maximum	Range	minimum	Variance	elements
Averages of element	2505	1655	3325	1670	2009	.278	9
Variance of element	1078	.846	1537	.690	1816	.049	9
Correlations among elements	.421	.217	.619	.402	2857	.009	9

Table 35.4 Depersonalization: reliability statistics

Cronbach's alpha	Cronbach's alpha based on standardized elements	Number of elements
.602	.623	5

 Table 35.5
 Depersonalization: statistics of summary element

					Maximum/		Number of
	Average	Minimum	Maximum	Range	minimum	Variance	elements
Averages of element	1610	1280	1759	.479	1374	.037	5
Variance of element	.896	.352	1423	1071	4039	.158	5
Correlations among	.249	.125	.543	.418	4346	.013	5
elements							

Table 35.6 Low Personal Performance: reliability statistics

		Number of
Cronbach's alpha	Cronbach's alpha based on standardized elements	elements
.774	.773	8

Table 35.7 Low Personal Performance: statistics of summary element

	Average	Minimum	Maximum	Range	Maximum/ minimum	Variance	Number of elements
Averages of element	3789	3662	3998	.336	1092	.015	8
Variance of element	.647	.463	.779	.316	1682	.011	8
Correlations among elements	.298	.133	.438	.305	3292	.005	8

possible relationship with diseases known as psychological (basically anxiety and depression).

Following the AWS in each of its six areas, we will show some contents as a way of example according to the correspondent area.

Work Overload is present in almost every interview, in phrases such as:

 Every time we have more and more things to do and we don't have enough time.

Or:

 With the time it became complicated, I had to go back to study to be updated.

These expressions are the most characteristic. Lack of control could be observed in more than the half of the interviews clearly, in expressions like:

- The head teacher says and leaves.
- We are told that supervision is going to come but not when.

The insufficient reward relates basically to the *low received payment (salary)* for the work performed (as effort), a constant complaint which involves the heads of institutions. Also in this respect some teachers said that they had to spend part of their income on material for the students, to organize some activity in class.

When we analyzed social bonds, the analysis was very dissimilar, since it included lack of time for the family or the children and *feeling tired* (or not in the mood) to leave. In the analysis of the material, this appears repeatedly as claim of the other, which is interpreted as fatigue or lack of interest. In some cases it was speculated that this fact can bring them consequences in short or medium term. In this way the couple relationship was the most quoted.

The lack of equity was present at interviews in a diffuse way. In some cases we found comments such as *we are all similar*, *but..*, (ironically). In this point the most relevant accusations aimed at the possibility of training, time, duration, and distance from which courses are offered. On the other hand, the conflict of values was reflected in the part-time staff at work, since discontent and the consequent reconsideration of how to continue was a topic they frequently mentioned. Regarding this last area of analysis, which is the most important for us, we refer to the work of Leiter and Shaughnessy in 2006 [33]. In this study they posit that the two main links in Work Overload are in Control and Value. The variable of Work Overload acts directly on Emotional Fatigue.

At the end of the work environment analysis process, the variable Value acquires a fundamental importance, since it is the last frontier that the work overload demand must overcome to reach the burnout syndrome. Although the quoted work was performed on nurses, we must get ready to analyze this hypothesis of work, basically if we think that workers with a type of idealist personality have in their value scale (Value) a source of support and an (existential) basis in their lives.

Some common denominators were observed along the interviews; these could be synthesized in three fundamental axes.

The first axis highlights the way in which work has increased in the last years, not only in quantity but also in complexity and in a good number of interviews (in different ways). This comment was followed by a complaint (and/or discomfort) because of the lack of possibilities to accompany this complexity, lack of specific training proposals, and (in some cases) disparate interest in the education community. Lack of interest may be observed in some occasions. It may be accompanied by discomforts or inconveniences even expressions of annoyance.

The second common axis is centered on a lack of health prevention and care of workers in general. It may be perceived as coming from the institution, competent authorities, and users of the service. In this respect, episodes of violence of all kinds are highlighted. A general acceptance and the fact that they may be seen as natural contribute in this way. Some interviews manifest this situation (lack of care and protection of the workers at work) basically from the authorities and people in charge of the institution. An attitude of resignation and acceptance of the different violent episodes that occur in the place of work, as well as an intention of forget them, completes this vision.

The third axis refers to the poor training received to handle situations related to the affective realm, which necessarily comes into play when working with people. This issue is directly related to the dimension of Emotional Fatigue and must be mostly emphasized when designing curriculums and planning of education workers' health prevention programs. Many interviewees relate this fact to the poor practice obtained at the teaching training to obtain the degree. It prepares them for professional exercise, but very little to deal with situations that have scarcely to do with education practice. In that way they end up spending their time in a practice that has a lot to do with social assistance and solidarity. When we point to Work Overload as well as the relationship between Demand and Resources, we clearly highlight these points.

Two general observations emerged when relating field observations, informal conversations, and certain information that was made public through the media and also when examining interview material.

The first is the role played by the organizational structure and its overall performance, as well as the context in which burnout is developed. This appeared in interviews conducted in several ways. In general, the interviewees referred to the self-perception of the performance of roles within the organization. In this sense, it is reluctantly accepted that the organization does not appreciate or value all the work done by the teacher, although very few point to the institution as direct responsible, or its structure and operation. They see the institution as another victim of the economic, political, and social situation we are going through.

The second, on the other hand, arises from the analysis of the interviews as a whole. In them it was not observed that workers give fundamental importance to the work process or to the task they perform as conditions for the development of burnout syndrome. We should clarify that most of them seem to have no more than vague ideas about burnout syndrome. Many times this syndrome was confused with work stress. For this reason, in some interviews the idea of work stress came into play, relating it to different attitudes and symptoms such as sleep and digestive disorders. They can also fall into self-medication and, eventually, the consumption of coffee, mate, and cigarettes, irritation or mood swings, and problems in the couple or family.

The possibility of relating the work problem with the symptoms found in the various groups of teachers was interpreted as an advance before the individual or collective defense mechanisms described by Dejours [34] and the lack of information about the syndrome. In many interviews it was noted that the staff handles the forms and the way to access the so-called absence medical leave or sick leave, which does not appeal to them, and in a general and very vague sense, they see it as a personal weakness. With few exceptions it is not an option that they consider valuable.

Pending Lines

In the following way, we are going to point out some problems that can be addressed through the studies we have been carrying out and the possibility of generalizing and socializing them.

In the methodological order, one of the big problems is the comparison between them. Comparison of quantitative studies and the application of the MBI lead to difficulties. The Likert scales used are not always the same. It is a fact that each researcher opts for one in particular. The comparison of results produced by the same tool, but with different Likert scales, produces a variation of the results, making difficult the comparison.

In this sense, some authors propose the numerical scale as semantic differential. The difficulties pointed out by the researchers about the possibility of making a theoretical proposal about burnout syndrome are pending (among others), before the inventory (MBI) crushed the definition and, with that, the possibilities of new theoretical proposals.
As a consequence of this (and other factors, no doubt), many authors prefer the pointed path. Salanova et al. [35], among others, opposes Burnout to Engagement, leaving aside the theoretical debate about the syndrome. It may be observed in Schaufeli et al. [36].

On the other hand, some researchers developed their own tools, a kind of reaffirmation of the syndrome as such, which includes (and expands) their vision, through new variables that come into play in the situation of the worker at work. In this sense and referring to researchers about burnout syndrome in our language, we cannot avoid pointing out Gil-Monte [37, 38], on the one hand, and Moreno-Jimenez, on the other [39].

Other point to be considered is that we cannot avoid to separate the psychological markers from the biological ones on a more analytical than practical basis. Although it is recognized that it is very difficult to direct the studies through a purely psychosocial vision, we cannot fail to notice that many studies end up being a psychological attachment to the biological vision. In those terms they are not taken advantage of a possible deepened study from a psychological perspective. It has much to explore and contribute to the construct. We even dare to speculate that burnout is a psychological syndrome (alteration of the perception of emotions) that has little (or nothing) to do with the medical or biological symptomatology.

Undoubtedly, the aforementioned leads us to pay attention to two important points in burnout studies. One of those points focuses on the clinical aspects of the syndrome, the differences raised (basically through the theory) in terms of the causes and the development of the disease. A great deal of research can be pointed that relates the syndrome with the Big Five Personality Theory. In this regard we highlight the relationship between the basic types with different assessments of (and according to) the labor stressors.

On its part the qualitative analysis of interviews leads us to be able to describe and understand better the interfaces between stressors and the different dimensions of the syndrome's symptoms. In this regard we allow ourselves to use the AWS tool to frame the semantic analysis but not fall into the exclusive quantification of the field, because we believe that at the beginning (at least in this exploratory stage of the syndrome) it reduces vision and prevents the appearance of new contents. The offshore and intercultural developments can be an opportunity to deepen the field.

Our study perspective which will allow to address burnout syndrome through social psychology is a construction process which addresses not only theory but also tools, and in that relationship we focus our work of more than 10 years. We resume and reflect on this first observation where the workers (who suffer from burnout) are in contact with other people, and this immediately led us to think that teachers spend more than 5 daily hours with students and that this contact is mandatory.

This forced and sustained contact exhausts and depletes the workers' resources after a while, and in this repeated situation of dismantling of resources is where the feelings (emotions) arise on the surface and when the time of vulnerability appears.

Similarly to other occupational pathologies already studied (or that continue being studied), the group is the main individual worker's support. The group is the mattress where the teacher's dreams and desires and the institutional rules and obligations are. The group (the groups, both the formal and the informal) is the best health ally and is the great absent in the mental health studies in general and burnout in particular.

The group (the collective) is one of the central aspects when training courses are held, when organization's leaders are prepared, when we talk about motivation, and so on, in all the relevant topics of the organizational field but absent (without prior notice) when studying workers' health.

It is remarkable when health is discussed, an evaluation of a psychological type is performed, but the group factor does not seem to gain that fundamental role. In fact, the importance of groups is almost null when mental health evaluations are performed in general.

Managing emotions (anxieties, fears, sadness, happiness, rage, wrath, anger, helplessness, angst, etc.) put into play in the work environment appears as individual exits (if they are not individual markers of possible pathologies) and never (not even as mitigating) of the specific group space (and not organizational) where it occurs.

In this precise respect, our studies aim to differentiate peer and reference groups both in the work environment and in the worker's life project and thereby obtain salutogenic health markers for a possible (future) intervention.

Provisional Conclusions

The discoveries have a clear effect on the evaluated group and can contribute to generate changes to solve the problems studied above. They allow for developing mappings which enable the implementation of prevention programs on the target population, considering that the work with identity and reference groups allows to transcend the simple work project, by including it in a life project based on knowledge of health markers.

As mentioned earlier, intervention on this risk group allows improving in the working health conditions and moving toward proactive life projects.

References

- 1. Maslach C. Burned-out. Hum Behav. 1976;5(9):16-22.
- 2. Maslach C, Leiter MP. The truth about burnout. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; 1997.
- Maslach C, Leiter MP. Early predictors of job burnout and engagement. J Appl Psychol. 2008;93(3):498–512.
- Friedman IA. High and low burnout schools: school culture aspects of teacher burnout. J Educ Res. 1991;84(6):325–33.
- Friedman IA. Measuring school principal-experienced burnout. Educ Psychol Meas. 1995;55(4):641–51.
- Burke RJ, Greenglass ER. A longitudinal study of psychological burnout in teachers. Hum Relat. 1995;48:187–202.
- Manassero MA, García Buades E, Torrens G, Ramis C, Vasquez A, Ferrer VA. Teacher burnout: attributional aspect. Psichology in Spani. 2006;10(1):66–74.
- Guerrero Barona E, Rubio Jimenez JC. Fuentes del estres y Sindrome de Burnout en orientadores de instituto de ensenanza secundaria. Revista de educación. 2008;347:229–54.

- Karasek RA. Job demands, job decision latitude and mental strain: implications for job redesign. Adm Sci Q. 1979;24:285–308.
- Karasek R, Theorell T. Healthy work, stress, productivity and the reconstruction of working life. New York: Basic Books; 1990.
- 11. Quiroga V, Brunet M, Mandolesi M, Cattaneo MR. Burnout y Malestar en trabajadores de enfermeria. Apuntes Comparativos. Memorias del I Congreso Internacional de Investigación y Práctica profesional en Psicología. XVI Jornadas de Investigación y V Encuentro de investigadores en psi-cología del MERCOSUR; 2012.
- Quiroga V. El sindrome de burn out en los trabajadores de enfermeria de hospitales publicos. Memorias de las XV Jornadas de Investigación. Cuarto Encuentro de Investigadores en Psicología del Mercosur, Buenos Aires, Argentina, 2013.
- 13. Quiroga V, Ghiglione G. Nuevos desarrollos en el ambito de la Psicologia Social de las Organizaciones. La polaridad Sindrome de Burnout/ Engagement, y sus repercusiones en el campo de la Psicologia. Escalada, R. et al (comp.) Investigaciones interdisciplinarias en Salud Mental. Iº Congreso Universitario Latinoamericano de Investigaciones Interdisciplinarias en Salud Mental, Rosario, Argentina, 2010.
- Ashforth BE, Mael F. Social identity theory and the organization. Acad Manag Rev. 1989;14:20–39.
- 15. Lee RT, Ashforth BE. A longitudinal study of burnout among supervisors and managers: comparisons between the Leiter and Maslach (1988) and Golembiewski et al. (1986) models. Organ Behav Hum Decis Process. 1993;54:369–98.
- Schaufeli WB, Dierendonck DV. The construct validity of two burnout measures. J Organ Behav. 1993;14(7):631–47.
- Dierendonck DV, Schaufeli WB, Sixma HJ. Burnout among general practitioners: a perspective from equity theory. J Soc Clin Psychol. 1994;13(1):86–100.
- Schaufeli WB, Enzmann D. The burnout companion to study and practice: a critical analysis. Philadelphia: Taylor and Francis; 1998.
- Demerouti E, et al. The job demands-resources model of burnout. J Appl Psychol. 2001;86(3):499–512.
- Bakker AB, Demerouti A. The job demandsresources model: state of the art. J Manag Psychol. 2007;22:3.309–28.
- 21. Maslach C, Schaufeli WB, Leiter MP. Job burnout. Annu Rev Psychol. 2001;52:397–422.
- Halbesleben J, Buckley M. Burnout in organizational life. J Manag. 2004;30(6):859–79.
- Bakker AB, Schaufeli WB. Burnout contagion processes amongst teachers. J Appl Soc Psychol. 2009;30:2289–308.
- Jaques E. The changing culture of a factory. Routledge and Kegan Paul: Tavistock Press; 1950.
- Leiter MP, Maslach C. Areas of worklife: a structured approach to organizational predictors of job burnout. Res Occup Stress Well Being. 2004;3:91–134.

- Moliner C, Martinez Tur V, Peiro JM, Ramos J, Cropanzano R. Relationships between organizational justice and burnout at the work-unit level. Int J Stress Manag. 2005;12(2):99–116.
- Blanc L, et al. School social climate and teachers' perceptions of classroom behavior problems: a 10-year longitudinal and multilevel study. Soc Psychol Educ. 2007;10(4):429–42.
- Bono JE, Glomb TM, Shen W, Kim E, Koch AJ. Building positive resources: effects of positive events and positive reflection on work stress and health. Acad Manag J. 2013;56(6):1601–27.
- Halbesleben J, Buckley M. Social comparison and burnout: the role of relative burnout and received social support. Anxiety Stress Coping. 2006;19(3):259–78.
- Golembiewski RT, Munzenrider R, Carter D. Phases of progressive burnout and they work site covariants: critical issues in OD research and praxis. J Appl Behav Sci. 1983;19(4):461–81.
- Durán A, Extremera N, Rey L. Burnout en profesionales de la ensenanza: Un estudio en educación primaria, secundaria y superior. Revista de Psicología del Trabajo y de las Organizaciones. 2001;17:45–62.
- 32. Durán A, Extremera N, Rey L. Self-reported emotional intelligence, burnout and engagement among

staff in services for people with intellectual disabilities. Psychol Rep. 2004;95:386–90.

- Leiter MP, Shaughnessy K. The Areas of Worklife Model of burnout: test of mediation relationships. Ergonomia IJE and HF. 2006;28(4):327–41.
- Dejours C. Trabajo y desgaste mental. Una contribucion a la psicopatologia del trabajo, Lumen-Hvmamitas, Buenos aires, 2001.
- 35. Salanova M, Martínez IM, Llorens S. Psicologia Organizacional Positiva. En F. Palací (Coord.) Psicología de la Organización. Madrid: Pearson Prentice Hall; 2005.
- 36. Schaufeli WB, Buunk BP. Burnout: an overview of 25 years of research and theorizing. In: Schabracq MJ, Winnubst JAM, Cooper CL, editors. The handbook of work and health psychology; Chichester, England: Wiley; 2002. p. 383–425.
- Gil-Monte P, Peiró JM. Desgaste psiquico en el trabajo: El sindrome de quemarse. Madrid: Ed. Síntesis; 1997.
- Gil-Monte P, Peiró JM. Validez factorial del Maslach Burnout Inventory en una muestra multiocupacional. Psicothema. 1999;11(3):679–89.
- Gil-Monte PR, Moreno-Jiménez B (Comp.) El sindrome de quemarse por el trabajo (Burnout). Madrid: Piramide; 2007.



36

Traumatic Situations and Mental Disorders in Migrants, Refugees and Asylum Seekers

Raúl Gagliardi

Introduction

"My son wakes up afraid in the middle of the night. He wakes up screaming. This is how children have been affected. He has bad dreams and wakes up crying and sometimes runs out onto the street. He has nightmares because of the war and air bombardment. Because of fear. A child was slaughtered in front of him, so he started to dream that someone is coming to slaughter him. When a child witnesses a beheading, how could he not get afraid?" A father in Syria.

"The children are psychologically crushed and tired. When we do activities like singing with them, they don't respond at all. They don't laugh like they would normally. They draw images of children being butchered in the war, or tanks, or the siege and the lack of food". A teacher in the besieged town of Madaya in Syria.

At least 3 million Syrian children under the age of 6 know nothing but war, and millions more have grown up in fear under the shadow of conflict [1].

Mental health problems exist in all populations. Some people are particularly vulnerable to them, for example, those who live in war zones, in dictatorships or suffered from environmental disasters or great famines, those who live in

R. Gagliardi (🖂)

refugee camps and, in general, migrants who are not accepted in the country in which they live. Children and adolescents are particularly vulnerable to the mentioned traumatic situations.

The mentioned groups frequently have difficulties of access to mental health systems, either because these system do not exist, as in many refugee camps, or in urban townships, or because they exist but migrants do not have access to them for lack of information about their location and access mechanisms, for economic problems or for legal problems, when migrants are illegal and do not want to appear in public institutions for fear of being arrested. Other frequent problems are related to communication difficulties with the staff of mental health centres. To the communication difficulties that local patients have, migrants have problems derived from cultural differences, language or conceptions about mental health and the taboos and stigmas attached to them.

There are hundreds of millions of migrants around the world and the number is augmenting. Millions of people from Africa, Asia, the Caribbean Region, Latin America and Europe migrate looking for better living opportunities in Europe, Canada, Australia, Latin American countries or the USA. Hundreds of thousands of Central American and Mexican people migrate to the USA, where many of them live clandestinely. The number of international migrants grows to 49 per cent, from 173 million to 258 million persons from 2000 to 2017 [2]. According

International Center for Migration, Health and Development, Geneva, Switzerland

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_36

to the International Organization for Migration, over one million migrants and refugee arrived in Europe through irregular means in 2015, which is the biggest wave of mass migration since the aftermath of the Second World War [3]. Hundreds of millions of people undertake internal migrations, in particular from rural areas to urban areas. In 2012 the number of internal migrants was estimated to be 763 million [4].

The large number of migrants, refugees and asylum seekers in particular in the refugee camps and in townships and the traumatic situations that these people experienced imply a high concentration of people with mental health problems in places where mental health services are crowded or directly do not exist. To solve this problem, a community approach to mental health may be useful in order to inform patients, their families and the community about the most frequent mental illnesses, the symptoms they present and the ways to reduce their impact. This approach should be based in quality researches with the participation, when it is possible, of members of migrant communities in order to ensure the knowledge about the cultural, social and economic issues related with mental health and apply it to diagnosis and treatment of mental diseases [5].

Migration and Health Problems

Migrants can have different health problems than those of the local population. Some frequent diseases in the country of origin and in the countries where they travel are not common in the host country. Newly arrived migrants and refugees can have communicable and noncommunicable diseases, such as gastrointestinal and dermatologic infections, respiratory infections, chronic conditions and mental problems. Frequently they have vaccine-preventable diseases [6]. Many authors state that the migrant population is more vulnerable to health issues, especially psychological disorders, along with a higher level of anxiety or greater pessimism about the future, often caused and/or compounded by the loss of one's social support network and isolation due to lack of knowledge of the characteristics of the host countries [7].

In some countries migrants do not have free access to public health system. Frequently they do not have the economic resources for private health care. They have lower rates of health insurance and use less health-care services and receive lower quality of care than local population.

Migration and Stress

Migration can produce different results. It can determine an improvement of economic situation and living conditions. However, in many cases migrants suffer from situations that can expose them to stressful conditions and increase the risk of health problems including mental disorders [8].

Stress is a complex process produced by some factors (stressors) to which the organism must adapt. The responses can provoke changes in the physiological mechanisms as well as in thoughts, feelings and behaviour. If the capacity of the organism is not sufficient for adapt to the stressful condition, a mental disorder can prevail [9]. Stressful situations can have a direct impact on health (e.g. provoking heart and vascular diseases, diabetes 2, etc.) and produce mental disorders, such as depression and posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), and augment the risk of suicide [8].

For migrants, the stressful situations can occur before the migration, during the travel and after their arrival to the host country.

Traumatic Situations During the Migration

Many people suffer from traumatic situations during the migration, travelling the sea in small and crowded boats, walking hundreds of kilometres, travelling desert regions in harsh conditions, having the risks of being kidnaped, suffering from sexual abuse and being transformed as slaves. Thousands of migrants drown in the Mediterranean Sea before arriving to European seasides. While this article was being written, 117 migrants travelling in a small boat drowned in the Mediterranean.

Internal migrants should often do long and harsh travel to more safety regions. Frequently they lost everything and should live in refugee camps.

Traumatic Situations in the Host Country

Migrants, in particular illegal migrants, refugees and asylum seekers, often suffer from traumatic situations after their arrival in the host country, when they are not accepted or when they do not have the capacity to adapt to the new situation. They suffer from stigma and marginalization, are discriminated in jobs or have difficulties on having a good housing. They often have lowqualified and low-pay jobs or should undertake informal economic activities. The stressful situations can include urban violence, racial discrimination, detention or reclusion, abuse by law enforcement officers, forced removal or separation from their families and deportation.

Many refugees and asylum seekers live without privacy in overcrowded townships or in tents in refugee camps. Often they suffer from sexual, psychological and physical abuses, in particular children and women. Children and adolescents frequently have not access to school and their future is uncertain. These problems reduce the possibilities to undertake better economic activities, in a vicious circle that maintains poverty and unhealthy living conditions. Difficulties for accessing the health system augment the frequency and relative importance of these problems.

Adaptation to the New Conditions in the Host Country

The adaptation to the new living conditions is a difficult process for migrants, in particular for asylum seekers and refugees. Different factors determine the vulnerability of these populations: different culture, low socioeconomic status and lack of legal status, low proficiency in the local dominant language, bad habitat's characteristics, lack of possibilities for employment, social marginalization, problems with health insurance, lack of knowledge about the characteristics of the local health system and low capacity to access to it, difficulties in the communication with health staff, etc. Young refugees are particularly vulnerable to these kinds of difficulties that can provoke mental problems in them, as well as also problems in physical and psychological development [10].

Migration can provoke a rupture of the communication with the original community. Migrants frequently do not have the framework of support that they had in their original country. This rupture can have negative effects at psychological level, such as loss of identity, reinforcement of a "mythical" identity, low self-esteem, frustration, depression, reject to the culture and the characteristics of the host country. These phenomena are more frequent for women.

The isolation of migrants from the host society, in particular the isolation of migrant women, is a source of problems such as lack of capacity for access to the health system and communication problems with the health staff.

All these factors are present in different degrees and have different impacts on migrants, refugees and asylum seekers. Understanding these factors and having the capacity to deal with them are very important for social workers and health staff in order to help solve the mental health of migrants and improve their capacities for adaptation to their new conditions of life.

One of the biggest problems related to migration and stress is chronicity. In the majority of case, migrants cannot change the stressful situations. In other words, the stress is continuous until they change their living conditions [11, 12].

There are asylum seekers that should wait for years until they obtain apolitical asylum or, with much more frequency, are expulsed from the country. There are also migrants that do not have legal status in the host country and live with the anxiety to being sent to their original countries [13, 14].

Legal status is a major determinant for illegal migrants, refugees and asylum seekers to have access to social services and health care. Problems in legal status can provoke anxiety, low self-esteem and depression. Children are particularly vulnerable to this stressful situation.

Taboos and Stigma About Mental Health

Attitudes about the mental health of migrants and members of marginalized communities are heavily influenced by their culture. Mental health practitioners must take this phenomenon into account to avoid making mistakes in the diagnosis and treatment.

Mental health is a persistent stigma in many communities around the world. One of the biggest challenges that mental health workers face is to change negative attitudes related to mental issues of individuals and communities. Frequently in immigrant and refugee families, it is taboo to discuss mental health problems because their culture indicates that having such problems is "being crazy". That causes great difficulties in the search for treatment because families are afraid of the shame of having a crazy relative [15].

In the County of Orange, California, USA, experience of practitioners in mental health indicates that there exist several mental health stigmas in Korean, Vietnamese, Latino, Arab, Persian and Chinese communities. A study done in Vietnamese and Korean communities in the County indicates how frequent the families felt the pressure for keep up appearances. This attitude can be an explanation for the stigma on mental health issues. In the Arab community, the stigma is presented in language, because mental illness is descripted using a despicative word, equivalent to "crazy". The analysis of the frequency of people asking for care in mental health centres shows that in the Arab community those who ask for help are new becomers with PTSD symptoms coming from countries in war, such as Syria, Iraq and Afghanistan [16].

In Syria it was found that one in four children has mental health problems. However caregivers frequently do not seek help for them

because mental health issues are taboo in their culture. Talking openly frequently about these issues caused embarrassment and suffering in children who had mental problems. This situation improved during the war and there is greater acceptance of children and youth to seek help. Psychosocial activities such as art and drama are the most accepted. A psychosocial assistance center was recognized as very efficient to achieve attitude changes and seek help. However, the negative attitudes and the associated stigma are still a great problem to be solved. In some areas of Syria, the clinics do not publicize their work in mental illnesses, and the possible patients are given word of mouth. Older boys and young men are those who have more resistance to seek help. They are pressured by their family to mature and fix their affairs alone as men. This situation causes an increase in the aggression of those who have mental health problems and do not ask for help.

Cultural Consonance

The adaptation of migrants to the host society implies frequent cultural changes. The theory of "cultural consonance" can provide elements for understanding the impacts of the cultural changes in mental health. Culture is, in this theory, considered as a series of cognitive models that are shared by the members of a social group and that describe the different domains of the life of that group. The aggregation properties that culture determines in a group derive from sharing those models.

Each individual has his own representations of the world that correspond incompletely to the shared cultural model. That correspondence is called the "cultural competence". The relationship between cultural competence and psychological problems is not clear.

On the other hand, each individual can put into practice in his own life the cultural models of his society that he accepts as his own. That is to say that there is a greater or lesser "cultural consonance" between what an individual does and what the culture of his social group indicates. Cultural consonance is the degree to which each individual approaches, according to their own behaviours and beliefs, the behaviours and beliefs that are encoded in the cultural models to which they subscribe. Low cultural consonance is related to psychological problems [17].

Some researches indicated that there are associations between cultural consonance and some physiological characteristics of an individual, such as arterial blood pressure. There are also association with morphological characteristics, such as body mass [18]. A significant interaction between cultural consonance and a genetic polymorphism for the serotonin 2A receptor in the prediction of depressive symptoms has also been shown. These results suggest the existence of different pathways between the symbolic elements, the culture and the molecular ones, such as the metabolic and physiological results of a genetic polymorphism [19].

A migrant suffers from changes in the social environment in which he lives and his cultural consonance may be low, which, according to the indicated research, can induce health problems and, in particular, depressive symptoms.

Migration and Mourning

Some authors consider that migration is similar to mourning, because the migrant moves away from his loved ones and the conditions that he had in his original country (culture, social status, language, etc.) [8].

Three types of mourning during migration were proposed: the "simple mourning", when the migrant has good conditions in the host country, the "complicate mourning" when the migrant suffer from serious difficulties and the "extreme mourning", when the migrant cannot deal with the conditions of life and cannot adapt to the new situations. In the last type of mourning, the migrant suffers from a chronic and multiple stress that is called "Ulysses syndrome", following the myth of Ulysses. The manifestations of extreme mourning can be very serious, such as depression, anxiety, health problems related with somatization and cognitive problems such as temporal and physical disorientation, memory deficit and attention deficit [20].

Stress and Acculturation

In a fast changing society, as modern society, any individual needs to adapt fast to new situations, such as changes in job market characteristics, language, culture, technology, economy, political situation, etc. In many cases the process of adaptation is smooth and unconscious. However there are individuals that do not have the capacity to adapt their behaviour to some of these changes in the society. The problems in adapting to new conditions are an important cause of mental problems, such as depression and anxiety.

The changes in the social and economic environment for migrants can determine a process of "acculturation" that implies many changes in their lives, including cultural and ethnic identity, language, attitudes and values, social relations, gender roles, roles in the family, eating patterns, artistic expressions, communication rules, etc. Acculturation can provoke family conflict, intergenerational conflict, communication difficulties, solitude and isolation. All these situations can provoke health problems, including mental problems [21]. In some cases the process of acculturation can stimulate alcohol consumption [22].

Acculturation is a conflict between loyalty to the culture of origin and to the new culture. It implies for migrants the coexistence of different cultures, the culture of the host society and the culture of their original society. This coexistence is expressed in many ways, depending of the specific situations. For example, migrants can accept and enjoy local food but eat the same food as in its original country at home. They can speak the local language at work or in public places but talk in his original language at home or with other migrants from the same country [21]. The process of acculturation can have some steps, for example, migrants learn the local language and later start to change their behaviour adopting the local behavioural rules.

The process of acculturation is more difficult for the migrants that have little contact with local population, such as women from countries where there are dominance of husbands, fathers or brothers over women and where women only communicate with their own family or with friends of the same origin. In Geneva the communication with migrants suggests that the difference in the capacity to speak the local language between men and women in the same family is a signal of this kind of situations. Frequently these women do not work or have low-pay jobs, such as domestic employees, and they have not the opportunity to speak the local language. Depression, low selfesteem and anxiety are frequent in these women isolated from the local community.

Dressing is another signal of difficulties for adapting to the local culture. For example, migrant women in Europe that dress in traditional Muslim religious way, such as long dress and chador, are immediately identified as having a different culture and religion than the local ones. For adolescents and young women, dressing in a religious way provokes problems in their education, when the use of chador is interdict in public schools, as in France. This situation becomes a political issue in some European countries, with big discussion between those that support the laic education without religious symbols and those that defend the right to use them in schools.

Usually men from religious or traditional cultures dress in the same way as the local population. However in some cases they show some signs of religious identification, such as a long beard, a cap and a long dress.

In the process of acculturation, there are two elements, the migrants' will for integrating the local society and the will of local society for accepting migrants. When migrants and local society have both a positive will, the integration is relatively easy. Migrants become part of the country, and the first and next generations are citizen with similar attitudes and values with the local society. In some countries, such as Argentina, second-generation or third-generation migrants speak fluently the local language and consider themselves as citizens of the country. More conflicts appear when the local society rejects migrants from some ethnic groups, such as, in some European countries, Arabic and South Saharan African or some religious groups such as Muslim or Hebrews. Racism and xenophobia are factors that reduce the possibility of integration and determine the marginalization of migrants.

The "phantom" of the invasion of Europe by Muslim is one argument that is used by far right parties in elections at national level or for the European Parliament. In the same countries, this kind of argument allows these parties to win the national elections. Probably there is a big psychological impact in migrants of these political issues, in particular in asylum seekers that see reduced possibilities to be granted by the political asylum.

There are four possible situations in the process of acculturation: integration, assimilation, separation and marginalization [23]. In the first situation, integration, there is a coexistence of local culture and original culture. Migrants acquired new elements from the local culture but maintain other elements of their original one. The coexistence of both cultures can only be developed in multicultural societies that accept cultural diversity have low level of racism, xenophobia, ethnocentrism and discrimination.

Assimilation means important changes in migrants' culture and values, from the original ones to those of the local society. Migrants want to become part of the local society and be accepted by it.

In the situation of separation, migrants maintain their culture and values and refuse to integrate to the host society.

Marginalization is a situation where migrants do not maintain their own culture and do not acquire the local one. Migrants are separate from local population and there is diffidence between both groups. In this situation, migrants frequently suffer from a sense of alienation and a high level of anxiety. Marginalization can persist for a long time and be present in future generations of migrants. This is a very bad problem for young migrants from the first or successive generation because they do not have a "referential culture" for constructing their own identity.

Stress during the process of acculturation can cause or reinforce post-traumatic stress disorders (PTSD), anxiety and depression [24].

Temporal Organization and Planning

An important element for adaptation to the new society is adaptation to its temporal organization that is linked to the perception of time as well as perception of planning, organization and achievement of activities. Temporal organization is linked to psychological structures internalized in the first years of life and is essential in the establishment of relationships between the child and the society [25]. Temporal organization is an important issue for preventing diseases, having healthy behaviour and adhering to treatments. It is also an important issue for many jobs where doing the activities in time is important.

Edward Hall, who analysed communication problems between cultures, discusses two main cultural systems: one of them is called "monochronic" system, present in developed societies, with a rigid temporal organization, in which "one thing is done at a time". In that type of societies, great importance is given to time (time is money). The perception of time is precise and the activities are organized using precise temporal measures (days, hours, minutes, etc.). In monochronic societies, meeting the proposed activities is more important than meeting social demands. Planning and complying with the proposed plans is very important. The use of new technologies is also favoured. The advantage of monochronic societies is efficiency.

The other temporal system proposed by Edward Hall is called polychronic temporal system, a characteristic of societies in which more importance is given to social and family relations than to the fulfilment of activities. This system is a characteristic of very convival societies in which it is accepted to perform several tasks simultaneously and time is not a value in itself. The advantage of polychronic societies is the development of social networks and protective families [26, 27]. Another advantage is creativity and the capacity to deal with the lack of resources for solving problems ("system D"). An example of a polychronic society organization is the "big family" characteristic of many African ethnic groups.

Following the analysis of Oscar Lewis about the population that lives in extreme poverty [28], I will also propose another kind of temporal organization, the "survival temporal organization". The migrants who suffered from traumatic situations in their original country or during the travel could develop a survival strategy, which focuses on solving the most urgent issues. The survival strategy has a temporal organization centred in the present day that allows to solve immediate problems but can provoke difficulties in planning and undertaking long-term activities. Living on a day-to-day basis, solving immediate problems and not losing time planning for future conditions that they do not know are survival strategies also present in other vulnerable populations, such as those living in extreme poverty that do not have stable jobs.

Migrants who have a polychronic system or a survival system can have difficulties to adapt to societies with a monochronic system. Frequently they do not arrive on time, do not organize their activities well and do not comply with the production norms in their jobs. The local population can think that migrants are lazy or are very distracted. This situation provokes that local population often considers these migrants negatively. At the same time, these migrants suffer from stress when they feel required to arrive on time or be more effective in their work.

One of the problems related to temporal organization is that frequently the persons are not aware of it. Individuals think that their way of organizing activities and the value they give to time is the only correct way. People who have a monochronic system think that those that have different temporal organization "do not like" to word and do not have an idea of the importance of punctuality. The migrants that have a polychronic system think that the monochronic host society is "cold" and that local people only want to work and have money.

The Socio-Cognitive Niche

The analysis of the problems encountered by migrants can be organized into three major domains: the traumas suffered in their country of origin during the trip or in the host country, the adaptation to the new society and the conflict to decide between maintaining the original culture and adapting the culture of the host country. Neuroanthropology developed the concept of socio-cognitive niche [29] that can be useful for understanding the migrants' problems for adaptation.

Every person has a very large and very complex set of relationships with the social and ecological environment in which he lives. Smell, noise, number of people on the street, light, temperature, colour of the sky, hours of daily light, type of food and type of housing are some of the environmental factors to which the individual must adapt. There are also social and cultural factors related to the life of any individual such as language, habits, rules of communication, structure of the family, technologies, music, social hierarchy, etc. Some of the environmental and social factors are pleasant, others are negative, but all determine the conditions to which each individual is accustomed. Without being aware of many of these factors, a person gets used to them, develops according to them, builds their identity on their behalf and often makes decisions based on them. Many of these factors change for migrants. There are not only changes in isolated factors but in all the system of relationships between migrants and their conditions of life in the host country.

The concept of niche was developed in ecology. The "ecological niche" is the ensemble of environmental variables that determine the life of a population, animal or vegetal in an ecosystem. It includes all the relationships between the population and all the elements of the ecosystems such as predators, preys, characteristics of the soil, light, weather, water, nutrients, etc. [30-32].

The socio-cognitive niche is constructed by the integration of the perceptions that an individual has about their relationships with environmental, social and cultural factors. The socio-cognitive niche includes symbolic constructions and rites [33].

It is important to clarify that the sociocognitive niche is not the set of relationships of an individual with its social, cultural and environmental environment but the set of relationships that the individual perceives, giving them a precise meaning and specific responses. That is, in the same community, different individuals may have different socio-cognitive niches (in the same way that different animal populations in the same ecosystem have different ecological niches).

An interesting problem appears here, to what extent changes that an individual has during his life (e.g. changes in knowledge, in professional activities, in the habitat, etc.) imply changes in the socio-cognitive niche? Another problem to solve is whether the problems of adaptation to the socio-cognitive niche can generate mental problems.

Migration implies a change in the sociocognitive niche of the migrant, a new system of relationships with new environmental, cultural, social and professional factors. The migrant must adapt to the new socio-cognitive niche, which may imply that he must change some of its attitudes, values and behaviours.

Another problem appears here, to what extent the migrant perceives the new factors in the host country, the new characteristics for him of the local community. It will be difficult to adapt to factors that he does not perceive or to which he gives a different meaning than the local population. He must learn to perceive factors that are important to the local community but were not important in his home community.

On the one hand, there are changes in the environmental and social stimuli that the migrant perceives. On the other hand, there are problems that must be solved, such as finding a job, being accepted by the local community, accessing health services, being able to communicate with members of the local community, maintaining contacts with the country of origin and family members and friends who continue to live there, solving family problems, etc. Migrants must make important decisions to solve those problems. But those decisions can provoke new conflicts.

For example, a professional who had a high economic and social status in his country of origin and who was forced to emigrate may have to accept lower-level professional and economic jobs in the host country. This generates a conflict between the need to obtain a means of subsistence and acceptation of the loss of status, which in turn can generate low self-esteem and depression. To resolve this conflict, the migrant should treat depression, but the difficulties in accessing health services and communicating with health workers prevent him from receiving treatment. The beliefs and taboos about mental problems can also play a negative role. In this situation that generates anxiety, the migrant must establish what the priority is: to obtain a low-skilled job or avoid a situation of loss of status and low self-esteem.

Ethnic Density and Migrants' Mental Health

Migrants often have the tendency to be organized in groups of people with similar origin and isolated themselves from nationals of the host countries. It is frequent that migrant women do not speak correctly the dominant local language after many years of living in the host country. They often maintain aspects of their culture, such as dress, food, rules of behaviour, etc.

This situation augments the problems for adapting to the characteristics of the host country and jeopardizes the relationships between the migrants and the local population.

The relationships between the densities of members of the same ethnic group in the neighbourhood with mental health are analysed in the hypothesis of "ethnic density" that propose that members of ethnic minority groups have better mental health when they live in areas with higher proportions of people of the same ethnicity. However the relationships between ethnic density and the frequency of mental problems are not definitive.

Ethnic density was considered a protective factor for mental disorders in older studies of admission rates in the USA. In recent multilevel studies for African-American people and Hispanic adults in the USA, ethnic density was considered protective against depression and anxiety. However, the situation is not similar for Hispanic and Asian American adolescents that had a higher level of depression in neighbourhoods with high ethnic density. In the UK studies show mixed results, with more evidence for ethnic density as a protective factor for psychoses. The most consistent results in different studies are those that show a protective effect of ethnic density for psychoses. However the different methods in the studies and the different results indicate that the effects of ethnic density on mental health are not sufficiently consistent [34].

Other studies show a more consistent relationship between ethnic density and mental health, suggesting that social environment plays an important role in patterning health problems in marginalized and excluded population groups [35].

Different studies indicate that cases of psychosis, including persecutory beliefs, are frequent among migrants and minority populations, especially when they live in neighbourhoods with low ethnic density. A proposed hypothesis is that there are various factors that influence the development of psychoactive states, such as victimization, discrimination or the feeling of not belonging to the community in which one lives. A safe ethnic identity can reduce low self-esteem and can also play a positive role in paranoia. A study conducted in female students in the United Arab Emirates analysed the relationship between language efficiency between Arabic and English, group identity and paranoia. The results indicated that those students who had a preference for Arabic and therefore had an identity closer to the local community had less frequency of paranoia than those students who preferred English, which indicated less preference for local identity had more frequent cases of paranoia. These results may explain the protective effect of ethnic density on psychoses [36].

Rupture of Social Status and Social Control and Other Factors Related to Mental Health

Migration is not only a change of place for living. It may mean an important change in social and economic status. The cultural and social framework that allows organize the life may be lost for the migrantsç. In the new conditions they may lose the psychological, emotional, cultural and social elements that are essential part of their development. Alcohol, drugs and risky sexual behaviour may be the wrong answer to the reduction of social control and the low self-esteem provoked by the migration. In some cases a group of migrants can maintain the social structure, but children and adolescents may became drug abusers and provoke a rupture in the social framework of the community.

An example of this process during internal migration is the transformation in the community of the Qom ethnic group in Argentina that migrate from northern provinces of Chaco to Rosario, Buenos Aires and other urban areas in Argentina. Information from health workers, teachers and social assistants that work with the Qom community indicates that adults maintain a traditional social structure and a strong religious organization. They have frequent contacts with the original populations in northern provinces. However some adolescents that live in urban areas lost the traditional values and consume drugs and alcohol. There is a rupture from traditional values in the community produced by drug abuse in adolescents.

Another example is the risky sexual behaviour in migrants working in mining and other industries in South Africa that can be related with the loss of social control when the migrant leaves their community. This situation can be considered one of the causes of the epidemic of AIDS in Africa.

Difficulties for Migrants to Access Health Services

Migrants, refugees and asylum seekers often have low-pay jobs where occupational risks are high. They frequently have economic problems and low social status and have difficulties for paying health services and the other costs of health, such as transport to health-care centres. They also have problem for paying diagnosis (radiographies, scanners, etc.) and medicines.

Others factors that influence the access of migrants and refugees to health-care resources are educational attainment, type of professional occupation and earning.

A solution can be a campaign to promote health literacy in migrants, including information about health and accident risks in the most frequent migrants and refugees' jobs and information about health insurances, rights for using health care and institutions that can help migrants and refugees. It is also important to inform about the cost of treatments and the cost of health insurances.

Acceptance of High Level of Pain

Recognizing low-level signals of health problems (as pain) and asking for care are an important issue for health. Pain is a signal for many health problems. The retard produces the development of the health problem and can reduce the possibilities for a solution. Some ethnic groups have big "resistance" to pain, and they ask for health care only when pain is difficult to support. Medical doctors in Argentina indicate that members of the Qom community (an ethnic group in Argentina) with rheumatic diseases withstood a very high level of pain before seeking attention.

Another example is dental care. When they have cavities or other dental problems, migrants or other vulnerable populations do not go to the dentist until the pain is almost unbearable. The delay increases the risk of having serious problems and losing teeth. The visible loss of teeth is a sign of poverty that can cause low self-esteem and provoke difficulties in the search for employment and, in general, in social relationships.

Difficulties for Preventing Diseases, Asking for Care and Use of Health System

Any person makes decisions using different elements, such as analysis of the contexts, information, beliefs, emotion and memory. In very risky situations, decisions have big importance. Using correctly the information may be the difference between life and death.

Providing information may not be sufficient for promoting adapted behaviour. Emotions, beliefs and personal experience can interfere in making decisions and can provoke big problems.

There are a complex system of relationships between culture, psychology and the capacity to make adapted decisions. This system is difficult to analyse. The analysis of the epidemic of Ebola virus disease (EVD) in three countries of West Africa in 2014/2015 provides a good example about necessity of fast changes in beliefs and behaviours for preventing the epidemic, and the learning difficulties that jeopardize an adapted behaviour.

Difficulties of Communication Between Health Staff and Migrants

Health staff should adapt to a new kind of patients, who have different culture, beliefs and language. Improving the communication between health staffs and migrants and refugees is one of the important issues related with health literacy. Communication is a two-sided issue: health staff needs to develop cultural awareness, and migrants need to develop understanding of the new living conditions in the country and the health system.

Migrants and refugees frequently have different cultures than local people. They can also have difficulties in understanding local languages. These differences can be a barrier for the communication between health staff and migrants and refugees.

Low health literacy can be another important factor for difficult communication when the patients cannot explain correctly their health problems or when they cannot understand the information provided by the health staff. Promoting health literacy can facilitate the communication between health staff and migrants and refugees and promote correct adherence to treatment.

Psychological Problems

Low self-esteem, shame for not speaking well the local language and feeling to be discriminated can also interfere with health is migrants with these psychological problems are reluctant to go to health system for care. These problems can also be a barrier for the communication with health staff.

Explanatory Models

Migrants and refugees have magical and religious explanatory models such as fatalism, magical causes of diseases, beliefs that health problems are "punishment from god", etc. There are also "conspirator explanatory models", such as "AIDS is produced by countries that want to kill African populations" or "Ebola do not exist. It is only a way for governments for obtaining monetary assistance". Explanatory models can interfere with understanding health issues, looking for care in clinics and adhering to treatment.

Analysing the most frequent explanatory models of the target population is an important element for organizing culture-friendly health literacy campaigns.

Beliefs and Taboos Related to Health Issues

As any other population, migrant and refugees have non-scientific beliefs and taboos that can interfere with their communication with healthcare staff and can prevent a correct adherence to treatment. Analysing the beliefs and taboos is an important issue for campaigns for promoting health literacy.

Some beliefs are based on correct empirical knowledge but they are expressed in magical terms. This kind of conceptions can be used in the campaigns for promoting health literacy for teaching basic scientific concepts.

It is important to take into account the beliefs about what is health and what is illness because they can interfere with the adherence to treatment, in particular when people "feel good" and interrupt the treatment or when they believe in magical solutions.

An example is the belief during the epidemic of Ebola virus disease in West Africa that drinking salt water is a way to prevent the disease or cure it; some people died of health problems due to drinking a big quantity of salt water. Others do not follow the preventive measures because they thought that drinking salt water was sufficient for preventing the contagion. Another example is the belief that Ebola is a punishment from God to sinners. Priests that have this belief promoted collective religious activities that concentrate hundreds of people in crowded churches, augmenting the risk of contagion of Ebola virus in the participants.

Different Patient Symptoms Related to Mental Health Problems

Some studies in the USA indicate that migrant populations and African-American communities have physical symptoms instead of psychological symptoms when they have mental health problems. This situation can be a source of errors in the diagnosis, for example, if the patient present pain in the chest when he has a mental problem and the medical doctor do not know that for some communities this is a signal for mental distress.

Language Problems

Migrants and refugees can have difficulties in understanding local languages. Producing teaching materials and organizing teaching activities in the languages spoken by migrant and refugee populations can be a solution. Using plain language, avoiding scientific and medical words and using examples from the culture of migrants and refugees are important issues for ensuring the success of a campaign in promoting health literacy. For ensuring the understanding of teaching materials, it is important to evaluate them to the members of the migrant and refugee populations or people who speak the same language and understand the culture.

Local population often do jokes about the pronunciation of migrants provoking low selfesteem in them.

Diffidence About the Health System

Migrants and refugees often have negative opinion about the science and the modern health approach. Traditional beliefs are one of the factors for the negative opinion. Other factors are negative experiences in the use of health systems. Other causes of diffidence are emotional problems in the relationships with health staff. In some ethnic groups, women are not allowed to be treated by men medical doctors. Migrants also dislike to talk about sexual behaviour. These problems can provoke problems in asking for help and in the communication with health staff.

Different studies in the USA show that African-American patients also have diffidence about the health systems.

Lack of Basic Knowledge Related with Health

Basic knowledge about health is an important element in order to understand health problems, prevent diseases, ask for care and adhere to treatment. Migrants and refugee lack this basic knowledge.

Understanding health problems, preventing them, asking for help, communicating with health staff and adhering to treatment are not easy for migrants that do not have basic scientific knowledge related with health. For this reason it is very important to focus a campaign for promoting health literacy by teaching basic scientific knowledge that can develop an understanding of the causes of the problems and the ways of solving them. New skills related with health should be understood as a logical response to the causes of the health problems and not as a simple list of tasks to be performed without explanation.

For example, the necessity of boiling water in order to reduce the risk of waterborne diseases, vaccinating children to prevent infectious diseases and washing hands before eating cannot be understood without basic knowledge about microorganisms. The lack of it transforms the information about these problems in a series of tasks to perform without knowing why it is necessary to undertake them.

The Needs of a Cultural Approach on Mental Health

Mental and physical illness patterns vary in differing cultures. The immigrant tends to respond to stress according to the cultures of his childhood environment. Mental health research relies primarily on members of dominant cultures, without taking into account the characteristics of minorities. Frequently the work of clinicians in mental health is based on a "Western" ethnocentric perspective that is different from the perspective of many communities in the world (including the Western communities themselves). The perspective that mental health workers have often does not take into account the culture of their patients, particularly migrants who have another culture [37].

The diagnosis and treatment of mental problems of migrants or members of marginalized communities can be erroneous if they do not take into account the characteristics of these populations, such as the ways of expressing in their organization the mental problems and the taboos and conceptions about those themes. An approach based solely on Western culture may leave aside positive characteristics of those communities, such as the possible support of family or friends. It is also important that those who work in social services and medical services consider that a migrant, especially a refugee or an asylum seeker, may have suffered from very traumatic experiences that are not expressed because of the communication difficulties mentioned.

A researcher proposes a change of paradigm to improve mental health services for migrants, marginalized or minorities. He noted the importance of taking into account the cultural factors that are transmitted to new generations such as traditions and customs, which largely determine beliefs, values, expectations and attitudes about mental health. That would allow greater sensitivity to the needs of migrants and minorities and improve the communication with them. Even the concept of "barrier to treatment" may not be applicable when the patient has a different understanding of mental health. The proposed approach, called "Culturally Infused Engagement", seeks to strengthen the alliance between the doctor, the family and the patient, allowing them to express themselves and their needs to be taken into account. This facilitates adherence to treatment and allows physicians to understand patient perspectives [15].

Frequency of Mental Problems in Non-refugee Migrants

Refugee and asylum seekers have differences in the frequency of mental problems than nonrefugee migrants. For this reason we will provide information about mental issues for these two groups separately.

Studies developed in different countries indicate differences in the frequency of mental problems in migrants to the frequency in local population. A study realized in Canada indicates that the frequency of mental problems among migrants is lower than that of the local population at the beginning of the migrant life in the country. One possible explanation to this phenomenon is that immigrants in Canada must pass a series of filters before being accepted, including no problems on mental health. In this way there is a selection that reduces the frequency of mental problems in recent immigrants. However, the frequency of mental problems increases over time and becomes similar to the rest of the general population [38, 39]. Data from other countries indicated that the frequency of some mental problems is higher in migrants than in local population.

Mental health of migrants can be related to different elements, such as gender and marital status, state of residence, education, employment status and type of migration. In a research realized in Iran about mental health in migrants, there was a positive correlation between mental health and gender: males had better mental health status than females. Females also had more problems related with anxiety. Married people had better mental health than the single ones, and permanent migrants presented less mental health problems that seasonal migrants. One interesting finding was that people living with relatives had poorer mental health than people living alone [40].

Being in detention in prisons is also a factor that can increase the mental problems of migrants, refugees or asylum seekers. In a study in the USA with 70 asylum seekers detained in New York, New Jersey and Pennsylvania, it was found that 77% of participants have severe symptoms of anxiety, 86% of depression and 50% of PTSD. These symptoms were correlated with the duration of the detention. Participants who were released had a reduction of the symptoms, while those who remained in detention increased them [41].

Post-traumatic Stress Disorder in Migrants

There is growing evidence supporting the association between migration and PTSD. Some studies indicate that its prevalence is very high in migrants, reaching 47% of them for some groups of migrants. In some countries the frequency of PTSD is much higher (almost double) in refugees than in migrant workers [8].

Anxiety and Depression in Migrants

One of the most frequent mental problems that migrants suffer is depression. For example, the frequency of depression is high in some migrant populations such as Latinos in the USA, mainly provoked by language barriers and for the separation of their families or the feelings of loss. A study about mental problems of this migrant population indicates that 26% of the participants have symptoms related to depression. Low health literacy and other difficulties for accessing health-care services are factors that reduce the possibility of treatment. The study indicates the importance of measures such as training recent Latino immigrants aiming to improve their health literacy, provide them with information about symptoms of depression and promote their better access to health-care services. The study also indicates the importance of screening this population for depressive symptoms when they access health-care services [42].

Another study about depression of Asian women in the USA indicates that they tend to see depression as a personal weakness or a moral fall. For this reason, it is recommended that the paramedical health professionals explain to Asian patients that depression is a disease caused by neurochemical balance problems and is not indicative of any weakness. This study indicates that women of Asian origin have a higher suicide rate than all the other groups of women in the USA [43].

Psychosis in Migrants

There is strong evidence in many countries that the frequency of psychosis in migrants and in minority ethnic population is higher than those of local population [44]. Studies conducted in the UK on migrants from Tristan da Cunha indicate that there is a high frequency of mental illnesses in migrants with paranoid symptoms and somatic symptomatology [45]. In Sweden, similar results were also obtained in a study of 839 people that indicated that black citizens, a group of recent immigration in Swedish society, were diagnosed with psychotic disorders more frequently than other ethnic groups [46]. African immigrants in Portugal are also diagnosed with schizophrenia more often than the local population [47].

A study conducted in Canada indicates that immigrants from Africa or the Caribbean Region with diagnoses of psychotic disorders had a higher percentage of maintaining that diagnosis than the local population. They also had a lower percentage change in the diagnosis of psychotic disorder to a diagnosis of non-psychosis [48].

A review of scientific articles of more than 30 years indicates that the history of migration and social status in the host country are factors that increase the risks of psychosis. These results are not explained by errors in the diagnosis or by psychopathological differences. That analysis suggests that migration is an important factor in explaining the frequency of psychosis in migrants [49].

In a study in the Netherlands, more than 21,000 pre-trial reports were analysed comparing the native Dutch population with the descendants of Africans and other minorities and whites from other Western countries, most of them from European countries. The results show that there were 19.8% of recommendations for admissions in psychiatric hospitals for Africans and other minorities; for white immigrants of European origin, the recommendations were 19.3% compared to Dutch natives (9.2%). According to the authors of this article, immigrants have a higher risk of being diagnosed with psychotic disorders and to be sent to psychiatric hospitals. This risk may be related to misunderstanding between psychiatrists and immigrants or with bias in symptomatology [50].

Problems in the Diagnosis for Psychotic Disorders in Migrants and Marginalized Minorities

Studies in different countries indicate that the patient's ethnic origin can determine the diagnosis on psychosis in multicultural societies [51].

African-Americans suffering from depression have a long history of being overdiagnosed with schizophrenia mental disorders and being underdiagnosed for mood disorders. Erroneous diagnoses affect these patients in various ways, increasing the attrition and drop-out of the treatments, reducing patient satisfaction, exacerbating chronicity and creating problems due to inappropriate interventions and the use of inappropriate psychotropic drugs [52].

A study synthesizing 24-year literature on the differences in the diagnosis of psychosis shows that ethnicity influences the diagnosis of schizophrenia. The study shows that in the USA during all those years, African-Americans have a schizophrenia diagnosis rate of three to four times higher than the Euro-Americans. Latinos also present a frequency of diagnosis of psychotic symptoms three times higher than the Euro-Americans and the Asians. An interesting result of the study is that people discharged after the first psychiatric hospitalization did not present differences in the diagnosis of schizophrenia, although African-Americans were discharged more often than the Euro-Americans with an unspecified diagnosis, such as psychosis [53].

A study of almost 3000 children and adolescents indicates that African-Americans and Latinos under the age of 18 had a rate of diagnoses of psychosis disorders twice as high as young Euro-Americans. One study indicates that in forensic psychiatric treatment centres, African-Americans have a probability of being diagnosed with psychiatric disorder of 56%, while Euro-Americans have a probability of only 21% [54].

A psychiatrist in the USA reported that during 2 years she had to correct the diagnoses of 40 minority members, finding that 1 in 10 patients had been wrongly diagnosed with diseases such as schizophrenia.

In a study in medical centres for veterans in the USA, the diagnoses of more than 23000 elderly patients were analysed. The results show that Latin Americans and African-Americans have higher rates of psychotic disorders (24% and 23%, respectively) than Euro-Americans (18%) [55].

Different explanations have been given to this phenomenon. One of them is the influence of the prejudices of the psychiatrists in the diagnoses, although the data that have this explanation are not conclusive. Another explanation is that there are differences in the diagnostic criteria according to the race of the psychiatrist. Other authors take into account errors of interpretation of disruptive behaviours and socially deviants associated with African-Americans in the USA [13]. Some authors indicate that different ethnic groups have different symptoms when they suffer from mental problems [56]. An example is that African-American patients present organic symptoms, such as chest pain, when they suffer from depression [52].

Forcible Migration for Traumatic Situations in the Country of Origin

Millions of people escape from war, abuses in human rights, environmental disasters and extreme poverty. Frequently these factors are acting together.

The civil war in the former Yugoslavia, Syria, Iraq, Afghanistan, Sudan, South Sudan, Somalia, Colombia and Yemen; the successive wars in Gaza; the genocide in Cambodia of two million people, in Myanmar of the Rohingya ethnic population and in Rwanda of the near one million Tutsi and moderate Hutus; the dictators in Eritrea, Uruguay, Chile and Argentina; the action of terrorists in the Philippines, Nigeria and Cameroun; the massacres and the systematic rape of women in the east of the Democratic Republic of the Congo; the systematic kidnaping of children in Uganda; and the attacks on local population of gangs in Honduras, El Salvador or Mexico are examples of the causes that provoke the displacement of millions of people.

By the end of 2017, 68,5 million of people were forcibly displaced worldwide (refugees, asylum seekers and internally displaced persons), 19,6 million of them were refugees and 3,1 million were asylum seekers. The vast majority (86%) of refugees and asylum seekers are in developing countries. In some countries refugees provoke a great impact on the economy and on social and health systems. For example, Jordan and Lebanon have several million refugees who escaped the civil war in Syria. Uganda has millions of refugees from the civil war in South Sudan. In Lebanon more than 16% of the total population are refugees and asylum seekers [57].

Millions of people migrate also in order to escape extreme poverty. Environmental disaster also provoked migrations. Global warming can augment this issue in the future, especially in coast regions and in small island countries.

Very frequently the migrants lost everything when they escape from their country and should undertake long and harsh journeys before arriving to safe countries. The traumatic situations in the original country can provoke mental problems that can persist for a long time after the arrival to the host countries.

As for migrations between different countries, internal migrations can also provoke negative impacts on health, including mental health.

Mental Disorders in Refugees and Asylum Seekers

An immigrant sector that has frequent and serious mental problems is that of refugees and asylum seekers who often suffered from traumatic situations such as being tortured, participating in armed conflicts, loosing family members or assisting to death. These traumatic situations produce serious and multiple physical and psychological sequels, which makes it difficult to diagnose and treat them [58]. In a study conducted in 1991 in the USA with Cambodian refugees who were not psychiatric patients, it was found that 86% had symptoms of PTSD, 96% had high dissociation rates and 80% suffered from clinical depression. The study demonstrated a relationship between the intensity of the trauma suffered and the severity of the symptoms [59].

The multiplicity of traumatic episodes suffered by refugees and the continuation of such situations in the host countries or the lack of family support determine that their mental health problems are different from those of other groups that also suffered from traumatic episodes, such as military veterans and victims of sexual violence [60].

Refugees and asylum seekers who have experienced violent situations before their arrival to Canada have a greater frequency of mental problems related to traumatic situations, including PTSD and somatic symptoms such as chronic pain. The risks of having mental problems are related to the stress in the country of origin, the stress and the situation of uncertainty during the migration and the experiences lived in the host country. To improve the effectiveness in the diagnosis and treatment of the mental problems of immigrants, the use of trained interpreters and culture brokers is suggested when cultural and linguistic differences hinder communication and understanding between patients and health personnel [61].

The analysis of the mental problems of 79 adult refugees from different Burmese ethnic groups newly arrived in Australia indicated a high frequency of mental disorders, 20% of these refugees had symptoms of anxiety, 9% of PTSD and 36% of depression. Also 37% of them had symptoms of somatization. The refugees indicated having problems in the host country, in particular concern about their family outside Australia and communication difficulties. No differences were found between men and women in the frequency of the mentioned mental disorders [62].

A study conducted with 854 war refugees from the former Yugoslavia in Germany, Italy and the UK showed that the prevalence of mental disorders varies substantially among the three countries. PTSD was associated with a greater number of traumatic experiences during the war, absence of combat experience, older age, a low level of education, great stress during migration and absence of temporary residence permit. The problems related to mood and anxiety disorders were related to more traumatic experiences during and after the major war related to immigration, the residence permit and the feeling of not being accepted in the country. The mood disorders were more associated with the older age, being a woman and not having a job, while anxiety disorders were related to the absence of combat experience. The use of substances was associated with being young, male and not having a partner. These results indicate that experiences during the war are more related to the frequency of PTSD, while experiences after migration were more associated with mood, anxiety and substance use disorder [63].

Depression and anxiety are also frequent in refugees. One example is the Karenni refugees on the border between Burma and Thailand, who have an average of 42% cases of depression and 42% cases of anxiety. These figures are related to violence, the harassment suffered and the difficulty in meeting basic needs [64].

In a Cambodian refugee camp on the Thai-Cambodian border, 82% of the refugees said they had depression, which was confirmed as severe depression in 55% of the cases. Symptoms of depression include problems with sleep, depressive mood, loss of interest in activities, weight changes, feelings of guilt and being useless almost daily. They have recurrent thoughts of death and suicide that includes attempts or plans to commit suicide. Those refugees suffered from torture, death of lovers and war; were prisoners; had serious accidents, such as explosions; and had serious health problems. They presented symptoms of generalized anxiety such as restlessness, fatigue, irritability, excessive worry and problems to relax and sleep and focusing on PTSD as intrusion, avoidance and hyperarousal.

Post-traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) in Refugees and Asylum Seekers

Migrants who suffered from traumatic situations in their country of origin, during their trip or in the host country can develop post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), in which characteristic symptoms develop after exposure to traumatic situations such as being victim of violence, living situations in which life is in danger, suffering from serious aggressions, being tortured, being raped, participating in armed conflicts or being involve in them, losing physical or moral integrity or observing this type of situations experienced by other people, particularly family members, friends or associates [8, 65]. There are also stressful situations in the host country that can provoke post-traumatic stress disorder, such as isolation, lack of capacity to communicate with local people, unemployment, difficulties for accessing health services, difficulties for obtaining refugee status, lack of opportunities for improving the quality of life, detention, bad housing, acculturation problems, etc. Health literacy can develop the capacity of patients and their families to recognize these symptoms and ask for care.

Each individual can respond in a different way to these emotional upset suffered before, during or after the migration. For this reason it is difficult to predict the trauma after-effects. Under certain circumstances traumatic situations provoke post-traumatic stress disorder. PTSD can have a lifelong negative impact on the affected individual. Recognizing the first signals of it and referring the person to health staff are a very important issue for reducing future mental problems. PTSD is also related to anxiety about the future situation in the host country. A study carried out in Canada with asylum seekers indicates that an important factor of stress is the idea of not obtaining political asylum. When the asylum is obtained, the symptoms of PTSD and generalized malaise are reduced [61].

A review of 161 articles that gave the results of 181 surveys in 40 countries, with more than 82,000 refugees and others who suffered from armed conflicts, indicates that there is a great variability between the rates of PTSD and those of depression. The adjusted average was 30,6% for PTSD and 30.8% for depression. Torture is the most important factor for PTSD followed by the cumulative exposure of potentially traumatic events (PTEs), time since conflict and levels of political terror. For depression, the most important factor was the number of PTEs, time since conflict, torture and residency status [66].

The results of 29 surveys with differences in sampling and assessment, with a total of 6743 refugees in 7 countries, showed great variations in the frequency of PTSD: in the most numerous studies, it was found that 9% of the refugees had symptoms of PTSD and 5% were severe cases of depression, with great evidence of psychiatric comorbidity. In other less numerous surveys, a frequency of 11% of PTSD was found in refugee children [67].

The impact of the war on mental health was verified in a study on students from Ahfad University for Women of Sudan, refugees in the Darfur camp, of which 80.9% had symptoms of PTSD. The main causes of these symptoms were having been exposed to combat situations, threats to life and the safety of relatives and the displacement from the village and home. The loss of family increased in those girls the feelings of isolation, humiliation, discrimination, guilt and shame for having survived, loss of identity, vulnerability, intimidation and isolation, which indicates the importance of the loss of the family in mental health in some communities [68].

An epidemiological survey was conducted in four countries between 1997 and 1999 to analyse the effect of traumatic situations of war and violence. In one of the countries, Algeria, the studied population had suffered from repeated terrorist attacks, with massacres; in another, Cambodia, the population suffered from the war against American army, the genocide carried out by the Khmer Rouge, the invasion by Vietnam troops and the civil war. In Ethiopia, the situation of refugees in refugee camps and, in the Gaza Strip, the situation of people in temporary shelters were analysed.

In all these countries, the frequency of PTSD was very high, 37.4% in Algeria, 28.4%

in Cambodia, 15.8% in Ethiopia and 17.8% in Gaza. The only risk factor for PTSD in all four cases was trauma related to armed conflict.

Torture was also an important risk factor for PTSD except in Cambodia where domestic stress, death of a family member, separation from family and alcohol abuse by parents were associated with PTSD. In Ethiopia and in Cambodia, psychiatric history and common diseases were also risk factors for PTSD, while in Algeria and Gaza an important factor was the poor quality of the refugee camps. Daily hassles were associated with PTSD in Algeria.

These results indicate that the causes of PTSD are different in the different populations that suffered from mass violence, armed conflicts and wars. From these data, the great importance for the diagnosis and treatment of PTSD that has the analysis of the specific situations suffered by the respective populations can be inferred [69].

In Syrian refugees in Turkey, the frequency of PTSD in these refugees was 33.5%, but the probability of having PTSD symptoms was 71% if it was a woman who had had a diagnosis of a psychiatric disorder in the past, had a family history of psychiatric disorder or having experienced two or more traumas [70].

PTSD is also a serious problem for health personnel who lived in conditions of war, for example, a study carried out in 2014 in the Gaza Strip, on more than 1100 nurses who suffered from prolonged stress in the attacks of the Israeli army, indicated that 69,4% of them had high levels of PTSD symptoms. The main symptoms were intrusion, avoidance and hyperarousal [71].

Refugees or migrants that present symptoms of PTSD can significantly increase those symptoms if they suffer from stressful life events in the refugee camps or in the host country. New stressful situations also produce a large increase in PTSD avoidance. For this reason it is important that the clinicians anticipate a possible reactivation of PTSD symptoms when patients are subjected to significant stressful stimuli [72, 73].

A study with Syrian refugees in Turkey indicates that eye movement desensitization and reprocessing (EMDR) can be effective in reducing PTSD and depression symptoms [74].

A programme for Palestinian adults who suffered from PTSD was evaluated in Gaza. The programme called Mind-Body Skills Groups consists of ten sessions that include meditation, guided imagery, breathing techniques, autogenic training, biofeedback, genograms and self-expression through words, drawings and movement. The results of the evaluation indicate that there were important improvements in the symptoms of depression, PTSD anxiety and the quality of life in general. After 10 months of the end of the programme, these improvements were maintained. Improvements in physical health and social relationships were also observed. The programme can be easily taught to health professionals [75].

The examples mentioned indicate that the intensity, type and frequency of PTSD symptoms are related to the traumatic situations experienced and the patient's interpretation of them, the meaning he gave to them and the emotions that produced to him, which it is related to his personal history, his psychological characteristics and the culture to which he ascribes. That is, there are three types of factors, the external (the violence suffered), the individual (the characteristics of each individual) and the social (the modes of interpretation that depend on each culture and each social group). We must also take into account the factors after migration, which, again, are external (living conditions), internal (the psychological characteristics of the patient) and social (the culture of the social group to which the patient ascribes).

The resilience of the traumas suffered depends on the situation that lives in the host country or in the refugee camps and the support that can be found in their family and community environment, which also depends on the culture of those groups.

According to the previous proposal, the relationship between culture, personal characteristics and situations experienced is a key element in the possibility of overcoming traumatic situations. We can think that in the cases in which the culture does not facilitate the expression of the traumas suffered (e.g. when mental illnesses are taboo), resilience is more difficult. Changing the culture of a social group is very difficult. Perhaps a possibility is to inform that group of the importance of the support to those who suffered from traumatic situations and the negative effects that the shame of mental symptoms has on the persistence of these traumas. Education about mental disorders can be an important factor for resilience.

Effect of Torture in Refugees and Asylum Seekers

Many refugees from countries in civil war or dictatorships suffered from torture. Suffering from torture, war traumas and post-migration difficulties are factors that increase the likelihood that refugees will develop mental health disorders [76].

Different studies indicate that the aftermath of torture can be very serious, such as PTSD, generalized anxiety disorder, depression and somatic problems. Insomnia, isolation and loneliness may also occur [77]. A study conducted on Syrian Kurdish refugees that analysed the relationship between torture and PTSD found that 38% had serious symptoms of PTSD and 35% some symptoms of it [78].

A study in the Bhutanese refugee camps in eastern Nepal on 526 people tortured and a control group of 526 people of similar characteristics who had not been tortured showed that the tortured people had more symptoms of PTSD, anxiety and depression than those who were not tortured. The tortured also had problems in the musculoskeletal system and the respiratory system. The tortured Buddhists had less anxiety and depression than the non-Buddhists and the tortured men had less frequency of anxiety [79].

In a study with Tibetan refugees in India, it was found that 54.3% of those who were tortured had symptoms of anxiety, while only 28.6% of those who were not tortured had those symptoms. In both groups the symptoms of depression were presented in 14.3% of the interviewees. These results indicate that the effects of torture can have a long-term consequence on mental health [80].

The nature of the bad treatments and their duration has a direct influence on the severity of PTSD symptoms. A study of 550 former Palestinian prisoners in Gaza Strip indicated that the greater the exposure to physical, chemical or electrical torture, the more they suffered from intrusive re-experiencing, withdrawal, numbness and hyperarousal. Also the continuation of harassment by the Israeli military after the release of the prisoner augmented the importance of these symptoms [81].

Psychosis in Refugees

An important question to define refugee mental health problems is whether they have a higher risk of schizophrenia or other non-affective psychotic disorders than local populations or than non-refugee migrants. To answer this question, an extensive cohort study was carried out in Sweden, with the participation of a total of 1,347,790 people, of which 1,191,004 were Swedish with Swedish parents, 133,663 were non-refugee migrants and 24,123 were refugees, the majority coming from the Middle East and North Africa, sub-Saharan Africa, Asia and Eastern Europe and Russia.

The incidence was 38.5 per 100,000 people in the population born in Sweden, 80.4 per 100,000 people for non-refugee migrants and 126.4 for refugees. These differences were found in refugees from all countries, except those from sub-Saharan Africa who had the same frequency as the rest of the population born in Sweden. The results also indicated that the differences were greater for men than for women [82].

Comorbidity Between Psychosis and PTSD

Migrants who suffer from PTSD may have other mental problems simultaneously. In a study conducted in Denmark on 181 refugees suffering from PTSD, it was found that 74 (41%) of them had symptoms of psychosis, of which 66% were auditory hallucinations and 50% persecutory delusions. Patients with psychotic symptoms associated with PTSD had personality changes after traumatic situations than other patients with PTSD but without associated psychotic symptoms. The study points out the difficulties in differentiating psychological symptoms from flashbacks related to PTSD [60].

Mental Health Problems in Refugee Children and Adolescents

Children and adolescents are particularly vulnerable to PTSD when they experience situations of violence or disasters, even when they see it on television or read it in newspapers. In some cases the frequency of PTSD in child and youth refugees is very high, as for Cambodian refugees in Canada that present a rate of 50% [5]. In the refugee camp of Moria, on the Greek island of Lesbos, the daily deadly violence, the very bad sanitary conditions and the overpopulation provoke such mental problems in the children that some of them of only 10 years of age tried to commit suicide [83].

A review of the literature on the mental problems of refugee children indicates that the prevalence of PTSD varies between 5% and 89%. These differences can be explained by differences in the degree of trauma suffered and the place where children reside: those who are refugees in countries with a high economic level, such as Canada, have lower PTSD rates than those in countries with a lower level of development or in countries close to the origin of the children. An explanation of this phenomenon is that more stable and safe countries give better protection to children and reduce the traumatic situations in where they live. Another factor that can explain the differences is the nature of the trauma suffered. For example, an accident or a tornado may denote PTSD symptoms, but phenomena provoked by systematic and violent human action, such as Nazi concentration camps, massacres in Rwanda or Cambodia or the recruitment of child soldiers, cause more distress and disorders. The proximity of the traumatic situation is also important, for example, the proximity to situations of war or massacres. Finally another factor is the type of trauma suffered, such as having seen a violent death or having suffered from rape or physical abuse [67].

A positive correlation has been found between the number of traumatic episodes suffered by the family, prior to migration or during the trip, and the cases of PTSD in children. Highest scores of PTSD in children are associated with the violent death of a family member.

Results were also obtained that indicate a positive correlation between the traumatic episodes experienced by the family in the host country and the depression scores of the children. High scores of depression in children are associated with their family difficulty in obtaining asylum and family economic problems [84].

Similar results were obtained in a study in Canada, where 394 primary caregivers with 639 children obtained the status of refugee. The results indicated that the traumas and postmigratory difficulties suffered by the caregivers were associated with subsequent PTSD, which in turn was associated with great harsh parenting which in turn determined high levels of behaviour problems in the children, such as hyperactivity, emotional symptoms, try them with other children. These results show that PTSD suffered by a primary caregiver influences directly in the children [85].

These studies show that children are sensitive to situations of stress lived by the family, be it before migration, during the trip or in the host country. For this reason it is important to analyse the situations that children and adolescents experience before or during their migration and those situations that live in the host country. The diagnostic of the PTSD symptoms in migrant children and adolescents is a very important element to be able to treat them [86].

Severe situations of stress, such as war, can cause serious problems in children with psychosomatic changes and behavioural changes that can lead to substance abuse, self-harm and even suicide. In a study conducted in Syria in children who suffered from war situations, interviewed children said that they frequently suffer from headaches and chest pain, have difficulty breathing and in some cases temporarily lose the movement of the legs. Eighty nine per cent of the adults interviewed indicated that they saw children suffering from persistent fears, 71% said that the children wet the bed or urinated involuntarily in class or in public, while 48% saw children who lost the ability to speak or who suffer from speech impediments. The situation of violence suffered by the children can lead to violent behaviour, such as screaming, fighting with friends or bullying other children as was noted by 80.5% of the adults interviewed. Some children said they wanted revenge for the violence they and their families suffered [1].

One study analysed the differences between the frequency of depression and PTSD in children and adolescents in a Yazidi refugee population and found that children have less frequency of depression and PTSD symptoms than adolescents. The possible causes are related to that the adolescents have greater amount of siblings. Other possible factors related to depression are the older age of the parents, being a woman or having observed someone who suffers from violent situation or who died violently. Girls and adolescent women have a higher frequency of PTSD than boys and adolescent men [87]. However, these results are not consistent with those obtained in studies on Syrian Kurdish refugees, where no significant differences were found in the frequency of PTSD between men and women. It is possible that the cultural differences between the Yazidi population and the Kurdish population and differences in the trauma that they suffered explain these two results. However, the frequency of mental tests in general is more frequent in women in both populations [78].

Young refugees from the former Yugoslavia testify to have been tortured frequently. A study on 119 young Bosnian refugees presented 35–43% of PTSD diagnoses. Having no right to asylum in the host country may have influenced their situation. Significant predictors of PTSD were being a woman, problem-focused and avoidant coping strategies. No protective effects of social support were found. The conclusions of the study indicate the importance of investigating the effectiveness of social support and of the different coping strategies [88].

Forced migration is, as we pointed out earlier, the cause of many psychiatric problems in children. To differentiate the impacts of migration on mental health from those caused by life in the refugee camps, mental problems were analysed in the first days of resettlement in a refugee camps for Yazidi. Cases of PTSD and other mental problems were found. Children who had suffered from forced migration had more emotional and behavioural problems than children who had not suffered this traumatic situation. These problems were evidenced by great shyness when arriving in the refugee camps, avoiding contact with other children. They also said they feared being caught not feeling safe in the fields and having difficulty sleeping. In third of the children who suffered from forced migration, they were diagnosed with depressive disorders [89].

Changes in the behaviour of a child can be an indication of the consequences of the trauma suffered. For this reason parents and caregivers should observe any change in behaviour, and when they notice that the child is not talking as usually, or he presents a state of sadness, a violent behaviour or an increase in fears, they should consult a health agent [90].

The symptoms of PTSD in children can be persistent as demonstrated by a study about traumatized Cambodian children who maintained the symptoms of PTSD and depression during the 3 years that the study lasted. Frequently the symptoms of PTSD in children and adolescents are withdrawal, hyper alertness, emotional numbness and re-experiencing. Symptoms vary according to age and the conditions in which they occur. In children, temper tantrums and re-enactment behaviour are common, while adolescents tend to take risks. In addition to specialized services, diagnosis and treatment require an approach that encourages the participation of families and schools. Experience indicates that psychological therapies focused on trauma are effective and that single-session debriefing should be avoided [91].

Several strategies were used to give psychological and social support to children who suffered from severe stress or chronic stress. A programme developed in Syria uses group artistic activities such as drawing, drama and music. The intention is to ensure that the children can process, express and communicate the feelings provoked by their traumatic experiences. The results indicate that the presence of an adult in which the children have confidence and can share their memories and feelings with them is important. Children feel less isolated, communicate more with other children and feel more protected by adults they can trust. This process allows the children to cope with the daily stress. The children are again children. Self-confidence and a positive belief in themselves and their identity can also help children to cope with stress [5].

The problems suffered by migrant and refugee children can impact their psychological and biological development that can provoke problems in education and jeopardize their future. Vulnerable children, for example, those living in extreme poverty, can have also this kind of problems. A research in Argentina in 2004 indicates that 20% of pupils in the first year in primary schools have retard in their psychological development and 30% of them have anaemia and other health problems. These problems where associated with poverty and low level of education of the mother [92].

Migrant children can be discriminated in schools. A research about racism realized in 11 countries suggests that a high proportion of teachers have negative conceptions related with children of minorities or for migrant children [93].

Reproduction of the Suffered Violence

The violence suffered by children can cause a desensitization and numbness of emotions, which increases the possibility of considering violence as a norm and developing violent behaviour. Loss of sensitivity to violence can be a way to adapt to it [94, 95].

The risk is that this situation will continue until they are adults who lack empathy and consider the violence as normal. These mechanisms can lead to a reproduction of violence in the future, either individually or at a collective level. Violence persists in the minds of those who suffered it, as psychological problems or as the development of a personality without empathy and violence. The millions of children suffering from serious situations of violence around the world make the search for solutions to this type of mechanism very important.

Reinforcing the social networks of traumatized children with aggressive behaviour and providing them with emotional outlets can be a solution to this kind of problem.

Open Questions

From the examples that we have presented, we can determine some serious problems. One of them is related to the communication difficulties between the clinician and the patient that can be a cause of misdiagnosis, in particular for depression and psychosis. The different methods we have shown are essentially based on developing the ability of clinicians to understand the culture of the patient when he or she is an immigrant or member of marginalized minorities and to establish a dialogue that stimulates the understanding and participation of the patient and their environment in the treatment of the disease. A complementary solution is to improve the patient's comprehension capacity, which in general is related to improving their health literacy and help them to overcome distrust, taboos and learning obstacles related with mental health. Therefore, the possible solutions to communication problems involve working in two domains, the training and awareness of clinicians and the education of patients and their communities.

The education of patients and their communities is possibly the most difficult subject to carry out, given the difficulties of communicating with communities that have another culture and in many cases another language that suffer from the problems of marginalization that we have mentioned and that may have distrust on health systems. Another element that hinders this solution is the lack of community education structures dedicated to health literacy. Another serious problem, especially in the refugee camps and in areas of extreme poverty, is the lack of health structures that can diagnose and treat mental illness. Refugee camps with hundreds of thousands of people or shanty towns where thousands of people live crowded together present two very difficult problems: the stress of the situation (such as overcrowding; lack of resources; sexual, physical and psychological violence; nutrition problems; lack of future for young people; etc.) and the lack of health structures.

We believe that the possible solutions are related to a community approach that trains members of these communities in the detection of mental problems and in the information of existing health centres, when they exist or in some forms of treatment that allow to reduce the seriousness of those cases and avoid the risks they present to their families and other members of the community. We believe that the development of methods of education for a community development of mental health is a very big challenge for those who work in the field of mental health. However we also believe that the development of these methods and their concrete application will not only make it possible to improve the situation in the refugee camps and in the shanty towns, but it will make it possible to improve education for health in general.

References

- 1. Invisible wounds, Save the children; 2017.
- United Nations. Department of economic and social affairs. Population Division Population Facts; December 2017.
- The Guardian. Over a million migrants and refugees have reached Europe this year, says IOM; 22 December 2015.
- 4. World Economic Forum. Migration and its impact on cities; October 2017.
- Beiser M, Korczak D, editors. A guide for health professionals working with immigrant and refugee children and youth. Mental Health and Development. Post-traumatic stress disorder. Caring for kids new on Canada. Canada Pediatric Society; April 2018.
- Pavli A, Maltezou H. Health problems of newly arrived migrants and refugees in Europe. J Travel Med. 2017;24(4).

- Berra S. Necessitats en salut i utilització dels serveis sanitaris en la població immigrant a Catalunya: revisió exhaustiva de la literatura científica. Catalunya: Agència d'Avaluació de Tecnologia i Recerca Mèdiques; 2004.
- Bustamante LHU, Cerqueira RO, Leclerc E, Brietzke E. Stress, trauma, and posttraumatic stress disorder in migrants: a comprehensive review. Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 2018;40(2):220–5.
- Carta MG, Bernal M, Hardoy MC, Haro-Abad JM. Migration and mental health in Europe (the state of the mental health in Europe working group: appendix 1). Clin Pract Epidemiol Ment Health. 2005;1:13.
- Pfarrwaller E, Suris J-C. Determinants of health in recently arrived young migrants and refugees: a review of the literature. IJPH. 2012;9(3).
- Ramos N. Psicologia clínica e da saúde. Lisboa: Universidade Aberta; 2004.
- Franken I, Coutinho MPL, Ramos N. Migração e qualidade de vida: um estudo psicossocial com brasileiros migrantes. Estud Psicol (Campinas). 2009;26:419–27.
- Schwarz-Nielsen KH, Elklitt A. An evaluation of the mental status of rejected asylum seekers in two Danish asylum centers. Torture. 2009;19(1):51–9.
- Riley A, Varner A, Ventevogel P, Taimur Hasan MM, Welton-Mitchell C. Daily stressors, trauma exposure, and mental health among stateless Rohingya refugees in Bangladesh. Transcult Psychiatry. 2017;54(3):304–31.
- Yasui M, Pottick KJ, Chen Y. Conceptualizing culturally infused engagement and its measurement for ethnic minority and immigrant children and families. Clin Child Fam Psychol Rev. 2017;20(3):250–332.
- 16. Bharath D. The stigma that shrouds mental illness in Orange County's ethnic communities. Center for Health Journalism, University of Southern California (web site).
- Dressler WW. Cultural consonance: linking culture, the individual and health. Prev Med. 2012;55(5):390.
- Dressler WW, Bindon JR. The health consequences of cultural consonance: cultural dimensions of lifestyle, social support, and arterial blood pressure in an African American community. Am Anthropol. New Series. 2000;102(2):244–60.
- Dressler WW, Balieiro MC, dos Santos JE. Cultural consonance, consciousness, and depression: genetic moderating effects on the psychological mediators of culture in the encultured brain. In: Lende DH, Downey G, editors. An Introduction to euroanthropology. Massachusetts/London: The MIT Press Cambridge; 2012.
- Achotegui J. Los duelos de la migración: una perspectiva psicopatológica y psicosocial. In: Perdiguero E, Comelles J, editors. Medicina y cultura. Ed. Bellaterra; Barcelona, 2000.
- LeMaster JW, Broadbridge CL, Lumley MA, Arnetz JE, Arfken C, Fetters MD. Acculturation and postmigration psychological symptoms among Iraqi

refugees: a path analysis. Am J Orthopsychiatry. 2018;88:38.

- 22. Kane JC, Johnson RM, Robinson C, Jernigan DH, Harachi TW, Bass JK. Longitudinal effects of acculturation on alcohol use among Vietnamese and Cambodian immigrant women in the USA. Alcohol Alcohol. 2016;51:702–9.
- Berry JW. Immigration, acculturation, and adaptation. Appl Psychol. 1997;46:5–68.
- Kartal D, Kiropoulos L. Effects of acculturative stress on PTSD, depressive, and anxiety symptoms among refugees resettled in Australia and Austria. Eur J Psychotraumatol. 2016;7:28711.
- Gagliardi R. Teaching basic scientific knowledge to traditional communities, prospects, vol. XXV, N° 1. Geneva: International Bureau of Education -UNESCO; 1995. p. 57–78.
- Hall ET. Au-delà de la culture [Beyond culture]. Paris: Éditions de Seuil; 1987. p. 234.
- Hall ET, Reed Hall M. Hidden differences: doing business with the Japanese. New York: Anchor Press/ Doubleday; 1987. p. 172.
- Lewis O. The culture of poverty. In: Gmelch G, Zenner W, editors. Urban life. USA: Waveland Press; 1996.
- Downey G, Lende D. The encultured brain: why neuroanthropology? Why now? Neuroanthropology, PLOS Blog. Posted on October 8, 2009.
- Pocheville A. The ecological niche: history and recent controversies. In Heams, T, Huneman P, Lecointre, G.; et al. Handbook of evolutionary thinking in the sciences. Dordrecht: Springer. pp. 547–586. 2015.
- 31. Schoener TW. Ecological niche. In: Levin SA, Carpenter SR, Godfray CJ, Kinzig AP, Loreau M, Losos JB, Walker B, Wilcove DS, editors. The Princeton guide to ecology. Princeton: Princeton University Press; 2009. p. 3.
- 32. Peterson T, Soberôn J, Pearson RG, Anderson RP, Martínez-Meyer E, Nakamura M, Bastos Araújo M. Species-environment relationships. In: Ecological niches and geographic distributions. Princeton: Princeton University Press; 2011. p. 82.
- Downey G, Lende D. The encultured brain: why neuroanthropology? Why now? Neuroanthropology, PLOS Blog. Posted on October 8, 2009.
- 34. Shaw RJ, Atkin K, Bécares L, Albor CB, Stafford M, Kiernan KE, Nazroo JY, Wilkinson RG, Pickett KE. Impact of ethnic density on adult mental disorders: narrative review. Br J Psychiatry. 2012;201(1):11–9.
- Bécares L, Dewey ME, Das-Munshi J. Ethnic density effects for adult mental health: systematic review and meta-analysis of international studies. Psychol Med. 2018;48(12):2054–72.
- 36. Thomas JT, Bentali R, Hadden L, O'Hara L. Ethnic identity and paranoid thinking: implicit out-group preference and language dominance predict paranoia in Emirati women. J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry. 2017;56:122–8.
- Nickerson A, Liddell B, Asnaani A, Carlsson J, Fazel M, Knaevelsrud C, Morina N, Neuner F, Newnham E,

Rasmussen A. Trauma and mental health in forcibly displaced populations An International Society for Traumatic Stress Studies Briefing Paper.

- McDonald JT, Kennedy S. Insights into the 'healthy immigrant effect': health status and health service use of immigrants to Canada. Soc Sci Med. 2004;59:1613–27.
- Newbold KB. Self-rated health within the Canadian immigrant population: risk and the healthy immigrant effect. Soc Sci Med. 2005;60:1359–70.
- 40. Naieni KH, Faghihi M, Barati H, Salehiniya H, Khani Y. An evaluation of migrants' mental health status and affecting factors in Bastam. Biomed Res. 2018;29(7):1366–9.
- Keller AS, Rosenfeld B, Trinh-Shevrin C, Meserve C, Sachs E, Leviss JA, Singer E, Smith H, Wilkinson J, Kim G, Allden K, Ford D. Mental health of detained asylum seekers. Lancet. 2003;362(9397): 1721–3.
- Coffman MJ, Norton CK. Demands of immigration, health literacy, and depression in recent Latino immigrants. Home Health Care Manag Pract. 2010;22(2):116–22.
- Chen JP, Chen H, Chung H. Depressive disorders in Asian American adults. West J Med. 2002;176(4):239–44.
- Morgan C, Charalambides M, Hutchinson G, Murray RM. Migration, ethnicity, and psychosis: toward a sociodevelopmental model. Schizophr Bull. 2010;36(4):655–64.
- 45. Tewfik GI, Okasha A. Psychosis and migration. Postgrad Med J. 1965;41:603.
- 46. Al-Saffar S, Borgå P, Wicks S, Hällström T. The influence of the patients' ethnicity, socio-demographic conditions and strain on psychiatric diagnoses given at an outpatient clinic. Nord J Psychiatry. 2004;58: 421–7.
- Alexandre J, Ribeiro R, Cardoso G. Ethnic and clinical characteristics of a Portuguese psychiatric inpatient population. Transcult Psychiatry. 2010;47:314–21.
- 48. Adeponle AB, Thombs BD, Groleau D, Jarvis E, Kirmayer LJ. Using the cultural formulation to resolve uncertainty in diagnoses of psychosis among ethnoculturally diverse patients. Psychiatr Serv. 2012;63:147–53.
- 49. Tarricone I, Tosato S, Cianconi P, Braca M, Fiorillo A, Valmaggia L, Morgan C. Migration history, minorities status and risk of psychosis: an epidemiological explanation and a psychopathological insight. J Psychopathol. 2015;21(4):424–30.
- Vinkers DJ, de Beurs E, Barendregt M, Rinne T, Hoek HW. Pre-trial psychiatric evaluations and ethnicity in the Netherlands. Int J Law Psychiatry. 2010;33:192–6.
- Neighbors HW, Jackson JS, Campbell L, Williams D. The influence of racial factors on psychiatric diagnosis: a review and suggestions for research. Community Ment Health J. 1989;25:301–11.
- 52. Payne JS. Influence of race and symptom expression on clinicians' depressive disorder identifica-

tion in African American men. J Soc Soc Work Res. 2012;3(3):162–77.

- Schwartz RC, Blankenship DM. Racial disparities in psychotic disorder diagnosis: a review of empirical literature. World J Psychiatr. 2014;4(4): 133–40.
- Perry BL, Neltner M, Allen T. A paradox of bias: racial differences in forensic psychiatric diagnoses and determinations of criminal responsibility. Race Soc Probl. 2013;5:239–49.
- Kales HC, Blow FC, Bingham CR, Copeland LA, Mellow AM. Race and inpatient psychiatric diagnoses among elderly veterans. Psychiatr Serv. 2000;51:795–800.
- 56. Feisthamel KP, Schwartz RC. Differences in mental health counselors' diagnoses based on client race: an investigation of adjustment, childhood, and substance-related disorders. J Ment Health Counseling. 2009;31:47–59.
- 57. UNHCR. Global trends; 2018.
- 58. Assessments for trauma and mental health in refugees. Refugee Health Technical Assistance Center.
- Carlson EB, Rosser-Hogan R. Trauma experiences, posttraumatic stress, dissociation, and depression in Cambodian refugees. Am J Psychiatry. 1991;148(11):1548.
- Nygaard M, Sonne C, Carlsson J. Secondary psychotic features in refugees diagnosed with posttraumatic stress disorder: a retrospective cohort study. BMC Psychiatry. 2017;17(1):5.
- 61. Kirmayer LJ, Narasiah L, Munoz M, Rashid M, Ryder AG, Guzder J, Hassan G, Rousseau L, Pottie K. Common mental health problems in immigrants and refugees: general approach in primary care. CMAJ. 2011;183(12):E959–67.
- 62. Schweitzer RD, Brough M, Vromans L, Asic-Kobe M. Mental health of newly arrived Burmese refugees in Australia: contributions of pre-migration and post-migration experience. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2011;45(4):299–307.
- 63. Bogic M, Ajdukovic D, Bremner S, Franciskovic T, Galeazzi GM, Kucukalic A, Lecic-Tosevski D, Morina N, Popovski M, Schützwohl M, Wang D, Priebe S. Factors associated with mental disorders in long-settled war refugees: refugees from the former Yugoslavia in Germany, Italy and the UK. Br J Psychiatry. 2012;200(3):216–23.
- 64. Lopez Cardozo B, Talley L, Burton A, Crawford C. Karenni refugees living in Thai-Burmese border camps : traumatic experiences, mental health outcomes, and social functioning. Soc Sci Med. 2004;58(12):2637–44.
- 65. Working group APA. Report on the mental health in Europe; 1996.
- 66. Steel Z, Chey T, Silove D, et al. Association of torture and other potentially traumatic events with mental health outcomes among populations exposed to mass conflict and displacement. JAMA. 2009;302:537–49.

- Fazel M, Wheeler J, Danesh J. Prevalence of serious mental disorder in 7000 refugees resettled in western countries: a systematic review. Lancet. 2005;365(9467):1309–14.
- 68. Alia Badri A, Crutzen R, Van den Borne HW. Exposures to war-related traumatic events and post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms among displaced Darfuri female university students: an exploratory study. BMC Public Health. 2012;12:603.
- de Jong JTVM, Komproe IH, Ommeren M, El Masri M, Araya M, Khaled N, van de Put W, Somasundaram D. Lifetime events and posttraumatic stress disorder in 4 postconflict settings. JAMA. 2001;286(5):555.
- Alpak G, Unal A, Bulbul F, Sagaltici E, Bez Y, Altindag A, Dalkilic A, Savas HA. Post-traumatic stress disorder among Syrian refugees in Turkey: a cross-sectional study. Int J Psychiatry Clin Pract. 2015;19(1):45–50.
- Alhajjar B. Gaza nurses after war: are they traumatized? 4th world conference on psychology, counselling and guidance. Procedia Soc Behav Sci. 2013;114(2014):802–9.
- Schock K, Bottche M, Wenk-Ansohn M, Knaevelsrud C. Impact of new traumatic or stressful life events on preexisting PTSD in traumatized refugees: results of a longitudinal study. Eur J Psychotraumatol. 2016;7:32106.
- Aragona M, Pucci D, Mazzetti M, Maisano B, Geraci S. Traumatic events, post-migration living difficulties and post-traumatic symptoms in first generation immigrants: a primary care study. Ann Ist Super Sanita. 2013;49(2):169–75.
- 74. Acarturk C, Konuk E, Cetinkaya M, Senay I, Sijbrandij M, Cuijpers P, Aker T. EMDR for Syrian refugees with posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms: results of a pilot randomized controlled trial. Eur J Psychotraumatol. 2015;6:27414.
- Gordon JS, Staples JK, He DY, Atti JA. Mind–body skills groups for posttraumatic stress disorder in Palestinian adults in Gaza. Traumatol Am Psychol Assoc. 2016;22:155.
- 76. Bogic M, Ajdukovic D, Bremner S, Franciskovic T, Galeazzi GM, Kucukalic A, et al. Factors associated with mental disorders in long-settled war refugees: refugees from the former Yugoslavia in Germany. Italy UK Br J Psychiatr. 2012;200:216–23.
- 77. Tufan AE, Alkin M, Bosgelmez S. Post-traumatic stress disorder among asylum seekers and refugees in Istanbul may be predicted by torture and loss due to violence. Nord J Psychiatry. 2013;67:219–24.
- Ibrahim H, Hassan CQ. Post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms resulting from torture and other traumatic events among Syrian Kurdish refugees in Kurdistan Region, Iraq. Front Psychol. 2017;8:241.
- 79. Shrestha NM, Sharma B, Van Ommeren M, Regmi S, Makaju R, Komproe I, Shrestha GB, de Jong JT. Impact of torture on refugees displaced within the developing world: symptomatology among Bhutanese refugees in Nepal. JAMA. 1998;280(5):443–8.

- 80. Mills EJ, Sonal Singh S, Timothy H, Holtz TH, Robert M, Chase RM, Dolma S, Santa-Barbara J, Orbinski JJ. Prevalence of mental disorders and torture among Tibetan refugees: a systematic review. BMC Int Health Hum Rights. 2005;5:7.
- el Sarraj E, Punamäki RL, Salmi S, Summerfield D. Experiences of torture and ill-treatment and posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms among Palestinian political prisoners. J Trauma Stress. 1996;9(3):595–606.
- Hollander A-C, Dal H, Lewis G, Magnusson C, Kirkbride JB, Dalman C. Refugee migration and risk of schizophrenia and other non-affective psychoses: cohort study of 1.3 million people in Sweden. BMJ. 2016;352:i1030.
- NyeVictoria C. Children' attempting suicide' at Greek refugee camp. Derbyshire programme. BBC News; 28 August 2018.
- Heptinstall E, Sethna V, Taylor E. PTSD and depression in refugee children: associations with premigration trauma and post-migration stress. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2004;13(6):373–80.
- 85. Bryant RA, Edwards B, Creamer M, O'Donnell M, Forbes D, Felmingham KL, Silove D, Steel Z, Nickerson A, McFarlane AC, Van Hooff M, Hadzi-Pavlovic D. The effect of post-traumatic stress disorder on refugees' parenting and their children's mental health: a cohort study. Lancet Public Health. 2018;3(5):e249–58.
- 86. National Institute of Mental Health, 2000.
- Nasiroglu S, Ceri V. Posttraumatic stress and depression in Yazidi refugees. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2016;12:2941–8.

- Elklit A, Østergård Kjær K, Lasgaard M, Palic S. Social support, coping and posttraumatic stress symptoms in young refugees. Torture Q J Rehab Torture Vict Prev Torture. 2012;22(1):11–23.
- 89. Ceri V, Ozlu-Erkilic Z, Ozer U, Yalcin M, Popow C, Akkaya-Kalayci T. Psychiatric symptoms and disorders among Yazidi children and adolescents immediately after forced migration following ISIS attacks. Neuropsychiatr. 2016;30(3):145–50.
- 90. Health care tool, box, reduce distress; 12 January 2018.
- Kinzie JD, Sack W, Angell R, Clarke G, Ben R. A three-year follow-up of Cambodian young people traumatized as children. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 1989;28(4):501–4.
- 92. Accion Contra el Hambre, 2005.
- Dumont P, Gaberel PE, Gagliardi, R. Differentiations intergroupes en milieu scolaire. Papers on Teacher training and multicultural/intercultural education, N° 34, International Bureau of Education - UNESCO, Geneva; 1995.
- 94. Seidel EM, Pfabigan DM, Keckeis K, Wucherer AM, Jahn T, Lamm C, Derntl B. Empathic competencies in violent offenders. Psychiatry Res. 2013;210:1168–75.
- 95. Gaylord-Harden NK, Cunningham JA, Zelencik B. Effects of exposure to community violence on internalizing symptoms: does desensitization to violence occur in African American youth? J Abnorm Child Psychol. 2011;39:711–9.

Part IV

Explaining Human Pathological Behaviors. From Brain Disorders to Psychopathology



The Transition to a Dimensional System for Personality Disorders: Main Advances and Limitations

37

Guillermo Alfonso, Bruno César Franco, Mauricio Cervigni, Pablo Martino, María Gabriela Valdez Paolasini, Augusto Pascual Ítalo Gargiulo, Ángel José Martín Gargiulo, and Pascual Ángel Gargiulo

G. Alfonso (🖂)

Centro de Investigación en Neurociencias de Rosario – Secretaría de Ciencia y Técnica, Facultad de Psicología, Universidad Nacional de Rosario (CINR-UNR), Rosario, Argentina

Laboratorio de Cognición y Emoción – Secretaría de Ciencia y Técnica, Facultad de Psicología, Universidad Nacional de Rosario (LABce- UNR), Rosario, Argentina

Facultad de Ciencias de la Salud, Universidad Argentina de la Empresa (UADE), Buenos Aires, Argentina

B. C. Franco · P. Martino

Centro de Investigación en Neurociencias de Rosario – Secretaría de Ciencia y Técnica, Facultad de Psicología, Universidad Nacional de Rosario (CINR-UNR), Rosario, Argentina

Laboratorio de Cognición y Emoción – Secretaría de Ciencia y Técnica, Facultad de Psicología, Universidad Nacional de Rosario (LABce- UNR), Rosario, Argentina

M. Cervigni

Centro de Investigación en Neurociencias de Rosario – Secretaría de Ciencia y Técnica, Facultad de Psicología, Universidad Nacional de Rosario (CINR-UNR), Rosario, Argentina

Laboratorio de Cognición y Emoción – Secretaría de Ciencia y Técnica, Facultad de Psicología, Universidad Nacional de Rosario (LABce- UNR), Rosario, Argentina Centro Interdisciplinario de Investigaciones en Psicología Matemática y Experimental (CIIPME), Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas (CONICET), Grupo Vinculado (Resol. Directorio del CONICET N^a 0018/10), Buenos Aires, Argentina

M. G. Valdez Paolasini Faculty of Psychology, University of Buenos Aires (UBA), Buenos Aires, Argentina

A. P. Í. Gargiulo

Laboratory of Neurosciences and Experimental Psychology (CONICET), Area of Pharmacology, National University of Cuyo, Mendoza, Argentina

Residence of Psychiatry, Rivadavia Hospital, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Á. J. M. Gargiulo

Laboratory of Neurosciences and Experimental Psychology (CONICET), Area of Pharmacology, National University of Cuyo, Mendoza, Argentina

Epilepsy Center of Ramos Mejía and El Cruce Hospital, ENyS-IBCN-CONICET, Buenos Aires, Argentina

P. Á. Gargiulo

Laboratory of Neurosciences and Experimental Psychology, Latin American Technological Corporation Foundation (FUCOTEL), Cathedra of Psychopathology, Catholic University of Argentina, Area of Pharmacology Department of Pathology, National University of Cuyo, CONICET, Guaymallén, Mendoza, Argentina e-mail: gargiulo@lab.cricyt.edu.ar

Introduction

The fifth edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of mental disorders preserved with minimal modifications the categorical classification of previous editions for personality disorders (PD), influenced by the traditions of Schneider and Kraepelin [1]. Although some researchers predicted an imminent advance towards the installation of a dimensional system, it was imposed a period of coexistence of models suggested by others [2]. Thus, Section III of the manual presented an alternative model, conceived as a palliative for possible deficiencies derived from the use of the categorical system.

There were proposed seven general criteria to diagnose and a double assessment that includes the level of personality deterioration and the existence of pathological features [3]. That is to say that despite the fact that certain authors have noticed the poor validation and the high overlap between the diagnostic criteria of each of the disorders included in the three clusters, the definitive leap towards a dimensional-factorial system has not been made. The explicit purpose of "preserving a continuity with current clinical practice" was explicitly stated, although the inadequacy of current nosography has been empirically recognized. This chapter does not propose an exhaustive analysis of the dimensional model of the DSM-5 but a review of its potential advantages and certain limitations attributable to this type of system, considering methodological aspects involved in the generation of evidence and underlying hypotheses and problems that remain unsolved.

Critics and Limitations of the Categorial Model for PDs in the DSM-5

Explicitly, the authors of the DSM-5 postulated that their categorical perspective implies the understanding of PDs as isolated and differentiable entities [4], which contrasts with the overlapping of diagnostic criteria between different categories and the number of possible combinations that could lead to confirmation in each case. In addition, it has been pointed out that the division into three clusters (A, "eccentric"; B, "dramatic, emotional, and erratic"; and C, "anxious, fearful") seems to be based on a simplicity criteria, despite the great amount of evidence that questions its empirical validation [1]. Even so, some of the arguments that justify their permanence cannot be dismissed either. It is due to the fact that the system expresses in a dichotomous way the decision linked to the "need or inadmissibility of administering treatment." Moreover, it facilitates the communication and training of clinicians and aims the discussion to large pathological groups supported by a long academic tradition [2]. As a counterpart, Esbec and Echeburúa [1] have indicated that it generates a discrepancy between the patient's symptomatology and the underlying theory, promotes inconsistencies between evaluators, and sustains superimpositions between the PDs -presumably sustained over time - and the clinical disorders traditionally ascribed to the axis I of multiaxial diagnosis.

In summary, the most relevant critics of the categorical model of the DSM seem to be based on four main axes:

- There is no empirical evidence that validates the definition of the PDs in terms of 10 dichotomous variables.
- 2. It has not been precisely justified why a number of necessary symptoms are chosen and not another for a given diagnosis.
- 3. High levels of comorbidity and overlapping between categories hinder both the clinical and the planning of investigations [4].
- 4. The temporal endurance, the center of differentiation between PDs and clinical disorders, often is not observed in axis II diagnoses [2].

For this reason, a dimensional system would presumably help to solve certain difficulties by clarifying the diffuse limits between pathology and normality; solving the problem of comorbidity by exploring measurable traits in all people; improving the reliability of the evaluation; and helping to capture the complexity of the pathologies [1].

The Alternative Evaluation of the DSM-5

Skodol et al. [5] presented the alternative model of personality evaluation that was later reflected in the final edition of the manual. Four elements composed it:

- (a) A scale composed of five levels of severity in personality deterioration, including an assessment of nuclear and interpersonal functioning;
- (b) Five specific disorders, defined by pathological personality traits (Antisocial/Psychopathic, Avoidant, Borderline, Obsessive compulsive and Schizotypal).
- (c) Six major domains of pathological features (Negative Affection, Detachment, Antagonism, Disinhibition and Psychoticism / Schizotypy), with 4 to 10 more specific facets in each;
- (d) New General Criteria for the diagnosis of PD based on extreme or severe deficits of the nuclear capacities and functioning of the personality.

The arguments and evidence provided by the authors to support the inclusion of each element are vast. Given the objectives of this chapter, we will present them in a summary way.

Regarding the *first*, it has been pointed out that *general severity* has been identified as the most important predictor of *current* and *prospective dysfunction* and that failures in the assignment of social categories or attributes appear significantly increased in those with personality disorders. Thus, it has been said that such individuals possess problematic states of the self, personal representations – or "inadequate narratives" – and poor self-regulatory strategies: phenomena also linked to the problematic *narcissism* that many psychological theories postulate.

Regarding *nosography*, they proposed a reduction in the number of disorders – including a narrative description of the types – and a dimensional evaluation of the degree to which the patient resembles each of them. They justified these decisions by the excessive comorbid-

ity between the old categories, the limited validity of some, the arbitrary thresholds established, and the instability of the characteristics evaluated for the diagnosis. Regarding the *domains* and *facets*, they argued that its implementation would solve the problem of comorbidity and the overlapping of criteria, since it offers a complete characterization of the individual personality and explains the similarities or differences between people. The proposed assessment recognizes the existence of a continuity between normality and pathology, and its potential usefulness was postulated even when the existence of a PD is not verified.

Third, the *domains* – with some modifications – are explicitly inspired by the negative pole of each of the factors commonly known as the Big Five.

Finally, regarding the *new general criteria*, they indicated that a personality disorder cannot be defined only by extreme positions in certain domains but also implies a disorganization of the personality and a significant difficulty in developing the important aspects for an adaptive functioning, oriented both to itself and to others (see Table 37.1).

Limitations and Axioms Implied in Dimensional Perspectives

Although the dimensional approaches seem to overcome most of the difficulties attributable to the categorical approach, it is necessary to consider theoretical and methodological aspects that historically outlined some characteristics. In the first place, the term "dimensional" has been used to describe a large number of approaches and heterogeneous modalities aimed at quantifying personality pathologies. Thus, according to Trull and Durret [2], the simplest meaning refers to the practice of quantifying the levels of presence-absence of diagnostic criteria, independently of the nosography that is applied. Examples of this trend are the prototype models of Oldham and Skodol [6] and Westen and Shedler [7].

Element	Aspect/type		Scale
1. Severity levels	A. Self Identity integration Integrity of self-concept Autodirectivity B. Interpersonal Empathy Privacy and cooperativity Complexity and integration of the representation of others		0 = No deterioration 1 = Slight deterioration 2 = Moderate deterioration 3 = Severe deterioration 4 = Extreme deterioration
2. Specific disorders	Antisocial/psychopathic Avoidant Borderline Obsessive-compulsive Schizotypal		 1 = No match 2 = Slight match 3 = Moderate match 4 = Good match 5 = Very good match
2. Domains and facets	A. Negative emotionalityEmotional labilityAnxietySeparation insecurityPessimismLow self-esteemBlame/shameSelf-injuryDepressivitySuspicionB. DetachmentSocial withdrawalSocial detachmentPrivacy avoidanceRestricted affectivityAnhedoniaC. AntagonismInsensitivityManipulabilityNarcissismHistrionicsHostilityAggressionOppositionalismScam	C. Disinhibition Impulsiveness Distractibility Imprudence Irresponsibility D. Compulsivity Perfectionism Perseveration Rigidity Order Risk aversion E. Schizotypy Unusual perceptions Unusual beliefs Eccentricity Cognitive deregulation Dissociation propensity	0 = Very little or nothing descriptive 1 = Slightly descriptive 2 = Moderately descriptive 3 = Extremely descriptive
General criteria	Definition Failure to develop a sense of self-identity and the capacity for interpersonal functioning Criteria The aspects of the first element must be verified. Adaptive failures must relate to extreme levels in one or more personality domains; they must be relatively stable at least since adolescence; they should not be better explained by the existence of another mental disorder or by the effects of substances or general health conditions		[Without scale: categorial]

Table 37.1 Scheme of the alternative evaluation of PDs in DSM-5

A second definition consists of factorially identifying the traits underlying certain PD constructs: the 18-dimensional model of Livesley [8] and the 12-dimensional model of Clark [9] are examples of this perspective. Finally, there are approaches that transcend the strictly psychiatricpsychological constructs and integrate psychometric, neurobiological knowledge, etc: Cloninger's Seven Factors model [10] and the Big Five Factors model are the main exponents of this perspective at present.

The Model of the Seven Factors

Cloninger describes temperament as the individual's ability to perceive and respond to sensory stimuli, citing a large burden of genetic inheritance [10]. The combination between temperamental variables, subsequent learning, and their interaction with environmental factors generates the expansion of their characteristics; it allows phenotypicity to distance itself from the inheritance and shapes the self as the combination of temperament and character. These two interact and mutually modulate through the propositional and procedural systems allowing learning that would render the hereditary neurobiological structure. It could be argued that Cloninger's model emphasizes the integrative character of all the components of behavior, admitting the genetic basis as the foundation of some personality traits, as well as the importance of environmental structures and the individual interpretations of them.

The Model of the Big Five Factors

Since the 1980s, innumerable evidence has been gathered showing that the aspects affected by the main classical dimensional theories can be precisely grouped into five main factors [11–14], one of whose numerous denominations can be detailed as follows: I, extraversion/introversion; II, pleasantness/hostility; III, responsibility; IV, emotional stability; and V, culture intelligence. Despite the favorable findings, limitations derived from at least two sources cannot be ignored: their foundation in the so-called lexical hypothesis and the characteristics inherent to factorial analyses.

On the "Lexical Hypothesis"

The model of the Big Five Factors is an heir of the lexical paradigm. It argues that the human sense or interest is codified or represented in language. The latter could thus be understood as a sedimentary deposit of people's observations, in which the necessary terms would be found to define the main characteristics of the human personality. In a critical review, Richaud de Minzi [15] noted that the current consensus on the existence of five superfactors can only be understood from a historical perspective. Thus, she indicated that Allport and Odbert [16], influenced by the interest of Germans Klages [17] and Baumgarten [18] on the analysis of language as a way of knowing the human personality, provided the first list of 4504 names ascribable to the determinant, stable, and consistent tendencies of the adjustment of the individual to his environment.

Later, Cattell [19–21] gradually revised the original list, finally arriving at a set of 12, using a factor analysis limited by the statistical resources of his time. Tupes and Cristal [22], for the first time, attributed reliability and recurrence to a set of five factors, although their work was not free of questionable statistical choices. For example, the synonymy between terms was not considered as a possible semantic explanation of their confluence. Although the "lexical hypothesis" – whose influence is often omitted – is attractive, it has not been proven. In the words of Mc. Rae and Costa:

No one could suppose that an analysis of common terms for parts of the body would provide an adequate basis for the science of anatomy. Why should personality be different? [23]

About Factor Analysis

The use of factor analysis involves a number of decisions that may condition the fate of the results of a study [15]. The first one is the set of variables that goes under evaluation, whose structuring "prefixes" initially how many and which factors will be found. Thus, their grouping may be due to semantic and conceptual issues and not necessarily linked to the underlying structure of the personality. This condition is a reason for questioning the so-called universality [16] of the five-factor model, since it is not part of a previous psychological theory but rather derives remotely – as previously indicated – from Cattell's own list [14].
The Use of Self-Reports and the Conscious Assessment of Traits

Although the evaluation practices suggested by the authors of the different dimensional models are heterogeneous, most of them include the use of self-administered questionnaires, based on comparative, simple, general, and vague statements [24]. Among the most recognized are the MMPI-II of Hathaway and McKinley [25]; the NEO-PI-R of Costa and McRae [26]; the MCMI-III of Millon, Davis, and Grossman [27]; the 16-PF of Cattell of Eber and Tatsuoka [28]; the EPQ of Eysenck and Eysenck [29]; and the PANAS of Watson of Clark and Tellegen [30].

The Minnesota Multifaceted Personality Inventory [25] from its origins in the 1940s is one of the most widely used psychological tests worldwide due to its high standards of reliability and validity. The authors created the technique with an empirical-rational approach, comparing analysis of stories, attitudes, and ideas frequent in different patients with the characteristics exposed in the nosology of Kraepelin. Its adaptation to the Argentinian context in 1989 made it possible to exponentially increase its use, resulting in an indispensable technique in the clinical and legal spheres. Through 567 items of dichotomous response, the evaluated construct is pathological personality, understood as those lasting characteristics of a subject that are determinants of their behavior. The technique has three validity scales and nine clinical scales that allow obtaining information about different personality traits. The intrinsic difficulties associated to the instrument are related to its long extension and the outdated theoretical criteria and terms.

The NEO-PI-R test by Costa and McRae [26] is a self-conscious instrument, presented as a nonexclusive clinical test, suggesting its use in the educational and organizational context. It has the model of the Big Five as a theoretical basis and explicitly excludes standards from the rest of the literature concerned. One of the admitted weaknesses of the instrument is its low internal

consistency. Some authors mention the natural impossibility that presents for retesting, for interrater observation, and even for longitudinal follow-up [31].

The MCMI-III instrument of Millon, Davis, and Grossman [27] is oriented with the diagnostic system ratified in the editions of DSM-4 and DSM-5 grouping the categories in the axes I towards the clinical disorders and II towards the disorders of the personality and mental retardation. Through a scoring system, it maintains a scale of values that indicate the severity of psychopathology.

Some criticisms about these instruments are focused on their limited contribution to the symptomatological description of depressive disorders and on methodological errors presented by the major depression and anxiety disorder scales: as described, they show a considerable number of false positives and false negatives. A professional review of each result is necessary [32]. The lack of literature regarding its methodological validity was also highlighted, with the lack of interevaluation cross-sectional studies or analysis of internal coherence regarding collateral data or forensic analysis. Some authors [33] consider the validation of anxiety scales to be poor, making it difficult to classify their severity and even to discriminate against depressive symptoms.

Cattell's 16PF test [28] consists of an evaluative questionnaire of 16 personality traits called first-order factors which are identified as affectivity, reasoning, stability, dominance, impulsivity, group conformity, daring, sensitivity, suspicion, imagination, cunning, guilt, rebellion, selfsufficiency, self-control, and tension. All individuals could be described based on these traits, and the difference in the extent of each of them would confirm the personality. Some of the questioning of the proposed instrument focuses on the critique of Cattell's model, which, among other things, subtracts from the semantic character of language and makes it prone to misunderstandings or coherence problems. On the other hand, authors like Nowakowska [34] question that Cattell has not been exhaustive enough in the verification of his hypotheses about the personality before elaborating the instrument to analyze its features.

The personality questionnaire of Eysenck and Eysenck [29] called EPQ is used in a selfadministered form, answering items in a dichotomous way. It results in a description of the personality that represents the combination of its intervening factors that can be classified in a double axis of four points: stability-neuroticism, extroversion-introversion, normality-psychoticism, and lability-veracity.

Basing his theory mainly on the model of the Big Five, many of the criticisms are made about the supposed anachronism of the model or the low methodological reliability, despite having obtained coefficients greater than 0.7 in internal coherence and retest. However, the same authors recognized certain psychometric weaknesses and reformulated the scales by adjusting the arithmetic mean. It has also been pointed out that the scales are not intercultural, so they are ineffective in certain social contexts and that, on the other hand, although the use of the first version of the test is discouraged, it is still the most used in the world. It can be inferred a lack of knowledge of their reviews or a considerable difference of values between different countries [35].

Finally, the PANAS affectivity scale elaborated by Watson, Clark, and Tellegen [30] evaluates positive and negative affectivity through 20 items with a Likert-like response. It supports its construct in the hypothesis that the characteristics of extroversion in personality are linked to positive affectivity and introversion or neuroticism to negative affectivity. Based on this postulate, depression and anxiety could be discerned, as well as the correlation of the values contributed by this scale with respect to other personality evaluations validating their reliability [36, 37].

Although this instrument has found some correlation with scales of other complexity, some authors argue that the dimensional analysis within the factorial construct tends to limit the expression of some characteristics of the subject, showing that negative affectivity can be quickly related to a determined set of symptoms. This tendency cannot be verified in terms of positive affectivity and anxiety symptoms or their consequences on personality traits [38].

All the aforementioned instruments can contribute to the evaluation of the level of prototypicity and the severity of a disorder, but this does not eliminate the need for a qualitative clinical assessment of the structure and functioning of the personality, as well as specific subjective and interpersonal difficulties. In this sense, the perspective of Westen et al. [39] makes an important contribution, since it emphasizes the approach by prototypes and proposes a protocol for recording the observations of clinicians [7] that is not limited only to the patient's conscious self-perceptions. In this way, intrapsychic and dynamic aspects of the personality [1] are included.

In the alternative system of the DSM-5, the clinician is in charge of collecting the information to perform a characterization by prototypes, domains, and facets. In any case, it would be important to consider which techniques were applied in the studies that have provided their theoretical foundations.

The Differentiation Between Health and Pathology

From a dimensional perspective, to define whether a personality has pathological characteristics, it is necessary to have "thresholds" or "cutoff points" [40]. Even when population statistical indicators can be established, any limit imposed is in some sense arbitrary – we remember that Skodol [5] admits continuity between normality and pathology – and may be useless for the actual treatment. The definitions that only consider the "universal" aspects bring with them the risk of a partial clinical judgment that obscures the particularities of the individual case.

As McAdams [24] warned, nuclear features indicate very little about the characteristics that differentiate people and motivate their actions: these aspects seem unattractive to the methodologies usually used in dimensional models.

Synthesis and Discussion

A Dimensional System Could Optimize Existing Nosography?

Given that the categorical constructs of the DSM have shown little empirical validity, it is reasonable to suppose that the dimensional perspective would make the definition of the PD more objective. However, the high use of self-administered questionnaires for the collection of information fosters a bias towards people's conscious selfassessments, while the factorial techniques underlying the theories generate reasonable doubts about their construction and validity. Likewise, such limitations do not invalidate the usefulness of the dimensional approach, although it is reasonable to note that without meticulous and systematized clinical observations, a vague, trivial, and atheoretical nosography could be reached, providing limited usefulness to understand the genesis and evolution of the pathologies. In this sense, we consider remarkable the proposals that involve registration protocols for professionals, as well as contrast methodologies with standard cases.

The construction of an optimal nosography should cover the currently existing taxonomy in the clinical and research areas and encourage the revision of its categories. Otherwise, the use of overlapped parameters that make it difficult to trace the evolution and treatment could be insisted upon.

A Dimensional System Would Enrich the Existing Theories?

Part of the resistance to the adoption of a dimensional methodology in the clinical context can be ascribed to the need to maintain continuity with theoretical constructs that have been shaped and perfected over long periods of time. All the theories concerning the structure of the personality are subject to criticism, but they also integrate valuable postulates and synthesize an effort of several centuries dedicated to the understanding of key aspects of human existence. In this sense, we consider that the revisions that are carried out from now on should contribute to a more complete understanding of the conditions that affect the development of the personality. Therefore, they should not be based on a mere statistical pragmatism that gives apparent objectivity to the systems we adopt for the study and the clinic.

The theoretical reformulations must not be exempt from scientific rigor and should incorporate the new contributions that neurobiology and cognitive psychology have made in this field. Every scientific model must have the precision to account for the observable and flexibility to explain the data that future advances may obtain. The arrival of determining classifications should not be - a priori - an obstacle to appreciate the singularities of each case.

A Dimensional System Would Simplify Clinical Decisions?

Among the aspects mentioned above, two are contradictory to each other: although theoretically the use of a dimensional system would clarify the limits between normality and pathology by focusing on dimensions attributable to all people, it would maintain the need to establish certain boundaries or cutoff points. In this sense, it may be pertinent that clinical decisions were based on the specific impact that the identified characteristics have on the patient's daily life: the difference between condition and health should be based on the presence of unwanted or disabling manifestations for the patient's personal and social development.

It is at this point that clinical expertise must be present and determine the process to be followed with each case. An important aspect to consider is the frequent egosintonicity of the symptoms: the self-perception of the patient would not in all cases be sufficient for an objective analysis, for which additional sources of information must be required. Therefore, caution should be exercised when making estimates regarding the intensity of a condition or the need for its treatment by the mere application of statistical procedures. At this point, we mention the need to review the tests of external validity

Categorial systems (DSM)		Dimensional systems		
Weaknesses	Strengths	Weaknesses	Strengths	
Low empirical construct validity	Simplicity and communicability	Several theories adopt the lexical hypothesis based on nondemonstrable assumptions	They can be turned categorial for teaching purposes	
High overlapping of diagnostic criteria	Adequate to large and traditional pathological groups	They start from factor analysis that can hold certain biases	They admit a continuity between normality and pathology	
Assignment of comorbidities that make treatment design difficult	It makes it easier to decide whether to administer a treatment or not	They maintain the cutoff point problem	They do not propose comorbid pathologies but dimensions ascribable to all people	
Possible disagreement between disorders and concrete symptoms		They are frequently based on self-administered questionnaires that only address conscientious aspects	They facilitate the understanding of the complexity of the disorders	
Low validity of temporal criterion as a distinction between axes I and II			They can be enriched from comparison with clinical prototypes	

 Table 37.2
 Differences between the categorical and dimensional proposals

and internal coherence of some instruments commonly used for diagnosis.

The following table outlines the route proposed by this review. Finally, possible future debates are opened, and some considerations are recommended to propitiate this path (Table 37.2).

Conclusions

The consideration of the dimensional perspective involves important contributions for the diagnosis and treatment of PDs. Although it maintains some difficulties – especially about therapeutic frontiers – it allows a more detailed description of the problems and could contribute to the definition of the relevant aspects of personal history and development, in which deepening is key to deciding therapeutic modalities. The comparison with prototypes is also a valuable resource for clinical training.

We consider that the conditions of this transition reflect the current effort to encompass the profound complexity of the human personality and to reconcile it as much as possible with the scientific refinement that is expected from any discipline. There are several personality theories currently recognized. It is unlikely that its synthesis will be reached: they start from different assumptions and have been built using unequal technical procedures. Perhaps this diversity contributes to maintaining high levels of effort that result, little by little, in a better approach to the ailments.

References

- Esbec E, Echeburúa E. The reformulation of the PT in the DSM-V. Span Acts Psychiatry. 2011;39(1):1–11.
- Trull TJ, Durrett CA. Categorical and dimensional models of personality disorder. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. 2005;1:355–80. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev.clinpsy.1.102803.144009.
- American Psychiatric Association. Desk reference to the diagnostic criteria from DSM-5[®]. Washington, D.C.: American Psychiatric Pub; 2014.
- Krueger RF, Eaton NR. Personality traits and the classification of mental disorders: toward a more complete integration in DSM–5 and an empirical model of psychopathology. Personal Disord Theory Res Treat. 2010;1(2):97.
- Skodol AE, Clark LA, Bender DS, Krueger RF, Morey LC, Verheul R, Oldham JM. Proposed changes in personality and personality disorder assessment and diagnosis for DSM-5 Part I: description and rationale. Personal Disord Theory Res Treat. 2011;2(1):4.
- Oldham JM, Skodol AE. Charting the future of Axis II. J Personal Disord. 2000;14(1):17.
- Westen D, Shedler JA. Prototype matching approach to diagnosing personality disorders: toward DSM-V. J Personal Disord. 2000;14(2):109–26.

- Livesley WJ. Trait and behavioral prototypes of personality disorder. Am J Psychiatr. 1986;143(6):728–32.
- Clark LA, Watson D, Mineka S. Temperament, personality, and the mood and anxiety disorders. J Abnorm Psychol. 1994;103(1):103.
- Cloninger CR. A systematic method for clinical description and classification of personality variants. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1987;44:573–88. https://doi. org/10.1001/archpsyc.1987.01800180093014.
- Suzuki T, Samuel DB, Pahlen S, Krueger RF. DSM-5 alternative personality disorder model traits as maladaptive extreme variants of the five-factor model: an item-response theory analysis. J Abnorm Psychol. 2015;124(2):343.
- De Raad B, Mlacic B. Big five factor model, theory and structure. In: International encyclopedia of the social and behavioral sciences, vol. 2. 2nd ed: London: Elsevier; 2015.
- Allen TA, De Young CG. In: Widiger TA, editor. Personality neuroscience and the five-factor model. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2015.
- Digman JM. Personality structure: emergence of the fivefactor model. Annu Rev Psychol. 1990;41(1):417–40.
- Richaud de Minzi C. Una revision crítica del enfoque lexicográfico y del Modelo de Cinco Grandes Factores. Rev Psicol de la PUCP. 2002;20(1):5.
- Allport GW, Odbert HS. Trait names: a psycho-lexical study. Psychol Monogr. 1936;47(1):i.
- Widiger TA, Trull TJ. Plate tectonics in the classification of personality disorder: shifting to a dimensional model. Am Psychol. 2007;62(2):71.
- Klages L. The science of character (Translated 1932). London: Allen and Unwin. McCrae, R. R.; 1926.
- Cattell RB. The description of personality: basic traits resolved into clusters. J Abnorm Soc Psychol. 1943;38(4):476–506. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0054116.
- Cattell RB. The description of personality: principles and findings in a factor analysis. Am J Psychol. 1945;58:69–90. https://doi.org/10.2307/1417576.
- Cattell RB. Confirmation and clarification of primary personality factors. Psychometrika. 1947;12:197– 220. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02289253.
- Tupes EC, Cristal RC. Recurrent personality factors based on trait ratings. J Pers. 1992;60:225–51.
- McCrae RR, Costa PT. Openness to experience. In: Hogan R, Jones WH, editors. Perspectives in personality: theory, measurement, and interpersonal dynamics, vol. 1. Greenwich: JA1 Press; 1985.
- McAdams DP. The five-factor model in personality: a critical appraisal. J Pers. 1992;60(2):329–61.
- Butcher JN, Dahlstrom WG, Graham JR, Tellegen A, Kaemmer B. Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory-2 (MMPI-2): manual for administration and scoring. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press; 1989.
- Costa PT, MacCrae RR. Revised NEO personality inventory (NEO PI-R) and NEO five-factor inventory (NEO FFI): professional manual. Psychol Assess Resour. 1992.

- Millon T, Millon C, Davis RD, Grossman S. Millon clinical multiaxial inventory-III (MCMI-III): manual. San Antonio: Pearson/PsychCorp; 2009.
- 28. Cattell RB, Eber HW, Tatsuoka MM. Handbook for the sixteen personality factor questionnaire (16 PF): in clinical, educational, industrial, and research psychology, for use with all forms of the test. Institute for Personality and Ability Testing; 1970.
- Eysenck HJ, Eysenck SBG. Manual for the eysenck personality questionnaire:(EPQ-R adult). San Diego: Educational Industrial Testing Service; 1994.
- Watson D, Clark LA, Tellegen A. Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: the PANAS scales. J Pers Soc Psychol. 1988;54(6):1063.
- McCrae R, Kurtz J, Yamagata S, Terracciano A. Internal consistency, retest reliability, and their implications for personality scale validity. Personal Soc Psychol Rev. 2011;15(1):28–50. https://doi. org/10.1177/1088868310366253.
- 32. Otiniano Campos F. Validity of construction and diagnostic efficacy of the scales of major depression and anxiety disorder of the millon multiaxial clinical inventory III (MCMI-III). Doctoral thesis not published. Lima. Catholic University of Peru; 2012. Available from: http://tesis.pucp.edu. pe/repositorio/bitstream/handle/123456789/1479/ OTINIANO_CAMPOS_FIORELLA_VALIDEZ_ CONSTRUCTO.pdf?sequence=1
- Saulsman LM. Depression, anxiety, and the MCMI– III: construct validity and diagnostic efficiency. J Pers Assess. 2011;93(1):76–83. https://doi.org/10.1080/00 223891.2010.528481.
- Nowakowska M. Perception of questions and variability of answers. J Behav Sci. 1973;18(2):99–108. https://doi.org/10.1002/bs.3830180203.
- Zambrano CR. Systematic review of the Eysenck personality questionnaire (EPQ). J Psychol. 2011;17(2):147–55.
- 36. Crawford JR, Henry JD. The positive and negative affect schedule (PANAS): construct validity, measurement properties and normative data in a large non-clinical sample. Br J Clin Psychol. 2004;43(Pt 3):245–65. https://doi.org/10.1348/0144665031752934.
- Robles García R, Páez F. Study of Spanish translation and psychometric properities of the positive and negative affect scales (PANAS). Salud Ment. 2003;26(1):69–75.
- Kotov R, Watson D, Robles JP, Schmidt NB. Personality traits and anxiety symptoms: the multilevel trait predictor model. Behav Res Ther. 2007;45(7):1485– 503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2006.11.011.
- Westen D, Defife JA, Bradley B, Hilsenroth MJ. Prototype personality diagnosis in clinical practice: a viable alternative for DSM-V and ICD-11. Prof Psychol Res Pract. 2010;41(6):482–7. https://doi. org/10.1037/a0021555.
- Trull T, Widiger TA. Dimensional models of personality: the five-factor model and the DSM-5. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2011;15(2):135–46.



Epilepsy and Psychiatric Comorbidities: New Approaches and Perspectives

38

Ángel José Martín Gargiulo, Laura Scévola, Mercedes Sarudiansky, Silvia Kochen, and Luciana D'Alessio

Introduction

Different studies indicate that patients with epilepsy report that their quality of life is significantly affected. In addition, it has been reported that patients with epilepsy (PWE) have higher rates of mental disorders than the general population, as will be discussed later on in this chapter. Some of the consequences of this disease have a well-recognized impact on the lives of patients, such as the severity of seizures, its frequency, and the perception of self-control and autonomy; but some others are not, such as social (discrimination, bullying), emotional, occupational, and cognitive performance.

Commonly, the main target of the usual treatments aims to diminish the frequency and severity of seizures; but the psychosocial problems are frequently left aside, making an important impairment of the quality of life of these patients and their families.

Á. J. M. Gargiulo (⊠) · L. Scévola · S. Kochen L. D'Alessio

Epilepsy Center of Ramos Mejía and El Cruce Hospital, ENyS-IBCN-CONICET, Buenos Aires, Argentina

M. Sarudiansky Epilepsy Center of Ramos Mejía and El Cruce Hospital, ENyS-IBCN-CONICET, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Facultad de Psicología, Universidad de Buenos Aires, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Epilepsy and Depression

Mood disorders and depression within them are more frequent in people with epilepsy than in the general population [1]. This association between epilepsy and depression has been observed since the time of Hippocrates [2]. A new perspective emerged in the 1970s when research emphasized the study of depression in this population [3]. More recently, between 1990 and 2010, with the development of the new antiepileptic drugs, seizures have been greatly reduced, but the adverse effects are still very significant, and the risk of suicide has been reported with the use of some of them [4].

In recent years, some studies have shown interest in a different aspect to the reduction in the frequency of seizures: the impact of depression on the quality of life of those suffering from epilepsy. There is evidence of shared pathogenic mechanisms and a bidirectional relationship between depression and epilepsy [5, 6]. On the one hand, the psychosocial factors of suffering from a chronic disease such as epilepsy can predispose to depression. But on the other hand, depression and epilepsy share biological alterations, among them are the neurotransmitters involved in both pathologies (serotonin, dopamine, GABA, glutamate), the affected brain areas (amygdala, hippocampus, frontal lobe), and even the alterations of the hypothalamus-hypophysis-adrenal axis that generate a chronic state of cortisol increase [7].

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_38

Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) used as antidepressants show anticonvulsant properties. Fluoxetine and citalopram decrease seizure frequency in experimental models of epilepsy. The anticonvulsant and antidepressant actions of these drugs may restore the HPA axis function and may be, in part, due to actions on GABA-A receptors. SSRIs have been shown to increase neurosteroid levels and normalize stress hormone levels in depressed patients. The evidence of HPA axis abnormalities in both epilepsy and depression implicate a common pathophysiology of these disorders and

target for treating both disorders [7]. Besides, the iatrogenic effect generated by some antiepileptic drugs (AE) must be considered. As mentioned, they may present depression as an adverse effect (e.g., phenobarbital, phenytoin, topiramate, levetiracetam) [8]. Following the bidirectional relationship, a four- to sevenfold risk of developing epilepsy has been found in people who have depression with respect to those who do not have it, a risk that increases as the severity of the depression does [9].

imply that HPA axis modulation may be a useful

An important point in the diagnosis of depression in patients with epilepsy lies in the fact that suicide has been indicated as one of the causes of preventable death of epilepsy. In addition to the iatrogenic effect of the AE already mentioned, the longer duration of epilepsy, the early age onset, and the high frequency of seizures have been associated with an increased risk of suicide [10].

When depressive symptoms are taken into account in temporal relation with the seizures, they can be premonitory of a seizure (preictal), present as aura (ictal), or subsequent to it (postictal) [11]. These forms of presentation of depressive symptoms are brief and stereotyped. Decreasing the frequency of seizures in cases of preictal, ictal, and postictal depression leads to a decrease in the appearance of depressive symptoms without needing any other therapeutic intervention in general. The term "interictal depression" is commonly used to describe the affective symptoms not temporally related to seizures, being the most common psychiatric disorder in people with epilepsy (PWE) [11, 12]. Temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) especially when it becomes resistant (RE: resistant epilepsy) is the most frequent and has the highest comorbidity with depression. Depression prevalence has been reported between 24 and 72% if considered throughout life and around 30% if the current diagnosis is considered [1, 13, 14]. In addition, TLE has been described as a particular form of depression called "interictal dysphoric disorder" characterized by fluctuating course, irritability, anxiety, fear, somatic symptoms, psychotic symptoms occasionally, and, in severe forms, suicide attempts [15].

Finally, psychiatric disorders in general and depression in particular are considered factors of poor postsurgery prognosis of epilepsy. Those patients have shown a worse response to surgery in terms of seizures frequency [16, 17]. Nowadays, depression in patients with epilepsy continues to be underdiagnosed and/or untreated despite being recognized as one of the most important factors that deteriorate the quality of life, beyond the impact that the seizure frequency in RE has [10].

Epilepsy and Psychosis

The relationship between psychoses and epilepsy continues to be still controversial, despite the advances made in the matter. On the one hand, there would be an antagonism between both processes, where epileptic seizures would seem to protect the development of psychosis. On the other hand, there might be an agonism in which epilepsy would behave as a facilitator of the appearance of psychosis.

Psychotic disorders in patients with epilepsy (PWE) are often misdiagnosed and consequently lingering on needlessly. While early diagnosis is unanimously supported as a first step to avoid this problem, the necessity of switching from antiepileptic drugs with adverse psychotropic effects to others is more controversial [18]. Currently, epileptic psychoses have been categorized into four groups: chronic and acute interictal psychoses (IIPs), postictal psychosis (PIP), and the rare ictal psychotic events, such as nonconvulsive status epilepticus. They comprehend 95% of psychoses in PWE [18]:

- 1. Acute interictal presentations: they are of short duration (days or weeks) and are usually observed in periods of low frequency of seizures. These forms of psychosis have been associated with the phenomenon called "forced normalization" and the appearance as a side effect of the administration of the new antiepileptic drugs, mainly topiramate and levetiracetam [19, 21–24].
- 2. Chronic postictal psychosis: they have a chronic course and are difficult to differentiate from schizophrenia. The clinical differences lie in a greater preservation of affection and the presence of visual hallucinations in the forms associated with epilepsy. They have been described mostly in patients with long-standing epilepsy (10 to 15 years) and poor response to antiepileptic treatment [19, 25, 26].
- 3. Postictal psychoses: they are the most frequent forms of presentation, constituting 25% of the total of the psychoses described in epileptic patients after episodes of repetitive epileptic seizures (seizures in cluster) or after a recent recrudescence of the seizures. They usually have a short duration (days or weeks) and resolve completely with antipsychotics at low doses, although in some patients with recurrent forms, they might become chronic. Clinically they constitute confusional psychoses, with disturbance of the clarity of the conscience, and the affective symptoms are usually prominent [19, 20].
- 4. Ictal psychosis: this form of psychosis corresponds to an epileptic status that clinically manifests as a behavioral disorder; obeys to epileptic discharges that extend over time; and is detectable in most cases with surface EEG [19].

From a physiopathological point of view, the theoretical explanatory models of the development of psychosis in an epileptic patient include, on the one hand, the experimental phenomenon of kindling and the physiopathological role of epileptic seizures as modifiers of cerebral plasticity. On the other hand, there is the phenomenon of "forced normalization," which is observed in some cases of epileptic psychoses, which appears simultaneously with the improvement of seizures.

The model of kindling, developed by Goddard and collaborators in 1969, is an experimental model that allows the reproduction of epilepsy in animals. Is based on repeated electrical stimulation of certain brain areas belonging to the limbic system, which results in discharges that progressively increase in amplitude, duration, and frequency, with propagation to other unstimulated areas. This phenomenon culminates with the appearance of spontaneous generalized seizures [27, 28]. The kindling constitutes a potential mechanism to explain the development of psychosis in an epileptic patient. According to this model, the recurrent ictal activity would favor the propagation of the abnormal activity from the epileptogenic focus to other areas of the CNS, generating secondary epileptogenesis. The ictal activity would provoke plastic changes that would involve the neurobiological mechanisms responsible for the development of the psychiatric symptomatology [29, 30].

What has been described up to now places epileptic seizures as a facilitating element in the development of psychosis. The controversial issue is that in some cases the opposite phenomenon is observed, where psychosis appears after the clinical and electroencephalographic improvement of the seizures.

The Hungarian doctor von Meduna (who studied the theoretical basis of electroconvulsive therapy (ECT), between 1935 and 1938) was the first to postulate an antagonistic relationship between psychosis and epileptic seizures. He maintained the theory that in epilepsy there would be a glial hyperfunction, while in schizophrenia the opposite would occur [31]. In 1953, Landolt published a study of serial electroencephalographic records of epileptic patients during a psychotic episode. The latter called it "forced normalization" [32, 33]. Towards the year 1965, Tellenbach uses the term "alternative psychosis" to refer to the clinical counterpart of the electrical phenomenon described by Landolt [34]. Slater and Beard published a comprehensive report of chronic psychoses in PWEs [26]. Finally in 1988 the concept of PIP was clearly demarcated by Logsdail and Toone, which turned out to be a very important concept in our contemporary understanding of epileptic psychosis [18, 35]. This phenomenon has been observed by different authors in patients with severe psychiatric disorders during periods of improvement of epilepsy. With the introduction of the new antiepileptic drugs, reports of psychosis associated with seizure improvement increased. Postoperative psychoses have also been described, associated to the improvement of epilepsy [29, 31, 36].

An explanation suggested by some authors is that the compensatory brain inhibitory processes of the epileptic seizures would act on the epileptogenic focus, managing to prevent the propagation of the abnormal electrical activity. The epileptic activity would then be limited to subcortical structures, responsible for psychotic symptoms, not measurable by the surface EEG [36].

For the moment epilepsy seems to be a nonspecific precipitating factor leading to psychosis in patients predisposed to psychosis. This theory has accumulated strong supportive evidence, especially from large-scale family history studies. However, in some cases psychotic states closely appear during epileptic activity on EEG in continuous aura or spike-wave stupor. Sometimes PIP is closely associated with seizure activities and frequently can be stopped by eliminating seizures with either medication or surgical intervention [18].

The risk factors commonly considered for the development of epileptic psychosis are:

- 1. Severe and intractable epilepsy with an early onset of seizures (especially before adolescence)
- 2. The secondary generalization of partial seizures
- 3. The presence of a bitemporal or left focus [19]

The longer evolution time of epileptic seizures and the presence of bilateral hippocampal sclerosis could increase the risk of developing psychosis in patients with refractory partial epilepsy. A higher percentage of psychosis (19 to 27%) was observed among epileptic patients belonging to specialized centers in epilepsy, where a poor response to treatment predominates, than the frequency found in patients with epilepsy attended in nonspecialized centers, where a lower incidence of psychosis was found, closer to that reported in the general population (0.7 to 7%) [37].

In a study conducted on a total of 1285 epileptic patients, it was found that 24.3% of patients with TLE presented some type of psychiatric abnormality excluding mental weakness [19]. The frequency of psychotic states was 14.1% among patients with TLE and of only 3% among patients with idiopathic generalized epilepsy [38]. These findings had already been described by authors such as Slater and Beard, who found that 55 of the 69 patients studied with schizophrenic-like psychosis had a temporal epileptic focus [26].

In all subtypes of psychosis (PPI, PII, and PB), a significantly higher incidence of bilateral hippocampal sclerosis has been observed. Previously, other authors described that bilateral structural and electrical alterations constitute a risk factor for the development of psychosis. A possible explanation for these findings could be that in patients with unilateral structural compromise, there would be compensatory mechanisms that would take place in the healthy hemisphere and that could act as protectors of the development of psychosis, whereas this would not occur in those patients with bilateral structural compromise [37, 39].

Epilepsy and Anxiety and/or Stress

Stress is an adaptive mechanism that mobilizes the organism to respond fast and appropriately to threatening or challenging motivations [40]. It may be described as a state or a trait, either generalized or situational, and may be associated with psychosocial situations, psychiatric illness, or the effect of chronic medical illness. Regardless of its origin, it makes most medical illnesses worse [7].

In clinical studies of epilepsy patients, stress is the most frequently self-reported trigger of seizures, more than other precipitants such as sleep deprivation, fatigue, diet, or even missed medication [41–44], with almost 50% of patients reporting feeling stressed prior to the seizure [7].

Mesial temporal lobe epilepsy (MTLE) will be specially considered as it is the most prevalent form of refractory epilepsy in adults, and its pathophysiology could be linked to stress [45]. Among a wide range of early life factors implicated in MTLE causation, stress might play an important role. There is a vast amount of neuroscientific data showing the enduring effect that it has on the anatomy and function in the hippocampus and amygdala, the key structures involved in MTLE. Early life stress might be implicated in the pathogenesis of both MTLE and the psychiatric comorbidity that often accompanies it.

The widest framework that englobes a multistage process of epileptogenesis is a "three-stage hypothesis" [46] that proposes:

- An initial neural insult perinatally or early in childhood
- A latent period, in which structural and functional changes take place at a cellular and molecular level
- A chronic stage, with spontaneous recurrent seizures

How these changes result in epilepsy is yet poorly understood, despite the accumulation of many insights. Nevertheless, the effect of stress might be highly relevant to all stages of epileptogenesis. Some evidence is direct, showing associations between experimental stressors and epilepsy; some other data are indirect showing effects of experimental stress on diverse biological processes implicated.

Neurobiology of Stress and Seizures

It is well-known that the physiological response to stress is mediated by the HPA axis. The parvocellular neurons in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of the hypothalamus control the activity of the axis. Corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) neurons release CRH into the hypophyseal portal system which acts in the pituitary gland to signal the release of ACTH. ACTH triggers the release of cortisol from the adrenal cortex in humans (corticosterone in rodents). The action of steroid hormones occurs through steroid hormone receptors, translocation of this ligand-bound receptor complex to the nucleus, and activation or repression of gene transcription by binding to a glucocorticoid response element in the promoter of glucocorticoid-regulated genes. Glucocorticoid signaling occurs via both a "fast" negative feedback mechanism, which is thought to involve non-genomic actions, and a "delayed" negative feedback mechanism that involves genomic actions. These effects are mediated by two different types of glucocorticoid receptors, mineralocorticoid receptors (MRs), and glucocorticoid receptors (GRs), respectively. Basal levels of stress hormones are elevated in PWE and are also increased after seizures.

The HPA axis is regulated by numerous different brain regions and neurotransmitters. Limbic regions, in particular the hippocampus, express an important quantity of mineralocorticoid and glucocorticoid receptors and are sensitive to regulation by glucocorticoids.

The hippocampus is considered to inhibit the HPA axis. It has a high density of mineralocorticoid and glucocorticoid receptors further implicating the hippocampus in the negative feedback regulation of the HPA axis. Finally, it has the capacity for neurogenesis in the adult animal.

Stress and glucocorticoids might inhibit adult neurogenesis. Hippocampal neurogenesis may also play a role in the regulation of the HPA axis. Interestingly, neurogenesis has also been implicated in changes in HPA axis regulation associated with depression. The effects of antidepressant drugs may involve enhanced hippocampal neurogenesis and consequent restoration of normal HPA axis function.

Stimulation of the amygdala increases glucocorticoid secretion, and lesions to it reduce glucocorticoid secretion. This structure expresses a high density of glucocorticoid receptors and a lower density of mineralocorticoid receptors, being implicated in the negative feedback regulation of the HPA axis.

The medial prefrontal cortex has a regionspecific role in the regulation of the HPA. The infralimbic cortex projects to the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BNST), the amygdala, and the nucleus of the solitary tract, all of them involved in activation of the HPA axis. The prelimbic cortex projects to the ventrolateral preoptic area, dorsomedial hypothalamus, and peri-PVN regions, which are involved in the suppression of the HPA axis. There is a high density of glucocorticoid receptors in the prefrontal cortex, implying that the prefrontal cortex may also be a site of negative feedback regulation of the HPA axis.

Finally, there are few direct connections between limbic structures and the PVN. The limbic system connects to the PVN via relay neurons, which are primarily interneurons in the BNST or peri-PVN region. For a more specific review, see Maguire et al. [7].

Early Life Stress and Neuroplasticity

Several forms of neuronal reorganization have been implicated in medial temporal lobe epileptogenesis. Stress biology has been implicated extensively in several of these aspects of limbic neuroplasticity [47], most notably the dendritic structure of CA3 pyramidal and amygdala neurons [48, 49] and dentate gyrus neurogenesis [47, 50, 51]. Both acute and chronic stress can suppress dentate gyrus neurogenesis and/or cell survival and can induce dendritic remodeling in CA3 [47]. Corticosterone elevation has a key role in these phenomena, but its effects are complex. Stress in early life can have short-, medium-, and long-term effects on the hippocampal structure [52–56], as can normal variations in maternal care [57].

Many of the genes identified in microarray analysis of epileptic limbic tissue participate in neuronal plasticity [58]. Seizures themselves, especially during childhood, are an important insult [59]. They possibly alter the development of brain circuits [60–64]. Hence, the neural reorganization seen in MTLE may be both cause and effect of seizures [65, 66].

Such effects of early life stress could be relevant to limbic epileptogenesis in different ways. First, they may play a role in seizures and epilepsies with onset in early life [67]. Second, they may contribute to the first stages of evolution of MTLE, long before clinical emergence of seizures. Third, they may create an enduring vulnerability to limbic epilepsy that emerges only with onset of neurodegenerative disorders or other cerebral insults or pathology in later life [68].

Several studies, derived from the experience of those who suffer from epilepsy, set the stage for a wealth of experimental data indicating that stress may impact and exacerbate epilepsy in at least four ways. (1) Life stress, particularly early life stress, may create a vulnerability for the incidence of epilepsy [41]. (2) Stress may play a role in the etiology of symptomatic epilepsy by exacerbating the causal event, such as traumatic brain injury, stroke, or status epilepticus [42]. (3) Stress may play a role in the process of epileptogenesis: the "silent period" that follows initial injury and is characterized by progressive cellular and network changes thought to underlie the ultimate onset of chronic seizures [43]. (4) Stress may increase the frequency or severity of seizures after epilepsy onset [69].

Early Life Stress and Endocrine Response in Later Life

Given the important role of glucocorticoids (corticosterone in rodents, cortisol in humans) in normal regulation of hippocampal and amygdala electrophysiology and neuroplasticity [70], there is ample reason to consider their role in limbic epileptogenesis, especially in the immature brain. Indeed, for mature animals there exists strong and consistent evidence that chronically elevated corticosteroids aggravate epileptogenesis [71–74].

Early life stressors can "program" HPA axis responsivity perhaps for the lifetime of the organism, as well as having a range of neurobiological and behavioral effects [75, 76]. The direction of HPA axis "programming" – whether hyper- or hypo-responsivity – varies considerably by timing and type of stressor and by species [77].

These alterations, which are affected by cognitive mechanisms (neural plasticity in reinforcing stress-responsive networks) and genetic transcriptional mechanisms (classical and epigenetic regulation of genes controlling the HPA axis), lead to adult animals that have an impaired stress response to aversive stimuli, including an increase in stress hormone release and impairment of HPA negative feedback [78–83].

Other hormones have been implicated in the modulation of seizures and epilepsy, notably neurosteroids [84–88] and sex hormones [7, 89, 90]. Both groups are implicated in psychiatric disorder and epilepsy and may have a role in the causation. These data from animal models demonstrate the influence of early life stress on several hormonal systems, influences which may be relevant to limbic epilepsy [68].

Early life stressors have been shown to have enduring effects on brain serotonergic function in rats [91] and nonhuman primates [92], with some preliminary evidence that this may also be the case in humans [93]. A further reason to consider serotonergic function associated to epilepsy is that SSRIs (serotonin specific reuptake inhibitors), widely used to treat depression, appear to have an anti-seizure action [94]. Fluoxetine, an SSRI, has been reported to reverse some of the adverse hippocampal effects of maternal separation stress [95]. Early life stress may also have an important impact on the development of white matter in the brain [96].

Effects of Prenatal and Postnatal Stress on the Development of epilepsy

Few studies have examined the contribution of early life stress to epilepsy in later life in humans. A population based cohort study tried to examine whether maternal exposure to stress increased the risk of epilepsy in the first decade of life. Hospitalization due to epilepsy was used as the outcome measure. However, the data shown did not suggest a strong association between prenatal stress and epilepsy [97].

There seems to be a "time window" for early life stress effects [68]. Neurobiological, behavioral, and endocrine effects of early life stressors and of exposure to stress intermediaries (such as glucocorticoids) vary by timing of exposure. There is some human [98] and animal evidence [99]. Rats exposed to early life stress exhibited significantly lower seizure thresholds and an accelerated rate of kindling, compared to early handled rats [73, 100].

The role of astrocytes in this process has come to be one of the most studied frontiers in epilepsy research, due to the effects of activated astrocytes and gliosis on regulating excitability via extracellular ions and neurotransmitters and to the association of glial scars with hippocampal sclerosis [101, 102].

While GCs are generally thought of as antiinflammatory and indeed often used as therapeutic peripheral anti-inflammatory agents, they actually have pro-inflammatory roles within the brain [103].

Thus, stress would be expected to enhance proinflammatory pathways that are major aspects of epileptogenesis [44].

Aberrant neurogenesis in the hippocampus is also a hallmark of epileptogenesis [104, 105]. Generally, stress decreases neurogenesis at both proliferation and survival stages [106] but also decreases the percentage of precursor cells that adopt a neural cell fate [44].

Stress May Exacerbate Etiological Incidents and the Frequency or Severity of Seizures

One of the common occurrences across different types of precipitating incidents is immediate neurological injury and cell death. GCs exacerbate neural injury [107–110].

Breakdown of the blood-brain barrier (BBB) is also common across etiological incidents. Interestingly, stress also disrupts the BBB [111–113] and thus may directly contribute to postinjury BBB leakiness, likely through induction of pro-inflammatory pathways [114].

Corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) – which is released in the brain as the first step of the stress hormone response – causes an increase in neural discharge and modulates glutamatergic transmission [115, 116]. GCs themselves increase the release of excitatory glutamate [117], while

stress paradigms similarly induce an increase in extracellular glutamate and aspartate [118].

Epigenetic Approaches

Epigenetic mechanisms might underlie many of the gene changes associated to epilepsy. Chromatin structural alterations after seizures, including DNA methylation and histone modification, may have effects on genes relevant to the development of epilepsy, especially those coding for glutamate receptors and BDNF [119]. Early life stress, too, induces enduring epigenetic alterations of the promoter regions of relevant genes [99, 120, 121], and so a synergy between these chromatin modifications may result in alterations in gene transcription, leading to accelerated rates of epilepsy.

Serotonin-specific reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) are known to affect processes involved in limbic epileptogenesis, such as dentate gyrus neurogenesis [122–124]; to mitigate effects of early life stress in experimental studies [95]; to moderate the HPA activation that is often a part of the depressed state [125]; and to reduce seizure activity in humans [94]. However, the actions of antidepressants on limbic epileptogenesis – both before and after the onset of overt seizures – are not yet known.

These diverse lines of evidence support the proposition that early life stress exposure may have a causal role in MTLE.

Epilepsy and Anxiety Disorders

In clinical practice and research alike, most of the attention has been focused on depressive disorders (DD), as they are the most frequent psychiatric comorbidity [126]. Although anxiety disorders (AD) are the second most frequent psychiatric comorbidity in patients PWE [126], they remain underrecognized and undertreated despite the fact that they have a negative impact on the life of these patients as DD [127].

Anxiety might be a symptom of the ictal phenomenon, either as a component of a partial seizure or as an aura, in anticipation of a seizure event, as a postictal phenomenon, as an adverse consequence of AED treatment, or as a psychiatric response to having a chronic illness. Seizures arising in limbic regions, such as in temporal lobe epilepsy, are most frequently associated with anxiety, and electrographic recordings support the role of limbic structures involved in anxiety associated with epilepsy. Furthermore, seizure severity is a predictor of anxiety levels [7].

Posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) is an anxiety disorder resulting from a consequence of experiencing a severe traumatic event, involving the threat of injury or death. Similar to other anxiety disorders, there is also a connection between PTSD and epilepsy [128]. Long-term changes in HPA axis activity have been associated with PTSD and may play a role in the comorbidity of PTSD and epilepsy [7]. A recent study has shown that individuals with PTSD had a higher incidence of developing epilepsy with an earlier onset of epilepsy than did the controls [129]. Besides, patients with epilepsy who report stress as a seizure precipitant are more likely to endorse a history of childhood traumatic experiences, particularly emotional abuse, compared with those who do not perceive stress as a precipitant [130].

As in the case of DD, AD have a negative effect on the life of PWE at several levels. For example, the presence of anxiety symptoms at the time of diagnosis of epilepsy was associated with a worse response to pharmacotherapy after a 12-month follow-up period [131]. In a South Korean study of 154 outpatient adults with epilepsy, the presence of anxiety symptoms was the most important factor in explaining a worse quality of life [132]. The effect of AD on the suicidality risk of PWE was illustrated in a Danish population-based study, in which AD increased the risk of completed suicides by 12-fold relative to people without epilepsy [133].

These data clearly demonstrate the need to identify and treat comorbid AD in PWE, in particular when they occur together with DD. Selective serotonin-reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) and serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRI) have become the first line of pharmacotherapy of primary AD. Although there are no controlled trials for the treatment of AD in PWE, there is a general consensus that these psychotropic agents are equally effective and safe in PWE. Benzodiazepines are prescribed for the initial 4 to 8 weeks of therapy to achieve an early symptom remission, as the therapeutic effect of SSRIs and SNRIs may be delayed by 4 to 6 weeks. Cognitive behavior therapy (CBT) has been shown to be an effective nonpharmacologic treatment modality for primary AD. Furthermore, a combination of CBT and an SSRI or SNRI has been recommended in particular when AD and DD occur together [127]. Anxiety disorders are frequent in patients with refractory focal epilepsy, and clinicians should carefully examine their patients with this important comorbidity in mind [127].

Despite the enormous amount of information that links stress with epilepsy in different ways, there are still some doubts. According to a review done by Novakova and colleagues, the evidence from human studies for stress as a trigger of epileptic seizures is inconclusive. Prospective studies have yielded mixed results, and studies of life events suggest that stressful experiences only trigger seizures in certain individuals. There is limited evidence suggesting that autonomic arousal can precede seizures. For this author, stress is likely to exacerbate the susceptibility to epileptic seizures in a subgroup of individuals with epilepsy and may play a role in triggering "spontaneous" seizures [40]. Nevertheless, if all the data provided is taken into account, we can asseverate that stress plays an important role at least in the psychopathology of epilepsy.

Psychogenic Nonepileptic Seizures (PNES)

Psychogenic nonepileptic seizures (PNES) are diagnosed when disruptive changes in behavior, thinking, or emotion, resemble epileptic seizures (ES), are present without epileptic cause (paroxysmal neuronal discharges detectable by EEG), and are not originated from another medical illness. Usually, the PNES diagnosis emerges from an erroneous judgment of "epilepsy" which is frequently due to an inadequate interpretation by the physician of the episodes reported by the patient or their relatives. In the case of patients with epilepsy who develop PNES, it is the patient or the family who give the label of "epileptic seizures." Recognition of this entity increased significantly in the last years, following the setting up of Video-EEG.

Psychiatrically, PNES represents an underlying psychiatric disorder, categorized in Axis I of DSM-4, and many studies showed high rates of conversive, dissociative, and other coexisting disorders in these patients. Different psychiatric factors, like sexual abuse, trauma and posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), dissociative disorders, and personality disorders, have been associated with poor outcomes of PNES.

PNES accounts for approximately 20% of all intractable seizure disorders referred to epilepsy centers and have been found to occur also in epileptic patients with a frequency that ranges from 20 to 60%.

Psychiatric Diagnoses: DSM-IV and DSM-5

In a study ran by D'Alessio et al. [134], psychiatric disorders in patients with PNES, with and without comorbid epilepsy, were compared. Conversion and dissociative disorders were diagnosed frequently, considering PNES as the core syndrome.

More frequent disorders were somatoform disorders (pain, somatic complaints, autonomic dysfunction, etc.), affective disorders (major depression and dysthymia), and posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD).

In Axis II, high rates of personality disorders were diagnosed in patients with PNES. The most common type of personality disorders found was Cluster B (borderline personality disorder and histrionic personality disorders) and Cluster C (dependent personality disorder).

Trauma and traumatic experiences have been considered a predisposal factor for developing dissociative experiences and dissociative forms of PNES. Historically since Freud and Janet, dissociation syndrome was related to traumatic experiences. Trauma, particularly sexual abuse, has been proposed by many authors as a major factor in the pathogenesis of PNES, and high rates of PTSD have been usually reported among PNES patients.

Dissociation can be described as a structured separation of mental processes (perceptions, emotions, memories, and identity), ordinarily integrated in and accessible to conscious awareness. The quality of awareness and voluntary control of consciousness is disrupted in pure PNES and in dissociation, instead of complete loss of consciousness observed in PWE [134].

Nowadays, DSM-5 provides a new way of naming these disorders: "functional neurologic disorders" [135]. This terminology provides a causal neutrality, and it can also increase the knowledge and acceptance of the patient. In DSM-5, the term conversion disorder has been retained as an alternative expression that recognizes unconscious processes in the patient (but is less frequently used in neurology due to its implicit inference of causal psychological stressors, which are not always present, or they cannot be easily identified). For a more detailed review, see Espay et al. [136].

Psychiatric and Psychological Management of Epilepsy

Focusing on these psychosocial variables, different interventions have been developed, such as psychological treatments or psychoeducational and self-management programs, for different types of patients – adults, seniors, children, and adolescents, among others – and patient's family members.

In this section we will list some of the psychological treatments that have been developed for patients with epilepsy. For this we will refer to the type of intervention, the type of patients to whom these treatments are oriented, as well as the main objectives for outcomes.

Psychoeducational and Self-Management Approaches

In this section we will mention some treatments of "self-management" of epilepsy, understanding this as the health-related behaviors and adaptive activities that a person can perform to promote the control of seizures and improve their well-being.

(a) Adults with Epilepsy

For adults with epilepsy, different research groups developed short treatments (mainly 2-day long), with the aim of improving medical knowledge about the disease. Many of them obtained good results in terms of improving knowledge about epilepsy, less fear of seizures and improving treatment adherence [137], lower seizure frequency [138, 139], decreased depressive symptomatology, neurotic disorders, and a better understanding of the disease [140], compared with those groups that did not receive the intervention. Some of the interventions were designed to be delivered by nurses specialized in epilepsy [141–143].

Other interventions consist in the administration of a self-administered questionnaire that links the intention of taking antiepileptic drugs with a specific time and place or situation, in order to improve the behaviors related to the taking of medication in patients with epilepsy [144]. Participants in the intervention reported improvements in the number of doses they took, the days on which they correctly took the prescribed amount of medication, and the doses taken on schedule. Other interventions, of longer duration, were developed for the same purpose by different research groups. For example, Pramuka et al. [145] designed a 6-week intervention aimed at improving the self-efficacy and quality of life of adults with epilepsy. Although they did not find significant differences in relation to the general quality of life, they did find differences around specific dimensions, such as limitations in roles and emotions. Based on a rigorous evaluation to design a self-help program [146], Fraser et al. [147] developed the PACES (program for active consumer engagement in self-management) for patients with epilepsy. It is a group program to improve self-management skills and quality of life in these patients. In a randomized controlled trial, participants reported improvements in different dimensions of self-management measures and quality of life, both at the end of the intervention and at a follow-up at 6 months, compared with the control group

(a) Children with Epilepsy and Their Relatives

Based on the aforementioned MOSES (modular service package for epilepsy) study, Pfäfflin [148] evaluated an intervention for relatives of children with epilepsy (FAMOSES: modular service package for epilepsy for families). The group of parents who participated in the program reported improvements in knowledge about the disease, adaptation, anxiety about epilepsy, and seizure management. Also, the children of the participating parents reported a lower seizure frequency, compared with those in the control group.

In addition, Modi [149] evaluated the effectiveness of an intervention for parents of children with epilepsy aimed to improve children's treatment adherence. The intervention consisted in four face-to-face sessions and two telephone sessions during 2 weeks, oriented to problemsolving. Participants of the intervention group reported improvements in the adherence of their children's treatment, as well as greater knowledge about epilepsy.

Jantzen [150] designed a program for children and adolescents with epilepsy and their parents. It consists in a group program whose main objectives are to transmit knowledge about epilepsy in an age-appropriate manner, teach coping strategies, and strengthen the children's autonomy.

Empirically Supported Psychotherapies

Different treatment interventions have been designed for patients with epilepsy with cognitive and behavioral orientations, such as cognitivebehavioral therapies (CBT) and acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT). Among these, we find interventions for adult patients with epilepsy, patients with psychiatric comorbidities – especially depression – older adults and adolescents, and patients with drug-resistant epilepsy (DRE).

a. Adults with Epilepsy

Many of the cognitive-behavioral treatments for adult patients with epilepsy are aimed at improving the quality of life and the management of epileptic seizures. These have been designed both in group format [151, 152] and individually [153]. Also, given the characteristics of most cognitive-behavioral treatments, these include psychoeducational modules, training in selfawareness, compensatory cognitive strategies, and application of these strategies to everyday life [154].

In addition, many of the cognitive-behavioral treatments were designed to treat some of the most frequent psychiatric comorbidities in patients with epilepsy, such as mood disorders. For example, Davis et al. [155] used an intervention that included cognitive-behavioral techniques in patients with epilepsy and depression, with the aim of improving the management of depressive symptoms. They found improvements in anxiety and anger symptoms and an increase in social activity. Beck's depression inventory (BDI) scores also declined. Ciechanowski et al. [156] evaluated the effectiveness of a comprehensive cognitivebehavioral program, which includes training in problem-solving, behavioral activation, and psychiatric treatment, for patients with depression and epilepsy. They found improvements in indicators of depression, suicide risk, and psychological well-being, compared to the control group. In Mexico, Orjuela-Rojas et al. [157] compared SSRI and CBT in patients with TLE and major depressive disorder, finding improvements in depressive symptomatology and quality of life in both groups.

b. Specific Populations: Adolescents and Older Adults with Epilepsy

In adolescents, Martinovic et al. [158] evaluated the usefulness of a CBT group intervention to prevent depressive symptoms in teenage patients recently diagnosed with epilepsy.

For older adults, McLaughlin and McFarland [159] designed a 6-week cognitive-behavioral group intervention to improve depressive symptoms, frequency of seizures, and psychosocial functioning. Although they did not find significant differences between the CBT group and the control group in the indicators of depression and psychosocial functioning, they did find significant differences in the decrease of seizure frequency, in favor of the CBT group.

c. Drug-Resistant Epilepsy (DRE)

In the UK, Goldstein et al. [160] evaluated the results of a CBT intervention in patients with DRE with psychiatric comorbidities and/or psychosocial difficulties. They found improvements in the psychosocial problems associated with epilepsy reported by patients, although there was no effect in seizure frequency.

Lundgren et al. [161] developed an acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) intervention for patients with DRE, with the aim of obtaining improvements in quality and satisfaction with life and seizure frequency. They compared ACT vs a support group (control group), finding that the ACT group obtained significant improvements in these measures. Analyzing the mediators of change, they found that many of the principles of ACT, such as acceptance, defusion, persistence, and value orientation, were involved in the improvement of these patients [162]. On another occasion, they compared ACT with yoga, concluding that both therapies used as complements are useful to obtain significant improvements in the quality of life of patients with epilepsy [163].

Also, in a prospective study with controlled patients with resistant epilepsy, Dewhurst et al. [164] evaluated the cost-benefit of an ACT intervention. They found significant improvements in quality of life, anxiety, social adjustment, selfesteem, depression, and seizure frequency. The authors stated that the results obtained justify the realization of RTC for this type of approach.

Conclusion

Epilepsy is a complex and multicausal disease. Some cases may be simple and respond easily to classic interventions, but others may be associated with a severe decline in quality of life. These patients should take us to a greater effort to understand their network of problems and to work as a team among professionals from different areas. Today it seems that only the multidisciplinary approach can generate an all-encompassing aid. Perhaps the greatest challenge lies in achieving adequate communication between the entire team, patients, and their families, since, at least in our experience, in health systems there is not a strong culture of teamwork and mutual collaboration.

Bibliography

 Gaitatzis A, Trimble MR, Sander JW. The psychiatric comorbidity of epilepsy. Acta Neurol Scand. 2004;110(4):207–20.

- Lewis AJ. Melancholia: a clinical study of depressive states. J Ment Sci. 1934;80:277–378.
- Trimble M, Reynolds E. Anticonvulsant drugs and mental symptoms: a review. Psychol Med. 1976;6(2):169–78.
- FDA. Statistical review and evaluation: antiepileptic drugs and suicidality. Washington, D.C.; 2008. https://www.fda.gov/files/drugs/published/Statistical-Review-and-Evaluation--Antiepileptic-Drugs-and-Suicidality.pdf.
- Kanner AM. Depression and epilepsy: a new perspective on two closely related disorders. Epilepsy Curr. 2006;6(5):141–6.
- Hesdorffer DC, Ishihara L, Mynepalli L, Webb DJ, Weil J, Hauser WA. Epilepsy, suicidality, and psychiatric disorders: a bidirectional association. Ann Neurol. 2012;72(2):184–91.
- Maguire J, Salpekar JA. Stress, seizures, and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis targets for the treatment of epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav. 2013;26(3):352–62.
- Mula M, Sander JW. Negative effects of antiepileptic drugs on mood in patients with epilepsy. Drug Saf. 2007;30(7):555–67.
- Josephson CB, Lowerison M, Vallerand I, Sajobi TT, Patten S, Jette N, et al. Association of depression and treated depression with epilepsy and seizure outcomes: a multicohort analysis. JAMA Neurol. 2017;74(5):533–9.
- Kanner AM, Schachter SC, Barry JJ, Hesdorffer DC, Mula M, Trimble M, et al. Depression and epilepsy: epidemiologic and neurobiologic perspectives that may explain their high comorbid occurrence. Epilepsy Behav. 2012;24(2):156–68.
- Lambert M V, Robertson MM. Depression in epilepsy: etiology, phenomenology, and treatment. Epilepsia. 1999;40 Suppl 10:S21–47.
- Kanner AM. Depression in epilepsy: a neurobiologic perspective. Epilepsy Curr. 2005;5(1):21–7.
- Hermann BP, Seidenberg M, Bell B. Psychiatric comorbidity in chronic epilepsy: identification, consequences, and treatment of major depression. Epilepsia. 2000;41(Suppl 2):S31–41.
- 14. Scévola L, Teitelbaum J, Oddo S, Centurión E, Loidl C, Kochen S, et al. Psychiatric disorders in patients with psychogenic nonepileptic seizures and drug-resistant epilepsy: a study of an Argentine population. Epilepsy Behav. 2013;29(1):155–60.
- Blumer D, Montouris G, Davies K, Wyler A, Phillips B, Hermann B. Suicide in epilepsy: psychopathology, pathogenesis, and prevention. Epilepsy Behav. 2002;3(3):232–41.
- Anhoury S, Brown RJ, Krishnamoorthy ES, Trimble MR. Psychiatric outcome after temporal lobectomy: a predictive study. Epilepsia. 2000;41(12):1608–15.
- 17. Goncalves EB, Cendes F. Depression in patients with refractory temporal lobe epilepsy. Arq Neuropsiquiatr. 2011;69(5):775–7.
- Kanemoto K, Tadokoro Y, Oshima T. Psychotic illness in patients with epilepsy. Ther Adv Neurol Disord. 2012;5(6):321–34.

- Sachdev P. Schizophrenia-like psychosis and epilepsy: the status of the association. Am J Psychiatry. 1998;155(3):325–36.
- Savard G, Andermann F, Olivier A, Remillard GM. Postictal psychosis after partial complex seizures: a multiple case study. Epilepsia. 1991;32(2):225–31.
- Mula M, Trimble MR. The importance of being seizure free: topiramate and psychopathology in epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav. 2003;4(4):430–4.
- 22. Kikuchi T, Kato M, Takahashi N, Nakamura K, Hayasaka K. [Epileptic encephalopathy associated with forced normalization after administration of levetiracetam]. No to hattatsu = Brain Dev. 2013 Sep;45(5):375–8.
- Topkan A, Bilen S, Titiz AP, Eruyar E, Ak F. Forced normalization: an overlooked entity in epileptic patients. Asian J Psychiatr. 2016;23:93–4.
- Hyde TM, Weinberger DR. Seizures and schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull. 1997;23(4):611–22.
- Perez MM, Trimble MR. Epileptic psychosis-diagnostic comparison with process schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry. 1980;137:245–9.
- Slater E, Bread W. The schizophrenia like psychoses of Epilepsy. Psychiatric Aspects Br J Psychiatry. 1963;109:95–112.
- Goddard GV, Mc IC. A permanent change in brain function resulting for duly electronical stimulation. Exp Neurol. 1969;25:295–330.
- Zapatan A, Gaona A, Herrera A, Castro M, Miguel A, Aguillón P. Modelo neuronal del fenómeno paroxístico denominado kindling, usado para el estudio de la epilepsia experimental. Arch Neurocien. 1999;4(1):2–8.
- Krishnamoorthy ES, Trimble MR. Forced normalization: clinical and therapeutic relevance. Epilepsia. 1999;40(Suppl 10):S57–64.
- Krishnamoorthy ES, Trimble MR, Sander JWAS, Kanner AM. Forced normalization at the interface between epilepsy and psychiatry. Epilepsy Behav. 2002;3(4):303–8.
- Wolf P, Trimble MR. Biological antagonism and epileptic psychosis. Br J Psychiatry. 1985;146:272–6.
- Landolt H. Einige klinisch- elektroencephalographische Korrelationen bei epileptischen Dämmerzuständen. Nervenarzt. 1953;24:479.
- Landolt H. Die Dammer- und Verstimmungszustande bei Epilepsie und ihre Elektroencephalographie. Dtsch Z Nervenheilkd. 1963;185:411–30.
- Tellenbach H. Epilepsie als Anfallsleiden und als Psychose. Nervenarzt. 1965;36:190–202.
- Logsdail S, Toone B. Postictal psychosis: a clinical and phenomenological description. Br J Psychiatry. 1988;152:246–52.
- Pakalnis A, Drake MEJ, John K, Kellum JB. Forced normalization. Acute psychosis after seizure control in seven patients. Arch Neurol. 1987;44(3): 289–92.
- 37. D'Alessio L, Giagante B, Papayannis C, Oddo S, Silva W, Solís P, et al. Psychotic disorders in Argentine patients with refractory temporal lobe epilepsy: a case-control study. Epilepsy Behav [Internet]. 2009

Apr [cited 2012 Dec 4];14(4):604–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19236954.

- Teiichi O. Paranoid hallucinatory state in patients with epilepsy: historical perspective in Japan. Epilepsia. 1997;38(6):17–21.
- 39. D'Alessio L, Ibarra V, Papayannis C, Oddo S, Solís P, Silva W, et al. Análisis de los trastornos psicóticos en pacientes con epilepsia parcial refractaria, diagnóstico psiquiátrico y características clínicas. Actas Esp Psiquiatr 2008;36(3):138–143.
- 40. Novakova B, Harris PR, Ponnusamy A, Reuber M. The role of stress as a trigger for epileptic seizures: a narrative review of evidence from human and animal studies. Epilepsia. 2013;54(11):1866–76.
- Dionisio J, Tatum WO 4th. Triggers and techniques in termination of partial seizures. Epilepsy Behav. 2010;17(2):210–4.
- Frucht MM, Quigg M, Schwaner C, Fountain NB. Distribution of seizure precipitants among epilepsy syndromes. Epilepsia. 2000;41(12):1534–9.
- 43. Sperling MR, Schilling CA, Glosser D, Tracy JI, Asadi-Pooya AA. Self-perception of seizure precipitants and their relation to anxiety level, depression, and health locus of control in epilepsy. Seizure. 2008;17(4):302–7.
- 44. Friedman AR, Cacheaux LP, Ivens S, Kaufer D. Elucidating the complex interactions between stress and epileptogenic pathways. Cardiovasc Psychiatry Neurol. 2011;2011:461263.
- 45. Engel J, Williamson P, Wieser H. Mesial temporal lobe epilepsy with hippocampal sclerosis. In: Engel J, Pedley T, editors. In Epilepsy: a comprehensive textbook. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2007. p. 2479–86.
- Scharfman HE, Pedley TA. Temporal lobe epilepsy. Neurobiol Dis. 2007;7:349–69.
- McEwen BS. Central effects of stress hormones in health and disease: understanding the protective and damaging effects of stress and stress mediators. Eur J Pharmacol. 2008;583(2–3):174–85.
- Vyas A, Mitra R, Shankaranarayana Rao BS, Chattarji S. Chronic stress induces contrasting patterns of dendritic remodeling in hippocampal and amygdaloid neurons. J Neurosci. 2002;22(15):6810–8.
- Vyas A, Bernal S, Chattarji S. Effects of chronic stress on dendritic arborization in the central and extended amygdala. Brain Res. 2003;965(1–2):290–4.
- Joels M, Karst H, Krugers HJ, Lucassen PJ. Chronic stress: implications for neuronal morphology, function and neurogenesis. Front Neuroendocrinol. 2007;28(2–3):72–96.
- 51. Morris R. Stress and the hippocampus. In: Andersen P, Morris R, Amaral D, Bliss T, O'Keefe J, editors. The Hippocampus book. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2007. p. 751–68.
- 52. Brunson KL, Eghbal-Ahmadi M, Bender R, Chen Y, Baram TZ. Long-term, progressive hippocampal cell loss and dysfunction induced by early-life administration of corticotropin-releasing hormone reproduce the effects of early-life stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98(15):8856–61.

- Mirescu C, Peters JD, Gould E. Early life experience alters response of adult neurogenesis to stress. Nat Neurosci. 2004;7(8):841–6.
- 54. Champagne DL, Bagot RC, van Hasselt F, Ramakers G, Meaney MJ, de Kloet ER, et al. Maternal care and hippocampal plasticity: evidence for experience-dependent structural plasticity, altered synaptic functioning, and differential responsiveness to glucocorticoids and stress. J Neurosci. 2008;28(23):6037–45.
- 55. Aisa B, Elizalde N, Tordera R, Lasheras B, Del Rio J, Ramirez MJ. Effects of neonatal stress on markers of synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus: implications for spatial memory. Hippocampus. 2009;19(12):1222–31.
- 56. Oomen CA, Girardi CEN, Cahyadi R, Verbeek EC, Krugers H, Joels M, et al. Opposite effects of early maternal deprivation on neurogenesis in male versus female rats. PLoS One. 2009;4(1):e3675.
- Cirulli F, Francia N, Berry A, Aloe L, Alleva E, Suomi SJ. Early life stress as a risk factor for mental health: role of neurotrophins from rodents to non-human primates. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2009;33(4):573–85.
- Lukasiuk K, Dingledine R, Lowenstein D, Pitkanen A. Gene expression underlying changes in network excitability. In: Engel J, Pedley T, editors. Epilepsy: a comprehensive textbook. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2007. p. 307–22.
- Ben-Ari Y, Holmes GL. Effects of seizures on developmental processes in the immature brain. Lancet Neurol. 2006;5(12):1055–63.
- Cohen I, Navarro V, Le Duigou C, Miles R. Mesial temporal lobe epilepsy: a pathological replay of developmental mechanisms? Biol Cell. 2003;95(6):329–33.
- Bartolomei F, Gastaldi M, Massacrier A, Planells R, Nicolas S, Cau P. Changes in the mRNAs encoding subtypes I, II and III sodium channel alpha subunits following kainate-induced seizures in rat brain. J Neurocytol. 1997;26(10):667–78.
- 62. Aronica E, Yankaya B, Troost D, van Vliet EA, Lopes da Silva FH, Gorter JA. Induction of neonatal sodium channel II and III alpha-isoform mRNAs in neurons and microglia after status epilepticus in the rat hippocampus. Eur J Neurosci. 2001;13(6):1261–6.
- Singewald N, Schmuckermair C, Whittle N, Holmes A, Ressler KJ. Pharmacology of cognitive enhancers for exposure-based therapy of fear, anxiety and traumarelated disorders. Pharmacol Ther. 2015;149:150–90.
- Holmes GL, Ben-Ari Y. The neurobiology and consequences of epilepsy in the developing brain. Pediatr Res. 2001;49(3):320–5.
- 65. Parent J, Coulter D, Bertram E. The effects of seizures on the brain. In: Engel J, Pedley TA, editors. Epilepsy: a comprehensive textbook, vol. I. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2007. p. 481–95.
- 66. Swann J, Baram T, Jensen F. Seizure mechanisms in the developing brain. In: Engel J, Pedley TA,

editors. Epilepsy: a comprehensive textbook. Vol I. Philadelphia; 2007. p. 469–479.

- Baram TZ, Hatalski CG. Neuropeptide-mediated excitability: a key triggering mechanism for seizure generation in the developing brain. Trends Neurosci. 1998;21(11):471–6.
- 68. Koe AS, Jones NC, Salzberg MR. Early life stress as an influence on limbic epilepsy: an hypothesis whose time has come? Front Behav Neurosci. 2009;3:24.
- Haut SR, Hall CB, Masur J, Lipton RB. Seizure occurrence: precipitants and prediction. Neurology. 2007;69(20):1905–10.
- Joels M. Stress, the hippocampus, and epilepsy. Epilepsia. 2009;50(4):586–97.
- 71. Karst H, de Kloet ER, Joels M. Episodic corticosterone treatment accelerates kindling epileptogenesis and triggers long-term changes in hippocampal CA1 cells, in the fully kindled state. Eur J Neurosci. 1999;11(3):889–98.
- Taher TR, Salzberg M, Morris MJ, Rees S, O'Brien TJ. Chronic low-dose corticosterone supplementation enhances acquired epileptogenesis in the rat amygdala kindling model of TLE. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2005;30(9):1610–6.
- Salzberg M, Kumar G, Supit L, Jones NC, Morris MJ, Rees S, et al. Early postnatal stress confers enduring vulnerability to limbic epileptogenesis. Epilepsia. 2007;48(11):2079–85.
- Mazarati AM, Shin D, Kwon YS, Bragin A, Pineda E, Tio D, et al. Elevated plasma corticosterone level and depressive behavior in experimental temporal lobe epilepsy. Neurobiol Dis. 2009;34(3):457–61.
- Phillips DIW. Programming of the stress response: a fundamental mechanism underlying the longterm effects of the fetal environment? J Intern Med. 2007;261(5):453–60.
- Weinstock M. The long-term behavioural consequences of prenatal stress. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2008;32(6):1073–86.
- Gunnar M, Quevedo K. The neurobiology of stress and development. Annu Rev Psychol. 2007;58:145–73.
- McEwen BS. Understanding the potency of stressful early life experiences on brain and body function. Metabolism. 2008;57(Suppl 2):S11–5.
- McEwen BS. Physiology and neurobiology of stress and adaptation: central role of the brain. Physiol Rev. 2007;87(3):873–904.
- McEwen BS. Stress, sex, and neural adaptation to a changing environment: mechanisms of neuronal remodeling. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2010;1204(Suppl):E38–59.
- Gillespie CF, Phifer J, Bradley B, Ressler KJ. Risk and resilience: genetic and environmental influences on development of the stress response. Depress Anxiety. 2009;26(11):984–92.
- Francis D, Diorio J, Liu D, Meaney MJ. Nongenomic transmission across generations of maternal behavior and stress responses in the rat. Science. 1999;286(5442):1155–8.

- Meaney MJ, Diorio J, Francis D, Widdowson J, LaPlante P, Caldji C, et al. Early environmental regulation of forebrain glucocorticoid receptor gene expression: implications for adrenocortical responses to stress. Dev Neurosci. 1996;18(1–2):49–72.
- Joels M. Steroid hormones and excitability in the mammalian brain. Front Neuroendocrinol. 1997;18(1):2–48.
- Reddy DS, Rogawski MA. Stress-induced deoxycorticosterone-derived neurosteroids modulate GABA(A) receptor function and seizure susceptibility. J Neurosci. 2002;22(9):3795–805.
- Rhodes ME, Harney JP, Frye CA. Gonadal, adrenal, and neuroactive steroids' role in ictal activity. Brain Res. 2004;1000(1–2):8–18.
- Belelli D, Herd MB, Mitchell EA, Peden DR, Vardy AW, Gentet L, et al. Neuroactive steroids and inhibitory neurotransmission: mechanisms of action and physiological relevance. Neuroscience. 2006;138(3):821–9.
- Biagini G, Panuccio G, Avoli M. Neurosteroids and epilepsy. Curr Opin Neurol. 2010;23(2):170–6.
- Maguire J, Mody I. Neurosteroid synthesismediated regulation of GABA(A) receptors: relevance to the ovarian cycle and stress. J Neurosci. 2007;27(9):2155–62.
- Maguire JL, Stell BM, Rafizadeh M, Mody I. Ovarian cycle-linked changes in GABA(A) receptors mediating tonic inhibition alter seizure susceptibility and anxiety. Nat Neurosci. 2005;8(6):797–804.
- Lambas-Senas L, Mnie-Filali O, Certin V, Faure C, Lemoine L, Zimmer L, et al. Functional correlates for 5-HT(1A) receptors in maternally deprived rats displaying anxiety and depression-like behaviors. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2009;33(2):262–8.
- 92. Ichise M, Vines DC, Gura T, Anderson GM, Suomi SJ, Higley JD, et al. Effects of early life stress on [11C]DASB positron emission tomography imaging of serotonin transporters in adolescent peer-and mother-reared rhesus monkeys. J Neurosci. 2006;26(17):4638–43.
- Miller JM, Kinnally EL, Ogden RT, Oquendo MA, Mann JJ, Parsey RV. Reported childhood abuse is associated with low serotonin transporter binding in vivo in major depressive disorder. Synapse. 2009;63(7):565–73.
- 94. Alper K, Schwartz KA, Kolts RL, Khan A. Seizure incidence in psychopharmacological clinical trials: an analysis of Food and Drug Administration (FDA) summary basis of approval reports. Biol Psychiatry. 2007;62(4):345–54.
- Lee HJ, Kim JW, Yim SV, Kim MJ, Kim SA, Kim YJ, et al. Fluoxetine enhances cell proliferation and prevents apoptosis in dentate gyrus of maternally separated rats. Mol Psychiatry. 2001;6(6):610,725–8.
- Karssen AM, Her S, Li JZ, Patel PD, Meng F, Bunney WEJ, et al. Stress-induced changes in pri-

mate prefrontal profiles of gene expression. Mol Psychiatry. 2007;12(12):1089–102.

- Li J, Vestergaard M, Obel C, Precht DH, Christensen J, Lu M, et al. Prenatal stress and epilepsy in later life: a nationwide follow-up study in Denmark. Epilepsy Res. 2008;81(1):52–7.
- Andersen SL, Tomada A, Vincow ES, Valente E, Polcari A, Teicher MH. Preliminary evidence for sensitive periods in the effect of childhood sexual abuse on regional brain development. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2008;20(3):292–301.
- Mueller BR, Bale TL. Sex-specific programming of offspring emotionality after stress early in pregnancy. J Neurosci. 2008;28(36):9055–65.
- 100. Jones NC, Kumar G, O'Brien TJ, Morris MJ, Rees SM, Salzberg MR. Anxiolytic effects of rapid amygdala kindling, and the influence of early life experience in rats. Behav Brain Res. 2009;203(1):81–7.
- 101. Seifert G, Carmignoto G, Steinhauser C. Astrocyte dysfunction in epilepsy. Brain Res Rev. 2010;63(1–2):212–21.
- de Lanerolle NC, Lee T-S, Spencer DD. Astrocytes and epilepsy. Neurotherapeutics. 2010;7(4):424–38.
- Sorrells SF, Caso JR, Munhoz CD, Sapolsky RM. The stressed CNS: when glucocorticoids aggravate inflammation. Neuron. 2009;64(1):33–9.
- Kuruba R, Hattiangady B, Shetty AK. Hippocampal neurogenesis and neural stem cells in temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav. 2009;14(Suppl 1):65–73.
- 105. Scharfman HE, McCloskey DP. Postnatal neurogenesis as a therapeutic target in temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsy Res. 2009;85(2–3):150–61.
- Mirescu C, Gould E. Stress and adult neurogenesis. Hippocampus. 2006;16(3):233–8.
- 107. Kaufer D, Ogle WO, Pincus ZS, Clark KL, Nicholas AC, Dinkel KM, et al. Restructuring the neuronal stress response with anti-glucocorticoid gene delivery. Nat Neurosci. 2004;7(9):947–53.
- Dinkel K, MacPherson A, Sapolsky RM. Novel glucocorticoid effects on acute inflammation in the CNS. J Neurochem. 2003;84(4):705–16.
- 109. Caso JR, Lizasoain I, Lorenzo P, Moro MA, Leza JC. The role of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in stressinduced worsening of cerebral ischemia in rats. Neuroscience. 2006;142(1):59–69.
- 110. Caso JR, Moro MA, Lorenzo P, Lizasoain I, Leza JC. Involvement of IL-1beta in acute stress-induced worsening of cerebral ischaemia in rats. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 2007;17(9):600–7.
- 111. Sharma HS, Cervos-Navarro J, Dey PK. Increased blood-brain barrier permeability following acute short-term swimming exercise in conscious normotensive young rats. Neurosci Res. 1991;10(3):211–21.
- 112. Shlosberg D, Benifla M, Kaufer D, Friedman A. Blood-brain barrier breakdown as a therapeutic target in traumatic brain injury. Nat Rev Neurol. 2010;6(7):393–403.

- 113. Friedman A, Kaufer D, Shemer J, Hendler I, Soreq H, Tur-Kaspa I. Pyridostigmine brain penetration under stress enhances neuronal excitability and induces early immediate transcriptional response. Nat Med. 1996;2(12):1382–5.
- 114. Esposito P, Gheorghe D, Kandere K, Pang X, Connolly R, Jacobson S, et al. Acute stress increases permeability of the blood-brain-barrier through activation of brain mast cells. Brain Res. 2001;888(1):117–27.
- 115. Aldenhoff JB, Gruol DL, Rivier J, Vale W, Siggins GR. Corticotropin releasing factor decreases postburst hyperpolarizations and excites hippocampal neurons. Science. 1983;221(4613):875–7.
- 116. Hollrigel GS, Chen K, Baram TZ, Soltesz I. The pro-convulsant actions of corticotropin-releasing hormone in the hippocampus of infant rats. Neuroscience. 1998;84(1):71–9.
- 117. Moghaddam B, Bolinao ML, Stein-Behrens B, Sapolsky R. Glucocorticoids mediate the stressinduced extracellular accumulation of glutamate. Brain Res. 1994;655(1–2):251–4.
- 118. Moghaddam B. Stress preferentially increases extraneuronal levels of excitatory amino acids in the prefrontal cortex: comparison to hippocampus and basal ganglia. J Neurochem. 1993;60(5):1650–7.
- 119. Casey BJ, Glatt CE, Tottenham N, Soliman F, Bath K, Amso D, et al. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor as a model system for examining gene by environment interactions across development. Neuroscience. 2009;164(1):108–20.
- Weaver ICG, Cervoni N, Champagne FA, D'Alessio AC, Sharma S, Seckl JR, et al. Epigenetic programming by maternal behavior. Nat Neurosci. 2004;7(8):847–54.
- 121. Roth TL, Lubin FD, Funk AJ, Sweatt JD. Lasting epigenetic influence of early-life adversity on the BDNF gene. Biol Psychiatry. 2009;65(9):760–9.
- 122. Dranovsky A, Hen R. Hippocampal neurogenesis: regulation by stress and antidepressants. Biol Psychiatry. 2006;59(12):1136–43.
- 123. Sahay A, Hen R. Adult hippocampal neurogenesis in depression. Nat Neurosci. 2007;10(9):1110–5.
- 124. Balu DT, Lucki I. Adult hippocampal neurogenesis: regulation, functional implications, and contribution to disease pathology. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2009;33(3):232–52.
- 125. Pariante CM, Lightman SL. The HPA axis in major depression: classical theories and new developments. Trends Neurosci. 2008;31(9):464–8.
- 126. Tellez-Zenteno JF, Patten SB, Jette N, Williams J, Wiebe S. Psychiatric comorbidity in epilepsy: a population-based analysis. Epilepsia. 2007;48(12):2336–44.
- 127. Kanner AM. Anxiety disorders in epilepsy: the forgotten psychiatric comorbidity. Epilepsy Curr. 2011;11(5):90–1.

- 128. Vazquez B, Devinsky O. Epilepsy and anxiety. Epilepsy Behav. 2003;4(Suppl 4):S20–5.
- 129. Chen Y-H, Wei H-T, Bai Y-M, Hsu J-W, Huang K-L, Su T-P, et al. Risk of epilepsy in individuals with posttraumatic stress disorder: a Nationwide Longitudinal Study. Psychosom Med. 2017;79(6):664–9.
- 130. Lee I, Strawn JR, Dwivedi AK, Walters M, Fleck A, Schwieterman D, et al. Childhood trauma in patients with self-reported stress-precipitated seizures. Epilepsy Behav [Internet]. 2015;51:210–4. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yebeh.2015.07.019
- 131. Petrovski S, Szoeke CEI, Jones NC, Salzberg MR, Sheffield LJ, Huggins RM, et al. Neuropsychiatric symptomatology predicts seizure recurrence in newly treated patients. Neurology. 2010;75(11):1015–21.
- 132. Choi-Kwon S, Chung C, Kim H, Lee S, Yoon S, Kho H, et al. Factors affecting the quality of life in patients with epilepsy in Seoul. South Korea Acta Neurol Scand. 2003;108(6):428–34.
- 133. Christensen J, Vestergaard M, Mortensen PB, Sidenius P, Agerbo E. Epilepsy and risk of suicide: a population-based case-control study. Lancet Neurol. 2007;6(8):693–8.
- 134. D'Alessio L, Giagante B, Oddo S, Silva WW, Solís P, Consalvo D, et al. Psychiatric disorders in patients with psychogenic non-epileptic seizures, with and without comorbid epilepsy. Seizure [Internet]. 2006;15(5):333–9. Available from. http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16720097
- 135. American Psychiatric Association., editor. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 5th ed. Washington, D.C.; 2013. https:// www.fda.gov/files/drugs/published/Statistical-Review-and-Evaluation--Antiepileptic-Drugs-and-Suicidality.pdf.
- 136. Espay AJ, Aybek S, Carson A, Edwards MJ, Goldstein LH, Hallett M, et al. Current concepts in diagnosis and treatment of functional neurological disorders. JAMA Neurol. 2018;75(9):1132–41.
- 137. Helgeson DC, Mittan R, Tan SY -Chayasirisobhon S Sepulveda epilepsy education: the efficacy of a psychoeducational treatment program in treating medical and psychosocial aspects of epilepsy. Epilepsia 1990;31(1):75–82.
- 138. May TW, Pfäfflin M. The efficacy of an educational treatment program for patients with epilepsy (MOSES): results of a controlled, randomized study. Modular Service Package Epilepsy. Epilepsia. 2002;43(5):539–49.
- Peterson G, McLean S, Millingen K. A randomised trial of strategies to improve patient compliance with anticonvulsant therapy. Epilepsia. 1984;25(4): 412–7.
- 140. Olley BO, Osinowo HO, Brieger WR. Psychoeducational therapy among Nigerian adult patients with epilepsy: a controlled outcome study. Patient Educ Couns. 2001;42(1):25–33.
- 141. Ridsdale L, Kwan I, Cryer C. Newly diagnosed epilepsy: can nurse specialists help? A randomized

controlled trial. Epilepsy Care Evaluation Group Epilepsia. 2000;41(8):1014–9.

- 142. Helde G, Bovim G, Brathen G, Brodtkorb E. A structured, nurse-led intervention program improves quality of life in patients with epilepsy: a randomized, controlled trial. Epilepsy Behav. 2005;7(3):451–7.
- 143. Pfäfflin M, Schmitz B, May TW. Efficacy of the epilepsy nurse: results of a randomized controlled study. Epilepsia. 2016;57(7):1190–8.
- 144. Brown I, Sheeran P, Reuber M. Enhancing antiepileptic drug adherence: a randomized controlled trial. Epilepsy Behav. 2009;16(4):634–9.
- 145. Pramuka M, Hendrickson R, Zinski A, Van Cott AC. A psychosocial self-management program for epilepsy: a randomized pilot study in adults. Epilepsy Behav. 2007;11(4):533–45.
- 146. Fraser RT, Johnson EK, Miller JW, Temkin N, Barber J, Caylor L, et al. Managing epilepsy well: self-management needs assessment. Epilepsy Behav. 2011;20(2):291–8.
- 147. Fraser RT, Johnson EK, Lashley S, Barber J, Chaytor N, Miller JW, et al. PACES in epilepsy: results of a self-management randomized controlled trial. Epilepsia. 2015;56(8):1264–74.
- 148. Pfäfflin M, Petermann F, Rau J, May TW. The psychoeducational program for children with epilepsy and their parents (FAMOSES): results of a controlled pilot study and a survey of parent satisfaction over a five-year period. Epilepsy Behav. 2012;25(1):11–6.
- 149. Modi AC, Guilfoyle SM, Mann KA, Rausch JR. A pilot randomized controlled clinical trial to improve antiepileptic drug adherence in young children with epilepsy. Epilepsia. 2016;57:e69.
- 150. Jantzen S, Müller-Godeffroy E, Hallfahrt-Krisl T, Aksu F, Püst B, Kohl B, et al. FLIP&FLAP-A training programme for children and adolescents with epilepsy, and their parents. Seizure. 2009;18(7):478–86.
- 151. Tan SY, Bruni J. Cognitive-behavior therapy with adult patients with epilepsy: a controlled outcome study. Epilepsia. 1986;27(3):225–33.
- 152. Au A, Chan F, Li K, Leung P, Li P, Chan J. Cognitive-behavioral group treatment program for adults with epilepsy in Hong Kong. Epilepsy Behav. 2003;4(4):441–6.
- 153. Gandy M, Sharpe L, Nicholson Perry K, Thayer Z, Miller L, Boserio J, et al. Cognitive behaviour therapy to improve mood in people with Epilepsy: a randomised controlled trial. Cogn Behav Ther. 2014;43(2):153–66.
- 154. Caller TA, Ferguson RJ, Roth RM, Secore KL, Alexandre FP, Zhao W, et al. A cognitive behav-

ioral intervention (HOBSCOTCH) improves quality of life and attention in epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav. 2016;57:111–7.

- 155. Davis GAYR, Armstrong HE, Donovan DM, Temkin NR. Cognitive-behavioral treatment of depressed affect among epileptics: preliminary findings' Epilepsy is a neurological disorder that presently affects more than two million people in the United States or about one of every 100 persons. Svoboda, 1979. 1984;40(4):930–6.
- 156. Ciechanowski P, Chaytor N, Miller J, Fraser R, Russo J, Unutzer J, et al. PEARLS depression treatment for individuals with epilepsy: a randomized controlled trial. Epilepsy Behav. 2010;19(3):225–31.
- 157. Orjuela-Rojas JM, Martínez-Juárez IE, Ruiz-Chow A, Crail-Melendez D. Treatment of depression in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy: a pilot study of cognitive behavioral therapy vs. selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. Epilepsy Behav. 2015;51:176–81.
- Martinović Ž, Simonović P, Djokić R. Preventing depression in adolescents with epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav. 2006;9(4):619–24.
- 159. McLaughlin DP, McFarland K. A randomized trial of a group based cognitive behavior therapy program for older adults with epilepsy: the impact on seizure frequency, depression and psychosocial Well-being. J Behav Med. 2011;34(3):201–7.
- 160. Goldstein LH, McAlpine M, Deale A, Toone BK, Mellers JDC. Cognitive behaviour therapy with adults with intractable epilepsy and psychiatric comorbidity: preliminary observations on changes in psychological state and seizure frequency. Behav Res Ther. 2003;41(4):447–60.
- 161. Lundgren T, Dahl J, Melin L, Kies B. Evaluation of acceptance and commitment therapy for drug refractory epilepsy: a randomized controlled trial in South Africa--a pilot study. Epilepsia. 2006;47(12):2173–9.
- 162. Lundgren T, Dahl JA, Hayes SC. Evaluation of mediators of change in the treatment of epilepsy with acceptance and commitment therapy. J Behav Med. 2008;31(3):225–35.
- 163. Lundgren T, Dahl J, Yardi N, Melin L. Acceptance and commitment therapy and yoga for drugrefractory epilepsy: a randomized controlled trial. Epilep Behav. 2008;13(1):102–8.
- 164. Dewhurst E, Novakova B, Reuber M. A prospective service evaluation of acceptance and commitment therapy for patients with refractory epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav. 2015;46:234–41.



39

Integrative Objective Quantification of Individual Locomotor Behavior in Depressive Patients: Implications for Their Stratification and Personalized Treatment Monitoring

Svetlozar Haralanov, Evelina Haralanova, Diana Bogdanova, Roumen Dimitrov, Emil Milushev, and Diana Shkodrova

Abbreviations

CCG	Cranio-corpo-graphy			
LMB	Locomotor behavior			
PMDs	Psychomotor disturbances			
STEMPA	Spatial-temporal	equilibriometric		
	inalysis			
STEPi	Spatial-temporal	equilibriometric		
	psychomotor index			

Introduction

Psychomotor disturbances (PMDs) are cardinal features of endogenous (melancholic) depressions [1–12] with important diagnostic, pathophysiological, and therapeutic implications [9, 13–28]. They are the main objectively measurable dimension of depressive psychopathology [29–46] and could be informative on underlying neurobiological mechanisms [22, 47–57]. PMDs are frequently used to subdivide depressive disor-

R. Dimitrov · E. Milushev · D. Shkodrova

Medical University of Sofia, Department of

Psychiatry and Medical Psychology, University Hospital of Neurology and Psychiatry "St. Naum", First Psychiatric Clinic, Sofia, Bulgaria ders in order to stratify them into more homogenous subgroups for specifically targeted treatment approaches [1, 12, 36, 45, 46, 58-67]. According to the current diagnostic criteria of international classifications (ICD-10 and DSM-5), the endogenous (unipolar and bipolar) depressions involve PMDs with two opposite deviations from the norm (retardation or agitation). However, mostly the psychomotor retardation (slowness of movements) is explicitly discussed in the scientific literature as a defining feature of melancholic depressions [e.g., 13, 20, 23, 50, 61, 68]. Therefore, not surprisingly just this direction of psychomotor deviation from the norm has attracted the attention of almost all researchers in the field [e.g., 1, 5, 6, 13, 18, 20, 23, 33, 34, 48, 52, 57, 69-82]. Some of them have been specifically focused on the bidirectional associations between psychometrically rated locomotor slowness and depression severity [68-75]. On the other hand, psychomotor retardation in melancholic depressions has been frequently regarded as phenomenologically and neurobiologically similar to parkinsonian bradykinesia [76-82], thus being associated with underlying basal ganglia dysfunctions and striatal hypodopaminergia [15, 20, 23, 47, 83–97]. As parkinsonian bradykinesia involves inhibited locomotion, known as

S. Haralanov $(\boxtimes) \cdot E$. Haralanova $\cdot D$. Bogdanova

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_39

"parkinsonian gait," which is objectively measurable in neurological patients [98–100], analogous instrumental approaches for objective quantification of gait patterns have been proposed as a measure of depression-associated slowness of movements [17, 29-32, 35, 44, 76, 82, 96, 101-107]. Another objective and quantitative approach to depressive PMDs is the global assessment of patients' locomotor activity by means of actigraphy, cinematography, actometry, and accelerometry [4-6, 14, 18, 25, 26, 33, 34, 37-39, 41, 46, 48, 51, 52, 63, 66, 67, 108–118]. However, up to now these objective and quantitative instrumental methods have been restricted to research purposes, as they might discriminate patients from healthy controls only by statistical group comparisons, but not at the single-subject level. We must emphasize that available to date laboratory methods for comprehensive motion analysis are extremely sophisticated, expensive, and timeconsuming, thus being inconvenient for regular clinical use. In their daily practice, clinicians continue to evaluate and measure depressive PMDs mostly subjectively – through observation and observer-rated scales [119-122]. However, such subjective approaches are difficult to generate precise and reliable measurements [28, 42, 44, 123–128]. Therefore, a novel, less sophisticated, inexpensive, and user-friendly instrumental method for a more precise and reliable objective quantification of PMDs at the individual-patient level is needed, so as to be applied in the clinical practice for improving diagnosis and treatment of patients with endogenous depressions.

Innovative Approach for Objective Quantification of Individual Locomotor Behavior

Consistent with this hitherto unmet need, we have developed and introduced in the daily clinical practice of psychiatry and neurology an original (internationally patented) method for integrative objective recording, representing, and measuring locomotor behavior (LMB) at the single-patient level [129]. It is based on the classical equilibriometric method "Cranio-corpography" (CCG), invented by Claus-Frenz Claussen, one of the founders of clinical equilibriometry as a branch of clinical neurosciences [123, 124, 130–136]. For more than 20 years, we are applying the computerized ultrasonic version of CCG (www.zebris.de), which allows a very precise spatial-temporal equilibriometric quantification of the head and body movements during execution of the classical locomotor "stepping test" of Unterberger [123, 124, 128–136]. The test consists of stepping in place with eyes closed for 1 minute, starting from the standard standing position of Romberg [123, 124]. The principle of the method is illustrated in Fig. 39.1.

The stepping test computerized ultrasonic CCG is easy to perform, user-friendly, reliable, reproducible, noninvasive, and not timeconsuming (1 test = 1 min). Moreover, its results are understandable for clinicians, and the method could be routinely applied in the clinical practice by the treating psychiatrists themselves or by their technical assistants, e.g., nurses or students. Quantitative evaluation is achieved by the wellestablished polar reference net [123, 124, 130, 131]. Movements of the head and shoulder markers then appear as the radar-like images of four moving objects, progressing in an interrelated direction. The computer program automatically measures some standard CCG parameters, thus providing a very precise quantification of individual LMB, which could serve as an integrative objective measure of PMDs at the single-patient level. Our team has discovered that optimal equilibriometric quantification of PMDs in psychiatric patients might be achieved by three essential CCG parameters [123, 124, 128–130, 133, 136– 142]: longitudinal displacement, lateral sway, and number of steps per minute (see below). Their numerical values are displayed on the computer screen, along with a visual comparison with the limits of normative data. Thus, immediately after the end of each test, it can be seen whether the value of a given CCG parameter is outside or inside the normal limits. Together with the numerical data, the graphical gestalt CCG images might also serve for discriminating between normal and abnormal LMB even at a first glance. As



an illustration of such CCG visualization, we demonstrate a prototypical example of normal stepping test LMB in a healthy control subject (Fig. 39.2).

Fig. 39.1 Stepping test computerized ultrasonic cranio-corpography

As could be seen, the gestalt CCG image of individual LMB visualizes the normal tendency for anterograde displacement of the body center of gravity that leads to unconscious and unintentional forward movement (anteropulsion) after every single step. Its total sum is measured (in centimeters) by the CCG parameter "longitudinal deviation." Our previous research has revealed [128, 133–135, 137–142] that lower values of this parameter might reflect psychomotor inhibition with underlying striatal hypodopaminergia, while higher values might reflect psychomotor activation with underlying striatal hyperdopaminergia. The CCG parameter "lateral sway" measures (also in centimeters) the maximal range of alternating (inverted pendulum-like) mediallateral and lateral-medial head and body movements during the swing phase of locomotor cycle. This unstable one-leg position (see Fig. 39.1) leads initially to a medial-lateral displacement of the head and shoulders (contralateral to the lifted

leg), followed by a reflexive (defensive) movement in the opposite direction that is aimed at preventing an eventual fall. Although such fluctuations of the upper part of the body are measured in space, they indirectly indicate the velocity (which in fact is a temporal measure) of unconscious and automatic psychomotor reactivity that helps to maintain equilibrium during stepping locomotion. So, large lateral sway (hypermetria) indicates slower psychomotor reactivity (brady-reactivity), while narrow lateral sway (hypometria) indicates hasty psychomotor reactivity (tachy-reactivity). The third essential CCG parameter that is relevant for PMDs is the "number of steps" (measured per minute). It reflects the self-paced rate of conscious and volitional, self-initiated, goal-directed psychomotor activity. A lower number of steps (bradykinesia) indicate psychomotor hypoactivity, while a higher number of steps (tachykinesia) indicate psychomotor hyperactivity. The normal numerical values of these three psychomotor CCG parameters could be conceived as indicating normal LMB in healthy individuals. Their lower and upper limits (provided by the computer program



Fig. 39.2 Prototypical normal stepping test locomotor behavior in a healthy control subject

"Winbalance") have been determined after systematic investigations of hundreds of clinically healthy subjects.

Objective Quantification of Individual Locomotor Behavior in Depressive Patients

A representative sample of 200 depressive patients was selected from our computer database for further analysis. All patients were with clinical diagnosis "major depressive episode, recurrent" (F33), according to the ICD-10. They were included in our selection if they had stopped their previous medications so that their baseline CCG investigation has been performed before initiating a treatment for the current depressive episode. Graphical gestalt CCG images and quantitative values of the 3 psychomotor CCG parameters (quantifying their individual stepping test LMB) were compared case by case with those of 200 age-, gender-, height-, and weight-

matched healthy controls. These objective graphical (qualitative) and numerical (quantitative) comparisons demonstrated that the selected sample of "unipolar" depressive patients in fact represents a heterogeneous group, which includes two contrasting poles of abnormal LMB, reflecting subclinical PMDs with bipolar deviations from the norm (with some intermediate variants between the two extremes). The one pole (-) combines markedly shortened longitudinal deviation, enlarged lateral sway, and lower number of steps per minute, thus suggesting subclinical but objectively measurable abnormal psychomotor inhibition (reduced unintentional anteropulsion, delayed automatic psychomotor reactivity, and decreased volitional self-paced psychomotor activity). As an illustration we demonstrate a prototypical example of such over-inhibited stepping test LMB (hypolocomotion) in a depressive patient (Fig. 39.3).

The opposite pole (+) of abnormal LMB combines markedly prolonged longitudinal deviation, narrower lateral sway, and higher number of



Fig. 39.3 Prototypical inhibited stepping test locomotor behavior in a depressive patient

steps per minute, thus suggesting subclinical but objectively measurable abnormal psychomotor activation (exaggerated unintentional anteropulsion, accelerated automatic psychomotor reactivity, and increased volitional self-paced psychomotor activity). As an illustration of the CCG characteristics of such over-activated stepping test LMB (hyperlocomotion) in a depressive patient, we demonstrate a prototypical example (Fig. 39.4).

Integrative Index of Individual Locomotor Behavior in Depressive Patients

From the prototypical examples presented in Figs. 39.2, 39.3, and 39.4, it is evident that the numerical values of the three essential psychomotor CCG parameters of stepping test LMB are divergent in their directions of deviation from the norm. For instance, higher values of lateral sway reflect decreased and retarded psychomotor reac-

tivity, whereas higher values of longitudinal deviation and number of steps per minute reflect increased and accelerated conscious and unconscious psychomotor activity. Therefore, we have scored and summarized these three separate CCG parameters into a single concise and unidirectional measure of individual LMB, called "spatial-temporal equilibriometric psychomotor index" (STEPi), which is automatically calculated by our original computer program "STEMPA" (spatial-temporal equilibriometric movement pattern analysis). This index integrates the degree of subclinical psychomotor activation, on the basis of computer-measured values of the three psychomotor CCG parameters. The calculated values of STEPi for the prototypical examples, presented in Figs. 39.2, 39.3, and 39.4, compared to the respective computermeasured values of the three psychomotor CCG parameters, are demonstrated in Table 39.1.

It is evident that STEPi reflects in a more adequate and consistent manner the general direction of subclinical psychomotor deviation from the



Fig. 39.4 Prototypical activated stepping test locomotor behavior in a depressive patient

Psychomotor	Inhibited	Healthy	Activated
CCG	depression	control (see	depression
parameters	(see Fig. 39.3)	Fig. 39.2)	(see Fig. 39.4)
Longitudinal	33.36	66.47	121.91
deviation			
(cm)			
Lateral sway	34.57	11.36	9.51
(cm)			
Steps (per	42	76	88
minute)			
STEPi	4.05	44.47	112.81
(degree of			
activation)			

 Table 39.1
 Quantitative measures of individual locomotor behavior in the prototypical examples

norm in a given depressive patient. At the same time, it is obviously a more sensitive indicator of abnormal (either over-inhibited or over-activated) LMB than each one of the three separate psychomotor CCG parameters. Our quantitative analysis of the individual values of STEPi in healthy control subjects has revealed that they vary between 20 and 80, with a mean value of about 50. So, the individual LMB of a given healthy control subject could be categorized as either relatively inhibited (STEPi between 20 and 50) or relatively activated (STEPi between 50 and 80). Accordingly, if the value of STEPi in a given depressive patient is inside the normal limits, then his/her individual LMB could be also categorized as either relatively inhibited or relatively activated. However, if its value is outside the normal limits, then the individual LMB could be categorized as either abnormally inhibited (STEPi <20) or abnormally activated (STEPi >80). The former could be viewed as a subclinical measure of psychomotor over-inhibition or hypolocomotion (Fig. 39.3), while the latter as a subclinical measure of psychomotor over-activation or hyperlocomotion (Fig. 39.4).

Objective and Quantitative Stratification of Depressive Patients

Our computer program "STEMPA" allows an automatic subclinical categorization of each concrete investigated patient, according to his/her individual value of STEPi. This type of categorization permits objective and quantitative stratification [143, 144] of the entire group of 200 depressive patients, as it is demonstrated in Table 39.2.

It is evident that the objective stratification of individual LMB in the investigated depressive patients distinguishes four psychomotor subgroups, involving two opposite poles: psychomotor inhibition (STEPi <50) or psychomotor activation (STEPi >50), each one of them with 2 degrees of deviation from the mean of the norm: relatively normal (STEPi inside the normal limits) or abnormal (STEPi outside the normal limits). Thus, the baseline LMB of every single depressive patient (measured by the quantitative value of STEPi) can be categorized as belonging to just one of the four stratified psychomotor subgroups. Table 39.2 demonstrates that 43.5% of depressive patients are with abnormal values of STEPi and their individual LMB is either abnormally inhibited (hypolocomotion) or abnormally activated (hyperlocomotion). Hypolocomotion substantially prevails (34.5%) over hyperlocomotion (9.0%). The remaining 56.5% of patients are with relatively normal values of STEPi, but again inhibited LMB substantially prevails (39.0%) over activated (17.5%). Analogous prevalence of inhibited (73.5%) over activated (26.5%) LMB is found in the whole sample of depressive patients.

The substantial prevalence of psychomotor inhibition could explain why almost all researchers in the field *statistically* reveal psychomotor retardation (slowness of movements) in patients with endogenous (melancholic) depressions *as a group*, in comparison with a group of healthy controls [1, 5, 6, 13, 15, 16, 18–23, 33, 48–52, 57, 61, 76, 77, 83, 86, 87, 92, 101, 108, 119, 145– 153]. More specifically, objective signs of inhibited gait are commonly found in this group of patients [8, 17, 21, 29–31, 34–41, 44–46, 68–75, 78, 80–82, 96, 101, 102, 105, 106]. It is logically to predict that statistical comparisons at the group level between depressive patients and healthy controls would detect only the prevailing pole of psychomotor over-inhibition (hypolocomotion), but not the opposite underrepresented pole of psychomotor over-activation (hyperlocomotion). So, we suspect that without preliminary stratification a relatively small subgroup of depressive patients with hyperlocomotion would remain statistically undetected.

Dopamine Hypothesis of the Locomotor Bipolarity in "Unipolar" Depressive Patients

Our CCG investigations in psychiatric and neurological patients [8, 12, 22, 24, 28, 36, 44, 45, 60, 123, 124, 128–131, 133–142] attest that the subclinical locomotor bipolarity in "unipolar" depressive patients [60, 136, 138, 140, 141] is not nosologically specific. On the contrary, the two poles of abnormal LMB (hypolocomotion and hyperlocomotion) could be conceived as two transdiagnostic dimensional continua that cross the boundaries among the endogenous psychiatric categories (major depression, bipolar disorder, and schizophrenia) and even the border between psychiatric and neurological categories. On the one hand, we reveal hypolocomotion (Fig. 39.3) not only in a substantial proportion of depressive patients but also in some schizophrenic patients with prominent negative symptoms (syndrome of psychomotor poverty), as well as in most patients with idiopathic or neuroleptic-induced parkinsonian bradykinesia [123, 124, 128–131, 133–135, 137, 154]. On the other hand, we reveal hyperlocomotion (Fig. 39.4) not only in a relatively minor subgroup of depressive patients but also in some particular schizophrenic patients with prominent positive symptoms (paranoia with psychomotor excitation), as well as in most hypomanic or manic bipolar patients [123, 128-131, 133, 137, 139]. We might say that the negative pole of abnormal LMB is manifested by transdiagnostic hypolocomotion (Fig. 39.3), which could indicate depressive motor slowness, schizophrenic psychomotor poverty, or parkinsonian bradykinesia, sometimes collectively considered as psychomotor indicators of "negative symptoms" [e.g., 80, 87, 154, 155]. The opposite (positive) pole of abnormal LMB is manifested by transdiagnostic hyperlocomotion (Fig. 39.4) that could indicate depressive, manic, or psychotic behavioral overactivation, which might be considered as a psychomotor indicator of "positive symptoms."

On the basis of our clinical, experimental, and theoretical research, we could admit that the phenomenological similarities in the objectively recorded and measured abnormal LMB are indicative for shared (transdiagnostic) underlying neurobiological mechanisms. Thus, the remarkable similarity between depressive hypolocomotion (Fig. 39.3) and analogous hypolocomotion in two well-known hypodopaminergic states, such as schizophrenic psychomotor poverty and parkinsonian bradykinesia, permits us to assume that the negative pole of abnormal LMB might be determined by underlying striatal hypodopaminergia [128, 133, 135, 137-142]. At the same time, the remarkable similarity between depressive hyperlocomotion (Fig. 39.4) and analogous hyperlocomotion in two well-known hyperdopaminergic states, such as schizophrenic and manic psychomotor excitation, permits us to assume that the positive pole of abnormal LMB might be determined by underlying striatal hyperdopaminergia [128, 133, 137–142].

These comparative locomotor dopaminergic analyses reasonably lead to the conclusion that the discovered locomotor bipolarity in depressive patients might be due to underlying dopaminergic bipolarity, with hypodopaminergia contributing to hypolocomotion and hyperdopaminergia contributing to hyperlocomotion [128, 137–142]. Such a dopamine hypothesis [138, 142] is in line with numerous findings in animal models of psychiatric disorders, which demonstrate that dopamine agonists (psychomotor stimulants and antiparkinsonian drugs) might produce hyperlocomotion, while dopamine antagonists (antipsychotic drugs) have the opposite effect and might produce hypolocomotion [94, 95, 156–165]. Besides, based on animal models, in vivo imaging of dopamine, functional magnetic resonance imaging studies, pharmacological evidence, and analysis of the treatment effects on the modulation of dopamine, the most recent version [94] of the old dopamine hypothesis of bipolar disorder provides convincing arguments that the depressive pole might be associated with underlying hypodopaminergia, behaviorally expressed as hypolocomotion, while the manic pole might be associated with underlying hyperdopaminergia, behaviorally expressed as hyperlocomotion. We could admit that the negative pole of abnormal LMB (hypolocomotion), supposedly attributable to underlying hypodopaminergia, should be viewed as prototypical for bipolar depression. In contrast, the positive pole of abnormal LMB (hyperlocomotion), supposedly attributable to underlying hyperdopaminergia, should be viewed as prototypical for bipolar mania.

According to our dopamine hypothesis of the psychomotor bipolarity in depressive patients, only those with subclinical hypolocomotion (Fig. 39.3) could be conceived as being linked with underlying depressive hypodopaminergia [47, 80–82, 84–97], while those with subclinical hyperlocomotion (Fig. 39.4) could be conceived as linked with underlying manic hyperdopaminergia and/or with antidepressant-induced dopamine dysregulation syndrome [88, 94, 95, 166]. Hence, we might conclude that the over-activated "unipolar" depressions are conceivably more adjacent to the hyperdopaminergic mechanisms of bipolar mania than to the hypodopaminergic mechanisms of bipolar depression. Such a conclusion is supported by the fact that in the last few years, behavioral over-activation is increasingly considered to be a defining feature of the manic pole of bipolar disorder [157, 159–173]. Moreover, since agitated recurrent depressions (known as "melancholia agitata") are classically conceived as mixtures of depressive mood and manic behavioral over-activation, several authors have proposed that such "unipolar" (pseudounipolar) depressions should be considered as mixed states (mixed depressions), which most likely belong to the bipolar spectrum [44, 60, 136, 138–142, 174–185]. In the same vein, psychomotor agitation in major depressive disorders has been found to be a predictive factor of moodswitching (either spontaneous or antidepressantinduced), suggesting that it might be viewed as an indicator of bipolarity [136, 138-142, 168, 185]. In addition, a number of studies have shown that in the course of standard antidepressant treatment, agitated "unipolar" depressions are frequently treatment-resistant [186–189] and associated with elevated suicidal risk [178, 186, 189-193]. Therefore, antidepressants do not seem to be optimal for them, and instead mood stabilizers and/or atypical antipsychotics should be preferred [174, 178-180, 189-194]. From a similar point of view, we might assume that in "unipolar" depressive patients with hyperlocomotion (Fig. 39.4), depressive mood is paradoxically combined with manic behavioral over-activation. Such an ambiguous combination might be caused by underlying manic hyperdopaminergia with concomitant depressive downregulation in other (e.g., serotoninergic, noradrenergic, glutamatergic, or cholinergic) neurotransmitter systems [138–142]. Further studies are obviously needed, in order to clarify the multifaceted brain and mind mechanisms of these contradictory (mixed) depressive mood states with manic-like hyperlocomotion.

Clinical Implications of the Personalized Approach to "Unipolar" Depressions

We demonstrated that objective and quantitative stratification of the heterogeneous group of "unipolar" depressive patients has resulted in differentiating four relatively more homogeneous psychomotor subgroups (Table 39.2), each of them giving a chance for a more precise and differentiated treatment selection. As a minimum, we get the opportunity to choose divergent treatment strategies for patients with over-inhibited versus over-activated LMB. On the one hand, for baseline hypolocomotion (supposedly attributable to underlying depressive striatal hypodopaminergia), the therapeutical aim would be to achieve normalization through psychomotor activation (via eventual dopaminergic stimulation) at
 Table 39.2
 Subclinical stratification of the depressive patients, based on their individual locomotor behavior

Psychomotor subgroups of depressive patients	Relatively normal STEPi	Abnormal STEPi	Total
Inhibited LMB	78 (39.0%)	69 (34.5%)	147 (73.5%)
Activated LMB	35 (17.5%)	18 (9.0%)	53 (26.5%)
Total	113 (56.5%)	87 (43.5%)	200 (100%)

least above the lower limit of the norm. On the other hand, for baseline hyperlocomotion (supposedly attributable to underlying manic striatal hyperdopaminergia), the therapeutical aim would be just the opposite: to achieve normalization through psychomotor inhibition (via eventual dopaminergic suppression) at least below the upper limit of the norm.

Based on the fact that agitated "unipolar" depressions are frequently resistant to antidepressant treatment but usually respond quite well to atypical antipsychotics and/or mood stabilizers [141, 174, 176–180, 184, 186–194], we could say that their underlying neurobiological mechanisms are in fact more manic than depressive. Therefore, such pseudo-unipolar depressions could be conceived as being attributable to underlying latent bipolarity that might predict forthcoming transition to manifest bipolarity with clinically identifiable manic or hypomanic episodes [138–142, 168, 185]. From an analogous point of view, depressive patients with manic-like hyperlocomotion (Fig. 39.4) could be conceived as being attributable to a latent phase of evolving bipolar disorder with initial (emergent) manic hyperdopaminergia, albeit so far with clinically expressed depressive mood. The same overactivated (supposedly hyperdopaminergic) mixed states could explain (at last partially) the oftenreported suicidal behavior during antidepressant treatment in "unipolar" depressive patients [141, 142, 178, 186, 189–193]. We might conceive that such paradoxical suicidal behavior is attributable to antidepressant-induced striatal hyperdopaminergia [88, 94, 95, 138–142, 185, 193], which precedes the therapeutical antidepressant effect on depressive mood and suicidal ideas. As psychomotor over-activation is a recognized risk factor for suicidal behavior in depressive patients [141, 142, 178, 186, 189–193], its early identification by means of objectively detectable hyperlocomotion (Fig. 39.4) could help clinicians to take appropriate prophylactic measures (e.g., by adding atypical antipsychotics and/or mood stabilizers to the current antidepressant treatment) in order to prevent a possible shift from passive suicidal ideas to active suicidal behavior. The same measures could be also effective in reducing treatment resistance to antidepressant drugs [187–189, 193]. Therefore, objectively revealing over-activated LMB in "unipolar" depressive patients could have important clinical implications for preventing the increased risk for suicidal behavior and/or antidepressant treatment resistance in them [138–142, 193].

Additional objective and quantitative stratification of "unipolar" depressions could be achieved, based on their longitudinal treatment response trajectories [144]. Our empirical data show that at least five such trajectories of the baseline hyperlocomotion could be differentiated: (1) improvement to relatively normal locomotor activation (normalization); (2)improvement to relatively normal locomotor activation but with a subsequent switch to the opposite direction of deviation from the mean of the norm (to relatively normal locomotor inhibition); (3) lack of significant dynamics toward improvement or worsening; (4) worsening despite the treatment; and (5) improvement to normalization but with a subsequent transition to the opposite pole of abnormal LMB (denormalization to hypolocomotion) during the treatment. At the single-patient level, the same five treatment response trajectories could be represented by changes in the quantitative values of STEPi: (1) from STEPi >80 to STEPi <80 but >50; (2) from STEPi >80 to STEPi <50 but >20; (3) STEPi is comparable; (4) STEPi is even higher than previously; and (5) from STEPi >80 to STEPi <20.

Analogous five alternative treatment response trajectories could be differentiated when the baseline LMB is *relatively activated* but remains below the upper limit of the norm (STEPi >50, but < 80): (1) improvement toward the mean of the norm (further normalization); (2) improvement toward the mean of the norm but with a subsequent switch to the opposite direction of deviation from the mean of the norm (to relatively normal locomotor inhibition); (3) lack of significant dynamics toward improvement or worsening; (4) worsening above the upper limit of the norm (denormalization to hyperlocomotion) despite the treatment; and (5) improvement toward the mean of the norm but with a subsequent transition to the opposite direction of deviation, even below the lower limit of the norm (denormalization to hypolocomotion) during the treatment. At the single-patient level, these five treatment response trajectories could be represented by changes in the quantitative values of STEPi: (1) STEPi is reduced, although remaining >50; (2) from STEPi >50 to STEPi <50 but >20; (3) STEPi is comparable; (4) from STEPi <80 to STEPi >80; and (5) from STEPi >50 to STEPi <20.

Hence, we could state that the dynamics of activated LMB in every single depressive patient could be objectively followed up by longitudinal monitoring of the quantitative values of STEPi during pharmacological treatment. Depending on the level of baseline psychomotor activation, the possible treatment response trajectories for the individual patients are at least 10. Obviously, this is a step toward the goal of precision (personalized) psychiatry [195–198], which is part of the modern field of precision (personalized) medicine [195, 197, 199, 200]. More specifically, during antidepressant treatment, the escalation of baseline hyperlocomotion or the denormalization of relatively normal baseline psychomotor activation above the upper limit of the norm might significantly increase the risk for paradoxical antidepressant-induced suicidal behavior. So, in such cases the treatment strategy should be radically reconsidered, and antidepressants should be complemented or substituted by atypical antipsychotics and/or mood stabilizers. On the other hand, the denormalization of baseline psychomotor activation to the opposite direction of deviation from the mean of the norm to relatively normal or even to abnormal psychomotor

inhibition might be viewed as resulting from relative overdosing of the prescribed therapy, and accordingly its dosage should be gradually reduced.

Objective detection not only of baseline hyperlocomotion (Fig. 39.4) but also of baseline hypolocomotion (Fig. 39.3) in the group of "unipolar" depressive patients could likewise have important clinical implications. It is well-known that a significant proportion of retarded depressions could normalize their slowness of movement during antidepressant treatment [17, 19, 20, 23-25, 27, 28, 41, 147, 150-152]. Furthermore, our empirical data show that the psychomotor subgroup of depressive patients with hypolocomotion could be additionally stratified, depending on the treatment response trajectories [144]. At least five such trajectories might be differentiated: (1) improvement to relatively normal locomotor inhibition (normalization); (2)improvement to relatively normal locomotor inhibition but with a subsequent switch to the opposite direction of deviation from the mean of the norm (to relatively normal locomotor activation); (3) lack of significant dynamics toward improvement or worsening; (4) worsening despite the treatment; and (5) improvement to normalization but with a subsequent transition to the opposite pole of abnormal LMB (denormalization to hyperlocomotion) during the treatment. At the single-patient level, the same five treatment response trajectories could be represented by changes in the quantitative values of STEPi: (1) from STEPi <20 to STEPi >20 but <50; (2) from STEPi <20 to STEPi >50 but <80; (3) STEPi is comparable; (4) STEPi is even lower than previously; and (5) from STEPi <20 to STEPi >80.

Additional five alternative treatment response trajectories could be differentiated when the baseline LMB is *relatively inhibited* but remains above the upper limit of the norm (STEPi <50, but >20): (1) improvement toward the mean of the norm (further normalization); (2) improvement toward the mean of the norm but with a subsequent switch to the opposite direction of deviation from the mean of the norm (to relatively normal locomotor activation); (3) lack of

significant dynamics toward improvement or worsening; (4) worsening with denormalization to *hypolocomotion* (below the lower limit of the norm) despite the treatment; and (5) relative improvement toward the mean of the norm but with a subsequent denormalization to *hyperlocomotion* (above the upper limit of the norm) during the treatment. At the single-patient level, these five treatment response trajectories could be represented by changes in the quantitative values of STEPi: (1) STEPi is reduced, although remaining <50; (2) from STEPi <50 to STEPi >50 but <80; (3) STEPi is comparable; (4) from STEPi <50 but >20 to STEPi <20; and (5) from STEPi <50 to STEPi >80.

We might say that the dynamics of *inhibited* LMB during pharmacological treatment in every single depressive patient could be objectively recorded and measured by longitudinal monitoring of the quantitative values of STEPi. Depending on the level of baseline psychomotor inhibition, the possible treatment response trajectories for the individual patients are at least 10. More specifically, the initial normalization of STEPi with a subsequent denormalization to the opposite pole of hyperlocomotion most probably represents a subclinical transition from "unipolar" depression to bipolar mania, as well as presumably from depressive hypodopaminergia to manic hyperdopaminergia. Such a dopaminergiclocomotor transition could be conceived as a side effect of the antidepressant drug treatment, most probably due to sensitization of the D2 receptors [88, 94, 95, 97]. From a clinical point of view, it could be even more important than the eventual subsequent transition to manic mood. Behaviorally inhibited depressive patients with suicidal ideas could realize a volitional suicidal act (and thus die) as a direct consequence of antidepressant-induced behavioral overactivation, while the manic mood itself is not so dangerous and threatening for the patient's life. Therefore, the over-activating effect of antidepressant drug treatment on the inhibited volitional LMB should be prevented by urgent reconsideration of the treatment strategy, which should lead to complementing or substituting antidepressants with drugs that block the supposedly sensitized D2 receptors, e.g., atypical antipsychotics and/or mood stabilizers [138-142, 194]. Furthermore, 156, 160, our longitudinal data in depressive patients with baseline hypolocomotion demonstrate that the antidepressant-induced hyperlocomotion in them usually precedes the antidepressantinduced manic mood and could serve as a sign of impending transition to the manic pole of bipolar disorder [138-142, 185, 193]. So, it could be considered as an objectively measurable risk factor for such a transition. On the other hand, persistence worsening of baseline or the hypolocomotion despite the standard antidepressant treatment could be conceived as an objectively measurable risk factor for treatment resistance [187–189] and likewise should lead to a reconsideration of the treatment strategy and eventually to an augmentation with other classes of drugs in order to achieve an optimal treatment response.

We could generalize that at least 20 distinct treatment response trajectories in the heterogeneous group of "unipolar" depressive patients could be subclinically detected, thanks to the introduced integrative objective quantification of the patients' individual LMB. Through our computer database, now it is possible to compare the results from every single examination with the normative data and also with any previous results (whenever available) of the same patient. In such a way, it could be instantly determined whether the investigated individual LMB is inhibited or activated and whether it is inside or outside the normal limits, as well as whether the longitudinal trajectory of the baseline LMB indicates improvement, worsening, or stability. All these comparisons (based on the individual quantitative values of STEPi) are used by our computer program "STEMPA" to differentiate automatically not only between inhibited or activated and normal or abnormal individual LMB but also among distinct longitudinal treatment response trajectories.

Briefly, the routine clinical application of an original instrumental approach to "unipolar" depressive patients has enabled us to achieve an objective and quantitative prospective treatment monitoring at the individual-patient level, which is very close to the ideal of the so-called oneperson trials [200] in the modern theory of personalized medicine in psychiatry [195-198]. At the same time, such psychomotor monitoring is in line with the modern tendency to use electronic devices to measure outcomes in clinical research [201]. Improved assessment methods will help PMDs become an important objective dimension of depressive psychopathology [14, 21, 26, 29-46, 63, 66, 76, 92, 96, 101–107, 109–119, 128, 136, 138-142, 146] that is informative on underlying neuropathology [48, 50–57, 75, 86, 91, 108] and antidepressant treatment response [22– 28, 128, 147, 150–152, 202]. Particularly, the fast development of wearable inertial sensors as behavioral markers for routine use in clinical gait research [128, 129, 203-208] would permit further precision in the objective quantification of individual LMB as a new approach to PMDs and their dynamics in patients with endogenous depressions.

Conclusion

An integrative objective quantification of individual LMB is implemented for the first time in the clinical psychiatric practice. It allows a more precise stratification and further personalization of treatment in patients with "unipolar" depressions. Additionally, a composite STEPi is calculated in order to provide a user-friendly computerized distinction among treatmentrelevant subclinical psychomotor subgroups despite their clinical-phenomenological resemblance. Thanks to the new approach, the neurobiological mechanisms underlying clinical symptoms become more accessible for objective evaluation and analysis. The integrative subclinical LMB is a nonverbal expression of the disease process in the brain, which is neither dependent on the subjective report of the patient nor on the subjective interpretation of the psychiatrist. It is under the level of consciousness and thus is immune against conscious simulation or dissimulation. The chance of detecting objectively measurable abnormalities at a single-patient level is an incomparable precedent for the psychiatric practice, having in mind that even highly sensitive and expensive neuroimaging methods are not yet capable to detect such individual abnormalities. Application of quantitative locomotor analysis may yield further insights into neurobiological mechanisms of endogenous depressions and their optimal pharmacological treatment. Longitudinal monitoring of treatment response trajectories contributes to an objectively informed selection of treatment strategies and more effective suicidal prevention at the level of individual depressive patients.

References

- Parker G, Hadzi-Pavlovic D, Austin MP, Mitchell P, Wilhelm K, et al. Sub-typing depression: I. Is psychomotor disturbance necessary and sufficient to the definition of melancholia? Psychol Med. 1995;25(4):815–23.
- Parker G, Hadzi-Pavlovic D. Melancholia: a disorder of movement and mood. New York: Cambridge University Press; 1996.
- Sobin C, Sackeim HA. Psychomotor symptoms of depression. Am J Psychiatry. 1997;154(1):4–17.
- Lemke MR, Hesse AC. Psychomotor symptoms in depression. Am J Psychiatry. 1998;155(5):709–10.
- 5. Lemke MR. Motor signs of depression. Nervenarzt. 1999;70(7):600–12.
- Lemke MR, Koethe NH, Schleidt M. Timing of movements in depressed patients and healthy controls. J Affect Disord. 1999;56(2-3):209–14.
- Parker G. Defining melancholia: the primacy of psychomotor disturbance. Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl. 2007;433:21–30.
- Haralanov S, Terziivanova P. Psychomotor disturbances in bipolar and unipolar depression. J Czech Slovak Psychiatry. 2008;104(Suppl.2):1230.
- Schrijvers D, Hulstijn W, Sabbe BG. Psychomotor symptoms in depression: a diagnostic, pathophysiological and therapeutic tool. J Affect Disord. 2008;109(1–2):1–20.
- Dols A, Rhebergen D, Eikelenboom P, Stek ML. Melancholia, psychomotor disturbance or depressed mood? Tijdschr Psychiatr. 2010;52(8):583–8.
- Snowdon J. Should psychomotor disturbance be an essential criterion for a DSM-5 diagnosis of melancholia? BMC Psychiatry. 2013;13:160.
- Terziivanova P, Haralanov S. Psychomotor retardation and agitation in clinical depression. In: Stoyanov D, editor. Psychopathology: theory, perspectives and future approaches. New York: Nova Science Publishers; 2013. p. 283–98.

- Widlöcher DJ. Psychomotor retardation: clinical, theoretical, and psychometric aspects. Psychiatr Clin North Am. 1983;6:27–40.
- Dantchev N, Allilaire JF, Raoux N. Significance of studies of motor activity in depression. Ann Med Psychol (Paris). 1992;150(2-3):206–10.
- Caligiuri MP, Ellwanger J. Motor and cognitive aspects of motor retardation in depression. J Affect Disord. 2000;57(1-3):83–93.
- Caligiuri MP, Gentili V, Eberson S, Kelsoe J, Rapaport M, Gillin JC. A quantitative neuromotor predictor of antidepressant non-response in patients with major depression. J Affect Disord. 2003;77(2):135–41.
- Paleacu D, Shutzman A, Giladi N, Herman T, Simon ES, Hausdorff JM. Effects of pharmacological therapy on gait and cognitive function in depressed patients. Clin Neuropharmacol. 2007;30:63–71.
- Finazzi ME, Mesquita ME, Lopes JR, Fu LI, Oliveira MG, Del Porto JA. Motor activity and depression severity in adolescent outpatients. Neuropsychobiology. 2010;61:33–40.
- Höppner J, Padberg F, Domes G, Zinke A, Herpertz SC, Grossheinrich N, Herwig U. Influence of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation on psychomotor symptoms in major depression. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2010;260:197–202.
- Buyukdura JS, McClintock SM, Croarkin PE. Psychomotor retardation in depression: biological underpinnings, measurement, and treatment. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2011;35(2):395–409.
- Aybek S, Ionescu A, Berney A, Chocron O, Aminian K, Vingerhoets FJ. Fractal temporal organisation of motricity is altered in major depression. Psychiatry Res. 2012;200(2–3):288–93.
- Terziivanova P, Haralanov S. Epistemological and methodological significance of quantitative studies of psychomotor activity for the explanation of clinical depression. J Eval Clin Pract. 2012;18:1151–5.
- Bennabi D, Vandel P, Papaxanthis C, Pozzo T, Haffen E. Psychomotor retardation in depression: a systematic review of diagnostic, pathophysiologic, and therapeutic implications. Biomed Res Int. 2013;2013:158746.
- Terziivanova P, Haralanov S. Quantitative monitoring of psychomotor activity during pharmacological treatment of depressive episodes. J Biomed Clin Res. 2014;7(Suppl 1):15.
- Ohashi K, Yamamoto Y, Teicher MH. Locomotor micro-activities associated with therapeutic responses in patients with seasonal affective disorders. Integr Med Int. 2015;1(3):151–61.
- 26. Reichert M, Lutz A, Deuschle M, Gilles M, Hill H, Limberger MF, Ebner-Priemer UW. Improving motor activity assessment in depression: which sensor placement, analytic strategy and diurnal time frame are most powerful in distinguishing patients from controls and monitoring treatment effects. PLoS One. 2015;10(4):e0124231.

- Rhebergen D, Sienaert P. Do psychomotor symptoms predict the treatment response of patients with depressive disorders? Tijdschr Psychiatr. 2015;57(2):83–8.
- Terziivanova P, Haralanov S, Haralanova E, Dzhupanov G. Objective quantification of psychomotor dynamics during pharmacological treatment of bipolar depression. Eur Psychiatry. 2017;41:212–3.
- Sloman L, Berridge M, Homatidis S, Hunter D, Duck T. Gait patterns of depressed patients and normal subjects. Am J Psychiatry. 1982;13:94–7.
- Sloman L, Pierrynowski M, Berridge M, Tupling S, Flowers J. Mood, depressive illness and gait patterns. Can J Psychiatr. 1987;32(3):190–3.
- Lemke MR, Wendorff T, Mieth B, Buhl K, Linnemann M. Spatiotemporal gait patterns during over ground locomotion in major depression compared with healthy controls. J Psychiatr Res. 2000;34(4-5):277–83.
- Lemke MR, Mieth B, Pleuse S, Späth C. Motor behavior in depression: applications and limitations of actigraphic analyses. Psychiatr Prax. 2001;28(5):219–25.
- Iverson GL. Objective assessment of psychomotor retardation in primary care patients with depression. J Behav Med. 2004;27(1):31–7.
- 34. Schrijvers D, de Bruijn ER, Maas Y, De Grave C, Sabbe BG, Hulstijn W. Action monitoring in major depressive disorder with psychomotor retardation. Cortex. 2008;44(5):569–79.
- Michalak J, Troje NF, Fischer J, Vollmar P, Heidenreich T, Schulte D. Embodiment of sadness and depression–gait patterns associated with dysphoric mood. Psychosom Med. 2009;71(5):580–7.
- Haralanov S, Terziivanova P. Contrasting psychomotor dysfunctions in unipolar and bipolar depression: objective quantification by computerized ultrasound cranio-corpo-graphy. Bulg Neurol Psychiatric Practice. 2010;1:18–24.
- 37. Razavi N, Horn H, Koschorke P, Hügli S, Höfle O, et al. Measuring motor activity in major depression: the association between the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale and actigraphy. Psychiatry Res. 2011;190(2–3):212–6.
- Attu SD, Rhebergen D, Comijs HC, Parker G, Stek ML. Psychomotor symptoms in depressed elderly patients: assessment of the construct validity of the Dutch CORE by accelerometry. J Affect Disord. 2012;137(1–3):146–50.
- Burton C, McKinstry B, Szentagotai Tătar A, Serrano-Blanco A, Pagliari C, Wolters M. Activity monitoring in patients with depression: a systematic review. J Affect Disord. 2013;145(1):21–8.
- Lohr JB, May T, Caligiuri MP. Quantitative assessment of motor abnormalities in untreated patients with major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord. 2013;146(1):84–90.
- Faurholt-Jepsen M, Brage S, Vinberg M, Jensen HM, Christensen EM, Knorr U, Kessing LV. Electronic monitoring of psychomotor activity as a supplemen-

tary objective measure of depression severity. Nord J Psychiatry. 2015;69(2):118–25.

- Walther S, Morrens M. Editorial: psychomotor symptomatology in psychiatric illnesses. Front Psychiatry. 2015;6:81.
- 43. Young KS, Parsons CE, Stein A, Kringelbach ML. Motion and emotion: depression reduces psychomotor performance and alters affective movements in caregiving interactions. Front Behav Neurosci. 2015;9:26.
- Haralanov S, Terziivanova P, Haralanova E. Objective quantification of psychomotor disturbances in patients with depressive episode. Am J Psychiat Neurosci. 2017;5(6):64.
- 45. Terziivanova P, Haralanova E, Milushev E, Dimitrov R, Claussen C-F, Haralanov S. Objective quantification of psychomotor disturbances in patients with a major depressive episode. J Eval Clin Pract. 2018;24(4):826–31.
- 46. van Diermen L, Walther S, Cools O, Fransen E, Birkenhäger TK, Sabbe BCG, Schrijvers D. Observer-rated retardation but not agitation corresponds to objective motor measures in depression. Acta Neuropsychiatr. 2018:1–6. [Epub ahead of print]
- 47. Van Praag HM, Koff J, Lakke JPWF, Schut T. Dopamine metabolism in depressions, psychoses, and Parkinson's disease: the problem of the specificity of biological variables in behaviour disorders. Psychol Med. 1975;5:138–46.
- Bracht T, Federspiel A, Schnell S, Horn H, Höfle O, et al. Cortico-cortical white matter motor pathway microstructure is related to psychomotor retardation in major depressive disorder. PLoS One. 2012;7(12):e52238.
- Hoffstaedter F, Sarlon J, Grefkes C, Eickhoff SB. Internally vs. externally triggered movements in patients with major depression. Behav Brain Res. 2012;228(1):125–32.
- Sawa M, Yamashita H, Fujimaki K, Okada G, Takahashi T, Yamawaki S. Depressive symptoms and apathy are associated with psychomotor slowness and frontal activation. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2012;262(6):493–9.
- Walther S, Höfle O, Federspiel A, Horn H, Hügli S, et al. Neural correlates of disbalanced motor control in major depression. J Affect Disord. 2012;136(1-2):124–33.
- Walther S, Hügli S, Höfle O, Federspiel A, Horn H, et al. Frontal white matter integrity is related to psychomotor retardation in major depression. Neurobiol Dis. 2012;47:13–9.
- 53. Liberg B, Klauser P, Harding IH, Adler M, Rahm C, et al. Functional and structural alterations in the cingulate motor area relate to decreased fronto-striatal coupling in major depressive disorder with psychomotor disturbances. Front Psychiatry. 2014;5:176.
- Liberg B, Rahm C. The functional anatomy of psychomotor disturbances in major depressive disorder. Front Psychiatry. 2015;6:34.
- 55. Hyett MP, Perry A, Breakspear M, Wen W, Parker GB. White matter alterations in the internal capsule and psychomotor impairment in melancholic depression. PLoS One. 2018;13(4):e0195672.
- Walther S, Bernard JA, Mittal VA, Shankman SA. The utility of an RDoC motor domain to understand psychomotor symptoms in depression. Psychol Med. 2019;49(2):212–6.
- 57. Yin Y, Wang M, Wang Z, Xie C, Zhang H, et al. Decreased cerebral blood flow in the primary motor cortex in major depressive disorder with psychomotor retardation. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2018;81:438–44.
- Pier MP, Hulstijn W, Sabbe BG. Differential patterns of psychomotor functioning in unmedicated melancholic and nonmelancholic depressed patients. J Psychiatr Res. 2004;38(4):425–35.
- Leventhal AM, Pettit JW, Lewinsohn PM. Characterizing major depression phenotypes by presence and type of psychomotor disturbance in adolescents and young adults. Depress Anxiety. 2008;25(7):575–92.
- Haralanov S, Terziivanova P. Subclinical psychomotor heterogeneity in unipolar and bipolar depression: objective quantification by computerized ultrasound cranio-corpo-graphy. Bulg Neurol Psychiatric Pract. 2010;3–4:22–31.
- Calugi S, Cassano GB, Litta A, Rucci P, Benvenuti A, et al. Does psychomotor retardation define a clinically relevant phenotype of unipolar depression? J Affect Disord. 2011;129(1-3):296–300.
- 62. Faurholt-Jepsen M, Brage S, Vinberg M, Christensen EM, Knorr U, Jensen HM, Kessing LV. Differences in psychomotor activity in patients suffering from unipolar and bipolar affective disorder in the remitted or mild/moderate depressive state. J Affect Disord. 2012;141(2-3):457–63.
- Indic P, Murray G, Maggini C, Amore M, Meschi T, et al. Multi-scale motility amplitude associated with suicidal thoughts in major depression. PLoS One. 2012;7(6):e38761.
- 64. Caldieraro MA, Baeza FL, Pinheiro DO, Ribeiro MR, Parker G, Fleck MP. Clinical differences between melancholic and nonmelancholic depression as defined by the CORE system. Compr Psychiatry. 2013;54(1):11–5.
- 65. Spanemberg L, Caldieraro MA, Vares EA, Wollenhaupt-Aguiar B, Kauer-Sant'Anna M, et al. Biological differences between melancholic and nonmelancholic depression subtyped by the CORE measure. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2014;10:1523–31.
- 66. Krane-Gartiser K, Henriksen TE, Vaaler AE, Fasmer OB, Morken G. Actigraphically assessed activity in unipolar depression: a comparison of inpatients with and without motor retardation. J Clin Psychiatry. 2015;76:1181–7.
- van Diermen L, Schrijvers D, Cools O, Birkenhäger TK, Fransen E, Sabbe BGC. Distinguishing subgroups based on psychomotor functioning

among patients with major depressive disorder. Neuropsychobiology. 2018:1–10. [Epub Jul 4, 2018]

- Sachdev P, Aniss AM. Slowness of movement in melancholic depression. Biol Psychiatry. 1994;35(4):253–62.
- Dantchev N, Widlöcher DJ. The measurement of retardation in depression. J Clin Psychiatry. 1998;59(Suppl 14):19–25.
- Lemke MR, Puhl P, Koethe N, Winkler T. Psychomotor retardation and anhedonia in depression. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 1999;99(4):252–6.
- Lecrubier Y. Physical components of depression and psychomotor retardation. J Clin Psychiatry. 2006;67(Suppl 6):23–6.
- Pier MP, Hulstijn W, van Hoof JJ, Sabbe BG. Psychomotor retardation in depression assessed by visuomotor tasks. Overview and achievements of ten years' research. Tijdschr Psychiatr. 2006;48(2):95–106.
- Aybek S, Berney A, Salarian A, Valloton S, Aminian K, Vingerhoets FJG. Objective evaluation of gait parameters and psychomotor retardation in major depression. Parkinson Related Disord. 2008;14(Suppl 1):S69.
- 74. Berney A, Aybek S, Salarian A, Hubschmid M, Aminian A, Vingerhoets F. Psychomotor retardation in depression: bradykinesia or paucity of movement? J Psychosom Res. 2008;64(6):641.
- Baeken C, De Raedt R, Santermans L, Zeeuws D, Vanderhasselt MA, Meers M, Vanderbruggen N. HF-rTMS treatment decreases psychomotor retardation in medication-resistant melancholic depression. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2010;34:684–7.
- Ilamkar KR. Psychomotor retardation, attention deficit and executive dysfunctional in young non-hospitalised un-medicated non-psychotic unipolar depression patients. J Clin Diagn Res. 2014;8(2):124–6.
- Beheydt LL, Schrijvers D, Docx L, Bouckaert F, Hulstijn W, Sabbe B. Psychomotor retardation in elderly untreated depressed patients. Front Psychiatry. 2015;5:196.
- Cantisani A, Stegmayer K, Bracht T, Federspiel A, Wiest R, et al. Distinct resting-state perfusion patterns underlie psychomotor retardation in unipolar vs. bipolar depression. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2016;134(4):329–38.
- 79. Deschamps T, Sauvaget A, Pichot A, Valrivière P, Maroulidès M, et al. Posture-cognitive dual-tasking: a relevant marker of depression-related psychomotor retardation. An illustration of the positive impact of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in patients with major depressive disorder. J Psychiatr Res. 2016;83:86–93.
- Thomas-Ollivier V, Deschamps T, Bulteau S, Le Gall F, Pichot A, et al. Effect of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation on psychomotor retardation in major depression: a pilot feasibility study. J Neuropsychiatr Clin Neurosci. 2016;28(1):62–5.

- Thomas-Ollivier V, Foyer E, Bulteau S, Pichot A, Valriviere P, Sauvaget A, Deschamps T. Cognitive component of psychomotor retardation in unipolar and bipolar depression: is verbal fluency a relevant marker? Impact of repetitive transcranial stimulation. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2017;71(9):612–23.
- 82. Aftanas LI, Bazanova OM, Novozhilova NV. Posture-motor and posture-ideomotor dualtasking: a putative marker of psychomotor retardation and depressive rumination in patients with major depressive disorder. Front Hum Neurosci. 2018;12:108.
- Sanders JB, Bremmer MA, Deeg DJ, Beekman AT. Do depressive symptoms and gait speed impairment predict each other's incidence? A 16-year prospective study in the community. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2012;60(9):1673–80.
- 84. Demakakos P, Cooper R, Hamer M, de Oliveira C, Hardy R, Breeze E. The bidirectional association between depressive symptoms and gait speed: evidence from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (ELSA). PLoS One. 2013;8(7):e68632.
- Ikemoto T, Inoue M, Nakata M, Miyagawa H, Shimo K, et al. Locomotive syndrome is associated not only with physical capacity but also degree of depression. J Orthop Sci. 2016;21(3):361–5.
- 86. Sanders JB, Bremmer MA, Comijs HC, Deeg DJ, Beekman AT. Gait speed and the natural course of depressive symptoms in late life; an independent association with chronicity? J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2016;17(4):331–5.
- Nakamura M, Hashizume H, Nomura S, Kono R, Utsunomiya H. The relationship between locomotive syndrome and depression in communitydwelling elderly people. Curr Gerontol Geriatr Res. 2017;2017:4104802.
- Saito T, Watanabe H, Kikkawa I, Takeshita K. Evaluation of the association between locomotive syndrome and depressive states: a cross-sectional study. Nagoya J Med Sci. 2017;79(1):43–6.
- 89. Briggs R, Carey D, Kenny RA, Kennelly SP. What is the longitudinal relationship between gait abnormalities and depression in a cohort of communitydwelling older people? Data from the Irish Longitudinal Study on Ageing (TILDA). Am J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2018;26(1):75–86.
- Rodakowski J. Relationship among depression, gait disturbance, disability, and neurobiological abnormalities. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2018;26(1):87–8.
- Rogers D, Lees AJ, Smith E, Trimble M, Stern GM. Bradyphrenia in Parkinson's disease and psychomotor retardation in depressive illness. An experimental study. Brain. 1987;110(Pt 3):761–76.
- Marsden CD. Movement disorders in neuropsychiatry. In: Reynolds EH, Trimble MR, editors. The bridge between neurology and psychiatry. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone; 1989. p. 155–6.
- Bermanzohn PC, Siris SG. Akinesia: a syndrome common to parkinsonism, retarded depression,

and negative symptoms of schizophrenia. Compr Psychiatry. 1992;33(4):221–32.

- Rogers MA, Bradshaw JL, Phillips JG, et al. Parkinsonian motor characteristics in unipolar major depression. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol. 2000;22(2):232–44.
- Wendorff T, Linnemann M, Lemke MR. Locomotion and depression. Clinical and physiological aspects of gait alterations in Parkinson's disease and major depression. Fortschr Neurol Psychiatr. 2002;70(6):289–96.
- Swerdlow NR, Koob GF. Dopamine, schizophrenia, mania, and depression: Toward a unified hypothesis of cortico-striato-pallido-thalamic function. Behav Brain Sci. 1987;10(2):197–245.
- Swann AC, Katz MM, Bowden CL, Berman NG, Stokes PE. Psychomotor performance and monoamine function in bipolar and unipolar affective disorders. Biol Psychiatry. 1999;45(8):979–88.
- Martinot M, Bragulat V, Artiges E, Dollé F, Hinnen F, Jouvent R, Martinot J. Decreased presynaptic dopamine function in the left caudate of depressed patients with affective flattening and psychomotor retardation. Am J Psychiatry. 2001;158:314–6.
- 99. Winograd-Gurvich C, Fitzgerald PB, Georgiou-Karistianis N, Bradshaw JL, White OB. Negative symptoms: a review of schizophrenia, melancholic depression and Parkinson's disease. Brain Res Bull. 2006;70(4–6):312–21.
- 100. Berk M, Dodd S, Kauer-Sant'Anna M, Malhi GS, Bourin M, Kapczinski F, Norman T. Dopamine dysregulation syndrome: implications for a dopamine hypothesis of bipolar disorder. Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl. 2007;434:41–9.
- Dunlop BW, Nemeroff CB. The role of dopamine in the pathophysiology of depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2007;64:327–37.
- 102. Malhi GS, Berk M. Does dopamine dysfunction drive depression? Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl. 2007;433:116–24.
- Stein DJ. Depression, anhedonia, and psychomotor symptoms: the role of dopaminergic neurocircuitry. CNS Spectr. 2008;13(7):561–5.
- 104. Lohr JB, May T, Caligiuri MP. Quantitative assessment of motor abnormalities in untreated patients with major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord. 2013;146(1):84–90.
- 105. Tye KM, Mirzabekov JJ, Warden MR, Ferenczi EA, Tsai HC, et al. Dopamine neurons modulate neural encoding and expression of depression-related behaviour. Nature. 2013;493(7433):537–41.
- 106. Ashok AH, Marques TR, Jauhar S, Nour MM, Goodwin GM, Young AH, Howes OD. The dopamine hypothesis of bipolar affective disorder: the state of art and implications for treatment. Mol Psychiatry. 2017;22:666–79.
- 107. Demontis F, Serra F, Serra G. Antidepressantinduced dopamine receptor dysregulation: a valid animal model of manic-depressive illness. Curr Neuropharmacol. 2017;15(3):417–23.

- 108. Kincses P, Kovács N, Karádi K, Feldmann Á, Dorn K, et al. Association of gait characteristics and depression in patients with Parkinson's disease assessed in goal-directed locomotion task. Parkinsons Dis. 2017;2017:6434689.
- 109. Amidfar M. The role of dopaminergic system in the pathogenesis and treatment of depression. EC Psychol Psychiatry. 2018;7(3):132–6.
- 110. Mentzel TQ, Mentzel CL, Mentzel SV, Lieverse R, Daanen HA, van Harten PN. Instrumental assessment of bradykinesia: a comparison between motor tasks. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform. 2016;20(2):521–6.
- 111. Summa S, Tosi J, Taffoni F, Di Biase L, Marano M, Rizzo AC, Tombini M, Di Pino G, Formica D. Assessing bradykinesia in Parkinson's disease using gyroscope signals. IEEE Int Conf Rehabil Robot. 2017:1556–61.
- 112. Zago M, Sforza C, Pacifici I, Cimolin V, Camerota F, et al. Gait evaluation using inertial measurement units in subjects with Parkinson's disease. J Electromyogr Kinesiol. 2018;42:44–8.
- 113. Bader JP, Bühler J, Endrass J, Klipstein A, Hell D. Muscle strength and gait patterns of depressed people. Nervenarzt. 1999;70(7):613–9.
- 114. Hausdorff JM, Peng CK, Goldberger AL, Stoll AL. Gait unsteadiness and fall risk in two affective disorders: a preliminary study. BMC Psychiatry. 2004;4:39.
- Sanders RD, Gillig PM. Gait and its assessment in psychiatry. Psychiatry (Edgmont). 2010;7(7):38–43.
- 116. Brandler TC, Wang C, Oh-Park M, Holtzer R, Verghese J. Depressive symptoms and gait dysfunction in the elderly. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2012;20(5):425–32.
- 117. Radovanović S, Jovičić M, Marić NP, Kostić V. Gait characteristics in patients with major depression performing cognitive and motor tasks while walking. Psychiatry Res. 2014;217(1-2):39–46.
- 118. Gabel NM, Crane NA, Avery ET, Kay RE, Laurent A, et al. Dual-tasking gait variability and cognition in late-life depression. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2015;30(11):1120–8.
- 119. Wolff EA 3rd, Putnam FW, Post RM. Motor activity and affective illness. The relationship of amplitude and temporal distribution to changes in affective state. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1985;42(3):288–94.
- Teicher MH. Actigraphy and motion analysis: new tools for psychiatry. Harv Rev Psychiatry. 1995;3(1):18–35.
- 121. Berle JO, Hauge ER, Oedegaard KJ, Holsten F, Fasmer OB. Actigraphic registration of motor activity reveals a more structured behavioural pattern in schizophrenia than in major depression. BMC Res Notes. 2010;3:149.
- 122. Hauge ER, Berle JØ, Oedegaard KJ, Holsten F, Fasmer OB. Nonlinear analysis of motor activity shows differences between schizophrenia and depression: a study using Fourier analysis and sample entropy. PLoS One. 2011;6(1):e16291.

- 123. Kim J, Nakamura T, Kikuchi H, Sasaki T, Yamamoto Y. Co-variation of depressive mood and locomotor dynamics evaluated by ecological momentary assessment in healthy humans. PLoS One. 2013;8(9):e74979.
- 124. Fasmer OB, Hauge E, Berle JØ, Dilsaver S, Oedegaard KJ. Distribution of active and resting periods in the motor activity of patients with depression and schizophrenia. Psychiatry Investig. 2016;13(1):112–20.
- 125. Faurholt-Jepsen M, Brage S, Vinberg M, Kessing LV. State-related differences in the level of psychomotor activity in patients with bipolar disorder – continuous heart rate and movement monitoring. Psychiatry Res. 2016;237:166–74.
- 126. O'Brien JT, Gallagher P, Stow D, Hammerla N, Ploetz T, et al. A study of wrist-worn activity measurement as a potential real-world biomarker for latelife depression. Psychol Med. 2017;47(1):93–102.
- 127. Fasmer EE, Fasmer OB, Berle JØ, Oedegaard KJ, Hauge ER. Graph theory applied to the analysis of motor activity in patients with schizophrenia and depression. PLoS One. 2018;13(4):e0194791.
- Reinertsen E, Clifford GD. A review of physiological and behavioral monitoring with digital sensors for neuropsychiatric illnesses. Physiol Meas. 2018;39(5):05TR01.
- 129. Parker G, Hadzi-Pavlovic D, Wilhelm K, Hickie I, Brodaty H, et al. Defining melancholia: properties of a refined sign-based measure. Br J Psychiatry. 1994;164(3):316–26.
- 130. Sobin C, Mayer L, Endicott J. The motor agitation and retardation scale: a scale for the assessment of motor abnormalities in depressed patients. J Neuropsychiatr Clin Neurosci. 1998;10(1):85–92.
- Parker G, McCraw S. The properties and utility of the CORE measure of melancholia. J Affect Disord. 2017;207:128–35.
- 132. Haralanov S, Shkodrova D, Claussen C-F, Haralanova E. Objective recording and quantitative analysis of psychomotor disturbances by craniocorpo-graphy. Psychiatric News. 2000;8:1–8.
- Haralanov S, Claussen C-F, Haralanova E, Shkodrova D. Computerized ultrasonographic cranio-corpography and abnormal psychomotor activity in psychiatric patients. Int Tinnitus J. 2002;8(2):72–6.
- 134. Young JJ, Silber T, Bruno D, Galatzer-Levy IR, Pomara N, Marmar CR. Is there progress? An overview of selecting biomarker candidates for major depressive disorder. Front Psychiatry. 2016;7:72.
- Fried EI. The 52 symptoms of major depression: lack of content overlap among seven common depression scales. J Affect Disord. 2017;208:191–7.
- 136. Deschamps T. Is psychiatry ready to move? Psychiatry Investig. 2018;15(1):3–5.
- 137. Haralanov S, Haralanova E, Milushev E, Shkodrova D. Locomotor movement-pattern analysis as an individualized objective and quantitative approach in psychiatry and psychopharmacology: clinical and theoretical implications. In: Gargiulo PA & Mesones

Arroyo HL, editors. Psychiatry and Neurosciences. Update 2018, Vol. III. Chapter 32. Springer International Publishing, Switzerland; 2018.

- 138. Haralanov S, Claussen C-F. Method and device for evaluating a movement pattern. Canadian Patent Publication CA2322638A1. 1999
- 139. Haralanov S, Claussen C-F, Shkodrova D, Haralanov L, Schneider D, Carvalho C. Cranio-corpo-graphy in schizophrenic patients. In: Claussen CF, Sakata E, Itoh A, editors. Vertigo, nausea, tinnitus and hearing loss in central and peripheral vestibular diseases. Amsterdam-New York-Oxford-Tokyo: Elsevier; 1995. p. 325–8.
- 140. Haralanov S, Claussen C-F, Schneider D, Haralanov L, Carvalho C, Stamenov B. Cranio-corpo-graphy: implications and perspectives in the field of clinical equilibriometry. Neurol Balkanica. 1997;1:30–4.
- 141. Claussen C-F. Cranio-corpo-graphy: 30 years of equilibriometric measurements of spatial and temporal head, neck and trunk movements. In: Claussen C-F, Haid CT, Hofferberth B, editors. Equilibrium research, clinical equilibriometry and modern treatment. Amsterdam-New York-Oxford-Tokyo: Elsevier; 2000. p. 249–59.
- 142. Haralanov S, Shkodrova D, Claussen C-F. Craniocorpo-graphic findings in schizophrenic patients. Neurootol Newslett. 2002;6(1):27–31.
- 143. Haralanov S, Milushev E, Haralanova E, Claussen C-F. Computerized ultrasound cranio-corpo-graphy for objective and quantitative monitoring of the physical therapy and rehabilitation in patients with movement disorders. Physiother Med Rehab Health. 2003;3:15–8.
- 144. Haralanov S, Milushev E, Haralanova E, Claussen C-F, Shkodrova D. Computerized ultrasound craniocorpo-graphy for objective and quantitative monitoring of neuroleptics-induced parkinsonism in schizophrenia. In: Chalmanov V, Tsonev V, editors. Actual Problems of Parkinsonism. Sofia, Bulgaria: Acad. Publ. House "Prof. Marin Drinov"; 2003. p. 170–4.
- 145. Haralanov S, Terziivanova P. Subclinical bipolarity in unipolar depression: objective revealing by computerized ultrasonographic cranio-corpo-graphy. Bulg Med. 2011;1(3-4):14–25.
- 146. Haralanov S, Haralanova E, Milushev E, Shkodrova D, Claussen C-F. Objective and quantitative equilibriometric evaluation of individual locomotor behaviour in schizophrenia: Translational and clinical implications. J Eval Clin Pract. 2018;24(4): 826–31.
- 147. Haralanov S, Terziivanova P. Psychomotor and dopaminergic bipolarity in unipolar depression: experimental findings, conceptual analysis and implications for treatment strategies. In: Columbus AM, editor. Advances in psychology research, vol. 107. New York: Nova Science Publishers Inc.; 2015. p. 145–60.
- Haralanov S, Terziivanova P, Haralanova E. Affective and psychomotor disturbances in bipolar disorder. Fortschr Neurol Psychiatr. 2016;6:25–32.

- 149. Haralanov S, Terziivanova P, Haralanova E. Revealing latent bipolarity in unipolar depressions: diagnostic and therapeutic implications. GPNews. 2016;17(3):5–8.
- 150. Haralanov S, Haralanova E, Bogdanova D, Dimitrov R, Terziivanova P, Shkodrova D. Psychomotor bipolarity in "unipolar" endogenous depressions: clinical implications for optimal treatment and suicide prevention. Bulg J Psychiatry. 2018;3(3):198–207.
- 151. Haralanov S, Haralanova E, Terziivanova P, Bogdanova D, Dimitrov R, Shkodrova D. Dopamine hypothesis of the psychomotor bipolarity in endogenous depressions: clinical implications for treatment selection and suicide prevention. Fortschr Neurol Psychiatr. 2018;8:58–68.
- 152. Marquand AF, Wolfers T, Mennes M, Buitelaar J, Beckmann CF. Beyond lumping and splitting: a review of computational approaches for stratifying psychiatric disorders. Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuroimag. 2016;1(5):433–47.
- 153. Joyce DW, Kehagia AA, Tracy DK, Proctor J, Shergill SS. Realising stratified psychiatry using multidimensional signatures and trajectories. J Transl Med. 2017;15(1):15.
- 154. Haralanov S. Subtypes of negative and pseudonegative symptoms in schizophrenia: neurobiological and psychological mechanisms. Bulg J Psychiatry. 2017;2(1):32–41.
- 155. Galynker II, Cai J, Ongseng F, Finestone H. Hypofrontality and negative symptoms in major depressive disorder. J Nucl Med. 1998;39(4):608–12.
- Berggren U, Tallstedt L, Ahlenius S, Engel J. The effect of lithium on amphetamine-induced locomotor stimulation. Psychopharmacology. 1978;59(1):41–5.
- 157. Zhuang X, Oosting RS, Jones SR, Gainetdinov RR, Miller GW, Caron MG, Hen R. Hyperactivity and impaired response habituation in hyperdopaminergic mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98(4):1982–7.
- 158. Ventura R, Alcaro A, Cabib S, Conversi D, Mandolesi L, Puglisi-Allegra S. Dopamine in the medial prefrontal cortex controls genotype-dependent effects of amphetamine on mesoaccumbens dopamine release and locomotion. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2004;29(1):72–80.
- 159. Ramshaw H, Xu X, Jaehne EJ, McCarthy P, Greenberg Z, et al. Locomotor hyperactivity in 14-3-3ζ KO mice is associated with dopamine transporter dysfunction. Transl Psychiatry. 2013;3:e327.
- 160. Maksimovic M, Vekovischeva OY, Aitta-aho T, Korpi ER. Chronic treatment with mood-stabilizers attenuates abnormal hyperlocomotion of GluA1-subunit deficient mice. PLoS One. 2014;9(6):e100188.
- 161. van Enkhuizen J, Geyer MA, Halberstadt AL, Zhuang X, Young JW. Dopamine depletion attenuates some behavioural abnormalities in a hyperdopaminergic mouse model of bipolar disorder. J Affect Disord. 2014;155:247–54.
- 162. Young JW, Minassian A, Geyer MA. Locomotor profiling from rodents to the clinic and back again. Curr Top Behav Neurosci. 2016;28:287–303.

- 163. Ryczko D, Dubuc R. Dopamine and the brainstem locomotor networks: from lamprey to human. Front Neurosci. 2017;11:295.
- 164. Leo D, Sukhanov I, Zoratto F, Illiano P, Caffino L, et al. Pronounced hyperactivity, cognitive dysfunctions, and BDNF dysregulation in dopamine transporter knock-out rats. J Neurosci. 2018;38(8):1959–72.
- 165. Padovan-Hernandez Y, Knackstedt LA. Dosedependent reduction in cocaine-induced locomotion by Clozapine-N-Oxide in rats with a history of cocaine self-administration. Neurosci Lett. 2018;674:132–5.
- 166. Belujon P, Grace AA. Dopamine system dysregulation in major depressive disorders. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol. 2017;20(12):1036–46.
- 167. Benazzi F. Is overactivity the core feature of hypomania in bipolar II disorder? Psychopathology. 2007;40(1):54–60.
- Johnson SL, Edge MD, Holmes MK, Carver CS. The behavioural activation system and mania. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. 2012;8:243–67.
- 169. Cheniaux E, Filgueiras A, de Assis da Silva R, Nunes AL, Landeira-Fernandez J. Increased energy/activity, not mood changes, is the core feature of mania. J Affect Disord. 2014;152–154:256–61.
- 170. Perry W, McIlwain M, Kloezeman K, Henry BL, Minassian A. Diagnosis and characterization of mania: quantifying increased energy and activity in the human behavioral pattern monitor. Psychiatry Res. 2016;240:278–83.
- 171. Machado-Vieira R, Luckenbaugh DA, Ballard ED, Henter ID, Tohen M, Suppes T, Zarate CA Jr. Increased activity or energy as a primary criterion for the diagnosis of bipolar mania in DSM-5: findings from the STEP-BD study. Am J Psychiatry. 2017;174(1):70–6.
- 172. Scott J, Murray G, Henry C, Morken G, Scott E, et al. Activation in bipolar disorders: a systematic review. JAMA Psychiatry. 2017;74(2):189–96.
- 173. Cheniaux E, Silva RAD, Santana CM, Filgueiras A. Changes in energy and motor activity: core symptoms of bipolar mania and depression? Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 2018;40(3):233–7.
- 174. Koukopoulos A, Koukopoulos A. Agitated depression as a mixed state and the problem of melancholia. Psychiatr Clin North Am. 1999;22:547–64.
- 175. Benazzi F, Helmi S, Bland L. Agitated depression: unipolar? Bipolar? Or both? Ann Clin Psychiatry. 2002;14(2):97–104.
- 176. Benazzi F. Agitated depression: a valid depression subtype? Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2004;28(8):1279–85.
- 177. Benazzi F, Koukopoulos A, Akiskal HS. Toward a validation of a new definition of agitated depression as a bipolar mixed state (mixed depression). Eur Psychiatry. 2004;19(2):85–90.
- 178. Akiskal HS, Benazzi F, Perugi G, Rihmer Z. Agitated "unipolar" depression re-conceptualized as a depressive mixed state: implications for the

antidepressant-suicide controversy. J Affect Disord. 2005;85(3):245–58.

- 179. Sato T, Bottlender R, Kleindienst N, Möller H-J. Irritable psychomotor elation in depressed inpatients: a factor validation of depressive mixed states. J Affect Disord. 2005;84(2–3):187–96.
- 180. Koukopoulos A, Sani G, Koukopoulos AE, Manfredi G, Pacchiarotti I, Girardi P. Melancholia agitata and mixed depression. Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl. 2007;433:50–7.
- 181. Angst J, Gamma A, Benazzi F, Ajdacic V, Rössler W. Does psychomotor agitation in major depressive episodes indicate bipolarity? Evidence from the Zurich Study. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2009;259(1):55–63.
- 182. Judd LL, Schettler PJ, Akiskal H, Coryell W, Fawcett J, et al. Prevalence and clinical significance of subsyndromal manic symptoms, including irritability and psychomotor agitation, during bipolar major depressive episodes. J Affect Disord. 2012;138(3):440–8.
- Swann AC. Activated depression: mixed bipolar disorder or agitated unipolar depression? Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2013;15(8):376.
- 184. Liu X, Jiang K. Should major depressive disorder with mixed features be classified as a bipolar disorder? Shanghai Arch Psychiatry. 2014;26(5):294–6.
- 185. Iwanami T, Maeshima H, Baba H, Satomura E, Namekawa Y, et al. Psychomotor agitation in major depressive disorder is a predictive factor of moodswitching. J Affect Disord. 2015;170:185–9.
- 186. Berk M, Dodd S. Are treatment emergent suicidality and decreased response to antidepressants in younger patients due to bipolar disorder being misdiagnosed as unipolar depression? Med Hypotheses. 2005;65(1):39–43.
- 187. Sharma V, Khan M, Smith A. A closer look at treatment resistant depression: is it due to bipolar diathesis? J Affect Disord. 2005;84(2–3):251–7.
- 188. Correa R, Akiskal H, Gilmer W, Nierenberg AA, Trivedi M, Zisook S. Is unrecognized bipolar disorder a frequent contributor to apparent treatment resistant depression? J Affect Disord. 2010;127(1–3):10–8.
- 189. Rihmer Z, Gonda X. Antidepressant-resistant depression and antidepressant-associated suicidal behaviour: the role of underlying bipolarity. Depress Res Treat. 2011;2011:906462.
- 190. Balázs J, Benazzi F, Rihmer Z, Rihmer A, Akiskal KK, Akiskal HS. The close link between suicide attempts and mixed (bipolar) depression: implications for suicide prevention. J Affect Disord. 2006;91(2–3):133–8.
- Benazzi F. Mixed depression, suicidality, and antidepressants. J Clin Psychiatry. 2006;67(10):1650–1.
- 192. Olgiati P, Serretti A, Colombo C. Retrospective analysis of psychomotor agitation, hypomanic symptoms, and suicidal ideation in unipolar depression. Depress Anxiety. 2006;23(7):389–97.
- 193. Haralanov S, Dimitrov R, Haralanova E. In which depressions the antidepressants are useless and even dangerous? GPNews. 2018;19(1):5–10.

- 194. Fornaro M, Stubbs B, De Berardis D, Perna G, Valchera A, et al. Atypical antipsychotics in the treatment of acute bipolar depression with mixed features: a systematic review and exploratory metaanalysis of placebo-controlled clinical trials. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17(2):241.
- 195. Williams LM, Gordon E. Personalized medicine and integrative neuroscience: toward consensus markers for disorders of brain health. In: Gordon E, Koslow S, editors. Integrative neuroscience and personalized medicine. New York: Oxford University Press Inc.; 2011. p. 25–54.
- 196. Insel TR. The NIMH Research Domain Criteria (RDoC) Project: Precision medicine for psychiatry. Am J Psychiatry. 2014;171:395–7.
- 197. Fernandes BS, Williams LM, Steiner J, Leboyer M, Carvalho AF, Berk M. The new field of 'precision psychiatry'. BMC Med. 2017;15(1):80.
- Wium-Andersen IK, Vinberg M, Kessing LV, McIntyre RS. Personalized medicine in psychiatry. Nord J Psychiatry. 2017;71:12–9.
- 199. Perna G, Grassi M, Caldirola D, Nemeroff CB. The revolution of personalized psychiatry: will technology make it happen sooner? Psychol Med. 2018;48:705–13.
- Schork NJ. Personalized medicine: time for oneperson trials. Nature. 2015;520(7549):609–11.
- 201. Bernard JA, Mittal VA. Updating the research domain criteria: the utility of a motor dimension. Psychol Med. 2015;45(13):2685–9.

- 202. Perry B, Herrington W, Goldsack JC, Grandinetti CA, Vasisht KP, et al. Use of mobile devices to measure outcomes in clinical research, 2010–2016: a systematic literature review. Digit Biomark. 2018;2(1):11–30.
- 203. Stark DE, Kumar RB, Longhurst CA, Wall DP. The quantified brain: a framework for mobile devicebased assessment of behavior and neurological function. Appl Clin Inform. 2016;7(2):290–8.
- 204. Iosa M, Picerno P, Paolucci S, Morone G. Wearable inertial sensors for human movement analysis. Expert Rev Med Devices. 2017;13(7):641–59.
- 205. Kluge F, Gaßner H, Hannink J, Pasluosta C, Klucken J, Eskofier BM. Towards mobile gait analysis: concurrent validity and test-retest reliability of an inertial measurement system for the assessment of spatio-temporal gait parameters. Sensors (Basel). 2017;17(7):E1522.
- Müller B, Ilg W, Giese MA, Ludolph N. Validation of enhanced kinect sensor based motion capturing for gait assessment. PLoS One. 2017;12(4):e0175813.
- 207. Washabaugh EP, Kalyanaraman T, Adamczyk PG, Claffin ES, Krishnan C. Validity and repeatability of inertial measurement units for measuring gait parameters. Gait Posture. 2017;55:87–93.
- 208. Benson LC, Clermont CA, Bošnjak E, Ferber R. The use of wearable devices for walking and running gait analysis outside of the lab: a systematic review. Gait Posture. 2018;63:124–38.



40

Epidemiological Perspectives in Psychosomatic and Liaison Psychiatry

Antonio Lobo, Ricardo Campos, and Elena Lobo

Introduction

In a background of controversy about the appropriate denomination of what has been called consultation-liaison psychiatry in the USA, the names psychosomatic psychiatry (PP) or psychosomatic and liaison psychiatry (PPL) are increasingly used in Spain [1, 2]. Both medical humanism

Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Aragón, Zaragoza, Spain

CIBERSAM, Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red. Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Madrid, Spain e-mail: alobo@unizar.es

R. Campos

Departamento de Medicina y Psiquiatría, Universidad de Zaragoza, Zaragoza, Spain

Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Aragón, Zaragoza, Spain

Servicio de Psiquiatría. Hospital Clínico Universitario, Zaragoza, Madrid, Spain e-mail: rcampos@unizar.es

E. Lobo

Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Aragón, Zaragoza, Spain

CIBERSAM, Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red. Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Madrid, Spain

Departamento de Medicina Preventiva y Salud Pública, Zaragoza, Spain e-mail: elobo@unizar.es and empirical or evidence-based science are fundamental philosophical bases in this psychiatric discipline, and its historical roots have been discussed in different publications [3]. Among the empirical bases of PP, there is now a generalized agreement about the high frequency of psychological morbidity in medical patients, and efforts have been done to improve its detection and eventual treatment [4]. The meaning of the psychological morbidity and its potential to influence the somatic, comorbid conditions has to be clarified. However, in this respect, some reputed nonpsychiatrists alerted about the real situation. Lord Platt, for example, in an influential paper, considered that one of the "greatest failures" of clinical science was the "almost complete neglect of psychological factors in disease...." [5]. While there is now evidence that psychological and psychiatric aspects of medical conditions have attracted considerable interest in some medical fields such as cardiology [6], there is wide space for the contribution of experts in psychiatry.

The evidence base of PP requires obviously being careful enough about some traditional psychogenic positions when trying to interpret in the previous century the role of psychological problems in the origin of somatic conditions. The critiques of psychiatrists such as M. Shepherd in this respect were particularly blunt [7]:

So cavalier a disregard for the complexities of the mind-body relationship and the nature of causality could only have been taken seriously in the climate of opinion then prevailing.

A. Lobo (🖂)

Departamento de Medicina y Psiquiatría, Universidad de Zaragoza, Zaragoza, Spain

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_40

Shepherd's position was based on an epidemiological perspective, and this brings us to the subject of this chapter, since our nuclear contention is that epidemiological methods and studies may provide and have provided substantial empirical support to the field of psychosomatic psychiatry. The British professor summarized the potential of epidemiological methods in the following categories [8, 9]: (a) the completion of the spectrum of disease; (b) the establishment of outcome; (c) the actuarial assessment of morbid risk; (d) the evaluation of the efficacy of treatment; and (e) the conceptual construction of diagnosis and classification.

In this chapter, based on this outline, we review evidence to support our nuclear contention: epidemiological-type studies have provided important scientific information, often with direct clinical implications in the field of psychosomatic psychiatry. Moreover, the examples to review could suggest new directions in the research.

Studies on the Prevalence and Characteristics of Psychiatric Morbidity in Medical Patients

Epidemiological studies can certainly generate data related to the size and characteristics of the problem of psychiatric morbidity, which are fundamental to document service needs. Classical studies very early documented a high prevalence of psychiatric morbidity in medical wards [10], a finding we confirmed in a series of studies in different medical wards at the Johns Hopkins Hospital in Baltimore [11–13]. Relevant reviews have further supported the early findings [14]. However, wide differences were observed in documenting prevalence rates, and methodological problems were detected, such as the limited representativity of samples, so that it was difficult to reach solid conclusions. Still, during the classical study of the European Consultation-Liaison Workgroup (ECLW), it was estimated that the prevalence of psychiatric morbidity was approximately 30% [15].

More recent, relevant studies in specific clinics or diseases have reported results consistent with investigations in general wards. For example, Singer et al. [16] reported that one-third of the cancer patients in acute care hospitals suffers from mental health disorders and need appropriate treatment. Mehnert et al. [17] have observed, in a proportional, stratified random sample based on the nationwide incidence of all cancer diagnoses in Germany (n = 4020), that the 4-week total prevalence for any mental disorder was 31.8% (95% CI, 29.8% to 33.8%). In another important study in a national cohort, Søyseth et al. [18] documented that the current prevalence for mental disorders and psychological distress in patients undergoing evaluation for lung transplantation was 41.5% and the lifetime prevalence was 61.0%. Similarly, Ferreira et al. [19] have reviewed the literature on the prevalence of psychiatric conditions in psoriasis, which may range from 24% to 90%.

Important studies have also been conducted in primary care patients. Classical, early investigations reported that psychiatric disorders in this setting were similarly frequent [20] and were commonly associated with substantial disability [21]. In the same direction, the classical, WHO Collaborative Study carried out in 15 centers worldwide demonstrated the burden of psychological problems in this setting [22]. We also documented in the Zaragoza study, in a representative sample of primary care centers, that 27% of attenders with a new illness episode had psychiatric morbidity [23]. In relation to these reports and close to the primary care investigations are the studies showing the association of physical and psychological morbidity in the general population, as shown in the early reports of Eastwood [24] or Simon and Von Korff [25]. While the findings of these studies were still largely descriptive and correlational, they suggested a causal hypothesis. We have also confirmed in the general population of the older the "clustering phenomenon" and the bidirectional association between psychological and somatic morbidity: the probability of psychiatric morbidity increased significantly in individuals with somatic diseases and vice versa [26].

In relation to the characteristics of the psychiatric morbidity found in medical settings, mood and anxiety disorders have been the main diagnosis reported, although other specific disorders, such as sleep disorders, sexual dysfunction, or even substance-related disorders, have also been found in some studies [19]. Depression has specifically been investigated in medical settings. Walker et al. [27] reported in a systematic review of adults with cancer that the estimated prevalence of depression was as follows: 5-16% in outpatients, 4-14% in inpatients, 4-11% in mixed outpatient and inpatient samples, and 7-49% in palliative care. However, they concluded that only a few studies met adequate inclusion criteria, so that the prevalence estimates were imprecise, and suggested that future studies should use more stringent quality criteria. In relation to this, the same authors have published more recently an important, systematic review and meta-analysis of interviewbased studies [28]. They have reviewed 158 relevant articles in general hospital inpatients and found that the average of the reported prevalence of depression was 12% (95% CI 10-15). They concluded that this likely prevalence is high enough to make it worthwhile screening hospital inpatients for depression and initiating treatment where appropriate, but again, higherquality research is needed to further explore the reasons for the observed heterogeneity in estimates.

Important studies have also been carried out in relation to anxiety in medical settings. For example, Broen et al. [29], in a systematic review of Parkinson's disease patients, found that the average point prevalence was 31%, although, again, a wide discrepancy in the rates reported was observed, ranging 6-55%. The prevalence of health anxiety problems in medical clinics has been reported in another relevant UK study of more than 40,000 patients: 19.8% of them had significant health anxiety, although the prevalence levels varied by clinic, with neurology (24.7%) having the highest prevalence [30]. Moreover, the so-called "organic" conditions, certainly delirium, are often observed in medical patients referred for psychiatric consultation

[31], suggesting that these disturbances are also frequent in the medical wards [32].

In relation to the characteristics of psychiatric disorders, the issue of severity is obviously of paramount importance, since it may determine the need for specialized interventions. For example, in the Zaragoza study in primary care, we concluded that most patients had mild/moderate severity levels of psychiatric morbidity and only 2% had severe morbidity [23]. The estimation of the European Consultation-Liaison Workgroup (ECLW) study was that the frequency of psychopathological problems reaches almost one-third of medical inpatients, but it is also important to not overestimate the specialized care needs, since only approximately 10% of them would require a consultation with the specialist. Nevertheless, the prevalence rates are in contrast with the average consult rate, which was only 1.4% in the European Union hospitals [33]. Therefore, the suggestion is that most cases in medical wards may go undiagnosed and untreated.

In view of the prevalence of disorder, the issue of the systematic screening of psychiatric morbidity in medical settings has been raised. Nevertheless, Wilson and Jungner's principles [34] should be considered in this respect, since no systematic screening should be implemented unless there is an available specialized workforce to treat all the patients detected. Only a few solid studies ventured to recommend such screening, in the specific example of cases of depression in medical wards [35]. However, in relation to this, the ECLW considered what the present workforce of PP units is unable to treat all morbidity cases in medical wards and, therefore, should prioritize patients with higher care needs. It was in this way that the concept of "complex cases" emerged and appropriate screening instruments were developed, including the INTERMED interview [36]. "Complex cases" are considered those with commonly severe medical morbidity, accompanied by comorbid psychiatric problems as well as social problems and difficulties with the healthcare system. We have shown in a multicenter study that the prevalence of "complex cases" is 27% in internal medicine inpatients and 5% of cases have severe complexity [37]. Highly

reduced health-related quality of life (HRQOL) and increased healthcare costs have been reported in such cases [38], as well as increased emergency room visits and hospital admissions [39]. A self-assessment version of INTERMED has recently been developed to screen for these cases of biopsychosocial complexity [40]. On the other hand, the challenge of treating "complex" cases with comorbidity is apparent, since the outcome of fragmentation of medical care has been shown to result in the persistence of medical and behavioral problems, increased complications, greater disability, and increased costs [41].

The documentation in epidemiological-type studies showing a high proportion of psychiatric morbidity among medical patients going undetected and therefore untreated [11-13] was the base of the so-called "liaison" strategy, intended to improve the ability of nonpsychiatrists to detect and eventually treat the morbidity [42]. This problem has persisted, although there was increasing evidence about the negative consequences of the psychiatric morbidity [43, 44]. Furthermore, the problem of underdiagnosis has more recently been documented in reviews such as the one by Ferreira et al. [19] in dermatology patients. This takes us to another, related epidemiological subject: the outcome of psychiatric morbidity in medical patients.

Studies on the Outcome of Psychiatric Morbidity in Medical Patients

Epidemiological-type studies include the followup of conditions detected at baseline. In relation to psychiatric morbidity in medical patients, this type of longitudinal studies is more ambitious and should provide data about the natural history of conditions and about the outcome, which is relevant to know the implications of the morbidity initially detected; moreover, in case of negative outcomes, these studies could generate a causal hypothesis.

The negative implications of the psychiatric morbidity were very early reported in the litera-

ture. Amplification of symptoms [45, 46], poor adherence to medical treatments [47], functional disability [48], and increased medical utilization [49, 50] were all reported in influential studies. We also documented a higher mortality among oncological patients with depression and particularly in those with cognitive impairment [32] and a negative outcome in the 1-year follow-up of somatizers detected in the Zaragoza study of primary care [51].

More recently, important studies have similarly documented the negative outcome of psychiatric morbidity in medical patients. Scott et al. [52] have shown the association of different mental disorders with subsequent chronic medical conditions in a world survey in 17 different countries. Similarly, Berg et al. [53], in a cross-sectional study of 14,239 patients using patient-reported outcomes at discharge and national register data, have documented negative consequences in patients with heart disease, which include increased mortality. Remarkable, recent longitudinal European studies have similarly documented a negative outcome of psychiatric morbidity among cardiovascular patients in a meta-analysis of 10 different studies [54], in irritable bowel syndrome patients in a study with 1964 eligible long-distance travelers [55], and in an 18-year follow-up study of 9514 patients with diabetes [56] or following orthopedic surgeries [57].

The epidemiological data on both the prevalence and the negative outcome of psychiatric morbidity in medical patients certainly have implications for treatment. They may also suggest etiological hypotheses, but different epidemiological designs are required for the study of causality and risk factors.

Studies on Psychopathological Risk Factors of Somatic Morbidity

As shown in the previous paragraphs, there is abundant evidence about the association of somatic and psychiatric morbidity, but, obviously, association does not necessarily mean causation. Some classical, early reviews concluded that not much was known about the nature of this association [58]. Later on, a number of studies suggested that somatic morbidity could lead to psychiatric disturbances [59]. On the contrary, the evidence about the possibility that emotional and psychopathological disturbance could lead to somatic diseases was much weaker, and the last-century, psychogenic theories of somatic conditions were seriously criticized on the bases of insufficient empirical support. The position of M. Shepherd in this respect was very clear [7]:

Since then, there is a body of literature suggesting the negative outcome of the psychopathological morbidity in medical patients, as documented by the studies reviewed in the previous paragraphs. In this context, a number of epidemiological-type studies have faced the challenge of testing the hypothesis related to potential, psychopathological risk factors of somatic conditions.

During the ZARADEMP study in a representative cohort of nearly 5000 individuals aged 55 or more years living in the community, we tested in Zaragoza, Spain, a rather provocative hypothesis: depression might increase the risk of incident diabetes. Standardized instruments and methods were used throughout, and, evidently, we controlled for other risk factors of diabetes, including gender and age, family history of diabetes, body mass index, hypertension, statin use, functional disability, smoking, alcohol consumption, etc. We found that clinically significant depression increases 65% the risk of type II diabetes, and the attributable risk of depression would be 7%, which is a very considerable proportion of the population [60]. C. Lyketsos [61] wrote an editorial related to this article, arguing in favor of the treatment of depression in the community to prevent the onset of diabetes. Moreover, during the ZARADEMP study, we have also reported that clinically significant depression increases the risk of Alzheimer's disease [62] and of mortality [63]; and more recently we have similarly documented that clinically significant anxiety increases the risk of Alzheimer's disease [64].

All these studies have clear implications for the treatment of psychiatric morbidity and the prevention of somatic diseases. In addition, they should stimulate studies trying to explain the mechanisms underlying the increased risk documented. A number of other relevant, recent studies point in a similar direction. Probably the best examples relate to cardiovascular morbidity. Depressive symptoms have been considered to be important predictors of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality [65]. Although some researchers considered that the link between depressive symptoms and cardio-metabolic conditions has yielded inconsistent results [66], the inconsistencies might be related to different depressive symptom profiles studied [67]. On the other hand, the association between depression and cardiovascular morbidity could be mediated by type D personality [54, 68].

Somatic conditions different from cardiovascular diseases have similarly been associated with psychopathological risk factors in relevant, recent studies. Some examples follow: illness anxiety and somatic symptom burden have been shown to predict the development of irritable bowel syndrome [55]; psychological and culturally influenced factors have been considered to have an important role in the development and persistence of low back pain [69]; and postoperative depressive symptoms have been reported to predict pain at discharge in orthopedic surgery patients [57] and perceived stress in midlife to predict disability in old age [70].

Studies on the Efficacy of the Treatment of Psychiatric Morbidity

The contribution to the studies related to treatment, including the interventions in the psychological morbidity in medical patients, is one of the less familiar aspects of epidemiological methods. In fact, in writing about drug trials, M. Shepherd [71] very early regarded them as of crucial importance in the evaluation of treatment and considered them to be essentially based on epidemiological methods. The randomized trials:

...reflect the look of the statistician, who inevitably tends to think less as a physician and more as a metaphysician, specializing therefore in the description of the types of proof which are appropriate to various types of assessment.

Difficulties in this area were very soon identified, such as the problems posed by the wide assortment of natural histories and wide range of conditions of psychiatric disorders in medical patients or the influence of natural variations in severity, including spontaneous relapse or modifications parallel to the course of the somatic disorder. Still, relevant studies in this area were conducted very early, such as the drug treatments for depression in the medically ill reviewed by Stoudemire and Fogel [72] or the controlled trial indicating that depressive illness in general medical settings responds to drug treatment [73]. In specific disorders, such as poststroke depression, Gonzalez-Torrecillas et al. [74] reported the efficacy of tricyclic antidepressants to improve the affective syndromes but also the functional disability and even the cognitive impairment. Early controlled trials using psychotherapy were based on the same principles and include Goldberg et al.'s [75] studies on the attribution techniques in somatizing patients or the reports on the reduction of medical costs in chronic somatizers [76].

More recent studies have also shown the efficacy of "integrated care" in medical patients with psychological morbidity, which may be crucial to prevent fragmentation of care [41]. The review by Huffman et al. [77] was very relevant in this respect. In different controlled trials, it was shown the efficacy of collaborative care management of multiple anxiety disorders and late-life depression in the primary care setting [78] or in the treatment of depression in patients with a serious somatic illness such as cancer [79]. A stepwise psychotherapy intervention for reducing risk in coronary artery disease was conducted in a multicenter, randomized trial in depressed patients with coronary artery disease (CAD), which was beneficial for depressed CAD patients with type D personality, although the more global results were negative [80].

In addition, some rather recent European studies may be good examples of trials inspired by epidemiological-type methodology, such as those included in a systematic review and metaanalysis of interventions in cancer patients with emotional distress and poor quality of life [81]; the study on the self-management skills in depression in chronic disorders [82]; or in the rehabilitation of cardiac patients [83]. Among the examples, other studies with similar methods but negative results may be included, such as those with escitalopram in medical patients with depression [84].

Other recent and novel studies incorporating the methodology of randomized controlled trials in this area include the subject of advanced illness and palliative care. Agar et al. [85] studied the efficacy of neuroleptic treatment for symptoms of delirium among patients in palliative care; and other researchers have studied the efficacy of meaning-centered group psychotherapy (MCGP) for improving psychological well-being in patients with advanced cancer (Breitbart et al., [86] or for improvements in personal growth and environmental mastery in cancer survivors [87]. It is relevant to observe that the psychological-type, randomized controlled studies have been particularly abundant in the area of psycho-oncology. Other examples include Epstein et al. [88] study of the effect of a patient-centered communication intervention on oncologist-patient communication. A series of randomized controlled trials, reviewed by Wang et al. [89], have approached the effects of life review interventions on spiritual well-being and psychological distress in patients with terminal or advanced oncological diseases.

In addition, innovative electronic health techniques have been studied with epidemiologicalbased designs. Andersson et al. [90] conducted a systematic review of studies comparing Internetbased approaches with face-to-face psychological treatments for psychiatric and somatic disorders, with promising results. Similarly, Strain et al. [91] have reviewed the use of electronic health records (EHR) for the management of depression as a systemic medical illness.

It is also remarkable that the effectiveness of consultation-liaison psychiatry in the general hospital, assessing parameters such as cost-effectiveness and reduction of length of stay, may be approached in adequately controlled studies, with a methodology similar to the randomized controlled trials [92–94].

Studies on the Conceptual Construction of Diagnosis and Classification

Epidemiological data on the characteristics, course, outcome, or morbid risk of psychiatric disturbances in medical patients may be of help in the refining of the existing or developing new classificatory systems. The efforts launched by WHO to develop ICD-10 or the APA to develop the DSM-5 in the field of general psychiatric disturbances were preceded by relevant epidemiological studies. This previous work helped to improve the problems leading to disagreement in communication between psychiatrists, related to variations at the levels of observation, the inferences drawn from such observations, and the nosological schemata employed by clinicians. However, new efforts are persistently required to improve the diagnosis and classifications, and, for example, we did new, additional work to reliably use ICD-10 in the psychiatric disturbances in medical patients [95].

Moreover, the general impression is that the final consensus of experts in the committees in charge of official classifications may often be taken in the absence of sufficient empirical evidence. We have recently observed the weakness of the category "mild neurocognitive impairment" in DSM-5, a nosological category with implications for liaison psychiatry, particularly in primary care [96]. The conversion rate to dementia in the general population was much lower than expected in view of

reports in the general literature. An editorial related to this article was critical with this DSM-5 category, underlying the importance of conducting adequate epidemiological-type research to support the categories in the system [97].

It is obvious that experts on both ICD and DSM systems have done important efforts to get face and content validity for the categories eventually included, and the documented work supporting the reliability of the categories has been impressive and probably unique in any medical field. Reliability is a crucial, preliminary stage, but documentation to support the general validity is unavoidable before a category may be implemented on solid bases. One of the main difficulties for the development of a valid classificatory system in this setting derives from the complexities of psychiatry in medical patients. We have argued in favor of the application in this setting of the Johns Hopkins' perspectives [98]. These perspectives get away from narrow views, abhorred in our field, of what constitutes psychiatric disorder; yet, they are unambiguous and useful from the heuristic point of view: the disease perspective, which is useful in disorders such as the psychopathological syndromes directly attributable to and "explained" in Jasperian terms by diagnosable brain diseases, such as poststroke depression [99]; the dimensional perspective, quite useful to conceptualize, for example, the minor psychiatric morbidity found in primary care in this setting; the behavior perspective, relevant in somatizing patients; and the life story perspective, which can also be the primary way to "understand" in Jasperian terms the depression in some patients following situations such as being informed of a diagnosis of cancer. While all these perspectives may be needed in a particular case, we have also argued that conjectures to be tested should differ depending on the type of disturbance to be studied.

The weaknesses of some official categories in both ICD-10 and DSM-IV are exemplified by the category previously called somatoform disorders, which has suffered radical changes in DSM-5 (and probably in ICD-11). It has long been known the strong social and cultural influences in somatic syndromes and the consequent implications for the nosology of somatoform disorders [100]. The possibility that this old category might include different conditions has been discussed but also the possibility that it is one disorder with many names [101]. The potential contribution of epidemiology in this type of disorder has to do with abundant documentation showing its high prevalence and negative outcome [102]; moreover, clinical experience but also epidemiological-type research advised against emphasizing the centrality of medically unexplained symptoms [103]. Somatoform disorders are now called "somatic symptom disorder and related disorders" (SSRD), but it is not only the denomination which has changed; since the concept, the construct has been modified [104].

The nuclear aspect of this chapter is that epidemiological methods may help in refining or eventually reconstructing a category for which the disease model works poorly and may result in slow progress. Among the efforts to validate the category, some studies emphasize the use of questionnaires and other assessment instruments such as the SSD-12 [105]. The challenge, though, is the identification of the appropriate "gold" or "reference standard." In case the new category is not mature enough, it is difficult to validate the appropriate instrument against such category and vice versa: in such circumstances, the risk of "circular reasoning" is obvious.

Epidemiological-type studies might be designed to support the discriminant validity of the category, which could be achieved in the hands of experts, standardized clinicians. However, the difficulties are also apparent, since the overlapping with categories such as "illness anxiety disorder" in the new DSM5 category or with more traditional categories such as "somatized anxiety and/or depression" in categories described by Goldberg [51] is difficult to disentangle. The predictive validity of the category could also be tested in longitudinal, epidemiological studies. Variables such as duration and intensity of the symptoms, as well as their impact on the patient's functioning, and outcomes in domains such as quality of life, healthcare utilization, and treatment satisfaction might help in clarifying the overlapping categories. External

validating criteria could similarly be tested in this respect. Some studies have reported the potential use of quantitative electroencephalography in differentiating patients versus healthy controls and also in patients with somatic symptom disorder versus patients with depression [106]. In any case, it is obvious the interest in the challenging somatization-type disorders, as shown by important, multicenter research projects [107, 108].

Summary

It is possible to provide, from the epidemiological perspective, an evidence-based contribution to the field of psychosomatic psychiatry. There are some possible ways: (1) epidemiological studies documenting the size, the characteristics, and the outcome of psychological morbidity in medical settings, including new paradigms such as the one on "complex patients"; (2) similarly documenting the psychopathological risk factors of somatic conditions, with obvious implications for the etiological knowledge; and (3) describing studies using an epidemiologically inspired methodology for randomized trials and examples of research providing data relevant to the classification in this field. All these ways may serve as contributions to psychosomatic psychiatry.

Acknowledgments We would like to thank Isabel Rabanaque for her assistance with the study.

Financial Support and Sponsorship This publication is co-financed with file number B15_17R by Operational Program FEDER Aragón 2014–2020: "Building Europe from Aragon."

Conflicts of Interest None.

References

- Lozano M, Lobo A. Psychosomatic psychiatry: a Spanish proposal for a new denomination. J Psychosom Res. 2005;59(6):451–2.
- Lobo A, Lozano M, Diefenbacher A. Psychosomatic psychiatry: an European view. Eur J Psychiat. 2007;21(2):153–68.

- 3. Lobo A, Blanch J, Campos R, Farré JM, Gómez-Reino I, Lobo E, Marco JC, Menchón JM, Navío M, Parramón G, Ventura T. Chapter 12. Psychosomatic psychiatry in Spain: historical notes and the state of the art. In: Leigh H, editor. Global psychosomatic medicine and consultation-liaison psychiatry: theory, research, education, and practice. Cham: Springer; 2018.
- Levis B, Yan XW, He C, Sun Y, Benedetti A, Thombs BD. Comparison of depression prevalence estimates in meta-analyses based on screening tools and rating scales versus diagnostic interviews: a meta-research review. BMC Med. 2019;17(1):65.
- Platt L. Medical science: master or servant. Br Med J. 1967;4:439–44.
- Pogosova N, Saner H, Pedersen SS, Cupples ME, McGee H, Höfer S, Doyle F, Schmid JP, von Känel R. Cardiac rehabilitation section of the European Association of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation of the European Society of Cardiology. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2015;22(10):1290–306.
- Shepherd M. Epidemiological perspective: psychosomatic medicine. Int J Epidemiol. 1978;7(3):201–5.
- Shepherd M. Epidemiology and clinical psychiatry. Br J Psychiatry. 1978;133:289–98.
- Lobo A, Campos R. The contribution of epidemiology to psychosomatic medicine. Epidemiol Psichiatr Soc. 1997;6(1):40–7.
- Lipowski ZJ. Review of consultation psychiatry and psychosomatic medicine II. Clinical aspects. Psychosom Med. 1967;29(3):201–24.
- DePaulo JR Jr, Folstein MF. Psychiatric disturbances in neurological patients: detection, recognition, and hospital course. Ann Neurol. 1978;4(3):225–8.
- Knights EB, Folstein MF. Unsuspected emotional and cognitive disturbance in medical patients. Ann Intern Med. 1977;87(6):723–4.
- Lobo A, Folstein MF, Abeloff MD. Incidencia, prevalencia y detección de morbilidad psiquiátrica en un hospital oncológico. Folia Neuropsquiatrica. 1979;14(1–4):270–84.
- Rundell J.R. & Wise T.N. Consultation-liaison psychiatry research. In J.R. Rundell and M.G. Wise Textbook of consultation-liaison psychiatry 1996. American Psychiatric Press: Washington D.C.. 207-226
- Huyse FJ, Herzog T, Malt UF, Lobo A. The European consultation-liaison workgroup (ECLW) collaborative study. I General outline. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 1996;18(1):44–55.
- Singer S, Das-Munshi J, Brähler E. Prevalence of mental health conditions in cancer patients in acute care– a meta-analysis. Ann Oncol. 2010;21(5):925–30.
- Mehnert A, Brähler E, Faller H, Härter M, Keller M, Schulz H, Wegscheider K, Weis J, Boehncke A, Hund B, Reuter K, Richard M, Sehner S, Sommerfeldt S, Szalai C, Wittchen HU, Koch U. Four-week prevalence of mental disorders in patients with cancer across major tumor entities. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(31):3540–6.

- Søyseth TS, Lund MB, Bjørtuft Ø, Heldal A, Søyseth V, Dew MA, Haugstad GK, Malt UF. Psychiatric disorders and psychological distress in patients undergoing evaluation for lung transplantation: a national cohort study. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 2016;42:67–73.
- Ferreira BR, Pio-Abreu JL, Reis JP, Figueiredo A. Analysis of the prevalence of mental disorders in psoriasis: the relevance of psychiatric assessment in dermatology. Psychiatr Danub. 2017;29(4):401–6.
- Kisely SR, Goldberg DP. Physical and psychiatric comorbidity in general practice. Br J Psychiatry. 1996;169(2):236–42.
- Von Korff M, Ormel J, Katon W, Lin EH. Disability and depression among high utilizers of health care. A longitudinal analysis. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1992;49(2):91–100.
- Ustün BT, Sartorius N. Mental illness in general health practice: an international study. Wiley: Chichester; 1995.
- Lobo A, García-Campayo J, Campos R, Marcos G, Pérez-Echeverría MJ. and the GMPPZ. Somatization in primary Care in Spain. I: estimates of prevalence and clinical characteristics. Br J Psychiatry. 1996;168:344–8.
- 24. Eastwood R. The relationship between physical and psychological morbidity. In: Williams P, Wilkinson G, Rawnsley K, editors. The scope of epidemiological psychiatry. London: Routledge; 1989. p. 210–21.
- Simon GE, VonKorff M. Somatization and psychiatric disorder in the NIMH epidemiologic catchment area study. Am J Psychiatry. 1991;148(11):1494–500.
- 26. Lobo-Escolar A, Saz P, Marcos G, Quintanilla MA, Campayo A, Lobo A, ZARADEMP Workgroup. Somatic and psychiatric comorbidity in the general elderly population: results from the ZARADEMP project. J Psychosom Res. 2008;65(4):347–55.
- 27. Walker J, Holm Hansen C, Martin P, Sawhney A, Thekkumpurath P, Beale C, Symeonides S, Wall L, Murray G, Sharpe M. Prevalence of depression in adults with cancer: a systematic review. Ann Oncol. 2013;24(4):895–900.
- Walker J, Burke K, Wanat M, Fisher R, Fielding J, Mulick A, Puntis S, Sharpe J, Esposti MD, Harriss E, Frost C, Sharpe M. The prevalence of depression in general hospital inpatients: a systematic review and meta-analysis of interview-based studies. Psychol Med. 2018;48(14):2285–98.
- Broen MP, Narayen NE, Kuijf ML, Dissanayaka NN, Leentjens AF. Prevalence of anxiety in Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Mov Disord. 2016;31(8):1125–33.
- 30. Tyrer P, Cooper S, Crawford M, Dupont S, Green J, Murphy D, Salkovskis P, Smith G, Wang D, Bhogal S, Keeling M, Loebenberg G, Seivewright R, Walker G, Cooper F, Evered R, Kings S, Kramo K, McNulty A, Nagar J, Reid S, Sanatinia R, Sinclair J, Trevor D, Watson C, Tyrer H. Prevalence of health anxiety problems in medical clinics. J Psychosom Res. 2011;71(6):392–4.

- 31. Valdés M, de Pablo J, Campos R, Farré JM, Girón M, Lozano M, Aibar C, García-Camba E, Martínez Calvo A, Carreras S, Stein B, Huyse F, Herzog T, Lobo A. Multinational European project and multicenter Spanish study of quality improvement of assistance on consultation-liaison psychiatry in general hospital: clinical profile in Spain. Med Clin (Barc). 2000;115(18):690–4. Spanish.
- 32. Lobo A, Folstein MF, Escolar V, Morera B, Fetting J, Bailón MJ. Higher mortality and diagnostic validity of "delirium" syndromes in oncological patients. In: Lobo A y Tres A, editores. Psicosomática y Cáncer. Madrid: Editorial Ministerio de Sanidad y Consumo; 1988. p. 89–103.
- 33. Huyse FJ, Herzog T, Lobo A, Malt UF, Opmeer BC, Stein B, Cardoso G, Creed F, Crespo MD, Guimarâes-Lopes R, Mayou R, van Moffaert M, Rigatelli M, Sakkas P, Tienari P. European consultation-liaison services and their user populations: the European Consultation-Liaison Workgroup Collaborative Study. Psychosomatics. 2000;41(4):330–8.
- Wilson JM, Jungner YG. Principles and practice of mass screening for disease. Bol Oficina Sanit Panam. 1968;65(4):281–393. Spanish
- 35. Walker A, Barrett JR, Lee W, West RM, Guthrie E, Trigwell P, Quirk A, Crawford MJ, House A. Organisation and delivery of liaison psychiatry services in general hospitals in England: results of a national survey. BMJ Open. 2018;8(8):e023091.
- 36. de Jonge P, Huyse FJ, Stiefel FC. Measuring care needs and case-mix by means of the INTERMED. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 2001;23(1):43–4.
- 37. Lobo E, Ventura T, Navio M, Santabárbara J, Kathol R, Samaniego E, Marco C, Lobo A. Identification of components of health complexity on internal medicine units by means of the INTERMED method. Int J Clin Pract. 2015;69(11):1377–86.
- 38. Wild B, Heider D, Maatouk I, Slaets J, König HH, Niehoff D, Saum KU, Brenner H, Söllner W, Herzog W. Significance and costs of complex biopsychosocial health care needs in elderly people: results of a population-based study. Psychosom Med. 2014;76(7):497–502.
- 39. Matzer F, Wisiak UV, Graninger M, Söllner W, Stilling HP, Glawischnig-Goschnik M, Lueger A, Fazekas C. Biopsychosocial health care needs at the emergency room: challenge of complexity. PLoS One. 2012;7(8):e41775.
- 40. van Reedt Dortland AKB, Peters LL, Boenink AD, Smit JH, Slaets JPJ, Hoogendoorn AW, Joos A, Latour CHM, Stiefel F, Burrus C, Guitteny-Collas M, Ferrari S. Assessment of biopsychosocial complexity and health care needs: measurement properties of the INTERMED self-assessment version. Psychosom Med. 2017;79(4):485–92.
- Kathol R, Saravay SM, Lobo A, Ormel J. Epidemiologic trends and costs of fragmentation. Med Clin North Am. 2006;90(4):549–72.

- Strain JJ, Blumenfield M. Challenges for consultation-liaison psychiatry in the 21st century. Psychosomatics. 2008;49(2):93–6.
- Goldberg D. The treatment of mental disorders in general medicine settings. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 1992;14:83–5.
- 44. Ormel J, Tiemens B. Recognition and treatment of mental illness in primary care. Towards a better understanding of a multifaceted problem. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 1995;17(3):160–4.
- 45. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Linzer M, Hahn SR, Degruy TJIFV, Brody D. Physical symptoms in primary care. Predictors of psychiatric disorders and functional impairment. Arch Family Med. 1994;3:774–9.
- Katon W, Lin E, Von Korff M, Russo J, Lipscomb P, Bush T. Somatization: a spectrum of severity. Am J Psychiatry. 1991;148(1):34–40.
- 47. Carney RM, Freedland KE, Eisen SA, Rich MW, Jaffe AS. Major depression and medication adherence in elderly patients with coronary artery disease. Health Psychol. 1995;14(1):88–90.
- 48. Ormel J, Von Korff M, Van den Brink W, Katon W, Brilman E, Oldehinkel T. Depression, anxiety, and social disability show synchrony of change in primary care patients. Am J Public Health. 1993;83(3):385–90.
- Fink P. The use of hospitalisations by persistent somatising patients. Psychol Med. 1992;22:173–80.
- Simon GE, VonKorff M, Barlow W. Health care costs of primary care patients with recognized depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1995;52(10):850–6.
- García-Campayo J, Campos R, Marcos G, Pérez-Echeverría MJ. Lobo A and the GMPPZ: somatization in primary care in Spain. II: differences between Somatizers and Psychologizers. Br J Psychiatry. 1996;168:348–53.
- 52. Scott KM, Lim C, Al-Hamzawi A, Alonso J, Bruffaerts R, Caldas-de-Almeida JM, Florescu S, de Girolamo G, Hu C, de Jonge P, Kawakami N, Medina-Mora ME, Moskalewicz J, Navarro-Mateu F, O'Neill S, Piazza M, Posada-Villa J, Torres Y, Kessler RC. Association of Mental Disorders with Subsequent Chronic Physical Conditions: world mental health surveys from 17 countries. JAMA Psychiat. 2016;73(2):150–8.
- 53. Berg SK, Rasmussen TB, Thrysoee L, Thorup CB, Borregaard B, Christensen AV, Mols RE, Juel K, Ekholm O. Mental health is a risk factor for poor outcomes in cardiac patients: findings from the national DenHeart survey. J Psychosom Res. 2018;112:66–72.
- 54. Versteeg H, Spek V, Pedersen SS, Denollet J. Type D personality and health status in cardiovascular disease populations: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2012;19(6):1373–80.
- 55. Löwe B, Lohse A, Andresen V, Vettorazzi E, Rose M, Broicher W. The development of irritable bowel

syndrome: a prospective community-based cohort study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2016;111(9):1320–9.

- 56. Mommersteeg PM, Herr R, Zijlstra WP, Schneider S, Pouwer F. Higher levels of psychological distress are associated with a higher risk of incident diabetes during 18 year follow-up: results from the British household panel survey. BMC Public Health. 2012;12:1109.
- Goebel S, Steinert A, Vierheilig C, Faller H. Correlation between depressive symptoms and perioperative pain: a prospective cohort study of patients undergoing orthopedic surgeries. Clin J Pain. 2013;29(5):392–9.
- Mayou R, Hawton K. Psychiatric disorder in the general hospital. Br J Psychiatry. 1986;149:172–90.
- Ormel J, Costa e Silva JA. The impact of psychopathology on disability and health perceptions. In: Ustün BT, Sartorius N, editors. Mental illness in general practice: an international study. Chichester: Wiley; 1995. p. 335–46.
- 60. Campayo A, de Jonge P, Roy JF, Saz P, de la Cámara C, Quintanilla MA, Marcos G, Lobo A. Depressive disorder and incident diabetes: the effect of characteristics of depression. Am J Psychiatr. 2010;167(5):580–8.
- Lyketsos CG. Depression and diabetes: more on what the relationship might be. Am J Psychiatry. 2010;167(5):496–7.
- 62. Gracia-García P, de-la-Cámara C, Santabárbara J, Lopez-Anton R, Quintanilla MA, Ventura T, Marcos G, Campayo A, Saz P, Lyketsos C, Lobo A. Depression and incident Alzheimer disease: the impact of disease severity. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2015;23(2):119–29.
- 63. Saz P, Dewey ME. Depression, depressive symptoms and mortality in persons aged 65 and over living in the community: a systematic review of the literature. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2001;16(6):622–30.
- 64. Santabárbara J, Villagrasa B, López-Antón R, Olaya B, Bueno-Notivol J, de la Cámara C, Gracia-García P, Lobo E, Lobo A. Clinically relevant anxiety and risk of Alzheimer's disease in an elderly community sample: 4.5 years of follow-up. J Affect Disord. 2019;250:16–20.
- 65. Pan A, Sun Q, Okereke OI, Rexrode KM, Hu FB. Depression and risk of stroke morbidity and mortality: a meta-analysis and systematic review. JAMA. 2011;306:1241–9.
- 66. Luppino FS, van Reedt Dortland AK, Wardenaar KJ, Bouvy PF, Giltay EJ, Zitman FG, Penninx BW. Symptom dimensions of depression and anxiety and the metabolic syndrome. Psychosom Med. 2011;73:257–64.
- Chirinos DA, Murdock KW, LeRoy AS, Fagundes C. Depressive symptom profiles, cardio-metabolic risk and inflammation: results from the MIDUS study. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2017;82:17–25.

- van Montfort E, Mommersteeg P, Spek V, Kupper N. Latent profiles of early trauma & type D personality: sex differences in cardiovascular risk markers. Compr Psychiatry. 2018;83:38–45.
- 69. Vargas-Prada S, Serra C, Martínez JM, Ntani G, Delclos GL, Palmer KT, Coggon D, Benavides FG. Psychological and culturally-influenced risk factors for the incidence and persistence of low back pain and associated disability in Spanish workers: findings from the CUPID study. Occup Environ Med. 2013;70(1):57–62.
- 70. Kulmala J, von Bonsdorff MB, Stenholm S, Törmäkangas T, von Bonsdorff ME, Nygård CH, Klockars M, Seitsamo J, Ilmarinen J, Rantanen T. Perceived stress symptoms in midlife predict disability in old age: a 28-year prospective cohort study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2013;68(8):984–91.
- Shepherd M. Evaluation of drugs in the treatment of depression. Can Psychiatr Assoc J. 1959;Suppl 4:S120.
- Stoudemire A, Fogel BS. Psychopharmacology in medical patients: an update. In: Stoudemire A, Fogel BS, editors. Medical-psychiatric practice, vol.
 Washington, D.C.: American Psychiatric Press; 1995. p. 79–149.
- Brown C, Schulberg HC, Madonia MJ, Shear MK, Mouck PR. Treatment outcomes for primary can: patients with major depression and lifetime anxiety disorders. Am J Psychiatr. 1996;153:1293–300.
- González-Torrecillas JL, Mendlewicz J, Lobo A. Repercussion of early treatment of post-stroke depression on neuropsychological rehabilitation. Int J Psychogeriatrics. 1995;7:547–60.
- Goldberg D, Gask L, O'Dowd T. The treatment of somatisation: teaching techniques of reattribution. J Psythosomatic Res. 1989;33:689–95.
- Rost K, Kashner TM, Smith RG. Effectiveness of psychiatric interventions with somatization disorders patients; improved outcomes at reduced costs. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 1994;16:381–7.
- 77. Huffman JC, Niazi SK, Rundell JR, Sharpe M, Katon WJ. Essential articles on collaborative care models for the treatment of psychiatric disorders in medical settings: a publication by the academy of psychosomatic medicine research and evidence-based practice committee. Psychosomatics. 2014;55(2):109–22.
- 78. Unützer J, Katon W, Callahan CM, Williams JW Jr, Hunkeler E, Harpole L, Hoffing M, Della Penna RD, Noël PH, Lin EH, Areán PA, Hegel MT, Tang L, Belin TR, Oishi S, Langston C, IMPACT Investigators. Improving mood-promoting access to collaborative treatment. Collaborative care management of late-life depression in the primary care setting: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2002;288(22):2836–45.
- Strong V, Waters R, Hibberd C, Murray G, Wall L, Walker J, McHugh G, Walker A, Sharpe M. Management of depression for people with can-

cer (SMaRT oncology 1): a randomised trial. Lancet. 2008;372(9632):40–8.

- 80. Herrmann-Lingen C, Beutel ME, Bosbach A, Deter HC, Fritzsche K, Hellmich M, Jordan J, Jünger J, Ladwig KH, Michal M, Petrowski K, Pieske B, Ronel J, Söllner W, Stöhr A, Weber C, de Zwaan M, Albus C, SPIRR-CAD Study Group. A stepwise psychotherapy intervention for reducing risk in coronary artery disease (SPIRR-CAD): results of an observer-blinded, multicenter, randomized trial in depressed patients with coronary artery disease. Psychosom Med. 2016;78(6):704–15.
- 81. Faller H, Schuler M, Richard M, Heckl U, Weis J, Küffner R. Effects of psycho-oncologic interventions on emotional distress and quality of life in adult patients with cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(6):782–93.
- 82. Musekamp G, Bengel J, Schuler M, Faller H. Improved self-management skills predict improvements in quality of life and depression in patients with chronic disorders. Patient Educ Couns. 2016;99(8):1355–61.
- 83. Meng K, Musekamp G, Schuler M, Seekatz B, Glatz J, Karger G, Kiwus U, Knoglinger E, Schubmann R, Westphal R, Faller H. The impact of a self-management patient education program for patients with chronic heart failure undergoing inpatient cardiac rehabilitation. Patient Educ Couns. 2016;99(7):1190–7.
- Angermann CE, Deckert J, Ertl G. Escitalopram and outcomes among patients with depression and heart failure-reply. JAMA. 2016;316(14):1494–5.
- 85. Agar MR, Lawlor PG, Quinn S, et al. Efficacy of oral risperidone, haloperidol or placebo for symptoms of delirium among patients in palliative care: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Inter Med. 2017;177(1):34–42.
- Breitbart W, Rosenfeld B, Pessin H, et al. Meaningcentered group psychotherapy: an effective intervention for improving psychological wellbeing in patients with advanced cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(7):749–54.
- Van der Spek N, Vos J, van Uden-Kraan CF, et al. Efficacy of meaning centered group psychotherapy for cancer survivors: a randomized controlled trial. Psychol Med. 2017;47(11):1990–2001.
- 88. Epstein RM, Duberstein PR, Fenton JJ, et al. Effect of a patient-centered communication intervention on oncologist-patient communication, quality of life and health care utilization in advanced cancer: the VOICE randomized trial. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3(1):92–100.
- 89. Wang CW, Chow AY, Chan CL. The effects of life review interventions on spiritual well-being, psychological distress, and quality of life in patients with terminal or advanced cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Palliat Med. 2017;31(10):883–94.

- 90. Andersson G, Cuijpers P, Calbright P, et al. Guided internet-based vs face to face cognitive behavior therapy for psychiatric and somatic disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. World Psychiatry. 2014;13(3):288–95.
- Strain JJ, Shenoy A, Strain JJ. An updated Electronic Health Record (EHR) for depression management. In: Strain JJ, Blumenfield M, editors. Depression as a systemic illness. New York: Oxford University Press; 2018. p. 255–87.
- 92. Lücke C, Gschossmann JM, Schmidt A, Gschossmann J, Lam AP, Schneider CE, Philipsen A, Müller HH. A comparison of two psychiatric service approaches: findings from the consultation vs. Liaison Psychiatry-Study. BMC Psychiatry. 2017;17(1):8.
- Wood R, Wand AP. The effectiveness of consultation-liaison psychiatry in the general hospital setting: a systematic review. J Psychosom Res. 2014;76(3):175–92.
- Wand AP, Wood R, Fossey MJ, Aitken P. Standards, efficiency and effectiveness in consultation-liaison psychiatry. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2015;49(2):104–5.
- 95. Malt UF, Huyse FJ, Herzog T, Lobo A, Rijssenbeek AJ. The ECLW Collaborative Study: III Training and reliability of ICD-10 psychiatric diagnoses in the general hospital setting–an investigation of 220 consultants from 14 European countries. European Consultation Liaison Workgroup. J Psychosom Res. 1996;41(5):451–63.
- 96. Marcos G, Santabárbara J, Lopez-Anton R, De-la-Cámara C, Gracia-García P, Lobo E, Pírez G, Menchón JM, Palomo T, Stephan BC, Brayne C, Lobo A, ZARADEMP Workgroup. Conversion to dementia in mild cognitive impairment diagnosed with DSM-5 criteria and with Petersen's criteria. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2016;133(5):378–85.
- Breitner JC. Observations on DSM-5 mild neurocognitive disorder vs. its predecessor, mild cognitive impairment. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2015;131(1):15–7.
- Lobo A. Elucidating mental disorder in liaison psychiatry: the John Hopkins 'Perspectives'. J Psychosom Res. 1996;41(1):7–11.
- Robinson RG, Jorge RE. Post-stroke depression: a review. Am J Psychiatry. 2016;173(3):221–31.
- Kirmayer LJ, Sartorius N. Cultural models and somatic syndromes. Psychosom Med. 2007;69(9):832–40.
- 101. Tavel ME. Somatic symptom disorders without known physical causes: one disease with many names? Am J Med. 2015;128(10):1054–8.
- 102. Fink P, Rosendal M. Recent developments in the understanding and management of functional somatic symptoms in primary care. Curr Opin Psychiatry. 2008;21(2):182–8.
- 103. Dimsdale J. Medically unexplained symptoms: a treacherous foundation for somatoform disorders? Psychiatr Clin North Am. 2011;34:511–3.

- 104. Dimsdale JE, Creed F, Escobar J, Sharpe M, Wulsin L, Barsky A, Lee S, Irwin M, Levenson J. Somatic symptom disorder: an important change in DSM. J Psychosom Res. 2013;75:223–8.
- 105. Toussaint A, Murray AM, Voigt K, Herzog A, Gierk B, Kroenke K, Rief W, Henningsen P, Löwe B. Development and validation of the somatic symptom disorder-B criteria scale (SSD-12). Psychosom Med. 2016, 78;(1):5–12.
- 106. Ahn J, Han DH, Hong JS, Min KJ, Lee YS, Hahm BJ, Kim SM. Features of resting-state electroencephalogram theta coherence in somatic symptom disorder compared with major depressive disorder: a Pilot Study. Psychosom Med. 2017;79(9):982–7.
- 107. Weigel A, Hüsing P, Kohlmann S, Lehmann M, Shedden-Mora M, Toussaint A, Löwe B, EURONET-SOMA Group. A European research network to improve diagnosis, treatment and care for patients with persistent somatic symptoms: work report of the EURONET-SOMA conference series. J Psychosom Res. 2017;97:136–8.
- 108. Kohlmann S, Löwe B, Shedden-Mora MC. Health Care for Persistent Somatic Symptoms across Europe: a qualitative evaluation of the EURONET-SOMA expert discussion. Front Psych. 2018;9:646.



41

Emotions and Cognitions in Bipolar Disorder

Michel Bourin

Introduction

The regulation of cognitive activities and the control of the emotional experience are determining parameters of the adaptation of an individual to its environment. Organic or functional disturbances of these processes are likely to induce pathologies clinically characterized by behavioral disorders, especially in the field of social interactions, and an alteration of the level of functioning. Thus, psychiatric diseases are frequently studied as models of pathology of the interactions between cognitions and emotions. There is cognitive impairment in people with bipolar disorder both during and between episodes. In addition, scientific studies describe a worsening of disorders during evolution.

Cognitive functions are the mental activities by which we develop a representation of our world and ourselves. They allow us to adapt to the situations we face. There are several cognitive functions recognized:

- *Language*, oral and written, whose expression and understanding can be dissociated in their attacks.
- Attention and speed of information processing.

- Memory: In the short term, and working, when the short-term stored information is worked to be restored: limited storage capacity. The long-term memory is subdivided into declarative memory, itself subdivided into episodic memory (memories) and semantics (knowledge and concepts), and a perceptual representation system (shape/structure of objects): unlimited storage capacities. The verbal memory and visual memory represent the two elements of a subdivision also commonly used.
- *Executive functions* allow the adaptation of our response to the information received: planning, mental flexibility, and inhibition.
- *Social cognitions* condition our interactions with others through the recognition of facial emotions, theory of mind, and attributive style, which group together the tendency of the subject to think for others/to determine the causes of an event.
- *Metacognition* is the knowledge/awareness of our own cognitive abilities.

Given the limitations of the diagnostic criteria defined by the nosography classifications, new readings from the clinic are needed to understand the complexity and heterogeneity of mental illnesses, particularly mood disorders. The dimensional approach of symptomatology consists of a description of clinical or psychopathological dimensions, such as cognitive and emotional disorders.

M. Bourin (🖂)

Neurobiology of Anxiety and Mood Disorder, Faculty of Medicine, University of Nantes, Nantes, France e-mail: michel.bourin@univ-nantes.fr

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_41

The aim of this chapter is to take stock of the neuropsychological profile of the bipolar patient during the euthymic period, in particular concerning working memory. We will also discuss functional disability and therapeutic perspectives to improve cognitive performance and therefore functioning.

Bipolar Disorder

As a serious global public health problem, bipolar disorder affects between 1% and 6.5% of the population according to the diagnostic criteria retained [1]. This pathology is in the sixth position in terms of years of life lost and/or lived with a handicap [2]. The excess mortality of multifactorial bipolar patients can be explained by a risk of suicide 12.3 times higher than that of the general population [3]. The functional impact is major, since two thirds of the subjects suffering from bipolar disorder are concerned by a professional disinheritance, while four-fifths of them describe a significant alteration of the family and social functioning. The consequences of bipolar disorder are all the more worrying since this pathology could frequently start during adolescence or even in childhood [4].

Conventionally, bipolar disorder is a cyclical mood disorder in which acute phases (depression, mania, mixed mania, hypomania) alternate with periods of normothymia considered as asymptomatic [5]. However, certain clinical data, such as the demonstration of hypomanic symptoms during certain depressive syndromes (mixed depression) [6] or the demonstration of persistent cognitive and emotional disorders during the euthymic phases, have allowed to identify subsyndromic or atypical forms of bipolar disorder that only a dimensional approach to symptomatology would allow to recognize and manage. The exploration of cognitive functions and emotional processes in bipolar patients is currently unavoidable, both for the purpose of diagnosis and prognosis [7].

According to the World Health Organization, bipolar disorder is one of the world's ten most costly and disabling diseases. The usual management of this pathology includes a psychiatric follow-up whose frequency is adapted to the thymic state and the setting up of a mood stabilizer treatment. However, the future of patients with bipolar disorder remains unsatisfactory. The psychosocial repercussions, aggravated by the frequent presence of somatic and psychiatric comorbidities, are important: socio-occupational disinheritance, low socio-economic level, and lower quality of life. Functional impairment is thus found during the phases of acute decompensation but also in the euthymic period via various factors, including cognitive factors. In fact, 30% of euthymic bipolar patients have cognitive deficits, which can be objectified by neuropsychological tests. Nearly two thirds have subjective cognitive complaints [8]. Managing cognitive disorders appears to be an important issue to improve the functioning, the quality of life of the patient, and the stability of the disorder [9].

Cognitive Deficits of Bipolar Patients

Attention disorders, working memory and executive functions are reported in patients with a diagnosis of bipolar disorder [10]. More specifically, we find in bipolar depression disturbances of attention, an alteration of immediate and delayed memory recall capabilities as well as an alteration of the executive functions involved in particular in decision-making and problem solving. These disturbances, which do not differ qualitatively from those found in unipolar depression, could partly be attributed to a decrease in motivation, to concentration problems, or to psychomotor retardation [11].

The few studies that have evaluated cognitive functions during manic or hypomanic episodes find, in these patients, deficits in attention and executive functions related to errors due to impulsive choices [12]. Cognitive functions seem to frequently normalize when returning to euthymia. However, inconsistently, cognitive disorders are reported in normothymic patients. However, it is likely that the importance of these disorders is overstated by the inclusion of patients with subs sub-syndromic thymic symptomatology. Moreover, the frequency of addictive behaviors, especially alcohol, and the importance of suicide attempts in these patients may be a bias factor in the evaluation of cognitive disturbances directly induced by bipolar disorder [13]. Cognitive deficits in the euthymic period affect the memory and attention domains, the speed of treatment, and the executive functions. The overall intellectual level, however, does not appear to be altered. No significant difference in intelligence quotient is found between patients with bipolar disorder and healthy controls [14]. Finally, patients diagnosed with bipolar disorder most often benefit from complex treatments including one or more mood stabilizers. Data on the impact of these treatments on cognitive functions are contradictory, with longitudinal studies comparing patients treated with untreated patients being impossible to perform because of their unethical nature [15]. For example, some lithium studies report a slight disruption of attention and working memory and a negative effect on the speed of information processing. These data are moderated by a [6–]year longitudinal study, which showed no decline in cognitive performance in patients treated with lithium and data showing a neuroprotective effect of this treatment [16]. Attentional difficulties are sometimes reported with valproate and carbamazepine, two other mood-stabilizing treatments. Finally, other treatments commonly used in the treatment of people with bipolar disorder may impair cognitive function [17]. For example, benzodiazepines may impair memory function, and neuroleptics may be associated with attention maintenance difficulties. Given the links between thymic episodes and cognitive difficulties, the absence of structural brain damage, and the lack of evidence for a degenerative process, cognitive disturbances are more likely to be related to neurological functional alterations involving mood and cognitions. In addition to thymic episodes, the persistence of impaired cognitive functions should lead to sub-syndromic thymic symptomatology, treatment side effects, or disturbances associated with concomitant disorders that may contribute to cognitive deficits [18].

During normothymic periods, the overall intellectual functioning is comparable to that of healthy subjects. In contrast, the performance of bipolar patients is significantly disrupted in many neuropsychological tests. According to a meta-analysis [19], the executive functions are mainly concerned, as evidenced by the results obtained in the Wisconsin card sorting test which implies planning, categorization, and inhibition capabilities [20]. Category fluency and working memory are affected in most studies. The performance of euthymic bipolar patients is lower than that of control subjects on the color Stroop test, which explores cognitive inhibition and selective attention capabilities by measuring the interference between the two dimensions of the same stimulus [21]. The purpose of this test is to name the color of the stimuli, which can be nonwords (control condition) or color names written in a different color. In this last condition, called interference, the two dimensions (the word and the color) are in competition. The denomination time of the color is then greater than in the control condition. This "Stroop effect" translates the interference of the automatic reading of the word on the name of the color. In addition to selective attention, sustained attention is also disrupted [22]. Memory and learning abilities are lower than those of healthy subjects, especially in a verbal modality. On the other hand, tests evaluating visuomotor skills, on the other hand, showed contradictory results.

Cognitive deficits during the euthymic period seem to be the result of multiple factors, both developmental and neurotoxic, and remain influenced by some markers of bipolar disorder. Authors have proposed a multifactorial model that can account for cognitive disturbances observed during the course of this disorder [23]. These would be the result of:

- The initial etiopathogenetic process and neurodevelopmental abnormalities
- The course of the disease, in particular the number and duration of thymic episodes, the

age of onset, and the duration of development of the disorder

- Psychotropic treatments both by their iatrogenic or neuroprotective effect
- Comorbidities, both psychiatric and somatic
- The aging of the subject

These cognitive disorders are more marked during the acute phases of bipolar disorder. Many clinical arguments (slowdown or psychomotor hyperactivity, distractibility, impulse control disorders, behavioral disinhibition, limited awareness of disorders) testify to the existence of underlying cognitive deficits. In the depressive phase as in the manic phase, the different aspects of executive functions, verbal memory, selective and sustained attention, categorial and verbal fluency, visuomotor and spatial skills, and, according to the studies, global intellectual functioning, are deficient compared to healthy subjects [24]. The importance of cognitive deficits during acute episodes made it possible to suggest that these deficits were secondary to functional brain abnormalities characterizing these episodes. Several studies in functional imaging during depressive states have described hypoactivation of the prefrontal cortex in its dorsolateral, subgenual, anterior cingulate, and medial portions. It was shown that activation of the dorsolateral and anterior cingulate cortex decreased, while that of the ventral prefrontal cortex increased [25]; the opposite phenomenon could be observed in mania [26].

These changes in brain metabolism may reflect changes in local synaptic activity and neurotransmission involved in cognitive deficits present during acute episodes. Supporting this hypothesis, numerous studies have shown an inverse correlation between the intensity of depressive symptomatology and the level of activity of the prefrontal cortex; for example, it was shown [27] that hemodynamic activity in the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex correlated with the intensity of depressive symptomatology.

In addition, cognitive impairment is thought to correlate with structural brain abnormalities found in patients with bipolar disease. It has been shown that deficits in tasks requiring rapid information processing or involvement of attentional processes are correlated with hyperintensities of the white matter in the frontal cortex. These structural abnormalities may favor alteration of cognitive function over time in bipolar patients, explaining the association between the number of episodes and neuropsychological performance. Thus, patients whose clinical history is punctuated by multiple thymic relapses present significantly greater ventricular enlargement than patients assessed during their first episodes [28]. According to all these findings, cognitive impairment is a status marker of bipolar disorder. However, the persistence of cognitive impairment in euthymia may challenge this model. In addition, a functional MRI study performed during a color Stroop test showed that activation of the left ventral prefrontal cortex was aborted in bipolar patients compared to healthy subjects, regardless of their affective status [29]. Thus, the functional changes associated with episodes of thymic decompensation are not enough to explain cognitive disorders.

Some arguments suggest that the disturbance of cognitions is a premorbid anomaly underpinned by genetic vulnerability factors, constituting a trait marker of the disease. Thus, bipolar patients with a family history of bipolarity show visuomotor and attentional performance inferior to those observed in sporadic cases of the pathology [30]. Studies have shown that neuropsychological outcomes in healthy relatives of bipolar patients are lower than in control subjects; in particular, an inhibition deficit in the color Stroop test, marked in euthymic bipolar patients, would also be observable in their relatives [31]. These subclinical cognitive abnormalities, called cognitive endophenotypes, would be privileged tools. Deficits of cognitive function are largely implicated in the functional disability of patients with bipolar disorder [32]. The presence of residual cognitive deficits is associated with a lower level of functioning [19]. These cognitive, longlasting, and sometimes severe deficits can also contribute to the direct costs of the disease: patients with poor cognitive functioning may have limited insight, leading to poor compliance, increased risk of relapse, and increased hospitalization. In addition, the management skills of daily living are more marked in these patients, constituting a factor of institutionalization. Indirect costs (professional disinheritance, family burden) are also favored by the cognitive disorders of bipolar patients.

Emotional Processes in Bipolar Disorder

Mania and depression have long been regarded as the two poles of a one-dimensional axis, which reflects the use of the term "bipolar." The thymic exaltation of the maniacal patient (playful joviality, morbid euphoria, extravagant presentation, hyper syntonic contact) is the counterpart of the sadness of the depressed mood (lived generally pessimistic with many feelings of dissatisfaction, devaluation, and moral pain characterized by the unpleasant tone of the affect). However, the increasingly frequent description of mixed forms (mixed mania, dysphoric mania, agitated depression, mixed depression) suggests understanding the pathology of emotions on a non-qualitative but quantitative side. Thus, emotional hyperreactivity is at the very heart of bipolar illness; its persistence during euthymia would reflect persistent emotional instability, likely to favor thymic relapses when a stressful life event occurs [33]. In addition to disorders of the emotional experience, whose quality and intensity are inappropriate to the context, abnormalities in the recognition of emotional stimuli have been reported in bipolar patients. Compared to healthy subjects, depressed patients have an overall deficit of recognition of fundamental emotions [34, 35] especially joy and sadness [36]. Studies suggest that in manic patients, there is a lack of identification of facial emotions compared to healthy subjects [37]. Explorations of emotion identification in euthymic patients yield conflicting results [38]. It is therefore not yet established whether the disorders of the recognition of the emotions constitute a marker of trait or state. Emotional processes in bipolar disorder engagement in potentially harmful activities for the identification of the alleles involved in the development of the disease.

The disorders of the recognition of the emotions could concern specifically certain categories of emotion. Thus, many studies find a preferential treatment of faces expressing fear [39]. It was found better performance in bipolar patients at recognizing disgust [40] and to the recognition of fear [41]. In a study exploring emotional expressivity, depressed subjects had fewer electromyographic variations than healthy subjects during emotional presentation [42].

Bipolar disorder appears to be associated with an increased size of limbic structures, particularly the amygdala and caudate nucleus [43]. A decrease in the volume of the prefrontal and subgenual cortex is, moreover, one of the most consistent results [44]. In the depressive phase, the presentation of an aversive stimulus after induction of sadness is accompanied by a reduction of metabolism in the lateral prefrontal cortex but an increase in the anterior cingulate cortex and insula [45]. The functional exploration of emotional tasks in manic patients is still poorly documented. Nevertheless, interesting results emerge from studies conducted during tests of executive functions; hypoactivity of the prefrontal cortex is observed, but hyperactivity of the anterior cingulate cortex and ventral striatum correlates with the intensity of mania [46]. These results may reflect a tendency for these patients performing tasks correctly to have to make special efforts to regulate their affective behaviors [47]. In a similar way, hypoactivation of the prefrontal cortex contrasts with hyperactivation of subcortical limbic structures in patients with euthymia in response to facial expressions of fear [48]. All of these data suggest, on the one hand, a hypersensitivity of the ventral system involved in the identification of emotions and the production of affective states, on the other hand, a deficit of the dorsal system of regulation of emotional behavior. These neurofunctional abnormalities could be at the origin of certain specific symptoms of the depressive and manic phases, in particular the thymic and emotional lability and the distractibility.

Emotion Disorders and Cognition Interactions

The deficiency of identification of the facial emotions testifies to the difficulties encountered by the bipolar patients for the realization of complex emotional tasks which call for the bringing into play of high-level cognitive processes. Thus, the emotional nature of the stimulus could influence cognitive functioning.

The use of neuropsychological tests based on the use of emotionally charged material reveals that the processing of information is biased according to the nature of the emotional content. Such biases could be involved in maintaining or even developing symptomatology [49]. In depressed patients, one of the first studies to highlight this phenomenon evaluated the recall of past experiences compared to a population of healthy subjects. The results indicated that, compared to control subjects, depressed subjects, invited to recall pleasant and unpleasant memories, evoked unpleasant memories more quickly than pleasant ones, especially since the depressive syndrome was severe [50]. Subsequently, such biases have been described in the processes of evaluation, social judgment, decision-making, attention, and memory [51]. The demonstration of an emotional bias is more recent in mania. The performance of depressed and manic patients was compared to those of the healthy subjects during a task requiring the activation of the processes of inhibition and emotional treatment, the emotional go-no-go. Patients must respond as quickly as possible to negative or positive emotional valence words and inhibit their response to stimuli in the emotional category in competition. Both groups of patients show mood-congruent moods: negative stimuli in the depressed, positive stimuli in the maniacs [52].

The emotional Stroop test is a version of the color Stroop test designed to explore the influence of the emotional valence of stimuli on the processes of inhibition and selective attention [53]. The stimuli words used in this test are neutral or strong emotional valence. In the majority of studies, the Stroop effect is more pronounced when the emotional valence of words is relative

to participants' concerns. This is particularly true in subjects with emotional disorders: the Stroop effect is all the most important as the emotional valence of the words specifically refers to the psychopathology of the disorder.

Such attentional bias towards emotionally salient information for the subject results in a reduction in the amount of attentional resources available to name the color of the stimuli; this emotional interference results in an increase in the execution time of the task [54].

Bipolar patients in the depressive phase exhibit an attentional bias towards items whose valence, depressive, is congruent with mood [55]. However, the authors also observed a depressive bias in manic patients. It was previously found, in hypomanic patients, a propensity for interference with depressive items, but not with cheerful items [56].

These results suggest that manic symptoms may be defenses against depressive emotionality. Consistent with this hypothesis, we have shown that the interference effect was pronounced in manic bipolar patients when the emotional valence of the words referred to depressive mood; however, our results also showed an interference effect on manic theme words; thus, bipolar patients in the acute phase have an inhibition deficit regardless of the valence, negative or positive, of the stimuli; such an interference effect has not been observed for neutral stimuli. Emotional interference could thus represent a cognitive marker of emotional hyperreactivity [57]. In patients with bipolar disorder in the normothymic period, the naming time of the neutral and affective stimuli during an emotional Stroop test is, as in the acute phase, greater than that of the control subjects, which confirms that the inhibition deficit would be a trait marker [58]. In addition, the relative hypoactivation of the medial ventral prefrontal cortex, involved in inhibition processes, and the amygdala, a fundamental limbic structure in the treatment of emotions, shows that emotional interference in euthymic bipolar patients is associated with functional abnormalities of the cortico-subcortical networks underlying cognitive and emotional functioning.

References

- Angst J, Gamma A. Prevalence of bipolar disorders: traditional and novel approaches. Clin Appr Bipolar Dis. 2002;1:10–4.
- Whiteford HA, Degenhardt L, Rehm J, Baxter AJ, Ferrari AJ, Erskine HE, Charlson FJ, Norman RE, Flaxman AD, Johns N, Burstein R, Murray CJ, Vos T. Global burden of disease attributable to mental and substance use disorders: findings from the global burden of disease study 2010. Lancet. 2013;382(9904):1575–86.
- Angst F, Stassen HH, Clayton PJ, Angst J. Mortality of patients with mood disorders: follow-up over 34-38 years. J Affect Disord. 2002;68:167–81.
- Connor DF, Ford JD, Pearson GS, Scranton VL, Dusad A. Early-onset bipolar disorder: characteristics and outcomes in the clinic. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol. 2017;27:875–83.
- Bourin M, Bipolar disorder is now a more common disease to be treated. Theranostics Brain Disorder. 2017;1(3):1–2.
- Muneer A. Mixed states in bipolar disorder: etiology, pathogenesis and treatment. Chonnam Med J. 2017;53:1–13.
- Lima IMM, Peckham AD, Johnson SL. Cognitive deficits in bipolar disorders: implications for emotion. Clin Psychol Rev. 2018;59:126–36.
- Martino DJ, Strejilevich SA, Marengo E, Ibañez A, Scápola M, Igoa A. Toward the identification of neurocognitive subtypes in euthymic patients with bipolar disorder. J Affect Disord. 2014;167:118–24.
- MacQueen GM, Memedovich KA. Cognitive dysfunction in major depression and bipolar disorder: assessment and treatment options. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2017;71:18–27.
- Dickinson T, Becerra R, Coombes J. Executive functioning deficits among adults with Bipolar Disorder (types I and II): a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Affect Disord. 2017;218:407–27.
- Thomas-Ollivier V, Foyer E, Bulteau S, Pichot A, Valriviere P, Sauvaget A, Deschamps T. Cognitive component of psychomotor retardation in unipolar and bipolar depression: is verbal fluency a relevant marker? Impact of repetitive transcranial stimulation. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2017;71:612–23.
- Colom F, Vieta E. Sudden glory revisited: cognitive contents of hypomania. Psychother Psychosom. 2007;76:278–88.
- Varo C, Murru A, Salagre E, Jiménez E, Solé B, Montejo L, Carvalho AF, Stubbs B, Grande I, Martínez-Arán A, Vieta E, Reinares M. Behavioral addictions in bipolar disorders: a systematic review. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 2019;29:76–97.
- Arts B, Jabben N, Krabbendam L, van Os J. A 2-year naturalistic study on cognitive functioning in bipolar disorder. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2011;123:190–205.
- Şentürk Cankorur V, Demirel H, Atbaşoğlu C. Cognitive functioning in euthymic bipolar patients

on monotherapy with novel antipsychotics or mood stabilizers. Noro Psikiyatr Ars. 2017;54:244–50.

- 16. Bourne C, Aydemir O, Balanzá-Martínez V, Bora E, Brissos S, Cavanagh JT, Clark L, Cubukcuoglu Z, Dias VV, Dittmann S, Ferrier IN, Fleck DE, Frangou S, Gallagher P, Jones L, Kieseppä T, Martínez-Aran A, Melle I, Moore PB, Mur M, Pfennig A, Raust A, Senturk V, Simonsen C, Smith DJ, Bio DS, Soeirode-Souza MG, Stoddart SD, Sundet K, Szöke A, Thompson JM, Torrent C, Zalla T, Craddock N, Andreassen OA, Leboyer M, Vieta E, Bauer M, Worhunsky PD, Tzagarakis C, Rogers RD, Geddes JR, Goodwin GM. Neuropsychological testing of cognitive impairment in euthymic bipolar disorder: an individual patient data meta-analysis. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2013;128:149–62.
- 17. Pigoni A, Mandolini GM, Delvecchio G, Bressi C, Soares JC, Brambilla P. A focus on valproate and cognitive deficits in Bipolar Disorders: a mini-review: special section on "Translational and Neuroscience Studies in Affective Disorders" Section Editor, Maria Nobile MD, PhD. J Affect Disord. 2019. pii: S0165-0327, 31351-31355.
- Bora E, Harrison BJ, Yücel M, Pantelis C. Cognitive impairment in euthymic major depressive disorder: a meta-analysis. Psychol Med. 2013;43:2017–26.
- Robinson LJ, Thompson JM, Gallagher P, Goswami U, Young AH, Ferrier IN, Moore PB. A meta-analysis of cognitive deficits in euthymic patients with bipolar disorder. J Affect Disord. 2006;93:105–15.
- Berg EA. A simple objective technique for measuring flexibility in thinking. J Gen Psychol. 1948;39:15–22.
- 21. Stroop JR. Studies of interference in serial verbal reactions. J Exp Psychol. 1935;18:643–62.
- 22. Clark L, Kempton MJ, Scarnà A, Grasby PM, Goodwin GM. Sustained attention-deficit confirmed in euthymic bipolar disorder but not in first-degree relatives of bipolar patients or euthymic unipolar depression. Biol Psychiatry. 2005;57:183–7.
- Gildengers AG, Mulsant BH, Al Jurdi RK, et al. The relationship of bipolar disorder lifetime duration and vascular burden to cognition in older adults. Bipolar Disord. 2010;12:851–8.
- Quraishi S, Frangou S. Neuropsychology of bipolar disorder : a review. J Affect Disord. 2002;72:209–26.
- Ramirez-Mahaluf JP, Perramon J, Otal B, Villoslada P, Compte A. Subgenual anterior cingulate cortex controls sadness-induced modulations of cognitive and emotional network hubs. Sci Rep. 2018;8:8566.
- Bora E, Vahip S, Gonul AS, Akdeniz F, Alkan M, Ogut M, Eryavuz A. Evidence for theory of mind deficits in euthymic patients with bipolar disorder. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2005;112:110–6.
- Bench CJ, Friston KJ, Brown RG, Scott LC, Frackowiak RS, Dolan RJ. The anatomy of melancholia–focal abnormalities of cerebral blood flow in major depression. Psychol Med. 1992;22:607–15.
- Strakowski SM, DelBello MP, Zimmerman ME, Getz GE, Mills NP, Ret J, Shear P, Adler CM. Ventricular and periventricular structural volumes in first- versus

multiple-episode bipolar disorder. Am J Psychiatry. 2002;159:1841–7.

- 29. Blumberg HP, Leung HC, Skudlarski P, Lacadie CM, Fredericks CA, Harris BC, Charney DS, Gore JC, Krystal JH, Peterson BS. A functional magnetic resonance imaging study of bipolar disorder: state- and trait-related dysfunction in ventral prefrontal cortices. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2003;60:601–9.
- 30. Tabarés-Seisdedos R, Balanzá-Martinez V, Salazar-Fraile J, Selva-Vera G, Leal-Cercós C, Gómez-Beneyto M. Specific executive/attentional deficits in patients with schizophrenia or bipolar disorder who have a positive family history of psychosis. J Psychiatr Res. 2003;37:479–86.
- 31. Correa-Ghisays P, Sánchez-Ortí JV, Ayesa-Arriola R, Setién-Suero E, Balanzá-Martínez V, Selva-Vera G, Ruiz-Ruiz JC, Vila-Francés J, Martinez-Aran A, Vivas-Lalinde J, Conforte-Molina C, San-Martín C, Martínez-Pérez C, Fuentes-Durá I, Crespo-Facorro B, Tabarés-Seisdedos R. Visual memory dysfunction as a neurocognitive endophenotype in bipolar disorder patients and their unaffected relatives. Evidence from a 5-year follow-up Valencia study. J Affect Disord. 2019;257:31–7.
- McTeague LM, Goodkind MS, Etkin A. Transdiagnostic impairment of cognitive control in mental illness. J Psychiatr Res. 2016;83:37–46.
- 33. Sam SP, Nisha A, Varghese PJ. Stressful life events and relapse in bipolar affective disorder: a cross-sectional study from a tertiary Care Center of Southern India. Indian J Psychol Med. 2019;4:61–7.
- 34. Aldinger M, Stopsack M, Barnow S, Rambau S, Spitzer C, Schnell K, Ulrich I. The association between depressive symptoms and emotion recognition is moderated by emotion regulation. Psychiatry Res. 2013;205:59–66.
- Kohler CG, Hoffman LJ, Eastman LB, Healey K, Moberg PJ. Facial emotion perception in depression and bipolar disorder: a quantitative review. Psychiatry Res. 2011;188:303–9.
- Péron J, El Tamer S, Grandjean D, Leray E, Travers D, Drapier D, Vérin M, Millet B. Major depressive disorder skews the recognition of emotional prosody. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2011;35:987–96.
- Rocca CC, Ev H, Caetano SC, Lafer B. Facial emotion recognition in bipolar disorder: a critical review. Braz J Psychiatry. 2009;31:171–80.
- 38. de Brito Ferreira Fernandes F, Gigante AD, Berutti M, Amaral JA, de Almeida KM, de Almeida Rocca CC, Lafer B, Nery FG. Facial emotion recognition in euthymic patients with bipolar disorder and their unaffected first-degree relatives. Compr Psychiatry. 2016;68:18–23.
- Hale WW. Judgment of facial expressions and depression persistence. Psychiatry Res. 1998;80:265–74.
- Harmer CJ, Grayson L, Goodwin GM. Enhanced recognition of disgust in bipolar illness. Biol Psychiatry. 2002;51:298–304.

- Yurgelun-Todd DA, Gruber SA, Kanayama G, Killgore WD, Baird AA, Young AD. fMRI during affect discrimination in bipolar affective disorder. Bipolar Disord. 2000;2:237–48.
- Greden JF, Genero N, Price HL, Feinberg M, Levine S. Facial electromyography in depression. Subgroup differences. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1986;43:269–74.
- Price JL, Drevets WC. Neurocircuitry of mood disorders. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2010;35:192–216.
- Marvel CL, Paradiso S. Cognitive and neurological impairment in mood disorders. Psychiatr Clin North Am. 2004;27:19.
- 45. Drevets WC, Price JL, Maura L. Furey Brain structural and functional abnormalities in mood disorders: implications for neurocircuitry models of depression. Brain Struct Funct. 2008;213:93–118.
- 46. Kotzalidis GD, Rapinesi C, Savoja V, Cuomo I, Simonetti A, Ambrosi E, Panaccione I, Gubbini S, De Rossi P, De Chiara L, Janiri D, Sani G, Koukopoulos AE, Manfredi G, Napoletano F, Caloro M, Pancheri L, Puzella A, Callovini G, Angeletti G, Del Casale A. Neurobiological evidence for the primacy of mania hypothesis. Curr Neuropharmacol. 2017;15:339–52.
- 47. Megías A, Gutiérrez-Cobo MJ, Gómez-Leal R, Cabello R, Fernández-Berrocal P. Performance on emotional tasks engaging cognitive control depends on emotional intelligence abilities: an ERP study. Sci Rep. 2017;7:16446.
- 48. Kerestes R, Bhagwagar Z, Nathan PJ, Meda SA, Ladouceur CD, Maloney K, Matuskey D, Ruf B, Saricicek A, Wang F, Pearlson GD, Phillips ML, Blumberg HP. Prefrontal cortical response to emotional faces in individuals with major depressive disorder in remission. Psychiatry Res. 2012;202:30–7.
- 49. Bland AR, Roiser JP, Mehta MA, Schei T, Boland H, Campbell-Meiklejohn DK, Emsley RA, Munafo MR, Penton-Voak IS, Seara-Cardoso A, Viding E, Voon V, Sahakian BJ, Robbins TW, Elliott R. EMOTICOM: a neuropsychological test battery to evaluate emotion, motivation, impulsivity, and social cognition. Front Behav Neurosci. 2016;10:25.
- Lloyd GG, Lishman WA. Effect of depression on the speed of recall of pleasant and unpleasant experiences. Psychol Med. 1975;5:173–80.
- Speer ME, Bhanji JP, Delgado MR. Savoring the past: positive memories evoke value representations in the striatum. Neuron. 2014;84:847–56.
- Murphy FC, Sahakian BJ, Rubinsztein JS, Michael A, Rogers RD, Robbins TW, Paykel ES. Emotional bias and inhibitory control processes in mania and depression. Psychol Med. 1999;29:1307–21.
- Isaac L, Vrijsen JN, Eling P, van Oostrom I, Speckens A, Becker ES. Verbal and facial-emotional Stroop tasks reveal specific attentional interferences in sad mood. Brain Behav. 2012;2:74–83.
- Williams JM, Mathews A, MacLeod C. The emotional Stroop task and psychopathology. Psychol Bull. 1996;120:3–24.
- 55. García-Blanco AC, Perea M, Livianos L. Moodcongruent bias and attention shifts in the dif-

ferent episodes of bipolar disorder. Cogn Emot. 2013;27(6):1114-21.

- Bentall RP, Thompson M. Emotional Stroop performance and the manic defence. Br J Clin Psychol. 1990;29:235–7.
- Petrovic P, Castellanos FX. Top-down dysregulationfrom ADHD to emotional instability. Front Behav Neurosci. 2016;10:70.
- Besnier N, Richard F, Zendjidjian X, Kaladjian A, Mazzola-Pomietto P, Adida M, Azorin JM. Stroop and emotional Stroop interference in unaffected relatives of patients with schizophrenic and bipolar disorders: distinct markers of vulnerability? World J Biol Psychiatry. 2009;10:809–18.



42

Cannabis and Psychosis: A Causal Association

Eduardo A. Leiderman

Introduction

The Addiction Office of the United Nations has reported that 2.5% of the human population consumes cannabis [1]. In Argentina, a recent study found that 17% of the population consumes or has consumed cannabis [2]. Moreover, 18.4% of this group is dependent on this drug. Almost 3% of the teenagers between 12 and 17 years old has consumed marijuana in the last month, and 20% believes that to use occasionally cannabis is not risky. These numbers show us that cannabis use is highly expanded. Therefore, it is quite necessary to study and investigate the consequences of its use and to spread the information between the users.

Cannabis components act on the endocannabinoid system of our body. Basically, there exist two well-known receptors in this system: CB_1 and CB_2 . CB_1 is presynaptically expressed in glutamatergic and GABAergic neurons. It modulates the release of these two neurotransmitters. This receptor exists principally in the cerebellum, hippocampus, and frontal neocortex. Also, it can be found in the basal ganglia, thalamus, spinal cord, liver, lung, and adipocytes. CB_2 receptor is mainly in the periphery: lymph nodes, spleen, endothelial, and immune cells. It acts as an immunomodulator.

The neurotransmitters of the endocannabinoid system are the following:

- 1. Anandamide (AEA): It was discovered in 1992. It is synthesized in the cell membrane and is transported from the synapsis down to the interior of the cell. It is a partial agonist of CB_1 and CB_2 receptor.
- 2. 2-Arachidonoylglycerol (2-AG): It is the most abundant in the brain and is total agonist of CB₁ and CB₂ receptor.

When the intracellular calcium augments, the postsynaptic neuron releases the endocannabinoids. They are retrograde neurotransmitters and act on the presynaptic neuron mainly inhibiting the release of GABA and glutamate. These endocannabinoids also decrease the release of dopamine, serotonin, acetylcholine, and norepinephrine. They intervene in neurodevelopment, neuronal proliferation, migration, synaptogenesis, metabolism, emotions, pain, memory, and learning [3].

Cannabis plant has more than 100 components. Cannabinol was the first one isolated in 1899, cannabidiol (CBD) in 1963, and delta-9tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) in 1964. THC is the main component of herbal cannabis and constitutes 1–20% of its total. It is a partial agonist of

E. A. Leiderman (🖂)

Faculty of Social Sciences, Universidad de Palermo, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Psychiatric Emergencies Hospital "Marcelo T. de Alvear", Buenos Aires, Argentina

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_42

 CB_1 and CB_2 and produces the principal cognitive and psychotomimetic effects. Cannabidiol, on the other hand, is less than 4% of the plant. It has antagonistic effects in receptors CB_1 and CB_2 and inverse agonism in CB_2 , which produces hypotension, anxiolytic, anticonvulsant, antiinflammatory, and antipsychotic effects. It reduces the psychomimetic and amnestic effects of THC [3].

Schubart et al. [4] described an inverse relationship between cannabidiol content in marijuana use and autoreported positive symptoms in a sample of 1877 subjects in the Netherlands in 2011. These facts led researchers to test this substance as an antipsychotic. In 2012, Lewecke and others [5] published a study that compares the use of cannabidiol with amisulpride in 39 patients with schizophrenia that were between 18 and 50 years old. After 4 weeks, both drugs reduced positive, negative, and general symptoms, measured by the PANSS scale, without difference in efficacy between them. However, cannabidiol was better tolerated than amisulpride, with less extrapyramidal symptoms, weight gain, or hyperprolactinemia. The antipsychotic effect of cannabidiol was interpreted as a result of its partial agonism at dopamine D₂ receptors and the upregulation of the concentrations of the endocannabinoid anandamide due to the inhibition of its reuptake and degradation [6].

In spite of the deleterious effect of THC, in the USA, studies of confiscated cannabis have revealed that concentration of THC has increased in the last years as well as the THC/cannabidiol rate [7].

Cannabis-Psychosis Association

The association of cannabis and psychosis is well known since a long time ago. Jacques Moreau (1804–1884), a psychiatrist, was a member of the Parisian group, "The Club of the Hashish-Eaters" (Club des Hashishins), dedicated to the exploration of drug-induced experiences. Members of this group included Victor Hugo, Alexandre Dumas, and Honoré de Balzac, among others. In 1845, Moreau wrote the book *Du haschisch et de* *l'alienation mentale* (Haschisch and the mental alienation) where he first described the association between cannabis and psychosis: "...psychotic reactions...lasting a few hours, but occasionally as long as a week...the reaction seemed dose related and...included paranoid ideation, illusions, hallucinations, delusions, depersonalization, confusion, restlessness and excitement..." [8].

Nowadays, we can describe three types of psychotic outcomes with cannabis:

- 1. The acute transient psychosis that starts with cannabis use and may last hours or days
- The acute persistent psychosis that also starts with cannabis exposure but outlast the period of intoxication and therefore can last weeks
- The chronic recurrent psychosis that may start with exposure or after weeks and months but lasts forever and is clinically indistinguishable of schizophrenia (although some particularities have been observed)

As we see, the association between cannabis and psychosis was well known for the past two centuries. However the kind of relationship was controversial: while some researchers described a causal relationship, others supposed that cannabis was a self- medication form for psychotic people. How can the type of relationship between cannabis and psychosis be disentangled?

Robert Koch, the Nobel Prize winner of 1905 created postulates that can be used for the determination of the cause of infectious diseases:

- 1. The organism must always be present, in every case of the disease.
- 2. The organism must be isolated from a host containing the disease and grown in pure culture.
- Samples of the organism taken from pure culture must cause the same disease when inoculated into a healthy, susceptible animal in the laboratory.
- The organism must be isolated from the inoculated animal and must be identified as the same original organism first isolated from the originally diseased host.

These postulates work very well with the infectious diseases but not too well for chronic diseases with several causal environmental contributors. With that in mind, Austin Bradford Hill (1897–1991) an economist, epidemiologist, and statistician proposed nine principles to establish a causal relationship between a presumed cause and an observed effect. Indeed, he definitively demonstrated the casual relationship between smoking and lung cancer in his casecontrol study with Richard Doll, "Smoking and carcinoma of the lung: preliminary report" published in London in 1950 [9].

The nine principles of Hill's criteria for causation are:

- Strength of association: the larger the association, the more likely that the association is causal. This can be observed in observational studies with odds ratio (the possibility that the condition appears in a sample compared with the possibility that it appears in other sample) or similar statistical measures. In cohort studies, relative risk (the ratio of the probability of an outcome in an exposed group to the probability of an outcome in an unexposed group) is used.
- Consistency or reproducibility or replicability: The likelihood of an effect is increased if the association is observed by different persons in different places with different samples and different study designs.
- 3. Specificity: The more specific an association between a factor and an effect is, the bigger the probability of a causal relationship. However, it is not conclusive due to the fact that a factor can cause other illnesses or diseases than the one studied.
- 4. Temporality: The cause always precedes the effect (as the Latin expression says: "post hoc ergo propter hoc").
- 5. Biological gradient: Greater exposure should generally lead to greater incidence of the effect. It refers to the dose-response relationship.
- 6. Plausibility: A plausible biological mechanism between cause and effect is needed to explain the causal association. But we must

keep in mind that the interpretation of biological plausibility depends on the current state of knowledge.

- Coherence: The cause-and-effect story should make sense with all knowledge available to the researcher. The cause must be reasonable and not contradict science principles.
- Experiment: Evidence drawn from experimental manipulation may lead to the strongest support for causal inference. But sometimes there are ethical restrictions for such experimentations.
- 9. Analogy: The existence of other cause-effect relationships analogous to the one under study supports a causal interpretation.

Strength of Association

Nowadays there are a lot of epidemiological studies that reveal an association between cannabis and psychosis:

The first study that observed this association was published by Andreasson et al. in 1987 [10]. These authors asked a cohort of 45,570 Swedish conscripts about their consumption of cannabis. The cohort was followed 15 years. The relative risk for schizophrenia was 2.4 in the group that reported use of cannabis at least once compared with nonusers. The relative risk increased with increasing consumption level and was 6 among those who had used it more than 50 times. Relative risk remained high after being controlled by many other factors such as psychiatric diagnosis at conscription, alcohol consumption, school adjustment, relative medicated for nervous problems, etc.

This cohort was further analyzed by Zammit et al. [11] 12 years later and also found that cannabis was associated with an increased risk of developing schizophrenia. This risk has a dosedependent fashion both for subjects who had ever used cannabis and for subjects who had used only cannabis and no other drugs (adjusted odds ratio [OR] 1.2 and 1.3, respectively). The adjusted odds ratio for using cannabis more than 50 times was 6.7. Similar results were obtained when analysis was restricted to subjects developing schizophrenia 5 years after conscription to exclude possible prodromal cases.

The Dunedin birth cohort study consist of 1037 individuals born in 1972–1973, followed until age 26 [12]. It obtained information of psychotic symptoms at age 11 and drug use at ages 15 and 18 from self-reports and assessed psychiatric symptoms at age 26. In this study, the use of cannabis by age 15 was associated with an increase in schizophreniform disorder at age 26 (OR 4.5). However, this risk was reduced and no longer significant when psychotic symptoms at age 11 were controlled for.

Another research in North Finland studied a sample of 6534 people from a cohort of persons born in 1986 [13]. Information on prodromal symptoms of psychosis and cannabis use was asked at age 15–16, and individuals were followed until age 30. The risk of psychosis in those who had used marijuana was elevated (hazard ratio of 2.85) being higher with more use (hazard ratio 6.5 in individuals that had tried cannabis 5 or more times). The association remained statistically significant even when adjusted for prodromal symptoms, parental psychosis, and other substance use.

In 2011, we surveyed 862 individual residents at Buenos Aires City [14]. We asked about psychotic like experiences and cannabis use among other questions. We found in this sample that cannabis use increased the risk of having psychotic-like experiences (OR 2.5). Almost 30% of those that use cannabis had at least one psychotic-like experience, while only 14% of the nonusers had at least one.

Replicability

Nowadays, we had a great amount of data that confirmed the association described in the previous studies [15–20]. Cannabis use increases the risk of having psychosis, and the presence of previous psychotic symptoms moderates the effect but do not suppress it.

Arsenault presented in 2004 a revision of studies [21] and concluded that cannabis use confers a twofold increase in the relative risk for later

schizophrenia. Henquet carried out a metaanalysis of prospective studies [22]. The pooled odds ratio observed was 2.1 and could not be explained by confounding or reverse causality.

Recently, Marconi et al. [23] published a systematic revision that investigates the association between the degree of cannabis consumption and psychosis and a meta-analysis to quantify the magnitude of the effect. Ten studies were inserted in the meta-analysis enrolling a total of 66,816 individuals. Higher levels of cannabis use were associated with increased risk for psychosis in all the included studies. A logistic regression model gave an OR of 3.90 for the risk of schizophrenia and other psychosis-related outcomes among the heaviest cannabis users compared to the nonusers.

Although there is a lot of evidence about the association between cannabis and psychosis, we must be aware of its limitations: the presence of high heterogeneity between the measures used across the studies, lack of controls for previous psychotic symptoms or other drug consumption, low statistical power, use of self-reports with their corresponding bias, etc.

Specificity

Associations between cannabis and other disorders were studied, showing some contradictory data: a representative sample survey of 10,561 Australian adults revealed that cannabis use was associated with higher rates of depressive or anxiety disorders. However, these associations disappeared after the effects of demographics, other drug use, and neuroticism were considered. At the same time, the relationship between cannabis dependence and psychosis remained statistically significant after these analyses [24].

One study conducted by the Prevention Research Center at the John Hopkins University enrolled 2311 first grade children from 43 classrooms in 19 urban elementary schools in a Mid-Atlantic metropolitan area of the United States. The assessments were done on 1494 individuals from 1985 (at age 6 years) through 2002 (at age 21 years). The use of other drugs was controlled. The estimated risk of young adult depression on adolescent with cannabis problems was not significantly different (between females and males) from that for comparison adolescents for either females or males [25].

Recently Manrique-Garcia et al. published a study based in the same cohort of Swedish men that initially revealed the epidemiological association between cannabis and psychosis. Only those subjects with a high level of cannabis use had an increased crude hazard ratio for depression (HR: 1.5), but the association disappeared after adjustment for confounders. There was also no association between cannabis use and bipolar disorder [26].

On the other hand, some studies showed some kind of association between cannabis and depression or anxiety. One international study of the World Health Organization collected data from 85,088 subjects from 17 countries. The association between early-onset cannabis use (before age 17) and depression spells was studied. Modest results were obtained (risk ratio: 1.2), and when adjusted for childhood conduct problems, they decreased to nonsignificant [27].

A recent meta-analysis of 31 studies showed a small positive association between anxiety and cannabis use (OR: 1.24) or cannabis use disorders (OR: 1.68) or between comorbid anxiety and depression related to cannabis use (OR: 1.68). The temporal association between cannabis use and anxiety disorders was studied in a small subset of five studies. This analysis showed that those using cannabis at baseline were more likely to have symptoms of anxiety at follow-up (OR: 1.28). However, acute cannabis use was not ruled out, and some of those anxiety symptoms may be the result of heavy cannabis acute use [28].

As we can see, up to date we cannot rule out the absence of associations between cannabis and other psychiatric disorders. However, these associations, if they truly exist, do not seem to be as consistent and strong as the relationship between cannabis and psychosis.

Temporality

The evidence of this condition is quite important because is essential to prove the causation. It has been a controversial topic because many authors had considered the self-medication hypothesis. According to this hypothesis, the fact that cannabis is used as a palliative for the suffering psychotic symptoms may be a consequence and not a cause of these symptoms [29, 30].

This topic was approached in different studies. We chose three studies that show that the use of cannabis precedes the presence of psychotic symptoms supporting the causation hypothesis. The first was the Christchurch health and development study. They followed a cohort of 1265 children born in the Christchurch urban area in mid-1977. This cohort was followed from birth to age 21. Data were gathered on cannabis dependence and psychotic symptoms at age 18 and 21 in a sample of 1053 subjects. Psychotic symptoms at the time of the preceding assessment (2) or 3 years before) were included as confounding factors. Even adjusting for preceding psychotic symptoms as well as other important confounders such as other drugs dependence, major depression and anxiety disorders, exposure to adverse life events, sociodemographic variables, neuroticism, parental conflict, and psychiatric disorder prior to 16 years old, the rate ratio was 1.8 (95% CI: 1.2-2.6). This means that cannabis use contributes to the development of psychotic symptoms independently of preexisting psychotic symptoms and social or other psychiatric factors [15].

The second was the Kuepper et al. longitudinal and prospective study. It was the most similar to an experimental study. The authors analyzed the data of 1923 individuals of Germany (aged 14–24 years old at the time of the baseline interview in 1995) gathered in a baseline survey and follow-ups (mean of 3.5 years [T2] and 8.4 years from baseline [T3]). First, they excluded all individuals with cannabis use at baseline and also individuals that suffered any psychotic symptom at T2. Incident cannabis use over the period from baseline to T2 increased the risk of psychotic symptoms between T2 and T3 (odds ratio: 1.9). There was no evidence for self-medication effects, because when individuals that had psychotic experiences at T2 were followed, no evidence of increase of cannabis use was found [20].

The third and last study considered was published in 2016. The participants were 1009 students of first and seventh course of Pittsburgh public schools. Data about self-reported frequency of cannabis use, subclinical psychotic symptoms, and confounding variables was gathered annually from age 13 to 18. The study showed that for each year adolescent boys that consumed marijuana, their expected level of subsequent subclinical psychotic symptoms rose by 21%. This effect persisted even after a year of cannabis abstinence. For each year that adolescents had weekly cannabis use, the predicted odds of experiencing paranoia and hallucinations rose by 133% and 92%, respectively. After controlling for confounders, changes in prior and current psychotic symptoms did not predict increases in weekly cannabis use as the selfmedication hypothesis would forecast [31].

These studies are only some examples of a great amount of evidence that had been collected during the last years. They certainly showed that the temporal direction of the association points to a cannabis causation of psychosis.

Biological Gradient

There are plenty of studies that can illustrate this postulate. The first epidemiological study that observed the association between psychosis and cannabis also noted the difference in the strength of the association depending on the frequency of cannabis use. While those Swedish conscripts who had ever used cannabis 2–4 times had an OR of almost 2 of having schizophrenia, the ones that had ever used more than 50 times had an OR of 6.7 [11].

Another study based in the same cohort studied in the Kuepper et al. study described above also observed a biological gradient. Henquet et al. studied 2437 young people aged 14 to 24 years. After adjustment for age, sex, socioeconomic status, urbanicity, childhood trauma, predisposition for psychosis at baseline, and use of other drugs, tobacco, and alcohol, the OR for psychotic symptoms at follow-up 4 years later was 1.67. There was a dose-response relation with increasing frequency of cannabis use. Using cannabis at baseline less than one time per month, the individuals had an OR of almost 1 of having any psychotic symptom at follow-up, but when the frequency of use increased up to almost daily, the OR increased up to 2.23 [22].

Moore et al. conducted in 2006 a systematic review of the evidence of association between cannabis use and occurrence of psychotic or affective mental health outcomes. They included seven studies that looked over the association of cannabis and psychosis. Six of them that examined a linear trend across cannabis use frequencies or compared higher- with lower-frequency users reported a dose-response effect. While the OR of having a psychotic outcome was 1.4 for the individuals that had ever use cannabis, the OR for heavy users was almost 2 [32].

Marconi et al. performed 10 years later a similar systematic review and a meta-analysis to quantify the magnitude of the effect between the degree of cannabis use and psychosis. Eighteen studies for the systematic review and 10 for the meta-analysis fulfilled the inclusion criteria (reporting cannabis consumption using a dose criterion). Higher levels of cannabis use were associated with increased risk of psychosis in all the included studies. The pooled analysis reported approximately a fourfold increase in risk for the heaviest users and a twofold increase for the average cannabis user in comparison to nonusers [23].

These data show the relevance for public policy to apply drug reduction programs to decrease the frequency of cannabis consumption if stopping its use is not possible now.

Plausibility: Coherence

In recent years, neuroimaging, postmortem analysis, and animal experimentation have shaped the building of the endocannabinoid hypothesis of schizophrenia. This hypothesis assumes that the hyperactivity of the endocannabinoid system can increase the risk of developing schizophrenia or psychosis in general, mainly by dopamine neurotransmission augmentation.

Some evidence of endocannabinoid system disturbances has been accumulated lately. Studies on animal models of schizophrenia have repeatedly shown a reduction of CB₁ receptor levels in different brain regions such as the prefrontal cortex (PFC), hippocampus, substantia nigra, and cerebellum. However, neuroimaging studies have demonstrated an increase binding for CB_1 receptors in the dorsolateral PFC, the posterior anterior cortex, the nucleus accumbens, and the pons of patients with schizophrenia. Also, a decrease in peripheral level of CB_2 receptors was found in treated and non-treated schizophrenic patients. Polymorphisms of CNR2, the gene encoding CB_2 receptors, are observed in schizophrenic patients. At the same time, neurotransmitter levels of the endocannabinoid system are disturbed. Anandamide levels are increased in plasma and CSF of schizophrenic patients, and 2-AG has been found higher in animal models [33].

THC could exert its psychogenic effect by disrupting the regulatory role of the endocannabinoid system in GABA and glutamate release. This alteration in glutamate release can disturb the neurodevelopment of the individual due to anomalies in synaptic connections, neuronal differentiation, pruning and migration, and disturbances shown in schizophrenic patients [34]. Also, cannabinoids have been shown to induce firing of dopaminergic mesolimbic neurons (as seen in psychotic patients) and induce dopamine release in the stratium in animals. THC inhibits, via CB₁ activation, the release of glutamate onto GABA neurons that project from the nucleus accumbens to the ventral tegmental area. These neurons normally produce an inhibitory effect on the firing of dopamine neurons back to the nucleus accumbens. Their inhibition causes increased dopamine release in the striatum that is implicated in the pathogenesis of psychotic symptoms. However, the CB₁-GABAergic disinhibition of dopamine neuronal activation could not be demonstrated in humans yet [35].

The evidence that cannabidiol can act as an antipsychotic allows the researchers to implicate the endocannabinoid system in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia albeit in an indirect way. This provides a plausible mechanism by which cannabis consumption may cause psychosis.

Caspi et al. showed that a functional polymorin the catechol-O-methyltransferase phism (COMT) gene moderates the influence of adolescent cannabis use on developing adult psychosis [36]. He collected blood samples for genotype analysis from 803 individuals of 26 years old belonging to the Dunedin cohort of persons born between April 1972 and March 1973. He observed that adolescent cannabis use was associated with increased risk of schizophreniform disorder in adulthood among Val/Val individuals (OR: 10.9) and to a lesser extent among Val/Met individuals (OR: 2.5), but not among Met/Met individuals (OR: 1.1) [36]. Individuals carrying the Met/Met allele genotype have the lowest COMT activity, while the Val/Val genotype have the highest, causing a decrease of dopamine levels that are associated with poor cognitive performance and prefrontal functioning. However, the association between Val/Val COMT genotype and risk of psychosis in cannabis users was not confirmed in later studies [37, 38].

Other studies showed an interaction between genetic polymorphism and risk of psychosis in cannabis users. Van Winkel et al. studied 801 patients with nonaffective psychosis and 740 unaffected siblings in the Netherlands and Belgium. They observed that subjects who carried two copies of the C allele of the rs2494732 polymorphism of the AKT1 gene were especially at risk of schizophrenia and schizotypy, respectively [39]. The AKT1 gene codes a protein kinase that forms an integral part of the dopamine receptor signaling cascade in the striatum. It also inactivates the glycogen synthase kinase (GSK-3) by phosphorylation. The interaction between AKT1 and GSK-3 has been implicated in several cellular processes such as apoptosis, cell proliferation, cell survival, and metabolism. THC activation of the AKT1 by phosphorylation can influence in D2 receptor signaling increasing the vulnerability to psychosis.



Fig. 42.1 Cannabis and psychosis: predisposition, biological, clinical consequences, and outcome

The moderation of the genetic variation in the AKT1 gene on the effect of cannabis use in increasing the risk of a psychotic disorder was confirmed in a later study [40]. In a case-control study of 489 first-episode psychotic patients and 278 control subjects, Forti et al. showed that carriers of the C/C genotype of the AKT1 rs2494732 with a history of cannabis use have more than twofold risk of having a psychotic disorder when compared with T/T carriers (OR: 2.18). Among daily cannabis users, the C/C carriers showed a sevenfold increase in the risk of psychosis compared with T/T carriers (OR: 7.23) [40] (Fig. 42.1).

Experiments

Many experimental studies have been conducted in humans to test the psychomimetic effects of cannabis. We will only present three of them.

In one study, 22 healthy individuals with a mean of 29 years old who had never been diagnosed with a cannabis abuse disorder were given 2.5 and 5 mg of delta 9 THC by intravenous route in a double-blind condition [41]. Delta 9 THC increased scores of the PANSS positive symptoms subscale with a symptoms' peak 10 minutes after drug administration. Subjects had suspiciousness, conceptual disorganization, deperson-

alization, derealization, thought disorder, altered perceptions, loosening of associations, grandiosity, and loss of insight. THC also produced an increase in the PANSS negative subscale reporting blunted affect, reduced rapport, psychomotor retardation, and emotional withdrawal. It also increased scores of the PANSS general symptoms such as somatic concern, guilt feelings, tension, and unusual thought content [41].

In a later study, 22 healthy adult males were given 2.5 mg of THC intravenously under doubleblind conditions [42] . Psychotic symptoms were assessed by investigators using the positive subscale of the PANSS and by subjects using the CAPE. The scores on the PANSS positive subscale increased with a peak at 30 minutes post-THC administration returning to baseline levels by 120 minutes. CAPE scores also increased peaking at 30 minutes and returning to baseline levels at 80 minutes post THC administration. Both scores were highly correlated. The most reported item in the CAPE scale was ideas of reference (42).

A recent study also showed the psychotomimetic effects of THC in cannabis users. A randomized, double-blind, crossover design was used to compare the effects of THC, CBD, and their combination in 48 cannabis users [43]. The drug was administered by inhalation. THC and its combination with CBD increased the scores
on the Psychotomimetic States Inventory (PSI) (especially perceptual distortions and cognitive disorganization) and on negative items of the BPRS. CBD reduced PSI scores in light users but not in frequent users [43]. This should be taken into account when the antipsychotic effect of CBD is considered.

These experimental studies demonstrate the psychotomimetic effect of THC in humans and thus, increase the proof of the cannabis causation of psychosis.

Analogy

One of the most common analogies to the causal relationship between cannabis and psychosis that has been described is between smoking and lung cancer [9]. Although not every person that smokes cigarettes gets lung cancer and the time elapsed between the noxa and the illness can be years or decades, the relationship is certainly proved. Tobacco smoking is responsible of approximately 85% of all lung cancers with an additional fraction caused by secondhand smoke exposure in nonsmokers [44]. Cannabis has a much lower risk of causing psychosis (an estimated 14%) but still important [32].

Another analogy may be the risk of psychosis produced by head injuries. It has been proven that head injury in the childhood increases the risk of having psychosis years after, although the reason is not yet clear [45, 46]. The risk is higher in those individuals with genetic predisposition and there is no evidence that those persons with risk of schizophrenia would be more prone to have head injuries than others [45, 46]. Unlike cannabis causation, there is no evidence of biological gradient [46].

These examples demonstrate that there are other models in medicine and specifically in psychiatry with certain similarity to the causal relationship between cannabis and psychosis. This analogy has in effect some flaws that arise principally because of the heterogeneous character of psychosis and schizophrenia in particular.

Impact of Precedent and Current Cannabis Use in Schizophrenic Patients

Regarding the characteristics of schizophrenia disorder in patients that had previously use cannabis, we have contradictory findings. Sarrazin et al. studied 171 schizophrenic patients consecutively admitted in a university-affiliated hospital in France. Forty-one of them (18.2% of the sample) had a cannabis use disorder before or at the time of the onset of schizophrenia. The mean duration of the illness was 11.5 years. They compared the demographic and clinical variables of the schizophrenia subjects with and without preonset cannabis use disorder. The group with preonset cannabis use disorder (CUD) was younger and had more males. But the mean age at onset of schizophrenia, the presence of a family history of schizophrenia, mood disorder, or suicide attempts have no statistical difference between both groups. The researchers also observed no significant difference between groups in terms of symptom dimensions or number of hospital admissions concluding that their findings argue against "cannabis associated schizophrenia being a distinct disorder" [47].

Gupta et al. conducted a meta-analysis comparing the symptoms of patients with psychosis with or without a history of substance use (not only cannabis). Twenty studies met the inclusion criteria. No significant differences were observed in terms of positive, negative, depression, or global function between former substance users or non-substance users. A subanalysis found no difference between former cannabis users and non-substance users [48].

Other authors found instead some demographic and clinical differences in schizophrenic patients between the former cannabis users and the nonusers. Ringen et al. studied a naturalistic sample of patients with DSM IV schizophrenia spectrum disorder. Six hundred eighty-one patients were recruited from 2004 until 2013 from major hospitals in Eastern and Central Norway. The sample was dichotomized based on the presence or not of premorbid cannabis use. Individuals with former cannabis use were more often male, more often single and had more severe psychotic symptoms and impaired functioning (although fewer lifetime psychotic episodes). Higher levels of premorbid cannabis use were associated with higher levels of current psychotic symptoms, and the earlier the use of cannabis, the lower the age of onset [49].

Arendt et al. also observed lower age of onset of schizophrenia in patients with cannabisinduced psychosis. The researcher's extracted data of 535 patients with cannabis-induced psychosis from the Danish Psychiatric Central Register and followed them for 3 years. Schizophrenia-spectrum disorders were diagnosed in almost half the sample. The mean age at time of first treatment for cannabis-induced symptoms was 27 years, while the mean age at onset of the comparison group (2721 patients with no history of cannabis-induced psychosis) was 33.8 years. Age at onset of males and females with cannabis-induced psychosis was on average 6 and 4 years before, respectively, than the comparison group [50]. However, a Swiss study only found lower age of onset of psychosis in those patients with a cannabis use disorder, starting age 14 or younger [51].

There exist also an increasing number of investigations performed studying the impact of cannabis use in the psychotic illness. A study in the Netherlands also found higher severity of positive symptoms in patients with a psychotic disorder and cannabis use disorder, although there is no difference in pre-psychotic symptomatology among ultrahigh-risk (UHR) subjects. However, the researchers found a negative correlation between the amount of cannabis used recently and negative symptoms in the UHR patients [52].

A meta-analysis including 30 studies of UHR individuals found that those subjects had high rates of cannabis use and that UHR cannabis users have higher rates of unusual thought content and suspiciousness than nonusers [53].

A prospective study conducted in London followed 245 first-episode psychotic persons for at least 2 years. Continued cannabis use predicted poor outcome including risk of relapse, number of relapses, length of relapse, and care intensity at follow-up. Between 20% and 36% of these adverse effects of continued cannabis use on outcome was mediated through the effects of cannabis use on medication adherence [54].

A meta-analysis of 24 studies compared clinical variables of psychotic patients with or without cannabis use, as well as with continued or discontinued use, that were followed at least 6 months. They found that continued cannabis users had a greater increase in relapse of psychosis than nonusers and discontinued users, as well as longer hospital admissions. Continued cannabis use after onset of psychosis predicted an adverse outcome, more severe positive symptoms, and a lower level of functioning than for individuals who discontinued cannabis use or never used cannabis [55].

All these studies taken together clearly argue against the use of cannabis in those patients with high risk or already diagnosed with psychosis. Considerable efforts should be made to avoid the initiation of cannabis use or at least to discontinue it in those already using it (Fig. 42.1).

Health Implications

Although all these evidences support a causal relationship between cannabis and psychosis, we cannot discard any confounding factor that may take part in the equation. But if it exists, it has still remained elusive to the researchers.

If cannabis doubles the risk of psychosis, we can suppose a 2% risk of schizophrenia for individuals taking cannabis without taking into account the presence of genetic predisposition or other risk factors. But considering first-order relatives, the risk may increase to 20%, and this would be a probability less feasible to be accepted.

Hickman et al. have calculated that it may be needed to stop cannabis use in around 10,500 of light cannabis users in men and up to 29,000 of light cannabis users in women to prevent one case of schizophrenia or psychosis. But the number needed to prevent one case of schizophrenia is reduced to 2800 in heavy cannabis users in men aged 20–24 years old and to 5470 in women aged 25–29 years old [56].

We can conclude that all these data warn against the indiscriminate use of cannabis and warrant the recommendation to first-order relatives of patients suffering schizophrenia to prevent using cannabis or to stop using it. We can also infer that cannabis users should avoid taking heavy doses or increasing THC content of the cannabis used. Teenagers, especially genetically predisposed individuals, should be advised of these detrimental consequences, and main efforts should be done to discourage the use of cannabis or to treat the addiction in those already dependent in this population.

References

- UNITED NATIONS OFFICE ON DRUGS AND CRIME. World drug report 2015.
- Sedronar. Estudio nacional en población de 12 a 65 años sobre Consumo de Sustancias Psicoactivas. Argentina 2017 Informe de Resultados N° 1 2017.
- Atakan Z. Cannabis, a complex plant: different compounds and different effects on individuals. Ther Adv Psychopharmacol. 2012;2(6):241–54.
- Schubart CD, Sommer IEC, Van Gastel WA, Goetgebuer RL, Kahn RS, Boks MPM. Cannabis with high cannabidiol content is associated with fewer psychotic experiences. Schizophr Res 2011;130 (1–3):216–21.
- Leweke FM, Piomelli D, Pahlisch F, Muhl D, Gerth CW, Hoyer C, et al. Cannabidiol enhances anandamide signaling and alleviates psychotic symptoms of schizophrenia. Transl Psychiatry. 2012;2:e94.
- Hahn B. The potential of Cannabidiol treatment for Cannabis users with recent-onset psychosis. Schizophr Bull. 2018;44(1):46–53.
- Elsohly MM, Mehmedic Z, Foster SGC, Chandra Suman CJ. Changes in Cannabis potency over the last two decades (1995–2014) – analysis of current data in the United States. Biol Psychiatry. 2016;79(7):613–9.
- 8. Moreau JJ. Du haschisch et de l'alienation mentale. Paris: Fo. Paris; 1845.
- Doll R, Hill B. Smoking and carcinoma of the lung. Br Med J. 1950;2 (4682):739–48.
- Andreasson S, Engstrom A, Allebeck P, Rydberg U. Cannabis and Schizophrenia. A longitudinal study of Swedish conscripts. Lancet 1987;330:1483–6.
- Zammit S. Self reported cannabis use as a risk factor for schizophrenia in Swedish conscripts of 1969: historical cohort study. BMJ 2002;325(7374):1199.

- Arseneault L, Cannon M, Poulton R, Murray R, Caspi A, Moffitt TE. Cannabis use in adolescence and risk for adult psychosis: longitudinal prospective study. BMJ 2002;325(7374):1212–3.
- Mustonen A, Niemelä S, Nordström T, Murray GK, Mäki P, Jääskeläinen E, et al. Adolescent cannabis use, baseline prodromal symptoms and the risk of psychosis. Br J Psychiatry 2018;1–7.
- Barrera Á, Rocha MP, Leiderman E. Use of Cannabis and incidence of psychotic symptoms: evidence from Buenos Aires. Vertex 2016;XXVII(130).
- Fergusson DM, Horwood LJ, Swain-Campbell NR. Cannabis dependence and psychotic symptoms in young people. Psychol Med 2003;33(1):15–21.
- Gage SH, Zammit S, Hickman M. Stronger evidence is needed before accepting that cannabis plays an important role in the aetiology of schizophrenia in the population. F1000 Med Rep 2013;5(January):1–5.
- Van Os J, Bak M, Hanssen M, Bijl RV, De Graaf R, Verdoux H. Cannabis use and psychosis: a longitudinal population-based study. Am J Epidemiol. 2002;156(4):319–27.
- Hides L, Lubman DI, Buckby J, Yuen HP, Cosgrave E, Baker K, et al. The association between early cannabis use and psychotic-like experiences in a community adolescent sample. Schizophr Res 2009;112(1–3):130–135.
- Van Gastel WA, Vreeker A, Schubart CD, MacCabe JH, Kahn RS, Boks MPM. Change in cannabis use in the general population: a longitudinal study on the impact on psychotic experiences. Schizophr Res. 2014;157(1–3):266–70.
- Kuepper R, Van Os J, Lieb R, Wittchen H-U, Hofler M, Henquet C. Continued cannabis use and risk of incidence and persistence of psychotic symptoms: 10 year follow-up cohort study. BMJ 2011;342:d738–d738.
- Arseneault L, Cannon M, Witton J, Murray RM. Causal association between cannabis and psychosis: examination of the evidence. Br J Psychiatry 2004;184(FEB.):110–7.
- 22. Henquet C, Krabbendam L, Spauwen J, Kaplan C, Lieb R, Wittchen HU, et al. Prospective cohort study of cannabis use, predisposition for psychosis, and psychotic symptoms in young people. BMJ. 2005;330(7481):11.
- 23. Marconi A, Di Forti M, Lewis CM, Murray RM, Vassos E. Meta-analysis of the association between the level of cannabis use and risk of psychosis. Schizophr Bull. 2016;42(5):1262–9.
- Degenhardt L, Hall W, Lynskey M. Alcohol, cannabis and tobacco use among australians: a comparison of their associations with other drug use and use disorders, affective and anxiety disorders, and psychosis. Addiction 2001;96(11):1603–14.
- Harder VS, Stuart EA, Anthony JC. Adolescent cannabis problems and young adult depression: malefemale stratified propensity score analyses. Am J Epidemiol. 2008;168(6):592–601.
- 26. Manrique-Garcia E, Zammit S, Dalman C, Hemmingsson T, Allebeck P. Cannabis use and

depression: a longitudinal study of a national cohort of Swedish conscripts. BMC Psychiatry 2012;12:112.

- 27. De Graaf R, Radovanovic M, Van Laar M, Fairman B, Degenhardt L, Aguilar-Gaxiola S, et al. Early cannabis use and estimated risk of later onset of depression spells: epidemiologic evidence from the population-based world health organization world mental health survey initiative. Am J Epidemiol. 2010;172(2):149–59.
- Kedzior KK, Laeber LT. A positive association between anxiety disorders and cannabis use or cannabis use disorders in the general population- a meta-analysis of 31 studies. BMC Psychiatry 2014;14(1):136.
- Gomez Perez L, Santacana AM, Berge Baquero D, Perez-Sola V. Reasons and subjective effects of cannabis use among people with psychotic disorders: a systematic review. Actas Esp Psiquiatr. 2014;42(2):83–90.
- Mané A, Fernández-Expósito M, Bergé D, Gómez-Pérez L, Sabaté A, Toll A, et al. Relationship between cannabis and psychosis: reasons for use and associated clinical variables. Psychiatry Res. 2015;229(1–2):70–4.
- Bechtold J, Hipwell A, Lewis DA, Loeber R, Pardini D. Concurrent and sustained cumulative effects of adolescent marijuana use on subclinical psychotic symptoms. Am J Psychiatry 2016;173(8):781–9.
- Moore THM, Zammit S, Lingford-hughes A, Barnes TRE, Jones PB, Burke M, et al. Cannabis use and risk of psychotic or affective mental health outcomes: a systematic review. Lancet 2006:319–28.
- Fakhoury M. Role of the endocannabinoid system in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. Mol Neurobiol. 2017;54(1):768–78.
- Souza DCD, Andrew SR, Ranganathan M. Cannabis and psychosis/schizophrenia: human studies. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2009;259(7):413–31.
- Radhakrishnan R, Wilkinson ST, D'Souza DC. Gone to pot-a review of the association between cannabis and psychosis. Front Psychiatry 2014;5(MAY):1–24.
- 36. Caspi A, Moffitt TE, Cannon M, McClay J, Murray R, Harrington HL, et al. Moderation of the effect of adolescent-onset cannabis use on adult psychosis by a functional polymorphism in the catechol-O-methyltransferase gene: longitudinal evidence of a gene X environment interaction. Biol Psychiatry 2005;57(10):1117–27.
- 37. Zammit S, Spurlock G, Hywel W, Norton N, Williams N, Donovan MCO, et al. Genotype effects of CHRNA7 in schizophrenia: interactions with tobacco and cannabis use. Br J Psychiatry 2007;191:402–407.
- Zammit S, Owen MJ, Evans J, Heron J, Lewis G. Cannabis, COMT and psychotic experiences. Br J Psychiatry 2011;199(5):380–5.
- 39. Van Winkel R, Kahn RS, Linszen DH, Van Os J, Wiersma D, Bruggeman R, et al. Family-based analysis of genetic variation underlying psychosis-inducing effects of cannabis: sibling analysis and proband follow-up. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2011;68(2):148–57.

- 40. Di Forti M, Iyegbe C, Sallis H, Kolliakou A, Falcone MA, Paparelli A, et al. Confirmation that the AKT1 (rs2494732) genotype influences the risk of psychosis in cannabis users. Biol Psychiatry 2012;72(10):811–6.
- 41. D'Souza DC, Perry E, MacDougall L, Ammerman Y, Cooper T, Te Wu Y, et al. The psychotomimetic effects of intravenous delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol in healthy individuals: implications for psychosis. Neuropsychopharmacology 2004;29(8):1558–72.
- 42. Morrison PD, Zois V, McKeown DA, Lee TD, Holt DW, Powell JF, et al. The acute effects of synthetic intravenous Δ9-tetrahydrocannabinol on psychosis, mood and cognitive functioning. Psychol Med 2009;39(10):1607.
- 43. Morgan JA, Freeman TP, Chandni H, Grainne S, Chelsea G, Valerie CH. Individual and combined effects of acute delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol and cannabidiol on psychomimetic symptoms and memory function. Transl Psychiatry 2018;8:181.
- Warren GW, Cummings KM. Tobacco and lung cancer: risks, trends, and outcomes in patients with cancer. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ B 2013;33:359–64.
- 45. Wilcox JA, Nasrallah HA. Childhood head trauma and psychosis. Psychiatry Res. 1987;21(4):303–6.
- 46. Molloy C, Conroy RM, Cotter DR, Cannon M. Is traumatic brain injury a risk factor for schizophrenia? A meta-analysis of case-controlled population-based studies. Schizophr Bull. 2011;37(6):1104–10.
- 47. Sarrazin S, Louppe F, Doukhan R, Schürhoff F. A clinical comparison of schizophrenia with and without pre-onset cannabis use disorder: a retrospective cohort study using categorical and dimensional approaches. Ann General Psychiatry 2015;14(1):1–9.
- 48. Gupta P, Mullin K, Nielssen O, Harris A, Large M. Do former substance users with psychosis differ in their symptoms or function from non-substance users? A systematic meta-analysis. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2013;47(6):524–37.
- 49. Ringen PA, Nesvåg R, Helle S, Lagerberg TV, Lange EH, Loberg EM, et al. Premorbid cannabis use is associated with more symptoms and poorer functioning in schizophrenia spectrum disorder. Psychol Med. 2016;46(15):3127–36.
- Arendt M, Rosenberg R, Foldager L, Perto G, Munk-Jørgensen P. Cannabis-induced psychosis and subsequent schizophrenia-spectrum disorders: follow-up study of 535 incident cases. Br J Psychiatry 2005;187(DEC):510–5.
- 51. Schimmelmann BG, Conus P, Cotton SM, Kupferschmid S, Karow A, Schultze-Lutter F, et al. Cannabis use disorder and age at onset of psychosis – a study in first-episode patients. Schizophr Res. 2011;129(1):52–6.
- 52. Machielsen M, Van Der Sluis S, De Haan L. Cannabis use in patients with a first psychotic episode and subjects at ultra high risk of psychosis: impact on psychotic- and pre-psychotic symptoms. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2010;44:721–8.
- 53. Carney R, Cotter J, Firth J, Bradshaw T, Yung AR. Cannabis use and symptom severity in individu-

als at ultra high risk for psychosis: a meta-analysis. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2017;136(1):5–15.

- 54. Schoeler T, Petros N, Di Forti M, Klamerus E, Foglia E, Murray R, et al. Poor medication adherence and risk of relapse associated with continued cannabis use in patients with first-episode psychosis: a prospective analysis. Lancet Psychiatry 2017; 4(8):627–33.
- 55. Schoeler T, Anna M, Sami MB, Klamerus E, Foglia E, Brown R, et al. Continued versus discontinued

cannabis use in patients with psychosis: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Lancet Psychiatry 2016;3(15):21525.

56. Hickman M, Vickerman P, MacLeod J, Lewis G, Zammit S, Kirkbride J, et al. If cannabis caused schizophrenia – how many cannabis users may need to be prevented in order to prevent one case of schizophrenia? England and Wales calculations. Addiction 2009;104(11):1856–61.



Gut Microbiota Biomarkers in Autism Spectrum Disorders



María Andrea Delgado, Adriana Fochesato, Luis Isaías Juncos, and Pascual Ángel Gargiulo

Introduction

Autism spectrum disorders (ASDs) are a heterogeneous group of neurodevelopmental disorders characterized by difficulties in social interaction, communication, and cognition with repetitive behaviors and restricted interests [1]. The etiology of ASD has not been determined, suggesting both genetic and environmental contributions. No specific gene causing ASD has been identified, although genetic alterations have been found in 10–20% of ASD cases [2]. Genetic mutations could appear spontaneously or be triggered by epigenetic modifications induced by environ-

P. Á. Gargiulo

mental agents [3–5]. Epigenetic mechanisms are currently known to be involved in neurogenesis, neuronal plasticity, learning and memory, and in several neurological disorders [6, 7]. This information points to interactions between gene and environmental factors that may have an important role in understanding the etiology of ASD [8, 9].

Indeed, ASDs are complex metabolic disorders involving the immunological, gastrointestinal (GI), and neurological systems [10, 11]. Immune dysfunction and gastrointestinal (GI) inflammation are also common in individuals with ASD and contribute to the severity of behaviors seen in the disorder [12, 13]. Recent evidences suggest that multiple factors, like nutrients, infections, inflammatory conditions, and toxins, could induce gut microbiota changes, altered intestinal permeability, and abnormal immune responses. The development of ASDs is associated with the combination of these factors and genetic predisposition [14, 15].

Microbiota-Gut-Brain Axis

The gut microbiota is a collection of trillions of microorganisms inhabiting the gastrointestinal tract (GI) [16–19]. It has been suggested that the microbiota is an important mediator of gene-environment interactions, modulating host gene expression through dynamic and reversible epigenetic mechanisms [20, 21]. Furthermore,

M. A. Delgado (\boxtimes) · A. Fochesato · L. I. Juncos Fundación J. Robert Cade., Córdoba, Argentina e-mail: luis.juncos@jrobertcade.org

Laboratory of Neurosciences and Experimental Psychology, Latin American Technological Corporation Foundation (FUCOTEL), Cathedra of Psychopathology, Catholic University of Argentina, Area of Pharmacology Department of Pathology, National University of Cuyo, CONICET, Guaymallén, Mendoza, Argentina e-mail: gargiulo@lab.cricyt.edu.ar

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_43

dietary factors can result in epigenetic alterations that lead to disease susceptibility [22, 23].

Bacterial community composition varies along the digestive tract and shows changes throughout life from birth to old age [24, 25]. Although the gut microbiota of each individual is unique at the genus and species levels, immediately upon birth, the healthy gut is gradually colonized by maternal bacteria, of which the dominant phyla are Lactobacilli and Streptococci. These are followed later by Enterococci and Enterobacteriaceae, with the subsequent emergence of Bifidobacteria, Bacteroides spp., and *Clostridium* spp. [26]. However, the healthy adult GI tract is colonized predominantly by Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes, with a smaller proportion of Actinobacteria, Proteobacteria, and Verrucomicrobia [16, 25, 27].

Under normal physiological conditions, these microbes not only are commensal and mediate food digestion but also enhance our immune system thus preventing pathogens from invading our tissues and organs [28]. Indeed, there is a growing body of evidences showing that the gut microbial community and its metabolic products impact in the host health, participating in digestive functions, influencing the immune system and metabolic functions, as well as in the synthesis and metabolism of nutrients, short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs), secondary bile acids, hormones, amino acids, vitamins, and tryptophan metabolites [25, 27, 29-33]. In addition, gut microbiota participate in host immunity stimulation, in preventing overgrowth or infections with pathogenic bacteria and contributing to the maintenance of intestinal barrier [34, 35].

Host genetics, dietary changes, immune imbalances, stress, and environmental factors like antibiotic treatment may disrupt the balance between beneficial and harmful microorganisms in the gut [26, 36]. Microbiota alterations (dysbiosis) may affect the physiology, immunity, and susceptibility to infectious diseases of the host, thus playing a role in certain disease processes [27, 37]. In this line of investigation, an increasing number of studies have provided evidences that gut microbiota is involved on the bidirectional signaling between the gut and the central nervous system (CNS), termed the "microbiotagut-brain axis" [38]. The brain regulates gut motility, intestinal transit, and integrity via the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, thus affecting the gut microbiota composition and function. Indeed, the CNS influences the gut permeability, secretion, and nutrients availability for gut microorganisms, and it also modulates microbial gene expression through hormone secretion [39–41]. In addition, the gut microbiota plays an important role on the development of the intestinal structure, the mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue, as well as in the gut immune regulation [42, 43]. Microbiota alterations can disrupt the integrity of the gut and the blood-brain barriers with the consequent transport of bacterial metabolites and immune mediators from the gut through the bloodstream and thus exert systemic effects. Moreover, the access of these metabolites throws the cerebrospinal fluid into the CNS that can trigger the activation of resident immune cells, especially microglia [37, 44]. It is important to highlight that gut microbes play a critical role regulating CNS functions; their metabolites activate endogenous CNS signaling mechanisms, through nervous, endocrine, immune, and metabolic pathways [39, 40]. Indeed, neurotransmitters are produced by different gut microbial species: gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) is produced by Lactobacillus and Bifidobacteria [45, 46], dopamine by *Bacillus* and *Serratia*, norepinephrine by Escherichia and Saccharomyces [47], and acetylcholine by *Lactobacillus* [47, 48].

Thus, the gut microbiota plays a role in brain activity modulation and has an impact on neurodevelopment and behavior [37, 41]. Therefore, abnormalities in gut microbiota composition can dysregulate neuroactive molecule synthesis leading to more susceptibility to neurodevelopment disorders [49–51].

Gut microbiota contribute to the availability of the essential amino acid tryptophan, the precursor of serotonin synthesis. Serotonin is a neurotransmitter in CNS and plays a role regulating GI motility and secretion and is affected by the microbiota composition [52].

A growing list of observations associates alterations in brain-gut-microbiome communication with the pathogenesis and pathophysiology of several psychiatric and neurologic disorders, including Parkinson's disease [53], depression [54], multiple sclerosis [55], and autism spectrum disorders [38, 56].

Microbiota in ASD

Several studies suggest that abnormal gut microbial composition may be concurrent in patients with ASD and GI disorders. The comorbidity of GI symptoms (constipation and/or diarrhea) and neurodevelopmental alterations support the role of disturbances within the microbiota-gut-brain axis in ASD [11, 57]. In this respect, researchers have recently provided evidences of diminished beneficial microbes or increased harmful toxinproducing species in the gut of patients with ASD [58]. Indeed, children with ASD and GI dysfunction show increased populations of Firmicutes and decreased abundance of important commensals: Bifidobacteria, Bacteroidetes, the mucin-degrading Akkermansia muciniphila, as well as Alistipes, Bilophila, Dialister, Parabacteroides, Veillonellaceae, Prevotella, and Coprococcus [59-62]. Moreover, intestinal dysbiosis and increase of Desulfovibrio and Bacteroides vulgatus are correlated with ASD severity in patients with ASD and GI dysfunction [63, 64]. Sutterella, a mucose-associated microbe, and Ruminococcus torques have been found overrepresented in significant numbers in ASD children with GI dysfunction [61, 62]. Recent research suggests major changes in the microbiota composition in ASD patients, with overgrowth of Collinsella, Corynebacterium, Dorea, and Lactobacillus [60].

Moreover, different studies have identified intestinal overgrowth of spore-forming *Clostridium*, a group of bacteria species recognized to produce powerful pro-inflammatory neurotoxins. In fact, their presence is highly correlated with GI symptoms in ASD children [63, 65]. In addition, differences in the *Clostridium* groups, *C. bolteae* and *C. cluster I* and *XI* [66], and a higher incidence of *C. histolyticum* have also been reported [65]. There are also evidences that constipation is correlated with increases in *Escherichia/Shigella* and *Clostridium cluster XVIII*, in ASD patients [60].

The microbiota is also constituted by fungal microorganisms, termed mycobiota, and their overgrowth can contribute to dysbiosis [67]. In this respect, *Candida* species are the most abundant pathogenic fungus found in children with ASD, the majority of which are *Candida albicans* [60], whose overgrowth may have immune consequences [68, 69]. Other studies in ASD patients have shown dysmorphic yeast with hyphae formation, reveling invasive and adhesive form of *Candida*, as well as fluconazole-resistant species such as *C. krusei* and *C. glabrata* [68, 70].

Metabolomics and Microbial Metabolites in ASD

Metabolomics is a research field that studies the complete set of chemical compounds involved in an organism metabolism. It is widely used for detection, identification, and quantitative measurement of different metabolite profiles in biological fluids. Thus, metabolomics studies are useful tools for the characterization of disease biomarkers and environmental interactions [71– 73]. For this, metabolite profiles are usually analyzed for the screening of biochemical pathways involved in carbohydrates, tricarboxylic acid cycle (TCA), amino acid, and lipid metabolism. Metabolomics patterns allow exploring cellular energy and mitochondrial metabolism, neurotransmitter pathways, vitamin or mineral cofactors relationship, and also biochemical mechanisms influenced by gut microbiota [25, 40, 71, 73, 74].

Metabolomics alterations were observed in ASD patients and may be linked to genetic and environmental factors [74]. These metabolic abnormalities include alterations of TCA energy production, ammonia detoxification, reduced synthesis of omega-3 DHA, and abnormal cholesterol metabolism [75]. The urinary organic acid test allows detecting and quantifying biomarkers, so it is a useful tool to find metabolic alterations in ASD children. Abnormal levels of organic acids can indicate metabolic dysfunction related to inherited or acquired enzyme deficiencies as well as nutrient insufficiencies, toxicants and drug effects, or even microbial overgrowth [76, 77].

Mitochondria are critical for many basic cellular activities throughout the body, and their dysfunction is known as an important risk factor for key cellular abnormalities that could induce disturbances in different organs and physiological systems [78]. Mitochondrial dysfunction has been described in about 5% of the patients with ASD. Distinct clinical features have been depicted between ASD patients and the group of ASD patients with mitochondrial dysfunction [79]. Moreover, patients with ASD and mitochondrial dysfunction have generally not shown specific genetic mutations. That is to say, the absence of specific genetic mutations observed in the majority of ASD patients implies that mitochondrial dysfunction in these individuals could be acquired rather than genetic [79]. Abnormal levels of different organic acids associated with mitochondrial dysfunction have been found in urine of ASD patients [73, 80-82]. A marked increase in several Krebs cycle metabolite analogs (citramalic, tartaric, and 3-oxoglutaric acids) has been shown in the urine of ASD patients [81, 83]. For instance, higher levels of tartaric acid in urine of ASD patients are associated with bacterial overgrowth in the gut [81, 83]. Also, elevated excretions of lactate, pyruvate, alanine, and ammonia have been reported as additional markers of ASD associated with mitochondrial dysfunction [79, 84].

Moreover, several studies have found high levels of succinic acid in urine of ASD patients. These findings were associated to Krebs cycle enzymes deficiencies or to inadequate levels of cofactors like CoQ10, vitamin B2, vitamin B6, or magnesium. Succinic acid is a dicarboxylic acid also related to aerobic and anaerobic bacterial overgrowth [81, 83, 85–90]. In addition, greater urinary excretion of Cis-acotinic acid has been found in ASD patients [74]. Elevated levels of this metabolite are related with aconitase deficiency, the enzyme that catalyzes the isomerization of citrate to isocitrate in Krebs cycle [73, 74]. Furthermore, citric acid, another analog of Krebs cycle, has been found elevated in urine of ASD patients [83, 87–89]. This finding points to possible alterations in protein metabolism or an amino acid deficiency in ASD patients [83]. In addition, the ketone body 3-hydroxybutyric acid was found elevated in the urine of ASD patients. The increment of this metabolite suggests mitochondrial electron transport system dysfunction due to cytochrome oxidase enzymes deficiency [73].

Adipic, suberic, and azelaic acids are dicarboxylic compounds resulting from fatty acids' incomplete omega-oxidation by cytochrome P450. Increased urinary levels of these metabolites in ASD patients may be due to deficiencies in beta-oxidation mitochondrial pathways and deficits of carnitine or vitamin B2 (riboflavin) [77, 91–95].

There is a growing body of evidence indicating that abnormalities in different metabolites are related to bacterial overgrowth in ASD. The function of some metabolites derived from the gut microbiota is associated with clinical characteristics of ASD: they regulate metabolic pathways and immune system of the host, influencing the susceptibility to disease and the phenotype [74, 83, 86, 96].

Metabolomics studies also have shown evidence of alterations in tryptophan, kynurenine, and serotonin pathways in children with ASD [74, 97, 98]. These compounds are related with the kynurenine pathway, involved to N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor agonist [99]. Indole compounds like indole-3-acetic acid and indolyl lactate are produced by bacterial breakdown of tryptophan and were also found elevated in ASD patients. These metabolites have been related to diminished levels of serotonin synthesis [99]. These findings suggest that alteration of the metabolism of tryptophan, a precursor of the serotoninergic system, would have implications on brain function and might give insightful information about ASD pathogenesis and progression [82].

Glycolic acid was also seen elevated in urine of a cohort of children with ASD, suggesting a strong connection with yeast overgrowth in the GI tract [74]. Increased levels of urinary glycolic acid in combination with oxalic acid are observed in primary oxaluria type I, an inborn error of metabolism [100]. Elevated glycolic acid without oxalic acid elevation has been associated to ASD, and this fact may be the result of gastrointestinal yeast overgrowth or due to glycerol dietary sources [87].

Higher levels of oxalates have been reported in urine samples from children with ASD. In fact, oxalates and oxalic acid may derive from diet and human metabolism and also from fungus overgrowth (such as Aspergillus, Penicillium, and Candida spp.) [101, 102]. Indeed, intestinal bacteria metabolism generates aromatic compounds such as hippurate and phenylacetylglutamine from diet resources, as benzoic acid and phenylacetic acid, respectively [73]. Also, P-hydroxyphenyllactate is produced by bifidobacteria and lactobacilli from tyrosine metabolism and plays a role as an antioxidant [103]. Altered urinary levels of these aromatic compounds were observed in ASD patients and have been linked to alterations in gut microbiota [82, 86–90]. Therefore, 4-hydroxyhippuric acid, a common microbial end-product derived from polyphenol metabolism by the gut microbiota, was found to be increased in the urine of ASD patients [74, 104, 105].

There are findings that point out that tyrosine gut metabolism is secondary to bacterial overgrowth. Hydroxybenzoic acid, a microorganism product from catechin diet, was found increased in the urine of ASD patients, as well as p-hydroxyphenylacetic acid, which is formed by gut metabolism using tyrosine as precursor [82, 83]. Furthermore, phenylalanine, tyrosine, 4-hydroxyphenylacetic acid, and homovanillic acid metabolites are involved in the synthesis of neurotransmitter catecholamine through the tyrosine pathway and have been found increased in urine of ASD patients [74, 80].

Altered patterns of bacterial metabolites have been seen in a large number of children with ASD compared to healthy control children. These metabolites included increased levels of 3-(3-hydroxyphenyl)-3-hydroxypropionic acid (HPHPA), a phenylalanine catabolic compound produced by the anaerobic bacteria *Clostridia sp.* in the gastrointestinal tract [74, 106, 107]. This metabolite is associated with behavioral, gastrointestinal, and neuropsychiatric effects [74]. Elevated urinary levels of HPHPA have been shown also in depression, schizophrenia, seizures, chronic fatigue syndrome, colitis, tic disorders, muscle weakness, or paralysis [74, 106].

P-cresol, another microbial metabolite produced by Clostridium species, was significantly elevated in children with ASD and was associated with repetitive behaviors constipation, and with the severity of ASD [102, 108–111]. Furthermore, increased glutamine concentrations were positively correlated with *Clostridium* sp. overgrowth in ASD patients [112]. Additionally, in the urine samples from children with ASD, other metabolites such as 2-(4-hydroxyphenyl) propionate and taurocholenate sulfate were found significantly increased, whereas 5-amino-valerate levels were lower [97]. In addition, metabolomics studies have shown higher urinary excretion of 3,4-dihydroxybutyric acid in ASD patients [74]. Higher concentrations of this metabolite were found in succinic semialdehyde dehydrogenase (SSADH) deficiency, in which the clinical presentation has shown autistic behaviors [113, 114]. In ASD patients, other metabolites such as pyroglutamic acid have been found increased. Pyroglutamic acid is a metabolite of the antioxidant glutathione formed non-enzymatically from glutamate, glutamine, and gamma-glutamylated peptides via enteric bacteria enzyme [74].

Some five-carbon sugars and related compounds were found increased in urine of a group of ASD patients: ribose, arabinofuranose, polyols, arabitol, xylitol, and the four-carbon sugar threitol [74]. Ribose, a metabolite involved in pentose phosphate pathway (PPP), was found elevated in an inborn error of metabolism, the ribose-5-phosphate isomerase deficiency. The increment of ribose in urine of ASD patients may be due to a deficiency of vitamin B1 (thiamin), a PPP enzymatic cofactor [74]. However, arabitol and xylitol may be produced through a gutbacterial enzyme from a five-carbon sugar dietary called lyxose [115, 116]. Furthermore, elevated levels of D-arabitol was related with the most pathogenic *Candida* spp., which may suggest a strong connection with yeast overgrowth in the GI tract [81, 117, 118].

Furthermore, incremented levels of D-mannitol, an indigestible carbohydrate, such as opioid peptides were found in ASD patients. These findings show evidences of intestinal permeability alteration in ASD patients that support "the leaky-gut hypothesis" [102, 119–121]. Therefore, opioid peptide (beta-casomorphin and gliadorphin) profiles are useful to predict and for monitoring responses to a casein and gluten-free diet [122, 123].

In conclusion, metabolomics profiles have implications for comprehending complex interactions between dietary status, gut microbiota, and genes, to characterize individual phenotypes in ASD. The study of metabolite profiles could provide a better understanding of the pathophysiology and promise to treat diseases with nutritional management of the gut microbiome and its metabolites as a way to "nutrimetabolomics" [23, 40, 124]. Novel specific nutritional intervention programs may become available and will potentially help to alleviate the burden on neurodevelopmental disorders [23, 40, 124].

References

- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 5th ed. Arlington: American Psychiatric Association Arlington; 2013.
- Abrahams BS, Geschwind DH. Advances in autism genetics: on the threshold of a new neurobiology. Nat Rev Genet. 2008;9(5):34–55.
- Roberts AL, Lyall K, Hart JE, Laden F, Just AC, Bobb JF, Koenen KC, Ascherio A, Weisskopf MG. Perinatal air pollutant exposures and autism spectrum disorder in the children of Nurses' Health Study II participants. Environ Health Perspect. 2013;121:978.
- Pietropaolo S, Crusio WE, Feldon J. Geneenvironment interactions in neurodevelopmental disorders. Neural Plast. 2017;2017:9272804.
- Cenit MC, Sanz Y, Codoñer-Franch P. Influence of gut microbiota on neuropsychiatric disorders. World J Gastroenterol. 2017;23(30):5486–98.
- Stilling RM, Dinan TG, Cryan JF. Microbial genes, brain & amp behaviour- epigenetic regulation of the gut-brain axis. Genes Brain Behav. 2014;13:69–86.

- Tsankova N, Renthal W, Kumar A, Nestler EJ. Epigenetic regulation in psychiatric disorders. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2007;8:355–67.
- Estes ML, McAllister AK. Immune mediators in the brain and peripheral tissues in autism spectrum disorder. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2015;16:469–86.
- Korkmaz B. Autism spectrum disorders, early signs. In: Korkmaz B, Njiokiktjien C, Verschoor C, editors. Children's social relatedness: an embodied brain process. A clinical view of typical development and disorders. Amsterdam: Suyi Publications; 2013. p. 509–605.
- Ashwood P, Krakowiak P, Hertz-Picciotto I, Hansen R, Pessah I, Van de Water J. Elevated plasma cytokines in autism spectrum disorders provide evidence of immune dysfunction and are associated with impaired behavioral outcome. Brain Behav Immun. 2011;25(1):40–5.
- McElhanon BO, McCracken C, Karpen S, Sharp WG. Gastrointestinal symptoms in autism spectrum disorder: a metaanalysis. Pediatrics. 2014;133(5):872–83.
- Onore C, Careaga M, Ashwood P. The role of immune dysfunction in the pathophysiology of autism. Brain Behav Immun. 2012;26(3):383–92.
- Mead J, Ashwood P. Evidence supporting an altered immune response in ASD. Immunol Lett. 2015;163(1):49–55.
- Coury DL, Ashwood P, Fasano A, Fuchs G, Geraghty M, Kaul A, Mawe G, Patterson P, Jones NE. Gastrointestinal conditions in children with autism spectrum disorder: developing a research agenda. Pediatrics. 2012;130:S160–8.
- Doenyas C. Gut microbiota, inflammation, and probiotics on neural development in autism spectrum disorder. Neuroscience. 2018;374:271–86.
- The Human Microbiome Project C. Structure, function and diversity of the healthy human microbiome. Nature. 2012;486:207.
- Xu J, Gordon JI. Inaugural article: honor thy symbionts. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2003;100:10452–9.
- Tannock GW. New perceptions of the gut microbiota: implications for future research. Gastroenterol Clin North Am. 2005;34:361–82.
- Xu J, Mahowald M, Ley R, Lozupone C, Hamady M, Martens E, Henrissat B, Coutinho P, Minx P, Latreille P, Cordum H, Van Brunt A, Kim K, Fulton R, Fulton L, Clifton S, Wilson R, Knight R, Gordon J. Evolution of symbiotic bacteria in the distal human intestine. PLoS Biol. 2007;5:1574–86.
- Obata Y, Furusawa Y, Hase K. Epigenetic modifications of the immune system in health and disease. Immunol Cell Biol. 2015;93:226–32.
- Tordjman S, Somogyi E, Coulon N, et al. Gene x environment interactions in autism spectrum disorders: role of epigenetic mechanisms. Front Psych. 2014;5:53.
- Jirtle RL, Skinner MK. Environmental epigenomics and disease susceptibility. Nat Rev Genet. 2007;8(4):253–62.

- Kelly JR, Minuto C, Cryan JF, Clarke G, Dinan TG. Cross talk: the microbiota and neurodevelopmental disorders. Front Neurosci. 2017;11:490.
- Lozupone CA, Stombaugh JI, Gordon JI, Jansson JK, Knight R. Diversity, stability and resilience of the human gut microbiota. Nature. 2012;489(7415):220–30.
- Aw W, Fukuda S. Toward the comprehensive understanding of the gut ecosystem via metabolomicsbased integrated omics approach. Semin Immunopathol. 2015;37(1):5–16.
- Rodriguez JM, Murphy K, Stanton C, Ross RP, Kober OI, Juge N, et al. The composition of the gut microbiota throughout life, with an emphasis on early life. Microb Ecol Health Dis. 2015;26(1):26050.
- Bäumler AJ, Sperandio V. Interactions between the microbiota and pathogenic bacteria in the gut. Nature. 2016;535(7610):85–93.
- Kau AL, Ahern PP, Griffin NW, Goodman AL, Gordon JI. Human nutrition, the gut microbiome and the immune system. Nature. 2011;474:327–36.
- 29. Tolhurst G, Heffron H, Lam YS, Parker HE, Habib AM, Diakogiannaki E, Cameron J, Grosse J, Reimann F, Gribble FM. Short-chain fatty acids stimulate glucagon like peptide-1 secretion via the G-protein-coupled receptor FFAR2. Diabetes. 2012;61:364–71.
- Wikoff WR, Anfora AT, Liu J, Schultz PG, Lesley SA, Peters EC, Siuzdak G. Metabolomics analysis reveals large effects of gut microflora on mammalian blood metabolites. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106:3698–703.
- Yano JM, Yu K, Donaldson GP, Shastri GG, Ann P, Ma L, Nagler CR, Ismagilov RF, Mazmanian SK, Hsiao EY. Indigenous bacteria from the gut microbiota regulate host serotonin biosynthesis. Cell. 2015;161:264–76.
- Berding K, Donovan SM. Microbiome and nutrition in autism spectrum disorder: current knowledge and research needs. Nutr Rev. 2016;74(12):723–36. Review.
- Cénit MC, Matzaraki V, Tigchelaar EF, Zhernakova A. Rapidly expanding knowledge on the role of the gut microbiome in health and disease. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2014;1842(10):1981–92.
- Hooper LV, Littman DR, Macpherson AJ. Interactions between the microbiota and the immune system. Science. 2012;336(6086):1268–73.
- Sekirov I, Russell SL, Antunes LC, Finlay BB. Gut microbiota in health and disease. Physiol Rev. 2010;90(3):859–904.
- Blaser MJ, Falkow S. What are the consequences of the disappearing human microbiota? Nat Rev Microbiol. 2009;7(12):887–94.
- Hughes HK, Rose D, Ashwood P. The gut microbiota and dysbiosis in autism spectrum disorders. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. 2018;18(11):81.
- Cryan JF, Dinan TG. Mind-altering microorganisms: the impact of the gut microbiota on brain and behaviour. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2012;13(10):701–12.

- Wang Y, Kasper LH. The role of microbiome in central nervous system disorders. Brain Behav Immun. 2014;38:1–12.
- Ding HT, Taur Y, Walkup JT. Gut microbiota and autism: key concepts and findings. J Autism Dev Disord. 2017;47(2):480–9.
- Martin CR, Osadchiy V, Kalani A, Mayer EA. The brain-gut-microbiome axis. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;6(2):133–48.
- Belkaid Y, Hand TW. Role of the microbiota in immunity and inflammation. Cell. 2014;157(1):121–41.
- 43. Hooper LV, Littman DR, Macpherson Interactions AJ. between the microbiota and the immune system. Science. 2012;336(6086):1268-73.
- 44. Erny D, Hrabe de Angelis AL, Jaitin D, Wieghofer P, Staszewski O, David E, Keren-Shaul H, Mahlakoiv T, Jakobshagen K, Buch T, Schwierzeck V, Utermohlen O, Chun E, Garrett WS, KD MC, Diefenbach A, Staeheli P, Stecher B, Amit I, Prinz M. Host microbiota constantly control maturation and function of microglia in the CNS. Nat Neurosci. 2015;18:965–77.
- Barrett E, Ross RP, O'Toole PW, Fitzgerald GF, Stanton C. Gamma-aminobutyric acid production by culturable bacteria from the human intestine. J Appl Microbiol. 2012;113(2):411–7.
- Minuk GY. Gamma-aminobutyric-acid (Gaba) production by common bacterial pathogens. Scand J Infect Dis. 1986;18:465–7.
- Lyte M. Probiotics function mechanistically as delivery vehicles for neuroactive compounds: microbial endocrinology in the design and use of probiotics. BioEssays. 2011;33(8):574–81.
- Asano Y, Hiramoto T, Nishino R, Aiba Y, Kimura T, Yoshihara K, Koga Y, Sudo N. Critical role of gut microbiota in the production of biologically active, free catecholamines in the gut lumen of mice. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2012;303:G1288–95.
- Louis P. Does the human gut microbiota contribute to the etiology of autism spectrum disorders? Dig Dis Sci. 2012;57:1987–9.
- Mangiola F, Laniro G, Franceschi F, Fagiuoli S, Gasbarrini G, Gasbarrini A. Gut microbiota in autism and mood disorders. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22:361–8.
- Sharon G, Sampson TR, Geschwind DH, Mazmanian SK. The central nervous system and the gut microbiome. Cell. 2016;167:915–32.
- Ozogul F. Effects of specific lactic acid bacteria species on biogenic amine production by foodborne pathogen. Int J Food Sci Tech. 2011;46:478–84.
- 53. Sampson TR, Debelius JW, Thron T, Janssen S, Shastri GG, Ilhan ZE, Challis C, Schretter CE, Rocha S, Gradinaru V, Chesselet MF, Keshavarzian A, Shannon KM, Krajmalnik-Brown R, Wittung-Stafshede P, Knight R, Mazmanian SK. Gut microbiota regulate motor deficits and neuroin-

flammation in a model of Parkinson's disease. Cell. 2016;167:1469–80.

- Park AJ, Collins J, Blennerhassett PA, Ghia JE, Verdu EF, Bercik P, Collins SM. Altered colonic function and microbiota profile in a mouse model of chronic depression. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2013;25:733–e575.
- 55. Berer K, Mues M, Koutrolos M, Rasbi ZA, Boziki M, Johner C, Wekerle H, Krishnamoorthy G. Commensal microbiota and myelin autoantigen cooperate to trigger autoimmune demyelination. Nature. 2011;479:538–41.
- Vuong HE, Hsiao EY. Emerging roles for the gut microbiome in autism spectrum disorder. Biol Psychiatry. 2017;81:411–23.
- 57. Buie T, Campbell DB, Fuchs GJ 3rd, Furuta GT, Levy J, Vandewater J, Whitaker AH, Atkins D, Bauman ML, Beaudet AL, Carr EG, Gershon MD, Hyman SL, Jirapinyo P, Jyonouchi H, Kooros K, Kushak R, Levitt P, Levy SE, Lewis JD, Murray KF, Natowicz MR, Sabra A, Wershil BK, Weston SC, Zeltzer L, Winter H. Evaluation, diagnosis, and treatment of gastrointestinal disorders in individuals with ASDs: a consensus report. Pediatrics. 2010;125 Suppl 1:S1–18.
- Kang DW, Ilhan ZE, Isern NG, Hoyt DW, Howsmon DP, Shaffer M, Lozupone CA, Hahn J, Adams JB, Krajmalnik-Brown R. Differences in fecal microbial metabolites and microbiota of children with autism spectrum disorders. Anaerobe. 2018;49:121–31.
- Kang DW, Park JG, Ilhan ZE, Wallstrom G, Labaer J, Adams JB, Krajmalnik-Brown R. Reduced incidence of Prevotella and other fermenters in intestinal microflora of autistic children. PLoS One. 2013;8(7):e68322.
- 60. Strati F, Cavalieri D, Albanese D, De Felice C, Donati C, Hayek J, Jousson O, Leoncini S, Renzi D, Calabrò A, De Filippo C. New evidences on the altered gut microbiota in autism spectrum disorders. Microbiome. 2017;5(1):24.
- 61. Wang L, Christophersen CT, Sorich MJ, Gerber JP, Angley MT, Conlon MA. Low relative abundances of the mucolytic bacterium Akkermansia muciniphila and Bifidobacterium spp. in feces of children with autism. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2011;77(18):6718–21.
- 62. Williams BL, Hornig M, Buie T, Bauman ML, Cho Paik M, Wick I, Bennett A, Jabado O, Hirschberg DL, Lipkin WI. Impaired carbohydrate digestion and transport and mucosal dysbiosis in the intestines of children with autism and gastrointestinal disturbances. PLoS One. 2011;6(9):e24585.
- Finegold SM, Molitoris D, Song Y, Liu C, Vaisanen ML, Bolte E, et al. Gastrointestinal microflora studies in late-onset autism. Clin Infect Dis. 2002;35(Suppl 1):S6–s16.
- TomovaA, HusarovaV, LakatosovaS, Bakos J, Vlkova B, Babinska K, Ostatnikova D. Gastrointestinal microbiota in children with autism in Slovakia. Physiol Behav. 2015;138:179–87.

- Parracho HM, Bingham MO, Gibson GR, McCartney AL. Differences between the gut microflora of children with autistic spectrum disorders and that of healthy children. J Med Microbiol. 2005;54(Pt 10):987–91.
- Song Y, Liu C, Finegold SM. Real-time PCR quantitation of clostridia in feces of autistic children. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2004;70(11):6459–65.
- 67. Cui L, Morris A, Ghedin E. The human mycobiome in health and disease. Genome Med. 2013;5(7):63.
- 68. Li Q, Wang C, Tang C, He Q, Li N, Li J. Dysbiosis of gut fungal microbiota is associated with mucosal inflammation in Crohn's disease. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2014;48(6):513–23.
- Hughes HK, Rose D, Ashwood P. The gut microbiota and dysbiosis in autism spectrum disorders. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. 2018;18(11):81.
- Kantarcioglu AS, Kiraz N, Aydin A. Microbiotagut-brain Axis: yeast species isolated from stool samples of children with suspected or diagnosed autism Spectrum disorders and in vitro susceptibility against nystatin and fluconazole. Mycopathologia. 2016;181(1–2):1–7.
- 71. Gieger C, Geistlinger L, Altmaier E, Hrabé de Angelis M, Kronenberg F, Meitinger T, Mewes HW, Wichmann HE, Weinberger KM, Adamski J, Illig T, Suhre K. Genetics meets metabolomics: a genomewide association study of metabolite profiles in human serum. PLoS Genet. 2008;4(11):e1000282.
- Ritchie MD, Holzinger ER, Li R, Pendergrass SA, Kim D. Methods of integrating data to uncover genotype phenotype interactions. Nat Rev Genet. 2015;16(2):85–97.
- Mussap M, Noto A, Fanos V. Metabolomics of autism spectrum disorders: early insights regarding mammalian-microbial cometabolites. Expert Rev Mol Diagn. 2016;16(8):869–81.
- 74. Noto A, Fanos V, Barberini L, Grapov D, Fattuoni C, Zaffanello M, Casanova A, Fenu G, De Giacomo A, De Angelis M, Moretti C, Papoff P, Ditonno R, Francavilla R. The urinary metabolomics profile of an Italian autistic children population and their unaffected siblings. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2014;27(Sup2):46–52.
- Clark-Taylor TB, Clark-Taylor E. Is autism a disorder of fatty acid metabolism? Possible dysfunction of mitochondrial beta-oxidation by long chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase. Med Hypotheses. 2004;62(6):970–5.
- Boulat O, Gradwohl M, Matos V, Guignard JP, Bachmann C. Organic acids in the second morning urine in a healthy Swiss Paediatric population. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2003;41:1642–58.
- Kumps A, Duez P, Mardens Y. Metabolic, nutritional and artifactual sources of urinary organic acids: a comprehensive table. Clin Chem. 2002;48:708–17.
- Goh S, Dong Z, Zhang Y, Di Mauro S, Peterson BS. Mitochondrial dysfunction as a neurobiological subtype of autism spectrum disorder: evidence from brain imaging. JAMA Psychiat. 2014;71(6):665–71.

- Rossignol DA, Frye RE. Mitochondrial dysfunction in autism spectrum disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Mol Psychiatry. 2012;17(3):290–314.
- Kałużna-Czaplińska J, Socha E, Rynkowski J. Determination of homovanillic acid and vanillylmandelic acid in urine of autistic children by gas chromatography/ mass spectrometry. Med Sci Monit. 2010;16(9):445–50.
- Shaw W, Kassen E, Chaves E. Increased urinary excretion of analogs of Krebs cycle metabolites and arabinose in two brothers with autistic features. Clin Chem. 1995;41(8 Pt1):1094–104.
- Kałużna-Czaplińska J. Noninvasive urinary organic acids test to assess biochemical and nutritional individuality in autistic children. Clin Biochem. 2011;44(8–9):686–91.
- Kałużna-Czaplińska J, Żurawicz E, Struck W, Markuszewski M. Identification of organic acids as potential biomarkers in the urine of autistic children using gas chromatography/mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci. 2014;966:70–6.
- 84. Bjørklund G, Meguid NA, El-Ansary A, El-Bana MA, Dadar M, Aaseth J, Hemimi M, Osredkar J, Chirumbolo S. Diagnostic and severity-tracking biomarkers for autism spectrum disorder. J Mol Neurosci. 2018;66(4):492–511.
- Reig M, Molina D, Loza E, Ledesma MA, Meseguer MA. Gas-liquid chromatography in routine processing of blood cultures for detecting anaerobic bacteraemia. J Clin Pathol. 1981;34(2):189–93.
- 86. Yap IK, Angley M, Veselkov KA, Holmes E, Lindon JC, Nicholson JK. Urinary metabolic phenotyping differentiates children with autism from their unaffected siblings and age-matched controls. J Proteome Res. 2010;9(6):2996–3004.
- 87. Emond P, Mavel S, Aïdoud N, Nadal-Desbarats L, Montigny F, Bonnet-Brilhault F, Barthélémy C, Merten M, Sarda P, Laumonnier F, Vourc'h P, Blasco H, Andres CR. GC-MS-based urine metabolic profiling of autism spectrum disorders. Anal Bioanal Chem. 2013;405(15):5291–300.
- Mavel S, Nadal-Desbarats L, Blasco H, Bonnet-Brilhault F, Barthélémy C, Montigny F, Sarda P, Laumonnier F, Vourc'h P, Andres CR, Emond P. 1H-13C NMR-based urine metabolic profiling in autism spectrum disorders. Talanta. 2013;114:95–102.
- Nadal-Desbarats L, Aïdoud N, Emond P, Blasco H, Filipiak I, Sarda P, Bonnet-Brilhault F, Mavel S, Andres CR. Combined 1H-NMR and 1H-13C HSQC-NMR to improve urinary screening in autism spectrum disorders. Analyst. 2014;139(13):3460–8.
- 90. West PR, Amaral DG, Bais P, Smith AM, Egnash LA, Ross ME, Palmer JA, Fontaine BR, Conard KR, Corbett BA, Cezar GG, Donley EL, Burrier RE. Metabolomics as a tool for discovery of biomarkers of autism spectrum disorder in the blood plasma of children. PLoS One. 2014;9(11):e112445.

- Triggs WJ, Roe CR, Rhead WJ, Hanson SK, Lin SN, Willmore LJ. Neuropsychiatric manifestations of defect in mitochondrial beta oxidation response to riboflavin. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1992;55:209–11.
- 92. Kurian MA, Ryan S, Besley GT, Wanders RJ, King MD. Straight-chain acyl-CoA oxidase deficiency presenting with dysmorphia, neurodevelopmental autistic-type regression and a selective pattern of leukodystrophy. J Inherit Metab Dis. 2004;27(1):105–8.
- Treacy E, Pitt J, Eggington M, Hawkins R. Dicarboxylic aciduria, significance and prognostic indications. Eur J Pediatr. 1994;153(12):918.
- Kałużna-Czaplińska J, Socha E, Rynkowski J. B vitamin supplementation reduces excretion of urinary dicarboxylic acids in autistic children. Nutr Res. 2011;31(7):497–502.
- Gollnick H. Azelaic acid: pharmacology, toxicology and mechanisms of action on keratinization in vitro and in vivo. J Dermatol Treat. 1993;4(Sup1):S3–7.
- Nicholson JK, Holmes E, Kinross J, Burcelin R, Gibson G, Jia W, Pettersson S. Host-gut microbiota metabolic interactions. Science. 2012;336(6086):1262–7.
- Ming X, Stein TP, Barnes V, Rhodes N, Guo L. Metabolic perturbance in autism spectrum disorders: a metabolomics study. J Proteome Res. 2012;11(12):5856–62.
- Diémé B, Mavel S, Blasco H, Tripi G, Bonnet-Brilhault F, Malvy J, Bocca C, Andres CR, Nadal-Desbarats L, Emond P. Metabolomics study of urine in autism Spectrum disorders using a multiplatform analytical methodology. J Proteome Res. 2015;14(12):5273–82.
- Gevi F, Zolla L, Gabriele S, Persico AM. Urinary metabolomics of young Italian autistic children supports abnormal tryptophan and purine metabolism. Mol Autism. 2016;7:47.
- Milliner DS. The primary hyperoxalurias: an algorithm for diagnosis. Am J Nephrol. 2005;25:154–60.
- 101. Konstantynowicz J, Porowski T, Zoch-Zwierz W, Wasilewska J, Kadziela-Olech H, Kulak W, Owens SC, Piotrowska-Jastrzebska J, Kaczmarski M. A potential pathogenic role of oxalate in autism. Eur J Paediatr Neurol. 2012;16(5):485–91.
- 102. Kałużna-Czaplińska J, Zurawicz E, Jóźwik J. Chromatographic techniques coupled with mass spectrometry for the determination of organic acids in the study of autism. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci. 2014;964:128–35.
- 103. Beloborodova N, Bairamov I, Olenin A, Shubina V, Teplova V, Fedotcheva N. Effect of phenolic acids of microbial origin on production of reactive oxygen species in mitochondria and neutrophils. J Biomed Sci. 2012;19:89.
- 104. Mrochek JE, Dinsmore SR, Ohrt DW. Monitoring phenylalanine-tyrosine metabolism by high-resolution liquid chromatography of urine. Clin Chem. 1973;19(8):927–36.

- 105. Jacobs DM, Spiesser L, Garnier M, de Roo N, van Dorsten F, Hollebrands B, van Velzen E, Draijer R, van Duynhoven J. SPE-NMR metabolite sub-profiling of urine. Anal Bioanal Chem. 2012;404(8):2349–61.
- 106. Shaw W. Increased urinary excretion of a 3-(3-hydroxyphenyl)-3-hydroxypropionic acid (HPHPA), an abnormal phenylalanine metabolite of Clostridia spp. in the gastrointestinal tract, in urine samples from patients with autism and schizophrenia. Nutr Neurosci. 2010;13(3):135–43.
- 107. Xiong X, Liu D, Wang Y, Zeng T, Peng Y. Urinary 3-(3-hydroxyphenyl)-3-hydroxypropionic acid, 3-hydroxyphenylacetic acid, and 3-hydroxyhippuric acid are elevated in children with autism spectrum disorders. Biomed Res Int. 2016;2016:9485412.
- 108. Gabriele S, Sacco R, Cerullo S, Neri C, Urbani A, Tripi G, Malvy J, Barthelemy C, Bonnet-Brihault F, Persico AM. Urinary p-cresol is elevated in young French children with autism spectrum disorder: a replication study. Biomarkers. 2014;19(6):463–70.
- 109. Gabriele S, Sacco R, Altieri L, Neri C, Urbani A, Bravaccio C, Riccio MP, Iovene MR, Bombace F, De Magistris L, Persico AM. Slow intestinal transit contributes to elevate urinary p-cresol level in Italian autistic children. Autism Res. 2016;9(7):752–9.
- 110. Altieri L, Neri C, Sacco R, Curatolo P, Benvenuto A, Muratori F, Santocchi E, Bravaccio C, Lenti C, Saccani M, Rigardetto R, Gandione M, Urbani A, Persico AM. Urinary p-cresol is elevated in small children with severe autism spectrum disorder. Biomarkers. 2011;16(3):252–60.
- Persico AM, Napolioni V. Urinary p-cresol in autism spectrum disorder. Neurotoxicol Teratol. 2013;36:82–90.
- 112. Org E, Blum Y, Kasela S, Mehrabian M, Kuusisto J, Kangas AJ, Soininen P, Wang Z, Ala-Korpela M, Hazen SL, Laakso M, Lusis AJ. Relationships between gut microbiota, plasma metabolites, and metabolic syndrome traits in the METSIM cohort. Genome Biol. 2017;18(1):70.
- 113. Shinka T, Inoue Y, Ohse M, Ito A, Ohfu M, Hirose S, Kuhara T. Rapid and sensitive detection of urinary 4-hydroxybutyric acid and its related compounds by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry in a patient with succinic semialdehyde dehydrogenase defi-

ciency. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci. 2002;776:57–63.

- 114. Pearl PL, Gibson KM, Acosta MT, Vezina LG, Theodore WH, Rogawski MA, Novotny EJ, Gropman A, Conry JA, Berry GT, Tuchman M. Clinical spectrum of succinic semialdehyde dehydrogenase deficiency. Neurology. 2003;60:1413–7.
- 115. Huck JH, Verhoeven NM, Struys EA, Salomons GS, Jakobs C, van der Knaap MS. Ribose-5-phosphate isomerase deficiency: new inborn error in the pentose phosphate pathway associated with a slowly progressive leukoencephalopathy. Am J Hum Genet. 2004;74:745–51.
- Anderson RL, Allison DP. Purification and characterization of D-lyxose isomerase. J Biol Chem. 1965;210:2367–72.
- 117. Sigmundsdóttir G, Christensson B, Björklund LJ, Håkansson K, Pehrson C, Larsson L. Urine D-arabinitol/L-arabinitol ratio in diagnosis of invasive candidiasis in newborn infants. J Clin Microbiol. 2000;38(8):3039–42.
- Kałużna-Czaplińska J, Błaszczyk S. The level of arabinitol in autistic children after probiotic therapy. Nutrition. 2012;28:124–6.
- 119. White JF. Intestinal pathophysiology in autism. Exp Biol Med (Maywood). 2003;228(6):639–49.
- 120. Reichelt KL, Tveiten D, Knivsberg AM, Brønstad G. Peptides' role in autism with emphasis on exorphins. Microb Ecol Health Dis. 2012;24:23.
- 121. Cade R, Privette M, Fregly M, Rowland N, Sun Z, Zele V, Wagemaker H, Edelstein C. Autism and schizophrenia: intestinal disorders. Nutr Neurosci. 2000;3(1):57–72.
- 122. Shattock P, Whiteley P. Biochemical aspects in autism spectrum disorders: updating the opioid-excess theory and presenting new opportunities for biomedical intervention. Expert Opin Ther Targets. 2002;6(2):1–9.
- 123. Knivsberg AM, Reichelt KL, Høien T, Nødland M. A randomised, controlled study of dietary intervention in autistic syndromes. Nutr Neurosci. 2002;5(4):251–61.
- 124. Martin FP, Collino S, Rezzi S, Kochhar S. Metabolomic applications to decipher gut microbial metabolic influence in health and disease. Front Physiol. 2012;3:113.



Brain Magnetic Resonance Imaging in Attention-Deficit/ Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)

44

Nicolás Miguel Fayed, Humberto Morales, Carlos Torres, Alicia Fayed Coca, and Luisa F. Ángel Ríos

Introduction

The attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is a neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by some specific behavioral patterns and cognitive dysfunctions, which could progress, causing difficulties in the school and/or work environment.

Although ADHD syndrome is characterized by attention deficit, hyperactivity, and impulsivity, not all these symptoms have to be present, as many subtypes have been described. Multiple previous subtypes have been modified (combined, with attention deficit dominance or hyper-

C. Torres

L. F. Ángel Ríos Department of Radiology, Quirónsalud Hospital, Zaragoza, Spain active/impulsivity dominance), and currently the term "clinical presentations" is accepted, with the caveat that these presentations can vary during the patient's life [1].

According to the World Health Organization, ADHD is diagnosed in approximately 7% of the children population and 5% of the adult population [2].

ADHD is hereditary in 80% of the cases. In approximately 70–80% of children with ADHD, the disorder would persist into adolescence; and in approximately 30–65% cases, it would persist into adulthood. However, the manifestation of the disorder will change during life time, particularly in response to treatment.

Current evidence regarding the etiology points to multiple causes. There appears to be a series of biological disorders interacting among them as well as environmental and psychosocial factors. Early concepts, such as "minimal brain dysfunction," have evolved into different microbiological, pathophysiological, imaging, and genetic implications. Similarly, although psychosocial factors are not considered a dominant cause, many studies have found important association between a dysfunctional family and the development of symptoms. This is also the case for other behavioral disorders. Therein, this factors should be considered in the design of therapeutic interventions.

Overall, 62 clinical trials across the world have proven improved efficacy of methylphenidate in the treatment of ADHD, as compared with

N. M. Fayed (🖂)

Department of Radiology, Section of Neuroradiology, Quirónsalud Hospital, Zaragoza, Spain e-mail: nicola33fr@yahoo.es

H. Morales

Section of Neuroradiology, Department of Radiology, University of Cincinnati Medical Center, Cincinnati, OH, USA e-mail: moralehc@ucmail.uc.edu

Section of Neuroradiology, Department of Radiology, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada e-mail: catorres@toh.ca

A. Fayed Coca Departament of Hematology, Miguel Servet Hospital, Zaragoza, Spain

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_44

other drugs. However, there is consensus by experts in the field that following pharmacologic treatment, a multidisciplinary approach to include psychological, educational, and social support is warranted.

Among the neurochemical factors, there is a well-known dysregulation in the production of neurotransmitters, primarily dopamine and noradrenaline. Thus, an accurate initial diagnosis is important, followed by pharmacological treatment to normalize the production of neurotransmitters.

The diagnostic is clinical. As pointed before, an adequate clinic approach with an accurate diagnostic hypothesis is important, as it would lead to a pertinent complementary workup. ADHD is diagnosed by the DSM-IV and V criteria [3, 4]. The ICD-10 criteria, by the World Health Organization, can also be used for diagnosis and follow a similar approach.

In approximately 40-60% of children with ADHD, the symptoms would persist to adulthood [5, 6]. The prevalence of ADHD in adults - following the DSM-IV criteria - is estimated as 1–2% [7]. In adulthood, hyperactivity is decreased and less conspicuous than attention deficit, leading to increased overlook of symptoms and under diagnosis [8]. However, in patients with persistent hyperactivity, there is frequently a detriment in their work performance, progressive social issues, low selfesteem, and increased likelihood of motor vehicle accidents with increased risk of substance abuse and psychiatric disorders [9]. Due to its high prevalence, associated global detrimental, as well as its chronicity, ADHD was recognized as a significant public health problem in 2002. In 1991, Biederman et al. [10] recognized many disorders commonly associated to ADHD. Oppositional defiant disorder (ODD), mood and affective disorders, learning disabilities, and social misbehavior are some of them. They found that more than 50% of children and adolescents with ADHD will have at least one associated comorbidity/disorder. Also, approximately 40-60% of patients with ADHD presented ODD and approximately 20–40% social misbehavior, which traduce in increased risk of substance abuse, violence, and bribery, as well as increased risk for teenage pregnancy.

Most adults with ADHD have an associated comorbid disorder. One of the most frequent is antisocial personality (14–24%). Others include borderline personality (14%), affective disorders with depression (20%), bipolar disorder (20%), anxiety (up to 50%), social phobia (32%), panic attacks (15%), obsessive-compulsive disorder (20%), and drug abuse (20–30%).

Any improvement in the capacity to predict ADHD natural history is important, not only for patient counseling but also for taking appropriate therapeutic decisions, as well as to define or stratify an adequate population where pharmacological treatment and clinical trials would be most beneficial.

Cerebral Neuroimaging Techniques

The structural alterations related to behavior and the cognitive deficit model described in children with ADHD suggest a compromise of frontal areas similarly described in adults with detrimental executive functions and working memory. Thus, a dysfunctional frontal cortex – and/or its functionally related regions of the brain – is most likely related to the neuropsychological alterations underlying ADHD. Neuroimaging studies have been used to evaluate this model, with not only structural but also functional assessment.

Most structural studies (on computed tomography or magnetic resonance imaging) have found some evidence of anomalies in the frontal cortex or basal ganglia, supporting the idea of a frontal-subcortical syndrome. Many functional studies (PET, SPECT, fMRI) have found similar abnormalities in the metabolism or blood flow of the mentioned brain areas.

Development and validation of minimally invasive biomarkers for ADHD is an important step. It would help in early diagnosis, evaluation of disease progression, and also in defining an adequate target population for clinical trials and new therapeutic agents.

One of the main advantages of MRI studies is the lack of ionizing radiation, as opposed to computed tomography and other imaging techniques. Moreover, MRI has greater versatility combining anatomic images with functional techniques such as perfusion, diffusion, or spectroscopy.

Morphometric MRI

The gold standard for volumetric measurements in most prior MRI studies is the manual delineation of anatomic structures. However, it requires significant training and is very time-consuming. For these reasons, it is not widespread and is not possible in studies with large number of subjects. As an alternative, many semi-automatic methods of segmentation have been proposed, reducing operator cost. These methods differ in the level of automation. One group requires manual intervention to delineate anatomic landmarks, to select initial regions of interest, or to localize seeds within the anatomic structure with the subsequent automatic delineation of the borders. Other group of methods are based on an atlas from previously segmented patients, the software deforms the atlas to fit each new case, and the labels are migrated to the segmented portions [11].

In addition to volumetric studies of anatomical structures as above, others have proposed the analysis of the spatial distribution of the anatomical differences, targeting usually atrophic regions. To achieve this goal, different maps of regional atrophy throughout the evolution of the disease are created.

Significantly decreased volume of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex – as well as related regions such as caudate nucleus, anterior cingulate gyrus, and cerebellum – has been found in neuroimaging studies of pediatric populations. The volumetric abnormalities of the brain and cerebellum persist with time, whereas the caudate nucleus abnormalities tend to disappear [12, 13].

MR imaging has proven useful to obtain necessary information of the brain regions compromised by ADHD. There is general agreement regarding decreased volume in areas involving executive function and attention (prefrontal and striated areas). However, there are some inconsistencies, particularly regarding laterality differences in the brain volume (right versus left hemispheres).

Decreased volumes have been found in the right frontal lobe as well as the cingulate and striate region [4]. MRI studies with an appropriate sample (n > 30) have demonstrated decrease in volume of the right caudate nucleus. One study evaluating 50 children with ADHD found decreased mean volume of the right caudate nucleus, in comparison with a control group, suggesting abnormalities in the frontostriatal circuitry [14]. Decreased total brain volume – without asymmetric differences – was found in 50 girls with ADHD [15]. The same author also found decreased volume of the right globus pallidus and right anterior frontal region in 50 boys with ADHD [16].

In the pediatric population with ADHD, decrease in the volume of the striatum is consistently reported in voxel-based morphometric (VBM) studies, reinforcing the probable importance of this structure in the pathophysiology of this disorder [17, 18]. Early during childhood, ADHD is associated consistently with decrease in volume of the striatum.

On the other hand, striatum anomalies are rare in imaging studies using voxel-based morphometry (VBM) in adults with ADHD. It is possible that this discrepancy is related to the normalization of the striatum morphology with age and with long-term treatment. If this is the case, striatum anomalies seem to be related to symptoms in childhood. However, they would not explain the persistency of symptoms during adulthood [19].

Developmental coordination disorder (DCD) is a prevalent childhood movement disorder, impacting the ability to perform movement skills at an age-appropriate level. Recently, 44 children aged 7.8–12 years have been studied with VBM, including 22 children with DCD and 22 typically developing controls. In *DCD children*, they found a significant, large, right lateralized reductions in gray matter volume in the medial and middle

frontal and superior frontal gyri compared to controls. Decreased volume of the gray matter in the pre-motor frontal region might be related to the characteristic motor deficits in DCD. Thus, functional improvement in children with DCD can be accomplished by directed interventions in motor planning, attention, and functional executive processes associated with the regions of

decreased gray matter volume [20].

Neuroimaging studies provide vital information related to the neurobiology of ADHD, but there still exists a wide gap in relevant information. A voxel-based cortical thickness and voxelbased morphometry study were performed to examine neuroanatomic distinctions in 18 children/adolescents aged 7.5-13 years diagnosed with DSM-IV TR as ADHD (nonmedicated). They were compared with 18 healthy matched controls. Voxel-based cortical thickness findings in ADHD children/adolescents revealed reduced cortical thickness in the left superior frontal, left orbitofrontal, and left dorsal anterior cingulate cortex. Voxel-based morphometry findings confirmed decreased gray matter volume in the left orbitofrontal, left middle frontal/dorsolateral prefrontal, left middle temporal, and left cerebellum in comparison to control group. A decrease in white matter volume was also observed in the left inferior frontal and left calcarine region of ADHD children/adolescents. Findings might relate to possible abnormal neuroanatomical development patterns in ADHD children [21].

In an extensive study that included 307 patients with ADHD, 169 unaffected siblings and 196 typically developing controls (mean age 17.2 [range 8–30] years) showed that brain areas involved in decision-making, motivation, cognitive control, and motor functioning (precentral gyrus, medial and orbitofrontal cortex, and cingulate cortices) had significantly smaller gray matter volume in participants with ADHD than in controls. Investigation of unaffected siblings indicated familiarity of four of the structural brain differences, supporting their potential in molecular genetic analyses in ADHD research [22].

Using gray matter morphometry and probabilistic tractography combined with multivariate statistical modeling (partial least squares regression and support vector regression), anomalies have been identified within the fronto-accumbal circuit in childhood ADHD, which were associated with increased aggression. More specifically, children with ADHD showed reduced right accumbal volumes and frontal-accumbal white matter connectivity compared with HC. The magnitude of the accumbal volume reductions within the ADHD group was significantly correlated with increased aggression, an effect mediated by the relationship between the accumbal volume and impulsivity. Furthermore, aggression, but not impulsivity, was significantly explained by multivariate measures of frontoaccumbal white matter connectivity and cortical thickness within the orbitofrontal cortex [23].

Another study with voxel-based morphometry (VBM) using the DARTEL approach has shown significantly smaller gray matter volume in subjects with ADHD compared to their matched controls within the anterior cingulate cortex, the occipital cortex, bilateral hippocampus/amygdala, and in widespread cerebellar regions. Further, reductions of the anterior cingulated cortex gray matter volume were found to correlate with scores of selective inattention [24].

A large number of structural neuroimaging studies have used voxel-based morphometry to identify gray matter abnormalities in youths with conduct problems, but the findings have been disparate and few have been replicated. Anisotropic effect-size signed differential mapping was used for voxel-based meta-analyses. Statistical parametric maps comparing gray matter differences between youths with conduct problems and typically developing youths were available for 11 of the studies, with peak coordinates available for the remaining studies. Youths with conduct problems had decreased gray matter volume in the left amygdala (Fig. 44.1) (extending into anterior insula), right insula (extending ventrolaterally into the prefrontal cortex and inferiorly into the superior temporal gyrus), left medial superior frontal gyrus (extending into the right anterior cingulate cortex), and left fusiform gyrus. Subgroup meta-analysis assessing age-at-onset effects identified reduced gray matter volume in



Fig. 44.1 3D reconstruction of right and left amygdala

the left anterior insula (extending into amygdala). Meta-regression analyses revealed that greater scores on measures of callous-unemotional traits were associated with a lower reduction in gray matter volume in the left putamen. The proportion of male and female youths in the sample was associated with decreased gray matter volume in the left amygdala and increased gray matter volume in the right inferior temporal cortex. While there was no association with comorbid attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder or intelligence quotient, age range was associated with gray matter differences in the left amygdala [25].

Girls have been underrepresented in past studies on ADHD [26], probably due to the predominance of male subjects in clinical settings [27]. Females with ADHD have fewer hyperactive/ impulsive symptoms and more inattentive symptoms, present more commonly with the predominantly inattentive subtype, and tend to be underdiagnosed when compared to boys with ADHD.

ADHD in adulthood is a serious and frequent psychiatric disorder with the core symptoms, inattention, impulsivity, and hyperactivity. Increased cortical thickness in the left occipital cortex may represent a mechanism to compensate for dysfunctional attentional networks in male adult ADHD patient [28]. Some studies have pointed to the relation of limbic structures in the pathogenesis of ADHD. Recently, using manual segmentation on MR images, Nickel et al. compared the volume of the amygdala and hippocampus in 30 patients with ADHD and 30 control subjects. They did not find a significant difference in the volumes. However, patients with significantly increased hyperactivity demonstrated decreased volume of the left amygdala. This suggests that limbic alterations might be significantly related to hyperactive symptoms in ADHD [29].

In other study, voxel-based morphometry (VBM) was applied to 44 adults with ADHD, combined subtype, aged 18-54 years, and 44 healthy controls matched for age, sex, and IQ. Here, ADHD patients showed reduced gray matter volume in the right supplementary motor area. Using more lenient thresholds, they also observed reductions in the subgenual anterior cingulate and right dorsolateral prefrontal cortices and increases in the basal ganglia, specifically in the left caudate nucleus and putamen. There was a positive correlation between the cumulative stimulant dose and volume in the right supplementary motor area and dorsolateral prefrontal cortices clusters, suggesting that adults with ADHD show brain structural changes in regions belonging to the so-called cool executive function network. Thus, long-term stimulant medication may act to normalize these gray matter GM alterations [30] (Fig. 44.2a, b).

131 patients with ADHD, whom had stopped the previous use of stimulant medication for 6 months, and 95 healthy control subjects (18–58 years of age) were studied with VBM. The results showed that ADHD in adulthood is associated with global rather than regional volumetric abnormalities and that previous use of stimulant medication does not seem to modify subsequent brain volumes in a significant way [31]

Recently, radiomics were used. It consist in the extraction from magnetic resonance imaging scans of a large amount of quantitative information from digital imaging features. Using radiomics, they can build and evaluate classification models based on pathological subtyping. The researchers examined 83 children aged 7–14 with newly diag-

a MEDIDAS DE ESPESOR CORTICAL









b

MEDIDAS VOLUMÉTRICAS [media ± 2 Desviaciones Estander] (cm³)*



Fig. 44.2 (a, b) Measurements of cortical thickness and standard deviation in adult patient with ADHD compared with group of healthy patients of the same sex and age

nosed and never-treated ADHD, including children with the inattentive ADHD subtype (ADHD-1) and the combined subtype (ADHD-C). The scientists compared these MRI results with those of a control group of 87 healthy children of the same age and screened relevant radiomics signatures from more than 3,100 quantitative features extracted from the gray and white matter. They found alterations in the shape of the left temporal lobe, bilateral cuneus, and areas around left central sulcus, and these differences contributed significantly to distinguishing ADHD from typically developing controls. Within the ADHD population, features involve in the default mode network and the insular cortex significantly contributed to discriminating the ADHD inattentive subtype from the combined subtype. They could discriminate patients with ADHD with control subjects with 73.7% accuracy and discriminate ADHD-1 from ADHD-C patients with over 80.1% accuracy [32]

Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder +comorbid oppositional defiant disorder (ADHD+ODD) and ADHD-only were associated with volumetric reductions in brain areas crucial for attention, (working) memory, and decisionmaking. Volumetric reductions of frontal lobes were largest in the attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder + comorbid oppositional defiant disorder (ADHD+ODD) group, possibly underlying observed larger impairments in neurocognitive functions. Previously reported striatal abnormalities in ADHD may be caused by comorbid conduct disorder rather than oppositional defiant disorder (ODD) [33]

Functional MRI

Relations between structural anomalies and functional deficits have also been studied in ADHD. For 756 human participants in the ADHD-200 sample, they produce gray and white matter volume maps with voxel-based morphometry, as well as whole-brain functional connectomes. Joint independent component analysis was performed, and the resulting transmodal components were tested for differential expression in ADHD versus healthy controls. Four comexpression ponents showed greater in ADHD. They have been observed reduced default mode network (DMN) and task-positive networks (TPN) segregation co-occurring with structural abnormalities in dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and anterior cingulate cortex, two important cognitive control regions. They also observed altered intranetwork connectivity in default mode network, dorsal attention network, and visual network, with co-occurring distributed structural deficits. There was strong evidence of spatial correspondence across modalities: for all four components, the impact of the respective component on gray matter at a region strongly predicted the impact on functional connectivity at that region. Overall, these results show that ADHD involves multiple, cohesive modality spanning deficits, each one of which exhibits strong spatial overlap in the pattern of structural and functional alterations [34]

Studies performed with fMRI and MEG have found hypoactivation of the prefrontal cortex, predominantly in the right hemisphere as well as the caudate nucleus and anterior cingulate, and differences in the activation of the basal ganglia [35, 36].

Compared to the healthy controls, the ADHD in children showed significantly decreased functional connectivity that primarily involved the default mode network and frontoparietal network regions and cross-network long-range connections. Further graph-based network analysis revealed that the ADHD in children had fewer connections, lower network efficiency, and more functional modules compared with the healthy attention-deficit/hyperactivity controls. The disorder-related alterations in functional connectivity but not topological organization were correlated with clinical symptoms of the attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder children and differentiated the patients from the healthy controls with a good performance. Taken together, these signs suggest a less integrated functional brain network in children with ADHD due to selective disruption of key long-range connections, with important implications for understanding the neural substrates of ADHD, particularly executive dysfunction [37].

A study explored age-related brain network differences between ADHD patients and typically developing (TD) subjects using resting state fMRI (rs-fMRI) for three age groups of children, adolescents, and adults. They collected rs-fMRI data from 184 individuals (27 ADHD children and 31 TD children; 32 ADHD adolescents and 32 TD adolescents; and 31 ADHD adults and 31 TD adults). The Brainnetome Atlas was used to define nodes in the network analysis. They compared three age groups of ADHD and TD subjects to identify the distinct regions that could explain agerelated brain network differences based on degree centrality, a well-known measure of nodal centrality. The left middle temporal gyrus showed significant interaction effects between disease status (i.e., ADHD or TD) and age (i.e., child, adolescent, or adult). Additional regions were identified at a relaxed threshold. Many of the identified regions (the left inferior frontal gyrus, the left middle temporal gyrus, and the left insular gyrus) were related to cognitive function, suggesting that aberrant development in cognitive brain regions might be associated with age-related brain network changes in ADHD patients [38].

Studies with functional imaging in children are rare. Positron emission tomography offers information of the brain glucose metabolism, globally and in selected areas. Studies performed with small samples in adolescence have found no abnormalities in the brain glucose metabolism [39, 40].

Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy

The most frequently used spectroscopy is that originated from hydrogen nucleus. The most frequently evaluated metabolites are N-acetylaspartate (NAA), myo-inositol (mI), choline (Cho), creatine (Cr), and glutamate + glutamine (Glx) (Fig. 44.3).

NAA is a marker of neuronal and axonal viability and density. Myo-inositol has been regarded as glial marker located in the astrocytes, as product of myelin degradation, and the most important osmolyte or cell volume regulator. Choline is a marker of the phospholipid metabolism and cellular membrane turnover marker, reflecting cellular proliferation. Creatine is used as internal reference value, since it is the most stable cerebral metabolite. It has a role in the energetic system of the brain and in the osmoregulation. Lactate peak indicates anaerobic glycolysis in tumors. Lipid peak indicates necrosis and/or disruption of myelin sheath. Glutamate is an important neurotoxic brain marker. Excess of glutamate can produce neuronal death through excitotoxic processes [41]. It is also assumed that glutamate in the frontal circuits is an important regulator of dopamine [42–44], and through a feedback mechanism, the concentration of dopamine can influence the concentration of glutamate [45, 46].

Magnetic resonance spectroscopy may be necessary to obtain information from living tissues [47]. A previous study of 23 ADHD patients does not find significant differences in the neurometabolites of the dorsal-lateral frontal region [48]. There are three studies that show an

Fig. 44.3 A typical in vivo example of linear combination model spectrum in the same area with metabolite peaks. *mI* myo-inositol, *Cho* choline compounds, *Cr* creatine, *Glx* glutamate + glutamine, *NAA* N-acetyl-aspartate



increase in N-acetylaspartate/creatine ratios in children with ADHD in the right frontal region [49] and in the left semioval center, respectively [50, 51].

In vivo phosphorus 31 magnetic resonance spectroscopy (31P MRS) has shown lower bilateral membrane phospholipid (MPL) precursor levels in the basal ganglia and higher MPL precursor levels in the inferior parietal region (primarily right side) in 31 psychostimulant-naive children with ADHD (mean [SD] age, 8.1 [1.2] years; range, 6.1–10.0 years) as compared with 36 healthy control children (mean [SD] age, 8.1 [1.3] years; range, 6.1–10.4 years), and these results are suggestive of possible progressive, nonlinear, and sequential alterations implicating a bottom-up developmental dysfunction in parts of the cortico-striato-thalamo-cortical network in ADHD [52].

Conclusion

ADHD is a social problem and not just a problem for the sick, their families, and educators. It impacts society and the general policy of nations. It is still necessary to carry out public education campaigns to make people aware of the reasons why everyone, as a society, should be seriously concerned about ADHD and we must support research to conquer this disease. The diagnosis is clinical, but neuroradiological techniques can be used in research studies.

In the future, imaging-based disease classification will gain importance versus the diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. Standardization will be necessary to clinically validate these technique, but they will prove useful as they advance, in particular in data acquisition and analysis. Interventional psychoradiology will also be developed.

References

 Hidalgo MI, Rodríguez PJ. Trastorno por Déficit de Atención con Hiperactividad. In: Del Pozo Machuca P, Redondo Romero A, Gancedo García C, Bolívar Galiano V, editors. Tratado de Pediatría Extrahospitalaria. 2nd ed. Ergon: Madrid; 2011. p. 1339–51.

- Cormier E. Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a review and update. J Pediatr Nurs. 2008;23:345–57.
- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic criteria from DSM-IV-TR. 4th ed. Washington, D.C.: The American Psychiatric Association; 2000.
- American Psychiatric Association. Attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder. In Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 5th edn (DSM-5). Arlington: American Psychiatric Association; 2013. p. 59.
- Gurvitis GV, Shenton ME, Hokama H, Ohta H, Lasko NB, Gilbertson MW, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging study of hippocampal volume in chronic, combatrelated posttraumatic stress disorder. Biol Psychiatry. 1996;40:1091–9.
- Natsume J, Watabane K, Tadokoro M, Negoro T, Aso K, Nakashima S, et al. Widespread glucose hypometabolism in patients with hippocampal atrophy: evaluation with ffluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography. J Epilepsy. 1997;10:155–60.
- Moore CM, Biederman J, Wozniak J, Mick E, Aleardi M, Wardrop M, et al. Differences in brain chemistry in children and adolescents with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder with and without comorbid bipolar disorder: a proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. Am J Psychiatry. 2006;163:316–8.
- Biederman J, Mick E, Faraone SV. Age-dependent decline of symptoms of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: impact of remission definition and symptom type. Am J Psychiatry. 2000;157:816–8.
- Spencer TJ, Biederman J, Wilens TE, Faraone SV. Overview and neurobiology of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Clin Psychiatry. 2002;63:3–9.
- Biederman J, Newcorn J, Sprich S. Comorbidity of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder with conduct, depressive, anxiety, and other disorders. Am J Psychiatry. 1991;148:564–77.
- A comparison of methods for the automated calculation of volumes and atrophy rates in the hippocampus. Neuroimage. 2008;40:1655-1671
- Castellanos FX, Lee PP, Sharp W, Jeffries NO, Greenstein DK, Clasen LS, et al. Developmental trajectories of brain volume abnormalities in children and adolescents with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. JAMA. 2002;288:1740–8.
- Seidman LJ, Valera EM, Makris N. Structural brain imaging of attention- deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Biol Psychiatry. 2005;57:1263–72.
- Castellanos FX, Giedd JN, Eckburg P, Marsh WL, Vaituzis AC, Kaysen D, et al. Quantitative morphology of the caudate nucleus in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Am J Psychiatry. 1994;151:1791–6.
- Castellanos FX, Giedd JN, Berquin PC, Walter JM, Sharp W, Tran T, et al. Quantitative brain magnetic resonance imaging in girls with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2001;58:289–95.

- Castellanos FX, Giedd JN, Marsh WL, Hamburger SD, Vaituzis AC, Dickstein DP, et al. Quantitative brain magnetic resonance imaging in attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1996;53:607–16.
- Nakao T, Radua J, Rubia K, Mataix-Cols D. Gray matter volume abnormalities in ADHD: voxel-based metaanalysis exploring the effects of age and stimulant medication. Am J Psychiatry. 2011;168:1154–63.
- Frodl T, Skokauskas N. Meta-analysis of structural MRI studies in children and adults with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder indicates treatment effects. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2012;125:114–26.
- Sethi A, Evelyn-Rahr E, Dowell N, Jain S, Voon V, Critchley HD, et al. Magnetization transfer imaging identifies basal ganglia abnormalities in adult ADHD that are invisible to conventional T1 weighted voxelbased morphometry. Neuroimage Clin. 2017;15:8–14.
- Reynolds JE, Licari MK, Reid SL, Elliott C, Winsor AM, Bynevelt M, et al. Reduced relative volume in motor and attention regions in developmental coordination disorder: a voxel-based morphometry study. Int J Dev Neurosci. 2017;58:59–64.
- Kumar U, Arya A, Agarwal V. Neural alterations in ADHD children as indicated by voxel-based cortical thickness and morphometry analysis. Brain and Development. 2017;39:403–10.
- 22. Bralten J, Greven CU, Franke B, Mennes M, Zwiers MP, Rommelse NN, et al. Voxel-based morphometry analysis reveals frontal brain differences in participants with ADHD and their unaffected siblings. J Psychiatry Neurosci. 2016;41:272–9.
- 23. Cha J, Fekete T, Siciliano F, Biezonski D, Greenhill L, Pliszka SR, et al. Neural correlates of aggression in medication-naive children with ADHD: multi-variate analysis of morphometry and tractography. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2015;40:1717–25.
- 24. Bonath B, Tegelbeckers J, Wilke M, Flechtner HH, Krauel K. Regional gray matter volume differences between adolescents with ADHD and typically developing controls: further evidence for anterior cingulate involvement. J Atten Disord. 2018;22:627–38.
- Rogers JC, De Brito SA. Cortical and subcortical gray matter volume in youths with conduct problems: a meta-analysis. JAMA Psychiat. 2016;73:64–72.
- Mahone EM, Wodka EL. The neurobiological profile of girls with ADHD. Dev Disabil Res Rev. 2008;14:276–84.
- 27. Ramtekkar UP, Reiersen AM, Todorov AA, Todd RD. Sex and age differences in attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder symptoms and diagnoses: implications for DSM-V and ICD-11. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2010;49:217–28.
- Sörös P, Bachmann K, Lam AP, Kanat M, Hoxhaj E, Matthies S, et al. Inattention predicts increased thickness of left occipital cortex in men with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Front Psych. 2017;8:170.

- 29. Nickel K, Tebartz van Elst L, Perlov E, Jitten-Schachenmeier R, Beier D, Endres D, Goll P, et al. Manual morphometry of hippocampus and amygdala in adults with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Psychiatry Res. 2017;267:32–5.
- Moreno-Alcázar A, Ramos-Quiroga JA, Radua J, Salavert J, Palomar G, Bosch R, et al. Brain abnormalities in adults with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder revealed by voxel-based morphometry. Psychiatry Res. 2016;254:41–7.
- 31. Maier S, Perlov E, Graf E, Dieter E, Sobanski E, Rump M, et al. Discrete global but no focal gray matter volume reductions in unmedicated adult patients with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Biol Psychiatry. 2016;80:905–15.
- 32. Sun H, Chen Y, Huang Q, Lui S, Huang X, Shi Y, et al. Psychoradiologic utility of MR imaging for diagnosis of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a radiomics analysis. Radiology. 2018;287:620–30.
- Noordermeer SDS, Luman M, Greven CU, Veroude K, Faraone SV, Hartman CA, et al. Structural brain abnormalities of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder with oppositional defiant disorder. Biol Psychiatry. 2017;82:642–50.
- 34. Kessler D, Angstadt M, Welsh RC, Sripada C. Modality-spanning deficits in attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder in functional networks, gray matter, and white matter. J Neurosci. 2014;34:16555–66.
- Quintero J, Navas M, Fernández A, Ortiz T. Avances en el trastorno por déficit de atención e hiperactividad. ¿Qué nos aporta la neuroimagen? Actas Esp Psiquiatr. 2009;37:352–8.
- Dickstein SG, Bannon K, Castellanos FX, Milham MP. The neural correlates of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: an ALE meta-analysis. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2006;47:1051–62.
- 37. Tao J, Jiang X, Wang X, Liu H, Qian A, Yang C, et al. Disrupted control-related functional brain networks in drug-naive children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Front Psych. 2017;8:246.
- 38. Hong J, Park BY, Cho HH, Park H. Age-related connectivity differences between attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder patients and typically developing subjects: a resting-state functional MRI study. Neural Regen Res. 2017;12:1640–7.
- 39. Zametkin AJ, Liebenauer LL, Fitzgerald GA, King AC, Minkunas DV, Herscovitch P, et al. Brain metabolism in teenagers with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1993;50:333–40.
- 40. Ernst M, Cohen RM, Liebenauer LL, Jons PH, Zametkin AJ. Cerebral glucose metabolism in adolescent girls with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 1997;36:1399–406.
- 41. Albin R, Greenamyre J. Alternative excitotoxic hypotheses. Neurology. 1992;42:733–8.

- Carlsson A, Hansson LO, Waters N, Carlsson ML. A glutamatergic deficiency model of schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry. 1999;37:2–6.
- Carlsson A, Waters N, Carlsson ML. Neurotransmitter interactions in schizophrenia _ therapeutic implications. Biol Psychiatry. 1999;46:1388–95.
- 44. Krause J, Dresel SH, Krause KH, La Fougere C, Zill P, Ackenheil M. Striatal dopamine transporter availability and DAT-1 gene in adults with ADHD: no higher DAT availability in patients with homozygosity for the 10-repeat allele. World J Biol Psychiatry. 2006;7:152–7.
- 45. Tebartz van Elst L, Valerius G, Buchert M, Thiel T, Rusch N, Bubl E. Increased prefrontal and hippocampal glutamate concentration in schizophrenia: evidence from a magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. Biol Psychiatry. 2005;58:724–30.
- 46. Olbrich HM, Valerius G, Rusch N, Buchert M, Thiel T, Hennig J, Ebert D, Van Elst LT. Frontolimbic glutamate alterations in first episode schizophrenia: evidence from a magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. World J Biol Psychiatry. 2008;9(1):59–63.
- 47. Fayed N, Olmos S, Morales H, Modrego PJ. Physical basis of magnetic resonance spectroscopy and its application to central nervous system diseases. Am J Appl Sci. 2006;3:1836–45.

- 48. Yeo RA, Hill DE, Campbell RA, Vigil J, Petropoulos H, Hart B, et al. Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy investigation of the right frontal lobe in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2003;42:303–10.
- Courvoisie H, Hooper SR, Fine C, Kwock L, Castillo M. Neurometabolic functioning and neuropsychological correlates in children with ADHD-H: preliminary findings. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2004;16:63–9.
- Fayed N, Modrego PJ. Comparative study of cerebral white matter in autism and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder by means of magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Acad Radiol. 2005;12:566–9.
- Fayed N, Modrego PJ, Castillo J, Dávila J. Evidence of brain dysfunction in attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder: a controlled study with proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Acad Radiol. 2007;14:1029–35.
- 52. Stanley JA, Kipp H, Greisenegger E, MacMaster FP, Panchalingam K, Keshavan MS, et al. Evidence of developmental alterations in cortical and subcortical regions of children with attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder: a multivoxel in vivo phosphorus 31 spectroscopy study. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2008;65:1419–28.



Research Contributions of Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy in Psychopathology

45

Nicolás Miguel Fayed, Carlos Torres, Humberto Morales, Luisa F. Ángel Ríos, and Alicia Fayed Coca

Introduction

Brief History of Neuroradiology and Magnetic Resonance Imaging

The term Neuroradiology was first used in Great Britain in 1938 as a link between Radiology and Neuropsychiatry; however, it was not officially established in Europe until the Symposium Neuroradiologicum of 1949 in Rotterdam, chaired by Ziedses des Plantes. Around the same time in the United States, Dyke established Neuroradiology as a specialty and he was one of its most outstanding pioneers. In the 1950s and 1960s, several radiologists distinguished themselves in Europe and in the United States in the development of Neuroradiology.

MRI scanners are based on the discovery of nuclear magnetic resonance, a phenomenon that was detected independently by Bloch [1] and Purcell [2] in 1946. Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) was introduced to clinical medicine in 1981, for which Lauterbur [3] and Mansfield [4] were awarded the Nobel Prize in Medicine in 2003. In the short space of time that has elapsed since then, MRI has assumed an especially important role in medical diagnosis. It likely represents the most important advance in imaging since the introduction of the X-ray in 1895. MRI, without any doubt, is the best imaging modality to study the central nervous system including the spinal cord.

In recent years, neuroscience has experienced a growing interest in applying its methods for understanding psychopathologic disorders, and neuroimaging techniques represent one of the fundamental tools to achieve this goal. Techniques that allow the metabolic (spectroscopy) and functional (perfusion, diffusion, diffusion tensor, tractography) assessment of multiple pathologies are currently used.

Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (MRS)

Magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) is a noninvasive method that studies cellular bio-

N. M. Fayed (🖂)

Department of Radiology, Section of Neuroradiology, Quirónsalud Hospital, Zaragoza, Spain e-mail: nicola33fr@yahoo.es

C. Torres Section of Neuroradiology, Department of Radiology, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada e-mail: catorres@toh.ca

H. Morales Section of Neuroradiology, Department of Radiology, University of Cincinnati Medical Center, Cincinnati, OH, USA e-mail: moralehc@ucmail.uc.edu

L. F. Ángel Ríos Department of Radiology, Quirónsalud Hospital, Zaragoza, Spain

A. Fayed Coca Department of Hematology, Miguel Servet Hospital, Zaragoza, Spain

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_45

chemistry in vivo. When MRS is used in living tissues, it is possible to measure their chemical composition, assess the characteristics of some metabolic processes, and identify in advance the chemical or metabolic relationship of the disease. It could be used to detect abnormalities in anatomical regions that appear normal in conventional MR images, or to better assess a visualized pathology in a conventional MRI. Several studies have used MRI for the evaluation of cerebral structural anomalies associated with psychiatric disorders; however, the use of MRS to characterize chemical or metabolic tissue abnormalities in specific psychiatric disorders continues to increase.

Richard Ernst was awarded the Nobel Prize in Chemistry in 1991 for his contribution to the development of the high-resolution Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy methodology in 1975.

Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy is the only noninvasive technique able to measure the chemical products present in the body. The rapid proliferation of MRI magnets with the capability of MRS throughout Europe and the United States has increased the interest in using MRS as a clinical diagnostic tool.

Although MRI and MRS share similar fundamental principles, many important differences can be highlighted between these two techniques. For the clinician, one of the main differences is that MRI produces a visual image, while MRS obtains chemical information that can be expressed with numerical values.

MRS is a technique that allows characterizing of certain cerebral metabolites and interpreting them qualitatively and/or quantitatively. It can be considered as a biochemical photograph of a certain volume, in our case, of the brain. It aims to improve the sensitivity and specificity in routine neurodiagnoses, and although its interpretation (physiological and biochemical) is totally different from the conventional images we are used to observe, MRS results may determine new treatment strategies that allow controlling of disease progression, treatment response, or evaluating of prognosis [5].

Fundamental Principles of MR Spectroscopy

MRS technique requires short radiofrequencey (RF) energy pulses (B1) to excite the nuclei, followed by a period of signal acquisition. The acquired signal represents the free induction drop (FID) that is converted by the Fourier transform into spectral values. The horizontal axis (abscissa) of a spectrum represents the resonance frequency. MRS uses different MR field intensities and therefore, the abscissa is usually expressed in parts per million (ppm), which represents a small frequency interval proportional to the total resonance frequency used in the experiment.

Chemical deviations in parts per million are positive toward the left, and the zero point [tetramethylsilane (TMS) is used for 1H] is placed at the resonance frequency of each compound [6]. The interpretation of the results of MRS is greatly simplified if the volume of tissue that produces the signals is localized, so that it corresponds to a limited volume of interest (VOI) (Fig. 45.1).

As we know, water is abundant in our body, and its quantity is much greater than that of the



Fig. 45.1 Sagital T1-weighted magnetic resonance imaging with the voxel placed in the bilateral posteromedial parietal cortex (posterior cingulate gyrus and inferior precuneus)

metabolites we want to evaluate; thus, in obtaining and visualizing the spectra the resonance frequency of hydrogen in water must be saturated or canceled [7, 8].

The location or resonance of the most relevant compounds in parts per million (ppm) are: lipids, between 0.8 and 1.3 ppm; lactate, at 1.33 ppm (doublet) and a second peak at 4.1 ppm (quadruple); alanine, at 1.48 ppm; N-acetil-aspartate (NAA), at 2.02, 2.5 and 2.6 ppm; glutamine y glutamate, at 2.1 and 2.55 ppm; creatine (Cr), at 3.02 and 3.94 ppm; choline (Co), at 3.22 ppm; myo-inositol (mI), at 3.56 and 4.06 ppm.

Myo-inositol is considered a glial marker, a possible degradation product of myelin and osmolyte or cell volume regulator. Choline is a constituent of the phospholipid metabolism of cell membranes and reflects cell proliferation. Creatine plays an important role in the cerebral energy system (ATP), as a marker of cerebral metabolism. NAA is a marker of viability, density, and neuronal and axonal function. Lactate is visualized in oxygen deficiency states and therefore is a product of anaerobic glycolysis. Lipids reflect a necrotic process as well as products of microbial metabolism [9]. Glutamate and glutamine are difficult to separate at 1.5 Tesla field strength, and thus this separation is only achieved in high magnetic fields. Glutamate, a product of ammonium metabolism, is neurotoxic and a marker of hypoxic injury.

Currently, brain spectra can be obtained with single- or multi-voxel techniques. The single-voxel technique has the advantage of a more exact spatial localization, greater homogeneity, better water suppression, and shorter acquisition time, but only one spectrum can be obtained for each data acquisition. The multi-voxel technique, on the other hand, has the advantage of obtaining multiple spectra simultaneously during a data acquisition and is useful to evaluate a larger area of brain parenchyma or a larger lesion; however, the spectral resolution is reduced and there is increased voxel contamination. The single-voxel technique is still the most reproducible [10–13].

Psychopathology

Etymologically, psyche (psyche): soul or reason; pathos (pazos): disease; and logos, which means discussion or rational discourse, may be used in three contexts:

As an area of study within healthcare that describes behavioral changes that are not explained by the maturation or development of the individual, nor as a result of learning processes, also known as psychological disorders or mental disorders.

As a descriptive term: a specific reference to a sign or symptom that can be found as part of a psychological disorder.

As an area of study in psychology that, contrary to the health status (as defined by the World Health Organization: social, psychological, and biological), focuses on studying the processes that can induce "unhealthy" states in the mental process. In this way, the role of learning and behavioral analysis (behavioral psychology) or any other cognitive process, can explain people's "unhealthy" states, and can guide potential treatment approaches. In this sense, mental disorders are not strictly a synonym of psychopathology, since there are ways to explain the absence of health. For example, the learning processes related to phobia are well known, whether or not this clinical entity falls within the psychiatric category of phobia.

Different professions can become involved in the study of psychopathology. However, mainly psychiatrists and psychologists are interested in this area, since they are involved in research related to the origin of the clinical pictures, their manifestation and development, and they also participate in the management. On a more general level, many other specialties can participate in the study of psychopathology. For example, professionals in the field of neuroscience can focus their research efforts in studying the brain changes that occur in mental disorders.

We intend, in this chapter, to make a compilation of the evolution of our most relevant clinical and applied research work in the field of psychopathology that we have been developing with Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy for 13 years (2005–2018), and whose results have been published in various national and international scientific journals.

The first step before starting a research study is to perform a reproducibility study of the metabolites, measured in the same area of the brain with two consecutive acquisitions without removing the patient from the scanner. According to the alpha coefficients, we can assume an average variation of approximately 8% for the myoinositol/Creatine (mI/Cr) index, and around 10% for N-acetil-aspartate/Creatine (NAA/Cr), Choline/Creatine (Co/Cr)and Glutamate/ Creatine (Glx/Cr) [14]. The next step would be to obtain metabolite values in the gray and white matter of healthy brains in individuals of different age [5].

Normal Development

In the newborn, myo-inositol is the predominant metabolite in the spectrum while choline increases in the first days of life. The concentrations of NAA and creatine are lower than in adults. During the first weeks of life, an increase of creatine and NAA is observed, as well as decrease in choline and myo-inositol. Spectral abnormalities in this age can be of great help in diagnosis and monitoring, especially after myelination is completed.

A progressive increase of NAA is observed with age in the white matter of normal individuals, predominantly in the first 2–3 years of life, and continuing until the age of 20–25, after which it starts to decrease. These change patterns may reflect neuronal maturation due to increased synaptic, dendritic, and axonal projections. NAA decreases progressively in the cerebral cortex from birth to old age.

Creatine levels in the brain also change during development, increasing from birth to approximately 2 years of life. During the first year of life, and parallel to myelination, the concentration of choline decreases rapidly. Lactate is an important source of brain energy and is often elevated in congenital errors of metabolism or hypoxia but also in conditions of moderate reduction in cerebral blood flow and/or increase in cerebral metabolism, such as in response to hyperventilation or caffeine ingestion. Small elevations of lactate, in conjunction with other chemical changes such as glutamate elevation may also reflect subtle bioenergetic changes of the brain. It is a marker in specific psychiatric disorders such as bipolar disorder. Glutamate and GABA, the most important neurotransmitters, stimulant to nerve cells and cell inhibitor respectively, are of substantial interest in some clinical conditions, such as epilepsy.

A prospective study of 207 patients with Neuropsychiatric Disorders (148 women and 59 men; age 29-90 years; mean age 56) and 193 Healthy Controls group (117 women and 76 men; age 29-90 years; mean age 53.2) showed levels of NAA and NAA/Cr are significantly in patients with Neuropsychiatric lower Disorders than in the Healthy Controls HC group, whereas levels of Glx and Glx/Cr are significantly higher in those with Neuropsychiatric Disorders than in healthy people. When analyzing metabolite levels in the whole sample while controlling for age, gender, and psychiatric disorders, we observe that all metabolites are correlated with age. Glu, Glx, and NAA and their ratios to Cr show a negative correlation (increase in age with a decrease in metabolite levels and vice versa), whereas the remaining metabolites, such as mI and Cho, show a direct correlation. A decrease in Glu and Glx over one's lifetime, which is associated with a certain cognitive deterioration, could be expected as significant lower levels of these metabolites are found in AD [15–18].

Aging is associated with a general reduction in the level of NAA. Several independent studies have found reductions in the absolute concentration of NAA and in the ratios NAA/choline and NAA/Cr in the cortical gray matter [19], ranging from a few percent to >10% over an age range spanning the second to the eighth decade.

Applications of Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy in the Study of Psychopathology

Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD). Autism

Research with magnetic resonance spectroscopy has recently been applied to ADHD. Some research groups have already investigated neurometabolic differences between patients and healthy controls using this noninvasive method. We carried out studies on 41 children with ADHD and autistic, with a mean age of 9 years, and we compared them with a group of healthy children in order to find out if there were metabolic changes in the white matter of the left centrum semiovale and/or in the cortical-subcortical right prefrontal region [20, 21]. We found an increase in the NAA/Cr ratios in the right prefrontal region as well as a more significant increase of these ratios in the white matter of the left centrum semiovale, when compared with autistic children and controls. We postulate that this increase in NAA levels may be related to mitochondrial hypermetabolism in patients with ADHD or could be due to an increase in the axonal transport of neurotransmitters, as seems to occur in Asperger syndrome; however, what happens to these patients remains unclear. The role of NAA in white matter axons is unknown; however, it is possible that they participate in the synthesis of neurotransmitters. Such information may allow us to add new knowledge in the understanding of this complex disorder. Paradoxically, although the anatomy, function, and biochemistry of this disorder are well known, we remain far from consolidating these data and obtaining a coherent explanation. In hyperammonemia, glutamine is reportedly elevated as is NAA in Canavan disease [9, 22].

In familial leukodystrophies, such as adrenoleukodystrophy and metachromatic leukodystrophy, choline compounds may be elevated due to the presence of inflammation [23].

In autistic children a decrease of NAA was reported in the temporal cortex and in the cerebellar white matter [24]. In other studies with autistic children, variable levels of choline and creatine have been observed in different cortical areas [25]. We did not find changes in the white matter of autistic children, in the centrum semiovale, in comparison to healthy controls.

Delayed Psychomotor Development

Isolated psychomotor development is a fairly common disorder in preschool and school-age children, with an estimated prevalence greater than 10% [26]. It has been suggested that more than 15% of school-age children have mild developmental delay [27, 28].

Recent neuroimaging studies have not shown any abnormality in conventional magnetic resonance in 53% of patients, even when delayed myelination is suspected, either as a cause or as a factor associated with this pathology.

Given that NAA is considered a marker of neuronal and axonal integrity, we tried to determine if MRS was a valid technique for the detection of white matter, abnormalities that would support the hypothesis of delayed myelination in children with isolated psychomotor delay and normal MRI [29]. The study included 12 children with an average age of 7 years who presented some delay in normal development related to speech or language, motor or learning skills (Categories F80 to F82 of the International Code of Diseases), and 11 normal children of the same age and sex. We found a significant decrease of NAA/Cr, NAA/Co, and NAA/mI ratios in the white matter of the left centrum semiovale in children with isolated psychomotor delay in comparison to the controls, and we observed how the NAA/Cr ratio progressively increased with age in the two groups; it however remained lower in the psychomotor delayed group when compared to the controls. The decrease of NAA/Cr could be a promising indicator of this disorder based on the hypothesis of changes in normal myelination, caused either by delayed myelination, hypomyelination, or myelin damage. Some authors hypothesize that the decrease in NAA in the brain of children with developmental delay may be due to hypomyelination or decreased

synaptic density. It is evident that MRS is a tool that can offer important information in children with neurodevelopmental delay, allowing for an early diagnosis and institution of appropriate therapies.

Mild Cognitive Impairment and Alzheimer's Disease

Mild cognitive impairment (MCI) is an intermediate cognitive state between normal aging and dementia. Patients with amnestic MCI have a deterioration of secondary memory, or memory for information but can still lead a normal life. A large proportion of patients with amnestic MCI progress to Alzheimer's disease (AD), dementia with Lewy bodies (DLB), or vascular dementia, while a fraction remain stable in their cognitive capacity, and a few even improve. The preclinical phase of Alzheimer's disease is being subject of numerous investigations with the goal of obtaining an early diagnosis.

The general objective of our research has been to develop and evaluate imaging analysis techniques using magnetic resonance spectroscopy for early prediction of patients with mild cognitive impairment likely to progress to Alzheimer's disease.

For this purpose, we conducted spectroscopy studies in the left hippocampus, left occipital cortex, and right parietal cortex of 53 patients with MCI who were clinically followed for an average of 3 years; and we were able to demonstrate, to the best of our knowledge for the first time in the world, that spectroscopy can predict the conversion of MCI to probable AD with enough years in advance. A ratio of NAA/Cr less than or equal to 1.61 in the left occipital cortex predicts with 100% sensitivity and 75% specificity [30]. The positive predictive value was 83% and the negative predictive value was 100%, correctly classifying 88.7% of the patients (area under the curve = 0.91, confidence interval 95% = range between 0.80 and 0.97). Values in the hippocampus and in the parietal cortex had no significant predictive value. In addition, spectroscopy proved superior to neuropsychological tests.

In a subsequent study, we performed MRS in the posterior cingulate gyrus and in the left occipital cortex of 71 patients clinically diagnosed with MCI who were followed and clinically controlled for an average of 2 and a half years; which were compared with a control group of 35 patients of the same sex and similar age but without neuropsychological abnormalities [31]. We observed that the ratio of NAA/Cr in the left occipital lobe was able to differentiate patients with MCI from controls and that the ratios of NAA/Cr in the posterior cingulated gyrus and in the left occipital lobe were able to differentiate the converters to probable Alzheimer from nonconverters with a very significant p. A ratio of NAA/Cr equal to or less than 1.43 in the posterior cingulate predicts with a sensitivity of 74% and a specificity of 84%, correctly classifying 82% of patients. The cross-validated accuracy of classification was 82%, reaching 85% when the APOE genotype and memory test were included in the analysis.

Glutamate (Glu) is the most abundant excitatory neurotransmitter in the central nervous system (CNS) and is involved in the pathophysiology of Alzheimer's disease (AD) in which there is an increased excitotoxicity. Biochemical composition of living tissues including the levels of Glu was analyzed by magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) [16]. Previous reports point to decreased levels of Glu in AD. As Glu plays an important role in memory, we hypothesize that Glu levels are decreased in patients with AD when compared with controls. A consecutive sample of 30 patients with mild-to-moderate AD underwent H-MRS with the voxel placed in the bilateral posterior cingulated gyrus. For comparison purposes, we carried out the same technique in 68 patients with mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and in 26 controls. The healthy controls had higher metabolite levels of N-acetyl-aspartate (NAA) than patients with MCI and AD. In turn, patients with MCI and the controls had higher levels of Glu than in patients with AD. The differences were significant in the analysis of variance (ANOVA) test model corrected for age. In the post hoc analysis, the most remarkable differences were seen between patients with AD and the rest (patients with MCI and the controls). In AD, the levels of Glu and NAA are decreased in comparison with MCI and normality, which reflects loss of neurons.

Similarly, in another study with 119 patients, we used MRS in the posterior cingulate and in the left occipital cortex to try to discriminate patients with AD from patients with MCI, MCI associated to vascular pathology, depression, anxiety, Lewy bodies, etc. and to assess early patients with MCI that progress to AD. We confirmed that the NAA/Cr and NAA/mI ratios in the posterior cingulate can differentiate AD from MCI patients, as well as AD from MCI patients with associated depression. We also observed how the NAA/Cr ratio in the left occipital cortex and predominantly in the posterior cingulated can predict the progression of MCI to probable AD, with high sensitivity and specificity [32] (Fig. 45.2).

In another study with 87 patients, we demonstrated that decreased NAA/Cr and NAA/mI in the occipital cortex and in the posterior cingulated correlates with the clinical dementia rating (CDR) scale and with the global deterioration scale (GDS) [33]. Given MR spectroscopy is able to predict the progression from MCI to AD and can differentiate one type of patient from the other, the next working hypothesis was to try to evaluate the efficacy of the different drugs currently available for the treatment and/or prevention of mild-to-moderate AD. Although mild improvement was noted in the 24 patients treated with Rivastigmine [34] with respect to 15 untreated patients, (we observed a modest shortterm improvement of neuronal function in the frontal and parietal cortex, related to an increase in NAA/Cr); no significant changes were observed in the cognitive and non-cognitive scales between the baseline and posttreatment studies in another study with 64 patients who received Donepezil and Memantine [35]. Furthermore, no significant changes were observed when comparing ADAS-cognitive and NAA/Cr ratios between the studies at baseline and 6 months after treatment.

The importance of these latest investigations, apart from showing that the current treatments have a very limited effect on this type of pathologies, is to highlight the possibilities of MR spectroscopy as a useful tool for early diagnosis and for monitoring the response of future treatments in Alzheimer's disease. We can conclude that Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy is a valuable tool to predict which patients will progress to more deteriorating pathologies. Our team has carried out several spectroscopic studies in patients with MCI and AD, reaching the conclusion that the location of the voxel for spectroscopy is relevant, and that its placement in the posterior cingulate and in the left occipital cortical region has a greater predictive robustness than the hippocampus. We also conducted several studies in cognitively intact at-risk elderly individuals (e.g., subjective cognitive decline patients and APOE4 carriers) in order to identify biomarkers associated with increased risk of developing AD.

Fig. 45.2 Spectroscopy in patients with mild cognitive impairment in 2015 (myo-inositol/ creatine = 0.63 and N-acetylaspartate/ creatine = 1.50) and probable Alzheimer's disease in 2018 (myo-inositol/ creatine = 0.78 and N-acetylaspartate/ creatine = 1.34)



The development of treatments is still a priority for future research to prevent, delay, slow down, or halt the degenerative process. Innovative strategies should be developed, new paths should be considered, and pharmacological therapeutics should take into account the multifactorial dimension of the disease instead of treating one of the elements [36, 37].

Parkinson's Disease

To date and with the exception of PET, there are no specific radiological markers of the disease. However, it is necessary to have a marker in order to monitor the progression of the disease and the response to treatment.

The results of the spectroscopy studies in patients with Parkinson's disease have been variable and the only repetitive finding in all these studies has been the lack of consistency. This is due, in part, to the fact that many studies have been performed with few patients. The first study with 151 patients did not show significant reduction of NAA/Cr in the basal ganglia [38]. Other studies using spectroscopy have also shown no differences in NAA/Cr at the basal ganglia level. Some authors have described a 24% decrease in Cr concentration in the substantia nigra [39]. In some studies performed with 3 and 4 Tesla magnets, an increase in the GABA/Glu ratio has been observed in the basal ganglia in comparison with the cerebral cortex [40].

In our study, we recruited patients with Parkinson's disease in different stages of the disease according to the Hoehn and Yahr scale and different degrees of clinical severity measured with the Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale (UPDRS) who had been treated with drugs. The aim of the study was to determine whether MR spectroscopy or diffusion tensor imaging could be markers of disease progression. We found a significantly negative correlation between the UPDRS scale and glutamate (Glu), glutamate + glutamine (Glx) and its ratios with creatine, which may suggest an increase in glutamatergic metabolism in early stages and a decrease in metabolism or effect of the medication in the late stages of the disease [41].

Fibromyalgia and Somatoform Disorders

Clinical heterogeneity of fibromyalgia is one of the greatest limitations for clinical research and for the development of effective treatments.

Our first objective was to conduct a pilot study in patients with fibromyalgia using psychological (depression and anxiety), cognitive (catastrophism), and biological (pain threshold) variables as well as neuroimaging techniques.

Understanding the neurophysiology of the pain process using different neuroimaging methods has gained increased interest in recent years. Brain imaging has confirmed the increased pain reported by patients with fibromyalgia, during experimental painful stimulation. In addition, thalamic activity, which contributes significantly to the processing of pain, is diminished in fibromyalgia. However, the central mechanisms of pain in fibromyalgia may not exclusively depend on neuronal activity. It has been found that neuroglial activation plays an important role in the induction and maintenance of chronic pain, which may have important implications for future research and for pain treatment in fibromyalgia.

Based on all these data, we decided to investigate with a cross-sectional study whether there are biochemical brain differences between 10 patients with fibromyalgia (FM) and 10 healthy controls of the same sex and age, as well as whether there is a correlation between cerebral metabolite abnormalities and clinical variables [42]. In order to do this, we placed spectroscopy voxels in both hippocampi, thalami, posterior cingulated and left primary sensory-motor region, the latter after being appropriately localized with functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) while performing right-hand movements. We observed that in patients with FM, there was a significant increase in glutamate + glutamine and glutamate + glutamine/creatine levels in the posterior cingulated, as well as significantly lower levels of myo-inositol in both hippocampi and in the sensory-motor area. We also observed that the increase in glutamate plus glutamine in the posterior cingulated correlates with depression, pain, and a questionnaire on the global impact of fibromyalgia. Glutamate is therefore an excitatory amino acid; and its increase indicates that the metabolic function of patients with fibromyalgia differs from controls, can cause permanent brain damage and may be a potentially pathological factor in FM. In fact, it has been recently described that these patients improve clinically by subjecting them to a diet low in glutamate. Basic research studies have shown that 30 min after the administration of glutamate, massive acute edema of the neuronal cell bodies and dendrites is seen under electron microscope. Consequently, water moves into the extracellular space resulting in astrocyte edema [43]. Relevant clinical manifestations are related to this edema [44]. To compensate for the increase in cellular osmolarity, myo-inositol and choline move into the extracellular space, reducing their concentration within the astrocyte. As a result, glutamate is an exciter amino acid, and its increase indicates that the metabolic function of patients with fibromyalgia differs from the controls; its elevation can cause permanent brain damage and can be a factor potentially pathological in fibromyalgia.

The posterior cingulated is an important component of the "brain's default circuit," an area of association between different brain regions that participates in the consciousness of pain. In patients with Fibromyalgia, functional connections with brain regions that process pain seem to be increased and this increase in connectivity is directly related to patients' spontaneous pain. Thus, an increase in excitatory neurotransmitters could lead to neuronal hyperexcitability. We cannot confirm, however, if the observed increase in glutamate is related to the increase in neuronal activity for the following reasons: first, spectral features may be contaminated since MRS measures the association of glutamate + glutamine; second, we do not know if the obtained measurement is from the metabolic or from the neurotransmitter source; third, the spectral signal is obtained from a heterogeneous area of the brain where gray and white matter are included and the measurement is an average of different cell types that include astrocytes, glia and neurons. There are two other recent studies that have shown an increase in glutamate in the amygdala and posterior insula in patients with fibromyalgia which place glutamate as a key neurotransmitter behind the molecular processes involved in fibromyalgia. This also opens the door for MRS studies in other functional chronic pain syndromes that may also be related to central factors.

Finally, these data also suggest that pharmacological interventions that act specifically on glutamatergic neurotransmission may be effective in these complex patients. Investigation of these questions is necessary.

Our study also confirms a hippocampal dysfunction with myo-inositol reduction that may be partially responsible for depressive symptoms. This deficit could be explained by reduced synthesis or, more interestingly, by an increase in the consumption of this component. Patients with clinical depression usually have decreased myoinositol levels in their cerebrospinal fluid and preliminary studies with high-dose supplements of myo-inositol show promising results in people with disorders such as bulimia, panic, obsessivecompulsive disorder, agoraphobia, and bipolar depression. We speculate that myo-inositol, via its conversion to glucuronic acid, is consumed as a protective detoxifying reaction of the brain and can be associated with depression.

The role of the amygdala in the emotional response and the differences found with MRS in the hippocampus of patients with FM suggests the presence of some sort of abnormal emotional process that could partially explain anxiety and depression [45].

In a subsequent study, we performed spectroscopy in patients with fibromyalgia and with somatization disorder and we compared it with healthy controls. Patients were given questionnaires on pain catastrophizing, anxiety, depression, pain, quality of life, and cognitive impairment [46]. This study demonstrated a significant increase in the levels of Glx, a combined measure of glutamate (Glu) and glutamine (Gln), within the posterior cingulated cortex (PCC) of patients with fibromyalgia (FM) and, to a lesser extent in the patients with somatization disorder (STD) compared to controls. Levels of Glx correlated with pain catastrophizing suggesting that elevated levels of Glx in the posterior cingulated cortex (PCC) are associated with increased pain catastrophizing. Another study from our group confirmed that there is an increase in glutamate/ creatine and of glutamate + glutamine/creatine in the posterior cingulate of patients with fibromyalgia as well as in somatizers, migraine, and trigeminal neuralgia, indicating dysfunction of the posterior cingulated [47]. It also opens the door for Proton MRS (1H-MRS) and suggests that reducing glutamatergic activity through pharmacological treatment could improve the outcome of patients with FM and STD. Memantine acts as a neuroprotectant by decreasing glutamate excitotoxicity and is known to increase levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), thus influencing synaptic plasticity in rats and reducing b-amyloid-induced apoptotic death and neuroinflammation in the hippocampus [48]. The NMDA receptor antagonist memantine has been used to treat Parkinson's disease, spasticity, convulsions, vascular dementia, and Alzheimer's disease and has an excellent clinical safety record spanning more than 20 years. Our group has also demonstrated memantine's good tolerance and usefulness in 63 patients with fibromyalgia [49].

In order to evaluate memantine's efficacy in modifying brain metabolites in patients with fibromyalgia, we conducted a randomized double-blind study with 25 patients who received 20 mg of memantine per day for 6 months. The secondary aim of the study was to assess the efficacy of memantine for the treatment of pain and other key FM symptoms such as cognitive dysfunction, depression, anxiety, and quality of life in a pre-post study [50]. We also expected that the differences in metabolite ratios would correlate with the degree of clinical improvement. Despite the limitation of a small sample size, it can be concluded from our study that memantine may induce some shorter recovery of neuronal function in the posterior cingulated cortex and in the posterior insula of patients with chronic FM. On the basis of our results, the posterior cingulated cortex and posterior insula should be included in the areas to be explored in FM patients. This is a positive trial in which memantine demonstrated remarkable spectroscopic effects, and we conclude that memantine increases brain metabolism in patients with FM. Given the significant correlation found in the right posterior insula between metabolite values and clinical scales, MRS may be useful to monitor progression and response to treatment in FM.

Conclusion

MR spectroscopy is an extremely successful metabolic imaging modality that continues to develop and aims for even greater achievements. There is no doubt that magnetic resonance spectroscopy has a bright future in both medical diagnosis and in the ongoing development of medicine. The use of nuclei other than hydrogen, such as sodium, fluorine, and phosphorus, will continue to be investigated and will probably be useful for medical diagnosis in the near future. In theory, a high magnetic field provides an increase in the signal-to-noise ratio of spectroscopy, leading to significant increase in the spectral resolution, which allows for a more extensive quantification of chemical substances. Improvement of MR antennas and decreased time of acquisition of the sequences will continue to improve the quality of the studies as well as the comfort of the patient.

The use of magnetic resonance spectroscopy indicates an advance in the research strategies for its application in psychopathology and offers a unique possibility to understand the pathophysiology of psychopathological disorders through a noninvasive study.

References

- 1. Bloch F. Nuclear induction. Phys Rev. 1946;70:460–74.
- Purcell EU, Torrey HC, Pound RV. Resonance absorption by nuclear magnetic moments in a solid. Phys Rev. 1946;69:37–8.
- Lauterbur PC. Image formation by induced local interactions: examples employing nuclear magnetic resonance. Nature. 1973;242:190–1.
- Mansfield P, Grannell PK. Solid state physics. J Phys. 1973;6:L422–6.
- 5. Fayed N, Olmos S, Morales H, Modrego PJ. Physical basis of magnetic resonance spectroscopy and its
application to central nervous system diseases. Am J Appl Sci. 2006;3:1836–45.

- Stark DD, Bradley WG Jr. Resonancia Magnética. Tercera Edición. Mosby. Ediciones Harcourt, capitulo 9; Gerald B. Matson y Michael W. Weiner; 2000;181–214.
- Maheshwari S, Fatterpeaker G, Castillo M, Murkherji SK. Proton MR spectroscopy of the brain. Semin Ultrasound CT MR. 2000;21:434–51.
- Bonavita S, Di Salle F, Tedeschi G. Proton MRS in neurological disease. Eur J Radiol. 1999;30:125–31.
- Castillo M, Kwock L, Mukherji SK. Clinical applications of proton MR spectroscopy. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 1996;17:1–15.
- Sauter R, Schneider M, Wicklow K, Kolem H. Localized 1H MRS of the human brain: singlevoxel versus CSI techniques. J Magn Reson Imaging. 1991;1:241.
- Hsu YY, Chang C, Chang CN, Chu NS, Lim KE, Hsu JC. Proton MR spectroscopy in patients with complex partial seizures: single-voxel spectroscopy versus chemical-shift imaging. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 1999;20:643–51.
- Hsu YY, Chen MC, Lim KE, Chang C. Reproducibility of hippocampal single-voxel proton MR spectroscopy and chemical shift imaging. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2001;176:529–36.
- Law M. MR spectroscopy of brain tumors. Top Magn Reson Imaging. 2004;15:291–313.
- Fayed N, Modrego PJ, Medrano J. Comparative testretest reliability of metabolite values assessed with magnetic resonance spectroscopy of the brain. The LCModel versus the manufacturer software. Neurol Res. 2009;31:472–7.
- Antuono PG, Jones JL, Wang Y, et al. Decreased glutamate + glutamine in Alzheimer's disease detected in vivo with (1) H-MRS at 0.5 T. Neurology. 2002;56:737–42.
- Fayed N, Modrego PJ, Rojas-Salinas G, et al. Glutamate is decreased in Alzheimer's disease. A magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Dement. 2011;26:450–6.
- Hattori N, Abe K, Sakoda S, et al. Proton MR spectroscopic study at 3 Tesla on glutamate/glutamine in Alzheimer's disease. Neuroreport. 2002;13:183–6.
- Rupsingh R, Borrie M, Smith M, et al. Reduced hippocampal glutamate in Alzheimer disease. Neurobiol Aging. 2009;32:802–10.
- Resnick SM, Pham DL, Kraut MA, et al. Longitudinal magnetic resonance imaging studies of older adults: a shrinking brain. J Neurosci. 2003;23:3295–301.
- Fayed N, Modrego PJ. Comparative study of cerebral white matter in autism and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder by means of magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Acad Radiol. 2005;12:566–9.
- Fayed N, Modrego PJ, Castillo J, Dávila J. Evidence of brain dysfunction in attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder: a controlled study with proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Acad Radiol. 2007;14:1029–35.

- Ross B, Michaelis T. Clinical applications of magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Magn Reson Q. 1994;10:191–247.
- Bonavita S, Di Salle F, Tedeschi G. Proton MRS in neurological disorders. Eur J Radiol. 1999;30:125–31.
- Otsuka H, Harada M, Mori K, Hisaoka S, Nishitani H. Brain metabolites in the hippocampus-amygdala region and cerebellum in autism: an 1H-MR spectroscopy study. Neuroradiology. 1999;41:517–9.
- Levitt JG, O'Neill J, Blanton RE, Smalley S, Fadale D, McCracken JT, et al. Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopic imaging of the brain in childhood autism. Biol Psychiatry. 2003;54:1355–66.
- Simeonsson RJ, Sharp MC. Developmental delays. In: Hoekelman RA, Friedman SB, Nelson NM, et al., editors. Primary pediatric care. St. Louis: Mosby-Year Book; 1992. p. 767–870.
- Schaefer GB, Bodensteiner JB. Radiological findings in developmental delay. Semin Pediatr Neurol. 1998;5:33–8.
- Shevell MI. The evaluation of the child with a global developmental delay. Semin Pediatr Neurol. 1998;5:21–6.
- Fayed N, Morales H, Modrego PJ, Muñoz-Mingarro J. White matter proton MR spectroscopy in children with isolated developmental delay: does it mean delayed myelination? Acad Radiol. 2006;13:229–35.
- Modrego PJ, Fayed N, Pina MA. Conversion from mild cognitive impairment to probable Alzheimer's disease predicted by brain magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Am J Psychiatr. 2005;162:667–75.
- Modrego PJ, Fayed N, Sarasa M. Magnetic resonance spectroscopy in the prediction of early conversion from amnestic mild cognitive impairment to dementia: a prospective cohort study. BMJ Open. 2011;1:e000007.
- 32. Fayed N, Dávila J, Oliveros A, Castillo J, Medrano JJ. Utility of different MR modalities in mild cognitive impairment and its use as a predictor of conversion to probable dementia. Acad Radiol. 2008;15:1089–98.
- 33. Fayed N, Dávila J, Oliveros A, Medrano J, Castillo J. Correlation of findings in advanced MR techniques with global severity scales in patients with some grade of cognitive impairment. Neurol Res. 2010;32:157–65.
- 34. Modrego PJ, Pina MA, Fayed N, Díaz M. Changes in metabolite ratios after treatment with rivastigmine in Alzheimer's disease: a nonrandomised controlled trial with magnetic resonance spectroscopy. CNS Drugs. 2006;20:867–77.
- 35. Modrego PJ, Fayed N, Errea JM, Rios C, Pina MA, Sarasa M. Memantine versus donepezil in mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease: a randomized trial with magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Eur J Neurol. 2009;17:405–12.
- Chételat G. Multimodal neuroimaging in Alzheimer's disease: early diagnosis, physiopathological mechanisms, and impact of lifestyle. J Alzheimers Dis. 2018;64:S199–211.

- 37. Tabatabaei-Jafari H, Walsh E, Shaw ME, Cherbuin N. For the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (ADNI), a simple and clinically relevant combination of neuroimaging and functional indexes for the identification of those at highest risk of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging. 2018; https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2018.05.006.
- Holshouser BA, Komu M, Moller HE. Localized proton NMR spectroscopy in the striatum of patients with idiopathic Parkinson's disease: a multicenter pilot study. Magn Reson Med. 1995;33:589–94.
- O'Neil J, Schuff N, Marks WJ Jr, Feiwell R, Aminoff MJ, Weiner MW. Quantitative 1H magnetic resonance spectroscopy and MRI of Parkinson's disease. Movement Disord. 2002;17:917–27.
- 40. Oz G, Terpstra M, Tkác I, Aia P, Lowary J, Tuite PJ, et al. Proton MRS of the unilateral substantia nigra in the human brain at 4 tesla: detection of high GABA concentrations. Magn Reson Med. 2006;55:296–301.
- Modrego PJ, Fayed N, Artal J, Olmos S. Correlation of findings in advanced MRI techniques with global severity scales in patients with Parkinson disease. Acad Radiol. 2011;18:235–41.
- 42. Fayed N, Garcia-Campayo J, Magallón R, Andrés-Bergareche H, Luciano JV, Andres E, et al. Localized 1H-NMR spectroscopy in patients with fibromyalgia: a controlled study of changes in cerebral glutamate/ glutamine, inositol, choline, and N-acetylaspartate. Arthritis Res Ther. 2010;12:R134.
- Córdoba J, Sanpedro F, Alonso J, Rovira A. 1 H magnetic resonance in the study of hepatic encephalopathy in humans. Metab Brain Dis. 2002;17:415–29.
- 44. Häussinger D, Kircheis G, Fischer R, Schliess F, vom Dahl S. Hepatic encephalopathy in chronic liver disease: a clinical manifestation of astrocyte

swelling and low-grade cerebral edema? J Hepatol. 2000;32:1035–8.

- 45. Fayed N, García-Martí G, Sanz-Requena R, Martí-Bonmatí L, Garcia-Campallo J. Difference in regional brain volume between fibromyalgia patients and longterm meditators. Actas Esp Psiquiatr. 2017;45:268–76.
- 46. Fayed N, Andres E, Rojas G, Moreno S, Serrano-Blanco A, Roca M, et al. Brain dysfunction in fibromyalgia and somatization disorder using proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy: a controlled study. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2011;126:115–25.
- 47. Fayed N, Andrés E, Viguera L, Modrego P, Garcia-Campayo J. Higher glutamate+glutamine and reduction of N-acetyl-aspartate in posterior cingulate according to age range in patients with cognitive impairment and/or pain. Acad Radiol. 2014;21:1211–7.
- Flores EM, Cappelari SE, Pereira P, Picada JN. Effects of memantine, a non-competitive N-methyl-Daspartate receptor antagonist, on genomic stability. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol. 2011;109:413–7.
- 49. Olivan-Blázquez B, Herrera-Mercadal P, Puebla-Guedea M, Pérez-Yus M-C, Andrés E, Fayed N, del Hoyo YL, Magallon R, Roca M, Garcia-Campayo J. Efficacy of memantine in the treatment of fibromyalgia: a dobled-blind randomized controlled trial with 6- month follow-up. Pain. 2014;155:2517–25.
- 50. Fayed N, Olivan-Blázquez B, Herrera-Mercadal P, Puebla-Guedea M, Pérez-Yus M-C, Andrés E, del Hoyo YL, Magallon R, Viguera L, Garcia-Campayo J. Changes in metabolites after treatment with memantine in fibromyalgia. A double-blind randomized controlled trial with magnetic resonance spectroscopy with 6-month follow-up. CNS Neurosci Ther. 2014;20:999–1007.



46

Prescribed Psychotropic Drugs in the Elderly

Michel Bourin

Introduction

The definition of the concept of the elderly has evolved over the last two decades, since it is considered that it is no longer the age of retirement (65 years) but rather that of 75 years which applies as being on average the age when one perceives aging in most subjects. The most conventional biological parameters can be modified without pathology. Significant changes in the effect of certain medications may occur as age increases but in fact it is primarily polypathology that leads to medication and therefore to problems of drug interactions [1]. Conventionally, "elderly" has been defined as a chronological age of 65 years old or older, while those from 65 through 74 years old are referred to as "early elderly," and those over 75 years old as "late elderly" [2]. Geriatricians and gerontologists often use the following construct to subdivide the population: 60-74 years "young old," 75-85 years "old old," and 85 years "very old" or "oldest old."

The aim of this article is therefore to discuss the main problems encountered when prescribing psychotropic drugs to the elderly person and the pitfalls that can be avoided.

Pharmacokinetic Changes

The age most often changes the pharmacokinetic parameters of psychotropic drugs, so it is necessary to think about it before prescribing.

Absorption

A few major changes in resorption are related to age [3], but sometimes the rate of resorption associated with changes in gastric emptying is often slower in elderly patients that remain supine for prolonged periods of time.

Distribution

The elderly person has a reduced lean body mass, the amount of body water is reduced in absolute value and in percentage, and thus a relative increase in percentage of the fat mass is observed [4]. There is also usually a decrease in serum albumin that fixes many drugs, particularly weak acids (e.g., aspirin and some anti-inflammatory drugs). There may be a concomitant increase in the serum orosomucoid alpha-glycoprotein that fixes many basic drugs. Thus, the ratio of the drug to the free drug can be appreciably modified and thereby artificially increase the effectiveness of the prescribed drugs.

M. Bourin (🖂)

Neurobiology of Anxiety and Mood Disorder, Faculty of Medicine, University of Nantes, Nantes, France e-mail: michel.bourin@univ-nantes.fr

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9_46

Metabolism

There is no clear evidence that drug metabolism itself (the biologically assisted chemical alteration of the administered parent molecule) is less efficient in healthy old age than at younger ages, whereas a decreased capacity may be associated with ill-health and frailty.

The ability of the liver to metabolize drugs does not appear to be significantly diminished with age for many of them. It would appear that the greatest changes occur in Phase I reactions, that is, those that are performed by the microsomal system that has a mixed oxidative function. However, elderly individuals do show a reduced enzyme induction capability and are less able to tolerate overdoses. There is much less change in the liver's ability to perform conjugation reactions (Phase II) [5]. Some of these changes may be caused by decreased hepatic blood flow [6], an important variable in the clearance of drugs that have a high coefficient of liver extraction.

Finally, diseases that affect hepatic function, for example, congestive heart failure, are more common in the elderly [7]. Congestive heart failure can dramatically alter the liver's ability to metabolize drugs and may also decrease hepatic blood flow.

Abbreviations/Units

- CCr (creatinine clearance) = mL/minute
- Age = years
- Weight = kg
- SCr (serum creatinine) = mg/dL

Pharmacodynamic Changes

All areas of the brain do not age at the same speed: some are more affected by age. This results in behavioral or performance changes in certain cognitive or sensorimotor tasks. This atrophy causes a drop in attention and concentration. Cognitive abilities related to attention and concentration are also affected:

Elimination

Since the kidney is the major organ of drug elimination, the decrease in the functional capacity of the kidney related to age compared to what it was before can be very important. There is indeed an age-related decline in creatinine clearance in about two-thirds of patients. It is important to note that this decline is not reflected by an equivalent increase in serum creatinine as creatinine production. It is also reduced due to decreased muscle mass related to age. The decrease in clearance is fairly repeatable, so direct measurements of creatinine clearance are only necessary if suspected renal involvement or a disorder of sodium hydroxide metabolism, for example, if severe dehydration is suspected. The practical result of this modification is a significant prolongation of the plasma half-life of many drugs and the possibility of accumulation up to toxic concentrations if the dosage is not reduced in quantity or frequency. Dosage recommendations for the elderly are often reduced due to decreased renal clearance.

If only the dosage of a drug for the young adult is known, a correction can be made using the Cockcroft-Gault formula [8], which is applicable to patients between the ages of 40 and 80:

 $CCr = \left\{ \left(\left(140 - age\right) \times weight \right) / \left(72 \times SCr\right) \right\} \times 0.85 \text{ (if female)}$

working memory decreases, language becomes more difficult, alertness decreases, etc. The memory is more fragile, with however a strong enough variability according to the person: some have the memory of a young person, while other subjects have more marked deficits. Motor skills and sensory performance also tend to decrease gradually: food loses its taste, movements are slower and rarer, and hearing is worse, and so on. Other disorders, such as behavioral disturbances (apathy, social withdrawal, mild emotional dullness) usually occur later, when the frontal cortex begins to lose volume. This happens when the areas of the brain below the frontal cortex begin to atrophy.

The brain areas in charge of memory (the hippocampus, as well as the temporal cortex) are among the most fragile. This atrophy plays a role in the appearance of memory disorders, the most visible during aging. The fact is that agingrelated memory loss is about recent memories, old memories being relatively preserved by normal aging. This is because atrophy affects the hippocampus more strongly, a brain area responsible for memorizing recent memories. The hippocampus usually loses much of its volume and atrophies during aging. It should be noted that the atrophy of the hippocampus is mild in normal aging, but becomes much more marked in Alzheimer's disease, hence the memory loss characteristic of this disease. It should be pointed out, however, that memory disorders are quite variable depending on the individual: some elderly people keep a young memory, while other people of the same age will have more or less marked deficits. We do not really know what the origin of such a disparity is.

The question is: What are the consequences of brain aging on the efficacy of psychotropic drugs prescribed? The conditions of cerebral aging are not very well known. It has long been believed that elderly patients were much more "sensitive" to the action of many drugs, implying a change in the pharmacodynamic interaction of drugs with their receptors. It is now known that many, possibly most, of these apparent changes are the consequence of a modified pharmacokinetics or a decrease in homeostatic responses. However, it seems that aging alters the brain dopaminergic system but also the serotonergic system and especially the 5-HT 1B receptors [9].

The interaction between the cholinergic and dopaminergic systems is amply documented [10]. These two systems interact in the striatum and nucleus accumbens. It has been shown that blockade of D1 receptors inhibits the release of acetylcholine while their stimulation increases cholinergic transmission [11]. On the other hand, the stimulation or blocking of the D2 receptors decreases the release of the acetylcholine.

Acetylcholine controls dopaminergic transmission via nicotinic receptors [12]. The interaction between nicotinic and dopaminergic systems is important for cognitive functions. The interaction between these two systems can contribute to improved learning. The mesolimbic dopaminergic pathway is controlled by the nicotinic system. Control of the dopaminergic system via nicotinic receptors, especially those composed of subunits α 42 β and β 7, seems to play an important role in memory functions, addiction, and neuroprotection [13].

Although there is no evidence of a presynaptic location of nicotinic receptors on serotonergic endpoints [14], many studies have demonstrated interactions between these two systems, including stimulation of serotonin release following activation of nicotinic receptors [15]. However, the serotonergic neurons of the dorsal raphe nuclei express nicotinic receptors in their cell bodies. Moreover, the cholinergic neurons from the Broca band emit extensions toward the nucleus of the dorsal raphe. An immune cytochemical study [16] revealed the colocalization of the alpha 4 subunit and the 5-HT3 serotoninergic receptors in the rat striatum. There is a complex bidirectional interaction between the two systems. Indeed, when the serotonergic activity of a cerebral region increases, cholinergic activity decreases and, vice versa [17], 5-HT would have a double effect on nicotinic receptors. Indeed, at low concentrations, 5-HT inhibits the activation of nicotinic receptors [18]. The cholinergic and glutamatergic systems interact in the inter-peduncle nucleus and in the lateral piriform nucleus. The activation of presynaptic nicotinic receptors localized on the glutamatergic endpoints stimulates the excitatory transmission of the neurons of the supra-optical nucleus of the hypothalamus [19]. Acetylcholine modulates glutamatergic transmission at the synapses of habenula medial [20]. The glutamatergic terminal axons of human neocortex possess hetero receptors alpha 7 involved in the release of glutamate [21].

The interaction between these two systems is not only essential to memorization and learning processes, but also to neuronal plasticity. Modulation of glutamatergic transmission by the cholinergic system was demonstrated during postnatal development [22]. In addition, the interaction between the two systems appears to play a role in neuroprotection [23]. It is suggested that 5-HT may be an endogenous allosteric modulator.

All these considerations allow us to understand that the cerebral aging of a system of neurotransmission such as the dopaminergic system can be more or less compensated by the activation of other types of receptors.

In the cardiovascular system, the increase in cardiac output due to mild or moderate exercise is fully ensured up to at least 75 years (in subjects without obvious cardiac involvement), but the increase is mainly due to an increase in systolic ejection in the elderly and not in tachycardia, as in the young adult. Mean arterial pressure increases with age (in most Western countries), but the incidence of symptomatic orthostatic hypotension also increases significantly, as it can be increased by psychotropic drugs that have antagonistic level of alpha adrenergic receptors such as tricyclic antidepressants or certain neuroleptics [24]. Similarly, the mean postprandial blood glucose (2 h after meals) increases by about 10 mg/l for each year of age above 50 years. Thermal regulation is also affected, and hypothermia is poorly tolerated in the elderly.

Hypnotics

Insomnia is the most common sleep disorder in the elderly. It is often comorbid and its management includes the treatment of a possible underlying pathology. Nondrug psychobehavioral therapies are preferred in the elderly, who are more likely to develop an undesirable effect of [25]. hypnotic sedative treatments Nonbenzodiazepine drugs and melatonin are of interest for the short-term treatment of insomnia in the elderly. Behavioral disorders in REM sleep may be due to treatment with low dose clonazepam or melatonin. The treatment of symptomatic obstructive sleep apnea syndrome involves weight loss and positive pressure ventilation. In any case, sleep hygiene contributes to improving the sleep disorders of the elderly subject [26].

Benzodiazepines and analogues such as Z drugs have essentially a transient role in the treatment of sleep disorders. These substances all have similar effects by decreasing the delay in falling asleep, the number and duration of awakenings and increasing the duration of sleep, especially for those under 60 years of age. They differ mainly in their pharmacokinetics [27]. Benzodiazepines with a preferred intermediate duration of action in early awakening, for example, oxazepam or temazepam, may have a residual action that favors diurnal sedation and confusion. Benzodiazepines with a long half-life, the use of which has been suggested in the presence of anxiety, are of a delicate use in the elderly and should not be introduced without a specialized psychogeriatric opinion, given their risks and the very polymorphic nature of anxiety disorders in this population [28]. The plasma half-life of many benzodiazepines increases from 50% to 150% between the ages of 30 and 70 years. The majority of these changes occur for every decade ranging from 60 to 70 years [27].

The decrease in age-related renal function and the presence of hepatic impairment both contribute to decreased elimination of these products. In addition, there has been an increase in the volume of distribution for some of these drugs. Lorazepam and oxazepam may be less affected by these changes than most benzodiazepines. In addition to these pharmacokinetic factors, it is generally accepted that elderly subjects also have a more variable sensitivity to sedative-hypnotic drugs from a pharmacodynamic standpoint [29]. Among the toxic effects of these drugs, special attention should be paid to ataxia in order to prevent accidents [30].

There is no evidence of superior efficacy of Z-drugs (zopiclone, zolpidem, and zaleplon) compared to benzodiazepines or significant differences in the occurrence of side effects or residual effects.

Zolpidem is eliminated more slowly in women, and the FDA recommends reducing doses by half in women, 5 mg instead of 10 mg for immediate release and 6.25 mg for the delayed forms instead of 12.5 mg [31]. New data have shown that blood levels of zolpidem of 50 ng/ml decrease the ability to drive enough to cause an accident while people feel awake. This threshold is still exceeded 8 h after taking zolpidem 10 mg in 15% of women and 3% of men, and 8 h after a dose of 12.5 mg delay in 33% of women and 25% of men [32]. Products with a short half-life that are used as sleep inducers, such as zolpidem, produce an acute peak of concentration that may trigger confusion, amnesia, falls, or breathing difficulties in the elderly patient [33].

Hypnotics have a less favorable risk/benefit ratio in the elderly than in adult patients. Adverse effects can disrupt the quality of life of the elderly and weaken their organization at home: drowsiness or daytime fatigue (4 x baseline risk), impaired concentration and memory (5 x), falls (2 x), traffic accidents (2 x), motor coordination disorders, nightmares, confusion, disorientation and aggression ("paradoxical effects"), decreased swallowing frequency. Frequent use of tranquilizers or hypnotics is a risk factor for sleep apnea [34]. Recall that any polypharmacy, more common in the elderly because of multiple disorders, is associated with an increased risk of adverse effects.

In addition, these people often have alterations in body composition, renal and hepatic function, which may result in prolonged half-life and accumulation of active substances.

Prolonged use of hypnotics is addictive. Tolerance (loss of efficacy) and, particularly, physical dependence (withdrawal symptoms at a standstill) develop rapidly with benzodiazepines, in a few weeks or even a few days already. It is difficult to identify characteristics of patients who could predict chronic use of sleeping pills following a first prescription [35]. However, it is thought that there are risk factors for the development of addiction: personality disorders, alcoholism, use of medications without medical supervision.

Sedating antidepressants such as trazodone do not have the treatment of insomnia in their official indications, but their use is conceivable when a sleep disorder is part of a depressive disorder. The available studies are not sufficient to assert a prolonged effect on sleep time and duration of sleep compared to placebo. The risk of anticholinergic adverse effects, residual sedation, or confusion also exists for these drugs, and its use should follow the same rules as for benzodiazepines [36].

H1 antihistamines such as diphenhydramine and doxylamine are over-the-counter medications used for sleep disorders. They have a relatively long duration of action (4–6 hours). They induce anticholinergic side effects, prolongation of the QT interval, rarely paradoxical excitations or convulsions. Although widely consumed by the elderly and considered less likely to be addictive, they are not recommended because of their anticholinergic effects and risk of accumulation, especially with doxylamine (half-life ~10 h), resulting in all the more risk of falling. Tolerance also develops and the effect diminishes with regular use [37].

Melatonin is a hormone produced by the pineal gland, whose secretion is increased as night approaches and contributes to the induction of physiological sleep. It has an indication in monotherapy for the treatment of primary insomnia in patients from 55 years. Duration of treatment is limited to 3 weeks and in exceptional cases up to 13 weeks after medical reassessment [38].

The benefit of melatonin on sleep has been studied in the elderly and the maintenance of sleep has been significantly improved with doses of 0.1–3 mg compared to placebo. There is little fear of addiction or withdrawal problems, but subjective efficacy is not as good as hypnosedatives and price is higher [39]. The effect of renal insufficiency, whatever its degree, on the pharmacokinetics of melatonin has not been studied. Caution should be exercised when administering melatonin to patients with renal insufficiency. No data are currently available on the use of melatonin in patients with hepatic impairment. Published data show that endogenous melatonin levels increase markedly during daytime hours due to reduced clearance in patients with hepatic impairment. Therefore, melatonin is not recommended for patients with hepatic impairment [25].

Herbal medicine. There are few rigorous evaluations of the effectiveness of plants with sedative properties (linden, verbena, lemon balm, bitter orange, hawthorn, hops, and passionflower). Valerian is the most commonly used plant and some clinical evaluation data report moderate efficacy on sleep quality, though questioned in recent studies [40].

Anxiolytics

Depressive and anxious symptoms are often associated in the elderly. This comorbidity does not lead most often to a co-prescription of an antidepressant and an anxiolytic. The prescription of a benzodiazepine-type anxiolytic, in the medical approach of elderly depression, is not recommended.

First and foremost, the potential benefits are largely offset by many undesirable effects. The first of these is addiction, especially since very quickly effective anxiolytics provide false reassurance to the patient. The consumption of anxiolytics exposes older people to risks because of metabolic changes that promote the accumulation of active metabolites and thus increases the risk of overdose and adverse effects [41].

Among the benzodiazepines most commonly prescribed in anxiety are bromazepam, prazepam, lorazepam, clorazepate, and diazepam. Derived from benzodiazepines, etifoxine may be prescribed in the psychosomatic manifestations of anxiety [42], although its rare but serious adverse effects are its limitation. For benzodiazepines, these undesirable effects are essentially psychomotor, with the increased risk of falls and fractures. For all, there may be an accentuation of cognitive disorders [43].

In the elderly person, a molecule without a muscle relaxant action is preferred to reduce the risk of falling [44] and the doses will be reduced. In rarer cases, paradoxical reactions are observed. Finally, in case of combination with benzodiaze-pine, it is discussed less effective antidepressant action.

Moreover, antidepressants, in addition to their properties as antidepressants, have sedative or stimulating properties. They occur in the very first days of treatment and are of great interindividual variability. The first-selected pharmacotherapy for people with most anxiety disorders is selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors or serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors [45]. These drugs are more efficient in the elderly as anxiolytics than antide-pressants [46]. Caution should be exercised for elderly patients with cognitive and/or malnour-ished disorders (serotonin syndrome within the first 8 days of treatment).

In cases of severe insomnia and/or anxiety, coprescription of a benzodiazepine may be warranted. To avoid the risk of dependence, it is recommended to use the minimum effective dose and to stop treatment as soon as the anxiety and/ or insomnia have improved because of the antidepressant (average of 15 days). The therapeutic approach of depression and anxiety of the elderly is not confined to a prescription drug (even double). Psychotherapeutic (such as supportive psychotherapy) behavioral, environmental, and/or educational approaches have been proven. These patients must also be able to benefit from these care techniques.

Another option is to use herbal therapy that has some controlled placebo studies showing an efficacy in patients presenting with an adjustment disorder with anxious mood [47].

Antidepressants

Depression is thought to be underdiagnosed and out-treated in elderly patients. The suicide rate in the population aged over 65 supports this view. Unfortunately, apathy, reduced affectivity, and social withdrawal due to major depression can be mistaken with senile dementia. Limited data suggest that elderly subjects are also sensitive to antidepressant medications (both imipraminic and non-specific MAO inhibitors), more than younger patients, but are more sensitive to their toxic effects. This factor - and also the decreased clearance of some of these drugs - underscores the importance of careful dosage adjustment and strict attention to the occurrence of toxic effects. If an imipraminic antidepressant is to be used, a medication with reduced antimuscarinic effects such as moclobemide (specific and reversible MAO A inhibitor) or an SSRI should be selected, although evidence of efficacy of these drugs has not been formally proven in the treatment of mood disorders in the elderly [36]. The consequences of the heat wave of summer 2003 in France are certainly the fact of the heat itself. But also of the use of anticholinergic drugs that increase sedation and that cause a dryness of the mouth without increasing the sensation of thirst.

The appreciation of the thymic state of the very old person is difficult: What is the part of philosophical reflections related to the proximity of death? What is the impact of a depressive state on the elderly person who is losing their autonomy and who gradually becomes disabled? [48].

Faced with a very old patient, we wonder how was their personality, their way of being, and their relationship to the world throughout their life. These factors of appreciation are important and will intervene when the indication is given to the treatment. The succession of bereavements/ losses in the third part of life can lead to sadness. It does not necessarily require treatment as long as the patient has autonomy and interest in the surrounding world.

Meta-analyses also show that the effectiveness of antidepressants is questionable and depends on the initial intensity of depressive symptoms. These results indicate that antidepressants are to be reserved for severe depression [49, 50]. Currently, guidelines recommend, as a first intention, the use of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) in the depression of the elderly. The effective doses of the antidepressants in the elderly are similar to those published in the young subjects. In the elderly, it is better to start at a lower dose than usual. However, SSRIs have never been shown to be effective in elderly depression (Fig. 46.1a and b) whereas tricyclics are effective in this indication [51, 52]; an animal study corroborates these results [53]. It may be difficult to integrate the biographical data of the

а			SSRI	5 C	linica	al Tria	ls			
Anthors year	No. of patients	sge (mess)	trestmentidote/sge No. of patients	time	method:	dropost: side effects others	HDRS score	Response	overall safety	efficacy
Altsmurs	28	=65	fluoxetine	5	HDRS 17	2	15	2	A≥F	F2A
et al., 1989		(65.5)	20mgid; n=13 smitriptyline		item score +/- 26	4	10	?		
Geretsegge et al., 1994	105	61-68 (73.7)	finoxenne 20- 60mg/d; ==52	6	HDRS (28) MADRS; C	13 GI	23	1696	P≥F	P=F
Schöne et al		74.3	paroxetine 20-	6.0	MERCE!		20	3796	0e. es	
Feighner an Cohn, 1985	157	61-90 (=70)	fluoxetine: 20- \$0mg/ d; =78	6	HDRS (25) CGI	4796	16	4996	F = D	F > D
			doxepis 50- 250; s=79		HDRS (26)	6196	17	4896		ورور وروا
La Pin et al., 1992	40	60-S0 71.8	fluoxetine 20mg/d; s=20	6	HDRS (24)	596	14	?	F=M	FaM
			minuterine 40mg/ d; n=20			2096	16	2		
Altamers	65	60-82	mooclobemide 400me/ d		MADRS			-5696	M≡F	M2F
			fluoxetine 20mg/ d					-4596		

Fig. 46.1 (a and b) Results of the clinical trials of SSRIs in the elderly

Authors year	No. of patients	sge (mess)	treatmentidoteisge No. of patients	time	method: others	dropouts side effects	HDRS	Response o mte	erall efficacy afety
Gialti: et al., 1993	24	70	fluoxetine 40mg/d ; n=11 humronian		HDRS 2 18	36°¢ (s=4)	2	2796	F>B
Eli Lalv	70	275	450mg/d; n=13 fluoxetine	4	HDRS	,	,	3196	F=P
Tollefion et Holmsnn 1993	a 671	2 60 67.7	n=29 placebo n=41 fluoxetine 20mg' d; n=264	6	17 items HDRS (24) 17 items	21.5%: 11.6%	13,7	34.109 3696	T>P T=
Linden et 11., 1995	75	2 60 74	placebo sertraline 50- 100mg/ d; u=42 fluoxetine 20- 40mg/ d; u=33	12		19.3%:5.6%	16	2796 = 6, 8, 10 week: ?	S⇒F S=F

Fig. 46.1 (continued)

patient, their usual psychological mode of functioning and the clinical signs of depression into the therapeutic decision. It may happen that the presence of a beginning cognitive disorder, sometimes confused with a depressive state, further complicates the prescriber's decisions. Therapeutic adherence, which is essential for the success of drug treatment, also depends closely on all these factors.

Although tricyclics have revolutionized the treatment of depression, their anticholinergic effects may exacerbate cognitive disorders and promote confusional states. This makes their use tricky in this population. If it is necessary to prescribe a pharmacological treatment to a very old patient for a depressive state, then preference is given to SSRIs, even if they are more anxiolytics than antidepressant in the elderly (Fig. 46.2).

In Practice: What Criteria for Choosing an Antidepressant? What Dosage?

The choice of SSRI will be based on the patient's comorbidities (electrolytes, renal and hepatic function, rhythm disorders, and cardiac ejection fraction) and his or her comedications. The introduction will always be in small doses and the increase in steps. The maintenance dose often corresponds to one-third of the usual doses recommended for young adults. The half-life of each antidepressant determines the optimal timing of its plasma concentration. This assay will be performed at the equilibrium pharmacokinetic accumulation of the drug, that is to say, in the elderly, at the time corresponding to at least five half-lives after the introduction or the last dose change. The expected clinical effect can only be assessed after a mini**Fig. 46.2** Comparison of the efficacy of Paroxetine versus Amitrityline in the elderly (but the mean age is only 72)



mum of 4–6 weeks. If the evolution is not satisfactory, the control of the plasma concentrations of the antidepressant can make it possible to distinguish between a pharmacological resistance (satisfactory concentration), a lack of exposure (insufficient concentration), or, on the contrary, an ambiguous presentation of toxicity (excessive concentration) [54].

In Practice: Which SSRI for the Very Old Subject?

Citalopram and sertraline are among the SSRIs of choice for the elderly in view of their short half-life, and low potential for drug interactions. Paroxetine would be carefully used due to the more frequent occurrence of extrapyramidal syndrome, its greater weaning prevalence, potential for drug interactions (potent cytochrome P450 (CYP) 2D6 and moderate CYP1A2 inhibitor), and an often high plasma concentration in the very old person for whom dose adjustment is essential. Similarly, fluoxetine is not suitable for the treatment of the elderly because of its very long half-life (in the healthy volunteer, the half-life of fluoxetine is 4-6 days and that of the demethylated metabolite (norfluoxetine) is 4-16 days) as well as its inhibition of many isoenzymes [55].

Depending on the symptomatology of depression, the severity of anxiety disorders, sleep disorders, the importance of apathy, and the decline in vital energy, a choice can be made in favor of venlafaxine or mirtazapine [56]. The cardiac toxicity of venlafaxine requires clinical and electrocardiographic monitoring, as well as control of plasma levels and electrolytes. Reboxetine is of less common use because of its noradrenergic effect. The use of this molecule in the elderly patient is characterized by high plasma levels even in small doses [57].

In Practice: An Antidepressant Alone, Is it Enough?

In the elderly, it is particularly beneficial to associate with the drug treatment of depression complementary approaches: behavioral, changing places, discussion and reorganization of family relationships, psychotherapy, and integration into group activities (Fig. 46.3). Although resistant depressions are a common observation, they do not allow the combination of antidepressants as in adults, because of frequent polymorbidity and more frequent occurrence of a serotonin syndrome. The latter is difficult to diagnose because of its lack of specificity and the absence of paraclinical examinations. Knowledge of interactions allows us to act according to the precautionary principle. Apathy, a drop in vital energy, a feeling of uneasiness evoking the persistence of a depres-



Fig. 46.3 Cognitive impairment in the elderly

sive state may be a reflection of high plasma levels [58]. These clinical signs may improve after adjusting the dose.

Mood Stabilizers

Lithium is often used in the treatment of mania with psychotic form or not in the elderly. Since it is eliminated by the kidneys, dosages must be adjusted. Concomitant use of thiazide diuretics decreases the clearance of lithium and should be accompanied by an additional dose reduction and more frequent measurement of lithium blood concentrations especially in the summer [59].

Tolerability of lithium is poor in advanced age: risk of overdose by decreased renal elimination, interaction with diuretics (increased monitoring, decreased dosage), and cardiovascular, thyroid, renal, cognitive effects could be expected [60]. Titration will be carried out at lower and more gradual doses, by controlling the lithiemia every 15 days until the effective dose is reached (acceptable level of 0.5–0.8 mmol/L) and then every month during 3 months, then every quarter. If lithium has long been prescribed as a mood stabilizer and remains effective and well tolerated, it will be continued by reducing doses, proscribing salidiuretics and carefully monitoring kidney (Cockcroft's formula) and thyroid functions.

In case of reduced tolerance, carbamazepine or valpromide will be substituted; divalproate sodium is rather intended for manic access. Carbamazepine is used at a low dose of 200– 600 mg/day (tegretolemia 4–12 mg/L). Its hepatic metabolism, its strong protein binding, the risk of drug interactions, the negative cognitive impact as a sedative, the risk of falling (ataxia if overdose) hyponatremia, and elevation of transaminases limit its prescription in the elderly and require close monitoring: hepatic, renal, electrolyte [61]. Valpromide or sodium divalproate (250 mg/day to increase 250 mg every 3 days) also have very troublesome side effects in this context: confusion, fall, negative cognitive impact in the long run. Their strong protein binding involves reducing dosages in case of malnutrition (1 day out of two) [62].

Since it is eliminated by the kidneys, dosages must be adjusted. Concomitant use of lithium thiazide diuretics decreases and should be accompanied by an additional dose and more frequent measurement of lithium blood concentrations especially in the summer.

Two therapeutic approaches are therefore possible during manic access at present, the use of normothymics and/or anticonvulsants and the use of antipsychotics. Evaluation of the efficacy of chemotherapy during mania shows that the impact of these two classes may be somewhat different [63]. There are very few data regarding the use of lamotrigine in elderly patients [64].

Neuroleptics and Antipsychotics

Confusional states, whose somatic origin is still sought, may require the use of neuroleptics [65]. Among typical antipsychotics, haloperidol blocks dopamine D2 receptors and is devoid of antimuscarinic and antihistaminic activity. Used at the lowest possible dose, it has the advantage of having a short half-life, being low hypotensive, and not causing hyperglycemia. However, it has the disadvantage of inducing a prolongation of the QT interval, or even torsades de pointe. The ability to administer intravenously, intramuscularly, and subcutaneously is very useful in difficult situations with major behavioral disorders. Given the polypharmacy of the elderly, its inhibitory effect on CYP450 2D6 [66] must be taken into account. The occurrence of extrapyramidal syndromes and tardive dyskinesia in the short and long term, facilitated by underlying cerebral

lesions, should require us to administer at minimal doses, to limit and especially to circumscribe, over time, its use [67].

The therapeutic alternative of the last 20 years lies in the use of atypical neuroleptics, of which we must always choose those with the shortest half-life. Quetiapine, recommended for behavioral problems in patients with Parkinson's disease or Parkinson's syndrome, is not recommended in patients with hypotension and bradycardia [68]. The combination of quetiapine with SSRIs, anticholinesterase drugs, and of course beta-blockers promotes the occurrence of bradycardia. Quetiapine is a moderate inhibitor of CYP1A2, 2C9, 2C19, 2D6, and 3A4/5.5, which should be considered in patients receiving other drugs. The dosage of quetiapine in the elderly is usually between 12.5 and 50 mg/d. Olanzapine, with a longer half-life, has limited use because of the increased incidence of diabetes and glycemic dysregulation favoring diabetic decompensation in the elderly person. Its orodispersible form is very useful in patients whose compliance is bad at a given moment of their evolution. Extrapyramidal syndromes and tardive dyskinesia have been observed clinically after treatment of certain duration [69].

Risperidone has often been advocated for the treatment of behavioral disorders in patients with dementia [70]. Nevertheless, its use remains limited in old age because of the half-life of 34 h of its metabolite hydroxy-risperidone. In the elderly, risperidone should therefore be prescribed at doses less than or equal to 0.5 mg/day. Its inhibitory effect on CY2D6 should be taken into account in the therapeutic approach. Risperidone causes extrapyramidal syndromes that can in severe cases confine the patient to bed. This medication is also to be avoided in the decompensated diabetic. Risperidone and olanzapine have been associated with more frequent stroke [71, 72]. Excess mortality would have been noted in patients treated with dementia for olanzapine, risperidone, and quetiapine. Aripiprazole (doses of 2, 5, 10 mg/day) was compared against placebo in 487 patients. Aripiprazole 10 and 5 mg/day showed significant improvement compared to placebo at the NPI and BPRS scores. At 2 mg/ day, it was not effective [73]. Haloperidol at low doses seems to remain the gold standard in the elderly.

In Practice: What Place to Reserve for Neuroleptics in the Elderly?

The use of neuroleptics in the very elderly is common but requires reflection, as these patients are extremely sensitive to side effects and develop tardive dyskinesia faster than the adult subject. Some neuroleptics have been associated with excess mortality. For these reasons, these drugs should never be used for anxiolytic purposes alone. On the other hand, it is not relevant to associate neuroleptics or antipsychotics with benzodiazepines [74].

Conclusion

The quality of life in the elderly can be greatly improved and life can be prolonged by the intelligent use of drugs. However, there are several practical barriers that the prescriber needs to know about treatment adherence.

Noncompliance may arise from negligence or confusion; clear and precise prescriptions are necessary, avoiding non-strictly necessary medicines that are often taken at the expense of those that are.

The reduction in dosage should not be systematic because the subject is old; in fact, often the ineffectiveness of the drugs in this segment of the population is related to the use of doses that are too low. It is therefore appropriate to increase the doses gradually to evaluate the tolerability, which remains the limit of use of many psychotropic drugs.

The main problem with the use of psychotropic drugs in the elderly, as well as other drugs, is that there are very few placebo-controlled studies in patients over 75 years old. For example, the paradox is that SSRIs are used in the depression of the elderly without satisfactory studies, whereas in the same population tricyclics have proved their effectiveness.

References

- 1. Martin GM. The biology of aging: 1985-2010 and beyond. FASEB J. 2011;25:3756–62.
- Orimo H, Ito H, Suzuki T, Araki A, Hosoi T, Sawabe M. Reviewing the definition of "elderly". Geriatr Gerontol Int. 2006;6:149–58.
- Abuhelwa AY, Foster DJ, Upton RN. A quantitative review and meta-models of the variability and factors affecting Oral drug absorption-part I: gastrointestinal pH. AAPS J. 2016;18:1309–21.
- 4. Turnheim K. Drug therapy in the elderly. Exp Gerontol. 2004;39:1731–8.
- Coutts RT, Fang J, Bourin M, Baker GB. Principles of drug metabolism with an emphasis on psychiatric drugs. In: Boulton AA, Baker GB, Bateson AN, editors. Neuromethods, Cell neurobiology techniques, vol. 33: Humana Press; 1998.
- Wynne H. Drug metabolism and ageing. J Br Menopause Soc. 2005;11:51–6.
- Waring RH, Harris RM, Mitchell SC. Drug metabolism in the elderly: a multifactorial problem? Maturitas. 2017;100:27–32.
- Cockcroft DW, Gault MH. Prediction of creatinine clearance from serum creatinine. Nephron. 1976;16(1):31–41.
- David DJD, Bourin M, Hascoet M, Colombel MC, Baker GB, Jolliet P. Comparison of antidepressant activity in 4 and 40-week-male old mice in the forced swimming test: involvement of 5-HT1A and 5-HT1B receptors in old mice. Psychopharmacology. 2001;153:443–9.
- Rizzi G, Tan KR. Dopamine and acetylcholine, a circuit point of view in Parkinson's disease. Front Neural Circuits. 2017;11:110.
- Di Chiara G. Role of dopamine in the behavioural actions of nicotine related to addiction. Eur J Pharmacol. 2000;393:295–314.
- Toyoda H. Interaction of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors with dopamine receptors in synaptic plasticity of the mouse insular cortex. Synapse. 2019. https:// doi.org/10.1002/syn.22094.
- Bourin M, Ripoll N, Dailly E. Nicotinic receptors and Alzheimer's disease. Curr Med Res Opin. 2003;19:169–77.
- Soria-Fregozo C, Flores-Soto ME, Pérez-Vega MI, Feria-Velasco A. 5-HT denervation of the adult rat prefrontal cortex induces changes in the expression of α4 and α7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subtypes. Neurologia. 2013;28:212–8.
- Riekkinen P Jr, Sirviö J, Valjakka A, Miettinen R, Riekkinen P. Pharmacological consequences of cholinergic plus serotonergic manipulations. Brain Res. 1991;552:23–6.
- Nayak SV, Rondé P, Spier AD, Lummis SC, Nichols RA. Nicotinic receptors co-localize with 5-HT (3) serotonin receptors on striatal nerve terminals. Neuropharmacology. 2000;39:2681–9.

- Seth P, Cheeta S, Tucci S, File SE. Nicotinic-serotonergic interactions in brain and behaviour. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 2002;71:795–805.
- García-Colunga J, Miledi R. Blockage of mouse muscle nicotinic receptors by serotonergic compounds. Exp Physiol. 1999;84:847–64.
- Li DP, Pan HL. Potentiation of glutamatergic synaptic input to supraoptic neurons by presynaptic nicotinic receptors. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2001;281:R1105–13.
- Girod R, Role LW. Long-lasting enhancement of glutamatergic synaptic transmission by acetylcholine contrasts with response adaptation after exposure to low-level nicotine. J Neurosci. 2001;21:5182–90.
- Marchi M, Risso F, Viola C, Cavazzani P, Raiteri M. Direct evidence that release-stimulating alpha7* nicotinic cholinergic receptors are localized on human and rat brain glutamatergic axon terminals. J Neurochem. 2002;80:1071–8.
- Zhang L, Warren RA. Muscarinic and nicotinic presynaptic modulation of EPSCs in the nucleus accumbens during postnatal development. J Neurophysiol. 2002;88:3315–30.
- 23. Chazot PL, Godukhin OV, McDonald A, Obrenovitch TP. Spreading depression-induced preconditioning in the mouse cortex: differential changes in the protein expression of ionotropic nicotinic acetylcholine and glutamate receptors. J Neurochem. 2002;83:1235–8.
- Delafuente JC. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic alterations in the geriatric patient. Consult Pharm. 2008;23:324–34.
- Bourin M. Hypnotic drugs: pharmacological and therapeutic issues. SOJ Pharm Pharm Sci. 2018;5:1–4.
- Bourin M. Respiratory disorders of sleep. Sleep Med Dis Int J. 2018;2:36–7.
- Bourin M, Renard C. Pharmacotherapy of benzodiazepines in aged patients. Klinik Psichofarmacoloji Bütteni. 2001;11:192–7.
- Dailly E, Bourin M. The use of benzodiazepines in aged patients: clinical and pharmacological considerations. Pak J Pharm Sci. 2008;21:89–95.
- Bourin M. Rational use of benzodiazepines. WHO/ PSA. 1997;9611
- Bourin M, Nic Dhonnchadha BA. Psychopharmacology of hypnotics. Klinik Psikofarmakologi Bülteni. 2001;11:124–31.
- Greenblatt DJ, Harmatz JS, Roth T. Zolpidem and gender: are women really at risk? J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2019;39:189–99.
- Monti JM, Spence DW, Buttoo K, Pandi-Perumal SR. Zolpidem's use for insomnia. Asian J Psychiatr. 2017;25:79–90.
- 33. Booth JN 3rd, Behring M, Cantor RS, Colantonio LD, Davidson S, Donnelly JP, Johnson E, Jordan K, Singleton C, Xie F, McGwin G Jr. Zolpidem use and motor vehicle collisions in older drivers. Sleep Med. 2016;20:98–102.
- Schroeck JL, Ford J, Conway EL, Kurtzhalts KE, Gee ME, Vollmer KA, Mergenhagen KA. Review of safety

and efficacy of sleep medicines in older adults. Clin Ther. 2016;38:2340–72.

- Cheng S, Siddiqui TG, Gossop M, Kristoffersen ES, Lundqvist C. The severity of dependence scale detects medication misuse and dependence among hospitalized older patients. BMC Geriatr. 2019;19(1):174.
- Huang YC, Wang LJ, Chong MY. Differences in prescribing psychotropic drugs for elderly with depression. Acta Neuropsychiatr. 2016;28:296–303.
- Abraham O, Schleiden L, Albert SM. Over-thecounter medications containing diphenhydramine and doxylamine used by older adults to improve sleep. Int J Clin Pharm. 2017;39:808–17.
- Xie Z, Chen F, Li WA, Geng X, Li C, Meng X, Feng Y, Liu W, Yu F. A review of sleep disorders and melatonin. Neurol Res. 2017;39:559–65.
- Scholtens RM, van Munster BC, van Kempen MF, de Rooij SE. Physiological melatonin levels in healthy older people: a systematic review. J Psychosom Res. 2016;86:20–7.
- Bourin M. Herbal therapy and anxiety. In: Nutt D, Ballenger J, editors. Anxiety disorders: Blackwell; 2003. p. 491–8.
- Bourin M. The problems with the use of benzodiazepines in elderly patients. Encéphale. 2010;36:340–7.
- 42. Nuss P, Ferreri F, Bourin M. An update on the anxiolytic and neuroprotective properties of etifoxine: from brain GABA modulation to a whole-body mode of action. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2019;15:1781–95.
- 43. Del Ser T, Zea MA, Valentí M, Olazarán J, López-Álvarez J, Rebollo-Vázquez A, Ávila-Villanueva M, Frades B, Medina M, Fernández-Blázquez MA. Effects of commonly prescribed drugs on cognition and mild cognitive impairment in healthy elderly people. J Psychopharmacol. 2019;33:965–74.
- Bourin M. Clinical pharmacology of anxiolytics. Arch Depress Anxiety. 2018;4:21–5.
- Pary R, Sarai SK, Micchelli A, Lippmann S. Anxiety Disorders in Older Patients. Prim Care Companion CNS Disord. 2019;21(1):18nr02335.
- Bourin M. Are antidepressants mood agents or anxiolytic drugs? SOJ Pharm Pharm Sci. 2018;5:1–6.
- 47. Bourin M, Bougerol T, Guitton B, Broutin E. A combination of plant extracts in the treatment of outpatients with adjustment disorder with anxious mood: controlled study versus placebo. Fundam Clin Pharmacol. 1997;11:127–32.
- Bourin M. Clinical aspects of depression in the elderly. Arch Depress Anxiety. 2018;4:26–30.
- 49. Kirsch I, Deacon BJ, Huedo-Medina TB, Scoboria A, Moore TJ, Johnson BT. Initial severity and antidepressant benefits: a meta-analysis of data submitted to the food and drug administration. PLoS Med. 2008;5:e45. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.0050045.
- Turner EH, Matthews AM, Linardatos E, Tell RA, Rosenthal R. Selective publication of antidepressant trials and its influence on apparent efficacy. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:252–60.
- 51. Tham A, Jonsson U, Andersson G, Söderlund A, Allard P, Bertilsson G. Efficacy and tolerability of

antidepressants in people aged 65 years or older with major depressive disorder – a systematic review and a meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. 2016;205:1–12.

- 52. Calati R, Salvina Signorelli M, Balestri M, Marsano A, De Ronchi D, Aguglia E, Serretti A. Antidepressants in elderly: metaregression of double-blind, randomized clinical trials. J Affect Disord. 2013;147:1–8.
- 53. David DJ, Bourin M, Hascoët M, Colombel MC, Baker GB, Jolliet P. Comparison of antidepressant activity in 4- and 40-week-old male mice in the forced swimming test: involvement of 5-HT1A and 5-HT1B receptors in old mice. Psychopharmacology. 2001;153:443–9.
- Hefner G, Laib AK, Sigurdsson H, Hohner M, Hiemke C. The value of drug and metabolite concentration in blood as a biomarker of psychopharmacological therapy. Int Rev Psychiatry. 2013;25:494–508.
- Bourin M. Use of paroxetine for the treatment of depression and anxiety in elderly people. Hum Psychopharmacol. 2003;18:185–90.
- 56. Sun Y, Liang Y, Jiao Y, Lin J, Qu H, Xu J, Zhao C. Comparative efficacy and acceptability of anti-depressant treatment in poststroke depression: a multiple-treatments meta-analysis. BMJ Open. 2017;7(8):e016499.
- 57. Furukawa TA, Cipriani A, Cowen PJ, Leucht S, Egger M, Salanti G. Optimal dose of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, venlafaxine, and mirtazapine in major depression: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. Lancet Psychiatry. 2019;6:601–9.
- Benoit M, Andrieu S, Lechowski L, Gillette-Guyonnet S, Robert PH, Vellas B, REAL-FR Group. Apathy and depression in Alzheimer's disease are associated with functional deficits and psychotropic prescriptions. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2008;23:409–14.
- Malhi GS, Gessler D, Outhred T. The use of lithium for the treatment of bipolar disorder: recommendations from clinical practice guidelines. J Affect Disord. 2017;217:266–80.
- De Fazio P, Gaetano R, Caroleo M, Pavia M, De Sarro G, Fagiolini A, Segura-Garcia C. Lithium in late-life mania: a systematic review. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2017;13:755–66.
- Punyawudho B, Ramsay ER, Brundage RC, Macias FM, Collins JF, Birnbaum AK. Population pharmacokinetics of carbamazepine in elderly patients. Ther Drug Monit. 2012;34:176–81.
- 62. Vandel S, Bertschy G, Jounet JM, Allers G. Valpromide increases the plasma concentrations of amitriptyline and its metabolite nortriptyline in depressive patients. Ther Drug Monit. 1988;10:386–9.
- Bourin M. Thibaut how assess drugs in the treatment of acute bipolar mania? Front Pharmacol. 2013;4:4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2013.00004.
- 64. Katayama Y, Terao T, Kamei K, Hatano K, Kohno K, Makino M, Mizokami Y, Kodama K, Itoh H. Therapeutic window of lamotrigine for mood disorders: a naturalistic retrospective study. Pharmacopsychiatry. 2014;47:111–4.

- Van Zyl LT, Seitz P. Delirium: concisely, condition is associated with increased morbidity, mortality and length of hospitalisation. Geriatrics. 2006;61:18–21.
- 66. Ohara K, Tanabu S, Ishibashi K, Ikemoto K, Yoshida K, Shibuya H. Effects of age and the CYP2D6*10 allele on the plasma haloperidol concentration/dose ratio. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2003;27:347–50.
- 67. Rochon PA, Normand SL, Gomes T, Gill SS, Anderson GM, Melo M, Sykora K, Lipscombe L, Bell CM, Gurwitz JH. Anti-psychotic therapy and shortterm serious events in older adults with dementia. Arch Intern Med. 2008;168:1090–6.
- Zhong KX, Tariot PN, Mintzer J, Minkwitz MC, Devine NA. Quetiapine to treat agitation in dementia: a randomized, double blind, placebo-controlled study. Curr Alzheimer Res. 2007;4:81–93.
- 69. Gareri P, Segura-García C, Manfredi VG, Bruni A, Ciambrone P, Cerminara G, De Sarro G, De Fazio P. Use of atypical antipsychotics in the elderly: a clinical review. Clin Interv Aging. 2014 16;9:1363–73.

- Boettger S, Jenewein J, Breitbart W. Haloperidol, risperidone, olanzapine and aripiprazole in the management of delirium: a comparison of efficacy, safety, and side effects. Palliat Support Care. 2015;13:1079–85.
- Alexopoulos GS, Streim JE, Carpenter D. Expert consensus guidelines for using antipsychotic agents in older patients. J Clin Psychiatry. 2004;65(Suppl. 2):100–2.
- Douglas IJ, Smeeth L. Exposure to antipsychotics and risk of stroke: self-controlled case series study. BMJ. 2008;337:a1227–8.
- 73. Mintzer JE, Tune LE, Breder CD, Swanink R, Marcus RN, McQuade RD, Forbes A. Aripiprazole for the treatment of psychoses in institutionalized patients with Alzheimer dementia : a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled assessment of three fixed doses. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2007;15:918–31.
- Bourin M, Baker GB. Therapeutic and adverse effect considerations when using combinations of neuroleptics and benzodiazepines. Saudi Pharm J. 1998;6:262–5.

Index

A

Acculturation, 501-503 Acetylcholinesterase (AChE), 331 Activation rule, 321 Addiction/depression, 107 Adenosine, 202, 203 Adrenoleukodystrophy, 639 Aesthetics, 121-122 Alfonso, G., 528-535 Alherz, F., 189 Allport, G.W., 531 Alonso, C., 478 Alternative existing model, 304 Álvarez, L., 479 Alzheimer, A., 397 Alzheimer's disease (AD), 245, 579, 640-642 ApoE Aβ and AD risk, 404 alleles and risk of LOAD and dementias, 402, 403 genetic risk factor, 398 genome-wide association studies, 405, 406 mimetic peptides, 406-408 polymorphism and isoform expression, 398-400 properties and functions, 400-402 receptors, 399, 400 TREM2 /APOE4 risk factor, 403 cerebral atrophy, 397 clinical manifestations, 398 dyslipidemias, 398 history, 397 lipoproteins, 398 neuropathological changes, 397 transcriptomics and proteomics, 397 Amygdala, 195, 196, 219, 220 Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), 246 Anandamide (AEA), 599 Andersson, G., 580 Andreasson, S., 601 Ang II type 1 receptor (AT₁-R), 170 Ang II type 2 receptor (AT₂-R), 170 Angel Rios, L.F., 623-631, 635-644 Angiotensinogen, 170

Anthocyanins, 352-354 Anthropological hyperpresentification, 104 Anthropological plenitude, 104 Antidepressant treatment, 207, 208 ageing, 378 calorie intake, restriction of, 380 compliance, 377 dietary improvements, 378, 379 exercise, 381 dose/response effect, 381 meditation practice, 382 neuroplasticity, 381 physical activity, 381 socialization, 381, 382 inflammatory markers, 378 modifiable life style factors, 378 probiotics, 380 sleep behavior, 380, 381 STAR-D study, 377, 378 strategy, 377 weight control, 379, 380 Anti-epileptic drugs (AE), 538 Anxiety, 364-366, 503 adenosine, 202, 203 antidepressant, 207, 208 death of oneself, 142 fear of old age, 142, 143 fear of starvation, sickness or deprivation, 143, 144 glutamatergic system, 202 neuropeptides, 203 atrial natriuretic (ANP) factor, 207 cholecystokinin, 203, 204 corticotropin-releasing hormone, 204, 205 galanin, 206 neurokinins, 206 ocytocine, 207 substance P, 206 superstitions, 144 weaknesses of historical documentation, 144, 145 Anxiety disorders (AD), 544, 545 Anxiolytic hormone, 183

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. Á. Gargiulo, H. L. Mesones Arroyo (eds.), *Psychiatry and Neuroscience Update*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61721-9 Anxiolytics, 652 amygdala, 195, 196 brain circuit of fear, 196 GABAergic system, 196-198 serotoninergic system, 199 5-HT1A receptor, 199 5-HT2A receptors and the GABAergic system, 199-201 5-HT2B receptor, 200 5-HT2C receptor, 200, 201 5-HT3 receptor, 201 Apolipoproteins E (ApoE) alleles and risk of LOAD and dementias, 402, 403 Aß and AD risk, 404 genetic risk factor, 398 genome-wide association studies, 405, 406 mimetic peptides, 406-408 polymorphism and isoform expression, 398-400 properties and functions, 400-402 receptors, 399, 400 TREM2 /APOE4 risk factor, 403 Apoptotic cell death signaling, 243 2-arachidonoylglycerol (2 AG), 599 Arendt, M., 608 Arginine vasopressin (AVP), 154 Aristotle, 78 Asher. S.R., 436 Ashforth, B.E., 488 Asperger's syndrome, 271, 639 Assimilation, 502 Astrocytes, 172-174 Asylum seekers mental disorders, 512, 513 (see also Migrants) PTSD, 514-516 torture effect, 516 Atrial natriuretic (ANP) factor, 207 Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) adolescence, 623 etiology, 623 funcional MRI, 629, 630 ionizing radiation, 625 magnetic resonance spectroscopy, 630, 631 methylphenidate, 623 minimally invasive biomarkers, 624 morphometric MRI in adulthood, 627 anatomic delineation, 625 brain and cerebellum, 625 clinical settings, 627 cool executive function network, 627 DARTEL approach, 626 DCD, 625, 626 executive function and attention, 625 gray matter abnormalities, 626, 627 lenient thresholds, 627 long-term stimulant medication, 627, 628 neuroimaging studies, 626 ODD, 629 pathogenesis, 627 probabilistic tractography, 626 radiomics, 627, 629

regional atrophy, 625 unaffected siblings, 626 VBM studies, 625 neurotransmitters, 624 patient counseling, 624 prevalence of, 624 structural alterations, 624 Attentional control, 465, 466 Autism, 107, 271, 272, 639 Autism spectrum disorders (ASDs), 361 melatonin and, 271–272 gut microbiota (*see* Gut microbiota) Autophagy, 240, 241 Auxiliary hypothesis (AH), 4

B

Baldry, A., 448 Balloon Analogue Risk Task (BART), 150, 153 Bandura, A., 482 Barona, G., 488 Barrantes, F.J., 397-408 Basmadjian, O.M., 169-175 Baum, G.L., 461 Bauman, S., 446 Baumgarten, 531 Beard, W., 539, 540 Bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BNST), 387, 541-542 Benzodiazepines (BZD) Amygdala, 219, 220 behavioral strategies, 223-225 clinical use, 213 dorsal raphe nucleus, 219 hippocampus, 216, 217 locus coeruleus, 218 long-term drawbacks, 214 mechanism of action, 213 misuse and wrong prescription, 214, 215 natural reword system, 220, 221 pharmacological actions, 213 pharmacological treatments, 221-223 prefrontal cortex, 218 side effects, 213 tolerance and dependence, 215, 216 Beretta, H.V., 327-337 Berg, S.K., 578 Bernad, J.A., 480, 481 Beta-endorphin, 183 Biederman, J., 624 Bipolar disorder cognitive deficits attention disorders, 590 brain metabolism, 592 clinical arguments, 592 cognitive endophenotypes, 592 depressive phase, 592 direct costs, 592 euthymia, 590, 591 factors, 591 functional imaging, 592

genetic vulnerability factors, 592 indirect costs, 593 manic/hypomanic episodes, 590 mood stabilizers, 591 neurological functional alterations, 591 normothymic periods, 591 result of, 591, 592 structural brain abnormalities, 592 cognitive functions, 589 diagnostic criteria, 590 emotions cognition interactions, 594 processes in, 593 functional impairment, 590 normothymia, 590 pathology, 590 Bloch, F., 635 Blood-brain barrier (BBB), 249, 250, 543 Body and soul relationship a parte homini, 76 a parte rei, 76 a posteriori, 76 acts of man and human acts, 76, 77 body and soul relationship, 83 cerebral and mental process, 74 collateral or residual manifestation, 73 co-principle, 81, 82 definition of, 78-79 formal function, 84 formal principle, 83 immateriality of, 79, 80 intrinsic principle, 84 ipso facto, 84 materialistic explanation, 73 materialistic monism, 74 nobility and subsistence, 85 paying particular attention, 76 pluralistic and exuberant, 85 principle of acting, 75 principle of being, 75 principles of operation, 77 res cogitans-res extensa, 74 subject and remote principle of operations, 77 subsistence of, 80, 81 substantial formal principle, 83 third argument, 75 transcendent cause, 78 trans-empirical or metaphysical order, 76 transmission and limitation of mental processes, 75 unity, 82 vegetative activity, 84 vegetative and sentient functions, 73-74 visible external manifestations, 76 Bogdanova, D., 555–567 Bologna reform, 475 Bonantini, C.A., 487-495 Bono, J.E., 489 Bourin, Michel, 141-146, 195-208, 261-272, 589-594, 647-657 Bourin, Monique, 141–146 Bowker, W.M., 439

Brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), 644 Brain microenvironment function, 169 Brassica vegetables functional foods, 327 neuroprotective compounds carotenoids, 333, 334 glucosinolates, 328-330 minerals, 334-336 phenolic compounds, 330-333 strategies, 327 vitamins, 333-335 phytochemicals, 327, 328 Bregonzio, C., 169-175 Broad, C.D., 135 Broen, M.P., 577 Broussard, J.I., 425 Buckley, M., 489 Bukowski, W.M., 434, 436, 438 Bullying cybervictimization interventions, 450, 451, 453 data extraction, 449 definition, 445, 446 inclusion and exclusion criteria, 448, 449 intervention programs, 447 mental health problems, 446 meta-analytic reviews, 447, 448 publication bias, 450-453 search and selection process, 450, 451 search strategy, 449 statistical analyses, 449, 450 traditional bullying and traditional victimization interventions, 450, 452 types, 445, 446 Burčul F, 330 Burgos, José E., 303-310, 313-322 Burke, R.J., 488 Burnout syndrome anxiety, 489 AWS, 489 Big Five Personality Theory, 494 cohort, 490 competition, 489 depersonalization, 490, 491 descriptive analysis, 490 dimensions, 490, 491 emotional fatigue, 490, 491 emotions, 494 justice, 489 Likert scales, 493, 494 low personal performance, 490, 491 occupational pathologies, 494 offshore and intercultural developments, 494 positive psychology, 490 qualitative analysis, 490, 492, 493 school environment, 487 theories of social exchange, 488 three-factor analysis, 488 variables, 488 work environment, 487 work overload and role conflict, 489

Burnout syndrome, 10 competition, 489 psycho-social approach, 487 Butyrylcholinesterase (BChE), 331

С

Calcium imbalance, 241-243 Calegari, V.F.Q., 487-495 Calorie restriction, 380 Camacho, Nahuel, 237-252 Camargo, A.B., 327-337 Campos, R., 575-582 Cancer, 270, 271 Cannabidiol (CBD), 599 Cannabis analogy, 607 biological gradient, 604 coherence, 604-606 experimental studies, 606, 607 health implications, 608, 609 Hill's criteria, 601 infectious diseases, 600, 601 outcomes, 600 Parisian group, 600 replicability, 602 schizophrenia disorder, 607, 608 specificity, 602, 603 strength of association, 601, 602 temporality, 603, 604 Cannabis use disorder (CUD), 607 Carballo, J.R., 90 Cardinali, D.P., 279-283, 285, 287, 289-293 Carotenes chemical structure, 345 functionality, 345 xanthophylls, 345, 346 Carotenoids, 333, 334 Carter, D., 490 Cartesian dualism, 134 Cartesian heritage, 111 Cartesian meditations, 9 Caspi, A., 605 Castro, J.G., 131-139 Catalán-Figueroa, J., 237–252 Categorical models, 528, 529 Cathecol-O-methyl transferase (COMT), 605 Cattell, R.B., 531, 532 Cattell's model, 532 Central brain Angiotensin II (Ang II) effects, 170 Central nucleus of the amygdala (CNA), 386 Čepić, R., 476 Cerebral atrophy, 397 Cervigni, M., 528-535 Chalmers, D., 136 Champarini, L.G., 419-427 Chan, B.D., 359 Cho, K.S., 333 Choi, S.Y., 426 Cholecystokinin (CCK), 203, 204

Choline, 349 Chow, C.M., 439 Chronic traumatic brain injury (CTBI), 402 Chronobiotic, 280, 281 Ciarrochi, J., 439 Ciechanowski, P., 547 Circulating melatonin, 281 Clark, L.A., 532, 533 Classic neurotransmitters, 183 Claussen C-F., 556 Clinical dementia rating (CDR) scale, 641 Cloninger, C.R., 531 Coca, A.F., 623-631, 635-644 Coffield, F., 479 Cognitive-behavioral therapies (CBT), 545 adolescents and older adults, 547 DRE, 547, 548 for adults, 547 interventions, 547 Cognitive cycle, 40, 41 Cognitive dysfunctions, 419, 425 Cognitive endophenotypes, 592 Cognitive flexibility, 464, 465 Cognitive strategies, 480-482 Coincidence absorption and alteration, 27, 28 biological survival, 23 circumstance's conditions, 21, 22 falling in love and love, 24-26 happiness coinciding with himself, 23 conceptual background, 23 internal impulse, 23 law of gravity, 24 possessions and material goods, 23 reality, 24 workaholics, 24 internal coherence, 30 man-mass, 28-30 radical reality, 21 something else, 22 strange and unnatural human condition, 22 uncertainty, 22 vitality, soul and spirit, 26, 27 Colonization resistance, 359 Coloured compounds adequate nutrition, 344, 345 anthocyanins, 352-354 bioactive substances/fruit-vegetables phytochemicals, 343, 344 carotenes astaxanthin, 346 biosynthesis and regulation, 346 biotechnological and conventional breeding programmes, 346 chemical structure, 345 functionality, 345 intracellular localization, 346 lutein, 350, 351 lycopene, 347-350

phytohormones, 346 provitamin A carotenoids, 346 xanthophylls, 345, 346 flavanols, 352 flavonoids, 351 flavonols, 351, 352 Columbia Card Task (CCT), 150 Conscious realism, 133 Consciousness conscious realism, 133 constructivism, 132 dead end, 131 double access, 132 "embodied" mind, 132 emergentism, 138 epistemological framework, 138 idealism, 132 magical and religious practices, 131 model of orchestrated objective reduction, 133 mysterianism/catastrophic predictions, 131 ontological objectivity, 131 phenomenological approach, 138 problem of dualism, 132, 134-136 qualia, 136-138 quantum computation, 133 regressus ad infinitum, 131 theoretical and empirical approach, 132 Constantin, M.F., 213-225 Constructivism, 132 Contact force, 238 Cool executive function network, 627 Cortico-subcortical networks, 594 Corticotropic axis, 269 Corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH), 151, 204, 205, 386, 541, 543 Costa, P.T., 531, 532 Cotard syndrome, 68 Coughlin, C., 463 Cristal, R.C., 531 Cronbach's alpha, 490 Culasso, A.F., 237-252 Cultural consonance, 500, 501 Curry, L., 477 Cyberbullying, see Bullying

D

D'alessio, L., 537–548 Davidson, M., 465 Davis, G.A.Y.R., 547 Davis, M.H., 438 Davis, R.D., 532 de Balzac, H., 600 de Gorze, J., 142 de la Villarmois, E.A., 213–225 De Luca, C., 468 de Nogent, G., 145 de Paul, V., 143 de Rosas, M.I., 343 Decision-making

arginine vasopressin, 154 dopamine, 159 economic decisions-making, 150 moral decisions-making, 150 norepinephrine, 159, 160 oxytocin neuromodulator of central nervous system, 150 prosocial behavior and empathy, 151, 152 social decision-making, 151 trust and social behaviors, 151 vasopressin, 151 serotonin advanced functions, 155 definition, 155 impulsivity, 155 moral decision-making, 156 social decision-making, 155 social decisions-making, 149, 150 stress hormones cytokines and adrenal hormones, 156 economic decision-making, 156, 157 physical, psychological and emotional response, 156 social and moral decisions, 157 testosterone definition, 152 economic decisión-making, 153 moral decisión-making, 153 prenatal testosterone, 152 reciprocity and trust, 153 social decision-making, 152, 153 women cycle hormones economic decision-making, 158 social decision-making, 157, 158 Default mode network (DMN), 629 Deis, L., 343 Dejours, C., 493 Delgado, M.A., 613-618 Dementia with Lewy bodies (DLB), 640 Depression, 364-366 anti-epileptic drugs, 538 general population, 537 poor post-surgery prognosis, 538 seizures, 537, 538 SSRIs, 538 (see Stress) suicide, 538 TLE, 538 Depressive disorders (DD), 544 Depressive hypolocomotion, 562 Descartes, 134 Descartes, R., 131 Developmental coordination disorder (DCD), 625, 626 Dewhurst, E., 548 Dierendonck, D.V., 488 Difabio, H., 459-470 Dilthey's approach, 37 Dimitrov, R., 555-567 Discrimination, 502 Doll, R., 601 Dopamine, 159

Dopaminergic-centrist theories, 169 Dorsal raphe nucleus (DRN), 219 Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC), 189, 386 Drug Abuse Warning Network (DAWN), 214 Drug-resistant epilepsy (DRE), 547, 548 Duhem-Quine thesis, 3-5 Dumas, A., 600 Duran, 490 Durret, C.A., 529 Dyke, C.G., 635 Dynamis in treaty on ancient medicine active quality, 56 apokrisis, 55 characteristic movement of substances, 56 contraria contrariïs curantur. 55 dynamis, 55, 56 dyskrasia, 55 empiricist-type hermeneutics, 53 graphiké, 54 hermeneutic tradition, 53, 54 kosmos, 55 kresia, 55 medicine-philosophy relationship, 54 non-philosophical science, 54 physis, 56 sophists (sophistai), 53 techné iatriké, 56 teleological model of scientific explanation aisthesis tou somatos, 59 decontextualize, 59 different foods and beverages, 57 internal organs, 57 material causes, 58 methodological slogan, 59 physis, 57, 58 tékhné iatrikè, 58 telos, 58 testimonies and comparisons, 56 true object of medicine, 56 Dysbiosis, see Gut microbiota

E

Early onset AD (EOAD), 398 Eastwood, R., 576 Eber, H.W., 532 Ebola virus disease (EVD), 507 Echeburúa, E., 528 Ecological niche, 504 Economic decisions-making, 150 Economic rationality, 34 Eisenberg, N., 438 Elderly patients antidepressants, 652-655 antipsychotics, 656, 657 anxiolytics, 652 hypnotics benzodiazepines, 650 H1 antihistamines, 651 herbal medicine, 651, 652

melatonin, 651 non-drug psycho-behavioral therapies, 650 Z-drugs, 650, 651 mood stabilizers, 656 neuroleptics, 656, 657 pharmacodynamics, 648-650 pharmacokinetics, 647 absorption, 647 distribution, 647 drug elimination, 648 metabolism, 648 SSRIs citalopram and sertraline, 655 comorbidities, 654 depression complementary approaches, 655, 656 plasma concentrations, 655 venlafaxine/mirtazapine, 655 Electroconvulsive therapy (ECT), 539, 540 Electroencephalography (EEG), 109 Electrophysiological techniques, 187 Eliminative materialism, 136 Emergentism, 135, 138 Emotional disturbances, 419 Emotional exhaustion, 10 Emotional fatigue, 490, 491 Empathy, 438 Endogenous antidepressant, 183 Energy pulses (B1), 636 Enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect, 250 Enzmann, D., 488 (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG), 332 Epilepsy cognitive-behavioral therapies adolescents and older adults, 547 for adults, 547 DRE, 547, 548 interventions, 547 depression anti-epileptic drugs, 538 general population, 537 poor post-surgery prognosis, 538 seizures, 537, 538 **SSRIs**, 538 suicide, 538 TLE, 538 interventions, 546 PNES, 545, 546 psychosis abnormal electrical activity, 540 acute interictal presentations, 539 agonism, 538 antagonism, 538 bilateral hippocampal sclerosis, 540 chronic postictal psychosis, 539 ECT, 539, 540 ictal psychosis, 539 kindling model, 539 medication/surgical intervention, 540

physiopathological role, 539 postictal psychoses, 539 psychiatric abnormality, 540 PWE, 538 risk factors, 540 seizures, 539 self-management of adults, 546 of children, 547 stress anxiety disorders, 544, 545 endocrine response, 542, 543 epigenetic mechanisms, 544 epileptogenesis, 541 exacerbate neural injury, 543, 544 motivations, 540 MTLE, 541 neuroplasticity, 542 prenatal and postnatal stress, 543 seizures, 540-542 Epileptic seizures (ES), 545 Epileptogenesis, 541 Epistasis, 405 Epistemological paradigm, 135 Epstein, R.M., 580 Esbec, E., 528 Escanero, J.F., 475-485 Espay, A.J., 546 European Consultation-Liaison Workgroup (E.C.L.W.), 576 Evidence based psychiatry (EBP), 7 Evidence-based medicine (EBM), 3, 6, 7 Excitotoxicity and calcium imbalance, 241-243 Executive functions (EF) adulthood, 467, 468 childhood and adolescence attentional control, 465, 466 cognitive flexibility, 464, 465 inhibitory control, 464 metacognition, 466, 467 oral fluency and processing speed, 467 planning and problem solving, 466 working memory, 465 cognitive control abilities, 459 frontal lobe development and connections, 460, 461 gender differences, 468, 469 infancy, 461, 462 neuroscience, 460 preschoolers, 462, 463 pyramidal development, 459 self-regulated behavior, 459 vital cycle, 461 Experimental psychology, 131 External ventricular drain (EVD), 249 Eye movement desensitization and reprocessing (EMRD), 515 Eysenck, H.J., 532, 533 Eysenck personality questionnaire (EPQ), 533 Eysenck, S.B.G., 532, 533

F

Faecalibacterium, 367 Falsacionism, 3 Farrington, D.P., 448 Fayed, N., 623-631, 635-644 Feder, D.J., 385-393 Felder, R.M., 477 Fernández-Borrás, J., 479 Ferreira, B.R., 576 Fibromyalgia (FM), 642-644 Fine, G.A., 434 Firmicutes strain, 367 First neurotensin receptor (NTS1), 184, 185, 187, 188 First order factors, 532 Flavanols, 352 Flavell, J.H., 482 Flavonoids, 330, 351 Flavonols, 330, 351, 352 Fochesato, A., 613-618 Fogel, B.S., 580 Formica, M.L., 237-252 Franco, B.C., 528-535 Free induction drop (FID), 636 Friendship Bukowski Friendship Quality Scale Argentine adaptation, 434, 435 in childhood and adolescence loneliness, 435-437 values, empathy and friendship quality, 437-441 definition, 433 developmental psychology, 433 mental health, 439, 442 reciprocity, 433 Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), 109

G

GABAergic interneurons, 189 Gaffney, H., 448, 455 Gagliardi, R., 497-520 Galanin (GAL), 188, 206 Galeazzi, J.M., 303-310, 313-322 Gámez-Guadix, M., 446 Gamma amino acid butyric acid (GABA), 189, 196-198 Gamma-band oscillation (GBO) abnormalities, 189 Gargiulo, A.J.M., 528-535, 537-548 Gargiulo, A.P.I., 528-535 Gargiulo, P.A., 475, 528–535, 613–618 Gastrointestinal tract (GI), 613, 615 Generalized anxiety, 208 German idealism, 111 Germ-free (GF) mice, 360 Ghersi, Marisa S., 237-252 Giedd, J., 460 Gil Zbinden, F., 183-189 Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS), 239 Glial cells, 169 Global deterioration scale (GDS), 641 Global warming, 512 Glucocorticoid receptors (GRs), 541

Glucocorticoid response element (GRE), 386 Glucose transporter vesicle biosynthesis, 184 Glucosinolates (GSL), 328-330 Glutamate (Glu), 640 Glutamatergic system, 202 Glutamatergic theory, 202 Glycogen synthase kinase (GSK-3) by phosphorylation, 605 Goddard, G.V., 539 Goldberg, D., 580, 582 Goldstein, L.H., 547 Golembiewski, R.T., 490 Gonadotropic axis, 268 Gonadotropin-releasing hormone, 152 Gonzalez-Torrecillas, J.L., 580 Goossens, L., 436 Gouveia, A., 149-160 G-protein-coupled receptors, 184 Greenglass, E.R., 488 Gross, M.M., 424 Grossman, S., 532 Gueguen, R., 353 Guerra, M., 475-485 Guerra, N., 446 Gupta, P., 607 Gut microbiota depression and anxiety, 364-366 dysbiosis, 615 future perspectives, 370-372 GI symptoms, 615 gut-brain axis, 360, 361 in health and disease, 359, 360 herbal modifications, 366-370 metabolomics cellular abnormalities, 616 clinical characteristics, 616 cytochrome P450, 616 genetic and environmental factors, 615, 616 glycolic acid, 616, 617 **HPHPA**, 617 Krebs cycle, 616 organism metabolism, 615 oxalates, 617 p-hydroxyphenylacetic acid, 617 tryptophan, kynurenine, and serotonin pathways, 616 microbial metabolite, 617, 618 microbiota-gut-brain axis, 613-615 neuropsychiatric disease aetiology and progression, 361 immune cytokines, 363 metabolites, 364 neuroendocrine signalling molecules, 363 neurotransmission, 362, 363 neurotransmission, 362 spore-forming Clostridium, 615 Gut-brain axis, 360, 361

Н

Halbesleben, J., 489 Hall, E., 503 Hameroff, S., 133 Hamman, 424 Haralanov, S., 555-567 Haralanova, E., 555-567 Harris, R.A., 435, 436 Hartup, W.W., 433, 435 Hayes, L., 439 Health related quality of life (HRQoL), 419 Henquet, C., 602, 604 Herbal medicine, 651, 652 See also Gut microbiota Hereñú, C.B., 237-252, 419-427 Herrera, M., 169-175 Herrera, M.L., 419-427 Heteromers formation, 187 Heterooligomerization, 188 Hickman, M., 608 High-density lipoprotein (HDL), 401 Higher-order thought (HOT) theory IEM, 68-70 schizophrenia, 64, 65 somatoparaphrenia, 61-64 thought insertion, 64-68 Highly reduced health-related quality of life (HRQOL), 577-578 Hill, A.B., 601 Hinduja, S., 446 Hippocampus (HP), 216, 217, 423, 425 Hoffman, D., 133, 134 Homo sapiens, 39 Hopper, 425 Hoza, B., 436 Huffman, J.C., 580 Hugo, V., 600 Human being, 107 Human brain activity, 196 Humphrey, N., 135 Husserl, E., 137 Husserlian methodology, 101 Huxley's approach, 121 Hydoxycinnamates, 353 5-hydroxi-tryptamine (5HT), 388 Hydroxycinnamic acids, 330 3-(3-hydroxyphenyl)-3-hydroxypropionic acid (HPHPA), 617 Hypnotics benzodiazepines, 650 H1 antihistamines, 651 herbal medicine, 651, 652 melatonin, 651 non-drug psycho-behavioral therapies, 650 Z-drugs, 650, 651 Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (HPA), 386, 387, 541, 542 Hypothetico-deductive method (H-D), 3

I

Idealism, 132 Immunity to error through misidentification (IEM), 68–70 Individual behavior, 42-45 Individualistic values, 438 Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), 406 Induni, A., 183-189 Inertial force, 238 Inhibitory control, 464 Insomnia, 650 Integrated information theory, 136 Interference, 591 Interictal depression, 538 **INTERMED** interview, 577 International Colloquium on Hippocrates, 53 Interpersonal Reactivity Index (IRI), 438 Interstimulus interval (ISI), 303 Iowa Gambling Task (IGT), 153 Ipseity disturbance model, 103 Irritable bowel syndrome, 272, 579 Ison, M.S., 459-470 Isorhamnetin, 333 Isothiocyanates (ITCs), 328, 330

J

Leiter, 487 Jaime, A., 169–175 Jaques, E., 489 Jiménez, R., 488 Johansson, M., 462 Juncos, L.I., 613–618

K

Kaempferol, 330, 333, 350, 352 Kandakumar, S., 333 Karamyan, V.T., 170 Karasek, R.A., 488 Keefe, J., 476 Kim, E., 427 Kim. S., 463 Kiusaamista Vastaan (KiVa), 447 Klages, L., 531 Koch, R., 600 Kochen, S., 537-548 Kolb, D., 476, 477 Korzeniowski, C., 459-470 Kraepelin, 169 Kraepelin, 528, 532 Kubiszewski, V., 446 Kuepper, R., 603, 604

L

Landolt, H., 539 Latent non-local variables, 133 Late-onset variant of AD (LOAD), 398, 402, 403 Lateral nucleus of the amygdala (LNA), 386 Laursen, B., 435 Lauterbur, P.C., 635 Le Blanc, 489 Learning rule, 322, 323 Learning to learn Bologna reform, 475 definition, 475, 476 learning styles pedagogical language style, 476 perception and processing, 476 performance improvement, 478, 479 problem, 477, 478 types, 476 usefulness of, 477 SRL, 482-485 strategies cognitive, 480-482 metacognitive, 480 Least-mean squares error correction learning rule, 304 Lee, M.M-L., 359 Lee, R.T., 488 Legal status, 499, 500 Leiderman, E.A., 599-609 Leiter, M.P., 490 Lewecke, 600 Lewis, O., 503 Lewy, F., 420 Lexical hypothesis, 531 Liaison strategy, 578 Libet's experiments, 113, 114 Lobo, A., 575-582 Lobo, E., 575-582 Locomotor behavior (LMB) objective quantification in depressive patients, 558-560 innovative approach, 556-558 integrative index, 559, 560 objective stratification, 561, 563 unipolar depressive patients clinical implications, 563-566 dopamine hypothesis, 561-563 Locus coeruleus (LC), 218 Logsdail, S., 540 López Ordieres, M.G., 183-189 Lundgren, T., 548 Lutein, 350, 351 Luzindole, 267 Lycopene, 347 carrots, 348 endothelial NO, 347 mangoes, 349, 350 oxidative stress, 347 papayas, 349 stages of ripening, 347 tomatoes, 347, 348 trans-isomer, 347 Lyketsos, C.G., 579

M

Mael, F., 488 Magnesium, 351 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), 635 Magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) Alzheimer's disease, 640-642 autism, 639 chemical products, 636 delayed psychomotor development, 639, 640 development, 638 fibromyalgia, 642-644 high resolution, 636 MCI. 640-642 metabolic processes, 636 MRI, 635 neuroradiology, 635 neuroscience, 635 Parkinson's disease, 642 principles, 636, 637 prognosis, 636 psychopathology, 637, 638 STD, 643, 644 techniques, 636 Maguire, J., 542 Major depressive disorder (MDD), 364 Manassero, 488 Manju, V., 333 Manrique-Garcia, E., 603 Mansfield, P., 635 Marchese, N.A., 169-175 Marconi, A., 602, 604 Marginalisation, 502, 503 Martino, P., 528-535 Martinovic, 547 Maslach Burnout Inventory (MBI), 488 Maslach, C., 487, 489, 490 McAdams, D.P., 533 McFarland, K., 547 McLaughlin, D.P., 547 McRae, R.R., 532 Meaning-centered group psychotherapy (MCGP), 580 Medial raphe nuclei (MRN), 387 Mediterranean diet, 378 Meduna, V., 539 Mehnert, A., 576 Melatonin autism, 271, 272 biosyntheis, 261, 262 cancer, 270, 271 control of secretion by light, 263, 264 corticotropic axis, 269 effects, 268 free radicals and aging, 270 gonadotropic axis, 268 history, 261 irritable bowel syndrome, 272 melatoninergic receptors action of, 264 amino acid sequence, 265 cAMP pathway, 266 central melatonin binding sites, 265 coding region, 265 GPR50 receptor, 265 ligand binding site, 265

pharmacology of, 266, 267 phylogenetic study, 265 post-translational modification site, 265 QR2 protein, 265 subtypes, 264 metabolic syndrome animal studies, 283-287 antioxidant and scavenging effects, 282 chronobiotic, 281 circadian rhythms, 281 clinical studies, 287-291 cytoprotection, 280 cytoprotective activity, 281 GPR50, 281 inflammation, 282, 283 inhibition. 281 mitochondrial capacity, 281 neuroprotective and anti-inflammatory effects, 282 off label prescription, 292 proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory properties, 282 sirtuin-1, 282 pancreas, 269 pharmacokinetics, 262, 263 physiological involvement, 267, 268 sleep and desynchronization, 269, 270 sleep disorders, 272 thyrotropic axis, 269 Melatoninergic receptors action of, 264 amino acid sequence, 265 cAMP pathway, 266 central melatonin binding sites, 265 coding region, 265 GPR50 receptor, 265 ligand binding site, 265 pharmacology of, 266, 267 phylogenetic study, 265 post-translational modification site, 265 QR2 protein, 265 subtypes, 264 Memory, 422-425 Mental disorders, 637 Mesial temporal lobe epilepsy (MTLE), 541 Mesolimbic-mesocortical pathways, 187 Mesurado, B., 433-442, 445-455 Metabolic syndrome (MS) abnormal nutritional balance, 279 animal and human data, 279 cellular and molecular factors, 279 chronobiotic/cytoprotective agent, 280 definition, 279 inflammation, 280 melatonin animal studies, 283-287 antioxidant and scavenging effects, 282 chronobiotic, 281 circadian rhythms, 281 clinical studies, 287-291

cytoprotection, 280, 281 GPR50, 281 inflammation, 282, 283 inhibition, 281 mitochondrial capacity, 281 neuroprotective and anti-inflammatory effects, 282 off label prescription, 292 proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory properties, 282 sirtuin-1, 282 prevalence, 279 sleep deterioration and circadian system disruption, 279 Metacognition, 466, 467, 480 Microglia, 171, 172 Microtubules, 133 Midbrain dopamine neuron activity, 187 Migrants acculturation, 501-503 adaptation, 499, 500 anxiety and depression, 510, 511 basic knowledge, 509 beliefs and taboos, 508 children and adolescents, 497 communication, 507 communication difficulties, 497 conspirator explanatory models, 507 cultural approach, 509 cultural consonance, 500, 501 diffidence, 508 disease prevention, 507 ethnic density, 505, 506 forcible migration, 512 health problems, 498 health services access, 506 high level of pain, 506, 507 language problems, 508 marginalized minorities, 511, 512 mental health problems, 508 migrants' mental health, 505, 506 mourning, 501 non-refugee migrants, 510 planning, 503, 504 psychological problems, 507 psychosis, 511 PTSD, 510 social and economic status, 506 socio-cognitive niche, 504, 505 stress, 498 taboos and stigma, 500 temporal organization, 503, 504 traumatic situations, 498, 499 Mild cognitive impairment (MCI), 640–642 Miller, B.J., 171 Millon, C., 532 Milushev, E., 555-567 Mind-Body Skills Groups, 515 Mindfulness for stress reduction (MBSR), 382 Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy (MBCT), 382

Mindmelding, 67 Mineralocorticoid receptors (MRs), 541 Minerals, 334-336 Mishna, F., 448 Mitochondrial injury, 243, 244 Model's learning rule, 308 Modi, A.C., 547 Modular service package for epilepsy study (MOSES), 547 Moliner, C., 489 Monereo, C., 479 Monochrome system, 503 Montivero, A.J., 237-252 Mood-congruent moods, 594 Moore, T.H.M., 604 Moral decisions-making, 150 Morales, H., 623-631, 635-644 Moreau, J., 600 Moreno, J.E., 433-442 Moretti, M., 334 mRNA expression patterns, 185 Multiple analysis of variance (MANOVA), 436 Muñoz-San Roque, I., 483, 484 Munzenrider, R., 490 Mythical identity, 499

Ν

N-acetyl-aspartate (NAA), 630 Nagel, T., 137 Nanomedicines, 249-252 Natural learning and memory mechanisms, 215 Natural reword system, 220, 221 Naturalistic fallacy, 125 Nature sciences, 37 Nature vs. nurture discovery of limits and alternatives, 36-37 economic rationality, 34 evolutionary psychology, 34 intentional motivation, 33 "naturalistic" approaches, 33 neurosciences and behavior, 35 physiology and causality, 35-36 popular economic beliefs, 34 principles-based cognitive systems, 34 "spiritual" phenomena, 34 spiritual plane, 37 Ndayisaba, A., 335 Neural correlate of consciousness (NCC), 135 Neural-network simulations activation rule, 321 alternative existing model, 304 computational component, 305 detrimental effects, 305 differential effects, 305 ethical approval, 321 eyeblink conditioning, 304 features, 308 hippocampus, 303, 304 hypothesizes model, 318

Neural-network simulations (cont.) learning rule, 322, 323 least-mean squares error correction learning rule, 304 long-term potentiation, 307 model's initial formulation, 307 model's learning rule, 308 network component, 305, 306 neuroanatomical principle, 306 Pavlovian conditioning, 305 relevant source code, 309 role of hippocampus backward and contiguous-trace conditioning, 316, 317 in delay and trace conditioning, 309-316 trial-level model. 304 Neurobiological substrates, 195 Neurodegenerative pathologies Alzheimer's disease, 245 amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, 246 Parkinson's disease, 245, 246 Neurodevelopmental theory, 186 Neuroethics of beauty, 108 aesthetics, 121-122, 128 autonomy, 128 health or enhancement, 128 human experiences, 127 idealism and alienation, 125-127 idol breaker, 127 intuitional experience, 128 laboratory experiments, 127 methodologism and utilitarianism, 127 non-reducible entities, 129 search for understanding, 123-125 three transcendentals, 122-123, 128 utilitarianism, 127 Neuroinflammation, 246, 247 Neurokinins, 206 Neuromedin N, 184 Neuropeptides, 183, 188, 203 atrial natriuretic factor, 207 cholecystokinin, 203, 204 corticotropin-releasing hormone, 204, 205 galanin, 206 neurokinins, 206 ocvtocine, 207 substance P, 206 Neurophilosophy, 4 Neuroscience, notion of person analytic philosophy, 111 brain oxygen supply, 109 chemical synapse, 109 cognitivist approach, 115 comprehensive anthropology., 116 corporality and intersubjectivity, 113 degree of intelligence or self-consciousness, 115 devastating mental disorders, 107 electrical signal, 109 eliminativist materialism, 113, 115 first-order desires, 112 4e cognition field, 116

German idealism, 111 higher-order cognitive functions, 114 interpersonality, 113 material bases, 114 materialist reductionism, 112 mental act, 116 mother-baby relationship, 117 nervous system, 107 neuroanatomical and neurophysiological description, 109 neuroethicists, 117 neuroethics, 108, 114 neuronal membrane, 108 neuroscience, notion of person enriched neuroscience, 115-117 moral or economic decision making, 116 non-human primates, 110 non-human animals, 108 personhood, 112 radioactive substance, 109 rationalism and empiricism, 110 res cogitans, 111 res extensa, 111 scope of preference utilitarianism, 112 second-order desire, 112 self-difference and interpersonality, 113 social concept of person, 112 subtle electrical changes, 110 taking care of persons, 108 Neurotensin, 183-185, 187, 188 Neurotensin-like immunoreactivity (NTi), 184, 187 Nickel, K., 627 Nitric oxide synthase inhibitor, 187 N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor agonist, 616 Non-benzodiazepine drugs, 650 Non-drug psycho-behavioral therapies, 650 Non-motor symptoms (NMS), 420, 421 Norepinephrine, 159, 160 Notion of empathy, Edith Stein Burnout syndrome, 10 constitution of psycho-physical individual consciousness and reality, 12 foreign experiences, 13 individuality, 11 intersubjectivity and empathy, 12 levels of complishment, 11 memory and fantasy, 11 non-primordial way, 11 primordial experience, 11 somatic influences characterizes, 12 transcendence and immanence, 12 volitional actions manifest, 12 zero point, 13 different experiences, 9 different position, 9 exclusion of reduction, 10 foreign experience, 10 immediate experience, 9 phenomenology and psychology, 11 pure transcendental phenomenon, 10

spiritual persons act of volition, 14 causal explanation, 14 consciousness, 13 constitution of personality, 16 exact natural science, 14 explanatory psychology, 14 knowledge of self, 16 motivation, 15 natural occurrence and consciousness, 13 nature and spirit, 14 object-constituting consciousness, 13 perceptual consciousness, 15 prosperity, 14 psychic lawfulness, 15 rational lawfulness, 15 science of living nature, 14 soul. 16 traditional distinction, 15 Novakova, B., 545 Nowakowska, M., 532 NTS2 receptors, 184, 185 Nutrimetabolomics, 618

0

Obama's BRAIN Initiative, 108 Occhieppo, V.B., 169-175 Ocytocine, 207 Odbert, H.S., 531 Oldham, J.M., 529 Oligodendrocytes, 174, 175 Olweus Bullying Prevention Program, 447 Omega-3, 378 Ontological naturalism, 33 Opioids, 183 Oppositional-defiant disorder (ODD), 624, 629 Optogenetic studies, 189 Oral fluency, 467 Orjuela-Rojas, J.M., 547 Otamendi, A., 419-427 Oxytocin, 150, 183 neuromodulator of central nervous system, 150 prosocial behavior and empathy, 151, 152 social decision-making, 151 trust and social behaviors, 151 vasopressin, 151

P

Palma, S.D., 237–252 Pancreas, 269 Papain, 349 Parallelism, 74 Paraventricular nucleus (PVN), 541 Pardo, A., 478 Parker, J.G., 436 Parkinson disease (PD), 110, 245, 246, 642 cognition and emotion disturbances, 423, 424

cognitive dysfunctions and emotional disturbances, 419 experimental model systems, 421-423 gut microbiota, 363 NMS, 420, 421 potential therapeutical approaches, 425-427 regulation networks, 424, 425 stages of, 420 symptoms, 419 synaptic plasticity, 419 Patchin, J., 446 Patients with epilepsy (PWE), 538 Pavlovian's conditioning principles, 215 Penfield, W., 134 Penrose, R., 133 People with epilepsy (PWE), 538 Pérez, M.F., 213-225, 237-252 Periaqueductal grey (PAG), 387 Person neuroscience, 107 Personal values, 438 Personality disorders (PD) dimensional models, 531 characteristics, 529 clinical context, 534 clinical decisions, 534, 535 Cloninger's Seven Factors model, 531 examples, 529 factor analysis, 531 health and pathology, 533 lexical hypothesis, 531 optimal nosography, 534 personality traits, 532, 533 psychiatric-psychological constructs, 530 self-reports, 532, 533 theoretical reformulations, 534 DSM V arguments and evidence, 529 categorical models, 528, 529 current and prospective dysfunction, 529 domains and facets, 529 elements, 529 general severity, 529 new general criteria, 529, 530 nosography, 529 Perspective taking, 438 Pfäfflin, M., 547 Phenolic acids, 333 Phenolic compounds, 330-333 Phenomenological psychopathology anthropological hyperpresentification, 104 anthropological plenitude, 104 fundamental epistemological assumption, 101 general and intelligible categories, 101 Husserl's philosophical elaborations, 101 neopositive model, 102 psychiatric therapeutic, 102 schizophrenia, 102-103 substance misuse, 103 Phenomenological reduction, 137 Physis, 58

Polychrone temporal system, 503, 504 Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS), 289, 290 Pomalidomide, 247 Popper's Falsacionism, 3, 5 Popular economic beliefs, 34 Positron-emission tomography (PET), 109 Posner, M., 465 Post-concussive syndrome (PCS), 239 Postictal psychosis (PIP), 538 Post-traumatic amnesia (PTA), 239 Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), 503, 510, 514-516 Potentially traumatic events (PTEs), 514 Pramuka, M., 546 Prefrontal cortex (PFC), 196, 218, 386 Prepulse inhibition, 187 Prevalence of Rule Violations (PRV), 50 Prevotella spp., 364 Probiotics, 380 Processing speed, 467 Pseudo-knowledge, 125 Psychiatry and inference EBM, 3, 6, 7 H-D method, 3 irrefutability of scientific theories, 5, 6 method in, 4, 5 Psychogenic non-epileptic seizures (PNES), 545, 546 Psychological disorder, 637 Psychomimetic States Inventory (PSI), 607 Psychomotor disturbances (PMDs), see Locomotor behavior (LMB) Psychosis abnormal electrical activity, 540 acute interictal presentations, 539 agonism, 538 analogy, 607 antagonism, 538 bilateral hippocampal sclerosis, 540 biological gradient, 604 chronic postictal psychosis, 539 coherence, 604-606 ECT, 539, 540 experimental studies, 606, 607 health implications, 608, 609 Hill's criteria, 601 ictal psychosis, 539 infectious diseases, 600, 601 kindling model, 539 medication/surgical intervention, 540 outcomes, 600 Parisian group, 600 physiopathological role, 539 postictal psychoses, 539 psychiatric abnormality, 540 PWE, 538 replicability, 602 risk factors, 540 schizophrenia disorder, 607, 608 seizures, 539 specificity, 602, 603

strength of association, 601, 602 temporality, 603, 604 Psychosomatic and Liaison Psychiatry (PPL), see Psychosomatic psychiatry (PP) Psychosomatic medicine, Spain affective warp, 95 background and scientific and philosophical context, 91-92 biological anthropology and ethology, 95 constitutive complexity, 95 constitutive foundation, 95 internal brain illness to ill person, 97-99 neuro-endocrine perspectives, 96-97 psychosomatic pathology, 95-96 justification, 89 material monism and mentalistic monism, 89 minting, 95 psychosomatic pathology, 89 psychosomatic perspective, 92-94 theoretical interpretations, 96 Psychosomatic psychiatry (PP) diagnosis and classification, 581, 582 psychiatric morbidity outcome of, 578 prevalence and characteristics, 576-578 treatment efficacy, 579-581 somatic morbidity, 578, 579 Purcell, E.U., 635

Q

Qualia, 136–138 Qualter, P., 435, 436 Quantum mechanics, 132, 138 Quercetin, 331, 351 Quiroga, A.M., 343

R

Racism, 502 Radical reality, 21 Radioactive ligand binding techniques, 184 Radiofrequencey (RF), 636 Radioimmunoassay (RIA), 183 Ramirez, D.A., 327-337 Randomized controlled trial (RCT), 7 Rational-vitalism, 21 Reality, 26 Refugees in children and adolescents, 517-519 comorbidity, 516, 517 mental disorders, 512, 513 (see also Migrants) open questions, 519, 520 psychosis, 516 PTSD, 514-516 suffered violence, 519 torture effect, 516 Renaud, S., 353 Renin-angiotensin system (RAS), 170

Resett, S.A., 435, 445-455 Resveratrol, 331, 332 Retinohypothalamic pathway, 262 Rett's syndrome, 271 Reverse-phase liquid chromatography (HPLC) purification, 184 Revonsuo, A., 137 Ricciarelli, R., 334 Richaud de Minzi, C., 531 Ringen, P.A., 607 Rivera, L.F.S., 149–160 Robinson, S.J., 435, 436 Rodríguez, A., 169-175 Rodriguez, L.M., 433-442 Rof Carballo, J., 94 rs10830963 G-allele, 290 Rubin, K.H., 439 Rueda, R., 462 Ryle, G., 134

S

Sabogal-Guáqueta, A.M., 331 S-adenosyl methionine (SAMe), 378 Salanova, M., 494 San Martín, R., 478 Sanz, P.G., 397-408 Sarrazin, S., 607 Sarudiansky, M., 537-548 Scévola, L., 537-548 Schapira, A.H.V., 422 Schaufeli, W.B., 488, 494 Schizophrenia, 61, 64, 65, 102-103, 107 angiotensinogen, 170 Ang II type 1 receptor, 170 Ang II type 2 receptor, 170 brain microenvironment function, 169 central brain Angiotensin II effects, 170 cognitive deficits, 189 cognitive dysfunction, 169 dopaminergic-centrist theories, 169 genetic, neurodevelopmental and environmental theories, 169 glial cells, 169 astrocytes, 172-174 microglia, 171, 172 oligodendrocytes, 174, 175 immune hyperactivity, 170 inflammatory markers, 170 intricate patterns, 169 negative symptoms, 169 neurotransmitter imbalance, 170 positive symptoms, 169 renin-angiotensin system, 170 schizophrenic symptoms expression, 170 stages of development, 170 Schneider, 528 Schubart, C.D., 600 Scott, K.M., 578 Selective serotonin-reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), 544, 653

citalopram and sertraline, 655 comorbidities, 654 depression complementary approaches, 655, 656 plasma concentrations, 655 Self-organized feedback brain brain structure, 39 closed loop hierarchical control process, 44 cognitive cycle, 40, 41 constructing our reality brain abilities, 46 human behavior, 45 individual or social feedback loops, 45 perception, 46-47 prediction, 47-48 subjective construction of reality, 46 control theory, 40 elements of system, 41 elusive phenomenon, 39 feedback control loop, 41 feedback control theory approach, 40 individual actions design, 41 individual behavior, 42-45 interactive process, 39 natural selection, 40 perception process, 47 predictive interactions, 39 self-organization framework, 41 self-organized systems, 40 sensitivity, stability and resilience, 44-45 simplified feedback control loop, 44 social behavior, 48-50 social structures, 41 visual attention, 39 Self-regulation of learning (SRL), 482 action for improvement, 484, 485 definition, 482 dimensions, 483 exploration, 482, 483 number of scores, 483, 484 statement, 484 Self-representationalist theory, 65 Serotonergic neurons, 187 Serotonergic system, 387, 388 Serotonin advanced functions, 155 definition, 155 impulsivity, 155 moral decision-making, 156 social decision-making, 155 Serotoninergic system, 199 5-HT1A receptor, 199 5-HT2A receptor, 199, 200 5-HT2A receptors and the GABAergic system, 201 5-HT2B receptor, 200 5-HT2C receptor, 200, 201 5-HT3 receptor, 201 Serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRI), 544 Serotonin transporter (5HTT), 388 Serrano, E., 397-408

Shedler, J.A., 529 Sheese, B., 462 Shepherd, M., 575, 579 Shkodrova, D., 555-567 Short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs), 359 Silverman, L.K., 477 Simon, G.E., 576 Singer, S., 576 Sixma, H.J., 488 Skodol, A.E., 529, 533 Slater, E., 539, 540 Sleep disorders, 272 Social decisions-making, 149, 150 Somatization disorder (STD), 643, 644 Somatoparaphrenia, 61-64 Somatostatin, 185, 186, 188, 189 Somatostatin-like immunoreactivity (SLI), 185, 188 Soria, M.S., 475-485 Sowell, E.R., 460 Søyseth, T.S., 576 Spanish philosopher, 91 Spatial-temporal equilibriometric movement-pattern analysis (STEMPA), 559 Spatial-temporal equilibriometric psychomotor index (STEPi), 559 Spirit sciences, 37 Spiritual person, 10, 11 Sport-related concussions, 238 SS14 and SS28 immunoreactivity, 185 Sst2a and sst2b subtype receptors, 185 sst5 receptor subtype RNAm pattern, 186 Stem cell-derived interneurons, 189 Stevens, B., 433 Stoudemire, A., 580 Strain, J.J., 581 Strayer, J., 438 Stress brain, 385, 386 characteristics, 385 cognitive vulnerability, 388, 389 distress to eustress, 392, 393 early adverse experiences, 389, 390 environmental stressors, 385 genetic polymorphisms, 390, 391 HPA axis, 386, 387 origin and development, 385 serotonergic system, 387, 388 vulnerability and resilience, 391, 392 Stress hormones cytokines and adrenal hormones, 156 economic decision-making, 156, 157 physical, psychological and emotional response, 156 social and moral decisions, 157 Stroop effect, 591 Substance misuse, 103 Substance P (SP), 206 Succinic semialdehyde dehydrogenase (SSADH) deficiency, 617

Sudo, N., 360 Sullivan, H.S., 433 Suprachiasmatic nuclei (SCN), 262 Suspected non-AD pathophysiology (SNAP), 405 Synaptic plasticity, 419, 425

Т

Kim, 333 Tafet, G.E., 385-393 Tai Chi Chuan techniques, 382 Tai, W.C.-S., 359 Takahashi, R.N., 427 Task-positive networks (TPN), 629 Tatsuoka, M.M., 532 Tellegen, A., 532, 533 Tellenbach, H., 539 Temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE), 538 Temporal organization, 503, 504 Tessner, K.D., 460 Testosterone definition, 152 economic decisión-making, 153 moral decisión-making, 153 prenatal testosterone, 152 reciprocity and trust, 153 social decision-making, 152, 153 Theorell, T., 488 Theory of happiness, 23 Thompson, P.M., 460 Thyrotropic axis, 269 Tiansi Liquid, 369 Toga, A.W., 460 Tokunaga, R., 446 Tononi, G., 136 Toomey, R.B., 446 Toone, B., 540 Torres, C., 623-631, 635-644 Torres-Palazzolo, C., 327-337 Touriman, V., 171 Transcendentals, 123 Transdiagnostic hypolocomotion, 561, 562 Translocation, 184 Traumatic brain injury (TBI) animal models, 240, 241 classification. 239 clinical and pharmacological management, 248, 249 cognitive deficits, 239, 240 contact force, 238 definition, 237 early phase, 238 epidemiology, 237, 238 impact loading, 238 inertial force, 238 intermediate phase, 238 late phase, 238 molecular mechanisms and mitochondrial injury, 243, 244

excitotoxicity and calcium imbalance, 241–243 neurodegenerative pathologies, 245, 246 neuroinflammation, 246, 247 secondary injury, 244, 245 nanomedicines, 249–252 non-fatal TBI, 237 primary injury, 238 secondary injury, 238 static or quasistatic loading, 238 symptoms, 239 Traumatic events, 392 Trull, T.J., 529 Tupes, E.C., 531

U

Ultra-high risk subjects (UHR), 608 Ulysses syndrome, 501 Unfolded protein response (UPR), 240 Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale (UPDRS), 642 Unified theory of reinforcement (UTR), 303 Urocortins, 205

V

Valdez Paolasini, M.G., 528-535 Values, 437 Van Cleemput, K., 448 Van Winkel, R., 605 Varela, F., 132 Vascular dementia, 640 Vasopressin, 151, 183 Ventromedial prefrontal cortex (VMPFC), 391 Vigo, D.E., 279-283, 285, 287, 289-293 Vitality, 26 Vitamins vitamin A, 348, 349 vitamin C, 333, 334, 348 vitamin D, L-metilfolate, 378 vitamin E, 334 vitamin K, 349 vitamin K1, 351 Volume of interest (VOI), 636

Von Korff, M., 576 Voxel-based morphometric (VBM) studies, 625

W

Wainwright, 377 Walker, J.L., 446, 577 Wang, C.W., 580 Wang, W., 407 Watson, D., 532, 533 Weber's Law, 36 Weight control, 379, 380 Weiss, R.S., 436 Westen, D., 529 Wigner, E.P., 136 Williams, K., 446 Women cycle hormones economic decision-making, 158 social decision-making, 157, 158 Wong, W.-Y., 359 Working memory, 465 World Health Organization, 590 Wu, C., 369 Wundt, W., 131

Х

Xanthophylls, 345, 346 Xenophobia ethnocentrism, 502 Xiaoyaosan, 370

Y

Yee, B.K., 359

Z

Zammit, S., 601 Zeaxanthin, 350 Zhu, X., 407 ZiBuPiYin, 369 Ziedses des Plantes, B.G., 635 Zimmerman, B.J., 482 Zubiri, X., 91